

CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |



Mana

E Koshland

SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST

Marian Elliott Koshland

Division of Immunology, Department of Molecular and Cell Biology, University of California, Berkeley, California 94720

A Head Start

The luck began when I was four years old and my younger brother contracted typhoid fever from a carrier in the local dairy. It was not a lucky event for him, of course; he became desperately ill and was not expected to live, so my parents spent months in the hospital by his side.

It turned out to be lucky for me, however, because I was farmed out to the next-door neighbors who had two preteen daughters. For some reason, the girls decided to undertake my education. They knew nothing of the techniques, neither the do's nor the don'ts; they just taught me to read simple words and sentences and to count. Proud of their handiwork, they took me to school and had me show off my accomplishments. This was very heady stuff for a four year old who was feeling, rightly or not, somewhat left out by her parents.

My brother finally recovered from typhoid fever, but his immune system was so depleted that he promptly succumbed to every known childhood disease. As a consequence, I was quarantined at home for a year, and my martinet father took over my education. When I finally was allowed to go to school, it was clear that the tutoring by the girls and my father had put me ahead of my contemporaries, and this assurance served to support my conviction that "studies" was the one thing I was good at.

Upward Bound

My second piece of good luck was provided by three Jewish boys who were my main friends during high school, particularly during the last two years. I emphasize the word "friends" because in those days religious differences meant that I could never for a moment be considered a "girl friend." We were simply a gang who did things together, and since they came from a more cultured

x KOSHLAND

and ambitious tradition than mine, I was challenged to go along and keep up with them both outside and inside school. Outside of school during the 1930s depression, we went to WPA theater productions such as *One Third of a Nation* and *Murder in the Cathedral*; we sat at the top of the Metropolitan Opera House to hear Kirsten Flagstad and Lauritz Melchior sing *Tristan and Isolde*; we visited the downtown fish market at dawn and browsed through Chinatown. Inside school, when my friends chose to take a physics course, I went along and, much as I disliked it, learned to wire a light box and measure gas pressure. When they got A's in American history, I had to do as well. And when they picked up a three-foot constrictor black snake in biology class, I followed suit. And then I had to eat the canned rattlesnake meat that was the prize for the only girl who dared to touch the reptile. Thus, I was not only intellectually stimulated during my teen years, but I also escaped the usual pressures to be a "girlie."

Start of a Research Career

I was a sophomore chemistry major at Vassar, bored with memorizing organic reactions, when I was saved by a third stroke of luck. The College hired a PhD fresh from Yale to teach bacteriology and, on the side, a little immunology. The young professor, Catherine Dean, was such a good and enthusiastic teacher that within her first year she collected twelve majors from my class alone—a number that surpassed the usual total of science majors at the College. It was her introduction to the new science of immunology that provided me with a research career for a lifetime. Only a year before, Tiselius and Kabat had finally identified serum antibodies as members of the γ -globulin fraction, and one of the critical questions that arose from these studies was whether the various serum antibody activities—agglutination, precipitation, neutralization, complement-fixation—were carried out by different immunoglobulin molecules or were different manifestations of the same molecule, the so-called Unitarian Hypothesis.

I was much more intrigued by the ability of immunoglobulin molecules to recognize and eliminate an almost infinite number of foreign invaders. I read Karl Landsteiner's *The Specificity of Serological Reactions*, (Charles C. Thomas 1936), which had been published just four years before, and I was determined to try my hand at resolving the basis for the diversity and specificity of antibody reactions. How fortunate I was at the age of nineteen to be able to select a research area that, despite a few dips here and there, has grown and developed over the years and is even more fascinating and important today than it was when I began.

Graduate Reinforcement

My choice of graduate school was based on hard cash: Having spent my life in the East, I wanted to go as far West as my limited amount of money would allow. The University of Chicago won out as the best institution with the lowest traveling costs, \$16 for an overnight coach ticket from New York. Little did I realize that the University had become a hub of wartime research, not only for the development of the atom bomb and various explosives, but also for the control of infectious diseases among the troops. But being broke and having to work my way through graduate school turned out to be the source of great luck because it gave me the opportunity to work on two such projects. Each experience emphasized the need to understand the fundamental mechanisms of immunity, and both reinforced my desire to participate in such research.

The aim of the first project was to develop a vaccine that protected troops in the Far East against cholera. Since the infection is confined to the lumen of the gut, parenterally administered vaccines were of little efficacy. Our studies used an experimental disease in guinea pigs to show that oral administration of a nonlethal dose of vibrios prevented the disease, and the protection was associated with the secretion into the gut of antibody, politely called coprorather than fecal antibody. These findings provided an important precedent for the subsequent development of the oral polio vaccine and left me with a lifelong interest in antibody secretion into the body cavities.

In the second project, the Commission on Airborne Diseases was charged with reducing the incidence of respiratory disease during Army basic training. Streptococcal infections were particularly prevalent among recruits from rural areas; they had little previous exposure to the causative organism and often developed serious autoimmune complications, such as rheumatic fever and glomerulonephritis. In this case, the problem was solved not by immunological approaches but by controlling transmission of the pathogens. Epidemiological studies showed that the incidence of disease could be significantly reduced by measures that reduced the number of airborne pathogens in the barracks sleeping quarters—measures such as spraying a thin layer of oil droplets on blankets and clothing to prevent the release of bacteria during bedmaking.

Career Crisis

Perhaps the greatest luck of all was the support and advice my husband gave at the end of our postdoctoral training at Harvard. Up to that time, I had proceeded along the usual route, marriage, graduate school, two children, postdoctoral studies, and had blithely assumed the usual outcome, a full-time academic career. An unexpected complication arose, however; namely, the arrival of twins, which meant that our family suddenly consisted of four children under the age of five. Reality struck as I had to face how I could do both—be a good mother and a good immunologist. When I told my husband of my decision to become a full-time mother, he would have none of it and instead suggested part-

xii KOSHLAND

time work as a solution. He overrode my objections with two arguments; first, that most tenure-track scientists did research only part-time because of teaching and administrative duties, and second, that a half-time research adjunct could remain competitive by being creative and undertaking high-risk projects that a tenure-track scientist could less afford to do.

I followed my husband's advice for twenty years until our youngest son finished high school. It meant that I had a great time doing "crazy" research and did not suffer severe guilt pangs about the children.

A Paradigm for Science Education

Many of the chance events that shaped my career as an immunologist are now the basis of educational programs aimed at generating an interest in learning. Thus, preschool tutoring, such as I had, has been employed by Head Start to remedy the backgrounds of children from disadvantaged homes. The program has an impressive record of turning out children who perform better on entering school and thus like the learning process. Maintaining that performance and liking of learning during the teen years, however, requires programs that can successfully counteract the anti-intellectualism inherent in some social traditions and teenage peer groups. My father was a good example of the traditional problem. His ambition was for me to be a "lady," which translated into taking courses that aimed to produce a good hostess and a good housekeeper rather than a good physicist or a good mathematician. He didn't approve of my Jewish friends, but fortunately he could not override the stimulation and security of their friendship. Programs such as Upward Bound are providing support to high schoolers equivalent to that provided by my Jewish friends. Their aim is to combat not only social pressures but also peer pressures that place the highest values on being a cheerleader, or starring on the football team, or wearing expensive clothes. Organizations such as the National Science Foundation are trying to create rewards for scientific achievement that can compete with the publicity given high school sporting events or prom queens. The best science students in each state and his/her high school teacher meet in Washington and have their pictures taken with "big shots" like the President's Science Adviser or the Director of National Science Foundation.

"Hands-on" experience is a powerful career attractant. A research project in my senior year at Vassar and the subsequent wartime projects completely destroyed any notion I had of alternative careers, even medicine. The research bug had bitten! And my bite has been duplicated hundreds, thousands of times. The Oberlin Report clearly documented that it is an undergraduate research project conducted in close contact with a professor that is responsible for the high turnout of scientists by the small liberal arts colleges and for the high rate of success among those scientists. As a result, "hands-on" laboratory work has been adopted as a lure by many public and private organizations to interest minorities and women in scientific careers. The MARC program of the National Institutes of Health and the undergraduate programs sponsored by the Howard Hughes Medical Institute are good examples of how effective the hands-on approach can be.

Where Is Creativity?

One of the elements, perhaps the most important one, that shaped my career as an immunologist has, however, fallen through the cracks of most science education programs. That is an emphasis on creativity. At the beginning of my senior year at Vassar, Catherine Dean led the bacteriology majors to a room in the basement and said, "Here is a centrifuge, a pH meter, an incubator, media on the shelf, and various bacterial strains in the icebox. Dream up your research project!" We did, because senior research was a requirement for graduation. In the graduate program at the University of Chicago, students (that included me) were expected to develop a thesis proposal and then sell the project to the appropriate professor in the Department. In the postdoctorate scene at Harvard, appointments could be made to do independent work provided that the proposed work passed faculty review. I took full advantage of the opportunity. The emphasis on originality in these programs reflected the notion that students could be trained to think creatively and that such training was critical to their success in their subsequent careers. This notion was amply supported in my own case because the training enabled me to follow my husband's advice and to remain competitive by concentrating on more "far out" research ideas.

Many of the devices used in the past to foster creativity, e.g., graduate students designing their own thesis projects, have been discarded. They became impractical as the biological sciences grew more sophisticated, more teamoriented, and more competitive. Unfortunately, the emphasis on training in creative thinking has disappeared along with the devices. The de-emphasis has occurred as young scientists have a harder and harder time creating research niches to establish themselves, as study sections award their limited amounts of money to safe rather than innovative proposals, as the number of scientists being trained is reduced without any criteria for selecting those with the most original minds. The de-emphasis has also occurred at a time when creative thinking is needed for young scientists to tackle socio-scientific problems such as the dealing with the question of a second job for a spouse or significant other, the division of time and effort between research and parenting, etc. In my opinion, the immunological community would do well to focus on such issues and devise techniques for encouraging creative thinking that are applicable to the current state of the science world and its teaching.

Bad Luck

At this point in my recital, you may ask whether there were any unlucky events that affected my career. Of course, there were. To give a few examples: A professor at Chicago gave me a foretaste of things to come as I was going off to Harvard for my postdoctorate. He said that I had been an excellent graduate student, but because I was a woman, I should not entertain any hopes of being hired by the faculty of the Department of Bacteriology and Parasitology. At another institution, the head of the department proclaimed he would never hire the wife of anyone, not even the janitor, so my husband and I had to look elsewhere for the second job. Early in my career, one or two immunologists would get up after each of my research presentations and say they couldn't reproduce the data. Although their criticisms were never documented, the constant voicing of doubts had the effect of delaying recognition of my work.

To be fair, there were also many helping hands along the way. The faculty at Chicago sponsored me for membership in the American Association of Immunologists before such well-deserving male peers as David Talmage, Maurice Hilleman, and Riley Hauswright. Dr. Howard Mueller, head of the Harvard Department of Bacteriology, went into the shop and personally made 24 guinea pig metabolism cages that I could not afford to purchase on my fellowship. Dr. Wendell Stanley, head of the Virus Laboratory at Berkeley, bought some \$25,000 worth of equipment for my research without any guarantee that I would get a grant and pay him back. I suppose the unkindness and kindness come out about even.

As I look back, I think my one significant piece of bad luck may have been not playing a team sport. Recent analyses have indicated that women scientists tend to be loners who do not belong to a network of collegial associates. Typically they run small laboratory groups and are relatively unaggressive about promoting their research accomplishments. These characteristics contrast sharply with those of the average male colleague, and the question is, why? A number of explanations have been offered: differences in mentoring, in standards for masculine and feminine conduct, etc. One of the most intriguing is the difference in athletic experiences. Most men have participated in some form of team sport throughout their education, whereas most women have not. Moreover, men continue to participate in their adult years; the male graduate students, postdoctorates, and able faculty from our immunology floor still get together for a basketball game using a net rigged up outside the laboratory building. In these team sports, the players get the opportunity to practice competitiveness; they learn how to develop winning strategies and, at the same time, how to work cooperatively and form successful liaisons-very valuable lessons for any subsequent competitive endeavors. The idea of a contribution from team sports came much too late to affect the education of my three daughters. However, all seven of my granddaughters, ranging in age from five to eighteen, have been or are currently playing on soccer teams! We'll see what happens.

ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND– INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology

Joanne Sloan-Lancaster and Paul M. Allen

Center for Immunology and Department of Pathology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri 63110

KEY WORDS: altered peptide ligands, antagonism, partial activation, T cell signaling, thymic education

ABSTRACT

The elucidation of the phenomena of T cell antagonism and partial activation by altered peptide ligands has necessitated a revision in the traditional concepts of TCR recognition of antigen and subsequent signal transduction. Whereas previous models supported a single ligand specificity for any particular T cell, many studies using analogs of immunogenic peptides have now demonstrated a flexibility in this recognition. Moreover, interaction with such altered peptide ligands can result in dramatically different phenotypes of the T cells, ranging from inducing selective stimulatory functions to completely turning off their functional capacity. Investigations of the biochemical basis leading to these phenotypes have shown that altered peptide ligands can induce a qualitatively different pattern of signal transduction events than does any concentration of the native ligand. Such observations imply that several signaling modules are directly linked to the TCR/CD3 complex and that they can be dissociated from each other as a direct result of the nature of the ligand bound. Interestingly, many in vivo models of T cell activation are compatible with a selective signaling model, and several studies have shown that peptide analogs can play a role in various T cell biologic phenomena. These data strongly suggest that naturally occurring altered peptide ligands for any TCR exist in the repertoire of self-peptides or, in nature, derived from pathogens, and recent reports provide compelling evidence that this

is indeed the case. The concept of altered peptide ligands, their effects on T cell signaling, the hypothesized mechanisms by which they exert their effects, and their possible roles in shaping the T cell immune response are the scope of this review.

THE CONCEPT OF ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGANDS

Definition of APL

The recognition by T cells of short, linear peptides bound to MHC molecules has been well established (1, 2). In addition, the accessibility of only three to five amino acid side chains of a peptide to the TCR supported the theory that the specificity of TCR recognition is conferred by only a few peptide residues (1, 3, 4). Many recent investigations have focused on the nature of these TCR contact sites (5–7), and observations from these have revealed a previously unforeseen layer of antigen fine specificity, whereby such peptide residues display a hierarchy of interaction and contribution to the resulting signal transduction processes in the T cells.

Series of peptide analogs were generated in a variety of antigen systems by introducing single amino acid substitutions. These analogs were then tested for their capacity to stimulate a variety of T cell responses in panels of T cells specific for the same ligand. From such analyses, several analogs were identified that could stimulate a subset of the normal activation events in the T cells. and the results suggested that some of the interactions with the TCR are more critical than others. Information obtained from such studies led us to assign the labels "primary" or "secondary" TCR interaction sites for the TCR contact sites of a stimulatory peptide (7). The primary contact site was defined as the amino acid focused on most intently by all T cells in a population specific for the same antigen, and this amino acid appeared to be the most critical residue of the determinant to the TCR binding. Secondary residues were defined as the other TCR contact sites, which were unique to each TCR in the population, and they were assumed to play a lesser role in the overall interaction between TCR and ligand. We subsequently defined the term "altered peptide ligand" (APL) to describe analogs of immunogenic peptides in which the TCR contact sites have been manipulated (7). While these peptides do not stimulate T cell clonal proliferation, they nevertheless have the capacity to activate some TCR-mediated effector functions. Other peptide analogs do not stimulate any detectable function from the T cells and are simply termed peptide analogs.

APL and Partial Activation

The initial observation that T cell stimulatory events could be dissected was made by our laboratory using a Th2 clone specific for the Hb(64–76) peptide bound to an I-E^k molecule (8). Whereas the original stimulatory peptide could trigger proliferation, IL-4 production, and the provision of B cell help from this T cell clone over a similar dose range, an analog containing a conservative amino acid substitution effectively stimulated IL-4 production and induction of B cell helper function, but not T cell proliferation.

Subsequent to the initial demonstration of partial T cell activation, the phenomenon of analog-induced T cell antagonism was described by Sette and colleagues (9). This phenomenon was shown by the simultaneous presentation of agonist and nonstimulatory peptides to T cells; the antagonism involved a mechanism whereby the analog specifically downmodulated the agonist-induced response. These data are discussed at length in a later section of this chapter. Partial T cell activation was next shown in Th1 cells, indicating that it was a global phenomenon and not just peculiar to the original Th2 clone in which it was defined. In Th1 cells, APL stimulated cytolytic activity, cell volume increase, and upregulation of cell surface IL-2 receptor levels, but APL did not induce proliferation, cytokine production, or phosphoinositol hydrolysis (10, 11). A report from another group later confirmed the partial activation phenotype in a murine alloantigen system (12). Because addition of peptide inhibited some TCR-mediated events (IL-2 production) but not others (IL-3 production, IL-2 receptor α expression and cell enlargement), the investigators concluded that this was a demonstration of partial T cell activation. Together, the above data using partially activating APL suggested that selective T cell signaling events were being stimulated in the absence of others.

APL and Anergy Induction

An analysis of the consequences of delivering a partial signal by APL revealed that the T cells had been rendered functionally anergic, subsequently unable to respond to stimulatory ligand (11, 13). This phenomenon was dependent on the partial signal, since neither a stimulatory dose of agonist ligand nor analogs that did not partially activate the T cells could induce the long-term anergic phenotype (11). These observations were consistent with earlier studies demonstrating that TCR engagement in the absence of T cell proliferation leads to T cell anergy (14–16). However, several important differences in the two systems were noted. While the classical studies used stimulatory ligand and costimulation-deficient antigen presenting cells (APC) to anergize T cells (14), APL-induced anergy occurred in the presence of live, functional APC (11). Moreover, addition of exogenous costimulation was unable to rescue the T cells

from APL-induced anergy, indicating that other components of the T cell signaling cascade were missing. Finally, while antigenic ligand and nonfunctional APC stimulated some T cell cytokine production and phosphoinositol hydrolysis, neither of these activation events could be detected upon TCR engagement of APL and live APC in Th1 cells (17, 18). Together, these observations suggested that the signaling component missing in APL stimulation of T cells did not involve costimulation and was likely a very early membrane proximal event.

APL and T Cell Antagonism

T cell antagonism was first defined as a specific and dose-dependent downmodulation of agonist-induced T cell proliferation when both agonist and APL were presented to the T cells simultaneously, and such antagonism was hypothesized to be due to competition for TCR sites (9). However, since the ligand for TCR is made up of two components, competition between the two peptides for MHC binding sites had to be eliminated as a possible explanation for the observed results. This issue was addressed in several ways. First, APC were prepulsed with stimulatory ligand, at a dose that would occupy only a fraction of the available MHC binding sites. After washing excess peptide away, the APL was then added together with the T cells, and the T cell response assessed. Second, irrelevant competitor peptide, with similar binding affinity for the MHC molecules, could not diminish the T cell response to agonist (9). Finally, APL could antagonize a superantigen-mediated T cell response, confirming that MHC competition was not involved, since superantigen and peptide antigen bind independent sites on MHC molecules (19). APL-induced TCR antagonism has now been reported using a variety of antigen systems, in both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, and the antagonism affects several cell functions, including cytokine production, cytolysis, serine esterase release, and phosphoinositol hydrolysis (12, 20-22).

Relationship Between Partially Activating and Antagonist APL

Initial studies of T cell antagonism showed that the antagonistic peptides were unable to deliver any identifiable signal to the T cells, including Ca⁺⁺ flux, or cytokine production or induction of T cell anergy (9). The identification of both partial agonist and antagonist APL in the hemoglobin system provided us the unique opportunity to study the relationship between the two (8, 10, 11, 19). By introducing many different residues at a particular TCR contact site, we were able to correlate structural modification with stimulatory ability of the analogs. We found that analog peptides containing very conservative substitutions at defined secondary TCR interaction sites retained the partial activation phenotype, in addition to being efficient antagonists (23; J Sloan-Lancaster, BD Evavold, unpublished observations). As the nature of the substituted amino acid



Figure 1 Relationship between antagonistic and partially activating APL. Peptide analogs fall into a spectrum of stimulatory categories related to their structural homology with agonist ligand, which may be due to increasing affinity for the TCR. Thus, partially activating APL are a subset of the antagonists. Antagonism may therefore occur by two distinct mechanisms. We propose that passive antagonism is a surface phenomenon involving direct competition for TCR sites, while active antagonism requires inhibitory signaling events, which are dominant over agonist-induced signals. Analogs able to induce positive selection are positioned based on the available data.

deviated more from the original residue, the partial activation phenotype diminished while the antagonistic function was retained. Eventually the antagonism was also lost, with the analog displaying a null phenotype (23). Interestingly, amino acid substitution at the defined primary TCR contact site, even conservatively, completely abolished all detectable activity of the peptide in all T cells tested (7; J Sloan-Lancaster, BD Evavold, unpublished observations).

The above data are consistent with a threshold-of-activation model for T cell signaling, as shown schematically in Figure 1. Successful stimulation of individual T cell functions seems to depend on activation reaching a certain critical level within the cell, with triggering of each function requiring a particular threshold to be achieved. The capacity of an extracellular stimulus to trigger

activation to different thresholds is likely dictated by the amount of TCR crosslinking induced and the affinity of the ligand for the TCR. Thus, as a peptide analog becomes more structurally homologous to the agonist ligand, activation to higher thresholds will be accomplished, and more effector functions will be stimulated. These can range from antagonism alone to several partial activation phenotypes, depending upon the threshold level reached by the particular peptide analog. Consistent with this, partially activating APL appear to be a subset of the antagonists (7, 23).

Since both pure antagonists and partially activating APL can antagonize a T cell response, the question arises whether they do so by the same or independent mechanisms. We favor the latter choice and propose that two types of APL-induced T cell antagonism exist (Figure 1). Passive antagonism appears to occur without any T cell signaling events and may simply be a surface phenomenon involving direct competition for TCR sites, resulting in dilution of the amount of agonist ligand in a T cell contact cap. This seems to be the less efficient mechanism and should require high concentrations of analog peptide to induce significant inhibition. Many antagonists reported in the literature could fall into this category (9, 20, 22). Active antagonism, in contrast, seems to require an APL to induce some biochemical activity in the T cell, which is apparently inhibitory and dominant over the agonist-delivered signals. These antagonists should be highly effective at much lower concentrations and may therefore be the only ones having any biological relevance. This hypothesis is supported by the data of Ferrari and colleagues, demonstrating that analogs of a hepatitis B virus peptide can efficiently antagonize T cell cytolysis when presented at a lower concentration than agonist peptide (24).

APL and Signal Transduction

While the phenomenon of partial T cell activation by APL is well documented, little is known regarding the mechanisms by which this occurs. In order to study the earliest signal transduction events stimulated upon TCR ligation, we compared the tyrosine phosphorylation patterns after TCR engagement of the Hb(64–76)/I-E^k or partially activating APL in our Th1 cells (23). The results clearly indicated that the partially activating APL, which could not activate phospholipid hydrolysis, were able to stimulate specific tyrosine phosphorylation events in the T cells. Moreover, the pattern induced by the APL was unique as compared to that stimulated by agonist or a nonstimulatory control peptide. A strikingly different tyrosine phosphorylation pattern was identified in species of 18 kDa and 20–21 kDa. Specifically, while Hb(64–76) stimulated strong bands at both molecular masses, the APL stimulated a strong band at 18 kDa and a weak but significant band at 20–21 kDa. Moreover, the band at 18 kDa

above basal levels, nor any phosphoprotein at 20–21 kDa. The identification of these species as phosphorylated forms of the TCR ζ chain (pp18 and pp21) indicated that an APL was able specifically to activate membrane proximal signal transduction events leading to phosphorylation of the TCR ζ chain.

While the pattern of phospho- ζ species appearing after stimulation with the APL was different from that stimulated by agonist ligand, it was important to distinguish whether this was simply a reflection of a lower level of stimulation, or whether this APL was in fact inducing a unique signal in the T cells. A direct comparison of the phospho- ζ species appearing after stimulation with the APL or various doses of Hb(64-76) was made to address this issue. Since there was no concentration of agonist at which the pattern of ζ chain tyrosine phosphorylation resembled that seen after stimulation with the APL, we concluded that a unique signal was being delivered to the T cells by this ligand. Furthermore, this altered phospho- ζ pattern correlated precisely with the partially activating phenotype of the APL, demonstrating that APL stimulated a qualitatively different signal to the T cells than did agonist ligand. Madrenas and colleagues subsequently corroborated these results in another antigen system, demonstrating that partially activating and antagonist APL delivered an altered phospho- ζ pattern (25). They also showed that the APL could not stimulate tyrosine phosphorylation of $CD3\epsilon$, an observation confirmed in our system (J Sloan-Lancaster, PM Allen, manuscript in preparation). Thus, partially activating APL can selectively induce tyrosine phosphorylation of the CD3 components, leading to different functional phenotypes in the T cells.

MODEL FOR APL-INDUCED PARTIAL ACTIVATION

Overview

Using the information available regarding the biochemical components and enzymes involved in T cell activation, we propose the following simplistic overview, as illustrated in Figure 2, in an attempt to explain partial activation. The TCR $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer provides the specific antigen recognition unit of T cells, while the multichain invariant CD3 complex is responsible for transducing activation signals (26–28). Since the CD3 chains have no inherent enzymatic capability, signaling is accomplished by the binding of nonreceptor tyrosine kinases and other potential effector molecules to the chains via a consensus binding module (27, 29). This immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM), with the consensus sequence $Yxx(L/I)x_{(6-8)}Yxx(L/I)$, is expressed as a single copy in the cytoplasmic domains of the CD3 γ , δ , and ϵ chains, and in triplicate in the CD3 ζ polypeptide (30). Upon TCR



Figure 2 Model for APL-induced partial activation. (*a*) TCR ligation by immunogenic ligand leads to efficient recruitment and/or activation of the src kinases, saturated phosphorylation of all CD3 ITAMs (*filled circles*), and full T cell activation. (*b*) APL engagement causes inefficient recruitment and/or activation of src kinases, and incomplete phosphorylation of CD3 ITAMs, resulting in a lack of binding templates for some SH2-domain containing proteins. Thus, some signaling pathways remain inactive (*arrow with open circles*), others are stimulated weakly (*arrow with open and filled circles*), while others are activated normally (*arrow with filled circles*), directly dependent on the tyrosine phosphorylation state of the ITAMs.

ligation, the src kinases $p56^{lck}$ and $p59^{fyn}$ are recruited to and/or activated at the T cell contact cap (31–33). These activated kinases appear to be responsible for the subsequent phosphorylation of the CD3 ITAMs on their tyrosine residues, which then serve as binding templates for proteins containing the SH2-domain that are involved in downstream signaling events (29, 34, 35).

TCR engagement by agonist ligand should lead to efficient recruitment and activation of both src kinases, resulting in saturated phosphorylation of all CD3 ITAMs, and the subsequent binding of the full complement of downstream signaling molecules (Figure 2*a*). In contrast, we suggest that TCR ligation by an APL causes lack of recruitment and/or activation of src kinases. This results in the altered CD3 chain phosphorylation pattern witnessed upon TCR ligation by APL (23, 25). Any ITAMs remaining in the unphosphorylated state will not be able to bind SH2-domain containing proteins, resulting in a lack of recruitment of these proteins to the cross-linked TCR complex. Downstream signaling pathways dependent on those particular proteins will therefore remain inactive in the T cells (Figure 2*b*). Thus, selective signaling events will be triggered as a direct result of the phosphorylation state of the CD3 chains, which is in turn dictated by the nature of the ligand bound.

Role of the Src Kinases

If TCR tyrosine phosphorylation occurs in a hierarchial manner, both p56^{lck} and p59^{fyn} may be required in sufficient quantities for phosphate saturation of all available tyrosines. Alternatively, they may be responsible for phosphorylating different tyrosines in the ζ intracytoplasmic domain. Previous reports have correlated p59^{fyn} association with ζ and the formation of pp21 phospho- ζ in Cos-1 cells, while coexpression of p56^{lck} with ζ resulted primarily in pp18 phospho- ζ generation (36). Using this information, we propose that pp18 represents unsaturated phospho- ζ , while pp21 represents saturated phospho- ζ with all available tyrosines phosphorylated. Perhaps one src kinase primarily generates pp18, and a second is mainly responsible for converting pp18 to pp21. If binding of an APL prevents efficient recruitment and/or activation of one or the other kinase, this would result in the presence of fewer saturated phospho- ζ molecules in the T cell contact cap. Assuming that a critical number of fully active or saturated phospho- ζ molecules must be in close proximity to achieve a threshold for activation, pp18 accumulation would be inhibitory by effectively diluting out the number of pp21 molecules at the site of ligation in individual TCR contact caps. It therefore appears that the ratio of pp21:pp18 generation is important for successful T cell activation. As a result, at doses of the two ligands that induce similar levels of pp21 in the TCR population, agonist peptide would fully activate the T cells while APL would stimulate only partial signaling, due to more pp18 accumulation in the latter case. Comparison of

the levels of src kinase activity in T cells after stimulation with agonist or with partially activating APL has provided evidence to support this model. While APLs were able to activate $p59^{fyn}$ in a specific and time-dependent manner, the level of kinase activity was dramatically lower than that stimulated by a similar dose of agonist ligand. However, the contribution of $p56^{lck}$ to the activation of the T cells by the different ligands could not be addressed, because this kinase appeared to be constitutively active in the T cells (J Sloan-Lancaster, PM Allen, manuscript in preparation).

Involvement of CD3 Chains

There are six potential tyrosine phosphorylation sites in the ζ tail, making up a total of three ITAMs (37). While the exact sites of phosphorylation in the pp18 and pp21 species are not known, reports have implicated involvement of three of the four most carboxy terminal tyrosines in the generation of pp21, but not pp18 (38, 39). We therefore postulate that pp18 represents either a single species with only ITAM 1 (the most membrane-proximal) successfully phosphorylated on both tyrosines, or several species with different combinations of four tyrosines phosphorylated, producing one or two doubly phosphorylated ITAMs. In contrast, pp21 represents saturated phospho- ζ , with all three ITAMs doubly phosphorylated. The net effect should be that fewer phosphotyrosines are available in pp18 than in pp21. Thus, SH2-domain containing proteins that require several binding sites in tandem, or a particular ITAM site exclusively available in pp21, should not be recruited to the plasma membrane as efficiently after stimulation by the APL as compared to the agonist ligand. Similarly, any signaling proteins which bind exclusively to the CD3 ϵ ITAM should only be brought proximal to the membrane after engagement of agonist ligand, since APL do not stimulate CD3 ϵ phosphorylation (23, 25).

Translation to Downstream Signaling Pathways

If the phosphotyrosine state of the CD3 ITAMs dictates downstream signaling activity, then phosphorylation of fewer than the full complement of these sites upon TCR cross-linking presents several testable predictions. First, some downstream signaling pathways should remain inactive due to the absence of a binding template for the particular SH2-domain containing protein required for their initiation. We therefore investigated the tyrosine kinase activity associated with ζ after stimulation of our T cells with APL as compared to stimulatory ligand. While engagement of Hb(64–76) resulted in activation of ZAP-70 tyrosine kinase in these T cells, ligation by APL did not lead to detectable ZAP-70 kinase activity (23). Consistent with this, Madrenas et al reported that only unphosphorylated, and therefore enzymatically inactive, ZAP-70 was associated with ζ upon TCR ligation by APL (25).

Another prediction from the proposed model is that some signaling pathways should simply be lowered in activity when a T cell presents fewer phosphorylated ITAMs, perhaps due to inefficient amplification of the initiating enzyme proximal to the cell membrane. In support of this, we have investigated the intracellular Ca⁺⁺ mobilization in our T cell clones after stimulation with the various ligands. A quantitative difference was noted, such that APL induced lower total intracellular Ca⁺⁺ than did agonist ligand, a pattern that correlated perfectly with the partial activating phenotype of the APL. Interestingly the APL, unlike the agonist ligand, were unable to sustain the initially stimulated high intracellular Ca⁺⁺ concentrations over the time evaluated. Instead, levels quickly dropped to a reduced but still significant concentration that was subsequently sustained, indicating a qualitative difference in addition to the quantitative difference described above (J Sloan-Lancaster, PM Allen, manuscript in preparation). These data indicate that the Ca⁺⁺ mobilization induced by the APL is necessary and sufficient to stimulate partial activation of the T cells, but not sufficient to reach a sustained threshold level required for full activation. Finally, one might expect that some signaling pathways are activated similarly by both agonist ligand and APL, due to the presence of the initiating phospho-ITAMs for such pathways under each condition. Some of our recent investigations provide evidence to support this also, since we find equivalent activities of the MAP kinases after TCR ligation by Hb(64-76) or the Ser70 APL (J Sloan-Lancaster, PM Allen, manuscript in preparation).

SH2-DOMAIN CONTAINING PROTEIN BINDING

If one imagines the intracellular environment of a T cell as a sea of SH2-domain containing signaling proteins, as illustrated in Figure 3, then upon TCR crosslinking and CD3 ITAM phosphorylation, many binding choices become available. The factors determining which selections are made could include both 1. the actual sequences of the interacting motifs (SH2 domain and phosphorylated ITAM) and 2. the number of phosphorylated ITAMs in the environment. In the first case, signaling proteins with the highest binding affinities for individual ITAMs should successfully outcompete other signaling molecules with lower binding affinities. In a situation where few phosphorylated ITAMs of one particular variety are available, only the highest affinity signaling proteins would bind. Alternatively, if ITAM phosphorylation is maximal, some lower affinity proteins containing the SH2-domain may also be able to bind to these sites. This is referred to as the selective binding model (I). In the second case, the stable binding of signaling proteins to ITAM sequences, and perhaps their subsequent activation, may require that multiple molecules be in close proximity to one another. Such proteins would preferentially bind phospho- ζ as opposed

to the other CD3 chains, since it provides three ITAMs in sequence and therefore provides the necessary amplification property. Again, in a situation where some ITAMs of ζ remain unphosphorylated, such signaling proteins would not successfully bind and/or be activated. This is referred to as the amplification model (II). In either of these two models, which are not necessarily mutually exclusive, selective phosphorylation of individual ITAMs in the CD3 chains should allow multiple distinct combinations of downstream signaling proteins to be recruited to and/or activated at the T cell plasma membrane, with the result that the net phenotype of qualitatively different signals are transduced in the cells.

Evidence Supporting a Selective Binding Model

Observations in several receptor systems support a model of selective binding of proteins containing SH2-domains to phosphotyrosine residues. The best characterized of these is that of the platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGF-R), the intracytoplasmic tail of which contains numerous tyrosine residues that are sites of autophosphorylation upon ligand binding. Sequential mutagenesis studies have clearly shown substrate specificity, with unique binding sites



Figure 3 Model for CD3 chains binding distinct substrates. CD3 chains can bind distinct SH2domain containing proteins by two mechanisms. The selection model (I) depends on the actual sequences of the interacting motifs and suggests that SH2-domain containing proteins bind individual ITAMs with different affinities. The amplification model (II) proposes that proteins containing SH2-domains require several ITAMs in sequence for stable binding or activation to ensue.

identified for the enzymes phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI-3 kinase), GTPaseactivating protein of ras (GAP), phospholipase C γ (PLC γ), and the protein tyrosine phosphatase Syp via their SH2 domains (40–42). Moreover, the Ig- α and Ig- β components of the B cell receptor complex, which are homologous to the CD3 chains, were shown to bind to distinct signaling proteins via their ITAM motifs. While both proteins could efficiently bind PI-3 kinase, only the Ig- α chain could bind the Src family kinases Lyn and Fyn (43). Recruitment of different amounts of individual enzymes to the plasma membrane in either of these receptor systems, by control of phosphorylation on different tyrosines, could potentially lead to selective activation of independent signaling pathways.

Similar observations have been made in the TCR/CD3 complex, consistent with a selective substrate binding model here also. An evaluation of the association of PI-3 kinase to CD3 ITAMs demonstrated a preferred binding pattern. This protein could only bind doubly phosphorylated ITAMs of CD3 ζ and not the other CD3 chains, and its efficiency of association was ranked ITAM ζ 1 \gg ITAM ζ 3 > ITAM ζ 2 (44). Moreover, our own recent studies have shown that a fusion protein containing the SH2 domain of the Shc oncogene product fused to glutathione S-transferase (GST) can specifically immunoprecipitate the pp21 but not the pp18 form of phospho- ζ from activated T cells (J Sloan-Lancaster, PM Allen, unpublished observations). Although the exact phosphorylated ITAMs represented in each of these two species is currently unknown, the data support a model in which different ITAMs of the TCR/CD3 complex recruit distinct signal transduction molecules.

A recent study investigated the relative binding affinities of the SH2 domains of ZAP-70 for individual ITAMs of CD3 ζ or ϵ , and the data generated support the selective binding model. Using immobilized GST fusion proteins containing the SH2 domains of ZAP-70, and soluble synthetic peptides with the sequences of individual CD3 ζ and ϵ motifs, the investigators demonstrated a preferential binding pattern (45). While each doubly phosphorylated ITAM peptide could bind to the tandem SH2 domains of ZAP-70, direct competition between the peptides revealed a hierarchy in the order of ITAM ζ -1 > ITAM ζ -2 > ITAM ϵ > ITAM ζ -3. Affinity differences over a 30-fold range indicated a significant specificity of interaction of ZAP-70 SH2 domains for different phospho-ITAMs, suggesting that individual CD3 ITAM sequences likely bind distinct substrates in vivo. In contrast, results from another similarly designed study revealed no significant differences in the binding abilities of individual ITAMs for the tandem SH2 domains of ZAP-70. Instead, all individual ITAM sequences from the CD3 complex displayed similar binding abilities, except for ITAM ζ -3 which bound approximately 2.5-fold less well (46). Although the

reason for the different results from these two studies is not known, the different protocols used for affinity measurements may be an explanation. However, even if no significant selective binding of CD3 chains to ZAP-70 exists, other proteins clearly show preferential binding to individual ITAM sequences, likely a reflection of their specific SH2-domain sequences.

Evidence Supporting an Amplification Model

In support of the amplification model, several correlations between biological response and activated ITAM content have been observed. For example, a chimeric receptor containing three copies of the ζ 1 motif induced approximately threefold more NFAT-regulated activity when compared to a chimeric receptor containing only a single ζ 1 motif (47). In addition, a Tac- ϵ chimera containing only one ITAM required 10- to 100-fold greater antibody concentration to elicit IL-2 secretion than did the Tac- ζ chimera, which had three ITAMs (48). Finally, a comparison of the independent roles of CD3 ϵ and CD3 ζ in mediating various thymocyte and T cell signals provided evidence supporting an amplification model. While Tac- ϵ and Tac- ζ chimeras displayed no differences from each other or from the entire CD3 complex in mediating signals during T cell development, the Tac- ϵ chimera was less efficient at stimulating mature T cell proliferation than was Tac- ζ , and neither construct stimulated the T cells as well as the entire CD3 complex (49). Together, these results suggest that an amplification role of the CD3 ζ chain is significant for successful T cell signaling.

Existence of Both Models?

While evidence exists supporting either a selective binding model or an amplification model, it makes biological sense that both mechanisms occur in conjunction for stringent regulation of T cell activation. Indeed, results from some of our own studies are compatible with the possibility that either model may be correct, and perhaps both occur simultaneously. The demonstration that ZAP-70 kinase activity could only be detected upon TCR cross-linking by agonist ligand suggested that this enzyme binds more efficiently to pp21 than to pp18 (23). This conclusion was subsequently revised when unphosphorylated ZAP-70 was found bound to the CD3 complex after stimulation with APL as well as agonist ligand (25). Instead, the template available in pp18 appears to be insufficient to bind enough ZAP-70 molecules in close proximity to each other to initiate enzymatic activity. While these observations could be explained by a binding preference to particular ITAMs only available in pp21, they may also reflect an amplification of ZAP-70 activation when more molecules are brought into close proximity with each other.

EVIDENCE FOR DISTINCT ROLES OF INDIVIDUAL CD3 ITAMS

If different phosphorylation states of individual ITAMs in the CD3 chains dictate which downstream signaling pathways are activated, what potential roles could these different states play in T cell biology? Several independent studies support the hypothesis that individual ITAMs have specific functions during thymocyte maturation. The generation of mice lacking CD3 ζ chains highlighted the necessity of this molecule in the successful development of thymocytes, since most cells in these mice were arrested early at the double negative stage of maturation (50, 51). However, since all components of the TCR/CD3 complex are required for surface expression, these studies could not distinguish whether the lack of development was due solely to a lack of TCR on the cell surface, or whether CD3 ζ also played a critical role in the signaling processes during development. TCR expression was subsequently restored in these ζ -deficient mice by reconstituting with transgenic ζ chains that partially or completely lacked sequences required for signal transduction (52). The ζ chain was shown to play a role in thymic development by promoting TCR surface expression, but ζ -mediated signals were not essential since TCRs that contained signaling-deficient ζ chains promoted T cell maturation also. However, the efficiency with which the transgenic ζ -chain variants reconstituted thymocyte development paralleled the number of ITAMs that were present in the protein, implying that ζ -mediated signals are important and perhaps function in signal amplification. Consistent with this, mice lacking CD3 ζ , but not its alternatively spliced partner η , displayed a phenotype suggesting an amplification role of the ITAMs in T cell signaling (53). Here, mice lacking only expression of ITAM ζ 3 displayed greatly reduced numbers of both thymocytes and peripheral T cells, with fivefold-lower surface levels of TCR than those of normal mice. terestingly, the functional responsiveness of the peripheral T cells was also impaired, as evidenced by the reduced proliferative response upon TCR en-These data also supported a model of selective roles of indigagement. vidual ζ ITAMs in TCR signaling, both developmentally and in the mature T cell population, whether it be via the selective binding or the amplification model.

The phenotypes created by overexpression of CD3 ζ or CD3 ϵ in transgenic mice also supported the proposal of independent functions of ITAMs during thymic development. In one case, mice were generated that overexpressed either full-length ζ (FL ζ), η , or a truncated ζ chain containing only ITAM ζ 1; and the functional consequences of high surface levels of these proteins compared (54). Unexpectedly, overexpression of FL ζ , but not η or ITAM ζ 1, caused

premature termination of RAG-1 and RAG-2 expression, prevented productive rearrangement of the TCR α and β genes, and blocked entry of thymocytes into the CD4/CD8 developmental pathway (54). Similarly, an analysis of the role of CD3 ϵ expression during thymocyte development suggested that overexpression of this CD3 chain also arrested T lymphocyte development early during ontogeny (55). A correlation between the copy number of transgene expression and stage of maturational block was noted, such that increasing levels of CD3 ϵ on the thymocyte surface blocked the cells at an earlier stage of development. The importance of the ITAM motif was evident because mice containing a CD3 ϵ transgene lacking most of the intracytoplasmic domain contained normal numbers of T cells. Together, these data support a model of independent roles of CD3 ITAMs during thymocyte development and are compatible with the individual ITAMs binding either individual SH2-domain containing substrates or different quantities of shared substrates as a mechanism for their specific functions.

In addition to the above studies, a recent report has implicated specific requirements for different components of the CD3 complex at distinct levels of maturity in the peripheral T cell population for successful T cell activation (56). Transgenic mice were constructed bearing a chimeric molecule composed of the intracytoplasmic domain of CD3 ζ , transmembrane portion of CD8 α , and extracellular domain of a single chain Ab (Fv) portion specific for human CD3 This produced a system in which the signaling efficiency of a TCR con- ϵ . taining the entire CD3 complex could be directly compared to one containing only a single CD3 ζ molecule (56). In vitro stimulation of naive T cells via the chimeric molecule, unlike cross-linking of the endogenous CD3 complex, failed to stimulate T cell proliferation, cytotoxic function, or intracellular Ca^{++} fluxes. Intriguingly, T cells from these mice previously activated in vivo, or in vitro via the intact CD3 complex, were subsequently able to be activated through the chimeric CD3 ζ molecule. These observations strongly support the hypothesis that the signaling requirements of peripheral T cells are dictated by the activation state of the cells prior to ligand binding, and they further demonstrate the significant influence individual CD3 components can have in the success of T lymphocyte activation.

TRANSLATION OF STRUCTURAL CHANGES IN LIGAND ACROSS THE PLASMA MEMBRANE

While all the above proposals may help in understanding how partial TCR signaling can occur, one crucial question remains unaddressed. That is, how are subtle changes in the exogenous binding to the $\alpha\beta$ recognition unit being

transmitted across the membrane to result in the altered intracellular signaling events witnessed? Since T cell recognition involves the binding of several distinct TCR contact residues of the peptide ligand, two non-mutually exclusive possibilities exist for how creation of a subtle change in a TCR contact site leads to partial activation. These are illustrated in Figure 4 as either (a) a failure to assemble all the necessary molecules in the T cell contact cap (Oligomerization Model), or (b) a failure to induce a required conformational change in the TCR (Conformational Model). Changing the ligand subtly at a TCR contact site may change the composition of the contact cap between the T cell and APC. This changed composition could include fewer TCR/CD3 complexes, less CD4, CD28, LFA-1, or various other molecules, with the subsequent signals integrated differently, perhaps by abrogating the recruitment and/or activation of one signaling molecule and not the other. The successful oligomerization of all necessary components in a functional contact cap may then be a prerequisite for induction of a conformational change in the TCR complex. In support of this, Janeway's group demonstrated using anti-TCR antibodies that both receptor cross-linking and a change in conformation must occur for successful activation to ensue (57). Similarly, by modifying the structural interaction of the ligand at a TCR contact site, insufficient receptor cross-linking and failure to induce a conformational change may occur, leading to partial activation. While it seems feasible that APL have a lower affinity for the TCR than native ligand, an increase in affinity cannot be ruled out. One investigation demonstrated no affinity difference between agonist and variant peptide, but instead a higher dissociation rate of the APL (58). Thus, affinity differences or kinetic changes may lead to altered stoichiometry or a lack of TCR conformational change, resulting in partial activation.

A recent study described an assay system in which the stoichiometry of peptide-MHC/TCR interaction in specific conjugates could be precisely measured by assessing the level of TCR downregulation upon stimulation with known numbers of ligand molecules (59). By titrating the dose of agonist ligand used to pulse the APC, the investigators were able to show that a large percentage of TCR were specifically engaged by relatively few peptide-MHC complexes, indicating that each peptide-MHC complex must engage a large number of TCR in successive rounds. Furthermore, the production of IFN- γ by the T cells correlated with the number of TCR engaged. When partial agonist APL were tested in the assay system, a similar relationship between TCR engagement and biological response was found. These results indicated that APL may behave as partial agonists because they trigger fewer TCR than native ligand and may prevent aquisition of the full complement of receptors at the contact cap or lack of a TCR conformational change from occurring.





BIOLOGICAL RELEVANCE OF ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGANDS

Many models of in vivo T cell activation are compatible with a selective signaling model, suggesting that naturally occurring APL for any TCR exist. Such natural APL could be constructed from one's self-antigens and the resulting repertoire of endogenous peptides, or they could be designed by pathogens to escape immune attack from the host. Recently, observations from many studies have implicated several roles for such analog peptides in various aspects of immune responses. Collectively, these data suggest the existence of naturally occurring APL from the endogenous peptide repertoire, which actively participate in the development and shaping of T cell immunity. Supporting this theory, two recent studies have clearly shown the relevance of endogenous APL for individual TCRs, and the intriguing data from these reports are discussed later in the review.

APL Role in Thymic Development

Thymic education results in the maturation of T lymphocytes recognizing foreign antigens, but not self-proteins, bound to self-MHC molecules, and it involves two independent selection processes. Positive selection allows cell survival and differentiation, while negative selection leads to cell death by apoptosis (60, 61). Both processes require the successful engagement of the TCR with a peptide-bound MHC molecule (62), indicating that differences in the peptide's interaction with thymocytes must dictate the fate of the cell. The recent design of in vitro culture models allowed a direct assessment of the possible involvement of APL in thymic development, and the data indicate a potential role of such ligands, supporting an affinity/avidity model of thymic maturation.

By culturing fetal thymic lobes from class-I MHC-deficient, TCR transgenic mice with mixtures of peptides, two groups analyzed the involvement of peptide in $CD8^+$ T cell thymic development in vitro (63, 64). These studies elegantly demonstrated that peptide variants, which formed a subset of specific antagonists for mature T cells expressing the same TCR, could successfully positively select thymocytes when the variants were included in the fetal thymic organ cultures. Subsequent analyses of the role of agonist or partial agonist ligands in thymic development revealed that, while low concentrations of these peptides supported positive selection, higher concentrations resulted in thymic deletion (63–65). This suggested that the outcome of the interaction between a T cell and its ligand depends both on the affinity of the TCR/MHC-peptide complex and on the number of TCRs engaged (66).

In parallel, other groups have assessed the role of specific peptides in the development of CD4⁺ T cells. For example, APL that could only partially activate a mature CD4⁺ T cell clone could nevertheless efficiently delete thymocytes expressing the same TCR, indicating that perhaps thymocytes have a lower threshold of activation requirement than do mature T cells (67). Furthermore, endogenous expression of a TCR antagonist peptide in a TCR β transgenic mouse resulted in the deletion of T cells with high avidity for agonist ligand, while allowing survival of T cells with lower avidity for the same ligand (68).

The above data emphasize that different signals are involved in positive versus negative selection, and they provide a possible mechanism whereby this can occur. One can imagine that peptide interaction with thymocytes at different stages of maturation could stimulate different signaling pathways. This could result from the overall avidity of the interaction between the T cell and APC, and would be the summation of TCR affinity for ligand, concentration of ligand presented, and the participation of other adhesion molecules on the cell surfaces. Since thymocytes change both surface levels of TCR and other molecules as they progress through thymic development, interaction with the same peptide at different stages could result in different functional consequences. This should be due to the signal transduction processes initiated, which in turn would be dictated by the initial tryosine phosphorylation state of the various CD3 ITAMs.

What then is the relationship between mature T cells and their positively selecting ligand in the periphery? Perhaps such an interaction is analogous to that between APL and T cells, such that these ligands cannot stimulate full activation of peripheral T cells. In one study, thymocytes educated by a particular peptide were shown to be specifically unresponsive to it by decreasing surface CD8 levels (69). Furthermore, transgenic $\alpha\beta$ T cells specific for gp(33–41)/H-2D^b from lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) were specifically unresponsive to the self-ligand Mls-1a while still retaining the ability to be activated by agonist ligand (70). This suggests that low avidity interactions with self-ligands may induce unresponsiveness to self-molecules by increasing the resting threshold of the T cell, and that foreign antigenic peptides with higher affinity for such TCR are able to stimulate this threshold of activation level in the mature T cell population.

Implications for APL in the Periphery

SHAPING OF IMMUNE RESPONSES TO PARTICULAR ANTIGENS The predisposition of certain individuals to autoimmune diseases or allergies indicates that biological factors shared by them contribute to their susceptibility. Indeed, strong correlations between expression of particular HLA alleles and disease susceptibility are well documented. However, multiple other factors are clearly involved and likely include both genetic and environmental influences. We propose that one's repertoire of endogenous peptides not only influences susceptibility to disease, but also plays a significant role in the shaping of immune responses to all foreign challenges, as well as dictating vaccine efficiency within individuals. This could be accomplished either by an involvement of self-peptides during thymocyte development as discussed above, or by active participation in the regulation of mounting immune responses in the periphery. Endogenous peptides recognized by mature T cells as APL should be able to function as such in vivo, and thus they should influence responses activated against foreign antigens, e.g. by antagonism or anergy induction or by influencing the phenotype of the T cell population being activated. What is the existing evidence in support of this proposal?

Modulation of cytokine pattern by APL One elegant study recently demonstrated that antagonistic APL were able to partially activate Th0 clones in a way that caused dramatic changes in their functional phenotype (71). While presentation of agonist ligand to myelin basic protein (MBP)–specific Th0 clones stimulated production of IL-2, IL-4, IL-10, and IFN- γ , none of these cytokines could be detected after TCR ligation by an antagonistic APL. Intriguingly, engagement of the APL alone induced production of TGF- β from the T cells, a cytokine that was not produced upon agonist stimulation (71). These data clearly showed that APL engagement can activate different signals than agonist ligand, which can result in a dramatic change in the functional phenotype of the T cells. The biological significance of this as a possible way of regulating specific T cell immune responses is highlighted by the observations that TGF- β administration to mice can ameliorate EAE disease severity, and that suppression of EAE is associated with the generation of T cells that secrete TGF- β (72–74).

Viral antagonism While viruses have long been known to utilize several strategies to escape attack by host defense systems, two reports documented a novel means of immune evasion, that of viral antagonism (24, 75). Naturally occurring variants of antigenic epitopes were identified, which may act as antagonists in vivo, since the corresponding peptides specifically prevented a CTL response directed against the viruses in vitro. Moreover, these peptide variants were able to function as antagonists when expressed as proteins and thus when synthesized in the target cell. These results strongly suggest that naturally occurring APL can perform as efficient antagonists, and thus they could significantly influence specific immune responses.

Ability of endogenous APL to antagonize a T cell response To formally test the above hypothesis, we have recently studied the ability of endogenously synthesized peptide-MHC complexes to function as TCR antagonists (K Vidal, BL Hsu, C Williams, PM Allen, manuscript in preparation). Generation of TCR- β chain transgenic mice created a system in which an APL now stimulated

primary reactivity of the resulting T cells when paired with endogenous α chains, while the original agonist peptide Hbd(64–76) functioned as an antagonist of the response (68). This allowed us to examine whether endogenous Hb^d/I-E^k complexes can antagonize peripheral T helper cell responses, since the immunogenic Hbd epitope is processed and presented by many APC populations in mouse strains expressing the appropriate MHC molecules and the Hb^d allele (76). The initial data revealed that endogenous Hb^d/I-E^k complexes were unable to antagonize cytokine production of a T cell hybridoma derived from the transgenic mice. However, by increasing surface levels of endogenously synthesized complexes using several strategies, efficient antagonism of the induced cytokine response was achieved. These data indicated that the normal levels of presentation of endogenous peptide complexes limit their ability to function as antagonists. In a pathological situation in vivo, where many inflammatory mediators and cytokines enhance antigen presentation, such endogenous APL may be capable of downmodulating specific T cells against agonist ligands.

Maintenance of T cell memory The role of specific antigen in the maintenance of T cell memory has remained a controversial issue in the literature (77). Two independent reports presented compelling evidence that memory CD8⁺ T cells survive, both phenotypically and functionally, in the absence of specific antigen (78, 79). However, since these T cells express increased surface levels of some adhesion molecules and IL-2R compared to their naive counterparts, they may require a lower threshold of activation to achieve full stimulation. Perhaps, therefore, some cross-reactive ligands, which have a lower affinity interaction than the antigenic peptide, could stimulate memory T cells but not naive T cells expressing the same TCR. Thus, naturally occurring APL may play a significant role in the longevity of specific immune responses.

EVIDENCE FOR EXISTENCE OF ENDOGENOUS APL

We recently assessed the ability of a TCR to recognize a variety of different ligands, to define the rules for such interactions, and to establish how much sequence dissimilarity can exist between agonist ligand and partially activating APL (80). Surprisingly, the findings revealed that a peptide with as few as the single primary TCR contact amino acid in common with the agonist ligand, in combination with tolerable substitutions at the other TCR and MHC contact sites, was sufficient to partially activate the T cells. To assess if natural agonists or partial agonists exist in the endogenous peptide repertoire, a search of the databases was made that identified both a natural agonist and a partial agonist peptide for these T cells. This report thus demonstrated that self-peptides have the potential to partially stimulate T cells expressing appropriate TCR, and

they may play a significant role in various aspects of T cell biology. Moreover, the nonhomologous nature of many partially activating peptides highlights the flexibility of the specificity of TCR recognition.

Since activation of autoreactive T cells is a critical event in the induction of autoimmunity, the question arises as to how these T cells are initially activated. Much evidence indicates bacterial or viral infection is a prerequisite of many autoimmune diseases; this implicates cross-reactive peptides from pathogens in the primary stimulation of self-antigen-specific T cells. Using such information, Strominger and colleagues tested the ability of bacterial and viral peptides to stimulate a panel of T cell clones derived from patients suffering from multiple sclerosis (MS) and recognizing MBP(84-102)/HLA-DR2^b (81). Basing their search on peptides that possess accommodating amino acids at the established MHC and TCR contact sites, the investigators were successful in finding several bacterial or viral peptides capable of stimulating three T cell clones. Moreover, a stimulating peptide from EBV was processed naturally in an EBV-transformed B cell line and was able to activate the appropriate T cells. Surprisingly, these cross-reactive peptides did not bear a major degree of sequence homology to the agonist ligand, indicating that T cell mimicry results from TCR engagement by ligands with enough structural similarity to induce potent T cell activation, regardless of primary amino acid identity.

CONCLUSIONS

This manuscript was designed to provide a comprehensive overview of the concept of APL, their structural and functional relationship to agonist ligands, and their potential roles in various aspects of T cell biology. Many recent and exciting reports have provided compelling evidence that such ligands can exist for any individual T cell, highlighting the relevance of their activation properties to the shaping of T cell-mediated immunity. These data validate the concept of partial T cell signaling and emphasize that T cell activation is not an "all-or-none" phenomenon, but rather involves a collection of signaling modules that can be selectively triggered upon TCR engagement. We propose that these signaling modules are downstream of the TCR/CD3 complex, and that their activation is dependent on the nature of the initial tyrosine phosphorylation events on the CD3 proteins, which in turn is directly dictated by the nature of the ligand bound. This dynamic and rapidly developing field will most likely continue to identify APL as active participants in many T cell biological phenomena, and to reveal the relative importance of individual signal transduction pathways in isolation as opposed to being encompassed in the normal intracellular biochemical homeostasis created upon full T cell activation.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Babbitt BP, Allen PM, Matsueda G, Haber E, Unanue ER. 1985. Binding of immunogenic peptides to Ia histocompatibility molecules. *Nature* 317:359–61
- Townsend ARM, Rothbard J, Gotch FM, Bahadur G, Wraith D, McMichael AJ. 1986. The epitopes of influenza nucleoprotein recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes can be defined with short synthetic peptides. *Cell* 44:959–68
- Evavold BD, Williams SG, Hsu BL, Buus S, Allen PM. 1992. Complete dissection of the Hb(64–76) determinant using Th1, Th2 clones, and T cell hybridomas. J. Immunol. 148:347–53
- Sette A, Buus S, Colon S, Smith JA, Miles C, Grey HM. 1987. Structural characteristics of an antigen required for its interaction with Ia and recognition by T cells. *Nature* 328:395–99
- Jameson SC, Bevan MJ. 1995. T cell receptor antagonists and partial agonists. *Immunity* 2:1–11
- Duplay P, Thome M, Hervé F, Acuto O. 1994. p56^{lck} interacts via its src homology 2 domain with the ZAP-70 kinase. J. Exp. Med. 179:1163–72
- Evavold BD, Sloan-Lancaster J, Allen PM. 1993. Tickling the TCR: selective T cell functions stimulated by altered peptide ligands. *Immunol. Today* 14:602–9
- Evavoid BD, Allen PM. 1991. Separation of IL-4 production from Th cell proliferation by an altered T cell receptor ligand. *Science* 252:1308–10
- De Magistris MT, Alexander J, Coggeshall M, Altman A, Gaeta FCA, Grey HM, Sette A. 1992. Antigen analog-major histocompatibility complexes act as antagonists of the T cell receptor. *Cell* 68:625–34
- Evavold BD, Sloan-Lancaster J, Hsu BL, Allen PM. 1993. Separation of T helper 1 clone cytolysis from proliferation and lymphokine production using analog peptides. J. Immunol. 150:3131–40
- Sloan-Lancaster J, Evavold BD, Allen PM. 1993. Induction of T-cell anergy by altered T-cell-receptor ligand on live antigen-presenting cells. *Nature* 363:156– 59
- Racioppi L, Ronchese F, Matis LA, Germain RN. 1993. Peptide-major histocom-

patibility complex class II complexes with mixed agonist/antagonist properties provide evidence for ligand-related differences in T cell receptor-dependent intracellular signaling. *J. Exp. Med.* 177:1047– 60

- Sloan-Lancaster J, Evavold BD, Allen PM. 1994. Th2 cell clonal anergy as a consequence of partial activation. J. Exp. Med. 180:1195–205
- Jenkins MK, Schwartz RH. 1987. Antigen presentation by chemically modified splenocytes induces antigen-specific T cell unresponsiveness in vitro and in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 165:302–19
- Quill H, Schwartz RH. 1987. Stimulation of normal inducer T cell clones with antigen presented by purified Ia molecules in planar lipid membranes: specific induction of a long-lived state of proliferative norresponsiveness. J. Immunol. 138:3704
- DeSilva DR, Urdahl KB, Jenkins MK. 1991. Clonal anergy is induced in vitro by T cell receptor occupancy in the absence of proliferation. J. Immunol. 147:3261–67
- Jenkins MK, Pardoll DM, Mizuguchi J, Quill H, Schwartz RH. 1987. T-cell unresponsiveness in vivo and in vitro: fine specificity of induction and molecular characterization of the unresponsive state. *Immunol. Rev.* 95:113–35
- Mueller DL, Jenkins MK, Schwartz RH. 1989. Clonal expansion vs. functional clonal inactivation. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 7:445–80
- Evavold BD, Sloan-Lancaster J, Allen PM. 1993. Antagonism of superantigenstimulated helper T-cell clones and hybridomas by altered peptide ligand. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:2300–4
- Jameson SC, Carbone FR, Bevan MJ. 1993. Clone-specific T cell receptor antagonists of major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted cytotoxic T cells. J. Exp. Med. 177:1541–50
- Ostrov D, Krieger J, Sidney J, Sette A, Concannon P. 1993. T cell receptor antagonism mediated by interaction between T cell receptor junctional residues and peptide antigen analogues. *J. Immunol.* 150:4277–83
- 22. Ruppert J, Alexander J, Snoke K, Cogge-

shall M, Herbert E, McKenzie D, Grey HM, Sette A. 1993. Effect of T-cell receptor antagonism on interaction between T cells and antigen-presenting cells and on T-cell signaling events. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:2671–75

- Sloan-Lancaster J, Shaw AS, Rothbard JB, Allen PM. 1994. Partial T cell signaling: altered phospho-ζ and lack of Zap 70 recruitment in APL-induced T cell anergy. *Cell* 79:913–22
- Bertoletti A, Sette A, Chisari FV, Penna A, Levrero M, De Carli M, Fiaccadori F, Ferrari C. 1994. Natural variants of cytotoxic epitopes are T cell receptor antagonists for anti-viral cytotoxic T cells. *Nature* 369:407–10
- Madrenas J, Wange RL, Wang JL, Isakov N, Samelson LE, Germain RN. 1995. ζ Phosphorylation without ZAP-70 activation induced by TCR antagonists or partial agonists. *Science* 267:515–18
- Jorgensen JL, Reay PA, Ehrich EW, Davis MM. 1992. Molecular components of Tcell recognition. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 10:835–73
- Klausner RD, Samelson LE. 1991. T cell antigen receptor activation pathways: the tyrosine kinase connection. *Cell* 64:875– 78
- Weiss A, Littman DR. 1994. Signal transduction by lymphocyte antigen receptors. *Cell* 76:263–74
- Weiss A. 1993. T cell antigen receptor signal transduction: a tale of tails and cytoplasmic protein-tyrosine kinases. *Cell* 73:209–12
- Reth M. 1989. Antigen receptor tail clue. Nature 338:383–84
- Dianzani U, Shaw A, Al-Ramadi BK, Kubo RT, Janeway CA Jr. 1992. Physical association of CD4 with the T cell receptor. J. Immunol. 148:678–88
- Samelson LE, Phillips AF, Luong ET, Klausner RD. 1990. Association of the fyn protein-tyrosine kinase with the T-cell antigen receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 87:4358–62
- Gauen LKT, Kong A-NT, Samelson LE, Shaw AS. 1992. p59^{fyn} tyrosine kinase associates with multiple T-cell receptor subunits through its unique amino-terminal domain. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12:5438–46
- Samelson LE, Klausner RD. 1992. Tyrosine kinases and tyrosine-based activation motifs. J. Biol. Chem. 267:24913–16
- Chan AC, Desai DM, Weiss A. 1994. The role of protein tyrosine kinases and protein tyrosine phosphatases in T cell antigen receptor signal transduction. *Annu. Rev. Im*-

munol. 12:555–92

- Hall CG, Sancho J, Terhorst C. 1993. Reconstitution of T cell receptor ζ-mediated calcium mobilization in nonlymphoid cells. *Science* 261:915–18
- Wegener A-MK, Letourneur F, Hoeveler A, Brocker T, Luton F, Malissen B. 1992. The T cell receptor/CD3 complex is composed of at least two autonomous transduction modules. *Cell* 68:83–95
- Koyasu S, McConkey DJ, Clayton LK, Abraham S, Yandava B, Katagiri T, Moingeon P, Yamamoto T, Reinherz EL. 1992. Phosphorylation of multiple CD3ζ tyrosine residues leads to formation of pp21 *in vitro* and *in vivo. J. Biol. Chem.* 267:3375– 81
- Frank SJ, Cenciarelli C, Niklinska BB, Letourneur F, Ashwell JD, Weissman AM. 1992. Mutagenesis of T cell antigen receptor ζ chain tyrosine residues. J. Biol. Chem. 267:13656–60
- 40. Valius M, Bazenet C, Kazlauskas A. 1993. Tyrosines 1021 and 1009 are phosphorylation sites in the carboxy terminus of the platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta subunit and are required for binding of phospholipase C gamma and a 64kilodalton protein respectively. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13:133–43
- Kazlauskas A, Kashishian A, Cooper JA, Valius M. 1992. GTPase-activating protein and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase bind to distinct regions of the plateletderived growth-factor receptor betasubunit. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12:2534–44
- 42. Kazlauskas A, Feng GS, Pawson T, Valius M. 1993. The 64-kDa protein that associates with the platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta-subunit via Tyr-1009 is the SH2-containing phosphotyrosine phosphatase Syp. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 90:6939–42
- Clark MR, Campbell KS, Kazlauskas A, Johnson SA, Hertz M, Potter TA, Pleiman C, Cambier JC. 1992. The B cell antigen receptor complex: association of Ig-α and Ig-β with distinct cytoplasmic effectors. *Science* 258:123–26
- 44. Exley M, Varticovski L, Peter M, Sancho J, Terhorst C. 1994. Association of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase with a specific sequence of the T cell receptor ζ chain is dependent on T cell activation. J. Biol. Chem. 269:15140–46
- 45. Isakov N, Wange RL, Burgess WH, Watts JD. 1995. ZAP 70 binding specificity to T cell receptor tyrosine-based activation motifs: the tandem SH2 domains of ZAP-70 bind distinct tyrosine-based activation

motifs with varying affinity. J. Exp. Med. 181:375-80

- Bu J-Y, Shaw AS, Chan AC. 1995. Analysis of the interaction of ZAP-70 and syk protein-tyrosine kinases with the T-cell antigen receptor by plasmon resonance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:5106–10
- Irving BA, Chan AC, Weiss A. 1993. Functional characterization of a signal transducing motif present in the T cell antigen receptor ζ-chain. J. Exp. Med. 177:1093–103
- Letourneur F, Klausner RD. 1992. Activation of T cells by a tyrosine kinase activation domain in the cytoplasmic tail of CD3-ε. Science 255:79–82
- Shinkai Y, Ma A, Cheng H-L, Alt FW. 1995. CD3ε and CD3ζ cytoplasmic domains can independently generate signals for T cell development and function. *Immunity* 2:401–11
- Love PE, Shores EW, Johnson MD, Tremblay ML, Lee EJ, Grinberg A, Huang SP, Singer A, Westphal H. 1993. T cell development in mice that lack the ζ-chain of the T cell antigen receptor complex. *Science* 261:918–21
- Crompton T, Moore M, MacDonald HR, Malissen B. 1994. Double-negative thymocyte subsets in CD3-ζ chain-deficient mice: absence of HSA⁺CD44⁻CD25⁻ cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:1903–7
- Shores EW, Huang K, Tran T, Lee E, Grinberg A, Love PE. 1994. Role of TCR ζchain in T cell development and selection. *Science* 266:1047–50
- Ohno H, Aoe T, Taki S, Kitamura D, Ishida Y, Rajewsky K, Saito T. 1993. Developemental and functional impairment of T cells in mice lacking CD3-ζ-chains. *EMBO J.* 12:4357–66
- 54. Love PE, Shores EW, Lee EJ, Grinberg A, Munitz TI, Westphal H, Singer A. 1994. Differential effects of ζ and η transgenes on early α/β T cell development. J. Exp. Med. 179:1485–94
- 55. Wang B, Biron C, She J, Higgens K, Sunshine M-J, Lacy E, Lonberg N, Terhorst C. 1994. A block in both early T lymphocyte and natural killer cell development in transgenic mice with high-copy numbers of the human CD3E gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:9402–6
- Brocker T, Karjalainen K. 1995. Signals through T cell receptor-ζ-chain alone are insufficient to prime resting T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 181:1653–59
- Janeway CA Jr, Dianzani U, Portoles P, Rath S, Reich E-P, Rojo J, Yagi J, Murphy DB. 1989. Cross-linking and confor-

mational change in T-cell receptors: role in activation and in repertoire selection. *Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol.* 54:657–66

- Matsui K, Boniface JJ, Steffner P, Reay PA, Davis MM. 1994. Kinetics of Tcell receptor binding to peptide/I-E^k complexes: correlation of the dissociation rate with T-cell responsiveness. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:12862–66
- Valitutti S, Müller S, Cella M, Padovan E, Lanzavecchia A. 1995. Serial triggering of many T-cell receptors by a few peptide-MHC complexes. *Nature* 375:148–51
- von Boehmer H. 1994. Positive selection of lymphocytes. *Cell* 76:219-28
- Nossal GJV. 1994. Negative selection of lymphocytes. *Cell* 76:229–39
- Rothenberg EV. 1992. The development of functionally responsive T cells. Adv. Immunol. 51:85–214
- Hogquist KA, Jameson SC, Heath WR, Howard JL, Bevan MJ, Carbone FR. 1994. T cell receptor antagonist peptides induce positive selection. *Cell* 76:17–27
- Ashton-Rickardt PG, Bandeira A, Delaney JR, Van Kaer L, Pircher H-P, Zinkernagel RM, Tonegawa S. 1994. Evidence for a differential avidity model of T cell selection in the thymus. *Cell* 76:651–63
- Sebzda E, Wallace VA, Mayer J, Yeung RSM, Mak TW, Ohashi PS. 1994. Positive and negative thymocyte selection induced by different concentrations of a single peptide. *Science* 263:1615–18
- Allen PM. 1994. Peptides in positive and negative selection: a delicate balance. *Cell* 76:5930
- Page DM, Alexander J, Snoke K, Appella E, Sette A, Hedrick SM, Grey HM. 1994. Negative selection of CD4⁺CD8⁺ thymocytes by T-cell receptor peptide antagonists. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 1:4057– 61
- Hsu BL, Evavold BD, Allen PM. 1995. Modulation of T cell development by an endogenous altered peptide ligand. J. Exp. Med. 181:805–10
- Jameson SC, Hogquist KA, Bevan MJ. 1994. Specificity and flexibility in thymic selection. *Nature* 369:750–52
- Kawai K, Ohashi PS. 1995. Immunological function of a defined T-cell population tolerized to low-affinity self antigens. *Nature* 374:68–69
- 71. Windhagen A, Scholz C, Höllsberg P, Fukaura H, Sette A, Hafler DA. 1995. Modulation of cytokine patterns of human autoreactive T cell clones by a single amino acid substitution of their peptide
ligand. Immunity 2:373-80

- 72. Racke MK, Dhib-Jalbut S, Cannella B, Albert PS, Raine CS, McFarlin DE. 1991. Prevention and treatment of chronic relapsing experimental allergic encephalomyelitis by transforming growth factor- β_1 . *J. Immunol.* 146:3012–17
- 73. Miller A, Lider O, Roberts A, Sporn MB, Weiner HL. 1992. Suppressor T cells generated by oral tolerization to myelin basic protein suppress both in vitro and in vivo immune responses by the release of TGF-β following antigen specific triggering. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 9:421–23
- Miller A, Al-Sabbagh A, Santos LMB, Das MP, Weiner HL. 1993. Epitopes of myelin basic protein that trigger TGF-β release after oral tolerization are distinct from encephalitogenic epitopes and mediate epitope-driven bystander suppression. *J. Immunol.* 151:7307–15
- Klenerman P, Rowland-Jones S, McAdam S, Edwards J, Daenke S, Lalloo D, Köppe B, Rosenberg W, Boyd D, Edwards A, Giangrande P, Phillips RE, McMichael

AJ. 1994. Cytotoxic T-cell activity antagonized by naturally occurring HIV-1 Gag variants. *Nature* 369:403–7

- Lorenz RG, Allen PM. 1988. Direct evidence for functional self protein/Iamolecule complexes in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 5:5220–23
- 77. Sprent J. 1994. T and B memory cells. *Cell* 76:315–22
- Lau LL, Jamieson BD, Somasundaram T, Ahmed R. 1994. Cytotoxic T-cell memory without antigen. *Nature* 369:648–52
- Hou S, Hyland L, Ryan KW, Portner A, Doherty PC. 1994. Virus-specific CD8⁺ T-cell memory determined by clonal burst size. *Nature* 369:652–54
- Evavold BD, Sloan-Lancaster J, Wilson KJ, Rothbard JB, Allen PM. 1995. Specific T cell recognition of minimally homologous peptides: evidence for multiple endogenous ligands. *Immunity* 2:655–63
- Wucherpfennig KW, Strominger JL. 1995. Molecular mimicry in T cellmediated autoimmunity: viral peptides activate human T cell clones specific for myelin basic protein. *Cell* 80:695–705



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|--|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, <i>Kazuo</i> <i>Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto</i> <i>Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita</i> MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, <i>David Kägi, Birgit</i> <i>Ladarmann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkarnagel, Hans, Hangartner</i> | 179 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. | 207 |
| Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, Doreen Cantrell | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS

Ken Shortman and Li Wu

The Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Melbourne, Victoria 3050, Australia

KEY WORDS: T-cell development, lymphoid precursor cells, hemopoietic stem cells, thymus, bone marrow

ABSTRACT

The earliest steps along the pathway leading to T cells in mice and humans are reviewed. These are the steps between the multipotent hemopoietic stem cell (HSC) and the fully committed precursors undergoing T cell receptor (TCR) gene rearrangement. At this level significant differences between adult and fetal lymphopoiesis have been demonstrated. The extent of lymphoid commitment of precursors within bone marrow is still unresolved, although HSCs clearly undergo developmental changes before migration to the thymus. Both multipotent and T-restricted precursors have now been isolated from fetal blood, suggesting both may seed the thymus. Within the thymus, several minute but discrete populations of T precursors precede the stage of TCR gene rearrangement. They include precursors that are not exclusively T-lineage committed, although they are distinct from HSCs. These precursors have a potential to form NK cells, B cells, dendritic cells, and sometimes other myeloid cells. Some factors that control early lymphoid development are discussed, including IL-7 and the Ikaros transcription factors. These will eventually help to clarify the process of T-lineage commitment.

INTRODUCTION

All lymphoid cells derive, ultimately, from multipotent hemopoietic stem cells (HSCs) found in the liver during fetal life and then in the bone marrow of

30 SHORTMAN & WU

the adult. Because such stem cells can be considered as "early T lymphocyte progenitors," we must define the territory of this review. We begin calling stem cells "early lymphoid progenitors" when they have lost at least some of their capacity to form blood cells other than lymphocytes. We cease calling T lymphocyte progenitors "early" once they have completed rearrangement of the genes specifying either the β or the γ chain of a T cell antigen receptor. We therefore review data on a range of progenitor cells from those that have been called lymphoid stem cells to those termed pro-T cells. Our interest is in the process of T lymphocyte lineage commitment.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN FETAL AND ADULT T LYMPHOPOIESIS

The lymphocytes formed in adult life are derived from different sets of HSCs than those formed in the embryo. This is most evident for T cell development in the thymus where the site of lymphoid development is well separated from the source of stem cells. The classic studies of Le Douarin and colleagues (1, 2) demonstrated that the avian thymus is colonized in succession by discrete waves of stem cells. A similar situation occurs in the fetal mouse thymus, where Jotereau et al (3) have shown that the stem cells or lymphoid precursors seeding the fetal thymus up to the first week after birth, while the stem cells seeding the thymus after day 13 of fetal life produce a second generation of T cells that begins to displace or dilute the first generation from day 7 after birth. Further seeding of the thymus occurs in adult life (4, 5).

The implications of these differences in stem cell origin for subsequent lymphopoiesis would be minimal unless the fetal and adult lymphoid developmental programs differ. Such a possibility was happily ignored by many workers who used the analysis of thymuses harvested on successive days of embryonic life to deduce the successive steps of both embryonic and adult T cell development. In the main this optimistic approach was effective; most of the key events are common to the embryo and the adult. However, recent work has highlighted some important differences. The striking finding is that some of these reflect precommitment or restrictions on developmental options at the level of an otherwise multipotent HSCs.

The clearest example is $\gamma \delta$ T cell generation in which during ontogeny successive waves of $\gamma \delta$ T cells exit the thymus, destined to seed different peripheral tissues. The successive waves are characterized by differing T cell antigen receptor (TCR) gene utilization (6). In embryonic mice the first wave of TCR-gene rearrangement in the thymus leads to V γ 3-bearing cells, which

become the Thy-1⁺ dendritic epidermal $\gamma \delta$ cells found in the skin of the adult (7). Ikuta et al (8) have shown, by purifying HSCs from fetal liver or adult bone marrow and using these to repopulate fetal or adult thymuses, that $V\gamma 3^+$ T cell development requires not only a fetal thymus environment, but also fetal HSCs. Adult stem cells have apparently lost the potential to form $V\gamma 3^+$ T cells. The basis of this altered developmental potential has not yet been elucidated.

Another difference between embryonic and adult lymphoid development is the presence of the enzyme terminal deoxynucleotide transferase (TdT) in early T and B lineage cells of the adult but not of the embryo. This enzyme is responsible for template-independent (N region) nucleotide addition during antigenreceptor gene rearrangement; this introduces an additional level of diversity into both the TCR and immunoglobulin (Ig) repertoire (9-11). Lymphoid cells produced during adult life have this additional N region diversity, while lymphoid cells produced during embryonic life do not; however, adult mice lacking TdT because of a mutated gene have an "immature lymphocyte repertoire" with few N nucleotides (10, 11). When fetal thymus cultures were reconstituted with adult or with embryonic stem cell sources, both allowed V $\gamma 4^+$ T cell development, but the V γ 4-J γ 1 transcripts from the adult precursors had modified junctions with N nucleotide insertion (12). The generality of this result still needs formal testing for other TCR genes. However, it is now reasonable to propose (13) that the ability to express TdT and perform N nucleotide insertions represents another difference in developmental potential already determined at the multipotent HSC level. Many other differences between adult and embryonic lymphopoiesis may be secondary consequences of this difference in TdT expression.

One possible candidate is the propensity of adult thymic $CD4^-8^-$ precursor cells to generate many more $CD4^+$ than $CD8^+$ T cells, in contrast to early embryonic $CD4^-8^-$ precursors where the T cell progeny are produced in nearly equal levels. Adkins (14) has demonstrated, by seeding embryonic precursors into adult thymuses and vice versa, that the ratio of $CD4^+$ to $CD8^+$ progeny is determined by the precursor cells themselves rather than by the thymic environment. She has suggested these precursor cell differences reflect, in turn, differences in the successive waves of stem cells populating the thymus (14). Since both CD4 and CD8 T cells are produced only after a very stringent selection for immunological specificity, it is possible that the difference in relative production reflects the presence or absence of TdT in the precursor cells. By this argument the higher N region TCR diversity associated with the adult TdT⁺ precursors in some way leads to more class-II major histocompatibility complex–restricted receptors appropriate for CD4⁺ T cells.

EARLY T PROGENITORS AND STEM CELLS IN BONE MARROW

The HSCs of adult mouse and human bone marrow are heterogeneous in capacity to produce long-term reconstitution of the hematopoietic system as well as in cell cycle status, physical properties, and surface antigen expression (13, 15–18). The stem cell population appears to be separable into subpopulations representing stages of differentiation between the most primitive long-term reconstituting cells and the lineage-committed progenitors (18). A major issue is whether commitment to a given lymphoid lineage is an abrupt process or whether there exist intermediate self-renewing stem cells that are common to all lymphoid lineages, but no longer able to form myeloid or erythroid cells. Such a "common lymphoid-restricted" stem cell has been an almost mythical entity, prominent in wall-charts of hemopoiesis but elusive when its isolation from bone marrow is attempted.

The surface markers that have proven useful for the positive characterization of multipotent HSCs (Sca-1⁺ Thy 1.1^{lo} c-kit⁺ in the mouse; CD34⁺ in the human) are also expressed by immature cells of various lineages. To obtain pure stem cells it is necessary to combine positive sorting for these markers with a procedure to exclude cells bearing lineage-restricted surface markers (Lin⁺ cells). However, one might hope to isolate a lineage-restricted stem cell on the basis of early surface expression of one of these lineage markers. Although stem cell activity had been reported in the "Lin⁺" fraction of mouse bone marrow, a careful reexamination of the finding has indicated that almost all long-term reconstituting activity is within the Sca-1⁺ Thy 1.1^{lo} and Lin⁻ population (17–19). Perhaps this is not an absolute phenotype, since some stem cell activity is detected in Mac-1^{lo} and CD4^{lo} fractions of normal mouse marrow (17, 19), and CD4^{lo} Gr-1^{lo} progenitors have been detected in 5-fluorouracil–treated marrow (20). However, these stem cells bearing low levels of the lineage markers all appear to be multipotent.

It is possible that some markers other than those recognized by the usual "anti-Lin" cocktail of antibodies could serve to delineate a lymphoid-restricted stem cell. For example, the ER-MP12 antigen is on murine bone marrow cells with thymus repopulating activity (21), but it is not yet clear whether multipotent HSCs also bear this antigen. The Joro 37-5 and Joro 75 antibodies recognize Thy 1^+ Lin⁻ T-progenitor cells in murine bone marrow, but these appeared to be T-lineage restricted and unable to produce B cells (22). The antigen Sca-2, which is present on T precursors within the thymus (see later), but absent from long-term repopulating bone marrow HSCs, has been used by Antica et al (23) to search for thymus-colonizing cells in bone marrow. Although a new Sca- 2^+ T-precursor population distinct from most HSCs was isolated, it was not

lymphoid restricted in its reconstitution potential. This result fits with evidence that the multipotent stem cells with rapid (3 wk) thymus colonizing activity after intravenous transfer are those more active cells with a high capacity to take up rhodamine 123 (Rh123^{hi}), and not the more quiescent long-term repopulating Rh123^{lo} bone marrow HSCs (24, 25). Overall, these studies suggest that murine HSCs do undergo distinct phenotypic changes before leaving the bone marrow to seed the thymus. The extent of T commitment in bone marrow is not yet clear, but to date no population has been isolated with a capacity to make T and B lymphocytes but not myeloid or erythroid cells. Although the search for a lymphoid-committed stem cell in murine bone marrow has been unrewarding, it should be noted that even traces of primitive, multipotent HSCs in a lymphoid-committed precursor fraction would be enough to obscure evidence for lymphoid restriction.

Studies on adult human bone marrow have shown more promise in delineating a population of lymphoid-restricted precursors. Extending earlier evidence (26) that the CD34⁺ fraction includes lymphoid progenitors, Galy et al (27) have subdivided the CD34⁺ Lin⁻ population. Additional markers were employed, including Thy 1 and CD45RA, the latter chosen because early thymocytes are CD45RA⁺. The developmental potential of the subpopulations of CD34⁺ Lin⁻ cells was assessed by reconstitution of human bone and thymus fragments implanted into SCID mice as well as by various in vitro culture systems. The more primitive, multipotent HSCs were found to be $CD34^+$ Lin⁻ Thy 1^+ and CD45RA⁻; these were able to repopulate both the thymus and the bone marrow fragments. However, a CD34⁺ Lin⁻ Thy 1⁻ CD45RA⁺ fraction, considered to be the progeny of HSCs, lacked ability to repopulate bone marrow, to maintain CD34⁺ cells in culture, or to form erythroid cells, but the fraction had enhanced T-progenitor activity in the thymus fragment reconstitution assay. It would be of interest to know if these cells contain TdT, since a CD34⁺ TdT⁺ bone marrow population has been described by Gore et al (28) and considered to represent early lymphoid precursors, although functional assays were lacking. Recent extensions of these studies by Galy and colleagues (AHM Galy, personal communication) have led to the identification of a "lymphoid progenitor" population with a capacity to form T cells, B cells, natural killer (NK) cells, and interdigitating dendritic cells (DC), but not to form normal myeloid, erythroid, or megakaryocytic cells. This suggests development within the bone marrow of a common lymphoid progenitor, if the term can be extended to include certain DC. However, clonal studies will be required to eliminate the possibility that the population is a mix of individual unipotent progenitors (either T, or B, or NK or DC committed) with identical surface phenotype. At this stage it is not clear whether mouse and human differ in their bone marrow stem cell populations, or whether the markers and the assays used for human bone marrow have simply proven more effective at revealing lymphoid commitment.

EARLY T CELL PROGENITORS AND THYMUS SEEDING CELLS IN BLOOD

The anatomical separation of the source of stem cells from the site of T lymphopoiesis in the thymus provides a useful inbuilt segregation of two levels of T-lymphocyte development. However, the issue of whether thymopoiesis in the adult requires a continuing input of progenitors from bone marrow, or whether it is self-sustaining, has long been a point of dispute. If HSCs are injected directly into an irradiated thymus, they produce long-term reconstitution and persistence of stem cells able to form spleen colonies (29). However, this mode of HSCs entry into the thymus is obviously artificial. Donskoy & Goldschneider (5) have made a careful reexamination of the issue of thymic seeding in the adult, employing Thy-1 alloantigen-disparate parabiotic mice. They concluded that thymopoiesis is dependent on a low but continuing input of blood-borne progenitor cells, in agreement with the earlier assessment of Scollay (4)

What form of progenitor enters the thymus from the bloodstream? Until recently attempts to answer this question were indirect, relying on the characterization of the cells with thymus seeding capacity in the bone marrow or on the characterization of early T precursors in the thymus. As discussed above, the data from analysis of bone marrow is ambiguous, although it provides some good candidates for a thymic seeding role. However, even the presence of T-restricted progenitors in bone marrow does not prove they will make the transit to the thymus. On the other hand, the analysis of the earliest T-progenitors in the thymus also provides incomplete, if important, information. Within the embryonic mouse thymus there are precursors capable of forming both B cells and macrophages as well as T cells (30, 31). Within the postnatal human thymus there are CD34⁺ cells with myeloid as well as T cell-developmental capacity (32, 33). Within the adult mouse thymus, early T-precursor populations can form as well as T cells, B cells, NK cells, and DC (34, 35). All this suggests the thymus, or at least the embryonic thymus, is seeded by some form of multipotent stem cell (36).

In the case of the adult mouse thymus, there are two arguments against seeding with a multipotent HSCs. First, although T-lineage cells are produced when pure bone marrow HSCs are injected intrathymically, so are granulocytes, which are not normally found in significant numbers in the thymus (37). Second, very few multipotent stem cells (such as cells forming spleen colonies) can be extracted from the adult thymus itself. However, if the actual rate of multipotent HSC seeding is very low, and if they become restricted in developmental potential soon after entry, these arguments are negated. The available evidence does suggest a very low seeding rate. Studies on parabiotic mice indicate that intrathymic precursors are being replaced at a rate of only 2–3% per day (5). In addition, the number of "environmental niches" available for seeding the adult thymus has been estimated to be only around 200, most of which are occupied in a normal, nonirradiated animal (37).

It is evident that a more direct approach is required. The appropriate place to search for the progenitor cells seeding the thymus from the bloodstream is in the blood itself, and the appropriate assay for the seeding process is intravenous rather than intrathymic transfer. Rodewald et al (38) have responded to this challenge by characterizing the T-progenitor populations in fetal blood at day 15.5 of gestation. In some compensation for the technical demands of handling minute samples of blood, most of the leukocytes present at this age are progenitor cells. Two progenitor populations with thymic reconstitution activity were isolated. One, Thy-1⁻ c-kit⁺, was able to colonize bone marrow as well as thymus and was a multipotent HSC because it generated T cells, B cells, myeloid cells, and erythroid cells. The other, Thy-1⁺ c-kit^{lo}, was a T-restricted progenitor because it was unable to reconstitute bone marrow or to form B cells or other hemopoietic lineages. No common lymphoid-restricted progenitor was detected. Although these experiments still do not directly show seeding from the blood to the thymus in the embryo itself, this seems likely since these two different T progenitors at different stages of development are in the bloodstream and have a demonstrated capacity for thymus homing. These experiments also demonstrate that T-lineage commitment can occur before entry into the thymic environment. Similar experiments are now required to characterize the cells in the blood of adult mice and humans that have thymus seeding ability.

EARLY T PROGENITORS IN THE THYMUS

Adult Mouse Thymus

The search for early T precursors in the adult murine thymus began with a subdivision of the 2–5% "triple negative" (CD3⁻4⁻8⁻) population. Within this population it was evident that expression of the α chain of the IL-2 receptor (CD25) by about half the cells marked an important stage of development (39, 40), although the function of this low affinity chain is still obscure. However, even the CD25⁺3⁻4⁻8⁻ subset is heterogeneous; the additional markers CD44 (Pgp-1) and c-kit (the receptor for stem cell or steel factor) are required to segregate the individual steps of development (41, 42). Godfrey, Zlotnik and

colleagues (42, 43) have recently characterized two CD25⁺ populations on the mainstream pathway leading to $\alpha\beta$ T cells, namely CD3⁻4⁻8⁻25⁺44⁺ c-kit^{hi} and CD3⁻4⁻8⁻25⁺44⁻ c-kit^{lo} (populations C and D of Figure 1 respectively). The former has C β genes in germline state whereas the latter is extensively rearranged (42); using a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay, we have now shown the same applies for the V $\beta2$, D $\beta2$ and J $\beta2$ genes (L Wu, unpublished). Rearrangement of the TCR β chain therefore occurs quite abruptly within the CD25⁺ subset, not gradually along with surface marker changes as we had previously deduced (40). Further development after β -chain rearrangement is marked by loss of CD25 (population E of Figure 1), then upregulation of CD4 and CD8 and rearrangement of the TCR α chain (reviewed in 43, 44). Control of exit from the CD25⁺ stage is probably mediated by an association of the TCR β chain with the newly discovered pT α chain and the CD3 complex (45).

Other, numerically minor, T cell lineages developing in the thymus appear to branch off at about the point of CD25 expression (43) (Figure 1). One is the



Figure 1 Populations of early T precursors in the mouse thymus. Only populations A, B, and C, together around 0.1% of all thymocytes, are early precursors without TCR gene rearrangement. In the adult thymus populations A and C are present, with a probable trace of B. In the early embryonic thymus population B is more prominent than population A. Arrows indicate developmental pathways, the solid ones probable, the broken ones possible.

CD3⁺4⁻8⁻ TCR $\alpha\beta^+$ T cells, which can be produced from the CD25⁺ subset on culture with IL-7 (43). The other is the lineage of $\gamma\delta$ T cells which develop in and exit from the adult thymus. These can be generated from CD3⁻4⁻8⁻ cells that are CD25⁺, as well as from those that are CD25⁻ 44^{lo} HSA^{hi} Thy 1^{hi} (43, 44). Most of the $\gamma\delta$ -expressing T cells in the adult thymus are proliferating HSA^{hi} Thy 1^{hi} cells, and those that exit the adult thymus also have this phenotype (47). As far as surface phenotype is concerned, these $\gamma\delta$ T cells therefore pass through developmental stages indistinguishable from populations *D* and *E* of the $\alpha\beta$ T lineage in Figure 1. An important issue, however, is whether these cells were precommitted to the $\gamma\delta$ lineage at a much earlier stage. Dudley et al (48) have recently reported that many $\alpha\beta$ T cells show evidence of failed attempts at δ and γ gene rearrangement, suggesting a very late and stochastically determined choice of lineage after rearrangement has commenced. Populations *D* and even *E* may therefore be not just similar but identical for the $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ lineages.

The CD $3^{-}4^{-}8^{-}25^{+}44^{+}$ c-kit⁺ population of the adult mouse thymus (C of Figure 1) thus fulfils our criteria for an early T-precursor population. A different and apparently earlier T-precursor population (A of Figure 1) was first isolated in our laboratory (49), then by other groups (35, 43). This population expresses moderate levels of CD4, sufficient for the population to be lost when preparing CD3⁻4⁻8⁻ thymocytes by depletion procedures, and it contains mRNA for CD4 (49). The population also shows low surface staining for CD8 (H Nakauchi, personal communication; L Wu, unpublished), but to date we have not found CD8 α mRNA in these cells (J Ismaili and L Wu, unpublished). There is no obvious function for the premature CD4 expression by this so-called "low CD4" precursor, and it loses CD4 as it progresses to the CD25⁺ stage. A similar population, but lacking CD4, is found in the embryonic thymus (see below) and can be detected by surface markers at trace levels in the adult (B of Figure 1). The "low CD4" precursor (A of Figure 1) has $C\beta$, $C\gamma$, $V\beta$ 2, $D\beta$ 2 and $J\beta$ 2 genes in germline state (49; L Wu, unpublished), although it already expresses the recombinase activating genes RAG-1 and RAG-2 (50; L Wu, unpublished). The surface phenotype of this population is more akin to the bone marrow HSCs than later T-lineage precursors, being low for Thy 1 and high for Sca-1, CD44 and c-kit. However, it differs from bone marrow HSCs in expressing Sca-2. This surface molecule is a member of the Ly 6 family and is equivalent to MTS 35 or TSA-1 (51). Its function is unknown although antibodies against the molecule will disrupt $\alpha\beta$ T cell development in fetal thymus organ cultures (52).

Although these minute populations of early T precursors consisting of only 0.1% of thymocytes (*A*, *B* and *C* of Figure 1) are as close as has been obtained to the cells seeding the thymus from the bloodstream, they are probably still too numerous to be themselves these original immigrants. They are likely to

38 SHORTMAN & WU

represent their expanded and possibly differentiated progeny. Nor is it clear that the cells seeding the thymus must progress via the *A* to *B* to *C* precursor sequence of Figure 1 en route to T cells, although this is the most logical progression. Entry could be at several points if the cells seeding the thymus themselves differ in maturation state. In addition, the "low CD4" precursor population could represent oligopotent precursors normally branching into a different lineage (see below), but recruited back into T cell development in the exceptional environment of the irradiated thymus used for T-precursor assays.

The phenotypic similarities of these early T precursors in the thymus to bone marrow HSCs prompts the question of their commitment to the T lineage. To date we have found no lineages other than $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells being derived from the $CD3^{-}4^{-}8^{-}25^{+}$ population (D of Figure 1); this now needs checking by more sensitive procedures and with separate isolation of the earlier CD44^{hi} c-kithi subset. However, the "low CD4" precursor population as a whole is clearly oligopotent. As well as forming $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells on seeding the thymus, it produced typical small B220⁺ s-Ig⁺ B lymphocytes if injected intravenously (34). However, it formed very few spleen colonies and produced no detectable donor-derived myeloid cells (Mac-1⁺ or Gr-1⁺) when injected into Ly 5-disparate irradiated recipients, although a very low incidence of myeloid colonies was obtained in culture (34). Matsuzaki et al (35) have confirmed these findings, showing that the Lin- Thy 110 c-kithi thymocytes are capable of forming as well as T cells, B cells, and NK1.1⁺ cells (presumed NK cells). Thus, this population has many of the features expected of a common lymphoid-restricted precursor. It was therefore surprising when work in our laboratory revealed it also served as a precursor of DC on transfer to irradiated recipients, without concomitant formation of macrophages or granulocytes (53, 54). Although the yield of DC was low compared to T cells (1 per 2000), this is the normal ratio in the thymus, so all thymic DC could derive from the "low CD4" precursor population. Either some residual myeloid activity persists in the thymic precursor population, or a particular subclass of thymic DC is of lymphoid rather than myeloid origin.

Although this oligopotent, "low CD4" early thymus precursor population is remarkably homogeneous by surface marker analysis, there is no direct evidence that all these precursor activities derive from one cell, or even that most of the cells have T-precursor activity. Attempts to measure T-precursor frequency in this and other thymus populations (by limit-dilution repopulation of fetal thymus organ cultures) suggest a very low incidence of active cells (55). However, this may reflect a limited efficiency in seeding the right microenvironment or a requirement for limiting accessory cells. It is possible that the "low CD4" precursor population includes a variety of unipotent precursors of identical surface phenotype, all derived from a multipotent form of HSC that seeds the thymus in low numbers, but then undergoes rapid differentiation and lineage restriction. The types of restricted precursors needed within the thymus might then be selectively expanded. New clonal assays are required to distinguish these various models.

Fetal Mouse Thymus

As discussed above, there is strong evidence that the embryonic thymus is seeded by and retains some multipotent stem cells (30, 31, 38), although this does not exclude the entry of T-committed precursors as well (38). Are the early intrathymic T precursors derived from these seeding cells different from those in the adult? With Antica & Scollay (56), we have sought an equivalent of the "low CD4" precursor (A of Figure 1) in the embryonic thymus. At day 14-15 of embryonic life no such population expressing significant levels of CD4 could be discerned, but a small population of CD3⁻4⁻8⁻25⁻ thymocytes expressing all the other markers (resembling B of Figure 1) was detected; this population gradually acquired CD4 until by day 18 it resembled the adult low CD4 precursor. However, in contrast to the adult precursor and to other precursors in the embryonic thymus, it proved very inefficient at repopulating an irradiated adult thymus (56). Hozumi et al (57) have isolated from the day-15 embryonic thymus a similar CD3⁻4⁻8⁻ population that was CD44⁺ c-kit⁺ Thy 1^{10} (resembling population *B*, Figure 1), and they have shown that, like the adult "low CD4 precursor", it has V, D and J β TCR genes in germline state, while already expressing RAG-2. However, they found that this population did have T-precursor activity, in a fetal thymus organ culture system. This suggests that these very early embryonic T precursors differ from those in the adult in requiring an embryonic environment for T-lineage development. This possibility now needs testing in side-by-side repopulation assays, using adult and embryonic precursors isolated in exactly the same way.

A further characteristic of embryonic thymus early T precursors, and of most thymocytes found at 14–16 days of embryonic age, is their expression of the low-affinity Fc receptors for IgG (Fc γ RII/III) (58). This is a characteristic marker of NK cells, although these thymocytes lack other NK markers and lack NK function. Such Fc receptors are not detected on adult thymus "low CD4 precursors" (L Wu, unpublished). Rodewald et al (58) have shown these early CD3⁻⁴-8⁻ Fc γ RII/III⁺ thymocytes are precursors of $\alpha\beta$ T cells when transferred into an irradiated thymus, but that they produce mature, functionally active NK cells when transferred intravenously. Likewise Brooks et al (59) have demonstrated that the majority of day-14 embryonic thymocytes can develop into mature NK cells in cultures containing IL-2. Thus there is strong evidence, although not as yet a formal clonal proof, that in the embryo T and NK cells

40 SHORTMAN & WU

have a common precursor. This capacity to form NK cells appears to be retained for some time by these embryonic thymus early T precursors, even if it is not used in the thymic environment.

Human Thymus

The lack of data on the TCR-gene rearrangement status of early human thymocyte subpopulations limits our ability to delineate the early T precursors. Until recently lack of a suitable thymus reconstitution assay was also a limitation, which the SCID-hu mouse system (26) and the development of human T precursors in human fetal thymus organ cultures (60) have now largely overcome. Deducing a developmental sequence by direct analogy with the murine pathway is complicated by the absence of CD25 as a clear signpost of the stage of TCR gene rearrangement, as in the mouse. However, there are plentiful surface markers in the human system, and more use has been made of intracellular markers such as TdT or cytoplasmic CD3 expression. Most of the developmental pathways proposed to date have been deduced rather than experimentally derived, by assuming a sequential loss of markers associated with bone marrow HSCs (e.g. CD34) and sequential gain first of early T cell markers (e.g. CD7, CD2, CD5, CD1), then of late T cell markers (CD4, CD8, CD3) (61-63). Some of these steps have now been verified by testing precursor-product relationships either in culture or in the new thymus reconstitution systems.

The earliest intrathymic T precursors in the human thymus would be expected to express CD34, found on HSCs and most early precursors. Indeed a proportion of CD3⁻4⁻8⁻ thymocytes are CD34⁺, and only these have effective T-precursor activity (64). It has been argued that the T-lineage marker CD7 appears even before thymus seeding, since some bone marrow and fetal liver cells are CD34⁺ CD7⁺; however, many of these may be developing into NK cells (65). Nevertheless, the likely earliest human thymocytes are $CD34^+7^+$, and the majority of these express cytoplasmic CD3, indicating T-lineage orientation (61-63). CD2 is also present on the earliest putative human thymus T precursors, although at reduced levels (61-63). Although CD5 also is claimed to appear very early (62), a population of $CD34^+$ $CD5^-$ precursors has been described (66); CD5 expression may mark a downstream precursor. CD1 expression marks a still later developmental step (61-63). As in the murine thymus, the early precursors express CD44 (33, 61–63). However, the earliest detectable putative precursors in the infant or even in the young adult human thymus do not express CD4 (63), in contrast to the postnatal and adult mouse, but as in the early mouse embryo. Overall the earliest T precursors in the human thymus probably have the surface phenotype $CD3^{-}4^{-}8^{-}34^{+}44^{+}7^{+}2^{lo}5^{-}1^{-}$.

The human thymus, both pre and postnatal, contains precursor cells within the $CD3^{-}4^{-}8^{-}$ fraction able to generate lineages other than T cells (32, 33, 66).

The central question is whether these share a common precursor with T cells, other than a multipotent HSC. NK cells have been shown to develop from CD3⁻⁴⁻⁸⁻ thymocytes, and the presence of CD3 ϵ and δ proteins within fetal NK cells strongly supports a common T/NK precursor (67). However, Sanchez et al (66) found that the majority of NK precursors and NK cells in the CD3⁻4⁻8⁻ fraction are CD34⁻56⁺5⁻ and without T-precursor function. Nevertheless, an earlier common T/NK precursor may well exist. The myeloid potential of CD3⁻4⁻8⁻ thymocytes (30) has been reexamined recently by Marquez and colleagues (33). By following the growth and differentiation of $CD34^+3^-4^-8^-$ thymocytes cultured in the presence of IL-7, they observed the simultaneous development of T-lineage cells (small $CD4^+8^+7^+44^- DR^-$) and non-T cells consisting of both monocytes and DC (large CD4+8-7-44+ DR^+). Both pathways progressed via $CD1^+4^+$ intermediate stages, but these intermediates were separable by CD44 expression. This recalls the generation of both T cells and DC from the adult mouse low CD4 precursor (53). However, these cultures may have included two independent developmental sequences, derived from separate CD34⁺ precursors which happen to have surface antigen features in common. Once again a clonal approach will finally be needed to determine if the early T precursors also have DC or myeloid developmental potential.

Extrathymic T Cell Development

A significant proportion of all T cells, especially those found between the epithelial cells of the gut mucosa, do not develop within the thymus. These have been well reviewed recently (68) and are not considered in detail here. Some of the T-lineage precursors found in bone marrow or in blood may be destined for such extrathymic development, rather than for thymus seeding. Although there is evidence for TCR-gene rearrangement within the gut epithelium itself, neither the major sites of extrathymic T cell expansion and differentiation nor the nature of the precursor cells involved is clear at present. This is an area demanding further investigation.

THE CONTROL OF EARLY T-PRECURSOR DEVELOPMENT

Although it is clear from the preceding survey that our ability to identify and order in sequence the earliest steps in T cell development is still limited, enough is known to begin asking how the processes are controlled. These multiple steps in T cell development are determined by changes in the expression patterns of lineage-specific genes and, downstream from the area of this review, by sequential rearrangement of TCR genes. These in turn are known to be controlled at the DNA level by certain transcription factors, controlled in the cytoplasm by signal transduction molecules including a number of tyrosine kinases, and controlled at the cell surface by receptors for cell interaction molecules and cytokines. We consider recent progress only in those regulatory molecules that clearly have a selective impact on early stages of the T lineage.

Cytokines and Cytokine Receptors

Of the cytokines that have been proposed to control early T cell development, only IL-7 has so far been shown to have an essential role. IL-7 stimulates the proliferation of immature thymocytes and mature T cells, as well as B-cell progenitors, through the interaction with its high-affinity receptor (IL-7R) (69, 70). Its action on CD3⁻4⁻8⁻ thymic precursors may be more to maintain viability and function than directly to induce proliferation (71). It promotes rearrangement of TCR β and γ chain genes in fetal thymus and liver (72, 73), although it is not clear whether this is a direct effect or a consequence of increased survival and proliferation. Recent studies by Peschon et al (74) on mutant mice genetically deficient in the IL-7R have revealed a profound reduction in thymic and peripheral lymphoid cellularity. Both T cell and B cell development are blocked at an early stage. Thymocyte development is blocked, although not completely, within the CD3⁻4⁻8⁻ population prior to acquisition of CD25 and prior to TCR β chain gene rearrangement, possibly at the "low CD4" precursor stage. Since in the normal thymus an early expansion of precursors precedes acquisition of CD25 and TCR-gene rearrangement, this early T-precursor expansion may be the process dependent on signals from the IL-7R. Whether IL-7R functions alone or in concert with other cytokines remains to be established.

Nonreceptor Protein Kinases

The nonreceptor protein tyrosine kinase $p50^{csk}$, predominantly expressed in adult mouse thymus and spleen, functions as a regulator of signal transduction via src-family kinases including $p56^{lck}$ and $p59^{fyn}$ (75, 76). Since $p56^{lck}$ and $p59^{fyn}$ play important roles in lymphocyte development (77, 78), $p50^{csk}$ may contribute to these regulatory circuits. Recent studies by Gross et al (79) on gene targeting of $p50^{csk}$ have shown that although $csk^{-/-}$ progenitors colonize the developing thymus, T cell differentiation is blocked at an early stage, as is that of B cells. $Csk^{-/-}$ ES cells fail to develop into adult lymphocytes in chimeric mice, whereas they are able to support the development of other hemopoietic lineages (79). Therefore, the expression of $p50^{csk}$ is selectively required for the maturation of early lymphoid progenitors, although it is not clear whether this regulatory function is via modulation of $p56^{lck}$ or via a different circuit. Nor is it clear whether $p50^{csk}$ acts before or after the stage of TCR β -gene rearrangement.

Disruption of Normal Development by a CD3 ϵ Transgene

Another system for disrupting the normal control of early T cell development has been reported by Wang et al (80), who have introduced a human CD3 ϵ transgene into mice. Mice with a high number of transgene inserts had no mature T cells or NK cells but do have normal B cells. Thymocyte development was blocked at the CD3⁻⁴⁻⁸⁻⁴⁴⁺²⁵⁻ stage, clearly earlier than with the recombinase deficient mice, either RAG-1 null (81) or RAG-2 null (82), where NK cells develop normally. However, with lower copy numbers of the transgene, thymocyte development was blocked at the later CD3⁻⁴⁻⁸⁻⁴⁴⁺²⁵⁺ stage, and normal NK cells were then detected. These experiments add further support to the notion that T cells and NK cells develop from a common precursor, although separate precursors with a common developmental mechanism involving the CD3 ϵ protein is another interpretation. The data indicate that cytoplasmic tail of the CD3 ϵ protein is needed to disrupt development. Whether this occurs by a positive signal or because of competitive binding of an essential signal transduction molecule is yet to be determined.

Transcription Factors

Of all the transcription factors proposed to have a role in T cell differentiation only one, the Ikaros protein, has been found selective for lymphoid development. Ikaros, a zinc-finger DNA binding protein, is comprised of five zinc finger modules organized in two clusters. It was cloned on the basis of its ability to bind to the enhancer of a gene encoding an early T cell differentiation antigen, CD38 (83, 84). During development, Ikaros mRNA is first detected in the mouse fetal liver and then in the embryonic thymus, when hemopoietic and lymphoid progenitors initially colonize these organs. In adult mice Ikaros is expressed in T cells and their progenitors as well as in early B cells (83). In addition to this restricted expression pattern of Ikaros mRNA, high affinity binding sites for the Ikaros protein can be identified in the regulatory domain of many lymphocyte-specific genes including genes coding members of the CD3-TCR complex, CD4, CD2, TdT, IL-2R α , NF- κ B, Ig heavy and light chains, and the early B cell differentiation antigen mb-1 (84). Thus, Ikaros seemed likely to be a major determinant of lymphoid lineage commitment. This was confirmed in the recent study of Georgopoulos et al (85), which demonstrated that mice homozygous for a germline mutation in the Ikaros DNA-binding domain lack both mature and immature T and B lymphocytes as well as NK cells. In contrast, the erythroid and myeloid lineages are intact or elevated in these mutant mice. The developmental block is at an earlier stage than in recombinase-deficient mice (81, 82), and perhaps still earlier than in the CD3 ϵ transgenic mice (80). However, it is not yet clear whether the Ikaros gene products control the commitment of HSCs to a common lymphoid progenitor, or whether they function on separate restricted lymphoid-lineage progenitors that utilize the same mechanism in their subsequent development. Studies on the developmental potential of HSCs isolated from the Ikaros mutant mice, and on the genetic elements downstream of Ikaros gene, should provide more insight into the early steps in commitment to the lymphoid lineage.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Le Douarin NM, Jotereau FV. 1975. Tracing of cells of the avian thymus through embryonic life in interspecific chimeras. J. Exp. Med. 142:17–40
- Jotereau FV, Le Douarin NM. 1982. Demonstration of a cyclic renewal of the lymphocyte precursor cells in the quait thymus during embryonic and perinatal life. J. Immunol. 129:1869–77
- Jotereau F, Heuze F, Salomon-Vie V, Gascan H. 1987. Cell kinetics in the fetal mouse thymus: precursor cell input, proliferation and emigration. J. Immunol. 138:1026–30
- Scollay R, Smith J, Stauffer V. 1986. Dynamics of early T cells: prothymocyte migration and proliferation in the adult mouse thymus. *Immunol. Rev.* 91:129–57
- Donskoy E, Goldschneider I. 1992. Thymocytopoiesis is maintained by bloodborn precursors throughout postnatal life. A study in parabiotic mice. J. Immunol. 148:1604–12
- Havran WL, Allison JP. 1988. Developmentally ordered appearance of thymocytes expressing different T-cell antigen receptors. *Nature* 335:443–45
- Havran WL, Allison JP. 1990. Origin of Thy-1⁺ dendritic epidermal cells of adult mice from fetal thymic precursors. *Nature* 344:68–70
- Ikuta K, Kina T, MacNeil I, Uchida N, Peault B, Chien Y, Weissman IL. 1991. A developmental switch in thymic lymphocyte maturation potential occurs at the level of hematopoietic stem cells. *Cell* 62:863– 74
- Alt FW, Baltimore D. 1982. Joining of immunoglobulin heavy chain gene segments: Implications from a chromosome with evidence of three D-I_H fusions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79:4118–22
- 10. Komori T, Okada A, Stewart V, Alt FW.

1993. Lack of N regions in antigen receptor variable region genes of TdT-deficient lymphocytes. *Science* 261:1171–75

- Gilfillan S, Dierich A, Lemeur M, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1993. Mice lacking TdT: mature animals with an immature lymphocyte repertoire. *Science* 261:1175–78
- Ikuta K, Weissman IL. 1991. The junctional modifications of a T-cell receptor γ-chain are determined at the level of thymic precursors. J. Exp. Med. 174:1279–82
- Ikuta K, Uchida N, Friedman J, Weissman IL. 1992. Lymphocyte development from stem cells. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 10:759–83
- Adkins B. 1991. Developmental regulation of the intrathymic T-cell precursor population. J. Immunol. 146:1387–93
- Trevisan M, Iscove NN. 1995. Phenotypic analysis of murine long-term hemopoietic reconstituting cells quantitated competitively in vivo and comparison with more advanced colony forming progeny. J. Exp. Med. 181:93–103
- Spangrude GJ, Smith L, Uchida N, Ikuta K, Heimfeld S, Friedman J, Weissman IL. 1991. Mouse hematopoietic stem cells. *Blood* 78:1395–402
- Morrison SJ, Uchida N, Weissman IL. 1995. The biology of hematopoietic stem cells. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 11:35–71
- Uchida N, Weissman IL. 1992. Searching for hematopoietic stem cells: evidence that Thy-1.1^{lo} Lin⁻ Sca-1⁺ cells are the only stem cells in C57BL/Ka-Thy-1.1 bone marrow. J. Exp. Med. 175:175–84
- Morrison SJ, Lagasse E, Weissman IL. 1994. Demonstration that Thy 1^{lo} subsets of mouse bone marrow that express high levels of lineage markers are not significant hemopoietic progenitors. *Blood* 83:3480– 90

- Onishi M, Nagayoshi K, Kitamura K, Hirai H, Takaku F, Nakauchi H. 1993. CD4^{dull+} hematopoietic precursor cells in murine bone marrow. *Blood* 81:3217–25
- 21. Slieker WAT, de Rijk-de Bruijn MFTR, Leenen PJM, van Ewijk W. 1993. ER-MP12 antigen, a new cell surface marker on mouse bone marrow cells with thymusrepopulating ability: I. Intrathymic repopulating ability of ER-MP12-positive bone marrow cells. *Int. Immunol.* 5:1093–98
- Palacios R, Samaridis J, Thorpe D, Leu T. 1990. Identification and characterization of pro-T lymphocytes and lineageuncommitted lymphocyte precursors from mice with three novel surface markers. J. Exp. Med. 172:219–30
- Antica M, Wu L, Shortman K, Scollay R. 1994. Thymic stem cells in the mouse bone marrow. *Blood* 84:111–17
- Mulder AH, Visser JWM. 1987. Separation and functional analysis of bone marrow cells separated by rhodamine 123 fluorescence. *Exp. Hematol.* 15:99–104
- Li CL, Wu L, Antica M, Shortman K, Johnson GR. 1995. Purified murine long-term in vivo hemopoietic repopulating cells are not prothymocytes. *Exp. Hematol.* 23:21–25
- Peault B, Weissman IL, Baum C, McCune JM, Tsukamoto A. 1991. Lymphoid reconstitution of the human fetal thymus in SCID mice with CD34⁺ precursor cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 174:1283–86
- Galy AHM, Cen D, Travis M, Chen S, Chen BP. 1995. Delineation of T progenitor cell activity within the CD34⁺ compartment of adult bone marrow. *Blood* 85:2770–78
- Gore SD, Kastan MB, Civin CI. 1991. Normal human bone marrow precursors that express terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase include T-cell precursors and possible lymphoid stem cells. *Blood* 77:1681–90
- Ezine S, Papiernik M, Lepault F. 1991. Persistence of stem cell activity within the murine thymus after transfer of a bone marrow fraction enriched in CFU-S. *Int. Immunol.* 3:237–43
- Peault B, Khazaal I, Weissman IL. 1994. In vitro development of B cells and macrophages from early mouse fetal thymocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:781–84
- Kimoto H, Kitamura K, Sudo T, Suda T, Ogawa Y, Kitagawa H, Taniguchi M, Takemori T. 1993. The fetal thymus stores immature hemopoietic cells capable of differentiating into non-T lineage cells constituting the thymus stromal element. *Int. Immunol.* 5:1535–40
- 32. Kurtzberg J, Denning SM, Nycum LM, Singer KH, Haynes BF. 1989. Immature

human thymocytes can be driven into nonlymphoid lineages by cytokines from thymic epithelial cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:7575–79

- Marquez C, Trigueros C, Fernandez E, Toribio ML. 1995. The development of T and non-T cell lineages from CD34⁺ human thymic precursors can be traced by the differential expression of CD44. *J. Exp. Med.* 181:475–83
- Wu L, Antica M, Johnson GR, Scollay R, Shortman K. 1991. Developmental potential of the earliest precursor cells from the adult thymus. J. Exp. Med. 174:1617–27
- 35. Matsuzaki Y, Gyotoku J, Ogawa M, Nishikawa S, Katsura Y, Gachelin G, Nakauchi H. 1993. Characterization of ckit positive intrathymic stem cells that are restricted to lymphoid differentiation. J. Exp. Med. 178:1283–92
- Spits H. 1994. Early stages in human and mouse T-cell development. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 6:212–21
- Spangrude GJ, Scollay R. 1990. Differentiation of hematopoietic stem cells in irradiated mouse thymic lobes: kinetics and phenotype of progeny. J. Immunol. 145:3661– 68
- Rodewald H-R, Kretzschmar K, Takeda S, Hohl C, Dessing M. 1994. Identification of pro-thymocytes in murine fetal blood: T lineage commitment can precede thymus colonization. *EMBO J.* 13:4229–40
- Shimonkevitz RP, Husmann LA, Bevan MJ, Crispe IN. 1987. Transient expression of IL-2 receptor precedes the differentiation of immature thymocytes. *Nature* 329:157– 59
- Pearse M, Wu L, Egerton M, Wilson A, Shortman K, Scollay R. 1989. A murine early thymocyte developmental sequence is marked by transient expression of the interleukin 2 receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 86:1614–18
- Lesley J, Trotter J, Schulte R, Hyman R. 1990. Phenotypic analysis of the early events during repopulation of the thymus by the bone marrow prothymocyte. *Cell. Immunol.* 128:63–78
- Godfrey DI, Kennedy J, Suda T, Zlotnik A. 1993. A developmental pathway involving four phenotypically and functionally distinct subsets of CD3⁻ CD4⁻ CD8⁻ triple-negative adult mouse thymocytes defined by CD44 and CD25. J. Immunol. 150:4244–52
- Godfrey DI, Zlotnik A. 1993. Control points in early T-cell development. Immunol. Today 14:547–53
- 44. Hugo P, Petrie HT. 1992. Multiple routes

for late intrathymic precursors to generate CD4⁺ CD8⁺ thymocytes. In *Advances in Molecular and Cell Biology*, Vol. 5. *Molecular Immunology*, ed. JFAP Miller, pp. 37–53. Greenwich, CT: JAI *Press. Inc.*

- Saint-Ruf C, Ungewiss K, Groettrup M, Bruno L, Fehling HJ, von Boehmer H. 1994. Analysis and expression of a cloned pre-T cell receptor gene. *Science* 266:1208–12
- Petrie HT, Scollay R, Shortman K. 1992. Commitment to the TCR-αβ or -γδ lineages can occur just prior to the onset of CD4 and CD8 expression amongst immature thymocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 22:2185– 88
- Zorbas M, Scollay R. 1993. Development of γδ T cells in the adult murine thymus. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:1655–60
- Dudley EC, Girardi M, Owen MJ, Hayday AC. 1995. αβ and γδ T cells can share a late common precursor. *Curr. Biol.* 5:659–69
- Wu L, Scollay R, Egerton M, Pearse M, Spangrude GJ, Shortman K. 1991. The earliest T-lineage precursor cells in the adult murine thymus express low levels of CD4. *Nature* 349:71–74
- Wilson A, Held W, MacDonald HR. 1994. Two waves of recombinase gene expression in developing thymocytes. J. Exp. Med. 179:1355–60
- Classon BJ, Coverdale L. 1994. Mouse stem cell antigen Sca-2 is a member of the Ly 6 family of cell surface proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:5296–300
- Randle ES, Waanders GA, Masciantonio M, Godfrey DI, Boyd RL. 1993. A lymphostromal molecule, thymic shared Ag-1, regulates early thymocyte development in fetal thymus organ culture. J. Immunol. 151:6027–35
- Ardavin C, Wu L, Li C-L, Shortman K. 1993. Thymic dendritic cells and T cells develop simultaneously within the thymus from a common precursor population. Nature 362:761–63
- Wu L, Vremec D, Ardavin C, Winkel K, Suss G, Georgiou H, Maraskovsky E, Cook W, Shortman K. 1995. Mouse thymus dendritic cells; kinetics of development and changes in surface markers during maturation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:418–25
- Dou Y-M, Germeraad WTV, Gyotoku J-I, Katsura Y. 1993. Frequency analysis of the T cell precursors in the thymus. *Cell. Immunol.* 150:269–80
- Antica M, Wu L, Shortman K, Scollay R. 1993. Intrathymic lymphoid precursor cells during fetal thymus development. J. Immunol. 151:5887–95

- 57. Hozumi K, Kobori A, Sato T, Nozaki H, Nishikawa S, Nishimura T, Habu S. 1994. Pro-T cells in fetal thymus express c-kit and RAG-2 but do not rearrange the gene encoding the T cell receptor-β chain. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:1339–44
- Rodewald H-R, Moingeon P, Lucich JL, Dosiou C, Lopez P, Reinherz EL. 1992. A population of early fetal thymocytes expressing Fcγ RII/III contains precursors of T lymphocytes and natural killer cells. *Cell* 69:139–50
- Brooks CG, Georgiou A, Jordan RK. 1993. The majority of immature fetal thymocytes can be induced to proliferate to IL-2 and differentiate into cells indistinguishable from mature natural killer cells. J. Immunol. 151:6645–56
- Fisher AG, Larsson L, Goff LK, Restall DE, Happerfield L, Merkenschlager M. 1990. Human thymocyte development in mouse organ culture. *Int. Immunol.* 2:571–78
- Haynes BF, Denning SM, Singer KH, Kurtzberg J. 1989. Ontogeny of T-cell precursors: a model for the initial stages of human T-cell development. *Immunol. Today* 10:87–91
- Terstappen LWMM, Huang S, Picker LJ. 1992. Flow cytometric assessment of human T-cell differentiation in thymus and bone marrow. *Blood* 79:666–77
- Sotzik F, Rosenberg Y, Boyd AW, Honeyman M, Metcalf D, Scollay R, Wu L, Shortman K. 1994. Assessment of CD4 expression by early T-precursor cells and by dendritic cells in the human thymus. J. Immunol. 152:3370–77
- 64. Galy A, Verma S, Barcena A, Spits H. 1993. Precursors of CD3⁺ CD4⁺ CD8⁺ cells in the human thymus are defined by expression of CD34. Delineation of early events inhuman thymic development. J. Exp. Med. 178:391–402
- 65. Barcena A, Muench MO, Galy AHM, Cupp J, Roncarolo MG, Phillips JH, Spits H. 1993. Phenotypic and functional analysis of T-cell precursors in the human fetal liver and thymus: CD7 expression in the early stages of T-and myeloid-cell development. *Blood* 82:3401–14
- Sanchez MJ, Spits H, Lanier LL, Phillips JH. 1993. Human natural killer cell committed thymocytes and their relation to the T-cell lineage. J. Exp. Med. 178:1857–66
- Phillips JH, Hori T, Nagler A, Bhat N, Spits H, Lanier LL. 1992. Ontogeny of human natural killer (NK) cells: fetal NK cells mediate cytolytic function and express cytoplasmic CD3ε, δ proteins. J. Exp. Med. 175:1055–66

- 69. Conlon PJ, Morrissev PJ, Nordan RP, Grabstein KH, Prickett KS, Reed SG, Goodwin
- R, Cosman D, Namen AE. 1989. Murine thymocytes proliferate in direct response to interleukin-7. Blood 74:1368-73 70 Watson JD, Morrissey PJ, Namen AE, Con-

68. Rocha B, Guy-Grand D, Vassalli P. 1995.

Opin. Immunol. 7:235-42

Extrathymic T cell differentiation. Curr.

- lon PJ, Widmer MB. 1989. Effect of IL-7 on the growth of fetal thymocytes in culture. J. Immunol. 143:1215-22
- 71. Suda T, Zlotnik A. 1991. IL-7 maintains the T cell precursor potential of CD3- CD4-CD8- thymocytes. J. Immunol. 146:3068-73
- 72. Muegge K, Vila MP, Durum SK. 1993. Interleukin-7: a cofactor for V(D)J rearrangement of the T cell receptor β -gene. Science 261:93-95
- 73. Appasamy PM, Kenniston TW Jr, Weng Y, Holt EC, Kost J, Chambers WH. 1993. Interleukin 7-induced expression of specific T cell receptor- γ variable region genes in murine fetal liver cultures. J. Exp. Med. 178:2201-6
- 74. Peschon JJ, Morrissey PJ, Grabstein KH, Ramsdell FJ, Maraskovsky E, Gliniak BC, Park LS. Ziegler SF. Williams DE. Ware CB, Meyer JD, Davison BL. 1994. Early lymphocyte expansion is severely impaired in interleukin 7 receptor-deficient mice. J. Exp. Med. 180:1955-60
- 75. Bergman M, Mustelin T, Oetken C, Partanen J, Flint NA, Amrein KE, Autero M, Burn P, Alitalo K. 1992. The human p50^{csk} tyrosine kinase phosphorylates p56^{lck} at Tyr-505 and down regulates its catalytic activity. EMBO J. 11:2919-24
- 76. Okada M, Howell BW, Broome MA, Cooper JA. 1993. Deletion of the SH3 domain of Src interferes with regulation by the phosphorylated carboxyl-terminal tyrosine. J. Biol. Chem. 268:18070-75

- 77. Anderson SJ, Levin SD, Perlmutter RM. 1993. Protein tyrosine kinase p56lck controls allelic exclusion of T-cell receptor β chain genes. Nature 365:552-54
- Appleby MW, Gross JA, Cooke MP, Levin SD, Qian X, Perlmutter RM. 1992. Defective T cell receptor signaling in mice lacking the thymic isoform of p59^{fyn}. Cell 70:751-63
- 79. Gross JA, Appleby MW, Chien S, Nada S, Partelmez SH, Okada M, Aizawa S, Perlmutter RM. 1995. Control of lymphopoiesis by p50^{csk}, a regulatory protein
- tyrosine kinase. J. Exp. Med. 181:463–73 80. Wang B, Biron C, She J, Higgins K, Sunshine M-J, Lacy E, Lonberg N, Terhorst C. 1994. A block in both early T lymphocyte and natural killer cell development in transgenic mice with high-copy numbers of the human CD3e gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:9402-06
- 81. Mombaerts P, Iacomini J, Johnson RS, Herrup K, Tonegawa S, Papaioannou VE. 1992. RAG-1-deficient mice have no mature B and T lymphocytes. Cell 68:869-77
- 82. Shinkai Y, Rathbun G, Lam KP, Oltz EM, Stewart V, Mendelsohn M, Charron J, Datta M, Young F, Stall AM, Alt FM. 1992. RAG-2-deficient mice lack mature lymphocytes owing to inability to initiate V(D)J rearrangement. Cell 68:855-67
- 83. Georgopoulos K, Moore DD, Derfler B. 1992. Ikaros, an early lymphoid-specific transcription factor and a putative mediator for T-cell commitment. Science 258:808-12
- 84. Molnar A, Georgopoulos K. 1994. The Ikaros gene encodes a family of functionally diverse zinc finger DNA-binding proteins. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14:8292-303
- Georgopoulos K, Bigby M, Wang J-H, Molnar A, Wu P, Winandy S, Sharpe A 1994. The Ikaros gene is required for the development of all lymphoid lineages. Cell 79:143-56



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update

Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, and Ellen S. Vitetta

Department of Microbiology and the Cancer Immunobiology Center, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, Texas 75235

KEY WORDS: immunotherapy, cancer, autoimmune disease, AIDS, bone marrow transplantation

ABSTRACT

The use of immunotoxins (ITs) in the therapy of cancer, graft-vs-host disease (GvHD), autoimmune diseases, and AIDS has been ongoing for the past two decades. ITs contain a targeting moiety for delivery and a toxic moiety for cytotoxicity. Theoretically, one molecule of a toxin, routed to the appropriate cellular compartment, will be lethal to a cell. Newly developed MoAbs, toxins, and molecular biological technologies have enabled researchers to construct ITs that can effectively kill many different cell types. In fact, phase I/II clinical trials have given promising results. Although nonspecific toxicity and immunogenicity still limit the use of IT therapy, these agents hold enormous promise in an optimal setting to treat minimal disease.

INTRODUCTION

For the past several decades, researchers and clinicians have been using drugs and/or radiation to kill tumor cells. While chemotherapy and radiotherapy continue to be the treatments of choice following surgery, or as front-line therapy when surgery is contraindicated, these therapies are only semiselective for malignant cells (1). In contrast, targeted drug therapy has the potential for greater specificity. With the advent of monoclonal antibody (MoAb)¹ technology, researchers have been able to target different agents to target cells more effectively. For example, immunotoxins (ITs) are cytotoxic agents that consist of a MoAb as the targeting moiety, a plant or bacterial toxin that has had its intrinsic binding domain removed or modified, and a linker that is stable in the circulation but labile inside the cell (2-5). Additionally, cytokines and soluble receptors are being used as targeting moieties (5, 6). The toxins are very powerful, and since they are catalytic (able to react with multiple intracellular targets), fewer than 10 molecules in the cytosol of a target cell are enough to be lethal (7, 8). Unlike chemotherapeutic agents, these toxins kill both resting and dividing cells. Hence, they have the potential for killing tumor cells that are not in cycle (i.e. dormant tumor cells) and are therefore spared by chemotherapy. In addition to their use in the therapy of cancer, ITs are also being developed to treat immunologically related diseases. For example, ITs can target T cell populations to prevent organ graft rejection and graft-versus-host disease (GvHD), to ameliorate symptoms of autoimmune diseases, or to target HIV-infected T cells.

Despite the conceptual simplicity of ITs, avoidance of nonspecific toxicity as well as efficient internalization and intracellular trafficking of these agents are just a few factors that must be considered in constructing optimal ITs. Nevertheless, the results thus far achieved in early clinical trials have been encouraging, and there is little doubt that some form of targeted therapy will eventually be used clinically.

BIOCHEMISTRY OF IMMUNOTOXINS

Targeting Moiety

The targeting agents currently used to construct ITs are MoAbs, growth factors/cytokines, and soluble receptors (9–12). MoAbs are the most frequently used targeting agents. In the case of tumor cells, MoAbs that recognize differentiation antigens (Ags) on normal cells are often used because unique tumorassociated Ags have not been identified for most human tumors. Since tumor

¹ABBREVIATIONS: Ab, antibody; Ag(s), antigen(s); BsAb, bispecific antibody; BLR, blocked ricin; (A)BMT, (autologous) bone marrow transplant: dgA, deglycosylated ricin A-chain; DT, diptheria toxin; EAMG, experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis; EC(s), endothelial cell(s); EF-2, elongation factor 2; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; FGF-1, fibroblastic growth factor-1; GvHD, graft-versus-host disease; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; Ig, immunoglobulin; IDDM, insulin dependent diabetes mellitus; IT(s), immunotoxin(s); IFN-γ, interferon-γ; IL, interleukin; IL-2R, interleukin 2 receptor; MHC, major histocompatability complex; MoAb, monoclonal antibody; MTD, maximum tolerated dose; PAP, pokeweed antiviral protein; PE, Pseudomonas exotoxin; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; RIP(s), ribosome inactivating protein(s); RTA, ricin toxin A-chain; SAP, saporin; TGF-α, transforming growth factor-alpha; VLS, vascular leak syndrome. cells often express higher levels of these differentiation Ags, the tumor cells may be preferentially killed (13, 14). One drawback in using MoAbs as the targeting agent is that they are usually of mouse origin and are therefore immunogenic in humans. If prior treatment or the disease itself is immunosuppressive (e.g. B cell lymphoma or AIDS), this is less problematic. In cases where the patient is not immunosuppressed, the use of less immunogenic chimeric or humanized Abs is being explored (15–21). Alternatively, recombinant growth factors (specifically cytokines) or soluble receptors (e.g. CD4) can be less immunogenic. However, host-derived cytokines or cytokine receptors present in the serum may compete with ITs and limit their effectiveness in vivo.

Cytokines make effective targeting agents because their affinity for their ligands can be several orders of magnitude higher than that of typical antibodies (22). Cytokine receptors can then effectively internalize the cytokine-based IT via receptor-mediated endocytosis (23, 24). Furthermore, cytokine receptors are often modulated during cell activation or differentiation, making it possible to target a specific cell population selectively [i.e. ITs can be targeted to certain growth factor receptors that are often overexpressed on tumor cells (13)]. Care must be taken to ensure that the growth factor portion of the IT does not retain some of its agonistic effects, which could promote proliferation of the targeted cell population. Such effects, although transient or dose-dependent, have been observed with ITs targeting IL-2, IL-4, and IL-6 receptors (25–27).

Bispecific antibodies (BsAb) are novel targeting agents constructed by linking either chemically or genetically two different Fab fragments, one arm of which is directed against a target cell and the other against effector T cells or NK cells (e.g. anti-CD22/anti-CD3-RTA)(28–31). In one case, a BsAb could deliver both a toxin and an effector cell to the site of a tumor because the arm directed against the effector cell did not kill it (31). BsAb ITs recognizing two antigens on the same cell have also been constructed (29, 30). For example, anti-CD4 antibodies have been linked to anti-CD26 or anti-CD29 in attempts to modulate GvHD by targeting cells that express both antigens. These ITs target and kill activated helper/inducer (memory) T cell subsets, because, for killing to occur, the BsAb-IT must bind simultaneously to both determinants on a cell; univalent binding does not induce internalization (29, 30). Toxins have also been delivered to cells by constructing BsAb ITs in which one arm recognizes the tumor cell (e.g. anti-CD22) and the other recognizes a toxin (e.g. anti-saporin) (32).

Toxin Moiety

The most commonly used toxic moieties for making ITs are derived from either bacteria [e.g. *Pseudomonas* exotoxin (PE) or diphtheria toxin (DT)], or plants (e.g. ricin or abrin) (Table 1). Both types of toxins kill cells by inhibiting protein

| Table 1 | Toxins | used | for | the | preparation | of ITs |
|---------|--------|------|-----|-----|-------------|--------|
|---------|--------|------|-----|-----|-------------|--------|

| PLANT TOXINS (N-glycosidase for 28S rRNA) |
|--|
| Two chain toxins |
| 1. Abrin |
| 2. Ricin |
| 3. Modeccin |
| 4. Viscumin |
| Single chain toxins (RIPs) |
| 1. Pokeweed anti-viral protein (PAP) |
| 2. Saporin (SAP) |
| 3. Gelonin |
| 4. Momoridin |
| 5. Trichosanthin |
| 6. Barley toxin |
| BACTERIAL TOXINS (ADP Ribosylation of EF-2) |
| 1. Diptheria toxin (DT) |
| 2. Pseudomonas exotoxin (PE) |
| FUNGAL TOXINS (single chain RIPs; ribonuclease of 28S rRNA |
| 1. α -sarcin |
| 2. restrictocin |
| |

synthesis (Figure 1) (33, 34). For example, PE and DT inactivate elongation factor 2 (EF-2), and ricin and abrin inactivate the EF-2-binding site on the 28S ribosomal subunit (35). Most plant and bacterial toxins are synthesized as single-chain proteins which are then processed posttranslationally into two polypeptide chains linked together by interchain disulfide bonds (33, 36, 37). In most cases, there are at least two (and sometimes three) functional domains. One domain contains the enzymatic activity (A-chain), while the other contains the targeting/binding activity (B-chain) (33, 38). Usually the binding domain is deleted and replaced by a specific ligand. Alternatively, ITs can be constructed with the entire toxin (holotoxin), but in this case, the lectin-binding sites must be blocked (39). A third domain may also be involved in the translocation of toxin into the cytoplasm (e.g. PE). Different domains have been manipulated and/or deleted by biochemical or genetic modifications to generate more effective and less immunogenic ITs.

Ribosome inactivating proteins (RIPs) are a subgroup of the plant toxins [e.g. pokeweed antiviral protein (PAP), saporin (SAP), or gelonin—see Table 1] (40–42). They are synthesized as single-chain proteins that lack a targeting moiety (or B-chain equivalent) (41, 43, 44). These proteins are functionally analogous to the A-chain of ricin or abrin in that they inhibit protein synthesis by inactivating the 28S RNA (41). Since the RIPs lack a B-chain equivalent, they must be linked to a cell-binding ligand in order to be cytotoxic. The advantage of using RIPs is that rigorous purification to eliminate the B-chain is not necessary.

ITs have also been constructed using hybrids of both plant and bacterial toxins (e.g. ricin A-chain and the A fragment of DT) (45). Because bacterial and plant toxins act at different steps in protein translation, a combination of their activities could be more effective. In fact, some ITs constructed with these hybrid toxins are 100–1000-fold more effective in inhibiting tumor cell growth than are ITs prepared with either toxin alone (45).

Linkers

For in vivo therapy, the toxic moiety of the IT must be coupled to the targeting ligand so that it remains stable in the blood and tissues but is labile within the target cell. The A-chain has to be separated from the targeting domain (e.g. MoAb or B-chain in the case of holotoxin) for effective translocation into the cytoplasm. A variety of cross-linkers have been developed based on whether the holotoxin or the active domain of the toxin (or RIP) is used (46).



Figure 1 Mode of action of ITs containing RTA, RIPs, PE, or DT. ITs bind to the cell surface via the targeting moiety and are internalized by receptor-mediated endocytosis. The plant toxins and PE are routed to the *trans*-golgi network, and DT is routed to an acidified endosome. In these compartments, the toxins are separated from the targeting moiety. The toxins kill cells by inhibiting protein synthesis; the plant toxins damage 28S rRNA, and the bacterial toxins inactivate EF-2.

54 THRUSH ET AL

In the case of holotoxins, a naturally occurring disulfide bond exists between the catalytic domain and the remainder of the toxin that would normally be reduced once inside the cell. Therefore, when preparing ITs, holotoxins are linked to a targeting moiety via a thioether linkage that is highly stable and nonreducible (1, 47). Unlike holotoxin-containing ITs, ITs containing A-chains or RIPs must introduce a disulfide bond between the targeting ligand and the toxin in order to be active (1, 47). Heterobifunctional cross-linkers introduce an activated thiol group into the ligand but this linkage is labile to reduction and the resulting ITs are not as stable or as long lived in vivo (46, 48–50). Alternatively, fusion toxins have been prepared by fusing and expressing the genes for the toxin and targeting ligand (5, 51). When toxins such as PE or DT are used, the fusion protein will contain the proteolytic cleavage site that is normally present in the native toxin. The enzymatic domain can therefore be separated from the targeting moiety by proteolysis once the IT is internalized. When a plant toxin is used (which has no cleavage sites in its native sequence), nucleotides that encode a cleavage site must be introduced between the targeting and toxic moieties (53).

FACTORS AFFECTING THE POTENCY OF AN IT

Many factors are critical in determining the cytotoxicity of an IT. These include the binding affinity of the targeting moiety and the density of the target Ag on the cell (54, 55). Ligands that bind with low affinity, or bind to Ags whose density on the surface is low, often require up to 10^4 times more IT to kill cells (50). Furthermore, the target Ag must be naturally internalized or induced to do so (57). When MoAbs are used as the targeting agents, the epitope on the target Ag recognized by the IT may also affect the potency of an IT (55, 58–60). For example, MoAbs that bind to epitopes that are relatively close to the membrane make better ITs than those that bind to sites that are more distal. It has been speculated that proximity of the target epitope to the membrane facilitates the translocation of the toxic portion of the IT across the membrane into the cytosol (60). Because only 5–25% of MoAbs make potent ITs, many MoAbs must be screened to select those that make effective ITs (61).

Once an IT is internalized, its intracellular routing is one of the most critical variables in determining its potency (57, 58, 62). The intracellular routing pathways for many of the toxins have not been defined in great detail. In the case of PE, mutational analysis indicates that the carboxy-terminal sequence Arg-Glu-Asp-Leu-Lys (REDLK) is important for its cytotoxic action (63). While removal of this sequence does not affect its ADP-ribosylating activity, its lack of cytotoxicity, suggests that this sequence may be involved in either the translocation of toxin into the cytosol, or in its routing to an intracellular compartment from which translocation can take place. This sequence resembles the well-defined endoplasmic reticulum (ER) retention signal Lys-Asp-Glu-Leu (KDEL) (64–66). In fact, when the carboxy-terminal sequence of PE is changed to KDEL, the molecule remains fully cytotoxic. The addition of a KDEL peptide sequence to the A-chain of ricin toxin results in increased cytotoxicity when the mutant A-chain is reassociated with its native B-chain (67). Unlike PE, native ricin does not contain a natural KDEL-like sequence.

The intracellular compartment into which the IT is routed will ultimately determine whether the final translocation step into the cytosol takes place rapidly and efficiently. Unfortunately, once internalized, most of the IT is routed to the lysosomes, where the toxin is degraded. Lysosomotropic amines (e.g. NH_4Cl and chloroquine) and carboxylic ionophores (e.g. monensin), which increase the pH of the intracellular compartments, protect cells from PE and DT but increase their sensitivity to the plant toxins ricin and abrin (68–71). Possibly, therefore, translocation of the plant toxins into the cytosol takes place in the Golgi complex (71, 72). In support of this hypothesis, alterations in the Golgi apparatus sensitize cells to ricin (68, 69, 73, 74).

In several rodent tumor models, the inability of a single type of IT to cure the animals is due to the survival and subsequent outgrowth of IT-resistant tumor cells. These mutants may lack the target Ag entirely or express it at levels too low for effective IT-mediated killing. Alternatively, the cell may express the target Ag but have a defect in internalization and/or intracellular routing. In some cases, such mutant cells can be eradicated with cocktails of two or more ITs recognizing different target Ags, provided that any defect in the intracellular trafficking is not common to both Ag-entry pathways.

TARGETING ITS TO B AND T CELLS

ITs have been used to treat numerous immunologically related diseases in both animals and humans (4, 9, 75–80). For example, ITs have been used to kill hematopoietic tumors (e.g. lymphoma), treat autoimmune diseases [e.g. rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and diabetes], prevent GvHD, and kill HIV infected T cells. Clinical responses have been excellent (28% complete responses) when accessible circulating T cells have been targeted as a treatment for steroidresistant GvHD or autoimmune diseases (81–84). In the case of B and T cell tumors, lineage-specific differentiation Ags can be targeted since normal B and T cells can be repopulated from stem cells (Tables 2 and 3). Because tumor cells often express higher levels of these Ags, they will be preferentially killed.

Cytokine-based ITs have also been used to target B and T cells (Table 3). For example, numerous IT constructs target the IL-2 receptor (IL-2R), which exists

| Antibody against | Disease Indication | Targeted Cell | References |
|------------------|---|---------------------|----------------------|
| CD2 | GvHD | T cell | (138) |
| CD3 | GvHD, Diabetes | T cell | (81, 106, 138, 139) |
| CD4 | HIV | T cell | (114-116, 140) |
| CD5 | GvHD, RA | T cell, B cell | (4, 138, 140, 141) |
| CD7 | GvHD, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (ABMT) | T cell | (4, 138) |
| CD11a | GvHD | T cell, NK cell | (138) |
| CD18 | GvHD | T cell | (138) |
| CD19 | Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, ABMT | B cell | (4, 140, 141) |
| CD22 | Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma | B cell | (4, 140, 141) |
| CD25 | GvHD, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (ABMT), | Activated T cell | (113, 122, 123, 140) |
| CD30 | Hodgkin's lymphoma | Reed-Sternberg cell | (4, 141) |
| CD33 | Myeloid leukemias | Myeloid lineage | (111) |
| $V\beta 6TCR$ | EAMG | T cell | (142) |

 Table 2
 MoAb-based ITs used to target cells of the immune system

 Table 3
 Growth factor/cytokine based ITs

| Targeted structure | Immunotoxin | Disease Indication | References |
|-----------------------|---|------------------------------------|-----------------------|
| IL-2R | DAB ₄₈₆ -IL-2, DAB ₃₈₉ -IL-2, IL-2-PE40, IL-2-PE664glu, IL-2-DT | Lymphoma, AIDS, autoimmune disease | (6, 22, 23, 140, 143) |
| IL-4R | IL-4-PE40 | Lymphoma, various tumors | (100, 140) |
| IL-6R | DAB ₃₈₉ -IL-6, | Myeloma, hepatoma, | (99, 105, 140, 144) |
| | IL-6-PE40 | Kaposi sarcoma | |
| IL-7R | DAB ₃₈₉ -IL-7 | Lymphoma, leukemia | (101) |
| IL-9R | IL9-ETA | Hodgkin's disease, lymphoma | (102) |
| IL-15R | DAB389-IL-15 | Lymphoma, leukemia | (103) |
| EGF-R | PE40-TGFα, TP40 DAB ₃₈₉ -EGF | Various tumors | (14, 140, 145) |
| FGF-R | acidic FGF-PE, basic FGF-SAP | Limb-threatening ischemia | (128, 129) |
| Melanotropin receptor | DAB ₃₈₉ -MSH | Melanoma | (24, 146) |
| GM-CSF-R | GM-CSF-SAP, DT-GM-CSF | Lymphoma, leukemia | (104, 105) |

as a complex of the 55-kDa α -chain (p55 or CD25) and the 75 kDa β -chain (p75 or CD122) (85–87). There is also a γ chain (p64) that associates with the β -chain of this complex for signal transduction, but it does not bind IL-2. While the low-affinity IL-2R (p70) is expressed on all T cells, the high-affinity receptor (p70, p55) is expressed only transiently on activated lymphocytes (88). Since the high-affinity IL-2R is not expressed on nonlymphoid cells, it is theoretically possible to target this cell population selectively with low concentrations of cytokine fusion proteins. For example, recombinant forms of DT (e.g. DAB-IL2) and PE (e.g. PE40-IL2) are two chimeric ITs that target the high-affinity IL-2 receptor (11, 89-91). These ITs bind to the lowaffinity IL-2R, so that relatively high concentrations are needed to kill cells. These and other cytokine-based ITs have been used to treat lymphoma, RA, and type I insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM), and for prevention of graft rejection (92–97). Targeting of other lymphoid cells using recombinant fusion toxins has been achieved using IL-4, IL-6, IL-7, IL-9, IL-15, GM-CSF, and TGF- α as the targeting moiety (98–105).

GvHD in Bone Marrow Transplantation

GvHD is a major problem when allogeneic bone marrow transplants (BMT) are used to rescue patients with leukemias and lymphomas who have been treated with supralethal doses of chemotherapy (12). Because donor T cells in BMT mediate GvHD, patients are immunosuppressed with steroids when undergoing BMT. T cell–specific ITs are being used in clinical trials to overcome this problem (81, 106). IT therapy for GvHD is most effective when IT is administered after the BMT but before GvHD develops. MoAbs or cytokines can be used to target specific surface antigens on T cells (e.g. CD5, CD3, IL-2) (81, 106). In some cases, these surface antigens may also be on other lymphoid cells (e.g. CD5⁺ B cells), but IT-mediated killing of these cells is generally well tolerated.

There is a reduced incidence of GvHD when anti-CD5-based ITs are used in patients who receive an HLA-matched BMT but from an unrelated donor (107). Side effects commonly observed during IT therapy [e.g. vascular leak syndrome, (VLS)] were also observed in these patients, although the effects were tolerable at effective doses. However, some patients were susceptible to viral infections. Therefore, while the ITs were effective in preventing GvHD, rapid efforts must be made to restore the immune system to prevent lethal viral infections (e.g. by coadministration of IL-3). BMT patients who received bone marrow from HLA unmatched and unrelated donors have also been treated with anti-CD5 based ITs, but in combination with other immunosuppressive drugs (108, 109). This treatment was not effective in preventing GvHD.

Bone Marrow Purging in Autologous Bone Marrow Transplantation

ITs are being used to purge bone marrow of tumor cells in cases where cancer patients undergo autologous BMTs (111). Bone marrow from these patients is removed and stored prior to systemic treatment with supralethal doses of chemo- or radiotherapy. The bone marrow progenitors are then reinfused back into the patient.

Bone marrow purging has also been used to remove malignant B cells and T cells from autologous bone marrow. In one clinical trial, leukemic T cells were removed by incubating the bone marrow with ITs directed against CD5 and CD7 (112). This treatment was effective in some patients. In those patients in whom relapses did occur, the relapses were due to the treatment failure rather than inefficient purgings of the marrow. This ex vivo procedure avoids the side effects and nonspecific toxicity observed when using ITs in vivo.

Autoimmune Disease

The targeting of T cells with ITs can also be used to treat autoimmune diseases such as RA, IDDM, systemic lupus erythematosus, and experimental allergic encephalomyelitis, since autoreactive T cells have been implicated in the pathogenesis of these diseases (83, 93, 113). In Phase I clinical trials, patients with RA have been treated with ITs that target $CD5^+$ T cells (83). A 50% overall decrease in joint pain and swelling was observed. In a Phase II clinical trial using anti-CD5 IT to treat RA, a high initial response rate was seen after 1 month of treatment and this was sustained up to 6 months in up to 25% of the patients (83). ITs that target additional surface Ags on T cells such as the IL-2 receptor (IL-2R) have resulted in similar and sometimes even greater reductions of symptoms in patients with RA (113). Patients with autoimmune IDDM have also been treated with ITs in clinical trials that target both CD5 or IL-2 (84). Preliminary studies indicate that both therapies decrease the symptoms seen in these patients.

HIV Infection and AIDS

ITs have been evaluated for the therapy of HIV infection. For example, ITs have been targeted to CD4, the cellular receptor for the virus (114–117). These ITs selectively destroy HIV⁺ CD4⁺ cells, but not HIV-CD4⁺ cells, since the former are more sensitive to anti-CD4-targeted toxins (114–117). Soluble CD4 has also been conjugated to both RTA and PE, and in both cases has inhibited synthesis of viral proteins in infected cells as well as the spread of virus (114, 116). However, in the presence of anti-gp120 Abs, commonly found in the serum of AIDS patients, these ITs are less effective (118, 119). ITs have also been targeted to the HIV envelope protein gp160, as well as to its components

gp120 and gp41 (118–121). Unfortunately, ITs containing MoAbs directed against the immunodominant hypervariable region of gp120 do not kill cells infected with all strains of HIV. In fact, these ITs don't even kill the cells infected by all the HIV variants within the same patient. Although gp41 can be used as a target for ITs because it is more highly conserved (119), anti-gp41 Abs in the patients may reduce the effectiveness of these ITs (118–120).

ITs can be targeted to cellular receptors on normal activated T cells and monocytes (122, 123). For example, the IL-2R α -chain (CD25) is expressed on activated, virus-producing cells (122, 123), and ITs targeted to this receptor efficiently prevent viral replication. Fortunately, CD25⁺ cells are rapidly replenished from the resting T cell pool so that significant toxicity to the patient should not result. However, while anti-CD25 ITs will kill normal cells expressing IL-2R, they do not kill latently infected cells. Targeting IL-2R⁺ cells may also result in the killing of activated CD8⁺ cells, which might be necessary to suppress the growth of HIV-infected cells (122).

Clinical Trials

Experimental studies suggest that ITs have optimal efficacy when administered in a single short course of therapy to patients with minimal, dormant, or premalignant disease (4, 78–80). However, Phase I clinical trials are designed to test the safety of a drug and require that patients have intractable disease with large bulky tumors. When the side effects, immunogenicity, and pharmacokinetics have been established and the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) has been determined, the IT can be used in Phase II clinical trials in patients with less advanced disease. In Phase II trials, efficacy is determined and a response rate of 20–40% (partial or complete remission) must be achieved in order for the drug to continue into Phase III clinical trials. To date, most ITs are just entering Phase II/III trials, and their efficacy, although it appears encouraging, is still under evaluation (4). Several observations have emerged from these Phase I/II clinical trials.

In eight separate IT trials, the number of patients achieving partial or complete remissions from cancer ranged from 12% to 75%. This is excellent for Phase I trials. To put this in perspective, more than 90% of chemotherapeutic drugs used today produced less than a 5% partial or complete remission in Phase I clinical trials. Patients with large solid tumor masses, however, rarely respond well to IT therapy because of the inaccessibility of the cells to the ITs (124).

In order to treat solid tumors more effectively with ITs, it has been proposed that an IT should be targeted to the dividing vascular endothelial cells (ECs), rather than to the tumor cells themselves (125). In this way, tumor cell heterogeneity will not be a problem and one can kill the tumor by starving the cells of necessary nutrients and oxygen (126). ECs are accessible, and because they are normal cells, their Ags are unlikely to mutate. This approach should be useful

60 THRUSH ET AL

Table 4 Summary of clinical trials

| Disease | Immunotoxin | Toxicity | Clinical response | Reference |
|--|--|---|--|-----------|
| Metastatic Melanoma | Xomazyme-Mel | VLS, myalgia | 1/22 CR, 9/22 mixed or | (147) |
| | Xomazyme-Mel | VLS | 3/43 PR, 1/43 MR, 9/43 stabilization | (148) |
| | Xomazyme-Mel plus cyclophosphamide | VLS | 4/20 PR | (149) |
| | Xomazyme-Mel plus cyclosporine | Arthralgia, SGOT/SGPT elevations, VLS | 1/8 PR, 1/8 stable mediastinal disease | (150) |
| Colorectal Carcinoma Metastatic Breast carcinoma | Anti-gp 72-RTA | VLS, aphasia | 5/16 mixed tumor regressions | (151) |
| | 260F9-RTA (bolus) | VLS, myalgia paresthesia | 1/4 resolution of lung nodule | (152) |
| | 260F9-RTA (continuous infusion) | VLS, myalgia, neuropathies | 0/5 | (153) |
| Ovarian carcinoma | Anti-OVB3-PE | SGOT-SGPT elevations, abdominal pain, encephalopathy | 0/23 | (154) |
| Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma | Anti-CD19-BLR (bolus) | SGOT/SGPT elevations thrombogytoponia | 1/25 CR, 2/25 PR, 10/25 | (155) |
| | Anti-CD19-BLR (continuous infusion) | SGOT/SGPT elevations throm- bocytopenia edema | 2/43 CR, 5/43 PR, 11/43 transient | (155) |
| | Anti-CD19-BLR (continuous infusion) | Increases in liver function tests, decreases in platelet counts, myalgia, edema, VLS | 2/34 CR, 3/34 Pr, 11/34 transient | (156) |
| | Anti-CD19-BLR | Liver dysfunct- ion, thrombocyto- penia, VLS | 2/11 PR, 3/11 minor response | (157) |
| | Fab' anti-CD22 (RFB4) dg-RTA | VLS, myalgia | 5/13 PR | (158) |
| | Anti-CD22 (RFB4) dg-RTA | VLS, myalgia | 1/24 CR, 6/24 PR | (159) |
| | DAB ₄₈₆ -IL-2 | Hepatic transaminase elevation, fever, hypoalbuminemia | 9/32 response | (6) |
| | DAB389-IL-2 | nypoatounintenna | 1/17CR, 2/17 PR | (160) |
IMMUNOTOXINS 61

=

| Disease | Immunotoxin | Toxicity | Clinical response | Reference |
|-------------------------------------|---|--|---|----------------|
| Hodgkin's disease | Anti-CD30-Saponin | Thrombocytopenia, SGOT/SGPT elevations, proteinuria | 3/4 PR | (161) |
| | DAB ₄₈₆ -IL-2 | Hepatic transaminase elevation, proteinuria, hypoalbuminemia | 1/15 CR | (92) |
| | Anti-CD25-dgA | VLS | 1/12 PR, 5/12 stable disease | (162) |
| B-Chronic Lymphocyte Leukemia | Anti-CD5 (T101)-RTA | Fever | 4/5 transient decrease in circulating tumor cells | (163) |
| T Cell lymphoma | Anti-CD5 (H65)-RTA DAB ₃₈₉ IL-2 | VLS, dyspnea Hepatic transminase elevation, fever, hypoalbuminemia | 4/14 PR 1/17 CR, 2/17 PR | (164) |
| Psoriasis | DAB ₃₈₉ -IL-2 | | Up to 65% of patients with decrease in PASI score | (165) |
| Brain tumor | Anti-transferrin- CRM107 (DT) | | 8/15 PR | (166) |
| Small cell lung cancer GvHD | Anti-NKH1-BLR Anti-CD5 (H65)-RTA | VLS VLS, myalgia, hematuria, tremors | 1/19 PR 9/32 CR, 7/32 PR, 6/32 MR | (167) (109) |
| | Anti-CD5-RTA (Xomazyme-CD5) plus methotrexate and cycloporine or prednisone | Nephrotoxicity, VLS | 9/15 acute GvHD, 6/8 chronic GvHD, 4 survived 1.1–2 years after BMT | (109) |
| Arthritis | DAB ₄₈₆ -IL-2 | Hepatic transminase elevation fever | 9/18 > 25-50% improvement of symptoms | (93) |
| | DAB ₄₈₆ -IL-2 | | 5/13 > 30% improvement of | (6) |
| IDDM | DAB ₄₈₆ -IL-2 | Hepatic transminase elevation, fever | 9/18 decrease insulin requirement | (6) |

Table 4 (continued)

for treating a variety of solid tumors. Vascular targeting is based on the premise that Ags expressed on dividing or activated ECs in the tumor vasculature are different from those found on resting ECs. Some tumor cells secrete cytokines [e.g. interferon gamma (IFN- γ) or fibroblastic growth factor (FGF-1)] which induce an increased expression of surface Ag on ECs in the tumor vasculature [e.g. class-II major histocompatibility complex (MHC) or FGF-1 receptor], which can then be targeted (127–129). The ultimate success of vascular targeting will depend upon defining unique Ags on dividing or activated but not resting ECs. Surface markers such as EN7/44, endoglin (CD105), endosialin, and E-9 Ag are possible candidates for vascular targeting (130).

Side effects of IT therapy are different from those of chemotherapy or radiotherapy. While ITs do not damage rapidly dividing normal tissues, DT-, PE-, and nondeglycosylated ricin-based ITs routinely cause hepatotoxicity, and all the ricin-based ITs cause reversible VLS and myalgias (131–133). Hepatotoxicity from ricin-based ITs is due to carbohydrate-mediated binding to liver cells, while in the case of PE and DT, the explanation is unknown. It is believed that VLS and myalgia may be related to the ability of ricin A-chain to bind nonspecifically and damage normal vascular ECs. Multiple courses of IT therapy have been tolerated in patients, indicating that toxicity is not cumulative.

Optimal regimens for administration of the ITs are currently being investigated. The half-life $(T_{1/2})$ of ITs have generally been shorter than would be predicted to induce an optimal therapeutic index and the MTD is usually inversely proportional to $T_{1/2}$. In most of the Phase I trials (except those conducted in immunosuppressed lymphoma patients), anti-IT Abs were generated (134–137). In some cases these Abs were neutralizing, but in all cases they decreased the $T_{1/2}$ of the IT in the blood. Nevertheless, there were meaningful responses even in the presence of such Abs. So far, attempts to decrease the Ab responses by the use of immunosuppressive drugs have been unsuccessful. A few general, but preliminary, conclusions can be made from the clinical trials (Table 4): 1. The majority of the Phase I clinical trials have established MTDs, and the therapeutic concentrations of IT were reached in the blood at doses close to the MTD. However, blood concentrations were not maintained at therapeutic levels between infusions, suggesting that continuous infusion might be desirable. 2. MTDs should take into account whether or not circulating tumor cells are present. 3. Poorly vascularized, bulky, solid tumors are not suitable for IT-based therapies. Circulating cells and well-vascularized lymphomas appear to be better targets. 4. Anti-IT antibodies were generated in most trials (except those conducted in immunosuppressed lymphoma patients). In some cases, these antibodies were neutralizing but in all cases they decreased the $T_{1/2}\ of$ the IT in the blood.

CONCLUSIONS

The clinical responses observed in many of the IT clinical trials for the treatment of cancer, autoimmune disease, and GvHD have been impressive. In fact, for the therapy of cancer, ITs have yielded higher response rates in Phase I/II trials than some of the drugs used today (when tested in similar trials). It is clear that the use of ITs should be further explored. The generation of new constructs, combinatorial therapy, and, in the case of cancer therapy, treatment of tumors that are amenable to IT-mediated killing (e.g. minimal residual disease) will eventually result in effective treatment protocols.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Supported by NIH CA-28149, CA-64679, CA-58247; FD-R-001124; FD-R-001125; GRT supported by ACS fellowship: PF-3793; LRL supported by NIH fellowship: F32CA09318; BCC supported by fellowship from the Swedish Cancer Society.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Thorpe PE, Ross WC. 1982. The preparation and cytotoxic properties of antibodytoxin conjugates. *Immunol. Rev.* 62:119– 58
- Lord JM, Spooner RA, Hussain K, Roberts LM. 1988. Immunotoxins: properties, applications and current limitations. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 2:297–318
- Pietersz GA, Rowland A, Smyth MJ, McKenzie IFC. 1994. Chemoimmunoconjugates for the treatment of cancer. *Adv. Immunol.* 56:301–86
- Ghetie V, Vitetta ES. 1994. Immunotoxins in the therapy of cancer: from bench to clinic. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 63(3):209–34
- Pastan I, Chaudhary V, FitzGerald DJ. 1992. Recombinant toxins as novel therapeutic agents. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 61:331–54
- Woodworth T, Nichols J. 1993. Recombinant fusion toxins—a new class of targeted biologic therapeutics. In *Immunoconjugate Therapy of Hematologic Malignancies*, ed. ST Rosen, TM Kuzel, pp. 145–60. Boston/Dordrecht/London: Kluwer Acad.

- Yamaizumi M, Mekada E, Uchida T, Okada Y. 1978. One molecule of diphtheria toxin fragment A introduced into a cell can kill the cell. *Cell* 15:245–50
- Eiklid K, Olsnes S, Pihl A. 1980. Entry of lethal doses of abrin, ricin and modeccin into the cytosol of HeLa cells. *Exp. Cell Res.* 126:321–26
- Pastan I, Willingham MC, FitzGerald DJP. 1986. Immunotoxins. Cell 47:641– 48
- Vitetta ES, Fulton RJ, May RD, Till M, Uhr JW. 1987. Redesigning nature's poisons to create anti-tumor reagents. *Science* 238:1098–104
- Williams DP, Parker K, Bacha P, Bishai W, Borowski M, Genbauffe F, Strom TB, Murphy JR. 1987. Diphtheria toxin binding domain substitution with interleukin-2: genetic construction and properties of a diphtheria toxin-related interleukin-2fusion protein. *Protein Eng.* 1:493–98
- Byers VS, Baldwin RW. 1992. Targeted kill: from umbrellas to monoclonal antibodies. J. Clin. Immunol. 12:391–405
- 13. Baselga J, Mendelsohn J. 1994. Recep-

tor blockade with monoclonal antibodies as anti-cancer therapy. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 64:127–54

- 14. Heimbrook DC, Stirdivant SM, Ahern JD, Balishin NL, Patrick DR, Edwards GM, Defeo-Jones D, FitzGerald DJ, Pastan I, Oliff A. 1990. Transforming growth factor alpha-Pseudomonas exotoxin fusion protein prolongs survival of nude mice bearing tumor xenografts. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87:4697–701
- Morrison SL, Johnson MJ, Herzenberg LA, Oi VT. 1984. Chimeric human antibody molecules: mouse antigen-binding domains with human constant region domains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81:6851–55
- Jones PT, Dear PH, Foote J, Neuberger MS, Winter G. 1986. Replacing the complementarity-determining regions in a human antibody with those from a mouse. *Nature* 321:522–25
- 17. Shaw DR, Khazaeli MB, Sun LK, Ghrayeb J, Daddona PE, McKinney S, Lobuglio AF. 1987. Characterization of a mouse/human chimeric monoclonal antibody (17–1A) to a colon cancer tumor-associated antigen. J. Immunol. 138:4534–38
- Lobuglio AF, Wheeler RH, Trang J, Hyanes A, Rogers K, Harvey EB, Sun L, Ghrayeb J, Khazaeli MG. 1989. Mouse/human chimeric monoclonal antibody in man: kinetics and immune response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:4220–24
- Winter G, Milstein C. 1992. Man-made antibodies. *Nature* 349:293–99
- Benhar I, Padlan EA, Jung SH, Lee B, Pastan I. 1994. Rapid humanization of the fv of monoclonal antibody b3 by using framework exchange of the recombinant immunotoxin b3(fv)-PE38. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:12051–55
- Gadina M, Newton DL, Rybak SM, Wu Y, Youle RJ. 1994. Humanized immunotoxins. *Ther. Immunol.* 1:59–64
- Kelley VE, Bacha P, Pankewycz O, Nichols JC, Murphy JR, Strom TB. 1988. Interleukin 2-diphtheria toxin fusion protein can abolish cell-mediated immunity in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85:3980–84
- Bacha P, Williams DP, Waters C, Williams JM, Murphy JR, Strom TB. 1988. Interleukin 2 receptor-targeted cytotoxicity. Interleukin 2 receptor-mediated action of a diphtheria toxin-related interleukin 2 fusion protein. J. Exp. Med. 167:612–22
- 24. Wen Z, Tao X, Lakkis F, Kiyokawa

T, Murphy JR. 1991. Diphtheria toxinrelated α -melanocyte-stimulating hormone fusion toxin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 266(19):12289–93

- Walz G, Zanker B, Brand K, Waters C, Genbauffe F, Zeldis JB, Murphy JR, Strom TB. 1989. Sequential effects of interleukin-2/diphtheria toxin fusion protein of T-cell activation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:9485–88
- Ogata M, Chaudhary VK, FitzGerald DJ, Pastan I. 1989. Cytotoxic activity of a recombinant fusion protein between interleukin 4 and *Pseudomonas* exotoxin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:4215–19
- Chadwick DE, Jean LF, Jamal N, Messner HA, Murphy JR, Minden MD. 1993. Differential sensitivity of human myeloma cell lines and normal bone marrow colony forming cells to a recombinant diphtheria toxin interleukin-6 fusion protein. *Br. J. Haematol.* 85:25–36
- Homback A, Jung W, Pohl C, Renner C, Shain U, Schmits R, Wolf J, Kapp U, Diehl V, Pfreundschuh M. 1993. A CD16/CD30 bispecific monoclonal antibody induces lysis of Hodgkin's cells by unstimulated natural killer cells in vitro and in vivo. *Int. J. Cancer* 55:830–36
- Dukecohan JS, Morimoto C, Schlossman SF. 1993. Depletion of the helper/inducer (memory) T cell subset using a bispecific antibody-toxin conjugate directed against CD4 and CD29. *Transplantation* 56:1188–96
- Dukecohan JS, Morimoto C, Schlossman SF. 1993. Targeting of an activated Tcell subset using a bispecific antibodytoxin conjugate directed against CD4 and CD26. *Blood* 82:2224–34
- Shen G, Li J, Vitetta ES. 1994. A bispecific anti-CD22/anti-CD3-ricin A chain immunotoxin is cytotoxic to Daudi lymphoma cells, but not T cells in vitro and shows both A chain-mediated and LAK-T mediated killing. *J. Immunol.* 152:2368– 76
- 32. Bonardi MA, French RR, Amlot P, Gromo G, Modena D, Glennie MJ. 1993. Delivery of saporin to human B-cell lymphoma using bispecific antibody: targeting via CD22 but not CD19, CD37, or immunoglobulin results in efficient killing. *Cancer Res.* 53:3015–21
- Olsnes S, Pihl A. 1982. Toxic lectins and related proteins. In *Molecular Action of Toxins and Viruses*, ed. P Cohen, S van Heyningen, pp. 51–105. New York: Elsevier
- 34. Read RJ, Stein PE. 1993. Toxins. Curr.

Opin. Struct. Biol. 3:853-60

- Pappenheimer AM Jr. 1977. Diphtheria toxin. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 46:69–94
- Gill DM, Dinius LL. 1971. Observations on the structure of diphtheria toxin. J. Biol. Chem. 246:1485–91
- Collier RJ. 1975. Diphtheria toxin: mode of action and structure. *Bacteriol. Rev.* 39:54–85
- Ogata M, Chaudhary VK, Pastan I, FitzGerald DJ. 1990. Processing of Pseudomonas exotoxin by a cellular protease results in the generation of a 37,000 Da toxin fragment that is translocated to the cytosol. J. Biol. Chem. 256:20678–85
- 39. Grossbard ML, Gribben JG, Freedman AS, Lambert JM, Kinsella J, Rabinowe SN, Eliseo L, Taylor JA, Blattler WA, Epstein CL, Nadler LM. 1993. Adjuvant immunotoxin therapy with anti-B4-blocked ricin after autologous bone marrow transplantation for patients with B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Blood* 81:2263–71
- Soria MR, Benatti L, Ceriotti A, Vitale A, Lappi DA. 1992. Ribosome-inactivating proteins from Saponaria officinalis: tools in the design of immunotoxins and ligand toxins. In Targeting of Drugs 3— The Challenge of Peptides and Proteins, ed. G Gregoriadis, pp. 19–29. New York: Plenum
- Barbieri L, Battelli MG, Stirpe F. 1993. Ribosome-inactivating proteins from plants. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 154:237–82
- 42. Dosio F, Brusa P, Delprino L, Ceruti M, Grosa G, Cattel L, Bolognesi A, Barbieri L. 1993. A new solid phase procedure to synthesize immunotoxins (antibodyribosome inactivating protein conjugates). *Farmaco* 48:105–15
- 43. Endo Y, Tsurugi K, Lambert JM. 1988. The site of action of six different ribosome-inactivating proteins from plants on eukaryotic ribosomes: the RNA N-glycosidase activity of the proteins. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 150:1032–36
- Lord JM, Hartley MR, Roberts LM. 1991. Ribosome inactivating proteins of plants. Semin. Cell. Biol. 2:15–22
- Li BY, Ramakrishnan S. 1994. Recombinant hybrid toxin with dual enzymatic activities. Potential use in preparing highly effective immunotoxins. J. Biol. Chem. 269(4):2652–58
- Thorpe PE, Wallace PM, Knowles PP, Relf MG, Brown ANF, Watson GJ, Knyba RE, Wawrzynczak EJ, Blakey DC. 1987. New coupling agents for the synthesis

of immunotoxins containing a hindered disulfide bond with improved stability in vivo. *Cancer Res.* 47:5924–31

- 47. Myers DE, Irvin JD, Smith RS, Kuebelbeck VM, Uckun FM. 1991. Production of a pokeweed antiviral protein (PAP)containing immunotoxin, B43-PAP, directed against the CD19 human B lineage lymphoid differentiation antigen in highly purified form for human clinical trials. J. Immunol. Methods 136:221–37
- Fulton RJ, Tucker TF, Vitetta ES, Uhr JW. 1988. Pharmacokinetics of tumor-reactive immunotoxins in tumor-bearing mice: effect of antibody valency and deglycosylation of the ricin A chain on clearance and tumor localization. *Cancer Res.* 48:2618– 25
- 49. Blakey DC, Watson GJ, Knowles PP, Thorpe PE. 1987. Effect of chemical deglycosylation of ricin A chain on the in vivo fate and cytotoxic activity of an immunotoxin composed of ricin A chain and anti-Thy 1.1 antibody. *Cancer Res.* 47:947–52
- Vitetta ES, Thorpe PE. 1991. Antibodies in cancer therapy: Basic principals of monoclonal antibodies. Section 21.2: Immunotoxins. In *Biologic Therapy of Cancer*, ed. VT Devita, S Hellman, SA Rosenberg, pp. 482–95. Philadelphia: Lippincott
- Murphy JR, Bisha W, Williams D, Bacha P, Borowski M, Parker K, Boyd J, Waters C, Strom TB. 1987. Genetic assembly and selective toxicity of diphtheria-toxinrelated polypeptide hormone fusion proteins. *Biochem. Soc. Symp.* 53:9–23
- 52. Deleted in proof
- O'Hare M, Brown AN, Hussain K, Gebhardt A, Watson G, Roberts LM, Vitetta ES, Thorpe PE, Lord JM. 1990. Cytotoxicity of a recombinant ricin-A-chain fusion protein containing a proteolytical cleavable spacer sequence. *FEBS Lett.* 273:200–4
- Youle RJ, Neville DM Jr. 1982. Kinetics of protein synthesis inactivation by ricin-anti-Thy monoclonal antibody hybrids. Role of the ricin B subunit demonstrated by reconstitution. J. Biol. Chem. 257:1598–601
- 55. Engert A, Burrows F, Jung WE, Tazzari PL, Stein H, Pfreundschuh M, Diehl V, Thorpe PE. 1989. Evaluation of ricin A chain-containing immunotoxins directed against CD30 as potential reagents for the treatment of Hodgkin's disease. *Cancer Res.* 50:84–88
- 56. Deleted in proof
- 57. Olsnes S, Sandvig K, Petersen OW, Van

Deurs B. 1989. Immunotoxins-entry into cells and mechanisms of action. *Immunol. Today* 10:291–95

- Press OW, Martin P, Thorpe PE, Vitetta ES. 1988. Ricin A-chain containing immunotoxins directed against different epitopes on the CD2 molecule differ in their ability to kill normal and malignant T cells. J. Immunol. 141:4410–17
- May RD, Finkelman F, Uhr JW, Vitetta ES. 1990. Evaluation of ricin A chaincontaining immunotoxins directed against different epitopes on the delta chain of slgD on murine B cells. J. Immunol. 144:3637–42
- Press OW, Vitetta ES, Farr AG, Hansen JA, Martin PJ. 1986. Evaluation of ricin Achain immunotoxins directed against human T cells. *Cell Immunol.* 102:10–20
- 61. Willingham MC, Haigler HT, FitzGerald DJ, Gallo MG, Rutherford AV, Pastan IH. 1983. The morphologic pathway of binding and internalization of epidermal growth factor in cultured cells. Studies on A431, KB, and 3T3 cells, using multiple methods of labelling. *Exp. Cell Res.* 146:163–75
- 62. Goldmacher VS, Scott CF, Lambert JM, McIntyreGD, Blattler WA, Collinson AR, Stewart JK, Chong LD, Cook S, Slayter HS, Beaumont E, Watkins S. 1989. Cytotoxicity of gelonin and its conjugates with antibodies is determined by the extent of their endocytosis. J. Cell Physiol. 141:222–34
- Chaudhary VK, Jinno Y, FitzGerald D, Pastan I. 1990. *Pseudomonas exotoxin* contains a specific sequence at the carboxyl terminus that is required for cytotoxicity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87:308–12
- Pelham HRB. 1990. The retention signal for soluble proteins of the endoplasmic reticulum. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 15:483– 86
- Pelham HRB. 1991. Recycling of proteins between the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi complex. *Cell Biol. Int. Rep.* 3:585– 91
- Munro S, Pelham HRB. 1987. A Cterminal signal prevents secretion of luminal ER proteins. *Cell* 48:899–907
- Wales R, Chaddock JA, Roberts LM, Lord JM. 1992. Addition of an ER retention signal to the ricin a-chain increases the cytotoxicity of the holotoxin. *Exp. Cell Res.* 203:1–4
- Casellas P, Bourrie BJP, Gros P, Jansen F. 1984. Kinetics of cytotoxicity induced by immunotoxins. Enhancement

by lysosomotropic amines and carboxylic ionophores. J. Biol. Chem. 259:9359–64

- Ramakrishnan S, Houston LL. 1984. Inhibition of human acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells by immunotoxins: potentiation by chloroquine. *Science* 223:58–61
- FitzGerald D, Morris RE, Saelinger CB. 1980. Receptor-mediated internalization of *Pseudomonas* toxin by mouse fibroblasts. *Cell* 21:867–73
- Sandvig K, Tonnessen TI, Olsnes S. 1986. Ability of inhibitors of glycosylation and protein synthesis to sensitize cells to abrin, ricin, *Shigella* toxin, and *Pseudomonas* toxin. *Cancer Res.* 46:6418–22
- Hudson TH, Grillo FG. 1991. Brefeldin-A enhancement of ricin A-chain immunotoxins and blockade of intact ricin, modeccin, and abrin. J. Biol. Chem. 266:18586– 92
- Sandvig K, Olsnes S, Pihl A. 1979. Inhibitory effect of ammonium chloride and chloroquine on the entry of the toxic lectin modeccin into HeLa cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 90:648–55
- Sandvig K, Olsnes S. 1982. Entry of the toxic proteins abrin, modeccin, ricin, and diphtheria toxin into cells. I. Requirement for calcium. J. Biol. Chem. 257:7495–503
- Krolick KA, Uhr JW, Slavin S, Vitetta ES. 1982. In vivo therapy of a murine B cell tumor (BCL₁) using antibody-ricin A chain immunotoxins. J. Exp. Med. 155:1797– 1809
- 76. Jansen FK, Blythman HE, Carriere D, Casellas P, Diaz J, Gros P, Hennequin JR, Paolucci F, Pau B, Poncelet P, Richer G, Salhi SL, Vidal H, Voisin GA. 1980. High specific cytotoxicity of antibody-toxin hybrid molecules (immunotoxins) for target cells. *Immunol. Lett.* 2:97–102
- 77. Thorpe PE, Brown AN, Bremner JA Jr, Foxwell BM, Stirpe F. 1985. An immunotoxin composed of monoclonal anti-Thy 1.1 antibody and a ribosome-inactivating protein from *Saponaria officinalis*: potent antitumor effects in vitro and in vivo. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 75:151–59
- Durrant LG, Robins RA, Ballantyne KC, Marksman RA, Hardcastle JD, Baldwin RW. 1989. Enhanced recognition of human colorectal tumour cells using combinations of monoclonal antibodies. Br. J. Cancer 60:855–60
- Grossbard ML, Press OW, Appelbaum FR, Bernstein ID, Nadler LM. 1992. Monoclonal antibody-based therapies of leukemia and lymphoma. *Blood* 80:863– 78
- 80. Wawrzynczak EJ. 1992. Rational design

of immunotoxins—current progress and future prospects. *Anti-Cancer Drug Res.* 7:427–41

- Laurent G, Bouloux C. 1992. Prevention of graft-versus-host disease by using immunotoxins. *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 377:129–36
- Martin PJ, Kernan NA. 1990. T cell depletion for GVHD prevention in humans. In *GVHD: Research and Clinical Management*, ed. S Burakoff, MJ Deeg, J Ferrara, K Atkinson, pp. 371–87. New York: Marcel Dekker
- 83. Strand V, Lipsky PE, Cannon GW, Calabrese LH, Wiesenhutter C, Cohen SB, Olsen NJ, Lee ML, Lorenz TJ, Nelson B, Cush JJ, Wolfe F, Fleischmann RM, Karr RM, Krick GH, Medsger TA, Rigby WFC, Fox DA, Swartz TJ, Multz CV, Weisman MH. 1993. Effects of administration of an anti-CD5 plus immunoconjugate in rheumatoid arthritis—results of two phase-II studies. *Arthritis Rheum.* 36:620–30
- 84. Skyler JS, Lorenz TJ, Schwartz S, Eisenbarth GS, Einhorn D, Palmer JP, Marks JB, Greenbaum C, Saria EA, Byers V. 1993. Effects of an anti-CD5 immunoconjugate (CD5-plus) in recent onset type I diabetes mellitus: a preliminary investigation. J. Diabetes & Its Complications 7(4):224–32
- Smith KA. 1987. The two chain structure of high-affinity IL-2 receptors. *Immunol. Today* 8:11–3
- Strom TB, Kelley VR, Murphy JR, Nichols J, Woodworth TG. 1994. Interleukin-2 receptor-directed therapies: antibody-or cytokine-based targeting molecules. Adv. Neurol. 23:347–57
- Strom TB, Kelley VR, Woodworth TG, Murphy JR. 1992. Interleukin-2 receptordirected immunosuppressive therapies: antibody-based or cytokine-based targeting molecules. *Immunol. Rev.* 129:131–63
- Takeshita T, Asao H, Ohtani H, Ishii N, Kumaki S, Tanaka N, Munakata H, Nakamura M, Sugamura K. 1992. Cloning of the gamma chain of the human IL-2 receptor. *Science* 257(5068):379–82
- Lorberboum-Galski H, Kozak RW, Waldmann TA, Bailon P, FitzGerald DJ, Pastan I. 1988. Interleukin 2 (IL2) PE40 is cytotoxic to cells displaying either the p55 or p70 subunit of the IL2 receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 263:18650–56
- Kreitman RJ, Pastan I. 1994. Recombinant toxins. Adv. Pharmacol. 28:193–219
- Williams DP, Snider CE, Strom TB, Murphy JR. 1990. Structure/function analy-

sis of interleukin-2-toxin (DAB486-IL-2): fragment B sequences required for the delivery of fragment A to the cytosol of target cells. J. Biol. Chem. 265(20):11885– 89

- 92. Tepler I, Schwartz G, Parker K, Charette J, Kadin ME, Woodworth TG, Schnipper LE. 1993. Phase I trial of an interleukin-2 fusion toxin (DAB486IL-2) in hematologic malignancies: complete response in a patient with Hodgkin's disease refractory to chemotherapy. *Cancer* 73(4):1276–85
- Woodworth TG. 1993. Early clinical studies of IL-2 fusion toxin in patients with severe rheumatoid arthritis and recent onset insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 11:S177–80
- 94. Debinski W, Puri RK, Kreitman RJ, Pastan I. 1993. A wide range of human cancers express interleukin-4 (IL4) receptors that can be targeted with chimeric toxin composed of IL4 and *Pseudomonas* exotoxin. J. Biol. Chem. 268:14065–70
- Chaudhary VK, FitzGerald DJ, Adyha S, Pastan I. 1987. Activity of a recombinant fusion protein between transforming growth factor type alpha and *Pseudomonas* toxin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:4538–42
- Siegall CB, Xu YH, Chaudhary VK, Adhya S, FitzGerald D, Pastan I. 1989. Cytotoxic activities of a fusion protein comprised of TGF-alpha and *Pseudomonas* exotoxin. *FASEB J.* 3:2647–52
- Siegall CB, Chaudhary VK, FitzGerald DJ, Pastan I. 1988. Cytotoxicity of an interleukin 6-*Pseudomonas* exotoxin fusion protein on human myeloma cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85:9738–42
- Kihara A, Pastan I. 1994. Small chimeric toxins containing only transforming growth factor α and domain III of *Pseudomonas* exotoxin with good antitumor activity in mice. *Cancer Res.* 54(19):5154–59
- Siegall CB, Kreitman RJ, FitzGerald DJ, Pastan I. 1991. Antitumor effects of interleukin 6-*Pseudomonas* exotoxin chimeric molecules against the human hepatocellular carcinoma, PLC/PRF/5 in mice. *Cancer Res.* 51:2831–36
- 100. Puri RK, Debinski W, Obiri N, Kreitman R, Pastan I. 1994. Human renal cell carcinoma cells are sensitive to the cytotoxic effect of a chimeric protein composed of human interleukin-4 and *Pseudomonas* exotoxin. *Cell Immunol.* 154(1):369–79
- Sweeney E, vanderSpek J, Murphy J. 1995. IL-7 receptor-specific cell killing

by DAB389-IL7: a novel agent for the elimination of IL-7 receptor-positive malignant cells. *4th Int. Symp. Immunotoxins* p. 74(Abstr.)

- 102. Klimka A, Drillich S, Barth S, Wels W, VanSnick J, Tesch H, Bohlen H, Diehl V, Engert A. 1995. A fusiontoxin composed of interleukin-9 and a deletion mutant of Pseudomonas exotoxin A (IL9-ETA') shows specific toxicity against IL9receptor expressing cell lines. 4th Int. Symp. Immunotoxins p. 80(Abstr.)
- vanderSpek JC, Sutherland J, Sampson E, Murphy JR. 1995. Genetic construction and characterization of the diptheria toxin-related interleukin 15 fusion protein DAB389-IL-15. 4th Int. Symp. Immunotoxins p. 76(Abstr.)
- 104. Lappi DA, Martineau D, Sarmientos P, Garofano L, Aranda AP, Miyajima A, Kitamura T, Baird A. 1993. Characterization of a saporin mitotoxin specifically cytotoxic to cells bearing the granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor. Growth Factors 9(1):31–39
- 105. Martens ACM, Rozemuller H, Rombouts E, FitzGerald DJP, Kreitman RJ, Pastan I, Hagenbeek A, Touw IP. 1995. Treatment of acute myelocytic leukemia (AML) with the growth factor fusion proteins IL-6-PE, DT-G-CSF and DT-GM-CSF: in vitro and in vivo studies in a preclinical rat leukemia model. 4th Int. Symp. Immunotoxins p. 133(Abstr.)
- 106. Martin PJ, Hansen JA, Torok-Storb B, Moretti L, Press O, Storb R, Thomas ED, Weiden PL, Vitetta ES. 1988. Effects of treating marrow with a CD3-specific immunotoxin for prevention of acute graft-versus-host disease. *Bone Marrow Transpl.* 3:437–44
- Byers VS, Baldwin RW. 1991. Rationale for clinical use of immunotoxins in cancer and autoimmune disease. *Semin. Cell. Biol.* 2:59–70
- 108. Krance R, Heslop HE, Mahmoud H, Ribeiro R, Douglass E, Hurwitz C, Santana V, Kun L, Horowitz MM, Brenner MK. 1993. Anti-pan lymphocyte-T ricin-a chain immunotoxin (h65-RTA) and methylprednisolone for acute GVHD prophylaxis following allogeneic BMT from HLA-identical sibling donors. *Bone Marrow Transpl.* 11:33–36
- 109. Weisdorf D, Filipovich A, McGlave P, Ramsay N, Kersey J, Miller W, Blazar B. 1993. Combination graft-versus-host disease prophylaxis using immunotoxin (anti-CD5-RTA [xomazyme-CD5] plus methotrexate and cyclosporine or pred-

nisone after unrelated donor marrow transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transpl.* 12:531–36

- 110. Koehler M, Hurwitz CA, Krance RA, Coustan-Smith E, Williams LL, Santana V, Ribeiro RC, Brenner MK, Heslop HE. 1994. XomaZyme-CD5 immunotoxin in conjunction with partial T cell depletion for prevention of graft rejection and graftversus-host disease after bone marrow transplantation from matched unrelated donors. *Bone Marrow Transpl.* 13:571–75
- Grossbard ML, Nadler LM. 1992. Immunotoxin therapy of malignancy. In Important Advances in Oncology, 1992, ed. VT DeVita, S Hellman, SA Rosenberg, pp. 111–35. Philadelphia: Lippincott
- 112. Jansen B, Kersey JH, Vallera DA. 1994. New antileukemic agents: chemical immunoconjugates. In *Clinical Bone Marrow Transplantation: A Reference Textbook*, ed. K Atkinson, pp. 604–17. Sydney, Aust: Cambridge Univ. Press
- 113. Sewell KA, Trentham DM. 1991. Improvement in refractory rheumatoid arthritis by interleukin-2 receptor targeted therapy. ACR Annu. Meet. Boston Abstract 141
- 114. Ashorn P, Moss B, Weinstein JN, Chaudhary VK, FitzGerald DJ, Pastan I, Berger EA. 1990. Elimination of infectious human immunodeficiency virus from human T-cell cultures by synergistic action of CD4-*Pseudomonas* exotoxin and reverse transcriptase inhibitors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87:8889–93
- 115. Berger EA, Chaudhary VK, Clouse KA, Jaraquemada D, Nicholas JA, Rubino KL, FitzGerald DJ, Pastan I, Moss B. 1990. Recombinant CD4-Pseudomonas exotoxin hybrid protein displays HIVspecific cytotoxicity without affecting MHC class II-dependent functions. AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses 6:795–804
- Ghetie V, Uhr JW, Vitetta ES. 1991. CD4based therapies for AIDS: past experience and future perspectives. J. Biopharmacol. Sci. 2(3):243–82
- 117. Ghetie V, Wheeler T, Scott D, Uhr JW, Vitetta ES. 1992. A CD4-derived peptide carrier blocks acute HIV-1 infection in vitro and binds to gp120 in the presence of Walter Reed stage 1-6 HIV⁺ sera. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 8:1945–48
- 118. Till MA, Zolla-Pazner S, Gorny MK, Patton JS, Uhr JW, Vitetta ES. 1989. Human immunodeficiency virus-infected T cells and monocytes are killed by monoclonal human anti-gp41 antibodies coupled to ricin A chain. Proc. Natl. Acad.

Sci. USA 86:1987-91

- Pincus SH, McClure J. 1993. Soluble CD4 enhances the efficacy of immunotoxins directed against gp41 of the human immunodeficiency virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 90:332–36
- Pincus SH, Wehrly K, Tschachler E, Hayes SF, Buller RS, Reitz M. 1990. Variants selected by treatment of human immunodeficiency virus-infected cells with an immunotoxin. J. Exp. Med. 172:745– 57
- 121. Pincus SH, Cole RL, Hersh EM, Lake D, Masuho Y, Durda PJ, McClure J. 1991. In vitro efficacy of anti-HIV immunotoxins targeted by various antibodies to the envelope protein. J. Immunol. 146:4315–24
- Ramilo O, Bell KD, Uhr JW, Vitetta ES. 1993. The role of CD25⁺ and CD25⁻ T cells in acute HIV infection in vitro. J. Immunol. 150(11):5202–8
- 123. Bell KD, Ramilo O, Vitetta ES. 1993. Combined use of an immunotoxin and cyclosporine to prevent both activated and quiescent peripheral blood T-cells from producing type-1 human immunodeficiency virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:1411–15
- Byers VS, Baldwin RW. 1988. Therapeutic strategies with monoclonal antibodies and immunoconjugates. *Immunology* 65:329–35
- Denekamp J. 1984. Vasculature as a target for tumour therapy. *Prog. Appl. Microcirc.* 4:28–38
- Denekamp J. 1990. Vascular attack as a therapeutic strategy for cancer. *Cancer Meta Rev.* 9:267–82
- 127. Burrows F, Tazzari PL, Amlot P, Gazdar AF, Derbyshire EJ, King SW, Letarte M, Vitetta E, Thorpe PE. 1995. Endoglin is an endothelial cell proliferation marker that is upregulated in tumor vasculature. *Clin. Cancer Res.* In press
- 128. Siegall CB, Epstein S, Speir E, Hla T, Forough R, Maciag T, FitzGerald DJ, Pastan I. 1991. Cytotoxic activity of chimeric proteins composed of acidic fibroblast growth factor and *Pseudomonas* exotoxin on a variety of cell types. *FASEB J*. 5:2843–49
- 129. Prieto I, Lappi DA, Ong M, Matsunami R, Benatti L, Villares R, Soria M, Sarmientos P, Baird A. 1991. Expression and characterization of a basic fibroblast growth factor-saporin fusion protein in *Escherichia coli. Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 638:434–37
- Burrows FJ, Thorpe PE. 1994. Vascular targeting—a new approach to the therapy of solid tumors. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 4:155–

74

- 131. Grossband ML, Freedman AS, Ritz J, Coral F, Goldmacher VS, Elisco L, Spector N, Dear K, Lambert JM, Blatter WA, Taylor JA, Nadler LM. 1992. Serotherapy of B-cell neoplasms with anti-B4-blocked ricin: a phase I trial of daily bolus infusion. *Blood* 79:576–86
- Soler-Rodriguez AM, Uhr JW, Richardson J, Vitetta ES. 1992. The toxicity of chemically deglycosylated ricin Achain in mice. Int. J. Immunopharmacol. 14(2):281–91
- 133. Soler-Rodriguez AM, Ghetie MA, Oppenheimer-Marks N, Uhr JW, Vitetta ES. 1993. Ricin A-chain and ricin A-chain immunotoxins rapidly damage human endothelial cells: implications for vascular leak syndrome. *Exp. Cell Res.* 206:227–39
- Schroff RW, Foon KA, Beatty SM, Oldham RK, Morgan AC. 1985. Human antimurine immunoglobulin responses in patients receiving monoclonal antibody therapy. *Cancer Res.* 45:879–85
- Shawler DL, Bartholomew RM, Smith LM, Dillman RO. 1985. Human immune responses to multiple injections of murine monoclonal IgG. J. Immunol. 135:1530– 35
- 136. Traub UC, DeJager RL, Primus FJ, Losman M, Goldenberg DM. 1988. Anti-idiotypic antibodies in cancer patients receiving monoclonal antibody to carcinoembryonic antigen. *Cancer Res.* 48:4002–6
- 137. Durrant LG, Byers VS, Scannon PJ, Rodvien R, Grant K, Robins RA, Marksman RA, Baldwin RW. 1989. Humoral immune responses to XMMCO-791-RTA immunotoxin in colorectal cancer patients. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 75:258–64
- Salzman D, LeMaistre F. 1993. Immunotoxins for the therapy of graft versus host disease. In *Immunoconjugate Therapy of Hematologic Malignancies*, ed. ST Rosen, TM Kuzel, pp. 133– 44. Boston/Dordrecht/London: Kluwer Acad.
- Vallera DA, Carroll SF, Brief S, Blazar BR. 1992. Anti-CD3 immunotoxin prevents low-dose STZ/interferon induced autoimmune diabetes in mouse. *Diabetes* 41(4):457–64
- Brinkmann U, Pastan I. 1994. Immunotoxins against cancer. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1198:27–45
- Grossbard ML, Nadler LM. 1993. Immunotoxin therapy of lymphoma. In Immunoconjugate Therapy of Hematologic

Malignancies, ed. ST Rosen, TM Kuzel, pp. 111–31. Boston/Dordrecht/London: Kluwer Acad.

- 142. Thompson PA, McAtee, Infante AJ, Currier P, Beninati W, Krolick KA. 1994. V-beta-specific immunotoxin selectively kills acetylcholine receptor-reactive T lymphocytes from mice with experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis. *Int. Immunol.* 6:1807–15
- 143. Lorberboum-Galski H, Garsia RJ, Gately M, Brown PS, Clark RE, Waldmann TA, Chaudhary VK, FitzGerald DJ, Pastan I. 1990. IL2-PE664Glu, a new chimeric protein cytotoxic to human-activated T lymphocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 265:16311–17
- 144. Masood R, Lunardi-Iskandar Y, Jean LF, Murphy JR, Waters C, Gallo RC, Gill P. 1994. Inhibition of AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma cell growth by DAB389interleukin 6. AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses 10(8):969–75
- 145. Brothers TE, Frankel AE, Williamham MC, Robision JG, Elliot BM, Boggs J. 1995. Cytokine receptor-specific mitotoxin inhibition of intimal hyperplasia. 4th Int. Symp. Immunotoxins p. 78–79(Abstr.)
- 146. Murphy JR, Bishai W, Borowski M, Miyanohara A, Boyd J, Nagle S. 1986. Genetic construction, expression, and melanoma-selective cytotoxicity of a diphtheria toxin-related α-melanocytestimulating hormone fusion protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83:8258–62
- 147. Spitler LE, del Rio M, Khentigan A, Wedel NI, Brophy NA, Miller LL, Harkonen WS, Rosendorf LL, Lee HM, Mishchak RP, Kawahata RT, Stoudemire JB, Fradkin LB, Bautista EE, Scannon PJ. 1987. Therapy of patients with malignant melanoma using a monoclonal anti-melanoma antibody-ricin A chain immunotoxin. *Cancer Res.* 47:1717–23
- Spitler LE. 1988. Clinical studies: solid tumors. In *Immunotoxins*, ed. AE Frankel, pp. 493–515. Norwell, MA: Kluwer Acad.
- 149. Oratz R, Speyer JL, Wernz JC, Hochster H, Meyers M, Mischak R, Spitler LE. 1990. Antimelanoma monoclonal antibody-ricin A chain immunoconjugate (XMMME-001-RTA) plus cyclophosphamide in the treatment of metastatic malignant melanoma: results of a phase II trial. J. Biol. Response Modif. 9:345–54
- 150. Selvaggi K, Saria EA, Schwartz R, Vlock DR, Ackerman S, Wedel N, Kirkwood JM, Hones H, Ernstoff MS. 1993. Phase I/II study of murine monoclonal antibodyricin A chain (XOMAZYME-mel) immunoconjugate plus cyclosporine A in pa-

tients with metastatic melanoma. J. Immunother. 13:201-7

- 151. Byers VS, Rodvien R, Grant K, Durrant LG, Hudson KH, Baldwin RW, Scannon PJ. 1989. Phase I study of monoclonal antibody-ricin A chain immunotoxin XomaZyme-791 in patients with metastatic colon cancer. *Cancer Res.* 49:6153–60
- 152. Weiner LM, O'Dwyer J, Kitson J, Comis RL, Frankel AE, Bauer RJ, Konrad MS, Groves ES. 1989. Phase I evaluation of an anti-breast carcinoma monoclonal antibody 260F9-recombinant ricin A chain immunoconjugate. *Cancer Res.* 49:4062– 67
- 153. Gould BJ, Borowitz MJ, Groves ES, Carter PW, Anthony D, Weiner LM, Frankel AE. 1989. Phase I study of an antibreast cancer immunotoxin by continuous infusion: report of a targeted toxic effect not predicted by animal studies. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 81:775–81
- 154. Pai LH, Bookman MA, Ozols RF, Young RC, Smith JW, Longo DL, Gould B, Frankel A, McClay EF, Howell S, Reed E, Willingham MC, FitzGerald DJ, Pastan I. 1991. Clinical evaluation of intraperitoneal *Pseudomonas* exotoxin immunoconjugate OVB3-PE in patients with ovarian cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 9:2095–103
- 155. Grossbard ML, Freedman AS, Ritz J, Coral F, Goldmacher VS, Eliseo L, Spector N, Dear K, Lambert JM, Blattler WA, Taylor JA, Nadler LM. 1992. Serotherapy of B-cell neoplasms with anti-B4-blocked ricin—a phase-I trial of daily bolus infusion. *Blood* 79:576–85
- 156. Grossbard ML, Lambert JM, Goldmacher VS, Spector NL, Kinsella J, Eliseo L, Coral F, Taylor JA, Blattler WA, Epstein CL, Nadler LM. 1993. Anti-b4-blocked ricin—a phase-I trial of 7-day continuous infusion in patients with B-cell neoplasms. J. Clin. Oncol. 11:726–37
- McLaughlin P, Murray JL, Rosenblum M. 1994. Phase I trial of anti-B4-blocked ricin (B4bR) by 28-day continuous infusion (CI). AACR Proc. 35:251
- 158. Vitetta ES, Stone M, Amlot P, Fay J, May R, Till M, Newman J, Clark P, Collins R, Cunningham D, Ghetie V, Uhr JW, Thorpe PE. 1991. A phase I immunotoxin trial in patients with B cell lymphoma. *Cancer Res.* 51:4052–58
- 159. Amlot PL, Stone MJ, Cunningham D, Fay J, Newman J, Collins R, May R, McCarthy M, Richardson J, Ghetie V, Ramilo O, Thorpe PE, Uhr JW, Vitetta ES. 1993. A phase I study of an anti-

CD22-deglycosylated ricin A chain immunotoxin in the treatment of B-cell lymphomas resistant to conventional therapy. *Blood* 82:2624–33

- Foss F, Nichols J, Parker K. 1995. Phase I/II trial of DAB389-IL2 in patients with NHL, HD, and CTCL. 4th Int. Symp. Immunotoxins p. 159(Abstr.)
- 161. Falini B, Bolognesi A, Flenghi L, Tazzari PL, Broe MK, Stein H, Durkop H, Aversa F, Corneli P, Pizzolo G, Barbabietola G, Sabattini E, Pileri S, Martelli MF, Stirpe F. 1992. Response of refractory Hodgkin's disease to monoclonal anti-CD30 immunotoxin. *Lancet* 339:1195–96
- 162. Schnell R, Hatwig MT, Radszuhn A, Cebe F, Drillich S, Schon G, Bohlen H, Tesch H, Hansmann ML, Schindler J, Ghetie V, Uhr J, Diehl V, Vitetta ES, Engert A. 1995. A clinical phase I study of an anti-CD25-deglycosylated ricin A-chain immmunotoxin (RFT5-SMPT-dgA) in patients with refractory Hodgkin's disease. 4th Int. Symp. Immunotoxins p. 161(Abstr.)
- 163. Hertler AA, Schlossman DM, Borowitz

MJ. 1988. A phase I study of T101-ricin A chain immunotoxin in refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J. Biol. Response Modif. 7:97–113

- 164. LeMaistre CF, Rosen S, Frankel A, Kornfeld S, Saria E, Meneghetti C, Drajesk J, Fishwild D, Scannon P, Byers V. 1991. Phase I trial of H65-RTA immunoconjugate in patients with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Blood* 78:1173–82
- Estis L, Krueger J, Nichols J, Parker K. 1995. Psoriasis: a potential target for DAB389-IL2. 4th Int. Symp. Immunotoxins p. 167(Abstr.)
- Laske D, Oldfield E, Youle RJ. 1995. Immunotoxins for brain tumor therapy. 4th Int. Symp. Immunotoxins p. 166(Abstr.)
- 167. Lynch TJ, Grossbard M, Fidias P, Bartholomay M, Coral F, Salgia R, Elias AD, Skarin A, Sheffner J, Wen P, Arinello P, Bramen G, Esseltine D, Ritz J. 1995. Immunotoxin therapy of small cell lung cancer (SCLC): clinical trials of N901blocked ricin (N901-bR). 4th Int. Symp. Immunotoxins p. 164(Abstr.)



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT

Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, and Eric J. Jenkinson

Department of Anatomy and Centre for Clinical Research in Immunology and Signalling, Medical School, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, B15 2TT, United Kingdom

KEY WORDS: negative selection, positive selection, stroma, thymus, signaling

ABSTRACT

Interactions between stromal cells and thymocytes play a crucial role in T cell development. The thymic stroma is complex and consists of epithelial cells derived from the pharyngeal region during development, together with macrophages and dendritic cells of bone marrow origin. In addition, fibroblasts and matrix molecules permeate the whole framework. It is now apparent that these individual stromal components play specialized roles at different stages of T cell differentiation. Thus, at the early $CD4^-8^-$ stage of development, T cell precursors require fibroblast as well as epithelial cell interactions. Later, at the $CD4^+8^+$ stage, as well as providing low avidity TCR/MHC-peptide interactions, thymic epithelial cells have been shown to possess unique properties essential for positive selection. Dendritic cells, on the other hand, are probably efficient mediators of negative selection, but they may not be solely responsible for this activity.

Alongside the functional roles of stromal cells, considerable progress is being made in unraveling the nature of the signaling pathways involved in T cell development. Identification of the pre-T cell receptor (pre-TCR) and associated signaling molecules marks an important advance in understanding the mechanisms that control gene rearrangement and allelic exclusion. In addition, a better understanding of the signaling pathways that lead to positive selection on the one hand and negative selection on the other is beginning to emerge.

Many issues remain unresolved, and some are discussed in this review. What, for example, is the nature of the chemotactic factor(s) that attract stem cells to the

thymus? What is the molecular basis of the essential interactions between early thymocytes and fibroblasts, and early thymocytes and epithelial cells? What is special about cortical epithelial cells in supporting positive selection? These and other issues are ripe for analysis and can now be approached using a combination of modern molecular and cellular techniques.

OVERVIEW

Brief Historical Background

The first definitive experiments demonstrating the crucial role of the thymus in the development of the immune system were carried out in the early 1960s. The exciting events of this time have been documented by Jacques Miller (1). Miller was investigating the role of the thymus in leukemogenesis when he performed experiments which showed that if mice are thymectomized within 1 or 2 days of birth, they have a marked deficiency of lymphocytes, fail to reject foreign skin grafts, and are susceptible to infections. By 1967, Miller & Osoba were able to produce an influential review (2) that provided a basis for much of our current understanding of the importance of the thymus in immune responses.

Perhaps surprisingly, the thymus was a topic of considerable interest long before this period, at a time when its function was a total enigma. Discussion centered mainly on the developmental origins of the organ. Are the epithelial cells, which make up a substantial component of the thymic stroma, derived from pharyngeal ectoderm and/or endoderm? What is the origin of thymus lymphocytes?

Origins of Thymic Stromal Cells

The origins of the epithelial cells are particularly relevant to current studies of thymic function. Contact with thymic epithelial cells is necessary for all stages of thymocyte maturation, including positive selection (see below). In the nude mouse, some thymic epithelial cells are present, but they fail to support T cell differentiation (3). A gene mutated in nude mice has recently been identified and shown to encode a winged helix transcription factor (*Whn*) expressed in skin and thymus (4). Based on a morphological analysis of murine thymic development in normal and nude mice, it was claimed that both ectoderm and endoderm normally contribute to thymic epithelium, but in nude mice the ectodermal component fails to develop (5). Thus failure of normal *Whn* expression might result in the absence of a crucial ectodermal contribution to the thymus (6). However, one of the few experimental approaches to the origins of thymic epithelial cells showed that, in birds, pharyngeal endoderm



Figure 1 Developmental origins of the thymus.

dissected out without contamination by ectodermal cells could, in the presence of mesenchyme, produce full thymic histogenesis (7). Thus, the origin of thymic epithelial cells and the site of impact of the nude gene are still uncertain (Figure 1). In addition, the inductive effect of mesenchyme is also known to be necessary for thymic epithelial morphogenesis (8). The thymic primordium is surrounded by mesenchyme cells of neural crest origin (9), and experimental lesions of embryonic neural crest have been reported to result in defective thymic development (10). Finally, targeted mutation of the *Hox-A3 (Hox-1.5)* gene results in an athymic embryo, among other craniofacial abnormalities (11). Whether this effect is mediated through epithelium and/or mesenchyme is unclear.

The embryonic thymic primordium is soon permeated by invading blood vessels and associated mesenchyme—here of mesodermal origin. Initially, there is no division into thymic cortex and medulla, but as lymphopoiesis proceeds these distinctive areas appear with their own types of epithelial cells (Figure 2).

Other important stromal cell types, such as dendritic cells and macrophages, are derived from precursors that enter the thymus from blood vessels. Macrophages are distributed throughout the cortex and medulla where they are involved in phagocytosis of apoptotic cells (12). Dendritic cells are predominantly located in medullary regions, but they reach into cortico-medullary areas and have access to immature thymocytes (13, 14). Within the architecture of the thymus, immature $CD4^-8^-$ thymocytes are situated in outer cortical regions, whereas $CD4^+8^+$ thymocytes are distributed throughout the remainder of the cortex. $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells are most evident in the medulla, and from here they migrate to peripheral lymphoid tissues.

Origin and Development of Thymus Lymphocytes

The old arguments about the origins of thymus lymphocytes—Are they derived from thymic epithelial cells, mesenchymal cells surrounding the thymus, or from stem cells arriving via the blood stream?—were resolved with the introduction of cell transfer experiments combined with cell marker systems (15–17). The results clearly showed that stem cells reach the thymus through the blood, migrating through vessel walls to enter the thymic stroma. However, these studies left unanswered questions concerning the nature of thymic stem cells: Are they pluripotential or already restricted to T cell development when they enter the thymus, and what is the nature of the chemotactic factor involved in attracting stem cells to the thymus?



Figure 2 Stromal components of the thymic microenvironment.

Once in the thymus, stem cells proliferate and undergo gene rearrangement to produce $\gamma \delta$ and $\alpha \beta$ T cells. For $\alpha \beta$ cells, a number of control points regulating further development have now been defined. In particular, expression of the pre-T cell receptor (pre-TCR) is required for progression from the CD4⁻8⁻ to the CD4⁺8⁺ stage, while positive selection, mediated by the TCR $\alpha\beta$, is needed for the development of CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes into single positive CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells (18, 19). Choice of lineage between CD4 and CD8 also occurs at positive selection. The relative importance of stochastic and instructional mechanisms in this process has been extensively reviewed in recent times and is not considered further in this review except to note that the mechanism involved in the generation of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells may differ with the downregulation of CD8 involving a stochastic mechanism, whereas the downregulation of CD4 is an instructional event (20, 21).

Thymocyte–Stromal Cell Interactions

While it has long been known that the thymic microenvironment is uniquely efficient in supporting the development of T cells, the nature of the support provided by the thymus has not been clear. However, progress has now been made in defining the role of individual thymic stromal components at different stages of T cell development (22). Similarly, the cellular interactions mediating repertoire selection, particularly in the case of positive selection, are becoming more clearly defined (23, 24). In parallel, gene knockout studies are also providing new insights into the intracellular signaling events regulating differentiation and selection (25, 26). Intriguingly, evidence is also accumulating to show that thymocyte/stromal cell interaction is a two-way process in which the development and maintenance of stromal cell function is dependent upon the influence of developing thymocytes (27).

In the following sections some of these issues are dealt with in more detail, with particular emphasis on the role of thymic stromal cells in T cell maturation and on the signaling processes regulating T cell development.

COLONIZATION AND CELL KINETICS IN THE THYMUS

Mechanisms of Precursor Recruitment

Pluripotential cells have recently been shown to first arise simultaneously in the yolk sac and para-aortic splanchopleura of 8.5-day mouse embryos (28, 29). Both sites contain stem cells that can colonize the thymic primordium (28–30), but whether they contain T lineage–committed precursors as well as pluripotent stem cells is unknown. Thus the maturational status of T cell precursors entering the thymus remains a major unresolved issue in T cell development. Precursors with the potential to give rise to $\alpha\beta$ T cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, NK cells, B cells,

macrophages, and dendritic cells have all been detected in the thymus (31– 33). However, in the absence of clonal assays, the extent to which this reflects the entry of separate lineage committed/restricted precursors, of pluripotential precursors, or of both is uncertain.

That pluripotential hemopoietic precursors can directly enter the thymus is strongly suggested by the ability of 8–9-day yolk sac cells to colonize "empty" fetal thymus lobes in vitro (30, 34). Clear evidence has also been obtained recently to show that pre-thymic, T lineage–committed as well as multipotential precursors are present in the fetal blood of day-15.5 embryos (35). Whether or not both precursor types normally enter the thymus, and if so, whether they contribute differentially to the successive waves of precursor entry seen during development (36) or differentially to the formation of $\gamma \delta$ and $\alpha \beta$ T cells remains open to speculation. However, there is some recent evidence that $\gamma \delta$ and $\alpha \beta$ T cells can share a late common intra-thymic precursor (37).

Colonization of the thymus during development is initiated before vascularization of the thymic rudiment, so that blood-borne precursors have first to leave the pharyngeal vessels and then to traverse the surrounding mesenchyme to reach the thymus. Currently, the mechanisms directing this migration are poorly understood. A role for β -6 integrins in mediating the adhesion of prothymocytes to endothelial cells has been demonstrated (38), suggesting that these molecules may play a role in the initial emigration of precursors from the peri-thymic vessels. Similarly, a role for CD44 in the homing of i.v.-injected adult thymic precursors back to the thymus has been shown by antibody blocking studies (39), although the site of action of this effect and the CD44 ligand(s) involved are unknown.

Functional studies, using transfilter migration assays to assess the ability of thymic rudiments to attract precursors from various sources in vitro, have provided evidence that chemoattractant factors are produced by the thymic stroma (40, 41). Such factors are thought to form a gradient attracting precursors through the surrounding mesenchyme, and they could act in "soluble" or matrix-bound form as demonstrated for proteoglycan binding chemoattractant molecules in other systems (42). Presentation of thymic chemoattractant in bound form on the luminal surface of adjacent vessels could also be important in signaling the exit point for circulating precursors.

Previous suggestions that β_2 -microglobulin (β_2 m) might play a role in recruitment to the thymus seem unlikely in view of normal thymus colonization in β_2 m^{-/-} mice (43). However, with the demonstration that chemokines (notably MCP-1) can act as chemoattractants for mature T cells as well as monocytes (44), it will be interesting to examine the response of thymus colonizing precursors to known chemokines and to investigate individual thymic stromal components for chemokine production. Variation in factor output in response to changes in the size of the intrathymic precursor pool could be important in controlling the recruitment of new precursors and will be open to direct examination once the factor(s) are identified.

Cellular Proliferation in the Thymus

While continued precursor recruitment from the hemopoietic tissues is necessary to replenish the intrathymic precursor pool, intrathymic proliferation plays an important role in providing a sufficiently large number of TCR $\alpha\beta^+$ cells on which repertoire selection can operate. Previous studies have established that proliferation is mostly associated with the CD4⁻⁸⁻ and the early (i.e. TCR⁻) CD4⁺8⁺ populations (reviewed in 45). Thus most cortical CD4⁺8⁺ TCR⁺ thymocytes are small nondividing cells. These cells have a finite lifespan of 3–4 days but, contrary to previous assumptions, are not exclusively dead-end cells and can undergo positive selection and differentiation into single positive CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ cells (46, 47). Moreover, continued TCR α chain gene rearrangement has been demonstrated in this population, maximizing the opportunities for positive selection (48). The latter, although driven by TCR ligation, does not directly result in the proliferation and clonal expansion of the selected cells (49). However, there is recent evidence that single positive cells may undergo some limited division before leaving the medulla, where they can reside for up to 14 days (45). The significance of this proliferation and whether it is antigen driven or antigen independent is currently unknown.

Recently, more detailed information on proliferation within the CD4⁻8⁻ compartment has been obtained using CD44 and CD25 to define subpopulations and BrdU incorporation to detect cell division (50). The information shows that cells that are largely nondividing following entry into the thymus undergo two phases of proliferation separated by a period of quiescence at the CD44⁻25⁺ stage. Interestingly, TCR β -chain–deficient mutants also undergo arrest at the CD44⁻25⁺ stage (see below), consistent with the notion that signals involving the pre-TCR complex at this stage are involved in triggering the second wave of proliferation.

Both stem cell factor (SCF) and IL-7, which are produced by thymic stromal cells (51, 52), appear to play a role during these early proliferative phases as shown by markedly reduced thymocyte numbers in IL- $7^{-/-}$ mice (53) and by antibody blocking of the SCF ligand c-kit (54–56). The relative involvement of these factors in the first and second proliferative waves remains to be clarified, although the pattern of c-kit expression suggests that SCF is primarily involved in the first wave (54, 56).

Finally, an inverse correlation between proliferation and TCR gene rearrangement has been observed, with initial expression of the fully rearranged β -chain

gene occurring during the phase of proliferative quiesence at the CD44⁻²⁵⁺ stage, while expression of fully rearranged β - and α -chain genes is associated with the later nondividing CD4⁺8⁺ population (reviewed in 57). This seems to reflect transcriptional control of RAG gene expression, which also occurs in two waves correlating with these two periods of proliferative quiescence, with a decrease in expression in the intervening proliferative phase (58). In addition, a further mechanism limiting gene rearrangement mainly to periods of quiescence is suggested by the observation that RAG-2 protein accumulates in the G0/G1 phase of the cell cycle but is reduced during S, G2, and M, possibly as a result of degradation consequent upon phosphorylation by cyclin-dependent kinases (reviewed in 57).

THYMOCYTE-STROMAL INTERACTIONS REGULATING T CELL DEVELOPMENT

Interactions between the thymic microenvironment and immature thymocytes are known to play a critical role during T cell development. By providing a combination of cell-cell contact and soluble factors, thymic stromal cells provide signals to developing thymocytes, which can ultimately lead to proliferation, induction of differentiation, or cell death by apoptosis. Thus, characterization of the thymic stroma and elucidation of the specific functions of individual stromal cell types is fundamentally important in understanding the regulatory mechanisms that mediate T cell development.

Phenotypic Heterogeneity of Thymic Stromal Cells

Phenotypic heterogeneity and characterization of the thymic stroma have been reviewed extensively in recent years (27, 59). However, the degree to which this phenotypic heterogeneity is a reflection of functional specialization of thymic stromal cells is still unclear. Thymic stromal cells within subcapsular, cortical, and medullary regions consist of a complex mixture of cell types, including epithelial cells, mesenchyme cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells (60). Several studies have shown that the epithelial component of the thymic stroma plays a major role in T cell development, most notably by providing MHC antigens that regulate the selection of the TCR repertoire (61). However, the developmental origins of different thymic epithelial subsets is unclear. A recent study by Ropke et al has identified a thymic epithelial cell that shares phenotypic properties of both mature cortical and medullary epithelium (62). Such cells appear in the 14-16-day embryonic thymus but are absent from neonatal thymus, suggesting that cortical and medullary subsets of thymic epithelium may have a common precursor. Thymic epithelial cells are also heterogeneous with regard to MHC antigen expression. Interestingly, expression of MHC class-I

| Reagent | Species | Thymic reactivity | Function | References |
|----------|---------|--|--|------------|
| HS9 | Mouse | 50-kDa molecule on cortical epithelium | Blocks maturation at CD4 ⁻ 8 ⁻ stage in FTOC | (63) |
| MTS23 | Mouse | 120-kDa molecule on medullary epithelium | No effect in FTOC. Costimulatory molecule? | (64) |
| ERTR4 | Mouse | Unknown determinant on cortical epithelium | Inhibits thymocyte-epithelial cell binding | (65) |
| NLDC145 | Mouse | 205-KDa endocytic receptor on cortical epithelium and dendritic cells | Antigen processing | (66) |
| J4-81 | Human | 100-kDa glycoprotein on epithelium cells | Ligand for CD6 | (67) |
| WGA | Chicken | Cortical and medullary epithelium | Unknown | (68) |
| Con A | Chicken | Cortical stroma | Unknown | (68) |
| Galectin | Human | Epithelial cells | Binding to CD45 on thymocytes? | (69) |
| PT10B7 | Rat | Cortical and a subset of medullary epithelium | Unknown | (70) |
| B13D11 | Rat | Medullary epithelium | Unknown | (70) |

Table 1 phenotypic and functional characterization of thymic stromal cell subsets

products on thymic epithelial cells is lower than that of MHC class-II products, which is at a level comparable to that seen on bone marrow–derived dendritic cells (23). However, not all thymic epithelial cells express MHC class-II antigens. For example, while cortical epithelial cells are MHC class II⁺, medullary epithelial cells that react with the antibody A2B5 are not (23). Although the functional significance of this heterogeneity is uncertain, it is interesting to note that MHC class-II⁺, but not MHC class II⁻ thymic epithelial cells are essential for the maturation of T cell precursors (22).

Several studies have used a variety of reagents including antibodies and lectins to investigate phenotypic and functional heterogeneity within stromal cell subsets (Table 1). For example, Takeuchi et al (63) have raised a monoclonal antibody HS9 that recognizes a determinant on the surface of thymic cortical epithelial cells. Moreover, addition of HS9 to fetal thymic organ cultures, recolonized with fetal liver cells as a source of T cell precursors, results in a blockade of thymocyte maturation at the CD4⁻8⁻ stage, suggesting that interactions between epithelial cells and thymocytes involving the determinant

recognized by HS9, are important for maturation to the CD4⁺8⁺ stage. However, because of this early blockade of maturation, the potential effect of HS9 on positive selection could not be examined. However, reaggregate cultures, in which thymic stromal cells are reassociated with individual thymocyte subsets, can be used to investigate the mechanisms regulating particular stages of thymopoiesis independently of other developmental events. The use of reaggregate cultures in the study of T cell maturation is described in detail in later sections.

Modulation of the Thymic Microenvironment by Developing T Cells

A fascinating aspect of thymus biology to emerge in recent years is the requirement for contact with thymocytes for the generation of functional stromal microenvironments. Thus, interactions between thymocytes and stromal cells are essential for the development of both T cell precursors and the thymic stroma. The first experiments to describe this phenomenon involved treatment of mice with cyclosporin A (CsA) (71), following which depletion of medullary epithelial cells was observed. At the time, the reasons for this unexpected effect on thymic stromal cells was unclear. However, when similar findings were reported in SCID mice, this absence of medullary development was conclusively shown to be caused by a defect in the lymphoid compartment of the thymus, since the introduction of normal bone marrow into SCID mice resulted in the regeneration of medullary epithelial cells (72). Thus, normal development of the thymic medulla is dependent upon the presence of thymocytes. More recently, absence of medullary areas has been noted in TCR α -deficient mice (73). Because these animals show normal T cell development with the exception of a lack of mature single positive $\alpha\beta$ T cells due to a defect in positive selection (74), it appears that interactions involving CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ TCR $\alpha\beta^+$ thymocytes regulate development of the thymic medulla. Although the nature of the interactions regulating medullary organization is not clear, a recent study by Shores et al suggests that a fully assembled TCR/CD3 complex may be required (75) to promote normal development of medullary epithelium.

Until recently, a role for similar mechanisms in regulating cortical epithelium development had not been defined. However, a study by Hollander and colleagues suggests that normal development of thymic cortical epithelial cells is dependent upon contact with thymocytes (76). Thus in mice expressing a CD3 ϵ transgene, which results in a blockade in thymocyte maturation at a very early prothymocyte stage, normal cortex development is not observed. Moreover, the requirement for this interaction between the thymic cortex and prothymocytes is developmentally restricted, in that wild-type prothymocytes rescue normal development of cortical stromal cells in fetal but not adult mice. Thus, it appears that thymocytes play a role in the development of both cortical and medullary thymic areas.

Extracellular Matrix and Integrin-Mediated Interactions with the Thymic Stroma

It is well known that extracellular matrix proteins play a major role in cell migration, differentiation, and proliferation (77, 78). Thus, a key feature of the thymic microenvironment may be the production of extracellular matrix (ECM) components. Several studies have documented the localization of a number of ECM molecules in the thymus, including type I and type IV collagen, laminin, fibronectin, vimentin, and merosin (77, 79). Although a fine network of ECM exists in subcapsular, cortical, and medullary areas, expression of particular matrix molecules appears to be prominent in particular sites in the thymus (77).

Whether compartmentalization of the ECM is important for T cell development is not clear. However, production of ECM in the thymus is mirrored by the expression of receptors for these molecules on developing thymocytes, suggesting that interactions between T cell precursors and ECM molecules may play a role in T cell maturation. Interestingly, several studies have shown that ECM receptor expression is highest on immature CD4^{-8⁻} precursors and gradually decreases during maturation. For example, Wadsworth and colleagues (80) showed that expression of the $\alpha_6\beta_4$ integrin, which binds laminin, reached maximal levels on CD4⁻8⁻25⁺ precursors. In a further study (81), Wadsworth et al showed that expression of VLA integrins—which consist of a common β_1 chain and one of six α -chains—is developmentally regulated, and that changes in the glycosylation state of these receptors may determine their precise role in T cell development. Recently, the $\alpha^{E}\beta_{7}$ integrin, which binds to E-cadherin, has been shown to play a role in the adhesion of intraepithelial lymphocytes to epithelial cells in the intestine (82). Interestingly, this integrin receptor is also expressed on the majority of 14-day embryonic CD4-8-T cell precursors (our unpublished observations). Whether or not this molecule also plays a role in the adherence of immature thymocytes to thymic epithelial cells is unknown. However, a more defined role has been established for the LFA-1 integrin. Fine & Kruisbeek (83) have shown that interactions between the LFA-1 integrin on thymocytes and ICAM-1 on either thymocytes or thymic stromal cells play an important role in the maturation of $CD4^{-}8^{-}$ thymocytes to the $CD4^{+}8^{+}$ stage.

Functional Roles of ECM in Early Thymocyte Development

Although the localization of ECM molecules and their receptors in the thymus is well characterized, evidence for their functional role in T cell maturation is less abundant. Our own studies have shown that mesenchyme cells, a major

producer of ECM in the thymus (84), are an essential requirement during the initial stages of T cell precursor maturation (22). In an attempt to elucidate the role of mesenchyme cells during thymopoiesis, we have used reaggregate organ cultures to map the precise developmental stage at which the requirement for these cells occurs (our unpublished observations). The results suggest that the first T cell precursor population to be independent of mesenchyme support are $CD4^{-}8^{-}25^{+}44^{-}$ cells, while the immediate precursors of this population, $CD4^{-}8^{-}25^{+}44^{+}$ cells, are still dependent upon interactions with mesenchyme. Thus, downregulation of the CD44 molecule marks the end of the mesenchyme-dependent stages of T cell development. Whether or not CD44 has a functional role during early intrathymic development is still unclear, although anti-CD44 antibodies have been shown to block the stromal cell–dependent stages of B cell development (85).

The molecular nature of the requirement for mesenchyme cells is still unclear but could involve the interaction of ligands on lymphoid cells with various mesenchymal ECM products such as hyaluronan, collagen, and fibronectin (86– 88). In addition, Roberts et al (89) have shown that 3T3 fibroblasts—which can substitute for embryonic mesenchyme during T cell development—retain the ability to promote maturation and proliferation of hemopoietic stem cells, even when metabolically inactivated. These data are consistent with the idea that mesenchyme cells may influence the maturation of lymphocyte precursors by providing ECM products, which may in turn be important in the presentation of soluble growth factors, as is seen during the development of myeloid cells (90).

Thymic Stromal Cells and Selection of the TCR Repertoire

Immature CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes bearing low levels of the TCR $\alpha\beta$ are subjected to stringent positive and negative selection events such that only cells bearing receptors with the potential to recognize foreign peptides in the context of self-MHC molecules are allowed to mature into single positive CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells. Interactions involving the TCR on thymocytes and MHC molecules on the thymic stroma are known to play a critical role in thymic selection (61). A major factor in determining the outcome of TCR ligation during T cell development appears to be the avidity of the interaction between the TCR and self-peptide MHC complexes. Thus, low avidity interactions lead to positive selection and further differentiation, while high avidity interactions lead to negative selection and death by apoptosis (91, 92). However, it is also clear that TCR-mediated interactions alone are not sufficient to promote either positive (24) or negative selection (93), so factors other than the avidity of TCR-MHC interactions must contribute to T cell selection. Thymic stromal cells are known to play a crucial role during T cell selection, and it is likely that particular stromal components provide appropriate accessory signals that may determine whether a particular CD4⁺8⁺ thymocyte undergoes positive or negative selection. The following sections summarize recent findings regarding the role of thymic stromal cells in T cell selection.

STROMAL CELL REQUIREMENTS FOR POSITIVE SELECTION The first experiments to investigate positive selection of thymocytes involved the production of MHCmismatched bone-marrow chimeras, which suggested that a non-bone marrowderived, radioresistant thymic stromal component was responsible for triggering the maturation of immature thymocytes into mature single positive T cells (reviewed in 19). While these findings were subsequently contested (reviewed in 94), it was generally agreed that thymic epithelial cells mediated positive selection of thymocytes. However, this conclusion was recently questioned again by a number of studies suggesting that a variety of cell types could mediate positive selection (95). These experiments, involving either the construction of bone marrow chimeras using β_2 m-deficient mice (96), or the intrathymic injection of MHC class I-bearing fibroblasts into β_2 m-deficient mice (97), indicated that thymic epithelial cells were not alone in their ability to promote positive selection of thymocytes to the CD8⁺ lineage. However, when the developmental requirements of CD4⁺ thymocytes were investigated, markedly different results were obtained. Thus, while Hugo et al demonstrated maturation of CD4⁺ cells in MHC class II-deficient mice injected intrathymically with MHC class-II⁺ fibroblasts (98), Glimcher et al were unable to rescue positive selection of CD4⁺ cells by introducing MHC class-II⁺ bone marrow-derived cells into MHC class-II deficient mice (99).

These experiments suggest that, at least under some conditions, various cell types can provide MHC ligands for positive selection. However, because they are based on intrathymic injection, they do not rule out the possibility that endogenous stromal components may cooperate in providing signals that may be essential during positive selection. To rule out this possibility, we used reaggregate cultures where the ability of individual thymic and nonthymic stromal components to support positive selection could be tested in the complete absence of additional stromal support (24). Of the cells tested for the ability to support maturation of CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes, including MHC class-II⁺ thymic dendritic cells, salivary epithelial cells, and fibroblasts, our study indicated that the ability to support maturation to either the CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ stage was a property unique to MHC class-II⁺ thymic cortical epithelial cells (24). Moreover, thymic epithelial cells were still able to support maturation, albeit less efficiently, after chemical fixation, suggesting that positive selection is mediated by cell surface ligands rather than soluble factors. Recently, using bispecific antibodies, Muller & Kyewski have provided further evidence in support of a unique role for thymic epithelial cells in positive selection; they show that targeting of $CD4^+8^+$ thymocytes specifically to CDR1⁺ thymic epithelial cells can rescue development of functionally mature CD4⁺ cells in MHC class II–deficient mice (100).

Recently, we have extended our studies on epithelial cell/thymocyte interactions in positive selection by examining the duration of interactions required for the process to go to completion (our unpublished observations). By separating CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes into CD69⁻ and CD69⁺ subsets, we have been able to compare the developmental requirements of thymocytes at a preselection stage (CD69⁻ cells) with that of cells that have received initial signals for positive selection (CD69⁺ cells). In agreement with our earlier study (24), we find that preselection CD4+8+ thymocytes are dependent upon contact with thymic epithelial cells for maturation to the CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ stage. Interestingly, this specific requirement for thymic epithelial cells is still evident at the CD4⁺8⁺69⁺ stage, even though these cells have received initial signals for positive selection. Thus, these data suggest that during positive selection, thymic epithelial cells are required to provide sustained rather than transient interactions with CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes. Similar conclusions have also been demonstrated in two other studies using an in vivo approach (101, 102). However, whether this requirement for sustained interaction involves TCR-MHC or other undefined interactions is not clear. We are currently investigating this issue by assessing the developmental potential of purified CD4+8+69+ thymocytes in the presence of thymic stromal cells prepared from MHC class I- or class II-deficient mice.

Thus, the majority of experimental evidence suggests that thymic epithelial cells are the most efficient thymic stromal cell type capable of mediating positive selection of $CD4^+8^+$ thymocytes. However, very little is known about the accessory interactions that mediate maturation of $CD4^+8^+$ thymocytes. Intriguingly, although positive selection of thymocytes and activation of mature T cells are phenotypically similar in a number of ways (103), we have shown that these processes are not mediated by the same accessory interactions, since positive selection does not require interactions between CD28 and B7 (104). Elucidation of the accessory molecules that play a role during positive selection is a major goal of future research.

STROMAL CELL REQUIREMENTS FOR NEGATIVE SELECTION Study of the cellular and molecular requirements for negative selection of $CD4^+8^+$ thymocytes has benefited from the establishment of a number of in vitro culture systems (reviewed in 105). However, conflicting results have been reported regarding the identity of the thymic stromal cells that mediate negative selection, depending upon the experimental system used. For example, using suspension cultures, a number of studies have indicated that thymic epithelial cells can induce thymocyte apoptosis as efficiently as bone marrow–derived dendritic cells (106–109). However, as thymocytes in suspension have been shown to respond differently to a given stimulus when compared to thymocytes in situ (110), the relevance of findings obtained in such cultures to events in vivo remains unclear.

Using reaggregate organ cultures, we showed that effective deletion of SEB reactive $V\beta 8^+$ CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes was achieved by bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (23). Under similar conditions, MHC class-II⁺ thymic epithelial cells were found to be less efficient at mediating negative selection, suggesting a specialization of function for epithelial cells and dendritic cells in mediating thymocyte apoptosis. However, prolonged exposure to SEB presented by thymic epithelial cells was found to effect maturation of $V\beta 8^+$ thymocytes. Moreover, a recent study by Spain & Berg (111) using TCR transgenic mice in which MHC class-II expression in the thymus is restricted to epithelial cells has suggested that cortical epithelial cells may indeed play a role in the induction of self-tolerance. However, whether the mechanism of tolerance in this case was induction of apoptosis or anergy is unclear. Moreover, these experiments do not exclude the possibility that, while thymic epithelial cells may provide TCR ligation for negative selection, bone marrow-derived APC cooperate in providing accessory signals in a three-way interaction similar to that discussed for positive selection.

Again using reaggregate organ cultures, Merkenschlager and colleagues (112) have investigated the number of bone marrow–derived antigen-presenting cells required to induce maximal deletion of TCR transgenic thymocytes. Such studies showed that in contrast to positive selection, where a linear relationship exists between the number of selecting stromal cells and the number of thymocytes induced to mature, far fewer APCs per thymocyte were required to induce maximal deletion, suggesting that these cells form multiple contacts with developing thymocytes during development and are highly efficient mediators of negative selection.

As in positive selection, the molecular nature of the interactions between immature thymocytes and thymic stromal cells that lead to negative selection are unknown. However, as dendritic cells are also efficient mediators in the activation of mature T cells, it is possible that interactions important in activation are also involved in thymocyte selection. One such interaction is between the costimulatory molecule B7 on dendritic cells, and CD28, which is expressed on both mature T cells and thymocytes. However, Jones et al (113) have shown that CTLA4Ig, a high-affinity soluble ligand for B7, which effectively blocks mature T cell activation, does not block negative selection of thymocytes either in vivo or in thymic organ cultures. Finally, using purified thymic stromal cell preparations and comparing the cell type–specific expression of different mammary tumor virus antigens (Mtv) with the pattern of TCRV β deletion in thymic organ culture, we have shown a correlation between differential TCRV β

deletion and differential expression of Mtv antigens by thymic dendritic cells even when Mtvs were expressed by other stromal cells (114). This supports the notion that the influence Mtvs and possible other proteins have on shaping the T cell repertoire depends not only on their presence but also on their tissue-specific expressions and presentation on appropriate APCs.

Although it is well known that only a small minority of immature thymocytes reach full maturity, an aspect of T cell development that has received little attention is the mechanism by which apoptotic thymocytes are cleared from the thymic microenvironment. Using the TUNEL technique to identify DNA strand breaks in thymocytes undergoing apoptosis, Surh & Sprent (12) showed that a complex network of macrophages, present in both cortical and medullary regions, is highly effective at the phagocytosis of thymocytes triggered into apoptosis. Interestingly, it appears that the majority of cells in the thymus are not triggered into apoptosis as a consequence of negative selection but are a product of a death-by-neglect process, in which thymocytes unable to undergo positive or negative selection are eliminated. Although the molecules involved in phagocytosis of apoptotic thymocytes are unknown, it is interesting to note that cortical macrophages express a variety of adhesion molecules such as VCAM-1 that could regulate thymocyte/macrophage interactions (115).

SIGNALING EVENTS CONTROLLING THE DEVELOPMENT OF TCR $\alpha\beta$ -POSITIVE CELLS

Signaling events involving different forms of the TCR complex appear to be important during at least two key stages in T cell development. First, expression of a pre-TCR consisting of the TCR β chain paired with the pre-TCR α chain (also known as gp33) and elements of the CD3 complex is necessary for the progression from CD4^{-8⁻} to CD4^{+8⁺} stage. Second, interactions involving the definitive TCR $\alpha\beta$ are necessary for positive selection and differentiation of CD4^{+8⁺} cells to mature single positive thymocytes.

Signaling in CD4⁻8⁻ Cells

T cell precursors, which enter the thymus with the majority of their TCR genes still in germline form, are induced to rearrange their TCR genes during the $CD4^-8^-$ phase of development (116). Although this involves the expression of RAG-1 and RAG-2 proteins (as discussed earlier), the signals initiating RAG expression and TCR gene rearrangement are still unclear. A role for IL-7 has been proposed in this respect (117); however, IL-7 also promotes the expansion and survival of $CD4^-8^-$ thymocytes (18, 118). Consequently, the possibility that IL-7 maintains cells in which TCR gene rearrangement has already been induced cannot be excluded.

A range of studies now clearly shows that prevention of successful TCR β chain rearrangement, either due to the naturally occurring severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) mutation or the inactivation of V(D)J recombination activation genes (RAG-1 or RAG-2) by gene knock-out technology, results in strongly reduced thymic cellularity and a block in T cell development at the CD4^{-8^{-}} stage (119, 120). Development to the CD4^{$+8^{+}$} stage can be restored either by introducing a fully rearranged TCR β transgene (121, 122) or by treatment with anti-CD3 (123, 124), implying that signaling through a putative TCR β /CD3-containing complex expressed on the surface of CD4⁻⁸⁻ thymocytes mediates early T cell development. Whether this signaling simply requires assembly of this complex or interaction with an as-yet-unknown ligand is still to be defined. Whichever is the case, pre-TCR-mediated signals appear to be vital for the clonal expansion and further differentiation of thymocytes that have productively rearranged their TCR β chain genes (125, 126). Moreover, additional events associated with normal differentiation from CD4-8- to CD4⁺8⁺ such as the arrest of rearrangement at the TCR β locus (i.e. allelic exclusion), the initiation of TCR α chain rearrangement, and CD4 and CD8 coreceptor expression have now, at least in part, been linked to signaling through this putative TCR β /CD3-containing "pre-TCR" complex (125–127).

A TCR β -transfected immature T cell line from SCID mice in which the TCR β transgene is expressed on the cell surface in an 80-kD disulphide-linked complex, has been used to determine the nature of this "pre-TCR" more closely (128). In these cells the TCR β is paired to a glycosylated chain of 33 kD which, because of its properties, has been named the pre-TCR α chain. This pre-TCR α is a type I transmembrane protein, the extracellular region of which comprises about 130 residues, with similarity to the constant (C) domain of immunoglobulin supergene family proteins. Sequence analysis indicates that it is well suited for pairing with TCR β . The cytoplasmic region of about 31 amino acids contains a possible SH3-domain binding region and two potential phosphorylation sites for protein kinase C, and the region may directly be involved in signal transduction by the pre-TCR (129). Expression of pre-TCR α does not require rearrangement and is strong in $CD4^{-}8^{-}$ thymocytes from normal mice (129). Moreover, a very recent study shows that knocking-out the pre-TCR α gene by homologous recombination severely hampers TCR $\alpha\beta$ development (130). This confirms that while the pre-TCR is not required for the generation of CD4⁻8⁻25⁺ thymocytes, few cells progress beyond this stage. Thus the pre-TCR is necessary for the efficient generation of $CD4^+8^+$ precursors.

The pre-TCR is associated with members of the CD3 family of proteins, and the resulting complex clearly has signaling capacity (124, 127). Although the means by which the pre-TCR complex exerts its action remain to be fully elucidated, the lymphocyte-specific tyrosine kinase $p56^{lck}$ is likely to be a part of pre-TCR signaling pathway. Much of the evidence for this has come from studies with mice that are either $p56^{lck}$ -deficient (131), carry a dominant negative $p56^{lck}$ mutation (132), or overexpress $p56^{lck}$ (133). For example, expression of an active $p56^{lck}$ gene in rearrangement-deficient (134) or normal mice (133) has the same effect as introducing a TCR β transgene. Thymocytes in mice expressing the $p56^{lck}$ -dominant negative mutation fail to develop beyond the CD4⁻8⁻ stage (132). Introduction of a TCR β transgene in the latter animals leads to the development of small numbers of CD4⁺8⁺ cells, implying that the expansion of CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes rather then their differentiation from CD4⁻8⁻ precursors is controlled by a $p56^{lck}$ -sensitive pathway (134).

A role for Vav in early signaling events has been implicated by three recent studies in which Vav expression in cells of the lymphoid lineages is compromised (135–137). Under normal circumstances cross-linking of TCR results in the rapid tyrosine phosphorylation of Vav, a putative $p21^{ras}$ exchange protein. Tyrosine phosphorylation of Vav appears to stimulate, in vitro at least, its guanine nucleotide exchange activity which, in turn, contributes to the regulation of $p21^{ras}$ activity (see Figure 3 and Ref. 138). Although thymocyte differentiation to the CD4⁺8⁺ stage occurs in the absence of Vav, the number of cells in the thymus is severely reduced, indicating a role for Vav in thymocyte expansion (135–137).

Not much is known yet about the other members of this pre-TCR signaling pathway, although calcineurin may be involved since CsA affects development of $CD4^+8^+$ from their $CD4^-8^-$ precursors (our unpublished observations). It has, however, been shown that the p21^{ras}/Raf/MEK/ERK pathway, a common downstream-modulator of p56^{lck} and Vav activation (Figure 3, and Ref. 139) is not involved (see below).

Selection and Differentiation of CD4⁺8⁺ Cells

It has been clear for some time that both positive and negative selection encroach upon the same population of $CD4^+8^+$ thymocytes. Much work has gone into explaining this apparent paradox, and several excellent reviews covering this area have been published recently (19, 140). Yet, whatever the underlying mechanism, it is clear that signaling through the TCR can have dramatically different consequences for $CD4^+8^+$ thymocytes, indicating the possible involvement of biochemically distinct signaling pathways.

Much of the information regarding TCR-mediated signaling processes has come from studies with mature T cells (Figure 3). TCR-mediated signaling events are complex and involve, among others, tyrosine phosphorylation mediated by p56^{lck}, p59^{Fyn}T, Syk, and ZAP-70, dephosphorylation mediated by CD45, and activation of the p21^{ras} pathway (138, 141, 142). With the development of gene-manipulated animals in which the activity of some of these molecules is either knocked-out or enhanced and the availability of more specific inhibitors of signal transduction molecules, the involvement of the various signaling pathways in T cell development is becoming more apparent.

Such studies show clearly that not all signaling molecules important in mature T cell activation similarly play a role in T cell development. The PTK p59^{fyn} T, for example, is associated with the TCR and is vital for mature T cell activation but is not needed for full T cell maturation. Limiting p59^{fyn} T activity has no discernible effect on selection (143). Moreover, PKC activity which is vital for mature T cell activation is not essential for either positive or negative selection, as shown by the lack of effect of the specific PKC inhibitor Ro 31.8425 on these processes (144). The development of CD4⁺8⁺ cells from CD4⁻8⁻ precursors is also unaffected by Ro 31.8425 (our unpublished observations).

As discussed above, the PTK $p56^{lck}$ plays an important role in early T cell development; however, its role in selection of $CD4^+8^+$ cells has not been fully elucidated. $p56^{lck}$ associates with the cytoplasmic tail of both CD4 and CD8 co-receptor molecules (145), but this association appears not to be an



Figure 3 TCR signal transduction pathways. PTK-mediated phosphorylation results in: (i) the activation of PIP² signaling and (ii) the activation of the p21^{ras}/Raf-1/ERK-2 signaling cascade. p56^{lck}, p21^{ras}, MAPK kinase, calcineurin, Vav, and CD45 phosphatase (the latter not shown in this diagram) are all potentially involved in mediating signals for positive selection.

absolute prerequisite for selection since the reconstruction of $CD4^{-/-}$ mice with a tailess form of CD4 unable to bind p56^{lck} restores CD4⁺ SP cell development (146). Similarly CD8 does not need the lck-binding motif on its cytoplasmic tail to promote CD8⁺ SP cell development (147). However, overexpression of p56^{lck} in TCR transgenic animals, in which the effects of p56^{lck} on early T cell development are circumvented by the introduction of the fully rearranged transgenic TCR, reduces not only the level of TCR expression in CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes but also the efficiency of positive selection. In contrast, despite these relatively low levels of TCR, negative selection occurs efficiently in these animals (148), indicating that when overexpressed the p56^{lck} interferes with positive but not negative selection of CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes.

Information regarding the involvement of ZAP-70 in T cell development has come from studies on those humans who fail to express ZAP-70 due to a mutation in the gene (149–151). Thymuses of patients contain both $CD4^+8^+$ cells, indicating that progression from $CD4^-8^-$ to $CD4^+8^+$ proceeds apparently as normal, and nonfunctional $CD4^+8^-$ SP thymocytes. Mature, single positive $CD8^+4^-$ SP cells are absent. ZAP-70, therefore, is indispensable for the development of SP CD8⁺ cells as well as the signal transduction and function of SP CD4⁺ cells.

CD45 is a protein tyrosine phosphatase that is exclusively expressed on nucleated cells of hematopoietic origin and is required for TCR-mediated signal transduction in mature T cells (152). Knocking-out the exon 6 domain of CD45 results in strongly reduced expression of CD45. This coincides with a reduction in positive selection, while superantigen-induced negative selection is unaffected (153), indicating that CD45 activity may be required differentially for positive and negative selection.

p21^{ras} is a low molecular weight G protein that is known to participate in signaling from a wide variety of tyrosine kinases and has been strongly implicated in signal transduction from the TCR in mature T cells (Figure 3) (138). Suppressing p21^{ras} activity in T lineage cells through the introduction of a dominant negative form of p21^{ras} under the control of the lck proximal promoter strongly reduces positive selection (25). In contrast, negative selection proceeds normally, indicating that the p21^{ras} contributes to the regulation of positive but not negative selection of CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes. Not surprisingly the MAPK kinase MEK-1, a downstream effector of p21^{ras} (Figure 3), shows a similar involvement in positive selection (26). Development of CD4⁺8⁺ cells from their CD4⁻8⁻ precursors is not affected by the reduction in p21^{ras} or MEK-1 activity (25, 26).

On the other hand, the role of the putative p21^{ras} exchange protein Vav in selection is far from clear. Thymocyte expansion is clearly reduced in the absence of Vav (see above). However, while Tarakhovsky et al (135) and Zhang et al (136) report normal selection in Vav-deficient mice, Fischer et al (137) report a block in the later stage of positive selection. A potential role for Vav in negative selection has not yet been investigated.

Differences between signaling requirements for positive and negative selection have also been observed using CsA and FK506 in defined systems of T cell development (144, 154). CsA and FK506 are immunosuppressive agents that inhibit mature T cell activation by inhibiting the activity of calcineurin, a calcium-, calmodulin-dependent phosphatase. Inhibition of calcineurin either in vitro (144) or in vivo (154) blocks positive selection but leaves negative selection unaffected.

Clearly, evidence is emerging in support of the hypothesis that positive and negative selection operate through biochemically distinct signaling pathways. Positive selection involves, among others, the activation of PTK, the p21^{ras}-dependent signaling pathway and calcineurin (Figure 3). In contrast, signaling pathways involved in negative selection are far from clear. There is some evidence that phosphatidylionositol metabolism is involved in antigen-induced deletion (155). However, we have shown that, within the normal thymic microenvironment, TCR ligation by ConA induces a level of hydrolysis comparable to that induced by anti-CD3 under similar circumstances. Yet, in contrast to anti-CD3, ConA does not induce apoptosis (our unpublished observations). Therefore, PIP₂ hydrolysis may be essential but is not sufficient to TCR-mediated cell death in the thymus.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Miller JFAP. 1994. The thymus: maestro of the immune system. *BioEssays* 16:509– 12
- Miller JFAP, Osoba D. 1967. Current concepts of the immunological function of the thymus. *Physiol. Rev.* 47:437–20
- Jordan RK, Owen JJT, Raff MC. 1977. Organ culture studies of nude mouse thymus. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 7:736–43
- Nehls M, Pfeifer D, Schorpp M, Hedrich M, Boehm T. 1994. New member of the winged-helix protein family disrupted in mouse and rat nude mutations. *Nature* 372:103–7
- Cordier AC, Haumont SM. 1980. Development of thymus, parathyroids and ultimo-branchial bodies in NMRI and

nude mice. Am. J. Anat. 157:227-63

- Reth M. 1995. Trapping the nude mouse gene. *Curr. Biol.* 5:18–20
- LeDouarin N, Bussonnet C, Chaumont F. 1968. Etude des capacités de differenciation et due rôle morphogène de l'endoderme pharyngier chez l'embryon d'oisean. Ann. Embryol. Morphog. 1:29– 37
- Auerbach R. 1960. Morphogenetic interactions in the development of the mouse thymus gland. *Dev. Biol.* 2:271–85
- Le Lièvre CS, Le Douarin NM. 1975. Mesenchyme derivatives of the neural crest: analysis of chimeric quail and chick embryos. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 34:125–36

- Bockman DE, Kirby ML. 1984. Dependence of thymic development on derivatives of the neural crest. *Science* 223:498– 500
- Chisaka O, Cepecchi MR. 1991. Regionally restricted development defects resulting from targeted disruption of the mouse homeobox gene hox 1.5. Nature 350:473– 79
- Surh CD, Sprent J. 1994. T-cell apoptosis detected in situ during positive and negative selection in the thymus. *Nature* 372:100–3
- Kyewski BA, Momburg F, Schirrmacher V. 1987. Phenotype of stromal cellassociated thymocytes in situ is compatible with selection of the T cell repertoire at an immature stage of thymic T cell differentiation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 17:961–67
- Shortman K, Vremec D. 1991. Different subpopulations of developing thymocytes are associated with macrophage and dendritic thymic rosettes. *Dev. Immunol.* 1:225–35
- Ford CE, Micklem HS, Evans EP, Gray JS, Ogden DA. 1966. The inflow of bone marrow cells to the thymus. *Ann. NYAcad. Sci.* 129:283–96
- Moore MAS, Owen JJT. 1967. Experimental studies on the development of the thymus. J. Exp. Med. 126:715–26
- Le Douarin NM, Jotereau FV. 1975. Tracing of cells of the avian thymus through embryonic life in interspecific chimeras. *J. Exp. Med.* 142:17–40
- Godfrey DI, Zlotnik A. 1993. Control points in early T cell development. *Immunol. Today* 14:547–53
- Jameson SC, Hogquist KA, Bevan MJ. 1995. Positive selection of thymocytes. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 13:93–126
- Lucac B, Vassuer F, Penit B. 1995. Stochastic co-receptor shut-off is restricted to the CD4 lineage maturation pathway. J. Exp. Med. 181:1623–33
- Lundberg K, Heath W, Kontgen F, Carbone FR, Shortman K. 1995. Intermediate steps in positive selection: differentiation of CD4⁺8^{int} TCR^{int} thymocytes into CD4⁻8⁺ TCR^{hi} thymocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* 181:1643–52
- Anderson G, Jenkinson EJ, Moore NC, Owen JJT. 1993. MHC class II⁺ thymic epithelial cells and mesenchyme cells are both required for T-cell development in the thymus. *Nature* 362:70–73
- Jenkinson EJ, Anderson G, Owen JJT. 1992. Studies on T-cell maturation on defined thymic stromal cells *in vitro*. J. Exp. Med. 176:845–53

- Anderson G, Owen JJT, Moore NC, Jenkinson EJ. 1994. Thymic epithelial cells provide unique signals for positive selection of CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes *in vitro*. J. *Exp. Med.* 179:2027–31
- Swan KA, Alberola-Ila J, Gross JA, Appleby MW, Forbush KA, Thomas JF, Perlmutter RM. 1995. Involvement of p21^{ras} distinguishes positive and negative selection in thymocytes. *EMBO J*. 14:276–85
- Alberola-Ila J, Forbush KA, Seger R, Krebs EG, Perlmutter RM. 1995. Selective requirement for MAP kinase activation in thymocyte differentiation. *Nature* 373:620–23
- Ritter MA, Boyd RL. 1993. Development in the thymus: It takes two to tango. *Immunol. Today* 14:462–69
- Müller AM, Medvinsky A, Strouboulis J, Grosveld F, Dzierzak E. 1994. Development of hematopoietic stem cell activity in the mouse embryo. *Immunity* 1:291–301
- Godin I, Dieterlen-Lièvre F, Cumano A. 1995. Emergence of multipotent hemopoietic cells in the yolk-sac and paraaortic splanchnopleura in mouse embryos, beginning at 8.5 days postcoitus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:773–77
- Liu CP, Auerbach R. 1991. In vitro development of murine T cells from prethymic and preliver embryonic yolksac hematopoietic stem-cells. Development 113:1315–23
- Rodewald H-R, Miongeon P, Lucich JL, Dosiou C, Lopez P, Reinherz EL. 1992. A population of early fetal thymocytes expressing Fcγ RII/II contains precursors of T lymphocytes and natural killer cells. *Cell* 69:139–50
- Ardavin C, Wu L, Li C-L, Shortman K. 1993. Thymic dendritic cells and T cells develop simultaneously in the thymus from a common precursor population. *Nature* 362:761–63
- Peault B, Khazaal I, Weissman IL. 1994. In vitro development of B cells and macrophages from early mouse fetal thymocytes. Eur. J. Immunol. 24:781–84
- Huang H, Auerbach R. 1993. Identification and characterization of hematopoietic stem-cells from the yolk-sac of the early mouse embryo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:10110–14
- Rodewald H-R, Kretzschmar K, Takeda S, Hohl C, Dessing M. 1994. Identification of pro-thymocytes in murine fetal blood: T cell lineage commitment can precede thymus colonisation. *EMBO J.* 13:4229– 40
- 36. Jotereau FV, Heuze F, Sakinib-Vie V, Gas-

can H. 1987. Cell kinetics in the fetal mouse thymus: precursor input, proliferation and emigration. *J. Immunol.* 138:1026–30

- Dudley EC, Girardi M, Owen MJ, Hayday AC. 1995. αβ and γδ T cells can share a late common precursor. *Curr. Biol.* 5:659– 69
- Dunai D, Imhof BA. 1993. Mechanisms of thymus homing. *Blood* 81:1–8
- Wu L, Kincade PW, Shortman K. 1993. The CD44 expression on the earliest extra-thymic precursor population functions as a thymic homing molecule but does not bind to hyaluronate. *Immunol. Lett.* 38:60–75
- Jotereau FV, Houssaint E, LeDouarin NM. 1980. Lymphoid stem-cell homing to the early thymic primordium of the avian embryo. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 10:620–27
- 41. Jenkinson EJ, Franchi LL, Kingston R, Owen JJT. 1982. Effect of deoxyguanosine on lymphopoiesis in the developing thymus rudiment *in vitro*: application in the production of chimaeric thymus rudiments. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 12:583–87
- Tanaka Y, Adams DH, Shaw S. 1993. Proteoglycans on endothelial cells present adhesion inducing cytokines to leukocytes. *Immunol. Today* 14:111–15
- Zijlstra M, Bix M, Simister NE, Loring JM, Raulet DH, Jaenisch R. 1990. β-2 microglobulin-deficient mice lack CD4⁻8⁺ cytolytic T cells. *Nature* 334:742–46
- Carr MW, Roth SJ, Luther E, Rose SS, Springer TA. 1994. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 acts as a T-lymphocyte chemoattractant. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91:3652–56
- Scollay R, Godfrey DI. 1995. Thymic emigration: conveyor belt or lucky dips. *Immunol. Today* 16:268–73
- Lundberg K, Shortman K. 1994. Small cortical thymocytes are subject to positive selection. J. Exp. Med. 179:1475–83
- Swat W, von Boehmer H, Kisielow P. 1994. Small CD4⁺8⁺ TCR^{low} thymocytes contain precursors of mature T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:1010–12
- Petrie HT, Livak F, Schatz DG, Strasser A, Crispe IN, Shortman K. 1993. Multiple rearrangements in T-cell receptor *a*-chain genes maximize the production of useful thymocytes. J. Exp. Med. 178:615–22
- Egerton M, Scollay R, Shortman K. 1990. Kinetics of mature T cell development in the thymus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87:2570–82
- 50. Penit C, Lucas B, Vasseur F. 1995. Cell ex-

pansion and growth arrest phases during the transition from precursor (CD4⁻8⁻) to immature (CD4⁺8⁺) thymocytes in normal and genetically modified mice. *J. Immunol.* 153:5103–13

- Wiles MV, Ruiz P, Imhof BA. 1992. Interleukin-7 expression during mouse thymic development. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 22:1037–42
- 52. Moore NC, Anderson G, Smith CA, Owen JJT, Jenkinson EJ. 1993. Analysis of cytokine gene expression in subpopulations of freshly isolated thymocytes and thymic stromal cells using semiquantitative polymerase chain reaction. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:992–97
- von Freeden-Jeffy U, Vierra P, Lucian LA, McNiel T, Burdach SEG, Murray R. 1995. Lymphopenia in interleukin (IL)-7 gene-deleted mice identifies IL-7 as a non-redundant cytokine. J. Exp. Med. 181:1519–26
- Godfrey DI, Zlotnik A, Suda T. 1992. Phenotypic and functional characterization of c-kit expression during intrathymic T-cell development. J. Immunol. 149:2281–85
- Matsuzaki Y, Gyotoku J, Ogawa M, Nishikawa S, Katsura Y, Gachelin G, Nakauchi H. 1993. Characterization of ckit positive intrathymic stem-cells that are restricted to lymphoid differentiation. J. Exp. Med. 178:1283–92
- 56. Hozumi K, Kabori A, Sato T, Nozaki H, Nishikawa S, Nishimura T, Habu S. 1994. Pro-T cells in fetal thymus express c-kit and RAG-2 but do not rearrange the gene encoding the T cell receptor β-chain. Eur. J. Immunol. 24:1339–44
- Lin W-C, Desiderio S. 1995. V(D)J recombination and cell cycle. *Immunol. Today* 16:279–89
- Wilson A, Held W, MacDonald HR. 1994. Two waves of recombinase gene expression in developing thymocytes. J. Exp. Med. 179:1355–60
- Boyd RL, Tucek CL, Godfrey DI, Izon DJ, Wilson TJ, Davidson NJ, Bean AGD, Ladyman HM, Ritter MA, Hugo P. 1993. The thymic microenvironment. *Immunol. Today* 14:445–59
- van Ewijk W. 1991. T-cell differentiation is influenced by thymic microenvironments. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 9:591– 615
- Kruisbeek AM. 1993. Development of αβ T-cells. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 5:227–35
- Ropke C, Van Soest P, Platenburg PP, van Ewijk W. 1995. A common stem cell for murine thymic epithelial cells? *Dev. Immunol.* 4:149–56
96 ANDERSON ET AL

- Takeuchi T, Tamamoto T, Tamura H, Yamamoto H. 1995. Characterisation of a 50kDa surface membrane protein on thymic stromal cells as an important factor for early T-cell development. *Int. Immunol.* 7:583–90
- 64. Izon DJ, Jones LA, Eyonn EE, Kruisbeek AM. 1994. A molecule expressed on accessory cells, activated T-cells, and thymic epithelium is a marker and promoter of T-cell activation. *Int. Immunol.* 153:2939–50
- 65. DeFresne MP, Nabarra B, Van Vliet E, Willemsen R, Vandongen H, Van Ewijk W. 1994. The ER-TR4 monoclonal antibody recognizes murine thymic epithelialcells (type-1) and inhibits their capacity to interact with immature thymocytes: immunoelectron microscopic and functional studies. *Histochemistry* 101:355–63
- 66. Jiang W, Swiggard WJ, Heufler C, Peng M, Mirza A, Steinman RM, Nussenzweig MC. 1995. The receptor DEC-205 expressed by dendritic cells and thymic epithelial cells is involved in antigen processing. *Nature* 375:151–55
- Patel DD, Wee SF, Whichard LP, Bowen MA, Pesando JM, Aruffo A, Haynes BA. 1995. Identification and characterization of a 100-kDa ligand for CD6 on human thymic epithelial cells. J. Exp. Med. 181:1563–68
- Fernandez JG, Sanchez AJ, Melcon C, Chamorro CA, Garcia C, Paz P. 1994. Development of the chick thymus microenvironment—a study by lectin histochemistry. J. Anat. 184:137–45
- 69. Baum LG, Pang M, Perillo NL, Wu T, Delegeane A, Uittenbogaart CH, Fukuda M, Seilhamer JJ. 1995. Human thymic epithelial cells express an endogenous lectin, galectin-1, which binds to core O-glycans on thymocytes and T-lymphoblastoid cells. J. Exp. Med. 181:877–87
- Pavlovic MD, Colic M, Vucevic D, Dujic A. 1993. Two novel monoclonal antibodies reactive with different components of the rat thymic epithelium. *Thymus* 21:235–46
- Kanariou M, Huby R, Ladyman H, Colic M, Sivolapenko G, Lampart I, Ritter MA. 1989. Immunosuppression with cyclosporin A alters the thymic microenvironment. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 78:263–70
- 72. Shores EW, van Ewijk W, Singer A. 1991. Disorganization and restoration of thymic medullary epithelial-cells in T-cell receptor-negative SCID mice: evidence that receptor-bearing lymphocytes influence maturation of the thymic microenvi-

ronment. Eur. J. Immunol. 21:1657-61

- Palmer DB, Viney JI, Ritter MA, Hayday AC, Owen MJ. 1993. Expression of the αβ T-cell receptor is necessary for generation of the thymic medulla. *Dev. Immunol.* 3:175–79
- Philpott KL, Viney JL, Kay G, Rastan S, Gardiner EM, Chae S, Hayday AC, Owen MJ. 1992. Lymphoid development in mice congenitally lacking T-cell receptor αβ expressing cells. *Science* 256:1448–52
- Shores EŴ, van Ewijk W, Singer A. 1994. Maturation of medullary thymic epithelium requires thymocytes expressing fully assembled CD3-TCR complexes. *Int. Immunol.* 6:1393–402
- Hollander GA, Wang BP, Nicogiannopoulou A, Platenburg PP, Van Ewijk W, Burakoff SJ, Guttierezramos JC, Terhorst C. 1995. Developmental control point in induction of thymic cortex regulated by a subpopulation of prothymocytes. *Nature* 373:350–53
- Savino W, Villa-Verde DMS, Lannes-Vieira J. 1993. Extracellular matrix protein interactions in intrathymic T-cell migration and differentiation? *Immunol. Today* 14:158–61
- Mackay CR, Imhof BA. 1993. Cell adhesion in the immune system. *Immunol. Today* 14:99–102
- Chang AC, Wadsworth S, Coligan JE. 1993. Expression of merosin in the thymus and its interaction with thymocytes. *J. Immunol.* 151:1789–801
- Wadsworth S, Halvorson MJ, Coligan JE. 1992. Developmentally regulated expression of the β4 integrin on immature mouse thymocytes. J. Immunol. 149:421–28
- Wadsworth S, Halvorson MJ, Chang AC, Coligan JE. 1993. Multiple changes in VLA protein glycosylation, expression and function occur during mouse T-cell ontogeny. J. Immunol. 150:847–57
- Cepek KL, Shaw SK, Parker CM, Russell GJ, Morrow JS, Rimm DL, Brenner MB. 1994. Adhesion between epithelial cells and T-lymphocytes mediated by E-cadherin and the _αE_{β7} integrin. *Nature* 372:190–93
- Fine JS, Kruisbeek AM. 1991. The role of LFA1/ICAM1 interactions during murine T-lymphocyte development. J. Immunol. 147:2852–59
- Patel DD, Haynes BF. 1993. Cell adhesion molecules involved in intrathymic T-cell development. *Semin. Immunol.* 5:283–92
- Miyake K, Medina KL, Hayashi SI, Ono S, Hamaoka T, Kincade PW. 1990. Monoclonal antibodies to Pgp-1/CD44 block

lympho-hemopoiesis in long-term bone marrow cultures. J. Exp. Med. 171:477– 88

- Lazaar AL, Pure E. 1995. CD44: a model for regulated adhesion function. *The Immunologist* 3:19–25
- Patel DD, Hale LP, Whichard LP, Radcliff G, Mackay CR, Haynes BF. 1995. Expression of CD44 molecules and CD44 ligands during human fetal thymic development: expression of CD44 isoforms is developmentally regulated. *Int. Immunol.* 7:277–86
- Lesley J, Hyman R, Kincade PW. 1993. CD44 and its interaction with extracellular matrix. *Adv. Immunol.* 54:271–335
- Roberts RA, Spooncer E, Parkinson EK, Lord BI, Allen TD, Dexter TM. 1987. Metabolically inactive 3T3 cells can substitute for marrow stromal cells to promote the proliferation and development of multipotent haemopoietic stem cells. J. Cell Physiol. 132:203–14
- Roberts R, Gallagher J, Spooncer E, Allen TD, Bloomfield F, Dexter TM. 1988. Heparin sulphate bound growth factors: a mechanism for stromal cell mediated haemopoiesis. *Nature* 332:376–78
- Ashton-Rickardt PG, Bandeira A, Delaney JR, Van Kaer L, Pircher HP, Zinkernagel RM, Tonegawa S. 1994. Evidence for a differential avidity model of T-cell selection in the thymus. *Cell* 76:1–20
- 92. Sebzda E, Wallace VA, Mayer J, Yeung RSM, Mak TW, Ohashi PS. 1994. Positive and negative selection induced by different concentrations of a single peptide. *Science* 263:1615–18
- Page MD, Kane LP, Allison JP, Hedrick SM. 1993. Two signals are required for negative selection of CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes. J. Immunol. 151:1868–80
- Lo D, Ron Y, Sprent J. 1986. Induction of MHC-restricted specificity and tolerance in the thymus. *Immunol. Rev.* 5:221–32
- Hugo P, Kappler JW, Marrack PC. 1994. Positive selection of TCRαβ thymocytes: Is cortical epithelium an obligatory participant in the presentation of major histocompatibility comlex proteins? *Immunol. Rev.* 135:133–57
- Bix M, Raulet D. 1992. Inefficient positive selection of T-cells directed by hemopoeitic-cells. *Nature* 359:330–33
- Pawlowski T, Elliott JD, Loh DY, Staerz UD. 1993. Positive selection of T-lymphocytes on fibroblasts. *Nature* 364:642–45
- Hugo P, Kappler JW, McCormack JE, Marrack P. 1993. Fibroblasts can induce

thymocyte positive selection in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:10335–39

- Markowitz JS, Auchincloss H, Grusby MJ, Glimcher LH. 1993. Class II⁺ hemopoietic-cells cannot mediate positive selection of CD4⁺ T-lymphocytes in class-II deficient mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:2779–83
- Muller KP, Kyewski BA. 1993. T-cell receptor targeting to thymic cortical epithelial cells in vivo induces survival, activation and differentiation of immature thymocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:1661– 70
- 101. Kisielow P, Miazek A. 1995. Positive selection of T-cells: Rescue from programmed cell death and differentiation requires continual engagement of the Tcell receptor. J. Exp. Med. 181:1975–84
- Dyall R, Nikolic-Zugic J. 1995. The majority of postselection CD4⁺ singlepositive thymocytes require the thymus to produce long-lived, functional T-cells. J. *Exp. Med.* 181:235–45
- Bendelac A, Matzinger P, Seder RA, Paul WE, Schwartz RH. 1992. Activation events during thymic selection. J. Exp. Med. 175:731-42
- Jenkinson EJ, Anderson G, Moore NC, Smith CAS, Owen JJT. 1994. Positive selection by MHC class II⁺ thymic epithelial cells in vitro: Costimulatory signals mediated by B7 are not involved. *Dev. Immunol.* 3:265–71
- Anderson G, Jenkinson EJ. 1995. The role of the thymus during T-cell development in vitro. Semin. Immunol. 7:177–83
- 106. Iwabuchi K, Nakayama K, McCoy RL, Wang F, Nishimura T, Habu S, Murphy KE, Loh DY. 1992. Cellular and peptide requirements for *in vitro* clonal deletion of immature thymocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:9000–4
- 107. Pircher HP, Brdsucha K, Steinhoff U, Kasai M, Mizuochi T, Zinkernagel RM, Hentgartner H, Kyewski BA, Muller KP. 1993. Tolerance induction by clonal deletion of CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes *in vitro* does not require dedicated antigen presenting cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:669–74
- Hugo P, Kappler JW, Godfrey DI, Marrack P. 1992. A cell line that can induce thymocyte positive selection. *Nature* 360:679– 82
- Vucmanovic S, Grandea AG, Faas SJ, Knowles BB, Bevan MJ. 1992. Positive selection of T-lymphocytes induced by intrathymic injection of athymic epithelial

98 ANDERSON ET AL

cell line. Nature 359:729–32

- Moore NC, Jenkinson EJ, Owen JJT. 1992. Effects of the thymic microenvironment on the response of thymocytes to stimulation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 22:2533–37
- Spain LM, Berg LJ. 1994. Quantitative analysis of the efficiency of clonal deletion in the thymus. *Dev. Immunol.* 4:43– 53
- Merkenschlager M, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1994. Evidence for a single niche model of positive selection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91:11694–98
- 113. Jones LA, Izon DJ, Nieland JD, Linsley PS, Kruisbeek AM. 1993. CD28-B7 interactions are not required for intrathymic clonal deletion. *Int. Immunol.* 5:503–12
- 114. Moore NC, Anderson G, McLoughlin DEJ, Owen JJT, Jenkinson EJ. 1994. Differential expression of Mtv loci in MHC class II-positive thymic stromal cells. J. Immunol. 152:4826-31
- Reza JN, Ritter MA. 1994. Differential expression of adhesion molecules within the human thymus. *Dev. Immunol.* 4:55–64
- Snodgrass HR, Dembic Z, Steinmetz M, von Boehmer H. 1985. Expression of T cell antigen receptor genes during fetal development in the thymus. *Nature* 315:232–33
- 117. Muegge K, Vila MP, Durum SK. 1993. Interleukin-7: a cofactor for V(D)J rearrangement of the T cell receptor β-chain. *Science* 261:93–95
- Spits H. 1994. Early stages in human and mouse T cell development. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 6:212–21
- Mombaerts P, Iacomini J, Johnson RS, Herrup K, Tonegawa S, Papaioannous VE. 1992. RAG-1-deficient mice have no mature B and T lymphocytes. *Cell* 68:869–77
- 120. Shinkai Y, Rathbun G, Lam K-P, Oltz EM, Stewart V, Mendelson M, Charron J, Datta M, Young F, Stall AM, Alt FW. 1992. RAG-2-deficient mice lack mature lymphocytes owing to inability to initiate V(D)J rearrangement. *Cell* 68:855–67
- 121. Shinkai Y, Koyasu S, Nakayama K-i, Murphy KM, Loh DY, Reinherz EL, Alt FW. 1993. Restoration of T cell development in RAG-1-deficient mice by functional TCR transgene. *Science* 259:822–25
- 122. Mombearts P, Clarke AR, Rudnicki MA, Iacomini J, Itohara S, Lafaille JJ, Wang LL, Ichikawa Y, Jaenisch R, Hooper ML, Tonegawa S. 1992. Mutations in T cell antigen receptor genes α and β block thymocyte development at different stages. *Nature* 360:225–31
- Shinkai Y, Alt WA. 1994. CD3€-mediated

signals rescue the development of CD4⁺ CD8⁺ thymocytes in RAG-2^{-/-} mice in the absence of TCR β chain expression. *Int. Immunol.* 6:995–1001

- 124. Levelt CN, Mombaerts P, Iglesias A, Tonegawa S, Eichmann K. 1993. Restoration of early thymocyte differentiation in T-cell receptor β-chain deficient mutant mice by transmembrane signaling through CD3-ε. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:11401–5
- 125. Dudley EC, Petrie HT, Shah LM, Owen MJ, Hayday A. 1994. T cell receptor β chain gene rearrangement and selection during thymocyte development in adult mice. *Immunity* 1:1–20
- Groettrup M, von Boehmer H. 1993. A role for a pre-T-cell receptor in T cell development. *Immunol. Today* 14:610–14
- 128. Groettrup M, Ungewiss K, Palacios R, Owen MJ, Hayday AC, von Boehmer H. 1993. A novel disulfide-linked heterodimer on pre-T-cells consists of the T cell receptor β-chain and a 33 kDa glycoprotein. *Cell* 75:283–94
- 129. Saint-Ruf C, Ungewiss K, Groettrup M, Bruno L, Fehling HJ, von Boehmer H. 1994. Analysis and expression of a cloned pre-T cell receptor gene. *Science* 266:1208–12
- Fehling HJ, Krotkova A, Saint-Ruf C, von Boehmer H. 1995. Crucial role of the pre-T-cell receptor α gene in development of αβ but not γδ cells. *Nature* 375:795–98
- 131. Molina TJ, Kishihara K, Siderovski DP, van Ewijk W, Nadendras A, Timms E, Wakeham A, Paige CJ, Hartmann KU, Veillette A, Davidson D, Mak TW. 1992. Profound block in thymocyte development in mice lacking p56^{lck}. *Nature* 357:161–64
- Levin SD, Anderson SJ, Forbush KA, Perlmutter RM. 1993. A dominantnegative transgene defines a role for p56^{lck} in thymopoiesis. *EMBO J.* 12:1671–80
- 133. Anderson SJ, Abraham KM, Nakayama T, Singer A, Perlmutter RM. 1992. Inhibition of T cell receptor β-chain gene rearrangement by overexpression of the nonreceptor protein tyrosine kinase p56^{lck}. *EMBO J*. 11:4877–86
- Mombearts P, Anderson SJ, Perlmutter RM, Mak TW, Tonegawa S. 1994. An activated *lck* transgene promotes thymocyte

development in RAG-1 mutant mice. Immunity 1:261-67

- 135. Tarakhovsky A, Turner M, Schaal S, Mee PJ, Duddy LP, Rajewsky K, Tybulewicz VL. 1995. Defective antigen receptormediated proliferation of B- and T-cells in the absence of Vav. *Nature* 374:467–70
- Zhang R, Alt FW, Davidson L, Orkin SH, Swat W. 1995. Defective signalling through the T- and B-cell antigen receptors in lymphoid cells lacking vav protooncogene. *Nature* 374:470–73
- 137. Fischer K-D, Zmuidzinas A, Gardner S, Barbacid M, Bernstein A, Guidos C. 1995. Defective T-cell receptor signaling and positive selection of Vav-deficient CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes. *Nature* 374:474–77
- Pastor MI, Reif K, Cantrell D. 1995. The regulation and function of p21^{ras} during Tcell activation and growth. *Immunol. Today* 16:159–64
- 139. Mansour SJ, Matten WT, Hermann AS, Candia JM, Rong S, Fukasawa K, van de Woude GF, Ahn NG. 1994. Transformation of mammalian cells by constitutively active MAP kinase kinase. *Science* 265:966–70
- Fowlkes BJ, Schweighhoffer E. 1991. Positive selection of T cells. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 7:188–95
- 141. Rudd CE, Janssen O, Cai Y-C, da Silva AJ, Raab M, Prasad KVS. 1994. Two step TCRζ/CD3-CD4 and CD28 signalling in T cells: SH2/SH3 domains, proteintyrosine and lipid kinases. *Immunol. Today* 15:225–34
- Weiss A, Littman DR. 1994. Signal transduction by lymphocyte antigen receptors. *Cell* 76:263–74
- 143. Appleby MW, Gross JA, Cooke MP, Levin SD, Qian X, Perlmutter RM. 1992. Defective T cell receptor signalling in mice lacking the thymic isoform of p59^{fyn}. Cell 70:751–63
- 144. Anderson G, Anderson KL, Conroy LA, Hallam TJ, Moore NC, Owen JJT, Jenkinson EJ. 1995. Intracellular signalling events during positive and negative selection of CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes *in vitro*. J. Immunol. 154:3636–43
- 145. Veillette A, Bookman MA, Horak EM, Boeln JB. 1988. The CD4 and CD8 surface antigens are associated with the internal membrane tyrosine protein kinase

p56^{lck}. Cell 55:301–8

- Killeen N, Littman DR. 1993. Helper Tcell development in the absence of CD4p56^{lck} association. *Nature* 364:729–32
- 147. Chan IT, Limmer A, Louyie MC, Bullock ED, Fungleung WP, Mak TW, Loh DY. 1993. Thymic selection of cytotoxic T cells independent of CD8α-lck association. Science 261:1581–84
- Ericsson P-O, Teh H-S. 1995. The protein tyrosine kinase p56^{lck} regulates TCR expression and T cell selection. *Int. Immunol.* 7:617–24
- 149. Arpaia E, Shahar M, Dadi H, Cohen A, Roifman CM. 1994. Defective T cell receptor signaling and CD8⁺ thymic selection in humans lacking ZAP-70 kinase. *Cell* 76:947–58
- 150. Chan AC, Kadlecek TA, Elder ME, Filipovich AH, Kuo W-L, Iwashima M, Parslow TG, Weiss A. 1994. ZAP-70 deficiency in autosomal recessive form of severe combined immunodeficiency. *Science* 264:1599–601
- 151. Elder ME, Lin D, Clever J, Chan AC, Hope TJ, Weiss A, Parslow TG. 1994. Human severe recombined immunodeficiency due to a defect in ZAP-70, a T cell tyrosine kinase. *Science* 264:1596–99
- Trowbridge IS, Thomas ML. 1994. CD45: an emerging role as a protein tyrosine phosphatase required for lymphocyte activation and development. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 12:85–116
- 153. Kishihara K, Penninger J, Wallace VA, Kundig TM, Kawai K, Wakeham A, Timms E, Pfeffer K, Ohashi PS, Thomas ML, Furlonger C, Paige CJ, Mak TW. 1993. Normal B lymphocyte development but impaired T cell maturation in CD45exon 6 protein tyrosine phosphatasedeficient mice. *Cell* 74:143–56
- 154. Wang R-C, Hashimoto K, Kubo S, Yokochi T, Kubo M, Suzuki M, Suzuki K, Tada T, Nakayama T. 1995. T cell receptor-mediated signalling events in CD4⁺8⁺ thymocytes undergoing thymic selection: requirement of calcineurin activation for thymic positive selection but not negative selection. J. Exp. Med. 181:927– 41
- Vasquez NJ, Kane LP, Hedrick SM. 1994. Intracellular signals that mediate thymic negative selection. *Immunity* 1:45–57



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|--|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> Sleekman, James P. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt | 450 |
| Steckman, Junes K. Gorman, Treaenck W. Au | 439 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights. <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |
| | 0.7 |

ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules

Melanie K. Spriggs

Department of Molecular Biology, Immunex Corporation, 51 University Street, Seattle, Washington 98101

KEY WORDS: viral immunology, immune regulation, virus-host interaction

ABSTRACT

For decades cell biologists have relied on viruses to facilitate the study of complex cellular function. More recently, the tragedy of the AIDS epidemic has focused considerable human and financial resources on both virology and immunology, resulting in the generation of new information relating these disciplines. As the miracle of the mammalian immune system unfolds in the laboratory, the elegance of the mechanisms used by co-evolving viruses to circumvent detection and destruction by the host becomes inescapably obvious. Although many observations of virus-induced phenomena that likely contribute to the virus's escape of immune surveillance are still empirical, many other such phenomena have now been defined at the molecular level and confirmed in in vivo models. Immune modulators encoded within viral genomes include proteins that regulate antigen presentation, function as cytokines or cytokine antagonists, inhibit apoptosis, and interrupt the complement cascade. The identification of such gene products and the elucidation of their function have substantially strengthened our understanding of specific virus-host interactions and, unexpectedly, have contributed to the recognition of potent synergy between viruses, which can result in an unpredictable exacerbation of disease in co-infected individuals. Because many viral immune modulators clearly have host counterparts, viruses provide a valuable method for studying normal immune mechanisms. It is conceivable that an improved understanding of virus-encoded immunomodulators will enhance our ability to design reagents for use in therapeutic intervention in disease and in vaccine development.

INTRODUCTION

The clinical syndromes resulting from virus infection have interested scientists for centuries. The identification of virus particles as entities separate from bacteria, detailed serological classification, in vitro culture systems, and the development of animal models have solved much of the mystery surrounding mammalian virus infections. However, one of the most dramatic accomplishments in the field of virology unquestionably has been at the level of biochemistry, with the adventitious advances in nucleic acid sequencing.

While scientists today argue the ethics of determining the nucleotide sequence of the human genome, virologists have already moved forward, shamelessly laying open entire viral genomes for public scrutiny. The ease and reproducibility of nucleic acid sequencing techniques has allowed, among other things, more precise taxonomic classification, insight into transcription, translation, and replication mechanisms at both the viral and cellular level, and critical insight into viral epidemiology and vaccine development through the expression of recombinant, immunogenic viral proteins.

Evidence supporting sophisticated interactions between viruses and the immune systems of their hosts has increased, and attention has turned sharply toward many undefined viral genes known as open reading frames (ORFs). Computer-assisted comparisons of viral genome sequences against cumulative databases have revealed significant homology between several viral ORFs and mammalian genes whose products participate in immune or inflammatory cascades. In the last few years, many of these viral homologues have been confirmed as functional modulators of immune responses in vitro. Where viruses themselves can be genetically manipulated and animal models are available, some immune modulating ORFs play a role in the generation of virus pathogenesis in vivo. The identification of viral immune modulators is not restricted, however, to recognition of homology between viral ORFs and host genes. In fact, the elucidation of the function of a viral protein with no recognizable homology to known proteins can lead to the identification of novel mammalian gene products.

The mechanisms that viruses use to perpetuate themselves within the host appear reflected in the varied immune modulators known to be encoded in viral genomes. Such modulation includes selective regulation of host antigen presentation, production of growth factors that function on host cells, and antagonism of immune function through the use of soluble versions of cytokine receptors. In many cases, these viral proteins function to assist the virus in avoiding host immune surveillance, while in other instances they clearly function to protect the host from the sometimes deleterious effects of the virus-induced inflammatory response.

This chapter attempts to provide an overview of some of the more recently identified virus-encoded immune modulators. The functional descriptions in this text are arranged loosely in an order that might parallel the temporal progression of the cell-mediated arm of the adaptive immune response (e.g. antigen presentation, CTL formation, cytokine production, and apoptosis). Obviously, virus infections elicit potent, innate immune responses as well, and examples of functional virus-encoded complement protein homologues have existed for years. For the purposes of this chapter, however, the modulation of innate responses is addressed primarily at the level of antagonism of cytokines and chemokines. In addition, there are many examples of virus-specific regulators of the humoral response, including functional homologues of Fc receptors and the use of virus-specific host mimicry, which are not discussed here. Thus, this chapter does not provide a truly comprehensive description of the impressive work in the field of virus-host interactions. [Several specialty reviews addressing this rapidly expanding discipline have been written recently and are highly recommended reading (1-The final portion of this chapter touches upon the clinical considera-8).] tions that may arise as a result of the production of potent viral immune mediators during active infection, particularly in the immunocompromised patient.

REGULATION OF ANTIGEN PRESENTATION

Interference with MHC Class I Function

Cellular immunity has long been recognized as critical in the host control of virus infections. The recognition and subsequent destruction of infected cells by natural killer (NK) cells and virus-specific cytolytic T lymphocytes (CTL) provide a first line of defense against most viruses. Virus-specific CTL can be detected within a few days after infection and typically peak prior to production of high-affinity virus-specific antibody. CTL not only assist in virus clearance through the elimination of infected cells, but they are also required to control persistent virus infections, reactivation of latent infections, and virus-associated tumor growth.

Most virus-specific CTL recognize infected cells through their T cell receptor (TCR)–CD8 cell surface complex, which binds to the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules expressed on the surface of virtually all somatic cells. When a cell is infected, the MHC class I molecules display, or present, peptide antigens derived from degraded intracellular viral protein. CTL recognition of the foreign viral antigen in the context of the "self" MHC molecules leads to cellular activation, resulting in both lysis of the infected

104 SPRIGGS

cell and production of cytokines and other growth factors that allow for the expansion of the virus-specific CTL population.

A successful virus infection requires sufficient time for genome replication and production of infectious progeny in order to allow for systemic or cell-cell spread. CTL antigens often represent immediate early or early viral protein, i.e. protein made shortly after infection, prior to the onset of genome replication. Recognition of early protein-derived peptides might be advantageous because it facilitates the destruction of infected cells prior to production of progeny virions. However, examples of vigorous CTL responses against peptides derived from late viral antigens (i.e. viral proteins synthesized after onset of viral genome replication) have also been described and are also likely to be important in the control of virus spread within the host. Thus, it seems logical that a diminished CTL response might provide a selective advantage in the establishment of viral infection. Indeed, many viruses have evolved mechanisms for downregulation of class I MHC expression.

Lytic infection with many viruses, including herpesviruses, adenoviruses, and vaccinia virus (VV), can result in decreased surface MHC expression as a result of the overall shut off of host protein synthesis by the input virus. While this may represent an effective strategy for diminishing a CTL response, such cells die rapidly and therefore represent a limited resource to the infecting virus. Some viruses, however, have developed more subtle strategies for interfering with MHC expression.

Herpesviruses are considered among the most successful of viruses, with seroconversion rates of greater than 90% in some instances. Not surprisingly, herpesviruses are considered masters of host immune evasion, employing a variety of strategies that ultimately allow the establishment of latent infections and occasional reactivations that ensure efficient perpetuation of the virus within a population. Most herpesviruses exist in relative harmony with the host; however, during acute infection or reactivation, particularly in the immunocompromised individual, the virus-specific pathology is sufficiently severe to maintain the herpesviruses as a clinically relevant group.

Herpesviruses are grouped into three subfamilies, referred to as α -, β - and γ - herpesviruses. The α -herpesviruses include the prototypic herpes simplex virus (HSV) and varicella zoster virus (VZV), the causative agent of chicken pox and shingles. β -herpesviruses include murine cytomegalovirus (MCMV) and human cytomegalovirus (HCMV). HCMV infections are responsible for an array of clinical syndromes and are of particular concern in pregnant women and immunocompromised individuals such as transplant recipients and HIV-infected patients. The third group, the γ -herpesviruses, exhibit very strict host range, and latent infection of these viruses occurs only in lymphoid cells. This

subfamily includes Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), the causative agent of infectious mononucleosis, known also to be associated with some forms of Burkitt's lymphoma and nasopharyngeal carcinoma; a T-lymphotropic primate virus, herpesvirus saimiri (HVS); and the newly isolated herpesvirus associated with Kaposi's sarcoma (9). Both NK cells and CTL activity are necessary to maintain human herpesvirus infections in a subclinical form. Interference of normal T cell function can lead to virus reactivation (10–12). The modulation of MHC class I expression has been reported for HSV (13, 14), EBV (15–18), and CMV (7).

HSV provides an elegant example of interference with virus-specific CTL recognition through regulation of MHC class I/peptide complex expression. HSV-1 and HSV-2, like all herpesviruses, shut off MHC class I expression late in infection as a result of overall diminished host protein synthesis. Similarly, NK cells and CTL can be inactivated or killed as a result of cell-cell virus spread. However, more specific mechanisms are working in HSV: Researchers have found that anti-HSV-specific CTL isolated from infected patients are frequently CD4⁺, MHC class II restricted, rather than the more common CD8⁺, MHC class I-restricted type, and that HSV-infected fibroblasts are poorly recognized by HSV-specific CD8⁺ CTL (19, 20). This lack of recognition can be reversed by the addition of virus-specific peptide (19). York et al (21) have shown that MHC class I proteins are retained in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) of HSV-infected fibroblasts within 3 h post infection and, using HSV deletion mutants, that the protein product of the ICP47 gene is necessary for this retention. Furthermore, co-infection of human fibroblasts with recombinant adenoviruses expressing ICP47 and HCMV diminishes HCMV-specific CD8⁺ CTL recognition and killing compared to cells co-infected with a control recombinant adenovirus and HCMV, thus indicating that the ICP47 protein is also sufficient for the phenotype.

ICP47 is a cytosolic protein, which, coupled with the obvious block in MHC class I transport and maturation, suggests that the mechanism of inhibition of class I expression may be occurring at the level of association of peptide with nascent class I molecules. The TAP (transporter associated with antigen presentation) genes are localized within the MHC and include two distinct loci that encode the TAP1 and TAP2 proteins (22–24). The TAP proteins function as a heterodimeric complex (25, 26) binding to cytosolic peptides and facilitating their transport across the membrane and into the lumen of the ER, where they associate with class I/β_2 -microglobulin (β_2 m) heterodimers. The correct maturation and transport of MHC class I molecules is dependent on their association with peptide, and experiments from two independent groups have indicated that ICP47 interferes with the function of the TAP1/TAP2 complex.

106 SPRIGGS

Immunoprecipitation (27, 28) and immunofluorescence (27) experiments indicate that ICP47 co-localizes with the TAP1/TAP2 complex intracellularly. Using separate approaches, the two groups have unequivocally shown that the association of ICP47 with the TAP1/TAP2 complex inhibits the transport and association of peptide with MHC class I, resulting in rapid degradation of the empty class I molecules. To date, this is the only example of this type of regulation of antigen presentation by a virus, and it also represents the only known regulator of TAP function other than intracellular ATP levels.

More information on mechanisms of class I regulation has come from studies in HCMV. Previous work has implicated an HCMV ORF termed UL18 that exhibits significant homology to MHC class I (29) as playing a role in interfering with normal MHC class I transport and function (30-34). However, the creation of a mutant HCMV lacking a functional UL18 gene has resulted in a virus that is unimpaired in its ability to shut down the synthesis of mature MHC class I heterodimers following infection, indicating that the product of the UL18 gene is not responsible for the virus-specific decrease in class I expression (35). Recent work by Kim et al (36) has demonstrated that two separate loci, which function independently of one another, are responsible for the diminished class I phenotype of HCMV-infected cells. One of these loci encodes the early gene product US11, a 32-kDa cytosolic glycoprotein. Stable expression of US11 in human foreskin fibroblasts has resulted in decreased MHC class I expression as determined by western blot analysis. The exact mechanism remains to be determined; however, the cellular localization of US11 suggests that this gene may also function to inhibit the surface transport of MHC class I molecules, resulting in their rapid degradation. The function of the second locus involved in HCMV-mediated class I regulation has yet to be determined.

Other well-studied examples of MHC class I regulation by viruses are those utilized by various serotypes of adenoviruses. In humans, these viruses lytically infect epithelial cells and are responsible for various febrile respiratory syndromes. Adenoviruses are not believed to be oncogenic in humans; however, tumorigenicity of some serotypes in rodents has been clearly established (37).

An early observation by Kvist et al (38) indicated that a viral protein termed gp19 binds to MHC class I molecules in adenovirus type 2 transformed rat cells. The gp19 protein is encoded within the E3 region of the adenovirus genome, a term referring to a transcriptional unit containing approximately nine genes that are transcribed early after infection. The gp19 protein is a transmembrane protein (39), and the amino acid residues involved in binding to MHC class I have been mapped (40–42). This protein resides in the ER, presumably due to a retention signal in the cytoplasmic domain (43–46). The binding of gp 19

to nascent MHC class I heavy chains results in impaired intracellular transport as indicated by differential sensitivity to endoglycosidase H digestion and flow cytometric analysis of cell-surface expression (47–49). Interestingly, the gp19 protein appears to exhibit some allelic specificity of class I binding in both the murine and human systems (49–51). Whether this specificity plays a role in susceptibility to infection or manifestation of disease is unknown; however, such speculation is highly provocative.

In vitro studies from a number of different laboratories have shown that expression of the gp19 protein results in decreased sensitivity to virus-specific CTL killing in vitro (49, 50, 52, 53), suggesting that the downregulation of MHC class I by gp19 is one method by which adenoviruses might escape or delay the cell-mediated immune response. Consistent with this, one would predict that deletion of the gp19 gene from the adenovirus genome would result in the creation of a mutant virus that does not downregulate class I early after infection. This mutant virus should therefore be attenuated, likely being cleared more rapidly than wild-type virus due to enhanced CTL recognition. Interestingly, in vivo studies have indicated that this is not the case. Using an adenovirus-susceptible animal model, and human adenovirus type 5 mutant viruses defective for gp19 expression, Ginsberg et al (54) have reported an increased inflammatory response in animals infected with gp19-deleted viruses compared to animals infected with wild-type adenovirus, although there was no significant difference in mortality between the groups. The explanation for these results is not clear; however, due to the early onset of the inflammatory response in animals infected with the mutant virus, an altered cytokine response may have contributed to the enhanced pathogenicity (55).

In related studies, Grunhaus et al (56) expressed the adenovirus type 2 gp19 protein in recombinant VV and then used these viruses to infect either mice expressing H-2 haplotypes known to bind to the gp19 protein or mice expressing H-2 haplotypes that did not bind gp19. In these experiments, no detectable difference in virus replication, host lethality or CTL response was observed within the groups, compared to responses to control recombinant VV. The data from these two in vivo studies suggest some caution should be exercised in the interpretation of the function of gp19 based on in vitro results. However, it is also equally reasonable to assume that it may sometimes be difficult to interpret the analysis of a complex in vivo host immune response to viral infection in order to determine single gene function.

The E3 gp19 is not found in two adenovirus subgroups, A and F. Nonetheless, cells transformed with these viruses still downregulate MHC class I very early after infection. These viruses have developed an independent mechanism for regulation of class I that resides at the transcriptional level.

108 SPRIGGS

Tumors generated by adenovirus type 12 (Ad12), a highly oncogenic member of the A subgroup of adenoviruses, have been used to establish a direct correlation between tumorigenicity and decreased MHC class I expression (57-59). The Ad12 E1A region (an early transcriptional unit) contains a 13S mRNA required for the transcriptional downregulation of the MHC class I gene (60-63). Schouten et al (64) have recently shown that cells transformed with the Ad12 E1A region express reduced amounts of the p50 subunit of the transcription activating factor NF κ B. This p50 subunit arises as a result of the proteolytic processing of a 105-kDa precursor, termed p105-NFkB. While p105-NFkB is cytoplasmic, the p50 cleavage product is found primarily in the nucleus, where it is known to bind to gene regulatory sequences, including a class I regulatory element that functions as an enhancer for MHC class I promoters (65, 66). The overexpression of a cDNA encoding a truncated, active version of the p105-NF κ B that can substitute for wild-type p50 is able to reverse the Ad12 E1A-induced downregulation in transformed baby rat kidney cells. In addition, the adenovirus type 12 E1A region has been reported to decrease the transcription of the MHC-encoded peptide transporter genes TAP1 and TAP2 (67), although the mechanism of this regulation remains obscure.

The existence of MHC class I–associated negative regulatory nucleotide sequences that are able to bind viral proteins and turn off class I transcription has also been suggested. Deletion analysis of the mouse H-2K^b gene has been used to map regions required for downregulation of class I to sequences between -1.2 kb and -1.44 kb relative to the 5' cap site. These sequences appeared to bind adenovirus encoded and/or induced proteins, although those proteins have not been specifically identified (68, 69).

Regulation of MHC Class II Expression

In contrast to the ubiquitous MHC class I, MHC class II molecules are more restricted in their expression, being found primarily on antigen presenting cells such as dendritic cells, macrophages, B cells, and (in the human) activated T cells. MHC class II molecules typically display exogenously acquired peptides that are recognized by the TCR-CD4 complex, thereby activating T helper cells.

Very little evidence is available that suggests specific regulation of MHC class II expression following virus infection. Many viruses may indirectly regulate MHC class I and II expression through the release of virally encoded cytokines or antagonism of cytokines by virally encoded soluble cytokine receptors (discussed later in this chapter). However, recent work suggests that mechanisms other than regulation of expression may be used to modulate MHC class II function.

Lewandowski et al (70), using two strains of HSV that differ in their pathogenicity, have examined MHC class II expression following infection. HSV-1 strain F typically establishes a latent infection following intraocular inoculation (71– 74). In contrast, inoculation with HSV-2 strain KOS results in a lethal infection. Staining of microglial sections using a mAb specific for the murine MHC class II I-E gene product (the equivalent of the human HLA-DR protein) indicated aberrant, nuclear localization of MHC class II in KOS-infected cells, whereas normal cytoplasmic class II staining was observed for MHC class II in HSV-1 strain F infected cells.

Based on these results, it was postulated that the KOS-induced aberrant expression of cell-surface MHC could result in diminished antigen presentation during infection. As a result, T helper–cell activation and subsequent cytokine production would also be affected in KOS-infected animals. This hypothesis was examined using RNAse protection assays to ascertain levels of cytokine mRNA in brain tissue from HSV-2 KOS-infected animals compared to HSV-1–infected animals. Lewandowski et al have determined that KOS-infected samples have significantly diminished levels of IL-6 and γ interferon (γ IFN) transcripts compared to HSV-1–infected tissues, while both groups of animals have comparable levels of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) or IL-1 mRNAs. Although the cytokine mRNA detection was performed on whole brain tissue, these data have been interpreted to support the hypothesis that CD4⁺ T cells in KOS-infected mice are less activated during infection as a result of diminished MHC class II expression (75).

Another viral protein known to interact directly with MHC class II is the product of the BZLF2 ORF of EBV. BZLF2 encodes a type II membrane glycoprotein that is expressed late during lytic infection. The BZLF2 ORF, expressed in a recombinant form as a soluble Fc fusion protein, binds to β chains of the MHC class II locus. Inhibition of binding of soluble BZLF2 using mAbs to different MHC class II molecules indicates preferential binding to HLA-DR compared to HLA-DP or HLA-DQ. Direct binding studies on deletion mutants of the HLA-DR β chain demonstrate that BZLF2 recognition requires the β chain domain that participates in the formation of the peptide binding pocket, and in vitro assays indicate that the affinity of binding of soluble BZLF2 to peripheral blood lymphocytes is sufficient to block MHC class II-directed antigen presentation. The BZLF2 protein can bind to the HLA-DR heterodimer intracellularly as well as on the cell surface, and it may function to retain MHC class II in the ER. However, separate experiments have shown that BZLF2 is transported efficiently to the cell surface when co-expressed with two additional EBV glycoproteins, and that BZLF2-specific mAbs that block the interaction of this protein with MHC class II prevent the infection of MHC class II positive B lymphocytes (76). Thus, during normal EBV infection, BZLF2 may play a dual role, modulating class IIdirected antigen presentation and facilitating infection of class II positive cells.

110 SPRIGGS

In addition to the MHC regulation by viral proteins such as those described in this section, it should be remembered that regulation of MHC protein expression is also highly dependent upon cellular cytokines such as γ IFN and TNF, which are often produced in response to infection. Ultimately, then, the regulation of MHC expression in the infected cell may depend on both virus-encoded and virus-induced factors that exist in a dynamic state.

REGULATION OF THE CYTOKINE NETWORK

Viral Cytokines

Cytokines are potent, soluble proteins that play key roles in the induction and maintenance of inflammation, immune response, differentiation, and embryonal development. Many of these effects are a result of cytokine-mediated gene regulation. The description of a soluble factor that inhibits the production of cytokines produced by Th1-like murine T cells has led to the isolation of a cDNA encoding what is now called IL-10 (77, 78). The deduced amino acid sequence of human IL-10 (hIL-10) exhibits 78% identity overall to the putative product of the BCRF1 gene of EBV, a 17-kDa protein that is produced and secreted during the lytic phase of EBV infection (79, 80). Not surprisingly, hIL-10 and BCRF1 have similar biological functions. Recombinant hIL-10 and BCRF1 both inhibit monocyte/macrophage activation and subsequent cytokine synthesis, and the synthesis of γ IFN by T cells and NK cells, which interferes with γ IFN-induced upregulation of MHC class II on antigen presenting cells. In addition, they both inhibit other γ IFN-induced antiviral pathways such as nitric oxide production. In contrast to these inhibitory effects, both hIL-10 and BCRF1 are efficient stimulators of B cell proliferation in vitro (81). Thus, BCRF1 likely facilitates EBV replication through the activation of resting B cells and also assists EBV in escaping host immune surveillance by downregulating inflammatory cytokines.

Interestingly, while the biological effects of hIL-10 and BCRF1 are strikingly similar, they are not identical; they exhibit differential effects on various murine T and B cells (78, 82–84). Although it is possible that this merely reflects a difference in a diminished binding affinity of BCRF1 for the murine IL-10 receptor (mIL-10R) compared to that of hIL-10, additional data suggest that the explanation may be more complicated. Inhibition-of-binding studies indicate that BCRF1 exhibits a 100–1000-fold poorer affinity for the IL-10R α chain compared to the cellular cytokine. However, neutralizing mAb against the hIL-10R α (85) blocks the response of the hIL-10R transfectants to BCRF-1, demonstrating a requirement of the IL-10R α chain for BCRF-1 responses (KW Moore, personal communication). Taken together, a likely interpretation of these data is that the hIL-10R exists as a complex that consists of as yet unidentified proteins that can signal as a result of binding of BCRF-1.

Another example of a viral cytokine is found in HVS. Previous work has identified an mRNA derived from rodent T cells that was predicted to encode a 15–kD secreted protein. This mRNA contains nucleotide sequence motifs in its 3' untranslated region similar to those found in several cytokine mRNAs. These two observations suggested that this T cell–derived mRNA might represent a novel cytokine. A comparison of the sequence of this mRNA (which is referred to by its discoverers as CTLA8) with others in the cumulative database revealed significant homology between CTLA8 and the thirteenth ORF of HVS (HVS-13) (86).

These observations have been recently extended by Yao et al (87, 87a). Immunoprecipitation experiments using mAbs against recombinant HVS-13 protein have confirmed the presence of HVS-13 in HVS-infected cell supernatants (87). Cytokine-like activity for HVS-13 has been demonstrated by the induction of NF α B on, and IL-6 production by, fibroblast cell lines (87, 87a), and also by the ability of HVS-13 to costimulate murine T lymphocytes (87, 87a). A comparison of the biological activities of HVS-13 on either murine or human cell types suggests that HVS-13 is more potent on cells of human origin (87, 87a). This may reflect the fact that since HVS is a virus whose tropism is restricted to primates, HVS-13 likely represents the viral homologue of a human CTLA8-like molecule. At present, the precise function of HVS-13 in relation to HVS infection is unknown; however, its T cell mitogenic activity may facilitate the infection of these cells by HVS.

Viral Growth Factors

A series of growth factors has been identified among members of the poxvirus family. Poxviruses are large, DNA-containing viruses, and although they are no longer considered clinically relevant human pathogens, the family includes one of the most destructive historical viral pathogens, smallpox (variola virus), as well as one of the most successful vaccine immunogens, VV. Computer-assisted sequence comparisons identified significant homology between a 19-kDa VV protein (vaccinia growth factor, or VGF) and members of the epidermal growth factor (EGF) family. EGF and related molecules bind to a membrane glycoprotein receptor, and this ligand-receptor interaction can initiate cellular signaling cascades that include tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of second messenger systems. The most common biological response is a proliferative one by the cell engaging the EGF-like ligand. Like EGF, VGF binds the EGF receptor and is directly mitogenic (88–90). Deletion of the VGF gene from the VV genome and analysis of the mutant virus in the permissive chorioallantoic membrane model suggest that VGF may function to stimulate hyperplasia at the site

112 SPRIGGS

of infection, facilitating cell-cell spread of the poxvirus. Deletion of the VGF homologue in rabbit poxviruses and subsequent infection of rabbits indicate that the VGF gene product contributes to the pathogenicity of these viruses (91, 92).

Another group of poxviruses contains ORFs whose potential protein products are related to vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (93). VEGF mediates its activity through a specific receptor (94, 95) and plays an important role in angiogenesis. The poxviruses that carry these VEGF-related ORFs cause pustular dermal lesions that show vascular endothelial proliferation after virus infection of the natural hosts (96). Although the viral VEGF homologues are transcriptionally active, they have not yet been purified and analyzed directly for activity.

ANTAGONISM OF HOST CYTOKINES

Virus infection at the cellular level is seldom subtle, and the host response to these invading pathogens is typically robust. Most viruses induce cellular cytokines as a result of infection, particularly those cytokines of the IL-1, TNF, and IL-8 families. These cytokines are often referred to as exhibiting "antiviral" activity, which is perhaps not unexpected considering the pleiotropic nature of these immune regulators. What is surprising are the intricate, multilevel strategies employed by viruses to cope with host production of these potent cytokines.

Various soluble mammalian cytokine receptors have been identified in serum and urine. These receptors arise from alternative splicing, as in the case of the IL-4 receptor (R) (97); the IL-7R (98); and the GM-CSFR (99) or proteolytic cleavage from the cell surface, as for the IL-6R (100) and the TNFR (101). The functions of soluble cytokine receptors appear diverse. Many can bind to their respective ligands with high affinity, suggesting antagonism of activity by blocking the attachment of the cytokine to a signaling cell-surface receptor. Interestingly, binding of a cytokine to a soluble receptor can also work to extend the half-life of a cytokine in vivo, as was shown for the TNFR (102) and the IL-4R (103). The soluble IL-6R is unusual in that a complex of this receptor and IL-6 can act as an agonist of IL-6 activity by binding to gp130, the signal-transducing component of the IL-6R complex (104). Clearly, the function of the soluble receptor may vary with the cytokine, but in each case the modulation of cytokine activity occurs prior to the binding of the ligand to the cell. To date, the strongest argument for a physiological role for soluble mammalian cytokine receptors comes from the identification of specific virusencoded soluble receptors for several different cytokines.

The α (leukocyte) and β (fibroblast) IFN molecules (collectively referred to as type I IFNs) are induced by virtually every type of viral infection, presumably

through the induction of double-stranded RNAs (dsRNA). The type I IFNs mediate their antiviral activities through the induction of cellular proteins that in turn participate in RNA degradation, the inhibition of translation, and MHC antigen regulation (reviewed in 105). Two type I IFN receptors (IFNR) have been molecularly cloned (106–108), found to contain fibronectin-like repeats, and are considered members of the class II cytokine receptor family. Although both α and β IFN appear to bind to the same receptor (106, 108, 109), additional data indicating a functional dissociation of the IFN ligands (107, 110) suggest that another α/β receptor or associated chain may exist. The recent identification of a novel, soluble α/β IFNR in poxviruses (111, 112) lends strong support to the notion of an additional mammalian IFNR.

Supernatants from VV-infected, but not mock-infected, cells exhibit heterologous antiviral activity in that they can inhibit rhabdovirus infection of HeLa cells. Using a panel of deletion mutants of VV, the gene responsible for this phenotype has been mapped to a portion of the viral genome that contains two ORFs (111), both of which encode proteins whose predicted secondary structure classifies them as members of the immunoglobulin superfamily (113). One of these, B18R, is expressed at the surface of VV-infected cells (114) and in infected cell supernatants. The B18R protein was shown to bind α , β (111, 112) and ω (112) IFN from a broad species range (111). Although homology between B18R and the α subunits of the human type I IFNR have been reported (112), computer-assisted analysis of the B18R sequence strongly suggests an evolutionary relationship to the IL-1R or IL-6R (113, 115, 116). Thus, B18R represents an intriguing dilemma for structure-function experts. Does B18R represent an IL-1R-like molecule whose ligand-binding characteristics have been altered as a result of the more rapid evolution of the virus compared to the host? Or does it represent an unappreciated structural similarity between the IL-1R and cytokine receptor-like families (112)? The identification of a mammalian homologue for B18R and an analysis of its function will likely help solve these interesting questions.

Poxviruses also encode soluble receptors for type II IFN, or γ IFN, a cytokine produced by NK and T cells. Besides possessing autocrine functions, γ IFN activates macrophages, upregulating their MHC class II expression, and regulates B-lymphocyte differentiation (117). Like the type I IFNs, γ IFN also induces the cellular proteins that ultimately lead to the inhibition of translation and the RNA degradation associated with "antiviral" activity.

The first poxvirus γ IFNR was discovered when N-terminal sequencing of the most abundant protein in myxoma virus-infected cell supernatants allowed the identification of a viral ORF with limited, but significant, homology to the type II IFNR (118). Since then, homologues of the myxoma virus–encoded IFNR

114 SPRIGGS

have now been identified in a variety of poxviruses, including several strains of VV (119), smallpox (120, 121), and cowpox (122). These receptors appear to bind γ IFN in a fairly species-restricted manner (123). The poxvirus γ IFNRs exhibit very low overall homology to the murine or human type II IFNR, and whether these proteins represent viral homologues of the cloned mammalian receptor or a separate unidentified receptor is not clear.

Soluble, poxviral receptors have also been identified for TNF α and β (124) and for IL-1 β (115, 116). These receptors appear to bind with high affinity and exhibit species preference if not specificity (115, 116, 125). The viral TNFR is most closely related to the cloned p75 TNFR, and like this protein, the viral TNFR binds efficiently to both TNF α and TNF β (124). In contrast, the viral IL-1R is most closely related to the cloned type II IL-1R, but unlike that receptor, the viral IL-1R exhibits a clear preference for binding to IL-1 β compared to IL-1 α (115, 116).

Mutant viruses in which selective gene inactivation of the viral TNFR (myxoma virus) (126) or of the IL-1R (VV) (116) were generated and tested for altered pathogenicity in animal models. These in vivo studies are particularly interesting because they appear to illustrate two contrasting roles for virus-encoded soluble cytokine receptors. Infection of rabbits with the TNFR⁻ mutant myxoma virus results in dramatic attenuation of disease compared to wild-type infection (126). This suggests that the viral TNFR functions to antagonize the "antiviral" immune properties of TNF. In contrast to these results, the intranasal infection of mice using VV with a selectively inactivated IL-1 β R gene results in an increased morbidity, but not mortality, of infected animals (116). These latter experiments suggest that the viral IL-1 β R may function to protect the host from the deleterious effects of excessive production of IL-1.

Virus-encoded, membrane-bound chemokine receptors have been identified also. Chemokines are a family of soluble proteins that regulate numerous inflammatory responses. The chemokines are classified into two groups based on their structure: the C-C chemokines which include MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , MCP-1, and RANTES, and the C-X-C chemokines, which include IL-8, GRO, and NAP-2. HCMV contains an ORF termed US28 that exhibits 33% overall amino acid homology compared to the mammalian IL-8Rs. Expression of this US28 viral receptor in mammalian cells indicates that it binds members of the C-C family of chemokines and that it transduces a signal, suggesting that its function may not be antagonistic (127, 128). A similar ORF has been identified in the γ -herpesvirus, HVS. In contrast to the HCMV chemokine receptor, the HVS receptor binds members of the C-X-C family of chemokines, but not the C-C family (129). Unfortunately, no readily available animal models exist for either HCMV or HVS. Thus, the need for these functional chemokine receptors during infection is unknown. There is one report that the addition of exogenous IL-8 can enhance HCMV replication in fibroblastic cells in vitro (130); however, clearer understanding may require the use of single gene deletions and some form of in vivo model.

The importance of the IFNs, TNF, and IL-1 in the control of viral infection is evidenced by the additional, independent strategies employed by some viruses to modulate the effects of these cytokines. Poxviruses are known to contain two other genes whose protein products regulate the cellular processes induced as a result of IFN binding to its cellular receptor. The first strategy is represented by the VV E3L protein, which functions to inhibit IFN-induced shutoff of protein translation. The target of the E3L protein is dsRNA, and binding of E3L to this RNA successfully competes the binding of the dsRNA-dependent cellular kinase DAI (131–133). In order for the DAI kinase to phosphorylate and inactivate the elF2 α translation initiation factor, it must first bind to dsRNA, an interaction inhibited by the VV E3L protein. Similar anti-IFN activity has been documented for the reovirus σ 3 protein (134, 135).

The poxvirus K3L functions differently to inhibit DAI activity. This protein contains significant amino acid homology with the elF2 α protein and can function as a competitive substrate to DAI, which helps overcome the IFN-induced translational block (136–139).

Studies with the adenoviruses have revealed three viral gene products that function intracellularly to prevent TNF-mediated lysis of infected cells (reviewed in 140). Deletion analysis has identified the adenovirus genes responsible for this protection from TNF, but their exact function is still undetermined. One of these genes, the E1B 19K protein, is discussed more fully in the following section on regulation of apoptosis.

IL-1 β has also been targeted at the intracellular level by poxviruses. The product of the crmA gene in cowpox virus plays a role in the development of hemorrhagic pocks on virus-infected chorioallantoic membranes (141, 142). The crmA protein belongs to the serpin, or serine protease inhibitor, family of proteins (143). One of two identified substrates for crmA is the IL-1 β converting enzyme (ICE) (144–146), a protease responsible for the conversion of the inactive pro-form of IL-1 β to its active secreted form (147, 148). ICE is now known to be a multifunctional protease; however, its importance in the processing of IL-1 β and, surprisingly, also in the production of IL-1 α , is evidenced by the phenotype of mice in which the ICE gene has been disrupted (149). These mice are defective for mature IL-1 β production, have diminished IL-1 α compared to littermate controls, and are resistant to the induction of

endotoxic shock, a condition believed to result in large part from excessive IL-1 production. Thus, expression of the crmA protein likely functions during infection to inhibit the activity of ICE and, subsequently, to diminish production of mature IL-1 β . Recent evidence indicates that as a result of targeting the ICE protease, the crmA gene plays an additional and quite separate role in immune evasion (discussed further in the next section).

REGULATION OF APOPTOSIS

Apoptosis, or programmed cell death, is a process by which a cell dies in response to certain internal or external stimuli. Morphologically, cells undergoing apoptosis exhibit alterations in their plasma membrane and nuclear structure, including discrete endonucleolytic cleavage of their chromosomal DNA (reviewed in 150–153). This process is essential both in development of the organism and in maintaining a balance among differentiated or activated cells. CTL recognition of virus-infected cells results in a rapid, apoptotic death of the target cells, providing an obviously important mechanism for the elimination of virus-infected cells. In many cases, however, cells undergo apoptosis as a direct result of the establishment of an active infection. The internal signals that trigger apoptosis following infection are not well understood; however, much has been learned recently about the viral genes aimed at the inhibition of this premature cell death.

The DNA fragmentation during apoptosis (154) that is now well documented was observed several years ago during infection with mutant adenoviruses that contained a deletion of the E1B 19K gene, but not in cells infected with wild-type adenovirus (155–158) (The E1B 19K protein is distinct from the E1A 19K protein described previously in this chapter's section on regulation of antigen presentation, and the two proteins are related only at the level of an unfortunate nomenclature). The E1B 19K protein is expressed relatively early after infection and is one of the three genes involved in the establishment of resistance of adenovirus-infected cells to TNF-induced cytolysis (140, 159). Expression of the E1B 19K protein also protects cells from apoptotic cell death induced as a result of unrelated adenovirus proteins (160) and Fas activation (161).

This inhibition of apoptosis is similar to that seen when bcl-2, a cellular proto-oncogene, is expressed. The bcl-2 gene was originally isolated at a chromosomal breakpoint found in a follicular B cell lymphoma (162–164). It functions to protect cells from a variety of apoptosis-inducing stimuli in vitro, and the creation of transgenic mice expressing bcl-2 in thymocytes has indicated that bcl-2 functions similarly in vivo (165, 166). Surprisingly, these transgenic mice delete autoreactive T cells normally, suggesting that genes other than bcl-2 are important in the regulation of apoptosis. Experiments have since led to the

isolation of bcl-2 related molecules that are either similar to bcl-2 in function (167) or act in opposition to bcl-2 (167, 168). At least some members of the bcl-2 family are believed to form dimers, and the ratio of heterodimerization to homodimerization may determine the cellular survival following delivery of apoptotic stimuli (168). Experiments in which the bcl-2 gene is inserted into adenoviruses deleted for the E1B 19K protein have resulted in suppression of infection-induced apoptosis, indicating that bcl-2 can substitute for E1B 19K protein during adenovirus infection (169, 170). In an attempt to delineate the mechanism of both the bcl-2 and the E1B 19K proteins, a yeast two-hybrid system has identified cellular proteins that specifically bind these gene products (170). cDNA clones have been identified that encode three distinct proteins designated Nip 1, 2, and 3, and they bind specifically to both bcl-2 and E1B 19K. Deletional analysis of the bcl-2 and E1B 19K genes indicate that the Nip proteins bind to discrete regions of homology shared by bcl-2 and 19K. The exact function of the Nip proteins remains to be elucidated.

Again, using a yeast two-hybrid system, Farrow et al (171) have isolated a cellular gene called bak (bcl-2 homologous antagonist/killer), which shares 28% amino acid identity with bcl-2. The bak protein binds to the E1B 19K protein and to a previously isolated bcl-2 homologue, but not to bcl-2 itself (167). The activity of the bak protein opposes that of bcl-2, and when overexpressed, bak accelerates apoptosis (171–173). Thus, the adenovirus E1B 19K gene may bind to this apoptotic accelerator and render it nonfunctional. Some pieces of the puzzle are still missing, however, as bak is expressed constitutively in numerous cells and has not been demonstrated to be induced upon infection.

Apoptosis plays an important role in B cell development, limiting the life span of most B lymphocytes (174–176). The expression of bcl-2 has been implicated in the selection of memory B cells (177). EBV is a B-lymphotropic virus, and expression of the EBV latent proteins in Burkitt's lymphoma cells appears to enhance cellular survival in the presence of apoptotic stimuli (176). This enhanced survival occurs as a result of bcl-2 induction (178). This bcl-2 induction protects latently infected B cells but cannot inhibit apoptosis of naive B lymphocytes as a result of primary EBV infection. This responsibility seems to fall instead to an early expressed EBV ORF referred to as BHRF-1.

BHRF-1 shares approximately 25% identity with bcl-2 (179) and exhibits strong homology to other bcl-2 family members (180). Expression of the BHRF-1 gene in Burkitt's lymphoma cells (181) or in Chinese hamster ovary cells (182) protects them from numerous apoptotic stimuli, including growth factor depletion, cisplatin or mitomycin C treatment. Deletion of BHRF-1 from the EBV genome does not impair its ability to replicate in or transform B cells in vitro (183, 184), implying that the BHRF-1 inhibition of apoptosis is most

important during lytic infection, keeping the cell intact long enough to permit the production of the progeny virions.

The ability of EBV to upregulate bcl-2 in addition to encoding its own bcl-2 homologue underscores the sensitivity of B lymphocytes to destruction via apoptosis. EBV does not exclusively infect B lymphocytes, however; the virus lytically infects epithelial cells of the oropharynx, which under certain circumstances may also become transformed. This is believed to be what happens in EBV-associated nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Another EBV-associated, epithelial-derived tumor is oral hairy leukoplakia (OHL), a benign lesion of the mucosa of the tongue. OHL lesions are sites of chronic EBV replication and do not appear to express the EBV genes associated with latency (185, 186). The BHRF-1 gene is abundantly expressed in OHL (187), and BHRF-1-mediated inhibition of apoptosis may interfere with normal epithelial differentiation resulting in dysplasia (188). Transfection of the BHRF-1 gene into a human squamous cell line results in delayed commitment of these cells to terminal differentiation as well as in resistance to apoptotic stimuli. Thus, like its bcl-2 cousin, BHRF-1 may sometimes function as an oncogene.

Earlier in this chapter, the poxviral crmA gene product was described as a member of the serpin family that could inhibit the maturation of IL-1 β as a result of the inactivation of the ICE protease. ICE exhibits homology to the ced-3 protein (189). The ced-3, -4 and -9 genes, described in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans, are required for proper development of this organism. ced-3 and ced-4 are required for apoptotic processes, while ced-9 (which is a member of the bcl-2 family) acts as an antagonist of apoptosis. The homology between ced-3 and ICE has suggested that in addition to its activity on pro-IL-1 β , this mammalian protease may function in apoptosis (reviewed in 190). Overexpression of the ICE gene or the ced-3 gene in Rat-1 fibroblasts induces apoptosis in these cells, a process that is reversed by co-expression of either bcl-2 or the poxviral crmA gene (191). In other experiments, microinjection of the crmA gene into neuronal cells prevents their apoptotic cell death induced by nerve growth factor depletion (192). More recently, crmA was also shown to inhibit the activity of the CPP32 β protein (144), a mammalian homologue of ced-3 (144, 193), which may be critical in the induction of mammalian apoptotic processes. Taken together, these data suggest that the poxviral crmA protein represents a single protein whose acquisition facilitates virus infection by helping evade immune surveillance at diverse levels.

CLINICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Several virus proteins have now been identified that regulate the mammalian immune response. Some of these proteins have biochemical characteristics that suggest a therapeutic application. For example, the preferred affinity of the poxvirus-encoded soluble IL-1R for IL-1 β compared to IL-1 α might allow for a selective antagonism of an IL-1 β -mediated portion of an IL-1 response. Also, because the soluble form of the EBV-encoded BZLF-2 blocks MHC class II–directed antigen presentation in vitro, it may be able to function as a general immunosuppressant if administered systemically. Furthermore, the nonidentical binding characteristics, but similar biological properties, of the viral cytokines compared to their cellular counterparts may result in their being less toxic than cellular cytokines.

This chapter describes experiments in which specific immune-modulating genes were inactivated in viruses and the pathogenicity of the mutant virus compared to that of wild-type virus. The measurable differences in pathogenicity noted in diverse virus mutants have profound implications for vaccine development as they suggest that by putting in, or taking out, select viral immune regulators, one may intelligently design virus vaccines that exhibit enhanced safety and efficacy. This concept is supported by an analysis of data regarding postvaccinial complications that resulted from the use of different strains of VV during the global eradication of smallpox. The ORFs that encode the soluble cytokine receptors found in VV are not conserved in the five strains used most frequently as immunogens. Vaccine recipients of VV strains that contain the soluble IL-1 β R have fewer cases of postvaccinial encephalitis than those strains in which the IL-1 β R ORF is disrupted. Because postvaccinial neurological complications are believed to be caused primarily by a host inflammatory response to viral antigen, and because IL-1 is a potent inducer of the inflammatory cascade, the vaccine strains containing a functional IL-1 β R may be able to modulate a deleterious host IL-1 response (194).

Another consideration is the likelihood of direct clinical consequences arising as a result of the production of abundant, highly efficient, virus-encoded immune modulators by the infected patient. Although no direct data supports a role for virus-immune modulators in the exacerbation of disease in humans, information obtained from animal models strongly suggests that it likely occurs and that it may be particularly relevant in the immunocompromised host, where concurrent infection with multiple pathogens is common. For example, the avian models for co-infection of herpesviruses and retroviruses have been studies for several years using Marek's Disease Virus, a herpesvirus responsible for T cell lymphomas in chickens, and Avian Leukosis Virus, a retrovirus associated with a variety of neoplasms. Data obtained from this and related models clearly indicate that the production of viral protein by one pathogen can have profound effects on the transcription, replication, and tissue tropism of an unrelated virus infecting the same host (195 and references therein). The avian co-infection model closely parallels the reactivation of herpesviruses in the AIDS patient, which represents a naturally occurring, active co-infection of two unrelated virus types (herpesviruses and retroviruses). During acute outbreaks, the infected individuals carry unusually high virus burdens, often with both virus types replicating in the same cell. Building on the findings from the avian system (195), investigators have now shown definitive examples of synergy between herpesviruses such as HSV, HCMV, or HHV-6 and HIV. Interactions include activation of retroviral LTR sequences by promiscuous herpesviruses transactivators, herpesvirus-mediated induction of the transcription factor NF κ B (196–201), and in the case of HHV-6, specific upregulation of CD4 transcription, even in T cells which do not normally express CD4 (202). Thus, it is not unreasonable to postulate that virus-encoded MHC regulators, cytokines, cytokine antagonists, or inhibitors of apoptosis produced by one virus are likely to influence the outcome of disease caused by a co-infecting pathogen.

Synergistic interactions between different viruses may also be important where immunosuppression has been therapeutically induced. In these instances, the synergy may occur between different virus types within a given virus family. For example, the average incidence of reactivation of HCMV in renal allograft recipients is 85%, and in bone marrow recipients, the rate is approximately 60%. The pathology associated with HCMV reactivation in these populations includes fever, liver dysfunction, vasculitis, and lymphocytosis, making the pathogen a significant problem in transplant settings (203). Similarly, HHV-6 has a seroprevalence rate of over 85% and is increasingly recognized as a cause of hepatitis, encephalitis, pneumonia (204-206), and bone marrow suppression (207) in allograft recipients. Thus the probability is high that both of these herpesviruses will be reactivated simultaneously in the immunocompromised patient, resulting in high levels of virus replication, possibly in the same cell. Although these viruses are related, they are not identical, and each virus both carries and induces a unique set of immunomodulating proteins. This type of concurrent infection may introduce another variable worth considering when trying to predict clinical outcomes.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The identification of virus-encoded proteins that interact with the host immune system is a rapidly expanding area of viral immunology. The elucidation of the function of these virus molecules will assist in the understanding of viral pathogenesis, provide tools with which to study and manipulate the normal host immune response, allow the design of safer virus vaccines and virus-based drug delivery systems, and permit us to prepare for the future when new "emerging" viruses will inevitably again test our ability to cope with the unexpected.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author is indebted to David Cosman and David Fitzpatrick for critical reading of this manuscript, and to Anne C. Bannister for critical reading and expert editorial assistance. Thanks are also due to Kevin W. Moore, R. Mark, L. Buller, Grant McFadden, Marshall Horwitz, Thomas R. Jones, and Zhengbin Yao for generously providing unpublished information, and to Anne Kelso for helpful discussion regarding the organization of this manuscript.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Gooding LR. 1992. Virus proteins that counteract host immune defenses. *Cell* 71:5–7
- McFadden G, Kane K. 1994. How DNA viruses perturb functional MHC expression to alter immune recognition. *Adv. Cancer Res.* 63:117–209
- McFadden G, ed. 1995. Viroceptors, Virokines and Related Immune Modulators Encoded by DNA Viruses. Austin: RG Landes
- McFadden G, Graham K, Ellison K, Barry M, Macen J, Schreiber M, Mossman K, Nash P, Lalani A, Everett H. 1995. Interruption of cytokine networks by poxviruses: lessons from myxoma virus. J. Leukoc. Biol. 57:731–38
- Pickup DJ. 1994. Poxviral modifiers of cytokine responses to infection. *Infect. Agents Dis.* 3:116–27
- Spriggs MK. 1994. Cytokine and cytokine receptor genes 'captured' by viruses. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 6:526–29
- Banks TA, Rouse BT. 1992. Herpesviruses–immune escape artists? *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 14:933–41
- Marrack P, Kappler J. 1994. Subversion of the immune system by pathogens. *Cell* 76:323–32
- Chang Y, Cesarman E, Pessin MS, Lee F, Culpepper J, et al. 1994. Identification of herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma. *Science* 266:1865–69
- Doymaz MZ, Rouse BT. 1992. Immunopathology of herpes simplex virus infections. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 179:121–36
- 11. Moss DJ, Burrows SR, Khanna R, Misko

IS, Sculley TB. 1992. Immune surveillance against Epstein-Barr virus. *Semin. Immunol.* 4:97–104

- Rickinson AB, Murray RJ, Brooks J, Griffin H, Moss DJ, Masucci MG. 1992. T cell recognition of Epstein-Barr virus associated lymphomas. *Cancer Surv.* 13:53–80
- Jennings SR, Rice PL, Kloszewski ED, Anderson RW, Thompson DL, Tevethia SS. 1985. Effect of herpes simplex virus types 1 and 2 on surface expression of class I major histocompatibility complex antigens on infected cells. J. Virol. 56:757–66
- Kuzushima K, Isobe K, Morishima T, Takatsuki A, Nakashima I. 1990. Inhibitory effect of herpes simplex virus infection to target cells on recognition of minor histocompatibility antigens by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 144:4536–40
- Masucci MG, Torsteindottir S, Colombani J, Brautbar C, Klein E, Klein G. 1987. Down-regulation of class I HLA antigens and of the Epstein-Barr virus-encoded latent membrane protein in Burkitt lymphoma lines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:4567–71
- Masucci MG, Stam NJ, Torsteinsdottir S, Neefjes JJ, Klein G, Ploegh HL. 1989. Allele-specific down-regulation of MHC class I antigens in Burkitt lymphoma lines. *Cell. Immunol.* 120:396–400
- Andersson ML, Stam NJ, Klein G, Ploegh HL, Masucci MG. 1991. Aberrant expression of HLA class-I antigens in Burkitt lymphoma cells. *Int. J. Cancer* 47:544– 50
- Gavioli R, De Campos-Lima PO, Kurilla

MG, Kieff E, Klein G, Masucci MG. 1992. Recognition of the Epstein-Barr virus-encoded nuclear antigens EBNA-4 and EBNA-6 by HLA-A11-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes: implications for down-regulation of HLA-A11 in Burkitt lymphoma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:5862–66

- Koelle DM, Tigges MA, Burke RL, Symington FW, Riddell SR, et al. 1993. Herpes simplex virus infection of human fibroblasts and keratinocytes inhibits recognition by cloned CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Clin. Invest. 91:961–68
- Posavad CM, Rosenthal KL. 1992. Herpes simplex virus-infected human fibroblasts are resistant to and inhibit cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity. J. Virol. 66:6264– 72
- York IA, Roop C, Andrews DW, Riddell SR, Graham FL, Johnson DC. 1994. A cytosolic herpes simplex virus protein inhibits antigen presentation to CD8⁺ T lymphocytes. *Cell* 77:525–35
- Trowsdale J, Hanson I, Mockridge I, Beck S, Townsend A, Kelly A. 1990. Sequences encoded in the class II region of the MHC related to the 'ABC' superfamily of transporters. *Nature* 348:741–44
- Monaco JJ, Cho S, Attaya M. 1990. Transport protein genes in the murine MHC: possible implications for antigen processing. *Science* 250:1723–26
- 24. Spies T, Bresnahan M, Bahram S, Arnold D, Blanck G, et al. 1990. A gene in the human major histocompatibility complex class II region controlling the class I antigen presentation pathway. *Nature* 348:744–47
- Androlewicz MJ, Ortmann B, van Endert PM, Spies T, Cresswell P. 1994. Characteristics of peptide and major histocompatibility complex class *I/β*₂microglobulin binding to the transporters associated with antigen processing (TAP1 and TAP2). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:12716–20
- Arnold D, Driscoll J, Androlewicz M, Hughes E, Cresswell P, Spies T. 1992. Proteasome subunits encoded in the MHC are not generally required for the processing of peptides bound by MHC class I molecules. *Nature* 360:171–74
- Früh K, Ahn K, Djaballah H, Sempé P, van Endert PM, et al. 1995. A viral inhibitor of peptide transporters for antigen presentation. *Nature* 375:415–18
- Hill A, Jugovic P, York I, Russ G, Bennink J, et al. 1995. Herpes simplex virus turns off the TAP to evade host immunity.

Nature 375:411–15

- Beck S, Barrell BG. 1988. Human cytomegalovirus encodes a glycoprotein homologous to MHC class-I antigens. *Nature* 331:269–72
- Barnes PD, Grundy JE. 1992. Downregulation of the class I HLA heterodimer and β₂-microglobulin on the surface of cells infected with cytomegalovirus. J. Gen. Virol. 73:2395–403
- Beersma MFC, Bijlmakers MJE, Ploegh HL. 1993. Human cytomegalovirus downregulates HLA class I expression by reducing the stability of class I H chains. J. Immunol. 151:4455–64
- Browne H, Smith G, Beck S, Minson T. 1990. A complex between the MHC class I homologue encoded by human cytomegalovirus and β₂ microglobulin. Nature 347:770–72
- Yamashita Y, Shimokata K, Mizuno S, Yamaguchi H, Nishiyama Y. 1993. Downregulation of the surface expression of class I MHC antigens by human cytomegalovirus. *Virology* 193:727–36
- 34. Yamashita Y, Shimokata K, Saga S, Mizuno S, Tsurumi T, Nishiyama Y. 1994. Rapid degradation of the heavy chain of class I major histocompatibility complex antigens in the endoplasmic reticulum of human cytomegalovirus-infected cells. J. Virol. 68:7933–43
- Browne H, Churcher M, Minson T. 1992. Construction and characterization of a human cytomegalovirus mutant with the UL18 (class I homolog) gene deleted. J. Virol. 66:6784–87
- Kim H-J, Gatz C, Hillen W, Jones TR. 1995. Tetracycline repressor-regulated gene repression in recombinant human cytomegalovirus. J. Virol. 69:2565–73
- Horwitz MS. 1990. Adenoviridae and their replication. In *Virology*, ed. BN Fields, DM Knipe, pp. 1679–1722. New York: Raven
- Kvist S, Östberg L, Persson H, Philipson L, Peterson PA. 1978. Molecular association between transplantation antigens and cell surface antigen in adenovirustransformed cell line. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 75:5674–78
- Persson H, Jörnvall H, Zabielski J. 1980. Multiple mRNA species for the precursor to an adenovirus-encoded glycoprotein: identification and structure of the signal sequence. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 77:6349–53
- Gabathuler R, Lévy F, Kvist S. 1990. Requirements for the association of adenovirus type 2 E3/19K wild-type and

mutant proteins with HLA antigens. J. Virol. 64:3679–85

- 41. Hermiston TW, Tripp RA, Sparer T, Gooding LR, Wold WSM. 1993. Deletion mutation analysis of the adenovirus type 2 E3-gp19K protein: identification of sequences within the endoplasmic reticulum lumenal domain that are required for class I antigen binding and protection from adenovirus-specific cytotoxic Tlymphocytes. J. Virol. 67:5289–98
- Pääbo S, Weber F, Nilsson T, Schaffner W, Peterson PA. 1986. Structural and functional dissection of an MHC class I antigen-binding adenovirus glycoprotein. *EMBO J.* 5:1921–27
- Pääbo S, Bhat BM, Wold WSM, Peterson PA, 1987. A short sequence in the COOHterminus makes an adenovirus membrane glycoprotein a resident of the endoplasmic reticulum. *Cell* 50:311–17
- Nilsson T, Jackson M, Peterson PA. 1989. Short cytoplasmic sequences serve as retention signals for transmembrane proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Cell* 58:707–18
- Jackson MR, Nilsson T, Peterson PA. 1990. Identification of a consensus motif for retention of transmembrane proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. *EMBO J*. 9:3153–62
- Gabathuler R, Kvist S. 1990. The endoplasmic reticulum retention signal of the E3/19K protein of adenovirus type 2 consists of three separate amino acid segments at the carboxy terminus. J. Cell. Biol. 111:1803–10
- Andersson M, McMichael A, Peterson PA. 1987. Reduced allorecognition of adenovirus-2 infected cells. J. Immunol. 138:3960–66
- Burgert H-G, Kvist S. 1985. An adenovirus type 2 glycoprotein blocks cell surface expression of human histocompatibility class I antigens. *Cell* 41:987–97
- Burgert H-G, Kvist S. 1987. The E3/19K protein of adenovirus type 2 binds to the domains of histocompatibility antigens required for CTL recognition. *EMBO J.* 6:2019–26
- Tanaka Y, Tevethia SS. 1988. Differential effect of adenovirus 2 E3/19K glycoprotein on the expression of H-2Kb CK and H-2Db class I antigens and H-2Kb- and H-2Db-restricted SV40-specific CTL-mediated lysis. *Virology* 165:357– 66
- Severinsson L, Martens I, Peterson PA. 1986. Differential association between two human MHC class I antigens and

an adenoviral glycoprotein. J. Immunol. 137:1003–9

- Rawle FC, Tollefson AE, Wold WSM, Gooding LR. 1989. Mouse anti-adenovirus cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Inhibition of lysis by E3 gp19K but not E3 14.7K. J. Immunol. 143:2031–37
- 53. Rawle FC, Knowles BB, Ricciardi RP, Brahmacheri V, Duerksen-Hughes P, Wold WSM, Gooding LR. 1991. Specificity of the mouse cytotoxic T lymphocyte response to adenovirus 5. E1A is immunodominant in H-2^b, but not in H-2^d or H-2^k mice. J. Immunol. 146:3977–84
- Ginsberg HS, Lundholm-Beauchamp U, Horswood RL, Pernis B, Wold WSM, et al. 1989. Role of early region 3 (E3) in pathogenesis of adenovirus disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:3823–27
- Ginsberg HS, Moldawer LL, Sehgal PB, Redington M, Kilian PL, et al. 1991. A mouse model for investigating the molecular pathogenesis of adenovirus pneumonia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:1651– 55
- Grunhaus A, Cho S, Horwitz MS. 1994. Association of vaccinia virus-expressed adenovirus E3–19K glycoprotein with class I MHC and its effects on virulence in a murine pneumonia model. *Virology* 200:535–46
- Schrier PI, Bernards R, Vaessen RTMJ, Houweling A, van der Eb AJ. 1983. Expression of class I major histocompatibility antigens switched off by highly oncogenic adenovirus 12 in transformed rat cells. *Nature* 305:771–75
- Eager KB, Williams J, Breiding D, Pan S, Knowles B, et al. 1985. Expression of histocompatibility antigens H-2K, -D, and -L is reduced in adenovirus-12-transformed mouse cells and is restored by interferon γ. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:5525–29
- Graham FL. 1984. Transformation by and oncogenicity of human adenoviruses. In *The Adenoviruses*, ed. H Ginsberg, p. 339. New York: Plenum
- Ackrill AM, Blair GE. 1988. Regulation of major histocompatibility class I gene expression at the level of transcription in highly oncogenic adenovirus transformed rat cells. Oncogene 3:483–87
- Friedman DJ, Ricciardi RP. 1988. Adenovirus type 12 E1A gene represses accumulation of MHC class I mRNAs at the level of transcription. *Virology* 165:303–5
- Meijer I, Jochemsen AG, de Wit CM, Bos JL, Morello D, van der Eb AJ. 1989. Adenovirus type 12 E1A down regulates expression of a transgene under control of

a major histocompatibility complex class I promoter: evidence for transcriptional control. J. Virol. 63:4039–42

- Meijer I, van Dam H, Boot AJM, Bos JL, Zantema A, van der Eb AJ. 1991. Coregulated expression of junB and MHC class I genes in adenovirus-transformed cells. *Oncogene* 6:911–16
- Schouten GJ, van der Eb AJ, Zantema A. 1995. Downregulation of MHC class I expression due to interference with p105-NFk B1 processing by Ad12E1A. EMBO J. 1498–1507
- Fan C-M, Maniatis T. 1991. Generation of p50 subunit of NF-κ B by processing of p105 through an ATP-dependent pathway. *Nature* 354:395–98
- Blank V, Kourilsky P, Israël A. 1991. Cytoplasmic retention, DNA binding and processing of the NF-*κ*B p50 precursor are controlled by a small region in its Cterminus. *EMBO J.* 10:4159–67
- Rotem-Yehudar R, Winograd S, Sela S, Coligan JE, Ehrlich R. 1994. Downregulation of peptide transporter genes in cell lines transformed with the highly oncogenic adenovirus 12. J. Exp. Med. 180:477–88
- Katoh S, Ozawa K, Kondoh S, Soeda E, Israel A, et al. 1990. Identification of sequences responsible for positive and negative regulation by E1A in the promoter of H-2K^{bm1} class I MHC gene. *EMBO J.* 9:127–35
- Proffitt JL, Sharma E, Blair GE. 1994. Adenovirus 12-mediated down-regulation of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I promoter: identification of a negative regulatory element responsive to Ad12 E1A. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22:4779–88
- Lewandowski GA, Lo D, Bloom FE. 1993. Interference with major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted antigen presentation in the brain by herpes simplex virus type 1: a possible mechanism of evasion of the immune response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:2005–9
- Cabrera CV, Wohlenberg C, Openshaw H, Rey-Mendez M, Puga A, Notkins L. 1980. Herpes simplex virus DNA sequences in the CNS of latently infected mice. *Nature* 288:288–93
- Rock DL, Fraser NW. 1983. Detection of HSV-1 genome in central nervous system of latently infected mice. *Nature* 302:523– 25
- Deatly AM, Spivack JG, Lavi E, O'Boyle DR II, Fraser NW. 1988. Latent herpes simplex virus type 1 transcripts in periph-

eral and central nervous system tissues of mice map to similar regions of the viral genome. *J. Virol.* 62:749–56

- 74. Stroop WG, Banks MC. 1992. The weakly virulent herpes simplex virus type 1 strain KOS-63 establishes peripheral and central nervous system latency following intranasal infection of rabbits, but poorly reactivates in vivo. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 51:550–59
- Lewandowski G, Hobbs MV, Bloom FE. 1994. Alteration of intracerebral cytokine production in mice infected with herpes simplex virus types 1 and 2. J. Neuroimmunol. 55:23–34
- 76. Li Z, Turk SM, Hutt-Fletcher LM. 1995. The Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) BZLF2 gene product associates with the gH and gL homologs of EBV and carries an epitope critical to infection of B cells but not of epithelial cells. J. Virol. 69:3987–94
- Ho AS-Y, Moore KW. 1994. Interleukin-10 and its receptor. *Ther. Immunol.* 1:173– 85
- Moore KW, O'Garra A, de Waal Malefyt R, Vieira P, Mosmann TR. 1993. Interleukin-10. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 11:165–90
- Swaminathan S, Hesselton R, Sullivan J, Kieff E. 1993. Epstein-Barr virus recombinants with specifically mutated BCRF1 genes. J. Virol. 67:7406–13
- Ryon JJ, Hayward SD, Mac Mahon EM, Mann RB, Ling Y, et al. 1993. In situ detection of lytic Epstein-Barr virus infection: expression of the NotI early gene and viral interleukin-10 late gene in clinical specimens. J. Infect. Dis. 168:345–51
- Rousset F, Garcia E, Defrance T, Péronne C, Vezzio N, et al. 1992. Interleukin 10 is a potent growth and differentiation factor for activated human B lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:1890–93
- Go NF, Castle BE, Barrett R, Kastelein R, Dang W, et al. 1990. Interleukin 10, a novel B cell stimulatory factor: unresponsiveness of X chromosome-linked immunodeficiency B cells. J. Exp. Med. 172:1625–31
- MacNeil IA, Suda T, Moore KW, Mosmann TR, Zlotnik A. 1990. IL-10, a novel growth cofactor for mature and immature T cells. *J. Immunol.* 145:4167–73
- Swaminathan S, Kieff E. 1995. The role of BCRF1/vIL-10 in the life cycle of Epstein-Barr virus. In Viroceptors, Virokines and Related Immune Modulators, ed. G McFadden, pp. 111–25. Austin: RG Landes
- 85. Liu Y, Wei SH-Y, Ho AS-Y, de Waal

Malefyt R, Moore KW. 1994. Expression cloning and characterization of a human IL-10 receptor. J. Immunol. 152:1821–29

- Rouvier E, Luciani MF, Mattéi MG, Denizot F, Golstein P. 1993. CTLA-8, cloned from an activated T cell, bearing AU-rich messenger RNA instability sequences, and homologous to a herpesvirus saimiri gene. J. Immunol. 150:5445–56
- Yao Z, Fanslow WC, Seldin MF, Rousseau A-M, Painter SL, et al. 1995. Herpesvirus saimiri encodes a new cytokine, IL-16, involved in normal immune regulation, which binds to a novel cytokine receptor. *Immunity*. In press
- 87a. Fossiez F, Djossou O, Chomarat P, Ait-Yahia S, Maat C, Pin JJ, Garrone P, Garcia E, Saeland S, Blanchard D, Gaillard C, Ronview E, Golstein P, Banchereau J, Lebecque S. 1995. Human CTLA8: a novel cytokine with proinflammatory activities. Submitted
- Stroobant P, Rice AP, Gullick WJ, Cheng DJ, Kerr IM, Waterfield MD. 1985. Purification and characterization of vaccinia virus growth factor. *Cell* 42:383–93
- Twardzik DR, Brown JP, Ranchalis JE, Todaro GJ, Moss B. 1985. Vaccinia virusinfected cells release a novel polypeptide functionally related to transforming and epidermal growth factors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:5300–4
- King CS, Cooper JA, Moss B, Twardzik DR. 1986. Vaccinia virus growth factor stimulates tyrosine protein kinase activity of A431 cell epidermal growth factor receptors. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 6:332–36
- Opgenorth A, Graham K, Nation N, Strayer D, McFadden G. 1992. Deletion analysis of two tandemly arranged virulence genes in myxoma virus, M1L and myxoma growth factor. J. Virol. 66:4720– 31
- Opgenorth A, Strayer D, Upton C, Mc-Fadden G. 1992. Deletion of the growth factor gene related to EGF and TGFα reduces virulence of malignant rabbit fibroma virus. *Virology* 186:175–91
- Lyttle DJ, Fraser KM, Fleming SB, Mercer AA, Robinson AJ. 1994. Homologs of vascular endothelial growth factor are encoded by the poxvirus orf virus. J. Virol. 68:84–92
- de Vries C, Escobedo JA, Ueno H, Houck K, Ferrara N, Williams LT. 1992. The fmslike tyrosine kinase, a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Science* 255:989–91
- Millauer B, Wizigmann-Voos S, Schnürch H, Martinez R, Møller NP, et al. 1993.

High affinity VEGF binding and developmental expression suggest Flk-1 as a major regulator of vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. *Cell* 72:835–46

- Robinson AJ, Lyttle DJ. 1992. Parapoxviruses, their biology and potential as recombinant vaccines. In *Recombinant Poxviruses*, ed. MM Binns, GL Smith, pp. 287–327. Boca Raton: CRC
- Mosley B, Beckmann MP, March CJ, Idzerda RL, Gimpel SD, et al. 1989. The murine interleukin-4 receptor: molecular cloning and characterization of secreted and membrane bound forms. *Cell* 59:335– 48
- Goodwin RG, Friend D, Ziegler SF, Jerzy R, Falk BA, et al. 1990. Cloning of the human and murine interleukin-7 receptors: demonstration of a soluble form and homology to a new receptor superfamily. *Cell* 60:941–51
- Ashworth A, Kraft A. 1990. Cloning of a potentially soluble receptor for human GM-CSF. Nucleic Acids Res. 18:7178
- Novick D, Engelmann H, Wallach D, Leitner O, Revel M, Rubinstein M. 1990. Purification of soluble cytokine receptors from normal human urine by ligandaffinity and immunoaffinity chromatography. J. Chromatogr. 510:331–37
- 101. Nophar Y, Kemper O, Brakebusch C, Englemann H, Zwang R, et al. 1990. Soluble forms of tumor necrosis factor receptors (TNF-Rs). The cDNA for the type I TNF-R, cloned using amino acid sequence data of its soluble form, encodes both the cell surface and a soluble form of the receptor. *EMBO J.* 9:3269–78
- 102. Mohler KM, Torrance DS, Smith CA, Goodwin RG, Stremler KE, et al. 1993. Soluble tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptors are effective therapeutic agents in lethal endotoxemia and function simultaneously as both TNF carriers and TNF antagonists. J. Immunol. 151:1548–61
- Fernandez-Botran R, Vitetta ES. 1991. Evidence that natural murine soluble interleukin 4 receptors may act as transport proteins. J. Exp. Med. 174:673–81
- Kishimoto T, Akira S, Taga T. 1992. Interleukin-6 and its receptor: a paradigm for cytokines. *Science* 258:593–97
- Samuel CE. 1991. Antiviral actions of interferon. Interferon-regulated cellular proteins and their surprisingly selective antiviral activities. *Virology* 183:1–11
- 106. Uzé G, Lutfalla G, Bandu M-T, Proudhon D, Mogensen KE. 1992. Behavior of a cloned murine interferon α/β receptor expressed in homospecific or heterospe-

cific background. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89:4774–78

- Uzé G, Lutfalla G, Gresser I. 1990. Genetic transfer of a functional human interferon α receptor into mouse cells: cloning and expression of its cDNA. *Cell* 60:225–34
- Novick D, Cohen B, Rubinstein M. 1994. The human interferon α/β receptor: characterization and molecular cloning. *Cell* 77:391–400
- 109. Merlin G, Falcoff E, Aguet M. 1985. ¹²⁵I-labelled human interferons α, β and γ: comparative receptor-binding data. J. Gen. Virol. 66:1149–52
- Pellegrini S, John J, Shearer M, Kerr IM, Stark GR. 1989. Use of a selectable marker regulated by alpha interferon to obtain mutations in the signaling pathway. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 9:4605–12
- 111. Symons JA, Alcamí A, Smith GL. 1995. Vaccinia virus encodes a soluble type I interferon receptor of novel structure and broad species specificity. *Cell* 81:551–60
- 112. Colamonici OR, Domanski P, Sweitzer SM, Larner A, Buller RML. 1995. Vaccinia virus B18R gene encodes a type I interferon-binding protein that blocks interferon α transmembrane signaling. J. Biol. Chem. 270:15,974–78
- 113. Smith GL, Chan YS. 1991. Two vaccinia virus proteins structurally related to the interleukin-1 receptor and the immunoglobulin superfamily. J. Gen. Virol. 72:511–18
- 114. Ueda Y, Morikawa S, Matsuura Y. 1990. Identification and nucleotide sequence of the gene encoding a surface antigen induced by vaccinia virus. *Virology* 177:588–94
- 115. Spriggs MK, Hruby DE, Maliszewski CR, Pickup DJ, Sims JE, et al. 1992. Vaccinia and cowpox viruses encode a novel secreted interleukin-1-binding protein. *Cell* 71:145–52
- 116. Alcamí A, Smith GL. 1992. A soluble receptor for interleukin-1 β encoded by Vaccinia virus: a novel mechanism of virus modulation of the host response to infection. *Cell* 71:153–67
- 117. Farrar MA, Schreiber RD. 1993. The molecular cell biology of interferongamma and its receptor. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 11:571–611
- Upton C, Mossman K, McFadden G. 1992. Encoding of a homolog of the IFN- γ receptor by myxoma virus. *Science* 258:1369–72
- Goebel SJ, Johnson GP, Perkus ME, Davis SW, Winslow JP, Paoletti E. 1990.

The complete DNA sequence of vaccinia virus. *Virology* 179:247–66

- Shchelkunov SN, Blinov VM, Sandakhchiev LS. 1993. Genes of variola and vaccinia viruses necessary to overcome the host protective mechanisms. *FEBS Lett.* 319:80–3
- Massung RF, Esposito JJ, Liu L-I, Qi J, Utterback TR, et al. 1993. Potential virulence determinants in terminal regions of variola smallpox virus genome. *Nature* 366:748–51
- 122. Mossman K, Barry M, McFadden G. 1995. Interferon-γ receptors encoded by poxviruses. In Viroceptors, Virokines and Related Immune Modulators Encoded by DNA Viruses, ed. GMcFadden, pp. 41–54. Austin: RG Landes
- 123. Mossman K, Upton C, McFadden G. 1995. The myxoma virus-soluble interferon-γ receptor homolog, M-T7, inhibits interferon-gamma in a speciesspecific manner. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 3031–38
- 124. Smith CA, Davis T, Wignall JM, Din WS, Farrah T, et al. 1991. T2 open reading frame from the shope fibroma virus encodes a soluble form of the TNF receptor. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 176:335– 42
- 125. Schreiber M, McFadden G. 1994. The myxoma virus TNF-receptor homologue (T2) inhibits tumor necrosis factor-α in a species-specific fashion. *Virology* 204:692–705
- Upton C, Macen JL, Schreiber M, McFadden G. 1991. Myxoma virus expresses a secreted protein with homology to the tumor necrosis factor receptor gene family that contributes to viral virulence. *Virol*ogy 184:370–82
- 127. Gao J-L, Murphy PM. 1994. Human cytomegalovirus open reading frame US28 encodes a functional β chemokine receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 269:28539–42
- Neote K, DiGregorio D, Mak JY, Horuk R, Schall TJ. 1993. Molecular cloning, functional expression, and signaling characteristics of a C-C chemokine receptor. *Cell* 72:415–25
- Ahuja SK, Murphy PM. 1993. Molecular piracy of mammalian interleukin-8 receptor type B by herpesvirus saimiri. J. Biol. Chem. 268:20691–94
- Murayama T, Kuno K, Jisaki F, Obuchi M, Sakamuro D, et al. 1994. Enhancement of human cytomegalovirus replication in a human lung fibroblast cell line by interleukin-8. J. Virol. 68:7582–85
- 131. Akkaraju GR, Whitaker-Dowling P,

Youngner JS, Jagus R. 1989. Vaccinia specific kinase inhibitory factor prevents translational inhibition by doublestranded RNA in rabbit reticulocyte lysate. J. Biol. Chem. 264:10321–25

- 132. Chang H-W, Watson JC, Jacobs BL. 1992. The *E3L* gene of vaccinia virus encodes an inhibitor of the interferon-induced, double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:4825–29
- 133. Watson JC, Chang H-W, Jacobs BL. 1991. Characterization of a vaccinia virusencoded double-stranded RNA-binding protein that may be involved in inhibition of the double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase. *Virology* 185:206–16
- Beattie E, Denzler KL, Tartaglia J, Perkus ME, Paoletti E, Jacobs BL. 1995. Reversal of the interferon-sensitive phenotype of a vaccinia virus lacking *E3L* by expression of the reovirus S4 gene. J. Virol. 69:499– 505
- Imani F, Jacobs BL. 1988. Inhibitory activity for the interferon-induced protein kinase is associated with the reovirus serotype 1o³ protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85:7887–91
- Beattie E, Tartaglia J, Paoletti E. 1991. Vaccinia virus-encoded eIF-2α homolog abrogates the antiviral effect of interferon. *Virology* 183:419–22
- 137. Davies MV, Elroy-Stein O, Jagus R, Moss B, Kaufman RJ. 1992. The vaccinia virus K3L gene product potentiates translation by inhibiting double-stranded-RNAactivated protein kinase and phosphorylation of the alpha subunit of eukaryotic initiation factor 2. J. Virol. 66:1943–50
- 138. Davies MV, Chang H-W, Jacobs BL, Kaufman RJ. 1993. The *E3L* and K3L vaccinia virus gene products stimulate translation through inhibition of the double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase by different mechanisms. *J. Virol.* 67:1688–92
- 139. Carroll K, Elroy-Stein O, Moss B, Jagus R. 1993. Recombinant vaccinia virus K3L gene product prevents activation of double-stranded RNA-dependent, initiation factor 2α-specific protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 268:12837–42
- 140. Wold WSM, Gooding LR. 1991. Region E3 of adenovirus: a cassette of genes involved in host immunosurveillance and virus-cell interactions. *Virology* 184:1–8
- 141. Pickup DJ, Ink BS, Parsons BL, Hu W, Joklik WK. 1984. Spontaneous deletions and duplications of sequences in the genome of cowpox virus. *Proc. Natl.*

Acad. Sci. USA 81:6817-21

- Archard LC, Mackett M, Barnes DE, Dumbell KR. 1984. The genome structure of cowpox virus white pock variants. J. Gen. Virol. 65:875–86
- 143. Pickup DJ, Ink BS, Hu W, Ray CA, Joklik WK. 1986. Hemorrhage in lesions caused by cowpox virus is induced by a viral protein that is related to plasma protein inhibitors by serine proteases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83:7698–702
- 144. Tewari M, Quan LT, O'Rourke K, Desnoyers S, Zeng Z, et al. 1995. Yama/ CPP32β, a mammalian homolog of ced-3, is a crmA-inhibitable protease that cleaves the death substrate poly(ADPribose) polymerase. *Cell* 81:801–9
- 145. Ray CA, Black RA, Kronheim SR, Greenstreet TA, Sleath PR, et al. 1992. Viral inhibition of inflammation: cowpox virus encodes an inhibitor of the interleukin-1β converting enzyme. *Cell* 69:597–604
- 146. Komiyama T, Ray CA, Pickup DJ, Howard AD, Thornberry NA, et al. 1994. Inhibition of interleukin-1β converting enzyme by the cowpox virus serpin CrmA. An example of cross-class inhibition. J. Biol. Chem. 269:19331–37
- Cerretti DP, Kozlosky CJ, Mosley B, Nelson N, Van Ness K, et al. 1992. Molecular cloning of the interleukin-1β converting enzyme. *Science* 256:97–100
- 148. Thornberry NA, Bull HG, Calaycay JR, Chapman KT, Howard AD, et al. 1992. A novel heterodimeric cysteine protease is required for interleukin-1β processing in monocytes. *Nature* 356:768–74
- 149. Li P, Allen H, Banerjee S, Franklin S, Herzog L, et al. 1995. Mice deficient in IL-1β-converting enzyme are defective in production of mature IL-1β and resistant to endotoxic shock. *Cell* 80:401–11
- Ellis RE, Yuan J, Horvitz HR. 1991. Mechanisms and functions of cell death. *Annu. Rev. Cell Biol.* 7:663–98
- Vaux DL, Haecker G, Strasser A. 1994. An evolutionary perspective on apoptosis. *Cell* 76:777–79
- Squier MKT, Sehnert AJ, Cohen JJ. 1995. Apoptosis in leukocytes. J. Leukocyte Biol. 57:2–10
- 153. Williams GT. 1994. Apoptosis in the immune system. J. Pathol. 173:1–4
- Wyllie AH. 1980. Glucocorticoidinduced thymocyte apoptosis is associated with endogenous endonuclease activation. *Nature* 284:555–56
- 155. Subramanian T, Kuppuswamy M, Gysbers J, Mak S, Chinnadurai G. 1984. 19kDa tumor antigen coded by early region

Elb of adenovirus 2 is required for efficient synthesis and for protection of viral DNA *J Biol. Chem.* 259:11777–83

- 156. White E, Grodzicker T, Stillman BW. 1984. Mutations in the gene encoding the adenovirus early region 1B 19,000molecular-weight tumor antigen cause the degradation of chromosomal DNA J. *Virol.* 52:410–19
- 157. Pilder S, Logan J, Shenk T. 1984. Deletion of the gene encoding the adenovirus 5 early region 1b 21,000-molecular-weight polypeptide leads to degradation of viral and host cell DNA J. Virol. 52:664–71
- Ezoe H, Fatt RB, Mak S. 1981. Degradation of intracellular DNA in KB cells infected with cyt mutants of human adenovirus type 12. J. Virol. 40:20–27
- 159. White E, Sabbatini P, Debbas M, Wold WSM, Kusher DI, Gooding LR. 1992. The 19-kilodalton adenovirus E1B transforming protein inhibits programmed cell death and prevents cytolysis by tumor necrosis factor α. Mol. Cell. Biol. 12:2570–80
- 160. Rao L, Debbas M, Sabbatini P, Hockenbery D, Korsmeyer S, White E. 1992. The adenovirus E1A proteins induce apoptosis, which is inhibited by the E1B 19-kDa and Bc1-2 proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 89:7742–46
- 161. Hashimoto S, Ishii A, Yonehara S. 1991. The E1b oncogene of adenovirus confers cellular resistance to cytotoxicity of tumor necrosis factor and monoclonal anti-Fas antibody. *Int. Immunol.* 3:343–51
- Tsujimoto Y, Gorham J, Cossman J, Jaffe E, Croce CM. 1985. The t(14;18) chromosome translocations involved in B-cell neoplasms result from mistakes in VDJ joining. *Science* 229:1390–93
- 163. Bakhshi A, Jensen JP, Goldman P, Wright JJ, McBride OW, et al. 1985. Cloning the chromosomal breakpoint of t(14;18) human lymphomas: clustering around J_H on chromosome 14 and near a transcriptional unit on 18. *Cell* 41:899–906
- 164. Cleary ML, Sklar J. 1985. Nucleotide sequence of a t(14;18) chromosomal breakpoint in follicular lymphoma and demonstration of a breakpoint-cluster region near a transcriptionally active locus on chromosome 18. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 82:7439–43
- 165. Sentman CL, Shutter JR, Hockenbery D, Kanagawa O, Korsmeyer SJ. 1991. *bcl-2* inhibits multiple forms of apoptosis but not negative selection in thymocytes. *Cell* 67:879–88
- 166. Strasser A, Harris AW, Cory S. 1991.

bcl-2 transgene inhibits T cell death and perturbs thymic self-censorship. *Cell* 67:889–99

- 167. Boise LH, González-García M, Postema CE, Ding L, Lindsten T, et al. 1993. *bcl-x*, a *bcl-2*-related gene that functions as a dominant regulator of apoptotic cell death. *Cell* 74:597–608
- Oltvai ZN, Milliman CL, Korsmeyer SJ. 1993. Bcl-2 heterodimerizes in vivo with a conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. *Cell* 74:609–19
- 169. Chiou S-K, Tseng C-C, Rao L, White E. 1994. Functional complementation of the adenovirus E1B 19-kilodalton protein with Bcl-2 in the inhibition of apoptosis in infected cells. J. Virol. 68:6553–66
- 170. Boyd JM, Malstrom S, Subramanian T, Venkatesh LK, Schaeper U, et al. 1994. Adenovirus E1B 19 kDa and Bcl-2 proteins interact with a common set of cellular proteins. *Cell* 79:341–51
- 171. Farrow SN, White JHM, Martinou I, Raven T, Pun K-T, et al. 1995. Cloning of a *bcl-2* homologue by interaction with adenovirus E1B 19K. *Nature* 374:731–33
- 172. Chittenden T, Harrington EA, O'Connor R, Flemington C, Lutz RJ, et al. 1995. Induction of apoptosis by the Bcl-2 homologue Bak. *Nature* 374:733–36
- 173. Kiefer MC, Brauer MJ, Powers VC, Wu JJ, Umansky SR, et al. 1995. Modulation of apoptosis by the widely distributed Bcl-2 homologue Bak. *Nature* 374:736–39
- 174. Opstelten D, Osmond DG. 1983. Pre-B cells in mouse bone marrow: immunofluorescence stathmokinetic studies of the proliferation of cytoplasmic μchain-bearing cells in normal mice. J. Immunol. 131:2635–40
- Mac Lennan IC, Gray D. 1986. Antigendriven selection of virgin and memory B cells. *Immunol. Rev.* 91:61–85
- 176. Gregory CD, Dive C, Henderson S, Smith CA, Williams GT, et al. 1991. Activation of Epstein-Barr virus latent genes protects human B cells from death by apoptosis. *Nature* 349:612–14
- 177. Liu Y-J, Mason DY, Johnson GD, Abbot S, Gregory CD, et al. 1991. Germinal center cells express *bcl-2* protein after activation by signals which prevent their entry into apoptosis. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 21:1905–10
- 178. Henderson S, Rowe M, Gregory C, Croom-Carter D, Wang F, et al. 1991. Induction of *bcl-2* expression by Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein 1 protects infected B cells from programmed cell death. *Cell* 65:1107–15
- 179. Cleary ML, Smith SD, Sklar J. 1986.

Cloning and structural analysis of cD-NAs for *bcl-2* and a hybrid *bcl-*2/immunoglobulin transcript resulting from the t(14;18) translocation. *Cell* 47:19–28

- 180. Hickish T, Robertson D, Clarke P, Hill M, di Stefano F, et al. 1994. Ultrastructural localization of BHRF1: an Epstein-Barr virus gene product which has homology with *bcl-2. Cancer Res.* 54:2808–11
- 181. Henderson S, Huen D, Rowe M, Dawson C, Johnson G, Rickinson A. 1993. Epstein-Barr virus-coded BHRF1 protein, a viral homologue of Bcl-2, protects human B cells from programmed cell death. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:8479–83
- 182. Tarodi B, Subramanian T, Chinnadurai G. 1994. Epstein-Barr virus BHRF1 protein protects against cell death induced by DNA-damaging agents and heterologous viral infection. *Virology* 201:404–7
- Lee M-A, Yates JL. 1992. BHRF1 of Epstein-Barr virus, which is homologous to human proto-oncogene bcl2, is not essential for transformation of B cells or for virus replication in vitro. J. Virol. 66:1899–906
- Marchini A, Tomkinson B, Cohen JI, Kieff E. 1991. BHRF1, the Epstein-Barr virus gene with homology to Bcl2, is dispensable for B-lymphocyte transformation and virus replication. J. Virol. 65:5991–6000
- 185. Gilligan K, Rajadurai P, Resnick L, Raab-Traub N. 1990. Epstein-Barr virus small nuclear RNAs are not expressed in permissively infected cells in AIDSassociated leukoplakia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87:8790–94
- 186. Niedobitek G, Young LS, Lau R, Brooks L, Greenspan D, et al. 1991. Epstein-Barr virus infection in oral hairy leuko-plakia: virus replication in the absence of a detectable latent phase. J. Gen. Virol. 72:3035–46
- 187. Young LS, Lau R, Rowe M, Niedobitek G, Packham G, et al. 1991. Differentiationassociated expression of the Epstein-Barr virus BZLF1 transactivator protein in oral hairy leukoplakia. J. Virol. 65:2868–74
- Dawson CW, Eliopoulos AG, Dawson J, Young LS. 1995. BHRF1, a viral homologue of the Bcl-2 oncogene, disturbs epithelial cell differentiation. *Oncogene* 10:69–77
- 189. Yuan J, Shaham S, Ledoux S, Ellis HM, Horvitz HR. 1993. The *C. elegans* cell death gene *ced-3* encodes a protein similar to mammalian interleukin-1 β-converting enzyme. *Cell* 75:641–52

- Jacobson MD, Evan GI. 1994. Apoptosis. Breaking the ICE. Curr. Biol. 4:337–40
- 191. Miura M, Zhu H, Rotello R, Hartwieg EA, Yuan J. 1993. Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by IL-1 beta-converting enzyme, a mammalian homolog of the *C. elegans* cell death gene *ced-3. Cell* 75:653–60
- 192. Gagliardini V, Fernandez PA, Lee RK, Drexler HC, Rotello RJ, et al. 1994. Prevention of vertebrate neuronal death by the crmA gene. *Science* 263:826–28
- 193. Fernandes-Alnemri T, Litwack G, Alnemri ES. 1994. CPP32, a novel human apoptotic protein with homology to *Caenorhabditis elegans* cell death protein Ced-3 and mammalian interleukin-1 β-converting enzyme. J. Biol. Chem. 269:30761–64
- 194. Alcamí A, Smith GL. 1995. Interleukin-1 receptors encoded by poxviruses. In Viroceptors, Virokines and Related Immune Modulators Encoded by DNA Viruses, ed. G McFadden. Austin: RG Landes Company, pp. 17–27
- 195. HJ Kung, C Wood, ed. 1995. Interaction Between Herpesvirus and Retroviruses. London: World Scientific
- 196. Everett RD. 1987. The regulation of transcription of viral and cellular genes by herpesvirus immediate-early gene products. *Anticancer Res.* 7:589–604
- 197. Ensoli B, Barillari G, Salahuddin SZ, Gallo RC, Wong-Staal F. 1990. Tat protein of HIV-1 stimulates growth of cells derived from Kaposi's sarcoma lesions of AIDS patients. *Nature* 345:84–86
- 198. Mosca JD, Bednarik DP, Raj NBK, Rosen CA, Sodroski JG, et al. 1987. Herpes simplex virus type-1 can reactivate transcription of latent human immunodeficiency virus. *Nature* 325:67–70
- 199. Margolis DM, Rabson AB, Straus SE, Ostrove JM. 1992. Transactivation of the HIV-1 LTR by HSV-1 immediate-early genes. *Virology* 186:788–91
- Koval V, Clark C, Vaishnav M, Spector SA, Spector DH. 1991. Human cytomegalovirus inhibits human immunodeficiency virus replication in cells productively infected by both viruses. J. Virol. 65:6969–78
- Di Luca D, Secchiero P, Bovenzi P, Rotola A, Caputo A, et al. 1991. Reciprocal in vitro interactions between human herpesvirus-6 and HIV-1 Tat. Aids 5:1095–98
- Lusso P, De Maria A, Malnati M, Lori F, DeRocco SE, et al. 1991. Induction of CD4 and susceptibility to HIV-1 infection

in human CD8⁺ T lymphocytes by human herpesvirus 6. *Nature* 349:533–35

- Alford C, Britt W. 1981. Cytomegalovirus. In Virology, ed. BN Fields, DM Knipe. New York: Raven
- 204. Yamanishi K. 1992. Pathogenesis of human herpesvirus 6 (HHV-6). Infect. Agents Dis. 1:149–55
- Inoue N, Dambaugh TR, Pellett PE. 1993. Molecular biology of human herpesviruses 6A and 6B. Infect. Agents

Dis. 2:343–60

- Crawford SW. 1993. Bone-marrow transplantation and related infections. *Semin. Respir. Infect.* 8:183–90
- 207. Drobyski WR, Dunne WM, Burd EM, Knox KK, Ash RC, et al. 1993. Human herpesvirus-6 (HHV-6) infection in allogeneic bone marrow transplant recipients: evidence of a marrow-suppressive role for HHV-6 in vivo. J. Infect. Dis. 167: 735–39


CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT

Anne Satterthwaite¹ and Owen Witte²

^{1,2}Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, University of California, Los Angeles, Los Angeles, California 90095-1662, ²Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Los Angeles, California 90095-1662

KEY WORDS: knockout mice, transgenic mice, Ig signaling, immune deficiency, tyrosine phosphatases

ABSTRACT

B lymphopoiesis is regulated by multiple signals from stromal cell contact, soluble cytokines, antigen, and T helper cells. In vitro and biochemical experiments have implicated tyrosine kinases as key components of many of these signaling pathways. Genetic analysis of the role of these tyrosine kinases has been facilitated by recent advances in transgenic and gene targeting technology as well as by the identification of the genetic basis of several human and murine immune deficiencies. This review discusses the effect of gain and loss of function mutations of selected tyrosine kinases and their regulators and substrates on B cell development and function.

INTRODUCTION

Proper function of the immune system is dependent on the differentiation of pluripotential hematopoietic stem cells into B cells capable of recognizing a diverse repertoire of antigens. This complex, tightly regulated process occurs in response to numerous signals from the bone marrow microenvironment, soluble cytokines, antigen, and T helper cells. A large body of data implicates tyrosine kinases as critical components of these signaling pathways. This article focuses on recent genetic evidence that demonstrates a role for selected tyrosine kinases in B lymphopoiesis. We do not provide an exhaustive review but present representative examples of the effects of gain and loss of function mutants

132 SATTERTHWAITE & WITTE

of tyrosine kinases and their regulators on B cell development and function. These include naturally occurring mutations in mice and humans, knockout and transgenic mice, and manipulation of tyrosine kinase expression in tissue culture models.

B Cell Development

B cell development occurs primarily in the fetal liver and adult bone marrow. Fetal and adult stem cells differ in their ability to give rise to B lineage cells (1). While adult stem cells predominantly develop into conventional B cells, fetal liver stem cells can also differentiate into a unique subset called B-1 cells. B-1 cells persist in the adult animal, are resident primarily in the peritoneum, and express the CD5 antigen. They have a repetoire, distinct from that of conventional B cells, which includes a relatively high proportion of autoantibodies.

The initial, antigen independent stages of conventional B cell development in the adult occur in the bone marrow in response to stromal cell contact and cytokines. Stages of early B cell differentiation have been defined according to alternative classifications (2–5). For this review, we use the system of Hardy et al (4) (Figure 1), which resolves stages of B cell development according to differential expression of cell surface markers.

All cells in the B lineage express the cell surface marker B220. Pro-B cells, which consist of fractions A, B, and C as defined by Hardy, also express CD43. Fraction A represents the earliest identifiable cell type committed to the B lineage. These cells are dependent on stromal contact for growth and are not responsive to IL-7. They retain their Ig genes in germline configuration. Cells in fraction B have upregulated expression of heat stable antigen (HSA), $\lambda 5$, V pre-B, Ig α , and Ig β . They have DJ rearrangements and grow in response to IL-7 and stroma. VDJ rearrangements have occurred to a significant degree in fraction C. These cells express both HSA and BSP-1 in addition to $\lambda 5$, V pre-B, Ig α , and Ig β . These cells are responsive to IL-7 in the absence of stroma. Greater than 30% of these cells are cycling in adult bone marrow. Fraction D is marked by the downregulation of CD43 expression. Development of these small resting pre-B cells requires membrane-bound Ig heavy chain (6), $\lambda 5$ (7), and IL-7 (8, 9). Production of immature B cells (fraction E) proceeds with light chain rearrangement and the appearance of IgM on the cell surface (sIgM). Immature B cells leave the bone marrow and migrate to the periphery where self-reactive cells are deleted or anergized. This process can also occur in the bone marrow.

The remaining, antigen dependent stages of B cell development occur in the periphery. When mature B cells encounter antigen in the context of T cell help, they are activated to proliferate and differentiate into either antibody secreting plasma cells or memory B cells. Somatic hypermutation of Ig genes occurs at



Figure 1 Schematic diagram of B cell development (4). The stages of development affected by loss of function mutations of the tyrosine kinases, phosphatases, and their substrates discussed in this review are indicated in italics. All mutations except HCP result in partial or complete blocks in development. Lack of HCP results in increased numbers of B-1 cells and a reduced threshold for negative selection.

this point to generate antibodies with higher affinity for antigen. In response to various cytokines, mature B cells also undergo Ig class switching to produce antibodies with different effector functions.

Biochemical Evidence Implicates Tyrosine Kinases in B Cell Development

The process of B cell development described above is regulated by the stimulation of multiple cell surface molecules by extracellular ligands. Activation of tyrosine kinases is one of the earliest events in response to signaling via cell surface receptors. A large body of in vitro and biochemical evidence suggests that many of the tyrosine kinases and their regulators expressed in B cells (Table 1) play an important role in transmitting the complex signals regulating B lymphopoiesis. This has been reviewed extensively elsewhere and is briefly summarized here. Ligands for the receptor tyrosine kinases c-kit (10–12), flk-2 (13), and IGF-1R (14, 15) can synergize with IL-7 to induce proliferation of

| | Family | Kinase or Phosphatase |
|------------------------|--|---|
| Kinase Phosphatases | receptor src Btk syk Jak abl csk receptor | c-kit, flk-2, IGF-1R, CSF-1R lyn, fyn, lck, blk, fgr, hck Btk, tec, BMX (?) syk Jak1, Jak2, Jak3, Tyk2 abl, arg csk CD45 |
| * | non-receptor | HCP, syp |

 Table 1
 Tryosine kinases and phosphatases expressed in B cells

pre-B cells in culture. Cross-linking of various cell surface molecules on B cells, including sIgM, CD19, CD40, and many cytokine receptors, results in the activation of subsets of the src, Btk, syk, and Jak family kinases (reviewed in 16–29). Many of these kinases are physically associated with the receptors either constitutively or upon stimulation by ligand. The importance of tyrosine kinases in transmitting signals from many of these receptors is implied by the ability of protein kinase inhibitors to block these signals (reviewed in 16, 18, 19, 21, 25, 26).

The majority of these observations are correlative and therefore do not demonstrate directly that tyrosine kinases play an important role in B cell development. In addition, many of the events regulating B cell development in vivo are not accurately represented by the in vitro assays used to investigate signal transduction. Loss of function mutants of several tyrosine kinases and phosphatases, either naturally occurring or engineered by homologous recombination, have provided animal models with which to study more definitively the role of tyrosine phosphorylation in B cell development. These experiments have revealed both unique and redundant functions for tyrosine kinases in this process.

DIRECT GENETIC EVIDENCE FOR REGULATION OF B CELL DEVELOPMENT BY TYROSINE KINASES: Redundancy vs Unique Function

The Receptor Tyrosine Kinases flk-2 and c-kit Play a Role Early in B Lymphopoiesis

The power of a genetic approach for addressing the issue of redundancy of related tyrosine kinases with similar patterns of expression and in vitro functions is illustrated by a comparison of the B cell phenotypes of mice deficient for expression of the receptor tyrosine kinases c-kit and flk-2. Both are members of the PDGF-R superfamily of receptor kinases (30–32). They are both expressed in progenitor cells of all hematopoietic lineages (32–34). In vitro studies demonstrate that ligands for both these receptors can synergize with IL-7 or each other to promote pre-B cell growth, but neither can do so on its own (10–13). Flk-2 ligand but not SLF (the c-kit ligand) can weakly stimulate production of B220⁺ cells from B220⁻ progenitors in culture (13).

Despite the stimulation of B cell growth by SLF in vitro, little effect on B cell development is observed in vivo in the absence of c-kit or SLF. The naturally occurring mouse mutations W and Sl have deficient function of c-kit (35, 36) and SLF (37–40), respectively. These mice are characterized by defects in hematopoiesis, melanogenesis, and gametogenesis (41). W mice have normal pre-B, immature B, and mature B cell populations (42), as do mice that have been injected with the anti-c-kit mAb ACK2 (33). In addition, stroma derived from Sl mice can support the growth of pro-B cells, indicating that SLF is not required for early B cell development (43). There may be a mild intrinsic defect in B cell progenitors in W mice, as they are less efficient than wild-type progenitors in generating LPS-responsive, mature B cells 10 days after bone marrow transplant into irradiated recipients (42). This deficiency is compensated for during steady state hematopoiesis, however, as B cell numbers are normal in c-kit mutant mice.

These observations suggest that c-kit and flk-2 serve redundant functions. The phenotype of flk-2 knockout mice indicates that while this is true to a significant degree, flk-2 has some unique functions in B cell development (44). These mice have 50% normal levels of pro-B cells and variable numbers of pre-B cells in their bone marrow. They also have a two- to sixfold decrease in the number of progenitors that can form colonies in agar in response to SLF and IL-7. FACS-sorted stem cells from normal mice can give rise to both myeloid and B lineage colonies when grown on a cloned stromal line. Flk-2-deficient stem cells can form myeloid but not B lineage colonies in this assay. In contrast to the effect seen on early B cell development, normal numbers of immature and mature B cells are observed in the bone marrow and periphery of flk-2 knockout mice. This indicates the presence of mechanisms that compensate for the decreased numbers of early B lineage cells in these animals. The lack of a complete block in B cell development and the absence of any effect on myeloid differentiation in flk-2 knockout mice together suggest partial redundancy of flk-2 function with another mechanism, perhaps c-kit.

Severe defects in hematopoiesis in mice mutant in both flk-2 and c-kit demonstrate that this is indeed the case (44). Fewer than expected numbers of these

136 SATTERTHWAITE & WITTE

animals survive to birth, and those that do die by six weeks of age. Significant decreases in the cellularity of all hematopoietic lineages are apparent. There is a twofold decrease in the frequency of both pro-B and pre-B cells in bone marrow relative to flk-2 knockout mice as measured by FACS. A tenfold drop in the frequency of colonies formed in response to IL-7 and SLF is also observed, in comparison to flk-2–deficient mice. In contrast, although the absolute number of myeloid progenitors is lower than normal in these mice, there is no change in the frequency of these cells. This indicates that in addition to a role in stem cells, flk-2 and c-kit have a specific function in B lymphopoiesis.

Nonreceptor Tyrosine Kinases Have Both Unique and Redundant Functions in B Cell Development

Genetic analysis has also revealed a critical role for nonreceptor tyrosine kinases of the Btk and syk families in B cell development. This approach has confirmed the functional redundancy of several src family kinases that had been suggested by their similar expression and activation patterns in B cells.

BTK IS A CRITICAL COMPONENT OF MULTIPLE B CELL SIGNALING PATHWAYS Mutations in Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) are the genetic basis of the human and murine immunodeficiencies X-linked agammaglobulinemia (XLA) (45, 46) and X-linked immunodeficiency (xid) (47, 48), respectively. Btk is a member of a new subfamily of nonreceptor tyrosine kinases characterized by an N-terminal pleckstrin homology (PH) domain, a proline rich region, and SH3, SH2, and SH1 domains (45, 46). These kinases lack the C-terminal negative regulatory tyrosine and the N-terminal myristylation site present in src family kinases. Btk is expressed at all stages of B cell development except plasma cells (49, 50). Other members of this family may be expressed early during B lymphopoiesis: tec is expressed in a pro-B cell line (51), and BMX is found in bone marrow but not spleen, suggesting that it may be expressed in progenitor cells (52).

The phenotypes of XLA, *xid*, and Btk knockout mice reveal a role for Btk in multiple signaling pathways at various stages of B cell development and function. XLA patients have less than 1% of mature B cell numbers and a severe deficit of circulating Ig (53) due to a block at the pro-B–pre-B transition (54). Nonrandom X chromosome inactivation in B cells of female carriers demonstrates that this defect is intrinsic to the B lineage (55). This phenotype can be caused by point mutations or deletions in all subdomains of Btk, indicating that multiple protein/protein interactions are required for Btk function (46, 56–66).

A point mutation in the PH domain of Btk, R28C (47, 48) results in a more mild phenotype in *xid* mice (reviewed in (67, 68). These animals have 30–50% normal levels of conventional B cells and no B-1 cells (67, 68). The B cells present have an immature phenotype (67, 68) and defective signaling in

response to LPS (67, 68), IL-5 (69, 70), and IL-10 (71), or to cross-linking of sIgM (67, 68), CD38 (72, 73), and CD40 (74). *xid* mice cannot respond to type II T-independent antigens, and they produce decreased levels of total IgM and IgG3 (67, 68).

Surprisingly, the phenotype of Btk knockout mice is much more similar to *xid* than to XLA. Kerner et al (75) have studied the ability of Btk-deficient ES cells to contribute to the B lineage in chimeric animals. In chimeras with blastocysts derived from Rag 2-deficient mice (76), which do not produce B or T lymphocytes themselves, $Btk^{-/-}$ ES cells exhibit an *xid* phenotype. They produce normal numbers of T cells but reduced numbers of B cells, which cannot respond to type II T-independent antigens. In chimeras with wild-type ES cells, Btk-deficient ES cells demonstrate a competitive disadvantage at the pre-B cell stage. This is in contrast to xid cells, which develop normally through the pre-B cell stage, indicating that the xid mutation is not completely null. Germline Btk knockout mice have been generated using two independent targeting constructs (77). Both mice are indistinguishable from *xid* mice with respect to B cell populations measured by FACS, Ig levels, response to T-independent antigens, and proliferation in response to cross-linking of sIgM, sIgD, CD40, and LPS. A slight increase in the ratio of pro-B to pre-B cells was observed in both Btk knockout and xid mice, suggesting that Btk may also play a minor role early in murine B cell development.

These results clearly illustrate the decreased severity of a Btk null mutant phenotype in mice relative to humans. In addition, an R28H mutation at the same amino acid affected in *xid* mice causes severe XLA (61). Perhaps mice have a mechanism lacking in humans that can compensate to some degree for Btk deficiency. This may be T cell dependent, as *xid/nu* mice have a more substantial block in B lymphopoiesis (78). Another possibility is that the phenotype is dependent on genetic background. This is supported by the observation that there is some variation in the severity of immune deficiency that is dependent on the genetic background of *xid* mice. The *xid* phenotype is more severe on the C3H/HeN background relative to CBA/N (79). B cells do not respond to type I T independent antigens or to several B cell mitogens. They also have a more immature cell surface phenotype (79). In contrast, C57BL/6.*xid* mice have increased numbers of periperal conventional B cells and peritoneal B-1 cells relative to CBA/N *xid* animals (77).

Biochemical as well as genetic evidence supports a role for Btk in multiple B cell signaling pathways. Btk is activated in response to IL-5 (80), IL-6 (51), and sIgM cross-linking (81–84). This occurs late relative to the activation of src family kinases (83), suggesting that Btk may by regulated by src family kinases. This hypothesis is supported by two lines of evidence. The proline-

rich domain of Btk can bind to the SH3 domains of the src family kinases lyn, fyn, and hck in the yeast two-hybrid system (85). Overexpression of both lyn and Btk in fibroblasts leads to both transphosphorylation of Btk at Y551 and autophosphorylation of Btk at an unidentified tyrosine residue, resulting in increased Btk kinase activity (D. Rawlings, A. Scharenberg, H. Park, S. Lin, R. Kato, O. Witte, and J-P. Kinet, unpublished observations). Additional protein/protein interactions have also been described for Btk. The PH domain can interact with the β/γ subunits of heterotrimeric G proteins (86) and protein kinase C (87).

Gain of function mutants have been useful both in ordering components of a specific signaling pathway and in identifying pathways in which a particular gene is involved. Btk* is a gain of function mutant isolated in a random mutagenesis screen for alleles that could transform NIH-3T3 cells (88). It carries a point mutation in the PH domain that results in constitutive phosphotyrosine deposition and increased membrane localization. This allele of Btk can weakly relieve the IL-5 dependence of a pro-B cell line, solidifying the genetic and biochemical evidence that places Btk in an IL-5 signaling pathway. However, Btk* does not by itself transform hematopoietic cells. This will be a useful tool to dissect signal transduction pathways involving Btk in cell lines. This approach has already been used to show that Y551 and an intact PH domain are required for downstream signaling by Btk* in NIH-3T3 cells. Btk* will also be useful to illuminate additional roles for Btk in vivo using transgenic mice.

SYK IS ESSENTIAL FOR PRE–B CELL DEVELOPMENT Both genetic and biochemical evidence indicate that syk also plays a critical role in B cell development. Syk (89) is a member of a small subfamily of nonreceptor kinases, which also includes the T cell–specific kinase ZAP/70 (90). These kinases have two SH2 domains and an SH1 domain, and they lack the C-terminal negative regulatory tyrosine found in src family kinases. ZAP/70 deficiency in humans due to destabilizing mutations results in nonfunctional CD4⁺ T cells and a lack of CD8⁺ T cells (91, 92), suggesting that this family is important for lymphopoiesis.

Several experiments demonstrate that syk is important for signaling from sIgM. Syk has been shown to interact physically with sIgM in two ways. It can bind to tyrosine phosphorylated Ig α and β (components of the sIgM signaling complex) via its SH2 domain after Ig cross-linking (93–95), and it can associate constitutively with sIgM in the absence of Ig α and β (96). Cross-linking of sIgM activates syk (83, 95–97). This does not occur in a lyn-deficient chicken B cell line (98), indicating that phosphorylation of syk by src family kinases is required for its activation. Activation of syk per se is necessary but not

sufficient for sIgM signaling. A csk-deficient B cell line that has constitutively active syk still requires sIgM cross-linking for downstream signaling events to occur (99). However, IP^3 generation and Ca^{++} flux do not occur in response to sIgM cross-linking in a syk-deficient B cell line (100). This defect can be rescued by transfection of the cells with ZAP/70 but not with a syk allele with a mutated SH2 domain (94). The activation of syk in response to IL-2 (101) and changes in phosphorylation and subcellular distribution of syk after CD40 cross-linking (102) indicate that syk plays a role in other B cell signaling pathways as well.

As predicted from the above observations, analysis of syk knockout mice shows a critical function for syk in B cell development in vivo (A. Cheng, A. Pawson, personal communication). Lack of syk results in perinatal lethality due to excessive hemorrhage during embryogenesis. However, the use of chimeras with Rag 2^{-/-} blastocysts (76) and the transplantation of fetal liver stem cells from syk^{-/-} mice into Rag2^{-/-} recipients allow the study of lymphopoiesis in the absence of syk. While T cell development is normal, no B220⁺ IgM⁺ B cells are found in spleen and bone marrow. B cell differentiation appears to be blocked at the transition from CD43⁺ to CD43⁻ cells in the bone marrow. B cells in mice deficient in $\lambda 5$ (7), membrane-bound Ig heavy chain (6), and IL-7R (9) also fail to develop beyond the pro-B stage. This suggests that syk is a downstream component of one or more essential signals for B cell development that emanate from these surface molecules. Syk is also required for the development of B-1 cells (A. Cheng, A. Pawson, personal communication).

SRC FAMILY KINASES HAVE BOTH OVERLAPPING AND UNIQUE FUNCTIONS IN B CELLS The activation of src family tyrosine kinases in response to signals important for B cell development and their ability to phosphorylate Btk and syk, both of which are critical for B lymphopoiesis, suggest that they too play an important role in this process. Six members of the src family—lyn, fyn, lck, blk, fgr, and hck—are expressed in B lineage cells. All except hck have been shown to be activated in response to sIgM cross-linking (103, 104), reviewed in (16–24). Overlapping subsets of these are also activated by stimulation of CD40 (105), CD19 (106), IL2-R (27, 29), and IL-7R (107). The significant redundancy among src family members suggested by these observations is illustrated by the B cell developmental phenotypes of several src family–deficient mice.

Knockouts of lyn (M. Hibbs, A. Dunn, personal communication), lck (108), fyn (109, 110), fgr (111), hck (111), and double knockouts of fyn/yes (112) and fgr/hck (111) have been described. As measured by FACS analysis, conventional B cell development is not impaired in any of these mice. There are several explanations for this result. Perhaps multiple src family kinases can

140 SATTERTHWAITE & WITTE

mediate the signals regulating B cell development. Another possibility is that blk, which has not yet been targeted, plays a dominant role in B lymphopoiesis. Finally, B cell developmental signals may be much more dependent on syk and Btk than on src family kinases.

A dominant role for lyn in sIgM signaling and B-1 cell development In contrast to the apparent lack of requirement for src family kinases in conventional B cell development, a dominant role for lyn in B-1 cell development and sIgM signaling is illustrated by lyn knockout mice (M. Hibbs, A. Dunn, personal communication). B-1 cell development is completely blocked in these animals. There is also a significant decrease in the number of phenotypically mature B cells, most likely due to an inability of the cells to proliferate in response to antigen, as sIgM signaling is impaired in lyn-deficient splenic B cells. Similarly, the lyn gene was knocked out in a chicken B cell line that is particularly amenable to gene targeting by homologous recombination and expresses no other src family kinases (100). Ca++ flux and syk activation in response to sIgM cross-linking were abrogated in these cells. These defects could be rescued by transfection of the cells with lyn, fyn, and lck, but not src. As lyn^{-/-} murine B cells should express fyn and lck, this indicates a dominant role for lyn relative to other src family kinases in murine but not chicken B cells. Lyn is also required for LPS but not CD40 signaling (M. Hibbs, A. Dunn, personal communication).

Lyn knockout mice also have defects in immune function (M. Hibbs, A. Dunn, personal communication). Increased levels of IgM are observed as a result of an increase in the number of antibody secreting cells. Responses to both T-dependent and T-independent antigens are impaired. These animals also suffer from autoimmune disease characterized by circulating autoantibodies and Ig deposits in the kidneys. This suggests that lyn is required for tolerance induction.

IL-5 signaling is mediated by fyn A dominant role for lyn in sIgM signaling is confirmed by the observation that splenic B cells lacking fyn respond normally to sIgM cross-linking (113, 114). However, IL-5 response is completely dependent on fyn (114). Fyn^{-/-} mice also have slightly impaired response to T-independent antigens (114). Increased levels of IgM and IgG2a have been reported in fyn-deficient mice (109), but this phenotype has not been observed consistently (114).

These results demonstrate that individual effector functions of mature B cells are dependent on specific src family tyrosine kinases. As *xid* mice have deficient responses to all of these signals, it is attractive to hypothesize that Btk is at the convergence of several pathways mediated by individual src family kinases.

INDIRECT GENETIC EVIDENCE FOR REGULATION OF B CELL DEVELOPMENT BY NONRECEPTOR TYROSINE KINASES

Despite the inability to uncover a function for src family kinases in B cell development using knockouts of the kinases themselves, a growing body of genetic evidence demonstrates the importance of their substrates and regulators in B lymphopoiesis. These data also confirm the role of src family kinases in sIgM signaling in immature and mature B cells.

Tyrosine Kinase Substrates Are Key Components of B Cell Signaling Pathways

TYROSINE PHOSPHORYLATION OF IG- α AND β IS REQUIRED FOR EARLY B CELL DEVELOPMENT Ig α and β are key signaling components of the sIgM complex(115). In resting cells, src family members are preferentially associated with Ig α (116, 117). Upon sIgM cross-linking, the ARH1 motifs of Ig α and β are tyrosine phosphorylated (22, 118, 119). ARH1 domains consist of the sequence (D/E)XXYXXL(X)^{6–8}YXXL and are conserved among several antigen receptor signaling components (120). This phosphorylation results in increased association of src family members (121) and syk (95) with the sIgM signaling complex as well as in their activation. Mutations in both ARH1 tyrosines abrogate signaling through the Ig α and β cytoplasmic domains in cell lines (119, 122, 123). The block in B cell development observed in membrane-bound Ig heavy chain (6) and $\lambda 5$ (7) knockout mice suggests that signaling through a "pre-B receptor" which also contains Ig α and β is required for B lymphopoiesis.

To investigate the role of phosphorylation of the Ig α ARH1 motif in vivo, Torres et al took the following approach (R. Torres, K. Rajewsky, personal communication). They knocked out one endogenous Ig α allele and replaced the other with an Ig α gene carrying mutations in both ARH1 tyrosines using homologous recombination in ES cells. Mice derived from these cells express only the mutant Ig α protein, and they have a severe block in B cell development. Normal levels of CD43⁺ pro-B cells (Fractions A-C) are present, but decreased numbers of pre-B and immature B cells are observed in bone marrow. There are only 1–3% of normal levels of peripheral B cells.

Interaction between Ig heavy chain and Ig α and β is required for the pro-B-to-pre-B transition (124). To investigate the mechanism by which Ig β mediates this event, the following approach was taken. A fusion protein between the extracellular and transmembrane domains of the Ig heavy chain and the cytoplasmic tail of Ig β is able to transmit signals that mimic those of an intact sIg complex (115, 123). When introduced as a transgene, this chimeric molecule was able to partially rescue the phenotype of Rag-1 deficient mice

142 SATTERTHWAITE & WITTE

(124). Pre B–cell development and allelic exclusion were induced by the transgene. Rag-1 knockout mice carrying a similar transgene with mutations in both ARH1 tyrosines were indistinguishable from nontransgenic littermates. This demonstrates that tyrosine phosphorylation of the Ig β ARH1 motif can drive the pro-B–to–pre-B transition.

These experiments indicate that phosphorylation at the ARH1 tyrosines of both Ig α and Ig β is necessary for proper differentiation of pre-B cells in vivo. This strongly suggests that the function of src family kinases is required for early B cell development.

VAV IS REQUIRED FOR SIGM SIGNALING AND B-1 CELL DEVELOPMENT The proto-oncogene vav is tyrosine phosphorylated in response to sIgM crosslinking (125–127). To address the role of vav in B lymphopoiesis, B cells derived from wild-type and vav^{-/-} ES cells in Rag 2^{-/-} chimeras were compared (128, 129). Variable decreases in the numbers of peripheral B cells were observed in vav^{-/-} animals, perhaps due to varying degrees of chimerism. Vav^{-/-} B cells displayed a competitive disadvantage relative to wild-type cells in chimeras with wild-type blastocysts (129). B-1 cell development was completely inhibited in the absence of vav (128, 129). B cell proliferation in response to sIgM but not CD40L or LPS requires vav (128, 129). The developmental defects observed here are similar to those in Btk-deficient mice (75, 77). However, the requirement of Btk for CD40 and LPS signaling indicates that Btk is involved in vav independent pathways as well. Whether tyrosine phosphorylation of vav per se is required for its function in vivo has yet to be determined.

The Regulatory Tyrosine Kinase csk Is Essential for Early Lymphoid Development

Additional evidence for a role for src family kinases in lymphopoiesis comes from the study of the regulatory tyrosine kinase csk. Expressed primarily in thymus and spleen, csk phosphorylates the C-terminal negative regulatory tyrosine of src family kinases (130–132). Mice deficient in csk have increased constitutive activation of src family kinases and die during embryogenesis due to defects in neurulation (133, 134). In chimeras with wild-type or Rag $2^{-/-}$ blastocysts, csk^{-/-} cells were able to contribute to heart, brain, liver, kidney, and bone marrow myeloid progenitors and splenic myeloid cells, but not to either lymphoid lineage in adults (135). This preferential block in lymphoid development in the absence of csk implies that src family kinases play a negative role early in lymphopoiesis, in addition to any positive role they may have in later stage B cells, as suggested by biochemical experiments.

While the src family kinase lyn is necessary for sIgM signaling (100), (M. Hibbs, A. Dunn personal communication), studies with $csk^{-/-}$ chicken

B cell lines demonstrate that constitutive activation of src family kinases is not sufficient for this process (99). Inactivation of a protein tyrosine phosphatase may also be required, as overall tyrosine phosphorylation is not dramatically increased in csk^{-/-} B cells (99).

Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases

Regulation of signal transduction by phosphorylation is a dynamic process that also requires dephosphorylation of kinase substrates. The phenotypes of mice deficient in the expression of the protein tyrosine phosphatases CD45 and HCP stress that the interplay between tyrosine kinases and phosphatases is important for B cell development and function.

CD45 IS NECESSARY FOR SIGM SIGNALING BUT NOT B CELL DEVELOPMENT CD45 is a transmembrane tyrosine phosphatase expressed as cell type–specific isoforms throughout the hematopoietic system. It can dephosphorylate the negative regulatory tyrosine of src family kinases (136–138) as well as other substrates including Ig α and β (139). It can be coimmunoprecipitated from B cells with lyn and Ig α and β (140). CD45-deficient B cell lines have impaired sIgM signaling (17, 139, 141, 142). Similarly, B cells from CD45 knockout mice proliferate in response to LPS but not sIgM (143). This suggests that activation of src family kinases by C-terminal dephosphorylation is necessary for signaling through sIgM. B cell development in CD45^{-/-} mice is normal (143). This indicates that CD45 either is not required for signaling through Ig α and β at early stages or is redundant with another phosphatase early in development.

HCP/PTP-1C NEGATIVELY REGULATES SIGM SIGNALING Mutations in the cytoplasmic tyrosine phosphatase HCP (also known as PTP-1C) are the genetic basis of the *motheaten* (*me*) phenotype in mice (144–146). These animals have severe defects in all hematopoietic lineages. They have elevated numbers of macrophages, granulocytes, and erythroid cells, and they also have reduced NK and T cell activity (147). They suffer simultaneously from immune deficiency and autoimmunity in that they lack mature conventional B cells yet develop high levels of autoantibodies by one month of age (148–151). Increased numbers of B-1 cells are most likely responsible for the production of these autoantibodies.

Overgrowth of *me* myeloid cells can suppress B lymphopoiesis in *trans* in both in vitro culture systems (152, 153) and mixed bone marrow chimeras (154). This has made it difficult to determine whether the B cell defects in *me* mice are cell autonomous. Titration of *me* cells in mixed bone marrow chimeras has recently been used to demonstrate that a B cell phenotype is still observed in the absence of any *trans* inhibitory effect of myeloid cells (154). While expected numbers of *me*-derived immature B cells were present in the bone marrow of

144 SATTERTHWAITE & WITTE

these mice, there was a tenfold decrease in the number of *me* peripheral B cells. Those B cells that were retained had characteristics similar to anergic B cells even in the absence of antigen.

To investigate the role of HCP in negative selection of B lymphocytes, the *me* mutation was crossed into the anti-hen egg lysozyme (HEL) Ig transgenic system. The majority of B cells in anti-HEL Ig transgenic mice express anti-HEL antibodies. When these B cells are exposed to HEL, deletion or anergy occurs depending on the valency of the antigen (155). The *me* mutation resulted in a reduced threshold for the deletion of self-reactive B cells (154). *me* B cells are hypersensitive to sIgM cross-linking as measured by Ca⁺⁺ flux (154) and proliferation (156). It has also been shown that HCP is required for Fc- γ RIIBI inhibition of sIgM signaling (156, 157). These data demonstrate that HCP negatively regulates sIgM signaling and implicate tyrosine kinases as positive regulators of this process.

The mechanism by which HCP downregulates Ig signaling is not known, although Btk, Jak, and src family kinases may all be involved. Crossing the *xid* mutation onto the *me* background blocks autoantibody production and B-1 cell expansion (158). This suggests that Btk directly counteracts HCP or is downstream of and necessary for signaling by kinases that do. HCP can bind to tyrosine phosphorylated cytokine receptors via its SH2 domain. An EPO receptor mutant that cannot bind HCP induces increased activation of Jak2, indicating that HCP negatively regulates Jak2 (159). Consistent with this observation, HCP can dephosphorylate and inactivate Jaks in vitro (28).

HCP may also serve to prevent sIgM signaling in resting cells. HCP can bind to sIgM, and this interaction is disrupted upon sIgM cross-linking (156). In addition, a 35-kDa component of the sIgM complex, believed to be Ig α , can be dephosphorylated by HCP (156). This suggests a model whereby HCP associates with and dephosphorylates Ig α and β in resting B cells. Upon sIgM cross-linking, HCP is released, allowing phosphorylation of Ig α and β by src family kinases. This phosphorylation is most likely mediated by lyn as demonstrated by the requirement for lyn in sIgM induced proliferation and negative selection (M. Hibbs, A. Dunn, personal communication). Signaling may subsequently be terminated by reassociation of HCP with the complex.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The data presented in this review demonstrate the importance of reversible tyrosine phosphorylation at multiple stages of B cell development and function (Figure 1, Table 2). These include the pro-B–to–pre-B transition, antigen-induced B cell tolerance, activation of mature B cells, signaling in response to numerous cytokines and B cell coreceptors, and development of B-1 cells. Both

| Receptor or stimulus | Enzyme or substrate required for signaling |
|----------------------|--|
| sIgM | Btk, syk, lyn, vav, Ig alpha, Ig beta, CD45 HCP (downregulates signaling) |
| LPS | Btk, lyn |
| IL-5 | Btk, fyn |
| IL-10 | Btk |
| CD38 | Btk |
| CD40 | Btk |

 Table 2
 Regulation of B cell signaling pathways by protein tyrosine kinases and phosphatases

unique and redundant functions for different kinase families in these processes have been revealed by genetic analysis. Dominant roles are played by Btk, syk, and lyn. The next step on the road to further understanding the role of tyrosine kinases in B cell development is to use genetic systems to address questions of redundancy as well as to delineate and order components within a specific tyrosine kinase–dependent signaling pathway.

There are several tyrosine kinases expressed in B cells—including blk, IGF-1R, and all four Jak family members—for which knockout mice have not yet been reported. The phenotypes of these animals may either reveal a role for these genes in B lymphopoiesis or demonstrate that these kinases are redundant. Multiple Jak kinases are expressed in B cells, suggesting that some degree of redundancy will be observed when mice deficient in these genes are generated. The creation of animals deficient in multiple members of each family should elucidate the role of that group of kinases in B lymphopoiesis.

Constitutively active forms of tyrosine kinases such as Btk* (88) or src family kinases mutated at the C-terminal negative regulatory tyrosine will be invaluable genetic tools. Transgenic mice expressing these alleles in B cells can be examined for alterations in development or in specific signaling pathways. This approach has been used successfully for lck (160–162) and fyn (163) in T cells. These transgenic mice can also be crossed with mice deficient in other B cell signaling molecules to place the various components of a pathway in order. Many knockouts of cell surface molecules or their ligands affect different stages of B cell development and function, including $\lambda 5$ (7), membrane-bound Ig heavy chain (6), CD40 (164), CD40L (165), IL-7 (8), IL7-R (9), and IL2-R gamma (166). Stimulation of these receptors activates multiple nonreceptor tyrosine kinases, but it is not clear which of these kinases are sufficient to transmit the signal. In addition, the phenotypes of loss of function of Btk and syk are similar to many of these receptor knockouts, implying that they are downstream of these receptors. The ability of an activated kinase transgene to rescue the

146 SATTERTHWAITE & WITTE

defects in B cell development in any of these knockouts would demonstrate that the two genes are in the same signaling pathway.

The concept of rescuing a knockout phenotype with a downstream transgene can also be applied to looking at the role of tyrosine kinase substrates in a manner similar to the experiments with Ig α and β described above. If a knockout of a kinase substrate such as vav (128, 129) has an effect on B cell development or signaling, the inability of a mutant allele of this gene that cannot be tyrosine phosphorylated to rescue this defect would demonstrate that tyrosine phosphorylation of that protein is required for signaling.

The recent development of the cre-lox system for cell type–specific gene targeting (167) will also be useful for the study of the function of tyrosine kinases in B cell development. First, mice deficient in some kinases or phosphatases such as syk, csk, and HCP are either embryonic lethal or have phenotypes in lineages other than B cells. A B cell–specific knockout of these genes would prove that any B cell defect observed is cell autonomous and thus would avoid the need to use chimeric animals. Secondly, kinases such as Btk and syk appear to be involved both in early B cell development and late in the function of mature B cells. A knockout of these genes in mature B cells only would provide a system whereby sufficient numbers of mature cells would be generated in the absence of a developmental block such that effects of the mutation on signaling could be easily studied. A limitation of this approach that must be considered, however, is that the targeted gene is not deleted in all the cells of interest (167).

The examples provided here demonstrate that mutations in tyrosine kinases and their regulators can result in immune deficiency or autoimmunity. This suggests that a more complete understanding of how reversible tyrosine phosphorylation influences normal B lymphopoiesis may lead to the development of therapies for diseases of the immune system.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Hardy RR, Hayakawa K. 1991. A developmental switch in B lymphopoiesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:11550–54
- Rolink A, Melchers F. 1991. Molecular and cellular origins of B lymphocyte diversity. *Cell* 66:1081–94
- Osmond DG, Priddle S, Rico-Vargas S. 1990. Proliferation of B cell precursors in bone marrow of pristane-conditioned and malaria-infected mice: implications

for B cell oncogenesis. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 166:149–57

- Hardy RR, Carmack CE, Shinton SA, Kemp JD, Hayakawa K. 1991. Resolution and characterization of pro-B and pre-pro-B cell stages in normal mouse bone marrow. J. Exp. Med. 173:1213–25
- Loffert D, Schaal E, Ehlich A, Hardy RR, Zou YR, Muller W, Rajewsky K. 1994. Early B-cell development in the mouse:

insights from mutations introduced by gene targeting. *Immunol. Rev.* 137:135–53

- Kitamura D, Roes J, Kuhn R, Rajewsky K. 1991. A B-cell-deficient mouse by targeted disruption of the membrane exon of the immunoglobulin μ-chain gene. *Nature* 350:423–26
- Kitamura D, Kudo A, Schaal S, Müller W, Melchers F, Rajewsky K. 1992. A critical role of lambda-5 protein in B-cell development. *Cell* 69:823–31
- von Freeden-Jeffry U, Vieira P, Lucian LA, McNeil T, Burdach SEG, Murray R. 1995. Lymphopenia in interleukin (IL)-7 gene-deleted mice identifies IL-7 as a nonredundant cytokine. J. Exp. Med. 181:1519–26
- Peschon JJ, Morrissey PJ, Grabstein KM, Ramsdell FJ, Maraskovsky E, Gliniak BC, Park LS, Ziegler SF, Williams DE, Ware CB, Meyer JD, Davisan BL. 1994. Early lymphocyte expansion is severely impaired in interleukin 7 receptor-deficient mice. J. Exp. Med. 180:1955–60
- McNiece IK, Langley KE, Zsebo KM. 1991. The role of recombinant stem cell factor in early B cell development. J. Immunol. 146:3785–90
- Billips LG, Petitte D, Dorshkind K, Narayanan R, Chiu C-P, Landreth KS. 1992. Differential roles of stromal cells, interleukin-7, and *kit*-ligand in the regulation of B lymphopoiesis. *Blood* 79:1185– 92
- Funk PE, Varas A, Witte PL. 1993. Activity of stem cell factor and IL-7 in combination on normal bone marrow B lineage cells. J. Immunol. 150:748–52
- Hirayama F, Lyman SD, Clark SC, Ogawa M. 1995. The *flt3* ligand supports proliferation of lymphohematopoietic progenitors and early B-lymphoid progenitors. *Blood* 85:1762–69
- Landreth KS, Narayanan R, Dorshkind K. 1992. Insulin-like growth factor-I regulates pro-B cell differentiation. *Blood* 80:1207–12
- Gibson LF, Piktel D, Landreth KS. 1993. Insulin-like growth actor-1 potentiates expansion of interleukin-7-dependent pro-B cells. *Blood* 82:3005–11
- Baixeras E, Kroemer G, Cuende E, Márquez C, Boscá L, Martínez JEA, Martínez-A C. 1993. Signal transduction pathways involved in B-cell induction. *Immunol. Rev.* 132:5–47
- Kim Kwang-M, Alber G, Weiser P, Reth M. 1993. Signalling function of the Bcell antigen receptors. *Immunol. Rev.*

132:125-46

- Perlmutter RM, Levin SD, Appleby MW, Anderson SJ, Alberola-Ila J. 1993. Regulation of lymphocyte function by protein phosphorylation. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 11:451–99
- Cambier JC, Pleiman CM, Clark MR. 1994. Signal transduction by the B cell antigen receptor and its coreceptors. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 12:457–86
- Desiderio S. 1994. The B cell antigen receptor in B-cell development. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 6:248–56
- Gold MR, Defranco AL. 1994. Biochemistry of B lymphocyte activation. Adv. Immunol. 55:221–95
- Pleiman CM, D'Ambrosio D, Cambier JC. 1994. The B-cell antigen receptor complex: structure and signal transduction. *Immunol. Today* 15:393–98
- Sefton BM, Taddie JA. 1994. Role of tyrosine kinases in lymphocyte activation. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 6:372–79
- Weiss A, Littman DR. 1994. Signal transduction by lymphocyte antigen receptors. *Cell* 76:263–74
- Durie FH, Foy TM, Masters SR, Laman JD, Noelle RJ. 1994. The role of CD40 in the regulation of humoral and cell-mediated immunity. *Immunol. Today* 15:406–11
- Tedder TF, Zhou Liang-J, Engel P. 1994. The CD19/CD21 signal transduction complex of B lymphocytes. *Immunol. Today* 15:437–42
- Taniguchi T. 1995. Cytokine signaling through nonreceptor protein tyrosine kinases. *Science* 268:251–55
- Ihle JN. 1995. The Janus protein tyrosine kinases in hematopoietic cytokine signalling. *Immunology*. In press
- Ihle JN, Witthuhn BA, Quelle FW, Yamamoto K, Silvennoinen O. 1995. Signaling through the hematopoietic cytokine receptors. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 13:369– 98
- Yarden Y, Kuang Wun-J, Yang-Feng T, Coussens L, Munemitsu S, Dull TJ, Chen E, Schlessinger J, Francke U, Ullrich A. 1987. Human proto-oncogene c-kit: a new cell surface receptor tyrosine kinase for an unidentified ligand. *EMBO J*. 6:3341–51
- 31. Qui F, Ray P, Brown K, Barker PE, Jhanwar S, Ruddle FH, Besmer P. 1988. Primary structure of c-kit: relationship with the CSF-1/PDGF receptor kinase family—oncogenic activation of v-kit involves deletion of extracellular domain and C terminus. EMBO J. 7:1003–11
- 32. Matthews W, Jordan CT, Wiegand GW,

Pardoll D, Lemischka IR. 1991. A receptor tyrosine kinase specific to hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell-enriched populations. *Cell* 65:1143–52

- 33. Ogawa M, Matsuzaki Y, Nishikawa S, Hayashi S-I, Kunisada T, Sudo T, Kina T, Nakauchi H, Nishikawa S-I. 1991. Expression and function of c-*kit* in hemopoietic progenitor cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 174:63– 71
- Okada S, Nakauchi H, Nagayoshi K, Nishikawa S, Nishikawa S, Miura Y, Suda T. 1991. Enrichment and characterization of murine hematopoietic stem cells that express c-kit molecule. *Blood* 78:1706–12
- Chabot B, Stephenson DA, Chapman VM, Besmer P, Bernstein A. 1988. The protooncogene c-kit encoding a transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor maps to the mouse W locus. Nature 335:88–89
- Geissler EN, Ryan MA, Housman DE. 1988. The dominant-white spotting (W) locus of the mouse encodes the c-kit protooncogene. Cell 55:185–92
- 37. Huang E, Nocka K, Beier DR, Chu T-Y, Buck J, Lahm H-W, Wellner D, Leder P, Besmer P. 1990. The hematopoietic growth factor KL is encoded by the *SI* locus and is the ligand of the *c-kit* receptor, the gene product of the *W* locus. *Cell* 63:225–33
- 38. Zsebo KM, Williams DA, Geissler EN, Brougy VC, Martin FH, Atkins HL, Hsu Rou-Y, Birkett NC, Okino KH, Murdock DC, Jacobsen FW, Langley KE, Smith KA, Takeishi T, Cattanach BM, Galli SJ, Suggs SV. 1990. Stem cell factor is encoded at the SI locus of the mouse and is the ligand for the c-kit tyrosine kinase receptor. Cell 63:213–24
- Copeland NG, Gilbert DJ, Cho BC, Donovan PJ, Jenkins NA, Cosman D, Anderson D, Lyman SD, Williams DE. 1990. Mast cell growth factor maps near the steel locus on mouse chromosome 10 and is deleted in a number of steel alleles. *Cell* 63:175–83
- Flanagan JG, Leder P. 1990. The kit ligand: a cell surface molecule altered in steel mutant fibroblasts. Cell 63:185–94
- Russell ES. 1979. Hereditary anemias of the mouse: a review for geneticists. Adv. Genet. 20:357–459
- Landreth KS, Kincade PW, Lee G, Harrison DE. 1984. B lymphocyte precursors in embryonic and adult W anemic mice. J. Immunol. 132:2724–29
- Faust EA, Saffran DC, Toksoz D, Williams DA, Witte ON. 1993. Distinctive growth requirements and gene ex-

pression patterns distinguish progenitor B cells from pre-B cells. J. Exp. Med. 177:915–23

- 44. Mackarehtschian K, Hardin JD, Moore KA, Boast S, Goff SP, Lemischka IR. 1995. Targeted disruption of the Flk2/Flt3 gene leads to deficiencies in primitive hematopoietic progenitors. *Immunity* 3:147–61
- 45. Tsukada S, Saffran DC, Rawlings DJ, Parolini O, Allen RC, Klisak I, Sparkes RS, Kubagawa H, Mohandas T, Quan S, Belmont JW, Cooper MD, Conley ME, Witte ON. 1993. Deficient expression of a B cell cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase in human X-linked agammaglobulinemia. *Cell* 72:279–90
- 46. Vetrie D, Vorechovsky I, Sideras P, Holland J, Davies A, Flinter F, Hammarström L, Kinnon C, Levinsky R, Bobrow M, Smith CIE, Bentley DR. 1993. The gene involved in X-linked agammaglobulinaemia is a member of the *src* family of protein-tyrosine kinases. *Nature* 361:226–33
- 47. Rawlings DJ, Saffran DC, Tsukada S, Largaespada DA, Grimaldi JC, Cohen L, Mohr RN, Bazan JF, Howard M, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Witte ON. 1993. Mutation of the unique region of Bruton's tyrosine kinase in immunodeficient XID mice. *Science* 261:358–61
- Thomas JD, Sideras P, Smith CIE, Vorechovsky I, Chapman V, Paul WE. 1993. Colocalization of X-linked agammaglobulinemia and X-linked immunodeficiency genes. *Science* 261:355–58
- 49. de Weers M, Verschuren MCM, Kraakman MEM, Mensink RGJ, Schuurman RKB, van Dongen JJM, Hendriks RW. 1993. The Bruton's tyrosine kinase gene is expressed throughout B cell differentiation, from early precursor B cell stages preceding immunoglobulin gene rearrangement up to mature B cell stages. Eur. J. Immunol. 23:3109–14
- 50. Smith CIE, Baskin B, Humire-Greiff P, Zhou J, Olsson PG, Maniar HS, Kjellén P, Lambris JD, Christensson B, Hammarström L, Bentley D, Vetrie D, Islam KB, Vorechovsky I, Sideras P. 1994. Expression of Bruton's agammaglobulinemia tyrosine kinase gene, *BTK*, is selectively down-regulated in T lymphocytes and plasma cells. *J. Immunol.* 152:557– 65
- Matsuda T, Takahashi-Tezuka M, Fukada T, Okuyama Y, Fujitani Y, Tsukada S, Mano H, Hirai H, Witte ON, Hirano T. 1995. Association and activation of Btk

and Tec tyrosine kinases by gp130, a signal transducer of the IL-6 family of cytokines. *Blood* 85:627–33

- Tamagnone L, Lahtinen I, Mustonen T, Virtaneva K, Francis F, Muscatelli F, Alitalo R, Smith CIE, Larsson C, Alitalo K. 1994. BMX, a novel nonreceptor tyrosine kinase gene of the BTK/ITK/TEC/TXK family located in chromosome Xp22.2. Oncogene 9:3683–88
- 53. Bruton OC. 1952. Agammaglobulinemia. *Pediatrics* 9:722–27
- Campana D, Farrant J, Inamdar N, Webster ADB, Janossy G. 1990. Phenotypic features and proliferative activity of B cell progenitors in X-linked agammaglobulinemia. J. Immunol. 145:1675–80
- Conley ME, Brown P, Pickard AR, Buckley RH, Miller DS, Raskind WH, Singer JW, Fialkow PJ. 1986. Expression of the gene defect in X-linked agammaglobulinemia. N. Engl. J. Med. 315:564–67
- Vorechkovsky I, Zhou J-N, Vetrie D, Bentley D, Bjorkander J, Hammarström L, Smith CIE. 1993. Molecular diagnosis of X-linked agammaglobulinemia. *Lancet* 341:1153
- Bradley LAD, Sweatman AK, Lovering RC, Jones AM, Morgan G, Levinsky RJ, Kinnon C. 1994. Mutation detection in the X-linked agammaglobulinemia gene, *BTK*, using single strand conformation polymorphism analysis. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 3:79–83
- Conley ME, Fitch-Hilgenberg ME, Cleveland JL, Parolini O, Rohrer J. 1994. Screening of genomic DNA to identify mutations in the gene for Bruton's tyrosine kinase. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 3:1751–56
- Haemann TL, Chen Y, Rosen FS, Kwan SP. 1994. Genomic organization of the Btk gene and exon scanning for mutations in patients with X-linked agammaglobulinemia. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 3:1743–49
- Saffran DC, Parolini O, Fitch-Hilgenberg ME, Rawlings DJ, Afar DEH, Witte ON, Conley ME. 1994. A point mutation in the SH2 domain of Bruton's tyrosine kinase in atypical X-linked agammaglobulinemia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 330:1488– 91
- 61. de Weers M, Mensink RGJ, Kraakman MEM, Schuurman RKB, Hendriks RW. 1994. Mutation analysis of the Bruton's tyrosine kinase gene in X-linked agammaglobulinemia: identification of a mutation which affects the same codon as is altered in immunodeficient *xid* mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 3:161–66
- 62. Zhu Q, Zhang M, Rawlings DJ, Vihinen

M, Hagemann T, Saffran DC, Kwan S-P, Nilsson L, Smith CIE, Witte ON, Chen S-H, Ochs HD. 1994. Deletion within the Src homology domain 3 of Bruton's tyrosine kinase resulting in X-linked agammaglobulinemia (XLA). *J. Exp. Med.* 180:461– 70

- 63. Ohta Y, Haire RN, Litman RT, Fu SM, Nelson RP, Kratz J, Kornfeld SJ, de la Morena M, Good RA, Litman GW. 1994. Genomic organization and structure of Bruton agammaglobulinemia tyrosine kinase: localization of mutations associated with varied clinical presentations and course in X chromosome linked agammaglobulinemia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:9062–66
- Vorechovsky I, Vihinen M, de Saint BG, Honsova S, Hammarström L, Muller S, Nilsson L, Fischer A, Smith CI. 1995. DNA-based mutation analysis of Bruton's tyrosine kinase gene in patients with xlinked agammaglobulinaemia. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 4:51–58
- 65. Ohashi Y, Tsuchiya S, Konno T. 1995. A new point mutation involving a highly conserved leucine in the Btk SH2 domain in a family with X linked agammaglobulinaemia. J. Med. Genet. 32:77–78
- 66. Vihinen M, Zvelebil MJ, Zhu Q, Brooimans RA, Ochs HD, Zegers BJ, Nilsson L, Waterfield MD, Smith CI. 1995. Structural basis for pleckstrin homology domain mutations in xlinked agammaglobulinemia. *Biochemistry* 34:1475–81
- Scher I. 1982. The CBA/N mouse strain: an experimental model illustrating the influence of the X-chromosome on immunity. Adv. Immunol. 33:1–71
- Wicker LS, Scher I. 1986. X-linked immune deficiency (xid) of CBA/N mice. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 124:87– 101
- Hitoshi Y, Sonoda E, Kikuchi Y, Yonehara S, Nakauchi H, Takatsu K. 1993. IL-5 receptor positive B cells, but not eosinophils, are functionally and numerically influenced in mice carrying the X-linked immune defect. *Int. Immunol.* 5:1183–90
- Koike M, Kikuchi Y, Tominage A, Takaki S, Akagi K, Miyazaki JI, Yamamura KI, Takatsu K. 1994. Defect of IL-5receptor-mediated signaling in B cells of X-linked immunodeficient (xid) mice. *Int. Immunol.* 7:21–30
- Go NF, Castle BE, Barret R, Kastelein R, Dang W, Mosmann TR, Moore KW, Howard M. 1990. Interleukin 10, a novel

B cell stimulatory factor: unresponsiveness of X chromosome-linked immunodeficiency B cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 172:1625– 31

- 72. Santos-Argumedo L, Lund FE, Heath AW, Solvason N, Wu WW, Grimaldi JC, Parkhouse RME, Howard M. 1995. CD38 unresponsiveness of *xid* B cell implicates Bruton's tyrosine kinase (*btk*) as a regulator of CD38 induced signal transduction. *Int. Immunol.* 7:163–70
- 73. Yamashita Y, Miyake K, Kikuchi Y, Takatsu K, Noda T, Kosugi A, Kimoto M. 1995. A monoclonal antibody against murine CD38 homologue delivers a signal into B cells for prolongation of survival and protection against apoptosis in vitro: unresponsiveness of XID B cells to mAB. *Immunology*. In press
- Hasbold J, Klaus GG. 1994. B cells from CBA/N mice do not proliferate following ligation of CD40. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:152–57
- 75. Kerner JD, Appleby MW, Mohr RN, Chien S, Rawlings DJ, Maliszewski CR, Witte ON, Perlmutter RM. 1995. Impaired expansion of mouse B-cell progenitors lacking Btk. *Immunity*. In press
- Chen J, Lansford R, Stewart V, Young F, Alt FW. 1993. RAG-2-deficient blastocyst complementation: an assay of gene function in lymphocyte development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:4528–32
- 77. Khan WN, Alt FW, Gerstein RM, Malynn BA, Larsson I, Rathbun G, Davidson L, Müller S, Kantor AB, Herzenberg LA, Rosen FS, Sideras P. 1995. Defective B cell development and function in Btk deficient mice. *Immunity*. In press
- Karagogeos D, Rosenberg N, Wortis HH. 1986. Early arrest of B cell development in nude, X-linked immune-deficient mice. Eur. J. Immunol. 16:1125–30
- Bona C, Mond JJ, Paul WE. 1980. Synergistic genetic defect in B-lymphocyte function. J. Exp. Med. 151:224–34
- Sato S, Katagiri T, Takaki S, Kikuchi Y, Hitoshi Y, Yonehara S, Tsukada S, Kitamura D, Watanabe T, Witte O, Takatsu K. 1994. IL-5 receptor-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of SH2/SH3-containing proteins and activation of Btk and JAK2 kinases. J. Exp. Med. 180:2101–11
- Aoki Y, Isselbacher KJ, Pillai S. 1994. Bruton tyrosine kinase is tyrosine phosphorylated and activated in pre-B lymphocytes and receptor-ligated B cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:10606–9
- de Weers M, Brouns GS, Hinshelwood S, Kinnon C, Schuurman RKB, Hendriks

RW, Borst J. 1994. B-cell antigen receptor stimulation activates the human Bruton's tyrosine kinase, which is deficient in X-linked agammaglobulinemia. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:23857–60

- 83. Saouaf SJ, Mahajan S, Rowley RB, Kut S, Fargnoli J, Burkhardt AL, Tsukada S, Witte ON, Bolen JB. 1994. Temporal differences in the activation of three classes of non-transmembrane protein tyrosine kinase following B cell antigen receptor surface engagement. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:9524–28
- 84. Hinshelwood S, Lovering RC, Genevier HC, Levinsky RJ, Kinnon C. 1995. The protein defective in x-linked agammaglobulinemia, Bruton's tyrosine kinase, shows increased autophosphorylation activity in vitro when isolated from cells in which the B cell receptor has been crosslinked. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:1113–16
- Cheng G, Ye Z-S, Baltimore D. 1994. Binding of Bruton's tyrosine kinase to Fyn, Lyn, or Hck through a Src homology 3 domain-mediated interaction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:8152–55
- Tsukada S, Simon MI, Witte ON, Katz A. 1994. Binding of the β-γ-subunits of heterotrimeric G-proteins to the PH domain of Bruton's tyrosine kinase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:11256–60
- Yao L, Kawakami Y, Kawakami T. 1994. The pleckstrin homology domain of Bruton tyrosine kinase interacts with protein kinase C. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:9175–79
- Li T, Tsukada S, Satterthwaite A, Havlik MH, Park H, Takatsu K, Witte ON. 1995. Activation of Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) by a point mutation in its pleckstrin homology (PH) domain. *Immunity* 2:451–60
- Taniguchi T, Kobayashi T, Kondo J, Takahashi K, Nakamura H, Suzuki J, Nagai K, Yamada T, Nakamura S-I, Yamamura H. 1991. Molecular cloning of a porcine gene syk that encodes a 72-kDa protein-tyrosine kinase showing high susceptibility to proteolysis. J. Biol. Chem. 266:15790–96
- Chan AC, Iwashima M, Turck CW, Weiss A. 1992. ZAP-70: a 70 kd proteintyrosine kinase that associates with the TCR zeta-chain. *Cell* 71:649–62
- Chan AC, Kadlecek TA, Elder ME, Filipovich AH, Kuo Wen-L, Iwashima M, Parslow TG, Weiss A. 1994. ZAP-70 deficiency in an autosomal recessive form of severe combined immunodeficiency. *Science* 264:1599–601

- Elder ME, Lin D, Clever J, Chan AC, Hope TJ, Weiss A, Parslow TG. 1994. Human severe combined immunodeficiency due to a defect in ZAP-70, a T cell tyrosine kinase. *Science* 264:1596–99
- 93. Yamada T, Taniguchi T, Yang C, Yasue S, Saito H, Yamamura H. 1993. Association with B-cell-antigen with protein-tyrosine kinase p72^{syk} and activation by engagement of membrane IgM. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 213:455–59
- Kong Guang-H, Bu Jia-Y, Kurosaki T, Shaw AS, Chan AC. 1995. Reconstitution of syk function by the ZAP-70 protein tyrosine kinase. *Immunity* 2:485–92
- 95. Rowley RB, Burkhardt AL, Chao Hann-G, Matsueda GR, Bolen JB. 1995. Syk protein-tyrosine kinase is regulated by tyrosine-phosphorylated Igα/Igβ immunoreceptor tyrosine activation motif binding and autophosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 270:11590–94
- Hutchcroft JE, Harrison ML, Geahlen RL. 1992. Association of the 72-kDa protein-tyrosine kinase PTK72 with the B cell antigen receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 267:8613–19
- Hutchcroft JE, Harrison ML, Geahlen RL. 1991. B lymphocyte activation is accompanied by phosphorylation of a 72-kDa protein-tyrosine kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 266:14846–49
- Kurosaki T, Takata M, Yamanashi Y, Inazu T, Taniguchi T, Yamamoto T, Yamamura H. 1994. Syk activation by the srcfamily tyrosine kinase in the B cell receptor signaling. J. Exp. Med. 179:1725–29
- Hata A, Sabe H, Kurosaki T, Takata M, Hanafusa H. 1994. Functional analysis of Csk in signal transduction through the B-cell antigen receptor. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:7306–13
- 100. Takata M, Sabe H, Hata A, Inazu T, Homma Y, Nukada T, Yamamura H, Kurosaki T. 1994. Tyrosine kinases Lyn and Syk regulate B cell receptor-coupled Ca²⁺ mobilization through distinct pathways. *EMBO J.* 13:1341–49
- 101. Minami Y, Nakagawa T, Kawahara A, Miyazaki T, Sada K, Yamamura H, Taniguchi T. 1995. Protein tyrosine kinase syk is associated with and activated by the IL-2 receptor: possible link with the cmyc induction pathway. *Immunity* 2:89– 100
- 102. Faris M, Gaskin F, Parsons JT, Fu SM. 1994. CD40 signaling pathway: anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody induces rapid dephosphorylation and phosphorylation of tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins in-

cluding protein tyrosine kinase lyn, fyn, and syk and the appearance of a 28-kD tyrosine phosphorylated protein. *J. Exp. Med.* 179:1923–31

- Wechsler RJ, Monroe JG. 1995. Immature B lymphocytes are deficient in expression of the src-family kinases p59^{fyn} and p55^{fgr1} J. Immunol. 154:1919–29
- 104. Weehsler RJ, Monroe JG. 1995. srcfamily tyrosine kinase p55^{fgr} is expressed in murine splenic B cells and is activated in response to antigen receptor crosslinking¹. J. Immunol. 154:3234–44
- Ren CL, Morio T, Fu SM, Geha RS. 1994. Signal transduction via CD40 involves activation of lyn kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase, and phosphorylation of phospholipase C-gamma-2. J. Exp. Med. 179:673–80
- 106. Uckun FM, Burkhardt AL, Jarvis L, Jun X, Stealy B, Dibirdk I, Myers DE, Tuel-Ahlgren L, Bolen JB. 1993. Signal transduction through the CD19 receptor during discrete developmental stages of human B-cell ontogeny. J. Biol. Chem. 268:21172–84
- Seckinger P, Fougereau M. 1994. Activation of *src* family kinases in human pre-B cells by IL-7. *J. Immunol.* 153:97–109
- 108. Molina TJ, Kishihara K, Siderovski DP, van Ewijk W, Narendran A, Timms E, Wakeham A, Paige CJ, Hartmann K-U, Veillete A, Davidson D, Mak T. 1992. Profound block in thymocyte development in mice lacking p56^{lck}. Nature 357:161–67
- 109. Stein PL, Lee H-M, Rich S, Soriano P. 1992. pp59^{fyn} mutant mice display differential signaling in thymocytes and peripheral T cells. *Cell* 70:741–50
- Appleby MW, Gross JA, Cooke MP, Levin SD, Qian X, Perlmutter RM. 1992. Defective T cell receptor signaling in mice lacking the thymic isoform of p59^{fyn}. Cell 70:751–63
- 111. Lowell CA, Soriano P, Varmus HE. 1994. Functional overlap in the *src* gene family: inactivation of *hck* and *fgr* impairs natural immunity. *Genes Dev.* 8:387–98
- Stein PL, Vogel H, Soriano P. 1994. Combined deficiencies of Src, Fyn, and Yes tyrosine kinases in mutant mice. *Genes Dev.* 8:1999–2007
- 113. Sillman AL, Monroe JG. 1994. Surface IgM-stimulated proliferation, inositol phospholipid hydrolysis, Ca²⁺ flux, and tyrosine phosphorylation are not altered in B cells from p59^{fyn-/-} mice. J. Leukocyte Biol. 56:812–16

- Appleby MW, Kerner JD, Chien S, Maliszewski CR, Bondada S, Perlmutter RM. 1995. Involvement of p59fyn^T in IL-5 receptor signaling. *J. Exp. Med.* In press
- 115. Sanchez M, Misulovin Z, Burkhardt AL, Mahajan S, Costa T, Franke R, Bolen JB, Nussenzweig M. 1993. Signal transduction by immunoglobulin is mediated through Igα and Igβ. J. Exp. Med. 178:1049–55
- 116. Lin J, Justement LB. 1992. The MB-1/B29 heterodimer couples the B cell antigen receptor to multiple *src* family protein tyrosine kinases. *J. Immunol.* 149:1548– 55
- 117. Clark MR, Campbell KS, Kazlauskas A, Johnson SA, Hertz M, Potter TA, Pleiman C, Cambier JC. 1992. The B cell antigen receptor complex: Association of Ig- and Ig-β with distinct cytoplasmic effectors. *Science* 258:123–26
- Gold MR, Matsuuchi L, Kelly RB, De-Franco AL. 1991. Tyrosine phosphorylation of components of the B-cell antigen receptors following receptor crosslinking. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:3436–40
- 119. Flaswinkel H, Reth M. 1994. Dual role of the tyrosine activation motif of the Igα protein during the signal transduction via the B cell antigen receptor. *EMBO J.* 13:83–89
- Reth M. 1989. Antigen receptor tail clue. Nature 338:383–84
- 121. Clark MR, Johnson SA, Cambier JC. 1994. Analysis of Igα-tyrosine kinase interaction reveals two levels of binding specificity and tyrosine phosphorylated Ig-α stimulation of Fyn activity. *EMBO* J. 13:1911–19
- 122. Burkhardt AL, Costa T, Misulovin Z, Stealy B, Bolen JB, Nussenzweig MC. 1994. Igα and Igβ are functionally homologous to the signaling proteins of the T-cell receptor. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:1095– 103
- 123. Williams GT, Peaker CJG, Patel KJ, Neuberger MS. 1994. The α/β sheath and its cytoplasmic tyrosines are required for signaling by the B-cell antigen receptor but not for capping or for serine/threonine-kinase recruitment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:474–78
- 124. Papavasiliou F, Misulovin Z, Suh H, Nussenzweig MC. 1995. The role of IG β in precursor B cell transition and allelic exclusion. *Science* 268:408–11
- Bustelo XR, Barbacid M. 1992. Tyrosine phosphorylation of the vav protooncogene product in activated B cells. *Sci*ence 256:1196–99

- Bustelo XR, Ledbetter JA, Barbacid M. 1992. Product of vav proto-oncogene defines a new class of tyrosine protein kinase substrates. *Nature* 356:68–71
- 127. Margolis B, Hu P, Katzav S, Li W, Oliver JM, Ullrich A, Weiss A, Schlessinger J. 1992. Tyrosine phosphorylation of vav proto-oncogene product containing SH2 domain and transcription factor motifs. *Nature* 356:71–74
- 128. Zhang R, Alt FW, Davidson L, Orkin SH, Swat W. 1995. Defective signalling through the T- and B-cell antigen receptors in lymphoid cells lacking the vav proto-oncogene. *Nature* 374:470–73
- 129. Tarakhovsky A, Turner M, Schaal S, Mee PJ, Duddy LP, Rajewsky K, Tybulewicz VLJ. 1995. Defective antigen receptormediated proliferation of B and T cells in the absence of Vav. *Nature* 374:467–70
- Okada M, Nada S, Yamanashi Y, Yamamoto T, Nakagawa H. 1991. CSK: a protein-tyrosine kinase involved in regulation of src family kinases. *J. Biol. Chem.* 266:24249–52
- 131. Nada S, Okada M, MacAuley A, Cooper JA, Nakagawa H. 1991. Cloning of a complementary DNA for a protein-tyrosine kinase that specifically phosphorylates a negative regulatory site of p60c-src. *Nature* 351:69–72
- 132. Bergman M, Mustelin T, Oetken C, Partanen J, Flint NA, Amrein KE, Autero M, Burn P, Alitalo K. 1992. The human p50^{csk} tyrosine kinase phosphorylates p56^{lck} at Tyr-505 and down regulates its catalytic activity. *EMBOJ*. 11:2919–24
- 133. Nada S, Yagi T, Takeda H, Tokunaga T, Nakagawa H, Ikawa Y, Okada M, Aizawa S. 1993. Constitutive activation of Src family kinases in mouse embryos that lack Csk. Cell 73:1125–35
- 134. Imamoto A, Soriano P. 1993. Disruption of the *csk* gene, encoding a negative regulator of src family tyrosine kinases, leads to neural tube defects and embryonic lethality in mice. *Cell* 73:1117–24
- 135. Gross JA, Appleby MW, Chien S, Nada S, Bartelmez SH, Okada M, Aizawa S, Perlmutter RM. 1995. Control of lymphopoiesis by p50^{csk}, a regulatory protein tyrosine kinase. J. Exp. Med. 181:463–73
- 136. Mustelin T, Coggeshall KM, Altman A. 1989. Rapid activation of the T-cell tyrosine protein kinase pp56^{1ck} by the CD45 phosphotyrosine phosphatase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:6302–6
- Ostergaard HL, Shackelford DA, Hurley TR, Johnson P, Hyman R, Sefton BM,

alters phosphorylation of the *lck*-encoded tyrosine protein kinase in murine lymphoma T-cell lines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:8959–63

- Mustelin T, Pessa-Morikawa T, Autero M, Gassmann M, Andersson LC, Gahmberg CG, Burn P. 1992. Regulation of the p59^{fyn} protein tyrosine kinase by the CD45 phosphotyrosine phosphatase. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 22:1173–78
- Justement LB, Campbell KS, Chien NC, Cambier JC. 1991. Regulation of B cell antigen receptor signal transduction and phosphorylation by CD45. *Science* 252:1839–42
- 140. Brown VK, Ogle EW, Burkhardt AL, Rowley RB, Bolen JB, Justement LB. 1994. Multiple components of the B cell antigen receptor complex associate with the protein tyrosine phosphatase, CD45. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:17238–44
- 141. Ogimoto M, Katagiri T, Mashima K, Hasegawa K, Mizuno K, Yakura H. 1994. Negative regulation of apoptotic death in immature B cells by CD45. *Int. Immunol.* 6:647–54
- 142. Kawauchi K, Lazarus AH, Rapoport MJ, Harwood A, Cambier JC, Delovitch TL. 1994. Tyrosine kinase and CD45 tyrosine phosphatase activity mediate p21*ras* activation in B cells stimulated through the antigen receptor¹. J. Immunol. 152:3306– 16
- 143. Kishihara K, Penninger J, Wallace VA, Kündig TM, Kawai K, Wakeham A, Timms E, Pfeffer K, Ohashi PS, Thomas ML, Furlonger C, Paige CJ, Mak TW. 1993. Normal B lymphocyte development but impaired T cell maturation in CD45-Exon6 protein tyrosine phosphatasedeficient mice. *Cell* 74:143–56
- 144. Kozolwoski M, Mlinaric-Rascan I, Feng GS, Shen R, Pawson A, Siminovitch KA. 1993. Expression and catalytic activity of the tyrosine phosphatase PTPIC is severely impaired in motheaten and viable motheaten mice. J. Exp. Med. 178:2157– 63
- 145. Shultz LD, Schweitzer PA, Rajan TV, Yi T, Ihle JN, Matthews RJ, Thomas ML, Beier DR. 1993. Mutations at the murine motheaten locus are within the hematopoietic cell protein-tyrosine phosphatase (*Hcph*) gene. *Cell* 73:1445–54
- 146. Tsui HW, Siminovitch KA, de Souza L, Tsui FWL. 1993. Motheaten and viable motheaten mice have mutations in the haematopoietic cell phosphatase gene. *Nat. Genet.* 4:124–29

- B CELL TYROSINE KINASES 153
- 147. Shultz LD. 1988. Pleiotropic effects of deleterious alleles at the "motheaten" locus. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 137:216–22
- Shultz LD, Green MC. 1976. Motheaten, an immunodeficient mutant of the mouse. II. Depressed immune competence and elevated serum immunoglobulins. J. Immunol. 116:936–43
- 149. Sidman CL, Shultz LD, Unanue ER. 1978. The mouse mutant "motheaten." I. Development of lymphocyte populations. J. Immunol. 121:2392–98
- Sidman CL, Shultz LD, Unanue ER. 1978. The mouse mutant "motheaten." II. Functional studies of the immune system. J. Immunol. 121:2399–404
- Davidson WF, Morse HC III, Sharrow SO, Chused TM. 1979. Phenotypic and functional effects of the motheaten gene on murine B and T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 122:884–91
- 152. Medlock Es, Goldschneider I, Greiner DL, Shultz L. 1987. Defective lymphopoiesis in the bone marrow of motheaten (*me/me*) and viable motheaten (*me^v/me^v*) mutant mice. II. Description of a microenvironmental defect for the generation of terminal deoxynuleotidyltransferase-positive bone marrow cells in vitro. *J. Immunol.* 138:3590–97
- 153. Hayashi Shin-I, Witte PL, Shultz LD, Kincade PW. 1988. Lymphohemopoiesis in culture is prevented by interaction with adherent bone marrow cells from mutant viable motheaten mice. J. Immunol. 140:2139–47
- 154. Cyster JG, Goodnow CC. 1995. Protein tyrosine phosphatase 1C negatively regulates antigen receptor signaling in B lymphocytes and determines thresholds for negative selection. *Immunity* 2:13–24
- Goodnow CC. 1992. Transgenic mice and analysis of B-cell tolerance. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 10:489–518
- 156. Pani G, Kozlowski M, Cambier JC, Mills GB, Siminovitch KA. 1995. Identification of the tyrosine phosphatase PTP1C as a B cell antigen receptor-associated protein involved in the regulation of B cell signaling. J. Exp. Med. 181:2077–84
- 157. D'Ambrosio D, Hippen KL, Minskoff SA, Mellman I, Pani G, Siminovitch KA, Cambier JC. 1995. Recruitment and activation of PTP1C in negative regulation of antigen receptor signaling by FcγRIIB1. *Science* 268:293–97
- 158. Scribner CL, Hansen CT, Klinman DM, Steinberg AD. 1987. The interaction of the

xid and *me* genes. *J. Immunol.* 138:3611–17

- Klingmüller U, Lorenz U, Cantley LC, Neel BG, Lodish HF. 1995. Specific recruitment of SH-PTP1 to the erythropoietin receptor causes inactivation of JAK2 and termination of proliferative signals. *Cell* 80:729–38
- Abraham KM, Levin SD, Marth JD, Forbush KA, Perlmutter RM. 1991. Delayed thymocyte development induced by augmented expression of p56lck. J. Exp. Med. 173:1421–32
- Abraham KM, Levin SD, Marth JD, Forbush KA, Perlmutter RM. 1991. Thymic tumorigenesis induced by overexpression of p56lck. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88:3977–81
- 162. Mombaerts P, Anderson SJ, Perlmutter RM, Mak TW, Tonegawa S. 1994. An activated Lck transgene promotes thymocyte development in RAG-1 mutant mice. Immunity 1:261–67
- Cooke MP, Abraham KM, Forbush KA, Perlmutter RM. 1991. Regulation of T cell receptor signaling by a src family protein-

tyrosine kinase (p59^{fyn}). Cell 65:281-91

- 164. Kawabe T, Naka T, Yoshida K, Tanaka T, Fujiwara H, Suematsu S, Yoshida N, Kishimoto T, Kikutani H. 1994. The immune response in CD40-deficient mice: impaired immunoglobulin class switching and germinal center formation. *Immunity* 1:167–78
- 165. Xu J, Foy TM, Laman JD, Elliott EA, Dunn JJ, Waldschmidt TJ, Elsemore J, Noelle RJ, Flavell RA. 1994. Mice deficient for the CD40 ligand. *Immunity* 1:423–31
- 166. Cao X, Shores EW, Hu-Li J, Anver MR, Kelsall BL, Russell SM, Drago J, Noguchi M, Grinberg A, Bloom ET, Paul WE, Katz SI, Love PE, Leonard WJ. 1995. Defective lymphoid development in mice lacking expression of the common cytokine receptor gamma chain. *Immunity* 2:223– 38
- 167. Gu H, Marth JD, Orban PC, Mossmann H, Rajewsky K. 1994. Deletion of a DNA polymerase β gene segment in T cells using cell type-specific gene targeting. *Science* 265:103–6



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS¹

*Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson*² *and Stephen Shaw*

Experimental Immunology Branch, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland 20892

KEY WORDS: leukocyte-endothelial adhesion, chemokines, information transfer, recruitment, reticular network

ABSTRACT

The specificity and efficiency of leukocyte binding to endothelial cells (ECs) depends on coordinated information transfer from the underlying tissue to endothelium and from there to the leukocyte. We address three distinct information-transfer points in this system: 1. How does the leukocyte read information from the EC? This process is best accounted for by the paradigm of a multi-step adhesion cascade optimized for rapid information readout; it consists of primary adhesion (rolling/tethering), triggering, and strong adhesion. Recent studies with T cells, monocytes, and eosinophils confirm the generality of the paradigm. The concept of primary adhesion has been expanded to involve not only the selectins, but also certain integrins; furthermore, it depends on receptor concentration on leukocyte microvilli. 2. What information from the underlying tissue does the EC transform into signals for the leukocytes? And what rules govern that process? We illustrate the principles with chemokines, believed to participate in the triggering

¹The US government has the right to retain a nonexclusive, royalty-free license in and to any copyright covering this paper.

²Department of Respiratory and Mucosal Immunology, US Army Medical Research Institute on Infectious Diseases, Fort Detrick, Frederick, Maryland 21702-5011 step. The endothelium displays chemokines either (a) directly by "posting" them from other cells or (b) by integrating a variety of tissue and environmental signals and "relaying" that information by producing its own chemokines and surface adhesion molecules. The rules for this endothelial transduction include specificity coupled with redundancy, amplification, synergy, and coordinated induction of ensembles of molecules. Finally, 3. How does the relevant information reach the endothelium? Simple diffusion is sufficient to deliver signals from cells close to the vessel. However, longer range soluble mediator transport appears to be facilitated by fiber bundles, particularly those ensheathed by fibroblastic reticular cells in the lymph node.

INTRODUCTION—THE INFORMATION PROBLEM

Leukocyte-endothelial interactions are a special case of cell sorting, in which the endothelium discriminates among circulating leukocytes in order to select cells for transmigration into surrounding tissue. Unlike cell sorting in embryogenesis or wound healing, where contact between cells lasts minutes to hours, sorting in the vascular system depends on contact that lasts much less than a second unless specific adhesive events prolong it. The biological objective of leukocyte-endothelial interactions is to direct circulating cells into their appropriate tissue sites with efficiency and specificity. Endothelial cells (ECs) play a singular role in this process, receiving information from the underlying tissue and transforming it into information that can be read rapidly by the passing leukocyte.

There is a high degree of specificity in the interaction of ECs with circulating cells. "Recirculation" is the process whereby lymphocytes undergo repetitive cycles of migration from the circulatory system into tissue and back into the vasculature. Regardless of where a foreign antigen enters the body, this process assures that it will be found by an immune cell with the relevant antigen-specific receptor ("immune surveillance"). Thus, T cells, B cells, and NK cells all undergo continuous recirculation, even in the absence of injury or inflammation. Recirculation is governed by a high degree of specificity, so that phenotypically distinct subsets of these cells migrate preferentially into certain anatomic sites. Superimposed on this is "recruitment" of immune cells to inflammatory sites. The anatomic location and the nature of the inflammatory stimulus determine which leukocytes migrate to an inflammatory site; usually recruitment includes cells that do not recirculate such as neutrophils, eosinophils, and monocytes. In addition to these commonly cited roles of mature cells in immune responses, specific migration occurs in other contexts, including odysseys of T cell and B cell precursors throughout their maturation, dispersal of γ - δ T cells to their relevant tissues, and the seeding of stem cells. In short, we infer that there are dozens of distinct circulating cell types that are discriminated during endothelial interactions (1, 2). In this review we focus on the biological strategies of information transfer, from tissue to endothelium to leukocyte, which make possible this high level of specificity, and we refer readers to other reviews for detailed descriptions of which subsets migrate under particular pathophysiologic conditions, and for more background information on the molecules involved (1, 3-11). Transmigration into tissue subsequent to binding is a complex sequence of events (12) not addressed in this review.

CIRCULATING CELLS "READ" INFORMATION FROM ENDOTHELIUM

A Prototypic Adhesion Cascade

Understanding of the rapid binding events between leukocytes and endothelium has given rise to a conceptually powerful paradigm that views the interaction as a multistep process (1, 3–11). As a starting point, we present a prototypic adhesion cascade: an in vitro model of neutrophil binding to ischemia-injured endothelium described by Nash and coworkers (13). Cultured endothelium within a tube is transiently injured by ischemia and then perfused with a suspension of granulocytes. Granulocytes that flow adjacent to the ECs are captured and begin to roll along the surface. This constitutes the first step of the cascade, called "tethering" or "primary" adhesion. This interaction is mediated by P-selectin on the EC, previously shown to bind the granulocyte mucin PSGL-1 (14). This is consistent with the cascade model, in which selectins mediate tethering. From the point of view of information transfer, this step is arguably the most important. It slows the forward motion of the leukocyte and maintains its surface in close proximity to the surface of the endothelium (see discussion below).

The next *visible* step in the cascade is arrest, in which the rolling granulocyte abruptly becomes immobile. Antibody inhibition studies in the ischemia model demonstrate that arrest is mediated by granulocyte β 2 integrins, presumably by binding to endothelial ligands ICAM-1 and ICAM-2. This step of the cascade, known as "secondary" or "strong" adhesion, is always mediated by integrins, which efficiently and rapidly regulate adhesion (15).

A Triggering Step Precedes Strong Adhesion

This step is undetected unless correct strategies are used to demonstrate it, and thus its importance is often overlooked. In the ischemia model, antibody to the chemokine IL-8 inhibits arrest by more than 85% (13). Thus, IL-8 produced

by ischemic endothelium is as critical to the process as are either the primary or secondary adhesion pathways. The time of action of IL-8 lies after the rolling (which anti-IL-8 does not inhibit) and before the arrest. Conceptually, triggering is needed to "activate" the integrins; despite high levels of expression on circulating cells, integrins are generally in a functionally inactive state that can be rapidly converted to an active one (15).

The cascade has the potential for encoding an enormous amount of information, as clearly articulated by Butcher (1). Each of the three prototypic steps occurs via specific receptor-ligand combinations. According to the paradigm, strong adhesion will only result efficiently when a leukocyte expressing one set of three receptors meets an EC displaying the complementary set of three counter-receptors. Since each of the receptors and ligands can be selectively expressed on leukocytes and ECs, the number of possible combinations is very large.

Primary Adhesion and Its Roles in Information Readout

The paradigm of the adhesion cascade has been solidified and refined in the last several years. Originally derived from observations in granulocytes (1, 16), it was rapidly generalized to all leukocytes, based on fragmentary information. Validation is now forthcoming for other important circulating cell types. Many studies have distinguished primary and secondary adhesion events for T cell binding to endothelium, either in vitro (17–26) or in vivo (24, 27), as has one study of monocytes in vitro (23) and another of eosinophils in vivo (28).

The findings for each of these are remarkably consistent with the cascade paradigm—although they necessitate a few refinements. Each cell type studied can use selectins for its primary adhesion (rolling). For example, under different experimental conditions, each of the three selectins can mediate rolling of T cells. Those subsets of T cells that roll are those possessing the relevant selectin ligand, including CLA for E-selectin, PSGL-1 for P-selectin, and L-selectin for PNad (peripheral lymph node adressin) (17, 22). However, one notable broadening of the paradigm is that molecules other than selectins can mediate rolling. The integrin molecules $\alpha 4\beta 1$ and $\alpha 4\beta 7$ mediate both rolling (characteristic of primary adhesion) and arrest (21, 24, 28). Indeed, integrins bind to the same ligand for both rolling and arrest (VCAM-1 for $\alpha 4\beta 1$ and principally MAdCAM-1 for $\alpha 4\beta 7$). Integrin-mediated rolling occurs both in vitro, with purified ligand, and in vivo.

There appear to be additional molecular pathways that mediate leukocyte rolling on endothelium. Rolling of human T cells in vitro on IL-1-activated ECs is not inhibitable by anti-selectin or anti-integrin antibodies, suggesting additional receptors and or ligands (20). The binding of CD44 to hyaluronic

acid can mediate rolling and thus may represent another class of receptor-ligand interaction in primary adhesion. For example, the BW5147 cell line rolls either on purified hyaluronate or cultured ECs; in each case the binding is dependent on both CD44 and hyaluronate (29). Although the biologic relevance of this result remains uncertain, it may help explain the involvement of CD44 and hyaluronate in lymph node binding and homing (30, 31).

A second extension of the concept of primary adhesion is that rolling can occur between cells other than leukocytes and EC. Platelets roll along on P-selectin present on activated endothelium (D Wagner, personal communication). Trauma-induced histamine release from mast cells, with resultant endothelial P-selectin externalization, may allow platelet rolling in order to effectively "search out" areas of vessel wall damage. In addition, granulocytes participate in selectin-mediated rolling on immobilized platelets (32) and on granulocytes that have recently adhered to endothelium (33). Thus, at areas of acute inflammation/damage, platelets and granulocytes can act as partial surrogates for the endothelial surface in primary adhesion. Finally, certain carcinoma cells can roll on endothelium (34, 35), although the relevance of this in vivo is unknown. Thus, rolling occurs in a wider range of intravascular binding events than was previously appreciated.

The third extension is the importance of microvilli in primary adhesion. Based on scanning EM studies in the 1970s (36, 37), leukocyte binding to endothelium was postulated to occur via microvilli. The theoretical argument was that close contact over broad membrane areas would be prevented by the electrostatic repulsion of the negatively charged surface glycocalyx present on each cell. Thus, microvilli—thin, long (up to 0.5 μ m) protrusions—would more easily make contact because of dramatically reduced net charge. Molecular evidence came from studies demonstrating that L-selectin is preferentially expressed on the tips of granulocyte microvilli (38). The $\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin that mediates primary adhesion is likewise concentrated on the tips of lymphocyte microvilli (24); in contrast, the LFA-1 integrin does not mediate primary adhesion and is not selectively expressed on microvilli. Compelling validation of this concept comes from studies of the functional effects of changing the spatial localization of L-selectin at the cell surface (132). When the cytoplasmic tail of L-selectin is exchanged for that of CD44, the chimeric molecule now localizes primarily to the cell body rather than to microvilli; such cells no longer roll efficiently on L-selectin ligand under flow, although they still bind under static conditions.

At least three biophysical strategies make efficient rolling possible. First, there are rapid on-rates between receptor and ligand (3, 39). Second, the complementary receptors are spatially distributed to optimize encounter. This

is achieved both by the placement of receptors on the tips of leukocyte microvilli and by using receptors (both selectins and mucins) that are long and stiff, thereby exposing their binding sites beyond the bulk of the glycocalyx (40). Third, local concentrations of receptor/ligand are very high. L-selectin is expressed at a high uniform level of approximately 300,000 molecules per cell on most circulating leukocytes (41, 42), which makes it one of their most abundant surface molecules; when it is concentrated on the tips of microvilli, its effective local concentration will be exceptionally high. The mucin counterreceptors likewise can be present at high-density array of ligand; they may even be localized on filopodia of ECs (43). The combination of the foregoing strategies makes possible efficient establishment and maintenance of rolling.

Thus, several strategies are utilized to achieve efficient rolling, suggesting that rolling is pivotal to subsequent information transfer between endothelium and leukocyte. Rolling provides two essential elements: time and proximity. First, it prolongs what would otherwise be a repulsive encounter of a few milliseconds into a period of contact as long as several seconds. Second, it maintains contact between the leukocyte and the information source (the endothelium) for the subsequent events in the cascade. Furthermore, the molar concentrations of cell surface molecules are extremely high because they are constrained to diffuse in the plane of the membrane (44); rolling presumably establishes an optimal separation distance between the cells, thereby increasing the frequency of receptor-ligand encounters.

Insights and Controversies on the Triggering Step

Unlike the general consensus that exists on most issues relating to primary adhesion and secondary adhesion, controversy surrounds the triggering step: First, what agents are proposed to mediate triggering in the cascade? Second, is triggering a necessary step?

There are two classes of molecular interactions proposed to provide triggering in the cascade. The first class consists of soluble factors present at or near the endothelial surface. These include primarily the classical chemoattractants for myeloid cells (fMLP, C5a, LTB4, and PAF) (45) and the family of chemokines, which includes more than 25 members (46–49); all of these signal via serpentine G-protein–linked receptors on the leukocyte (50). An additional soluble factor proposed to trigger the adhesion cascade is HGF, a differentiation factor, capable of acting on a T-lymphocyte tyrosine kinase receptor (51). Of these, so far only IL-8, PAF, and LTB4 have met the rigorous test of triggering leukocyte endothelial adhesion under conditions of flow. Yet the other candidate molecules share many of the properties of the proven mediators—the ability to induce integrin-mediated adhesion, for example—and therefore are strongly suspected of also mediating triggering. This has been demonstrated for several chemokines and classic chemotactic factors (52–54) as well as for HGF (51). Many also induce chemotaxis, cell polarization, transmigration, and similar responses, which appear closely linked biologically to adhesion triggering in the cascade (46–48). All the foregoing are therefore reasonable candidates for contributing to triggering in the cascade.

Surface molecules are another class of molecules with possible triggering function. L-selectin has been proposed as a trigger, since cross-linking on neutrophils leads to a calcium flux (55, 56), and L-selectin–mediated contact with cultured high endothelial venule (HEV) endothelium triggers motility (57). Although these studies demonstrate that L-selectin transduces some signals, it is unclear whether these are the signals critical for integrin activation since: 1. the calcium flux is relatively slow (40–60; 55); 2. the response is not blocked by pertussis toxin (56; and see below); and 3. L-selectin binding to PNad does not augment LFA-1 binding (17). Activation of leukocyte integrins has also been reported after binding to E-selectin (58, 59) or to CD31 antibody (60, 61).

Is triggering a necessary step in adhesion cascades? Three general kinds of evidence indicate that it is. The most compelling are experiments that identify a required triggering signal in a flow-based study. The ischemia model outlined above (13) provides a particularly good example by identifying IL-8 in granulocyte arrest. PAF likewise has been convincingly shown to contribute to triggering arrest: a PAF inhibitor decreases arrest without influencing rolling in both a cat ischemia reperfusion model (62) and superoxide-induced vessel injury (63). Models whose readout is recruitment into tissue, although suggestive, cannot distinguish triggering from effects on transmigration. For example, demonstration that anti-IL-8 mAbs inhibit granulocyte influx in rabbit endotoxin-induced pleurisy (64) reveals a critical role for IL-8 in the process as a whole, but does not establish it as a trigger for granulocyte arrest.

A second compelling kind of evidence comes from use of pertussis toxin to inhibit the function of the G-proteins on which the leukocyte serpentine receptors depend for much of their downstream signaling events. Extending earlier observations on pertussis toxin inhibition of lymphocyte homing (65), Bargatze et al (66) demonstrated that it inhibits lymphocyte arrest, but not rolling. Thus, a G-protein–mediated step must precede arrest.

The third line of evidence is that addition of exogenous triggering agents enhances arrest. For example, studies with PAF and LTB4 in vivo demonstrate augmentation of neutrophil adherence and transmigration (7). In vitro, the addition of known triggering agents also increases the frequency of arrest.

162 EBNET ET AL

The agents used, such as manganese or an integrin-activating antibody, bypass serpentine receptors and act directly on the integrin. Studies in the highly controlled system of lymphocytes that use $\alpha 4\beta 1$ or $\alpha 4\beta 7$ for both primary and secondary adhesion show that such exogenous activation dramatically augments arrest, with minimal effect on rolling (17, 21, 24, 67). Are there circumstances in which acute triggering is not required? Yes-arrest without acute triggering may occur for cells in circulation whose integrins are in the active state, rather than the normal inactive state. This may explain why cells cultured in vitro that are infused back into the host show atypical homing patterns. For example, cultured tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes or IL-2-activated lymphocytes have integrins in an active confirmation and bind to endothelium in vitro without exogenous triggers (68, 69); although some cells do migrate into tumor when infused, the overall pattern is clearly disregulated (69, 70). Similarly, animal models of disease that involve infusion of cultured T cells (such as EAE) may include inappropriate access of cells to tissue compartments due to elimination of the need for a triggering step (and other alternations in their adhesion phenotype). In some experimental model systems, leukocyte arrest occurs with little or no rolling (20, 71). This may reflect either prior triggering or very efficient triggering on contact.

RETENTION OF CHEMOKINE AT THE ENDOTHELIAL SURFACE In order for soluble triggering factors to convey information rapidly during leukocyte-endothelial interactions, they must achieve a threshold local concentration. Most will be rapidly cleared by blood flow (72, 73), although theory predicts limited accumulation in a "concentration boundary layer" close to the vessel wall (74), which might be enhanced by endothelial glycocalyx (75). To circumvent this washout, several strategies may be used by ECs to concentrate factors at or near the endothelial surface. First, the heparin-binding capacity shared by all chemokines (76) may specifically retain them on the proteoglycan-rich glycocalyx of ECs (72). Second, recent IL-8 studies of Middleton et al (77) suggest that chemokine may be concentrated on endothelial protrusions, either in vesicles or at the plasma membrane. Third, the Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines (DARC) is strongly and very selectively expressed on postcapillary venules, the site of virtually all leukocyte emigration (78). DARC is a "promiscuous" chemokine receptor that binds many but not all chemokines; no signaling function has yet been demonstrated. Its functional importance on postcapillary venules has not been proven, but it has the potential to hold chemokines at the endothelial surface and thereby regulate their presentation to leukocytes (either positively or negatively). Furthermore, since transfection studies indicate that DARC can be endocytosed (79), it could play a role in transendothelial transport (described below).
CHEMOKINE RECEPTORS Functional chemokine receptors are selectively expressed on subsets of leukocytes (50). Accordingly, each chemokine acts on a restricted subset of cell types to induce chemotaxis, activation, or adhesion (46–48). Undoubtedly additional chemokine receptors will be identified, adding to the complexity of, and thereby the potential for, information throughput via these receptors. For example, the recently described BLR1-chemokine family receptor is expressed not only on B cells, but also on small specific subsets of CD4 and CD8 T cells (80). Thus, T cells may be as heterogeneous for chemokine receptor expression (and responsiveness) as they are for adhesion molecule expression (2). Both increase the combinatorial sorting capacity of the adhesion cascade.

Triggering during the adhesion cascade must occur on a second or subsecond time scale (66, 71). Although this is extremely rapid compared to most immunologic responses, this is routine for sensory responses. The serpentine receptor family is used for time-critical sensory functions, such as sight and neural transmission (50). When a chemokine binds to its serpentine receptor, it typically generates a calcium flux and phosphoinositide hydrolysis via Gprotein coupling (50). The subsequent events must likewise be rapid but are not well understood. We suspect a major role for cytoskeleton given the importance of cytoskeleton to regulating integrin-mediated adhesion (15, 81), the sensitivity of cytoskeleton to calcium and phospholipid mediators (82), and the extreme rapidity of many cytoskeletal events (83, 84).

Issues in Secondary Adhesion

The concepts of secondary adhesion have remained relatively stable over the last several years, with ICAM-1, ICAM-2, and VCAM-1 as the predominant endothelial ligands for strong adhesion. A major solidification has come from the cloning of MAdCAM and demonstration that it is the primary ligand for $\alpha 4\beta 7$ (3, 6). This now substantially explains in molecular terms the preferential lymphocyte migration to the gut. One provocative feature of MAdCAM is its incorporation of both an integrin-ligand and a mucinligand for L-selectin (26) in a single molecule. Although it seems not to be a common strategy in the adhesion cascade, it is conceptually a very parsimonious one.

However, surprises probably await. The alternatively spliced form of fibronectin (CS-1) is found on the lumenal aspect of vessels in rheumatoid joints and is a dominant ligand for VLA-4 in vitro (85). Neutrophils can bind to endothelium via a bridge of fibrinogen which in turn is bound to ICAM-1 (86). Likewise, pro-thymocytes show VLA-6-dependent homing to the thymus, which appears, surprisingly, to involve the VLA-6 integrin on the endothelial side of the interaction (10).

ENDOTHELIUM "REPORTS" INFORMATION FROM ITS ENVIRONMENT

Virtually all the information accessible to the passing leukocyte is managed by the EC. There is a fundamental dichotomy between two kinds of information. In one case, for soluble factors such as MIP-1 β or IL-8 from other cells, the endothelium can facilitate access of the tissue-derived factor to the lumenal surface, perhaps retaining it there; we refer to this as "posting" (as occurs with endothelial retention described above). Alternatively, the endothelium can integrate incoming signals and "relay" that information by creating a new set of signals for the leukocyte, for example, by regulating synthesis of VCAM-1, E-selectin, or IL-8.

Regulation of expression of adhesion molecules on endothelium has been frequently reviewed (3, 4, 6, 10, 11). Based on the foregoing discussion, we believe that chemokine production by ECs is likewise an important element in the adhesion cascade, and therefore we review the principles and specifics of endothelial production of chemokines. Marked similarities between the rules governing expression of chemokines and adhesion molecules suggest that their regulation has coevolved to optimize the binding of leukocytes.

Chemokine Production by Endothelium

Among the more than 25 chemokines described, at least five of these are expressed by ECs in vivo. MCP-1 and IL-8 appear to be the most "promiscuous" EC-expressed chemokines and have been described extensively in both models, in vivo and in vitro (46, 49). Both chemokines are constitutively expressed in cultured endothelium (87, 88) as well as in apparently normal endothelium in certain tissues in vivo (89–91). Failure to detect IL-8 message in normal heart and brain endothelium may reflect tissue-specific differences in IL-8 transcription in resting endothelium, or simply differences in assay sensitivity (92, 93). It is no more surprising that IL-8 and MCP-1 are transcribed at a basal level in some tissue endothelium, than that ICAM-1 is as well. Their low basal levels may contribute to low frequency T cell binding during recirculation and/or may facilitate rapid induction in inflammatory conditions. They are strongly upregulated by various stimuli [(46), and see below].

In addition to IL-8 and MCP-1, two chemokines have been demonstrated to be produced by endothelium in vivo (IP-10 and RANTES), and three are strong candidates (gro- α /MGSA, Mig, and ENA-78). IP-10 mRNA expression is induced in liver and kidney after intravenous administration of IFN- γ , particularly in the microvasculature (94). RANTES was found to be expressed in ECs surrounding granulomas during DTH reactions in lymph nodes (95). Gro- α expression has been described in cultured endothelium where it can be induced by a variety of stimuli (96–98). Mig was found recently to be expressed in cultured EC where its regulation was most similar to that of IP-10 (88). Finally, ENA-78 was found at the surface of ECs in synovial tissue (99); it should be noted that finding chemokines localized around endothelium does not necessarily indicate production of the chemokine by that endothelium (100, and see below). Taken together, these findings indicate that ECs can be induced to express members of both the CC- (RANTES, MCP-1) and the CXC-subfamilies (IL-8, Gro- α , IP-10, Mig) of chemokines.

Chemokine Inducers

Many of the agents that induce chemokine expression in EC also induce adhesion molecules relevant to the adhesion cascade. This is consistent with a concept of coordinated display of all required elements for information transfer to the leukocyte. Among the strongest stimuli are the classical inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1, and IFN- γ (46). Many other soluble mediators can do so also. For example, growth factors such as monocyte-colony-stimulating factor (101) and immune-derived cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-10 (102, 103) induce MCP-1 expression. Likewise, histamine is a potent inducer of IL-8 (87), consistent with a critical role for mast cells (see below). Finally, thrombin can very rapidly induce MCP-1 expression (104), linking chemokine induction to the coagulation cascade.

ECs produce chemokines in response to other important classes of stimuli that are rather different in character from the host protein mediators described above. Microbial products, ischemia, and shear influence chemokine as well as adhesion molecule expression by endothelium. Endotoxin (LPS) from many Gram-negative bacteria is a strong stimulus for chemokine production (46). In addition, capsular polysaccharide from the Gram-positive *Staphylococcus aureus* and outer surface proteins from the spirochete *Borrelia burgdorferi* act as inducers as well (105; and K Ebnet, MM Simon, S Shaw, manuscript in preparation).

Ischemia acts as a potent inducer of MCP-1 and IL-8 production by EC, just as it induces adhesion ligands (92, 93, 106, 107). Such activation of the adhesion cascade by ischemia presumably evolved to deal with wounds but often creates damage in ischemia-reperfusion injuries such as myocardial infarction (108). Finally, mechanical forces such as shear stress generated by blood flow induce MCP-1 mRNA expression in ECs (109), and shear stress–responsive *cis*-acting elements have been identified in the promoters of shear-regulated genes in EC (110). The local expression of chemokines induced by turbulent flow in the vascular tree might therefore contribute to the generation of atherosclerotic lesions (108).

Selectivity in Chemokine Production

There is redundancy of chemokine production by ECs in two respects: Multiple agents induce the same chemokine (e.g. IL-1, LPS, and ischemia all induce IL-8); and a single agent induces multiple chemokines (e.g. TNF induces IL-8, MCP-1, RANTES, and others). However, this does not mean absence of specificity; redundancy in information systems serves to maximize error-free information transmission, and it is often characteristic of biologic cytokine networks (111). Superimposed on this redundancy are elements of specificity, some of which are obvious and some more subtle. The most obvious example of specificity is that endothelium produces only a limited subset of the known chemokines; for example, we know of no evidence for MIP-1 α or MIP-1 β production by endothelium. Another clear example, as noted above, is that upon intravenous administration of IFN- γ in mice, there is striking preferential induction of IP-10 message in liver and kidney microvascular endothelium; expression on endothelium at other sites is weak or non-existent (94). Thus, in the intact organism, chemokine production by endothelium can be highly specific.

For the most part we do not understand the tissue-derived regulatory elements that confer this kind of specificity in vivo. However, studies in vitro provide some clues. First, we find partial selectivity when looking systematically at patterns of induction of chemokines on cultured endothelium by classic inflammatory mediators. For example, IP-10 and Mig are better induced than MCP-1 by high doses of IFN- γ , while the converse is true for induction by IL-1 (88). Second, additivity/synergy is often seen with the proinflammatory cytokines; endothelial cultures give strong chemokine responses to mixes of TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IFN- γ , which when given individually induce minimal response (88, 112). Third, responses to the strong primary inducers such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IFN- γ , or LPS are regulated by other soluble factors. IL-4 and IL-13 partially inhibit the TNF- α /IFN- γ -induced RANTES expression in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) (112). IL-4, however, has also been described as amplifying the IL-1- or LPS-induced production of MCP-1 or IL-8 in HUVEC (113), indicating that the same cytokine can have opposite effects on different chemokines. IL-3 acts cooperatively with TNF- α in the induction of IL-8 and E-selectin expression (114). Finally histamine potentiates IL-8 production induced by TNF- α (87), suggesting that mast cells enhance leukocyte infiltration via chemokine induction.

"Relay" chemokine production by the endothelium itself has theoretical advantages over "posting" of chemokines made by other cells, notably amplification and integration. The foregoing paragraph illustrates the principle of integration of multiple signals. Amplification can be a powerful feature of the relay when the inducing factors are present at low concentration (e.g. early in the response). For example, less than 1U/ml of TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IFN- γ is sufficient to induce more than half-maximal response of IL-8 in cultured endothelium; the lag time in this process is quite modest, since peak levels of IL-8 message are achieved within an hour (88).

HOW INFORMATION REACHES THE ENDOTHELIUM

Short-Range vs Long-Range Information Transfer

Whether the endothelium uses "posting" or "relay" mechanisms to display proadhesive molecules on its lumenal surface, there remains the fundamental problem of how the signal is transported from its source to the vessel. Passive diffusion is of primary value in situations where vessels are in extremely close proximity to the source of the activating signal. Postcapillary venules are within a few cell diameters of various tissue cells including pericytes, stromal cells, and mast cells. Rapid intercellular communication between these cells is illustrated by mast cells; trauma-induced degranulation causes release of small, highly diffusible mediators, including histamine and PAF, that quickly and dramatically initiate endothelial changes (115). Furthermore, inflammatory cells often accumulate in the perivascular region; cytokines generated within these infiltrates have relatively easy access to the adjacent endothelium. Indeed, the extreme example of short-range signaling is that leukocyte membrane-bound IL-1 can induce endothelial IL-8 production via juxtacrine mechanism (116).

In other situations, the signal may need to traverse substantial distances to reach its target vessel. It apparently can do so rapidly: Subcutaneous injection of IL-8 in rats causes a detectable increase in transendothelial migration of lymphocytes in draining lymph nodes within three minutes, peaking at three times normal levels in half an hour (117). This implies extremely rapid transport to lymph node vessels via multiple steps: from inoculation site to dermal lymphatics, to lymph node subcapsular sinus, to paracortical postcapillary venules (see below). Omnidirectional passive diffusion of soluble factors is dissatisfying as an explanation for long-range information transport on several grounds: It is slow, it dilutes the concentration signal exponentially in proportion to the radius of diffusion, and it may be impeded by physical barriers and biochemical interactions within tissues (118). The rules for movement of molecules through tissue are complex and only partially understood (119, and references therein). But as an example, passive diffusion of the growth factor activin appears to occur an estimated speed of around 55 μ m per hour (120). In simplified model systems in which a factor such as bFGF is migrating through agarose (with which it has charge interactions), diffusion occurs at about 70 μ m per hour. Carrier molecules may increase the speed and radius of diffusion: bFGF bound to heparin diffuses roughly four times more rapidly through agarose, about 3 mm in 10 h (121). Even so, the speed of passive diffusion is insufficient to account for the rapidity of the lymphocyte recruitment into lymph node described above. Rather, there is evidence for anatomic structures that transport material through tissues and to vessels (122). Of special importance is the concept of fiber bundles in facilitating such transport, which will be illustrated in the lymph node and extended to other tissues.

The Lymph Node Reticular Network

Several studies indicate that soluble tracers arriving via afferent lymphatics penetrate the lymph node parenchyma in a defined and organized pattern (illustrated in Figure 1A). The peroxidase tracer arrives at the subcapsular sinus (S), from where it would be expected to diffuse into the upper cortex (C), producing a smooth concentration gradient. Instead, one observes a linear, web-like pattern of accumulation (F) (123). There is prominent accumulation of tracer around and even in the lumen of the high endothelial venule (HEV). This is of particular importance because HEV are the postcapillary venules specialized for the high volume recirculation of lymphocytes into the node. The formation of this pattern reflects a rapid transport mechanism since the micrograph shows tissue fixed 1 min after the tracer entered the sinus. These results were confirmed by studies of Sainte-Marie et al, using FITC-BSA injected into skin of rats (124). Although the route of administration was slightly different—the tracer had to reach lymphatics in the skin before entering the afferent lymphatic—the pattern and sequence of lymph node staining was identical: Tracer entered the subcapsular sinus, streaked downward into the cortex, and reached the HEV. These staining patterns correspond anatomically to the reticular network of the lymph node.

The reticular network has long been thought to be primarily a structural component of the lymph node. It is a network of collagen fibers that extends from the subcapsular sinus region into the deeper cortex and medullary regions. An unusual feature of these fibers is that they are ensheathed throughout most of their course by fibroblastic reticular cells (FRC, Figure 1*B*) (125, 126). As a result, the fibers comprise an extracellular space, effectively insulated from the surrounding lymph node parenchyma that contains lymphocytes and antigen presenting cells. Based on the unique ultrastructural anatomy of the reticular network, Moe proposed in 1963, that "it seems reasonable to hypothesize that the entire reticular interstitium may provide pathways for movement . . . for secretory products" (126). Many of these fibers end by insertion onto the outer surface of the HEV, forming a lace-like sleeve around the vessel (127). Thus, the reticular network is anatomically positioned for the transport of soluble information from the afferent lymph to the HEV. In support of this concept,



169

170 EBNET ET AL

immunohistochemical studies of reactive lymph node have localized MIP-1 β to the reticular network (EP Kaldjian, ES Jaffe, S Shaw, manuscript in preparation). Although details of the transport mechanism are incomplete, three previously discussed features may contribute (75): solute transport into the reticular network via pinocytosis of lymph by sinus-lining cells; bulk fluid flow along the reticular network facilitated by fluid from fenestrated capillaries within the network; directionality of flow determined by enclosure of the reticular network by its sheath at all but defined locations, particularly HEV.

Fibers as Low-Resistance Pathways in Other Tissues

Fibers also appear to play a role in information transport in other tissues as well. In skin, the anatomic arrangement of elastic fibers and limited experimental data support this concept. The dermal lymphatics are associated with elastic fibers, which radiate perpendicularly from the lymphatic into the surrounding dermis. These fibers are continuous with a network of finer fibers that extend into the upper dermis and between keratinocytes into the epidermis (128). Colloidal carbon particles injected into the dermis localize preferentially to the elastic fibers as they migrate toward initial lymphatics (118, and references therein). Transport along fibers has also been observed in the rabbit mesentery, where low molecular weight fluorescent dyes injected into the mesenteric terminal vascular system move relatively rapidly out from the vessel and along connective tissue fibers in a pattern similar to the reticular pattern of elastic fibers within the tissue (122). Consequently, elastic fibers have been termed a "low resistance" pathway for fluid transport, in contrast to the much slower seepage through surrounding matrix. Sheathed reticular fibers can be found in other lymphoid organs, including spleen, tonsil, and Peyer's patch of the gut (129). Unsheathed fibers are present in many tissues, including liver sinusoids, neural adventitia, smooth muscle, and tendon. Their role in transport has not yet been evaluated.

Issues in Transendothelial Transport

How do soluble signals such as chemokines gain access to the lumenal surface after movement through surrounding tissue? There are two possibilities and evidence for both. The first is endothelial transport of factors from the abluminal to the lumenal side. Specific uptake and subsequent release of fMLP from cultured ECs suggest this could be a mechanism for its transport (130). Intracutaneous injection of IL-8 results in appearance of large endothelial vesicles whose morphology and kinetics suggested IL-8 transport into the lumen (131). Recently, Rot and colleagues have used immunoelectron microscopy and electron microscopic autoradiography to directly identify IL-8 within such vesicles (77). Time course studies demonstrated progressive accumulation of IL-8 at the lumenal surface, with enrichment on the tips of endothelial protrusions induced

by the IL-8 administration. Thus, endothelial transport of triggering factors to the lumen via an endocytotic mechanism is strongly suggested. Alternatively, soluble factors can move between ECs and into the lumen (36), at least in HEV as shown in Figure 1A. Maintenance of the integrity of the vascular permeability barrier is accomplished by the overlapping of adjacent ECs that effectively form a flap valve (75). Regulated movement of fluid and cells across this specialized region is possible because the adjoining endothelial surfaces are held in apposition by discontinuous "spot welds" rather than the occluding junctions characteristic of most endothelia.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Coordinated flow of information is pivotal to efficient and specific interactions of circulating cells with specialized endothelium: the transport of signals along fiber bundles to vessels, the relay or posting of signals at the endothelial surface, and the ultimate reading of the lumenal display by the leukocyte. The adhesion cascade model has transformed our understanding of the binding itself. Much remains to be elucidated regarding the flow of information that dictates the specificity of that binding.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank colleagues for generous contribution of pre-publication information and M. Bartlett, E. Gretz, P. Henkart, and E. Jaffe for constructive comments.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Butcher EC. 1991. Leukocyte-endothelial cell recognition: three (or more) steps to specificity and diversity. *Cell* 67:1033–36
 Horgan KJ, Tanaka Y, Shaw S. 1992.
- Horgan KJ, Tanaka Y, Shaw S. 1992. Post-thymic differentiation of CD4 Tlymphocytes: naive versus memory subsets and further specialization among memory cells. *Chem. Immunol.* 54:72–102
- Springer TA. 1995. Traffic signals on endothelium for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration. *Annu. Rev Physiol.* 57:827–72
- Bevilacqua MP. 1993. Endothelial-leukocyte adhesion molecules. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 11:767–84
- 5. Adams DH, Shaw S. 1994. Leucocyte en-

dothelial interactions. Lancet 343:831-36

- Carlos TM, Harlan JM. 1994. Leukocyteendothelial adhesion molecules. *Blood* 84:2068–101
- Granger DN, Kubes P. 1994. The microcirculation and inflammation: modulation of leukocyte endothelial cell adhesion. J. Leukocyte Biol. 55:662–75
- Mackay CR. 1993. Immunological memory. Adv. Immunol. 53:217–65
- Picker LJ, Butcher EC. 1992. Physiologic and molecular mechanisms of lymphocyte homing. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 10:561–91
- Imhof BA, Dunon D. 1995. Leukocyte migration and adhesion. *Adv. Immunol.* 58:345–416

- Collins T, Read MA, Neish AS, Whitley MZ, Thanos D, Maniatis T. 1995. Transcriptional regulation of endothelial cell adhesion molecules: NF-kappaB and cytokine-inducible enhancers. *FASEB J*. 9:899–909
- Oppenheimer-Marks N, Lipsky PE. 1994. Transendothelial migration of T cells in chronic inflammation. *Immunologist* 2:58–64
- Rainger GE, Fisher A, Shearman C, Nash GB. 1995. Adhesion of flowing neutrophils to cultured endothelial cells after hypoxia and re-oxygenation in vitro. Am. J. Physiol. In press
- Sako D, Chang XJ, Barone KM, Vachino G, White HM, Shaw G, Veldman GM, Bean KM, Ahern TJ, Furie B, Larsen GR. 1993. Expression cloning of a functional glycoprotein ligand for P-selectin. *Cell* 75:1179–86
- Hynes RO. 1992. Integrins: versatility, modulation, and signaling in cell adhesion. *Cell* 69:11–25
- Smith CW, Kishimoto TK, Abbassi O, Hughes B, Rothlein R, McIntire LV, Butcher EC, Anderson DC. 1991. Chemotactic factors regulate lectin adhesion molecule 1 (LECAM-1)-dependent neutrophil adhesion to cytokine stimulated endothelial cells in vitro. J. Clin. Invest. 87:609–18
- Lawrence MB, Berg EL, Butcher EC, Springer TA. 1995. Rolling of leukocytes and neutrophils on peripheral node addressin and subsequent arrest on ICAM-1 in shear flow. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:1025– 31
- Jutila MA, Bargatze RF, Kurk S, Warnock RA, Ehsani N, Watson SR, Walcheck B. 1994. Cell surface P- and Eselectin support shear-dependent rolling of bovine gamma/delta T cells. J. Immunol. 153:3917–28
- Yago T, Tsukada M, Yamazaki H, Nishi T, Amano T, Minami M. 1995. Analysis of an initial step of T cell adhesion to endothelial monolayers under flow conditions. J. Immunol. 154:1216–22
- Jones DA, McIntire LV, Smith CW, Picker LJ. 1994. A two-step adhesion cascade for T cell/endothelial cell interactions under flow conditions. J. Clin. Invest. 94:2443– 50
- Alon R, Kassner PD, Carr MW, Finger EB, Hemler ME, Springer TA. 1995. The integrin VLA-4 supports tethering and rolling in flow on VCAM-1. J. Cell Biol. 128:1243–53
- 22. Alon R, Rossiter H, Wang X, Springer

TA, Kupper TS. 1994. Distinct cell surface ligands mediate T lymphocyte attachment and rolling on P and E-selectin under physiological flow. *J. Cell Biol.* 127:1485–95

- 23. Luscinskas FW, Kansas GS, Ding H, Pizcueta P, Schleiffenbaum BE, Tedder TF, Gimbrone MA Jr. 1994. Monocyte rolling, arrest and spreading on IL-4activated vascular endothelium under flow is mediated via sequential action of Lselectin, β1-integrins, and β2-integrins. J. Cell Biol. 125:1417–27
- Berlin C, Bargatze RF, Campbell JJ, von Andrian UH, Szabo MC, Hasslen SR, Nelson RD, Berg EL, Erlandsen SL, Butcher EC. 1995. Alpha 4 integrins mediate lymphocyte attachment and rolling under physiological flow. *Cell* 80:413–22
- Luscinskas FW, Ding H, Lichtman AH. 1995. P-selectin and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 mediate rolling and arrest, respectively, of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes on tumor necrosis factor alpha-activated vascular endothelium under flow. J. Exp. Med. 181:1179–86
- Berg EL, McEvoy LM, Berlin C, Bargatze RF, Butcher EC. 1993. L-selectin-mediated lymphocyte rolling on MAdCAM-1. *Nature* 366:695–98
- 27. Bargatze RF, Jutila MA, Butcher EC. 1995. Distinct roles of L-selectin and integrins $\alpha 4\beta 7$ and LFA-1 in lymphocyte interactions with Peyer's Patch-HEV in situ: the multi-step hypothesis confirmed and refined. *Immunity*. 3:99–108
- Sriramarao P, von Andrian UH, Butcher EC, Bourdon MA, Broide DH. 1994. L-Selectin and very late antigen-4 integrin promote eosinophil rolling at physiological shear rates in vivo. J. Immunol. 153:4238–46
- DeGrendele HC, Estess P, Picker LJ, Siegelman MH. 1995. CD44 and its ligand hyaluronate mediate rolling under physiologic flow: a novel lymphocyte/endothelial cell primary adhesion pathway. Submitted
- Zahalka MA, Okon E, Gosslar U, Holzmann B, Naor D. 1995. Lymph node (but not spleen) invasion by murine lymphoma is both CD44- and hyaluronate dependent. *J. Immunol.* 154:5345–55
- Lazaar AL, Pure E. 1995. CD44: a model for regulated adhesion function. *Immunol*ogist 3:19–25
- Buttrum SM, Hatton R, Nash GB. 1993. Selectin-mediated rolling of neutrophils on immobilized platelets. *Blood* 82:1165– 74

- Bargatze RF, Kurk S, Butcher EC, Jutila MA. 1994. Neutrophils roll on adherent neutrophils bound to cytokine-induced cells via L-selectin on the rolling cells. J. Exp. Med. 180:1785–92
- Giavazzi R, Foppolo M, Dossi R, Remuzzi A. 1993. Rolling and adhesion of human tumor cells on vascular endothelium under physiological flow conditions. J. Clin. Invest. 92:3038–44
- Tozeren A, Kleinman HK, Grant DS, Morales D, Mercurio AM, Byers SW. 1995. E-selectin-mediated dynamic interactions of breast- and colon-cancer cells with endothelial-cell monolayers. *Int. J. Cancer* 60:426–31
- Anderson AO, Anderson ND. 1976. Lymphocyte emigration from high endothelial venules in rat lymph nodes. *Immunology* 31:731–48
- van Ewijk W, Brons NHC, Rozing J. 1975. Scanning electron microscopy of homing and recirculating lymphocyte populations. *Cell Immunol*. 19:245–61
- Picker LJ, Warnock RA, Burns AR, Doerschuk CM, Berg EL, Butcher EC. 1991. The neutrophil selectin LECAM-1 presents carbohydrate ligands to the vascular selectins ELAM-1 and GMP-140. *Cell* 66:921–33
- Williams AF. 1991. Cellular interactions. Out of equilibrium. *Nature* 352:473–74
- Shimizu Y, Shaw S. 1993. Mucins in the mainstream. *Nature* 366:630–31
- 41. Shaw S. 1993. Leukocyte Differentiation Antigen Database, Version 1.01. Bethesda, MD: Int. Workshop Leukocyte Differentiation Antigens. Available from S Shaw, Natl. Inst. Health, on disk; NIH ftp site (balrog.nci.nih.gov)
- 42. Cole DJ, Taubenberger JK, Pockaj BA, Yannelli JR, Carter C, Carrasquillo J, Leitman S, Steinberg SM, Rosenberg SA, Yang YC. 1994. Histopathological analysis of metastatic melanoma deposits in patients receiving adoptive immunotherapy with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 38:299–303
- Fina L, Molgaard HV, Robertson D, Bradley NJ, Monaghan P, Delia D, Sutherland DR, Baker MA, Greaves MF. 1990. Expression of the CD34 gene in vascular endothelial cells. *Blood* 75:2417–26
- Singer SJ. 1992. Intercellular communication and cell-cell adhesion. *Science* 255:1671–77
- Springer TA. 1994. Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: the multistep paradigm. *Cell* 76:301–14

- Baggiolini M, Dewald B, Moser B. 1994. Interleukin-8 and related chemotactic cytokines—CXC and CC chemokines. Adv. Immunol. 55:97–179
- Mantovani A, Sozzani S. 1994. Chemokines. Lancet 343:923–25
- Schall TJ. 1994. The chemokines. In *The* Cytokine Handbook, ed. A Thomson, pp. 419–59. New York: Academic
- Furie MB, Randolph GJ. 1995. Chemokines and tissue injury. Am. J. Pathol. 146(6):1287–1301
- Murphy PM. 1994. The molecular biology of leukocyte chemoattractant receptors. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 12:593–633
- 51. Adams DH, Harvath L, Bottaro DP, Interrante R, Catalano G, Tanaka Y, Strain A, Hubscher SG, Shaw S. 1994. Hepatocyte growth factor and macrophage inflammatory protein-1β: structurally distinct cytokines that induce rapid cytoskeletal changes and subset-preferential migration in T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:7144–48
- Tanaka Y, Adams DH, Hubscher S, Hirano H, Siebenlist U, Shaw S. 1993. Tcell adhesion induced by proteoglycanimmobilized cytokine MIP-1β. Nature 361:79–82
- Taub DD, Conlon K, Lloyd AR, Oppenheim JJ, Kelvin DJ. 1993. Preferential migration of activated human CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in response to MIP-1α and MIP-1β. Science 260:355–58
- 54. Taub DD, Lloyd AR, Conlon K, Wang JM, Ortaldo JR, Harada A, Matsushima K, Kelvin DJ, Oppenheim JJ. 1993. Recombinant human interferon-inducible protein 10 is a chemoattractant for human monocytes and T lymphocytes and promotes T cell adhesion to endothelial cells. J. Exp. Med. 177:1809–14
- Crockett-Torabi E, Sulenbarger B, Smith CW, Fantone JC. 1995. Activation of human neutrophils through L-selectin and Mac-1 molecules. *J. Immunol.* 154:2291– 3302
- 56. Laudanna C, Constantin G, Baron P, Scarpini E, Scarlato G, Cabrini G, Dechecchi C, Rossi F, Cassatella MA, Berton G. 1994. Sulfatides trigger increase of cytosolic free calcium and enhanced expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-8 mRNA in human neutrophils. Evidence for a role of L-selectin as a signaling molecule. J. Biol. Chem. 269:4021–26
- Harris H, Miyasaka M. 1995. Reversible stimulation of lymphocyte motility by cultured high endothelial cells: mediation by

L-selectin. Immunology 85:47-54

- Lo SK, Lee S, Ramos RA, Lobb R, Rosa M, Chi-Rosso G, Wright SD. 1991. Endothelial-leukocyte adhesion molecule 1 stimulates the adhesive activity of leukocyte integrin CR3 (CD11b/CD18, Mac-1, alpha m beta 2) on human neutrophils. J. Exp. Med. 173:1493–1500
- Kuijpers TW, Hakkert BC, Hoogerwerf M, Leeuwenberg JFM, Roos D. 1991. Role of endothelial leukocyte adhesion molecule-1 and platelet-activating factor in neutrophil adherence to IL-1-prestimulated endothelial cells. Endothelial leukocyte adhesion molecule-1mediated CD18 activation. J. Immunol. 147:1369–76
- Berman ME, Muller WA. 1995. Ligation of platelet/endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1, CD31) on monocytes and neutrophils increases binding capacity of leukocyte CR3 (CD11b/CD18). J. Immunol. 154:299– 307 (Abstr.)
- Tanaka Y, Albelda SM, Horgan KJ, van Seventer GA, Shimizu Y, Newman W, Hallam J, Newman PJ, Buck CA, Shaw S. 1992. CD31 expressed on distinctive T cell subsets is a preferential amplifier of *β*1 integrin-mediated adhesion. J. Exp. Med. 176:245–53
- Kubes P, Ibbotson G, Russell J, Wallace JL, Granger DN. 1990. Role of platelet activating factor in ischemia/reperfusioninduced leukocyte adherence. *Am. J. Physiol.* 259:G300–5
- Gaboury JP, Anderson DC, Kubes P. 1994. Molecular mechanisms involved in superoxide-induced leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions in vivo. Am. J. Physiol. 266:H637–42
- 64. Broaddus VC, Boylan AM, Hoeffel JM, Jin Kim K, Sadick M, Chuntharapai A, Hébert CA. 1994. Neutralization of IL-8 inhibits neutrophil influx in a rabbit model of endotoxin-induced pleurisy. J. Immunol. 152:2960–67
- 65. Huang K, Im SY, Samlowski WE, Daynes RA. 1989. Molecular mechanisms of lymphocyte extravasation. III. The loss of lymphocyte extravasation potential induced by pertussis toxin is not mediated via the activation of protein kinase C. J. Immunol. 238:229–38
- Bargatze RF, Butcher EC. 1993. Rapid G protein-regulated activation event involved in lymphocyte binding to high endothelial venules. J. Exp. Med. 178:367– 72
- 67. Berlin C, Berg EL, Briskin MJ, Andrew

DP, Kilshaw PJ, Holzmann B, Weissman IL, Hamann A, Butcher EC. 1993. $\alpha 4 \beta 7$ -integrin mediates binding to the mucosal vascular addressin MAdCAM-1. *Cell* 74:185–95

- Adams DH, Yannelli J, Newman W, Ades EW, Lawley TJ, Rosenberg SA, Shaw S. 1995. Interactions of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes with endothelium: a functional and phenotypic analysis. In preparation
- Pankonin G, Reipert B, Ager A. 1992. Interactions between interleukin-2-activated lymphocytes and vascular endothelium: binding to and migration across specialized and non-specialized endothelia. *Immunology* 77:51–60
- Whiteside TL, Herberman RB. 1992. Extravasation of antitumor effector cells. *In*vasion Metastasis 12:128–46
- Bjerknes M, Cheng H, Ottaway CA. 1986. Dynamics of lymphocyte-endothelial interactions in vivo. *Science* 231:402–5
- Tanaka Y, Adams DH, Shaw S. 1993. Proteoglycan on endothelial cells present adhesion-inducing cytokines to leukocytes. *Immunol. Today* 14:111–14
- Rot A. 1992. Endothelial cell binding of NAP-1/IL-8: role in neutrophil emigration. *Immunol. Today* 13:291–94
- Richardson PD. 1980. Dynamic theory of leucocyte adhesion. In *Blood Cells and Vessel Walls. CIBA Found. Symp.*, ed. R Porter, M O'Connor. *Excerpta Medica* 71:313–35
- Anderson AO, Shaw S. 1993. T cell adhesion to endothelium: The FRC conduit system and other anatomic and molecular features which facilitate the adhesion cascade in lymph node. *Semin. Immunol.* 5:271–82
- Witt DP, Lander AD. 1994. Differential binding of chemokines to glycosaminoglycan subpopulations. *Curr. Biol.* 4:394– 400
- Middleton J, Wintle J, Rot A. 1995. Endothelial presentation of IL-8 to neutrophils: evidence for chemokine transcytosis. In preparation
- Wasniowska K, Hadley T. 1994. The Duffy blood group antigen: an update. *Trans. Med. Rev.* 8(4):281–88
- 79. Peiper SC, Wang ZX, Neote K, Martin AW, Showell HJ, Conklyn MJ, Ogborne K, Hadley TJ, Lu ZH, Hesselgesser J, Horuk R. 1995. The Duffy antigen/receptor for chemokines (DARC) is expressed in endothelial cells of Duffy negative individuals who lack the erythrocyte receptor. J. Exp. Med. 181:1311–17

- Forster R, Emrich T, Kremmer E, Lipp M. 1994. Expression of the G-protein– coupled receptor BLR1 defines mature, recirculating B cells and a subset of Thelper memory cells. *Blood* 84:830–40
- Peter K, O'Toole TE. 1995. Modulation of cell adhesion by changes in alpha L beta 2 (LFA-1, CD11a/CD18) cytoplasmic domain/cytoskeleton interaction. J. Exp. Med. 181:315–26
- Shariff A, Luna EJ. 1992. Diacylglycerolstimulated formation of actin nucleation sites at plasma membranes. *Science* 256:245–47
- Theriot JA. 1994. Regulation of the actin cytoskeleton in living cells. *Semin. Cell Biol.* 5:193–99
- 84. Stossel TP. 1994. The machinery of blood cell movements. *Blood* 84(2):367–79
- Elices MJ, Tsai V, Strahl D, Goel AS, Tollefson V, Arrhenius T, Wayner EA, Gaeta FC, Fikes JD, Firestein GS. 1994. Expression and functional significance of alternatively spliced CS1 fibronectin in rheumatoid arthritis microvasculature. J. Clin. Invest. 93:405–16
- Languino LR, Duperray A, Joganic KJ, Fornaro M, Thornton GB, Altieri DC. 1995. Regulation of leukocyteendothelium interaction and leukocyte transendothelial migration by intercellular adhesion molecule 1-fibrinogen recognition. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:1505–9
- Jeannin P, Delneste Y, Gosset P, Molet S, Lassalle P, Hamid Q, Tsicopoulos A, Tonnel AB. 1994. Histamine induces interleukin-8 secretion by endothelial cells. *Blood* 84:2229–33
- Ebnet K, Luce GE, Farber JM, Shaw S. 1995. Expression of the mig chemokine gene in human endothelial cells: similarities and differences to other chemokines. In preparation
- Li YS, Shyy YJ, Wright JG, Valente AJ, Cornhill JF, Kolattukudy PE. 1993. The expression of monocyte chemotactic protein (MCP-1) in human vascular endothelium in vitro and in vivo. *Mol. Cell Biochem.* 126:61–68
- Antoniades HN, Neville-Golden J, Galanopoulos T, Kradin RL, Valente AJ, Graves DT. 1992. Expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 mRNA in human idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:5371–75
- Smith DR, Polverini PJ, Kunkel SL, Orringer MB, Whyte RI, Burdick MD, Wilke CA, Strieter RM. 1994. Inhibition of interleukin 8 attenuates angiogenesis in

bronchogenic carcinoma. J. Exp. Med. 179:1409-15

- Kim JS, Gautam SC, Chopp M, Zaloga C, Jones ML, Ward PA, Welch KM. 1995. Expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and macrophage inflammatory protein-1 after focal cerebral ischemia in the rat. J. Neuroimmunol. 56:127–34
- 93. Kukielka GL, Smith CW, LaRosa GJ, Manning AM, Mendoza LH, Daly TJ, Hughes BJ, Youker KA, Hawkins HK, Michael LH, Rot A, Entman ML. 1995. Interleukin-8 gene induction in the myocardium after ischemia and reperfusion in vivo. J. Clin. Invest. 95:89–103
- 94. Narumi S, Wyner LM, Stoler MH, Tannenbaum CS, Hamilton TA. 1992. Tissue-specific expression of murine IP-10 mRNA following systemic treatment with interferon gamma. J. Leukocyte Biol. 52:27–33
- Devergne O, Marfaing-Koka A, Schall TJ, Leger-Ravet MB, Sadick M, Peuchmaur M, Crevon MC, Kim KJ, Galanaud P, Emilie D. 1994. Production of the RANTES chemokine in delayed-type hypersensitivity reactions: involvement of macrophages and endothelial cells. J. Exp. Med. 179:1689–94. Erratum 1994. 180(2):775
- Wen D, Rowland A, Derynck R. 1989. Expression and secretion of gro/MGSA by stimulated human endothelial cells. *EMBO J.* 8:1761–66
- Haskill S, Peace A, Morris J, Sporn SA, Anisowicz A, Lee SW, Smith T, Martin G, Ralph R, Sager R. 1990. Identification of three related GRO genes encoding cytokine functions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 87:7732–36
- Schwartz D, Andalibi A, Chaverri-Almada L, Berliner JA, Kirchgessner T, Fang ZT, Tekamp-Olson P, Lusis AJ, Gallegos C, Fogelman AM, Territo MC. 1994. Role of the GRO family of chemokines in monocyte adhesion to MM-LDL-stimulated endothelium. J. *Clin. Invest.* 94:1968–73
- 99. Koch AE, Kunkel SL, Harlow LA, Mazarakis DD, Haines GK, Burdick MD, Pope RM, Walz A, Strieter RM. 1994. Epithelial neutrophil activating peptide-78: a novel chemotactic cytokine for neutrophils in arthritis. J. Clin. Invest. 94:1012–18
- Pattison J, Nelson PJ, Hule P, von Leuttichau I, Farshid G, Sibley RK, Krensky AM. 1994. RANTES chemokine expression in cell-mediated transplant rejection of the kidney. *Lancet* 343:209–11

176 EBNET ET AL

- 101. Shyy YJ, Wickham LL, Hagan JP, Hsieh HJ, Hu YL, Telian SH, Valente AJ, Sung KL, Chien S. 1993. Human monocyte colony-stimulating factor stimulates the gene expression of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 and increases the adhesion of monocytes to endothelial monolayers. J. Clin. Invest. 92:1745–51
- Rollins BJ, Pober JS. 1991. Interleukin-4 induces the synthesis and secretion of MCP-1/JE by human endothelial cells. *Am. J. Pathol.* 138:1315–19
- 103. Sironi M, Munoz C, Pollicino T, Siboni A, Sciacca FL, Bernasconi S, Vecchi A, Colotta F, Mantovani A. 1991. Divergent effects of interleukin-10 on cytokine production by mononuclear phagocytes and endothelial cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:2692–95
- Colotta F, Sciacca FL, Sironi M, Luini W, Rabiet MJ, Mantovani A. 1994. Expression of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 by monocytes and endothelial cells exposed to thrombin. *Am. J. Pathol.* 144:975–85
- 105. Soell M, Diab M, Haan-Archipoff G, Beretz A, Herbelin C, Poutrel B, Klein JP. 1995. Capsular polysaccharide types 5 and 8 of *Staphylococcus aureus* bind specifically to human epithelial (KB) cells, endothelial cells, and monocytes and induce release of cytokines. *Infect. Immun.* 63:1380–86
- 106. Karakurum M, Shreeniwas R, Chen J, Pinsky D, Yan SD, Anderson M, Sunouchi K, Major J, Hamilton T, Kuwabara K, Rot A, Nowygrod R, Stern D. 1994. Hypoxic induction of interleukin-8 gene expression in human endothelial cells. J. Clin. Invest. 93:1564–70
- 107. Weyrich AS, Buerke M, Albertine KH, Lefer AM. 1995. Time course of coronary vascular endothelial adhesion molecule expression during reperfusion of the ischemic feline myocardium. J. Leukocyte Biol. 57:45–55
- Ross R. 1993. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. *Nature* 362:801–9
- 109. Shyy Y-J, Hsieh H-J, Usami S, Chien S. 1994. Fluid shear stress induces a biphasic response of human monocyte chemotactic protein 1 gene expression in vascular endothelium. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:4678–82
- 110. Resnick N, Collins T, Atkinson W, Bonthron DT, Dewey CF Jr, Gimbrone MA Jr. 1993. Platelet-derived growth factor B chain promoter contains a *cis*acting fluid shear-stress-responsive el-

ement. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:4591–95

- 111. Mayer EA. 1994. How cells communicate: information theory and linguistics in biological communication. In *The Bi*ological Mechanisms of Tooth Eruption: *Resorption and Replacement by Implants*, ed. Z Davidovitch. EBSCO Media Birmingham, AL
- 112. Marfaing-Koka A, Devergne O, Gorgone G, Portier A, Schall TJ, Galanaud P, Emilie D. 1995. Regulation of the production of the RANTES chemokine by endothelial cells. *J. Immunol.* 154:1870–78
- 113. Colotta F, Sironi M, Borre A, Luini W, Maddalena F, Mantovani A. 1992. Interleukin 4 amplifies monocyte chemotactic protein and interleukin 6 production by endothelial cells. *Cytokine* 4:24–28
- 114. Korpelainen EI, Gamble JR, Smith WB, Goodall GJ, Qiyu S, Woodcock JM, Dottore M, Vadas MA, Lopez AF. 1993. The receptor for interleukin 3 is selectively induced in human endothelial cells by tumor necrosis factor alpha and potentiates interleukin 8 secretion and neutrophil transmigration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:11137–41
- Gaboury JP, Johnston B, Niu XF, Kubes P. 1995. Mechanisms underlying acute mast cell-induced leukocyte rolling and adhesion in vivo. J. Immunol. 154:804–13
- 116. Kaplanski G, Farnarier C, Kaplanski S, Porat R, Shapiro L, Bongrand P, Dinarello CA. 1994. Interleukin-1 induces interleukin-8 secretion from endothelial cells by a juxtacrine mechanism. *Blood* 84:4242–48
- 117. Larsen CG, Anderson AO, Appella E, Oppenheim JJ, Matsushima K. 1989. The neutrophil-activating protein (NAP-1) is also chemotactic for T lymphocytes. *Science* 243:1464–66
- Ryan TJ. 1992. The lymphatics. In Oxford Textbook of Pathology, ed. JO McGee, PG Isaacson, NA Wright, pp. 923–30. Oxford: Oxford Univ. Press
- Fox JR, Wayland H. 1979. Interstitial diffusion of macromolecules in the rat mesentery. *Microvasc. Res.* 18:255–76
- Gurdon JB, Harger P, Mitchell A, Lemaire P. 1994. Activin signalling and response to a morphogen gradient. *Nature* 371:487– 92
- 121. Flaumenhaft R, Moscatelli D, Rifkin DB. 1990. Heparin and heparan sulfate increase the radius of diffusion and action of basic fibroblast growth factor. J. Cell Biol. 111:1651–59
- 122. Hauck G. 1985. Prelymphatic pathways.

In *The Initial Lymphatics*, ed. A Bollinger, H Partsch, JHN Wolfe, pp. 50–57. Stuttgart: Georg Thieme Verlag

- Anderson AO, Anderson ND. 1975. Studies on the structure and permeability of the microvasculature in normal rat lymph nodes. *Am. J. Pathol.* 80:387–418
- 124. Sainte-Marie G, Peng F-S. 1986. Diffusion of a lymph-carried antigen in the fiber network of the lymph node of the rat. *Cell Tissue Res.* 245:481–86
- Clark SL. 1962. The reticulum of lymph nodes in mice studied with the electron microscope. Am. J. Anat. 110:217–58
- Moe RE. 1963. Fine structure of the reticulum and sinuses of lymph nodes. *Am. J. Anat.* 112:311–35
- Ushiki T, Ohtani O, Abe K. 1995. Scanning electron microscopic studies of reticular framework in the rat mesenteric lymph node. *Anat. Rec.* 241:113–22
- 128. Ćotta-Pereira G, Guerra Rodrigo F, Bittencourt-Sampaio S. 1976. Oxytalan,

elaunin and elastic fibers in the human skin. J. Invest. Dermatol. 66(3):143 -48

- 129. Olah I, Rohlich P, Toro S. 1975. Ultrastructure of Lymphoid Organs. An Electron Microscopic Atlas. Philadelphia: Lippincott
- Rotrosen D, Malech HL, Gallin JI. 1987. Formyl peptide leukocyte chemoattractant uptake and release by cultured human umblical vein endothelial cells. J. Immunol. 139:3034–40
- 131. Swensson O, Dvhunrty V, Christophers E, Schroder JM. 1991. Inflammatory properties of neutrophil-activating protein-1/interleukin 9 (NAP-1/IL-8) in human skin: a light and electronmicroscopic study. J. Invest. Dermatol. 96:682–89
- 132. von Andrian UH, Hasslen SR, Nelson RD, Erlandsen SL, Butcher EC. 1995. A central role for microvillous receptor presentation in leukocyte adhesion under flow. *Cell* 82:989–99



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR γ CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID

Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, and Toshikazu Takeshita

Department of Microbiology, Tohoku University School of Medicine, 2-1 Seiryo-machi, Aoba-ku, Sendai 980, Japan

KEY WORDS: interleukin 2, cytokine receptor, T cell development, XSCID, signal transduction

ABSTRACT

Interleukin 2 (IL-2), a T cell-derived cytokine, targets a variety of cells to induce their growth, differentiation, and functional activation. IL-2 inserts signals into the cells through IL-2 receptors expressed on cell surfaces to induce such actions. In humans, the functional IL-2 receptor consists of the subunit complexes of the α , β , and γ chains, or the β and γ chains. The third component, the γ chain, of IL-2 receptor plays a pivotal role in formation of the full-fledged IL-2 receptor; together with the β chain, the γ chain participates in increasing the IL-2 binding affinity and intracellular signal transduction. Moreover, the cytokine receptors for at least IL-2, IL-4, IL-7, IL-9, and IL-15 utilize the same γ chain as an essential subunit. Interestingly, mutations of the γ chain gene cause human Xlinked severe combined immunodeficiency (XSCID) characterized by a complete or profound T cell defect. Among the cytokines sharing the γ chain, at least IL-7 is essentially involved in early T cell development in the mouse organ culture system. The molecular identification of the γ chain brought a grasp of the structures and functions of the cytokine receptor and an in-depth understanding of the cause of human XSCID. To investigate the mechanism of XSCID and development of

180 SUGAMURA ET AL

gene therapy for XSCID, knockout mice for the γ chain gene were produced that showed similar but not exactly the same phenotypes as human XSCID.

INTRODUCTION

A variety of cytokines have been molecularly identified as soluble factors regulating the immune system, hematopoietic system, and other cell-cell interactions. They exert pleiotropic and redundant functions via their receptors expressed on multiple target cells (1). For understanding such cytokine actions, a series of cytokine receptors have also been molecularly identified and functionally characterized. Cytokine receptors are classified into at least five distinct families based on the structural characteristics of their extracellular and intracellular domains: the cytokine receptor superfamily, interferon receptor family, TNF receptor family, TGF- β receptor family, and IL-8 receptor family (2). The cytokine receptor superfamily is the largest family, containing at least 18 distinct receptor molecules, some of which may be shared among multiple cytokine receptors; the receptors for IL-3, IL-5, and GM-CSF contain the common β chain, and the receptors for IL-6, IL-11, OSM, CNTF, and LIF contain the common gp130. In essence, the common β chain and gp130 participate in increasing ligand-binding affinities and in ligand-induced intracellular signal transduction, suggesting that the sharing of receptor subunits may in part reflect the redundant functions of cytokines (2, 3).

The IL-2 receptors were originally classified into three isoforms, the high-, intermediate-, and low-affinity IL-2 receptors (4). Molecular characterization of the IL-2 receptor commenced with gene cloning of the α chain (IL-2R α), which is unnecessary for intracellular signal transduction mediated by IL-2 (5–7). The second subunit of IL-2 receptor, β chain (IL-2R β), was then characterized as belonging to the cytokine receptor superfamily and as essential for the intracellular signal transduction (8). Introduction of IL-2R α and IL- $2R\beta$ genes induced the functional high-affinity IL-2 receptor in lymphoid cells but not in fibroblastoid cells, suggesting the possible existence of the lymphoid specific third component, the γ chain (IL-2R γ), of the IL-2 receptor. Molecular identification of IL-2R γ was achieved by coimmunopurification with IL-2R β , demonstrating that IL-2R γ has the structural profile specific for the cytokine receptor superfamily, as does IL-2R β (9). Not only IL-2R β but also IL-2R γ is essentially involved in the intracellular signal transduction, although their cytoplasmic domains do not contain any known effector function for signal transduction. However, associations of several effector molecules with their cytoplasmic domains have been revealed; in particular, novel tyrosine kinases Jak1 and Jak3 are physically bound with the serine-rich region of IL-2R β and the region containing the SH2 subdomains of IL-2R γ , respectively (10).

Similar to the common β chain and gp130, IL-2R γ was found to be shared with multiple cytokine receptors other than IL-2 receptor, such as receptors for IL-4, IL-7, IL-9, and IL-15 (10). Furthermore, the sharing of IL-2R β between IL-2 receptor and IL-15 receptor was recently found (11). All such receptor subunits shared by multiple cytokine receptors essentially participate in increasing ligand binding affinities and in ligand-induced intracellular signal transduction, suggesting that the sharing of receptor subunits may in part reflect the redundant functions of cytokines. The redundancy of cytokines may result in prevention of severe immunodeficiencies in mice targeted for cytokine genes; for example, gene-targeted mice for IL-2 and IL-4, both of which are capable of promoting T cell proliferation, carried normal numbers of T cells (12–14). However, knockout mice for IL-2R β were recently reported to show the deregulated T cell activation that resulted in autoimmunity (15). On the other hand, dysfunction of IL-2R γ causes human XSCID, characterized by a profound defect of T cells (16). Consequently, the cytokines sharing IL-2R γ should be implicated in the early T cell development.

THE IL-2/IL-2 RECEPTOR SYSTEM

Molecular Characterization of Receptor Subunits

At least three distinct subunits—IL-2R α , IL-2R β , and IL-2R γ —constitute IL-2 receptor complexes. The schematic structures of the human subunits are shown in Figure 1. The human IL-2R α was originally detected using a monoclonal antibody (mAb) recognizing the Tac antigen expressed on activated T cells and leukemic cell lines carrying HTLV-I, and then it was molecularly cloned (5-7, 17). The human IL-2R α gene is organized into eight exons spanning more than 35 kb and localized on chromosome 10p 14–15 (18, 19). The mature form of IL-2R α , deduced from the nucleotide sequence, consists of 251 amino acid residues with no significant homology to known cytokine receptors except the recently identified α chain of IL-15 receptor (20) (Figure 1). The cytoplasmic domain of the IL-2R α contains only 13 amino acid residues, which seems insufficient to harbor a signal transducing capacity. The second subunit β chain of IL-2 receptor (IL-2R β) was initially identified to be a 75-kDa cell surface glycoprotein, by affinity cross-linking experiments with radiolabeled IL-2 (21-25) and subsequently by mAbs specific for the human IL-2R β (26, 27). The complete cDNA clone encoding the human IL-2R β was isolated by expression cloning with the mAbs (8). The human genomic IL-2R β gene is partitioned into 10 exons, spanning 24 kb on chromosome 22q11.2-12 (28, 29). The



Figure 1 The schematic structure of the IL-2 receptor subunits, IL-2R β and IL-2R γ . The numbers are amino acid positions from the amino terminals. The solid lines indicate the conserved cysteine residues. WSXWS indicates an amino acid sequence of tryptophan—serine—unconserved amino acid—tryptophan—serine. Box 1, Serine, Acidic, and Proline in the cytoplasmic domain of IL-2R β represent the box 1, serine-rich, acidic, and proline-rich regions, respectively. SH2 and C30 in the cytoplasmic domain of IL-2R γ represent the SH2 subdomains and carboxyl terminal 30 amino acid residues, respectively.

mature form of IL-2R β consists of 525 amino acid residues. Characterized as a member of the cytokine receptor superfamily, IL-2R β has the common features of two pairs of the conserved cysteine residues near the amino-terminal and a sequence of tryptophan—serine—x(unconserved amino acid)—tryptophan serine (WSXWS, WS motif) in the extracellular domain (30). The cytoplasmic domain of IL-2R β , consisting of 286 amino acid residues, contains unique regions such as the box 1, serine-rich, acidic, and proline-rich regions. The third subunit γ chain of IL-2 receptor (IL-2R γ) was first detected by coimmunoprecipitation with IL-2R β prior to the IL-2R β gene cloning (31, 32). TU11 mAb specific for the human IL-2R β precipitated a 64-kDa cell surface molecule distinct from IL-2R α , together with IL-2R β in lysates of IL-2-treated cells expressing the high-affinity IL-2 receptor (31). The numbers of IL-2R β molecules on lymphoid transfectants with the IL-2R β gene usually exceeded sites of the intermediate-affinity receptor, which was known to contain IL-2R β but not IL-2R α . The amount of the 64-kDa molecule coprecipitated with IL- $2R\beta$ correlated well with the level of the intermediate-affinity IL-2 binding sites, suggesting the possibility that the 64-kDa molecule is IL-2R γ (32). The 64-kDa molecule was purified by coimmunoprecipitation with IL-2R β , and its amino-terminal amino acid residues were determined. Based on the amino acid sequence, the complete cDNA clone encoding the 64-kDa molecule was isolated and demonstrated to be the cognate IL-2R γ chain (9). The mature form of IL-2R γ consists of 347 amino acid residues with sequences typical of the cytokine receptor superfamily such as IL-2R β . The cytoplasmic domain of IL-2R γ , consisting of 86 amino acid residues, contains two subdomains of the Src homology region 2 (SH2). The full SH2 domain is known to contribute to the downstream signaling through its interaction with phosphotyrosine residues of various signal transducing effector molecules, but the two SH2 subdomains detected in IL-2R γ are thought to be insufficient for such action (33). As described later, IL-2Ry participates in formation of functional cytokine receptors not only for IL-2 but also for IL-4, IL-7, IL-9, and IL-15, and its dysfunction results in the occurrence of human XSCID.

Reconstitution of IL-2 Receptor Complexes

Expression of IL-2 receptor has been detected on hematopoietic cells and glioma cell lines but not on other nonhematopoietic cells including fibroblastoid cells and epithelial cells. Therefore, to investigate functional significances of the three distinct IL-2 receptor subunits, expression plasmids for human IL-2R α , IL-2R β , or IL-2R γ gene were stably transfected into the L929 fibroblastoid cell line, and the transfectant clones expressing various combinations of the receptor subunits were established. They were examined for their association, dissociation rate constants and affinities for IL-2 binding (9, 34) (Figure 2). Expression of IL-2R α alone or of both IL-2R α and IL-2R γ showed low affinities (Kd = 10^{-8}) to IL-2 binding, and either IL-2R β or IL-2R γ alone possessed undetectable affinities (Kd > 10^{-7} M) for IL-2 binding. The association rate constant with the $\alpha\beta\gamma$ heterotrimer complex was fourfold larger than that with the $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer complex, and the dissociation rate constant was one fifth of that with the $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer complex, resulting in two different types of high-affinity receptors with Kd of 10^{-11} and 10^{-10} M, respectively. Since the $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer complex has no signal transducing ability for cell growth, it is referred to as the pseudo-high-affinity receptor. On the other hand, the $\beta\gamma$



Figure 2 The human and mouse IL-2 receptor complexes and their affinities for IL-2 binding. The numbers in parentheses indicate IL-2 binding affinities.

heterodimer complex exhibited intermediate affinities (Kd = 10^{-9} M). The dissociation rate constants of the $\alpha\beta\gamma$ and $\beta\gamma$ complexes on lymphoid cells were generally much lower than those on fibroblastoid cells, suggesting that there is a significant difference between these two types of cells in regulating the dissociation of IL-2 from the receptors. The α chains of other cytokine receptors, such as IL-3, IL-5, or GM-CSF, and IL-6 or CNTF possess low affinities by themselves, but the heterodimers of the α chains with the β chains of such receptors form high-affinity receptors. These suggest a functional analogy between IL-2R α and the α chains of other cytokine receptors.

IL-2 receptors reconstituted on fibroblastoid cells were also examined for their ability to transduce IL-2-mediated intracellular signals, as described later in detail. The transfectants expressing the human $\alpha\beta\gamma$ and $\beta\gamma$ complexes of IL-2 receptor responded to IL-2 in terms of tyrosine phosphorylation of IL-2R β and induction of protooncogenes such as *c-myc*, *c-fos* and *c-jun* (35). On the other hand, the transfectants expressing the $\alpha\beta$ complex or the $\alpha\gamma$ complex showed unresponsiveness to IL-2. These indicate that both human IL-2R β and IL-2R γ are essential and adequate for formation of functional IL-2 receptor complexes; IL-2R α only increases the IL-2 binding affinity of the IL-2 receptor $\beta\gamma$ complex.

Similar reconstitution experiments of IL-2 receptor complexes were performed with expression plasmids for mouse receptor subunit genes, in an effort to characterize the difference between the human and mouse IL-2 receptor systems. The mouse $\alpha\beta\gamma$, $\alpha\beta$, and $\alpha\gamma$ complexes possess association and dissociation rate constants similar to those of human complexes, but the mouse $\beta\gamma$ complex has an undetectable affinity to IL-2 binding (36) (Figure 2). Such a difference in the IL-2 binding affinity of the $\beta\gamma$ complex between human and mouse was seen not only in transfectant cell lines but also in normal lymphocytes. Both human and mouse CD8⁺ T cells and NK cells express the $\beta\gamma$ complex of IL-2 receptor, as described later. Although human CD8⁺ T cells and NK cells exhibited IL-2 binding ability and IL-2 responsiveness, at least mouse CD8⁺ T cells were unresponsive to IL-2 and incapable of binding IL-2 (36). Therefore, the three receptor subunits including IL-2R α are indispensable for formation of the functional IL-2 receptor in the mouse system.

Expression of IL-2 Receptor Subunits

Expressions of IL-2R α , IL-2R β , and IL-2R γ on various populations of human peripheral blood cells were examined by staining with mAbs specific for each receptor subunit (37–39). IL-2R γ expression was seen on all of the populations including CD4+ T, CD8+ T, CD20+ B, CD56+ NK cells, and CD14+ monocytes. The granulocyte population was also positive for IL-2R γ . On the other hand, IL-2R α and IL-2R β were differentially expressed on these cell populations, although their expressions were enhanced by extracellular stimuli such as antigens and mitogens. CD8⁺ T cells and CD56⁺ NK cells significantly expressed IL-2R β , but little of IL-2R α , while CD4⁺ T cells expressed faint amounts of IL-2R β . Such a differential expression of IL-2R β on CD4⁺ T and CD8⁺ T cells reflects their respective IL-2 responsiveness, because the human $\beta\gamma$ complex forms functional receptor. In fact, CD8⁺ T and NK cells freshly prepared from the peripheral blood showed a strong proliferative response to IL-2, whereas CD4⁺ T cells required stimulation with macrophages for their IL-2 responsiveness (40, 41). It is of interest that $CD16-CD56^+$ NK cells in the human early pregnancy decidua express the high-affinity IL-2 receptor consisting of the $\alpha\beta\gamma$ complex, suggesting that these NK cells may be activated in vivo (42).

Mouse splenic cell populations exhibited an expression pattern similar to that of the three receptor subunits to the human peripheral blood cell populations (43). Furthermore, mouse thymocytes were also examined for expression of the IL-2 receptor subunits and the α chains of IL-4 and IL-7 receptors that share IL-2R γ as a common receptor subunit. The double negative (CD4⁻/CD8⁻) T cells, which are the most immature subset of T cells in thymus, were significantly positive for IL-2R γ , IL-2R α , and IL-7R α . They were however almost negative for IL-2R β and IL-4R α , predicting that double negative T cells express functional IL-7 receptor but little of functional IL-2 and IL-4 receptors (10). The double positive T cell subset contained a small population of IL-2R γ positive cells and a large population of IL-4R α positive cells but was negative for IL-2R α , IL-2R β , and IL-7R α , predicting that a small population of double positive T cells would express the functional IL-4 receptor, and that most of the double positive T cells would have no functional receptors for IL-2 and IL-7 (10).

IL-2R γ is constitutively expressed on various populations of human and mouse hematopoietic cells, while expressions of IL-2R α and IL-2R β chains are restricted to lymphocytes and monocytes/macrophages. Furthermore, IL- $2R\alpha$ and IL- $2R\beta$ expressions are different among cell populations, but they are known to be induced or enhanced within a day after stimulation with mitogens (37, 38). In contrast to IL-2R α and IL-2R β expressions, IL-2R γ expression on normal activated T cells was significantly suppressed by IL-2 stimulation. The IL-2-induced suppression of IL-2R γ expression was also demonstrated by IL- $2R\gamma$ promoter-driven luciferase assays (44). Since IL-2R γ is essential for the functional IL-2 receptor, the IL-2-induced suppression of IL-2R γ expression may result in cessation of IL-2-dependent T cell growth. On the other hand, HTLV-I-infected human T cells are often established as IL-2-dependent cell lines, and such cell lines constitutively express the high-affinity IL-2 receptor (45). In these HTLV-I-infected T cell lines, IL-2 did not induce suppression of IL-2R γ expression. In fact, a transacting transcriptional activator HTLV-I Tax was found to augment expression of IL-2R γ ; moreover, Tax nullified the IL-2-mediated suppression of IL-2R γ expression (44).

IL-2R γ IS A COMMON SUBUNIT FOR MULTIPLE CYTOKINE RECEPTORS

Sharing with the IL-4 Receptor

The cytokine receptor superfamily is known to include the common components for multiple cytokine receptors such as the β chain of receptors for IL-3, IL-5,

and GM-CSF, gp130 of receptors for IL-6, IL-11, OSM, LIF, and CNTF, and the β chain of receptors for LIF, OSM, and CNTF (Figure 3) (2, 3). Expression of IL-2R γ is detectable in a wide range of hematopoietic cell populations as distinct from IL-2R α and IL-2R β expressions, allowing us to suppose that IL- $2R\gamma$, apart from IL-2, serves as a multireceptor subunit. This supposition was suggested by the findings that human XSCID characterized by a T cell defect is caused by mutations of the IL-2R γ gene (16), and that IL-2-deficient SCID patients and mice carry the normal phenotype of T cells (12-14, 46-48). IL- $2R\gamma$ was then predicted to be a common subunit of receptor complexes for IL-2 and other cytokines that may be necessary for early T cell development. To demonstrate such sharing of IL-2R γ among multiple cytokine receptors, we and others applied two distinct procedures: one, blocking of cytokine functions by mAbs specific for the mouse IL-2R γ , and two, reconstitution of cytokine receptors with transfection of IL-2R γ and other cytokine receptor subunit genes. Candidate cytokines sharing the IL-2R γ were expected to include cytokines affecting T cells. We established two types of mAbs, TUGm2 and TUGm3, specific for the mouse IL-2R γ : TUGm2 can block the specific interaction between IL-2 and IL-2R γ , and TUGm3 can precipitate IL-2R γ cross-linked with IL-2. Using these mAbs, we have obtained evidence of IL-2R γ sharing with receptors for IL-4, IL-7, and IL-9.

Initially identified as a B cell growth factor, IL-4 is known to possess the capacity to promote growth of T and mast cells (49). The α chain of IL-4 receptor (IL-4Ra) was identified as a 140-kDa molecule consisting of 800 amino acid residues, a member of the cytokine receptor superfamily (50). IL-4 responsive lymphoid cell lines expressed the high-affinity IL-4 receptor, whereas nonlymphoid COS-7 transfectant with the IL-4R α gene expressed the IL-4 receptor with a lower affinity than that of the high-affinity IL-4 receptor on hematopoietic cells, suggesting that the high-affinity IL-4 receptor on lymphoid cells consists of a complex composed of at least IL-4R α and another subunit. Consequently, IL-2R γ was first examined for its sharing with the IL-4 receptor complex. TUGm2 significantly suppressed IL-4-dependent growth of CTLL-2 cells (51). Furthermore, in IL-4 binding assays, the binding of the high-affinity IL-4 receptor on CTLL-2 cells was significantly reduced by their treatment with TUGm2 (from 130 pM to 370 pM), although the IL-4 binding sites were unchanged (51). Since IL-2R γ itself has no ability to bind IL-4 directly, IL- $2R\gamma$ was expected to form a complex with IL-4R α . The direct participation of IL-2R γ in the IL-4 receptor complex was then demonstrated by immunoprecipitation with another mAb specific for IL-2R γ , TUGm3. CTLL-2 cells were treated with IL-4 and then chemically cross-linked, and their lysates were immunoprecipitated by TUGm3. IL-4-cross-linked IL-2R γ was seen in the immunoprecipitate, indicating the physical interaction between IL-4 and IL- $2R\gamma$ (51). All these results suggest the sharing of IL- $2R\gamma$ with IL-4 receptor (Figure 3). Similar results were obtained from the reconstitution experiments of IL-4 receptors by cotransfection of IL- $2R\gamma$ and IL- $4R\alpha$ genes (52).

On the other hand, differential involvement of IL-2R γ in formation of functional IL-4 receptors has been suggested; although TUGm2 significantly inhibited IL-4-induced proliferation of mouse BA/F3 cells, IC2 cells, and splenic B cells, it showed no effect on IL-4-induced expression of MHC class II molecules and CD23 on the cells (53). A possible physical interaction between IL-4 receptor and IL-13 has been suggested; IL-13 competitively inhibited binding of IL-4 to the functional IL-4 receptor (54, 55). Although IL-2R γ is not shared with the functional IL-13 receptor, the sharing of IL-4R α and an unknown component between receptors for IL-4 and IL-13 has been predicted (56, 57) (Figure 3).

Sharing with the IL-7 Receptor

Initially detected as a growth factor for pre-B cells derived from mouse bone marrow stromal cells, IL-7 was found to induce in vitro proliferation of T cells in combination with TPA stimulation, which proceeded in an IL-2-independent manner (58-60). Furthermore, IL-7-dependent proliferation of double negative thymocytes was seen in thymic organ cultures (61). Thus, the biological significance of IL-7 in B and T cell development was suggested. The α chain of human IL-7 receptor (IL-7R α) was isolated by direct expression cloning strategy (62). The mature form of IL-7R α consists of 439 amino acid residues with a calculated molecular weight of 49.5 kDa. The extracellular domain of IL-7R α contains the features of the cytokine receptor superfamily, and the cytoplasmic domain with 195 amino acids in length does not contain consensus sequences for protein kinases. COS-7 transfectants with IL-7R α expressed IL-7 receptors, of which the IL-7 binding affinity was significantly lower than that of the high-affinity IL-7 receptor expressed on lymphoid cells. These results suggest that the high-affinity IL-7 receptor on lymphoid cells consists of a complex composed of IL-7R α and another receptor component. Thereby, IL-2R γ was suspected to be a common receptor subunit shared with the IL-7 receptor. Although IL-2R γ expressed on fibroblastoid transfectant cells were incapable of binding IL-7, IL-7-dependent proliferations of a mouse pre-B cell line, IxN/2b, and Con A-stimulated splenic cells were significantly suppressed by treatment with TUGm2, a blocking mAb specific for mouse IL-2R γ (63). Simultaneous treatment with TUGm2 and A7R34, a mAb specific for mouse IL-7R α , induced complete inhibition of the IL-7-dependent cell proliferation. The Scatchard analysis for IL-7 binding showed that IxN/2b cells express the high- and lowaffinity IL-7 receptors, and their treatment with TUGm2 reduces the affinity of



Figure 3 Sharing of the receptor subunits among multiple cytokine receptors.

the high-affinity IL-7 receptor from 79 pM to 255 pM without affecting the lowaffinity receptor (63). Treatment of cells with both TUGm2 and A7R34 eliminated the high-affinity receptor, but the low-affinity receptor was unchanged. These results are similar to those of the IL-2/IL-2 receptor system, suggesting the possibility that the high-affinity IL-7 receptor consists of a tripartite complex composed of IL-7R α , IL-2R γ , and another unknown component that is expected to be involved in formation of the low-affinity receptor. An IL-7 receptor complex without IL-2R γ may comprise the intermediate-affinity IL-7 receptor with a Kd of 255 pM. In a way similar to the IL-4 receptor, the physical association of IL-2R γ with IL-7 was shown in the chemical cross-linking experiments. Radiolabeled IL-7-bound IxN/2b cells were chemically cross-linked and immunoprecipitated by TUGm3 (63). The immunoprecipitates apparently contained IL-2R γ cross-linked with IL-7 in addition to other molecules, which may include IL-7-cross-linked IL-7R α . All these observations indicate that IL-2R γ is shared with the functional high-affinity IL-7 receptor (Figure 3). The reconstitution experiments of IL-7 receptors by cotransfection of IL-2R γ and IL-7R α genes also provided evidence of the IL-2R γ sharing with IL-7 receptor (64).

Sharing with Other Cytokine Receptors

The sharing of IL-2R γ with multiple cytokine receptors was further examined using IL-9 and IL-15, both of which have the ability to promote T cell proliferation. The α chain of IL-9 receptor (IL-9R α) belongs to the cytokine receptor superfamily, and it consists of 483 amino acid residues (65). Its cytoplasmic domain contains a region highly homologous to IL-2R β , suggesting a functional similarity between IL-9R α and IL-2R β . Since IL-2R β was known to form a complex with IL-2R γ , IL-2R γ was predicted to participate in formation of an IL-9 receptor complex. To assess this possibility, two mouse IL-9-responsive cell lines, MC/9 and CTLL-2, were examined for the effect of TUGm2 on their proliferation in response to IL-9. Their IL-9-dependent proliferations were almost completely inhibited by their treatment with TUGm2, suggesting the involvement of IL-2R γ in formation of the functional IL-9 receptor (66). Unlike the other cytokine receptors sharing IL-2R γ , however, Scatchard analysis showed no effect of TUGm2 on the affinity of IL-9 binding (66). On the other hand, the direct interaction of IL-9 with IL-2R γ was shown by chemical cross-linking experiments. TUGm3 precipitated IL-9-cross-linked IL-2R γ in addition to other molecules, which may include IL-9-cross-linked IL-9R α (66). These observations indicate the sharing of IL-2R γ with IL-9 receptor (Figure 3); they suggest that IL-2R γ participates in the IL-9-mediated signal transduction but not in increasing the IL-9 binding affinity of the receptor. Another mAb specific for IL-2R γ also reportedly induces inhibition of IL-9 responsiveness (67).

IL-15 was originally detected in supernatants of a simian kidney epithelial cell line, CV-1/EBNA, as an IL-2-like T cell growth factor mediating proliferation of IL-2-dependent cells. Recombinant IL-15 was found to induce proliferation of CTLL-2 and PHA-stimulated T cells, which also are responsive to IL-2 (11). The functional similarity between IL-15 and IL-2 was further accentuated by the finding that a mAb specific for IL-2R β significantly inhibits the biological activities of IL-15 (11, 68). Therefore, the interaction of IL-15 with the IL-2 receptor was then subjected to thorough investigation. The results revealed the sharing not only of IL-2R β but also of IL-2R γ with the functional IL-15 receptor (69) (Figure 3). Recently, the α chain of IL-15 receptor was analyzed at the molecular level; it possesses a structure homologous to IL-2R α (20) (Figure 3). The functional IL-15 receptor has been demonstrated to consist of a complex of IL-15R α , IL-2R β , and IL-2R γ , or a complex of IL-2R β and IL-2R γ .

SIGNALING PATHWAYS FROM THE IL-2 RECEPTOR

Involvement of the Cytoplasmic Domain of IL-2R β

Most receptors for growth factors such as CSF-1, PDGF, EGF, and FGF possess intrinsic tyrosine kinase activities, whereas the ligand-induced activation of tyrosine kinases essentially contributes to intracellular signal transductions (70). Both IL-2R β and IL-2R γ are indispensable subunits for the functional IL-2 receptor complex, which participate in increasing the IL-2 binding affinity and intracellular signal transduction (9, 35). The heterodimerization of the cytoplasmic domains of IL-2R β and IL-2R γ generates intracellular signals for cell proliferation in T cells (71, 72), while the homodimerization of IL-2R β seems enough for signal transduction for cell proliferation in B cells (73). Both IL-2R β and IL-2R γ belong to the cytokine receptor superfamily, of which the cytoplasmic domains, however, do not contain any consensus motifs of effector molecules for intracellular signal transduction, such as tyrosine kinases. However, they are reportedly associated with several nonreceptor-types of protein tyrosine kinases, whose activations mediated by ligand stimulation are thought to be important for signal transductions (74). The downstream signals mediated by the growth factors involve activations and cascade interactions of various signal transducing effector molecules, such as PI3 kinase, PLC γ , Grb2, SOS, Ras, GAP, Raf-1, MAP, kinase, and so on. These biochemical events are also known to be generated in the signaling pathways from various cytokine receptors including the IL-2R β and IL-2R γ complex (10).

To elucidate the molecular basis for the signal transduction from the IL-2 receptor, various cytoplasmic deletion mutants of the IL-2R β and IL-2R γ were

192 SUGAMURA ET AL

prepared and used for reconstitution of the receptor complex together with the wild type of each subunit. The mutants of human IL-2R β prepared had the serine-rich region, the acidic region, and most of the cytoplasmic domain deleted. The IL-2 receptor reconstitution studies with these IL-2R β mutants revealed that the serine-rich region of IL-2R β plays a crucial role in the IL-2-mediated signal transduction for cell growth and c-myc induction (75, 76). The acidic region of IL-2R β is associated with the Src type tyrosine kinases such as Lck and Fyn and probably Lyn (77, 78). The acidic region deletion mutant of IL-2R β failed to induce c-fos and c-jun expression in transfectant clones of a mouse IL-3-dependent pro-B cell line, BAF-B03, suggesting possible involvement of the Src-type tyrosine kinases in signaling for c-fos and c-jun induction (79). However, we have recently observed induction of c-fos and c-jun expression in transfectant clones of a mouse T cell line EL-4 with the acidic region deletion mutant of human IL-2R β , which (the transfectant clones) express the mutant IL-2R β and intrinsic IL-2R γ (K Oda, H Asao, M Nakamura, and K Sugamura, unpublished observation). Therefore, there seems to be some element of controversy regarding the relationship between the inducing signal for c-fos and c-jun expression and the acidic region of IL-2R β . On the other hand, the serine-rich region of IL-2R β is associated with two types of tyrosine kinases such as Jak1 and Syk. The significance of Jak1 in signal transduction has not yet been defined, a point described later. Syk was activated in T cells rapidly after IL-2 stimulation, and its activation may have been involved in the c-myc induction (80).

Other effector molecules such as Shc and PI3 kinase were also associated with the cytoplasmic domain of IL-2R β (81, 82); in particular, PI3 kinase is reportedly associated with phosphorylated Tyr³⁹² of IL-2R β (83). Activation of PI3 kinase was regulated by Fyn tyrosine kinase activated by IL-2 in IL-2-responsive T cells (84). Moreover, a recent study suggested that IL-2-induced activation of PI3 kinase leads to activation of the MAP kinase activator MEK in T cells, which is a novel signaling pathway (85). Shc is associated with Sos and acts upstream of Ras. In fact, Ras was previously shown to be activated in T cells stimulated by IL-2, and both the serine-rich and the acidic regions of IL-2R β were essentially involved in the activation of Ras (86).

The box 1 and box 2 regions were originally defined in the cytoplasmic domain of gp130 of IL-6 receptor and conserved among several cytokine receptors (87). The box 1 and box 2 of IL-2R β are located close to the transmembrane domain and in the serine-rich region, respectively. The replacement of Leu²⁹⁹ to Pro in the box 2 of IL-2R β rendered the IL-2 receptor incapable of cell growth signal transduction (88), and similarly, the substitution of Ala for ASP²⁵⁸ in the box 1 of IL-2R β markedly compromised such receptor function (89). These findings suggest the importance of the box 1 and box 2 regions of IL-2R β for receptor functions. The interaction of the box 1 with Jak1 tyrosine kinase is discussed later.

Involvement of the Cytoplasmic Domain of IL- $2R\gamma$

The cytoplasmic deletion mutants of IL-2R γ prepared had the carboxyl-terminal 30 amino acids, the SH2 subdomains, and the carboxyl-terminal 68 amino acids including the SH2 subdomains deleted. The reconstitution studies of IL-2 receptors with these mutants and IL-2R β demonstrated that the region containing the SH2 subdomains is essential for induction of cell growth and expression of three protooncogenes, c-myc, c-fos, and c-jun, mediated by IL-2 (35, 90). While the region containing the carboxyl-terminal 30 amino acids participates in induction of c-fos and c-jun, it does not for c-myc and cell growth (35, 90). These observations suggest the possible existence of at least two distinct signal transducing pathways from IL-2 receptor, one for induction of c-myc, which correlates with cell growth, and the other for induction of c-fos/c-jun. The region containing the SH2 subdomains is associated with Jak3 tyrosine kinase, the activation of which correlated with IL-2-induced cell growth (67, 90–93). In fact, transfectant clones of a mouse fibroblastoid cell line NIH3T3 with human IL-2R β and IL-2R γ had little IL-2 responsiveness for cell growth, but when the clones were cotransfected with Jak3 gene, they became responsive to IL-2 for DNA synthesis, suggesting that at least Jak3 activation may contribute to signal transduction for IL-2-mediated cell growth (92).

Since the Jak3 association with IL-2R γ is independent of the receptor complex formation with the other subunits IL-2R α and IL-2R β , all the cytokines sharing IL-2R γ are expected to induce activation of Jak3. Indeed, Jak3 is activated by stimulation with IL-4, IL-7, and IL-9 as well as IL-2 (67, 92, 93). Interestingly, not only Jak3 but also Jak1 is activated by stimulation with IL-4, IL-7, and IL-9, as well as IL-2 (67, 91, 92, 93). IL-15 is also expected to activate Jak1 and Jak3 because the IL-15 receptor complex contains both IL- $2R\beta$ and IL-2R γ . The association of Jak1 with IL-2R β was also demonstrated irrespective of their complex formation and IL-2 stimulation. Thereby, it can be predicted that Jak1 is associated with the α chains of receptors for IL-4, IL-7, and IL-9. Recently, we obtained evidence that Jak1 is directly associated with the α chains of receptors for IL-4, IL-7, and IL-9 as well as IL-2R β , and the Jak1 association with the receptor subunits was independent of ligand stimulation. Furthermore, using IL-2R β mutants in the box 1 region, which exists in the α chains of receptors for IL-4, IL-7, and IL-9 as well as other cytokine receptors, we demonstrated that the box 1 region of IL-2R β plays a critical role in Jak1 association. However, although transfectants with the box 1 mutant of IL-2R β lost the ability for Jak1 association and Jak1 activation mediated by IL-2, they proliferated and showed activation of Jak3 in response to IL-2 (M Higuchi, H Asao, N Tanaka, M Nakamura, and K Sugamura, unpublished observations). These results indicate that Jak1 is dispensable for IL-2–mediated cell growth signaling, and activation of Jak3, which should be required for the growth signaling, is mediated independently of cross-phosphorylation with Jak1.

The Stat family proteins interacting with cytokine receptors at phosphotyrosine residues via their SH2 domains are phosphorylated by the Jak family tyrosine kinases (94). The tyrosine phosphorylated Stat proteins then form homo- or heterodimers through their SH2 domains and then migrate to the nucleus, where they act as activators for transcription of genes (95). IL-2 generally activated Stat5 in IL-2-responsive cells, and Stat3 only in PHA-activated peripheral blood cells (96–100). Stat5 and Stat3 are thought to be activated by Jak1 and/or Jak3 in IL-2-stimulated cells. In contrast with the IL-2/IL-2 receptor system, IL-4, which also activates Jak1 and Jak3, activates Stat6, which is distinct from Stat5 and Stat3 (101, 102). Such differential activation of the Stat proteins by the same Jaks may be regulated primarily by the specificity of the cytokine receptor directly interacting with the Stat proteins (95).

CAUSATIVE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN IL- $2R\gamma$ AND HUMAN XSCID

Two-Step Diagnosis for Human XSCID

Human X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency disease (XSCID) occurs in as many as 50% of patients with primary SCID, which is characterized by severe impairment of humoral and cell-mediated immunity, which can be cured only by successful bone marrow transplantations (103, 104). Patients with XSCID have complete or profound deficiency of T cells but carry normal or slightly increased numbers of B cells. The putative gene for human XSCID is reportedly located on X chromosome q13, where the IL-2R γ gene was mapped; furthermore, mutations of the IL-2R γ gene derived from patients with XSCID were manifested (16). All the patients with XSCID thus far detected had mutations of the IL-2R γ gene (10). The IL-2R γ mutations included nonsense mutations, frameshift mutations by one and two base deletions, as well as deletions of exons, leading to truncations in the extracellular and cytoplasmic domains of IL-2R γ . These results indicate the etiological relationship between mutations of IL-2R γ and XSCID. Thereby, the genomic sequencing of the IL- $2R\gamma$ gene has been established as a definitive diagnostic procedure for human XSCID.

As described above, most peripheral blood cell populations of normal individuals express IL-2R γ , indicating that expression of mutant IL-2R γ chains

| Patient | Mutation type | Nucleotide change | Amino acid change | TUGh4 staining | Reference |
|---------|-----------------|--------------------------|------------------------------------|----------------|------------------|
| 1 | splice/deletion | deletion of the exon 2 | frameshift | _ | (105) |
| 2 | deletion | 7 nucleotides (284-291) | frameshift | _ | (108) |
| 3 | deletion | 15 nucleotides (580-594) | frameshift | _ | (109) |
| 4 | deletion | GATT (830-833) | frameshift | _ | our |
| | | | | | unpublished data |
| 5 | deletion | GA (971–972) | frameshift | + | (105) |
| 6 | deletion | large deletion | ? | _ | our |
| | | - | | | unpublished data |
| 7 | nonsense | $C(717) \rightarrow T$ | $Gln (235) \rightarrow stop$ | _ | (109) |
| 8 | nonsense | $C(717) \rightarrow T$ | $Gln (235) \rightarrow stop$ | _ | (109) |
| 9 | nonsense | $C(923) \rightarrow A$ | Tyr (303) \rightarrow stop | + | (109) |
| 10 | missense | $C(481) \rightarrow T$ | Ala (156) \rightarrow Val | + | (105) |
| 11 | nonsense | $C(690) \rightarrow T$ | Arg (226) \rightarrow Cys | _ | (108) |
| 12 | nonsense | $G(691) \rightarrow A$ | Arg $(226) \rightarrow \text{His}$ | _ | our |
| | | | - | | unpublished data |

Table 1 Detection of IL-2R γ mutations in patients with XSCID

can be screened with immunostaining of peripheral blood cells or EB virustransformed B cells derived from patients with XSCID. The cells derived from 12 independent patients with XSCID were stained with anti-human IL-2R γ mAb, TUGh4, resulting in negative staining for 9 patients (Table 1) (105–109). These results suggest that the IL-2R γ immunostaining is useful as a simple and rapid diagnosis for most patients. Thus, we propose a two-step diagnosis for XSCID, the immunostaining with TUGh4 in the first step and the genomic sequencing of the IL-2R γ gene.

Impairment of IL-2Ry Function in XSCID

IL-2R γ cDNA clones derived from three patients with XSCID were isolated, and the IL-2R γ chains encoded by the mutant genes were examined for their ability to form the functional IL-2 receptor (105). The first patient lacked the second exon in IL-2R γ mRNA, the second (AV mutant) showed Ala¹⁵⁶ substitution to Val in the extracellular domain, and the third (tSH mutant) had a two-base deletion causing a frameshift of the coding region in the SH2 subdomains in the cytoplasmic domain. It can be easily anticipated that the first mutant will have no ability to form the functional receptor complex. Analysis was then carried out with the other two mutants, which were stably introduced into a unique human T cell line, ED40515⁻ (105). This cell line is useful for analysis of the IL-2R γ function because it expresses both IL-2R α and IL-2R β , but little or no IL-2R γ (110). The transfectants with either AV or tSH mutant showed no response to IL-2 in terms of cell proliferation and induction of protooncogenes, unlike the transfectants with the wild IL-2R γ gene. The AV mutant was further found incapable of forming the receptor complexes for IL-4 and IL-7 or for IL-2 (N Ishii, T Takeshita, M Higuchi, and K sugamura, unpublished data). The Ala¹⁵⁶ of IL-2R γ is thought to be located in the hinge region of two fibronectin type III-like domains, the N and C domains, as expected for the cytokine receptor superfamily. The transfectants with tSH mutant showed significant binding of IL-2, which is consistent with the previous study that the cytoplasmic domain of IL-2R γ does not affect the IL-2 binding affinity of the receptor (105). Since the tSH mutant lacks a part of the SH2 subdomains, which is essentially involved in the intracellular signal transduction, it should lose the signal transducing function. Other patients with XSCID carrying mutations in the cytoplasmic domain of IL-2R γ were also shown to be incapable of forming the full-fledged functional IL-2 receptor complex (67).

Normal or increased numbers of B cells and hypogammaglobulinemia are generally detected in patients with XSCID. Since the B cells in XSCID are mostly surface IgM-positive, they are supposed to be incapable of secreting immunoglobulin. Such impairment of Ig class-switching and final maturation of B cells in XSCID may also result from dysfunction of IL-2R γ on B cells. This stems from the facts that carrier females for mutant IL-2R γ genes were demonstrated to carry mature B cells with nonrandom inactivation of the X chromosome, and various B cell clones derived from three patients with XSCID were found to utilize the biased repertoire of the J_H segments (107, 111, 112).

The complete dysfunction of IL-2R γ such as failure of the ligand binding or inability to perform signal transduction results in the typical phenotypes of XSCID as characterized by T and NK cell defect. However, atypical cases of XSCID have also been reported; one case showed a normal number of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in the periphery, but their function was impaired, and the other case showed a reduced number of T cells and normal number of NK cells (67, 113). In the former patient, the IL-2R γ gene was transcribed into two different mRNAs, one of which encodes the nonfunctional IL-2R γ rather abundantly as compared with the other, which encodes the functional IL-2R γ was thought to be adequate for T cell development but not for activation. The latter patient had a mutation of Leu²⁹¹ to Glu in the cytoplasmic domain of IL-2R γ , although the mechanism leading to the atypical phenotypes of XSCID has not yet been clarified.

Involvement of IL-7 in Early T Cell Development

The mutations of the IL-2R γ gene result in XSCID, of which the typical feature is a profound T cell defect in the thymus and periphery. Since IL-2R γ is shared among receptors for at least IL-2, IL-4, IL-7, IL-9, and IL-15, these cytokines

may include a responsible cytokine(s) for early T cell development. In this consideration, the IL-2-deficient patients and the knockout mice for IL-2 and IL-4 genes provided us with important information—that neither IL-2 nor IL-4 are essential for T cell development because these patients and knockout mice have mature T cells in normal ranges in the periphery (12–14, 46–48). On the other hand, IL-7 reportedly affects growth of double negative T cells (61). We then asked, using mouse thymic organ cultures, whether IL-7 is necessary for early T cell development. When the most immature thymocytes-Pgpl⁺/c-kit⁺ pro-T cells with CD4⁻8⁻ phenotype, sorted from Day 15 fetal thymus—were cultured in lobes of fetal thymus pretreated with deoxyguanosine to eliminate preexisting lymphocytes, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells were detected 7-10 days later. However, simultaneous addition of blocking mAbs specific for IL-7R α (A7R34) and IL-2R γ (TUGm2) into the culture completely inhibited development of the double-negative Pgp1⁺/c-kit⁺ pro-T cells into double-positive T cells, indicating that IL-7 plays a critical role for early T cell development at least in the mouse thymic organ culture system (114). These results suggest that the IL-2R γ mutants in XSCID accompany the dysfunction of IL-7, resulting in the defect of T cell development. As described above, the AV mutant of IL-2R γ derived from the patient with XSCID showed no ability for binding of IL-7 as well as IL-2 and IL-4. However, there is a dissimilarity between the phenotypes of mice with IL-7 dysfunction and human XSCID. Human XSCID has a normal or increased number of B cells, while in vivo blocking of mouse IL-7 function by antibody treatment induces significant reduction of B cells in addition to T cells (114, 115). Similarly, knockout mice for IL-7 or IL-7R α gene showed the profound defect of T and B cells (116, 117). This inconsistency has to be resolved in the future to define whether or not XSCID is solely attributable to the dysfunction of IL-7.

ANIMAL MODEL FOR HUMAN XSCID

An animal model of human XSCID is useful for investigating the occurrence of XSCID caused by mutations of the IL-2R γ gene and development of gene therapy for human XSCID. Knockout mice for the IL-2R γ gene were recently developed, and they showed significant reduction of T, B, and NK cells (118, 119). Their phenotypes, which are not exactly identical to those of human XSCID with regard to B cell development, are quite similar to those of IL-7-dysfunctional mice. They are completely null for expression of IL-2R γ on cell surface. However, since a couple of cases of human XSCID lack the cytoplasmic region of IL-2R γ , they are expressed on cell surface, and they work for ligand binding but not signal transduction. Therefore, we developed, by means of gene targeting, mice expressing IL-2R γ but lacking its cytoplasmic
domain. Our mutant mice also showed profound loss of T and B cells, and no NK cells, but in contrast to the null mutant mice, the number of monocytes was increased in our mutant mice (120). Interestingly, they had $CD34^{+}/c^{-1}$ $kit^{+}/Sca1^{+}$ hematopoietic stem cells in spleen more than ten times as often as the control, and they carried lymphoadenopathy of celiac lymphnodes. Such increase of the stem cells was seen in our mutant mice but not in the null mutant mice, suggesting that traps of the cytokines sharing IL-2R γ might be involved in this phenomenon (121). In humans, patients with the primary and secondary immunodeficiencies have a high risk of developing lymphomas; therefore, the lymphoadenopathy observed in our mutant mice may represent a prelymphomatous state (121). Our mutant mice as well as the null mutant mice share similar phenotypes of profound loss of T, B, and NK cells, suggesting that these mutant mice are deficient for humoral, T cell-mediated, and NK cellmediated immunities. Since the SCID strains of mice established previously have NK cell activities, the IL-2R γ mutant mice may serve as a more desirable SCID mouse model.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The discovery and molecular characterization of the third component of IL-2 receptor, IL-2R γ , have brought us a tremendous amount of knowledge that helps us to understand the structure and signal transducing functions of various cytokine receptors. These developments have made especially great contributions toward elucidation of the molecular mechanisms of human XSCID occurrence. The cytokines sharing IL-2R γ induce their pleiotropic and redundant functions. As expected, IL-2R γ interacts with Jak3, which can be activated by stimulation with all the cytokines sharing IL-2R γ . Moreover, it is noteworthy that the α chains of cytokine receptors sharing IL-2R γ , albeit different from each other, interact with the same effector molecule Jak1. Thereby, the redundancy of cytokine actions possibly resulted, in part, from sharing of receptor subunits, and in part, from sharing of the same effector molecule irrespective of receptor subunit sharing. Little is known about the signal transduction for the pleiotropy of IL-2 functions; however, the cytoplasmic domain of IL-2R β interacts with several other effector molecules such as Lck, Fyn, Syk, PI3 kinase, and Shc/Grb2/Sos/Ras, and Stats. Furthermore, the region containing the carboxyl-terminal 30 amino acids of the IL-2R γ cytoplasmic domain, which is essentially involved in signal transduction for induction of c-fos and c-jun, is expected to interact with a certain effector molecule(s). Some of these effector molecules associated with the IL-2 receptor complex may contribute to the pleiotropic function of IL-2. To demonstrate the signaling pathways for the pleiotropic and redundant functions of the cytokines sharing IL-2R γ , we need to further investigate the downstream events of these effector molecules associated with the receptors.

The causative relationship between human XSCID and mutations of the IL- $2R\gamma$ gene has been demonstrated. Knockout mice for IL- $2R\gamma$ showed similar phenotypes to those of human XSCID, although their phenotypes were not completely the same. The difference is that B cells are significantly reduced in mouse XSCID but not in human XSCID. Similarly, the mechanism of the T cell defect in XSCID can be also explained by dysfunction of IL-7 sharing IL- $2R\gamma$ in the mouse thymic organ culture system, but dysfunction of IL-7 in mouse is known to cause the reduction of B cells. Hence, although it is strongly suggested that the IL-7 dysfunction directly leads to occurrence of XSCID in humans, it has become important to resolve the difference in usage of IL- $2R\gamma$ for B cell development between human and mouse. Apart from the precise mechanism of XSCID occurrence, the knockout mice for IL- $2R\gamma$ will provide a useful tool for the development of gene therapy for human XSCID.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank David Cosman who made his results available before publication, and Stanley Moffatt for his critical reading of the manuscript. We are also grateful to our colleagues who generously shared with us their unpublished data. We would like to be pardoned for the rather limited references cited in this manuscript and also ask pardon from the authors whose papers were referred to only indirectly in the review papers cited.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Kishimoto T, Taga T, Akira S. 1994. Cytokine signal transduction. *Cell* 76:253– 62
- Taga T, Kishimoto T. 1992. Cytokine receptors and signal transduction. FASEB J. 6:3387–96
- Miyajima A, Kitamura T, Harada N, Yokota T, Arai K. 1992. Cytokine receptors and signal transduction. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 10:295–331
- Smith KA. 1988. The interleukin 2 receptor. Adv. Immunol. 42:165–74
- Leonard WJ, Depper JM, Crabtree GR, Rudikoff S, Pumphrey J, Robb RJ, Krönke M, Svetlik PB, Peffer NJ, Waldmann

TA, Greene WC. 1984. Molecular cloning and expression of cDNAs for the human interleukin-2 receptor. *Nature* 311:626– 31

- Nikaido T, Shimizu A, Ishida N, Sabe H, Teshigawara K, Maeda M, Uchiyama T, Yodoi J, Honjo T. 1984. Molecular cloning of cDNA encoding human interleukin-2 receptor. *Nature* 311:631– 35
- Cosman D, Cerretti DP, Larsen A, Park L, March C, Dower S, Gillis S, Urdal D. 1984. Cloning, sequence and expression of human interleukin-2 receptor. *Nature* 312:768–71

- Hatakeyama M, Tsudo M, Minamoto S, Kono T, Doi T, Miyata T, Miyasaka M, Taniguchi T. 1989. Interleukin-2 receptor β chain gene: generation of three receptor forms by cloned human α and β chain cDNA's. *Science* 244:551–56
- Takeshita T, Asao H, Ohtani K, Ishii N, Kumaki S, Tanaka N, Munakata H, Nakamura M, Sugamura K. 1992. Cloning of the γ chain of the human IL-2 receptor. *Science* 2S7:379–92
- Sugamura K, Asao H, Kondo M, Tanaka N, Ishii N, Nakamura M, Takeshita T. 1995. The common γ-chain for multiple cytokine receptors. Adv. Immunol. 59:225–77
- 11. Grabstein KH, Eisenman J, Shanebeck K, Rauch C, Srinivasan S, Fung V, Beers C, Richardson J, Schoenborn MA, Ahdieh M, Johnson L, Anderson MR, Watson JD, Anderson DM, Giri JG. 1994. Cloning of a T cell growth factor that interacts with the β-chain of the interleukin-2 receptor. *Science* 264:965–68
- Schorle H, Holtschke T, Hünig T, Schimpl A, Horak I. 1991. Development and function of T cells in mice rendered interleukin-2 deficient by gene targeting. *Nature* 352:621–21
- Kahn R, Rajewsky K, Müller W. 1991. Generation and analysis of interleukin-4 deficient mice. *Science* 254:707–10
- Sadlack B, Kühn R, Schorle H, Rajewsky K, Müller W, Horak I. 1994. Development and proliferation of lymphocytes in mice deficient for both interleukins-2 and -4. *Eur. J.Immunol.* 24:281–84
- Suzuki H, Kundig TM, Furlonger C, Wakeham A, Timms E, Matsuyama T, Schmit R, Simard JJL, Ohashi PS, Griesser H, Taniguchi T, Paige CJ, Mak TW. 1995. Deregulated T cell activation and autoimmunity in mice lacking interleukin-2 receptor β. Science 268:1472–76
- Noguchi M, Yi H, Rosenblatt HM, Filipovich AH, Adelstein S, Modi WS, McBride OW, Leonard WJ. 1993. Interleukin-2 receptor γ chain mutation results in X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency in humans. *Cell* 73:147–57
- Uchiyama T, Brider S, Waldmann TA. 1981. A monoclonal antibody (anti-Tac) reactive with activated and functionally mature human T cells. J. Immunol. 126:1393–97
- Leonard WJ, Depper JM, Kanehisa M, Krönke M, Peffer NJ, Svetlik PB, Sullivan M, Greene WC. 1985. Structure of the hu-

man interleukin-2 receptor gene. *Science* 230:633–39

- Ishida N, Kanamori H, Noma T, Nikaido T, Sabe H, Suzuki N, Shimizu A, Honjo T. 1985. Molecular cloning and structure of the human interleukin 2 receptor gene. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 13:7579–89
- Giri JG, Kumaki S, Ahdieh MFDJ, Loomis A, Shanebeck K, DuBose R, Cosman D, Park LS, Anderson DM. 1995. Identification of a novel IL-15 specific binding protein that is structurally related to the α-chain of the IL-2R. *EMBO J*. 14:3654–63
- Sharon M, Klardner RD, Cullen BR, Chizzonite R, Leonard WJ. 1986. Novel interleukin-2 receptor subunit detected by cross-linking under high-affinity conditions. *Science* 234:859–63
- Tsudo M, Kozak RW, Goldman BK, Waldmann TA. 1986. Demonstration of a non-Tac peptide that binds interleukin 2: a potential participant in a multichain interleukin 2 receptor complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83:9694–98
- Teshigawata K, Wang H-M, Kato K, Smith KA. 1987. Interleukin 2 highaffinity receptor expression requires two distinct binding proteins. J. Exp. Med. 165:223–38
- Robb RJ, Rusk CM, Yodoi J, Greene WC. 1987. Interleukin 2 binding molecule distinct from the Tac protein: analysis of its role in formation of high-affinity receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:2002– 6
- Dukovich M, Wano U, Thuy LtB, Katz P, Cullen BR, Kehrl JH, Greene WC. 1987. A second human interleukin-2 binding protein that may be a component of high-affinity interleukin-2 receptors. *Nature* 327:518–22
- Takeshita T, Goto Y, Tada K, Nagata K, Asao H, Sugamura K.1989. Monoclonal antibody defining a molecule possibly identical to the p75 subunit of interleukin 2 receptor. J. Exp. Med. 169:1323–32
- Tsudo M, Kitamura F, Miyasaka M. 1989. Characterization of the interleukin 2 receptor β-chain using three distinct monoclonal antibodies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 86:1982–86
- Shibuya H, Yoneyama M, Nakamura Y, Harada H, Hatakeyama M, Minamoto S, Kono T, Doi T, White R, Taniguchi T. 1990. The human interleukin-2 receptor β-chain gene: genomic organization, promoter analysis and chromosomal assignment. Nucleic Acids Res. 18:3697–3703
- 29. Gnarra JR, Otani H, Wang MG, McBride

OW, Sharon M, Leonard WJ. 1990. Human interleukin 2 receptor β -chain gene: chromosomal localization and identification of 5' regulatory sequences. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:3440–44

- Bazan JF. 1990. Structural design and molecular evolution of a cytokine receptor superfamily. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87:6934–38
- Takeshita T, Asao H, Suzuki J, Sugamura K. 1990. An associated molecule, p64, with high-affinity interleukin 2 receptor. *Int. Immunol.* 2:477–80
- 32. Takeshita T, Ohtani K, Asao H, Kumaki S, Nakamura M, Sugamura K. 1992. An associated molecule, p64, with IL-2 receptor β chain. Its possible involvement in the formation of the functional intermediateaffinity IL-2 receptor complex. J. Immunol. 148:2154–58
- Mayer BJ, Hanafusa H. 1990. Mutagenic analysis of the v-crk oncogene: requirement for SH2 and SH3 domains and correlation between increased cellular phosphotyrosine and transformation. J. Virol. 64:3581–89
- 34. Matsuoka M, Takeshita T, Ishii N, Nakamura M, Ohkubo T, Sugamura K. 1993. Kinetic study of interleukin-2 binding on the reconstituted interleukin-2 receptor complexes including the human γ-chain. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:2472–76
- 35. Asao H, Takeshita T, Ishii N, Kumaki S, Nakamura M, Sugamura K. 1993. Reconstitution of functional interleukin 2 receptor complexes on fibroblastoid cells: involvement of the cytoplasmic domain of the γ chain in two distinct signaling pathways. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:4127–31
- 36. Nemoto T, Takeshita T, Ishii N, Kondo M, Higuchi M, Satomi S, Nakamura M, Mori S, Sugamura K. 1995. Difference in interleukin 2 (IL-2) receptor system between human and mouse: essential requirement of the *α* chain for formation of the functional mouse IL-2 receptor. *Eur. J. Immunol.* In press
- Ohashi Y, Takeshita T, Nagata K, Mori S, Sugamura K. 1989. Differential expression of the IL-2 receptor subunits, p55 and p75, on various populations of primary peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *J. Immunol.* 143:3548–55
- Ishii N, Takeshita T, Kimura Y, Tada K, Kondo M, Nakamura M, Sugamura K. 1994. Expression of the IL-2 receptor γ chain on various populations in human peripheral blood. Int. Immunol. 6:1273–77
- 39. Nakarai T, Robertson MJ, Streuli M, Wu

Z, Ciardelli TL, Smith KA, Ritz J. 1994. Interleukin 2 receptor γ chain expression on resting and activated lymphoid cells. J. Exp. Med. 180:241–51

- Yagita H, Nakata M, Azuma A, Nitta T, Takeshita T, Sugamura K, Okumura K. 1989. Activation of peripheral blood T cells via the p75 interleukin 2 receptor. J. Exp. Med. 170:1445–50
- Nakamura Y, Nishimura T, Tokuda Y, Kobayashi N, Watanabe K, Noto T, Mitomi T, Sugamura K, Habu S. 1991. Macrophage-T cell interaction is essential for the induction of p75 interleukin 2 (IL-2) receptor and IL-2 responsiveness in human CD4⁺ T cells. *Jpn. J. Cancer Res.* 82:257–61
- 42. Nishikawa K, Saito S, Morii T, Hamada K, Ako H, Narita N, Ichijo M, Kurahauashi M, Sugamura K. 1991. Accumulation of CD16-CD56⁺ natural killer cells with high affinity interleukin 2 receptors in human early pregnancy decidua. *Int. Immunol.* 3:743–50
- Kondo M, Ohashi Y, Tada K, Nakamura M, Sugamura K. 1994. Expression of the mouse interleukin-2 receptor γ chain in various cell populations of the thymus and spleen. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:2026–30
- Ohbo K, Takasawa N, Ishii N, Tanaka N, Nakamura M, Sugamura K. 1995. Functional analysis of the human interleukin 2 receptor γ chain gene promoter. J. Biol. Chem. 270:7479–86
- Sugamura K, Fujii M, Ishii T, Hinuma Y. 1986. Possible role of interleukin 2 receptor in oncogenesis of HTLV-I/ATLV. Cancer Rev. 1:96–114
- Pahwa RN, Pahwa SG, Good RA. 1979. Tlymphocyte differentiation in vitro in severe combined immunodeficiency. J. Clin. Invest. 64:1632–41
- Weinberg K, Parkman R. 1990. Severe combined immunodeficiency due to a specific defect in the production of interleukin-2. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 322:1718– 23
- DiSanto JP, Keever CA, Small TN, Nicols GL, O'Reilly RJ, Flomenberg N. 1990. Absence of interleukin 2 production in a severe combined immunodeficiency disease syndrome with T cells. J. Exp. Med. 171:1697–1704
- Paul WE. 1991. Interleukin-4: a prototypic immunoregulatory lymphokine. *Blood* 77:1859–70
- Mosley B, Beckmann MP, March CJ, Idzerda RL, Gimpel SD, VandenBos T, Friend D, Alpert A, Anderson D, Jackson J, Wignall JM, Smith C, Gallis B, Sims JE,

Urdal D, Widmer MB, Cosman D, Park LS. 1989. The murine interleukin-4 receptor: molecular cloning and characterization of secreted and membrane bound forms. *Cell* 59:335–48

- Kondo M, Takeshita T, Ishii N, Nakamura M, Watanabe S, Arai K, Sugamura K. 1993. Sharing of the interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor γ chain between receptors for IL-2 and IL-4. Science 262:1874–77
- Russell SM, Keegan AD, Harada N, Nakamura Y, Noguchi M, Leland P, Friedmann MC, Miyajima A, Puri RK, Paul WE, Leonard WJ. 1993. Interleukin-2 receptor γ chain: a functional component of the interleukin-4 receptor. *Science* 262:1880– 83
- 53. Watanabe S, Kondo M, Takatsu K, Sugamura K, Arai K. 1995. Involvement of the interleukin-2 receptor γ subunit in interleukin-4 dependent activation of mouse hematopoietic cells and splenic B cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:126–31
- Zurawski SM, Vega F Jr, Huyghe B, Zurawski G. 1993. Receptors for interleukin-13 and interleukin-4 are complex and share a novel component that functions in signal transduction. *EMBO J.* 12:2663–70
- 55. Aversa G, Punnonen J, Cocks BG, de Waal Malefyt R, Vega F Jr, Zurawski SM, Zurawski G, Vries E Jr. 1993. An interleukin 4 (IL-4) mutant protein inhibits both EL-4 or IL-13-induced human immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4) and IgE synthesis and B cell proliferation: support for a common component shared by IL-4 and IL-13 receptors. J. Exp. Med. 178:2213–18
- Obiri NI, Debinski W, Leonard WJ, Puri RK. 1995. Receptor for interleukin 13. J. Biol. Chem. 270:8797–8804
- 57. Lin J-X, Migone T-S, Tsang M, Friedmann M, Weatherbee JA, Zhou L, Yamauchi A, Bloom ET, Mietz J, John S, Leonard WJ. 1995. The role of shared receptor motifs and common Stat proteins in the generation of cytokine pleiotropy and redundancy by IL-2, IL-4, IL-7, IL-13, and IL-15. *Immunity* 2:331–39
- Chazen GD, Pereira GM, LeGros G, Gillis S, Shevach EM. 1989. Interleukin 7 is a Tcell growth factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 86:5923–27
- Grabstein KH, Namen AE, Shanebeck K, Voice RF, Reed SG, Widmer MB. 1990. Regulation of T cell proliferation by IL-7. *J. Immunol.* 144:3015–20
- Armitage RJ, Namen AE, Sassenfeld HM, Grabstein KH. 1990. Regulation of human T cell proliferation by IL-7. *J. Immunol.* 144:938–41

- Murray R, Suda T, Wrighton N, Lee F, Zlotnik A. 1989. IL-7 is a growth and maintenance factor for mature and immature thymocyte subsets. *Int. Immunol.* 1:526–31
- 62. Goodwin RG, Friend D, Ziegler SF, Jerzy R, Falk BA, Gimpel S, Cosman D, Dower SK, March CJ, Namen AE, Park LS. 1990. Cloning of the human and murine interleukin-7 receptors: demonstration of a soluble form and homology to a new receptor superfamily. *Cell* 60:941–51
- Kondo M, Takeshita T, Higuchi M, Nakamura M, Sudo T, Nishikawa S, Sugamura K. 1994. Functional participation of the IL-2 receptor γ chain in IL-7 receptor complexes. *Science* 263:1453–54
- Noguchi M, Nakamura Y, Russell SM, Ziegler SF, Tsang M, Cao XG, Leonard WJ. 1993. Interleukin-2 receptor γ chain: a functional component of the interleukin-7 receptor. *Science* 262:1877–80
- Renauld JC, Druez C, Kermouni A, Houssiau F, Uyttenhove C, Van Root E, Van Snick J. 1992. Expression cloning of the murine and human interleukin 9 receptor cDNAs. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.USA* 89:5690–94
- Kimura Y, Takeshita T, Kondo M, Ishii N, Nakamura M, Van Snick J, Sugamura K. 1995. Sharing of the IL-2 receptor γ chain with the functional IL-9 receptor complex. *Int. Immunol.* 7:115–20
- 67. Russell SM, Johnston JA, Noguchi M, Kawamura M, Bacon CM, Friedmann M, Berg M, McVicar DW, Witthuhn BA, Silvennoinen O, Goldman AS, Schmalstieg FC, Ihle JN, O'Shea JJ, Leonard WJ. 1994. Interaction of IL2Rβ and γ_c chains with Jak1 and Jak3: implications for XS-CID and XCID. *Science* 266:1042–45
- 68. Carson WE, Giri JG, Lindemann MJ, Linett ML, Ahdieh M, Paxton R, Anderson D, Eisenmann J, Grabstein K, Caligiuru MA. 1994. Interleukin (IL) 15 is a novel cytokine that activates human natural killer cells via components of the IL-2 receptor. J. Exp. Med. 180:1395–1403
- 69. Giri JG, Ahdieh M, Eisenman J, Shanebeck K, Grabstein K, Kumaki S, Namen A, Park LS, Cosman D, Anderson D. 1994. Utilization of the β and γ chains of the IL-2 receptor by the novel cytokine IL-15. *EMBO J.* 13:2822–30
- Cantley LC, Auger KR, Carpenter C, Duckworth B, Graziani A, Kapeller R, Soltoff S. 1991. Oncogenes and signal transduction. *Cell* 64:281–302
- 71. Nakamura Y, Russell SM, Mess SA, Friedmann M, Erdos M, Francois C,

Jacques Y, Adelstein S, Leonard WJ. 1994. Heterodimerization of the IL-2 receptor β - and γ -chain cytoplasmic domains is required for signalling. *Nature* 369:330–33

- Kawahara A, Minami Y, Taniguchi T. 1994. Evidence for a critical role for the cytoplasmic region of the interleukin 2 (IL-2) receptor γ chain in IL-2, IL-4, and IL-7 signalling. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:5433– 40
- Nelson BH, Lord JD, Greenberg PD. 1994. Cytoplasmic domains of the interleukin-2 receptor β and γ chains mediate the signal for T-cell proliferation. *Nature* 369:333–36
 Taniguchi T. 1995. Cytokine signaling
- Taniguchi T. 1995. Cytokine signaling through nonreceptor protein tyrosine kinases. *Science* 268:251–55
- Hatakeyama M, Mori H, Doi T, Taniguchi T. 1989. A restricted cytoplasmic region of IL-2 receptor β chain is essential for growth signal transduction but not for ligand binding and internalization. *Cell* 59:837–45
- 76. Shibuya H, Yoneyama M, Ninomiya-Tsuji J, Matsumoto K, Taniguchi T. 1992. IL-2 and EGF receptors stimulate the hematopoietic cell cycle via different signaling pathways: demonstration of a novel role for c-myc. Cell 70:57–67
- 77. Hatakeyama M, Kono T, Kobayashi N, Kawahara A, Levin SD, Perlmutter RM, Taniguchi T. 1991. Interaction of the IL-2 receptor with the src-family kinase p56^{lck}: identification of novel intermolecular association. *Science* 252:1523–28
- 78. Kobayashi N, Kono T, Hatakeyama M, Minami Y, Miyazaki T, Perlmutter RM, Taniguchi T. 1993. Functional coupling of the src-family protein tyrosine kinases p59^{fyn} and p53/56^{lyn} with the interleukin 2 receptor: implications for redundancy and pleiotropism in cytokine signal transduction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:4201– 5
- Hatakeyama M, Kawahara A, Mori H, Shibuya H, Taniguchi T. 1992. c-fos gene induction by interleukin 2: identification of the critical cytoplasmic regions within the interleukin 2 receptor β chain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:2022–26
- 80. Minami Y, Nakagawa Y, Kawahara A, Miyazaki T, Sada K, Yamamura H, Taniguchi T. 1995. Protein tyrosine kinase Syk is associated with and activated by the IL-2 receptor, possible link with the *c-myc* induction pathway. *Immunity* 2:89–100
- Ravichandran KS, Burakoff SJ. 1994. The adapter protein shc interacts with

the interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor upon IL-2 stimulation. J. Biol. Chem. 269:1599–1602

- Zhu X, Suen K-L, Barbacid M, Bolen JB, Fargnoli J. 1994. Interleukin-2-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of Shc proteins correlates with factor-dependent T cell proliferation. J. Biol. Chem. 269:5518–22
- Truitt KE, Mills GB, Turck CW, Imboden JB. 1994. SH2-dependent association of phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase 85-kDa regulatory subunit with the interleukin-2 receptor β chain. J. Biol. Chem. 269:5937–43
- Karnitz LM, Sutor SL, Abraham RT. 1994. The Src-family kinase, Fyn, regulates the activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in an interleukin 2-responsive T cell line. J. Exp. Med. 179:1799–1808
- Karnitz LM, Burns LA, Sutor SL, Blenis J, Abraham RT. 1995. Interleukin-2 trigger a novel phosphatidylinositol 3-kinasedependent MEK activation pathway. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:49–57
- 86. Satoh T, Nakafuku M, Miyajima A, Kaziro Y. 1991. Involvement of ras p21 protein in signal-transduction pathways from interleukin 2, interleukin 3, and granulocyte/macrophage colonystimulating factor, but not from interleukin 4. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:3314–18
- 87. Murakami M, Narazaki M, Hibi M, Yawata H, Yasukawa K, Hamaguchi M, Taga T, Kishimoto T. 1991. Critical cytoplasmic region of the interleukin 6 signal transducer gp130 is conserved in the cytokine receptor family. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:11349–53
- Mori H, Barsoumian EL, Hatakeyama M, Taniguchi T. 1991. Signal transduction by interleukin 2 receptor β chain: importance of the structural integrity as revealed by site-directed mutagenesis and generation of chimeric receptors. *Int. Immunol.* 3:149–56
- Goldsmith MA, Xu W, Amaral C, Kuczek ES, Greene WC. 1994. The cytoplasmic domain of the interleukin-2 receptor β chain contains both unique and functionally redundant signal transduction elements. J. Biol. Chem. 269:14698–704
- Asao H, Tanaka N, Ishii N, Higuchi M, Takeshita T, Nakamura M, Shirasawa T, Sugamura K. 1994. Interleukin 2-induced activation of Jak3: possible involvement in signal transduction for c-myc induction and cell proliferation. FEBS Lett. 351:201–6
- 91. Tanaka N, Asao H, Ohbo K, Ishii N,

Takeshita T, Nakamura M, Sasaki H, Sugamura K. 1994. Physical association of JAK1 and JAK2 tyrosine kinases with the interleukin 2 receptor β and γ chains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:7271–75

- 92. Miyazaki T, Kawahara A, Fujii H, Nakagawa Y, Minami Y, Liu Z-J, Oishi I, Silvennoinen O, Witthuhn BA, Ihle JN, Taniguchi T. 1994. Functional activation of Jak1 and Jak3 by selective association with IL-2 receptor subunits. *Science* 266:1045–47
- 93. Malabarba MG, Kirken RA, Rui H, Koettnitz K, Kawamura M, O'Shea JJ, Kalthoff FS, Farrar WL. 1995. Activation of Jak3, but not Jak1, is critical to interleukin-4 (IL-4) stimulated proliferation and requires a membrane-proximal region of IL-4 receptor α J. Biol. Chem. 270:9630–37
- 94. Ihle JN, Witthuhn BA, Quelle FW, Yamamoto K, Thierfelder WE, Kreider B, Silvennoinen O. 1994. Signaling by the cytokine receptor superfamily: JAKs and STATS. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 19:222–27
- Stahl N, Farruggella TJ, Boulton TG, Zhong Z, Darnell JE, Yancopoulos GD. 1995. Choice of STATs and substrates specified by modular tyrosinebased motifs in cytokine receptors. *Science* 267:1349–53
- Hou J, Schindler U, Henzel WJ, Wong CS, McKnight SL. 1995. Identification and purification of human Stat proteins activated in response to interleukin-2. *Immu*nity 2:321–29
- Beadling C, Guschin D, Witthuhn BA, Ziemiecki A, Ihle JN, Kerr IM, Cantrell DA. 1994. Activation of JAK kinases and STAT proteins by interleukin-2 and interferon-α, but not the T cell antigen receptor, in human T lymphocytes. *EMBO* J. 13:5605–15
- Wakao H, Harada N, Kitamura T, Mui AL-F, Miyajuma A. 1995. Interleukin 2 and erythropoietin activate STAT5/MGF via distinct pathways. *EMBO J.* 14:2527– 35
- Nielsen M, Svejgaard A, Skov S, Odum N. 1994. Interleukin-2 induces tyrosine phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of STAT3 in human T lymphocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:3082–86
- 100. Fujii H, Nakagawa Y, Schindler U, Kawahara A, Mori H, Goulleux F, Groner B, Ihle JN, Minami Y, Miyazaki T, Taniguchi T. 1995. Activation of Stat5 by interleukin 2 requires a carboxyl-terminal region of the interleukin 2 receptor β chain but is not essential for the proliferative signal transduction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*

92:5482-86

- Hou J, Schindker U, Henzel WJ, Ho CT, Brasseur M, McKnight SL. 1994. An interleukin-4-induced transcription factor: IL-4 Stat. Science 265:1701–6
- 102. Quelle FW, Shimoda K, Thierfelder W, Fischer C, Kim A, Ruben SM, Cleveland JL, Pierce JH, Keegan AD, Nelm K, Paul WE, Ihle JN. 1995. Cloning of murine Stat 6 and human Stat 6, Stat proteins that are tyrosine phosphorylated in responses to IL-4 and IL-3 but are not required for mitogenesis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:3336–43
- 103. O'Reilly RJ, Dupont B, Pahwa S, Grimes E, Smithwick EM, Pahwa R, Schwartz S, Hansen JA, Siegal FP, Sorell M, Svejgaard A, Jersild C, Thomsen M, Platz P, L'Esperance P, Good RA. 1977. Reconstitution in severe combined immunodeficiency by transplantation of marrow from an unrelated donor. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 297:1311–18
- 104. Buckley RH, Schiff SE, Sampson HA, Schiff RI, Markert ML, Knutsen AP, Hershfield MS, Huang AT, Mickey GH, Ward FE. 1986. Development of immunity in human severe primary T cell deficiency following haploidentical bone marrow stem cell transplantation. J. Immunol. 136:2398–2407
- 105. Ishii N, Asao H, Kimura Y, Takeshita T, Nakamura M, Tsuchiya S, Konno T, Maeda M, Uchiyama T, Sugamura K. 1994. Impairment of ligand binding and growth signaling of mutant IL-2 receptor γ-chains in patients with X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. J. Immunol. 153:1310–17
- 106. DiSanto JP, Dautry-Varsat A, Certain S, Fischer A, de Saint Basile G. 1994. Interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor γ chain mutations in X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency disease result in the loss of high-affinity IL-2 receptor binding. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:475–79
- 107. Minegishi Y, Okawa H, Sugamura K, Yata J. 1995. Preferential utilization of immature JH segment and absence of somatic mutation in CDR3 junction of Ig H chain gene in three X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency patients. *Int. Immunol.* 6:1709–15
- 108. Kumaki S, Ochs HD, Timour M, Schooley K, Agdieh M, Hill H, Sugamura K, Anderson D, Zhu Q, Cosman D, Giri GJ. 1995. Characterization of B cell lines established from two X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency patients: interleukin-15 binds to the B cells but is not internalized efficiently. *Blood.*

86:1428-36

- 109. Minegishi Y, Ishii N, Maeda H, Takagi S, Tsuchida M, Okawa H, Sugamura K, Yata J. 1995. Three novel mutations in the interleukin-2 receptor γ chain gene in four Japanese patients with X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. *Hum. Genet.* In press
- 110. Arima N, Kamio M, Imada K, Hori T, Hattori T, Tsudo M, Okuma M, Uchiyama T. 1992. Pseudo-high affinity interleukin 2 (IL-2) receptor lacks the third component that is essential for functional IL-2 binding and signaling. J. Exp. Med. 176:1265–72
- 111. Conley ME, Lavoie A, Briggs C, Brown P, Guerra C, Puck JM. 1988. Nonrandom X chromosome inactivation in B cells from carriers of X chromosome-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85:3090–94
- 112. DiSanto JP, Rieux-Laucat F, Dautry-Varsat A, Fischer A, de Saint Basile G. 1994. Defective human interleukin 2 receptor γ chain in an atypical X chromosome-linked severe combined immunodeficiency with peripheral T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:9466–70
- 113. Hozumi K, Kondo M, Nozaki H, Kobori A, Nishimura T, Nishikawa S, Sugamura K, Habu S. 1994. Implication of the common γ chain of the IL-7 receptor in intrathymic development of pro-T cells. *Int. Immunol.* 6:1451–54
- 114. Namen AE, Schmierer AE, March CJ, Overell RW, Park LS, Urdal DL, Mochizuki DY. 1988. B cell precursor growth-promoting activity purification and characterization of a growth factor active on lymphocyte precursors. J.

Exp. Med. 167:988-1002

- 115. Namen AE, Lupton S, Hjerrild K, Wignall J, Mochizuki DY, Schmierer A, Mosley B, March CJ, Urdal D, Gillis S, Cosman D, Goodwin RG. 1988. Stimulation of B-cell progenitors by cloned murine interleukin-7. Nature 333:571–73
- 116. von Freeden-Jeffry U, Vieira P, Lucian AL, McNeil T, Burdach GES, Murray R. 1995. Lymphopenia in interleukin (IL)-7 gene-deleted mice identifies IL-7 as a nonredundant cytokine. J. Exp. Med. 181:1519–26
- 117. Peschon JJ, Morrissey PJ, Grabstein KH, Ramsdell FJ, Maraskovsky E, Gliniak BC, Park LS, Ziegler SF, Williams DE, Ware CW, Meyer JD, Davison BL. 1994. Early lymphocyte expansion is severely impaired in interleukin 7 receptor-deficient mice. J. Exp. Med. 180:1955–60
- DiSanto JP, Müller W, Guy-Grand D, Fischer A, Rajewsky K. 1995. Lymphoid development in mice with a targeted deletion of the interleukin 2 receptor γ chain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:377–81
- 119. Cao XG, Shores EW, Hu-Li J, Anver MR, Kelsall BL, Russell SM, Drago J, Noguchi M, Grinberg A, Bloom ET, Paul WE, Katz SI, Love PE, Leonard WJ. 1995. Defective lymphoid development in mice lacking expression of the common cytokine receptor γ chain. Immunity 2:223–38
- 120. Obbo k, Suda T, Hashiyama M, Mantani A, Ikebe M, Miyakawa K, Moriyama M, Nakamura M, Katsuki M, Takahashi K, Yamamura K, Sugamura K. 1995. Modulation of hematopoiesis in mouse with a truncated mutant of the interleukin 2 receptor γ chain. *Blood.* In press



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO

David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann,* Kurt Bürki,* Rolf M. Zinkernagel, and Hans Hengartner

Institute of Experimental Immunology, Department of Pathology, University of Zürich, CH-8091 Zürich, Switzerland. *Preclinical Research, Sandoz Limited, CH-4002 Basel, Switzerland

KEY WORDS: perforin, Fas, effector mechanisms of cytotoxicity, T cells, NK cells

ABSTRACT

Studies with perforin-deficient mice have demonstrated that two independent mechanisms account for T cell-mediated cytotoxicity: A main pathway is mediated by the secretion of the pore-forming protein perforin by the cytotoxic T cell, whereas an alternative nonsecretory pathway relies on the interaction of the Fas ligand that is upregulated during T cell activation with the apoptosis-inducing Fas molecule on the target cell. NK cells use the former pathway exclusively. The protective role of the perforin-dependent pathway has been shown for in-fection with the noncytopathic lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus, for infection with *Listeria monocytogenes*, and for the elimination of tumor cells by T cells and NK cells. In contrast, perforin-dependent cytotoxicity is not involved in protection against the cytopathic vaccinia virus and vesicular stomatitis virus. LCMV-induced immunopathology and autoimmune diabetes have been found to require perforin-expression. A contribution of perforin-dependent cytotoxicity to the rejection of MHC class I-disparate heart grafts has also been observed. Its absence is efficiently compensated in rejection of fully allogeneic organ or skin grafts. So far, evidence for a role of Fas-dependent cytotoxicity as a T cell effector mechanism in vivo is lacking. Current data suggest that the main function of Fas may be in regulation of the immune response and apparently less at the level of an effector mechanism in host defense. Further analysis is necessary, however, to settle this point finally.

INTRODUCTION

Tumors and infections with many viruses and intracellular bacteria are serious threats to vertebrate host organisms. Because of their intracellular nature, they cannot be monitored by the immune system directly. Instead, it relies on detecting changes on the cell surface, particularly by recognizing pathogenderived peptides presented on MHC class I molecules. Lack of direct access by soluble effector molecules and the fact that these challenges depend on the viability of the harboring cell led to the development of specialized effector cells that are able to selectively destroy infected or transformed host cells by contact-dependent cytotoxicity. Thus, the primary role of cytotoxic effector cells is to complement the function of antibodies, which are most efficient in fighting free pathogens. The importance of this effector function in protection, in immunopathology, in autoimmune diseases, and in transplant rejection has triggered an almost continous interest in the mechanisms and effector functions involved in lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity ever since this activity was first described (1, 2).

There are two main classes of cytolytic lymphocytes differing fundamentally in specificity: Cytotoxic T cells (CTL) recognize target cells presenting processed antigenic peptides, whereas NK cells lyse a variety of target cells without classical restriction by MHC molecules. Nevertheless, the observations that cytotoxic T cells and NK cells form conjugates with their respective target cell, possess cytolytic granules that are secreted during the interaction with the target cell (3–10), and induce the formation of lytic pores in the target cell membrane (11, 12) led to the formulation of the granule exocytosis model acounting for T cell– and NK cell–mediated cytotoxicity (13). This model was further supported by the isolation and cloning of perforin from cytolytic lymphocytes (14–19).

Perforin is a glycoprotein of 534 amino acids with sequence homology to the membrane attack complex–forming complement component C9. In analogy to C9, perforin is able to integrate in cell membranes and aggregates are forming polyperforin pores comprising 12–18 monomers of 10–20 nm internal diameter. Perforin expression is mainly confined to CD8⁺ T cells, NK cells, and $\gamma \delta$ T cells (20–22), but perforin expression has been reported in a CD4⁺ T cell clone (23)

and in peripheral CD4⁺ T cells from a patient with infectious mononucleosis (24). The expression level of perform in vivo during a viral infection correlates with the kinetics of the cytotoxic activity (25, 26).

The granule exocytosis model proposes that, upon interaction with the target cell, the cytotoxic effector cell releases the content of its cytoplasmic granules in a directed manner into the intercellular space between lymphocyte and target cell. There, perforin undergoes a Ca²⁺-induced conformational change, integrates into the target cell membrane, and forms pores, which are similar to the pores formed by the membrane attack complex of the complement system. The permeabilization of the target cell membrane finally leads to the death of the target cell. The effector cells recycle and are able to lyse additional target cells. Although plenty of evidence supported the granule exocytosis model, the model was not generally accepted and remained controversial (27-29). Several alternative, not necessarily mutually exclusive, effector mechanisms accounting for lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity were postulated, including various effector molecules such as factors homologous to TNF (30), secreted ATP (31, 32), the polyadenylate-binding protein TIA-1 (33), granule-associated serine esterases called granzymes (34–39), and the notion that cytotoxic lymphocytes induce programmed cell death in the target cell (40, 41).

Recently, the generation of perforin-deficient mice has helped to clarify much of this debate. In addition, these mice have allowed further analysis of the lytic mechanisms of CTL and NK cells and provided a tool to assess the contribution of cytotoxic versus other effector mechanisms in a number of immune functions in vivo, including antiviral and antilisterial immunity, immunopathology, graft rejection, and autoimmunity. This review summarizes some of the recent progress obtained by analyzing the phenotype of perforin-deficient mice.

MECHANISMS OF CD8⁺ T CELL–MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY

Evaluation of the cytotoxic activity of perforin-deficient T cells allowed us to assess the thus-far-controversial role of perforin as an effector molecule in T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Since inactivation of perforin does not impair activation and proliferation of T cells (42), perforin-deficient mice can be used to study defects on the level of effector mechanisms without complicating indirect effects. These experiments have clearly established the perforindependent granule exocytosis pathway (Figure 1*b*, top) as a main cytotoxic pathway, because cytotoxic activity of CD8⁺ T cells from perforin-deficient mice against fibroblast and certain lymphohematopoietic target cells was completely



absent (42). Most lymphohematopoietic target cells were lysed with varying but severalfold reduced efficiency by perforin-deficient T cells. This cytolytic activity was found to be mediated by the interaction of Fas ligand expressed on activated T cells with Fas on the surface of the target cell (42–46) (Figure 1*b*, below). Fas, also called Apo-1 or CD95, was originally isolated with two independent antibodies that induced apoptosis in various human cell lines (47, 48). Fas belongs to the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor and nerve growth factor receptor family, and it shares with TNF receptor 1 a conserved extracellular region and a cytoplasmic domain, which is essential for the induction of apoptosis (49, 50). Fas-expressing target cells can be lysed upon interaction with Fas ligand expressed on activated T cells. The following experimental evidence supports the existence of only these two cytotoxicity pathways in CD8⁺ T cell-mediated cytotoxicity:

(i) The relative contribution of the perforin-independent pathway of cytotoxicity, quantified by comparing the effector to target cell ratios of cytotoxicity by control and perforin-deficient effector cells in the linear range of the semilogarithmic E/T ratio vs ⁵¹Cr release diagrams, correlates with the expression level of the Fas molecule on the target cell (51). Transformed and untransformed primary fibroblasts do not express Fas and are completely resistant to cytotoxicity by perforin-deficient effector cells, whereas Fas-expressing

Schematic representations of the two pathways in T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. (a) The Figure 1 two pathways of cytotoxicity: Fas negative target cells are lysed by the action of the perforindependent pathway. Fas-expressing target cells, however, are killed by the concomitant effect of the perforin- and the Fas-dependent pathway. (b) Steps and molecules involved in the two pathways of T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. For both pathways the engagement of the specific T cell receptor complex and T cell activation are primary events. On the one hand, the perforindependent granule exocytosis pathway (shown on top) is then initiated by accumulation of cytoplasmic granules containing perforin and granzymes at the interface between effector T cell and target cell, followed by directed exocytosis of these granules upon the target cell. The elevated free Ca2+ concentration in the extracellular space compared to the granular compartment induces a conformational change of the perforin molecules, rendering them amphipathic and able to insert into the target cell membrane. There, 10-18 perform molecules aggregate to form polyperform pores, which make the target cell membrane permeable to water and small ions. This permeabilization, eventually, together with effects of additional molecules such as granzymes entering through the polyperforin pore into the target cell cytoplasm, leads to death of the target cell. On the other hand, the Fas-dependent pathway (shown below) is initiated by upregulation of Fas ligand expression on the T cell. Binding and cross-linking of the Fas ligand molecule, which is most probably present on the membrane in a trimeric form, with Fas molecules on the target cell lead to the induction of apoptosis. A death-inducing cytoplasmic domain on the Fas molecule triggers an apoptosis program probably involving several interacting molecules, one of which may be interleukin-1 β converting enzyme (ICE) and/or a related protease.

212 KÄGI ET AL

lymphohematopoietic target cells are lysed with varying efficiency (42). A discrepancy somewhat overstressed in a recent publication (46) reporting lysis of fibroblasts by perforin-deficient T cells may be explained by unspecific toxicity to fragile target cells at high effector-to-target cell ratios.

(ii) A Fas-specific monoclonal antibody (52) that is not cytotoxic during the 5-h incubation period of the cytotoxicity assay is able to completely block the lytic activity of perforin-deficient T cells against lymphoma target cells. Conversely, overexpression of Fas by transfection of an expression construct into a target cell line enhances the cytotoxic activity of perforin-deficient T cells (43).

(iii) Con A blast target cells from mice with the lpr mutation, which results in inactivation of the Fas molecule (53), are (in contrast to con A blast target cells from normal mice) resistant to perforin-independent cytotoxicity (43).

Thus, dependent on the target cell, $CD8^+$ T cells confer lysis by either a perforin-dependent pathway alone or by the concomitant action of the perforin-dependent and the Fas-dependent pathway (Figure 1*a*). The complete absence of cytotoxicity of perforin-deficient T cells in the presence of a blocking Fas-specific antibody or against target cells from Fas-deficient lpr mice demonstrates that these two pathways alone account for $CD8^+$ T cell-mediated cytotoxicity without any involvement of additional pathways.

Except for reduced efficiency on most target cells, killing via the Fas-dependent pathway exhibits characteristics similar to those of perforin-dependent cytotoxicity: It is blocked by anti-CD8 antibodies; it appears 6 days after LCMV infection and peaks on day 8; and it is specific for an antigenic peptide bound to MHC class I molecules (43).

One of the arguments used to challenge the role of granule exocytosis was that cytotoxicity against certain target cells was not completely abolished in the presence of EGTA, which inhibits exocytosis by binding free Ca^{2+} (29, 54). To evaluate the effect of Ca^{2+} -chelation on either the perforin- or Fas-dependent pathway separately, we evaluated the cytotoxicity either of normal CTL on Fas-negative target cells or of perforin-deficient CTL on Fas-expressing target cells, respectively. Perforin-dependent cytotoxicity was completely inhibited in the absence of free Ca^{2+} , whereas Fas-dependent cytotoxicity was only threefold reduced (D Kägi, H Hengartner, unpublished data). Thus, cytotoxicity tested in the absence of Ca^{2+} is mediated by the Fas-dependent pathway, but Fas-dependent cytotoxicity is not completely Ca^{2+} -independent, as was suggested by an early report (55).

Recently, the Fas ligand expressed on cytotoxic T cells was identified and found to be homologous to membrane TNF (56). Therefore, it is currently thought that Fas-dependent $CD8^+$ T cell-mediated cytotoxicity requires the

interaction of Fas ligand on the CD8⁺ T cell and the Fas molecule on the target cell, and that the induced trimerization of Fas by the ligand triggers cell death by a yet unknown intracellular pathway (57) (Figure 1*b*). Of the several steps and molecules probably involved in this pathway, a step requiring the activity of interleukin-1 β -converting enzyme (ICE) and/or ICE-related proteases has been recently identified (58, 59). The homology of ICE to the cell death-inducing gene *ced-3* from the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* suggests that Fas-induced apoptosis follows a highly conserved pathway.

Based on the observation that T cell activation induces Fas ligand expression, the specificity of Fas-dependent cytotoxicity probably results from upregulation of cell-bound Fas ligand (56) upon triggering of the T cell receptor during conjugate formation with a specific target cell. Alternatively, activated T cells may secrete soluble Fas ligand upon interaction with the target cell (60). However, the observed strict specificity of the Fas-dependent pathway, also tested in cold target inhibition assays, would require an extremely rapid inactivation of secreted Fas-ligand.

So far, the concept involving two independent pathways in CTL-mediated cytotoxicity has been confirmed for a number of different cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cell populations, including H-2 alloantigen–specific CTL generated in mixed lymphocyte cultures in vitro, in vivo–activated antiviral and H-2 alloantigen–specific spleen cells, and H-2 alloantigen–specific peritoneal exudate lymphocytes (42). The finding that for all of the tested effector cells the relative contribution of the two cytotoxic pathways depends similarly on the expression of Fas by the target cell, and not on the type of the effector cell, resolves the long-standing debate (27) about whether peritoneal exudate lymphocytes possess cytotoxic mechanisms differing from the mechanisms of cloned or splenic T cells. Although peritoneal exudate lymphocytes may express lower amounts of perforin and display less prominent cytoplasmic granules than do cytotoxic T cell clones, perforin-dependent cytotoxicity is apparently fully functional.

Besides lysis of the plasma membrane as detected by release of ⁵¹Cr, CTL also induce fragmentation of target cell DNA into multiples of nucleosomal 200 bp fragments. Whereas ⁵¹Cr-release is only detected 1 h after mixing effector and target cells, DNA fragmentation is detected more rapidly (40, 41). It was difficult to bring this observation into agreement with the concept that membrane disruption by perforin pores directly induces cell death, because disruption of the membrane by complement lysis or chemical compounds does not induce DNA fragmentation. Recent experimental evidence suggests that granzymes may be co-secreted with perforin and enter the target cell through the polyperforin pore to trigger a target cell internal pathway that results in

214 KÄGI ET AL

DNA fragmentation (36, 61). The following lines of evidence support this notion: (i) A noncytotoxic rat mast cell tumor line is rendered cytotoxic by transfection with an expression construct for perforin. This cytotoxicity as well as the capacity to induce DNA fragmentation is enhanced by the additional expression of granzyme A (62, 63). (ii) Cytotoxic T cells from granzyme B-deficient mice exhibit a reduced capacity to induce DNA fragmentation in tumor target cell lines (64).

Further investigations are necessary to clarify which granzymes or other granular proteins are involved in cytotoxicity and whether they are required for perforin-dependent effector functions in vivo such as e.g. clearance of LCMV infection.

MECHANISMS OF CYTOTOXICITY BY CD4⁺ T CELLS

Cytolytic CD4⁺ T cells can be generated by a number of protocols, often involving depletion of CD8⁺ T cells (65-69). Their MHC class II-restricted cytotoxic activity is readily measured in vitro. Whether they mediate a cytolytic effector or an immunoregulatory function in vivo, however, is unclear. Different target cells vary in their susceptibility to CD4⁺ T cell-mediated cvtotoxicity: the B cell lymphoma A20 and LPS-activated B cell blasts are preferentially used for testing the cytolytic activity of CD4⁺ T cells due to their sensitivity. whereas fibroblast target cells transfected with MHC class II molecules are relatively resistant (70). Recent experiments have explained this observation by showing that unspecifically activated or redirected splenic CD4⁺ T cells and CD4⁺ T cell clones require the expression of Fas by the target cell for lytic activity (71-73). Stalder et al (72) interpreted the reduction of CD4⁺ T cell-mediated cytotoxicity observed upon addition of EGTA as an indication of involvement of the perforin-dependent pathway. However, since it is established now that Fas-dependent cytotoxicity is not completely independent of free Ca²⁺. this observation would also accord with an exclusive role for the Fas-dependent pathway.

Recently, it was found that anergic autoreactive B cells can be eliminated by CD4⁺ T cells of the same specificity in a Fas-dependent manner (74). This suggests an immunoregulatory function of CD4⁺ T cell–mediated Fas-dependent cytotoxicity.

Thus, current evidence indicates that the Fas-dependent pathway plays a more prominent role in CD4⁺ than in CD8⁺ T cell-mediated cytotoxicity; CD4⁺ T cells may even lyse exclusively via the Fas-dependent pathway. This latter point should be clarified readily by testing the cytotoxic activity of nominal antigen- or MHC class II alloantigen–specific polyclonal CD4⁺ T cells from normal control, perforin-deficient, and Fas ligand–deficient gld mice.

CYTOTOXICITY BY NATURAL KILLER CELLS

The notion that NK cells use the same effector mechanisms as $CD8^+$ T cells was supported by the detection of similar cytoplasmic granules containing perforin in NK cells and $CD8^+$ T cells, the acquisition of NK-like specificity of cloned $CD8^+$ T cells, and the ability of CTL and NK cells to secrete granule contents upon conjugate formation. Recently, NK cell receptor molecules have been characterized that confer some specificity to the activity of monoclonal NK cells by transmitting an inhibitory signal upon recognition of MHC class I (75– 80). The results indicate that NK cells recognize either the absence or major changes of MHC class I antigens as they might be present in tumor cells or in cells infected by viruses or bacteria.

In normal control mice NK activity is readily detected after injection of poly-IC or early after LCMV infection, before measurable T cell-mediated cytotoxicity has developed. Use of these protocols that seem to activate NK cells by stimulating interferon secretion reveals that NK cells from perforin-deficient mice lack cytotoxic activity on the NK cell-sensitive target cell line YAC-1 (42) and on the MHC class I-negative lymphoma RMA-S (81). Since YAC-1 target cells express high levels of Fas and are very sensitive to Fas-dependent cytotoxicity by alloreactive CD8⁺ T cells (51), the results indicate that NK cells utilize only the perforin-dependent pathway of cytotoxicity. The failure of NK cells to express Fas-dependent cytotoxicity requires further analysis but may be due to a lack of functional Fas ligand expression.

THE ROLE OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AS AN EFFECTOR FUNCTION IN VIVO

Perforin-deficient mice allow us to assess directly the role of lymphocytemediated cytotoxicity in vivo, which is thought to be a crucial effector mechanism in immune protection against viruses, intracellular bacteria, and tumor cells. On the other hand, cytotoxicity may cause pathology in rejection of foreign organ transplants, autoimmune diseases, and immunopathology. So far, evidence that indeed cytotoxicity and not other effector mechanisms is responsible for these phenomena has been mostly circumstantial. Cytotoxicity has usually been claimed to account for an immunological phenomenon when cytotoxic activity was detectable, sometimes only after one or several restimulations in vitro, or when depletion of CD8⁺ or NK marker positive cells resulted in reduction of protection or pathology. However, detection of cytotoxic activity does not necessarily mean that it is functionally effective and responsible for an observed effect. Furthermore, a requirement for CD8⁺ or NK cells does not prove that these cells exert their function by cytotoxicity and not via secreted cytokines.

216 KÄGI ET AL

Perforin-deficient mice possess normal numbers of CD8 and NK marker positive cells, and CD8⁺ T cells are activated and proliferate normally in response to LCMV infection (42). This shows that lymphocyte development was not affected by the lack of perforin and that indirect effects of the perforin gene disruption are absent. Thus, perforin-deficient mice are a useful tool to study the role of contact-dependent cytotoxicity vs. soluble factors in a wide range of different physiological situations in vivo.

Infection with Cytopathic and Noncytopathic Viruses

CD8⁺ T cells recognize peptides derived from intracellularly synthesized antigens, which are presented on the almost ubiquitously expressed MHC class I molecules and are therefore thought to play a key role in defense against intracellular pathogens such as viruses. As virus-specific cytotoxic T cells are induced upon infection with many different viruses, it has been assumed that T cells prevent virus proliferation by lysing infected cells. Theoretically, lysis of an infected cell by cytotoxic T cells could occur in the eclipse phase before any infectious virus has been produced and therefore could inhibit virus replication completely (Figure 2). Alternatively, cytotoxic T cells may just reduce the production of infectious virus from an infected cell by lysing it at a certain time point after assembly and release of infectious virions has already started. If recognition by cytotoxic T cells and lysis is relatively slow compared to the cytopathic effect of a virus, then cytotoxic activity is effective only against noncytopathic viruses, and the primary role of CTL is to eliminate otherwise persisting virus-releasing cells from the organism. If T cell-mediated cytotoxicity, on the other hand, is quick relative to the cytopathic effect, then it may prevent the generation of infectious viruses completely by lysing the infected cell in the eclipse phase, or at least reduce the infectious virus yield produced by an infected cell (82). Thus, the relative kinetics of cytotoxic activity in vivo and the cytopathic effect of a virus determine whether cytotoxicity is effective only against noncytopathic or equally against cytopathic and noncytopathic viruses.

The notion that $CD8^+$ T cells control virus infections by cytotoxicity has been questioned repeatedly (41, 83–85). Instead, it was suggested that T cells control virus infections by the secretion of antiviral lymphokines (85) or by inducing fragmentation of viral DNA without necessarily killing the target cell (prelytic halt of viral replication) (41). These questions can now be addressed more directly by testing perforin-deficient mice in various viral systems.

So far, the analysis of infection with noncytopathic LCMV or cytopathic vaccinia virus has shown that perforin-dependent cytotoxicity is crucially involved in control of acute LCMV (42) but not of vaccinia virus infection (86), although both viruses induce very strong primary cytotoxic T cell responses. Whereas in normal control mice, LCMV virus reaches maximal titers on day



Figure 2 Control of cytopathic and noncytopathic virus infection by cytotoxic T cells. Lysis of an infected cell may occur in the eclipse phase, when the cell has been infected by the virus but infectious virions have not been formed yet, or in mid-cycle, when infectious virions have already been formed but the full virus yield has not been produced yet. Either case theoretically should lead to protection in infectious with cytopathic and noncytopathic viruses. In contrast, lysis relatively late in the infectious cycle protects only in the case of noncytopathic viruses; there, an infected cell may persist and continuously release infectious virions over longer time periods if elimination by cytotoxic T cells fails. Late lysis in the case of infection with a cytopathic virus, however, does not reduce viral spreading, because a maximal yield of infectious virus may have already been assembled and will be released upon cytolysis. It has been observed that noncytopathic vaccinia, vesicular stomatitis or Semliki Forest virus, perforin is not measurably involved in protection. This indicates that recognition and lysis of infected host cells by CTL occur too late in the infectious cycle to be effective against cytopathic viruses.

four to six and is eliminated by CD8⁺ T cells by day eight, in perforin-deficient mice, LCMV is not cleared and high titers persist beyond day eight (42). Because LCMV is not cytopathic in mice, it is expected that failure to control LCMV would result in persistent infection without obvious disadvantage to the mouse, similar to the virus carrier state in neonatally LCMV-infected mice (87, 88). However, perforin-deficient mice progressively lose body weight and eventually die between day 12 and day 20. Because persistent infection with high viral titers in all organs causes no obvious symptoms in normal mice, this LCMV-induced wasting disease is probably of an immunopathological

| Pathogen | Property | Protecting cell types | Role of cytotoxicity in p Perforin pathway | protection Fas pathway |
|-----------------------|--------------------------|--|---|------------------------------|
| LCMV | Noncytopathic | CD8 ⁺ T cells | Crucial | Not involved |
| Vaccinia virus VSV | Cytopathic Cytopathic | CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cells CD4 ⁺ and B cells (IgG) | Not involved Not involved | Not involved Not involved |
| Listeria | Intracelluar bacteria | Macrophages, CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cells, granulocytes, NK cells, $\gamma \delta$ T cells | Mediates protection by CD8 ⁺ T cells in secondary and late in primary infection | Not tested |

 Table 1
 Role of cytotoxicity in infection with various pathogens

nature. Up to now, the cause of death has been unclear as well as whether immunopathology is caused by Fas-dependent cytotoxicity against virus infected cells or by toxic doses of cytokines secreted by T cells that are constantly stimulated by confrontation with virus infected cells.

LCMV infection induces not only perforin-dependent but also Fas-dependent LCMV-specific cytotoxicity (43). Obviously, perforin-dependent cytotoxicity is necessary to resolve LCMV infection, and Fas-dependent cytotoxicity alone is not sufficient. Since LCMV infects Fas-positive cells such as macrophages and hepatocytes but also Fas-negative cells such as epithelial cells, a potential antiviral effect of Fas-dependent cytotoxicity is confined to virus-infected, Fas-positive cells. For complete viral clearance, however, virus has to be eliminated from Fas-positive as well as from Fas-negative infected cells. Alternatively, as a result of selection, LCMV may have developed mechanisms causing resistance to Fas-mediated lysis by the expression of apoptosis-inhibiting factors in the infected cells. Fas-mediated apoptosis is an active suicide process of the target cell and may offer more possibilities of interference than does perforindependent lysis. Recently, the product of the *crmÀ* gene from cowpox virus has been shown to inhibit Fas-mediated apoptosis (58, 59, 89–91).

Apparently, Fas-dependent cytotoxicity is not sufficient to clear LCMV infection. Although Fas-deficient lpr (53) and Fas ligand–deficient gld mice (92, 93), both lacking Fas-dependent cytotoxicity, clear LCMV normally (86), a certain contribution of Fas-dependent cytotoxicity to viral resistance is theoretically conceivable. Such an antiviral effector function would be most readily detected in perforin-deficient mice, where the absence of the main effector mechanism would facilitate the detection of secondary mechanisms. Therefore, we reasoned that an increase of the LCMV-specific precursor T cell frequency in perforin-deficient mice would result in enhanced LCMV-specific, Fas-dependent cytotoxicity. This was achieved by two protocols leading to protection in normal mice, namely, by expression of a TCR transgene from a LCMV-specific CD8⁺ T cell clone (94, 95) or by immunization with a recombinant vaccinia virus expressing LCMV glycoprotein (96, 97). If Fas-dependent cytotoxicity had a protective effect against LCMV, the increased precursor frequency would result in lower viral titers in perforin-deficient animals. However, TCR transgenic or recombinant vaccinia virus–primed perforin-deficient mice had titers that were not significantly different from titers in nontransgenic unprimed perforin-deficient mice (86); this indicates that Fas-dependent cytotoxicity is not measurably involved in specific T cell–mediated protection against LCMV infection.

Previous studies established that CD8⁺ T cells are not necessary to clear vaccinia virus infection and that secretion of IFN- γ and TNF- α by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells is involved in immunity against pox viruses (98–103). Because perforin-deficient, Fas-deficient lpr, Fas ligand-deficient gld, and normal control mice eliminate intravenous and intradermal infection with vaccinia virus with comparable efficiency, perforin-dependent as well as Fas-dependent cytotoxicity are not measurably involved in clearance of vaccinia virus infection (86).

To investigate infection with other cytopathogenic viruses, we tested the survival of normal control, Fas-, Fas ligand-, and perforin-deficient mice after infection with a high dose of vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), or Semliki Forest virus (SFV), which are both lethal to young and IFN- α/β receptor–deficient mice (104). All four groups of mice survived VSV or SFV infection without any apparent symptoms, indicating that neither perforin- nor Fas-dependent cytotoxicity is crucially involved in control of these two virus-infections (86). Infection with VSV leads to an extensively studied prompt virus-neutralizing antibody response (105–107). Together with the restriction of viral replication by the interferon system very early in infection (104, 108), neutralizing antibodies are predominantly responsible for the control of VSV infection.

The results with LCMV, vaccinia virus, VSV, and SFV infection may indicate a fundamental difference in how T cells are controlling cytopathic versus noncytopathic virus infections. Whereas in infections with noncytopathic viruses, destruction of the infected cell by perforin-dependent cytotoxicity is of prime importance, cytopathic viruses such as vaccinia virus or VSV are apparently more efficiently controlled by reducing the infection of neighboring cells by soluble cytokines or neutralizing antibodies. The failure to detect a role of both cytolytic pathways in protection against vaccinia virus infection is compatible with the notion that recognition and lysis of infected cells by CTL is too slow to achieve lysis in eclipse or mid-phase, which would be necessary to reduce the number of virus progeny produced by a cell infected with a cytopathic virus.

Infection with Intracellular Bacteria

Immunity to intracellular bacteria is conferred by various cell types including activated macrophages (109), NK-cells (110), TCR γ/δ T cells (111), granulocytes (112), and CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells (113–116). Interferon- γ (117–119) and tumor necrosis factor (120, 121) play essential roles in this defense. It is widely held that the main function of T cells in infection with intracellular bacteria is to activate bactericidal macrophages by the secretion of IFN- γ (109).

T cells with the capacity to confer specific cytotoxicity after restimulation in vitro have been isolated from mice after infection with various intracellular bacteria. Such CD8⁺ cytolytic T cell lines were used successfully to protect against bacterial infection by adoptive transfer (122). Injection of IFN- γ neutralizing antibodies failed to inhibit the protective effect of CD8⁺ T cell clones, suggesting that CD8⁺ T cells may be involved in antibacterial immunity not only by secretion of IFN- γ but also by direct contact-dependent cytotoxicity (123).

To assess the role of T cell-mediated cytotoxicity in a well-established murine model system for immunity against intracellular bacteria, we evaluated resistance of perforin-deficient mice against Listeria monocytogenes. In protection from secondary infection as well as in adoptive transfer experiments, perforindependent cytotoxicity accounted for most of the protective effect of CD8⁺ T cells (124). CD8⁺ T cells from perforin-deficient mice were about 100-fold less protective than CD8⁺ T cells from normal control mice. In primary infection, however, perforin-deficient mice were able to clear Listeria, indicating that the impaired anti-Listeria effector function of CD8⁺ T cells is quite efficiently compensated by other cell types and effector mechanisms. A significant delay of Listeria clearance from the spleen but not from the liver of perforindeficient mice indicated that compensation was not complete. Similar to nude and scid mice, activated macrophages may also persist in perforin-deficient mice and cause reduced Listeria titers very early after infection, due to natural innate resistance. Whether other cell types also contribute to this compensatory phenomenon is not clear.

Thus, perforin-dependent cytotoxicity is a main effector mechanism exerted by CD8⁺ T cells in immunity to secondary Listeria infection and in the later phase of the primary immune response. This conclusion is also supported by the study of β 2-microglobulin-deficient mice, in which the lack of CD8⁺ T cells results in delayed clearance of Listeria as in perforin-deficient mice (116). The protective effect of perforin-dependent cytotoxicity seems to be more significant in the spleen than in the liver. Whether this reflects restricted accessibility by CD8⁺ T cells to the liver remains to be established.

Tumor Surveillance

MHC class I–positive, specific tumor antigen–expressing tumor cells are controlled by T cell–mediated adaptive immunity (125, 126). Tumor cells may, however, escape this immune surveillance by downregulating the expression of MHC molecules. It has recently been shown that NK cells complement T cells in immune surveillance in that growth of MHC class I–negative tumor cells is controlled by NK cell–mediated natural immunity (77, 127–129). So far it has not been defined for either effector cell population whether tumoricidal activity is exerted by contact-dependent cytotoxicity or by secreted lymphokines such as tumor necrosis factors.

To address this question, we evaluated the elimination of injected tumor cells in perforin-deficient and normal control mice. T cell–mediated tumor rejection was tested with syngeneic methylcholanthrene-induced MC57G fibrosarcoma cells (130). Perforin-deficient mice are significantly more susceptible to these fibrosarcoma cells such that, in perforin-deficient mice, doses of MC57G cells that are ten to a hundred times lower than in normal mice lead to growth of fibrosarcomas, indicating an important role of perforin-dependent cytotoxicity in tumor surveillance by T cells (42). Resistance of perforin-deficient mice to low doses of fibrosarcoma cells is probably not mediated by the Fas-dependent pathway, because the MC57G cells do not express Fas in vitro and are resistant to cytotoxicity by perforin-deficient effector cells. Whether other Fas-expressing tumor cells are controlled by T cell–mediated Fas-dependent cytotoxicity in vivo remains to be established.

To investigate the role of perforin in controlling the growth of MHC class I– negative tumors by NK cell–mediated natural immunity, we took advantage of a model system established by Kärre et al (128), using MHC class I–expressing and –nonexpressing variants (RMA-S) of the T cell lymphoma RBL-5 induced by Rauscher murine leukemia virus. This group demonstrated that growth of injected MHC class I–negative RMA-S is restricted by natural immunity (128). We evaluated resistance against RMA-S cells and found that perforin-deficient mice were sensitive to an at least 10-fold lower dose of RMA-S than were C57BL/6 control mice (81). Thus, perforin-dependent cytotoxicity is crucially involved in control of tumor cell growth mediated by T cells as well as by NK cells.

Immunopathology

Upon infection with intracellular pathogens, an infected host generates in most cases a strong immune response leading to quick clearance of the pathogen. Pathogens such as hepatitis B virus, LCMV, and *mycobacterium leprae* rarely succeed in establishing a carrier state, which is characterized by the absence

of an effective immune response and a relatively low toxicity of the pathogen itself. Between these two extremes, however, when a noncytopathic pathogen persists, and the immune response is not completely inhibited, the continued confrontation of T cells and virus-infected cells can result in immunopathology due to damage of host tissue. A better understanding of the immunological effector mechanisms leading to tissue damage may help to improve the therapy of such conditions.

A classical model for virus-induced immunopathology is the lethal lymphocytic choriomeningitis that develops in normal mice but not in mice lacking T cells upon i.c. infection with LCMV (131–133). The disease is characterized by infection of ependymal, meningeal, and choroid plexus cells and by a marked cerebral infiltration of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. It has been widely debated whether lethal pathology is due to cytotoxic T cells lysing infected leptomeningeal or neuronal cells, due to cytokines interfering with synaptic functions, or due to the increase of intracranial pressure from edema. The observation that perforin-deficient mice fail to develop the characteristic symptoms of lymphocytic choriomeningitis (42) but nevertheless display marked infiltration of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells into the brain (D Kägi et al unpublished observation) indicates that immunopathology during LCMV-induced choriomeningitis is due to lysis of infected leptomeningeal or neuronal cells by perforin-dependent cytotoxicity, which is exerted by infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells.

Viscerotropic isolates of LCM virus induce immunopathological hepatitis when injected at high doses intravenously. The destruction of infected liver cells by $CD8^+$ T cells is conveniently monitored by measuring the serum level of liver-specific transaminases or glutamic acid dehydrogenase. LCMV-specific $CD8^+$ T cells cause the release of these enzymes from infected liver cells (134), and the infiltrating mononuclear cells express perforin (25).

Although CD8⁺ T cells infiltrate the liver of perforin-deficient mice to an extent similar to that in normal mice, liver enzymes do not increase (42). Thus, hepatocyte destruction occurring upon intravenous injection of high doses of LCMV is caused by CD8⁺ T cell–mediated, perforin-dependent cytotoxicity. This model also constitutes an experimental system to test cytotoxicity of virus-specific T cells in vivo. Instead of a test tube to incubate effector cells and target cells as in the ⁵¹Cr release assay in vitro, effector and target cells interact in the physiological environment of the liver, and, instead of ⁵¹Cr release, release of liver-specific enzymes into the serum is measured. Taken together, this in vivo correlate of the in vitro ⁵¹Cr release test not only shows the involvement of perforin-dependent cytotoxicity in immunopathological damage to host tissue but also confirms the crucial role of perforin for CD8⁺ T cell–mediated cytotoxicity in vivo.

Autoimmune Diabetes

Animal models of diabetes have provided convincing evidence that development of diabetes is caused by a breakdown of T cell tolerance and depends on T cell function (135–139). The relative contribution of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells to initiation and progression of the disease is controversial (140–148). Similarly, the immunological mechanisms leading to the destruction of insulin-producing β -cells in the pancreas are unclear; β -cell damage may either result from direct cytotoxic activity of autoreactive CD8⁺ T cells or be the consequence of the high sensitivity of β -cells to cytokines and/or reactive oxygen products, which are released during a local inflammatory process induced by β -cell–specific CD4⁺ T cells infiltrating into the islets (149).

To test the former hypothesis, we used transgenic mice expressing the glycoprotein from lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV-GP) exclusively in the β -cells of the pancreas (150). In this well-characterized model system, LCMV-GP-specific T cells are not tolerized but are normally reactive. Therefore, the activation of LCMV-GP transgene-specific T cells by LCMV infection induces islet destruction and diabetes within 10 to 12 days. In the islet infiltrates, CD8⁺ T cells dominate and are observed throughout the islets. $CD4^+$ T cells, infiltrating in lower numbers than $CD8^+$ T cells, are mainly found peri-insularly. To test the role of perforin-dependent cytotoxicity in this model system, we generated perforin-deficient LCMV-GP transgenic mice. In such mice, LCMV infection does not induce diabetes, despite the infiltration of CD8⁺ T cells into the pancreatic islets (D Kägi, PS Ohashi, R Zinkernagel, H Hengartner et al, manuscript in preparation). This indicates that perforindependent cytotoxicity is responsible for the rapid and efficient destruction of the majority of insulin producing β -cells, necessary to generate hyperglycemia. However, the findings do not exclude an involvement of perforin-independent effector mechanisms causing a limited degree of β -cell damage, which may be functionally compensated by the remaining β -cells.

Graft Rejection

Rejection of allogeneic tissue grafts in general is mediated by T cells, except in rejection of xenografts and in some situations where preformed anti-bloodgroup or anti-MHC specific antibodies are present in the recipient. During rejection, grafts are normally infiltrated by NK cells, macrophages, and CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. Although the role of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in graft rejection is still the subject of controversy, experiments in mice suggest that CD4⁺ T cells recognize MHC class II differences between graft and host whereas CD8⁺ T cells recognize MHC class I (151). This has been concluded from studies showing that rejection of grafts with only an MHC class I or class II difference is

224 KÄGI ET AL

controlled exclusively either by $CD8^+$ or by $CD4^+$ T cells (152, 153). Due to the remarkable specificity of rejection, which results in survival of only syngeneic, but not allogeneic, cells in transplantations of skin from tetraparental mice (154–156), and because T cells with potent alloreactive cytotoxic activity are readily generated in vitro and during rejection, it has been assumed that CD8⁺ T cells mediate graft rejection by contact-dependent cytotoxicity. Transplantation experiments with perforin-deficient mice confirmed this hypothesis only partially: Heart grafts differing in MHC class I antigen only (H-2 Kbm1 grafts into H-2 K^b recipients) are rejected significantly more slowly by perforindeficient than by normal mice (157). Fully allogeneic ectopic heart implants, however, are rejected with the same kinetics as by perforin-deficient and normal control mice. Skin grafts with a full allogeneic difference as well as skin grafts differing only in MHC class I alloantigens are rejected comparably by perforindeficient and normal control animals (D Kägi, H-R Ramseier, H Hengartner, R Zinkernagel et al, unpublished observation). Thus, perforin-dependent cytotoxicity is involved in rejection by MHC class I-reactive CD8⁺ T cells, but in the case of skin grafts and in rejection of fully allogeneic heart grafts, lack of perforin-dependent cytotoxicity is apparently compensated by other, yet undefined mechanisms. Since allogeneic grafts from lpr mice carrying an inactivated Fas gene are rejected by perforin-deficient recipients without measurable delay compared to allogenic grafts with an intact Fas gene, Fas-dependent cytotoxicity is not crucially involved in rejection by perforin-deficient recipients either (157). Thus, rejection by secreted cytokines and other cytotoxic factors, probably including TNF and IFN- γ , or by other inflammatory mechanisms such as e.g. delayed-type hypersensitivity response, may play a more significant role than has been assumed so far. The complexities of graft rejection, which also include revascularisation, are apparently also reflected at the level of effector mechanisms and may be due to the extraordinary strength of the alloresponse and the recognition of yet-poorly-understood minor transplantation antigens.

CONCLUSIONS

Experiments with perforin-deficient mice have brought considerable progress in our understanding of lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity: It is clear now that only two independent pathways, one perforin-, the other Fas-dependent, are responsible for T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. NK cells use the former pathway only. Perforin-deficient mice are also a valuable approach to characterize the role of cytotoxicity vs. other effector functions such as lymphokine secretion directly in vivo. This type of analysis has already shown the role of perforindependent cytotoxicity in antiviral immunity, resistance to intracellular bacteria, tumor surveillance, immunopathology, transplant rejection, and autoimmune diabetes. Evidence for an involvement of Fas-dependent cytotoxicity as an effector mechanism in these processes, on the other hand, is still lacking. Thus, current data suggest that the main function of Fas may be in regulation of the immune response and less at the level of host defense.

In the future, perforin-deficient mice may provide a basis to further characterize the role of the two pathways of cytotoxicity, particularly in the immune response against viruses and other microbial pathogens. The evaluation of infection with LCMV, vaccinia virus, VSV and SFV suggests that T cell–mediated cytotoxicity is protective only against noncytopathic and not against cytopathic viruses. The outcome of the analysis of infections with further viruses will show whether this hypothesis applies in general. For both of the cytolytic mechanisms, additional molecules (e.g. granzymes, TIA-1, kinases) required in the respective pathway and their function remain to be characterized. Since a number of in vivo effects that are dependent on cytotoxicity are now identified, the relevance of such molecules can be tested not only in vitro but also directly in vivo.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the many colleagues who were involved in various aspects of the described studies, especially A Althage, J Brecher, MF van den Broek, S Förster, P Golstein, K Karlsson, S Nagata, B Odermatt, PS Ohashi, KJ Olsen, E Podack, H-P Pircher, M Schulz, HJ Schuurman, P Seiler, J Pavlovic, and F Vignaux.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Govaertz A. 1960. Cellular antibodies in kidney homotransplantation. J. Immunol. 85:516–22
- Brunner KT, Mauel J, Rudolf H, Chapuis B. 1970. Studies of allograft immunity in mice. I. Induction, development and in vitro assay of cellular immunity. *Immunology* 18:501–15
- Bykovskaja SN, Rytenko AN, Rauschenbach MO, Bykovsky AF. 1978. Ultrastructural alteration of cytolytic T lymphocytes following their interaction with target cells. I. Hypertrophy and change of orientation of the Golgi apparatus. *Cell. Immunol.* 40:164–74
- Bykovskaja SN, Rytenko AN, Rauschenbach MO, Bykovsky AF. 1978. Ultrastructural alteration of cytolytic T lymphocytes following their interaction with tar-

get cells. II. Morphogenesis of secretory granules and intracellular vacuoles. *Cell. Immunol.* 40:175–85

- Matter A. 1979. Microcinematographic and electron microscopic analysis of target cell lysis induced by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Immunology* 36:179–90
- Sanderson CJ, Glauert AM. 1979. The mechanism of T-cell mediated cytotoxicity. VI. T-cell projections and their role in target cell killing. *Immunology* 36:119–29
- Granger GA, Kolb WP. 1968. Lymphocyte in vitro cytotoxicity: mechanisms of immune and nonimmune small lymphocyte mediated target cell destruction. J. Immunol. 101:111–20
- Thiernesse N, David A, Bernard J, Jeanesson P, Zagury D. 1977. Activité phos-

phatasique acide de la cellule T cytolytique au cours du processus de cytolyse. *C. R. Acad. Sci. Ser. D* 285:713–15

- Zagury D. 1982. Direct analysis of individual killer T cells: susceptibility of target cells to lysis and secretion of hydrolytic enzymes by CTL. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 146:149–69
- Acha-Orbea H, Groscurth P, Lang R, Stitz L, Hengartner H. 1983. Characterization of cloned cytotoxic lymphocytes with NK-like activity. *J. Immunol.* 130:2952– 59
- Dourmashkin RR, Deteix P, Simone CB, Henkart P. 1980. Electron microscopic demonstration of lesions on target cell membranes associated with antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 42:554–60
- Dennert G, Podack ER. 1983. Cytolysis by H-2 specific T-killer cells. Assembly of tubular complexes on target cell membranes. J. Exp. Med. 157:1483–95
- Henkart PA. 1985. Mechanism of lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 3:31–58
- Podack ER, Young JDE, Cohn ZA. 1985. Isolation and biochemical and functional characterization of perforin 1 from cytolytic T-cell granules. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:8629–33
- Young JDE, Cohn ZA, Podack ER. 1986. The ninth component of complement and the pore-forming protein (perforin 1) from cytotoxic T cells: structural, immunological, and functional similarities. *Science* 233:184–90
- Young JDE, Hengartner H, Podack ER, Cohn ZA. 1986. Purification and characterization of a cytolytic pore-forming protein from granules of cloned lymphocytes with natural killer activity. *Cell* 44:849– 59
- Young JDE, Podack ER, Cohn ZA. 1986. Properties of a purified pore-forming protein (perforin 1) isolated from H-2restricted cytotoxic T cell granules. *J. Exp. Med.* 164:144–55
- Shinkai Y, Takio K, Okumura K. 1988. Homology of perforin to the ninth component of complement (C9). *Nature* 334:525–27
- Lichtenheld M, Olsen KJ, Lu P, Lowrey DM, Hameed A, Hengartner H, Podack ER. 1988. Structure and function of human perforin. *Nature* 335:448–51
- García-Sanz JA, Plaetnick G, Velotti F, Masson D, Tschopp J, MacDonald HR, Nabholz M. 1987. Perforin is present only in normal activated Lyt2⁺ lymphocytes

and not in L3T4⁺ cells, but the serine protease granzyme A is made by both subsets. *EMBO J.* 6:933–38

- Smyth MJ, Ortaldo JR, Shinkai Y-I, Yagita H, Nakata M, Okumura K, Young HA. 1990. Interleukin 2 induction of poreforming protein gene expression in human peripheral blood CD8⁺ T cells. J. Exp. Med. 171:1269–81
- Nakata M, Smyth MJ, Norihisa Y, Kawasaki A, Shinkai Y, Okumura K, Yagita H. 1990. Constitutive expression of pore-forming protein in peripheral blood γ/δ T cells: implications for their cytotoxic role in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 172:1877– 80
- Podack ER, Lowrey DM, Lichtenheld M, Olsen KJ, Aebischer T, Binder D, Rupp F, Hengartner H. 1988. Structure, function and expression of murine and human perforin 1(P1). *Immunol. Rev.* 103:203–11
- Nakata M, Kawasaki A, Azuma M, Tsuji K, Matsuda H, Shinkai Y, Yagita H, Okumura K. 1992. Expression of perforin and cytolytic potential of human peripheral blood lymphocyte subpopulations. *Int. Immunol.* 4:1049–54
- Mueller C, Kägi D, Aebischer T, Odermatt B, Held W, Podack ER, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. 1989. Detection of perforin and granzyme A mRNAs in infiltrating cells during LCMV infection of mice. *Eur.* J. Immunol. 19:1253–59
- Young LH, Klavinskis LS, Oldstone MBA, Young JD. 1989. In vivo expression of perforin by CD8⁺ lymphocytes during an acute viral infection. J. Exp. Med. 169:2159–71
- Berke G, Rosen D. 1987. Are lytic granules and perforin 1 thereof involved in lysis induced by in vivo primed peritoneal exudate CTL? *Transplant. Proc.* 19:412–16
- Clark WR. 1988. Perforin—a primary or auxiliary lytic mechanism. *Immunol. To*day 9:101–4
- Trenn G, Takayama H, Sitkovsky MV. 1987. Exocytosis of cytolytic granules may not be required for target cell lysis by cytotoxic T-lymphocytes. *Nature* 330:72– 74
- Liu CC, Steffen M, King F, Young JD. 1987. Identification, isolation, and characterization of a novel cytotoxin in murine cytolytic lymphocytes. *Cell* 51:393–403
- Filipini A, Taffs RÅ, Sitkovsky MV. 1990. Extracellular ATP in T-lymphocyte activation: possible role in effector functions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87:8267 -71

- Di Virgilio F, Pizzo P, Zanovello P, Bronte V, Collavo D. 1990. Extracellular ATP as a possible mediator of cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Immunol. Today* 11:274–76
- Tian Q, Streuli M, Saito H, Schlossman SF, Anderson P. 1991. A polyadenylate binding protein localized to the granules of cytolytic lymphocytes induces DNA fragmentation in target cells. *Cell* 67:629– 39
- Hudig D, Haverty T, Fulcher C, Redelman D, Mendelsohn J. 1981. Inhibition of human natural cytotoxicity by macromolecular antiproteases. *J. Immunol.* 126:1569– 74
- Redelman D, Hudig D. 1980. The mechanism of cell-mediated cytotoxicity. I. Killing by murine cytotoxic T lymphocytes requires cell surface thiols and activated proteases. J. Immunol. 124:870–78
- Hudig D, Ewoldt GR, Woodward SL. 1993. Proteases and lymphocyte cytotoxic killing mechanisms. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 5:90–96
- 37. Simon MM, Prester M, Kramer MD, Fruth U. 1989. An inhibitor specific for the mouse T-cell associated serine proteinase 1 (TSP-1) inhibits the cytolytic potential of cytoplasmic granules but not of intact cytolytic T cells. J. Cell. Biochem. 40:1– 13
- Lobe CG, Finlay BB, Paranchych W, Paetkau VH, Bleackley RC. 1986. Novel serine proteases encoded by two cytotoxic T lymphocyte-specific genes. *Science* 232:858–61
- Trapani JA, Klein JL, White PC, Dupont B. 1988. Molecular cloning of an inducible serine esterase gene from human cytotoxic lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85:6924–28
- Russell JH, Masakowski VR, Dobos CB. 1980. Mechanisms of immune lysis. I. Physiological distinction between target cell death mediated by cytotoxic T lymphocytes and antibody plus complement. *J. Immunol.* 124:1100–5
- Martz E, Howell DM. 1989. CTL: virus control cells first and cytolytic cells second? DNA fragmentation, apoptosis and the prelytic halt hypothesis. *Immunol. Today* 10:79–86
- 42. Kägi D, Ledermann B, Bürki K, Seiler P, Odermatt B, Olsen KJ, Podack E, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. 1994. Cytotoxicity mediated by T cells and natural killer cells is greatly impaired in perforindeficient mice. *Nature* 369:31–37
- Kägi D, Vignaux F, Ledermann B, Bürki K, Depraetere V, Nagata S, Hengartner H,

Golstein P. 1994. Fas and perforin pathways as major mechanisms of T cellmediated cytotoxicity. *Science* 265:528– 30

- 44. Walsh CM, Matloubian M, Liu C-C, Ueda R, Kurahara CG, Christensen JL, Huang MTF, Young JD-E, Ahmed R, Clark WR. 1994. Immune function in mice lacking the perforin gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91:10854–58
- 45. Kojima H, Shinohara N, Hanaoka S, Someya-Shirota Y, Takagaki Y, Ohno H, Saito T, Katayama T, Yagita H, Okumura K, Shinkai Y, Alt FW, Matsuzawa A, Yonehara S, Takayama H. 1994. Two distinct pathways of specific killing revealed by perforin mutant cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Immunity* 1:357–64
- Lowin B, Hahne M, Mattmann C, Tschopp J. 1994. Cytolytic T-cell cytotoxicity is mediated through perform and Fas lytic pathways. *Nature* 370:650–52
- Yonehara S, Ishii A, Yonehara M. 1989. A cell-killing monoclonal antibody (anti-Fas) to a cell surface antigen co-downregulated with the receptor of tumor necrosis factor. J. Exp. Med. 169:1747–56
- necrosis factor. J. Exp. Med. 169:1747–56
 48. Trauth BC, Klas C, Peters AMJ, Matzku S, Möller P, Falk W, Debatin K-M, Krammer PH. 1989. Monoclonal antibody-mediated tumor regression by induction of apoptosis. Science 245:301–4
- 49. Nagata S, Golstein P. 1995. The Fas death factor. *Science* 267:1449–62
- Tartaglia LA, Ayres TM, Wong GHW, Goeddel DV. 1995. A novel domain within the 55 kD TNF receptor signals cell death. *Cell* 74:845–53
- 51. Kägi D, Ledermann B, Bürki K, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. 1995. Lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity in vitro and in vivo: mechanisms and significance. *Immunol. Rev.* 146:95–115
- Ogasawara J, Watanabe-Fukunaga R, Adachi M, Matsuzawa A, Kasugai T, Kitamura Y, Itoh N, Suda T, Nagata S. 1993. Lethal effect of the anti-Fas antibody in mice. *Nature* 364:806–9
- Watanabe-Fukunaga R, Brannan CI, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Nagata S. 1992. Lymphoproliferation disorder in mice explained by defects in Fas antigen that mediates apoptosis. *Nature* 356:314– 17
- Ostergaard HL, Kane KP, Mescher MF, Clark WR. 1987. Cytotoxic Tlymphocyte mediated lysis without release of serine esterase. *Nature* 330:71–72
- Rouvier E, Luciani MF, Golstein P. 1993. Fas involvement in Ca²⁺-independent T

cell mediated cytotoxicity. J. Exp. Med. 177:195-200

- Suda T, Takahashi T, Golstein P, Nagata S. 1993. Molecular cloning and expression of the Fas ligand, a novel member of the tumor necrosis factor family. *Cell* 75:1169–78
- Dhein J, Daniel PT, Trauth BC, Oehm A, Möller P, Kranmer PH. 1992. Induction of apoptosis by monoclonal antibody anti-Apo-1 class switch variants is dependent on cross-linking of Apo-1 cell surface antigens. J. Immunol. 149:3166–73
- Enari M, Hug H, Nagata S. 1995. Involvement of an ICE-like protease in Fasmediated apoptosis. *Nature* 375:78–80
- 59. Los M, van de Craen M, Penning LC, Schenk H, Westendorp M, Baeuerle PA, Dröge W, Krammer PH, Fiers W, Schulze-Osthoff K. 1995. Requirement of an ICE/CED-3 protease for Fas/Apo-1mediated apoptosis. *Nature* 375:81–83
- Dhein J, Walczak H, Bäumler C, Debatin K-M, Krammer PH. 1995. Autocrine T-cell suicide mediated by Apo-1/Fas/CD95. *Nature* 373:438–41
- Shi L, Nishioka WK, Th'ng J, Bradbury EM, Litchfield DW, Greenberg AH. 1994. Premature p34cdc2 activation required for apoptosis. *Science* 263:1143–45
- Shiver JW, Su L, Henkart PA. 1992. Cytotoxicity with target DNA breakdown by rat basophilic leukemia cells expressing both cytolysin and granzyme A. *Cell* 71:315–21
- Nakajima H, Henkart PA. 1994. Cytotoxic lymphocyte granzymes trigger a target cell internal disintegration pathway leading to cytolysis and DNA breakdown. *J. Immunol.* 152:1057–63
- Heusel JW, Wesselschmidt RL, Shresta S, Russell JH, Ley TJ. 1994. Cytotoxic lymphocytes require granzyme-B for the rapid induction of DNA fragmentation and apoptosis in allogeneic target-cells. *Cell* 76:977–87
- Tite JP, Janeway CA. 1984. Cloned helper T cells can kill B lymphoma cells in the presence of specific antigen: Ia restriction and cognate vs. noncognate interactions in cytolysis. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 14:878–86
- Tite JP, Powell MB, Ruddle NH. 1985. Protein-antigen specific Ia-restricted cytolytic T cells: analysis of frequency, target cell susceptibility, and mechanism of cytolysis. J. Immunol. 135:25–33
- Ju S-T, Strack P, Stromquist D, DeKruyff RH. 1988. Cytolytic activity of Iarestricted T cell clones and hybridomas: evidence for a cytolytic mechanism in-

dependent of interferon-gamma, lymphotoxin, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Cell. Immunol.* 117:399–413

- Ozaki S, York-Jolley J, Kawamura H, Berzofsky JA. 1987. Cloned protein antigen-specific, la-restricted T cells with both helper and cytolytic activities: mechanisms of activation and killing. *Cell. Immunol.* 105:301–16
- Macphail S, Stutman O. 1987. L3T4⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for class I H-2 antigens are activated in primary mixed lymphocyte reactions. J. Immunol. 139:4007–15
- Erb P, Grogg D, Troxler M, Kennedy M, Fluri M. 1990. CD4⁺ T cell-mediated killing of MHC class II-positive antigenpresenting cells. I. Characterization of target cell recognition by in vivo or in vitro activated CD4⁺ killer T cells. J. Immunol. 144:790–95
- Hanabuchi S, Koyanagi M, Kawasaki A, Shinohara N, Matsuzawa A, Nishimura Y, Kobayashi Y, Yonehara S, Yagita H, Okumura K. 1994. Fas and its ligand in a general mechanism of T-cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:4930–34
- Stalder T, Hahn S, Erb P. 1994. Fas antigen is the major target molecule for CD4⁺ T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *J. Immunol.* 152:1127–1233
- 73. Ju ST, Cui H, Panka DJ, Ettinger R, Marshak-Rothstein A. 1994. Participation of target Fas protein in apoptosis pathway induced by CD4⁺ Th1 and CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:4185–89
- Rathmell JC, Cooke MP, Ho WY, Grein J, Townsend SE, Davis MM, Goodnow CC. 1995. CD95 (Fas)-dependent elimination of self-reactive B cells upon interaction with CD4⁺ T cells. *Nature* 376:181–84
- Karlhofer FM, Ribaudo RK, Yokoyama WM. 1992. MHC class I alloantigen specificity of Ly-49⁺ IL-2-activated natural killer cells. *Nature* 358:66–70
- Kane KP. 1994. Ly-49 mediates EL4 lymphoma adhesion to isolated class I major histocompatibility complex molecules. J. Exp. Med. 179:1011–1015
- Moretta L, Ciccone E, Mingari MC, Biassoni R, Moretta A. 1994. Human natural killer cells: origin, clonality, specificity, and receptors. *Adv. Immunol.* 55:341–80
- Trinchieri G. 1994. Recognition of major histocompatibility complex class I antigens by natural killer cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 180:417–21

- Kärre K. 1995. Express yourself or die: peptides, MHC molecules, and NK cells. *Science* 267:978–79
- Malnati MS, Peruzzi M, Parker KC, Biddison WE, Ciccone E, Moretta A, Long EO. 1995. Peptide specificity in the recognition of MHC class I by natural killer cell clones. *Science* 267:1016–18
- van den Broek MF, Kägi D, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. 1995. Natural killer cell-mediated tumor control in vivo is perforin dependent. *Eur. J. Immunol.* In press
- Zinkernagel RM, Althage A. 1977. Antiviral protection by virus-immune cytotoxic T cells: infected target cells are lysed before infectious virus progeny is assembled. J. Exp. Med. 145:644–51
- Lehmann-Grube F, Moskophidis D, Löhler J. 1988. Recovery from acute virus infection role of cytotoxic T lymphocytes in the elimination of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus from spleens of mice. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 532:238–56
- Oldstone MBA, Blount P, Southern PJ, Lampert PW. 1986. Cytoimmunotherapy for persistent virus infection reveals a unique clearance pattern from the central nervous system. *Nature* 321:239–43
- Ramsay AJ, Ruby J, Ramshaw IA. 1993. The case for cytokines as effector molecules in the resolution of virus infection. *Immunol. Today* 14:155–57
- 86. Kägi D, Seiler P, Ledermann B, Bürki K, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. 1995. The roles of perforin- and Fas-dependent cytotoxicity in protection against cytopathic viruses. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:3256–62
- Lehmann-Grube F. 1988. Persistent infection of mice with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. In Virus Infections and the Developing Nervous System, ed. RT Johnson, G Lyon, pp. 69–83. Dordrecht/Boston/London: Kluwer Acad.
- Moskophidis D, Lechner F, Pircher HP, Zinkernagel RM. 1993. Virus persistence in acutely infected immunocompetent mice by exhaustion of antiviral cytotoxic effector T cells. *Nature* 362:758–61
- Miura M, Zhu H, Rotello R, Hartwieg EA, Yuan JY. 1993. Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by IL-1β-converting enzyme, a mammalian homolog of the C. elegans cell death gene ced-3. Cell 75:653–60
- Gagliardini V, Fernandez PA, Lee RK, Drexler HC, Rotello RJ, Fishman MC, Yuan J. 1994. Prevention of vertebrate neuronal death by the *crmÀ* gene. *Science* 263:826–28

- Ray CA, Black RA, Kronheim SR, Greenstreet TA, Sleath PR, Salvesen GS, Pickup DJ. 1992. Viral inhibition of inflammation: cowpox virus encodes an inhibitor of the interleukin-1β converting enzyme. *Cell* 69:597–604
- Takahashi T, Tanaka M, Brannan CI, Jenkins NA, Copeland NG, Suda T, Nagata S. 1994. Generalized lymphoproliferative disease in mice, caused by a point mutation in the Fas ligand. *Cell* 76:969–76
- 93. Lynch DH, Watson ML, Alderson MR, Baum PR, Miller RE, Tough T, Gibson M, Davis-Smith T, Smith CA, Hunter K, Bhat D, Din W, Goodwin RG, Seldin MF. 1994. The mouse Fas-ligand gene is mutated in gld mice and is part of a TNF family gene cluster. *Immunity* 1:131–36
- Pircher HP, Bürki K, Lang R, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1989. Tolerance induction in double specific T-cell receptor transgenic mice varies with antigen. *Nature* 342:559–61
- Kyburz D, Aichele P, Speiser DE, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM, Pircher H. 1993. T cell immunity after a viral infection versus T cell tolerance induced by soluble viral peptides. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:1956–62
- 96. Hany M, Oehen S, Schulz M, Hengartner H, Mackett M, Bishop DHL, Zinkernagel RM. 1989. Anti-viral protection and prevention of lymphocytic choriomeningitis or of the local footpad swelling reaction in mice by immunisation with vacciniarecombinant virus expressing LCMV-WE nucleoprotein or glycoprotein. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 19:417–24
- Whitton JL, Gebhard JR, Lewicki H, Tishon A, Oldstone MB. 1988. Molecular definition of a major cytotoxic Tlymphocyte epitope in the glycoprotein of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. J. Virol. 62:687–95
- Hirsch MS, Nahmias AJ, Murphy FA, Kramer JH. 1968. Cellular immunity in vaccinia infection of mice: antithymocyte serum effects on primary and secondary responsiveness. J. Exp. Med. 128:121–31
- Wong GHW, Goeddel DV. 1986. Tumour necrosis factors alpha and beta inhibit virus replication and synergize with interferons. *Nature* 323:819–22
- Flexner C, Hügin A, Moss B. 1987. Prevention of vaccinia virus infection in immunodeficient mice by vector-directed IL-2 expression. *Nature* 330:259–61
- Kohonen-Corish MRJ, Blanden RV, King NJC. 1989. Induction of cell surface ex-

pression of HLA antigens by human IFNgamma encoded by recombinant vaccinia virus. J. Immunol. 143:623–27

- 102. Spriggs MK, Murphy BR, Prince GA, Olmsted RA, Collins PL. 1987. Expression of the F and HN glycoproteins of human parainfluenza virus Type 3 by recombinant vaccinia viruses: contribution of the individual proteins to host immunity. J. Virol. 61:3416–23
- 103. Spriggs MK, Koller BH, Sato T, Morrissey PJ, Fanslow WC, Smithies O, Voice RF, Widmer MB, Maliszewski CR. 1992. β2-microglobulin-, CD8⁺ T celldeficient mice survive inoculation with high doses of vaccinia virus and exhibit altered IgG responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:6070–74
- 104. Müller U, Steinhoff U, Reis LFL, Hemmi S, Pavlovic J, Zinkernagel RM, Aguet M. 1994. Functional role of type I and type II interferons in antiviral defense. *Science* 264:1918–21
- Lefrancois L. 1984. Protection against lethal viral infection by neutralizing and nonneutralizing monoclonal antibodies: distinct mechanisms of action in vivo. J. Virol. 51:208–14
- Mackett M, Yilma T, Rose JK, Moss B. 1985. Vaccinia virus recombinants: expression of VSV genes and protective immunization of mice and cattle. *Science* 227:433–35
- 107. Gobet R, Cerny A, Rüedi E, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1988. The role of antibodies in natural and acquired resistance of mice to vesicular stomatitis virus. *Exp. Cell Biol.* 56:175–80
- Gessani S, Belardelli P, Borghi P, Boraschi D, Gresser I. 1987. Correlation between the LPS response of mice and the capacity of mouse peritoneal cells to transfer an antiviral state: role of endogeneous interferon. J. Immunol. 139:1991–98
- Mackaness GB. 1969. The influence of immunologically committed lymphoid cells on macrophage activity in vivo. *J. Exp. Med.* 129:973–92
- Dunn PL, North RJ. 1991. Early gamma interferon production by natural killer cells is important in defense against murine listeriosis. *Infect. Immun.* 59:2892–900
- 111. Mombaerts P, Arnoldi J, Russ F, Tonegawa S, Kaufmann SHE. 1993. Different roles of alpha/beta and gamma/delta T cells in immunity against an intracellular pathogen. *Nature* 365:53–56
- 112. Conlan JW, North RJ. 1994. Neutrophils are essential for early anti-Listeria de-

fense in the liver, but not in the spleen or peritoneal cavity, as revealed by a granulocyte-depleting monoclonal antibody. J. Exp. Med. 179:259–68

- 113. Mielke ME, Niedobitek G, Stein H, Hahn H. 1989. Acquired resistance to *Listeria monocytogenes* is mediated by Lyt-2⁺ T cells independently of the influx of monocytes into granulomatous lesions. J. Exp. Med. 170:589–94
- 114. Kaufmann SHE, Hug E, Väth U, Müller I. 1985. Effective protection against *Listeria* monocytogenes and delayed-type hypersensitivity to listerial antigens depend on cooperation between specific L3T4⁺ and Lyt2⁺ T cells. *Infect. Immun.* 48:263–66
- 115. Kaufmann SHE. 1993. Immunity to intracellular bacteria. In *Fundamental Immunology*, ed. WE Paul, 2:3173–79. New York: Raven
- 116. Ladel CH, Flesch IEA, Arnoldi J, Kaufmann SHE. 1994. Studies with MHCdeficient knock-out mice reveal impact of both MHCI- and MHCII-dependent T cell responses on *Listeria monocytogenes* infection. J. Immunol. 153:3116–22
- 117. Buchmeier NA, Schreiber RD. 1985. Requirement of endogenous interferongamma production for resolution of *Listeria monocytogenes* infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:7404–8
- Dalton DK, Pitts Meek S, Keshav S, Figari IS, Bradley A, Stewart TA. 1993. Multiple defects of immune cell function in mice with disrupted interferon-gamma genes. *Science* 259:1739–42
- 119. Huang S, Hendriks W, Althage A, Hemmi S, Bluethmann H, Kamijo R, Vilcek J, Zinkernagel RM, Aguet M. 1993. Immune response in mice that lack the interferongamma receptor. *Science* 259:1742–45
- Havell EA. 1989. Evidence that tumor necrosis factor has an important role in antibacterial resistance. J. Immunol. 143:2894–99
- 121. Pfeffer K, Matsuyama T, Kündig TM, Wakeham A, Kishihara K, Shahinian A, Wiegmann K, Ohashi PS, Krönke M, Mak TW. 1993. Mice deficient for the 55 kd tumor necrosis factor receptor are resistant to endotoxic shock, yet succumb to *L. monocytogenes* infection. *Cell* 73:457– 67
- 122. Kaufmann SHE, Rodewald H-R, Hug E, De Libero G. 1988. Cloned Listeria monocytogenes specific non-MHC-restricted Lyt-2⁺ T cells with cytolytic and protective activity. J. Immunol. 140:3173–79
- 123. Harty JT, Schreiber RD, Bevan MJ. 1992.

CD8 T cells can protect against an intracellular bacterium in an interferon gamma-independent fashion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:11612–16

- 124. Kägi D, Ledermann B, Bürki K, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1994. CD8⁺ T cell mediated protection against an intracellular bacterium by perforin-dependent cytotoxicity. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:3068–72
- Leclerc JC, Gomard E, Plata F, Levy JP. 1973. Cell-mediated immune reaction against tumors induced by oncornaviruses. II. Nature of the effector cells in tumor cell cytolysis. *Int. J. Cancer* 11:426–32
- Melief CJM. 1992. Tumour eradication by adoptive transfer of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Adv. Cancer Res. 58:143–75
- 127. Talmadge JE, Meyers KM, Prieur DJ, Starkey JR. 1980. Role of natural killer cells in tumor growth and metastasis: C57BL/6 normal and beige mice. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 65:929–35
- Kärre K, Ljunggren HG, Piontek G, Kiessling R. 1986. Selective rejection of H-2-deficient lymphoma variants suggests alternative immune defence strategy. *Nature* 319:675–78
- Hanna N, Fidler IJ. 1980. Role of natural killer cells in the destruction of circulating tumor emboli. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 65:801–9
- Kohler M, Rüttner B, Cooper S, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1990. Enhanced tumor susceptibility of immunocompetent mice infected with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother*. 32:117–24
- Buchmeier MJ, Welsh RM, Dutko FJ, Oldstone MBA. 1980. The virology and immunobiology of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infection. Adv. Immunol. 30:275–331
- Doherty PC, Zinkernagel RM. 1974. T cell-mediated immunopathology in viral infections. *Transplant. Rev.* 19:89–120
- Doherty PC, Allan JE, Ceredig R. 1988. Contributions of host and donor T cells to the inflammatory process in murine lymphocytic choriomeningitis. *Cell. Immunol.* 116:475–81
- 134. Zinkernagel RM, Haenseler E, Leist TP, Cerny A, Hengartner H, Althage A. 1986. T cell mediated hepatitis in mice infected with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. *J. Exp. Med.* 164:1075–92
- 135. Miyazaki A, Hanafusa T, Yamada K, Miyagawa J, Fujino-Kurihara H, Nakajima H, Nonaka K, Tarui S. 1985. Predominance of T-lymphocytes in pan-

creatic islets and spleen of pre-diabetic non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice: a longitudinal study. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 60:622–30

- 136. Mori Y, Suko M, Okudaira H, Matsuba I, Tsuruoka A, Sasaki A, Yokoyama H, Tanase T, Shida T, Nishimura M. 1986. Preventive effects of cyclosporin on diabetes in NOD mice. *Diabetologia* 29:244–47
- 137. Shizuru JA, Taylor-Edwards C, Banks BA, Gregory AK, Fathman CG. 1988. Immunotherapy of the nonobese diabetic mouse: treatment with an antibody to Thelper lymphocytes. *Science* 240:659–62
- Dardenne M, Lepault F, Bendelac A, Bach J-F. 1989. Acceleration of the onset of diabetes in NOD mice by thymectomy at weaning. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 19:889–95
- 139. Sempe P, Bedossa P, Richard MF, Villa MC, Bach JF, Boitard C. 1991. Antialpha/beta T cell receptor monoclonal antibody provides an efficient therapy for autoimmune diabetes in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. *Eur: J. Immunol.* 21:1163– 69
- Bendelac A, Carnaud C, Boitard C, Bach JF. 1987. Syngeneic transfer of autoimmune diabetes from diabetic NOD mice to healthy neonates. J. Exp. Med. 166:823– 32
- 141. Miller BJ, Appel MC, O'Neil JJ, Wicker LS. 1988. Both the Lyt-2⁺ and L3T4⁺ T cell subsets are required for the transfer of diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. J. Immunol. 140:52–58
- 142. Wang Y, Pontesilli O, Gill RG, La Rosa FG, Lafferty KJ. 1991. The role of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in the destruction of islet grafts by spontaneously diabetic mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:527–31
- 143. Haskins K, McDuffie M. 1990. Acceleration of diabetes in young NOD mice with a CD4⁺ islet-specific T cell clone. *Science* 249:1433–38
- 144. Varey AM, Hutchings P, O'Reilly L, Hussell T, Waldmann H, Simpson E, Cooke A. 1991. The development of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in non-obese diabetic mice: the role of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 19:187–91
- 145. Bradley BJ, Haskins K, La Rosa FG, Lafferty KJ. 1992. CD8 T cells are not required for islet destruction induced by a CD4⁺ islet-specific T cell clone. *Diabetes* 41:1603–8
- Pankewycz OG, Strom TR, Rubin-Kelley VE. 1991. Islet-infiltrating T cell clones

from non-obese diabetic mice that promote or prevent accelerated onset diabetes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 21:873–79

- 147. Yagi H, Matsumoto M, Kunimoto K, Kawaguchi J, Makino S, Harada M. 1992. Analysis of the roles of CD4 and CD8 T cells in autoimmune diabetes of NOD mice using transfer to NOD athymic nude mice. Eur. J. Immunol. 22:2387–93
- Katz JD, Wang B, Haskins K, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1993. Following a diabetogenic T cell from genesis through pathogenesis. *Cell* 74:1089–1100
- Shehadeh NN, Lafferty KJ. 1993. The role of T-cells in the development of autoimmune diabetes. *Diabetes Rev.* 1:141–51
- 150. Ohashi PS, Oehen S, Bürki K, Pircher HP, Ohashi CT, Odermatt B, Malissen B, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. 1991. Ablation of "tolerance" and induction of diabetes by virus infection in viral antigen transgenic mice. *Cell* 65:305–17
- Auchincloss H, Sachs DH. 1993. Transplantation and graft rejection. In *Fundamental Immunol.*, ed. WE Paul, 2:1099– 1142. New York: Raven

- Cobbold S, Waldmann H. 1986. Skin allograft rejection by L3/T4⁺ and Lyt-2⁺ T cell subsets. *Transplantation* 41:634–39
- Sprent J, Schaefer M, Lo D, Korngold R. 1986. Properties of purified T cell subsets. II. In vivo responses to class I vs. class II H-2 differences. J. Exp. Med. 163:998– 1011
- Mintz B, Silvers WK. 1970. Histocompatibility antigen on melanoblasts and hair follicle cells: cell-localized homograft rejection in allophenic skin grafts. *Transplantation* 9:497–505
- Mintz B, Silvers WK. 1967. "Intrinsic" immunological tolerance in allophenic mice. *Science* 158:1484–86
- Rosenberg AS, Singer A. 1988. Evidence that the effector mechanism of skin allograft rejection is antigen-specific. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85:7739–42
- 157. Schulz M, Schuurman H-J, Joergensen J, Steiner C, Meerloo T, Kägi D, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM, Schreier MH, Bürki K, Ledermann B. 1995. Acute rejection of vascular heart allografts by perforindifferent mice. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:474– 80


CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION

Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, and Jeffrey A. Bluestone

Committee on Immunology, Ben May Institute and the Department of Pathology, University of Chicago, Chicago, Illinois 60637

KEY WORDS: tolerance, autoimmunity, T cell activation, CTLA4Ig

Abstract

T cells play a central role in the initiation and regulation of the immune response to antigen. Both the engagement of the TCR with MHC/Ag and a second signal are needed for the complete activation of the T cell. The CD28/B7 receptor/ligand system is one of the dominant costimulatory pathways. Interruption of this signaling pathway with CD28 antagonists not only results in the suppression of the immune response, but in some cases induces antigen-specific tolerance. However, the CD28/B7 system is increasingly complex due to the identification of multiple receptors and ligands with positive and negative signaling activities. This review summarizes the state of CD28/B7 immunobiology both in vitro and in vivo; summarizes the many experiments that have led to our current understanding of the participants in this complex receptor/ligand system; and illustrates the current models for CD28/B7-mediated T cell and B cell regulation. It is our hope and expectation that this review will provoke additional research that will unravel this important, yet complex, signaling pathway.

INTRODUCTION

One of the fundamental elements of the immune system has been the evolving strategies for exquisite self/nonself discrimination. The T cell receptors (TCR) and B cell receptor (BCR) play a major role in defining the fine specificity of an immune response. However, other mechanisms have been adapted to protect the

234 LENSCHOW, WALUNAS & BLUESTONE

body from untoward autoimmune reactions and to focus the immune response on the infected target tissue. These mechanisms include a unique architectural structure of the lymphoid tissue, the evolution of professional antigen presenting cells (APCs), localized antigen deposition, and homing receptors that bring the relevant immune cells to the inflammatory sites. Another mechanism that has developed as both a backup and amplification system has been the requirement for two distinct signals for T cell and B cell activation (1, 2). One signal originates from the ligation of the T cell receptor (TCR) complex and its coreceptors (e.g. CD4 and CD8). The second signal is dependent on either soluble factors such as IL-2 or the ligation of cell surface molecules that provide essential costimulatory signals complementary to the TCR engagement (3, 4). The costimulatory interactions are necessary for effective lymphocyte activation and also serve to enhance the immune response.

It is now accepted that a major T cell costimulatory pathway involves the CD28 molecule. CD28 interactions with the B7 family of costimulatory ligands are essential for initiating antigen-specific T cell responses, upregulating cytokine expression and promoting T cell expansion and differentiation. However, as is evident in this review, we have just begun to understand the complexity of the CD28/B7 costimulatory pathway.

THE CD28/CTLA-4 GLYCOPROTEINS

Expression of CD28 and CTLA-4

The CD28 glycoprotein is expressed constitutively on the surface of 80% of human T cells (all CD4⁺ cells and about 50% of CD8⁺ cells express CD28) and on virtually 100% of murine T cells (5, 6). CD28 is also highly expressed on developing thymocytes, although its role in T cell development is not well understood (see below) (7, 8). CD28 expression is not static because the levels of CD28 increase on T cells following activation (9). However, ligation of CD28 with either anti-CD28 mAb or B7-1-transfected cells in the presence of PMA or PHA stimulation downregulates CD28 mRNA levels and cell surface expression. There was a concomitant reduction in CD28 signaling as CD28induced calcium mobilization was significantly reduced (10). CTLA-4, on the other hand, is not constitutively expressed on T cells. Instead, it is upregulated following T cell activation due to positive regulatory elements (11-13; Z Wang, CE Donavan, H He, J Listman, G Guan, T Walunas, JA Bluestone, DL Perkins & PW Finn, unpublished observations). In both human (11) and murine (14) systems, cell surface expression of CTLA-4 peaks 48 h after activation, returning to background levels by 96 h. Thus, the period of time in which CD28 is transiently downregulated and less responsive to signaling is the time period during which CTLA-4 expression is maximal, suggesting that CTLA-4 may be functionally active at a time when CD28 function is impaired.

The ligation of the CD28 molecule appears particularly important for CTLA-4 upregulation and function. CD28⁻ human PBLs do not upregulate CTLA-4 mRNA following stimulation by PMA and calcium ionophore (15). Furthermore, anti-CD28 mAbs accelerate the kinetics of CTLA-4 mRNA accumulation among human PBL, such that CTLA-4 mRNA was observed as little as 1 h following activation in the presence of anti-CD28 and at a peak by 6 h (15). Finally, activated $CD28^{-/-}$ murine T cells did not express significant amounts of CTLA-4 at the cell surface unless exogenous IL-2 was added, suggesting that CD28 regulates CTLA-4 expression (14). Linsley and colleagues demonstrated a role for integrins in the regulation of CTLA-4 expression (11, 16). Purified human T cells do not upregulate CTLA-4 following stimulation with anti-TCR mAb alone. The addition of either an immobilized form of soluble ICAM-1, a ligand for LFA-1, or VCAM-1, a ligand for the VLA-4 accessory molecule, resulted in significant expression of CTLA-4 (11, 16). It is, therefore, likely that several signaling pathways play an important role in controlling the expression of CTLA-4.

Finally, one of the more interesting and puzzling aspects of CTLA-4 biology is the discordance between mRNA transcription and cell surface expression. We, and others, have shown that although mRNA levels are increased rapidly following T cell activation, cell surface expression is delayed (15). Activated $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ populations of both human (11, 13) and murine (12) origin express CTLA-4 mRNA, as do human and murine Th1 and Th2 T cell clones (13). Detailed studies have shown that CTLA-4 mRNA levels peak approximately 24 h following stimulation with PMA or alloantigen, subsequently decreasing to near background levels by 72 h (11, 15). In fact, in many T cell clones, little, if any, CTLA-4 is expressed following T cell activation even though mRNA is readily detectable in the same cells (R Abe, TL Walunas, C June & JA Bluestone, unpublished observations). In fact, efforts to develop fulllength CTLA-4 transfectants and CTLA-4 transgenic mice have to date been unsuccessful. These results suggest that either CTLA-4 expression is posttranscriptionally regulated, or other, as yet unidentified, CTLA-4-associated proteins are needed for transport and cell surface expression.

General Protein Characteristics

Both CD28 and CTLA-4 exist as disulfide-linked homodimeric glycoproteins (4, 5, 11, 17). However, several groups have suggested that these molecules can also exist as monomeric proteins (15, 18). In our studies, murine CTLA-4 was found to exist on the surface of activated T cells as both a disulfide-linked dimer (with the monomer migrating between 33 and 37 kD) and a non–disulfide-linked

236 LENSCHOW, WALUNAS & BLUESTONE

monomer (14). Individual anti-murine CTLA-4 mAbs preferentially precipitated monomeric vs dimeric forms of the glycoprotein (18). The two molecules are likely to exist in multiple isoforms on the cell surface (18). Discrepancies between the various studies may be the result of variations in the serological reagents. Both CD28 and CTLA-4 have an unpaired cysteine residue at a position just proximal to the transmembrane domain (19). This site is believed to be the site of dimerization for both CD28 and CTLA-4 monomers and could potentially be involved in the formation of heterodimers between CTLA-4 and CD28 glycoproteins. Although genetic and biochemical studies do not support this possibility, anti-human CTLA-4 mAb specifically immunoprecipitated CTLA-4 from COS cells cotransfected with human CD28 and CTLA-4 (11). In addition, there was no evidence for depletion of CTLA-4 following preclearing of membrane extracts of activated human T cells with anti-CD28 mAb (15). Finally, CTLA-4 precipitated from activated CD28⁻-deficient (CD28^{-/-}) murine T cells was identical to that observed from $CD28^+$ T cells (14). Thus, it appears that heterodimerization of CD28 with CTLA-4 is not required for CTLA-4 expression on the cell surface, and vice versa, although low levels of functional heterodimer expressed on activated T cells cannot be completely ruled out.

Regulation of T Cell Activation by CD28 and CTLA-4

THE ROLE OF CD28 IN THE REGULATION OF CELL CYCLE PROGRESSION AND APOP-The proliferative responses of T cells isolated from CD28^{-/-} mice or TOSIS CD28⁺ mice stimulated in the presence of CD28 antagonists are substantially reduced (21). However, recent studies have shown that CD28/B7-mediated signaling does not affect initial T cell proliferation (24-48 h) but attenuates the late proliferative responses (20, 21; JA Bluestone, unpublished observations). This is manifested as increased T cell death (apoptosis) late in culture that cannot be fully reversed by the addition of IL-2 or other survival cytokines. Thus, although CD28/B7 interactions clearly can facilitate the initiation of T cell responses, the major role of CD28 signaling may be to prevent apoptosis and help sustain proliferation. In this regard, a recent study has focused on the role of CD28 in the regulation of two genes believed to be involved in the prevention of cell death, bcl-2 and bcl-x. Both bcl-2 and the high molecular weight form of *bcl*-x, *bcl*-x_L, protect lymphocytes from apoptosis (22–24). Boise et al showed that while CD28 costimulation does not lead to any changes in the levels of bcl-2 found in activated T cells, that it does upregulate bcl- $x_{\rm L}$ and that this upregulation correlates with protection from cell death by a Fas dependent mechanism (25).

TH1/TH2 SUBSET DIFFERENTIATION CD28 engagement has been shown to enhance the production of various cytokines, including IL-1, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5,

TNF, and IFN- γ (5, 26, 27). However, recent studies in vitro and in vivo support a fundamental role for CD28 in the early development and differentiation of both Th1 and Th2 T cell subsets (28–30; LMC Webb, M Feldmann, personal communication). In the absence of CD28 signaling, naive T cells are biased toward a Th1 phenotype. Seder et al demonstrated that no IL-4 was produced when CD28/B7 interactions were blocked with hCTLA4Ig (28). In this system, the lack of IL-2 production was the underlying cause for the effect, since the addition of exogenous IL-2 overcame the defect in IL-4 production. In additional studies, differentiation of human Th1/Th2 subsets was shown to be dependent on CD28 ligation. Purified naive human T cells stimulated with anti-CD3 in the absence of CD28 costimulation produced only IL-2 and IFN- γ , whereas the addition of anti-CD28 mAbs induced both IL-4 and IL-5 (29; LMC Webb, M Feldmann, personal communication). The requirement for CD28 could not be overcome in these cultures by the addition of exogenous IL-4, suggesting that CD28 ligation may regulate other factors involved in T cell responsiveness to IL-4.

The importance of CD28 costimulation in the differentiation of Th2 cells is supported by several studies in vivo. The CD28^{-/-} mice have a reduced Th2dependent antibody response to VSV, while the Th1-dependent DTH response to LCMV remains intact (31). In addition, CD28^{-/-} mice can reject allografts (DJ Lenschow, J Green, Y Zeng, CB Thompson, & JA Bluestone, unpublished The murine CTLA4Ig transgenic mice display a similar phenotype, data). with the most dramatic defect being a hyporesponsive B cell compartment (32, 33). T cells isolated from CTLA4Ig transgenic mice produce significantly decreased amounts of IL-4 and increased amounts of IFN- γ in response to primary immunization, and the B cells demonstrated impaired humoral responses to multiple antigens as compared to wild-type animals (32, 33). Furthermore, in the murine model of leishmaniasis the administration of hCTLA4Ig at the time of inoculation resulted in protection in the susceptible, Th2-type BALB/c mouse strain, but it had no effect in the resistant, Th1-type C57BL/6 mouse strain (34). Finally, hCTLA4Ig treatment blocked the induction in vivo of an IL-4 response to a nematode parasite, Heligmosomoides polygyrus. Mice treated with hCTLA4Ig at the time of infection generated significantly reduced numbers of IL-4 secreting cells, decreased levels of serum IgE, and reduced blood eosinophil counts (35). These results are most consistent with a model in which CD28-mediated signaling directly regulates Th1/Th2 differentiation.

CTLA-4 FUNCTION Although CD28 is clearly a costimulatory molecule, the function of CTLA-4 remains controversial. Early studies predicted that CD28 and CTLA-4 might play similar roles in the regulation of T cell responses, due to the amino acid sequence homology and ligand binding specificity. The first studies examining the role of CTLA-4 in proliferative responses in vitro

238 LENSCHOW, WALUNAS & BLUESTONE

suggested that CTLA-4, like CD28, was indeed a costimulatory molecule. Immobilized anti-human CTLA-4 mAbs in the presence of TCR stimulation augment proliferation, although to a lesser degree than does anti-CD28-mediated costimulation. When both mAbs were present together with the anti-TCR stimulus, synergistic proliferation was observed (11). However, additional functional studies in both the murine and human systems suggested a different role for CTLA-4. Whereas anti-murine CTLA-4 mAb augmented proliferation of purified T cells, monovalent Fab fragments of the anti-CTLA-4 mAb, which do not cross-link CTLA-4, also augmented proliferation (14). Thus, CTLA-4 cross-linking may not transduce a positive signal, but rather the anti-CTLA-4 mAbs may block a negative signal by interrupting the interaction of CTLA-4 with its counterreceptors. In fact, whole anti-CTLA-4 mAbs inhibited anti-CD3-mediated T cell activation in the presence of optimal CD28 costimulation (14, 36). Recent studies in vivo also support the role for CTLA-4 as a downregulatory molecule in T cell activation. Kearney et al have described an adoptive transfer model in which antigen-specific transgenic T cells can be monitored for their expansion following exposure to antigen (37, 38). In these studies, animals treated with either anti-CTLA-4 mAb or Fab fragments of the anti-CTLA-4 mAb showed augmented antigen-mediated clonal expansion. There was also a delay in the decay in T cell numbers over time, suggesting that the anti-CTLA-4 mAb blocked programmed cell death in vivo (38). Thus, during T cell activation, CTLA-4 is upregulated, and through interactions with its ligands may facilitate or promote downregulation of the immune response. In this regard, Gribben et al have shown that ligation of CTLA-4 may mediate apoptosis (39). When preactivated human T cells were restimulated with antigen in the presence of an anti-CTLA-4 mAb, the proliferation was decreased, and the majority of T cells underwent programmed cell death. Induction of apoptosis in the presence of anti-CTLA-4 mAb could be blocked by coculturing the cells with either anti-CD28 mAb or exogenous IL-2, consistent with recent evidence that CD28 signaling upregulates the cell survival factor bcl-x_L (25). These results suggest that CTLA-4 may function through an association with an additional cell surface molecule.

THE B7-1 (B7/CD80) AND B7-2 (B70/CD86) GLYCOPROTEINS

B7-1, a B cell activation molecule first described in 1981 by Yokochi et al (40), was the first ligand to be identified for CD28, and later for CTLA-4 (41). In addition to its expression on activated B cells, B7-1 was also detected on a variety of APCs including dendritic cells, Langerhans cells, activated

monocytes, activated T cells, and a variety of tumor lines (Table 1). Both the human and murine B7-1 genes were cloned by Freeman et al (42, 43) and shown to be members of the immunoglobulin superfamily. The functional importance of the B7-1 molecule has been demonstrated in a number of studies of T cell activation. Both anti-CD3 and PMA-induced T cell proliferation was augmented by the addition of B7-1 transfectants. The proliferation was enhanced in a CD28-dependent fashion since T cell activation was blocked by anti-CD28 mAbs (44, 45). Furthermore, the potent costimulatory role of B7-1 has been demonstrated in vivo in transgenic mice in which B7-1 was ectopically expressed on the cells of the islets of Langerhans (46–48).

Despite the apparent ability of B7-1 to provide sufficient costimulation when expressed on transfectants or transgenic mice, it has been very difficult to demonstrate its function on normal antigen-presenting cells in mice. Anti-B7-1 mAbs minimally inhibit a primary mixed lymphocyte response, while hCTLA4Ig inhibits the response by as much as 80% (49). Additionally, the staining of either LPS-activated B cells or whole spleen with hCTLA4Ig was not inhibited by anti-B7-1 mAbs, suggesting that an additional CTLA-4 ligand existed (49–52). Finally, B7-1^{-/-} mice are capable of mounting an immune response to nominal antigens and antigen-presenting cells isolated from these mice could be stained with labeled hCTLA4Ig (53). These observations led to the identification and eventual cloning of a second B7 family member, B7-2 (54, 55).

The human B7-2 gene was cloned by Freeman et al (55) and Azuma et al (54). The overall structure of B7-2 was found to be very similar to B7-1 with an extracellular domain containing two Ig-like domains, a transmembrane domain, followed by a cytoplasmic tail (54, 55). The cytoplasmic tail contains three potential sites for protein kinase C phosphorylation, indicating a potential signaling role for this molecule. In fact, the B7-2 molecule is phosphorylated following B cell activation (L Lanier, unpublished observations). The murine homolog of B7-2 has also been cloned (56, 57). These genes share only 25% amino acid homology with their B7-1 counterparts. However, several areas of homology, centered around sequences required for the formation of the Ig domains and potential CD28/CTLA-4 binding sites, have been reported (56).

Similar to B7-1 transfectants, B7-2 transfectants augment T cell proliferation and IL-2 production to suboptimal stimulation with anti-CD3 or PMA. This costimulation was inhibited by either hCTLA4Ig or anti-CD28 Fab, but not by anti-B7-1 mAbs, demonstrating therefore that B7-2 binds to both CD28 and CTLA-4 (54–56). While anti-B7-1 mAbs have been inefficient in their ability to block primary allogeneic MLRs, in most cases, the anti-B7-2 mAbs inhibited the responses to levels similar to hCTLA4Ig (58–60). A combination of both

| | Stimulation | | | | | |
|--------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------|------------------|----------------|----------------|------------------|
| Cell type | Conditions | hB7-1 | hB7-2 | mB7-1 | mB7-2 | References |
| B cell | Resting | none | none | none | low | (42, 49, 54, 58) |
| | Cultured | _ ^a | 1 | - | 1 | (54, 58) |
| | LPS | \uparrow | \uparrow | 1 | 1 | (49, 54, 58, 60) |
| | Ig cross-linking ^c | \uparrow | \uparrow | - | 1 | (43, 58, 59) |
| | Anti-CD40 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | (54) |
| | IL-2 | \uparrow | NR ^b | NR | \uparrow | (71, 72) |
| | IL-4 | \uparrow | \uparrow | \uparrow | \uparrow | (71, 72) |
| | IL-5 | NR | NR | NR | 1 | (58) |
| | IFN- γ | NR | NR | NR | \uparrow | (72) |
| T cells | Resting | none | none | none | low | (54, 58, 63) |
| | Anti-CD3 | \uparrow | \uparrow | \uparrow | \uparrow | (54, 58, 112) |
| T cell clones | Resting | - | - | - | - | (54, 112, 114) |
| | Anti-CD3 | \uparrow | \uparrow | \uparrow | \downarrow | (54, 112, 114) |
| Peripheral blood | | | | | | |
| monocytes | Resting | low | high | none | NR | (42, 54) |
| | IFN- γ | 1 | \uparrow | 1 | NR | (42, 54, 68, 73) |
| | GM-CSF | 1 | 1 | NR | NR | (68) |
| | FcR cross-linking | \downarrow | \downarrow | NR | NR | (68) |
| Peritoneal | | | | | | |
| macrophages ^d | Freshly isolated | NR | NR | low | low | (58) |
| | LPS | NR | NR | 1 | 1 | (58) |
| | IFN- γ | NR | NR | \downarrow | 1 | (58) |
| | IFN- γ + IL-10 | NR | NT | ↓ ^e | ↓ ^e | (75, 115) |
| Peripheral blood | | | | | | |
| dendritic cell | Resting | low | high | low | low | (54) |
| | IL-10 | - | \downarrow | NR | NR | f |
| Splenic dendritic cells | Freshly isolated | NR | NR | low | low | (63) |
| | Cultured | NR | NR | 1 | 1 | (49, 63, 116) |
| | LPS | NR | NR | NR | - | (63) |
| Langerhans cells | Freshly isolated | none ^e | low ^e | none | low | (63, 117) |
| | Cultured | \uparrow | \uparrow | \uparrow | \uparrow | (63, 117) |

Table 1 Cellular distribution of human and mouse B7-1 and B7-2

^aNo change

^bNR = not reported

^dPeritonal macrophages were thioglycollate induced.

^eThese cells were stained with CTLA4Ig and therefore B7-1 and B7-2 cannot be differentiated.

^fC Buelens, F Willems, A Delvaux, G Pierard, J-P Delville, T Velu & M Goldman, personal communication.

^cThe cross-linking of surface Ig with antigen or anti-Ig did not induce B7-1. B7-1 was induced when surface Ig was highly cross-linked by Ig-dextran.

anti-B7-1 and anti-B7-2 mAbs were the most effective at inhibiting the MLR (61, 62). The role for both molecules in primary responses is further supported by the finding that a combination of anti-B7-1 and anti-B7-2 antibodies can induce anergy (61).

Resting B cells express no detectable B7-1 and very low levels of B7-2, while both B7-1 and B7-2 are upregulated following B cell activation with agents such as LPS, Con A, or cAMP (42, 49, 54, 58) (Table 1). However, dramatic differences exist in the kinetics and the signals that control B7-1 and B7-2 expression. The induction of B7-2 occurs within 6 h of stimulation, with maximal levels of expression achieved between 18 and 24 h (49, 58). In contrast, B7-1 expression is not detected until 24 h post stimulation and does not reach maximal levels until 48 to 72 h later (49, 58). Furthermore, activated B cells and dendritic cells expressed quantitatively higher levels of B7-2 than of B7-1, since hCTLA4Ig staining was almost completely inhibited by anti-B7-2 mAbs, while anti-B7-1 mAbs had little effect (49, 58, 63). Differences in expression were observed not only on B cells, but also on T cells. Freshly isolated human and murine T cells express low levels of B7-2 but not of B7-1 (54, 58, 63). Both B7-1 and B7-2 expression were upregulated following activation with anti-CD3 (54, 58). The regulation of B7-1 and B7-2 expression is controlled by cell-cell interactions and cytokines. Signals delivered through the cytoplasmic tail of the MHC class II molecules induced B7-1 expression on B cells (65, 66). Cells expressing tailless class II were profoundly deficient in their antigen presenting capacity, which correlated with a lack of B7-1 induction. Treatment of these cells with dibutyryl-cAMP restored their ability to present antigens by inducing B7-1 expression. The cross-linking of surface Ig also regulated B7-1 and B7-2 expression. B7-2 was rapidly induced on the B cell surface following crosslinking with anti-Ig or antigen (58, 59).

Following the engagement of antigen, the ability of surface Ig to rapidly induce functional B7-2 transforms a resting B cell into a fully competent antigen presenting cell (67). In contrast, BCR cross-linking with either anti-Ig or antigen did not induce detectable levels of B7-1, although IgD-coated beads resulted in some increased expression of B7-1 (43, 58). Together these results suggest that the degree of cross-linking determines whether or not B7-1 is upregulated. Interestingly, engagement of the Fc receptor downregulates both B7-1 and B7-2 on monocytes that have been activated with either IFN γ or GM-CSF (68). Thus, the engagement of distinct cell surface molecules may have antagonistic effects and may, in part, explain the inhibitory effect of Fc receptor cross-linking on B cell function. Finally, the CD40/CD40L pathway plays an important role in controlling B7-1 and B7-2 expression. Both B7-1 and B7-2 were induced by signaling through CD40, either through anti-CD40 mAbs or activated T cells that expressed the CD40 ligand (69, 70). Thus, a variety of cell surface glycoproteins on B cells can regulate B7-1 and B7-2 expression and APC function.

An additional level of control of B7-1 and B7-2 expression results from the influence of cytokines. A number of cytokines have been shown to differentially regulate B7-1 and B7-2 expression. IL-4 is one of the most potent inducers of B7-2 and, to a lesser extent, B7-1 on B cells (71, 72). Incubation of small resting B cells with IL-4 upregulates B7-2 expression within 6 h with maximal induction occurring by 24 h (72). IFN γ increases the expression of B7-2 on B cells, peritoneal macrophages, and peripheral blood monocytes (58, 68, 72). IFN γ also increases the expression of B7-1 on peripheral blood monocytes but, surprisingly, downregulates expression of B7-1 on peritoneal macrophages (58, 73). IL-10 blocks both B7-1 and B7-2 upregulation on peritoneal macrophages and downregulates B7-2, but not B7-1, on human dendritic cells (74, 75; C Buelens, F Willems, A Delvaux, G Pierard, J-P Delville, T Velu & M Goldman, personal communication). These results suggest that the immunosuppressive properties of IL-10 may, in part, be a result of its regulation of CD28/CTLA-4 ligands. Thus, the differences in the ability of the respective cytokines to regulate the levels and temporal expression of B7-1 and B7-2 both qualitatively and quantitatively may result in distinct effects during an immune response.

ROLE OF CD28/B7 IN T CELL-B CELL INTERACTIONS

In order for B cells to enter the cell cycle, produce Ig, and undergo Ig class switching or somatic hypermutation, it is necessary for them to receive the appropriate T cell help (76). Recent work has demonstrated that both CD28/B7 and CD40/CD40L signaling pathways play a critical role in B cell responses. However, the interactions of the CD28/B7 and CD40L/CD40 pathways are not well understood. Early studies showed that signaling through the CD28 receptor can increase the surface expression of CD40L (77, 78; SJ Klaus, J Rosser, EA Clark, personal communication). Furthermore, the activation of the T cells by cross-linking CD28 with either antibody or with B7-1 transfectants enhanced the production of IgG and IgM by B cells in vitro as compared to anti-CD3-stimulated T cells alone (77). However, signaling through the TCR alone was sufficient for CD40L upregulation, and hCTLA4Ig did not block CD40L expression or the ability of these antigen-activated T cells to provide B cell help (70, 78). These results are consistent with the idea that CD28 ligation is not required for CD40L induction, but, as reported, CD28 ligation stabilizes CD40L mRNA, allowing for more rapid translation and transport of CD40_L the T cell surface, and therefore results in increased B cell responses (78; SJ Klaus, J Rosser, EA Clark, personal communication).

The interrelationship between the CD28/B7 and CD40L/CD40 pathways also plays an important role in the ability of B cells to present antigen. While resting B cells express little if any B7-1 or B7-2, CD40 ligation induces their expression. B cells activated with anti-CD40 mAbs stimulated an allogeneic MLR more efficiently, and this stimulation was blocked by hCTLA4Ig. Further investigation revealed that CD40 cross-linking by mAbs, or the interaction of CD40 with its ligand CD40L, upregulated B7-1 and B7-2 (69). Incubation of resting B cells with activated T cells is another potent means of inducing B7-1 and B7-2 (70). In this system, B7-1 upregulation was inhibited by either anti-CD40 or by anti-CD40L mAbs consistent with the notion that CD40L/CD40 regulates B7-1 expression (70). On the other hand, the CD40L antagonist did not completely inhibit the ability of activated T cells to upregulate B7-2 (70). Therefore, other signals mediated by class II engagement or cytokines are involved in B7-2 regulation by activated T cells.

A TEMPORAL MODEL FOR THE REGULATION OF CD28/B7 FAMILY MEMBERS

Based on the studies summarized above, it is clear that the interactions of the CD28/B7 family members are highly regulated and quite complex. One model for the regulation of immune responses by CD28/B7 family is based on the kinetics of expression of the various CD28/B7 ligands and the ability of the B7-1, B7-2, CD28, and CTLA-4 molecules to cross-bind. First, B7-2 is rapidly induced on B cells through the engagement of surface Ig with antigen, cytokines produced by previously activated T cells, or CD40 cross-linking by activated T cells. Next, antigen-specific naive or activated CD28⁺ T cells can interact with the $B7-2^+$ B cells expressing a complete MHC/antigen complex. The simultaneous engagement of the TCR and the CD28 molecules results in the activation of the T cell and prevents the induction of anergy. Signals generated through the T cell receptor induce the expression of CD40L on naive cells, which is further stabilized by CD28 signals. The upregulation of CD40L then allows the T cell to provide the necessary B cell help for the production of antibodies. Concurrently, APCs upregulate B7-1 levels, via signaling through MHC class II, CD40, and perhaps lymphokines secreted by the activated T cells.

One to three days after this cellular interaction occurs, CTLA-4 is upregulated on T cells. Several interactions are possible at this time since the B cells express both B7-1 and B7-2, while the T cells express both CD28 and CTLA-4. Since CTLA-4 has a higher affinity for B7-1 and B7-2 than does CD28, these costimulatory ligands may preferentially interact with CTLA-4 on the activated T cells to downregulate the immune response either by directly inducing

244 LENSCHOW, WALUNAS & BLUESTONE

apoptosis or by competing with CD28 for its ligands and preventing the upregulation of protective factors such as $bcl-x_L$. Thus, under normal circumstances, the CD28/B7 system will serve to both upregulate and downregulate immune responses. Any disturbance in the CD28/B7 system may disregulate the immune response and affect the development and progression of the immune response.

IN VIVO REGULATION OF IMMUNE RESPONSE BY MANIPULATION OF THE CD28/B7 PATHWAY

Activation of Immune Responses

Both B7-1 and B7-2 costimulate T cells through their interaction with CD28. The expression of one of these ligands on a cell that lacks costimulatory molecules could convert a nonfunctional APC into a functional one. This may have important implications in upregulation of immune responses. In fact, CD28/B7-mediated costimulation has provided a new approach to cancer therapy, because the inability of some tumors to induce immune responses has, in some cases, been correlated with a deficiency in providing costimulatory signals. The introduction of B7-1 or B7-2 into tumor cells in several models enhances the anti-tumor response (79-86). In fact, in some studies, the immunization of mice with the B7-1-expressing tumor protected the animal from further challenge with nontransfected parental tumors (80-86). However, the transfection of B7-1 into tumor cells has not been uniformly successful in inducing tumor immunity. In one instance, a potent immune response was induced and the B7-1 transfected tumors were rejected, but these same tumors could not protect from further challenge with the parental tumor (79). Furthermore, the lack of an anti-tumor response did not always depend on a deficient costimulatory response. Several relatively nonimmunogenic tumors did not induce an immune response, even when cotransfected with both B7-1 and B7-2 (83, 85, 87). These results suggest that certain tumors may be lacking additional cell surface molecules needed for complete T cell activation. These additional factors may include the tumor antigen itself, MHC molecules, or other cell surface costimulators. In support of this possibility, cotransfection of one of the nonimmunogenic tumors with both B7-1 and ICAM-1 resulted in its immune recognition and rejection (86).

Studies have begun to compare the relative costimulatory activity of B7-1 and B7-2. The majority of studies in vitro and some tumor studies in vivo (87) suggested that B7-2 was as effective a costimulatory molecule as B7-1, recent experiments in which either B7-1 or B7-2 were transfected into tumors have suggested that B7-1 is a more potent costimulator in some tumor models (CJ Bartels, JC Yang, personal communication; T Gajewski, personal

communication). In another study, in which the animals were immunized with irradiated tumor cells, only the B7-1-transfected tumors were able to generate tumor-specific CTLs and subsequently to protect against tumor challenge (T Gajewski, personal communication). Interestingly, in both models, the combined expression of B7-1 and B7-2 on the tumor cells was less effective in stimulating an anti-tumor response than was expression of B7-1 alone. This may reflect a competition between B7-1 and B7-2 for binding to CD28. Alternatively, the addition of B7-2 to the transfectant may hyperstimulate the immune response to shut down T cells either directly, perhaps through its interaction with CTLA-4, or by increasing the potency of the T cell signals to promote Th2 responses that inhibit tumor immunity (see below).

Suppression of Immune Responses

In vitro studies have demonstrated that the CD28/B7 pathway is critical in T cell activation. The interruption of this pathway leads to an inhibition of T cell proliferation and, under some circumstances, induces either antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness or anergy (88, 89). Therefore, targeting this pathway in vivo may represent a novel method of immunosuppression in which only the antigen-specific T cells would be tolerized. To examine this possibility, several investigators have utilized hCTLA4Ig to interrupt the CD28 signaling pathway in several models including transplantation, autoimmune disease, antibody responses, and parasite challenge.

The importance of CD28/B7 interactions in vivo was first TRANSPLANTATION established in the transplant setting. CTLA4Ig treatment effectively prolonged graft survival and, in many cases, induced donor-specific tolerance. As an example, in a xenogeneic islet transplant model, diabetic mice transplanted with human islets and treated with CTLA4Ig exhibited long-term survival of the xenogeneic islets (90). Furthermore, this short treatment induced donorspecific tolerance. hCTLA4Ig-treated mice that were retransplanted with either donor or third party islets rejected only the third party islets. Human CTLA4Ig prolonged graft survival in both allogeneic rat cardiac and murine islet transplant models, but eventually all of the grafts were rejected (62, 91). Human CTLA4Ig treatment also reduced the lethality of allogeneic graft-vs-host disease (GVHD) across an MHC barrier but did not alleviate all of the symptoms of GVHD (92, 93). These results suggest that allogeneic transplantation may be more difficult to manipulate than the xenogeneic systems. However, recent efforts to augment the effectiveness of hCTLA4Ig have been successful. Pearson et al found that hCTLA4Ig treatment could induce donor-specific tolerance in a rat cardiac allograft model in certain strain combinations (94). In the studies performed by Turka and colleagues, changes in the dose regimen or the addition

246 LENSCHOW, WALUNAS & BLUESTONE

of donor-specific transfusions led to donor-specific tolerance (95, 96). Finally, the addition of other immunosuppressive drugs maximizes the hCTLA4Igmediated suppression. The blockade of CD28/B7 and LFA-1/ICAM-1 interactions was more effective than hCTLA4Ig alone at preventing GVH diseaseinduced lethality (BR Blazar, PA Taylor, A Panoskaltsis-Mortari, GS Gray, DA Vallera, personal communication). Treatment of mice with hCTLA4Ig and suboptimal doses of cyclosporin A (CsA) at the time of transplant resulted in graft survival beyond that of hCTLA4Ig alone and in some cases resulted in indefinite graft survival (97; Y Zeng, JA Bluestone, unpublished observations). The ability of hCTLA4Ig and CsA more effectively to block transplant rejection has important clinical implications because current transplant therapies utilize CsA. All in all, these studies demonstrated the effectiveness of interrupting the CD28/B7 signaling pathway in promoting transplant tolerance. These studies also suggest that the timing of the treatment or the strength of TCR signal may be important in determining the efficacy of hCTLA4Ig immunosuppression.

HUMORAL RESPONSES One immune response that has been profoundly inhibited by hCTLA4Ig therapy is the humoral immune response. Primary antibody responses to soluble proteins such as KLH or cell-bound antigens such as sheep red blood cells were inhibited by hCTLA4Ig in a dose-dependent fashion (98). Treatment with hCTLA4Ig could be delayed as long as 3 days following antigen priming and still suppress in vivo antibody production. Human CTLA4Ig therapy during the primary response also reduced secondary and tertiary responses to the nominal antigen. The amount of reduction correlated with the concentration of hCTLA4Ig used in the initial treatment, suggesting that the immunosuppression lasted only for the duration of circulating serum levels (98). However, anti-B7-2 mAb treatment not only blocked antibody production to antigenic challenge but also suppressed somatic hypermutation and had long-term effects on B cell memory responses (99). Therefore, the use of the more potent CD28 antagonists may be the most promising treatment in vivo.

Further evidence that CD28/B7 signaling plays an important role in antibody responses has come from the examination of CD28^{-/-} mice. Antibody production in these mice was severely impaired. Basal immunoglobulin levels are only 20% of that observed in normal mice. Furthermore, the relative proportions of the different IgG subclasses were altered. The serum of these animals contains dramatically decreased levels of IgG1 and IgG2b, while the levels of IgG2a were increased as compared to normal mice. B cell responsiveness in the CD28^{-/-} mice appeared to be intact since normal levels of anti-VSV Abs of the IgM class (a T-independent response) were produced in response to a primary challenge (31). However, the T cell help necessary for antibody class switching

following a second challenge was not intact in these mice. Transgenic mice expressing soluble murine CTLA4Ig displayed a phenotype very similar to that of $CD28^{-/-}$ mice. T-independent antibody responses were intact, but immune responses to T-dependent antigens were severely impaired (32, 33). Primary responses to DNP-KLH were eliminated. Only after two and three stimulations could reduced levels of antibodies be detected, and these were of the IgM, not the IgG isotype. This deficiency in T cell help was also evident by a lack of germinal center formation, isotype switching, and somatic hypermutation (32, 33) similar to what had been observed in the anti-B7-2–treated animals (99). Therefore, blockade of the CD28/B7 interactions, either from the CD28 side or the B7 side, results in a profound defect in the ability of B cells to respond to antigen in vivo.

AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES CTLA4Ig therapy has also had significant effects on the clinical course of several autoimmune diseases. We have shown that blockade of the CD28/B7 pathway has profound effects on the development of diabetes in the NOD mouse model. In these studies, hCTLA4Ig treatment of young NOD mice inhibited the onset of diabetes that occurred 6 to 18 weeks after treatment was stopped and the protein had been cleared from the serum (100). In a relapsing model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (R-EAE), hCTLA4Ig treatment during antigen priming blocked the development of clinical disease (101). This was also true in a T cell adoptive transfer model of R-EAE (102). In the murine model for systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), NZB/NZW F1 mice (B/W) spontaneously develop a lupus-like autoimmune disease characterized by the production of autoantibodies to self-molecules such as dsDNA (103). The treatment of these mice with murine CTLA4Ig prior to the detection of autoantibodies significantly inhibited autoantibody production and disease progression, even after cessation of treatment (104). Thus, blockade of CD28/B7 signaling can control early events involved in the induction of several different autoimmune diseases. However, most autoimmune diseases are diagnosed after initial responses to the autoantigen(s). Therefore, it was important to examine the effectiveness of these therapies on established disease. Treatment of the lupus-prone mice with murine CTLA4Ig during the late stages of the disease effectively intervened in disease progression and prevented the production of further autoantibodies (103). In addition, NOD mice treated with hCTLA4Ig after the onset of insulitis also had a reduced incidence of diabetes (100). Finally, relapses of clinical disease in R-EAE were inhibited by F(ab) fragments of anti-B7-1 mAbs when treatment was initiated after the resolution of the acute phase of disease (SD Miller, CL Vanderlugt, DJ Lenschow, MC Dal Canto, JA Bluestone, unpublished observations). Together, these data demonstrate an important role for CD28/B7 signaling in both the initiation and propagation of several autoimmune diseases.

DIFFERENTIAL EFFECTS OF B7-1 AND B7-2 LIGATION

It is becoming increasing clear that the B7-1 and B7-2 molecules may differentially control the immune response as a consequence of one or more of the distinctive properties of these costimulatory ligands. For instance, the expression of B7-1 and B7-2 varies on B cells, T cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells depending on the activation state of the cells (Table 1). An additional level of complexity involves the ability of cytokines to either induce or suppress the expression of these costimulatory ligands. Therefore, either B7-1 or B7-2 may dominate during different stages of the immune response. Furthermore, there are increasing data to suggest that these two molecules do not bind the CD28 and CTLA-4 molecules similarly (105). Both B7-1 and B7-2 bind to hCTLA4Ig with a 20-100-fold higher avidity than they do to CD28Ig. In addition, Linsley and colleagues showed that B7-1 has a slightly higher avidity for CD28 and CTLA-4 than does B7-2. More significantly, B7-2 dissociates more rapidly from hCTLA4Ig than does B7-1, and hCTLA4Ig was less effective at inhibiting B7-2-dependent responses (105). Finally, the fine specificity of the B7-1 and B7-2 interaction with hCTLA4Ig is different. Previous studies have shown that the region of CTLA-4 and CD28 that is the site of interaction with both B7-1 and B7-2 is a transmembrane proximal hexapeptide, MYPPPY, found in the region of greatest sequence homology between CD28 and CTLA-4. A hCTLA4Ig construct containing a single amino acid mutation in the MYPPPY motif showed reduced but still significant binding to B7-1. However, binding to B7-2 was completely abolished. Thus, amino acids within the CDR1 and CDR3 regions of the CTLA-4 molecule are responsible for the enhanced avidity of CTLA-4 for B7-1 (106). However, the precise interaction sites for B7-1 and B7-2 with CD28 and CTLA-4 may be distinct (105).

Recent studies, in vitro and in vivo, suggest that these differences may directly effect CD28-mediated costimulation. Kuchroo et al demonstrated that T cells from a myelin basic protein-specific TCR transgenic mouse secreted predominantly IFN- γ when cultured in the presence of anti-B7-2 mAbs, while cultures carried out in the presence of anti-B7-1 mAbs led to increased IL-4 secretion (107). Studies by Freeman et al also support an important role for B7-2 in the signaling of IL-4 production (108). While transfectants of B7-1 or B7-2 induced similar levels of IL-2 and IFN- γ , only B7-2 transfectants were able to induce IL-4. Continuous restimulation by the B7-2 transfectants resulted in the induction of greater amounts of IL-4 (108). Together, these results suggest that B7-1 and B7-2 may directly control Th1 vs Th2 development, respectively. In vivo studies also suggest that the B7-1 and B7-2 costimulatory ligands play distinct roles during the initiation and propagation of an immune response. Kuchroo and colleagues found that treatment with anti-B7-1 mAbs

during R-EAE induction protected mice from disease, while anti-B7-2 mAbs exacerbated disease severity (107). In this model, the investigators correlated the presence of a Th2 response with the protective therapy and suggested that the anti-B7-2 mAb therapy skewed the T cell response toward a Th1 phenotype. However, a number of other studies in vitro and in vivo have shown that B7-1 and B7-2 regulate both Th1- and Th2-mediated responses. First, two studies have shown that both B7-1 and B7-2 transfectants can provide costimulatory signals for both Th1 and Th2 lymphokine production (109, 110). Second, the primary immune response appears to be most dependent on B7-2 since B7- $1^{-/-}$ mice have relatively normal Th1- and Th2-dependent responses, while B7-2^{-/-} mice are severely compromised (A Sharpe, personal communication). Furthermore, in an allogeneic islet transplant model, anti-B7-2 but not anti-B7-1 mAbs prevented graft rejection. The combination of the two mAbs was most effective in prolonging allograft survival (62). Since graft rejection has been suggested to be Th1-mediated, B7-1 rather than B7-2 would have been expected to be dominant in this setting. Furthermore, the treatment of mice with anti-B7-2 mAbs during priming in vivo with antigen (a Th2-dependent immune response) inhibited the development of antibody responses (52, 99). Anti-B7-2 mAb treatment was also able to block disease progression in the NOD model for autoimmune diabetes (100). Thus, it appeared as if B7-2 played a dominant role as the costimulatory ligand for CD28 in transplantation, humoral responses, and initiation of autoimmune disease.

More recent studies have shown that B7-1 can regulate immune responses. especially following initial antigen exposure. Treatment of NOD mice with anti-B7-1 mAbs accelerated the disease course and exacerbated the inflammatory response in female mice treated at 2 to 4 weeks of age (100). Furthermore, anti-B7-1 treatment of normally resistant male mice developed disease at a rate and frequency similar to that observed in untreated female NOD mice (100). A similar exacerbation of disease was observed with anti-B7-1 mAbs in a murine R-EAE model (SD Miller, CL Vanderlugt, DJ Lenschow, MC Dal Canto, & JA Bluestone, unpublished observations). Treatment initiated after resolution of the acute phase of disease resulted in an increased rate of onset, frequency, and severity of the relapses. However, treatment with non-cross-linking F(ab) fragments of the anti-B7-1 mAbs immediately after the resolution of the acute phase of disease blocked both clinical relapses and epitope spreading in R-EAE. Two points can be made from these studies. First, the exacerbation caused by the intact anti-B7-1 mAb may be due to its direct signaling of either the APCs or activated T cells. This possibility has important implications for all the in vivo studies that utilize antibody therapy. Second, there appear to be distinct differences on the outcome of the mAb therapy depending on the temporal

250 LENSCHOW, WALUNAS & BLUESTONE

administration of the antibodies. The B7-2 molecule appears to play a critical role prior to antigen exposure (transplant setting and humoral responses), whereas B7-1 plays an important role in the control of the immune response after antigen exposure. One explanation for these differences may be our recent observation that B7-1 expression is preferentially upregulated during the acute phase of an autoimmune response (SD Miller, CL Vanderlugt, DJ Lenschow, MC Dal Canto, & JA Bluestone, unpublished observations). In fact, many of the in vivo effects of the CD28 antagonists can be explained by the timing of antibody therapy. The treatment of BALB/c mice with hCTLA4Ig during infection with L. major protected the normally susceptible strain from disease, by decreasing the production of IL-4, while the mice were no longer protected from disease by hCTLA4Ig if treatment was delayed by more than one week postinfection (34). The efficiency of hCTLA4Ig blockade of antibody responses was also decreased as treatment was delayed (98). Finally, in an allogeneic cardiac transplant model, delaying treatment with hCTLA4Ig by 2 to 3 days post-transplant resulted in long-term survival characterized by an inhibition of Th1 but not Th2 cytokines (96). Thus, a variety of factors, including the nature of the APC expressing the B7 molecules, the affinity of the B7 molecules for CD28 or CTLA-4, and the level of B7-1 and B7-2 expression, may determine the relative roles played by each ligand during an immune response. Furthermore, the timing of treatment with CD28 antagonists can influence the Th1 and Th2 subset development.

STRENGTH OF SIGNAL MODEL

Based on all of these observations, we propose a model of costimulation that integrates many of the observations related to TCR ligation, CD28 costimulation, and Th1/Th2 biology (Figure 1). The "strength-of-signal" hypothesis suggests that the intensity of T cell signaling not only determines the potential to initiate a response but can dramatically affect the balance of Th1/Th2 subsets. We speculate that CD28 costimulation can have distinct effects on the immune response depending on antigen dose, APC function, cytokine milieu, and level of costimulation. Under conditions of low antigen density, CD28 ligation is essential since anti-B7 mAbs and hCTLA4Ig therapy or genetic disruption of the CD28 molecule results in a diminished ability to generate a productive primary T cell response and severely suppresses T-dependent humoral responses. Under these, perhaps physiological, conditions, stimulation of primary T cell responses is largely dependent on B7-2-mediated costimulation. At early time points in the immune response, B7-2 is expressed constitutively on dendritic cells and functions to regulate both Th1 and Th2 responses. As the immune response progresses, both B7-1 and B7-2 are upregulated, resulting in increased



Figure 1 The strength-of-signal model.

costimulatory signals and an increased strength-of-signal that promotes T cell expansion and cytokine production and may skew the T cell response toward the Th2 phenotype. Thus, any reagent or situation that reduces costimulation during this response reduces the strength-of-signal, promoting Th1 responses. For example, the treatment of BALB/c mice with hCTLA4Ig during infection with *L. major* protected the normally susceptible strain from disease by decreasing the amount of IL-4 being produced (34). Blockade of CD28 signaling also inhibited the production of an IL-4 response to *H. polygyrus* and decreased humoral responses (35, 52, 98, 99). Finally, the effect of anti-B7-2 mAbs observed by Kuchroo et al may reflect the blockade of initial costimulation during the induction of R-EAE, thus skewing the response to the disease promoting Th1 phenotype (107).

Finally, high levels of costimulation coupled with high TCR occupancy may, in fact, downregulate immune responses. This effect may occur due to the extensive signaling via the TCR and CD28, as has been suggested as an explanation for "high zone tolerance" or "clonal exhaustion." Alternatively, hyperstimulation may substantially upregulate CTLA-4 on the activated T cells. Since the ligation of CTLA-4 inhibits immune responses, the interactions of CTLA-4 with either B7-1 or B7-2 may further amplify the suppression observed under these conditions. In this regard, in some tumor models the expression of both B7-1 and B7-2 on a tumor is less effective at inducing an immune response than is a tumor on which is expressed one or the other (T Gajewski, personal communication; CJ Bartels, & JC Yang, personal communication). Furthermore, transgenic mice expressing high levels of B7-1 on their B cells are profoundly deficient in their ability to receive T cell help for antibody production (111). Therefore, the careful manipulation of the CD28/B7 signaling pathway may dramatically impact the course of an immune response.

CONCLUSION

The studies summarized in this review demonstrate the importance of the CD28/B7 signaling pathway and also begin to illustrate its complexities. First, CD28 functions by costimulating T cells and preventing the induction of either anergy or apoptosis. Second, a CD28 homologue, CTLA-4, counterbalances CD28 by downregulating the immune response either by competing with CD28 for its ligands or by inducing apoptosis. Third, two distinct molecules B7-1 and B7-2 function as costimulatory ligands for CD28 and CTLA-4. While B7-2 dominates in primary responses, the roles of B7-1 and B7-2 during an ongoing response depend upon: the relative expression of CD28/CTLA-4; the nature and concentration of cytokines in the surrounding milieu; and the characteristics of the APC that are encountered. Finally, manipulation of the CD28/B7 pathway can alter the balance of the immune response by influencing the nature of the cytokines produced in response to antigen exposure. A better understanding of the consequences of regulation of the CD28/B7 costimulatory interactions will offer new insights into important elements controlling the immune response and allow for the development of novel immunotherapies for cancer, transplantation, and autoimmune disease.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Drs. Frank Fitch, Craig Thompson, and Jim Miller for helpful discussions during the course of these studies. In addition, we thank the many investigators who provided unpublished results for inclusion in this review. Finally, the studies from our laboratory were supported by AI35294, CA14599, and Repligen Corporation. DJL has been supported by the University of Chicago Molecular Cell and Biology Training Grant, and TLW has been supported by the University of Chicago Cardiology Training Grant.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Bretscher P, Cohn M. 1970. A theory of self-nonself discrimination. *Science* 169:1042–49
- Lafferty KJ, Gill RG. 1993. The maintenance of self-tolerance. *Immunol. Cell. Biol.* 71:209–14
- 3. Liu Y, Linsley PS. 1992. Costimulation

of T-cell growth. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 4:265–70

- June CH, Bluestone JA, Nadler LM, Thompson CB. 1994. The B7 and CD28 receptor families. *Immunol. Today* 15:321–31
- 5. Linsley PS, Ledbetter JA. 1993. The role

of the CD28 receptor during T cell responses to antigen. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 11:191–212

- June CH, Ledbetter JA, Linsley PS, Thompson CB. 1990. Role of the CD28 receptor in T-cell activation. *Immunol. Today* 11:211–16
- Gross JA, St. John T, Allison JP. 1990. The murine homologue of the T lymphocyte antigen CD28. Molecular cloning and cell surface expression. J. Immunol. 144:3201–10
- Gross JA, Callas E, Allison JP. 1992. Identification and distribution of the costimulatory receptor CD28 in the mouse. J. Immunol. 149:380–88
- Turka LA, Ledbetter JA, Lee K, June CH, Thompson CB. 1990. CD28 is an inducible T cell surface antigen that transduces a proliferative signal in CD3⁺ mature thymocytes. *J. Immunol.* 144:1646– 53
- Linsley PS, Bradshaw J, Urnes M, Grosmaire L, Ledbetter JA. 1993. CD28 engagement by B7/BB-1 induces transient down-regulation of CD28 synthesis and prolonged unresponsiveness to CD28 signaling. J. Immunol. 150:3161–69
- Linsley PS, Greene JL, Tan P, Bradshaw J, Ledbetter JA, Anasetti C, Damle NK. 1992. Coexpression and functional cooperation of CTLA-4 and CD28 on activated T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 176:1595– 604
- Brunet JF, Denizot F, Luciani MF, Roux-Dosseto M, Suzan M, Mattei MG, Golstein P. 1987. A new member of the immunoglobulin superfamily—CTLA-4. *Nature* 328:267–70
- Freeman GJ, Lombard DB, Gimmi CD, Brod SA, Lee K, Laning JC, Hafler DA, Dorf ME, Gray GS, Reiser H. 1992. CTLA-4 and CD28 mRNA are coexpressed in most T cells after activation. Expression of CTLA-4 and CD28 mRNA does not correlate with the pattern of lymphokine production. J. Immunol. 149:3795–801
- Walunas TL, Lenschow DJ, Bakker CY, Linsley PS, Freeman GJ, Green JM, Thompson CB, Bluestone JA. 1994.
 CTLA-4 can function as a negative regulator of T cell activation. *Immunity* 1:405– 13
- Lindsten T, Lee KP, Harris ES, Petryniak B, Craighead N, Reynolds PJ, Lombard DB, Freeman GJ, Nadler LM, Gray GS. 1993. Characterization of CTLA-4 structure and expression on human T cells. J. Immunol. 151:3489–99

- Damle NK, Klussman K, Leytze, G, Myrdal S, Aruffo A, Ledbetter JA, Linsley PS. 1994. Costimulation of T lymphocytes with integrin ligands intercellular adhesion molecule-1 or vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 induces functional expression of CTLA-4, a second receptor for B7. J. Immunol. 152:2686–97
- Balzano C, Buonavista N, Rouvier E, Golstein P. 1992. CTLA-4 and CD28: similar proteins, neighbouring genes. *Int. J. Cancer Suppl.* 7:28–32
- Lesslauer W, Gmunder H. 1986. Biochemical characterization of the 9.3 antigens of human T-cells: simultaneous expression of disulfide-bonded 90kilodalton dimers and free subunits at the cell surface. *Mol. Immunol.* 23:271 -78
- Harper K, Balzano C, Rouvier E, Matti MG, Luciani MF, Golstein P. 1991. CTLA-4 and CD28 activated lymphocyte molecules are closely related in both mouse and human as to sequence, message expression, gene structure, and chromosomal location. *J. Immunol.* 147:1037– 44
- Lucas PJ, Negishi I, Nakayama K, Fields LE, Loh DY. 1995. Naive CD28-deficient T cells can initiate but not sustain an in vitro antigen-specific immune response. J. Immunol. 154:5757–68
- Green JM, Noel PJ, Sperling AI, Walunas TL, Gray GS, Bluestone JA, Thompson CB. 1994. Absence of B7-dependent responses in CD28-deficient mice. *Immunity* 1:501–8
- Nakayama K-I, Nakayama K, Negishi I, Kuida K, Shinkai Y, Louie MC, Fields LE, Lucas PJ, Stewart V, Alt FW, Loh DY. 1993. Disappearance of the lymphoid system in Bcl-2 homozygous mutant chimeric mice. *Science* 261:1584 –88
- Hockenbery D, Nunez G, Milliman C, Schreiber RD, Korsmeyer SJ. 1990. Bcl-2 is an inner mitochondrial membrane protein that blocks programmed cell death. *Nature* 348:334–36
- Boise LH, Gonzalez-Garcia M, Postema CE, Ding L, Lindsten T, Turka LA, Nunez G, Thompson CB. 1993. bcl-x, a bcl-2related gene that functions as a dominant regulator of apoptosis cell death. *Cell* 74(4):597–608
- Boise LH, Minn AJ, Noel PJ, June CH, Accavitti M, Lindsten T, Thompson CB. 1995. CD28 costimulation can promote T cell survival by enhancing the expression of Bcl-x_L. *Immunity* 3:87–98

- McArthur JG, Raulet DH. 1993. CD28induced costimulation of T helper type 2 cells mediated by induction of responsiveness to interleukin 4. J. Exp. Med. 178:1645–53
- Thompson CB, Lindsten T, Ledbetter JA, Kunkel SL, Young HA, Emerson SG, Leiden JM, June CH. 1989. CD28 activation pathway regulates the production of multiple T-cell-derived lymphokines/cytokines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 86:1333–37
- Seder RA, Germain RN, Linsley PS, Paul WE. 1994. CD28-mediated costimulation of interleukin 2 (IL-2) production plays a critical role in T cell priming for IL-4 and interferon gamma production. J. Exp. Med. 179:299–304
- King CL, Stupi RJ, Craighead N, June CH, Thyphronitis G. 1995. CD28 activation promotes Th2 subset differentiation by human CD4⁺ cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:587–95
- van der Pouw-Kraan T, Van Kooten C, Rensink I, Aarden L. 1992. Interleukin (IL)-4 production by human T cells: differential regulation of IL-4 vs. IL-2 production. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 22:1237–41
- Shahinian A, Pfeffer K, Lee KP, Kundig TM, Kishihara K, Wakeham A, Kawai K, Ohashi PS, Thompson CB, Mak TW. 1993. Differential T cell costimulatory requirements in CD28-deficient mice. *Science* 261:609–12
- Lane P, Bur det C, Hubele S, Scheidegger D, Muller U, McConnell F, Kosco-Vilbois M. 1994. B cell function in mice transgenic for mCTLA4-Hγ 1: lack of germinal centers correlated with poor affinity maturation and class switching despite normal priming of CD4⁺ T cells. J. Exp. Med. 179:819–30
- Ronchese F, Hausmann B, Hubele S, Lane P. 1994. Mice transgenic for a soluble form of murine CTLA-4 show enhanced expansion of antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells and defective antibody production in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 179:809–17
- Corry DB, Reiner SL, Linsley PS, Locksley RM. 1994. Differential effects of blockade of CD28-B7 on the development of Th1 or Th2 effector cells in experimental leishmaniasis. J. Immunol. 153:4142– 48
- 35. Lu P, di Zhou X, Chen S-J, Moorman M, Morris SC, Finkelman FD, Linsley P, Urban JF, Gause WC. 1994. CTLA-4 ligands are required to induce an in vivo interleukin 4 response to a gastrointestinal nematode parasite. J. Exp. Med. 180:693–98

- Krummel MF, Allison JP. 1995. CD28 and CTLA-4 deliver opposing signals which regulate the response of T cells to stimulation. J. Exp. Med. 182:459–466
- Kearney ER, Pape KA, Loh DY, Jenkins MK. 1994. Visualization of peptidespecific T cell immunity and peripheral tolerance induction in vivo. *Immunity* 1:327–39
- Kearney ER, Walunas TL, Karr RW, Morton PA, Loh DY, Bluestone JA, Jenkins MK. 1995. Antigen-dependent clonal expansion of a trace population of antigenspecific CD4⁺ T cells in vivo is dependent on CD28 costimulation and inhibited by CT LA-4. J. Immunol. 155:1032–36
- Gribben JG, Freeman GJ, Boussiotis VA, Rennert P, Jellis CL, Greenfield E, Barber M, Restivo VA Jr, Ke X, Gray GS. 1995. CTLA4 mediates antigen-specific apoptosis of human T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:811–15
- Yokochi T, Holly RD, Clark EA. 1982. B lymphoblast antigen (BB-1) expressed on Epstein-Barr virus-activated B cell blasts, B lymphoblastoid cell lines, and Burkitt's lymphomas. J. Immunol. 128:823–27
- Linsley PS, Clark EA, Ledbetter JA. 1990. T-cell antigen CD28 mediates adhesion with B cells by interacting with activation antigen B7/BB-1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87:5031–35
- 42. Freeman GJ, Gray GS, Gimmi CD, Lombard DB, Zhou LJ, White M, Fingeroth JD, Gribben JG, Nadler LM. 1991. Structure, expression, and T cell costimulatory activity of the murine homologue of the human B lymphocyte activation antigen B7. J. Exp. Med. 174:625–31
- 43. Freeman GJ, Freedman AS, Segil JM, Lee G, Whitman JF, Nadler LM. 1989. B7, a new member of the Ig superfamily with unique expression on activated and neoplastic B cells. J. Immunol. 143:2714–22
- 44. Linsley PS, Brady W, Grosmaire L, Aruffo A, Damle NK, Ledbetter JA. 1991. Binding of the B cell activation antigen B7 to CD28 costimulates T cell proliferation and interleukin 2 mRNA accumulation. J. Exp. Med. 173:721–30
- 45. Gimmi CD, Freeman GJ, Gribben JG, Sugita K, Freedman AS, Morimoto C, Nadler LM. 1991. B-cell surface antigen B7 provides a costimulatory signal that induces T cells to proliferate and secrete interleukin 2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88:6575–79
- Harlan DM, Hengartner H, Huang ML, Kang YH, Abe R, Moreadith RW, Pircher H, Gray GS, Ohashi PS, Freeman GJ.

1994. Mice expressing both B7-1 and viral glycoprotein on pancreatic beta cells along with glycoprotein-specific transgenic T cells develop diabetes due to a breakdown of T-lymphocyte unresponsiveness. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:3137–41

- 47. Guerder S, Picarella DE Linsley PS Flavell, RA. 1994. Costimulator B7-1 confers antigen-presenting-cell function to parenchymal tissue and in conjunction with tumor necrosis factor alpha leads to autoimmunity in transgenic mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:5138–42
- 48. Guerder S, Meyerhoff J, Flavell R. 1994. The role of the T cell costimulator B7-1 in autoimmunity and the induction and maintenance of tolerance to peripheral antigen. *Immunity* 1:155–66
- Lenschow DJ, Su GH-T, Zuckerman LA, Nabavi N, Jellis CL, Gray GS, Miller J, Bluestone JA. 1993. Expression and functional significance of an additional ligand for CTLA-4. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:11054–58
- Wu Y, Guo Y, Liu Y. 1993. A major costimulatory molecule on antigenpresenting cells, CTLA4 ligand A, is distinct from B7. J. Exp. Med. 178:1789–93
- Razi-Wolf Z, Galvin F, Gray G, Reiser H. 1993. Evidence for an additional ligand, distinct from B7, for the CTLA-4 receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:11182–86
- Hathcock KS, Laszlo G, Dickler HB, Bradshaw J, Linsley P, Hodes RJ. 1993. Identification of an alternative CTLA-4 ligand costimulatory for T cell activation. *Science* 262:905–7
- Freeman GJ, Borriello F, Hodes RJ, Reiser H, Hathcock KS, Laszlo G, McKnight AJ, Kim J, Du L, Lombard DB, Gray GS, Nadler LM, Sharpe AH. 1993. Uncovering of functional alternative CTLA-4 counter-receptor in B7-deficient mice. *Science* 262:907–9
- Azuma M, Ito D, Yagita H, Okumura K, Phillips JH, Lanier LL, Somoza C. 1993. B70 antigen is a second ligand for CTLA-4 and CD28. *Nature* 366:76–79
- Freeman GJ, Gribben JG, Boussiotis VA, Ng JW, Restivo VA Jr, Lombard LA, Gray GS, Nadler LM. 1993. Cloning of B7–2: a CTLA-4 counter-receptor that costimulates human T cell proliferation. *Science* 262:909–11
- Freeman GJ, Borriello F, Hodes RJ, Reiser H, Gribben JG, Ng JW, Kim J, Goldberg JM, Hathcock K, Laszlo G, Lombard LA, Wang S, Gray GS, Nadler LM, Sharpe AH. 1993. Murine B7-2, an alternative

CTLA4 counter-receptor that costimulates T cell proliferation and interleukin 2 production. J. Exp. Med. 178:2185–92

- Chen C, Gault A, Shen L, Nabavi N. 1994. Molecular cloning and expression of early T cell costimulatory molecule-1 and its characterization as B7-2 molecule. J. Immunol. 152:4929–36
- Hathcock KS, Laszlo G, Pucillo C, Linsley P, Hodes RJ. 1994. Comparative analysis of B7-1 and B7-2 costimulatory ligands: expression and function. J. Exp. Med. 180:631–40
- Lenschow DJ, Sperling AI, Cooke MP, Freeman G, Rhee L, Decker DC, Gray G, Nadler LM, Goodnow CC, Bluestone JA. 1994. Differential up-regulation of the B7-1 and B7-2 costimulatory molecules after Ig receptor engagement by antigen. J. Immunol. 153:1990–97
- Chen C, Faherty DA, Gault A, Connaughton SE, Powers GD, Godfrey DI, Nabavi N. 1994. Monoclonal antibody 2D10 recognizes a novel T cell costimulatory molecule on activated murine B lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 152:2105–14
- Chen C, Nabavi N. 1994. In vitro induction of T cell anergy by blocking B7 and early T cell costimulatory molecule ETC-1/B7-2. *Immunity* 1:147–54
- 62. Lenschow DJ, Zeng Y, Hathcock KS, Zuckerman LA, Freeman G, Thistlethwaite JR, Gray GS, Hodes RJ, Bluestone JA. 1995. Inhibition of transplant rejection following treatment with anti-B7-2 and anti-B7-1 antibodies. *Transplantation* In press
- 63. Inaba K, Witmer-Pack M, Inaba M, Hathcock KS, Sakuta H, Azuma M, Yagita H, Okumura K, Linsley PS, Ikehara S. 1994. The tissue distribution of the B7-2 costimulator in mice: abundant expression on dendritic cells in situ and during maturation in vitro. J. Exp. Med. 180:1849–60
- 64. Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. 1995. Loss of CTZA-Y leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multi-organ tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-Y. *Immunity*, In press
- Nabavi N, Freeman GJ, Gault A, Godfrey D, Nadler LM, Glimcher LH. 1992. Signaling through the MHC class II cytoplasmic domain is required for antigen presentation and induces B7 expression. *Nature* 360:266–68
- Watts TH, Alaverdi N, Wade WF, Linsley PS. 1993. Induction of costimulatory molecule B7 in M12 B lymphomas by

cAMP or MHC-restricted T cell interaction. J. Immunol. 150:2192–202

- Ho WY, Cooke MP, Goodnow CC, Davis MM. 1995. Resting and anergic B cells are defective in CD28-dependent costimulation of naive CD4⁺ T cells. J. Exp. Med. 179:1539–49
- Barcy S, Wettendorff M, Leo O, Urbain J, Kruger M, Ceuppens JL, de Boer M. 1995. FcR cross-linking on monocytes results in impaired T cell stimulatory capacity. *Int. Immunol*.7:179–89
- Ranheim EA, Kipps TJ. 1993. Activated T cells induce expression of B7/BB1 on normal or leukemic B cells through a CD40dependent signal. *J. Exp. Med.* 177:925
- Roy M, Aruffo A, Ledbetter J, Linsley P, Kehry M, Noelle R. 1995. Studies on the interdependence of gp39 and B7 expression and function during antigenspecific immune responses. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:596–603
- Valle A, Aubry JP, Durand I, Banchereau J. 1991. IL-4 and IL-2 upregulate the expression of antigen B7, the B cell counterstructure to T cell CD28: an amplification mechanism for T-B cell interactions. *Int. Immunol.* 3:229–35
- Stack RM, Lenschow DJ, Gray GS, Bluestone JA, Fitch FW. 1994. IL-4 treatment of small splenic B cells induces costimulatory molecules B7-1 and B7-2. J. Immunol. 152:5723–33
- Freedman AS, Freeman GJ, Rhynhart K, Nadler LM. 1991. Selective induction of B7/BB-1 on interferon-gamma stimulated monocytes: a potential mechanism for amplification of T cell activation through the CD28 pathway. *Cell. Immunol.* 137:429–37
 Bulens C, Willems F, Delvaux A, Piérard
- Bulens C, Willems F, Delvaux A, Piérard G, Delville J-P, Velu T, Goldman M. 1995. Interleukin-10 differentially regulates B7-1(CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) expression on human peripheral blood dendritic cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:2421–2726
- Willems F, Marchant A, Delville JP, Gerard C, Delvaux A, Velu T, de Boer M, Goldman M. 1994. Interleukin-10 inhibits B7 and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression on human monocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:1007–9
- Durie FH, Foy TM, Masters SR, Laman JD, Noelle RJ. 1994. The role of CD40 in the regulation of humoral and cell-mediated immunity. *Immunol. Today* 15:406–11
- de Boer M, Kasran A, Kwekkeboom J, Walter H, Vandenberghe P, Ceuppens JL. 1993. Ligation of B7 with CD28/CTLA-4

on T cells results in CD40 ligand expression, interleukin-4 secretion and efficient help for antibody production by B cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:3120–25

- Klaus SJ, Pinchuk LM, Ochs HD, Law CL, Fanslow WC, Armitage RJ, Clark EA. 1994. Costimulation through CD28 enhances T cell-dependent B cell activation via CD40-CD40L interaction. J. Immunol. 152:5643–52
- 79. Ramarathinam L, Castle M, Wu Y, Liu Y. 1994. T cell costimulation by B7/BB1 induces CD8 T cell-dependent tumor rejection: an important role of B7/BB1 in the induction, recruitment, and effector function of antitumor T cells. J. Exp. Med. 179:1205–14
- Chen L, Ashe S, Brady WA, Hellström I, Hellström KE, Ledbetter JA, McGowan P, Linsley PS. 1992. Costimulation of antitumor immunity by the B7 counterreceptor for the Tlymphocyte molecules CD28 and CTLA-4. *Cell* 71:1093–102
- Townsend SE, Allison JP. 1993. Tumor rejection after direct costimulation of CD8⁺ T cells by B7-transfected melanoma cells. *Science* 259:368–70
- Baskar S, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Nabavi N, Nadler LM, Freeman GJ, Glimcher LH. 1993. Constitutive expression of B7 restores immunogenicity of tumor cells expressing truncated major histocompatibility complex class II molecules. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:5687–90
- Chen L, McGowan P, Ashe S, Johnston J, Li Y, Hellstrom I, Hellstrom KE. 1994. Tumor immunogenicity determines the effect of B7 costimulation on T cellmediated tumor immunity. *J. Exp. Med.* 179:523–32
- 84. Li Y, McGowan P, Hellstrom I, Hellstrom KE, Chen L. 1994. Costimulation of tumor-reactive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes by B7, a natural ligand for CD28, can be used to treat established mouse melanoma. J. Immunol. 153:421–28
- Townsend SE, Su FW, Atherton JM, Allison JP. 1994. Specificity and longevity of antitumor immune responses induced by B7-transfected tumors. *Cancer Res.* 54:6477–83
- 86. Cavallo F, Martin-Fontecha A, Bellone M, Heltai S, Gatti E, Tornaghi P, Freschi M, Forni G, Dellabona P, Casorati G. 1995. Co-expression of B7-1 and ICAM-1 on tumors is required for rejection and the establishment of a memory response. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:1154–62
- Yang G, Hellstrom KE, Hellstrom I, Chen L. 1995. Antitumor immunity elicited by

tumor cells transfected with B7-2, a second ligand for CD28/CTLA-4 costimulatory molecules. *J. Immunol.* 154:2794– 800

- Harding FA, McArthur JG, Gross JA, Raulet DH, Allison JP. 1992. CD28mediated signaling co-stimulates murine T cells and prevents induction of anergy in T cell clones. *Nature* 356:607–10
- Tan P, Anasetti C, Hansen JA, Melrose J, Brunvand M, Bradshaw J, Ledbetter JA, Linsley PS. 1993. Induction of alloantigen-specific hyporesponsiveness in human T lymphocytes by blocking interaction of CD28 with its natural ligand B7/BB1. J. Exp. Med. 177:165–73
- Lenschow DJ, Zeng Y, Thistlethwaite JR, Montag A, Brady W, Gibson MG, Linsley PS, Bluestone JA. 1992. Long-term survival of xenogeneic pancreatic islet grafts induced by CTLA4Ig. *Science* 257:789– 92
- Turka LA, Linsley PS, Lin H, Brady W, Leiden JM, Wei RQ, Gibson ML, Zheng XG, Myrdal S, Gordon D. 1992. T-cell activation by the CD28 ligand B7 is required for cardiac allograft rejection in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:11102–5
- 92. Blazar BR, Taylor PA, Linsley PS, Vallera DA. 1994. In vivo blockade of CD28/CTLA4: B7/BB1 interaction with CTLA4-Ig reduces lethal murine graftversus-host disease across the major histocompatibility complex barrier in mice. *Blood* 83:3815–25
- Wallace PM, Johnson JS, MacMaster JF, Kennedy KA, Gladstone P, Linsley PS. 1994. CTLA4Ig treatment ameliorates the lethality of murine graft-versus-host disease across major histocompatibility complex barriers. *Transplantation* 58:602 –10
- Pearson TC, Alexander DZ, Winn KJ, Linsley PS, Lowry RP, Larsen CP. 1994. Transplantation tolerance induced by CTLA4-Ig. *Transplantation* 57:1701–6
- Lin H, Bolling SF, Linsley PS, Wei R-Q, Gordon D, Thompson CB, Turka LA. 1993. Long-term acceptance of major histocompatibility complex mismatched cardiac allografis induced by CTLA4Ig plus donor-specific transfusion. J. Exp. Med. 178:1801–6
- 96. Sayegh MH, Akalin E, Hancock WW, Russell ME, Carpenter CB, Linsley PS, Turka LA. 1995. CD28-B7 blockade after alloantigenic challenge in vivo inhibits Th1 cytokines but spares Th2. J. Exp. Med. 181:1869–74
- 97. Perico N, Imberti O, Bontempelli M, Re-

muzzi G. 1995. Toward novel antirejection strategies: in vivo immunosuppressive properties of CTLA4Ig. *Kidney Int.* 47:241–46

- Linsley PS, Wallace PM, Johnson J, Gibson MG, Greene J, Ledbetter JA, Singh C, Tepper MA. 1992. Immunosuppression in vivo by a soluble form of the CTLA-4 T cell activation molecule. *Science* 257:792–95
- Han S, Hathcock K, Zheng B, Kepler TB, Hodes R, Kelsoe G. 1995. Cellular interaction in germinal centers: roles of CD40 ligand and B7-2 in established germinal centers. J. Immunol. 155:556–67
- 100. Lenschow DJ, Ho SC, Sattar H, Rhee L, Gray G, Nabavi N, Herold KC, Bluestone JA. 1995. Differential effects of anti-B7-1 and anti-B7-2 monoclonal antibody treatment on the development of diabetes in the nonobese diabetic mouse. J. Exp. Med. 181:1145–55
- 101. Cross AH, Girard TJ, Giacoletto KS, Evans RJ, Keeling RM, Lin RF, Trotter JL, Karr RW. 1995. Long-term inhibition of murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis using CTLA-4-Fc supports a key role for CD28 costimulation. J. Clin. Invest. 95:2783–89
- 102. Perrin PJ, Scott D, Quigley L, Albert PS, Feder O, Gray GS, Abe R, June CH, Racke MK. 1995. Role of B7:CD28/CTLA-4 in the induction of chronic relapsing experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. J. Immunol. 154:1481–90
- Finck BK, Linsley PS, Wofsy D. 1994. Treatment of murine lupus with CTLA4Ig. *Science* 265:1225–27
- Nishikawa K, Linsley PS, Collins AB, Stamenkovic I, McCluskey RT, Andres G. 1994. Effect of CTLA-4 chimeric protein on rat autoimmune anti-glomerular basement membrane glomerulonephritis. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:1249–54
- Linsley PS, Greene JL, Brady W, Bajorath J, Ledbetter JA, Peach R. 1994. Human B7-1 (CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) bind with similar avidities but distinct kinetics to CD28 and CTLA-4 receptors. *Immunity* 1:793–801
- 106. Peach RJ, Bajorath J, Brady W, Leytze G, Greene J, Naemura J, Linsley PS. 1994. Complementarity determining region 1 (CDR1)- and CDR3-analogous regions in CTLA-4 and CD28 determine the binding to B7-1. J. Exp. Med. 180:2049–58
- Kuchroo VK, Das MP, Brown JA, Ranger AM, Zamvil SS, Sobel RA, Weiner HL, Nabavi N, Glimcher LH. 1995. B7-1 and B7-2 costimulatory molecules acti-

vate differentially the Th1/Th2 developmental pathways: application to autoimmune disease therapy. *Cell* 80:707–18

- Freeman GJ, Boussiotis VA, Anumanthan A, Bernstein GM, Ke X-Y, Rennert PD, Gray GS, Gribben JG, Nadler LM. 1995. B7-1 and B7-2 do not deliver identical costimulatory signals, since B7-2 but not B7-1 preferentially costimulates the initial production of IL-4. *Immunity* 2:523– 32
- 109. Lanier LL, O'Fallon S, Somoza C, Phillips JH, Linsley PS, Okumura K, Ito D, Azuma M. 1995. CD80 (B7) and CD86 (B70) provide similar costimulatory signals for T cell proliferation, cytokine production, and generation of CTL. J. Immunol. 154:97–105
- 110. Levine BL, Ueda Y, Craighead N, Huang ML, June CH. 1995. CD28 ligands CD80 (B7-1) and CD86 (B7-2) induce long term autocrine growth of CD4⁺ T cells and induce similar patterns of cytokine secretion in vitro. *Int. Immunol.* In press
- 111. Sethna MP, van Parijs L, Sharpe AH, Abbas AK, Freeman GJ. 1994. A negative regulatory function of B7 revealed in B7-1 transgenic mice. *Immunity* 1:415–21
- 112. Azuma M, Cayabyab M, Buck D, Phillips

JH, Lanier LL. 1992. CD28 interaction with B7 costimulates primary allogeneic proliferative responses and cytotoxicity mediated by small, resting T1ymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* 175:353–60

- 113. Freedman AS, Freeman GJ, Horowitz JC, Daley J, Nadler LM. 1987. B7, a B cellrestricted antigen that identifies preactivated B cells. *J. Immunol.* 141:3260–67
- 114. Prabhu Das MR, Zamvil SS, Borriello F, Weiner HL, Sharpe AH, Kuchroo VK. 1995. Reciprocal expression of costimulatory molecules, B7-1 and B7-2, on murine T cells following activation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:207–11
- 115. Ding L, Linsley PS, Huang LY, Germain RN, Shevach EM. 1993. IL-10 inhibits macrophage costimulatory activity by selectively inhibiting upregulation of B7 expression. J. Immunol. 151:1224–34
- 116. Larsen CP, Ritchie SC, Pearson TC, Linsley PS, Lowry RP, 1992. Functional expression of the costimulatory molecule, B7/BB1, on murine dendritic cell populations. J. Exp. Med. 176:1215–20
- 117. Symington FW, Brady W, Linsley PS. 1993. Expression and function of B7 on human epidermal Langerhans cells. J. Immunol. 150:1286–95



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS

Doreen Cantrell

Lymphocyte Activation Laboratory, Imperial Cancer Research Fund, Lincolns Inn Field, London WC2A 3PX, United Kingdom

KEY WORDS: T cell antigen receptor, p21ras, calcium, protein kinaseC, Grb2, MAP kinases

ABSTRACT

The T cell antigen receptor (TCR) regulates the activation and growth of T lymphocytes. The initial membrane proximal event triggered by the TCR is activation of protein tyrosine kinases with the resultant phosphorylation of cellular proteins. This biochemical response couples the TCR to a divergent array of signal transduction molecules including enzymes that regulate lipid metabolism, GTP binding proteins, serine/threonine kinases, and adapter molecules. The ultimate aim of studies of intracellular signaling mechanisms is to understand the functional consequences of a particular biochemical event for receptor function. The control of cytokine gene expression is one of the mechanisms that allows the TCR to control immune responses. Accordingly, one object of the present review is to discuss the role of the different TCR signal transduction pathways in linking the TCR to nuclear targets: the transcription factors that control the expression of cytokine genes.

INTRODUCTION

T lymphocyte activation is controlled by the T cell antigen receptor (TCR) in combination with additional signals triggered by accessory molecules present on the surface of the antigen-presenting cells (APC). The T cell antigen receptor (TCR)/CD3 complex comprises the polymorphic TCR α and β subunits in a noncovalent association with the invariant chains of the TCR complex: the 259

TCR ζ chains and the γ , δ , and ϵ chains of the CD3 antigen complex (1). The capacity of the TCR to transduce signals across the T cell membrane is mediated by the cytoplasmic domains of the subunits of the CD3 antigen and the ζ chains (2). The intracellular tails of the CD3 and ζ molecules contain a common motif, EX₂YX₂L/IX₇YX₂L/I, termed an immunoglobulin receptor family tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM). This motif is crucial for TCR coupling to intracellular tyrosine kinases and hence absolutely required for all subsequent TCR signaling responses (3). The ITAMS are also found in the invariant subunits of the B cell antigen receptor and in the γ subunit of the Fc ϵ RI and Fc γ RIIIA (4–6) where they play a similar role in antigen receptor signal transduction (3).

The earliest biochemical response elicited by the TCR is the activation of a protein tyrosine kinase (PTK) (7, 8). Two PTKs associate with the TCR/CD3 complex: the src family kinase p59fyn and a 70-kD PTK termed ZAP-70 and a second src family PTK p56lck are also critical for TCR function (2). The proposed sequence of events in the TCR-regulated PTK cascade is activation of src kinases, the phosphorylation of ITAMs followed by the recruitment, tyrosine phosphorylation, and activation of ZAP-70 (9, 10). The association of ZAP-70 with the TCR complex is mediated by SH2 domain interactions with ITAMS. ZAP-70 has two SH2 domains and binds preferentially to a doubly phosphorylated ITAM; this explains why both tyrosines within the ITAM are required for full ITAM function (8, 11).

TCR REGULATION OF INOSITOL LIPID METABOLISM

There has been considerable progress in the identification of the cellular substrates for the TCR-regulated PTKs. These include the TCR subunits (7) and other receptor molecules such as CD5 (12), cytoskeletal proteins like Ezrin (13), ZAP-70, phospholipase $\gamma 1$ (2), VCP (vasolin containing protein) (14), the protooncogenes Vav (15), c-cbl (16), Shc (17). However, the first PTKcontrolled TCR signaling pathway to be well characterized was that mediated by phospholipase $C\gamma 1$ (PLC $\gamma 1$) (Figure 1). PLC $\gamma 1$ regulates the hydrolysis of inositol phospholipids and thereby generates inositol polyphosphates and diacylglycerols, which allows the TCR to regulate intracellular calcium levels and the serine/threonine kinase family of protein kinase C isozymes (PKCs). PLC γ 1 is tyrosine phosphorylated in TCR-activated cells, a process which is important for its activation (2). The TCR also induces the formation of a protein complex between the SH2 domains of PLC γ 1 and a 36-kDa TCR-induced tyrosine phosphoprotein (18). p36 is a membrane-associated protein, and the interaction between p36 and PLC γ 1 may be important in the recruitment of PLC γ 1 to the plasma membrane—a necessary step because the substances that are substrate for PLC γ 1, the inositol phospholipids, are in the plasma membrane.

Another signaling pathway involving inositol lipid metabolism originates from the TCR; one controlled by a phosphatidylinositol 3'-hydroxyl kinase (PtdIns 3-kinase) (19) (Figure 1). PtdIns 3–kinase catalyses the phosphorylation of phosphoinositides at the D-3 hydroxyl of the myo inositol ring generating polyphosphoinositides PtdIns (3) P, PtdIns (3, 4) P₂, and PtdIns (3, 4, 5) P₃. PtdIns 3–kinase comprises a regulatory 85-kDa subunit that contains two SH2 domains and at its N-terminus, one SH3 domain and a catalytic 110-kDa subunit. Interactions between CD28 and its ligands B7-1 and B7-2 are considered to generate the crucial costimulatory signals for T cell activation (20, 21). The stimulatory effect of the TCR alone on PtdIns 3–kinase activity is small, and the combined triggering of the TCR and the costimulatory receptor CD28 are necessary for optimal activation of the enzyme (22). Nevertheless, a functional coupling between the TCR and PtdIns 3–kinase is demonstrated by the observations that the p110 PtdIns 3–kinase catalytic subunit is hyperphosphorylated on serine residues in response to TCR activation (23).

CD28 regulation of the PtdIns 3–kinase appears to involve recruitment of the enzyme to the membrane via an association between the SH2 domains of p85 and the tyrosine phosphorylated cytoplasmic domain of CD28 (24, 25). In addition, p85 binds to the tyrosine phosphorylated TCR ζ chain, but this association has not been consistently observed to correlate with PtdIns 3–kinase stimulation, indicating that it is not obligatory for activation of the enzyme



(26–28). Another possible mechanism to link the TCR to PtdIns 3–kinase involves src family kinases associated with the TCR complex that can bind to PtdIns 3–kinase via binding of their SH3 domains to two proline rich motifs in the p85 subunit of the enzyme (29, 30). However, attempts to find direct interactions between PtdIns 3–kinase and TCR-activated PTKs have yielded discrepant results depending on the T cell population examined (23). Nevertheless, the idea that SH3-mediated interactions may be important for the TCR/PtdIns 3–kinase link is an attractive concept.

The direct downstream targets of phosphoinositides phosphorylated at the D-3 position are not really known, but the use of inhibitors of the PtdIns 3–kinase has suggested that this enzyme is important in the regulation of the p70S6 kinase, a protein kinase thought to play an essential regulatory role in protein synthesis (31, 32). Further clues as to the role of PtdIns 3–kinases have been generated by experiments demonstrating that there are serine kinases whose in vitro activity is modified by PI₃P or PIP₃. These include members of the PKC family, particularly PKCs ϵ and ζ , which can be activated in vitro by PIP₃ (33). The PH domain of the serine threonine kinase Akt can bind PI₃P, resulting in its activation (34). PH domains are found in a large number of signal transduction molecules, including tyrosine kinases such as BTK and ITK (35). The hypothesis that PH domains are the signaling targets for the D-3 phosphoinositides is thus intriguing because it would mean that PtdIns 3–kinase could play a role in coupling cell surface receptors to quite diverse signal transduction pathways.

TCR REGULATION OF THE GTPASE RAS

The TCR is able to regulate the activation of the guanine nucleotide binding proteins p21ras via a PTK-dependent mechanism independent of TCR coupling to PLC γ 1 (36). The level of active p21ras-GTP complexes is determined by a balance of the rate of hydrolysis of bound GTP and the rate of exchange of bound GDP for cytosolic GTP. The GTPase activity of p21^{ras} is controlled by GTPase activating proteins such as p120-GAP and neurofibromin (37). The inhibition of Ras GAP proteins is almost certainly one mechanism used by the TCR to regulate the Ras guanine nucleotide binding cycle (36). However, recent biochemical studies have suggested that the TCR may also regulate p21^{ras} via control of guanine nucleotide exchange proteins. In particular, many receptors in a variety of cells regulate p21^{ras} by stimulating the guanine nucleotide exchange protein Grb2 which is a 26-kDa polypeptide composed of one SH2 domain and two SH3 domains. The SH3 domains of Grb2 bind to the carboxy terminal proline-rich domain of Sos, and the Grb-2 SH2

domain binds to tyrosine phosphorylated molecules (38). Grb-2 has been implicated in regulation of p21ras in T cells because the TCR induces tyrosine phosphorylation of a 36-kDa protein that is found in a complex with the SH2 domains of Grb2 in TCR-activated cells (18, 40). Moreover, the formation of p36/Grb-2/Sos complexes is a rapid response to TCR ligation that correlates well with p21^{ras} regulation (41). In many growth factor-stimulated cells, e.g. in T cells stimulated with the cytokine IL-2, there is tyrosine phosphorylation of an adapter protein Shc and rapid formation of Shc/Grb-2/Sos complexes T cell activation via the TCR certainly results in tyrosine phospho-(42).rylation of Shc, but reports disagree as to whether Shc/Grb2/Sos complexes form. For example, Shc/Grb2/Sos complexes were detected in TCR-activated murine T cell hybridomas but not in TCR-activated peripheral blood-derived T cells (17, 43). Consideration of the discrepancies in the reported TCRinduced Grb2 complexes illustrates how there may be considerable heterogeneity of TCR responses in different cells types. It would be predicted for example that differences in the relative levels of Grb2/Shc/p36 in different populations of T cells would change the pattern of Grb2 interactions induced by the TCR.

The regulation of Grb2 protein complexes in T cells has been extensively analyzed at the biochemical level, but there is absolutely no data concerning the function of Grb2 in T lymphocytes. Moreover, T cells express another protein that can catalyze guanine nucleotide exchange on p21^{ras}: a molecule called C3G. C3G binds to the SH3 domains of an adapter molecule Crk. Crk has three SH3 domains and a single SH2 domain. TCR triggering results in tyrosine phosphorylation of Crk binding proteins analogous to the TCR regulation of Grb2 complexes (44). The relative contribution of Grb-2/Sos complexes and Crk/C3G complexes to p21ras activation in T cells is not clear, but any analysis of Ras regulatory mechanisms in T cells must explain PKC regulation of p21ras since this appears to be a lymphocyte-specific response. It is conceivable that there is a PKC-sensitive, lymphocyte-specfic Ras exchange protein, and one candidate for this molecule is the proto-oncogene Vav, which is expressed only in hematopoietic cells (45). However, Vav cannot explain the apparent lymphoid specificity of the PKC-p21^{ras} link because Vav is expressed in all hematopoietic cells, and mast cells or myeloid cells that do express Vav do not express a PKC-mediated route for p21ras regulation. Moreover, the role of Vav as a Ras guanine nucleotide exchange protein is controversial, and structurally Vav is a more likely candidate as an exchange protein for the Ras-related *rho/rac* proteins (46). Nevertheless, Vav expression is apparently essential for antigen receptor function in both B and T cells, and its precise role in lymphocytes will be interesting to resolve (47–49).

THE FUNCTION OF CALCIUM, PKC, AND RAS IN ACTIVATION OF T CELL

The function of calcium, p21^{ras}, and PKC signals in TCR signaling has been explored mainly in the context of TCR regulation of the production of a T cell growth factor IL-2. It has been possible to explore the role of calcium and PKC in T cells by examining the consequences of stimulating T cells with calcium ionophores that elevate intracellular calcium and phorbol esters that activate PKC. The results of such experiments showed that the combination of these two pharmacological activators could substitute for TCR triggering in induction of the IL-2 gene, a fact prompting the conclusion that TCR control of calcium and PKC was sufficient to explain TCR control of T cell activation. However, it is now recognized that in T cells, phorbol esters are very effective at activating p21^{ras}. It is becoming clear that many of the effects of phorbol esters in T cells previously attributed to PKC are in fact p21^{ras} mediated (50).

Much of the progress in understanding signal transduction pathways in T cells has been achieved because of coordinated efforts to link up immediate biochemical events triggered at the cell membrane with the transcription factors that control cytokine gene expression. Multiple transcription factors regulate the IL-2 gene including AP-1, NF κ B, Oct-1, and nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT). IL-2 gene expression cannot be induced by a single signaling pathway; it requires the action of several pathways that integrate at the level of these transcription factors (51, 52). The function of $p21^{ras}$ in T cells has been explored using transient transfection protocols that examine the consequences of expressing mutated constitutively active or dominant inhibitory p21ras mutants on the activity of coexpressed reporter genes for different transcription factors. The p21^{ras} oncogene p21-^{v-Ha-ras} is mutated at codon 12 (Ser > Val) and 59 (Ala > Thr). These mutations render the $p21^{ras}$ protein insensitive to negative regulation by Ras-GAPs such that it accumulates in cells in an "active" GTP bound state. p21-v-Ha ras, when expressed in T cells, can activate transcriptional factors such as AP-1 and also synergize with a calcium signaling pathway to activate nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) and the IL-2 gene (53, 54). NFAT proteins are cytosolic in quiescent T cells, but they translocate to the nucleus in TCR-activated cells and combine with AP-1 to form a functional transcriptional factor complex (55). There are multiple isoforms of the NFAT cytosolic subunit: NFATc, NFATp, NFAT3, and NFAT4 (56, 57). These cytosolic NFAT proteins have different patterns of cellular expression but are thought to share one property in that their nuclear translocation is controlled by calcium-dependent signals. The different NFAT proteins also share the ability to interact with AP-1 to bind cooperatively to the composite NFAT/AP-1 site in the IL-2 gene (55). The contribution of p21ras in NFAT induction is thought
to reflect the involvement of Ras in the regulation of AP-1, although it is also possible that $p21^{ras}$ signals can induce posttranslational modifications of NFAT proteins and thus directly modify their transcriptional activity. Binding sites for NFAT are found in the enhancers of a number of cytokine genes including IL-2, IL-4, and TNF α (55). The ability of $p21^{ras}$ to regulate NFAT may thus be generally relevant to cytokine gene induction and not a specific pathway for the IL-2 gene.

The calcium signaling system that cooperates with p21^{ras} for NFAT induction involves the calcium phosphatase calcineurin (58). The role of calcineurin in T cell activation was established in studies that probed the mechanism of action of the immunosuppressive drugs cyclosporin A and FK506 (52). These drugs when bound to their cell binding protein (immunophilins) inhibit calciummediated signaling pathways in lymphocytes. The FK506 or cyclosporin A/immunophilin complex can bind and sequester cytosolic calcineurin, which correlates with the inhibitory effects of these drugs on cytokine gene expression. The role of calcineurin in calcium-mediated signaling in T cell was supported further by experiments showing that overexpression of calcineurin could reverse the immunosuppressive effects of FK506 (58). Moreover, expression of a truncated constitutively active catalytic subunit of calcineurin could mimic the effect of calcium ionophores on T cell activation (59).

The regulatory effects of PMA on NFAT induction have suggested a regulatory role for PKC in NFAT function. There is additional evidence that PKC can contribute to NFAT induction because expression of constitutively active PKC ϵ or α mutants in T cells can synergise with calcium signals to stimulate NFAT transcriptional activity (60). It is established that TCR triggering activates PKC. and an obvious assumption for many years was that TCR induction of NFAT was PKC and calcium/calcineurin mediated (Figure 2). This assumption was supported further by observations that PKC activity is necessary for induction of the IL-2 gene (61). However, PKC inhibitors have no effect on TCR stimulation of NFAT or AP-1 (61). IL-2 gene induction requires the coordinate action of multiple transcription factors that include NFAT, AP-1, NF κ B, and Oct-1; and PKC plays an essential role in NF κ B induction in T cells, which could explain its role in IL-2 gene expression (Figure 2) (61). p21^{ras} signaling pathways are clearly able to substitute for PKC signals for NFAT induction, and the TCR activates p21ras in a PKC-independent mechanism. The relative contribution of Ras signals for TCR induction of NFAT has been resolved by experiments with a dominant inhibitory p21ras mutant, N17ras. Expression of N17 ras inhibits the accumulation of active ras GTP complexes in T cells (62) and prevents TCR induction of NFAT (63), indicating that Ras signals are indispensable for NFAT function (Figure 2). It is clear however that p21ras is



not required for all TCR functions, because expression of dominant negative ras in transgenic mice suppressed TCR-mediated positive selection and TCRmediated proliferation of thymocytes in vitro but did not influence the negative selection of thymocytes (64).

THE REGULATION AND FUNCTION OF MAP KINASES IN T CELLS

The transmission of signals from $p21^{ras}$ to the nucleus is proposed to involve the regulation of the Map kinases (mitogen-activated protein kinases) ERK1 and ERK2 (65). Two intracellular pathways for ERK2 regulation co-exist in T cells: one mediated by Ras and the other by PKC (66) The TCR stimulates both p21^{ras} and PKC, but p21^{ras} and not PKC couples the TCR to the regulation of MAP kinases (67). The MAP kinases are activated by a kinase cascade involving a MAP kinase kinase (MKK) that phosphorylates and stimulates the ERK1 and 2 kinases directly. The activity of the MKK is itself controlled by phosphorylation, and hence a MAP kinase kinase kinase (MKKK) plays a crucial role in the regulation of ERK1 and 2 (4, 68). In many cells, Raf-1 has been identified as the MAPKKK that plays a key role in coupling p21^{ras} and hence receptors that stimulate p21^{ras} to the MAP kinases (69). The N-terminal regulatory domain of the serine/threonine kinase Raf-1 can interact directly with "activated" GTP bound p21ras, and it has been suggested that the role of Ras is to recruit Raf-1 to the membrane where it is activated (68). In T cells, constitutively active Raf-1 can mimic the effect of activated Ras and synergise with calcium signals to induce the IL-2 gene (70, 71). A constitutively active Raf-1 can also mimic the TCR and stimulate ERK2; a dominant negative Raf-1 prevents TCR stimulation of ERK2 (72). These observations collectively suggest that Raf-1 is one effector molecule for p21^{ras} in T cells.

One well-documented role for the MAP kinase ERK2 is in the phosphorylation and regulation of Elk1 (73, 74). Elk1 is one of a family of proteins that can form a ternary complex with the transcriptional-activator serum response factor and thus can play a key role in regulation of Fos gene expression. Accordingly, the role of ras in coupling the TCR to ERK2 and the ability of ERK2 to translocate to the nucleus where it can directly modulate transcriptional factors could explain the role of p21^{ras} in TCR signal transduction. In particular, Fos proteins are components of the AP-1 complex that is clearly important for NFAT activity and cytokine gene induction. The link between Ras stimulation of ERK2 and Ras induction of lymphokine gene expression has not yet been fully explored. but there is preliminary data suggesting that not all Ras functions are mediated by the MAP kinase ERK1,2 cascade. For example, in transgenic mouse experiments, a dominant negative MKK can mimic inhibitory p21ras mutants and suppress positive selection of thymocytes (75). However, inhibitory Ras mutants prevent TCR-induced proliferation of thymocytes, whereas an inhibitory MKK mutant does not. Also, in transfection experiments in T cell lines, expression of a dominant negative MKK can abrogate NFAT induction analogous to the effects of dominant negative Ras, but expression of a constitutively active MKK cannot substitute for constitutively active Ras and induce AP-1 or synergise with calcium dependent signals to induce NFAT (Elisabeth Genot, Doreen Cantrell, unpublished data). These studies collectively suggest that the ERK1/2 pathway is not the sole Ras effector pathway in T cells. Accordingly, a major challenge for the future is to elucidate alternative Ras effector molecules in T cells.

REGULATION OF JUN KINASES BY TCR AND CD28

Two additional MAP kinase signaling pathways have been characterized that allow parallel regulation of the kinases JNK1,2 and MPK2/p38 (65). The role of the TCR in activation of MPK2/p38 is not clear, whereas the regulation of the Jun kinases JNK1,2 is now recognized to be a point of convergence for TCR and CD28 signaling pathways. Triggering of the costimulatory molecule CD28 activates cellular PTKs, and there are some cellular proteins that are common substrates for both TCR- and CD28-activated PTKs including p95^{vav} (41). However, the activation of phospholipase C or the Ras/Raf-1/ERK2 signaling pathway is not a physiological response to CD28 triggering with its natural ligands B7-1 or B7-2. Rather CD28 regulates the activity of PtdIns 3-kinase and generates signals that synergise with TCR-derived signals to activate the MAP kinase JNK1 (76). The activation of JNK1 in T cells seems to require calcium/calcineurin signals, CD28 signals, and other TCR-derived signals. This is also true for cytokine gene expression, which suggests that Jun kinases are the crucial integration point for both TCR- and CD28-derived signals in T cell activation (Figure 2) (76). The Jun kinases are regulated by kinase cascade analogous to that described for the regulation of ERK1 and 2. Moreover, just as the GTPase p21^{ras} is implicated in ERK1,2 activation in T cells, it is likely that the p21ras-related GTPase Rac may be important in Jun kinase regulation in T cells (Elisabeth Genot, Doreen Cantrell, unpublished observations). The point of convergence of TCR and CD28 signals in the Jun kinase signaling cascade is not yet known, but it will be intriguing to establish whether Rac has a role in CD28 signal transduction that is analogous to the role of p21ras in TCR signaling. In this context, T cells express a variety of Ras- and Rac-related GT-Pases, including Rho and CDC42. These two low-molecular-weight G proteins are important for p21ras-mediated transformation of fibroblasts, which in part reflects that they play an important role in the control of the actin cytoskeleton (77–79). Moreover, it is recognized that Rho may be equally as important as p21ras and Rac in the regulation of protein kinase cascades that culminate in transcription factor phosphorylation (80). Accordingly, it will be of interest to explore the signaling connections between p21ras and Rho and Rac in T cells in order to determine whether the p21ras control of cytokine genes involves Rho/Rac controlled signals.

PROTEIN COMPLEXES IN T CELLS

It is well documented that during T cell activation there are multiple protein complexes formed by interactions between TCR-induced tyrosine phosphoproteins and the SH2 domains of various effector tyrosine kinases and/or adapter proteins (Figure 3). For example, the TCR-coupled tyrosine kinase ZAP70 binds to tyrosine phosphorylated ITAMs in the TCR complex via its tandem SH2 domains. In TCR-activated cells ZAP70 is tyrosine phosphorylated and can itself interact with the the SH2 domains of the molecules such as Vav or the PTK p56lck (81, 82). Thus the importance of ZAP70 in T cell activation may not only reflect ZAP70 functions as a tyrosine kinase; rather, the 'adapter' role for ZAP70 may be equally important. Another molecule with the potential for pleotropic functions in T cells is the TCR-induced p36 tyrosine phosphoprotein that appears to be an adapter that links TCR-regulated PTKs to both phospholipase C- γ -1 and Grb2 (83). In this context, Grb2 function in T cells should not be considered solely in terms of Sos/p21ras regulation. Thus, Grb-2 SH3 domains can bind molecules other than Sos and may therefore regulate multiple effector pathways. In particular, recent studies have identified at least three other potential Grb2 SH3 binding effector proteins in T cells: a 75-kDa and 116-kDa protein, PtdIns 3-kinase and the proto-oncogene c-cbl (16, 84-86). The function of these proteins is not known, but they are all substrates for TCRactivated PTKs. The 75-kDa Grb2 SH3 binding protein in T cells has recently been characterized and is itself apparently an adapter molecule (87). Thus, p75 has proline-rich peptide sequences that could explain its interaction with Grb2 SH3 domains. p75 also has an SH2 domain that can bind tyrosine phosphoproteins in TCR-activated cells. Finally, when p75 is tyrosine phosphorylated in



270 CANTRELL

TCR-activated cells, it could bind to the SH2 domains of other molecules. p75 could thus form a scaffold for the formation of protein complexes in T cells.

The adapter Grb2 thus appears to be an important component of TCR signal transduction mechanisms but is not similarily involved in the CD28 costimulatory pathways. The 36-kDa Grb2 SH2 binding protein and the 75-kDa Grb2 SH3 binding protein seem to be selective substrates for the TCR-activated PTKs rather than the CD28 PTKs. Conversely, CD28 can induce tyrosine phosphorylation of a 62-kDa adapter molecule, and this appears to be a unique response to CD28 ligation that is not shared with the TCR (Jacques Nunes, Doreen Cantrell, unpublished data). p62, like Grb2, is now recognized as a multifunctional adapter protein and can probably link receptor coupled PTKs to several downstream signal transduction pathways (88). The differential regulation of adapter proteins by the TCR and CD28 may thus partially explain the divergence of TCR and CD28 signal transduction mechanisms.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS OF TCR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION RESEARCH

Recently, partial tyrosine phosphorylation of the TCR complex and recruitment but not activation of ZAP70 has been described during the induction of T cell anergy (89, 90). One source of variability in TCR signaling could originate from the ITAMS, which all have the duplicated YXXL sequence but vary quite markedly in their intervening amino acid sequences; they thus have the potential to interact with different cytosolic effectors. In this context, chimeric receptors in which the receptor cytoplasmic tail comprises either the ζ or ϵ ITAM are able to induce calcium mobilization and tyrosine phosphorylation pathways (2, 91, 92), but they induce different patterns of cellular tyrosine phosphorylation, indicating that the different ITAMS may have unique functions (91). One of the major challenges for future studies will be to understand how the TCR is able to channel its signaling responses. There will undoubtedly be great emphasis on the mechanisms that the TCR might use to generate signaling diversity.

Studies of TCR signaling to date have revealed the enormous signal transduction potential of the TCR. In the last year, the sophistication of current technology has facilitated the identification of numerous potentially important TCR-triggered biochemical events. There is very little understanding of the functions of many of the protein complexes that are targets for TCR signals. However, the technology used to explore p21^{ras} and tyrosine kinase functions will undoubtedly be used in the future to rectify this deficiency. It will be important in the future to extend the characterization of the role of the different TCR signals beyond the analysis of cytokine gene induction, because this is only one function of the TCR in T cell biology. The TCR is also important in the following responses: the postive and negative selection of thymocytes, the regulation of T cell cytotoxicity via the control of the secretion of cytotoxic mediators such as perforin; the regulation of T cell adhesion via regulation of integrins and their binding partners. Questions concerning the signal transduction mechanisms of these different TCR functions are equally important as those concerning the regulation of cytokine genes.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank present and past members of the Lymphocyte Activation Laboratory for all the experiments and discussions that have helped shape my views of TCR signal transduction mechanisms as presented in this review. I would also like to thank Jenny Lunan and Luam for assistance in the preparation of the manuscript.

Literature Cited

- Weiss A. 1993. T cell antigen receptor signal transduction: a tale of tails and cytoplasmic protein-tyrosine kinases. *Cell* 73:209–12
- Weiss A, Littman DR. 1994. Signal transduction by lymphocyte antigen receptors. *Cell* 76:263–74
- Cambier J. 1995. Conserved Signaling Motifs in Antigen and Fc Receptors. Seminars in Immunology, Vol. 7. New York: Academic Press
- Reth M. 1989. Antigen receptor tail clue. Nature 338:383–84
- Flaswinkel H, Reth AM. 1994. Dual role of the tyrosine activation motif of the Ig-α protein during signal transduction via the B cell antigen receptor. *EMBO J.* 13:83– 89
- Burkhardt AL, Costa T, Misulovin Z, Stealy B, Bolen JB, Nussenzweig MC. 1994. Igα and Igβ are functionally homologous to the signaling proteins of the T cell receptor. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:1095–103
- Samelson LE, Klausner RD. 1992. Tyrosine kinases and tyrosine-based activation motifs. J. Biol. Chem. 267:24913–16
- Gauen LKT, Zhu YX, Letourneur F, Hu Q, Bolen JB, Matis LA, Klausner RD, Shaw AS. 1994. Interactions of p59fyn and ZAP-70 with T-cell receptor activation motifs: defining the nature of a signalling motif. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:3729–41
- Iwashima M, Irving BA, van Oers NSC, Chan AC, Weiss A. 1994. Sequential interactions of the TCR with two distinct cytoplasmic tyrosine kinases. *Science* 263:1136–39

- Weil R, Cloutier JF, Fournel M, Veillette A. 1995. Regulation of ZAP70 by Src family tyrosine kinases in an antigen specific T cell line. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:2791– 99
- 11. Isakov N, Wange RL, Burgess WH, Watts JD, Aebersold R, Samelson LE. 1995. ZAP-70 binding specificity to T cell receptor tyrosine-based activation motifs: the tandem SH2 domains of ZAP-70 bind tyrosine based activation motifs with varying affinity. J. Exp. Med. 181:375–80
- Osman N, Ley SC, Crumpton MJ. 1992. Evidence for an association between the T cell receptor/CD3 complex and the CD5 antigen in human T lymphocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 22:2995–3000
- Egerton M, Burgess WH, Chen D, Druker BJ, Bretscher A, Samelson LE. 1992. Identification of ezrin as an 81kDa tyrosine-phosphorylated protein in T cells. J. Immunol. 149:1847–52
- Egerton M, Ashe OR, Chen D, Druker BJ, Burgess WH, Samelson LE. 1992. VCP, the mammalian homolog of cdc48, is tyrosine phosphorylated in response to T cell antigen receptor activation. *EMBO J.* 11:3533–40
- Margolis B, Hu P, Katzav S, Li W, Oliver JM, Ullrich A, Weiss A, Schlessinger J. 1992. Tyrosine phosphorylation of vav proto-oncogene product containing SH2 domain and transcription factor motifs. *Nature* 356:71–74
- Donovan JA, Wange RL, Langdon WA, Samelson LE. 1994. The protein product of the c-cbl oncogene is the 120kDa tyro-

sine phosphorylated protein in Jurkat cells activated via the T cell antigen receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 269:22921–24

- Ravichandran KS, Lee KK, Songyang Z, Cantley LC, Burn P, Burakoff SJ. 1993. Interaction of Shc with the zeta chain of the T cell receptor upon T cell activation. *Science* 262:902–5
- Sieh M, Batzer A, Schlessinger J, Weiss A. 1994. Grb-2 and phospholipase-C-γ-1 associate with 36- to 38-kilodalton phosphotyrosine protein after T-cell receptor stimulation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:4435–42
- Ward SG, Ley SC, Macphee C, Cantrell DA. 1992. Regulation of D-3 phosphoinositides during T cell activation via the T cell antigen receptor/CD3 complex and CD2 antigens. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 22:45–49
- Linsley PS, Ledbetter JA. 1993. The role of the CD28 receptor during T cell responses to antigen. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 11:191–212
- June CH, Bluestone JA, Nadler LM, Thompson CB. 1994. The B7 and CD28 receptor families. *Immunol. Today* 15:321–32
- Ward SG, Westwisck J, Hall ND, Sansom DM. 1993. Ligation of CD28 receptor by B7 induces formation of D-3 phosphoinositides in T lymphocytes independently of T cell receptor/CD3 activation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:2572–77
- Reif K, Gout I, Waterfield MD, Cantrell DA. 1993. Divergent regulation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase p85-alpha and p85-beta isoforms upon T cell activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268:10780–88
- Page F, Ragueneau M, Rottapel R, Truneh A, Nunes J, Imbert J, Olive D. 1994. Binding of phosphatidyl inositol-3-oH kinase to CD28 is required for T-cell signalling. *Nature* 369:327–29
- Truitt KE, Hicks CM, Imboden JB. 1994. Stimulation of CD28 triggers an association between CD28 and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in Jurkat T cells. J. Exp. Med. 179:1071–76
- Carrera AC, Rodriguez-Borlado L, Martinez-Alonso C, Merida I. 1994. T cell receptor associated alpha phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase becomes activated by T cell receptor cross linking and requires pp56(lck). J. Biol. Chem. 269:19435–40
- Exley M, Varticovski L, Peter M, Sancho J, Terhost C. 1994. Association of phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase with a specific sequence of the T cell receptor zeta chain is dependent on T cell activation. J. Biol. Chem. 269:15140–46

- Ward SG, Reif K, Ley S, Fry MJ, Waterfield MD, Cantrell DA. 1992. Regulation of phosphoinositide kinases in T cells. J. *Biol. Chem.* 267:23862–69
- Prasad KVS, Janssen O, Kapeller R, Raab M, Cantley LC, Rudd CE. 1993. Src-homology 3 domain of protein kinase p59fyn mediates binding to phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:7366–70
- Prasad KVS, Kapeller R, Janssen O, Repke H, Duke Cohan JS, Cantley LC, Rudd CE. 1993. Phosphatidylinositol (PI) 3-kinase and PI 4-kinase binding to the CD4-p56(lck) complex: the p56(lck) SH3 domain binds to PI 3-kinase but not PI 4kinase. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13:7708–17
- 31. Monfar M, Lemon KP, Grammer TC, Cheatham L, Chung JK, Vlahos CJ, Blenis J. 1995. Activation of p70/85 S6 kinases interleukin-2 responsive lymphoid cells is mediated by phosphatydylinositol 3-kinase and inhibited by cyclic AMP. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:326–37
- Ming X-F, Burgering BMT, Bos JL, Kozma SC, Thomas G. 1994. p70^{s6k}/p85^{s6k} activation is independent of the p21ras signalling pathway. *Nature*. 371:378–79
- 33. Liscovitch M, Cantley LC. 1994. Lipid second messengers. *Cell* 77:329–34
- 34. Franke FT, Yang S, Chan OT, Datta K, Kazlauskas A, Morrison KD, Kalpan RD, Tsichlis NP. 1995. The protein kinase encoded by the Akt proto-oncogene is a target of the PDGF-activated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Cell* 81:727–36
- Musacchio A, Gibson T, Thompson J, Saraste M. 1993. The PH domain is a common piece in the structural pathway of signalling proteins. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 18:343–48
- Izquierdo M, Downward J, Graves JD, Cantrell DA. 1992. Role of protein kinase C in T-cell antigen receptor regulation of p21ras: evidence that two p21ras regulatory pathways coexist in T cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12:3305–12
- Downward J. 1992. Regulation of p21^{ras} by GAPs and guanine nucleotide exchange proteins in normal and oncogenic cells. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 2:13–18
- McCormick F. 1993. Signal transduction—how receptors turn ras on. *Nature* 363:15–16
- McCormick F. 1994. Activators and effectors of *ras* p21 proteins. *Curr. Biol.* 4:71– 76
- 40. Buday L, Egan SE, Rodriguez Viciana P, Cantrell DA, Downward J. 1994. A com-

plex of Grb2 adaptor protein, Sos exchange factor and a 36 kDa membrane bound tyrosine phosphoprotein is implicated in Ras activation in T cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:9019–23

- Nunes J, Collette Y, Truneh A, Olive DA, Cantrell DA. 1994. Triggering of CD28 with antibodies but not the ligand B7–1 activates p21ras. J. Exp. Med. 180:1067– 74
- Zhu X, Suen K-L, Barbacid M, Bolen JB, Fargnoli J. 1994. Interleukin-2-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of Shc proteins correlates with factor-dependent T cell proliferation. J. Biol. Chem. 269:5518–22
- Osman N, Lucas S, Turner CH, Cantrell D. 1995. A comparison of the interaction of Shc and tyrosine kinase ZAP-70 with the T cell antigen receptor z chain tyrosine-based activation motif. J. Biol. Chem. 270:13981–86
- 44. Sawasdikosol S, Ravichandran K, Lee K, Chang J, Burakoff S. 1995. Crk interacts with tyrosine-phosphorylated p116 upon T cell activation. J. Biol. Chem. 270:2893– 96
- Gulbins E, Coggeshall KM, Gottfried B, Katzav S, Burn P, Altman A. 1993. Tyrosine kinase-stimulated guanine nucleotide exchange activity of vav in T cell activation. *Science* 260:822–25
- Bustelo XR, Suen KL, Leftheris K, Meyers CA, Barbacid M. 1994. Vav cooperates with Ras to transform rodent fibroblasts but is not a Ras GDP/GTP exchange factor. *Oncogene* 9:2405–13
- 47. Tarakhovsky A, Turner M, Schaal S, Mee PJ, Duddy L, Rajewsky K, Tybulewicz VLJ. 1995. Defective antigen receptor mediated proliferation of B- and T-cells in the absence of vav. *Nature* 374:467–70
- Fischer K-D, Zmuidzinas A, Gardner S, Barbacid M, Bernstein A, Guidos C. 1995. Defective T-cell receptor signalling and postive selection of vav-deficient CD4+ CD8+ thymocytes. *Nature* 374:474–77
- Zhang R, Alt FW, Davidson L, Orkin SH, Swat W. 1995. Defective signalling through the T- and B-cell antigen receptors in lymphoid-cells lacking the vav proto-oncogene. *Nature* 374:470–73
- Downward J, Graves JD, Warne PH, Rayter S, Cantrell DA. 1990. Stimulation of p21ras upon T-cell activation. *Nature* 346:719–23
- Crabtree GR. 1989. Contingent genetic regulatory events in T lymphocyte activation. *Science* 243:355–61
- Schreiber SL, Crabtree GR. 1992. The mechanism of action of cyclosporin A and

FK506. Immunol. Today 13:136-42

- Woodrow M, Rayter S, Downward J, Cantrell DA. 1993. p21ras function is important for T cell antigen receptor and protein kinase C regulation of nuclear factor of activated cells. J. Immunol. 150:1–9
- Rayter S, Woodrow M, Lucas SC, Cantrell D, Downward J. 1992. p21ras mediates control of IL2 gene promoter function in T cell activation. *EMBO J*. 11:4549–56
- Rao A. 1994. NF-ATp: a transcription factor required for the co-ordinate induction of several cytokine genes. *Immunol. Today* 15:274–81
- Northrop JP, Ho SN, Chen L, Thomas DJ, Timmerman LA, Nolan GP, Admon A, Crabtree GR. 1994. NF-AT components define a family of transcription factors targeted in T-cell activation. *Nature* 369:497–502
- Hoey T, Sun Y, Williamson K, Xu X. 1995. Isolation of two new members of the NF-AT gene family and functional characterization of the NF-AT proteins. *Immunity* 2:461–72
- Clipstone NA, Crabtree GR. 1992. Identification of calcineurin as a key signaling enzyme in T-lymphocyte activation. *Nature* 357:695–97
- Woodrow M, Clipstone NA, Cantrell D. 1993. p21ras and calcineurin synergize to regulate the nuclear factor of activated T cells. J. Exp. Med. 178:1517–22
- Genot MEP, Parker J, Cantrell DA. 1995. Analysis of the role of protein kinase C-α, *ε*, and ζ in T cell activation. J. Biol. Chem. 270:9833–39
- Williams H, Woodrow DM, Cantrell DA, Murray EJ. 1995. Protein kinase C is not a downstream effector of p21ras in activated T cell. *Eur. J. Immunol.*: 42–47
- 62. Izquierdo M, Leevers SJ, Williams DH, Marshall CJ, Weiss A, Cantrell DA. 1994. The role of protein kinase C in the regulation of extra cellular signal regulated kinase by the T cell antigen receptor. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:2462–68
- Izquierdo M, Reif K, Cantrell DA. 1995. The regulation and function of p21ras during T-cell activation and growth. *Immunol. Today* 16:159–64
- Swan KA, Alberola-Ila J, Gross JA, Appleby MW, Forbush KA, Thomas JF, Perlmutter RM. 1995. Involvement of p21ras distinguishes positive and negative selection in thymocytes. *EMBO J*. 14:276–85
- Cooper JA. 1994. Straight and narrow or tortuous and intersecting? *Curr. Biol.* 4:1118–21
- 66. Zhang X-F, Settleman J, Kyriakis JM,

Takeuchi-Suzuki E, Elledge SJ, Marshall MS, Bruder JT, Rapp UR, Avruch J. 1993. Normal and oncogenic p21ras proteins bind to the amino-terminal regulatory domain of c-Raf-1. *Nature* 364:308–13

- Izquierdo M, Leevers SJ, Williams DH, Marshall CJ, Weiss A, Cantrell DA. 1993. p21 ras couples the T cell antigen receptor to extra cellular signal regulated kinase in T cells. J. Exp. Med. 178:1199
- Marshall CJ. 1994. MAP kinase kinase kinase, MAP kinase kinase, and MAP kinase. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 4:82–89
- Howe LR, Leevers SJ, Gomez N, Nakielney S, Cohen P, Marshall CJ. 1992. Activation of the MAP kinase pathway by the protein kinase raf. *Cell* 71:335–42
- Gupta SK, Gallego C, Johnson GL. 1992. Mitogenic pathways regulated by Gprotein oncogenes. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 3:12– 28
- Owaki H, Varma R, Gillis B, Bruder JT, Rapp UR, Davis LS, Geppert TD. 1993. Raf-1 is required for T cell IL-2 production. *EMBO J*. 12:4367–73
- Izquierdo M, Bowden S, Cantrell D. 1994. The role of Raf-1 in the regulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase 2 by the T cell antigen receptor. *J. Exp. Med.* 180:401–6
- Marais R, Wynne J, Treisman R. 1993. The SRF accesory protein Elk-1 contains a growth-factor-regulated transcriptional activation domain. *Cell* 73:381–93
- Hunter T, Karin M. 1992. The regulation of transcription by phosphorylation. *Cell* 70:375–87
- Alberola-lla J, Forbush KA, Seger R, Krebs EG, Perlmutter RM. 1995. Selective requirement for MAP kinase activation in thymocyte differentiation. *Nature* 373:620–23
- Su B, Estela J, Hibi M, Kallunki T, Karin M, Ben-Neriah Y. 1994. JNK is involved in signal integration during costimulation of T lymphocytes. *Cell* 77:727–36
- Nobes C, Hall A. 1994. Regulation and function of the Rho subfamily of small GTPases. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 4:77– 81
- Nobes C, Hall A. 1995. Rho, Rac and Cdc42 GTPases regulate the assembly of multimolecular focal complexes associated with actin stress fibres, lamellipodia and filopodia. *Cell* 81:53–62
- Qiu RG, Chen J, Kirn D, McCormick F, Symons M. 1995. An essential role for rac in ras transformation. *Nature* 374:457–59
- 80. Hill CS, Wynne J, Treisman R. 1995. The Rho family GTPases RhoA, Rac1 and

CDC42hs regulate transcriptional activation by SRF. Cell. 81:1159

- Katzav S, Sutherland M, Peckham G, Yi T, Weiss A. 1994. The protein tyrosine kinase ZAP-70 can associate with the SH2 domain of proto-Vav. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:32579–85
- Duplay P, Thome M, Hervé F, Acuto O. 1994. p56 ^{lck} interacts via its src homology 2 domain with the ZAP-70 kinase. *J. Exp. Med.* 179:1163–72
- 83. Reif K, Buday L, Downward J, Cantrell DA. 1994. SH3 domains of the adapter molecule Grb-2 complex with two proteins in T cells: the guanine nucleotide exchange protein SOS and a 75-kDa protein that is a substrate for T cell antigen receptor-activated tyrosine kinases. J. Biol. Chem. 269:14081–89
- Motto DG, Ross SE, Jackman JK, Sun Q, Olson AL, Findell PR, Koretsky GA. 1994. In vivo association of Grb2 with p116, a substrate of the T cell antigen receptor activated protein tyrosine kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:21608–13
- Meisner H, Conway B, Hartley RD, Czech MP. 1995. Interaction of Cbl with Grb2 and phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase in activated jurkat cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:3571
- Jackman JK, Motto DG, Sun Q, Tanemoto M, Turck CW, Peltz GA, Koretsky GA, Findell PR. 1995. Molecular cloning of SLP-76, a 76kDa tyrosine phosphoprotein associated with Grb2 in T cells. J. Biol. Chem. 270:7029–32
- Richard S, Yu D, Blumer KJ, Hausladen D, Olszowy MW, Connelly PA, Shaw AS. 1995. Association of p62, a multifunctional SH2- and SH3-domainbinding protein, with src family tyrosine kinases, Grb2, and phospholipase Cg-1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:186–97
- Sloan-Lancaster J, Shaw AS, Rothbard JB, Allen PM. 1994. Partial T cell signaling: altered phospho-ζ and lack of Zap70 recruitment in APL induced T cell anergy. *Cell* 79:913–22
- Madrenas J, Wange RL, Wang JL, Isakov N, Samelson LE, Germain RN. 1995. ζ phosphorylation without ZAP70 activation induced by TCR antagonists or partial agonists. *Science* 267:515–18
- Letourneur F, Klausner RD. 1992. Activation of T cells by a tyrosine kinase activation domain in the cytoplasmic tail of CD3 epsilon. *Science* 255:79–82
- Romeo C, Amiot M, Seed B. 1992. Sequence requirements for induction of cytolysis by the T cell antigen/Fc receptor *ζ*-chain. *Cell* 68:889–97



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES

*Marian R. Neutra*¹, *Eric Pringault*^{2,3} *and Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl*²

¹Department of Pediatrics, Harvard Medical School and GI Cell Biology Laboratory, Children's Hospital, Boston, MA 02115; ²Swiss Institute for Experimental Cancer Research and Institute for Biochemistry, University of Lausanne, CH-1066 Epalinges, Switzerland; ³Institut Pasteur, 75015 Paris, France

KEY WORDS: M cells, dendritic cells, epithelium, mucosal immunity, microbial pathogens

ABSTRACT

Epithelial barriers on mucosal surfaces at different sites in the body differ dramatically in their cellular organization, and antigen sampling strategies at diverse mucosal sites are adapted accordingly. In stratified and pseudostratified epithelia, dendritic cells migrate to the outer limit of the epithelium, where they sample antigens for subsequent presentation in local or distant organized lymphoid tissues. In simple epithelia, specialized epithelial M cells (a phenotype that occurs only in the epithelium over organized lymphoid follicles) deliver samples of foreign material by transepithelial transport from the lumen to organized lymphoid tissues within the mucosa. Certain pathogens exploit the M cell transport process to cross the epithelial barrier and invade the mucosa. Here we review the features of M cells that determine antigen and pathogen adherence and transport into mucosal lymphoid tissues.

ORGANIZATION OF THE MUCOSAL IMMUNE SYSTEM

The mucosal surfaces of the gastrointestinal, respiratory, and urogenital tracts have a combined surface area of at least 400 m², covered largely by a single layer of epithelial cells. These cellular barriers face environments rich in pathogens, some of which have developed effective mechanisms for colonization of epithelial surfaces and invasion of mucosal tissues. In defense, mucosal tissues are heavily populated with cells of the immune system: It is estimated that the intestinal lining contains more lymphoid cells and produces more antibodies than any other organ in the body (1, 2). Antibodies produced in mucosal tissues are difficult to quantitate, however, since they consist primarily of polymeric IgA that is continuously exported into secretions.

The mucosal immune system consists of specialized local inductive sites (the Organized Mucosa-Associated Lymphoid Tissue or O-MALT) and widespread effector sites (the Diffuse Mucosa-Associated Lymphoid Tissue or D-MALT), both of which are separated from mucosal surface antigens by epithelial barriers (3). Some mucosal tissues such as the vagina have no local O-MALT but rely on antigen uptake and transport into lymph nodes that drain the mucosa (4). In either case, the first step in the induction of a mucosal immune response is the transport of antigens across the epithelial barrier. Following antigen processing and presentation in inductive sites, IgA-committed, antigen-specific B lymphoblasts proliferate locally and then migrate via the bloodstream to local and distant mucosal and secretory tissues. There they differentiate primarily into polymeric IgA-producing plasma cells, important components of D-MALT (5, 6; reviewed in 3). Dimeric or polymeric IgA antibodies are transported across epithelial cells into glandular and mucosal secretions via receptor-mediated transcytosis (reviewed in 7, 8).

O-MALT, characterized by mucosal lymphoid follicles, occurs in the tonsils, bronchi, and intestines (9, 10). Single follicles occur along the entire length of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, with increasing frequency in the colon and rectum (11, 12). Aggregated follicles occur in the lingual and palatine tonsils and adenoids of the oral- and nasopharynx, the Peyer's patches in small intestine, and the appendix (9–12). A typical intestinal lymphoid follicle has a B lymphocyte–rich peripheral zone and a germinal center, and it is separated from the epithelium by a dome-shaped "corona" containing B cells, CD4⁺ T cells, and antigen-presenting dendritic cells and macrophages (13). Where follicles are aggregated, they are separated from each other by interfollicular zones rich in T cells and containing high endothelial venules where extravasation of circulating lymphocytes occurs (14). There is abundant evidence that O-MALT plays a major role in antigen sampling and generation of lymphocytes, including specific IgA effector B cells, memory B cells, and T cells. This involves active lymphocyte proliferation, local production of certain cytokines, and continuous cellular trafficking (15–17). In certain developing animals, O-MALT may also play a role in shaping the repertoire of immunoglobulins and T cell receptors (18).

MECHANISMS OF ANTIGEN TRANSPORT ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS

Epithelial linings of different mucosal surfaces differ dramatically. Multilayered squamous epithelia line the oral cavity, pharynx, esophagus, urethra, and vagina. The intestinal mucosa is covered by only a single cell layer, and the airway lining varies from pseudostratified to simple epithelium. These diverse epithelia are not impenetrable barriers, but rather are cell assemblies that control cross-talk between the exterior and the interior using multiple antigen sampling strategies (Figure 1). In stratified and pseudostratified epithelia, antigen-processing dendritic cells serve as motile "scouts" that move into the epithelium, obtain samples of luminal antigens, and migrate back to local or distant organized lymphoid tissues. In simple intestinal and airway epithelia M cells deliver samples of foreign material by transepithelial transport from the lumen to organized lymphoid tissues within the mucosa.

Sampling of pathogens by either mechanism—dendritic cell or M cell has inherent risks in that pathogens can exploit such transport mechanisms to cross the epithelial barrier and invade the body. In the case of dendritic cells in stratified epithelia, there is little information available about their role in mediating infection, but one may assume that the lumenal contacts of these motile cells present a very limited and transient opportunity to pathogens. In contrast the broad, nonmotile M cells of the intestine are highly exposed to the lumen of the gut and are relatively accessible to attachment and invasion of pathogens. The risk of invasion and mucosal or systemic disease appears to be reduced by the close and complex interactions of the follicle-associated epithelium with professional antigen processing and presenting cells, and by the organization of mucosal lymphoid tissues immediately under the epithelium.

Antigen Sampling Across Stratified Epithelia

BARRIER FUNCTION OF STRATIFIED EPITHELIA Stratified, nonkeratinized or parakeratinized epithelia lack tight junctions but provide a permeability barrier by secretion of a "membrane-coating" glycolipoprotein substance into the narrow intercellular spaces of the lower stratified layers (19). The close association of epithelial cells along with secreted intercellular material renders the oral epithelium impermeable to protein tracers and large cations, and it effectively

ANTIGEN SAMPLING AT MUCOSAL SURFACES



Figure 1 Antigen sampling across the stratified epithelia of the oral cavity and vagina and the epithelia of the airways is accomplished by migratory dendritic cells that carry antigens to local organized mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues (O-MALT) or to distant lymph nodes. Antigen transport across simple intestinal and bronchial epithelia is accomplished by M cells that deliver samples of foreign material to local O-MALT.

excludes most infectious agents and vaccines. Regional variations in the thickness, surface cell phenotypes, and protein expression in stratified squamous epithelia are determined by interplay of genetic factors with the local environment. In the female genital tract, hormonal fluctuations over the course of the menstrual cycle have dramatic effects on the stratified epithelium of the vagina and exocervix, affecting epithelial thickness, endocytic activity of epithelial cells, and the distribution of dendritic cells (20). Although proteins can be taken up by stratified epithelial cells (21), such epithelia have no mechanism for directional transcytosis. Nor can proteins, other macromolecules, or microbes passively diffuse through the stratified epithelia of the female reproductive tract or the oral cavity. Thus, samples of intact foreign antigens from these mucosal surfaces are obtained through the activities of motile dendritic cells (Langerhans cells) and macrophages. The fact that sampling of antigens across stratified epithelia requires close collaboration between epithelial and dendritic cells explains why the effectiveness of vaginal vaccines varies widely, depending on the stage of the menstrual cycle as well as the vaccine or vector used (4, 22).

INTRAEPITHELIAL DENDRITIC CELLS AND MACROPHAGES

Intraepithelial dendritic cells, equivalent in function to the Langerhans cells originally described in skin, are found in the oral cavity (particularly in the tonsils; 23, 24), in the stratified epithelium of the vagina (25, 26), and within the pseudostratified airway epithelium (27). Dendritic cells of mucosal surfaces can serve as antigen-presenting cells after migration out of mucosal tissues to draining lymph nodes (28), or in the case of tonsils, they can present antigens locally to cells of mucosal lymphoid follicles (24) (Figure 1). Whether the immunological outcome of antigen sampling by dendritic cells and macrophages in organized tonsillar lymphoid tissue differs from the outcome of dendritic cell sampling in the general buccal epithelium is not known.

In the airway epithelium, dendritic cells form a contiguous network with up to 700 dendritic cells per mm² (27). Under normal conditions these cells represent the major MHC class II–bearing, antigen-presenting cells of the airways, suggesting that they constitute a first line of defense against inhaled antigens. Renewal of the airway dendritic cell population from bone marrow is balanced by migration of cells to draining lymph nodes with a half-life of only 2 days, similar to that reported for the dendritic cell population of the gut wall (28). During acute inflammatory responses, dendritic cell precursors are recruited to the respiratory epithelium where they differentiate and mature into resident dendritic cells (29).

In sampling the mucosal surface environment, dendritic cells run the risk of infection. Their antigen uptake and migratory activities, coupled with their ability to form close associations with T cells (30), may lead to replication and dissemination of T cell–tropic viruses that contact mucosal surfaces. Dendritic cells isolated from skin were infected after exposure to HIV in vitro, and interaction of dendritic cells and memory T cells resulted in efficient infection and viral production by the T cells (31, 32). Dendritic cells in intact vaginal tissue of monkeys were found to be infected after mucosal exposure to SIV (33). Since other transepithelial transport mechanisms such as M cells seem to be absent in the female reproductive tract (4), intraepithelial dendritic cells of the vagina and ectocervix are currently thought to be important in transmission of HIV as well as in the mucosal immune response to vaginal vaccines.

Antigen Sampling Across Simple Epithelia

BARRIER FUNCTION OF SIMPLE EPITHELIA Most of the vast mucosal surfaces of the gastrointestinal tract and airways are lined by a single layer of epithelial cells sealed by tight junctions that exclude peptides and macromolecules with antigenic potential (34). Damaged or aged epithelial cells are replaced from a pool of precursor cells that are sequestered in crypts in the intestine (35) or maintained as basal cells throughout the epithelium in the airways. Uptake of macromolecules, particulate antigens, and microorganisms across healthy simple epithelia can occur only by active vesicular transport across epithelial cells, and this is restricted by multiple mechanisms (36). Many antigens and microorganisms are prevented from contact with epithelial surfaces by local secretions containing mucins and secretory IgA antibodies (3, 37). In the intestine, the epithelial cells themselves are well equipped to face a pathogen-rich foreign environment. The apical surfaces of enterocytes are modified by rigid, closely packed microvilli-the brush border-coated with a thick layer of large membrane-anchored, negatively charged mucin-like molecules called the glycocalyx (38, 39). The glycocalyx constitutes both a diffusion barrier and a highly degradative microenvironment. This is owing to entrapped pancreatic enzymes and membrane-bound hydrolytic enzymes (40) that impede the access of macromolecular aggregates, particles, and microorganisms to the apical cell membrane. Intestinal enterocytes nevertheless are able to take up antigens by endocytosis (36). They express MHC class I and/or class II molecules constitutively or in response to cytokines (41, 42). Enterocytes are able to present antigen in vitro, but the role of these cells in antigen presentation in vivo remains controversial (43, 44).

LOCAL EPITHELIAL SPECIALIZATIONS The lymphoid follicles of O-MALT are separated from the lumen by a specialized follicle-associated epithelium (FAE) containing enterocyte-like cells and antigen-transporting M cells, a highly specialized phenotype located exclusively at these sites (Figure 2). M cells transport macromolecules, particles, and microorganisms directly into the special microenvironment of mucosal lymphoid follicles, and this seems to be an important first step in initiation of a secretory immune response (45).

THE FOLLICLE-ASSOCIATED EPITHELIUM

Unique Features of the FAE

A striking feature of the FAE in both the GI tract and airways is the total absence of receptors for polymeric immunoglobulin, indicating an inability to secrete IgA (46, 47). This is consistent with the observation that O-MALT

contains precursors of IgA B cells but is not a site of terminal differentiation or IgA production (5, 6). A local lack of surface-associated secretory IgA may facilitate access of antigens to the mucosal surface. Paradoxically, M cells in experimental animals have been shown to bind and transport IgA and IgA immune complexes from the lumen into the intraepithelial pocket (48). We have suggested that uptake of immune complexes by M cells could boost or modulate mucosal immune responses, but the fate of such complexes or the significance of M cell interactions with luminal antibodies is unknown.

Interactions of M Cells with Lymphocytes and APC

M cells of the FAE are specialized for transpithelial transport across the epithelial barrier. The M cell basolateral surface is deeply invaginated to form a large intraepithelial "pocket" into which transcytosed particles and macromolecules are delivered (45). This unique structural modification is supported by an extensive array of intermediate filaments and is lined by a distinct "pocket domain"



Figure 2 Diagram of an M cell in the intestinal follicle-associated epithelium. The intraepithelial pocket contains B and T lymphocytes (L) and an occasional macrophage ($M\phi$). Below the epithelium are macrophages and dendritic cells (D) and many T and B lymphocytes.

of the plasma membrane (49). The pocket and its content of immigrant cells is a cardinal feature of the M cell. Specific subpopulations of lymphocytes migrate into the pocket and associate closely with the pocket membrane, forming apparent adhesion sites. The recognition and adherence mechanisms that direct and retain lymphocytes and occasional macrophages in the M cell pocket are unknown, but it seems safe to assume that specific epithelial and lymphocyte adhesion molecules, analogous to but distinct from the IEL-enterocyte adhesion partners (50), mediate these events. M cells also have basal processes that extend 10 μ m or more into the underlying lymphoid tissue where they could make direct contact with lymphoid or antigen-presenting cells (51). It is tempting to think that such contacts play a role in the induction of the unique M cell phenotype or in the processing and presentation of antigens after M cell transport.

The immigrant cells in M cell pockets have been identified by immunocytochemistry of intestinal Peyer's patches of rodents, rabbits, and humans (52-55). In all species, both B and T lymphocytes were present along with a small number of macrophages. Most of the T cells were CD4⁺, and none displayed the gamma/delta T cell receptor typical of villus IELs, although in rabbit there were cells lacking both CD4 and CD8 (54). Human M cell-associated T cells displayed the marker antigen CD45RO typical of memory cells, although in some specimens naive T cells were observed (55). Most T cells expressed the early activation marker CD69, and most (but not all) were $CD4^+$. The fact that B cells in the pocket express the "naive" cell marker CD45RA along with HLA-DR suggests that the M cell pocket is a site of interaction of T cells with antigen-presenting B cells. The B cells contained IgM but neither IgG nor IgA, suggesting that B memory cells and initial B cell differentiation also may occur here. Since the B cells in M cell pockets are of the same types as the subepithelial B cells associated with the underlying follicle, it has been suggested that B lymphoblast traffic into the M cell pocket may allow continued antigen exposure and extension and diversification of the immune response (55). With the abundance of B lymphoblasts, helper T cells, and APC immediately below the FAE, what is the purpose of antigen presentation in the M cell pocket? One possibility is that the cells in the pocket can interact early with incoming antigens, in an environment sequestered from the modulating influence of systemic humoral immunity.

Below the epithelium of the dome lies an extensive network of macrophages and dendritic cells intermingled with CD4⁺ T cells and B cells from the underlying follicle (56: Figure 2). These cell populations are presumably active in uptake and killing of incoming pathogens as well as in processing, presentation, and perhaps storage of antigens. There is little information available concerning the fates of specific antigens, pathogens, and vaccines in the FAE, subepithelial tissue, or follicle. Viruses and bacteria that use the M cell as an invasion route can infect and destroy M cells and can infect nearby macrophages and lymphocytes, as discussed below. On the other hand, killed microorganisms and tracer antigens have been seen in macrophages in the M cell pocket and the subepithelial tissue, and it is likely that such antigens are processed and presented both within the mucosa and in draining lymph nodes.

UPTAKE OF ANTIGENS BY M CELLS

M Cell Luminal Surfaces

APICAL MEMBRANE ORGANIZATION The M cell apical surface differs from that of intestinal absorptive cells in the lack of a well-organized brush border and the presence of large endocytic domains that function in uptake of macromolecules, particles, and microbes (57, 58). The organization of the apical cytoskeleton in M cells is distinct: The cells generally lack long microvilli with uniform microvillar cores, and the actin-associated protein villin that is confined to such cores in enterocytes is diffusely distributed in M cells (S Kerneis, A Bogdanova, E Colucci-Guyon, J-P Kraehenbuhl, E Pringault, submitted) reflecting their modified microvillar organization and perhaps their ability to respond to adherence of microorganisms with ruffling and phagocytosis.

There is little information about the composition of apical membranes of M cells, but they do have distinct features that can be used as identification markers. M cells lack the uniform thick glycocalyx seen on enterocytes, al-though their apical membranes display abundant glycoconjugates in a cell coat that varies widely in thickness and density (59). M cell membranes contain the glycolipid GM1 and bind cholera toxin, either in soluble form or on small (10–12 nm gold) particles. However, the M cell glycocalyx is sufficient to prevent access of cholera toxin-coated 1-micron particles to the GM1 receptor (A Frey, W Lencer, K Giannasca, R Weltzin, MR Neutra, unpublished data). Alkaline phosphatase, abundant on enterocytes, is often (but not always) reduced or absent on M cells (60, 61). In several species, their surface membrane displays distinct oligosaccharides that may be important for selective M cell adherence of certain enteric pathogens. However, neither the microbial surface molecules that mediate adherence of bacteria or viruses, nor the M cell surface molecules that serve as receptors have been identified.

MEMBRANE GLYCOCONJUGATES Lectins and antibodies have revealed that M cell glycosylation patterns can be used to distinguish them from enterocytes. For example, two lectins (UEA I and WBA II), which recognize a range of carbohydrate structures containing $\alpha(1-2)$ -fucose, selectively stain M cells in the Peyer's patches of BALB/c mice (51, 62, 63). These lectins label M cell apical membranes, and also intracellular vesicles and basolateral membranes, including the pocket domain (51). Other lectin and antibody probes revealed variations in the glycosylation patterns of individual M cells within a single FAE (51). This diversity might expand the possible microbial lectin-M cell interactions of the local FAE and allow the M cells to "sample" a wide variety of microorganisms. Furthermore, glycoconjugates expressed on M cells in other intestinal regions (cecum, appendix, colon, and rectum), in other mouse strains, and in other species including monkey and human (FZhou, P Giannasca, K Giannasca, A Leichtner, M Neutra, unpublished data) are distinct from those in BALB/c mouse Peyer's patches (51, 63–65).

Regional differences in M cell surfaces must be taken into account when designing mucosal vaccines or using region-specific live vectors. There is mounting evidence that the location in which M cell transport and inductive events occur has a profound influence on the subsequent regional distribution of specific IgA plasma cells and IgA secretion (66). This was originally demonstrated in studies using poliovirus: A secretory immune response against poliovirus was demonstrated in the colon but not in the nasopharynx following immunization of the distal colon (67). Other studies showed that secretory immune responses to Sendai virus were concentrated in either the digestive tract or the airways, but not in both, when administration of antigen was carefully restricted either to the stomach or the trachea (68). Similarly, cholera toxin (CT) instilled into proximal intestine, distal intestine, or colon evoked the highest levels of specific antitoxin secretory IgA in the segment of antigen exposure (69). To analyze local IgA responses more precisely, we developed "wicks" made of an absorbent filter material for direct retrieval of secretions associated with mucosal surfaces of the gastrointestinal system and vagina of mice (70). After immunizing mice via different mucosal routes with cholera toxin (70) or with a recombinant Salmonella vector expressing a foreign antigen (71), only the rectal immunization route produced high levels of specific sIgA in the mucus coating the rectum and distal colon. Lymphoid follicles with M cells are particularly numerous in the distal colonic and rectal mucosa of humans (11, 12). The surface characteristics of these M cells are relevant to future design of mucosal vaccines against HIV.

Endocytosis and Transepithelial Transport

Adherent macromolecules or particles bound to the apical plasma membranes of M cells are efficiently endocytosed or phagocytosed (72, 73) and can be released at the pocket membrane within 10–15 min. M cells use multiple endocytic mechanisms for uptake of macromolecules, particles, and microorganisms. Adherent viruses and macromolecules are taken up by adsorptive endocytosis via clathrin-coated pits and vesicles (72). Nonadherent materials are taken up by fluid-phase endocytosis in either coated or uncoated vesicles (74, 75). Large adherent particles and bacteria trigger phagocytosis, involving the extension of cellular processes and the reorganization of the submembrane actin network (76). Each of these uptake mechanisms results in transport of foreign material into endosomal tubules and vesicles and large multivesicular bodies in the M cell apical cytoplasm and to their subsequent release by exocytosis into the pocket. The large vesicles contain the late endosome/lysosome membrane marker lgp120, generate an acidic internal milieu (77), and also contain the endosomal protease cathepsin E (78). Although MHC class II antigens on M cell membranes have been documented in subpopulations of M cells of some species (77), it is not known whether M cells participate in the processing and presentation of antigens.

ONTOGENY OF THE FAE AND M CELLS

Epithelial Renewal in the Intestine

The cells of the FAE, like all intestinal epithelial cells, are derived from stem cells in the crypts. In adult small intestine, each crypt is a clonal unit harboring a ring of anchored stem cells near the crypt base that give rise to multiple cell types that migrate upward in columns onto several adjacent villi (35, 79, 80). The epithelium of each villus is thus derived from several surrounding crypts. Similarly, renewal of the FAE is dependent on the proliferation of cells located in the crypts surrounding the mucosal lymphoid follicles (Figure 3). The follicle-associated crypts are unusual in that they contain two distinct axes of migration/differentiation originating from the same ring of crypt stem cells: Cells on one wall of the crypt differentiate into absorptive enterocytes, goblet cells, and enteroendocrine cells that migrate onto villi, and these cells acquire secretory functions and express receptors for polymeric immunoglobulin while still within the crypt (8). In contrast, cells on the opposite wall of the same crypt fail to express these receptors and move onto the dome where they acquire the features of M cells and distinct follicle-associated enterocytes (46, 59). While still in the crypt, some of these cells show M cell-like lectin-binding patterns (51). As they emerge from the crypt, differentiating M cells begin endocytic activity, fail to assemble brush borders, and acquire intraepithelial lymphocytes and the characteristic pocket.

Induction of M Cells

There is indirect evidence that cell contacts and/or soluble factors from mucosal lymphoid follicles play an important role in induction of FAE and M cells. The fact that the follicle-facing side of follicle-associated crypts shows



Figure 3 Renewal and differentiation of the follicle-associated epithelium in the small intestine. Crypts adjacent to lymphoid follicles contain stem cells that differentiate on one side into absorptive enterocytes, goblet cells, and enteroendocrine cells that migrate onto villi. On the other side of the same crypt, cells differentiate into M cells and distinct follicle-associated enterocytes that migrate into the dome over the lymphoid follicle.

distinct features including lack of Paneth cells. M cell-like glycosylation patterns, and lack of polymeric immunoglobulin receptors suggests that factors from O-MALT may act very early in the differentiation pathway, inducing crypt cells to commit to FAE phenotypes. On the other hand, factors or cells from the follicle or the lumen may also act later, to convert some of the FAE enterocytelike cells to antigen-transporting M cells. The possibility of enterocyte-M cell conversions is supported by the observation that cells with both enterocyte and M cell features are present in FAE (59, 78) and that M cell numbers have been seen to increase within hours after Salmonella challenge (C Nicoletti, personal communication). Intestinal epithelial cells release cytokines in response to bacterial invasion (81); one could therefore imagine that bacterial colonization or invasion of FAE enterocytes results in epithelial cell signal transduction events which influence underlying lymphoid cells, and that the latter cells induce conversion of local enterocytes to the M cell phenotype. It is possible that this induction involves direct lymphocyte-epithelial cell contacts, including lymphocyte migration into the epithelium.

The importance of lymphoid cells in induction of the FAE is supported by the fact that injection of heterologous Peyer's patch cells into the submucosa of normal mice resulted in local assembly of a new lymphoid follicle and de novo appearance of FAE (82). Immunodeficient SCID mice lack mucosal follicles and lack identifiable M cells, but these mice develop follicles with overlying FAE and M cells after reconstitution of O-MALT with Peyer's patch cells from normal mice (83). Heterologous cell preparations enriched in B lymphocytes were most effective in this regard. In contrast, T cell-deficient nude mice have small Peyer's patches with FAE and M cells (84). Induction of O-MALT also follows inflammation: An inflamed ileal mucosa may contain increased O-MALT and an increased number of M cells in the FAE (85). The microflora of the intestinal lumen may influence differentiation of FAE and M cells by inducing assembly of O-MALT. Germ-free mice have a reduced number of Peyer's patches even though they are fully immunocompetent, but lymphoid follicles and M cells increase in number after transfer to a normal animal house environment (86). Repopulating germ-free mice either with a single nonpathogenic microorganism (Clostridium indolis) (S Kerneis, E Pringault, unpublished data) or with a single pathogen (Salmonella typhimurium;-87) was sufficient to restore the normal number of Peyer's patches with FAE-containing M cells. The three-way interaction of epithelium, microorganisms, and lymphoid cells seen in the FAE provides a dramatic demonstration of the phenotypic plasticity of the intestinal epithelium.

EXPLOITATION OF M CELLS BY PATHOGENS

Binding and uptake of enteric microorganisms by M cells appear to allow efficient sampling in inductive sites of the mucosal immune system. Under ideal circumstances, transport by M cells and the resulting secretion of antimicrobial sIgA antibodies limit the intensity or duration of mucosal disease and prevent reinfection (88). However, this mechanism of recognition and transport also increases the risk of infection and disease. Pathogenic microorganisms have developed diverse strategies for invasion via mucosal surfaces, including selective adherence to M cells. Bacteria and viruses that exploit M cell transport activity can rapidly infect the mucosa and/or spread systemically (76). Because distinct sets of biochemical tactics are involved, the interactions of pathogens with M cells vary widely, from simple transit to destruction of the FAE. Viruses are relatively simple molecular packages that rely on adherence to exploit the normal endocytic and transport activities of M cells. Bacteria, in contrast, use more complex strategies; for example, they can enzymatically alter the host cell surface, initiate signal transduction events that promote internalization, and recruit inflammatory cells, which in turn alter the epithelial barrier.

Viruses

Exploitation of M cell transport by viruses was first recognized in REOVIRUS studies of the mouse pathogen reovirus (89). Reovirus is transmitted orally and is processed by digestive proteases in the intestinal lumen. Proteolytic digestion does not inactivate the virus; rather, it remodels the viral outer capsid and activates the virus by releasing the major protein $\sigma 3$, cleaving the $\mu 1c$ protein, and inducing extension of the viral hemagglutinin $\sigma 1$ (90, 91). Studies in our laboratory showed that intraluminal proteolytic processing is also required for M cell adherence (92). Although the M cell adhesin used by reovirus has not been identified, after luminal passage only the protease-resistant outer capsid protein μ 1c and the extended σ 1 protein are available to bind to M cells. Reovirus recognizes mouse M cells not only in the Peyer's patches but also in the colon (93) and the airways (94), and it binds to rabbit as well as mouse M cells. In mice, reovirus uses the M cell to gain access to its target cells, particularly macrophages and neurons, in the mucosa. However, the virus can also invade intestinal epithelial cells from the basolateral side and can infect M cells during or after transport, causing selective loss of M cells from the FAE (95).

POLIOVIRUS Poliovirus type 1 and the attenuated Sabin strain selectively adhere to human M cells (96). The molecular structure and pathogenesis of poliovirus in humans shows some intriguing parallels with reovirus in mice, in that it enters by the oral route and proliferates in Peyer's patches before

spreading systemically (97). The fact that poliovirus exploits M cell transport to cross the epithelial barrier greatly enhances its potential importance as a candidate oral vaccine vector for delivery of foreign antigens in humans, either as live recombinant viral particles (98) or as inert virus-like particles (99). The receptor used by poliovirus to infect neuronal target cells has been identified, cloned, and used to generate transgenic mice that express the receptor and that become infected after injection of virus (100). They are not infected when challenged orally, however, indicating that the virus uses a different, unknown receptor to bind to M cells (V Racaniello, personal communication).

Mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV), MOUSE MAMMARY TUMOR VIRUS a retrovirus that is transmitted to newborn mice via mother's milk, has to cross the intestinal epithelial barrier to infect lymphocytes, a key step for viral spread to the mammary gland (101). Although intestinal absorptive cells in suckling mice are highly endocytic (57) and MMTV proteins are found in all epithelial cells of the gut in pups fed infected milk (102), the earliest indicator of infection is retroviral DNA that is detectable only in the mucosa of Peyer's patches (103). This indicates that the virus first crosses the follicle-associated epithelium and infects Peyer's patch lymphocytes. As early as 5 days after birth, the infection leads to a superantigen response in the Peyer's patches, but not in other lymphoid organs draining the intestine. Later, viral DNA can be detected in mesenteric lymph nodes and finally in all lymphoid organs (103). Recently we have shown that MMTV can infect adult mice via the nasal or the rectal route (D Velin, H Acha-Orbea, J-P Kraehenbuhl, unpublished data). Although M cells have not been directly demonstrated to be the portal of entry of MMTV, the fact that M cells are present in Peyer's patch, nasal, and rectal inductive sites makes it likely that this retrovirus exploits the M cell to cross various epithelial barriers.

HIV Sexual transmission of HIV can occur through unprotected vaginal or anal intercourse, and infection appears to be facilitated by epithelial damage (104). However, studies of SIV transmission in monkeys have established that infection may also occur via either rectal or vaginal mucosae without damage of epithelial linings (105, 106). Therefore, HIV must be able to cross both simple and stratified epithelia. Free HIV as well as virus-infected cells are present in infected human semen (107). Although HIV infection of cultured human epithelial cell lines has been documented (108, 109), there is no clear evidence that normal intestinal enterocytes or vaginal epithelial cells themselves become infected in vivo (110). In human rectum, the presense of M cells over abundant rectal lymphoid follicles is well documented. The possibility that HIV could enter the human rectal mucosa via M cell transport would be greatly increased if the virus were able to adhere to M cell apical membranes. Live, infectious HIV-1 has been shown to adhere to rabbit and mouse M cells in explants of Pever's patch mucosa, and virus was transported into the M cell pocket (111). Although similar studies have not been performed with human mucosa, it seems prudent to assume that M cell transport of HIV could occur in human rectum and that delivery of virus to the M cell intraepithelial pocket could be a rapid and efficient mechanism for infection of the CD4⁺ T cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells that lie within and beneath the epithelium. No M cells have been identified in the vagina and uterus of nonhuman primates or women. However, the stratified vaginal epithelium contains dendritic cells that can be infected, can carry virus to draining lymph nodes and more distant lymphoid organs, and can transfer infection to T cells (31-33). Whether the subepithelial and follicular dendritic cells in mucosal-associated lymphoid tissues play a similar role in HIV infection of rectal mucosa remains to be seen. Mucosal vaccine strategies that elicit secretory antibodies may be an important component of immune protection against sexual transmission of HIV (112). Mucosal anti-HIV vaccines must be designed to interact with local M cells or dendritic cells to achieve an appropriate regional distribution of specific IgA plasma cells and IgA secretion in rectum and cervix.

Bacteria

A wide range of gram-negative bacteria bind selectively to M cells (76). Certain of these, including *Vibrio cholerae* (113, 114) and some strains of *E. coli* (115), are not normally invasive, and M cell transport leads to antigen processing and an immune response but not to mucosal disease. Others including *Salmonella typhi* and *S. typhimurium* (116, 117), *Shigella flexneri* (118), *Yersinia enterocolitica* and *pseudotuberculosis* (119, 120), and *Campylobacter jejuni* (121) exploit M cell transport to infect mucosal tissues or to spread systemically, or both.

ADHERENCE MECHANISMS The attachment of bacteria to eukaryotic cells often requires recognition of oligosaccharides containing specific sugar linkages, as evidenced by the fact that oligosaccharides are typically the strongest inhibitors of bacterial/eukaryotic cell interactions (122, 123). It is reasonable to postulate that carbohydrate-specific mechanisms would also permit certain bacteria to recognize M cells. The demonstrated diversity of M cell surface glycoconjugates may thus modulate the ability of M cells to sample microor-ganisms, allowing M cells to contend with the diversity of organisms in the gut lumen (51). It would also reduce the likelihood that all M cells are targeted by a given pathogen and increase the probability that the epithelial barrier is main-tained during an infection. This would be particularly critical for protection from pathogens such as Salmonella that cause cytopathic effects on M cells.

It is likely that adherence and uptake of all pathogenic bacteria by M cells involves a sequence of molecular interactions including initial recognition of M cell surface oligosaccharides by bacterial adhesins, followed by more intimate associations that could require expression of additional bacterial genes, processing of M cell surface molecules, and recruitment of integral proteins of the M cell membrane to the attachment site. The ultrastructural appearance of various bacterial–M cell interaction sites suggests that a variety of molecular mechanisms may be at play and that different bacteria activate distinct intracellular signaling systems.

Many nonpathogenic Escherichia coli strains found in the intestine do E. COLI not selectively adhere to epithelial cell surfaces. However, certain pathogenic strains do colonize the mucosa and interact with M cells. E. coli strain O:124 associated with the surfaces of rabbit M cells, was taken up and was later released into the intraepithelial pocket (124). The rabbit pathogen E. coli RDEC-1 initially associates with peripheral components of the M cell surface. Later it induces effacement of M cell microvilli/microfolds and formation of stable, intimate adherence sites that appear as "pedestals" supported by submembrane actin assemblies (115), similar to those observed at later times on absorptive enterocytes (125). Such structures are also induced by enteropathogenic E. *coli* (EPEC). The factors responsible for mediating intimate attachment and effacement of microvilli on enterocytes are encoded by the eae gene, which encodes intimin, homologous to Yersinia invasins, and the cfm gene, whose product is believed to subvert host cell signaling pathways (126, 127). Adherence of RDEC-1 to M cells does not result in bacterial uptake, perhaps because involvement of cytoskeletal structures in pedestal formation prevents phagocytosis. Initial M cell adherence may be pilus-mediated: When E. coli pili were expressed in a nonadherent strain of Shigella flexneri, the recombinant strain adhered preferentially to M cells but failed to induce pedestal formation. Instead it was phagocytosed and transported across M cells (128).

VIBRIO CHOLERAE *V. cholerae* form broad areas of very close interaction with M cell apical membranes that result in recruitment of M cell submembrane actin filaments and phagocytosis without damage to the M cell (76). *V. cholerae* is efficiently transported by M cells (113), but uptake by these cells does not cause disease; the bacteria are not equipped to survive in the mucosa or spread systemically. This makes *V. cholerae* an attractive candidate for mucosal vaccine strategies (129). Within the small intestine, *V. cholerae* express a group of coregulated proteins including adhesins that allow them to adhere to epithelia of the proximal small intestine, pili that stabilize colonies on mucosal surfaces, and cholera toxin that induces secretion of chloride ions from intestinal epithelial cells (130). The binding of Vibrios to M cells requires live bacteria in the growth phase (113) but does not require live host cells (131). It is not known whether

the same Vibrio adhesins that mediate intestinal colonization are involved in M cell adherence. In mice, M cell uptake induces specific IgA lymphoblasts in Peyer's patches (114, 132). In humans, this results in a protective mucosal immune response including secretion of IgA antibodies directed against both CT and the outer membrane lipopolysaccharide (LPS), which can be sufficient to prevent subsequent *V. cholerae* colonization and diarrheal disease (133).

The pathogenesis of S. typhimurium in mice following inges-SALMONELLA tion of bacteria involves development of initial foci of infection in small intestinal Peyer's patches (134). S. typhi and typhimurium adhere rapidly and selectively to M cells but also can invade directly through the absorptive villus epithelium (135). The Salmonella adhesins involved in adherence to enterocytes or M cells have not been identified. In the intestine in vivo, Salmonella invades enterocytes through a mechanism that involves disassembly of microvilli, disruption of apical cytoskeleton, and uptake in large membrane-bound vesicles (135). Studies utilizing intestinal cell lines in vitro have shown that invasion is accompanied by activation of intracellular signaling pathways and local cytoplasmic Ca++ spikes that result in cytoskeletal rearrangements, membrane ruffling, and endocytosis of bacteria (136). Signal peptide-independent proteins secreted by Salmonella are involved in the cytoskeletal effects in host cells, and these are shared by other invasive enteric pathogens. The translocation machinery, the secretory proteins, and the chaperones in Salmonella are homologous to their Yersinia and Shigella counterparts (137). Salmonella is also able to activate the EGF receptor and, through phospholipases, to increase the level of leukotrienes that in turn open Ca⁺⁺ channels (136, 138). M cells show a response to Salmonella attachment similar to that of enterocytes, presumably through similar molecular mechanisms. Within 30 minutes after injection into ligated intestinal loops, Salmonella typhimurium induced "ballooning" of the M cell apical surface and rapid uptake of bacteria, followed by degeneration and loss of M cells, which allowed the bacteria even easier access to the underlying mucosa (117).

The ability of *S. typhi* to adhere to M cells and to target themselves into Peyer's patches has been exploited in the use of attenuated strains as oral vaccines against typhoid fever (139). In addition, because of their efficient entry into mucosal inductive sites, multiple genetically engineered *S. typhi* and *typhimurium* strains have been generated and tested as vectors for expression of foreign antigens for mucosal immunization (129, 139). One of the challenges in this strategy has been achieving sufficient attenuation while still preserving M cell adherence and proliferation in the mucosa.

YERSINIA Yersinia is another invasive microorganism that exploits M cells to enter the intestinal mucosa and uses immune cells for systemic spread. Certain Yersinia species that are capable of invading the intestinal mucosa cause enteritis as well as mesenteric lymphadenitis in mammals. In experimental animals, Yersinia adhere preferentially to M cells, and binding is followed by uptake and transcytosis (119, 120). Studies in our laboratory showed that uptake is accompanied by a disruption of M cell apical cytoskeleton and may be followed by sloughing of the FAE (H Amerongen, R Isberg, M Neutra, unpublished data). Yersinia, like Salmonella, can induce drastic changes in the F-actin network of cultured cells. The molecular steps involved include binding to integrins, activation of a tyrosine phosphatase (the Yop E protein), activation of a host protein kinase, and activation of small G proteins (rho and rac) involved in regulation of F actin assembly (140). Some of the secreted proteins are actively injected by Yersinia into host cells (141). Although nothing is known about the mechanism of adherence of Yersinia to M cells in vivo, the pathogenic potential of Yersinia has been related to several virulence factors. The Yersinia genes *inv* and YadA, whose products (invasins) are known to bind to $\beta 1$ integrins, are involved in adherence and invasion of cultured cells (142). Expression of invasins also correlates with the ability of Yersinia to proliferate in Peyer's patches in vivo (143). It is not clear whether receptors on M cells are recognized by these invasins, since integrins are generally present on basolateral but not apical membranes of epithelial cells (144). However, the possible presence of low levels of integrins on M cell apical surfaces has yet not been ruled out. The possibility remains that Yersinia invasins are multifunctional molecules that can interact with M cell surfaces via domains not involved in integrin binding (136).

Shigella are facultative intracellular pathogens responsible for se-SHIGELLA vere damage of the intestinal and colonic mucosa accompanied by loss of epithelial barrier function (145). The organisms infect cells by adhering to the plasma membrane, undergoing phagocytosis, and then disrupting the phagosome membrane to enter the cytoplasm. Once within the host cell cytoplasm, the bacteria proliferate, induce assembly of a "tail" of actin filaments, and are extruded in a cytoplasmic process which is phagocytosed by the neighboring cell, thus repeating the cycle of infection (145). Studies using polarized monolayers of intestinal enterocytes in vitro have shown that as long as epithelial tight junctions are intact, Shigella flexneri is unable to invade via the apical surfaces of enterocytes and can enter only via basolateral membranes (146). In contrast, inoculation of rabbit Peyer's patches with a pathogenic strain of Shigella flexneri, as well as selected nonpathogenic strains, resulted in selective binding and phagocytosis by M cells (118). In experimental shigellosis in vivo, entry of Shigella via M cells occurs early, followed by local invasion of all epithelial cells via basolateral cell surfaces and disruption of the entire FAE (147). Uptake of a virulent strain into Peyer's patches resulted in ulcerations in the FAE, whereas

294 NEUTRA ET AL

mucosal damage was not observed with any avirulent strains. This is consistent with the observation that mucosal ulcerations typically found in Shigella infections of humans are most frequent in the colon and ileum, sites where lymphoid follicles and M cells are relatively numerous. General invasion of the intestinal epithelium is a later event and requires disruption of epithelial tight junctions (147). Shigella challenge studies using cocultures of human enterocyte monolayers and neutrophils have demonstrated that epithelial disruption is mediated by cytokines from inflammatory cells (in particular, neutrophils) that invade the epithelium in response to chemoattractants produced by Shigella (148).

CONCLUSION

All types of epithelia are engaged in providing samples of the external environment to the immune system, while maintaining a selective barrier. They accomplish this either through collaboration with professional antigen-presenting dendritic cells, or by producing a specialized epithelial phenotype, the M cell. Transport by M cells is now widely recognized as an important factor in inducing mucosal immune responses, and in the invasion of the intestinal mucosa by pathogenic microorganisms. The importance of intraepithelial dendritic cells in these phenomena is also receiving increased attention. However, much remains to be learned about the specific molecular recognition systems and nonspecific adherence mechanisms that determine the efficiency of these transport pathways. Research in this area would be greatly facilitated by development of in vitro co-culture systems that replicate the FAE with differentiated M cells, and stratified epithelia with intraepithelial dendritic cells. Information on the interactions of microorganisms with these transpoithelial transport mechanisms could lead to more effective targeting of nonliving vaccines and live microbial vectors containing recombinant proteins or genes to the mucosal immune system.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- McGhee JR, Mestecky J, Dertzbaugh MT, Elgridge JH, Hirasawa M, Kiyono H. 1992. The mucosal immune system: from fundamental concepts to vaccine development. *Vaccine* 10:75–88
- Mestecky J, McGhee JR. 1987. Immunoglobulin A (IgA): molecular and cellular interactions involved in IgA biosyn-

thesis and immune response. Adv. Immunol. 40:153-245

- Kraehenbuhl J-P, Neutra MN. 1992. Molecular and cellular basis of immune protection of mucosal surfaces. *Physiol. Rev.* 72:853–79
- Parr EL, Parr MB. 1992. Immunization for a secretory response in the female repro-

ductive tract. Vaccine Res. 1:221-25

- Strober W, Ehrhardt RO. 1994. Regulation of IgA B cell development. In *Handbook* of *Mucosal Immunology*, ed. PL Ogra, J Mestecky, ME Lamm, et al, pp. 159–76. New York: Academic
- Cebra JJ, Shroff KE. 1994. Peyer's patches as inductive sites for IgA commitment. In *Handbook of Mucosal Immunol*ogy, ed. PL Ogra, J Mestecky, ME Lamm, et al, pp. 151–58. New York: Academic
- Apodaca G, Bomsel M, Arden J, Breitfeld PP, Tang KC, Mostov KE. 1991. The polymeric immunoglobulin receptor. A model protein to study transcytosis. J. Clin. Invest. 87:1877–82
- Kraehenbuhl J-P, Neutra MR. 1992. Transepithelial transport and mucosal defense: secretion of IgA. *Trends Cell Biol*. 2:170–74
- Owen RL, Nemanic P. 1978. Antigen processing structures of the mammalian intestinal tract: an SEM study of lymphoepithelial organs. *Scanning Electron Microsc.* 2:367–78
- Owen RL, Ermak TH. 1992. Structural specializations for antigen uptake and processing in the digestive tract. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 12:139–52
- O'Leary AD, Sweeney EC. 1986. Lymphoglandular complexes of the colon: structure and distribution. *Histopathology* 10:267–83
- Langman JM, Rowland R. 1986. The number and distribution of lymphoid follicles in the human large intestine. J. Anat. 194:189–94
- Brandtzaeg P, Sollid LM, Thrane PS, Kvale D, Bjerke K, Scott H, Kett K, Rognum TO. 1988. Lymphoepithelial interactions in the mucosal immune system. *Gut* 29:1116–30
- Soesatyo M, Biewenga J, Kraal G, Sminia T. 1990. The localization of macrophage subsets and dendritic cells in the gastrointestinal tract of the mouse with special reference to the presence of high endothelial venules. An immuno- and enzyme-histochemical study. *Cell Tissue Res.* 259:587–93
- Lebman DA, Lee FD, Coffman RL. 1990. Mechanism for transforming growth factor β and IL-2 enhancement of IgA expression in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated B cell cultures. J. Immunol. 144:942–59
- Jalkanen S. 1990. Lymphocyte homing into the gut. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 12:153–64
- Waksman BH, Ozer H. 1976. Specialized amplification elements in the immune sys-

tem. The role of nodular lymphoid organs in the mucous membranes. *Prog. Allergy* 21:1–18

- Reynaud CA, MacKay CR, Miller RG, Weill JC. 1991. Somatic generation of diversity in a mammalian primary lymphoid organ: the sheep ileal Peyer's patches. *Cell* 64:995–1006
- Farbman AI. 1988. The oral cavity. In *Cell* and *Tissue Biology*, ed. L Weiss, pp. 573– 94. Baltimore: Urban & Schwartzenberg
- Young WG, Newcomb GM, Hosking AR. 1985. The effect of atrophy, hyperplasia, and keratinization accompanying the estrous cycle on Langerhans' cells in mouse vaginal epithelium. Am. J. Anat. 174:173– 86
- Parr MB, Parr EL. 1990. Antigen recognition in the female reproductive tract. I. Uptake of intraluminal protein tracers in the mouse vagina. J. Reprod. Immunol. 17:101–14
- Parr ME, Parr EL. 1994. Mucosal immunity in the female and male reproductive tracts. In *Handbook of Mucosal Immunol*ogy, ed. PL Ogra, J Mestecky, ME Lamm, et al, pp. 677–90. New York: Academic
- Weinberg DS, Pinkus GS, Murphy GF. 1987. Tonsillar epithelial dendritic cells. Demonstration by lectin binding, immunohistochemical characterization, and ultrastructure. *Lab. Invest.* 56:622–28
- Okato S, Magari S, Yamamoto Y, Sakanaka M, Takahashi H. 1989. An immuno-elecron microscopic study on interactions among dendritic cells, macrophages and lymphocytes in the human palatine tonsil. Arch. Histol. Cytol. 52:231–40
- Parr MB, Parr EL. 1991. Langerhans cells and T lymphocyte subsets in the murine vagina and cervix. *Biol. Reprod.* 44:491– 98
- Miller CJ, McChesney M, Moore PF. 1992. Langerhans cells, macrophages and lymphocyte subsets in the cervix and vagina of rhesus macaques. *Lab. Invest.* 67:628–34
- Holt PG, Schon-Hegrad MA, McMenamin PG. 1990. Dendritic cells in the respiratory tract. *Int. Rev. Immunol.* 6:139–49
- Holt PG, Haining S, Nelson DJ, Sedgwick JD. 1994. Origin and steady-state turnover of class II MHC-bearing dendritic cells in the epithelium of the conducting airways. J. Immunol. 153:256–61
- McWilliam AS, Nelson D, Thomas JA, Holt PG. 1994. Rapid dendritic cell recruitment is a hallmark of the acute inflammatory response at mucosal surfaces. *J. Exp. Med.* 179:1331–36

- Langhoff E, Steinman R. 1989. Clonal expansion of human T lymphocytes initiated by dendrites. J. Exp. Med. 169:315–20
- Pope M, Betjes MGH, Romani N, Hirmand H, Cameron PU, Hoffman L, Gezelter S, Schuler G, Steinman RM. 1994. Conjugates of dendritic cells and memory T lymphocytes from skin facilitate productive infection with HIV-1. *Cell* 78:389–98
- Ayehunie S, Bruzzese AM, Groves RW, Kupper TS, Langhoff E. 1994. HIV-1 transmission by mucosal Langerhans cells, blood dendritic cells, and monocytes in vitro. *Reg. Immunol.* 6:105–11
- Miller C, Vogel P, Alexander NJ, Sutjipto S, Hendrickx AG, Marx PA. 1992. Localization of SIV in the genital tract of chronically infected female rhesus macaques. *Am. J. Pathol.* 141:655–60
- Madara JL, Nash S, Moore R, Atisook K. 1990. Structure and function of the intestinal epithelial barrier in health and disease. *Monogr. Pathol.* 31:306–24
- Gordon JI, Hermiston ML. 1994. Differentiation and self-renewal in the mouse gastrointestinal epithelium. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 6:795–803
- Neutra MR, Kraehenbuhl J-P. 1994. Cellular and molecular basis for antigen transport in the intestinal epithelium. In *Handbook of Mucosal Immunology*, ed. PL Ogra, J Mestecky, ME Lamm, et al, pp. 27–39. New York: Academic
- Neutra MR, Forstner JF. 1987. Gastrointestinal mucus: synthesis, secretion and function. In *Physiology of the Gastrointestinal Tract*, ed. LR Johnson, pp. 975– 1009. New York: Raven
- Ito S. 1974. Form and function of the glycocalyx on free cell surfaces. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London Ser. B* 268:55–66
- Maury J, Nicoletti C, Guzzo-Chambraud I, Maroux S. 1995. The filamentous brush border glycocalyx, a mucin-like marker of enterocyte hyper-polarization. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 228:323–31
- Semenza G. 1986. Anchoring and biosynthesis of stalked brush border membrane glycoproteins. Annu. Rev. Cell. Biol. 2:255–314
- Mayrhofer G, Spargo LD. 1989. Subcellular distribution of class II major histocompatibility antigens in enterocytes of the human and rat small intestine. *Immunol. Cell. Biol.* 67:25–60
- Vidal K, Kaiserlian D, Revillard JP. 1989. Heterogeneity of murine gut epithelium: three subsets defined by expression of dendritic markers. *Reg. Immunol.* 2:360–

65

- Kaiserlian D, Vidal K, Revillard JP. 1989. Murine enterocytes can present soluble antigen to specific class II-restricted CD4⁺T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 19:1513– 16
- Mayer L, Panja A, Li Y, Siden E, Pizzimenti A, Gerardi F, Chandswang N. 1992. Unique features of antigen presentation in the intestine. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 664:39– 46
- Neutra MN, Kraehenbuhl J-P. 1992. Transepithelial transport and mucosal defense. I. The role of M cells. *Trends Cell Biol.* 2:134–38
- Pappo J, Owen RL. 1988. Absence of secretory component expression by epithelial cells overlying rabbit gutassociated lymphoid tissue. *Gastroen*terology 95:1173–77
- Gehrke I, Pabst R. 1990. The epithelium overlying rabbit bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue does not express the secretory component of immunoglobulin. *Cell Tissue Res.* 259:397–99
- Weltzin RA, Lucia Jandris P, Michetti P, Fields BN, Kraehenbuhl J-P, Neutra MR. 1989. Binding and transepithelial transport of immunoglobulins by intestinal M cells: demonstration using monoclonal IgA antibodies against enteric viral proteins. J. Cell Biol. 108:1673–85
- Neutra MR, Phillips TL, Fishkind DJ, Mack JA. 1986. Membrane domains of the intestinal M cell. J. Cell Biol. 103:466a
- Cepek KL, Shaw SK, Parker CM, Russell GJ, Morrow JS, Rimm DL, Brenner MB. 1994. Adhesion between epithelial cells and T lymphocytes mediated by Ecadherin and the alphaE/β7 integrin. Nature 372:190–93
- Giannasca PJ, Giannasca KT, Falk P, Gordon JI, Neutra MR. 1994. Regional differences in glycoconjugates of intestinal M cells in mice: potential targets for mucosal vaccines. Am. J. Physiol. 267:G1108–21
- Ermak TH, Owen RL. 1986. Differential distribution of lymphocytes and accessory cells in mouse Peyer's patches. *Anat. Rec.* 215:144–52
- Jarry A, Robaszkiewicz M, Brousse N, Potet F. 1989. Immune cells associated with M cells in the follicle-associated epithelium of Peyer's patches in the rat. *Cell Tissue Res.* 225:293–98
- Ermak TH, Steger HJ, Pappo J. 1990. Phenotypically distinct subpopulations of T cells in domes and M-cell pockets of rabbit gut-associated lymphoid tissues. *Immunology* 71:530–37

- Farstad IN, Halstensen TS, Fausa O, Brandtzaeg P. 1994. Heterogeneity of M cell-associated B and T cells in human Peyer's patches. *Immunology* 83:457–64
- Spaulding DM, Koopman WJ, Eldridge JH, McGhee JR, Steinman RM. 1983. Accessory cells in murine Peyer's patch. I. Identification and enrichment of a functional dendritic cell. J. Exp. Med. 157:1646–59
- Neutra MR, Wilson JM, Weltzin RA, Kraehenbuhl J-P. 1988. Membrane domains and macromolecular transport in intestinal epithelial cells. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 138:S10–S16
- Ermak TH, Dougherty EP, Bhagat HR, Kabok Z, Pappo J. 1995. Uptake and transport of copolymer biodegradable microspheres by rabbit Peyer's patch M cells. *Cell Tissue Res.* 279:433–36
- Bye WA, Allan CH, Trier JS. 1984. Structure, distribution and origin of M cells in Peyer's patches of mouse ileum. *Gastroenterology* 86:789–801
- Owen RL, Bhalla DK. 1983. Cytochemical analysis of alkaline phosphatase and esterase activities and of lectin-binding and anionic sites in rat and mouse Peyer's patch M cells. Am. J. Anat. 168:199–212
- Smith MW, James PS, Tivey DR, Brown D. 1988. Automated histochemical analysis of cell populations in the intact follicleassociated epithelium of the mouse Peyer's patch. J. Histochem. 20:443–48
- Clark MA, Jepson MA, Simmons NL, Booth TA, Hirst BH. 1993. Differential expression of lectin-binding sites defines mouse intestinal M-cells. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 41:1679–87
- Falk P, Roth KA, Gordon JI. 1994. Lectins are sensitive tools for defining the differentiation programs of epithelial cell lineages in the developing and adult mouse gastrointestinal tract. Am. J. Physiol. 266:G987–G1003
- Gebert A, Hach G. 1993. Differential binding of lectins to M cells and enterocytes in the rabbit cecum. *Gastroenterol*ogy 105:1350–61
- Jepson MA, Clark MA, Simmons NL, Hirst BH. 1993. Epithelial M cells in the rabbit caecal lymphoid patch display distinctive surface characteristics. *Histochemistry* 100:441–47
- 66. Mestecky J, Abraham R, Ogra PL. 1994. Common mucosal immune system and strategies for the development of vaccines effective at mucosal surfaces. In *Handbook of Mucosal Immunology*, ed. PL Ogra, J Mestecky, ME Lamm, et al, pp.

357-72. New York: Academic

- Ogra PL, Karzon DT. 1969. Distribution of poliovirus antibody in serum, nasopharynx and alimentary tract following segmental immunization of lower alimentary tract with poliovaccine. J. Immunol. 102:1423–30
- Nedrud JG, Liang XP, Hague N, Lamm ME. 1987. Combined oral/nasal immunization protects mice from Sendai virus infection. J. Immunol. 139:3484–92
- Pierce FN, Cray WCJ. 1982. Determinants of the localization, magnitude, and duration of a specific mucosal IgA plasma cell response in enterically immunized rats. *J. Immunol.* 128:1311–15
- Haneberg B, Kendall D, Amerongen HM, Apter FM, Kraehenbuhl J-P, Neutra MR. 1994. Induction of secretory immune responses in small intestine, colon-rectum, and vagina measured with a new method for collection of specific IgA from local mucosal surfaces. *Infect. Immun.* 62:15– 23
- Hopkins S, Kraehenbuhl J-P, Schoedel F, Potts A, Peterson D, DeGrandi P, Nardelli-Haefliger D. 1995. A recombinant Salmonella typhimurium vaccine induces local immunity by four different routes of immunization. Infect. Immun. 63:3279–86
- Neutra MR, Phillips TL, Mayer EL, Fishkind DJ. 1987. Transport of membrane-bound macromolecules by M cells in follicle-associated epithelium of rabbit Peyer's patch. *Cell Tissue Res.* 247:537– 46
- Pappo J, Ermak TH. 1989. Uptake and translocation of fluorescent latex particles by rabbit Peyer's patch follicle epithelium: a quantitative model for M cell uptake. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 76:144–48
- Bockman DE, Cooper MD. 1973. Pinocytosis by epithelium associated with lymphoid follicles in the bursa of Fabricius, appendix, and Peyer's patches. An electron microscopic study. Am. J. Anat. 136:455–78
- Owen RL. 1977. Sequential uptake of horseradish peroxidase by lymphoid follicle epithelium of Peyer's patches in the normal unobstructed mouse intestine: an ultrastructural study. *Gastroenterology* 72:440–51
- Neutra MR, Giannasca PJ, Giannasca KT, Kraehenbuhl J-P. 1994. M cells and microbial pathogens. In *Infections of the GI Tract*, ed. M Blaser, P Smith, J Ravdin, H Greenberg. R Guerrat, pp. 163–78. New York: Raven

- Allan CH, Mendrick DL, Trier JS. 1993. Rat intestinal M cells contain acidic endosomal-lysosomal compartments and express Class II major histocompatibility complex determinants. *Gastroenterology* 104:698–708
- Finzi G, Cornaggia M, Capella C, Fiocca R, Bosi F, Solcia E. 1993. Cathepsin E in follicle associated epithelium of intestine and tonsils: localization to M cells and possible role in antigen processing. *Histochemistry* 99:201–11
- Cheng H, Leblond CP. 1974. Origin, differentiation and renewal of the four main intestinal cell types in the mouse small intestine. *Am. J. Anat.* 141:461–562
- Schmidt GH, Wilkinson MM, Ponder BAJ. 1985. Cell migration pathway in the intestinal epithelium: an in situ marker system using mouse aggregation chimeras. *Cell* 40:425–29
- Eckmann L, Kagnoff MF, Fierer J. 1995. Intestinal epithelial cells as watchdogs for the natural immune system. *Trends Microbiol.* 3:118–20
- Kerneis S, Bogdanova A, Kraehenbuhl J-P, Pringault E. 1995. Experimental models for the induction of M cells from intestinal cells. *Eur. J. Cell Biol. Suppl. ECBO Meet.* Abstr. 657
- Savidge TC, Smith MW. 1995. Evidence that membranous (M) cell genesis is immunoregulated. In Advances in Mucosal Immunology, ed. J Mestecky, pp. 239–41. New York: Plenum
- Ermak TH, Owen RL. 1987. Phenotype and distribution of T lymphocytes in Peyer's patches of athymic mice. *Histochemistry* 87:321–25
- Cuvelier CA, Quatacker J, Mielants H, deVos M, Veys E, Roels HJ. 1994. M cells are damaged and increased in number in inflamed human ileal mucosa. *Hist*opathology 24:417–26
- Smith MW, James PS, Tivey DR. 1987. M cell numbers increase after transfer of SPF mice to a normal animal house environment. Am. J. Pathol. 128:385–89
- Savidge TC, Smith MW, James PS, Aldred P. 1991. Salmonella-induced M-cell formation in germ-free mouse Peyer's patch tissue. Am. J. Pathol. 139:177–84
- Neutra MR, Michetti P, Kraehenbuhl J-P. 1994. Secretory immunoglobulin A: structure, synthesis, and function. In *Physiology of the Gastrointestinal Tract*, ed. LR Johnson, pp. 975–1009. New York: Raven. 3rd ed.
- Wolf JL, Rubin DH, Finberg RS, Kauffman RS, Sharpe AH, Trier JS, Fields BN.

1981. Intestinal M cells: a pathway for entry of reovirus into the host. *Science* 212:471–72

- Nibert ML, Furlong DB, Fields BN. 1991. Mechanisms of viral pathogenesis. J. Clin. Invest. 88:727–34
- Bodkin DK, Nibert ML, Fields BN. 1989. Proteolytic digestion of reovirus in the intestinal lumen of neonatal mice. J. Virol. 63:4676–81
- Amerongen HM, Wilson G, Fields BN, Neutra MR. 1994. Proteolytic processing of reovirus is required for adherence to intestinal M cells. J. Virol. 68:8428–32
- Owen RL, Bass DM, Piazza AJ. 1990. Colonic lymphoid patches. A portal of entry in mice for type I reovirus administered anally. *Gastroenterology* 98:A468
- Morin MJ, Warner A, Fields BN. 1994. A pathway for entry of reoviruses into the host through M cells of the respiratory tract. J. Exp. Med. 180:1523–27
- Bass DM, Trier JS, Dambrauskas R, Wolf JL. 1988. Reovirus type 1 infection of small intestinal epithelium in suckling mice and its effect on M cells. *Lab. In*vest. 55:226–35
- Sicinski P, Rowinski J, Warchol JB, Jarzcabek Z, Gut W, Szczygiel B, Bielecki K, Koch G. 1990. Poliovirus type 1 enters the human host through intestinal M cells. *Gastroenterology* 98:56–58
- Bodian D. 1955. Emerging concept of poliovirus infection. *Science* 122:105–8
- Choi WS, Pal-Ghosh R, Morrow CD. 1991. Expression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) gag, pol, and env proteins from chimeric HIV-1-poliovirus minireplicons. J. Virol. 65:2875–83
- Ansardi DC, Porter DC, Morrow CD. 1991. Coinfection with recombinant vaccinia viruses expressing poliovirus P1 and P3 proteins results in polyprotein processing and formation of empty capsic structures. J. Virol. 65:2088–92
- Mendelsohn CL, Wimmer E, Racaniello VR. 1989. Cellular receptor for poliovirus: molecular cloning, nucleotide sequence, and expression of a new member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. *Cell* 56:855–65
- Bittner JJ. 1942. The milk influence of breast tumors in mice. *Science* 95:462–63
- Bevilacqua G, Marchetti A, Biondi R. 1989. Ultrastructural features of the intestinal absorption of mouse mammary tumor virus in newborn BALB/cfRIII mice. Gastroenterology 96:139–45
- 103. Karapetian O, Shakhov AN, Kraehenbuhl
J-P, Acha Orbea H. 1994. Retroviral infection of neonatal Peyer's patch lymphocytes: the mouse mammary tumor virus model. *J. Exp. Med.* 180:1511–16

- Surawicz CM, Goodell SE, Quinn TC, Roberto PL, Corey L, Holmes KK, Schuffler MD, Stamm WE. 1986. Spectrum of rectal biopsy abnormalities in homosexual men with intestinal symptoms. *Gastroenterology* 91:651–59
- 105. Miller CJ, Alexander NJ, Sutjipto S, Lackner AA, Gettie A, Hendrickx AG, Lowenstine LJ, Jennings M, Marx PA. 1989. Genital mucosal transmission of simian immunodeficiency virus: animal model for heterosexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus. J. Virol. 63:4277–84
- 106. Miller C, Alexander N, Sutjipto S, Joye S, Hendrickx A, Jennings M, Marx P. 1990. Effect of virus dose and Nonoxynol-9 on the genital transmission of SIV in rhesus macaques. J. Med. Primatol. 19:401–9
- 107. Anderson DJ, Politch JA, Martinez A, VanVoorhis BJ, Padian NS, O'Brien TR. 1991. White blood cells and HIV-1 in semen from vasectomized seropositive men. *Lancet* 338:573–74
- 108. Adachi A, Kownig S, Gendelman HE, Daugherty D, Gattoni-Celli S, Fauci AS, Martin MA. 1987. Productive, persistent infection of human colorectal cell lines with human immunodeficiency virus. J. Virol. 61:209–13
- Bourinbaiar AS, Phillips DM. 1991. Transmission of human immunodeficiency virus from monocytes to epithelia. J. Acquired Immune Defic. Syndr. 4:56–63
- 110. Fox CH, Kotler D, Tierney A, Wilson CS, Fauci AS. 1989. Detection of HIV-1 RNA in the lamina propria of patients with AIDS and gastrointestinal disease. J. Infect. Dis. 159:467–71
- 111. Amerongen HM, Weltzin RA, Farnet CM, Michetti P, Haseltine WA, Neutra MR. 1991. Transepithelial transport of HIV-1 by intestinal M cells: a mechanism for transmission of AIDS. J. Acquired Immune Defic. Syndr. 4:760–65
- Forrest BD. 1992. The need for consideration of mucosal immunity in vaccine approaches to AIDS. *Vaccine Res.* 1:137–42
- 113. Owen RL, Pierce NF, Apple RT, Cray WCJ. 1986. M cell transport of *Vibrio cholerae* from the intestinal lumen into Peyer's patches: a mechanism for antigen sampling and for microbial transepithelial migration. J. Infect. Dis. 153:1108–18
- 114. Winner LS III, Mack J, Weltzin RA,

Mekalanos JJ, Kraehenbuhl J-P, Neutra MR. 1991. New model for analysis of mucosal immunity: Intestinal secretion of specific monoclonal immunoglobulin A from hybridoma tumors protects against *Vibrio cholerae* infection. *Infect. Immun.* 59:977–98

- 115. Inman LR, Cantey JR. 1983. Specific adherence of *Escherichia coli* (strain RDEC-1) to membranous (M) cells of the Peyer's patch in *Escherichia coli* diarrhea in the rabbit. *J. Clin. Invest.* 71:1–8
- 116. Kohbata S, Yokobata H, Yabuuchi E. 1986. Cytopathogenic effect of Salmonella typhi GIFU 10007 on M cells of murine ileal Peyer's patches in ligated ileal loops: An ultrastructural study. *Microbiol. Immunol.* 30:1225–37
- 117. Jones BD, Ghori N, Falkow S. 1994. Salmonella typhimurium initiates murine infection by penetrating and destroying the specialized epithelial M cells of the Peyer's patches. J. Exp. Med. 180:15–23
- Wassef JS, Keren DF, Mailloux JL. 1989. Role of M cells in initial antigen uptake and in ulcer formation in the rabbit intestinal loop model of Shigellosis. *Infect. Immun.* 57:858–63
- 119. Grutzkau A, Hanski C, Hahn H, Riecken EO. 1990. Involvement of M cells in the bacterial invasion of Peyer's patches: a common mechanism shared by *Yersinia enterocolitica* and other enteroinvasive bacteria. *Gut* 31:1011–15
- Fujimura Y, Kihara T, Mine H. 1992. Membranous cells as a portal of *Yersinia* pseudotuberculosis entry into rabbit ileum. J. Clin. Electron Microsc. 25:35– 45
- 121. Walker RI, Schauder-Chock EA, Parker JL. 1988. Selective association and transport of *Campylobacter jejuni* through M cells of rabbit Peyer's patches. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 34:1142–47
- Ofek I, Sharon N. 1988. Lectinophagocytosis: a molecular mechanism of recognition between cell surface sugars and lectins in the phagocytosis of bacteria. *Infect. Immun.* 56:539–47
- 123. Hultgren SJ, Abraham S, Caparon M, Falk P, St. Geme JW III, Normark S. 1993. Pilus and nonpilus adhesins: assembly and function in cell recognition. *Cell* 73:887–901
- Uchida J. 1987. An ultrastructural study on active uptake and transport of bacteria by microfold cells (M cells) to the lymphoid follicles in the rabbit appendix. J. Clin. Electron Microsc. 20:379–94
- 125. Knutton S, Lloyd DR, McNeish AS.

1987. Adhesion of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* to human intestinal enterocytes and cultured human intestinal mucosa. *Infect. Immun.* 55:69–77

- 126. Rosenshine I, Donnenberg MS, Kaper JB, Finlay BB. 1992. Signal transduction between enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (EPEC) and epithelial cells: EPEC induce tyrosine phosphorylation of host cell proteins to initiate cytoskeletal rearrangement and bacterial uptake. *EMBO J.* 11:3551–60
- 127. McDaniel TK, Jarvis KG, Donnenberg MS, Kaper JB. 1995. A genetic locus of enterocyte effacement conserved among diverse enterobacterial pathogens. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:1664–68
- 128. Inman LR, Cantey JR. 1984. Peyer's patch lymphoid follicle epithelial adherence of a rabbit enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (strain RDEC-1). Role of plasmid-mediated pili in initial adherence. *J. Clin. Invest.* 74:90–95
- 129. Mekalanos JJ. 1992. Bacterial mucosal vaccines. In Genetically Engineered Vaccines. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol., ed. JE Ciardi, JR McGhee, JM Kieth, pp. 43–50. New York: Plenum
- Miller JF, Mekalanos JJ, Falkow S. 1989. Coordinate regulation and sensory transduction in the control of bacterial virulence. *Science* 243:916–21
- 131. Yamamoto T, Kamano T, Uchimura M, Iwanaga M, Yokota T. 1988. Vibrio cholerae O1 adherence to villi and lymphoid follicle epithelium: in vitro model using formalin-treated human small intestine and correlation between adherence and cell-associated hemagglutinin levels. Infect. Immun. 56:3241–50
- 132. Apter FM, Lencer WI, Finkelstein RA, Mekalanos JJ, Neutra MR. 1993. Monoclonal IgA antibodies directed against cholera toxin B subunit prevent the toxininduced chloride secretory response and block toxin binding to epithelial cells in vitro. Infect. Immun. 61:5271–78
- 133. Levine MM, Nalin DR, Craig JP, Hoover D, Bergquist EJ, Waterman D, Preston Holley H, Hornick RB, Pierce NP, Libonati JP. 1988. Immunity to cholera in man: Relative role of antibacterial versus antitoxic immunity. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 73:3–9
- Carter PB, Collins FM. 1974. The route of enteric infection in normal mice. J. Exp. Med. 139:1189–203
- Takeuchi A. 1967. Electron microscope studies of experimental Salmonella infec-

tion. I. Penetration into the intestinal epithelium by *Salmonella typhimurium*. *Am. J. Pathol.* 50:109–36

- Bliska JB, Galan JE, Falkow S. 1993. Signal transduction in the mammalian cell during bacterial attachment and entry. *Cell* 73:903–20
- Menard R, Sansonetti P, Parsot C, Vasselon T. 1994. Extracellular association and cytoplasmic partitioning of the ipab and ipac invasins of s-flexneri. *Cell* 79:515–25
- Galan JE. 1994. Salmonella entry into mammalian cells: different yet converging signal transduction pathways? *Trends Cell Biol.* 4:196–99
- 139. Levine MM, Hone D, Tacket C, Ferreccio C, Cryz S. 1990. Clinical and field trials with attenuated Salmonella typhi as live oral vaccines and as "carrier" vaccines. *Res. Microbiol.* 141:807–16
- Cornelis GR. 1994. Yersinia pathogenicity factors. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 192:243–63
- Sory MP, Cornelis GR. 1994. Translocation of a hybrid YopE-adenylate cyclase from *Yersinia enterocolitica* into HeLa cells. *Mol. Microbiol.* 14:583–94
- 142. Isberg RR, Leong JM. 1988. Cultured mammalian cells attach to the invasin protein of Yersinia pseudotuberculosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85:6682–86
- Pepe JC, Miller VL. 1993. Yersinia enterocolitica invasin: A primary role in the initiation of infection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:6473–77
- Hynes RO. 1992. Integrins: versatility, modulation and signalling in cell ahhesion. *Cell* 69:11–25
- Sansonetti PJ. 1991. Genetic and molecular basis of epithelial cell invasion by Shigella species. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 13:285– 92
- 146. Mounier J, Vasselon T, Hellio R, Lesourd M, Sansonetti PJ. 1992. *Shigella flexneri* enters human colonic Caco-2 cells through the basolatereal pole. *Infect. Immun.* 60:237–48
- 147. Perdomo JJ, Cavaillon JM, Huerre M, Ohayon H, Gounon P, Sansonetti PJ. 1994. Acute inflammation causes epithelial invasion and mucosal destruction in experimental Shigellosis. J. Exp. Med. 180:1307–19
- 148. Perdomo JJ, Gounon P, Sansonetti PJ. 1994. Polymorphonuclear leukocyte transmigration promotes invasion of colonic epithelial monolayers by *Shigella flexneri*. J. Clin. Invest. 93:633–43



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Slockman, James P. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 450 |
| Steckman, Junes K. Gorman, Treaenck W. Au | 439 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and | 640 |
| nisignis, Albert S. Dalawin Jr. | 049 |

REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease

Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, and Walter Reith

Jeantet Laboratory of Molecular Genetics, Department of Genetics and Microbiology, University of Geneva Medical School, 1211 Geneva, Switzerland

KEY WORDS: MHC class II deficiency, bare lymphocyte syndrome (BLS), gene regulation, RFX, CIITA, antigen presentation

ABSTRACT

Precise regulation of major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC-II) gene expression plays a crucial role in the control of the immune response. A major breakthrough in the elucidation of the molecular mechanisms involved in MHC-II regulation has recently come from the study of patients that suffer from a primary immunodeficiency resulting from regulatory defects in MHC-II expression. A genetic complementation cloning approach has led to the isolation of CIITA and RFX5, two essential MHC-II gene transactivators. CIITA and RFX5 are mutated in these patients, and the wild-type genes are capable of correcting their defect in MHC-II expression. The identification of these regulatory factors has furthered our understanding of the molecular mechanisms that regulate MHC-II genes. CIITA was found to be a non-DNA binding transactivator that functions as a molecular switch controlling both constitutive and inducible MHC-II expression. The finding that RFX5 is a subunit of the nuclear RFX-complex has confirmed that a deficiency in the binding of this complex is indeed the molecular basis for MHC-II deficiency in the majority of patients. Furthermore, the study of RFX has demonstrated that MHC-II promoter activity is dependent on the binding of higher-order complexes that are formed by highly specific cooperative binding interactions between certain MHC-II promoter-binding proteins. Two of these proteins belong to families of which the other members, although capable of binding to the same DNA motifs, are probably not directly involved in the control of MHC-II expression. Finally, the facts that CIITA and RFX5 are both essential

302 MACH ET AL

and highly specific for MHC-II genes make possible novel strategies designed to achieve immunomodulation via transcriptional intervention.

FUNCTIONAL IMPORTANCE OF MHC CLASS II REGULATION

Function of MHC Class II Molecules

MHC class II (MHC-II) genes were first described as immune response (Ir) genes (1) constituting the genetic basis for high and low immunological responsiveness to certain antigens. Since the first cloning of MHC-II genes in humans, a great deal has been learned about the diversity and function of MHC-II molecules. They are heterodimeric transmembrane glycoproteins consisting of α and β chains. The different MHC-II isotypes (HLA-DR, -DQ and -DP in humans; IE and IA in mice) are encoded by distinct α chain (A) and β chain (B) genes (2). In addition to the existence of these multiple genes, the genetic diversity of the MHC-II system is characterized by an extensive degree of allelic polymorphism. More than 100 alleles for example are now recognized at the HLA-DRB1 locus.

MHC-II molecules are responsible for antigen-specific activation of CD4⁺ T helper lymphocytes. MHC-II heterodimers are transported, in association with the invariant (Ii) chain, to a specific endocytic compartment where their polymorphic peptide binding groove is loaded with peptides derived from processed exogenous protein antigens (3). The products of the nonclassical HLA-DMA and -DMB class II genes are essential for this peptide loading step (4, 5). The MHC-II peptide complex is then transported to the cell surface where its recognition by the TCR of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes leads to allele- and peptide-specific T cell activation. Activation of T cells can also be induced by their recognition of MHC-II molecules associated with superantigens (6, 7). In addition to their role in T cell activation, processes within the MHC-II positive cell (8). This can be triggered by interaction with the TCR, superantigens, and probably other unknown ligands.

MHC Class II Regulation and the Control of the Immune Response

Expression of MHC-II genes is very tightly regulated. In contrast to the ubiquitous expression of MHC class I (MHC-I) molecules, MHC-II molecules are generally expressed on only a small number of specialized cells. Two distinct modes of expression are recognized; certain cells express MHC-II genes constitutively; in other MHC-II negative cell types, their expression can be induced. Constitutive MHC-II expression is largely restricted to professional antigen presenting cells (APC), including B lymphocytes, dendritic cells such as Langerhans cells, and various other cells of the monocyte-macrophage lineage. Under most normal conditions, the different MHC-II A and B genes are all regulated in a coordinated fashion.

Given the essential function of MHC-II molecules in T cell activation (9), the molecular mechanisms regulating their complex expression profile obviously represent an important parameter in the normal physiological control of the immune response. In addition, defects in the regulation of MHC-II expression can have profound immunopathological consequences: A lack of MHC-II expression is known to result in severe immunodeficiency (10, 11), and ectopic or pathological upregulation of MHC-II expression (12) has been suggested to lead to the aberrant T cell activation observed in certain autoimmune diseases (13, 14). Consequently, the elucidation of the biochemical and genetic mechanisms that control the regulation of MHC-II gene expression represents a major challenge in molecular immunology and immunopathology.

Modulation of MHC Class II Expression

Expression of MHC-II molecules can be fine-tuned by a large number of different stimuli. A detailed discussion of the agents known to modulate MHC-II expression has been reviewed elsewhere (15, 16). A concise summary is difficult to make because different cell types exhibit different patterns of responses, and these responses can be strongly influenced by parameters such as the concentration, sequence of addition, and timing of exposure to the modulators, the stage of differentiation and maturation of the target cells, and differences in the sublines of the cultured cells examined. However, the major points can be summarized as follows. (a) Constitutive or basal expression within MHC-II positive cell lineages is regulated as a function of developmental stage and can be further modulated by a number of stimuli, including immune and neuroendocrine mediators. For example, in B lymphocytes the most effective upregulators are IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13 (17-20), while downregulation can be mediated by prostaglandins and glucocorticoids (15, 16). GM-CSF is a powerful inducer in dendritic cells (21, 22). (b) MHC-II expression can be induced or enhanced by IFN- γ in a variety of cell types, including cells of the macrophage-monocyte lineage, endothelial cells, epithelial cells, fibroblasts, and muscle cells. IFN- γ -induced MHC-II expression can in turn be upregulated (IL-4, TNF- α) or downregulated (TGF- β , CSF-1, IFN- α and - β) by other stimuli (15, 16, 23). The same modulator can have opposite effects in different target cells. For example, IL-10 upregulates MHC-II expression in B lymphocytes (19) but inhibits basal and IFN- γ induced expression in monocytes (24). (*c*) An emerging concept is that modulation of MHC-II expression can also be mediated by direct cell-to-cell contact. For instance, CD40-CD40L and CD5-CD72 interactions upregulate MHC-II expression in B lymphocytes and dendritic cells (22, 25, 26), suggesting that this may occur via contact with T cells, and MHC-II expression on endothelial cells can be induced by contact with NK cells (27).

THE MHC CLASS II PROMOTER

Cis-Acting Elements

Expression of MHC-II genes is regulated primarily at the level of transcription. The main control element regulating transcription is a highly conserved 150 bp promoter proximal region situated upstream of the transcription initiation site. Although additional promoter distal regulatory elements have also been described in certain MHC-II genes (28-32), the promoter proximal region is sufficient to confer both constitutive and inducible expression in transient transfection experiments (15, 33, 34). This promoter proximal region contains sequence motifs called the S, X, X2, and Y boxes (Figure 1). Their sequences, orientations, relative positions, and spacing are conserved in all of the α and β chain genes in all species that have been examined (15, 33, 34, and references therein), including the recently isolated zebra fish MHC-II genes (35, 36). The same promoter structure is also conserved in genes known to be coregulated with MHC-II, namely the HLA-DM genes (37) and the invariant (Ii) chain gene (38, 39). The 7-bp S box (also called the H box) is situated within a 30-bp region referred to as W or Z (Figure 1). The Y box contains an inverted CCAAT sequence (Figure 1). Depending on the gene, the X2 box resembles either a cAMP responsive element (CRE) or a TPA responsive element (TRE) (Figure 1). The X box has recently been redefined as an imperfect inverted repeat related to a cis-acting element (EF-C or MDBP site) found in several cellular genes and viral enhancers (40, 41). The most conserved region of the X box corresponds to one half-site of the EF-C/MDBP palindrome, while the second half-site lies within a pyrimidine-rich region situated adjacent to the 5' end of the X box (Figure 1).

The functional role of the S, X, X2, and Y boxes has been established by a large number of transient transfection experiments (see references in 15, 33, 34) and, to a lesser extent, with the use of transgenic mice (42, 43) and in vitro transcription experiments (44–49). In addition, several studies have addressed the possibility that naturally occurring polymorphisms within these *cis*-acting elements may account for allelic differences in the expression levels of individual MHC-II genes (50, 51). Although the relative contributions of



Figure 1 Sequence alignment of the conserved S, X, X2, and Y box *cis*-acting elements present in all MHC-II promoters. The sequences shown are from the human *HLA-DRA*, *-DRB1*, *-DRB3*, *-DQA*, *-DQB*, *-DPA*, and *-DPB* genes, from the zebra fish (Brre) *DEB* and *DEA* genes, and from the human *Ii*, *DMA*, and *DMB* genes. The S box, also called H, is found within a 30-bp region also referred to as W or Z. There is a pyrimidine-rich region (py) immediately upstream of the X box. Consensus sequences for the S box, the EF-C/MDBP site overlapping the py region and X box, the TRE and CRE elements corresponding to the X2 box, and the inverted CCAAT present in the Y box are indicated below. Nucleotides matching these consensus sequences are underlined. The orientation of the Y box in the Ii gene promoter is inverted with respect to the Y boxes of the other genes. Numbers indicate the distance in bp between the sequences shown, and (where it is known) the position upstream of the transcription initiation site.

the different *cis*-acting elements vary from one system to another, a remarkably consistent and coherent picture has emerged; irrespective of the system analyzed (human or mouse, MHC-II gene, cell type, constitutive and inducible modes of expression, modulation by various stimuli), the MHC-II promoter behaves as a single functional unit in which the S, X, X2, and Y boxes all contribute to optimal promoter activity. This is further emphasized by observations indicating that the individual *cis*-acting elements are functionally dependent on each other. First, the highly conserved spacing and stereospecific alignment between the S, X, X2, and Y boxes are essential for promoter activity (52-54). Second, the different MHC-II promoter elements have little activity on their own, even when multimerized, but they activate transcription synergistically when combined (see, for example, 49, 55). Finally, in vivo occupation of the X, X2, and Y boxes by their cognate DNA binding proteins appears to be controlled in a coordinated manner; all three boxes are occupied in MHC-II positive B cells and IFN- γ -induced cells, but unoccupied in uninduced MHC-II negative cells (39, 56-59).

In addition to the basic regulatory module constituted by the S, X, X2, and Y boxes, a number of *cis*-acting elements present only in certain MHC-II promoters, particularly the DRA promoter, have been described (47, 58–64). Given the fact that MHC-II genes are in general coregulated via the shared S, X, X2, and Y boxes, it is likely that such gene-specific elements play only an accessory role, for instance in enhancing the constitutive level of DRA expression in B cells.

DNA Binding Proteins

In the hope of isolating trans-acting factors controlling transcription of MHC-II genes, a large number of site-specific DNA binding proteins have been identified by in vitro binding assays and/or cloned by either affinity purification or screening of λ gt11 cDNA expression libraries (Table 1). These approaches are based solely on the affinity of a DNA binding protein for a specific target sequence. For a number of reasons, this does not guarantee the identification and isolation of functionally relevant regulatory factors. First, the DNA fragments used may fortuitously contain potential protein binding sites that in fact do not function as cis-acting regulatory elements in vivo. Second, DNA binding proteins frequently belong to large families of related proteins that exhibit identical or similar target site specificities in vitro, yet have different functions in vivo. Finally, individual transcription factors do not necessarily require high affinity target sites within the regulatory regions that they control because their binding can be stabilized by cooperative interactions with other proteins binding to adjacent sites. It is therefore unlikely that all of the DNA binding proteins identified and cloned on the basis of their affinity for the S, X, X2, and Y boxes are actually MHC-II gene regulatory factors. In fact, evidence supporting a functional role for many of these proteins is weak or indirect (Table 1). In several instances, evidence for a functional role relies exclusively on a correlation between the expression of the factor and the expression of MHC-II genes, or between the effect of promoter mutations on the activity of the promoter and the affinity of the factor for its binding site [Table 1; NF-X (45), NF-X2 (65, 66), NF-J (67), IFNEX (68–70), TIC-X (68–70), HB16 (71)]. For other factors, additional functional evidence relies on antisense experiments [Table 1; RFX1 (72), hXBP1 (73), c-Fos (74), clone 18 (75)] or on overexpression of the factor in transfected cells [Table 1; YB-1(76), NF-X1 (77)].

Both types of experiment may lead to erroneous conclusions, particularly when dealing with proteins belonging to families of related factors; overexpression of a DNA binding protein may for example cause it to bind to and sequester another crucial regulatory factor or may force an interaction with the promoter that would normally not occur at physiological concentrations. Antisense experiments are difficult to interpret because the effect on promoter activity could be indirect. It could for example result from an inhibition of the synthesis of another highly homologous *trans*-acting factor. Consequently, for many of the proteins, definitive conclusions concerning a functional role in transcription of MHC-II genes will have to await the results of genetic approaches such as knockout experiments.

Three of the MHC-II promoter binding complexes, RFX, NF-Y, and X2BP, are particularly relevant to the regulation of MHC-II genes (Table 1 and Figure 2). (a) RFX is a ubiquitously expressed heteromeric nuclear complex that binds to the X box of MHC-II promoters (78). Direct functional evidence for a crucial role of RFX in MHC-II gene expression has been provided by in vitro transcription experiments and by the elucidation of the molecular defect affecting certain MHC-II regulatory mutants (see below). RFX belongs to a novel family of related DNA binding proteins of which the other members (Table 1; RFX1-RFX4) (41, 79) are probably not involved in the control of MHC-II gene transcription. (b) The ubiquitously expressed Y box binding complex NF-Y (also called YEBP or CBF) is a heteromeric CCAAT binding protein of which three subunits have been cloned in various species (80, 81). In vitro transcription experiments have provided strong evidence that NF-Y is a transcription factor for multiple cellular genes, including MHC-II genes (48, 82, 83). In addition, NF-Y binds cooperatively with RFX (see below) (54). (c) The X2 box binding complex X2BP is a heteromeric nuclear protein of which the subunits have not yet been cloned (84, 85). However, it is distinct from other cloned X2 box binding proteins belonging to the Jun/Fos and ATF/CREB families (85). Although no direct functional evidence exists, a role in MHC-II

Table 1 Nuclear complexes and cloned proteins binding to the MHC class II promoter

| X box | Promoters ^a | Characteristic features and comments | Suggested function ^b | References |
|-------------------------------------|--|---|-------------------------------------|---|
| RFX (X-A) ^c | DRA, DPA DRB1, DRB3 DQA, Eα | Nuclear complex, ubiquitous, absent in MHC-II regulatory mutants, at least two subunits (p75 and p36), p75 is RFX5, binds cooperatively with NF-Y and X2BP to all MHC-II promoters tested, essential activator of MHC-II. DM and Ii | <u>ACT</u> : IVT, BLS, BSM | 49, 54, 55, 78, 85, 101, 102, 103, 109 |
| RFX5 | DRA | Cloned, fifth member of the RFX family, is the p75 subunit of the RFX complex, ubiquitous, mutated in all BLS patients from group C, essential activator of MHC-II, DM and Ii | <u>ACT</u> : BLS | 109 |
| NF-X (NF-Xc) ^c | E α , E β , A α A β , DRA | Nuclear complex, ubiquitous, probably represents the cloned RFX1-3 proteins | <u>ACT</u> : BSM | 41, 45, 66, 132 |
| RFX1-4 | DRA, DPA DQA, Εα | Cloned, family of proteins with characteristic DNA binding and dimerization domains, bind as homo- or heterodimers to inverted repeats known as EF-C or MDBP sites, RFX1-3 probably correspond to NF-X | <u>ACT</u> : AS and BSM for RFX1 | 40, 41, 72, 79, 132 |
| TRAX1 | DRA | Nuclear complex, distinct from RFX and NF-X | <u>ACT</u> : IVT | 133 |
| NF-X1 | DQB, DPB, DRA, DPA DRB, DQA | Cloned, cysteine rich DNA binding protein, enhanced by IFN- γ after a long time lag | <u>REP</u> : CE, TF | 77 |
| Y box | Promoters ^a | Characteristic features and comments | Suggested function ^b | References |
| NF-Y (YEBP, CBF) ^c | All tested | Ubiquitous, CCAAT binding factor, binds cooperatively with RFX, activator for numerous genes, including MHC-II genes, three subunits are cloned | <u>ACT</u> : IVT, BSM, DN | 48, 54, 80, 81, 82, 83 |
| YB-1 | DRA, DQB DRB, Ii | Cloned, member of a large multigene family, low binding specificity | <u>REP</u> : TF, CE | 76, 134 |

(Continued)

 Table 1 (Continued)

| X2 box | Promoters ^a | Characteristic features and comments | Suggested function ^b | References | |
|-----------------------------|-------------------------|--|---------------------------------|--------------------|--|
| X2BP (X2bp) ^c | DRA, DPB, DRB1, DRB3 | Nuclear complex, ubiquitous, binds <u>ACT</u> : BSM cooperatively with RFX To all promoters tested, distinct from CREB-1, CREB-2, CREM-1, ATF-2, ATF-3, c-Fos, c-Jun, hXB1 | | 55, 84, 85, 135 | |
| NF-X2 | DRA | Nuclear complex, probably corresponds to AP1 (c-Jun/c-Fos) | <u>REP</u> : CE, BSM | 65, 66 | |
| IFNEX | DRA, RT1Bα | Nuclear complex, induced by IFN- γ only in primary astrocytes and microglial cells | <u>ACT</u> : CE | 68, 69, 70 | |
| TIC-X | DRA, RT1B α | Nuclear complex, induced by IFN- γ + TNF- α only in primary astrocytes | <u>ACT</u> : CE | 68, 69, 70 | |
| hXBP1 | Aα, DRA DPB | Cloned, b-Zip protein, perference for TRE sites, can heterodimerize with c-Fos | <u>ACT</u> : AS | 73, 74, 136 | |
| HB16 | Αα | Cloned, b-Zip protein, perference for CRE sites, can heterodimerize with c-Jun | <u>ACT</u> : BSM | 71 | |
| mXBP (ATF2) ^c | Αα | Cloned, b-Zip protein, perference for CRE sites, can heterodimerize with c-Jun | <u>ACT</u> | 137 | |
| S box | Promoters ^a | Characteristic features and comments | Suggested function ^b | References | |
| W-B1/W-B2 NF-Zc/NF-Z2 | DRA | Nuclear complexes, can also interact with X box of DRA | <u>ACT</u> , BSM | 66, 138 | |
| NF-J | DPA, DQB | Nuclear complex, binds to both <i>S</i> and 'J' motifs | <u>ACT</u> , BSM | 67 | |
| Clone 18 | DPA | Cloned, zinc finger protein, binds to both S and 'J' motifs | <u>ACT</u> , AS | 75 | |

^aPromoters to which binding has been demonstrated.

^bFunctional evidence for a role in activation (<u>ACT</u>) or repression (<u>REP</u>) of MCH-II genes: IVT, in vitro transcription; BLS, deficient or mutated in BSL patients; BSM, effect of binding site mutations on promoter activity; AS, antisense; TF, effect of overexpression in transfected cells; CE, correlation between expression of the factor and expression of the MHC-genes; DN, dominant negative mutants.

^cAlternative name.

gene expression is strongly suggested by the fact that, like NF-Y, X2BP binds cooperatively with RFX (see below) (55, 85).

In conclusion, a large number of site-specific DNA binding proteins interacting in vitro with the S, X, X2, and Y boxes of MHC-II promoters have been described. Although a role in controlling MHC-II gene expression can currently not be formally excluded for any of these factors, functional evidence supporting this is in many instances lacking. The two proteins (RFX and NF-Y) for which direct functional evidence does exist are both expressed ubiquitously in all cell types, irrespective of the status of MHC-II expression. Consequently, the identification and isolation of putative regulatory factors on the basis of their ability to bind in vitro to the *cis*-acting elements of MHC-II promoters has on the whole provided limited insight into the molecular mechanisms controlling cell-specific or inducible MHC-II gene transcription. Fortunately, significant progress has recently been made by a genetic approach, namely the analysis



Figure 2 Two types of molecular defects in the Bare Lymphocyte Syndrome (BLS). A normal MHC-II positive cell (*top*) is compared to cells from patients in complementation groups A (*bottom left*), B and C (*bottom right*). In group A, occupation of the X, X2, and Y boxes of MHC-II promoters by RFX, X2BP, and NF-Y is normal, and the DNAseI hypersensitive sites (*arrow heads*) are present, but transcription is abolished as the result of mutations in CIITA. Patients from group B and C are characterized by a specific defect in binding of RFX. This leads to an unoccupied promoter and to the absence of the DNAse I hypersensitive sites. In group C, MHC-II deficiency is due to mutations in the RFX5 (p75) subunit of RFX.

of cell lines exhibiting a regulatory defect in MHC-II expression, particularly of cell lines derived from patients suffering from MHC class II deficiency (see below).

MHC CLASS II DEFICIENCY: A DISEASE OF GENE REGULATION

MHC Class II Deficiency or the Bare Lymphocyte Syndrome (BLS)

Severe combined immunodeficiency diseases represent a heterogeneous group of inherited disorders of the immune system. One such syndrome, MHC class II deficiency, is an autosomal recessive disease characterized by a lack of HLA class II gene expression. Less than 50 cases have been reported. A recent review of 30 patients represents the most comprehensive account of the clinical and immunological manifestations associated with the disease (10). The lack of MHC-II expression results in a severe immunodeficiency caused by an absence of both cellular and humoral immune responses to foreign antigens. There is an extreme susceptibility to viral, bacterial, fungal, and protozoal infections. Symptoms appear within the first year of life, and include primarily severe and repeated infections of the gastrointestinal and pulmonary tracts, recurrent diarrhea and failure to thrive. Death often results from persistent and multiple viral infections. The entire clinical picture can be accounted for by the absence of antigen-specific T cell activation resulting from the lack of MHC-II expression on all cells that should normally express them. The key diagnostic feature is the lack of MHC-II molecules on PBLs. There is some heterogeneity in the degree of severity of the disease, with different patients exhibiting variable residual levels of immunoglobulins and CD4⁺ T cells. Some patients have also been reported to have a moderate reduction in the level of MHC class I molecules, but no correlation has been found either with the severity of the disease or with the genetic complementation groups to which the patients belong (10).

This form of primary deficiency has been formally named "MHC class II deficiency" by the World Health Organization (86), to distinguish it from reported examples of a selective reduction in MHC-I expression that is not associated with immunodeficiency. However, the term "Bare Lymphocyte Syndrome" (BLS), which was originally used to describe a patient who was not analyzed for MHC-II but exhibited a defect in MHC-I expression (87), is now often used synonymously for all defects involving expression of MHC-II, MHC-I, or both. This usage does not imply a common origin or physiopathology. In this review the term BLS refers exclusively to the syndrome known as MHC class II deficiency.

BLS Is a Disease of Gene Regulation

The following earlier observations were informative concerning the molecular and genetic basis for BLS. (*a*) The lack of constitutive MHC-II expression in PBL or B cell lines was observed at the levels of cell surface and intracellular MHC-II molecules (88), steady state MHC-II mRNA (88), and transcription rate of the MHC-II genes (78). (*b*) Induction of MHC-II expression by IFN- γ is totally abolished in fibroblasts from BLS patients (89). (*c*) The expression of all HLA-DR, -DQ and -DP α and β chain genes is affected (88, 90), a finding that argued against a mutation affecting only a single MHC-II gene. (*d*) In family studies, the genetic defect was found to segregate independently of the MHC (90), demonstrating that BLS is a disease of gene regulation involving genetic lesions in transacting regulatory factor(s).

When it was recognized that BLS is a disease of MHC-II gene regulation, B cell lines derived from BLS patients became extremely valuable tools for the analysis of the molecular mechanisms that control transcription of MHC-II genes. It was argued that solving the genetic basis for this disease should lead to the discovery of functionally relevant *trans*-acting factors. The first lead in this direction was the observation that the majority of BLS patients exhibit a highly specific defect in the binding activity of one of the protein complexes interacting with the promoters of MHC-II genes (78). The target sequence of this protein complex is the highly conserved X box present in all MHC-II promoters (Figures 1 and 2), and this protein complex was therefore called RFX (regulatory factor X). BLS was thus one of the first hereditary diseases in which a defect in a transacting regulatory factor was identified.

Genetic Heterogeneity in MHC Class II Regulatory Mutants

Cell fusion experiments using cell lines derived from BLS patients and a number of experimentally generated MHC-II regulatory mutants demonstrated the existence of several distinct complementation groups (Table 2) (91–94). This indicated that several different regulatory defects could give rise to a deficiency in MHC-II gene expression. The majority of BLS patients have been grouped into three distinct complementation groups (Table 2; groups A, B and C). Most of the experimentally generated mutants fall into group A. One experimentally generated mutant (95) defines a fourth complementation group (Table 2; group D) (92, 93) in which no BLS patient has yet been identified. An interesting ethnic bias is observed in the relatively small number of reported BLS patients (94). The majority of patients in group B are of North African or Turkish origin, while four of the five families in group A are Hispanic (94). Another interesting finding is that BLS patients classified in complementation groups A, B, and C exhibit an identical spectrum of clinical manifestations and

| | | BLS complementation groups | | | | |
|--------------------------------|-----------|----------------------------|-------|--------|---------|------|
| | Wild type | A (II) | B (I) | C (IV) | D (III) | Е |
| Prototypical BLS-cell line | | BLS-2 | BLS-1 | SJO | None | ABI |
| Number of unrelated families | | 5 | 13 | 3 | None | 1 |
| Prototypical in vitro mutant | | RJ2.2.5 | None | None | 6.1.6 | None |
| MHC class II expression | + | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ |
| MHC class II promoter activity | + | _ | _ | _ | _ | nt |
| RFX-binding | + | + | _ | _ | _ | nt |
| DNAse I hypersensitive sites | + | + | _ | _ | nt | nt |
| Promoter occupancy in vivo | + | + | _ | _ | _ | nt |
| Genetic defect | | CIITA | ? | RFX5 | ? | ? |

 Table 2
 Phenotypical, biochemical and molecular defects of MHC class II regulatory mutants from BLS complementation groups A–E

immunopathology. The syndrome is therefore clinically homogeneous, despite the genetic heterogeneity in the cause of BLS.

Two recent reports have described BLS patients with somewhat atypical phenotypes characterized by a variable degree of residual expression of certain MHC-II genes (96, 97). One of these patients (96) seems to represent a new complementation group (Table 2, group E). One family (97) shows a considerable amount of residual MHC-II expression, and impairment of the immune response is much less severe than in classical MHC-II deficiency. The unusual phenotype in this family suggests that it may belong to a complementation group distinct from groups A to E.

A number of additional regulatory mutants have been generated by in vitro mutagenesis and selection against IFN- γ induction of MHC-II genes. Most relevant are the mutants in which the defect in IFN- γ responsiveness is specific for MHC-II genes. These include the "class A" HeLa cell mutants (98) and the "G1 to G5" series of HT1080 mutants (99). Interestingly, the latter correspond to five distinct complementation groups (99).

IDENTIFICATION OF THE GENES RESPONSIBLE FOR TWO DISTINCT MOLECULAR DEFECTS IN BLS

Evidence for Two Types of Molecular Defect in BLS

Two distinct biochemical phenotypes can be distinguished in BLS patients (11, 100) (Table 2, Figure 2). A deficiency in the binding of RFX to the X box of MHC-II promoters is detected in the majority of patients and in the experimentally generated mutant cell line 6.1.6 (49, 78, 101–103). In the case of these RFX-deficient cells, all other MHC-II promoter binding complexes are detected

normally by in vitro binding assays (49, 101–103). In the remaining patients and in a number of experimentally generated mutants, binding of all factors to the MHC-II promoter, including RFX, is normal (49, 101, 103). In vivo analysis of MHC-II promoter occupation by examination of DNAse I hypersensitive sites and in vivo footprinting also distinguishes two phenotypes. Two DNAse I hypersensitive sites flanking the MHC-II promoter in MHC-II positive cells are absent in RFX-deficient BLS cell lines (104). The altered chromatin structure revealed by these experiments is correlated with unoccupied promoters in RFX-deficient cells as assessed by in vivo footprinting (56, 57). In MHC-II regulatory mutant cell lines with normal RFX-binding, both the presence of DNAse I hypersensitive sites (P. Gönzy, W Reith, B Mach, unpublished) and in vivo promoter occupation is essentially normal (56, 57).

These two biochemical defects show a correlation with the different BLS complementation groups (Table 2, Figure 2). Cell lines from BLS complementation group A display normal RFX-binding activity and normally occupied promoters (11, 100). Cell lines from BLS complementation groups B and C show the characteristic absence of RFX-binding, DNAse I hypersensitive sites, and unoccupied MHC-II promoters.

Complementation Cloning of CIITA and Mutations in BLS Group A

A genetic complementation approach based on cDNA expression cloning was developed to identify the genes defective in BLS. The approach is based on the functional complementation of the genetic defects in MHC-II regulatory mutant cell lines by the introduction of mammalian cDNA expression libraries and selection for restored MHC-II expression (105). Optimization of a number of steps in the cloning procedure was necessary; these have been described in detail elsewhere (105, 106).

Complementation cloning was first attempted in the cell line RJ2.2.5 (107) from BLS complementation group A (91, 92). This led to the isolation of a 4.5-kb cDNA (105). Transfection of this cDNA, called CIITA for MHC class II transactivator, restores wild-type levels of HLA-DR, -DP and -DQ expression in RJ2.2.5 and all other cell lines from BLS complementation group A (105; B Lisowska-Grospierre, V Steimle, B Mach, unpublished) (Table 2). Expression of HLA-DMA and DMB is also restored (108).

Mutations in the CIITA gene have been detected in all BLS cell lines from group A so far examined (Figure 3a). In two cases, splice donor site mutations lead to exon skipping and thus to small in-frame deletions in the C-terminal portion of CIITA (Figure 3a; BLS-2 and BCH). Other defects include a point mutation (Figure 3a; BCH) and genomic deletions (Figure 3a, RJ2.2.5). All



Figure 3 Mutations of CIITA and RFX5 in cells from complementation groups A and C. The repercussions of the mutations on the structure of (a) CIITA and (b) RFX5 are indicated. (a) Mutations in CIITA have been characterized in two BLS patients (BLS-2 and BCH) and in the experimentally generated cell line RJ2.2.5 from complementation group A. The ATP/GTP-binding motif, the acidic region, and the Pro/Ser/Thr rich regions of CIITA are indicated. (b) Mutations in RFX5 have been identified in all three patients (SJO, Ro and TF) from complementation group C. The DNA binding domain of RFX5 (DBD) is indicated.

mutated CIITA-alleles were shown to be inactive in transfection experiments (105; S Bontron, V Steimle, B Mach, unpublished results). Mutations in the CIITA gene are therefore responsible for the lack of MHC-II expression in BLS complementation group A (Table 2, Figure 2). Both the human and murine CIITA genes are located on chromosome 16 (V Steimle, L Otten, M Haas, J Lieman, DC Ward, B Mach, unpublished).

Cloning of RFX5 and Mutations in BLS Complementation Group C

The same complementation strategy used to isolate CIITA was subsequently applied to BLS cell lines exhibiting a defect in binding of RFX. Successful complementation of the cell line SJO led to the isolation of a 3.4-kb cDNA capable of restoring MHC-II expression in all cell lines from group C (109). Sequence analysis revealed a homology with the DNA binding domain (DBD) characteristic of the family of X-box binding proteins RFX1–4 (41). This new family member was therefore named RFX5. Transfection of RFX5 restores expression of all MHC-II genes and the HLA-DMA and -DMB genes. Mutations in RFX5 have been identified in all three BLS patients from complementation group C, demonstrating that mutations in the RFX5 gene are responsible for this form of BLS. The mutations identified include a point mutation generating a premature stop codon (Figure 3b; Ro) and splice site mutations that lead to the use of cryptic splice sites, and hence to frameshifts and premature stop codons (Figure 3b; SJO and TF), (109; W Reith, J Villard, P van den Elsen, B Mach, unpublished). The RFX5 gene is located on human chromosome 1 (W Reith, M Morris, A Gos, B Mach, unpublished). RFX5 is a subunit of the RFX-complex found to be defective in BLS patients from complementation groups B and C (Figure 2; see below) (49, 78, 109).

ROLE OF CIITA AS A GENERAL CONTROLLER OF MHC CLASS II EXPRESSION

Mode of Action of CIITA

The mode of action of CIITA in the activation of MHC-II transcription has not yet been elucidated, but there are a number of indications that CIITA might function as a non DNA-binding coactivator. No significant homology between the 1130 amino acid sequence of CIITA and existing data base sequences has been detected. The only protein motif found in CIITA is a consensus sequence for a "P-loop" ATP/GTP binding cassette (105). No potential DNA-binding motif is evident, and no binding of CIITA to the MHC-II promoter has been observed (105). Yet it is clear, both from earlier experiments with CIITAdeficient mutants (15, 33, and references therein) and cotransfection experiments with CIITA and DRA-CAT constructs (110), that CIITA acts via the proximal MHC-II promoter. This led us to propose that CIITA might act in a coactivator-like fashion (105). The N-terminal moiety of CIITA contains regions reminiscent of transcriptional activation domains, notably a region rich in acidic amino acids and three regions having a high Pro, Ser, and Thr content. The acidic domain of CIITA is essential for its function and indeed has strong trans-activating activity in yeast and mammalian cells when it is coupled to a heterologous DNA-binding domain (111, 112). Furthermore, a chimeric CIITA construct, in which the acidic and Pro/Ser/Thr domains of CIITA have been replaced by a viral activation domain, retains the capacity to activate MHC-II transcription (112). This is in agreement with our own finding that a hybrid CIITA molecule, in which the acidic region has been replaced with an acidic viral activation domain, strongly activates endogenous MHC-II transcription (V Steimle, B Mach, unpublished). Replacement of the acidic region and most of the Pro/Ser/Thr region leads to only partial activation. These findings argue in favor of a role of CIITA as a non DNA-binding coactivator, with its acidic region (and possibly also the Pro/Ser/Thr region) acting as transcription activation domains. MHC-II specificity of CIITA must reside in the remaining two thirds of the protein (112).

Interestingly, a positive quantitative correlation exists between the level of expression of CIITA and that of MHC-II. This has been observed in a large number of human and mouse tissues by quantitative RNA analysis (L Otten, V Steimle, A Mottet, B Mach, unpublished; and PF Halloran, personal communication). In addition, overexpression of recombinant CIITA by a factor of 5–10 above wild-type levels in transfected cells is accompanied by a corresponding increase in MHC-II expression (L Otten, V Steimle, A Mottet, B Mach, unpublished). It appears therefore that the level of CIITA protein determines MHC-II promoter activity.

Essential Role of CIITA in MHC Class II Modulation

In addition to its essential role in constitutive MHC-II expression in B cells, CIITA also plays a key role in the modulation of MHC-II expression in other cell types. This can be deduced from four observations (110). (*a*) CIITA is itself differentially expressed, and CIITA expression can only be detected in MHC-II positive cell lines and tissues (105) (A Mottet, L Otten, V Steimle, B Mach, unpublished). (*b*) CIITA expression is induced by IFN- γ , and this induction precedes MHC-II mRNA induction by several hours. (*c*) Fibroblasts from CIITA-deficient BLS patients cannot be induced by IFN- γ to express MHC-II molecules. (*d*) Constitutive expression of recombinant CIITA renders MHC-II negative cell lines MHC-II positive in the absence of IFN- γ (110).

Taken together, these observations clearly demonstrate that CIITA-expression is both necessary and sufficient for the activation of MHC-II gene transcription in IFN- γ -inducible cells and that IFN- γ -induced MHC-II expression is mediated via the induction of CIITA expression (Figure 4). Two subsequent studies arrived at similar conclusions (113, 114). Interestingly, the experimentally generated mutant cell line G3A (99) shows a defect in the induction of CIITA mRNA (113).

Like all other IFN- γ inducible genes, CIITA cannot be induced in Jak-1deficient cell lines (114). The characteristics of CIITA-induction by IFN- γ are very similar to those of the guanylate binding protein (GBP) gene (110). Both behave as IFN- γ -inducible genes of the "intermediary" type (110). However, from the study of IRF-1 knockout mice (115), a difference between the induction of CIITA and GBP can be predicted. In IRF-1^{o/o} mice, MHC-II induction is normal while GBP cannot be induced (115), indicating that CIITA induction is mediated via an IRF-1 independent pathway.

CIITA also plays a key role in the extinction of MHC-II gene expression in plasma cells (116), a process thought to be due to dominant repression mechanisms (117). The lack of MHC-II transcription in plasmocytoma cells is correlated with unoccupied MHC-II promoters and undetectable CIITA expression. Expression of CIITA following transfection is sufficient to induce promoter occupation and MHC-II expression in these cells (116). It has also been shown that lack of expression of MHC-II in mouse T lymphocytes is due to lack of CIITA expression (117a).

These observations indicate that the control of MHC-II expression is regulated in many, perhaps all, biological situations via the control of CIITA expression. CIITA is thus a "master control factor" for MHC-II expression



Figure 4 Schematic representation of the role of CIITA in the modulation of MHC-II expression. Activation of the interferon γ receptor (IFN- γ R) generates intracellular signals (activation of Jak kinases and STAT proteins) that induce expression of the CIITA gene. CIITA then activates transcription of the MHC-II, Ii, and DM genes. Antigen processing and presentation by MHC-II molecules in IFN- γ -treated cells requires an additional IFN- γ -induced function that is not under the control of CIITA. (Jak: Janus kinase; STAT: signal transducer and activator of transcription.)

(110). This obviously refocuses the interest in MHC-II regulation toward the regulation of CIITA itself. Interestingly, the CIITA gene is controlled by at least four independent promoters, two of which account for most of its expression. It is of particular interest that one promoter primarily controls constitutive expression, while another is largely responsible for IFN- γ inducible expression (A Mottet, L Otten, V Steimle, B Mach, unpublished). Work is in progress to determine which of the different CIITA promoters are implicated in modulation of MHC-II expression by other stimuli, such as induction by contact with NK cells (27) and inhibition of IFN- γ induction by IFN- β and TGF- β (15, 16).

Role of CIITA in Antigen Processing and Presentation

CIITA also controls the expression of the invariant (Ii) chain, HLA-DMA and -DMB genes involved in antigen processing and presentation (108, 118). It has been postulated that expression of MHC-II, Ii, and DM molecules is sufficient to generate an "operational" MHC-II peptide loading compartment in nonprofessional APCs (119). Since all of these molecules are expressed under the control of CIITA, cells transfected with CIITA would thus be expected to behave as efficient APC. Unexpectedly however, CIITA-transfected melanoma cells, although expressing MHC-II as well as DM and the invariant chain, exhibit a novel antigen-processing defect (120). While they are highly efficient in the MHC-II-restricted presentation of exogenously added peptide antigens to T lymphocytes, they are deficient in the presentation of protein antigens, indicating an antigen-processing defect. This defect can be corrected by treatment of the transfectants with IFN- γ . Consequently, efficient processing and presentation of protein antigens in nonprofessional APC require not only MHC-II, DM, and Ii, but also an additional IFN- γ -inducible function that is not under the control of CIITA (Figure 4) (120).

FUNCTION OF RFX

RFX Is an Essential MHC Class II Transcription Factor

The native RFX complex has been purified to near homogeneity by affinity chromatography and shown to be a heteromeric complex consisting of at least two different subunits, p36 and p75 (49). Cross-linking experiments have suggested that both of these subunits contact the X box target site (49). In BLS patients from complementation groups B and C (49, 78, 101, 103), as well as in the experimentally generated mutants 6.1.6 (102) and one of the IFN- γ response mutants (113), binding activity of the heteromeric RFX complex is not detected, suggesting that RFX is essential for MHC-II expression. Direct evidence for this was provided by in vitro transcription experiments; the MHC-II promoter

is transcriptionally silent in nuclear extracts derived from RFX-deficient BLS cells in groups B and C, but wild-type activity is restored by supplementing these extracts with affinity purified RFX (49).

RFX5, the gene mutated in complementation group C, encodes a protein that contains the DNA binding domain typical of other known X box binding proteins (Table 1; RFX1–RFX4) (41). This suggested that RFX5 was likely to be a subunit of the RFX complex. Several independent lines of evidence confirmed this (109). First, the DNA binding domain of RFX5 exhibits specific binding to the X box. Second, binding of RFX is restored in BLS cells from complementation group C by transfection with RFX5. Third, RFX is recognized by antibodies specific for RFX5. Finally, peptide sequences derived from RFX have demonstrated that RFX5 is identical to p75. The demonstration that the p75 (RFX5) subunit of RFX is mutated in all BLS patients in group C validates our previous interpretation that a deficiency in RFX is indeed responsible for the lack of MHC-II expression in these patients (78).

RFX Promotes Cooperative Binding Interactions Required for Promoter Occupation

The MHC-II promoter behaves as a single functional unit in which the S, X, X2, and Y boxes all contribute to optimal activity. Taken individually, these cis-acting elements have little activity, but they function synergistically when combined. Moreover, they must be positioned correctly with respect to each other, such that they exhibit a precise stereospecific alignment on the double helical DNA (52-54). These considerations suggested that the activity of MHC-II promoters was likely to be dependent on cooperative protein-protein interactions between trans-acting factors binding to adjacent target sites. Studies designed to address this question have indeed shown that RFX binds cooperatively with the X2 box binding factor X2BP and with the Y box binding factor NF-Y to form higher order protein-DNA complexes containing RFX + X2BP, RFX + NF-Y, and RFX + NF-Y + X2BP (54, 55, 85). The interactions of RFX, X2BP, and NF-Y with their respective target sites are strongly stabilized in these higher order protein-DNA complexes (54, 55, 85). Functional relevance of these higher order complexes is demonstrated by the fact that promoter mutations that disrupt them have a strong negative effect on promoter activity (54, 55). Cooperative binding interactions between RFX, X2BP, and NF-Y are thus crucial for the function of MHC-II promoters.

In vivo footprint experiments have shown that the entire MHC-II promoter, including the X2 and Y boxes as well as the X box, is unoccupied in RFX-deficient BLS cells. Given the cooperative binding interactions observed in vitro between RFX, X2BP, and NF-Y, it now appears likely that the lack of RFX

binding activity in such BLS cells is directly responsible for the bare promoter phenotype. RFX probably functions in vivo as an "accessibility factor" that promotes stable promoter occupation by recruiting NF-Y and X2BP to the Y and X2 boxes, respectively, via cooperative protein-protein interactions.

Since all MHC-II genes are silent in RFX-deficient BLS patients, RFX must be essential for the coordinate transcription of the α and β chain genes of all three MHC-II isotypes. Previously, this appeared to contradict the fact that RFX cannot on its own bind all MHC-II promoters: by itself, RFX binds efficiently to certain promoters (e.g. DRA and DPA) but only very poorly or not at all to others (e.g. DQA, DRB1, and DRB3) (55, 121, 122). It is now clear, however, that binding of RFX can be strongly stabilized by X2BP or NF-Y. This stabilization is sufficiently strong to allow formation of the higher order RFX + X2BP and RFX + NF-Y complexes on the promoters of the DQA, DRB1, and DRB3 genes (55, 122; W Reith, unpublished data). RFX can thus be recruited via cooperative protein-protein interactions to promoters containing only very low affinity X box sites. Stabilized binding of RFX by NF-Y probably also explains the observation that destruction of the Y box leads to reduced in vivo occupation of the X box (123).

UNRESOLVED ISSUES AND PERSPECTIVES

Molecular Defect in BLS Group B and Other RFX-Deficient Mutants

Binding activity of RFX is undetectable in all BLS patients in complementation groups B and C (49, 78, 101, 103), as well as in an experimentally generated B cell mutant (6.1.6, group D) (102) and one of the MHC-II-specific IFN- γ responsive mutants (113), suggesting that defects leading to a deficiency in RFX binding are genetically heterogeneous. This was demonstrated functionally by the fact that affinity-purified RFX can complement in vitro transcription extracts derived from BLS patients with different genetic defects (cells in groups B and C) (49). In view of this genetic heterogeneity, it is of interest that RFX is a heteromeric complex containing at least two different subunits, p75 and p36, both of which probably contact the DNA (49). Since mutations in p75 abolish binding of RFX in BLS patients in group C, it is tempting to speculate that p36, or another as-yet-unidentified subunit of RFX, could be mutated in complementation group B. Alternatively, the defect could affect a cofactor or modifying activity required for binding of RFX. The same holds for the two experimentally generated RFX-deficient mutants, although it should be mentioned that complementation of in vitro transcription extracts by RFX has not been reported for these mutants.

Molecular Defects in Other MHC Class II Regulatory Mutants

Elucidation of the molecular defects affecting the new BLS patients (96, 97) may yield additional regulators of MHC-II expression. Of particular interest is the persistence of a significant level of expression of certain individual MHC-II loci (97). This differential effect of a regulatory defect on different MHC-II genes contrasts sharply with the situation observed when MHC-II deficiency is due to a defect in RFX or CIITA. It might be expected that mutations of a general and essential regulator of MHC-II expression should not lead to a locus-specific defect. However, the activity of MHC-II promoters depends on cooperative interactions between several distinct DNA binding fac-When analyzed on their own, these factors exhibit different affinities tors. for different MHC-II promoters, and these different promoters may thus be more or less dependent on cooperative binding interactions. For example, RFX can bind on its own to the DRA promoter (78) but requires help from NF-Y and X2BP at the DRB1 promoter (55, 122; W Reith, B Mach, unpublished). Consequently, mutations that weaken the protein-protein interactions between MHC-II promoter binding proteins may affect different promoters to different extents.

MHC-II-specific, IFN- γ -unresponsive mutants should also provide valuable information. Since CIITA is the IFN- γ -induced mediator of MHC-II expression, some of these mutants may contribute to the elucidation of the mechanisms regulating expression of the CIITA gene.

Mode of Action of CIITA

Although the key function of CIITA in MHC-II expression is now well established, its mode of action remains elusive. First, it does not appear to be a DNA binding protein, yet it contains a region capable of functioning as an activation domain. This suggests that CIITA is a non-DNA binding coactivator that is presumably recruited to the MHC-II promoter via protein-protein interactions with one or more of the factors binding there. However, such interactions remain to be documented. Second, a potential role of CIITA in promoter occupation needs to be addressed because of the following paradox. The MHC-II promoter is occupied in CIITA-efficient B cells such RJ2.2.5 and BLS2 (56, 57) but is unoccupied in uninduced MHC-II negative cells such as fibroblasts and HeLa cells (58, 59), which do not express CIITA but contain normal levels of RFX, X2BP, and NF-Y. Transfection of CIITA into such cells is sufficient to induce promoter occupation (A Mottet, V Steimle, B Mach, unpublished). It thus appears that CIITA is required for promoter occupation in certain MHC-II negative cells but not in B cells. This is further complicated by the fact that in one CIITA-deficient BLS cell line, promoter occupation is only partial (57). The explanation for this cell type–specific difference in the requirement for CIITA in promoter occupancy remains obscure.

Reduction in the Level of MHC Class I in BLS

A reduction in MHC-I expression on fresh PBL has been described in certain BLS patients (10, 124). This reduction does not correlate with one particular complementation group or with clinical manifestations of the disease (10). We have not observed this reduction on B cell lines established from BLS patients, although others have reported a slight reduction on such cells (J-L Touraine, personal communication). The reason for this reduction remains unexplained. It does not appear to be due directly to defects in RFX5 or CIITA, because transfection of these genes into BLS cells from complementation groups C and A, respectively, has no effect on the level of MHC-I expression. In addition, transfection of CIITA into various other cell types does not affect MHC-I expression. One possible explanation is that the MHC-I reduction observed in the patients is an indirect effect due to the lack of cell surface MHC-II or resulting from the deficiency in the activation of T cells and/or APCs.

Residual Presence of CD4 T Lymphocytes in the Absence of MHC Class II Expression

Positive selection driven by MHC-II is believed to be necessary for the thymic maturation of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes. The almost complete absence of circulating CD4⁺ T cells in MHC-II knockout mice is consistent with this (125, 126). Surprisingly, in the majority of BLS patients, the levels of circulating CD4⁺ T cells are only mildly reduced compared to those in the MHC-II knockout mice. The CD4⁺ T cell count varies from one patient to another, but this variation shows no correlation with the known genetic complementation groups. This difference in the CD4⁺ T cell levels between MHC-II knockout mice and MHC-II-deficient BLS patients is reminiscent of the situation resulting from mutations in Zap-70; CD4⁺ T cells are absent in ZAP-70 knockout mice, whereas they are present in human patients having mutations abolishing ZAP-70 activity (127). Two explanations can be proposed for the presence of CD4⁺ T cells in BLS patients: (a) MHC-II regulatory defects such as mutations in CIITA or RFX5 may allow a low residual level of MHC-II expression in the thymus, and this may be sufficient for the maturation of some CD4⁺ T cells. (b) Alternatively, maturation of a small number of $CD4^+$ T cells may be driven by other ligands, such as MHC-I molecules. This unorthodox pathway has been postulated to account for the few thymocytes committed to the CD4⁺ lineage in MHC-II knockout mice (128), but the issue is controversial (129).

THERAPEUTIC PERSPECTIVES: MHC CLASS II TRANSACTIVATORS AS IMMUNOMODULATORS

Gene Therapy for BLS

The only therapy currently available for BLS is bone marrow transplantation, and, as indicated in a recent report (10, 130), the overall clinical outcome of this therapy in BLS is much worse than in certain other primary immunodeficiencies, particularly with haplo-identical donors. This is attributed to intractable persistent viral infections. As in the case of gene therapy for ADA (adenosine deaminase deficiency), restoring the wild-type gene in the patient's hematopoietic cells is a logical therapeutic strategy for BLS. Unfortunately, CIITA expression is tightly regulated, and it is unlikely that a normal expression profile can be conferred easily on CIITA transgenes. In the case of complementation groups B and C, however, the ubiquitous expression of the RFX complex indicates that transfer of the relevant wild-type genes into either multipotent precursor cells or PBLs of BLS patients should be considered seriously.

The CIITA Gene in Cancer Immunotherapy

Numerous attempts have been made to boost the endogenous immunogenicity of cancer cells, either in vivo or ex vivo, to induce immunological protection. Recent reports have stressed the role of MHC-II-mediated anti-tumour cell responses in immunotherapy (131). Transfer of the CIITA gene into tumour cells will induce MHC-II expression on these cells. This should perhaps be attempted, possibly in combination with B7 genes, as a novel approach for cancer vaccination.

MHC Class II Transactivators as Targets for Novel Immunomodulators

Intervention in the expression of endogenous genes is a promising therapeutic strategy. Contrary to most known transcription factors, both CIITA and RFX5 exhibit two properties that make them excellent potential targets in such a strategy. Both are absolutely essential and highly specific for MHC-II genes. It follows that novel inhibitors of either the synthesis or the activity of these two factors should behave as powerful immunomodulators, capable of reducing the level of MHC-II expression in a reversible manner in situations such as organ transplantation and autoimmune diseases.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to all colleagues who have sent us preprints and unpublished observations. We thank all members of the laboratory for contributing to the

work discussed here. Work in our laboratory was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation and the Louis Jeantet Foundation.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Benacerraf B. 1981. Role of MHC gene products in immune regulation. *Science* 212:1229–38
- Trowsdale J. 1993. Genomic structure and function in the MHC. *Trends Genet*. 9:117–22
- Cresswell P. 1994. Antigen presentation. Getting peptides into MHC class II molecules. *Curr. Biol.* 4:541–43
- Sloan VS, Cameron P, Porter G, Gammon M, Amaya M, Mellins E, Zaller DM. 1995. Mediation of HLA-DM dissociation of peptides from HLA-DR. *Nature* 375:802–6
- Denzin LK, Cresswell P. 1995. HLA-DM induces CLIP dissociation from MHC class II αβ dimers and facilitates peptide loading. *Cell* 82:155–65
- Herman A, Kappler JW, Marrack P, Pullen AM. 1991. Superantigens: mechanism of T-cell stimulation and role in immune responses. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 9:745–72
- Acha-Orbea H. 1995. Superantigens of mouse mammary tumor virus. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 13:459–86
- Scholl PR, Geha RS. 1994. MHC class II signaling in B-cell activation. *Immunol. Today* 15:418–22
- Janeway CA, Bottomly K, Conrad P, Conzen S, Jones B, Kaye J, Katz M, Mc-Vay L, Murphy DB, Tite J. 1984. Quantitative variation in Ia antigen expression plays a central role in immune regulation. *Immunol. Today* 5:55–60
- Klein C, Lisowska Grospierre B, LeDeist F, Fischer A, Griscelli C. 1993. Major histocompatibility complex class II deficiency: clinical manifestations, immunologic features, and outcome. J. Pediatr. 123:921–28
- Mach B, Steimle V, Reith W. 1994. MHC class II-deficient combined immunodeficiency: a disease of gene regulation. *Immunol. Rev.* 138:207–21
- Bottazzo GF, Todd I, Mirakian R, Belfiore A, Pujol-Borrell R. 1986. Organ-specific autoimmunity: a 1986

overview. Immunol. Rev. 94:137-69

- Wraith DC, McDevitt HO, Steinman L, Acha-Orbea H. 1989. T cell recognition as the target for immune intervention in autoimmune disease. *Cell* 57:709–15
- Acha Orbea H, McDevitt HO. 1990. The role of class II molecules in development of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in mice, rats and humans. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 156:103–19
- Glimcher LH, Kara CJ. 1992. Sequences and factors: a guide to MHC class-II transcription. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 10:13–49
- Guardiola J, Maffei A. 1993. Control of MHC class II gene expression in autoimmune, infectious, and neoplastic diseases. Crit. Rev. Immunol. 13:247–68
- Erb KJ, Holtschke T, Muth K, Horak I, Schimpl A. 1994. T cell subset distribution and B cell hyperreactivity in mice expressing interleukin-4 under the control of major histocompatibility complex class I regulatory sequences. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:1143–47
- Burstein HJ, Tepper RI, Leder P, Abbas AK. 1991. Humoral immune functions in IL-4 transgenic mice. J. Immunol. 147:2950–56
- Go NF, Castle BE, Barrett R, Kastelein R, Dang W, Mosmann TR, Moore KW, Howard M. 1990. Interleukin 10, a novel B cell stimulatory factor: unresponsiveness of X chromosome-linked immunodeficiency B cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 172:1625– 31
- Defrance T, Carayon P, Billian G, Guillemot JC, Minty A, Caput D, Ferrara P. 1994. Interleukin 13 is a B cell stimulating factor. J. Exp. Med. 179:135–43
- Paglia P, Girolomoni G, Robbiati F, Granucci F, Ricciardi Castagnoli P. 1993. Immortalized dendritic cell line fully competent in antigen presentation initiates primary T cell responses in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 178:1893–901
- Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A. 1994. Efficient presentation of soluble antigen

by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha. J. Exp. Med. 179:1109–18

- Loughlin AJ, Woodroofe MN, Cuzner ML. 1993. Modulation of interferongamma-induced major histocompatibility complex class II and Fc receptor expression on isolated microglia by transforming growth factor-beta 1, interleukin-4, noradrenaline and glucocorticoids. *Immunology* 79:125–30
- 24. de Waal Malefyt R, Haanen J, Spits H, Roncarolo MG, te Velde A, Figdor C, Johnson K, Kastelein R, Yssel H, de Vries JE. 1991. Interleukin 10 (IL-10) and viral IL-10 strongly reduce antigenspecific human T cell proliferation by diminishing the antigen-presenting capacity of monocytes via downregulation of class II major histocompatibility complex expression. J. Exp. Med. 174:915– 24
- Santos Argumedo L, Gordon J, Heath AW, Howard M. 1994. Antibodies to murine CD40 protect normal and malignant B cells from induced growth arrest. *Cell. Immunol.* 156:272–85
- Kamal M, Katira A, Gordon J. 1991. Stimulation of B lymphocytes via CD72 (human Lyb-2). *Eur. J. Immunol.* 21:1419–24
- Watson CA, Petzelbauer P, Zhou J, Pardi R, Bender JR. 1995. Contactdependent endothelial class II HLA gene activation induced by NK cells is mediated by IFN-gamma-dependent and -independent mechanisms. J. Immunol. 154:3222–33
- Fehling HJ, Viville S, van Ewijk W, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1989. Fine-tuning of MHC class II gene expression in defined microenvironments. *Trends Genet*. 5:342–47
- Sullivan KE, Peterlin BM. 1987. Transcriptional enhancers in the HLA-DQ subregion. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 7:3315–19
- Wang Y, Larsen AS, Peterlin BM. 1987. A tissue-specific transcriptional enhancer is found in the body of the HLA-DR alpha gene. J. Exp. Med. 166:625–36
- Carson S, Wiles MV. 1993. Far upstream regions of class II MHC Eα are necessary for position-independent, copydependent expression of Eα transgene. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 21:2065–72
- 32. Longley J, Ding TG, Levin D, Lewis J,

Edelson R, Tigelaar R, Flavell R. 1995. Regulation of transgenic class II major histocompatibility genes in murine Langerhans cells. J. Invest. Dermatol. 104:329–34

- Benoist C, Mathis D. 1990. Regulation of major histocompatibility complex class-II genes: X, Y and other letters of the alphabet. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 8:681–715
- Ting JPY, Baldwin AS. 1993. Regulation of MHC gene expression. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 5:8–16
- Sultmann H, Mayer WE, Figueroa F, O'hUigin C, Klein J. 1993. Zebrafish Mhc class II alpha chain-encoding genes: polymorphism, expression, and function. *Immunogenetics* 38:408–20
- Sultmann H, Mayer WE, Figueroa F, O'hUigin C, Klein J. 1994. Organization of Mhc class II B genes in the zebrafish (*Brachydanio rerio*). *Genomics* 23:1–14
- Kelly AP, Monaco JJ, Cho S, Trowsdale J. 1991. A new human HLA class IIrelated locus, DM. *Nature* 353:571–73
- Brown AM, Barr CL, Ting JPY. 1991. Sequences homologous to class II MHC W, X, and Y elements mediate constitutive and IFN-gamma-induced expression of human class II-associated invariant chain gene. J. Immunol. 146:3183–89
- Brown AM, Wright KL, Ting JPY. 1993. Human major histocompatibility complex class II-associated invariant chain gene promoter. Functional analysis and in vivo protein/DNA interactions of constitutive and IFN-gamma-induced expression. J. Biol. Chem. 268:26328–33
- Siegrist CA, Durand B, Emery P, David E, Hearing P, Mach B, Reith W. 1993. RFX1 is identical to enhancer factor C and functions as a transactivator of the hepatitis B virus enhancer. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13:6375–84
- Reith W, Ucla C, Barras E, Gaud A, Durand B, Herrero Sanchez C, Kobr M, Mach B. 1994. RFX1, a transactivator of hepatitis B virus enhancer I, belongs to a novel family of homodimeric and heterodimeric DNA-binding proteins. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:1230–44
- 42. Dorn A, Durand B, Marfing C, Le Meur M, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1987. Conserved major histocompatibility complex class II boxes—X and Y—are transcriptional control elements and specifically bind nuclear proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:6249–53
- 43. van Ewijk W, Ron Y, Monaco J, Kappler J, Marrack P, Le Meur M, Gerlinger P,

Durand B, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1988. Compartmentalization of MHC class II gene expression in transgenic mice. *Cell* 53:357–70

- Hume CR, Lee J. 1990. Functional analysis cis-linked regulatory sequences in the HLA DRA promoter by transcription in vitro. *Tissue Antigens* 36:108–15
- Kouskoff V, Mantovani RM, Candeias SM, Dorn A, Staub A, Lisowska Grospierre B, Griscelli C, Benoist CO, Mathis DJ. 1991. NF-X, a transcription factor implicated in MHC class II gene regulation. J. Immunol. 146:3197–3204
- Viville S, Jongeneel V, Koch W, Mantovani R, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1991. The E-alpha-promoter: a linker-scanning analysis. J. Immunol. 146:3211–17
- Matsushima GK, Itoh Lindstrom Y, Ting JPY. 1992. Activation of the HLA-DRA gene in primary human T lymphocytes: novel usage of TATA and the X- and Y-promoter elements. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12:5610–19 (Erratum 1993. 13:5132)
- Zeleznikle NJ, Azizkhan JC, Ting JPY. 1991. Affinity-purified CCAATbox-binding protein (YEBP) functionally regulates expression of a human class II major histocompatibility complex gene and the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:1873–77
- Durand B, Kobr M, Reith W, Mach B. 1994. Functional complementation of MHC class II regulatory mutants by the purified X box binding protein RFX. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:6839–47
- Shewey LM, Beaty JS, Andersen LC, Nepom GT. 1992. Differential expression of related HLA class-II DQ-beta genes caused by nucleotide variation in transcriptional regulatory elements. J. Immunol. 148:1265–73
- Louis P, Vincent R, Cavadore P, Clot J, Eliaou JF. 1994. Differential transcriptional activities of HLA-DR genes in the various haplotypes. J. Immunol. 153:5059–67
- Vilen BJ, Cogswell JP, Ting JPY. 1992. Stereospecific alignment of the X- and Y-elements is required for major histocompatibility complex class II DRA promoter function. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 11:2406–15
- Vilen BJ, Penta JF, Ting JPY. 1992. Structural constraints within a trimeric transcriptional regulatory region: constitutive and interferon-y inducible expression of the HLA-DRA gene. J. Biol. Chem. 267:23728–34

- Reith W, Siegrist CA, Durand B, Barras E, Mach B. 1994. Function of major histocompatibility complex class II promoters requires cooperative binding between factors RFX and NF-Y. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:554–58
- Reith W, Kobr M, Emery P, Durand B, Siegrist CA, Mach B. 1994. Cooperative binding between factors RFX and X2bp to the X and X2 boxes of MHC class II promoters. J. Biol. Chem. 269:20020–25
- Kara CJ, Glimcher LH. 1991. In vivo footprinting of MHC class II genes: bare promoters in the bare lymphocyte syndrome. *Science* 252:709–12
- Kara CJ, Glimcher LH. 1993. Three in vivo promoter phenotypes in MHC class II deficient combined immunodeficiency. *Immunogenetics* 37:227–30
- Kara CJ, Glimcher LH. 1993. Developmental and cytokine-mediated regulation of MHC class II gene promoter occupancy in vivo. *J. Immunol.* 150:4934– 42
- Wright KL, Ting JPY. 1992. In vivo footprint analysis of the HLA-DRA gene promoter: cell-specific interaction at the octamer site and up-regulation of X box binding by interferon-gamma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:7601–5
- Mantovani R, Tora L, Moncollin V, Egly JM, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1993. The major histocompatibility complex (MHC) Eα promoter: sequences and factors at the initiation site. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 21:4873–78
- Sugawara M, Ponath PD, Shin JY, Yang Z, Strominger JL. 1991. Delineation of a previously unrecognized Cis-acting element required for HLA class-II geneexpression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:347–51
- Voliva CF, Aronheim A, Walker MD, Peterlin BM. 1992. B-cell factor-I is required for optimal expression of the DRA promoter in B-cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12:2383–90
- Jabrane Ferrat N, Peterlin BM. 1994. Ets-1 activates the DRA promoter in B cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:7314–21
- Abdulkadir SA, Krishna S, Thanos D, Maniatis T, Strominger JL, Ono SJ. 1995. Functional roles of the transcription factor Oct-2A and the high mobility group protein I/Y in HLA-DRA gene expression. J. Exp. Med. 182:487–500
- Andersson G, Peterlin BM. 1990. NF-X2 that binds to the DRA X2-box is activator protein. 1. Expression cloning of c-Jun. *J. Immunol.* 145:3456–62

- Tsang SY, Nakanishi M, Peterlin BM. 1990. Mutational analysis of the DRA promoter: cis-acting sequences and trans-acting factors. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10:711–19
- 67. Sugawara M, Scholl T, Mahanta SK, Ponath PD, Strominger JL. 1995. Cooperativity between the J and S elements of class II major histocompatibility complex genes as enhancers in normal and class II-negative patient and mutant B cell lines. J. Exp. Med. 182:175–84
- Moses H, Panek RB, Benveniste EN, Ting JPY. 1992. Usage of primary cells to delineate IFN-gamma-responsive DNA elements in the HLA-DRA promoter and to identify a novel IFN-gammaenhanced nuclear factor. J. Immunol. 148:3643–51
- Panek RB, Lee YJ, Itoh Lindstrom Y, Ting JPY, Benveniste EN. 1994. Characterization of astrocyte nuclear proteins involved in IFN-gamma- and TNFalpha-mediated class II MHC gene expression. J. Immunol. 153:4555–64
- Panek RB, Benveniste EN. 1995. Class II MHC gene expression in microglia. Regulation by the cytokines IFN-gamma, TNF-alpha, and TGF-beta. J. Immunol. 154:2846–54
- Kara CJ, Liou HC, Ivashkiv LB, Glimcher LH. 1990. A cDNA for a human cyclic AMP response element-binding protein which is distinct from CREB and expressed preferentially in brain. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10:1347–57
- Siegrist CA, Mach B. 1993. Antisense oligonucleotides specific for regulatory factor RFX-1 inhibit inducible but not constitutive expression of all major histocompatibility complex class II genes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:2903–8
- Ono SJ, Liou HC, Davidon R, Strominger JL, Glimcher LH. 1991. Human X-box-binding protein 1 is required for the transcription of a subset of human class II major histocompatibility genes and forms a heterodimer with cfos. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:4309– 12
- 74. Ono SJ, Bazil V, Levi BZ, Ozato K, Strominger JL. 1991. Transcription of a subset of human class II major histocompatibility complex genes is regulated by a nucleoprotein complex that contains cfos or an antigenically related protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:4304–8
- Sugawara M, Scholl T, Ponath PD, Strominger JL. 1994. A factor that regulates the class II major histocompatibil-

ity complex gene DPA is a member of a subfamily of zinc finger proteins that includes a Drosophila developmental control protein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:8438–50

- Ting JPY, Painter A, Zeleznikle NJ, MacDonald G, Moore TM, Brown A, Schwartz BD. 1994. YB-1 DNA-binding protein represses interferon-gamma activation of class II major histocompatibility complex genes. J. Exp. Med. 179:1605–11
- 77. Song ZM, Krishna S, Thanos D, Strominger JL, Ono SJ. 1994. A novel cysteine-rich sequence-specific DNAbinding protein interacts with the conserved X-box motif of the human major histocompatibility complex class-II genes via a repeated Cys-His domain and functions as a transcriptional repressor. J. Exp. Med. 180:1763–74
- Reith W, Satola S, Herrero Sanchez C, Amaldi I, Lisowska-Grospierre B, Griscelli C, Hadam MR, Mach B. 1988. Congenital immunodeficiency with a regulatory defect in MHC class II gene expression lacks a specific HLA-DR promoter binding protein, RF-X. *Cell* 53:897–906
- Reith W, Herrero Sanchez C, Kobr M, Silacci P, Berte C, Barras E, Fey S, Mach B. 1990. MHC class II regulatory factor RFX has a novel DNA-binding domain and a functionally independent dimerization domain. *Genes Dev.* 4:1528–40
- van Huijsduijnen RH, Li XY, Black D, Matthas H, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1990. Co-evolution from yeast to mouse: cDNA cloning of the two NF-Y (CP-1/CBF) subunits. *EMBO J.* 9:3119–27
- 81. Sinha S, Maity SN, Lu J, De Crombrugghe B. 1995. Recombinant rat CBF-C, the third subunit of CBF/NFY, allows formation of a protein-DNA complex with CBF-A and CBF-B and with yeast HAP2 and HAP3. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 92:1624–28
- Mantovani R, Pessara U, Tronche F, Li XY, Knapp AM, Pasquali JL, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1992. Monoclonal antibodies to NF-Y define its function in MHC class II and albumin gene transcription. *EMBO J.* 11:3315–22
- Mantovani R, Li XY, Pessara U, van Huisjduijnen RH, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1994. Dominant negative analogs of NF-YA. J. Biol. Chem. 269:20340–46
- Hasegawa SL, Boss JM. 1991. Two Bcell factors bind the HLA-DRA X box region and recognize different subsets of HLA class II promoters. *Nucleic Acids*

Res. 19:6269-76

- 85. Moreno CS, Emery P, West JE, Durand B, Reith W, Mach B, Boss JM. 1995. Purified X2 binding protein (X2BP) cooperatively binds the class II MHC X box in the presence of purified RFX, the X box factor deficient in the bare lymphocyte syndrome. J. Immunol. In press
- Rosen FS, Wedgwood RJ, Eibl M, Griscelli C, Seligmann M, Aiuti F, Kishimoto T, Matsumoto S, Khakhalin LN, Hanson LA, Hitzig WH, Thompson RA, Cooper MD, Good RA, Waldman TA. 1992. Primary immunodeficiency diseases: report of a WHO scientific group. *Immunodefic. Rev.* 3:195–236
- Touraine JL, Betuel H, Souillet G. 1978. Combined immunodeficiency disease associated with absence of cell surface HLA A and B antigen. *J. Pediatr.* 93:47–51
- 88. Lisowska-Grospierre B, Charron DJ, de Preval C, Durandy A, Griscelli C, Mach B. 1985. A defect in the regulation of major histocompatibility complex class II gene expression in human HLA-DR negative lymphocytes from patients with combined immunodeficiency syndrome. J. Clin. Invest. 76:381–85
- de Préval C, Hadam MR, Mach B. 1988. Regulation of genes for HLA class II antigens in cell lines from patients with severe combined immunodeficiency. N. Engl. J. Med. 318:1295–1300
- 90. de Préval C, Lisowska-Grospierre B, Loche M, Griscelli C, Mach B. 1985. A trans-acting class II regulatory gene unlinked to the MHC controls expression of HLA class II genes. *Nature* 318:291–93
- Hume CR, Lee JS. 1989. Congenital immunodeficiencies associated with absence of HLA class II antigens on lymphocytes result from distinct mutations in trans-acting factors. *Hum. Immunol.* 26:288–309
- Benichou B, Strominger JL. 1991. Class II-antigen-negative patient and mutant B-cell lines represent at least three, and probably four, distinct genetic defects defined by complementation analysis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:4285–88
- Seidl C, Saraiya C, Osterweil Z, Fu YP, Lee JS. 1992. Genetic complexity of regulatory mutants defective for HLA class-II gene-expression. J. Immunol. 148:1576–84
- Lisowska-Grospierre B, Fondaneche MC, Rols MP, Griscelli C, Fischer A. 1994. Two complementation groups account for most cases of inherited MHC

class II deficiency. Hum. Mol. Genet. 3:953-58

- Gladstone P, Pious D. 1978. Stable variants affecting B cell alloantigens in human lymphoid cells. *Nature* 271:459–61
- Peijnenburg A, Godthelp B, van Boxel-Dezaire A, van den Elsen PJ. 1995. Definition of a novel complementation group in MHC class II deficiency. *Immuno*genetics 41:287–94
- Hauber I, Gulle H, Wolf HM, Maris M, Eggenbauer H, Eibl MM. 1995. Molecular characterization of major histocompatibility complex class II gene expression and demonstration of antigenspecific T cell response indicate a new phenotype in class II-deficient patients. J. Exp. Med. 181:1411–23
- Loh JE, Chang C, Fodor WL, Flavell RA. 1992. Dissection of the interferongamma-MHC class II signal transduction pathway reveals that type I and type II interferon systems share common signalling component(s). *EMBO J*. 11:1351–63
- Mao C, Davies D, Kerr IM, Stark GR. 1993. Mutant human cells defective in induction of major histocompatibility complex class II genes by interferon gamma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:2880–84
- Reith W, Steimle V, Mach B. 1995. Molecular defects in the bare lymphocyte syndrome and the regulation of MHC class II genes. *Immunol. Today*. 16:539–46
- 101. Herrero Sanchez C, Reith W, Silacci P, Mach B. 1992. The DNA-binding defect observed in major histocompatibility complex class II regulatory mutants concerns only one member of a family of complexes binding to the X boxes of class II promoters. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12:4076–83
- 102. Stimac E, Urieli-Shoval S, Kempin S, Pious D. 1991. Defective HLA DRAX box binding in the class II transactive transcription factor mutant 6.1.6 and in cell lines from class II immunodeficient patients. J. Immunol. 146:4398–4405
- Hasegawa SL, Riley JL, Sloan JH III, Boss JM. 1993. Protease treatment of nuclear extracts distinguishes between class II MHC X1 box DNA-binding proteins in wild-type and class II-deficient B cells. J. Immunol. 150:1781–93
- 104. Gönczy P, Reith W, Barras E, Lisowska-Grospierre B, Griscelli C, Hadam MR, Mach B. 1989. Inherited immunodeficiency with a defect in a major histo-

compatibility complex class II promoterbinding protein differs in the chromatin structure of the HLA-DRA gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 9:296–302

- Steimle V, Otten LA, Zufferey M, Mach B. 1993. Complementation cloning of an MHC class II transactivator mutated in hereditary MHC class II deficiency (or bare lymphocyte syndrome). *Cell* 75:135–46
- 106. Steimle V, Mach B. 1995. Complementation cloning of mammalian transcriptional regulators: the example of MHC class II gene regulation. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 5:646–51
- Accolla RS. 1983. Human B cell variants immunoselected against a single Ia antigen subset have lost expression in several Ia antigen subsets. *J. Exp. Med.* 157:1053–58
- Kern I, Steimle V, Siegrist C-A, Mach B. 1995. The two novel MHC class II transactivators RFX5 and CIITA both control expression of HLA-DM genes. *Int. Immunol.* 7:1295–1300
- 109. Steimle V, Durand B, Barras E, Zufferey M, Hadam MR, Mach B, Reith W. 1995. A novel DNA binding regulatory factor is mutated in primary MHC class II deficiency (Bare Lymphocyte Syndrome). *Genes Dev.* 9:1021–32
- 110. Steimle V, Siegrist CA, Mottet A, Lisowska-Grospierre B, Mach B. 1994. Regulation of MHC class II expression by interferon-gamma mediated by the transactivator gene CIITA. *Science* 265:106–9
- 111. Riley JL, Westerheide SD, Price JA, Brown JA, Boss JM. 1995. Activation of class II MHC genes requires both the X box and the class II transactivator (CI-ITA). *Immunity* 2:533–43
- 112. Zhou H, Glimcher LH. 1995. Human MHC class II gene transcription directed by the carboxyl terminus of CIITA, one of the defective genes in type II MHC combined immune deficiency. *Immunity* 2:545–53
- 113. Chin K, Mao C, Skinner C, Riley JL, Wright KL, Moreno CS, Stark GR, Boss JM, Ting JPY. 1994. Molecular analysis of G1B and G3A IFN-gamma mutants reveals that defects in CIITA or RFX result in defective class II MHC and Ii gene induction. *Immunity* 1:687–97
- 114. Chang CH, Fontes JD, Peterlin M, Flavell RA. 1994. Class II transactivator (CIITA) is sufficient for the inducible expression of major histocompatibility complex class II genes. J. Exp. Med.

180:1367-74

- 115. Kimura T, Nakayama K, Penninger J, Kitagawa M, Harada H, Matsuyama T, Tanaka N, Kamijo R, Vilcek J, Mak TW, Taniguchi T. 1994. Involvement of the IRF-1 transcription factor in antiviral response to interferons. *Science* 264:1921– 24
- 116. Silacci P, Mottet A, Steimle V, Reith W, Mach B. 1994. Developmental extinction of major histocompatibility complex class II gene expression in plasmocytes is mediated by silencing of the transactivator gene CIITA. J. Exp. Med. 180:1329– 36
- 117. Latron F, Jotterand Bellomo M, Maffei A, Scarpellino L, Bernard M, Strominger JL, Accolla RS. 1988. Active suppression of major histocompatibility complex class II gene expression during differentiation from B cells to plasma cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85:2229–33
- 117a. Chang C-H, Hong S-C, Hughes CCW, Janeway CA Jr. Flavell RA. 1995. CIITA activates the expression of MHC class II genes in mouse T cells. *Int. Immunol.* 7(9):1515–18
- Chang CH, Flavell RA. 1995. Class II transactivator regulates the expression of multiple genes involved in antigen presentation. *J. Exp. Med.* 181:765–67
- Karlsson L, Peleraux A, Lindstedt R, Liljedahl M, Peterson PA. 1994. Reconstitution of an operational MHC class II compartment in nonantigen-presenting cells. *Science* 266:1569–73
- 120. Siegrist C, Martinez-Soria E, Kern I, Mach B. 1995. A novel antigen processing defective phenotype in MHC class II positive CIITA transfectants is corrected by interferon-gamma. J. Exp. Med. In press
- 121. Kobr M, Reith W, Herrero Sanchez C, Mach B. 1990. Two DNA-binding proteins discriminate between the promoters of different members of the major histocompatibility complex class II multigene family. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10:965–71
- 122. Emery P, Mach B, Reith W. 1993. The different level of expression of HLA-DRB1 and -DRB3 genes is controlled by conserved isotypic differences in promoter sequence. *Hum. Immunol.* 38:137–47
- 123. Wright KL, Vilen BJ, Itoh Lindstrom Y, Moore TL, Li G, Criscitiello M, Cogswell P, Clarke JB, Ting JPY. 1994. CCAAT box binding protein NF-Y facilitates in vivo recruitment of upstream DNA binding transcription fac-

tors. EMBO J. 13:4042-53

- Griscelli C, Lisowska-Grospierre B, Mach B. 1989. Combined immunodeficiency with defective expression in MHC class II genes. *Immunodefic. Rev.* 1:135–53
- Grusby MJ, Glimcher LH. 1995. Immune responses in MHC class IIdeficient mice. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 13:417–35
- 126. Dardell S, Merkenschlager M, Bodmer H, Chan S, Cosgrove D, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1994. The immune system of mice lacking conventional MHC class II molecules. Adv. Immunol. 55:423–40
- 127. Negishi I, Motoyama N, Nakayama K, Nakayama K, Senju S, Hatakeyama S, Zhang Q, Chan AC, Loh DY. 1995. Essential role for ZAP-70 in both positive and negative selection of thymocytes. *Nature* 376:435–38
- Davis CB, Littman DR. 1994. Thymocyte lineage commitment: Is it instructed or stochastic? *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 6:266–72
- 129. Suzuki H, Punt JA, Granger LG, Singer A. 1995. Asymmetric signaling requirements for thymocyte commitment to the CD4⁺ versus CD8⁺ T cell lineages: a new perspective on thymic commitment and selection. *Immunity* 2:413–25
- 130. Klein C, Cavazzana-Calvo M, Le Deist F, Jabado N, Benkerrou M, Blanche S, Lisowska-Grospierre B, Griscelli C. 1995. Bone marrow transplantation in major histocompatibility complex class II deficiency: a single-center study of 19 patients. *Blood* 85:580–87
- 131. Ostrand Rosenberg S. 1994. Tumor immunotherapy: the tumor cell as an

antigen-presenting cell. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 6:722-27

- 132. Zhang XY, Jabrane Ferrat N, Asiedu CK, Samac S, Peterlin BM, Ehrlich M. 1993. The major histocompatibility complex class II promoter-binding protein RFX (NF-X) is a methylated DNA-binding protein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13:6810–18
- 133. Itoh Lindstrom Y, Peterlin BM, Ting JPY. 1995. Affinity enrichment and functional characterization of TRAX1, a novel transcription activator and X1sequence-binding protein of HLA-DRA. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:282–89
- Wolffe AP. 1994. Structural and functional properties of the evolutionarily ancient Y-box family of nucleic acid binding proteins. *BioEssays* 16:245–51
- 135. Sloan JH, Hasegawa SL, Boss JM. 1992. Single base pair substitutions within the HLA-DRA gene promoter separate the functions of the X1 and X2 boxes. J. Immunol. 148:2591–99
- Liou HC, Boothby MR, Finn PW, Davidon R, Nabavi N, Zeleznikle NJ, Ting JPY, Glimcher LH. 1990. A new member of the leucine zipper class of proteins that binds to the HLA DR alpha promoter. *Science* 247:1581–84
- 137. İvashkiv LB, Liou HC, Kara CJ, Lamph WW, Verma IM, Glimcher LH. 1990. mXBP/CRE-BP2 and c-Jun form a complex which binds to the cyclic AMP, but not to the 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate, response element. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10:1609–21
- Cogswell JP, Austin J, Ting JPY. 1991. The W element is a positive regulator of HLA-DRA transcription in various DR⁺ cell types. *J. Immunol.* 146:1361–67 (Erratum 1991. 146:3260–61)



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |
| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY

Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner

Institute of Experimental Immunology, Department of Pathology, University of Zürich, Schmelzbergstrasse 12, CH-8091 Zürich, Switzerland

KEY WORDS: antigen-dependence, activation, protection, virus, coevolution

ABSTRACT

Immunological memory is a hallmark of the immune system. Evolution can teach us which effector arms of immunological memory are biologically relevant against which virus. Antibodies appear to be the critical protective mechanism against cytopathic viruses. Since these viruses cause cell damage and disease directly, particularly in the absence of an immune response, mothers protect their offspring during a critical immunoincompetent period (a consequence of MHCrestricted T cell recognition) by passive transfer of neutralizing antibodies. In contrast, CTL appear to be the crucial effector mechanism against noncytopathic viruses. Since MHC polymorphism has made vertical transmission of T cell memory impossible, immunoincompetent offspring are not, and need not be, protected against such noncytopathic viruses. During the primary response and again during secondary infection, the most important function of CTL is to eliminate noncytopathic viruses, which may otherwise cause lethal immunopathology. Increased precursor frequencies of B and T cells appear to remain in the host independent of antigen persistence. However, in order to protect against cytopathic viruses, memory B cells have to produce antibody to maintain protective elevated levels of antibody; B cell differentiation into plasma cells is driven by persisting antigen. Similarly, to protect against infection with a noncytopathic virus, CTL have to recirculate through peripheral organs. Activation and capacity to emigrate into solid tissues as well as cytolytic effector function are also dependent upon, and driven by, persisting antigen. Because no convincing evidence is available yet of the existence of identifiable B or T cells with specialized memory characteristics, the phenotype of immunological memory correlates best with antigen-driven activation of low frequency effector T cells and plasma cells.

INTRODUCTION

Browsing through textbooks and authoritative texts quickly reveals that the definition of immunological memory is not straightforward. All agree that immunological memory is illustrated by the fact that hosts once infected, and therefore having mounted an immune response and survived the infection, are protected more efficiently against second infections. Accordingly, a more rapid and more potent response exhibited in hosts that already have encountered the same antigen some time before is usually considered to reflect immunological memory. Whether this involves critical B cell or T cell responses, or both, is often not clearly distinguished (Table 1). The identification of essential cellular parameters needed for this memory reaction is far from complete, and whether memory as measured in vitro is relevant for protective immunological memory in vivo remains an open question.

Four classes of definitions, not mutually exclusive, have been proposed to account for memory. They use different levels within the complexities of the biology, and they are often difficult to compare: First, memory is the result of increased precursor frequencies of specific resting B or T cells, maintained in an antigen-independent fashion (1–4). Second, memory represents a special quality of specific lymphocytes situated partway between the virgin and the effector stage. According to this X-Y-Z proposal, where X are uninduced, Y are the "half-induced" memory-type T cells, and Z the fully differentiated effector T cells, the lifespan of the respective cells varies, and Y cells live considerably longer than Z cells (5). Third, memory represents elevated frequencies of activated, specific lymphocytes; the elevated frequencies are maintained by the triggering of recurrent infections involving persisting or cross-reactive antigens, resulting in an equilibrated level of induction of specific effector cells (6, 7). Fourth, memory reflects "regulatory" influences (e.g. networks).

Immunological memory has been reviewed recently by Gray (6), MacKay (8, 9), Doherty (4), Ahmed (10), Sprent (11), and earlier by others (12–14). The present review does not aim at extending these detailed analyses. We discuss memory mainly from the point of view of virus infections: How memory is selectable in evolution, i.e. how it enhances survival of the species. Considering the differing definitions of immunological memory and the possible mechanisms involved, the following questions arise: 1. What function might immunological T cell, B cell, and antibody memory together serve? 2. Is this function subject to evolutionary selection from the point of view of virus infections? 3. Are the methods used to measure memory adequate to characterize the phenomenon, or alternatively, what parameters should better be monitored? 4. What is the role of antigen in memory?

| | | | Most imp | ortant or | limiting fo | r protection ^a | |
|----------------|----------------------------|---------|-----------|-----------|-------------|--------------------------------|------------------------|
| | | CTL (| perforin) | T (int | erleukins) | | Protection of neonates |
| Virus | | Resting | Activated | Resting | Activated | Antibody | by antibodies |
| Cytopathic | i.v. | _ | _ | _ | _ | ++ | + |
| | periphery | - | _ | _ | ++ | + | +/- |
| Non-cytopathic | i.v. | + | + | _ | _ | + | + (not necessary) |
| | periphery (antiviral) | - | ++ | _ | _ | _ | - (not necessary) |
| | periphery (immunopath.) | _ | ++ | _ | _ | -(can enhance immunopathology) | - |

 Table 1
 Critical immunological effector mechanisms for protection against secondary virus infections

^aThe combinations marked with + or ++ point out the critical memory effector mechanism.

This review concludes that elevated levels of memory antibodies are critical for survival of the species, that there exists probably no special and definable memory status of T cells, and that low-level persisting antigen drives low-level B and T cell responses that mediate memory functions.

THE ROLE OF IMMUNOLOGICAL FACTORS AND PARAMETERS OF INFECTIOUS AGENTS INFLUENCING IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY

Adaptive immune mechanisms protect vertebrate hosts against many life-threatening infections. There is good evidence that infectious agents have coevolved with their hosts' immune systems to reach a balanced state, i.e. immunological and viral parameters are interdependent (15–19) (Table 1). Immune effector mechanisms are the specific part of this overall evolutionary equilibrium, directing many nonspecific host parameters (including complement, interleukins, interferons, phagocytes) to eliminate the infection.

Specificity is the basis of the so-called self-nonself discrimination and of memory, but all three are usually considered hallmarks of the immune system. Although great efforts have been spent on defining specificity, this key parameter is still poorly understood. The relevance of thresholds of the binding forces of antibodies or T cells, of their affinities and/or avidities, and of the need for receptor cross-linking for protective immunological effectiveness against infectious agents is still far from clear.

The questions of what immunological memory is and how it is maintained are intimately linked to our understanding of specificity. If protective effector antibodies need to bind a neutralizing epitope of a virus with an affinity of at least 10^7 to 10^8 M^{-1} (20), the questions arise, whether antigens that cross-react

at the 10^6 to 10^7 M⁻¹ level can induce a primary response or restimulate a memory response (or both, or neither) in vivo, and what the relevance of this response to survival might be (21). In addition, while the biological relevance of low-affinity antibodies is documented for opsonization of bacteria to enhance their elimination (22), the protective effectiveness of antibodies blocking life-threatening effects of viruses or toxins is not proven. For neutralization, or blocking, of viruses or toxic molecules, antibodies must compete in binding to the respective receptors. Experience with closely related but serologically distinct viruses, bacteria, or classical parasites suggests that relatively high-affinity thresholds for both induction and effector function of lymphocytes keep the system specific (23–30). However, for each effector mechanism and pathway, these thresholds differ and therefore have to be analyzed separately.

T cell specificity is not yet generally defined in terms of T cell receptor avidity for MHC-complexed peptides nor with respect to the required extent of receptor cross-linking (31–36). A correlation of in vitro measurements with in vivo protective activity is difficult to establish unequivocally. It is therefore difficult to extrapolate from in vitro measured cross-reactivity of memory T cells to protective activity in vivo and to its survival value. In conclusion, specificity of T cells, and also of immunological memory, is best defined operationally as selectable protective capacity in vivo.

Immunological parameters are strongly dependent upon the infectious agent; its localization and distribution and the kinetics of infection all play a major role in defining immunological defense and memory (16, 37). The example of the epidemiology of measles virus infections on the Faeröe Islands or on Pacific islands has, both earlier and again recently, been cited as proof for antigen independence of T cell memory (2, 3). But this example may be faulty for several reasons: 1. Antibodies (not CD8⁺ T cells) seem to be key protective factors against a second measles virus infection, and 2. measles virus may persist as incomplete viral information for a long time (38). 3. Alternatively, antibody antigen complexes, particularly involving the relevant neutralizing determinants, probably persist on follicular dendritic cells for life, or 4. these antigens may be produced from internal usually undefined sources (see How Does Antigen Persist?) (39, 40).

Another interesting example is only rarely quoted: von Pirquet showed in 1907 (41) (in an experiment obviously not possible today) that children vaccinated against smallpox with live vaccinia virus were resistant to infection of the skin with a second vaccinia virus dose administered within 3–4 weeks; however, if revaccination was performed later, the children developed local vaccine lesions, but they were still protected from viremia. This example illustrates that vaccination may result in antibody-mediated protection against systemic spread and therefore against dangerous disease. Antibodies do not however prevent local reinfection and peripheral disease manifestation. The latter are apparently best controlled by activated T cells (see later). Thus, infectious agents differ vastly with respect to their port of entry, local disease manifestations on mucosa or skin and in solid tissues, and how they spread (15, 16). Accordingly, different effector mechanisms are critical for their elimination (Tables 1 and 2).

Viruses replicate in living cells with consequences that permit their separation into two categories (Table 1). Cytopathic viruses cause host cell destruction directly. Death occurs if cytopathic virus cannot be stopped early before the virus has destroyed too many essential host cells. Immune protection is mediated by a blockage of the infection itself (by neutralizing antibodies) and/or of the initial steps of replication [by some antibodies (42)]. It is also blocked by cytokines such as interferon (IFN) α , β , in general, and then by interleukins released by specific T cells such as IFN γ and tumor necrosis factor (TNF); perforindependent cytolysis is apparently not important (43–46). Noncytopathic viruses do not cause host cell destruction directly; however, the induced cytotoxic T cell (CTL) response may cause destruction of infected essential host cells by lysis and/or by excessively produced interleukins (e.g. TNF, IFN γ) (47–53).

Since noncytopathic viruses cause no harm to cells whereas cytolytic CTL do, the question has to be answered: Why should these effector T cells have developed at all? Most probably because MHC class II molecules that are critical for most immune responses, including most long-lived memory antibody responses, are expressed on phagocytes and lymphocytes, but not on most cells of solid peripheral organs. Immune surveillance of dangerous alterations

| | | Not optiv | Frequency of (| CD8+ T | cells | ativatad |
|---|--------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------|--------|--------------------------|--|
| | | Not activ | ateu | | А | cuvateu |
| Protection against challenge infection | Low naive | High memory (– ag) | Very high (naive TCR tg) | Low | High memory (+ ag) | Very high memory (TCR tg) (+ ag) |
| VV (early after challenge) | no | not done | no | 3 | yes | yes (expected) |
| VV (late after challenge) | no | no ⁽¹¹⁹⁾ | no | | yes ⁽⁸³⁾ | yes ⁽¹¹⁹⁾ |
| VSV, influenza | no | not^1 | n.d. | | no1,2 | n.d. |
| LCMV (Systematic, i.v.) | no | yes ³ | yes ⁽⁸²⁾ | | yes ⁽³⁾ | yes ² |
| LCMV (peripheral, i.c.) | no | no ² | no ⁽⁸²⁾ | | yes ⁽¹⁵⁷⁾ | yes ² |
| LCMV (peripheral, i.f.) | no | no ² | no ⁽¹¹⁶⁾ | | yes ⁽¹⁵⁷⁾ | yes ⁽¹¹⁶⁾ |

Table 2 Protective capacity of activated versus nonactivated CTLs dependent upon frequencies

¹The experiments have actually not been performed or published; the expected result is given.

²Unpublished.

3 This phenotype does not exist.

of these latter cells by infection with non-cytopathic infectious agents or by transformation to form tumors is inducible only in lymphoid organs (see below), and therefore a mechanism for antigen release is necessary. CD8⁺ T cells that exert two functions at the same time, i.e. cytolysis by perforin-dependent mechanism and release of interferons and inflammation-promoting interleukins, promote both antigen release and phagocytosis plus transport to local lymphatic organs.

The kinetics of noncytopathic virus infections and of CTL responses is important to the disease caused by CTL-mediated destruction of infected host cells.¹ While a fast response against a slow noncytopathic virus limits immunopathological host cell damage efficiently, a slow CTL response against a fast-replicating virus results in extensive and sometimes lethal immunopathology (56–58) (Table 1) by both lytic and interleukin-mediated mechanisms.

Let us emphasize here that all successful vaccines used in humans so far operate via neutralizing antibodies (59); even for smallpox, prevention of hematogenic spread of virus by antibody is probably the most important protective mechanism. A possible reason for the dominant role of high memory antibody is discussed in the next section. The example of immunity against vaccinia virus shows that local infection in the periphery is often not controlled by antibodies because they cannot reach the peripheral site of infection. Because peripheral infection by a cytopathic virus is usually restricted initially, this IL-T memory effector pathway is not crucial to survival, since neutralizing memory antibody responses critically prevent systemic spread and death (59).

It is important to emphasize that CD8⁺ T cells can mediate antiviral protection via two pathways, either via perforin-dependent cytotoxicity (the role in immune protection of Fas-Fas ligand interaction is not yet understood) (60) or via released interleukin such as IFN and TNF (43, 44). Recent studies with perforin-deficient mice have revealed that perforin-dependent CTL activity is essential to the control of noncytopathic viruses such as lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) in mice and possibly of hepatitis B or C virus (HBV, HCV) (52) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) during primary infection. Perforin-dependent CTL activity also controls virus at low levels of persistence (53). Since memory antibody cannot reach infected peripheral cells and cannot neutralize intracellular virus, control of cell-to-cell spread of virus from (and/or destruction of) kidney tubular cells, cells of the salivary gland, or neurons (49–51, 61) that are persistently infected or reinfected by noncytopathic virus are an essential function of memory CTL, a function which apparently

¹CTL is used here and throughout as an abbreviation for CD8⁺ T cells that mediate their effector function via a perforin-dependent pathway (54, 55). In contrast CD8⁺ T cells or CD4⁺ T cells mediating effector functions via released/induced interleukins are called IL-T cells.

cannot be mediated by antibodies or IL-releasing T cells. Unless this control is fast, host cell destruction by CTL or induction of excessive inflammation by interleukins released by T cells causes disease and death by immunopathology (62–64). An example for interleukin-mediated lethal immunopathology is revealed by LCMV-infection of perforin-deficient mice (54). Thus, while antibodies can neutralize infectious agents in blood and on mucosa, cellular immunity acts efficiently against infectious agents in solid tissues.

WHY IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY? AN ATTEMPT AT AN EVOLUTIONARY EXPLANATION

Immunological memory must provide a survival advantage and must be selectable. Although immune hosts are in general fitter and therefore have a survival advantage, it can be argued that, if an immunologically competent host survived the first infection, the host will also survive a second infection. For immunoincompetent hosts during fetal life and in the neonatal period, immunological protection is, however, essential for survival. Such protection is absolutely necessary against cytopathic viruses but not against noncytopathic ones, since the latter viruses can establish a virus carrier state that is not lifethreatening to the immunoincompetent host. Against cytopathic viruses, protection of immunoincompetent offspring is mediated by elevated protective antibody titers, but not by T cells, for the following reason: Only antibodies can be transmitted from mother to offspring (65, 66), either in mammals or birds. The most obvious requirement for such transfer appears to be the need of young immunoincompetent offspring for protection from otherwise lethal pathogens during the period when their immune system is still maturing.

The complicated process of T cell maturation was necessitated by the development of MHC-restricted T cell recognition. MHC-restricted T cell recognition is based on polymorphic peptide-presenting MHC molecules and seems to have developed for cellular immunosurveillance of cell alterations caused by intracellular pathogens or by transformation (67). The development of MHCrestricted T cell recognition that separates effector mechanisms targeted against intracellular parasites from serum antibodies recognizing soluble or particular antigens in blood and on mucosal surfaces had two major consequences: First, development of many alleles of MHC class I and class II molecules distributed in the population (MHC-polymorphism) caused histoincompatibility and immunological rejection of histoincompatible cells or organs between individuals. This histoincompatibility is of no direct evolutionary relevance, except for the immunological reactivity between mother and fetus (and in modern medicine for transplantation of organs). Because of the histoincompatibility between maternal and paternal MHC molecules expressed by the offspring, cellular immunological memory could not be transferred from mother to offspring because of the danger of lethal graft-vs-host disease in the offspring. From this point of view and in contrast to soluble antibody memory, T cell memory is not important for the young offspring.

Second, because MHC genes and genes coding for T cell receptors are not linked (67), histoincompatibility and MHC-centered T cell recognition required a complicated developmental "learning" of T cell recognition via positive and negative selection processes in the thymus and peripherally (67). Therefore, MHC restriction of T cell recognition caused periods of immunoincompetence during ontogeny that had to be covered by transferable antibodies. Thus, antibodies are soluble, transmissible forms of a polyvalent immunological maternal memory that provides necessary protection of offspring for some duration during which they can develop T cell competence and the capacity to themselves generate essentially T help–dependent antibody responses. The requirement for an overall balanced virus-host relationship would have rendered unlikely the evolution of cytopathic agents that could not be checked efficiently by maternal antibodies during this critical time, which is needed for the full development of immune responses during gestation and particularly after birth.

A few examples may illustrate this requirement: As is known to immunologists and to those using tissue culture media containing newborn calf serum, bovine species possess no serum immunoglobulin at birth. Their B cells have not matured yet, and maternal immunoglobulins cannot pass through the complete double layer of a chorioepithelial placenta (65). The highly concentrated immunoglobulin in the first milk (cholostrum) must be taken up via gut within the first 24 hours after birth. During this period the maternal antibodies of most classes available in cholostrum are not digested and pass through the gut epithelium without degradation. This passively absorbed immunoglobulin effectively protects the calf for the first several months from otherwise lethal infections (65). Similarly, birds receive an immunological memory package of maternal antibodies in the egg (67). Offspring of mice and humans obtain maternal antibodies through the choriohemangial placenta and partially also with milk (68).

In conclusion, elevated antibody levels are essential to protect offspring via maternal antibodies not only against cytopathic infections during and just after pregnancy but more generally against the usual spectrum of all common and important infections, these are encountered not only during pregnancy but during at least the first 12 to 20 years for human mothers and 8 to 12 weeks for mice. Such infections would otherwise threaten the young host during fetal life in utero and during early infancy. In contrast to antibodies and B cells (and

possibly T helper cells) that are essential for protection of offspring against cytopathic viruses, CTLs or IL-T are not involved in antibody production and do not usually regulate antibody responses. They also do not release a product that specifically can transmit protection against cytopathic infections to offspring. Thus, they do not play an essential role in protecting offspring. Because noncytopathic viruses induce a healthy carrier state in immunoincompetent offspring, they do not jeopardize host survival. In fact survival of an immunocompetent newborn is favored by the absence in immunoincompetent hosts of T cell responses that cause immunopathological disease. Thus, the failure of adoptive transfer of CTL from mother to offspring is of survival advantage here.

METHODS TO ASSESS MEMORY

As stated, the definition of memory is variable (see introduction). If immunological memory is defined as an antigen-induced alteration in the reactive state of the immune system, then one can assess memory responses by the more rapid onset of an immune response and the capacity to reduce or eliminate the antigenic load more effectively. Therefore, clear quantifiable evidence of enhanced responses in vivo following a first encounter with antigen is needed to assess memory. If memory reflects the extent of previous lymphocyte proliferation (clonal burst size) that is maintained antigen-independently, the optimal way to measure memory for T cells is to determine T cell precursor frequencies by limiting dilution analysis (1, 3, 4). If memory represents a change in the physiological status of IL-T or CTLp, rather than simply an increase of numbers, then certain surface markers and differences in interleukin patterns should be studied (3, 11, 69, 70). If protection against secondary in vivo challenge is taken as the most important measure of memory, then the kinetics of challenging infections and of disease must be monitored in primed hosts or in adoptive transfer experiments (12, 63, 71-73). Because of the complexities of the latter parameters, these in vivo readouts are sometimes difficult to interpret. It is particularly difficult to evaluate the relevance of B cell and T helper cell memory, compared to cytotoxic T cell memory and the role of antigen persistence, under conditions where their respective importance in protection from disease or death is usually unknown or not yet clear. Nevertheless, when conditions are chosen such that a particular missing effector mechanism, e.g. memory $CD8^+$ T cells, limits survival, analysis of memory due to this particular immunological effector pathway should become meaningful (Tables 1 and 2).

In Table 1, an attempt is made to summarize and categorize immunological memory effector mechanisms: perforin-dependent cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells, interleukin-releasing T cells and antibodies. These protect against cytopathic or noncytopathic viruses that infect the host either peripherally (via skin, mucosa,

the big toe, or the brain) or systemically (via the blood). Evaluation of essential parameters of memory obviously depends crucially upon the particular infection analyzed. For example, protection against a particular influenza virus serotype is efficiently mediated by neutralizing antibodies. What then is the significance of in vitro measured memory at the T cell level if it does not interfere with the replication of subsequently infecting, serologically distinct influenza viruses (23, 25–27, 74, 75)? Another example may be Herpes viruses that persist in the host in so-called privileged sites, e.g. neurons, and periodically flair up to cause disease despite the presence of high titered neutralizing antibodies and a high frequency of memory T helper and cytotoxic T cells. In this example, antigen obviously persists and maintains immunological B and T cell memory at high levels, but without much success, for geographic reasons; neither antibodies nor CTLs reach and stop virus sufficiently quickly before disease becomes apparent. These may be extreme examples, but they illustrate the vast ranges of equilibrated states to which viruses and vertebrate immune systems have adjusted (15, 28, 76).

Even for classical experimental antigens used in basic immunology, the question of whether antigen maintains memory may not be as simple as it appears, because of the use of adjuvants that help via various mechanisms to render antigen more persistent (67, 77, 78). Induction of an antibody or proliferative T helper cell response with bovine serum albumin or key limpet hymocyanin is usually difficult unless these antigens are mixed with an adjuvant. For example, Freund's and now "Titer Max's" version, induce a granulomatous inflammation and cause antigen to persist in a depot (79). Alternatively, aggregates or particulate adjuvants such as alum that absorb antigens are used, so that antigen is taken up more readily by antigen presenting cells, thereby inducing an antibody response more efficiently and quickly. Thus, the antigen is probably still available—and remains available—for the formation of antigen-antibody complexes to be stored on follicular dendritic cells. In this way memory B cell responses are boosted, and elevated antibody levels are maintained.

In conclusion, whether memory is recognized and can be measured, and whether the measured parameter is essential for protection and survival, depend upon the virus analyzed and the experimental setup used. Thus, when mechanisms of immunological memory are to be evaluated, it seems essential to use readouts that monitor the effector mechanism that crucially limits reinfection and survival.

Elevated Antibody Levels

Increased antibody levels that immediately neutralize cytopathic or noncytopathic viruses are the most important memory effector mechanisms. This has been discussed in "Why Immunological Memory?" and is best illustrated by adoptive transfer experiments, including the adoptive transfer from mother to offspring (Table 1). Elevated levels of protective antibodies depend upon antigen, provided either by repetitive subclinical infections, by viral persistence, by cross-reactive antigens, and/or by antigen-antibody complexes on follicular dendritic cells (FDC) in probably long-lived germinal centers. The evidence from various studies and infections has been summarized in comprehensive reviews by Nossal & Ada (39) and by Tew et al (13, 80). As shown in Table 1, neutralizing antibodies are efficiently protective not only against cytopathic but also against noncytopathic viruses, whenever the latter are accessible to antibodies, i.e. if the infection is via blood or mucosae or spreads systemically via blood. Antibodies are of little use against noncytopathic viruses that use routes of infection via peripheral organs such as epithelia or nerves and choriomeninges, or if they are transmitted via infected cells (e.g. HIV).

Memory T Cells Protecting Via Interleukins

Cytopathic viruses exhibit rapid replication times of four to six hours and often exhibit highly selective tropisms for only one particular host cell type (15, 16, 28). A one-cell-to-one-cell lytic CTL mechanism seems too slow to control cytopathic viruses. Soluble mediators seem necessary to block intracellular replication in extended areas where a sufficient concentration of interfering IL prevails (43, 44, 60) (Tables 1 and 2). Accumulation of interfering substances may require some time, but it does occur once sufficiently high local concentrations are established. Although this IL-mediated pathway may be imprecise, it seems to harm mostly (only?) cells already hampered in their function by infection. Compared to cytolytic T cell action, this effector mechanism may therefore overall be considerably less dangerous to the host (see next section).

One prototype example of the effect of protective IL–T cells is the protection they provide against peripheral reinfection with vaccinia virus via mucosa or skin (see von Piquet's experiment). However, since this experiment shows that neither neutralizing antibody nor presumably primed $CD8^+$ or $CD4^+$ T cells prevent virus from replicating locally 4 weeks after priming, it emphasizes that only antibodies are critical for preventing systemic spread of virus. Memory IL–T cell responses beyond that of a primary response are therefore not essential for survival. Nevertheless, an efficient nonlytic but IL-dependent protective T cell function against vaccinia virus is mediated by activated $CD8^+$ T cells and also by activated and therefore tissue-seeking $CD4^+$ T cells (44). Interestingly, elevated memory frequencies of nonactivated T cells are apparently inadequate to mediate efficient protection against such local peripheral challenge infections even when the frequency is 10^2 to 10^3 times greater than normal. If T cell frequencies are unphysiologically high such as in TCR transgenic mice (81, 82), a delayed activation may still result in some protection because of the enormous

numbers of quickly inducible IL-T cells, but in general not even such mice are protected against peripheral infection. A second example is rhabdovirus infections [i.e. rabies or vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) infections] or infections by influenza and some parainfluenza viruses (e.g. Sendai virus infections in mice). Local neutralizing antibodies seem to be the critical protective mechanism preventing reinfection, apparently independently of increased cytolytic CTLp frequencies as determined in vitro (23, 83, 84). Thus, although increased CTLp and IL-T cell precursors can be measured, and protective activity can be demonstrated under selected conditions in vivo, they do not contribute to the long-term immunological memory phenotype that is critical in mediating resistance against disease and that is important for survival (85).

Evidence from VSV and influenza model infections in mice may illustrate this point particularly well-in a negative fashion-for primed T helper cells. Neutralizing antibodies are critical to limit infection and to protect against reinfection. T helper cells are necessary for switching neutralizing antiviral IgM to IgG, when induced by various influenza viruses or by VSV New Jersey (NJ). T helper cells extensively cross-react among influenza viruses (30, 86-88) and between VSV-NJ and Indiana (IND) (89-91). Surprisingly, despite this T cell cross-reactivity, no significant cross-protection is noticed. The timedependence of cross-reactive memory T helper cell activity was assessed after infection with VSV-NJ by monitoring the acceleration of the switch from IgM to IgG in the same mice when they were subsequently exposed to VSV-IND. Functional memory T help that could accelerate this switch, specifically beyond that of a primary response, lasted only 14-21 days (92). Interestingly, this was despite the fact that T helper cell responses assessed with a classical hapten carrier system using the same viral carrier lasted for months (89). Thus, functional T cell memory seems to be rather short-lived against VSV and, similarly, against influenza virus (30), despite the presence of elevated numbers and frequencies of primed T helper cells. This suggests that, despite persistence of antigen-antibody complexes on FDCs, T helper cell memory drops rapidly below a minimal level, at which the induction of available naive B cells specific for the new serotype, rather than T helper cells, is limiting. Obviously, these cross-reactive T cells are not controlling the infection, and this fits with what we know, that only neutralizing antibodies are efficient in doing so. The very fact that serotypes of these viruses did evolve is good proof for the relevance of longterm memory B cells and antibodies in these particular infections. This study of functional half-lives of cross-reactive T helper cell memory shared by different viral serotypes reveals a particularly interesting example of the coevolution of immune responses and viruses, and it illustrates how important a biological readout is to measure critical parameters to learn about immunological memory.

Cytotoxic T Cell Memory

PROTECTIVE ROLE OF PERFORIN-DEPENDENT CYTOTOXIC T CELLS Specific T cell-mediated and perforin-dependent host cell lysis is the critical effector mechanism against cells infected with noncytopathic viruses or against transformed cells. Noncytopathic viruses replicate rather slowly, with average replication cycles of about 10-20 hours (28, 50). They are relatively resistant to IL-dependent effector mechanisms and often exhibit a very wide spectrum of tropisms that permit them to infect many different host cells (49-51). CTLs seem to be essential for control of these viruses, a point revealed by recent studies with perforin-deficient mice; such mice are unable to stop or eliminate LCMV (54). Since these viruses are noncytopathic, they cause disease or death not directly, but indirectly via the protective CTL response (see Introduction and Table 1); therefore limitation of CTL- and perforin-mediated immunopathology is essential for protection and survival. It is noteworthy that CTLs often do not succeed in eliminating noncytopathic viruses completely from the host. Even when no longer measurably detected in lymphoid or many other organs, LCMV has been found often to persist in kidney tubular cells, in testes, or in salivary gland cells (49-51, 61). From these cells virus may spread periodically to boost CTL responses in lymphoid organs without inducing an effector CTL population potent and numerous enough to reach the peripheral sources of virus. These notions are still poorly defined by quantitation but may be illustrated in the following experiments, with transgenic mice expressing the LCMV-glycoprotein (LCMV-GP) under the rat insulin promoter in insulinproducing islet cells. T cells of these mice ignore this transgenic self-antigen and do not spontaneously develop diabetes (94). However, after infection with LCMV, the mice develop a prompt LCMV-GP specific CTL response, which causes the destruction of the peripheral transgenic islet cells and initiates a fulminant diabetes. In contrast, infection of the same mice with a vaccinia recombinant virus expressing LCMV-GP fails to cause diabetes (95), despite the fact that it induces an LCMV-GP-specific CTL response (about 100 times reduced compared with that induced by an LCMV infection). LCMV persistence in kidney tubular cells may be comparable to LCMV-GP transgenic islet cells exposed to a low frequency CTL response; it is not reached efficiently by the few activated memory CTL.

Thus, noncytopathic viruses tend to persist in a host because they are relatively resistant to IL-dependent mechanisms. Because of their multiple cell tropism, they can persist in immunologically privileged sites to coexist in a balanced fashion with few activated memory CTL (and antibodies). CYTOTOXIC T CELL PRECURSOR FREQUENCIES DETERMINED IN VITRO CTL memory is often monitored by secondary cultures in vitro (1, 3, 83). Usually unprimed spleen cells cannot be stimulated with antigen-expressing stimulator cells to generate measurable CTL activity in vitro. Although this statement still applies in general, in the past several years, reports have emerged on induction of primary CTL responses in vitro, when appropriate sources of interleukins, the best APCs, and sufficient numbers of normal responder lymphocytes are used (96, 97). Therefore, the presence or absence of a secondary response may no longer distinguish absolutely between primed and virgin CTL. Nevertheless, in every case where CTL memory has been studied early after antigen exposure, increased CTLp frequencies have been observed.

After infection with various viruses, the CTLp frequency increases dramatically from 10^{-6} spleen cells to peak values of 10^{-2} or 10^{-3} . As soon as a virus is eliminated to levels below detection, CTLp also usually drop to 10^{-4} or 10^{-5} within a few days, but they usually do not drop back to 10^{-6} (1, 3, 63, 83, 98). These findings signal that antigen-dependent homeostasis prevents accumulation of irrelevant or no-longer-used effector CD8⁺ T cells over time. There are a few examples where CTLs seem to persist at rather high levels in unmanipulated hosts or after adoptive transfer of CTLs to irradiated recipients, in the apparent absence of antigen, for various reasons to be discussed later.

What regulates this long-term CTLp increase? Is it genuine antigen, that persists from the first infection or derives from reinfections, cross-reactive antigens, or bystander activation processes, or does it represent a true memory quality that is built into the immune system?

CD8⁺ T CELL–DEPENDENT PROTECTION ASSESSED IN VIVO Since in vitro measurable elevated CTLp frequencies are found after most virus infections, independent of whether these CTLs are essential for protection or not, CTL protection in vivo and the role of antigen in maintaining protective CTLp memory need to be analyzed carefully in vivo to find conditions where memory CTLs acting via perforin-dependent mechanisms are critical for protection.

CTL memory has been studied in various model situations in the original host or by adoptive transfer experiments to document longevity or, alternatively, the transient nature of immunological memory and its dependence upon CTLp frequency, either alone or also upon activation with persisting antigen (1, 3, 63, 72, 73) (Table 2). Adoptive transfer experiments of antibodies documenting the critical role of neutralizing antibodies in protection against reinfection are easily done because no additional treatment of the host is necessary. In contrast, if CTL memory is analyzed in the original host, quantification is difficult; remaining antigen associated with transferred cells may not be eliminated, antibodies may interfere, etc. Nevertheless the original primed host and the prevention of immunopathology are critical subjects of research on the nature and relevance of CTL memory (48, 63).

If persisting antigen is removed by the isolation of lymphocytes from immunized donors and then transfused to recipients that had been pretreated either by sublethal irradiation or by other methods causing immunosuppression, several methodological problems arise. How do lymphocytes taken out of their physiological context circulate and home in such a new recipient (99–103)? Do they expand, and to what degree? How do activation markers, surface molecules of donor cells, and homing receptors on donor and recipient cells vary because of irradiation and adoptive transfer (102)? Is a recipient inbred mouse really genetically identical to the individual donor mouse to the degree usually assumed, or are these assumptions incorrect because of highly variable endogenous or integrated viruses (104–109)?

Already in early adoptive transfer experiments on memory, Celada et al (12) noted that transfer was difficult or impossible unless recipients were first irradiated with 450 and 650 r, i.e. conditions that cause a rather dramatic depletion of lymphocytes with subsequent expansion of endogenous or transferred lymphocytes. Therefore, this experimental protocol provides conditions of activation of transferred memory cells to an extent that is not controllable (1, 3). Whether irradiation in addition causes activation and expression of endogenous viruses with potential superantigen character may be too speculative at the moment, but this disturbing possibility may have to be considered. In this respect, inbred strains of mice may be particularly problematic because they harbor a rather extensive variety of such endogenous or slow viruses, for example, the radiation-induced and other leukemia viruses, MMTV viruses in various shades and transmission forms, or endogenous viruses involved in encephalitis (106, 108–112).

As stated before antibodies play a major role in preventing systemic reinfection and disease with cytopathic (or noncytopathic) viruses. Immunological memory mediated by IL-T has been discussed in relation to the vaccinia virus model infection in previous sections; for the discussion of CTL memory the noncytopathic LCMV is used as a well established animal model infection. LCMV does not cause disease directly, but via CTL-mediated immunopathology, in spleen, or liver, or in choriomeningitis. CTL memory is essential and limiting for protection against peripheral infection with noncytopathic viruses. What are the parameters that influence protection by memory CD8⁺ T cells against virus-induced immunopathology? CTLp frequency or antigen-dependent activation of CTLs, or both? Protection by CTL has been tested in vivo usually in two ways: First, by determining if preexistent or transferred primed CTL reduce viral titers after a challenge infection more efficiently than do unprimed CTL. However, since perforin-mediated T cell cytotoxicity is not critical for

protection against cytopathic viruses, this test does not yield information relevant from an evolutionary point of view about memory against cytopathic viruses. Second, cytolytic T cells cause disease via induction of T cell-mediated immunopathology against otherwise benign (noncytopathic) viruses. Therefore, protective memory against disease caused by noncytopathic viruses is most appropriately monitored by assessing prevention of immunopathology. This parameter determines the survival of the host. For example, intracerebral injection of the noncytopathic LCMV causes viral spread in the choriomeninges, and subcutaneous infection causes spread in the footpad. These cells are susceptible to CD8⁺ T cell-mediated immunopathology (48-51, 113, 114). Only activated cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells protect against lethal choriomeningitis or sizable footpad swelling (63, 115–117). While increased CTLp frequency in the absence of persisting antigen protects inadequately in this assay, it still exhibits measurable protection in a virus titer reduction assay measuring systemic virus levels in the spleen (3, 63, 117, 118). Since LCMV is noncytopathic, disease is not directly caused by the virus but is mediated by T cells. Therefore, virus titer reduction may be important, but the parameter limiting disease and death is in this case the prevention of immunopathology.

In conclusion, from a biological point of view, protection against noncytopathic viruses is probably best measured by prevention of immunopathology. In contrast, protection against cytopathic viruses is best measured by assessing virus titer reduction. These drastically differing aspects of antiviral immunity are based on the exemplaric and extreme differences in the life styles of the viruses and of the limiting immune effector mechanisms.

SPECIAL CASES REVEALING CHARACTERISTICS OF CTL MEMORY

Very high CTL precursor frequency in TCR transgenic mice The role of memory T cells, of their frequency, and of their activation in memory against cytolytic and noncytolytic viruses was analyzed in mice expressing a LCMV-GP and H2D^b-restricted transgenic T cell receptor (81, 82). These T cell receptor transgenic mice exhibit extremely high frequencies of LCMV-specific CD8⁺ T cells (about 1 of 2 of their CD8⁺ T cells are LCMV-GP plus D^b specific). They are protected against an i.v. challenge infection with 10^2-10^4 pfu of LCMV; virus is not measurable in spleen or liver by day 2 or 4 after infection, whereas in control mice high virus titers are seen (82) (Table 2). The same mice are not always protected against intracerebral infection with this noncytopathic virus or by infection in the footpad; the variability of the results and the fact that some mice survive is probably not due to direct protection but rather reflects the fact that an intracerebral infection cannot be easily initiated without simultaneous systemic infection reaching lymphoid organs and activating CTLs

immediately. Mice die within 2–4 days or develop a significant immunopathological footpad swelling reaction around day 2-4 (116). In contrast, several experiments have shown, in LCMV primed mice and in primed TCR transgenic mice, that high frequencies of activated CD8⁺ T cell precursors are capable of protecting mice against lethal choriomeningitis. This demonstrates that high, even extremely high, precursor frequencies of specific CTL alone are poorly protective against cytolytic T cell-mediated immunopathology. Preactivation of these lytic effector T cells that enables them to emigrate into the periphery to monitor infected cells immediately upon infection seems critical. If transgenic effector T cells are preactivated by LCMV, challenge virus is controlled so fast that the little immunopathology induced is insufficient to cause overt disease. Comparably also, if transgenic mice are challenged with a vaccinia recombinant virus expressing the relevant peptide, they are not protected at an early time against viral growth in the ovaries (119). However, later, on day 4–6 after challenge infection, they may control the challenging virus slightly more efficiently than do control mice. This result obviously contrasts with the capacity of the TCR transgenic mice to control virus titers in spleens after LCMV challenge infection. This discrepancy requires an explanation.

The difference in memory T cell requirements between i.v. and peripheral challenge infections can only be understood with the knowledge of the relative kinetics of the effector CD8⁺ T cell reaching infected cells vis-á-vis the kinetics of the disease process (i.e. numerics and kinetics of cell infection and damage by the cytopathic virus or immunopathological destruction of host cells infected by noncytopathic virus). These kinetics are crucial to the evaluation of the biological role of CD8⁺ T cell memory. The findings on TCR transgenic mice illustrate that nonactivated CD8⁺ T cells (i.e. antigen-independent high frequency CTLp) can limit virus replication efficiently against noncytopathic viruses (or tumors) in spleens, where they are activated by antigen and can immediately mediate effector function. (As pointed out earlier, systemic replication is also controlled very efficiently by neutralizing antibodies-120, 121). However, to avoid lethal immunopathology by cytolytic T cells after peripheral infection, CD8⁺ T cells have to be preactivated and able to immigrate into tissues very fast; since activation is antigen dependent, protective CTL memory is also antigen dependent. Thus, unless lytic CTL are preactivated, the delay between virus spread from peripheral tissue sites to organized lymphoid tissue (where high frequency resting memory T cells are then activated) is sufficient to permit virus to spread so far that subsequent immunopathological damage is extensive enough to cause disease.

These same experiments also demonstrate that while intravenous infection of mice with the slowly replicating LCMV permits relatively rapid activation

of T cells and therefore reduction of virus titers by day 2 in spleens, this is apparently not the case against the more rapidly replicating cytopathic vaccinia recombinant virus. In this latter case, CD8⁺ T cell memory seems not really efficient and important to protect against cytopathic viruses (a point discussed here in the section on Memory T Cells Protecting Via Interleukins, and in the paper by Ramshaw and collaborators—43). This conclusion parallels the recent demonstration for vaccinia virus that perforin-dependent target cell killing seems to be of little relevance to control cytopathic viruses, whereas interleukin-dependent protection is key (60). Interleukin-dependent T cell memory can catch up with virus spread despite delayed kinetics because effector function is not mediated via individual cell contact, but rather by diffusable and exponentially increasing protective factors such as interferons, tumor necrosis factor, etc.

Therefore, dependent upon the kinetics of virus replication, sites of infection, and whether virus causes direct cytopathogenicity or triggers immunopathology, T cell memory is activation- and therefore antigen-dependent in the cases of peripheral infection. It is not necessarily activation and antigen-dependent when reinfection dominates initially in lymphoid tissue, where resting memory T cells are activated efficiently and directly at the site of needed action. However, as stated earlier, since neutralizing antibodies can efficiently protect against systemic infection caused by cytopathic viruses, neither interleukin-dependent nor perforin-mediated antiviral protection by memory T cells, beyond that of a primary response, is usually essential for survival after i.v. challenge infections.

Neutralizing antibodies in absence of memory CTLs Some interesting exceptions occur when the presence of neutralizing antibodies alone may modulate virus-spread in a detrimental fashion, and under special conditions where cytotoxic T cell-mediated immunopathology is a key pathogenetic principle. These exceptions may further illustrate the concepts developed in this review. However, it must be emphasized that these conditions do not usually occur under normal field conditions they may, however, become apparent under special vaccination conditions where neutralizing antibodies are induced in the absence of CTL. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in humans (16, 122), feline leukemia virus in cats (123-125), and LCMV in mice may become apparent in the presence of neutralizing antibodies; but in the absence of cytotoxic T cells, such viruses may cause a more serious disease than occurs in control individuals (126). Under these conditions, induction of protective CTL is inhibited in lymphoid tissue by the presence of neutralizing antibodies, while virus nevertheless spreads peripherally in critical cells in solid tissue (126) (Table 1). When the delayed T cell response arises, the ensuing T cell-mediated pathology may be considerably more extensive than in a host without neutralizing antibodies (see also Table 1).

A small increase of lytic CTLp by vaccination may enhance immunopathology Immunization of mice with vaccinia recombinant viruses expressing either nucleoprotein or glycoprotein of LCMV, or alternatively, with relevant T cell peptides, protected these mice against low-dose infection of the choriomeninges. This vaccination rendered them, however, more susceptible to infection with more rapidly replicating LCMV-isolates. In nonimmunized mice, these isolates failed to cause a lethal CTL-mediated immunopathology because of a process called exhaustive induction and depletion of CTL (see the section on Exhaustive Induction of CD8⁺ T Cells and Memory).

Immunization with the two vaccination protocols reduces the virus load and relative distribution in lymphoid tissue versus in the periphery. The T cell response is sufficient to control slowly replicating LCMV-isolates efficiently, thus preventing CTL-immunopathology before the lethal disease develops. In contrast, fast-replicating LCMV-isolates that otherwise could have outrun the CTL response and would have exhausted it are now partially controlled because of weak vaccination. They thus are slowed down in their spread, rendering them incapable of exhausting the CTL response. Since these viruses spread in the periphery, a potent CTL response now can cause lethal immunopathology (62, 64, 127).

Under these selected circumstances, weak or partial vaccination is harmful to the host. This example demonstrates again that the relative kinetics of virus spread in the periphery and of the memory CTL response are critical for protection against immunopathology and for survival.

Taken together the three special examples show that the question of what parameters (frequency, activation, or both) influence protection by memory lytic CTL against virus-induced disease may be answered as follows. Protection against reinfection by noncytopathic virus in the periphery in solid tissue is not mediated by antibodies. Rapid migration of CTL to peripheral tissue is essential, and therefore preactivation of memory CTLs is necessary for protection against immunopathology. Even after low-dose infection, noncytopathic viruses (e.g. LCMV, HBV) may persist in the host, particularly in immunologically privileged sites such as kidney tubular cells, testes, and salivary glands, from where virus can spread periodically to lymphoid tissue (probably also in the presence of, or even enhanced by, neutralizing antibodies). This persistence is necessary to keep memory CTLp activated, and these can keep persistent viruses under control. Against cytopathic viruses, antibodies are necessary and usually sufficient. Protection may also be documented for memory T cells if activation by challenging antigen and protective interleukin accumulation occurs. However, from an evolutionary point of view, these latter effector memory pathways are probably not usually essential for cytopathic viruses.

Elevated CTLp frequencies and an increased activation status cannot usually be separated completely. In particular, an increased activation status of CTLs always goes along with increased CTLp frequencies (TCR transgenic mice therefore are an exception). In addition, and as outlined previously, even very high frequencies of CTLp do not efficiently protect against peripheral viral infections in the absence of preactivation, in particular for cytopathic viruses such as vaccinia viruses, because of rapid virus replication and the particular kinetics needed to build up necessary concentrations for interleukin-mediated protection. These examples emphasize again that one should test immunological memory only under limiting conditions in a readout that is essential for the coevolutionarily defined virus-host relationship. If one accepts such a viewpoint, immune memory specific for viruses such as LCMV (and probably HBV, HCV, HIV) must be studied under conditions preventing overt CD8⁺ T cellmediated immunopathology. Against cytopathic viruses that are not readily controlled by local antibody levels such as pox virus infection in the skin, one probably best studies local virus titer reduction; however, the overwhelming importance of memory B cell and antibody levels for survival of the species cannot be overemphasized.

A Comparison of In Vitro Measurable Cytolytic CD8⁺ T Cell Memory with Immunity In Vivo?

In vitro restimulation of $CD8^+$ memory T cells to assess either CTLp frequency or primed T cells often differs from in vivo tests fundamentally with respect to time intervals involved. Whereas in vitro secondary cultures last for 5–7 days, protection assays assessing antiviral protection in vivo use 1-8-day intervals. Obviously, the various assays are not measuring the same thing. A comparison has been summarized recently and therefore needs only brief reference here (83, 128). Mice primed with increasing numbers of LCMV-GP-expressing stimulator cells revealed the following hierarchy of qualitative differences according to various tests to assess CD8⁺ T cell memory in the original host. An in vitro restimulation of CTLp, using ⁵¹Cr released from infected target cells as readout to measure cytotoxicity, was the most sensitive test because it required the smallest vaccine dose. More priming antigen was required for LCMV titer reduction in spleens of primed mice after i.v. challenge infection. Induction of CD8⁺ T cells that efficiently protect recipient mice against a challenge infection with recombinant vaccinia expressing LCMV-GP in a solid peripheral organ such as the ovary was even more demanding. The most demanding was induction of memory CD8⁺ T cells capable of protecting recipient mice against choriomeningitis or swelling of footpads after local infection (83).

In conclusion, the relative importance of lytic CTLp frequency alone or in combination with activation in immunological memory depends upon the model system used. Interestingly, except in prevention of CTL-mediated immunopathology, the models measuring CTL memory probably do not adequately represent conditions that are relevant for protection against reexposure to cytopathic viruses such as measles, pox, or polio viruses. Here challenge doses usually are low, and neutralizing antibodies prevent disease efficiently. Thus, one may question the relevance of long-term CD8⁺ T cell memory in these infections. During the phase of high risk of reexposure to the same infection, i.e. during epidemics, antigen from the waning infection usually guarantees high levels of CTLp plus activation by antigen and thereby provides efficient protection by CTL in addition to that provided by neutralizing antibodies.

The Role of Activation in CTL Memory

Whenever T cell memory has been analyzed, it has been correlated with a special memory quality reflected by various surface cell markers. Detailed reviews of those parameters have been presented and need not be repeated (11, 69, 101, 102, 129–132). The disappointing result of most studies is that although several markers separate naive (unprimed) T cells from primed ones, no real memory markers reliably distinguish activated from nonactivated memory T cells. Thus, no obvious marker permits a distinction between effector T cells or activated primed T cells and memory T cells; it is possible that no such distinction can be made. The important role of adhesion molecules on effector T cells and memory T cells for migration into peripheral tissues has been summarized extensively by Butcher (133) and MacKay (8, 9); an earlier review by McGregor & Kostiala (134) stresses this aspect clearly. The evidence suggests that activation is necessary for T cells to express some, and to downregulate other, molecules to be able to emigrate into solid tissues. Naive T cells or nonactivated T cells cannot do this; but rather they recirculate from blood to lymph nodes via high endothelial venules (HEV), avoiding peripheral tissues (135) (Table 3).

Thus, migration of memory T cells through tissues to act against peripheral infectious foci depends upon their being activated. If the infectious agent reaches lymphoid tissues directly, and at relatively high concentrations, then nonactivated CTLp are activated within short periods of times to emigrate through tissue and mediate effector functions peripherally. Although some infectious agents reach blood and lymphoid tissues early, this is not a general rule (15, 136). Most infections start peripherally, and then the infectious agent reaches first to local lymphoid organs where priming starts, and then spread further via lymph or blood. An example for this is the following model situation in mice expressing the transgenic T cell receptor specific for the LCMV-GP plus H-2D^b on more than 90% of T cells. When the specific peptide was injected Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1996.14:333-367. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/31/07. For personal use only.

Table 3Characteristics of B and T cell memory

| | Memor | y B cells | Memor | ry T cells |
|-----------------------------|--------------------|---------------------|--------------------|---------------------------|
| | Resting | Activated | Resting | Activated |
| | recirculation | associated with | spleen and blood | |
| Location/Migration | blood→LN | persting antigen in | possibly migration | migration through |
| | (via HEV) | lymphoid organs and | blood→LN (Via | tissue |
| | | bone arrow | HEV) | |
| | secondary reaction | maintance of memory | secondary reaction | immediate killing of |
| Function | upon challenge | IgG level | upon challenge | infected cells in |
| | | | | periphery |
| Timeframe of response | delayed | immediate | delayed | immediate |
| Proliferation | no | yes | no | probably yes |
| Site of proliferation | | GC | | probably within lymphoid |
| | | GC | | organs associated with ag |
| Antigendependence | no (poor) | yes | no | yes |
| Site of antigen persistence | | FDC | | not known |
| | | | | |

354 ZINKERNAGEL ET AL

into footpads of such primed mice, local footpad swelling as a reflection of specific CTL activity was measurable by 10 to 18 h in primed mice, but in unprimed mice only after 20 h, peaking by 28 h (116). This supports the view that in unprimed mice, peptide first induced effector T cells in local lymph nodes, and effector T cells then migrated to peripheral tissue. Therefore, this example illustrates again that, as a rule, increased CTLp frequency alone cannot immediately and alone mediate memory functions against peripheral infections; either preactivation or new activation seems necessary. The key questions asked in nontransgenic situations are: How is the frequency maintained at high levels after priming (compared to in nonprimed mice)? And, is increased CTLp frequency alone capable of providing protection, under which conditions, and against what type of virus?

A recent study with the H-Y-specific TCR transgenic mice revealed in adoptive transfer experiments and by monitoring activation markers that memory cells could be derived from activated T cells and persist in the absence of antigen in adoptive recipients for at least 13 weeks (69, 137).

It is appropriate to conclude here that frequencies are important, but that activation seems necessary for memory CTLs to mediate evolutionarily important effector functions limiting viral spread in the periphery and host cell damage by immunopathology.

EXHAUSTIVE INDUCTION OF CD8⁺ T CELLS AND MEMORY

When antigen is meeting the immune system in a localized fashion (e.g. via locally initiated infection), T cells are induced in local organized lymphoid tissue (138, 139). If antigen does not reach organized lymphoid organs—usually via APC-the antigen is ignored by T cells and no response is induced (94). If antigen is quickly and very widely distributed through the immune system and the host, antigen may induce all precursor T cells within a few days. Because induced effector T cells (and plasma cells) die usually within a few days after induction, the result of this overwhelming induction is that this particular specificity is deleted and becomes undetectable functionally in the host (140). Similar results can be obtained with superantigens (141, 142). Exhaustion of CTL is probably a very important normal process that guarantees lymphocyte homeostasis after induction of specific T (and B) cells; partial exhaustion may be seen during normal immune responses in an incomplete way. As stated before, after viral infection CTL are induced, and expand from a frequency of 10^{-6} in spleen to maximal CTLp of 10^{-2} to 10^{-3} . By the time measurable virus has disappeared, CTL frequencies drop to 10^{-4} – 10^{-5} . Thus > 99% of induced T cells seem to die in any immune response as soon as the antigen disappears.

The mechanisms leading to complete exhaustion of a CTL repertoire are still largely unclear. Nevertheless, phenomenologically the data indicate that either overstimulation under special conditions or stimulation of all available precursors within a few days favor exhaustion. Since exhaustion with superantigens involves a class II MHC-dependent mechanism, it seems unlikely that insufficient levels of T help are a key mechanism for enhancing exhaustion in lymphoid organs. T help may be a limiting factor for CTL exhaustion as shown after overwhelming infection of mice with LCMV, where both APC and peripheral class II⁻ cells are infected. One possible mechanism of exhaustion of CTLs may be starvation of IL in the periphery outside of nonlymphoid organs, but this is largely unexplored. Alternatively, Welsh and collaborators suggest that available high levels of IL in lymphoid organs may enhance lethal proliferation of induced T cells (143).

The finding of exhaustive induction of CTLp raises basic questions about the nature of CTL memory, because this finding seems to render reversion of effector T cells to memory cells rather unlikely. Are memory T cells then a consequence of unequal divisions after induction? If there is a special memory quality of CTL, how is the decision made by the immune system that an induced T cell should be only "half"-induced to become a memory T cell, and not fully induced, because then they apparently die off. Alternatively, is there a possibility that a fully induced effector T cell, apparently about to die, will not die, but instead reverts to become a memory T cell? A speculative alternative, more favorable to the notion of "half"-induction, may be that T cell induction decreases as antigen decreases, so that by the end of a controlled infection, induction slows and then stops at the time when antigen is virtually completely eliminated; interleukins may also decline and freeze a few T cells just on their way to be induced in an intermediate memory situation. Conceptually the simplest possibility seems to us that initial antigen-kinetics and amounts and kinetics of antigen-elimination together regulate the frequency, while the levels of persisting antigen regulate the activation of memory T cells.

HOW DOES ANTIGEN PERSIST?

Persistence of antigen on FDC is well documented, and such persistence is thought to maintain B cell memory, leading to long-term elevated antibody levels in serum (40). Whether the same antigen also maintains T helper memory is possible, but less clear. Cytopathic infectious agents are usually rapidly eliminated completely (e.g. pox), but reexposure or persistence as incomplete viral information may boost and maintain the response. Other viruses may persist

in a latent stage in selected cells, where they are temporarily not cytopathic (e.g. Herpes viruses). On the other hand, noncytopathic agents may persist in peripheral sites, where they are not reached easily even by a few activated T cells (95).

Usually remaining persisting viral foci are effectively controlled in an ongoing immune response. This important mechanism was recognized for mycobacterial infections and LCMV in the 1960s and was termed "infectious immunity" (144, 145). This is well illustrated by the finding that T cell memory in humans against a few persisting infectious agents can be demonstrated by delayed hypersensitivity: Injection of tuberculin elicits a swelling in vaccinated or infected patients. Similar skin tests were evaluated for several other pathogens but found only for those inducing granulomas, such as tuberculosis, brucellosis, leprosy, and histoplasmosis, where pathogens and their components induce granulomas and establish antigen-depots that remain in the host for years, maintaining activated T cell responses. Similarly, protein-antigens induce long-lived DTH only if given in complete Freund's adjuvant, which also forms granulomas (77, 79, 146).

There is some evidence that a similar mechanism may be involved in acute LCMV-infected mice and possibly in HBV-infected patients where virus obviously persists (28). HIV is a prominent example of infectious immunity involving CTL (besides neutralizing antibodies), essentially controlling the balance between virus and the host (28, 147, 148). These findings suggest that persistence of weak or noncytopathic infectious agents usually is accompanied by a low level of activated effector T cells, which guarantee an acceptable balance with the virus, thereby keeping immunopathology at minimal or tolerable levels. Once this balance gets disturbed or out of control, chronic, subacute, or acute immunopathology may become overwhelming and may cause lethal immunopathological disease; examples are forms of aggressive hepatitis and probably HIV-induced AIDS in their various disease kinetics and phenotypes (53).

Antigen may persist in other forms, for example as antibody antigen complex on follicular dendritic cells. We have previously shown that VSV-proteinantibody complexes persist for several weeks in draining lymph nodes (103, 149) and that immunization with soluble VSV-NP induced CTL responses (150). Combined, these may suggest that follicular dendritic cells drive not only B cell memory but possibly also CTL-mediated immunity. In this light, the fact that exogenous protein antigens enter the class I pathway only inefficiently may be a mechanism to conserve this minimal antigen-depot (40). Protein-antigens derived from virus infections appear generally to persist in draining lymph nodes for weeks to months and could serve this postulated purpose. However,

recent experiments using IgM knockout mice render this mechanism unlikely because these mice seem to exhibit a normal CTL memory. Alternatively, antiviral immunity could be maintained by class I MHC-bound peptides persisting per se. Peptides with surprisingly long half-lives (up to 600 h) have been identified, and MHC molecules on dendritic cells may be very stable (151–153).

Nonspecific Restimulation of Memory CD8⁺ T Cells by Cross-Reacting, Mimicking Antigens, or by Bystander Effects

That specific antigens are not necessary to maintain CTL memory has been explained as reflecting restimulation by cross-reaction or the mimicking of antigen (2, 3, 154). Accordingly, memory CTLp need antigen–MHC interactions that are less avid than required for priming and therefore related peptides that are similar or that mimick the unique specific antigen (or super antigen) may keep CTLp activated. This seems to be a rather theoretical argument that lacks direct evidence (1–7).

Alternatively, memory CTL may be boosted periodically by bystander effects, essentially mediated by interleukins, particularly IL-2. Accordingly, interleukins released during activation of T cells specific for antigen may maintain proliferation/activation of memory T cells that previously had been activated by antigen. Again, evidence that such mechanisms play a major role in maintenance of memory is incompletely explored at the moment. Nevertheless, the question whether conditions that enhance expansion of lymphocytes, potentially including also CTLp, is however relevant to the discussion of memory. As discussed in the previous section, the finding that transfer was difficult or impossible unless recipients were first irradiated with 450 and 650 r may suggest that this experimental protocol provides conditions of activation of transferred memory cells to an extent that is not controllable (1, 3, 11), and therefore it may yield inadequate information when the role of precursor frequency and of activation needs to be analyzed.

STRIKING PARALLELS BETWEEN B CELL/ELEVATED ANTIBODY MEMORY LEVELS AND T CELL "MEMORY" (TABLE 3)

The evidence summarized reveals striking similarities between T and B cell memory, the two complementing major specific arms of the immune system.

Activated memory T cells are, as discussed, necessary to control replication of cytopathic virus in the periphery and for the prevention of immunopathology triggered by noncytopathic viruses. Since memory T cells cannot be transmitted to offspring, they are of limited importance for survival of the species. In contrast, elevated memory antibody levels are critically important; they protect against virus infections and are transmitted to offspring. Thus, the overall evolutionary significance of protective antibody levels is in a different category than is protective CTL memory. It is not established whether elevated frequencies of recirculating memory B cells are antigen-dependent (103, 155). However, as stated before, maintenance of elevated memory antibody titers is antigen-dependent (40). This is illustrated by the finding that 1. Antigen persists in germinal centers on FDC for a long time and causes B cell proliferation (156), and 2. B cells transferred to a host in absence of antigens stop making antibodies (71). Thus, in general, elevated B or CTL precursors in blood or spleen are antigen-independent, but both protective memory mediated by B cells and elevated antibodies (and probably T helper cells) and protective memory by T cells are antigen-dependent. Antigen dependence of both effector mechanisms is critical for survival of the species (i.e. elevated antibodies) and of the individual (activated IL-T and CTLs), and it renders these responses easily regulatable because effector T cells and effector B cells (plasma cells) have a short half-life; accumulation of T cells or B cells that are not needed any longer is avoided. The balance between immune response, reducing antigen depots, and continuous need for induction of sufficient numbers of activated effector CTL and B cells apparently keeps memory continuously at an optimum level. Evolutionary selection for some antigens to persist prevents memory from being preoccupied with irrelevant antigens. If true "special memory" T cells existed, then the regulation would probably require rather demanding and complicated regulators, as have been postulated in the form of suppressor T cells, cellular or idiotypic networks. The proposal that antigen alone regulates immune responses, including memory, may be the simplest and most attractive concept. Although shown convincingly for B cells, and suspected but not proven for CD4⁺ T helper cells, evidence is admittedly less direct for CTL, but as reviewed here, a convincing case can be made that noncytopathic viruses are kept in check via activated CTL.

Not surprisingly, antigen dependence of both memory B and T responses is compatible with many characteristics shared by effector and memory T and B cells, and corresponding similarities are also shared by resting B and T cells (Table 3). The quotation marks for memory are used now because of the difficulties in defining a "true memory" status. Protective memory seems to reflect low frequency antigen-dependent activated B and T cells that are not fundamentally different from acutely activated effector T and B cells. "Memory" and activated T cells emigrate into solid tissue; resting T cells do not. Activated B cells expand in germinal centers upon contact with antigen on FDC

and emigrate to bone marrow; resting B cells do not. Both resting B and T cells recirculate through blood to spleen and via HEV to lymph nodes but do not reach germinal centers or solid peripheral tissues, respectively. Both activated B cells and T cells are ready for immediate or continuous action, which is necessary to fulfill the respective requirements for protection of the species population (antibodies against destructive viruses) and of the individual host (early CTL protection to avoid destructive immunopathology).

CONCLUSION

It is obvious from previous discussions and this overview that our knowledge of the various facets of virus-host relationships is still incomplete. However, a basis exists from which to understand the different aspects of immunological memory. The various infectious agents are checked by distinct immunological effector and memory pathways that are in balance with many other parameters of the infectious agents such as host range, tropism, cytopathogenesis, replication cycle, and dormancy. Protective antibodies, because of their transmissibility from mother to offspring, dominate immunological memory. Neutralizing elevated memory antibody levels are efficient and sufficient to limit reinfection to foci in solid tissue and to prevent hematogenic spread. Therefore, nonlytic memory T cells are not essential for protection against reinfection. Neutralizing antibodies efficiently controls hematogenic spread. However, if noncytopathic virus spreads too widely in solid tissue where neutralizing antibodies have no access, then immunopathology may become life threatening to the individual. In these infections, which are also poorly controlled by interleukins, an efficient CTL response is crucial to limit potentially lethal immunopathology; to achieve this goal antigen-activated primary or "memory" CTL seem crucially necessary. In conclusion, antigen-activated memory CTL are not different from effector CTL, and since antigen-activated B cells/plasma cells are needed to maintain elevated protective memory-antibody levels, one may conclude that the phenotype of immunological memory (enhanced protection against reinfection and transferable protection for offspring) is not a special quality of the immune system but represents equilibrated, long-term, low-level responses driven by some forms of persisting antigen.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work from the authors' laboratory has been supported by grants from the Swiss National Science Foundation, the Kanton Zürich, the Human Science Frontier Program, the Union Bank of Switzerland on behalf of a client, and by the Foundation Jeantet. The devoted help by Alana Althage, Yvonne Deflorin, Elisabeth Hörhager, and Cathrin Zweidler, and helpful discussions with Dr. Rod Langmann, and numerous reviewers of many rejected manuscripts are thankfully acknowledged.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Hou S, Hyland L, Ryan KW, Portner A, Doherty PC. 1994. Virus-specific CD8⁺ T-cell memory determined by clonal burst size. *Nature* 369:652–54
- Matzinger P. 1994. Memories are made of this? *Nature* 369:605–6
- Lau LL, Jamieson BD, Somasundaram T, Ahmed R. 1994. Cytotoxic T-cell memory without antigen. *Nature* 369:648–52
- Doherty PC, Hou S, Tripp RA. 1994. CD8⁺ T-cell memory to viruses. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 6:545–52
- 5. Byers VS, Sercarz EE. 1968. The x-yz scheme of immunocyte maturation. J. *Exp. Med.* 128:715–28
- Gray D, Sprent J. 1990. Immunological memory. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 159:1–138
- Zinkernagel RM. 1990. Antiviral T-cell memory? Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 159:65–77
- MacKay Ch. R. 1992. Immunological memory. Adv. Immunol. 53:217–65
- MacKay CR. 1993. Homing of naive, memory and effector lymphocytes. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 5:423–27
- Ahmed R, Stevens JG. 1990. Viral persistence. In *Virology*, ed. BN Fields et al, pp. 241–65. New York: Raven
- Sprent J, Tough DF. 1994. Lymphocyte life-span and memory. *Science* 265:1395– 1400
- Celada F. 1971. The cellular basis of the immunologic memory. *Prog. Allergy* 15:223–67
- Tew JG, Phipps RP, Mandel TE. 1980. The maintenance and regulation of the humoral immune response: persisting antigen and the role of follicular antigenbinding dendritic cells as accessory cells. *Immunol. Rev.* 53:175–201
- Vitetta ES, Berton MT, Burger C, Kepron M, Lee WT, Yin X-M. 1991. Memory B and T cells. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 9:193– 217
- 15. Fenner F, McAuslan BR, Mims CA, Sam-

brook J, White DO. 1974. The Biology of Animal Viruses. New York: Academic

- 16. Mims CA. 1987. The Pathogenesis of Infectious Disease. London: Academic
- Langman RE. 1989. The Immune System. San Diego, CA: Academic
- Cohn M, Langman RE. 1990. The protecton: the unit of humoral immunity selected by evolution. *Immunol. Rev.* 115:7– 142
- Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H, Stitz L. 1985. On the role of viruses in the evolution of immune responses. *Br. Med. Bull.* 41:92–97
- Roost HP, Bachmann MF, Haag A, Kalinka U, Pliska V, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1995. Early highaffinity neutralizing anti-viral IgG responses without further overall improvements of affinity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 92:1257–61
- Chen C, Roberts VA, Rittenberg MB. 1992. Generation and analysis of random point mutations in an antibody CDR2 sequence: Many mutated antibodies lose their ability to bind antigen. J. Exp. Med. 176:855–66
- Briles DE, Forman C, Hudak S, Claffin JL. 1984. The effects of idiotype on the ability of IgG1 anti-phosphorylcholine antibodies to protect mice from fatal infection with *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 14:1027–30
- Fazekas de St. Groth S. 1967. Cross recognition and cross-reactivity. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 32:525–36
- Fazekas de St. Groth S. 1981. The joint evolution of antigens and antibodies. In *The Immune System*, ed. CM Lefkovits, I Steinberg, p. 155–168. Basel, Munchen, Paris: S. Karger
- Laver WG, Air GM, Webster RG, Smith-Gill SJ. 1990. Epitopes on protein antigens: misconceptions and realities. *Cell* 61:553–56
- 26. Klenk H-D, Rott R. 1988. Biology of

influenza virus pathogenicity. Adv. Virus Res. 34:247-81

- Palese P, Young JF. 1982. Variation of influenza A, B, and C viruses. *Science* 215:1468–74
- Fields BN. 1990. Virology. New York: Raven
- Lefrancois L, Lyles DS. 1983. Antigenetic determinants of vesicular stomatitis virus: analysis with antigenetic variants. J. Immunol. 130:394–98
- Liang S, Mozdzanowska K, Palladino G, Gerhard W. 1994. Heterosubtypic immunity to influenza type A virus in mice. J. Immunol. 152:1653–61
- Weber S, Traunecker A, Oliveri F, Gerhard W, Karjalainen K. 1992. Specific lowaffinity recognition of major histocompatibility complex plus peptide by soluble Tcell receptor. *Nature* 356:793–96
- Sykulev Y, Brunmark A, Jackson M, Cohen RJ, Peterson PA, Eisen HN. 1994. Kinetics and affinity of reactions between an antigen-specific T cell receptor and peptide-MHC complexes. *Immunity* 1:15–22
- Esquivel F, Yewdell J, Bennink J. 1992. RMA/S cells present endogenously synthesized cytosolic proteins to class Irestricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 175:163–68
- Speiser DE, Kyburz D, Strübi U, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1992. Discrepancy between in vitro measurable and in vivo virus neutralizing cytotoxic T cell reactivities. J. Immunol. 149:972–80
- Corr M, Slanetz AE, Boyd LF, Jelonek MT, Khilko S, Alramadi BK, Kim YS, Maher SE, Bothwell AL, Margulies DH. 1994. T cell receptor-MHC class I peptide interactions: affinity, kinetics, and specificity. *Science* 265:946–49
- Sprent J, Hurd M, Schaefer M, Heath W. 1995. Split tolerance in spleen chimeras. *J. Immunol.* 154:1198–206
- Lu P, Garcia-Sanz JA, Lichtenheld MG, Podack ER. 1992. Perforin expression in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Definition of an IL-2-independent pathway of perforin induction in CD8⁺ T cells. *J. Immunol.* 148:3354–60
- Baczko K, Liebert UG, Billeter M, Cattaneo R, Budka H, ter Meulen U. 1986. Expression of defective measles virus genes in brain tissues of patients with subacute sclerosing panencephalitis. J. Virol. 59:472–78
- Nossal GJV, Ada GL. 1971. Antigens, Lymphoid Cells and the Immune Response. San Diego, CA: Academic

- Tew JG, Kosco MH, Burton GF, Szakal AK. 1990. Follicular dendritic cells as accessory cells. In *Immunological Reviews*, ed. G Müller, p. 185–212. Copenhagen: Munksgaard
- Pirquet C. 1907. Von klinischen Studien über Vakzination und Vakzinale Allergie. Leibzig: F. Denticke
- Levine B, Hardwick JM, Trapp BD, Crawford TO, Bollinger RC, Griffin DE. 1991. Antibody-mediated clearance of alphavirus infection from neurons. *Science* 254:856–60
- Ramsay AJ, Ruby J, Ramshaw IA. 1993. The case for cytokines as effector molecules in the resolution of virus infection. *Immunol. Today* 14:155–57
- Kündig TM, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1993. T cell dependent interferon gamma exerts an antiviral effect in the central nervous system but not in peripheral solid organs. J. Immunol. 150:2316–21
- Wheelock EF. 1965. Interferon like virus inhibitor produced in human leukocytes by phytohemagglutinin. *Science* 149:310–13
- 46. Wille A, Gessner A, Lother H, Lehmann-Grube F. 1989. Mechanism of recovery from acute virus infection. VIII. Treatment of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus-infected mice with interferongamma monoclonal antibody blocks generation of virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes and virus elimination. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 19:1283–88
- Rowe WP. 1954. Studies on pathogenesis and immunity in lymphocytic choriomeningitis infection of the mouse. *Navy Res. Rep.* 12:167–220
- Cole GA, Nathanson N, Prendergast RA. 1972. Requirement for theta-bearing cells in lymphocytic choriomeningitis virusinduced central nervous-system disease. *Nature* 238:335–37
- 49. Hotchin J. 1971. Persistent and slow virus infections. *Monogr. Virol.* 3:1–211
- Lehmann-Grube F. 1971. Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. Virol. Monogr. 10:1–173
- Buchmeier MJ, Welsh RM, Dutko FJ, Oldstone MBA. 1980. The virology and immunobiology of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infection. Adv. Immunol. 30:275–331
- Peters M, Vierling J, Gershwin ME, Milich D, Chisari FV, Hoofnagle JH. 1991. Immunology and the liver. *Hepa*tology 13:977–94
- 53. Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. 1994. T cell mediated immunopathology versus

direct cytolysis by virus: implications for HIV and AIDS. *Immunol. Today* 15:262–68

- 54. Kägi D, Ledermann B, Bürki K, Seiler P, Odermatt B, Olsen KJ, Podack ER, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. 1994. Cytotoxicity mediated by T cells and natural killer cells is greatly impaired in perforin-deficient mice. *Nature* 369:31– 37
- Walsh CM, Matloubian M, Liu C-C, Ueda R, Kurahara CG, Christensen JL, Huang MTF, Young JDE, Ahmed R, Clark WR. 1994. Immune function in mice lacking the perforin gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91:10854–58
- Hotchin J. 1962. The biology of lymphocytic choriomeningitis infection: virus induced immune disease. *Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol.* 27:479–99
- Pfau CJ, Valenti JK, Pevear DC, Hunt KD. 1982. Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus killer T cells are lethal only in weakly disseminated murine infections. J. Exp. Med. 156:79–89
- Ahmed R, Salmi A, Butler LD, Chiller JM, Oldstone MBA. 1984. Selection of genetic variants of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus in spleens of persistently infected mice: role in suppression of cytotoxic T lymphocyte response and viral persistence. J. Exp. Med. 60:521–40
- Ada G. 1990. The immunological principles of vaccination. *Lancet* 335:523–26
- 60. Kägi D, Seiler P, Ledermann B, Bürki K, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. 1995. The roles of perforin- and Fas-dependent cytotoxicity in protection against a cytopathic and a noncytopathic virus. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:3256–62
- Jamieson BD, Somasundaram T, Ahmed R. 1991. Abrogation of tolerance to a chronic viral infection. J. Immunol. 147:3521–29
- Oehen S, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1991. Vaccination for disease. *Science* 251:195–98
- Oehen S, Waldner HP, Kündig TH, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1992. Antivirally protective cytotoxic T cell memory to lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus is governed by persisting antigen. J. Exp. Med. 176:1273–81
- Battegay M, Oehen S, Schulz M, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1992. Vaccination with a synthetic peptide modulates lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus mediated immunopathology. J. Virol. 66:1199–201
- 65. Porter P. 1972. Immunoglobulins in

bovine mammary sections: quantitative changes in early lactation and absorption by the neonatal calf. *Immunology* 23:225– 37

- Brambell RWR. 1970. The Transmission of Immunity from Mother to Young. Amsterdam: North Holland
- 67. Paul WE. 1993. Fundamental Immunology. New York: Raven
- Ehrlich P. 1882. Ueber Immunität durch Vererbung und Säugung. Z. Hyg. Infektkr. 12:183
- Bruno L, Kirberg J, von Boehmer H. 1995. On the cellular basis of immunological T cell memory. *Immunity* 2:37–43
- Akbar AN, Terry L, Timms A, Beverley PCL, Janossy G. 1988. Loss of CD45R and gain of UCHL1 reactivity is a feature of primed T cells. *J. Immunol.* 140:2171– 78
- Gray D, Skarvall H. 1988. B-cell memory is short-lived in the absence of antigen. *Nature* 336:70–73
- Gray D, Matzinger P. 1991. T cell memory is short-lived in the absence of antigen. J. Exp. Med. 174:969–74
- Müllbacher A. 1994. The long-term maintenance of cytotoxic T cell memory does not require persistence of antigen. J. Exp. Med. 179:317–21
- 74. Liew FY, Russell SM, Appleyard G, Brand CM, Beale J. 1984. Crossprotection in mice infected with influenza A virus by the respiratory route is correlated with local IgA antibody rather than serum antibody or cytotoxic T cell reactivity. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 14:350–56
- Yap KL, Ada GL. 1978. The recovery of mice from influenza virus infection: adoptive transfer of immunity with immune T lymphocytes. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 7:389–97
- Tamminen WL, Wraith D, Barber BH. 1987. Searching for MHC-restricted antiviral antibodies: Antibodies recognizing the nucleoprotein of influenza virus dominate the serological response of C57BL/6 mice to syngeneic influenzainfected cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 17:999– 1006
- Janeway CA Jr. 1989. Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 1–13
- Neefjes J, Gottfried E, Roelse J, Grommé M, Obst R, Hämmerling GI, Momburg F. 1995. Analysis of the fine specificity of rat, mouse and human TAP peptide transporters. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:1133–36
- 79. Freund J, Stern ER, Pisani TM. 1947.

Isoallergic encephalomyelitis and radiculitis in guinea pigs after one injection of brain and mycobacteria in water-in-oil emulsion. *J. Immunol.* 57:179–94

- Tew JG, DiLosa RM, Burton GF, Kosco MH, Kupp LI, Masuda A, Szakal AK. 1992. Germinal centers and antibody production in bone marrow. *Immunol. Rev.* 126:99–112
- Pircher HP, Bürki K, Lang R, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1989. Tolerance induction in double specific T-cell receptor transgenic mice varies with antigen. *Nature* 342:559–61
- Pircher HP, Moskophidis D, Rohrer U, Bürki K, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1990. Viral escape by selection of cytotoxic T cell-resistant virus variants in vivo. *Nature* 346:629–33
- Castelmur I, DiPaolo C, Bachmann MF, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM, Kündig TM. 1993. Comparison of the sensitivity of in vivo and in vitro assays for detection of antiviral cytotoxic T cell activity. *Cell. Immunol.* 151:460–66
- Fung-Leung WP, Schilham MW, Rahemtulla A, Kündig TM, Vollenweider M, Potter J, Vanewijk W, Mak TW. 1991. CD8 is needed for development of cytotoxic T cells but not helper T cells. *Cell* 65:443– 49
- Scherle PA, Palladino G, Gerhard W. 1992. Mice can recover from pulmonary influenza virus infection in the absence of class I-restricted cytotoxic T cells. J. Immunol. 148:212–17
- Mills K, Skehel J, Thomas B. 1986. Extensive diversity in the recognition of influenza virus hemagglutinin by murine T helper clones. J. Exp. Med. 163:1477–90
- Hurwitz JL, Heber-Katz E, Hackett CJ, Gerhard W. 1984. Characterization of the murine TH response to influenza virus hemagglutinin: evidence for three major specificities. J. Immunol. 133:3371
- Scherle P, Gerhard W. 1986. Functional analysis of influenza-specific helper T cell clones in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 164:1114–28
- Gupta SC, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1986. Primary antibody responses to a well-defined and unique antigen are not enhanced by preimmunization with carrier: analysis in a viral model. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83:2604–8
- Laver WG, Air GM, Webster RG, Gerhard W, Ward CW, Dopheide TAA. 1979. Antigenic drift in type A influenza virus: sequence differences in the hemagglutinin of Hong Kong (H3N2) variants selected with monoclonal hybridoma antibodies.

Virology 98:226–37

- Burkhart C, Freer G, Castro R, Adorini L, Wiesmuller KH, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. 1994. Characterization of T helper epitopes of the glycoprotein of vesicular stomatitis virus. J. Virol. 68:1573–80
- Roost, HP, Charan S, Zinkernagel RM. 1990. Analysis of the kinetics of antiviral memory T help in vivo: characterization of short lived cross-reactive T help. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 20:2547–54
- Moskophidis D, Battegay M, Bründler M-A, Laine M, Gresser I, Zinkernagel RM. 1994. Resistance of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus to alpha/beta interferon and to gamma interferon. J. Virol. 68:1951–55
- 94. Ohashi PS, Oehen S, Bürki K, Pircher H, Ohashi CT, Odermatt B, Malissen B, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. 1991. Ablation of "tolerance" and induction of diabetes by virus infection in viral antigen transgenic mice. *Cell* 65:305–17
- Ohashi PS, Oehen S, Aichele P, Pircher H, Odermatt B, Herrera P, Higuchi Y, Bürki K, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1993. Induction of diabetes is influenced by the infectious virus and local expression of MHC class I and TNF-a. J. Immunol. 150:5185–94
- Blanden RV, Kees U, Dunlop MBC. 1977. In vitro primary induction of cytotoxic T cells against virus-infected syngeneic cells. J. Immunol. Methods 16:73–89
- Jung H, Pfizenmaier K, Starzinski-Powitz A, Röllinghoff M, Wagner H. 1978. Primary in vitro sensitization of virusspecific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Immunology* 34:763–70
- Moskophidis D, Assmann-Wischer U, Simon MM, Lehmann-Grube F. 1993. The immune response of the mouse to lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. V. High numbers of cytolytic T lymphocytes are generated in the spleen during acute infection. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 17:937–42
- Gallatin WM, St. John TP, Siegelmann M, Reichert R, Butcher EC, Weissmann IL. 1992. Lymphocyte homing receptors. *Cell* 44:673–80
- Springer TA. 1994. Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: the multistep paradigm. *Cell* 76:301–14
- Mackay CR. 1991. T-cell memory: the connection between function, phenotype and migration pathways. *Immunol. Today* 12(6):189–92
- 102. Razvi ES, Welsh RM, McFarland HI.

1995. In vivo state of antiviral CTL precursors—characterization of a cycling cell population containing CTL precursors in immune mice. *J. Immunol.* 154:620–32

- 103. Bachmann MF, Kündig TM, Odermatt B, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1994. Free recirculation of memory B cells versus antigen-dependent differentiation to antibody forming cells. J. Immunol. 153:3386–97
- Levy JP, Leclerc JC. 1977. The murine sarcoma virus-induced tumor: exception or general model in tumor immunology? *Adv. Cancer Res.* 24:1–66
- Nowinski RC, Klein PA. 1991. Anomalous reactions of mouse alloantisera with cultured tumor cells. II. Cytotoxicity caused by antibodies to leukemia viruses. *J. Immunol.* 115:1261
- Kaplan HS, Brown MB. 1952. A quantitative dose-response study of lymphoid tumor development in irradiated C57 black mice. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 13:185
- 107. Plagemann PGW, Moennig V. 1992. Lactate dehydrogenase-elevating virus, equine arteritis virus, and simian hemorrhagic fever virus: a new group of positive-strand RNA viruses. Adv. Virus Res. 41:99–192
- Gardner MB, Henderson BE, Officer JE, Rongey RW, Parker JC, Oliver C, Estes JD, Huebner RJ. ALL 1973. A spontaneous lower motor neuron disease apparently caused by indigenous type C virus in wild mice. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 51:1243– 53
- 109. Gardner MB, Henderson BE, Rongey RW, Estes JD, Huebner RJ. 1973. Spontaneous tumors of aging wild house mice. Incidence, pathology, and C-type virus expression. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 50:719–34
- Gross L. 1951. Pathogenic properties, and "vertical" transmission of the mouse leukemia agent. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 78:342–48
- Oldstone MBA, Aoki T, Dixon FJ. 1971. Activation spontaneous murine leukemia virus-related antigen by lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. *Science* 174:843– 45
- 112. Elder JH, Jensen FC, Bryant ML, Lerner RA. 1977. Polymorphism of the major envelope glycoprotein (gp70) of murine Ctype viruses: virion associated and differentiation antigens encoded by a multigene family. *Nature* 267:23–28
- Doherty PC, Zinkernagel RM. 1974. T cell-mediated immunopathology in viral infections. *Transplant. Rev.* 19:89–120

- Doherty PC, Zinkernagel RM. 1975. Capacity of sensitized thymus derived lymphocytes to induce fatal lymphocytic choriomeningitis is restricted by the H-2 gene complex. J. Immunol. 114:30–33
- 115. Zinkernagel RM. 1976. H-2 restriction of virus-specific T-cell-mediated effector functions in vivo. II. Adoptive transfer of delayed type hypersensitivity to murine lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus is restricted by the K and D regions of H-2. J. *Exp. Med.* 144:776–87
- 116. Kündig Th, Althage A, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1992. Skin test to assess virus specific cytotoxic T cell activity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:7757–61
- 117. Hany M, Oehen S, Schulz M, Hengartner H, Mackett M, Bishop DHL, Overton H, Zinkernagel RM. 1989. Anti-viral protection and prevention of lymphocytic choriomeningitis or of the local footpad swelling reaction in mice by immunisation with vaccinia-recombinant virus expressing LCMV-WE nucleoprotein or glycoprotein. Eur. J. Immunol. 19:417–24
- Jamieson BD, Ahmed R. 1989. T cell memory: long-term persistence of virusspecific cytotoxic T cells. J. Exp. Med. 169:1993–2005
- 119. Kündig TM, Oehen S, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1995. The role of T cell frequency and of activation in protective antiviral memory. Submitted
- Wright KE, Buchmeier MJ. 1991. Antiviral antibodies attenuate T-cell-mediated immunopathology following acute lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infection. *J. Virol.* 65:3001–6
- Baldridge JR, Buchmeier MJ. 1992. Mechanisms of antibody-mediated protection against lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infection: mother-to-baby transfer of humoral protection. J. Virol. 66:4252–57
- 122. Prince GA, Jenson AB, Hemming VG, Murphy BR, Walsh EE, Horswood RL, Chancock RM. 1986. Enhancement of respiratory syncytial virus pulmonary pathology in cotton rats by prior intramuscular inoculation of formalin-inactivated virus. J. Virol. 57:721–28
- 123. Vennema H, De Groot RJ, Harbour DA, Dalderup M, Gruffydd-Jones T, Horzinek MC, Spaan WJM. 1990. Early death after feline infectious peritonitis virus challenge due to recombinant vaccinia virus immunization. J. Virol. 64:1407–9
- Weiss RC, Scott FW. 1981. Antibodymediated enhancement of disease in feline infectious peritonitis: comparisons

with Dengue hemorrhagic fever. Comp. Immun. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 4:175-89

- 125. Siebelink KHJ, Tijhaar E, Huisman RC, Huisman W, de Rpnde HI, Francis MJ, Rimmelzwaan GF, Osterhaus ADME. 1995. Enhancement of feline immunodeficiency virus infection after immunization with envelope glycoprotein subunit vaccines. J. Virol. 69:3704–11
- 126. Battegay M, Kyburz D, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1993. Enhancement of disease by neutralizing antiviral antibodies in the absence of primed antiviral cytotoxic T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:3236–41
- 127. Ada G. 1991. Vaccine development: real and imagined dangers. *Nature* 349:369
- Bachmann MF, Kündig TM. 1994. In vivo versus in vitro assays for assessment of Tand B-cell function. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 6:320–26
- 129. Budd RC, Cerottini JC, Horvath C, Bron C, Pedrazzini T, Howe RC, MacDonald HR. 1987. Distinction of virgin and memory T lymphocytes. Stable acquisition of the Pgp-1 glycoprotein concomitant with antigenic stimulation. J. Immunol. 138:3120–29
- Ahmed R. 1992. Immunological memory against viruses. Semin. Immunol. 4:105–9
- Akbar AN, Salmon M, Janossy G. 1991. The synergy between naive and memory T cells during activation. *Immunol. Today* 12, No. 6:184–88
- 132. Akbar AN, Borthwick N, Salmon M, Gombert W, Bofill M, Shamsadeen N, Pilling D, Pett S, Grundy JE. 1993. The significance of low bcl-2 expression by CD45ROT cells in normal individuals and patients with acute viral infections. The role of apoptosis in T cell memory. J. Exp. Med. 178:427–38
- Butcher EC. 1986. The regulation of lymphocyte traffic. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 128:85–122
- McGregor DD, Kostiala AAI. 1976. Role of lymphocytes in cellular resistance to infection. *Contemp. Topics Immunobiol.* 5:237–66
- Jalkanen S, Reichert A, Gallatin WM, Bargatze RF, Weissman IL, Butcher EC. 1986. Homing receptors and the control of lymphocyte migration. *Immunol. Rev.* 91:39–60
- Fenner F. 1949. Mousepox (infectious ectromelia of mice): a review. J. Immunol. 63:341–73
- 137. Rocha B, Grandien A, Freitas AA. 1995. Anergy and exhaustion are independent mechanisms of peripheral T cell tolerance. *J. Exp. Med.* 181:993–1003

- 138. Zinkernagel RM, Pircher HP, Ohashi PS, Oehen S, Odermatt B, Mak T, Arnheiter H, Burki K, Hengartner H. 1991. T and B cell tolerance and responses to viral antigens in transgenic mice: implications for the pathogenesis of autoimmune versus immunopathological disease. *Immunol. Rev.* 122:133–71
- Zinkernagel RM, Moskophidis D, Kündig T, Oehen S, Pircher HP, Hengartner H. 1993. Effector T cell induction and T cell memory versus peripheral deletion of T cells. *Immunol. Rev.* 131:1–25
- 140. Moskophidis D, Lechner F, Pircher HP, Zinkernagel RM. 1993. Virus persistence in acutely infected immunocompetent mice by exhaustion of antiviral cytotoxic effector T cells. *Nature* 362:758–61
- Webb S, Morris C, Sprent J. 1990. Extrathymic tolerance of mature T cells: clonal elimination as a consequence of immunity. *Cell* 63:1249–56
- Rocha B, von Boehmer H. 1991. Peripheral selection of the cell repertoire. *Science* 251:1225–28
- 143. Welsh RM, Razvi ES, Selin LK. 1995. Crossreactive specificities and apoptotic editing of the virus-induced cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) response. *Cell. Biochem. Suppl.* 19A:281 (Abstract)
- Mackaness GB, Blanden RV. 1967. Cellular immunity. Progr. Allergy 11:89–140
- Kaufmann SHE. 1983. Immunity to intracellular bacteria. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1:129–63
- Salvin SB. 1958. Occurrence of delayed hypersensitivity during the development of arthus type hypersensitivity. J. Exp. Med. 107:109–24
- 147. Clerici M, Giorgi JV, Chou Ch-Ch, Gudeman VK, Zack IA, Gupta P, Ho H-N, Nishanian PG, Berzofsky JA, Shearer GM. 1992. Cell-mediated immune response to human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) type 1 in seronegative homosexual men with recent sexual exposure to HIV-1. J. Infect. Dis. 165:1012
- Klenerman P, Rowland-Jones S, McAdam S, et al. 1994. Cytotoxic T-cell activity antagonized by naturally occurring HIV-1 Gag variants. *Nature* 369:403–7
- 149. Bachmann MF, Kündig TM, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1994. Regulation of IgG antibody titers by amounts of immune-complexed antigen. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:2567–70
- 150. Bachmann MF, Kündig TM, Freer G, Li Y, Kang CY, Bishop DH, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1994. Induction of protective cytotoxic T cells with viral pro-

teins. Eur. J. Immunol. 24:2228-36

- Nelson CA, Petzold SJ, Unanue ER. 1994. Peptides determine the lifespan of MHC class II molecules in the antigenpresenting cell. *Nature* 371:250–52
- presenting cell. *Nature* 371:250–52 152. Tsomides TJ, Walker BD, Eisen HN. 1991. An optimal viral peptide recognized by CD8⁺ T cells binds very tightly to the restricting class I major histocompatibility complex protein on intact cells but not to the purified class I protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:11276–80
- 153. Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A. 1994. Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis

factor alpha. J. Exp. Med. 179:1109-18

- Selin LK, Nahill SR, Welsh RM. 1994. Cross-reactivities in memory cytotoxic T lymphocyte recognition of heterologous viruses. J. Exp. Med. 179:1933–43
- Schittek B, Rajewsky K. 1990. Maintenance of B-cell memory by long-lived cells generated from proliferating precursors. *Nature* 346:749–51
- Bachmann MF, Odermatt B, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. 1995. Induction of long-lived germinal centers upon viral infection. Submitted
- 157. Moskophidis D, Lehmann-Grube F. 1989. Virus-induced delayed-type hypersensibility reaction is sequentially mediated by CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:3291–95


CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|--|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> Sleekman, James P. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt | 450 |
| Steckman, Junes K. Gorman, Treaenck W. Au | 439 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights. <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |
| | 0.7 |

ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX¹

Ian A. York and Kenneth L. Rock

Department of Lymphocyte Biology, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, 44 Binney Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02215

KEY WORDS: class I major histocompatibility complex, antigen processing, antigen presentation, cytotoxic T lymphocyte, antigenic peptide

ABSTRACT

Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules bind peptides derived from cellular proteins and display them for surveillance by the immune system. These peptide-binding molecules are composed of a heavy chain, containing an antigen-binding groove, which is tightly associated with a light chain $(\beta_2$ -microglobulin). The majority of presented peptides are generated by degradation of proteins in the cytoplasm, in many cases by a large multicatalytic proteolytic particle, the proteasome. Two β -subunits of the proteasome, LMP2 and LMP7, are inducible by interferon- γ and alter the catalytic activities of this particle, enhancing the presentation of at least some antigens. After production of the peptide in the cytosol, it is transported across the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane in an ATP-dependent manner by TAP (transporter associated with antigen presentation), a member of the ATP-binding cassette family of transport proteins. There are minor pathways for generating presented peptides directly in the ER, and some evidence suggests that peptides may be further trimmed in this location. The class I heavy chain and β_2 -microglobulin are cotranslationally translocated into the endoplasmic reticulum where their assembly may be

¹Abbreviations: MHC I, class I major histocompatibility complex; CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocyte; IFN, interferon; HC, heavy chain; β_2 -m, β_2 -microglobulin; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; HSP, heat shock protein TAP, transporter associated with antigen presentation.

370 YORK & ROCK

facilitated by the sequential association of the heavy chain with chaperone proteins BiP and calnexin. The class I molecule then associates with the lumenal face of TAP where it is retained, presumably awaiting a peptide. After the class I molecule binds a peptide, it is released for exocytosis to the cell surface where cytotoxic T lymphocytes examine it for peptides derived from foreign proteins.

INTRODUCTION

Tumors and viral infection present a special problem in recognition for the immune system because the etiologic agents (virus or dysregulated oncogenes) are hidden inside autologous cells. Moreover, humoral immune mechanisms such as antibody and complement are generally ineffective against tumors or intracellular viruses. These problems have been solved by the class I major histocompatibility complex (MHC I) antigen presentation pathway, which is constitutively active in most somatic cells and upregulated by proinflammatory cytokines. In this pathway, fragments of cellular proteins are bound by MHC I molecules and transported to the cell surface. In this manner cells display a sampling of their expressed genes. Usually only autologous peptides are present on MHC I molecules, and these are ignored by the immune system. However, if a cell is synthesizing a foreign protein (which in nature only occurs when cells are virally infected or have mutated or dysregulated the expression of their own genes), then immune effector cells will be stimulated.

The effector cell in this system is a CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL). During development in the thymus, CTL precursors bearing T cell receptors that can recognize self–MHC I molecules with foreign peptides mature while those cells that react with self-peptides are eliminated (1). As a consequence of this mechanism, mature CTL are highly specific for foreign peptides bound to MHC I molecules. These cells continuously recirculate through the body. If a CTL happens to contact a cell expressing the MHC I/foreign antigen complex for which it is specific, signals transduced through the T cell receptor cause the CTL to become activated, rapidly setting into motion both secretory and nonsecretory cytotoxic machinery (2). In addition, CTLs produce cytokines such as interferon- γ (IFN- γ), which induce inflammation, further stimulate antigen presentation, and may also interrupt a viral replication cycle without killing the target cell.

Experiments with adoptive transfer or in vivo depletion of lymphocyte subsets have shown that $CD8^+$ cells alone can clear some (3–5), though not all (6), viral infections. Consistent with these results, mutant mice lacking CTL are more susceptible to some but not all viruses (7). However, human patients deficient in MHC I antigen presentation do not appear to have a higher incidence of severe viral infections (8). The ability to resist or clear viral infections without CD8⁺

T cells does not necessarily mean that CTL are unimportant, but more likely shows that the immune system has multiple redundant effector mechanisms.

Although there have been several excellent recent reviews on the MHC I antigen presentation pathway (e.g. 9–11), the field has continued to move rapidly. In this chapter, we have tried to emphasize recent progress. Our review is focused on the presentation of endogenous antigens on MHC Ia molecules. Some related issues such as viral evasion of this pathway, the presentation of exogenous antigen (which will be reviewed elsewhere), and the functions of the nonclassical MHC Ib molecules (12) are not covered.

The Structure of Class I MHC Molecules

Mature MHC I complexes consist of three noncovalently associated components: a 45-kDa heavy chain (HC); a 12-kDa light chain, β_2 -microglobulin (β_2 -m); and a short peptide antigen. The HC are encoded in the MHC locus (chromosome 6 in humans and chromosome 17 in mice). There are three class Ia loci—in humans, called HLA-A, B, and C; in mice, H-2K, H-2D, and H-2L. There are also many class Ib (12) and MIC (MHC class I-chain related) (13) genes that are not covered in this review. The class Ia HC genes are extremely polymorphic (14). Both alleles of each locus are codominantly expressed, so that an individual may express up to six different class Ia molecules. These genes encode type I glycoproteins of approximately 340 amino acids, consisting of a cytoplasmic region (about 30 residues), a transmembrane region, and an extracellular region composed of three domains (α 1, α 2, and α 3) with one to three N-linked glycosylation sites.

 β_2 -m is a nonglycosylated protein of about 100 amino acids encoded on chromosome 15 in humans and 2 in mice. Only one allele is known in humans, while there are seven in mice. There appears to be little functional significance of the polymorphisms in β_2 -m, although they may subtly affect class I structure or peptide binding because different β_2 -m alleles can alter CTL recognition of some antigens (15). β_2 -m has no transmembrane domain and remains associated with cells by interacting with the extracellular region of HC.

The structure of a number of MHC I molecules has been solved (16, 17; summarized in 18, 19). β_2 -m makes extensive contacts with all three domains of the HC (16). Because of this, the conformation of the HC is very dependent on the presence or absence of β_2 -m. The membrane-proximal α 3 region of the HC is an immunoglobulin-like domain that contains a binding site for the CD8 receptor on CTL. The α 1 and α 2 domains, which are distal to the membrane and interact with the T cell receptor on CTL, fold together to form a groove that binds and displays peptides. A beta-pleated sheet forms the base of the cleft, and the walls are made of two alpha helices. The allelic polymorphisms in HC primarily occur in those residues in and around this cleft, and in this manner, they

alter the peptide-binding specificity of the class I molecules (14, 17). This is the primary molecular basis of the way in which MHC I genes determine whether an individual can respond to particular antigenic determinants (Ir gene effects).

The solution of the crystal structure of the class I proteins also provided insight into the perplexing problem of how a single type of molecule could bind and present so many different peptides. Many of the molecular interactions are with the peptide's main chain atoms and amino and carboxy termini, which are features common to all peptides. In addition a limited number of peptide side-chains extend into pockets along the groove thus imparting some specificity to peptide binding, although many different peptides can be accommodated (18), and determine general motifs of the peptides capable of binding to particular MHC I haplotypes (20; reviewed in 21). The groove is generally long enough to accommodate 8 or 9 residues in an extended conformation (22). Longer peptides can also fit by bulging partly out of the groove or by zigzagging within the cleft (23). In some cases the ends of the peptide may extend out of the groove, although this decreases the stability of interaction (24, 25). While such longer peptides are identified less often than octa- or nonapeptides, they are a significant minority—in some cases about 20–40% of the total (26).

GENERATION OF THE PEPTIDE EPITOPE

Antigens and Subcellular Location of Antigen Processing

Early studies indicated that class I–associated peptides could be derived from viral antigens resident in the cytosol (27–29), and from proteins that were artificially introduced into the cytosol (30, 31). Moreover, inhibiting protein breakdown in lysosomes did not affect MHC I presentation (32), implying that class I–presented peptides were generated by neutral proteases in an extralysosomal pathway. Together, these data implied that at least some class I–presented peptides were generated in the cytosol. That this was the major location in which antigenic peptides were produced was indicated by the analysis of mutant cell lines that lacked a transporter (TAP: see section on Transport Across the ER Membrane), which shuttled peptides from the cytosol into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). In these cells there were few peptides available for presentation, indicating that most presented peptides came from the cytosol.

Proteins targeted into the ER by signal sequences can also be presented on MHC I molecules. Since these molecules are cotranslationally transported into the endoplasmic reticulum, they might be expected to bypass hydrolysis in the cytosol. However, where analyzed, the presentation of most of these antigens is dependent on the TAP-transporter (see Transport Across ER Membrane) (summarized in 33) and on proteasome activity (MT Michalek, KL Rock, in

preparation), and therefore the presented peptides are probably being generated in the cytosol. In these cases the immune system may be sampling those molecules that fail to enter the endoplasmic reticulum or fragments of these molecules generated in the ER and exported back into the cytosol (see section on Transport Across ER Membrane). There are a few examples where proteins with signal sequences are presented in TAP-deficient cells (34, 35), and in these cases the peptides are presumably generated in the ER (see section on Transport Across the ER Membrane).

Peptides are also presented from nuclear (28, 36) and mitochondrial proteins (37). Again, where examined presentation of these antigens requires the TAP transporter (38, 39), suggesting that the peptides are present in the cytosol. In these cases it is unknown whether the presented peptides are produced in the nucleus or mitochondria and transferred into the cytosol, or whether they are actually generated in the cytosol.

There is only limited information on how the structure of an antigen influences its presentation. Some studies have examined the effects of changing the sequences flanking an epitope or varying its location in a protein. In some cases these alterations have no measurable effect (40), while in other cases they decrease presentation (41), presumably owing to altered cleavage patterns by proteases (42).

The Ubiquitin Proteasome Pathway

The major pathway for degrading proteins in the cytosol is ATP-dependent and highly conserved from yeast to mammals (43). In this process proteins are hydrolyzed to oligopeptides by a large multicatalytic proteolytic particle, the proteasome (44, 45). One form of the proteasome is a 20S (700 kDa) cylindrical particle composed of four rings (46). In mammalian cells, the outer rings are made up of seven distinct α subunits, thought to be primarily structural and regulatory, while the inner rings are composed of seven distinct β subunits that form the catalytic sites (46, 47). Proteolysis occurs in the aqueous core of this cylinder, an arrangement that presumably protects many cell constituents from unregulated degradation. While the 20S proteasome can degrade some proteins in cell-free systems, it is uncertain to what extent, if any, this complex by itself hydrolyzes proteins in living cells. Another form of the proteasome is a 26S (1500 kDa) particle, which contains as its proteolytic core the 20S structure associated with many additional subunits that regulate its activity (44, 45). This larger particle degrades some protein substrates directly in an ATP-dependent manner. In addition, the 26S structure binds polyubiquitin chains (48) and is responsible for degrading ubiquitin-conjugated proteins.

The degradation of many cellular proteins is initiated by their modification with the small polypeptide ubiquitin (49). Ubiquitin is attached via an isopeptide bond to lysines on the substrate and on other ubiquitins. This process requires ATP and several enzymes (E1, E2, and E3) that activate the ubiquitin and transfer it to the protein substrate. The polyubiquitin chain serves as a molecular tag that marks a protein for rapid degradation by the 26S proteasome. The specificity of this process is determined by the E2 and/or E3 enzymes which bind to specific substrates and then conjugate ubiquitin.

In both yeast and mammalian cells, the degradation of short-lived normal and abnormal proteins was markedly impaired by mutations in the ubiquitin activating enzyme, E1, which inhibit ubiquitin conjugation (50). A similar phenotype was seen in yeast with a mutation in a proteasome subunit (51). More recently, peptide aldehyde inhibitors of the proteasome were found to block the degradation of not only short-lived proteins but also the majority of long-lived proteins that constitute the bulk of cell proteins (52). Since the proteasome pathway is in the cytosol and appears to be responsible for the extralysosomal degradation of the majority of cell proteins, it was a candidate for generating class I–presented peptides (53). Interest in this possibility increased with the discovery that two subunits of the proteasome were encoded in the MHC region of the genome (Section III, E).

The Role of Ubiquitin in Antigen Presentation

Initial experiments to analyze the role of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway in antigen presentation examined the importance of ubiquitination. The presentation of native ovalbumin injected into an E1 temperature-sensitive (TS) mutant cell line was significantly inhibited at the nonpermissive temperature. In contrast, if the need for proteolysis was bypassed by expressing the relevant ovalbumin peptide directly in the cytosol, then presentation occurred normally, indicating a role for ubiquitination in antigen processing (54). This role of ubiquitin in ovalbumin presentation was recently questioned by Cox and coworkers, who found that inhibition at the nonpermissive temperature in TS cells was observed in only two of three experiments with injected ovalbumin, and not at all when ovalbumin was expressed from vaccinia virus (55). However, several technical differences between these studies may account for the differences observed. Moreover, the ovalbumin that is available for presentation from vaccinia is presumably misfolded in the cytosol, and we have found that this antigen when denatured is presented in TS mutants at nonpermissive temperature due to residual E1 activity and/or a ubiquitin-independent pathway (MT Michalek, KL Rock, in preparation). A similar defect was not observed in the presentation of several other antigens by TS cells (55). However these negative results are not interpretable because ubiquitin conjugation cannot be completely inhibited in these cells. Unfortunately, this is a major limitation of the TS cell lines.

Other studies have tested the effect on presentation of enhancing the ubiquitination of an antigen. This was accomplished by attaching to proteins an amino-terminal sequence (the "N-end rule") that is recognized by ubiquitin conjugating enzymes and should lead to ubiquitin conjugation (56). These modifications led to more rapid presentation of peptides from influenza nucleoprotein (57) and β -galactosidase (58). In the case of β -galactosidase, it was confirmed that enhanced ubiquitin-dependent degradation of the substrate was induced and was responsible for the effects on antigen presentation (58).

Thus at least for selected model antigens, ubiquitin conjugation plays a role in MHC I presentation. An important conclusion from these experiments is that protein degradation is a rate-limiting step for class I presentation; whether this will be true for antigens that are intrinsically less stable than β -galactosidase remains to be determined. There is also limited evidence that under some circumstances, e.g. with denatured and chemically modified ovalbumin, ubiquitinindependent presentation can also occur (MT Michalek, KL Rock, in preparation). A major unresolved question is whether ubiquitination plays a role in the presentation of other antigens.

The Role of the Proteasome in Antigen Presentation

The role of ubiquitin in antigen presentation indirectly implicates the proteasome as the protease responsible for generating presented peptides. Although the oligopeptide products from the proteasome have not been extensively analyzed, limited data suggest that the products are typically between five and eleven amino acids long (59, 60), possibly due to the distances between the proteasome's active sites (46). Interestingly, this is the size range for peptides that is optimal for binding to different MHC I molecules. Several studies have shown that purified proteasomes in vitro can generate class I–presented peptides from oligopeptide substrates (42, 61) and from intact antigens such as ovalbumin and β -galactosidase (62), although these experiments have used only 20S particles and nonphysiological conditions. These experiments show that the proteasome is capable of generating presented peptides, although they do not prove that it does so in vivo.

Direct evidence in vivo for a role of this particle in antigen presentation was obtained by blocking its function with tripeptide and dipeptide aldehydes. These agents inhibit the class I presentation of protein antigens [ovalbumin (52, 63) and β -galactosidase (58)], without affecting presentation of the relevant peptides expressed or injected into the cytoplasm (52). The interpretation of these experiments rests on whether the effects of the peptide aldehydes on antigen presentation are due to inhibition of the proteasome. This seems to be the case, since for the seven agents that have been tested, their potency for blocking antigen presentation is closely correlated with their potency in inhibiting the proteasome over a several log range in Ki's but is unrelated to their effects on other known proteases. Furthermore, antigen presentation is also blocked by highly selective proteasome inhibitors of very different structure (47; A Craiu, G Fenteany, SL Schreiber, KL Rock, unpublished data). Further independent support for a role of the proteasome in antigen presentation was obtained in analyses of proteasome LMP subunits described below.

Is the proteasome the major pathway for generating class I presented peptides? The effect of proteasome inhibitors on overall peptide production has been assayed indirectly. These agents do not block the synthesis of MHC I heavy or light chain but markedly inhibit the stable assembly of these two chains; this block in assembly can be overcome by adding exogenous antigenic peptides (52). Since the stable assembly of the class I heterodimer is dependent on the binding of peptides (see section on Peptide Processing in the Endoplasmic Reticulum) these results suggest that the proteasome plays a major role in supplying peptides to class I molecules. The block in assembly is not complete, leaving open the possibility that there are other pathways that contribute peptides. Peptides cleaved by proteases other than the proteasome-including peptides derived from signal sequences cleaved by the signal peptidase-can also be presented via MHC I (64, 65) so long as they contain the appropriate binding motifs. Furthermore, it is not clear whether the peptides produced by the proteasome are identical to those bound by MHC I, or whether they undergo further processing in the cytosol or in the ER (Section V), and if the peptide does undergo further processing, whether the proteasome is responsible for the N- or C-terminal cleavage.

The MHC I is apparently indifferent to the source of peptides. In fact, proteolysis is not required for entry into the class I antigen presentation pathway in all situations. Peptides expressed from minigenes—genes that encode only the MHC-binding epitope of interest—are also presented efficiently (66). It has also been proposed that aberrant transcription or translation may generate short peptides (peptons) which get presented on MHC I without further proteolysis. While some oligopeptides are probably generated through these mechanisms (67), available evidence suggests that this is a minor source of class I–presented peptides and/or that these peptides require further proteolysis (52, 68).

LMP Subunits and Regulation of Proteasome Activity

Among the first data pointing to the potential role of the proteasome in antigen presentation was the discovery that two genes in the MHC (LMP2 and LMP7) encoded subunits of the proteasome (69, 70). LMP2 and LMP7 are members of the β subunit family of proteasome subunits. Although most cells constitutively express low levels of these components, IFN- γ upregulates their expression (71) and posttranscriptionally downregulates their constitutively expressed

homologues, so that IFN-treated cells develop a subpopulation of proteasomes containing LMP2 and LMP7 (72–74).

To investigate the function of LMPs, cells that lacked these subunits were tested for their ability to present antigens. To develop such cells, a mutagenized human cell line (721.174 and its derivative, T2), which had a large deletion of MHC genes (75, 76), was transfected with TAP (peptide transporter) genes. These LMP2- and LMP7-deficient cells were initially found to have no qualitative or quantitative defect in antigen presentation (77–79). Recently, however, it has been shown that this cell is impaired in its ability to present some antigens and that some of these defects can be corrected by transfection of LMP7 (80). While these data indicate that LMPs are not essential and may play a relatively minor role, caution is needed in generalizing results from a single transformed and transfected cell line.

Stronger evidence for a role of LMP2 and LMP7 was seen with mutant mice, lacking either LMP2 (81) or LMP7 (82). In the LMP7 knockout mice, the level of cell-surface MHC I was moderately reduced, to between 55% and 90% of normal, which is consistent with a deficiency in the supply of antigenic peptides. Moreover, presentation of at least one antigen (H-Y) was impaired. Although the LMP2 mutant mice did not show a reduction in cell-surface MHC I, they had a reduction in $CD8^+$ T cells (possibly due to an alteration in the peptides available to select these T cells in the thymus) and moderately impaired responses both in vitro and in vivo to some, though not all, viral antigens (81). In the mutant mice the possibility has not been fully excluded that homologous recombination of the LMPs has affected the expression of the closely linked TAP genes (known to be essential for antigen presentation; see Transport Across the ER Membrane). However, this is unlikely because TAP mRNAs are not reduced in LMP7 or LMP2 mutant mice (82; L Van Kaer, personal communication), and the LMP2 mice present some antigens normally (81). Mice lacking both LMP2 and LMP7 have not yet been produced and will be needed to determine whether LMP subunits play a major or minor role in antigen presentation. Nevertheless, these findings provide genetic evidence linking the proteasome to class I antigen presentation.

How do the LMP subunits influence antigen presentation? Proteasomes purified from cells lacking LMP2 and LMP7 show a different pattern of catalytic activities than do those derived from LMP2- and LMP7-expressing cells. This effect is almost certainly due to the LMPs participating in the active sites of the proteasome. Consistent with this interpretation, both LMP2 and LMP7 have an amino-terminal threonine, a residue that has been identified as the active site nucleophile for proteasomes from archebacteria and mammals (47, 83). Compared to LMP⁻ proteasomes, LMP⁺ proteasomes cleave peptide substrates more rapidly after basic and hydrophobic residues (81, 84–87), while cleavage after acidic residues is unchanged (84) or reduced (85, 86) in most but not all studies (61, 88). Therefore LMPs are predicted to alter the pattern of cleavages in antigens, favoring the generation of immunogenic peptides. In fact, proteasomes from IFN-stimulated cells generated the appropriate epitope from a 25mer peptide containing a nonameric peptide epitope, while proteasomes from unstimulated cells cleaved a site within the nonamer and destroyed that epitope (61). One model for how the generation of antigenic peptides might be favored is that the changes in peptidase activities are predicted to lead to the generation of more peptides that terminate in hydrophobic and basic residues and fewer with acidic ones (84, 85). This pattern might be significant because peptides bound to MHC I almost invariably have basic or hydrophobic C-termini (89). However, it may be that the alterations in catalytic activities lead to more immunogenic peptides in more complex ways.

TRANSPORT ACROSS THE ER MEMBRANE

TAP and ABC Transporters

Peptides produced in the cytosol must pass into the lumen of the ER before they can bind to MHC I molecules that are assembled in this organelle. The first indication that this transfer into the ER required a specific transporter came from mutant cell lines that had low cell-surface expression of MHC I and were deficient in antigen presentation. These cells synthesized heavy and light chains normally, but the chains did not stably assemble (90) (due to a deficiency in available peptides-see section on Assembly). That the defect in these cells was in the transfer of peptides into the ER was suggested when it was found that the defect in MHC I expression and antigen presentation was corrected simply by exposing the cells to an antigenic peptide in the extracellular fluids (90). These experiments provided the field with a key conceptual insight, although the mechanism by which the exogenous peptides normalized the mutant phenotype was probably not by retrograde transport into the ER, as originally considered, but by stabilizing class I molecules at the cell surface (91, 92). Further support for this model came from the observation that peptides directed into the ER by a signal sequence were presented on MHC I in the mutant cells (66).

The genes responsible for this effect were tentatively mapped to the MHC locus by analysis of gene deletions in one of these mutant cells (93). Several groups cloning genes from the MHC region for various reasons identified genes homologous to members of the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) family of transport proteins (94, 95). These genes are now called TAP (transporter associated with antigen presentation), and their role in antigen presentation was confirmed when

transfection of the genes corrected the antigen-presentation defect in the mutant cell lines (94, 95). As expected, mutant mice lacking TAP1 (96) and human patients lacking TAP2 (8) show profound defects in MHC I-restricted antigen presentation.

ABC transporters are found in both prokaryotes and eukaryotes (97). The members of this family transport across cell membranes a wide range of molecules, ranging from ions to large proteins. They have either 6 or 12 membranespanning domains; those with 6 transmembrane domains, such as the TAP proteins, function as heterodimers or homodimers. The two subunits of TAP are approximately 76 (TAP1) and 70 (TAP2) kDa and are noncovalently associated. Although one study suggests that TAP1 might also be able to function as a homodimer (98), TAP1 and TAP2 generally seem nonfunctional when expressed alone (99, 99a). Immunoelectron microscopy and confocal analysis have localized TAP to the ER (99a) and the *cis*-Golgi (100). This subcellular distribution is consistent with the location in cells where MHC molecules bind peptides (see Assembly).

Transport of Peptides Across the ER Membrane

Since TAP mutant cells appeared to have a defect in supplying peptides to class I molecules and the TAP genes were homologous to known transporters, it seemed extremely likely that TAP functioned to transport peptides from the cytosol into the ER. However, initial attempts to analyze peptide transport in microsomes derived from TAP⁺ and TAP⁻ cell lines complicated the issue somewhat, as it seemed that transport was neither ATP nor TAP dependent (101–103). More recent studies, however, have found that transport of peptides into microsomes, or across the ER membrane of permeabilized cells is TAP-and ATP-dependent (104–106).

The sequence of both the TAP1 and TAP2 subunits shows consensus ATPbinding sites in the cytoplasmic domain, near the C-terminus. ATP (and other nucleotides) binds to both these sites (99a, 107, 108) in a Mg2⁺ (and, to a lesser extent, Ca2⁺) dependent manner; this is probably due to a Mg2⁺-binding site in the ATP-binding region (99a). The reason for the effect of Ca2⁺ is not known. The peptide-binding site is also in the cytoplasmic region and is probably formed by both subunits (109, 110). Peptide binds to the TAP complex independently of ATP (109), while peptide translocation is ATP-dependent (104).

The profound defect in antigen presentation in cells lacking TAP function indicated that this transporter is responsible for supplying most peptides for class I presentation, and it therefore must have very broad specificity. However, early studies also make clear that the transporter would have some selectivity because a genetic polymorphism in the TAP genes of rats affected the repertoire of presented peptides (111). Recent studies have begun to analyze the specificity of TAP in transport assays using microsomes or permeabilized cells. Most of these studies have determined TAP preferences based on competition assays, which probably are most affected by peptide binding; there may be additional constraints on translocation. Moreover, not all studies have controlled for the possibility that peptides might be trimmed by peptidases prior to TAP transport. With these caveats, the transporters have definite preferences for peptides of a certain length, and less dramatic sequence preferences (112, 113).

TAP only transports peptides longer than 7 residues; its efficiency drops off dramatically with peptides longer than about 12 aa, but there is no clear upper limit (104, 106, 114): This is the general range that is optimal for peptide binding to MHC molecules. There is also some specificity for a peptide's C-terminal residue. In mice, MHC I molecules show preferences for binding peptides containing hydrophobic residues at the C-terminus, and human MHC I mainly binds peptides with hydrophobic and basic C-termini; the TAP transporters in each case show a similar bias (115, 116). In rats different TAP2 alleles show specificity similar to either the human or the mouse TAP (116, 117). The preferences for other residues or sequences are not yet well defined, although it is clear that in some cases they can also affect the efficiency of translocation (117, 118). Other than in rats, polymorphisms in TAP do not seem to have a major effect on their specificities for peptides (119).

One complicating factor in analyzing TAP-dependent transport is the presence of an efficient ATP-dependent peptide export system directing peptides out of the ER and into the cytoplasm (115, 120). This transport activity does not appear to be mediated by TAP but by some as yet unidentified mechanism. Little is known about this system's specificity (if any) or capacity, but it seems easily able to keep up with import by the TAP transporters. Possibly this peptide exporter selects for high-affinity peptides, in that those of low affinity are not rapidly bound to the MHC I and are therefore exported. It might also subserve nonimmunological roles in cells such as transferring the products of ER degradation to the cytosol for further hydrolysis.

Some peptides that are expressed in the cytosol of cells lacking TAP transporters are presented on MHC I (121). This suggests a TAP-independent mechanism for transferring peptides into the ER. Since there are few class I presented peptides in TAP mutant cells, however, this must be a minor pathway.

Other Aspects of Peptide Transport

Are other, as yet unknown, proteins required for TAP function? Since TAP expressed in insect cells (i.e. in the absence of an antigen presentation system) appears to be functional (99), proteins limited to the vertebrate immune system are probably not essential. Similarly, in cell-free systems, no cytosolic fraction is required for specific TAP-dependent transfer across microsome membranes,

although this does not mean that accessory proteins could not improve the efficiency of transport. However, at 37°C, peptide binding in insect cells (109) and translocation in microsomes is inefficient (99a, 106), so there may be other factors in mammalian cells that influence TAP function. Interestingly, several as yet unidentified proteins coimmunoprecipitate with TAP, particularly when peptide transport is blocked by the viral protein ICP47 (122; P Jugovic, DC Johnson, personal communication).

Since peptides are very rapidly degraded in the cytoplasm (114, 123), it has been proposed that peptides may associate with chaperone proteins [such as members of the heat-shock protein (HSP) family] as they exit the proteasome, protecting and guiding the peptides to the TAP, while other chaperones protect the peptides in the lumen of the ER until they can interact with the MHC. Several HSP70 genes are encoded in the MHC (124); however, their role in antigen presentation, if any, is unknown. Peptides can become associated with members of the HSP family in the cytoplasm, ER, and mitochondria; this is not unexpected because HSP bind to a wide range of peptides and proteins (125). Therefore, the finding of antigenic peptides bound to HSP molecules does not in and of itself prove an immunological function.

The only data that suggest that such complexes can supply peptides to class I are indirect. Immunization of mice with HSP (cytosolic, mitochondrial, or ERderived) purified from tumors can stimulate antitumor-specific CTLs. Although this appears to be due to the antigenic peptides bound to the HSPs (summarized in 126), the mechanism by which the chaperones in the extracellular fluids donate peptides for class I presentation is not known and may be unrelated to normal events in the endogenous class I pathway. In summary there is presently no firm evidence that chaperones play a role in a role in shuttling peptides to and from the TAP transporters.

Another interesting possibility is that the proteasome might transiently interact with TAP, delivering peptides directly to the transporter. There is as yet no evidence for this, and since peptides artificially delivered to the cytoplasm or expressed by minigenes are presented, a linkage between TAP and proteasomes is not essential for transport. Again, though, such an interaction could increase the efficiency of peptide transport.

PEPTIDE PROCESSING IN THE ENDOPLASMIC RETICULUM

Some proteins, such as incompletely assembled receptors, are hydrolyzed in the ER by an as yet poorly characterized degradative pathway (127). This is a potential source of peptides for class I presentation, and there are a few examples in TAP mutant cells of antigens presented on MHC I after they are imported into the ER by signal sequences. However, the paucity of presented peptides in TAP-deficient cells indicates that this is a not a major pathway for generating peptides in their final form (33, 130). An important unresolved issue is whether most peptides generated in the cytosol are presented without further modification or are produced by trimming of longer peptides in the ER. TAP can transport peptides that are longer than the optimal length for binding to MHC I molecules. In some cases, these peptides do bind to MHC I molecules (see The Structure of Class I MHC I Molecules). However, in other cases only peptides of optimal length are presented despite the transport of longer species which can also bind (128). In yet other cases, authentic MHC I-binding peptides are transported by TAP much less efficiently than are slightly longer versions of the peptide (118). In addition to the possibility of trimming in the ER, it is possible that long peptides could be transported out of the ER by the peptide efflux pump, be further processed in the cytoplasm, and then re-enter the ER through TAP (120).

Several experiments have suggested that peptides can be further processed after being transported into the ER. By combining sequentially in a minigene a signal sequence followed by two antigenic peptides, Snyder and coworkers (129) found that in TAP-mutant cells the C-terminal epitope was presented well while the N-terminal one was presented poorly or not at all, suggesting that an aminopeptidase activity in the ER could trim the peptides. A similar experiment demonstrated amino-terminal trimming of an influenza nucleoprotein peptide (130). However, neither of these studies excluded the possibility that this "trimming" of the peptides was due to an imprecise cleavage by the signal sequence peptidase. These studies did suggest that the ER does not contain an efficient mechanism to trim the C-terminus of at least some peptides because the amino-terminal epitope in one of these constructs was presented poorly. Similarly, a peptide that was extended by two carboxyterminal residues was not presented when expressed in cells unless it was coexpressed with a carboxypeptidase that was transported into the ER (65).

One possibility is that MHC I molecules first bind long peptides, but that peptidases trim off the overhangs, leaving the portion protected by the MHC I groove intact (131). Since many MHC I molecules may reach the cell surface with long peptides (89), trimming of overhangs is inefficient at best. Moreover, this is unlikely to account for the majority of properly fitting peptides, since a one-residue overhang is probably too close to the MHC to accommodate a protease active site (25). Furthermore, long peptides that are bound to MHC I molecules appear to be protected from digestion by proteases in cell-free systems (132). Therefore, if trimming occurs it seems more likely to take place

before peptides bind to MHC molecules. However, if the physical interaction of MHC I with TAP is normally important in the charging of class I with peptide, then there may be little opportunity to trim peptides before binding.

Based on available data, it is difficult to estimate the importance of peptide trimming in the ER. Since the proteasome may well produce peptides mainly of about eight amino acids (60), it remains possible that most presented peptides will not require trimming. Even if this is not the case, the bias for peptides optimal length could simply arise from selection for the highest affinity peptides that are transported into the ER even if they are of lower abundance. Further experiments will be needed to resolve these issues.

ASSEMBLY

Subcellular Location and Order of Assembly of MHC I Molecules The MHC I heavy and light chains are synthesized separately on the rough ER and are cotranslationally transported into the ER. To be efficiently transported to the cell surface and displayed to the immune system, HC, β_2 -m, and a peptide must assemble together. Several lines of evidence suggest that assembly occurs in a pre-Golgi compartment, probably the ER itself. N-linked oligosaccharides on HC in mutant cell lines lacking TAP (which do not efficiently translocate peptides into the ER) are not processed by the enzymes in the *cis* and medial Golgi (133, 134). Therefore, peptide binding must normally occur in or before the *cis*-Golgi compartment. This is supported by the observation that MHC I bound to the adenovirus protein E3gp19k (which binds to some MHC I complexes and causes their retention in the ER) are loaded with peptides in vivo (135). Similarly, MHC I in cells treated with brefeldin A, which prevents glycoproteins from exiting the ER, are still able to bind peptide (136).

The assembly of MHC I molecules could proceed through two different pathways: HC and β_2 -m associate, and then peptide is added; or peptide and HC may associate, followed by β_2 -m (137). Both potential intermediates (HC/ β_2 m and HC/peptide) are much less stable than the mature complex (138, 139). In vitro, both pathways can produce a mature complex (138, 140), but the former may be the major pathway in normal cells (141–143). In cells lacking β_2 -m, which can only use the second pathway, only a very small amount of HC becomes correctly folded (and therefore, probably, peptide-associated) at physiological temperature (144), whereas in cells that lack peptide, HC/ β_2 -m heterodimers, although still relatively unstable at physiological temperature, are readily detectable in the ER (96, 145). Moreover, most empty class I heterodimers in the ER are bound to TAP, whereas heavy chains alone are not (see Transport of Peptides Across the ER Membrane). Therefore if most class I molecules acquire their peptide when bound to TAP, as seems likely, then HC/peptide intermediates are probably a minor pathway.

Interaction of Newly Synthesized MHC I with Chaperones and TAP

The assembly process may be facilitated by the formation of a series of intermolecular interactions (146): The immature HC or the HC/ β_2 -m complex is associated with ER chaperone proteins, and the HC/ β_2 -m complex then associates with TAP until peptide binds. Until all three components of the complex are present, the HC and peptide are retained within the ER. The rate of assembly varies widely in different cell types and cell lines, and different alleles can also have very different rates of assembly and transport (147).

The first chaperone to associate with HC is BiP. A population of human, but apparently not mouse, HC associates with BiP in the ER (148, 149). BiP (GRP78), a member of the HSP 70 family, is an ER chaperone involved in the folding and retention in the ER of many proteins (150). Although in general BiP associates with incompletely folded proteins, the details and the importance of the interactions are not well understood. At least some of the HC associated with BiP is able to associate with β_2 -m (148), suggesting that this might not be not a dead-end pathway.

Calnexin is an ER-resident transmembrane protein involved in the folding, assembly, and retention of many transmembrane glycoproteins and complexes (151). Calnexin has lectin domains and interacts with many substrates through recognition of partially trimmed oligosaccharides (152), and this may also apply to the heavy chain (153). However, this cannot be the sole means either of initial recognition or of stable binding, as enzymatic removal of carbohydrate groups from the HC does not cause the HC/calnexin complex to dissociate (152, 154), and calnexin can still interact with mutated HC that lacks N-glycosylation sites altogether (155). Whether in addition to or instead of recognizing carbohydrates, calnexin apparently binds via protein-protein interactions to the transmembrane region (156) or the connecting peptide immediately adjacent to the membrane (155).

Calnexin binds newly synthesized HC, enhances its folding and assembly, and also reduces its degradation (146, 157). The finding that the kinetics of HC dissociation from calnexin are correlated with the kinetics of transport of MHC I from the ER raised the possibility that calnexin regulates transport (158). However, calnexin dissociates from human HC when the HC/ β_2 -m complex forms (149, 159), although this complex is still immature and is retained in the ER until peptide is added. While the mouse HC appears to remain associated with calnexin after β_2 -m binds (149, 158), and even during the interaction with TAP (see below), it is not clear that calnexin remains associated until peptide is added (146). On the other hand, in cells lacking some components of the assembly process, such as β_2 -m negative cells (160) or transfected insect cells (lacking TAP and perhaps other factors)(157), calnexin does retain the incomplete complex in the ER. Nevertheless, since a mutant cell line lacking calnexin shows apparently normal assembly and expression of MHC I (161), calnexin probably is not essential for MHC I folding and assembly.

The last protein with which MHC is known to be complexed is TAP (162, 163); the interaction seems to involve the luminal domains of the HC (W-K Suh, Y Yang, PA Peterson, DB Williams, personal communication) and TAP1 (164). In a mutant cell line in which TAP and MHC fail to associate, peptide does not complex with MHC (164a). Presumably the interaction facilitates peptide association with the HC/ β_2 -m complex by holding the heterodimer in a region of high peptide concentration, or perhaps by directly delivering peptide to the class I molecule. It is also possible that this interaction with TAP enhances folding of the class I molecule, because there are more peptide-receptive complexes in TAP⁺ cells than in TAP⁻ cells even though the former also have many more peptide-containing complexes (165). Artificially delivering peptides to the cytoplasm resulted in more rapid dissociation of MHC I from TAP, but only when the peptide binding releases class I from TAP. Therefore, TAP is an obvious candidate for retaining in the ER HC/ β_2 -m complexes lacking peptide.

The order of assembly in vivo, then, may be that the HC associates with BiP (in humans) and then with calnexin, which prevents degradation, facilitates appropriate folding, and either permits or assists with β_2 -m assembly. The dimeric complex is then transferred to TAP, which may in turn assist with further folding and which also provides peptide. Peptide itself dramatically enhances the stability of the complex and allows release of the trimeric complex from TAP, and the complex is then allowed to leave the ER and reach the surface. Interactions with the chaperone proteins and TAP are not essential for folding but make it more efficient and complete. Moreover, this mechanism reduces the number of empty heterodimers that reach the cell surface, although some can exit the ER (165, 166). These empty heterodimers, however, are unstable and are rapidly denatured and/or degraded after they reach the cell surface.

MHC I AT THE CELL SURFACE

After assembly MHC I molecules transit through the Golgi where N-linked carbohydrates are modified. They are then rapidly transported by the default exocytic pathway to the plasma membrane where they display their bound peptides. There are actually very few MHC I molecules on the cell surface

that are empty (lacking peptides) (167, 168). This is because most empty molecules (lacking peptides) are retained in the ER (see section on Interaction of Newly Synthesized MHC I with Chaperones and TAP). Moreover, when a peptide dissociates from a MHC I molecule already on the cell surface, creating an empty molecule, or when an empty molecule does reach the cell surface, the heterodimer is unstable and rapidly dissociates (166, 167, 169). These mechanisms limit the binding of exogenous peptides and thereby ensure that class I molecules accurately display the antigens a cell itself has synthesized (167).

Under some circumstances MHC I molecules can bind peptides at the cell surface (91, 170, 171). Peptides, particularly optimal sequences at high concentrations, can bind to empty class I molecules before these molecules dissociate (91, 92, 170). Also, empty MHC I molecules can be stabilized to varying extents by incubation at lower temperature (133), by chemical cross-linking (172), or by incubation with exogenous β_2 -m (particularly xenogeneic β_2 -m, which appears to more stably bind murine HC) (173–176); these empty molecules can bind peptides. Moreover, free heavy chains on the cell surface can rebind β_2 -m (which is a constituent of fetal calf serum used in culture) and peptides (173). In some cases, exogenous peptide has been reported to bind to MHC I by exchanging with a bound peptide (177, 178). It is uncertain whether there is significant peptide binding to cell surface MHC I in vivo.

The half-life of MHC I molecules on the cell surface varies considerably depending on the cell type and the particular class I allele. For some MHC I molecules, such as H-2K^k, the half-life can be greater than 20 h (179) while for others, such as H-2L^d, it is about 2 h (although this short half-life may be due to a lack of peptide) (180). An important determinant in the stability of the class I molecule is the rate of dissociation of peptide and β_2 -m. When the heterodimer dissociates, the resulting free heavy chains denature and are degraded over time (92, 166, 175).

In most cell types, the trimolecular complex is not constitutively internalized, although multivalent ligands can induce internalization (181). In T lymphocytes (182) and macrophages (183), however, MHC I is spontaneously endocytosed through clathrin-coated pits, an effect mediated by signals in the cytoplasmic portion of the heavy chain (184). The functional significance of this internalization is unclear. Some endocytosed class I molecules are recycled to the cell surface (185) and might conceivably present peptides from endosomes. Internalized MHC I may also be degraded. Consistent with this, the half-life of MHC I on T lymphoblasts is much shorter than on B lymphoblasts, which do not internalize the complex (5 h vs 20 h) (179).

SUMMARY

Over the last decade remarkable progress has occurred in elucidating the MHC I pathway of antigen presentation. There is now a high-resolution picture of MHC I molecules and the peptides that they present. The broad outline of many of the key steps involved in supplying these presented peptides is emerging. Catabolism by the proteasome turns over the bulk of cellular proteins and in so doing provides the class I pathway with one source of peptides for presentation. A peptide transporter of broad specificity, TAP, transfers peptides from the cytosol to empty class I molecules in the ER. The assembly of MHC I molecules, their retention in the ER, and their continued integrity are all dependent on binding peptides, which presumably ensures efficient use of these peptide-binding receptors and more importantly, perhaps, the immunological identity of cells. An emerging theme is that several of these components, such as the class I molecule and the peptide transporter, are linked presumably to increase the efficiency of presentation. Moreover, many steps that are part of a general cellular pathway (e.g. the proteasome) or that can occur alone (e.g. assembly of the MHC I trimolecular complex) are enhanced by specific components of the immune system (LMP2 and 7 in the case of the proteasome, and TAP-binding in the case of assembly).

Many important issues concerning the known steps of the pathway remain to be resolved, including: What features of an antigen determine the extent of its presentation and which particular epitopes are ultimately displayed? What are the various pathways and steps involved in producing the presented peptides, and how are they regulated? How does the class I pathway survey the antigens resident in different subcellular locations? Are there mechanisms for protecting peptides from destruction and increasing their translocation into the ER and binding to MHC I molecules? How do TAP transporters bind and transport peptides, and what is their fine specificity? What role does the association between TAP and MHC I molecules play in assembly of the heterodimer and the transport and loading of peptides?

Beyond what we currently know, are there other key steps in the pathway that remain to be discovered? While this cannot be definitively answered today, we think it likely that the complexity is significantly greater than is currently appreciated. In part this expectation comes from an uncertainty that the remarkable efficiency of MHC I presentation is fully explained by available data. Moreover, there are hints of additional components in the pathway from as yet unexplained defects in mutant antigen presenting cells (164a, 186) and from the apparent association of a number of as yet unidentified proteins with ERresident MHC I (187) and with TAP (122; DC Johnson, P Jugovic, personal communication). Furthermore, in addition to those components of the pathway

388 YORK & ROCK

that are unique to the immune system, almost certainly others common to many cell biological processes remain to be elucidated.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We gratefully acknowledge our many colleagues who communicated results that were not yet published. We thank Drs. Ethan Grant and Barrj Benacerraf for their critical comments. This work was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health to K.L.R. and from the National Cancer Institute of Canada to I.Y.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Robey E, Fowlkes BJ. 1994. Selective events in T cell development. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 12:675–705
- Berke G. 1994. The binding and lysis of target cells by cytotoxic lymphocytes: molecular and cellular aspects. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 12:735–73
- Jamieson BD, Butler LD, Ahmed R. 1987. Effective clearance of a persistent viral infection requires cooperation between virus-specific Lyt2⁺ T cells and nonspecific bone marrow-derived cells. *J. Virol.* 61:3930–37
- Yap K, Ada G, McKenzie I. 1978. Transfer of specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes protects mice inoculated with influenza virus. *Nature* 273:238–39
- Kulkarni AB, Collins PL, Bacik I, Yewdell JW, Benink JR, Crowe JE, Murphy BR. 1995. Cytotoxic T cells specific for a single peptide on the M2 protein of respiratory syncytial virus are the sole mediators of resistance induced by immunization with M2 encoded by a recombinant vaccinia virus. J. Virol. 69:1261–64
- Bevan MJ, Braciale TJ. 1995. Why can't cytotoxic T cells handle HIV? Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:5765–67
- Raulet DH. 1994. MHC class I-deficient mice. Adv. Immunol. 55:381–421
- de la Salle H, Hanau D, Fricker D, Urlacher A, Kelly A, Salamero J, Powis SH, Donato L, Bausinger H, Laforet M, Jeras M, Spehner D, Bieber T, Falkenrodt A, Cazenave J-P, Trowsdale J, Tongio M-

M. 1994. Homozygous human TAP peptide transporter mutation in HLA class I deficiency. *Science* 265:237–41

- Yewdell JW, Bennink JR. 1992. Cell biology of antigen processing and presentation to MHC class I moleculerestricted Tlymphocytes. *Adv. Immunol.* 52:1–123
- Neefjes JJ, Momburg F. 1993. Cell biology of antigen presentation. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 5:27–34
- Germain RN, Margulies DH. 1993. The biochemistry and cell biology of antigen processing and presentation. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 11:403–50
- Shawar SM, Vyas JM, Rodgers JR, Rich RR. 1994. Antigen presentation by major histocompatibility complex class I-B molecules. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 12:839– 80
- Bahram S, Bresnahan M, Geraghty DE, Spies T. 1994. A second lineage of mammalian major histocompatibility complex class I genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91:6259–63
- Parham P, Adams EJ, Arnett KL. 1995. The origins of HLA-A,B,C polymorphism. *Immunol. Rev.* 143:141–80
- Perarnau B, Siegrist CA, Gillet A, Vincent C, Kimura S, Lemonnier FA. 1990. β₂-microglobulin restriction of antigen presentation. *Nature* 346:751–54
- Bjorkman PJ, Saper MA, Wiley DC. 1987. Structure of human class I histocompatibility antigen, HLA-A2. *Nature* 329:506–12

- Bjorkman PJ, Saper MA, Samraoui B, Bennett WS, Strominger JL, Wiley DC. 1987. The foreign antigen binding site and T cell recognition regions of class I histocompatibility antigens. *Nature* 329:512–18
- Wilson IA, Fremont DH. 1993. Structural analysis of MHC class I molecules with bound peptide antigens. *Semin. Immunol.* 5:75–80
- Young AC, Nathenson SG, Sacchettini JC. 1995. Structural studies of class I major histocompatibility complex proteins: insights into antigen presentation. *FASEB J.* 9:26–36
- Falk K, Rötzschke O, Stevanovic S, Jung G, Rammensee H-J. 1991. Allelespecific motifs revealed by sequencing of self peptides eluted from MHC molecules. *Nature* 351:290–96
- Ramensee H-G, Friede T, Stefanovic S. 1995. MHC ligands and peptide motifs: first listing. *Immunogenetics* 41:178– 228
- Madden DR, Gorga JC, Strominger JL, Wiley DC. 1991. The structure of HLA-B27 reveals nonamer self-peptides bound in an extended conformation. *Nature* 353:321–25
- Madden DR, Garboczi DN, Wiley DC. 1993. The antigenic identity of peptide/MHC complexes: a comparison of the conformations of five viral peptides presented by HLA-A2. *Cell* 75:693–708
- 24. Chen Y, Sidney J, Southwood S, Cox AL, Sakaguchi K, Henderson RA, Apella E, Hunt DF, Sette A, Engelhard VH. 1994. Naturally processed peptides longer than nine amino acid residues bind to the class I MHC molecule HLA-A2.1 with high affinity and with different conformations. J. Immunol. 152:2874–81
- Collins EJ, Garboczi DN, Wiley DC. 1994. Three-dimensional structure of a peptide extending from one end of a class I MHC binding site. *Nature* 371:626–29
- Engelhard VH. 1994. Structure of peptides associated with MHC class I molecules. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 6:13– 23
- Bennink JR, Yewdell JW, Gerhard W. 1982. A viral polymerase involved in recognition of influenza virus-infected cells by a cytotoxic T-cell clone. *Nature* 296:75–76
- Gooding LR, O'Connell KA. 1983. Recognition by cytotoxic T lymphocytes of cells expressing fragments of the SV40 tumor antigen. J. Immunol. 131:2580–86

- Townsend AR, Bastin J, Gould K, Brownlee GG. 1986. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes recognize influenza haemagglutinin that lacks a signal sequence. *Nature* 324:575–77
- Yewdell JW, Benninck JR, Hosaka Y. 1988. Cells process exogenous proteins for recognition by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Science* 239:637–40
- Moore MW, Carbone FR, Bevan MJ. 1988. Introduction of soluble protein into class I pathway of antigen processing and presentation. *Cell* 54:777–85
- Morrison LA, Lukacher AE, Braciale VL, Fan DP, Braciale TJ. 1986. Difference in antigen presentation to MHC class I- and class II-restricted influenza virus-specific cytolytic T lymphocyte clones. J. Exp. Med. 163:903–21
- Siliciano RF, Soloski MJ. 1995. MHC class I-restricted processing of transmembrane proteins. Mechanism and biologic significance. J. Immunol. 155:2–5
- Henderson RA, Cox AL, Sakaguchi K, Appella E, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, Engelhard VH. 1993. Direct identification of an endogenous peptide recognized by multiple HLA-A2.1-specific cytotoxic T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 90:10,275–79
- 35. Hammond SA, Johnson RP, Kalams SA, Walker BD, Takiguchi M, Safrit JT, Koup RA, Siliciano RF. 1995. An epitope-selective, transporter associated with antigen presentation (TAP)-1/2-independent pathway and a more general TAP-1/2-dependent antigen-processing pathway allow recognition of the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein by CD8⁺ CTL. J. Immunol. 154:6140–56
- Townsend ARM, McMichael AJ, Carter NP, Huddleston JA, Brownlee GG. 1984. Cytotoxic T cell recognition of the influenza nucleoprotein and hemagglutinin expressed in transfected mouse L cells. *Cell* 39:13–25
- Udaka K, Tsomides TJ, Walden P, Fukusen N, Eisen HN. 1993. A ubiquitous protein is the source of naturally occurring peptides that are recognized by a CD8⁺ T-cell clone. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 90:11272–76
- Fischer Lindahl K. 1993. Peptide antigen presentation by non-classical MHC class I molecules. Semin. Immunol. 5:117–26
- 39. Isobe H, Moran T, Li S, Young A, Nathenson S, Palese P, Bona C. 1995. Presentation by a major histocompatibility complex class I molecule of nucleoprotein peptide expressed in two different

genes of an influenza virus transfectant. J. Exp. Med. 181:203–13

- Hahn YS, Hahn CS, Braciale VL, Braciale TJ, Rice CM. 1992. CD8⁺ T cell recognition of an endogenously processed epitope is regulated primarily by residues within the epitope. J. Exp. Med. 176:1335–41
- Eisenlohr LC, Yewdell JW, Bennink JR. 1992. Flanking sequences influence the presentation of an endogenously synthesized peptide to cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 175:481–87
- 42. Niedermann G, Butz S, Ihlenfeldt HG, Grimm R, Lucchiari M, Hoschützky H, Jung G, Maier B, Eichmann K. 1995. Contribution of proteasome-mediated proteolysis to the hierarchy of epitopes presented by major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Immunity* 2:289–99
- Goldberg AL, St. John AC. 1976. Intracellular protein degradation in mammalian and bacterial cells: Part 2. Annu. *Rev. Biochem.* 45:747–803
- Rechsteiner M, Hoffman L, Dubiel W. 1993. The multicatalytic and 26S proteases. J. Biol. Chem. 268:6065–68
- Peters JM. 1994. Proteasomes: protein degradation machines of the cell. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 19:377–82
- Löwe J, Stock D, Jap B, Zwickl P, Baumeister W, Huber R. 1995. Crystal structure of the 20S proteasome from the archaeon *T. acidophilum* at 3.4 resolution. *Science* 268:533–39
- Fenteany G, Standaert RF, Lane WS, Choi S, Corey EJ, Schreiber SL. 1995. Inhibition of proteasome activities and subunit-specific amino-terminal threonine modification by lactacystin. *Science* 268:726–31
- Deveraux Q, Ustrell V, Pickart C, Rechsteiner M. 1994. A 26S protease subunit that binds ubiquitin conjugates. J. Biol. Chem. 269:7059–61
- Ciechanover A. 1994. The ubiquitinproteasome proteolytic pathway. *Cell* 79:13–21
- Kulka RG, Raboy B, Schuster R, Parag HA, Diamond G, Ciechanover A, Marcus M. 1988. A Chinese hamster cell cycle mutant arrested at G2 phase has a temperature-sensitive ubiquitinactivating enzyme, E1. J. Biol. Chem. 263:15726–31
- Seufert W, Jentsch S. 1992. In vivo function of the proteasome in the ubiquitin pathway. *EMBO J.* 11:3077–80
- 52. Rock KL, Gramm C, Rothstein L, Clark

K, Stein R, Dick L, Hwang D, Goldberg AL. 1994. Inhibitors of the proteasome block the degradation of most cell proteins and the generation of peptides presented on MHC class I molecules. *Cell* 78:761–71

- Townsend ARM, Gotch FM, Davey J. 1985. Cytotoxic T cells recognize fragments of the influenza nucleoprotein. *Cell* 42:457–67
- Michalek MT, Grant EP, Gramm C, Goldberg AL, Rock KL. 1993. A role for the ubiquitin-dependent proteolytic pathway in MHC class I-restricted antigen presentation. *Nature* 363:552–54
- Cox JH, Galardy P, Bennink JR, Yewdell JW. 1995. Presentation of endogenous and exogenous antigens is not affected by inactivation of E1 ubiquitin-activating enzyme in temperature-sensitive cell lines. J. Immunol. 154:511–19
- Bachmair A, Finley D, Varshavsky A. 1986. In vivo half-life of a protein is a function of its amino-terminal residue. *Science* 234:179–86
- 57. Townsend A, Bastin J, Gould K, Brownlee G, Andrew M, Coupar B, Boyle D, Chan S, Smith G. 1988. Defective presentation to class I-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes in vaccinia-infected cells is overcome by enhanced degradation of antigen. J. Exp. Med. 168:1211–24
- Grant EP, Michalek MT, Goldberg AL, Rock KL. 1995. Rate of antigen degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway influences MHC class I presentation. J. Immunol. 155:3750–58
- Tokunaga F, Goto T, Koide T, Murakami Y, Hayashi S, Tamura T, Tanaka K, Ichihara A. 1994. ATP- and antizyme-dependent endoproteolysis of ornithine decarboxylase to oligopeptides by the 26S proteasome. J. Biol. Chem. 269:17,382–85
- Wenzel T, Eckerskorn C, Lottspeich F, Baumeister W. 1994. Existence of a molecular ruler in proteasomes suggested by analysis of degradation products. *FEBS Lett.* 349:205–9
- Boes B, Hengel H, Ruppert T, Multhaup G, Koszinowski UH, Kloetzel P-M. 1994. Interferon γ stimulation modulates the proteolytic activity and cleavage site preference of 20S mouse proteasome. J. Exp. Med. 179:901–9
- 62. Dick LR, Aldrich C, Jameson SC, Moomaw CR, Pramanik BC, Doyle CK, DeMartino GN, Bevan MJ, Forman JM, Slaughter CA. 1994. Proteolytic processing of ovalbumin and β-galactosidase by

the proteasome to yield antigenic peptides. J. Immunol. 152:3884–94

- Harding CV, France J, Song R, Farah J, Chatterjee S, Iqbal M, Siman R. 1995. Novel dipeptide aldehydes are proteasome inhibitors and block the MHC-I antigen processing pathway. *J. Immunol.* 155:1767–75
- 64. Henderson RA, Michel H, Sakaguchi K, Shabanowitz J, Appella E, Hunt DF, Engelhard VH. 1992. HLA-A2.1-associated peptides from a mutant cell line: a second pathway of antigen presentation. *Science* 255:1264–66
- Eisenlohr LC, Bacik I, Bennink JR, Bernstein K, Yewdell JW. 1992. Expression of a membrane protease enhances presentation of endogenous antigens to MHC class I-restricted T lymphocytes. *Cell* 71:963–72
- 66. Anderson K, Cresswell P, Gammon M, Hermes J, Williamson A, Zweerink H. 1991. Endogenously synthesized peptide with an endoplasmic reticulum signal sequence sensitizes antigen processing mutant cells to class I-restricted cellmediated lysis. J. Exp. Med. 174:489– 92
- Boon T, van Pel A. 1989. T cellrecognized antigenic peptides derived from the cellular genome are not protein degradation products but can be generated directly by transcription and translation of short subgenic regions. *Immunogenetics* 29:75–79
- Shastri N, Nguyen V, Gonzalez F. 1995. Major histocompatibility class I molecules can present cryptic translation products to T-cells. J. Biol. Chem. 270:1088–91
- Monaco JJ. 1992. A molecular model of MHC class-I-restricted antigen processing. *Immunol. Today* 13:173–79
- Goldberg AL, Rock KL. 1992. Proteolysis, proteasomes and antigen presentation. *Nature* 357:375–79
- Monaco JJ, McDevitt HO. 1986. The LMP antigens: a stable MHC-controlled multisubunit protein complex. *Hum. Immunol.* 15:416–26
- Früh K, Gossen M, Wang K, Bujard H, Peterson PA, Yang Y. 1994. Displacement of housekeeping proteasome subunits by MHC-encoded LMPs: a newly discovered mechanism for modulating the multicatalytic proteinase complex. *EMBO J.* 13:3236–44
- Akiyama K-Y, Yokota K-Y, Kaqawa S, Shimbara N, Tamura T, Akioka H, Nathwang HG, Noda C, Tanaka K, Ichihara

A. 1994. cDNA cloning and interferon gamma down-regulation of proteasomal subunits X and Y. *Science* 265:1231–34

- Belich MP, Glynne RJ, Senger G, Sheer D, Trowsdale J. 1994. Proteasome components with reciprocal expression to that of the MHC-encoded LMP proteins. *Curr. Biol.* 4:769–76
- DeMars R, Chang CC, Rudersdorf RA. 1983. Dissection of the D-region of the human major histocompatibility complex by means of induced mutations in a lymphoblastoid cell line. *Hum. Immunol.* 8:123–39
- Salter RD, Howell DN, Cresswell P. 1985. Genes regulating HLA class I antigen expression in T-B lymphoblast hybrids. *Immunogenetics* 21:235–46
- 77. Momburg F, Ortiz-Navarete V, Neefjes J, Goulmy E, van de Wal Y, Spits H, Povis SJ, Butcher GW, Howard JC, Walden P, Hämmerling GJ. 1992. Proteasome subunits encoded by the major histocompatibility complex are not essential for antigen presentation. *Nature* 360:174–77
- Arnold D, Driscoll J, Androlewicz M, Hughes E, Cresswell P, Spies T. 1992. Proteasome subunits encoded in the MHC are not generally required for the processing of peptides bound by MHC class I molecules. *Nature* 360:171–74
- Yewdell J, Lapham C, Bacik I, Spies T, Bennink J. 1994. MHC-encoded proteasome subunits LMP2 and LMP7 are not required for efficient antigen presentation. J. Immunol. 152:1163–70
- Cerundolo V, Kelly A, Elliott T, Trowsdale J, Townsend A. 1995. Genes encoded in the major histocompatibility complex affecting the generation of peptides for TAP transport. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:554–62
- Van Kaer L, Ashton-Rickardt PG, Eichelberger M, Gaczynska M, Nagashima K, Rock KL, Goldberg AL, Doherty PC, Tonegawa S. 1994. Altered peptidase and viral-specific T cell response in LMP2 mutant mice. *Immunity* 1:533–41
- Fehling HJ, Swat W, Laplace C, Kuhn R, Rajewsky K, Muller U, von Boehmer H. 1994. MHC class I expression in mice lacking the proteasome subunit LMP-7. *Science* 265:1234–37
- Seemüller E, Lupas A, Stock D, Löwe J, Huber R, Baumeister W. 1995. Proteasome from *Thermosplasma acidophilum*: a threeonine protease. *Science* 268:579–82
- 84. Driscoll J, Brown MG, Finlay D,

Monaco JJ. 1993. MHC-linked LMP gene products specifically alter peptidase activities of the proteasome. *Nature* 365:262–64

- Gaczynska M, Rock KL, Goldberg AL. 1993. γ-interferon and expression of MHC genes regulates peptide hydrolysis by proteasomes. *Nature* 365:264– 67
- Gaczynska M, Rock KL, Spies T, Goldberg AL. 1994. Peptidase activities of proteasomes are differentially regulated by the major histocompatibility complex-encoded genes for LMP2 and LMP7. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:9213–17
- Aki M, Shimbara N, Takashina M, Akiyama K, Kagawa S, Tamura T, Tanahashi N, Yoshimura T, Tanaka K, Ichihara A. 1994. Interferon-gamma induces different subunit organizations and functional diversity of proteasomes. *J. Biochem.* 115:257–69
- Ustrell V, Pratt G, Rechsteiner M. 1995. Effects of interferon gamma and major histocompatibility complex-encoded subunits on peptidase activities of human multicatalytic proteases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:584–88
- Engelhard VH. 1994. Structure of peptides associated with class I and class II MHC molecules. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 12:181–207
- Townsend A, Öhlen C, Bastin J, Ljunggren H-G, Foster L, Kärre K. 1989. Association of class I major histocompatibility heavy and light chains induced by viral peptides. *Nature* 340:443–48
- Schumacher TN, Heemels MT, Neefjes JJ, Kast WM, Melief CJ, Ploegh HL. 1990. Direct binding of peptide to empty MHC class I molecules on intact cells and in vitro. *Cell* 62:563–67
- Rock KL, Gramm C, Benacerraf B. 1991. Low temperature and peptides favor the formation of class I heterodimers on RMA-S cells at the cell surface. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:4200–4
- Cerundolo V, Alexander J, Anderson K, Lamb C, Cresswell P, McMicheal A, Gotch F, Townsend A. 1990. Presentation of viral antigen controlled by a gene in the major histocompatibility complex. *Nature* 345:449–52
- Monaco JJ. 1992. Major histocompatibility complex-linked transport proteins and antigen processing. *Immunol. Res.* 11:125–32
- 95. Townsend A, Trowsdale J. 1993. The transporter associated with antigen pre-

sentation. Semin. Cell Biol. 4:53-61

- 96. Van Kaer L, Ashton-Rickardt PG, Ploegh HL, Tonegawa S. 1992. TAP1 mutant mice are deficient in antigen presentation, surface class I molecules, and CD4-8⁺ T cells. *Cell* 71:1205–14
- 97. Higgins CF. 1992. ABC transporters: from microorganisms to man. *Annu. Rev. Cell Biol.* 8:67–113
- Gabathuler R, Reid G, Kolaitis G, Driscoll J, Jefferies WA. 1994. Comparison of cell lines deficient in antigen presentation reveals a functional role for TAP-1 alone in antigen processing. J. Exp. Med. 180:1415–25
- Meyer TH, van Endert PM, Uebel S, Ehring B, Tampé R. 1994. Functional expression and purification of the ABC transporter complex associated with antigen processing (TAP) in insect cells. *FEBS Lett.* 351:443–47
- 99a. Russ G, Esquivel F, Yewdell JW, Cresswell P, Spies T, Benink J. 1995. Assembly, intracellular localization, and nucleotide binding properties of the human peptide transporters TAP1 and TAP2 expressed by recombinant vaccinia viruses. J. Biol. Chem. 270:21,312–18
- Kleijmeer MJ, Kelly A, Geuze HJ, Slot JW, Townsend A, Trowsdale J. 1992. Location of MHC-encoded transporters in the endoplasmic reticulum and *cis*-Golgi. *Nature* 357:342–44
- Levy F, Larson R, Kvist S. 1991. Translocation of peptides through microsomal membranes is a rapid process and promotes assemby of HLA-B27 heavy chain and β₂-microglobulin translated in vitro. *J. Cell Biol.* 115:959–70
- 102. Levy F, Gabathuler R, Larsson R, Kvist S. 1991. ATP is required for in vitro assembly of MHC class I antigens but not for transfer of peptides across the ER membrane. *Cell* 67:265–74
- Koppelman B, Zimmerman DL, Walter P, Brodsky FM. 1992. Evidence for peptide transport across microsomal membranes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:3908–12
- 104. Androlewicz MJ, Anderson KS, Cresswell P. 1993. Evidence that transporters associated with antigen processing translocate a major histocompatibility complex class I-binding peptide into the endoplasmic reticulum in an ATPdependent manner. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 90:9130–34
- Neefjes JJ, Momburg F, Hämmerling GJ. 1993. Selective and ATP-dependent translocation of peptides by the MHC-

encoded transporter. Science 261:769-71

- 106. Shepherd JC, Schumacher TNM, Ashton-Rickardt PG, Imaeda S, Ploegh HL, Janeway CA, Tonegawa S. 1993. TAP1-dependent peptide translocation in vitro is ATP dependent and peptide selective. *Cell* 74:577–84
- 107. Wang K, Fruh K, Peterson PA, Yang Y. 1994. Nucleotide binding of the C-terminal domains of the major histocompatibility complex-encoded transporter expressed in *Drosophila melanogaster* cells. *FEBS Lett.* 350:337–41
- Müller KM, Ebensperger C, Tampé R. 1994. Nucleotide binding to the hydrophilic C-terminal domain of the transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP). J. Biol. Chem. 269:14032–37
- 109. van Endert PM, Tampé R, Meyer TH, Tisch R, Bach J-F, McDevitt HO. 1994. A sequential model for peptide binding and transport by the transporters associated with antigen processing. *Immunity* 1:491–500
- Androlewicz MJ, Cresswell P. 1994. Human transporters associated with antigen processing possess a promiscuous peptide-binding site. *Immunity* 1:7–14
- 111. Livingstone AM, Powis SJ, Gunther E, Cramer DV, Howard JC, Butcher GW. 1991. Cim: an MHC class II-linked allelism affecting the antigenicity of a classical class I molecule for T lymphocytes. *Immunogenetics* 34:157–63
- Momburg F, Neefjes JJ, Hammerling GJ. 1994. Peptide selection by MHCencoded TAP transporters. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 6:32–37
- Howard JC. 1995. Supply and transport of peptides presented by class I MHC molecules. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 7:69– 76
- 114. Momburg F, Roelse J, Hammerling GJ, Neefjes JJ. 1994. Peptide size selection by the major histocompatibility complex-encoded peptide transporter. J. Exp. Med. 179:1613–23
- 115. Schumacher TN, Kantesaria DY, Heemels MT, Ashton-Rickardt PG, Shepherd JC, Fruh K, Yang Y, Peterson PA, Tonegawa S, Ploegh HL. 1994. Peptide length and sequence specificity of the mouse TAP1/TAP2 translocator. J. Exp. Med. 179:533–40
- Momburg F, Roelse J, Howard JC, Butcher GW, Hammerling GJ, Neefjes JJ. 1994. Selectivity of MHC-encoded peptide transporters from human, mouse and rat. *Nature* 367:648–51

- Heemels M-T, Ploegh HL. 1994. Substrate specificity of allelic variants of the TAP peptide transporter. *Immunity* 1:775–84
- 118. Neisig A, Roelse J, Sijts AJAM, Ossendorp F, Feltkamp MCW, Kast WM, Melief CJM, Neefjes JJ. 1995. Major differences in transporter associated with antigen presentation (TAP)-dependent translocation of MHC class I-presentable peptides and the effect of flanking sequences. J. Immunol. 154:1273–79
- 119. Schumacher TN, Kantesaria DV, Serreze DV, Roopenian DC, Ploegh HL. 1994. Transporters from H-2^b, H-2^d, H-2^s, H-2^k, and H-2^{g7} (NOD/Lt) haplotype translocate similar sets of peptides. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:13004–8
- Roelse J, Gromme M, Momburg F, Hammerling GJ, Neefjes JJ. 1994. Trimming of TAP-translocated peptides in the endoplasmic reticulum and in the cytosol during recycling. J. Exp. Med. 180:1591–97
- 121. Zweerink HJ, Gammon MC, Utz U, Sauma SY, Harrer T, Hawkins JC, Johnson RP, Sirotina A, Hermes JD, Walker BD, Biddison WE. 1993. Presentation of endogenous peptides to MHC class I-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes in transport deletion mutant T2 cells. J. Immunol. 150:1763–71
- 122. Früh K, Ahn K, Djaballah H, Sempé P, van Endert PM, Tampé R, Peterson PA, Yang Y. 1995. A viral inhibitor of peptide transporters for antigen presentation. *Nature* 375:415–18
- 123. Hill A, Jugovic P, York I, Russ G, Bennink J, Yewdell J, Ploegh H, Johnson D. 1995. Herpes simplex virus turns off the TAP to evade host immunity. *Nature* 375:411–15
- 124. Sargent CA, Dunham I, Trowsdale J, Campbell RD. 1989. Human major histocompatibility complex contains genes for the major heat shock protein hsp70. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:1968–72
- Flynn GC, Chappell TG, Rothman JE. 1989. Peptide binding and release by proteins implicated as catalysts of protein assembly. *Science* 245:385–90
- Srivastava PK, Udono H, Blachere NE, Li Z. 1994. Heat shock proteins transfer peptides during antigen processing and CTL priming. *Immunogenetics* 39:93– 98
- Bonifacino JS, Lippincott-Schwartz J. 1991. Degradation of proteins within the endoplasmic reticulum. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 3:592–600

- Malarkannan S, Goth S, Buchholz DR, Shastri N. 1995. The role of MHC class I molecules in the generation of endogenous peptide/MHC complexes. J. Immunol. 154:585–98
- Snyder HL, Yewdell JW, Bennink JR. 1994. Trimming of antigenic peptides in an early secretory compartment. J. Exp. Med. 180:2389–94
- Elliott T, Willis A, Cerundolo V, Townsend A. 1995. Processing of major histocompatibility class I-restricted antigens in the endoplasmic reticulum. J. Exp. Med. 181:1481–91
- Falk K, Rötzschke O, Rammensee H-J. 1990. Cellular peptide composition governed by major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Nature* 348:248– 50
- 132. Ojcius DM, Langlade-Demoyen P, Gachelin G, Kourilsky P. 1994. Role for MHC class I molecules in selecting and processing high affinity peptides in the presence of proteases. J. Immunol. 152:2798–810
- 133. Ljunggren H-G, Stam NJ, Öhlen C, Neefjes JJ, Höglund P, Heemels M-T, Bastin J, Schumacher TNM, Townsend A, Kärre K, Ploegh HL. 1990. Empty MHC class I molecules come out in the cold. *Nature* 346:476–80
- 134. Ljunggren H-G, Paabo S, Cochet M, Kling G, Kourilsky P, Karre K. 1989. Molecular analysis of H-2-deficient lymphoma lines. Distinct defects in biosynthesis and association of MHC class I heavy chains and β₂-microglobulin observed in cells with increased sensitivity to NK cell lysis. J. Immunol. 142:2911– 17
- Lapham CK, Bacik I, Yewdell JW, Kane KP, Bennink JR. 1993. Class I molecules retained in the endoplasmic reticulum bind antigenic peptides. J. Exp. Med. 177:1633–41
- Yewdell JW, Benninck JR. 1989. Brefeldin A specifically inhibits presentation of protein antigens to cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Science* 244:1072–75
- Townsend A, Elliott T, Cerundolo V, Foster L, Barber B, Tse A. 1990. Assembly of MHC class I molecules analyzed in vitro. *Cell* 62:285–95
- Elliott T, Cerundolo V, Elvin J, Townsend A. 1991. Peptide-induced conformational change of the class I heavy chain. *Nature* 351:402–6
- Fahnestock ML, Tamir I, Narhi L, Bjorkman PJ. 1992. Thermal stability comparison of purified empty and peptide-filled

forms of a class I MHC molecule. Science 258:1658-62

- 140. Boyd LF, Kozlowski S, Margulies DH. 1992. Solution binding of an antigenic peptide to a major histocompatibility complex class I molecule and the role of β₂-microglobulin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:2242–46
- 141. Neefjes JJ, Hammerling GJ, Momburg F. 1993. Folding and assembly of major histocompatibility complex class I heterodimers in the endoplasmic reticulum of intact cells precedes the binding of peptide. J. Exp. Med. 178:1971–80
- 142. Wang H, Capps GG, Robinson BE, Zuniga MC. 1994. Ab initio association with β₂-microglobulin during biosynthesis of the H-2L^d class I major histocompatibility complex heavy chain promotes proper disulfide bond formation and stable peptide binding. J. Biol. Chem. 269:22276–81
- 143. Smith JD, Solheim JC, Carreno BM, Hansen TH. 1995. Characterization of class I MHC folding intermediates and their disparate interactions with peptide and β₂-microglobulin. *Mol. Immunol.* 32:531–40
- Machold RP, Andrée S, Kaer LV, Ljunggren H-G, Ploegh HL. 1995. Peptide influences the folding and intracellular transport of free major histocompatibility complex class I heavy chains. J. Exp. Med. 181:1111–22
- 145. Baas EJ, van Santen H-M, Kleijmeer MJ, Geuze HJ, Peters PJ, Ploegh HL. 1992. Peptide-induced stabilization and intracellular localization of empty class I complexes. J. Exp. Med. 176:147–56
- Williams DB, Watts TH. 1995. Molecular chaperones in antigen presentation. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 7:77–84
- 147. Neefjes JJ, Ploegh HL. 1988. Allele and locus-specific differences in cell surface expression and the association of HLA class I heavy chain with β₂microglobulin: differential effects of inhibition of glycosylation on class I subunit association. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 18:801–10
- Kahn-Perles B, Salamero J, Jouans O. 1994. Biogenesis of MHC class I antigens: involvement of multiple chaperone molecules. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 64:176– 85
- 149. Nössner E, Parham P. 1995. Speciesspecific differences in chaperone interaction of human and mouse major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *J. Exp. Med.* 181:327–37

- Haas I. 1991. BiP—a heat shock protein involved in immunoglobulin chain assembly. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 167:71–82
- 151. Bergeron JJ, Brenner MB, Thomas DY, Williams DB. 1994. Calnexin: a membrane-bound chaperone of the endoplasmic reticulum. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 19:124–28
- 152. Ware FE, Vassilakalos A, Peterson PA, Jackson MR, Lehrman MA, Williams DB. 1995. The molecular chaperone calnexin binds Glc₁Man₉GlcNAc₂ oligosaccharide as an initial step in recognizing unfolded glcoproteins. J. Biol. Chem. 270:4697–704
- 153. Zhang Q, Tector M, Salter RD. 1995. Calnexin recognizes carbohydrate and protein determinants of class I major histocompatibility complex molecules. J. Biol. Chem. 270:3944–48
- Ou WJ, Cameron PH, Thomas DY, Bergeron JJ. 1993. Association of folding intermediates of glycoproteins with calnexin during protein maturation. *Nature* 364:771–76
- 155. Carreno BM, Schreiber KL, McKean DJ, Stroynowski I, Hansen TH. 1995. Aglycosylated and phosphotidylinositolanchored MHC class I molecules are associated with calnexin. Evidence implicating the class I-connecting peptide segment in calnexin association. J. Immunol. 154:5173–80
- 156. Margolese L, Waneck GL, Suzuki CK, Degen E, Flavell RA, Williams DB. 1993. Identification of the region on the class I histocompatibility molecule that interacts with the molecular chaperone, p88 (calnexin, IP90). J. Biol. Chem. 268:17959–66
- Jackson MR, Cohen-Doyle MF, Peterson PA, Williams DB. 1994. Regulation of MHC class I transport by the molecular chaperone, calnexin (p88, IP90). *Science* 263:384–87
- Degen E, Cohen-Doyle MF, Williams DB. 1992. Efficient dissociation of the p88 chaperone from major histocompatibility complex class I molecules requires both β₂-microglobulin and peptide. J. Exp. Med. 175:1653–61
- 159. Sugita M, Brenner MB. 1994. An unstable β₂-microglobulin: major histocompatibility complex class I heavy chain intermediate dissociates from calnexin and then is stabilized by binding peptide. J. Exp. Med. 180:2163–71
- Rajagopalan S, Brenner MB. 1994. Calnexin retains unassembled major histo-

compatibility complex class I free heavy chains in the endoplasmic reticulum. J. Exp. Med. 180:407–12

- Scott JE, Dawson JR. 1995. MHC class I expression and transport in a calnexindeficient cell line. *J. Immunol.* 155:143– 48
- 162. Ortmann B, Androlewicz M, Cresswell P. 1994. MHC class I/β₂-microglobulin complexes associate with TAP transporter before peptide binding. *Nature* 368:864–67
- 163. Suh WK, Cohen-Doyle MF, Fruh K, Wang K, Peterson PA, Williams DB. 1994. Interaction of MHC class I molecules with the transporter associated with antigen processing. *Science* 264:1322–26
- 164. Androlewicz MJ, Ortmann B, van Endert PM, Spies T, Cresswell P. 1994. Characteristics of peptide and major histocompatibility complex class I/β2-microglobulin binding to the transporters associated with antigen processing (TAP1 and TAP2). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:12716–20
- 164a. Grandea AG III, Androlewicz MJ, Athwal RS, Geraghty DE, Spies T. 1995. Dependence of peptide binding by MHC class I molecules on their interaction with TAP. Science 270:105–8
- 165. Day PM, Esquivel F, Lukszo J, Benink JR, Yewdell JW. 1995. Effect of TAP on the generation and intracellular trafficking of peptide-receptive major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Immunity* 2:137–47
- Ortiz-Navarrete V, Hämmerling GJ. 1991. Surface appearance and instability of empty H-2 class I molecules under physiological conditions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:3594–97
- 167. Rock KL, Gamble S, Rothstein L, Gramm C, Benacerraf B. 1991. Dissociation of β_2 -microglobulin leads to the accumulation of a substantial pool of inactive class I MHC heavy chains on the cell surface. *Cell* 65:611–20
- Benjamin RJ, Madrigal JA, Parham P. 1991. Peptide binding to empty HLA-B27 molecules of viable human cells. *Nature* 351:74–77
- 169. Neefjes JJ, Smit L, Gehrmann M, Ploegh HL. 1992. The fate of the three subunits of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 22:1609–14
- Townsend ARM, Rothbard J, Gotch FM, Bahadur G, Wraith D, McMichael AJ. 1986. The epitopes of influenza nucleo-

protein recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes can be defined with short synthetic peptides. *Cell* 44:959–68

- 171. Kubitscheck U, Levi R, Horwitz RJ, Arnon R, Pecht I. 1992. Peptide binding to class I molecules of the major histocompatibility complex on the surface of living target cells. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 36:341–48
- 172. Rock KL, Rothstein L, Gamble S, Gramm C, Benacerraf B. 1992. Chemical cross-linking of class I molecules on cells created receptive peptide binding sites. J. Immunol. 148:1451–57
- 173. Rock KL, Rothstein LE, Gamble SR, Benacerraf B. 1990. Reassociation with β₂microglobulin is necessary for K^b class I major histocompatibility complex binding of exogenous peptides. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87:7517–21
- 174. Kozlowski S, Takeshita T, Boehncke. WH, Takahashi H, Boyd LF, Germain RN, Berzofsky JA, Margulies DH. 1991. Excess β₂-microglobulin promoting functional peptide association with purified soluble class I MHC molecules. *Nature* 349:74–77
- 175. Otten GR, Bikoff E, Ribaudo RK, Kozlowski S, Margulies DH, Germain RN. 1992. Peptide and β₂-microglobulin regulation of cell surface MHC class I conformation and expression. J. Immunol. 148:3723–32
- 176. Kane KP, Sherman LA, Mescher MF. 1991. Exogenous β₂-microglobulin is required for antigenic peptide binding to isolated class I major histocompatibility complex molecules. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 21:2289–92
- 177. Smith JD, Lie W-R, Gorka J, Myers NB, Hansen TH. 1992. Extensive peptide ligand exchange by surface class I major histocompatibility complex molecules independent of exogenous β₂microglobulin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89:7767–71
- Christinck ER, Luscher MA, Barber BH, Williams DB. 1991. Peptide binding to class I MHC on living cells and quantitation of complexes required for CTL lysis. *Nature* 352:67–70
- 179. Machy P, Truneh A. 1989. Differen-

tial half-life of major histocompatibility complex encoded class I molecules in T and B lymphoblasts. *Mol. Immunol.* 26:687–96

- 180. Smith JD, Lie WR, Gorka J, Kindle CS, Myers NB, Hansen TH. 1992. Disparate interaction of peptide ligand with nascent versus mature class I major histocompatibility complex molecules: comparisons of peptide binding to alternative forms of L^d in cell lysates and the cell surface. J. Exp. Med. 175:191–202
- 181. Machy P, Truneh A, Gennaro D, Hoffstein S. 1987. Endocytosis and de novo expression of major histocompatibility complex encoded class I molecules: kinetic and ultrastructural studies. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 45:126–36
- Tse DB, Pernis B. 1984. Spontaneous internalization of class I major histocompatibility complex molecules in T lymphoid cells. J. Exp. Med. 159:193–207
- Dasgupta JD, Watkins S, Slayter H, Yunis EJ. 1988. Receptor-like nature of class I HLA: endocytosis via coated pits. *J. Immunol.* 141:2577–80
- Vega MA, Strominger JL. 1989. Constitutive endocytosis of HLA class I antigens requires a specific portion of the intracytoplasmic tail that shares structural features with other endocytosed molecules. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:2688–92
- 185. Abdel Motal UM, Zhou X, Joki A, Siddiqi AR, Srinivasa BR, Stenvall K, Dahmen J, Jondal M. 1993. Major histocompatibility complex class I-binding peptides are recycled to the cell surface after internalization. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:3224–29
- 186. Greenwood R, Shimizu Y, Sekhon GS, DeMars R. 1994. Novel allele-specific, post-translational reduction in HLA class I surface expression in a mutant human B cell line. J. Immunol. 153:5525– 36
- Feuerbach D, Burgert HG. 1993. Novel proteins associated with MHC class I antigens in cells expressing the adenovirus protein E3/19K. *EMBO J.* 12:3153–61



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS

Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, and Ravinder N. Maini

The Mathilda and Terence Kennedy Institute of Rheumatology, Hammersmith, W6 8LW, London, United Kingdom

KEY WORDS: rheumatoid arthritis, tumor necrosis factor, interleukin 1, interleukin 10

ABSTRACT

Analysis of cytokine mRNA and protein in rheumatoid arthritis tissue revealed that many proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF α , IL-1, IL-6, GM-CSF, and chemokines such as IL-8 are abundant in all patients regardless of therapy. This is compensated to some degree by the increased production of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF β and cytokine inhibitors such as IL-1ra and soluble TNF-R. However, this upregulation in homeostatic regulatory mechanisms is not sufficient as these are unable to neutralize all the TNF α and IL-1 produced.

In rheumatoid joint cell cultures that spontaneously produce IL-1, TNF α was the major dominant regulator of IL-1. Subsequently, other proinflammatory cytokines were also inhibited if TNF α was neutralized, leading to the new concept that the proinflammatory cytokines were linked in a network with TNF α at its apex. This led to the hypothesis that TNF α was of major importance in rheumatoid arthritis and was a therapeutic target. This hypothesis has been successfully tested in animal models, of, for example, collagen-induced arthritis, and these studies have provided the rationale for clinical trials of anti-TNF α therapy in patients with long-standing rheumatoid arthritis. Several clinical trials using a chimeric anti-TNF α antibody have shown marked clinical benefit, verifying the hypothesis that TNF α is of major importance in rheumatoid arthritis. Retreatment studies have also shown benefit in repeated relapses, indicating that the disease remains TNF α dependent. Overall these studies demonstrate that analysis of cytokine expression and regulation may yield effective therapeutic targets in inflammatory disease.

INTRODUCTION

Cytokines are local protein mediators, now known to be involved in almost all important biological processes, including cell growth and activation, inflammation, immunity, and differentiation. Thus, it is not surprising that they have a role in an autoimmune disease such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA), in which there is chronic inflammation, with fibrosis and the eventual destruction of cartilage and bone.

As all the cytokines cloned first, such as interferon gamma (IFN γ), interleukin 2 (IL-2), tumor necrosis factor (TNF α), and interleukin 1 (IL-1), were mediators of immunity or of proinflammatory activity, the underlying assumption in the initial investigations into the role of cytokines in RA was that those most abundantly expressed were likely to be pathogenic. Thus, the long-term goal of cytokine analysis in RA was to define new targets for therapy. It is now clear that this early view of the role of cytokines in arthritis was far too simple. We now know that many cytokines with proinflammatory features also have anti-inflammatory aspects (e.g. IFN γ), and that those with mostly antiimmune/inflammatory features, such as transforming growth factor β (TGF β) or interleukin 10 (IL-10), also have proinflammatory effects and hence are potentially pathogenic.

In this review, we focus on RA because it is the most studied form of arthritis, and we compare it with other forms of arthritis where possible, including animal models. Discussion of the role of cytokines in other autoimmune diseases can be found elsewhere, including books recently published (1, 2). The analysis of cytokine expression and regulation in RA, as described here, identified a therapeutic target TNF α , which led to the successful clinical trials using a monoclonal antibody to TNF α . These in vivo studies have confirmed the usefulness of the in vitro analysis performed on RA synovial membrane cell cultures.

THE PATHOGENESIS OF RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS

Although the etiology of RA remains elusive, susceptibility factors are evident. Thus, the threefold predominance of RA in women may be attributable to hormonal factors, and the clear-cut genetic contribution in this disease is contained predominantly within the HLA class II locus. On one side of the peptide binding groove of HLA-DR, there is a shared epitope, comprising amino-acids 70-74 of the β chain, which is conserved in the DR1 and DR4 disease-susceptible haplo-types (3). This epitope is present in > 80% of Caucasian RA patients and is the most important evidence to support the concept that T lymphocyte recognition is important at some stage in the pathogenesis of RA, either in shaping the T

cell receptor (TCR) repertoire or in the presentation of an inducing microbial or autoantigenic peptide.

More recently, other candidate genes including cytokine polymorphisms have been investigated. Although an allele polymorphism in the promoter region of TNF α associated with HLA A1, B8, and DR3 was identified and another in the promoter region of the IL-1 α gene, these are *not* associated with RA but are with other autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) in the case of the TNF α polymorphism (4, 5) and a severe form of arthritis in children (JRA) in the case of IL-1 α (6). The discordance in developing rheumatoid disease between identical twins (7) clearly suggests that nongenetic factors are also important, and infectious agents are the most plausible explanation. However, although many infectious agents have been implicated over the years, from viruses to mycoplasma and mycobacteria, none have yet been reproducibly identified in different laboratories.

The pathology of RA extends throughout the synovial joint (Figure 1), and in severe cases involves many other organs. In contrast to the acellular nature of normal synovial fluid, RA synovial fluid is enriched predominantly with neutrophils, but macrophages, T lymphocytes, and dendritic cells are also present. The increase in cellularity, however, is most obvious in the synovial membrane, which becomes infiltrated by cells recruited from the blood. The lining layer of the joint is increased, from 1-2 cells to 6-8 cells thick, and is comprised mostly of activated macrophages (occasionally referred to as type-A synoviocytes) with an underlying layer of fibroblast-like cells (occasionally referred to as type-B synoviocytes). The deeper layers within the synovium have follicles of lymphoid cells around vessels as well as lymphocytes scattered between them. Neovascularization is prominent, and there are many activated endothelial cells. The most abundant cells in the synovial membrane are macrophages and T lymphocytes, but plasma cells, dendritic cells, and activated fibroblasts are also found. Many of these cells are activated and express abundant HLA class II and adhesion molecules of relevance in antigen presentation (8-13).

The major site of irreversible tissue damage originates at the junction of the synovium lining the joint capsule with the cartilage and bone, a region often termed the *pannus*, an area rich in macrophages. The cells of the pannus migrate over the underlying cartilage and into the subchondral bone, causing the subsequent erosion of these tissues (14). The destruction of the cartilage seen in rheumatic disease is now considered to be mostly due to the activity of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), enzymes produced by activated macrophages and fibroblasts in response to proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 and TNF α . These enzymes are synthesizedand secreted as latent molecules, with



Figure 1 Diagrammatic representation of synovial joint, normal joint (*left*) rheumatoid arthritis joint (*right*).

activation brought about by proteolytic cleavage of the propeptide domain. In arthritis, the MMP enzymes collagenase (MMP-1) and stromelysin 1 (MMP-3), whose production is increased, play an important role in the destructive process (15). The activity of MMPs is regulated to some extent by tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinase (TIMP), three forms of which have been cloned in humans; these irreversibly bind the active MMP to form a 1:1 complex with the enzyme. The fact that the TIMPs are produced by the same cells that produce the MMPs suggests an intimate role for these inhibitors in regulating matrix turnover, and also that much of the connective tissue destruction associated with arthritic disease is due to an imbalance between the production of the MMPs and that of the specific TIMPs. Of interest in this regard is the observation that transforming growth factor β (TGF β) and IL-10, two immunoregulatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines produced in the RA joint (discussed in the
next section), not only inhibit the production of proinflammatory cytokines that induce MMPs, but also induce the production of their native inhibitors TIMPs (16) (J-M Dayer, personal communication).

In addition to the MMPs, other enzymes synthesized by cells resident within the cartilage and bone as well as by infiltrating inflammatory cells are capable of cleaving the major components of cartilage and bone such as proteoglycan and collagen (type I, II, IX, X, and XI). These enzymes include serine, aspartic, and particularly cysteine endopeptidases such as cathepsin B (17). Detailed discussion of these enzyme effects are beyond the scope of this chapter.

CYTOKINE EXPRESSION IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS

Although the major pathology in RA occurs in the synovium, synovial fluid is more readily accessible, and as such the production of cytokines such as IL-1 was first documented in this compartment (18). However, the relevance of cytokines found in synovial fluid in the pathogenesis of the disease is unclear. This fluid is largely a sink containing a complex mixture of molecules, including a large concentration of hyaluronan, other proteoglycans, degradative enzymes, and serum proteins, many of which inhibit or degrade cytokine function. Furthermore, as the pathways and factors controlling the flux into the joint space are ill understood, we have not pursued analysis of cytokines in synovial fluid. In contrast, cytokine expression in synovial membrane is likely to be of greater relevance to the pathogenesis of RA, as this is the principal site of immune and inflammatory activity. The source of human RA synovial membrane is usually joint replacement surgery, which can provide large numbers of cells but has the limitation that this tissue is obtained only from late stages of the disease. On occasion, small, active samples from early stage disease are available from arthroscopic biopsies.

Since cytokines are local messenger molecules, we first investigated mRNA production as an index of synthesis. Due to the restricted sample size available and the large number of potentially relevant mediators to probe for, Northern blot hybridization and slot blotting techniques were developed for this purpose. With the capacity to strip and reprobe filters a number of times, it became possible to rapidly generate abundant data on cytokine expression in the rheumatoid synovium (19, 20). These techniques have now been replaced by more sensitive methods such as reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR).

Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines

IL-1 and TNF α protein were readily detected in synovial fluid (18, 21–24). In the synovium, at the mRNA level these cytokines can be detected by blotting

(20) and by in situ hybridization (25, 26). Immunohistological localization of these protein products has demonstrated predominant expression in macrophages (25, 27). These proteins were also detected in the short term in in vitro cultures of the entire mixture of cells derived by enzymatic disaggregation of the synovial membrane (20, 28). Of importance was the observation that IL-1 and TNF α could be detected by bioassay of synovial membrane cultures, and hence they were present in quantities able to signal effectively.

Subsequently, as other proinflammatory cytokine and growth factor cDNAs were cloned, their mRNAs and proteins were also detected in RA synovial tissue. These cytokines included interleukin 6 (IL-6) (29–32), interferon α (IFN α) (24), granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (33–35), macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) (36), and leukocyte inhibitory factor (LIF) (37–39). Many of these studies used osteoarthritis tissue or synovial fluid for comparison. Usually the same cytokines were produced, but at a lower level.

Currently we are unaware of any published data concerning the proinflammatory cytokine interleukin 12 (IL-12) (40) in rheumatoid joints or cultures. In our laboratory (FM Brennan, H Thomssen, P Green, RN Maini, M Feldmann, unpublished data), we have detected low levels of IL-12 in supernatants from RA joint cell cultures. The levels were within the biologically active range (20-200 pg/ml), with a mean of 79 pg/ml for p40 IL-12, and a mean of 30 pg/ml for p75 heterodimer. It is thus conceivable that IL-12 is important in the late stages of the disease process. In view of the predominance of $CD4^+$ Th1 cells in RA joints, with very few Th2 cells (see later), and that IL-12 is a powerful stimulus for skewing the Th1/Th2 ratio (41), it is likely that early in the disease process IL-12 may be importantly involved. In the latter stages IL-12 may also be involved in maintaining the Th1 preponderance and in driving cytokine production. Neutralizing experiments are needed to evaluate its potential role in the latter process. In collagen-induced arthritis, it has recently been reported (42) that IL-12 may replace the need for mycobacteria, markedly augmenting the incidence of arthritis in DBA/1 mice injected with Freund's incomplete adjuvant and collagen type II.

The cytokines identified as major contributors in the hyperplasia of rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts include platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) (43– 45), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), (45–47), and transforming growth factor β (TGF β) (45, 47–50). Which of these is of major importance has not been evaluated experimentally, although immunohistological techniques have demonstrated co-expression of PDGF and FGF (45, 51) and of basic FGF with TGF β (47) in RA synovial tissue. The presence of these and other cytokines in RA synovium is summarized in Table 1.

| | Cytokine | mRNA | Protein | References |
|-------------------------|---|------|---------|--|
| Proinflamm | atory Cytokines | | | |
| IL-1 α & β | (interleukin 1) | Yes | Yes | (18, 20, 23, 25, 26 28, 93, 103, 116) |
| TNFα | (tumour necrosis factor alpha) | Yes | Yes | (21–28) |
| LT | (lymphotoxin) | Yes | +/- | (22, 96) |
| GM-CSF | (granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor) | Yes | Yes | (33–35) |
| M-CSF | (macrophage colony stimulating factor) | Yes | Yes | (36) |
| IL-6 | (interleukin 6) | Yes | Yes | (25, 29–32) |
| LIF | (leucocyte inhibitory factor) | Yes | Yes | (37, 39) |
| IL-II | (interleukin II) | ? | ? | |
| Onco M | (Oncostatin M) | ? | ? | |
| IL-2 | (interleukin 2) | Yes | +/- | (19, 36) |
| IL-3 | (interleukin 3) | No | No | (36) |
| IL-7 | (interleukin 7) | ? | ? | |
| IL-7 | (interleukin 9) | ? | ? | |
| IL-15 | (interleukin 15) | Yes | Yes | (162) |
| IFNα | (interferon alpha) | Yes | Yes | (24) |
| $IFN\beta$ | (interferon beta) | ? | ? | |
| $IFN\gamma$ | (interferon gamma) | Yes | +/- | (19, 25, 96) |
| IL-12 | (interleukin 12) | Yes | Yes | (unpublished Feldmann M) |
| Immunoregi | ılatory Cytokines | | | , |
| IL-4 | (interleukin 4) | ? | No | (84) |
| IL-10 | (interleukin 10) | Yes | Yes | (67, 85, 91, 92) |
| IL-13 | (interleukin 13) | Yes | Yes | (unpublished Klareskog, L) |
| $TGF\beta$ | (transforming growth factor beta) | Yes | Yes | (48, 48, 50, 68, 68–71, 84) |
| Chemotactio | c Cytokines | | | |
| IL-8 | (interleukin 8) | Yes | Yes | (53-55, 60, 61) |
| Gro a | (melanoma growth stimulating activity) | Yes | Yes | (60) |
| MIP-1 α | (macrophage inflammatory protein 1 alpha) | Yes | Yes | (60, 63) |
| MIP-1 β | (macrophage inflammatory protein 1 beta) | Yes | Yes | (60) |
| MCP-1 | (monocyte chemoattractant protein 1) | Yes | Yes | (56–60) |
| ENA-78 | (epithelial neutrophil activating peptide 78) | Yes | Yes | (62) |
| RANTES | (regulated upon activation T cell expressed & secreted) | Yes | Yes | (64) |
| Mitogenic C | Sytokines | | | |
| BDGF | (Vascular endophelial cell growth factor) | Yes | Yes | (184, 185) |
| FGF | (Fibroblast growth factor) | Yes | Yes | (44, 46, 47, 50, 51) |
| PDGF | (Platelet-derived growth factor) | Yes | Yes | (43, 45, 51) |

 Table 1
 Cytokine expression in RA Synovial Tissue

Chemotactic Cytokines (Chemokines)

Many of the features of the rheumatoid synovial environment, such as the selective accumulation of VLA4⁺ CD45RO⁺ T cells and activated macrophages in the membrane, and of polymorphonuclear cells in joint fluids, suggest a possible role for leukocyte chemoattractant molecules such as chemokines. This superfamily of low MW peptides (7–15 kDa) has a conserved four-cysteine motif and consists of at least two subfamilies: the C-X-C (α) chemokines such as interleukin 8 (IL-8), melanoma growth stimulating activity (GRO α), and epithelial neutrophil activating peptide 78 (ENA 78), all of which predominantly attract neutrophils; and the C-C (β) chemokines such as RANTES (regulated upon activation normal T cell expressed and secreted), MCP-1 (monocyte chemoattractant protein 1), and MIP-1 α (macrophage inflammatory protein 1 α), which chiefly recruit T cells and monocytes (52).

Chemokines could be released by a number of cells present in RA joints, including endothelial cells, fibroblasts, macrophages, and lymphocytes. Members of both subclasses have been implicated in the pathogenesis of RA. Data from our laboratory and others have demonstrated the presence of IL-8 in RA synovial membrane cells (53–55); the production of other chemokines including GRO α , MIP-1 α , macrophage inflammatory protein 1 β (MIP-1 β) and MCP-1 (56–60) has subsequently been reported. In addition, immunohistochemical analyses of RA synovial tissue have demonstrated the presence of IL-8 (61), ENA-78 (62), MIP-1 α (63), MCP-1 (57), and RANTES (64), predominantly associated with synovial tissue macrophages and, to a lesser extent, with endothelium and synovial tissue fibroblasts. Because the majority of the cells in the RA synovium are macrophages and T lymphocytes, β chemokines are likely to be important, although neutrophil chemoattractants such as IL-8, GRO α , and ENA-78 may play a role in neutrophil accumulation within the synovial fluid.

Finally, in addition to their leukocyte chemotactic activity, chemokines may also be involved in other processes relevant to RA, such as connective tissue metabolism (for example, the α -chemokine connective tissue activation peptide CTAP III is elevated in rheumatoid plasma) and neovascularization (IL-8, GRO α , ENA-78). However, it has not yet been ascertained which one(s) are the major contributors to leukocyte infiltration, or which will be therapeutically relevant. More recently, Kunkel and coworkers demonstrated expression of the β -chemokines MCP-1 and MIP-1 α , and the α -chemokines ENA-78 and MIP-2 (the murine functional homolog of IL-8) (65) in murine collagen-induced arthritis (CIA). The earliest detectable levels of MIP-1 α , MCP-1 and MIP-2 were observed 4 weeks after initial collagen challenge, a time-course paralleling that of disease development, whereas the time-course for ENA-78 was much slower (8 weeks). Passive immunization of CIA mice with antibodies against either MIP-1 α or MIP-2 resulted in both a delay in disease onset and a decrease in disease severity. Interestingly, anti-IL-10 treatment increased the expression of MIP-1 α and MIP-2, associated with enhanced leukocyte infiltration in the joints, suggesting a homeostatic role for IL-10 in chemokine regulation (66) as well as its previously reported role (67) in regulating TNF α and IL-1 β .

INHIBITORS OF IMMUNE ACTIVATION AND INFLAMMATION

Cytokines generally regarded as possessing immunoregulatory and inhibitory properties were discovered and subsequently cloned after the proinflammatory cytokines. These molecules include TGF β , IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13. A number of studies from different groups have documented that TGF β is abundant in both the precursor, inactive, form and the active form in rheumatoid joints (48, 68–71). However, whether TGF β actually functions in RA as an antiinflammatory cytokine has been questioned because it also has the potential to be proinflammatory (72). Thus, if injected locally into the joints of normal rats, TGF β resulted in a rapid leukocyte infiltration with synovial hyperplasia leading to synovitis (73, 74), whereas if injected systemically into rodents susceptible to arthritis, it antagonized the development of polyarthritis (75, 76). Furthermore, in a recent publication, it was reported that anti-TGF β antibody, injected locally into the joint of rats with arthritis, diminished the ongoing inflammation (77). These studies indicate the multipotential properties of TGF β , and the differential effects if injected systemically or locally into the joint. Moreover, TGF β clearly has other proinflammatory effects, such as acting as a chemotactic factor for monocytes (78). On the other hand $TGF\beta$ is likely to be a key cytokine involved in repair and fibrosis in the joints. For example, while inhibiting production of metalloproteinases such as collagenase (68) and inducing TIMP (16), TGF β also stimulates the production of type I and type XI collagen (79). Thus, locally TGF β may promote reparative processes in arthritic synovial connective tissue scarring and tissue repair by inhibiting cartilage and bone destruction. However, in chronic lesions, overproduction of TGF β could contribute to the ongoing damage by recruiting inflammatory macrophages and fibroblasts with the potential for tissue destruction, and also, as shown recently (RA Fava, unpublished observation), by its ability to promote angiogenesis through induction of vascular endothelial cell growth factor (VEGF).

In common with TGF β , IL-4 also displays some immunoregulatory effects such as inhibition of LPS-induced IL-1, TNF α , PGE2, and 92-kDa gelatinase

production in human monocytes (80–83). However, in contrast to TGF β , IL-4 has not been found in rheumatoid synovial tissue cultures (84) nor in T cells cloned from RA synovial biopsies (85), although it has been detected in reactive arthritis (86). This and other evidence suggest that CD4⁺ve Th2-derived cytokines are not abundant in RA joints, and that CD4+ve Th1 cells predominate in this site (87). It is possible that the lack of IL-4–producing $CD4^+$ Th2 cells contributes to the pathogenesis of RA, and this has led to suggestions that IL-4 may be a useful therapeutic agent (88) (NA Mitchison, unpublished observation). This latter group demonstrated that the addition of recombinant IL-4 to RA synovial tissue organ cultures resulted in the inhibition of proinflammatory cytokine production (88). Using dissociated synovial cell cultures (89), we did not observe such a significant inhibition of proinflammatory cytokine production with IL-4; indeed, the expression of TNF-R on the surface of cells increased significantly, which could conceivably increase the responsiveness to TNF α . These effects aside, it is interesting to note that IL-4 production in RA joints is defective, and there is a report suggesting that the incidence of allergies is lower in RA patients (90).

IL-10 also has profound anti-inflammatory and immunoregulatory effects. Its presence has been documented in RA peripheral blood (91) and synovial joints by RT-PCR of fresh frozen biopsies, immunostaining of fresh frozen biopsies, and by assay of 24-h culture supernatants of dissociated joint cell cultures (67, 92). Furthermore, we found that in these RA synovial cell cultures, the endogenous IL-10 produced is functional, since inhibition of its activity using a neutralizing monoclonal antibody enhanced TNF α and IL-1 production (67). Conversely, addition of recombinant IL-10 to these cultures inhibited TNF α and IL-1 production by approximately 50%. In a similar study but using synovial tissue organ cultures (93), exogenous IL-10 also inhibited IL1 β although IL-4 was more potent, and additionally IL-4 (but not IL-10) induced the production of the native inhibitor of IL-1, the IL-1 receptor antagonist, (IL-1ra). Although IL-10 is not a potent inducer of IL-1ra, we have shown recently that IL-10 (but not IL-4) induces the production of the endogenous TNF inhibitors, i.e. soluble TNF receptors from monocyte cultures, while also downregulating surface TNF receptor (TNF-R) expression (94). Thus, many of the properties of IL-10 are compatible with its being a major immunoregulator. However, not all of its properties are immunosuppressive, and its B cell stimulatory effects (95) may be important in the production of rheumatoid factors.

IL-13 also has inhibitory features resembling those of IL-4. It has not yet been quantitated in RA joints. However, preliminary data (L Klareskog, unpublished observation) suggest it can be detected by immunostaining in RA synovium.

ARE THERE DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN MRNA AND PROTEIN LEVELS FOR CYTOKINES IN RA JOINTS?

In contrast to the cytokines discussed in the previous section (IL-1, TNF α , IL-6, IL-8, GM-CSF), other cytokines detectable at the mRNA level were not abundant at the protein level but were present at low levels. These include cytokines derived principally from T cells, including IL-2, lymphotoxin (LT), and IFN γ (19, 36, 96). However, more recently, using more sensitive methods, T cell–derived cytokine proteins have been visualized by immunostaining; with this procedure, several groups have shown that IFN γ -producing T cells are not rare, with up to 0.5% of the total synovial T cells expressing IFN γ at any one time in joints of longstanding RA patients (85, 97) (L Klareskog, JS Smolen, unpublished observation). Other T cell cytokines, however, were not often detectable at either protein or mRNA level, e.g. IL-4 (84).

A variety of conclusions have been drawn on the basis of these observations. The extreme position has been taken by Firestein & Zvaifler (98), who have used these results as an argument that T cells do not have much role in the chronic, established stages of rheumatoid arthritis; instead, they argue, the process is perpetuated by cytokine interactions between other cells, including fibroblasts and macrophages. Alternative interpretations of the same data are possible, in view of the different physiology of T cells and macrophages. First, the low frequency of Th1-secreted products such as IFN γ and IL-2 may be sufficient to maintain T cell-dependent immune inflammation. Second, T cells migrate to their target tissue and deliver cytokines in a polarized manner, directly to their target cell. It would thus not be anticipated that large amounts of cytokines should be present in supernatants of T cells. Thirdly, since the evidence that T cells produce only low levels of cytokines, it has become apparent that cytokine inhibitors are abundant in body fluids. For IL-2, IFN γ , LT, etc, these are the soluble cytokine receptors, shed from the surface of cells. These effects would all contribute to limited detection of T cell cytokine. The major cause of limited T cell cytokine detection now appears to be that chronic inflammatory sites such as RA joints contain abundant quantities of cytokines capable of diminishing T cell cytokine synthesis. These include TGF β (99), but probably the most important in RA is IL-10 (100, 101), since the addition of a neutralizing anti-IL-10 antibody to RA synovial membrane culture was able to upregulate IFN γ production in a proportion of cultures within 24 h (67).

CYTOKINE REGULATION

From the beginning of studies of cytokine expression in RA synovium, aspects of cytokine regulation there appeared different from what may have been expected for in vitro activated cells. Most important was the consistent pattern of cytokine production, with all samples producing essentially the same pattern of cytokines. This was regardless of the duration of the disease or therapy, even with potential cytokine synthesis inhibitory drugs such as corticosteroids. In stimulated macrophages, IL-1 β production greatly exceeds that of IL-1 α at mRNA or protein level (102). In RA joints the production of IL-1 α mRNA was relatively high, suggesting that IL-1 was either regulated differently or mostly was not coming from activated cells of the macrophage lineage (20).

The regular presence of cytokines in all rheumatoid joint synovial samples suggested that, unlike what is reported with normal cells stimulated in vitro, where cytokine expression is transient, cytokine expression in RA synovial tissue was likely to be prolonged or even continuous. This hypothesis was evaluated by placing RA synovial membrane cells in culture in the absence of extrinsic stimulation and ascertaining mRNA levels at various times. For example, in RA cultures, IL-1 α mRNA persisted for the duration of the culture period (5–6 days) in the absence of extrinsic stimulation; in contrast in mitogenstimulated peripheral mononuclear points cell cultures, mRNA expression was transient and shut off within 24 h (20).

The above results indicated that the signals regulating prolonged cytokine synthesis in rheumatoid joint cells were present in these RA synovial membrane cell cultures and hence could be analyzed. The problem at face value was quite daunting, with a heterogeneous mixture of cells producing a plethora of cytokine and noncytokine signals. Since Fell, Saklatvala and others (103– 105) had shown that IL-1 (described as 'catabolin') was of importance in the initiation of destruction of cartilage and bone, we chose initially to analyze the regulation of IL-1 in rheumatoid synovial membrane cell cultures. While LPS is the usual experimental inducer of IL-1, possibly relevant in reactive arthritis, it is not likely to be important in RA: Instead we evaluated the effect of blocking cytokine inducers of IL-1. Since $TNF\alpha$ reportedly was a potent inducer of IL-1 (106), we used neutralizing antibodies to TNF α and lymphotoxin in RA synovial cultures to evaluate its role. The results were striking: within 3 days, IL-1 bioactivity had virtually disappeared. IL-1 mRNA levels were reduced much earlier. From this experiment, we concluded that $TNF\alpha$ was the major signal driving IL-1 synthesis in RA SM cultures (28).

This result prompted analysis of the production of other cytokines dependent on TNF α . Anti-TNF α antibodies also inhibited the production of another proinflammatory cytokine, GM-CSF (34). In addition to being a growth factor for monocytes in hematopoiesis, GM-CSF also activates mature monocytes and macrophages. It has been implicated in the pathogenesis of RA, based on the observation that it is produced spontaneously in RA synovialcell cultures. GM-CSF induces and maintains HLA class II expression on RA synovial cells (35), in addition to regulating myelopoiesis (107). It may also affect other cell types in RA tissue as it can augment neutrophil-mediated cartilage degradation and adherence (108). In addition to GM-CSF, other cytokines including IL-6, IL-8 (109), and IL-10 (67) were all found to be induced by TNF α in these RA synovial cell cultures. The results obtained with pathological human tissue (synovium) are probably a reflection of the events that take place in a normal host defense response, as judged by the sequential appearance of TNF α , IL-1, and IL-6 in the serum of mice or monkeys injected with LPS or gram negative bacteria, and on the greatly reduced IL-1 and IL-6 production that follows neutralization of TNF α by an anti-TNF α antibody (110).

The role of TNF α in upregulating the production of other proinflammatory cytokines is not a completely unidirectional process. It has been reported that TNF α production can be upregulated by IL-1, GM-CSF, and IFN γ , and it is likely that such effects do take place in vivo. However the cytokine interactions are not symmetrical. Thus, blocking IL-1 in RA joint cell cultures using recombinant IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) protein does not diminish TNF α production, but it downregulates IL-6 and IL-8 production (109). There is evidence that proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF α or IL-1 have an autocrine effect and can regulate their own synthesis. However, little evidence suggests that this is important in the RA joint: IL-1ra does not inhibit the production of IL-1 α or IL-1 β as judged by ELISA (109).

TNF α seems to be the cytokine at the apex of the proinflammatory cytokine cascade or network. So an important question is: What regulates TNF α production in rheumatoid joints? Currently this is unresolved. However, we have preliminary evidence that it is T cell-dependent, as T cell depletion in RA joint cell cultures diminishes TNF α production (FM Brennan, C Hawrylowicz, RN Maini, M Feldmann, unpublished observation). However, the critical T cell-derived signals to the monocytic cells, the major source of TNF α , are not yet known. Dayer and his colleagues (111, 112) have produced evidence that cell surface signals from T cells are involved in regulating IL-1 and probably TNF α in co-cultures of T cells and macrophages, with CD69 and CD11 β playing an important role in this process.

CYTOKINE RECEPTORS

While it is useful to document the full range of cytokine expression in an inflammatory site, in isolation this information is not necessarily indicative of the extent or potential for cytokine signaling. The final outcome ultimately depends on two other important features, namely, the appropriate expression of cytokine receptors and the local concentration of cytokine inhibitors.

410 FELDMANN, BRENNAN & MAINI

With the identification of cytokine receptors, the cDNA cloning and expression of many receptor chains, and the production of relevant antibodies, it has become possible to study cytokine receptor expression in small samples of diseased tissue. The technology used for receptor analysis has changed from measurement of mRNA expression, initially used for the IL-2R α (or Tac) chain (113), to radioligand binding through to the current use of monoclonal antibodies. With the realization that most cytokine inhibitors are derived from the surface receptor by enzymatic receptor cleavage, it is evident now that mRNA analysis for cytokine receptors is not informative, as it does not discriminate between the cell surface signaling form and the inhibitory soluble forms.

TNF receptor expression has been studied most thoroughly. Both the p55 and p75 TNF surface receptors are upregulated in active RA tissues at both the protein and mRNA level (114). This is the case all over the synovium, including the areas abutting the sites of erosion (115) and in the endothelial cells. Of particular interest was the observation that macrophages at the cartilage pannus junction and the endothelial cells also produce TNF α (Figure 2), indicating the potential for autocrine stimulation. The expression of other cytokine receptors for IL-1 (116), GM-CSF (117), and IL-6 (unpublished) has been analyzed, but whether levels are normal or altered is not clear.

SOLUBLE CYTOKINE RECEPTORS

It is now well documented that the extracellular ligand-binding domain of most of the single transmembrane cytokine receptors is also found in biological fluids in a soluble form. Most of these soluble receptors are cleaved from the surface receptors of the cells by proteolytic enzymes, as in only a few instances is there evidence for a truncated mRNA, generated by alternative splicing (118, 119).

The first soluble receptor to be convincingly documented was that derived from the IL2R α chain (113), but as this is of low affinity, its functional relevance as a cytokine inhibitor in vivo has not been clearly documented. TNF inhibitors were detected in urine and serum almost concurrently in 1988–1989, by the groups of Dayer (120), Olsson, (121) and Wallach (122), and they were subsequently characterized as the extracellular domains of the two TNF receptors. Using antibodies to these proteins, ELISA assays were developed, and soluble TNF-R (sTNF-R) were observed in normal serum at levels of 1–4 ng/ml, with the p55 lower than p75. In RA serum, levels of both were elevated, and even more so in the synovial fluid, where levels 3–4 times those of serum are reached. Furthermore, sTNF-R levels in plasma correlated with disease activity (123, 124). These results of upregulated TNF inhibitor in RA both systemically and locally are of interest, as they help exclude the possibility that a major contribution to the pathogenesis of RA is failure to produce inhibitory

$TNF\alpha$

p55 TNF-R



Figure 2 TNF α and p55 TNF-R expression in rheumatoid synovium. TNF α (*left panel*) and p55 TNF-R (*right panel*) colocalization was demonstrated by immunohistology in synovial lining layer (*a* and *b*) at the cartilage pannus junction (*c* and *d*) and in endothelial cells in deep blood vessels (*e* and *f*). Modified and reprinted by kind permission of *Arthritis Rheum*. (Chu et al, 1989, 34:1125–32 and Deleuran et al 1992, 35:1170–78).

factors normally. Indeed we observed that in RA synovial cultures sTNF-Rs were produced at concentrations capable of neutralizing a significant proportion of the TNF α generated (125). These results indicate that local production of cytokine inhibitors is capable of diminishing disease activity, and cytokine activity is partially downregulated by endogenous inhibitors.

Soluble IL-1 receptor has also been detected in RA tissues, initially in synovial fluid (126). This was first found as an IL-1 β binding protein and was subsequently identified using monoclonal antibody as the type II IL-1R. This receptor is not involved in signaling and appears to function not only as a decoy on the cell surface, but also as an inhibitor (in its soluble form) as it binds proIL-1 β (preventing its processing) and mature IL-1 β , but not IL-1ra (127). Other soluble cytokine receptors have also been identified in RA. These include soluble IL-6 receptor (FM Brennan, A Cope, P Green, RN Maini, D Novick, M Feldmann, unpublished observation), which is not an antagonist but, in contrast, is an agonist (128, 129), and soluble IFN γ receptors (FM Brennan, A Cope, P Green, RN Maini, D Novick, M Feldmann, unpublished observation).

IL-1 Receptor Antagonist

The third member of the IL-1 family, the IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) is the only known cytokine receptor antagonist (130). It has high affinity for membrane IL-1 receptor (type I and II), but due to the capacity of IL-1 to activate cells at very low receptor occupancy, a considerable molar excess $(\approx 100:1)$ of IL-1ra is needed to inhibit IL-1. The expression of IL-1ra has been analyzed in RA joints; thus mRNA levels are upregulated, as is production of the protein in RA synovial fluid and joint cell cultures (131–134), which is immunolocalized to CD68 positive macrophages within the synovium (116, 132). Of key importance is the ratio of IL-1ra to IL-1, which in a recent report (135) from RA synovial cultures ranged from 1.2 to 3.6, well below the 100-fold excess of IL-1ra needed to neutralize IL-1 bioactivity. Thus, it is not surprising that bioactive IL-1 is found in the majority of RA culture supernatants (28). Normal joint tissues express very little IL-1ra, so IL-1ra production is upregulated in the disease process but not sufficiently to neutralize IL-1. It is of interest that a study of the ratio of IL-1ra:IL-1 in the synovial fluid of patients with Lyme arthritis indicated that the patients with the most favorable outcome had the highest ratio (136).

CYTOKINE ANALYSIS IN ANIMAL MODELS

While there is no animal model of arthritis that entirely mimics RA, a variety of models have been generated that resemble RA in many important respects. These models are being analyzed to provide possible insights into the pathogenesis of RA and to help develop therapeutic strategies. There is very little published data concerning cytokine expression in the synovium in animal models. Most of the available data concerning the role of cytokines in animal models have emerged from administering cytokines into the joints of mice or from therapeutic studies in these mice. More recently the development of transgenic mouse models of arthritis has provided an alternative way in which to analyze the role of cytokines in arthritis.

Originally a synovitis with proteoglycan degradation was seen to occur if IL-1 alone, or in combination with $TNF\alpha$, was injected into the joint of a rabbit (137, 138). Subsequently, injection of IL-1 (139, 140) or TNF α (141, 142) into collagen-immunized mice or rats accelerated the onset and increased the severity of arthritis. Therapeutic studies in mice indicated the involvement of these proinflammatory cytokines in the normal course of arthritis. For example, several groups have shown that collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) in mice may be treated effectively with anti-TNF antibody or other TNF α inhibitors. Thus, monoclonal antibodies to TNF ameliorated CIA when administered prior to disease onset (143, 144). In addition, anti-TNF monoclonal antibody treatment was used successfully after disease onset and was found to reduce inflammation, as judged by footpad swelling, as well as joint destruction, as judged by histological analysis of the joints (145). Analogous results have been obtained using IgG-TNF-receptor fusion protein as an inhibitor of TNF α activity (144, 146, 147). The fusion proteins used and the monoclonal antibody (TN3) are likely to have blocked murine lymphotoxin as well as $TNF\alpha$. The effects of blocking IL-1 have also been studied in CIA using several approaches. Wooley reported using daily injections of IL-1 receptor antagonist, which resulted in a delay in onset and a reduced incidence of arthritis (148). More recently (149) the combination of neutralizing rabbit anti-mouse IL-1 α and IL-1 β administered during the pre- and post-arthritic periods was reported to reduce the incidence and severity of CIA. We have also demonstrated amelioration of established CIA using a neutralizing antibody to the type I IL-1 receptor (R Williams, LJ Mason, RN Maini, M Feldmann, unpublished observation).

More recently, we have started to analyze the kinetics of cytokine expression during the early stages of DBA/1 CIA using immunolocalization studies. A consistent finding to emerge from these unpublished studies is that $\text{TNF}\alpha$ is expressed in the lining layer of the synovial membrane at the time of arthritis onset; IL-1 is also detected but at a slightly later stage of the disease (1–2 days after the onset of clinical arthritis). Thus, these results of cytokine/anticytokine treatment in vivo are consistent with the analysis of human RA tissues in vitro, and they can be extended to the whole animal with its greater complexity, including cell recruitment.

414 FELDMANN, BRENNAN & MAINI

Other results have been paradoxical, such as those with TGF β and IFN γ . As noted previously, the injection of TGF β into footpads of normal or collageninjected rats induced an arthritis or accelerated its onset (73, 74), while systemic administration of TGF β to collagen-injected mice ameliorated CIA (75, 76, 143). These studies indicate the multipotential properties of TGF β (72) and its differential effects when injected systemically or locally into the joint.

IFN γ is a cytokine commonly believed important in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases, a theory first proposed in a hypothesis concerning the mechanism of autoimmunity, in which IFN γ was envisaged as necessary for upregulation of antigen presentation (150). Evidence to support this concept appeared rapidly in human studies (151–153). Transgenic mice overexpressing IFN γ in various tissue sites were found by Sarvetnick and her colleagues to develop autoimmunity in the pancreas, retina, and at the neuromuscular junction (154, 155). Localized overexpression of a single cytokine yielding autoimmunity is not reproduced by other proinflammatory cytokines, e.g. TNF α or IL-1 in diabetes models. The importance of IFN γ as a local mediator of inflammation in RA has also been confirmed in CIA. Thus, local injection of IFN γ into the footpads of collagen type II–immunized mice accelerates the onset of arthritis and increases the severity of disease (156). Conversely, systemic administration of IFN γ ameliorates CIA, and treatment with anti-IFN γ may exacerbate or ameliorate the disease depending on the mAb used and the timing of treatment (157, 158). The reasons for this are not clear, but IFN ν has a multitude of effects; some such as downregulation of B cell activity or the antagonism of IL-1-induced bone resorption (159) may be beneficial. It will be interesting to evaluate whether IFN γ or IFN γ receptor knockout mice. backcrossed onto DBA/1 mice, will be able to develop CIA.

The most studied transgenic model of arthritis is in mice expressing a modified human TNF α transgene, with the AU-rich 3' untranslated region replaced by that of β globin (160). These mice develop an erosive arthritis that can be prevented with anti-human TNF α antibody. The arthritis is the major pathology in this mouse, and it is not yet understood why the joints are so sensitive to TNF α , as there is disregulated expression of TNF α in all tissues. The arthritis does not appear to be lymphocyte dependent, because arthritis develops in TNF α transgenic mice backcrossed to RAG knockouts, which do not possess functional lymphocytes (D. Kioussis, personal communication). The spontaneous appearance of arthritis in multiple strains of human TNF α transgenic mice provides strong supporting evidence for the pathogenic relevance of TNF α in driving the arthritis process in vivo.

We have studied cytokine expression in the joints of these huTNF α transgenic mice by culturing synovial cells obtained from inflamed joints. The technique

chosen was dissociation of synovial tissue cells and subsequent culture in the absence of extrinsic stimulation, mimicking the work with human synovium. Abundant human TNF α in a bioactive form was detected, but paradoxically very little or no murine TNF α was seen, suggesting that autocrine TNF α stimulation was not important. However, upon stimulation with LPS, such synovial cell cultures will produce murine TNF. IL-6 was also abundant, as was IL-10, but only a little IL-1 was detected. As human TNF α reportedly binds the murine p55 TNF-R and not the p75 TNF-R, these findings suggest that signaling through the p55 TNF-R is in itself sufficient to produce autocrine and paracrine cytokine induction and to initiate the disease process (D Butler, A-M Malfait, RN Maini, M Feldmann, FM Brennan, unpublished observation).

In human RA synovial cultures, TNF α is the major stimulus for IL-1 production (28). In the mice transgenic for human TNF α , therapy with a neutralizing antibody to the IL-1 receptor (type I) is protective (161), as is the anti-TNF α antibody as originally described (160). This suggests that much of the activity of TNF α in this in vivo model is mediated by its capacity to generate IL-1 or to synergize with it.

ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN DIFFERENT ASPECTS OF ARTHRITIS

Role of Cytokines in T Cell Function in RA

There are abundant T cells in a RA joint, averaging 20–30% of the mononuclear cells in the synovium. Most are CD4⁺ CD45RO⁺. There is little evidence for local proliferation, so that continuous recruitment is important. Recruitment involves upregulation of adhesion molecules, found in synovial endothelium, and expression of chemokines, also found there. The cell surface phenotype of the T cells is consistent with chronic activation, with > 50% expressing DR, VLA-1, VLA-4, VLA-7, but < 10% usually expressing IL-2R. T cells do not survive in the absence of stimulatory signals from the T cell receptor or cytokines. Cytokines present in the joint that may be important in sustaining T cell survival and function include IL-2 (low amounts), IL-7, and IL-15. The latter is relatively abundant in RA joints (162). IL-10 reportedly prevents apoptosis in B lymphocytes and T lymphocytes (163, 164), and as it is abundant in RA joints it may have a role in sustaining the survival of T cells there, although its inhibitory effects are also expressed (see previously).

T Cells in Rheumatoid Joints Are Enriched in Th1-Like Cells

A number of T cell cloning studies have been performed in RA, although none is very detailed. In all of them, the production of IL-4 was not a common event,

416 FELDMANN, BRENNAN & MAINI

so that the majority of the cells were Th1-like, producing IL-2 and IFN γ (87, 165). In the mouse, IL-10 is produced by Th2 cells (166), but in RA joints, T cells produce large quantities of IL-10 (85), consistent with previous studies with human T cells in which IL-10 was found in both Th1 and Th2 subsets (167). The preponderance of Th1 cells in the joint would be in keeping with the presence of the major inducer of Th1 cells IL-12 being detectable in small but bioactive quantities (unpublished data).

Which Cytokines Are Responsible for the Damage to Cartilage and Bone?

In rheumatoid arthritis, the destruction of cartilage and bone occurs by erosion mainly at the junction of cartilage, bone, and synovium, a region known as the pannus (14). This destruction progressively invades the bone and spreads over the cartilage, occurring in two forms, one highly cellular, expressing essentially the same mixture of cytokines as in the active synovium and associated with active erosion. Another subset is relatively acellular and expresses chiefly TGF β ; it appears to be a site of repair rather than destruction (168). Normal cartilage cells can produce a wide spectrum of cytokines (168), including IL-1, TNF α , IL-6, and can respond to these also. Hence it is not clear which cytokines are important in cartilage damage, although IL-1 and TNF α are clearly implicated as they induce destructive matrix metalloproteinases, such as MMP-1 (collagenase) and MMP-3 (stromelysin), that are involved in cartilage destruction (104, 169, 170), and they also induce bone resorption in in vitro cultures (105, 171). There is increasing evidence that IL-6 may inhibit bone formation and induce bone resorption through its stimulatory effects in osteoclasts (172). Thus it is interesting that IL-6 gene knockout mice do not develop erosions of bone (173). In view of the fact that IL-6 signals via gp130 (128), a receptor chain shared with other cytokines including LIF, IL-11, and oncostatin M, it is conceivable that they may also be involved in bone destruction in RA. IL-11 is a considerably more potent inhibitor of bone nodule formation than is IL-6 (174), whereas in contrast, there is evidence to suggest that LIF may stimulate bone formation (175). Little is currently known about the effect of oncostatin M on bone metabolism, or indeed whether IL-11 or LIF induce bone resorption.

Are the Pathogenesis of Synovitis and Joint Destruction Equally Dependent on the Same Cytokine Network?

A key question is whether the destruction of connective tissue, the major source of long-term joint problems in RA, is driven by the same cell interactions and cytokines as are implicated in the synovitis. This question has been raised by several workers in the field (176, 177); for example, Bresnihan noted that

conventional therapy while improving synovitis has less effect on bone erosion according to the X-ray progression.

Therapeutic trials of anticytokine and other new therapies have the potential to resolve this issue, by demonstrating that effective therapy resolves the synovitis and protects the joints from destruction. All the anti-TNF α clinical trials so far are too short term to assess for joint protection radiographically, but the reduction in pro MMP-3 production reported suggests that joint protection may occur with long-term reduction of TNF α (178).

Neovascularization in RA

The rheumatoid synovium is a much more cellular mass of tissue than the normal synovium and is characterized by an abundance of blood vessels, thus increasing the delivery of cells and molecules to areas of inflammation (179). The neovascularization that takes place in RA is central for the maintenance of the disease process, since inhibition of angiogenesis using either the micro-tubule stabilizer Taxol or AGM-1470, a synthetic angiogenesis inhibitor, blocks arthritis in a rat model of CIA (180, 181).

The process of neovascularization in RA involves angiogenic cytokines such as VEGF, an endothelial cell-specific mitogen that promotes the growth of new blood vessels (182) and renders the vasculature hyperpermeable in vivo (183). VEGF has been detected in RA joint tissue and synovial fluids by two independent groups (those of Fava and of Koch) and was associated with strong expression of VEGF mRNA by synovial tissue macrophages and of VEGF receptors by microvascular endothelial cells (184, 185). Hypoxia is a strong inducer of VEGF release and VEGF receptor expression (186, 187); the RA joint reportedly is hypoxic due to pressure on vessels during movement (188), although other inflammatory stimuli within the RA joint may also contribute to VEGF production from macrophages. In this respect, it is interesting to note that TGF β has recently been found to induce VEGF release from RA synovial cells (R Fava, unpublished observation). VEGF also is chemotactic for endothelial cells, which may perpetuate angiogenesis.

Finally, it has been reported that a large number of cytokines elevated in RA, including TNF α , TGF β , FGF, as well as chemokines such as IL-8 (189), and possibly other C-X-C chemokines such as GRO α and ENA-78 (S Kunkel, unpublished observation) may also exhibit angiogenic activities.

The Cytokine Network in Other Forms of Arthritis

Compared to rheumatoid arthritis, little is known of the cytokine network in other forms of arthritis. Due to the availability of operative samples at joint replacement, osteoarthritic (OA) synovium has been used as a control for many of the studies in RA. It is not, however, a good comparison, because the diseases

differ in their underlying etiology: RA has an autoimmune component, while OA does not. By the stage of joint replacement, it is evident that an extensive phase of tissue destruction has occurred in OA, with much of this attributable to an inflammatory component. This is perhaps why the cytokine pattern appears to be relatively similar to that in RA. There is no clear-cut distinction, as the cytokines TNF α , IL-1, and IL-6 are all expressed, albeit at lower average levels (28, 29). Chemokine expression has also been noted, including that of IL-8 (53) and MCP-1 (57). Anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 (67) and TGF β (69) are abundantly expressed in OA, as in RA. Perhaps one of the few differences is in the bioactivity of TNF α in synovial cultures. While all RA synovial cultures produce bioactive TNF α , a significant percentage of OA synovial cultures do not. This is due to excess free sTNF-R (125). For most of its long history, OA has had a tendency to induce excessive bone formation (e.g. osteophytes), which must involve a cytokine pattern different to that in RA. What prompts the change to a bone destructive form of OA would be interesting to understand, due to its therapeutic implications. Other forms of arthritis such as psoriatic arthritis and infection-related reactive arthritis have not been well documented at the cytokine level.

The arthritis in reactive arthritis, in contrast to RA, is not destructive, and as such synovial tissue is much harder to obtain. One interesting comparison has been performed at the mRNA level by Simon et al (86). Reactive arthritis specimens often produced IL-4 mRNA (6/8), but only 2 out of 10 of those from the rheumatoid did, even if analyzed by RT-PCR. This admittedly limited study suggests that the Th1/Th2 balance may be critical for a self-limiting arthritis, and the excess of Th1 cells in rheumatoid arthritis may be important in its persistence (NA Mitchison, unpublished).

LESSONS FROM CLINICAL RESEARCH AND TRIALS

Cytokine Antagonists as Therapeutic Agents

In the previous sections we have analyzed the experimental evidence for the evolving concept that the broad spectrum of cytokines locally produced in joints provides a molecular basis for the observed pathology. Now we examine the extent to which it has proven possible to validate the role of each cytokine in vivo by using specific antagonists of high affinity and specificity such as monoclonal antibodies, soluble cytokine inhibitors, and in the case of IL-1, IL-1ra, in the therapeutic setting. The accumulating evidence suggests that TNF α is not only an inflammatory mediator in its own right but also is the key regulator of the production of other cytokines implicated in rheumatoid inflammation such as IL-1 (28), GM-CSF(34), IL-6 and IL-8 (109). We have therefore espoused

TNF α as a prime target for therapeutic trials. However, antagonists of IL-1 and IL-6 have also been tested in the clinic by others; in the case of IL-1 antagonists, the results of randomized clinical trials have not yet been published in full, and anti-IL-6 therapy has thus far been tested only in an open-label trial.

Anti-TNF Clinical Trials

The availability of a chimeric (mouse × human) monoclonal anti-TNF α antibody cA2 (from Centocor, Malvern, Pennsylvania), with an affinity of 1.8 × 10⁻⁹ kDa and with neutralizing activity on a variety of biological activities of TNF α in vitro (190), provided an opportunity for testing hypotheses for a new treatment of RA (191, 192). Chimerization of the antibody (75% human immunoglobulin) should reduce immunogenicity and increase the half-life of murine antibodies (193). This monoclonal antibody (cA2) had been shown to be nontoxic in preclinical safety tests on monkeys and human volunteers in the dose range that was predicted to be therapeutic, based on the dosage needed to ameliorate collagen-induced arthritis in DBA/I mice (145).

Accordingly in 1992/1993, in an open-label trial, we administered cA2 by two to four intravenous infusions over two weeks, in a total dose of 20 mg/kg body weight, to 20 patients who had chronic erosive RA unresponsive to multiple disease modifying drugs (DMARDs) such as gold, methotrexate, and salazopyrine (194). To avoid the confounding carry-over effects of previously administered DMARDs and of simultaneous ongoing anti-inflammatory therapy, patients ceased DMARDs for a minimum of four weeks and were stabilized on a fixed dose of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and/or corticosteroids in this period. The treatment with anti-TNF α monoclonal antibody led to rapid improvement in every patient in all indices of disease activity used for monitoring patients. Such modalities included clinical evaluations such as the number of swollen and tender joints, the degree of pain experienced, the duration of stiffness of joints on waking in the morning, locomotor function, the physician's assessment of overall benefit, and the patient's assessment of improvement. Laboratory measurements of inflammatory activity such as the erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and C-reactive proteins (CRP) also showed marked reduction. The improvement from baseline reached its maximum within the first four weeks, with mean values of change exceeding 60-70%, and lasted 8–22 weeks (median 12 weeks). Since the trial was primarily to test the safety of the therapy, particular attention was paid to vital signs and side effects during and following therapy. The infusions were tolerated without any change in cardiorespiratory function or body temperature, and patients seemed to be free of adverse events during the trial period.

The magnitude of clinical response and reduction in CRP was convincingly reproduced in a randomized, double-blind, multicenter, placebo-controlled trial

420 FELDMANN, BRENNAN & MAINI

on 73 patients in 1993/1994 in four European centers (195). In this trial, entry requirements were active erosive rheumatoid disease and a history of failure to respond to at least one DMARD. Having withdrawn from DMARDs, patients were stabilized on a fixed dose of anti-inflammatory drugs for four weeks. Thereafter, a single intravenous infusion of cA2 at two doses (1 mg/kg or 10 mg/kg) or placebo infusion (0.1% human serum albumin in normal saline) was administered over 2 hr to 24 patients in each group (25 in the 1 mg/kg group because of premature dropout of one patient in the other). An impressive change was seen in all measurements and is illustrated in Figure 3 for the number of swollen joints and CRP. The primary endpoint of this trial was the achievement of improvement in a composite index of disease activity defined by Paulus et al (196), which discriminates between DMARDs and placebo effects in randomized controlled trials. According to this index, a positive result was defined as significant improvement in four out of six variable measurements defined as: 1. at least 20% improvement in continuous variables (tender and swollen joint scores, duration of morning stiffness, and ESR); 2. at least two grades of improvement in patient's and observer's assessment of disease activity.

When the Paulus criteria were applied in the trial, a striking benefit was observed in the majority of patients treated with anti-TNF α when compared with those treated with a placebo (Figure 4). According to the predetermined primary endpoint of the study at four weeks, 79% of patients significantly improved, compared with 44% at the lower dose. In contrast, 8% of patients receiving placebo achieved the same level of response at 4 weeks. In order to define



Figure 3 Swollen joint count assessment and C reactive protein measurement in patients receiving placebo (\bullet or cA2 anti-TNF mab at 1 mg/kg (\blacklozenge), and 10 mg/kg (\blacktriangle). Values are means of 24 patients at each point (25 for 1 mg/kg group). Significance versus placebo: *p < 0.05, †p < 0.01, ††p < 0.001. Reprinted by kind permission of *The Lancet* (Elliott et al, 1994, 344: 1105–10).



Figure 4 Duration of clinical response assessed by the Paulus disease activity index following placebo, 0.1% HSA, n = 24 (•); and cA2, anti-TNF mab at 1 mg/kg, n = 25 (•); 3 mg/kg, n = 14 (•); and 10 mg/kg, n = 24 (•). Based on data in (Elliott et al, 1994, 344: 1125–27).

the proportion of patients who showed an even more marked improvement, the Paulus Criteria were arbitrarily reset by increasing the threshold of response to 50% improvement in continuous variables, and the data were reexamined. Using these rigorous criteria, 58% of patients benefited at the high dose of anti-TNF α monoclonal antibody and 28% at the low dose (195). This profile of data at four weeks seemed outstanding when compared with the effect of other drugs tested in randomized placebo-controlled trials.

Analysis of the dose-response relationships of parameters of disease activity in patients revealed that in the initial two weeks, the proportion of responders at the low dose (1 mg/kg) matched that at high dose (10 mg/kg). The magnitude of response in the individual clinical parameters of disease activity (such as number of swollen and tender joints, ESR, and CRP), generally showed a 60– 70% change from baseline. The difference in response between the low and high doses lay in the duration of the response.

The duration of response was further examined by following all treated patients to relapse of disease. Upon relapse, a further infusion of anti-TNF was given. According to protocol, 14 patients who had initially received placebo then subsequently received an intermediate 3 mg/kg dose of anti-TNF α . This permitted an evaluation of the duration of response at three doses of anti-TNF.

422 FELDMANN, BRENNAN & MAINI

The median duration of response was clearly dose-dependent (Figure 4), lasting 3 to 8 weeks in this dose range and persisting for over 16 weeks in 25% of patients receiving the high dose of anti-TNF antibody (197).

The pharmacokinetics of the antibody have given insight into the duration of response. Preliminary analysis shows that the Cmax following single infusions of the 1 mg/kg and 10 mg/kg of cA2 were 28 mg/L and 328 mg/L, respectively. The kinetics appear to fit a two-compartment model. Using the mean serum concentrations over time following a 10 mg/kg dose, calculations show that the half-life of the antibody is around 18 h (at one week). More significantly, in interpreting clinical responses, detectable levels persist for 10–12 weeks at the high doses. At lower doses the antibody persists for a correspondingly shorter duration (197). It is of interest that at 1–5 mg/ml of cA2, TNF α effects in rheumatoid joint cell cultures are inhibited (109). Levels above 1–5 mg/ml are maintained depending on the dose administered. It explains why the initial magnitude of the response and proportion of patients is the same for the three doses used, but diverges with the passage of time and a fall in circulatory level below the therapeutic threshold.

Since the efficacy of a single treatment cycle has a finite duration of several weeks and because the disease relapses in all cases, the question arises whether the anti-TNF α monoclonal antibody therapy is efficacious in controlling chronic disease if given in repeated infusions. Only limited data are available currently, although an ongoing study on 105 patients receiving repeated cycles will attempt to address this point. However, what is known from the experience gained in retreating seven patients with up to four cycles of anti-TNF α monoclonal antibody following relapse is that it was possible to use the antibody repeatedly and to demonstrate an equivalent magnitude of control of disease with subsequent infusions, although there was a trend toward a shortening of effect in some patients (198). The results encourage the view that TNF α blockade is likely to be beneficial as long-term therapy. There is as yet no evidence for the emergence of a TNF α -independent pathway, which could have been the case in view of the potential redundancy of the cytokine network with numerous proinflammatory mediators.

Since TNF α is known to be of importance in host resistance to infections, we have taken an interest in documenting infective events in treated patients. However, RA patients are liable to infections to a greater extent than the healthy control populations (199) and may be influenced by a reporting bias under continuing close scrutiny. The only accurate way of assessing an increased incidence is to compare the type and rate of infections against a population of RA patients stabilized on equivalent background therapy, but not receiving antiTNF α monoclonal antibody. This has been possible in the randomized

controlled study in the first four weeks, and results showed an incidence of six episodes in 49 patients, or 12% (three upper respiratory, two skin infections, and one episode of pneumonia in anti-TNF α treated patients) versus one upper respiratory tract infection in 24 patients (4%) receiving placebo therapy. The significance of these predominantly minor infections will require further analysis following a more extensive experience, but the result does not suggest that it is a limitation of therapy. The observation of a trend toward normalization of indices of previously depressed cellular immune functions common in RA patients (200–202) following anti-TNF α therapy, such as lymphocyte proliferation in vitro (203) and delayed hypersensitivity reaction to recall antigens in vivo (204), is reassuring in this context.

An unexpected side effect in these clinical trials was the development of IgM class anti-ds-DNA antibodies some weeks following cA2 treatment in 7 out of 91 patients (6%) without evidence of clinical SLE. Three of these seven received another infusion, and in only one did the titer of antibody rise; in one it remained unaltered; and a third showed reversal to normality. In all patients the antibody levels spontaneously resolved over several months. The pathogenesis of anti-ds-DNA antibodies in a minority of RA patients is unexplained at this point, but it is noteworthy that other anti-rheumatic drugs can induce ds-DNA autoantibodies (205). The development of lupus serology following TNF depletion is consistent with observations made by Jacob and McDevitt in NZB/W mouse model of SLE, in which TNF deficiency was associated with a genetic polymorphism of the TNF locus in this mouse (206). More recently, in anti-IL-10-treated NZB/W F₁ mice (207), remission was attributed to induction of TNF, since anti-TNF therapy caused rapid recurrence of severe disease. It would appear that in a subpopulation of RA patients, anti-TNF α may similarly predispose to anti-ds-DNA antibodies, and there is a risk that a proportion of these patients might develop a lupus-like syndrome with long-term therapy. These studies suggest that the cytokine network is fundamentally different in RA and SLE (208)

Trials of TNF α blockade with other biological agents have been reported by other groups. In a double-blind dose-ranging study, a humanized mouse monoclonal antibody (CDP 571, Celltech, Slough, UK) was administered to 24 patients in a single dose at 0.1, 1, and 10 mg/kg (209). In this antibody the hypervariable regions were grafted into a human IgG₄ immunoglobulin. The results when compared with 12 placebo-treated patients showed that it was well tolerated, and significant improvement appeared in a composite diseaseactivity score and in some of the individual disease-activity criteria. Unlike with cA2, however, no significant difference was noted in the swollen joint score. Reductions in CRP were also observed, thus confirming the results with cA2, but the comparative dose-response relationships suggest that the potency of CDP571 was less than that of cA2. Whether this reflects differences in epitope specificity, affinity, or isotype (IgG₄ versus IgG₁) is unknown, but further investigation could illuminate the mode of action of the two anti-TNF α antibodies. CDP571 also induced anti-ds DNA antibody production (D. Isenberg, personal communication, European Rheumatology Meeting, 1995).

Engineered soluble TNF receptors linked to Fc portion of IgG, which are divalent and act as potent inhibitors of TNF (210), are being developed for therapy of disease by the pharmaceutical companies. Such soluble TNF receptor fusion proteins should be less immunogenic than monoclonal antibodies partly derived from mice, and they may be therapeutically active, since they bind TNF α with high affinity. The bioengineered immunoglobulin-like molecule might also be expected to increase its circulating half-life. Two such products are undergoing therapeutic trials in RA patients. A p75 soluble-TNF-R, linked to Fc of IgG_1 (Immunex), or placebo, has been administered in a Phase I study to 16 patients with refractory RA at the University of Alabama at Birmingham (211, 212). Three patients in each group received an intravenous loading lose of 4, 8, 16, and 32 mg/m², followed by subcutaneous injections twice weekly for four weeks, of 2, 4, 8, and 16 mg/m² in the four groups, respectively. Additionally, four patients received placebo injections. No serious adverse events were recorded. Clinical responses did not show a dose-response improvement, but at day 31 following commencement, there was a 40–55% mean improvement in painful, swollen, and tender joints in anti-TNF α -treated groups compared with 22 to 25% improvement in the placebo group; however, these differences were not statistically significant. CRP was reduced by 25% compared with 13% in the placebo group, and this also was not statistically significant. Roche has used a p55 soluble TNF-receptor IgG_1 fusion protein in ongoing trials but has not disclosed data, though abstracts and meeting presentations claim efficacy.

We may conclude from these trials with several different agents that $TNF\alpha$ antagonists are likely to be beneficial in RA, but the precise indications for their use and their limitations as a generic therapy or the relative efficacy of individual biological variants must await further development. The current data are short term, and assessment of long-term safety will need further clinical trials.

Mechanism of Action of Anti-TNFa Antibody Therapy

Rheumatoid inflammation results from the conjoint effects of multiple mediators locally produced by many cell types. We have presented evidence based on clinical trials of the marked dose-dependent anti-inflammatory effects of anti-TNF α therapy. However, it remains to be established which of the many biological effects of TNF α (213) is of central importance in amelioration of symptoms and reduction of acute phase proteins. Our current hypothesis suggests two main mechanisms of action: first, local deactivation of the proinflammatory cytokine cascade following neutralization of excess amounts of TNF α at the inflammatory site; and second, an interruption of cellular recruitment and traffic into rheumatoid joints as a result of a reduction of TNF α -dependent expression of vascular adhesion molecules, and of chemokines.

The remarkable reduction in levels of acute phase proteins (e.g. CRP) following within 72 h of infusion of anti-TNF α antibody cA2 (194) indirectly points to an effect on the cytokine network. The production of CRP by the hepatocyte is known to be regulated by cytokines, chiefly by IL-6, but also by other cytokines such as LIF and IL-11, signaling via the gp130 receptor. We have measured serum IL-6 levels before and after infusion of anti-TNF α antibody, and they have shown a rapid decline that parallels a fall in the CRP concentration in the blood (194, 197, 214). Predictably, the subsequent rise in CRP is also closely associated with an increase in IL-6 levels, occurring earlier at the lower dose (1 mg/kg) when compared with the higher dose (10 mg/kg) of anti-TNF. A reasonable explanation of this sequence of events is that neutralization of TNF α in the synovial compartment interferes with the cytokine network (see earlier), thereby reducing IL-6 production as occurs in rheumatoid joint cell cultures (109). Cytokine deactivation is mirrored by a fall of IL-6 levels in blood and is followed by a reduced end-organ response, as judged by a fall in CRP synthesis by the hepatocyte.

Cytokine blockade and diminution of other downstream inflammatory pathways is probably of major importance in the rapidity of reduction in pain, stiffness, swelling, and tenderness of joints. The best objective evidence of an anti-inflammatory effect currently available is based on histopathological examination of serial biopsies of synovial tissue obtained from multiple sites of knee joints before infusion with anti-TNF α antibody and 14 days later. Examination of coded multiple sections of synovium by two blinded observers overcame observer bias and variability of the cellular response in different regions of the joint, and results clearly showed a reduction in the cellularity of synovium (197, 215). Reduction is seen in the number of cells/high power field in the synovial lining layer, infiltrating mononuclear cells (predominantly macrophage-like cells), and perivascular lymphoid aggregates.

The reduced cellularity of synovium also supports our second hypothesis, suggesting a reduction in trafficking of blood-borne cells into diseased joints. A simultaneous significant increase in the number of circulating lymphocytes accompanying a fall in synovial infiltrate is in keeping with reduced influx into joints. That this is dependent on TNF α -modulated expression of adhesion molecules is supported by the decreased expression of ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin in the biopsies (197, 215, 216). ICAM-1 and VCAM-1

detected at vascular endothelial sites in the synovium as well as in many of the lining layer cells. E-selectin was detected on up to 28% of vascular endothelial cells of capillaries and venules. Following anti-TNF α therapy, we observed a significant reduction in E-selectin expression in endothelium and also an overall reduction in VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 expression in the lining layer.

Recently, the detection of soluble forms of the adhesion molecules ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin in blood has become possible by ELISA. These molecules are derived from proteolytic cleavage of the surface form (217), and their release correlates with increased surface expression following activation by TNF α and IL-1 on cultured endothelium (218, 219). Elevated serum levels of ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin have been observed in RA, and soluble VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 appear to correlate with disease activity (220, 221).

In our European multicenter, randomized placebo-controlled study with anti-TNF antibody, we showed a dose-related reduction in soluble E-selectin and soluble ICAM-1 levels (221), but interestingly not of VCAM-1 levels. The reduction paralleled parameters of clinical response, ultimately returning to pretreatment levels closely in parallel with recurrence of symptoms of inflammation. It was noteworthy that in cA2-treated patients (1 mg/kg and 10 mg/kg pooled), there was very good correlation between clinical response and reduction in serum E-selectin (221). Recruitment of cells into the synovial tissue involves activation of cell surface integrins such as LFA-1 and ICAM-1, and chemokines are powerful signals for upregulating the affinity of these integrin molecules. Interestingly, anti-TNF α in vitro diminished IL-8 production (109), and preliminary evidence indicates that this also occurs in vivo. It is thus very likely that the diminished recruitment of cells into joints partly explains the prolonged duration of clinical benefit.

In conclusion, the reproducible clinical benefit of $TNF\alpha$ blockade in RA using antibodies has clearly underlined the importance of understanding the role of cytokines in arthritis. It may not be farfetched to consider that treating earlier in the diseases process, or with longer term $TNF\alpha$ blockade, it may be possible to redress the homeostatic balance and obtain longer term benefit (remissions) and possibly cures in some patients.

IL-1 and IL-6 Antagonists

Recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra), manufactured by Synergen, is a candidate drug for use in RA since it successfully blocks the effects of IL-1 (130). The requirement for 90% receptor occupancy to achieve IL-1 blockade means that the agent has to be used repeatedly at relatively high dose levels as the molar ratio of IL-1ra to IL-1 needs to be >10. In a randomized double-blind controlled trial, 175 patients with RA were divided into nine groups that received 7, 20, or 200 mg, once daily, three times a week,

or once weekly for three weeks. Subsequently all patients received a dose once a week for four weeks. Of these patients 14% withdrew due to lack of efficacy or adverse events. Data in abstract form (222) shows that at three weeks patients receiving daily injections showed significant improvement compared with patients receiving weekly injections, but no dose-response relationship was apparent in patients receiving the three-dose levels of daily injections. Significant but relatively modest reduction in CRP (< 40%) was observed. The effects apparently lasted three to seven weeks in some patients.

Recombinant type I soluble IL-1 receptor (sIL-R, from Immunex), which inhibits the binding of IL-1 to its cell-associated receptor, has been used in a Phase I randomized single center study utilizing intra-articular injections in the knee. Four doses were evaluated in four RA patients in each group (total 16) and compared with a placebo injection in four patients. Following 25, 100, 250, and 500 mg injection into a knee, a dose-related reduction in knee circumference was observed at 48 h and 7 days, reaching significance only at the dose of 250 mg (223).

In another randomized, double-blind study reported in abstract form, sIL-1R was administered by daily subcutaneous injection for 28 days. Twenty-three patients with RA were treated with 125, 250, 500, and 1000 mg/m² daily and compared with patients receiving a placebo. No patient met predetermined criteria for significant improvement (224). In this study the choice of a type I soluble IL-1 receptor (rather than type II) may not have been optimal, since it binds IL-1 α with greater affinity than does the predominant IL-1 β form secreted in RA joints. It also preferentially binds endogenously produced IL-1ra in joints, which thus may negate its potential benefit, and possibly increases the bioavailability of IL-1 β by displacement from sIL-R (127). The limited clinical trial data available on IL-1 blockade, by the agents described above, do not permit any definitive conclusion concerning the relative merits of blockade of IL-1 and TNF α . Other IL-1 blocking agents or different clinical protocols may yield greater benefit, but at the moment it is not proven that IL-1 blockade is effective in RA; this is in contrast to TNF α blockade by monoclonal antibodies, in particular cA2 (194, 195, 209).

A murine anti-IL-6 monoclonal antibody has been administered in an openlabel study to eight patients with refractory RA (225, 226). Improvement in pain and number of tender joints was observed, lasting two months. An impressive fall in CRP and ESR occurred in this period. The authors report an increase over baseline in circulating levels of immunoreactive IL-6 following treatment. The significance of this trial and IL-6 data is unclear, but it merits further investigation.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

In this chapter we have attempted to encapsulate the impact of cytokine research in providing fresh insight into molecular mechanisms of disease. These developments have been dependent in equal part on the availability of a novel array of biological agents and their application, as specific antagonists or agonists, in experimental model systems and clinical trials. Interim conclusions can be drawn and give rise to cautious optimism on the potential of these experimental approaches in unravelling complex biological responses and assessing the therapeutic value of neutralizing or augmenting specific cytokines in the clinical situation.

Among the encouraging results is the demonstration that monoclonal antibodies and other biological products that act as specific cytokine antagonists can be administered to patients safely, at least in the short term. Despite the pleiotropy intrinsic to the action of many cytokines, it appears that their blockade can lead to impressive clinical benefits-for example, following anti-TNF therapy. Moreover, repeated administration leads to reproducible effects, arguing against redundancy in the biological systems involved in disease. However, complete and sustained remission of disease has not been achieved, and it is unclear whether current modes of long-term delivery of biologicals will be tolerated without evoking allergic responses in a proportion of patients or inducing immune responses, which by neutralizing their biological activity will lead to loss of efficacy of the therapeutic principle. It is also not yet known whether long-term neutralization or augmentation of the activity of a cytokine may be associated with unanticipated side effects. More experience is clearly necessary, although the speed of progress is such that availability of biologicals as licensed drugs in the treatment of arthritis in two to three years is a distinct possibility. In the meantime, improved systems of delivery of biologicals, for example, by gene therapy, may provide exciting prospects for development.

Among the challenging questions to be addressed in the near future is the possibility that better results may be obtained in controlling RA by combination therapy. Thus, more than one cytokine might be targeted simultaneously, or proinflammatory cytokine blockade may be combined with anti-T cell therapy. An equally compelling case can be made for testing biologicals in combination with existing disease-modifying drugs of proven efficacy, such as methotrexate and salazopyrin. Whichever approach is used, the high frequency of placebo responders in RA makes the testing of drugs in randomized controlled trials mandatory. The equally pressing need to use validated criteria of benefit in clinical trials is being addressed by co-operation at international level. These efforts should simplify the task ahead and allow comparisons to be made.

The definition of therapeutic targets by the use of biologicals has stimulated the reevaluation of mechanisms of action of established drugs, and it has also stimulated the search for chemical drugs that carry the specificity of biologicals. The race between the approaches has begun, and the potential strengths and weaknesses of each one are all too apparent. So are the enormous opportunities to improve significantly on the limited benefit of drugs in primary and secondary prevention of disabling arthritic disorders.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work for our laboratory reported here was supported by grants from the Arthritis Rheumatism Council, Wellcome Trust, Medical Research Council, British Heart Foundation, The Multiple Sclerosis Society, and Centocor, Inc.

We would like to thank our colleagues, particularly K. Bull, C.Q. Chu, M. Elliott, E. Paleolog, L. Roffe, M. Silvester, and R. Williams for their assistance with this review. The task of writing was greatly alleviated by the assistance of numerous colleagues in the field who generously informed us of their unpublished work and sent us preprints and reprints.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Aggarwal BB, Puri RK, eds. 1995. Human Cytokines: Their Role in Disease and Therapy. Cambridge, Mass, USA: Blackwell Sci.
- Brennan FM, Feldmann MF, eds. 1996. *Role of Cytokines in Autoimmunity*. Austin, TX, USA: R.G. Landes
- Gregersen PK, Silver J, Winchester RJ. 1987. The shared epitope hypothesis: an approach to understanding the molecular genetics of susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 30:1205–13
- Wilson AG, De Vries N, Pociot F, Di Giovine FS, Van Der Putte LBA, Duff GW. 1993. An allelic polymorphism within the human tumor necrosis factor α promoter region is strongly associated with HLA A1, B8, and DR3 alleles. J. Exp. Med. 177:557–60
- Wilson AG, Gordon C, di Giovine FS, de Vries N, van de Putte LBA, Emery P, Duff GW. 1994. A genetic association between systemic lupus erythematosus and tumor necrosis factor a. Eur. J. Immunol.

24:191-95

- McDowell TL, Symons JA, Ploski R, Forre O, Duff GW. 1995. A genetic association between juvenile rheumatoid arthritis and a novel interleukin-1a polymorphism. Arthritis Rheum. 38:221–28
- Silman AJ, MacGregor AJ, Thomson W, Holligan S, Carthy D, Farhan A, Ollier WER. 1993. Twin concordance rates for rheumatoid arthritis: results from a nationwide study. Br. J. Rheumatol. 32:903– 7
- Janossy G, Panayi G, Duke O, Bofill M, Poulter LW, Goldstein G. 1981. Rheumatoid arthritis: a disease of Tlymphocyte/macrophage immunoregulation. *Lancet* ii:839–41
- Klareskog L, Forsum U, Scheynius A, Kabelitz D, Wigzell H. 1982. Evidence in support of a self perpetuating HLA-DR dependent delayed type cell reaction in rheumatoid arthritis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 72:3632–36
- 10. Hemler ME, Glass D, Coblyn JS, Jacob-

son JG. 1986. Very late activation antigens on rheumatoid synovial fluid T lymphocytes: association with stages of T cell activation. J. Clin. Invest. 78:696–702

- Cush JJ, Lipsky PE. 1988. Phenotypic analysis of synovial tissue and peripheral blood lymphocytes isolated from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 31:1230–38
- Johnson BA, Haines GK, Harlow LA, Koch AE. 1993. Adhesion molecule expression in human synovial tissue. *Arthritis Rheum.* 36:137–46
- Morales-Ducret J, Wayner E, Elices MJ, Alvaro-Garcia JM, Zvaifler NJ, Firestein GS. 1992. Alpha 4/beta 1 integrin (VLA-4) ligands in arthritis: I. Vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 expression in synovium and on fibroblast-like synoviocytes. J. Immunol. 149:1424–31
- Allard SA, Muirden KD, Camplejohn KL, Maini RN. 1987. Chondrocytederived cells and matrix at the rheumatoid cartilage-pannus junction identified with monoclonal antibodies. *Rheumatol. Int.* 7:153–59
- Vincenti MP, Clark IM, Brinckerhoff CE. 1994. Using inhibitors of metalloproteinases to treat arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 37:1115–26
- Wright JK, Cawston TE, Hazelman BL. 1991. Transforming growth factor β stimulates the production of thetissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP) by human synovial and skin fibroblasts. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* 1094:207–10
- Buttle DJ. 1994. Lysosomal cysteine endopeptidases in the degradation of cartilage and bone. In *Immunopharmacology* of Joints and Connective Tissue, ed. E Davies, JT Dingle, pp. 119–28. London: Academic
- Fontana A, Hentgartner H, Fehr K, Grob PJ, Cohen G. 1982. Interleukin-1 activity in the synovial fluid of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatol. Int.* 2:49–56
- Buchan G, Barrett K, Fujita T, Taniguchi T, Maini R, Feldmann M. 1988. Detection of activated T cell products in the rheumatoid joint using cDNA probes to interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor and IFN-γ. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 71:295–301
- Buchan G, Barrett K, Turner M, Chantry D, Maini RN, Feldmann M. 1988. Interleukin-1 and tumour necrosis factor mRNA expression in rheumatoid arthritis: prolonged production of IL1α. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 73:449–55
- 21. Di Giovine FS, Nuki G, Duff GW. 1988.

Tumour necrosis factor in synovial exudates. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 47:768–72

- Saxne T, Palladino MA Jr, Heinegard D, Talal N, Wollheim FA. 1988. Detection of tumor necrosis factor α but not tumor necrosis factor β in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fluid and serum. *Arthritis Rheum*. 31:1041–45
- Hopkins SJ, Humphreys M, Jayson MI. 1988. Cytokines in synovial fluid. I. The presence of biologically active and immunoreactive IL-1. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 72:422–27
- Hopkins SJ, Meager A. 1988. Cytokines in synovial fluid II. The presence of tumour necrosis factor and interferon. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 73:88–92
- Firestein GS, Alvaro-Gracia JM, Maki R. 1990. Quantitative analysis of cytokine gene expression in rheumatoid arthritis. J. Immunol. 144:3347–53
- Wood NC, Dickens E, Symons JA, Duff GW. 1992. In situ hybridization of interleukin-1 in CD14-positive cells in rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 62:295–300
- 27. Chu CQ, Field M, Feldmann M, Maini RN. 1991. Localization of tumor necrosis factor α in synovial tissues and at the cartilage-pannus junction in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 34:1125–32
- Brennan FM, Chantry D, Jackson A, Maini R, Feldmann M. 1989. Inhibitory effect of TNF α antibodies on synovial cell interleukin-1 production in rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet* 2:244–47
- Hirano T, Matsuda T, Turner M, Miyasaka N, Buchan G, Tang B, Sato K, Shimizu M, Maini R, Feldmann M, Kishimoto T. 1988. Excessive production of interleukin 6/B cell stimulatory factor-2 in rheumatoid arthritis. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 18:1797– 801
- Houssiau FA, Devogelaer J-P, vanDamme J, Nagant de Deuxchaisnes C, van Snick J. 1988. Interleukin-6 in synovial fluid and serum of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and other inflammatory arthritides. Arthritis Rheum. 31:784–88
- Field M, Chu C, Feldmann M, Maini RN. 1991. Interleukin-6 localisation in the synovial membrane in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatol. Int.* 11:45–50
- Helle M, Boeije L, de Groot E, de Vos A, Aarden L. 1991. Detection of IL-6 in biological fluids: synovial fluids and sera. J. Immunol. Methods 138:47–56
- Xu WD, Firestein GS, Taetle R, Kaushansky K, Zvaifler NJ. 1989. Cytokines in

chronic inflammatory arthritis. II. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor in rheumatoid synovial effusions. *J. Clin. Invest.* 83:876–82

- Haworth C, Brennan FM, Chantry D, Turner M, Maini RN, Feldmann M. 1991. Expression of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor in rheumatoid arthritis: regulation by tumor necrosis factor-α. Eur. J. Immunol. 21:2575–79
- 35. Alvaro-Garcia JM, Zvaifler NJ, Brown CB, Kaushansky L, Firestein GS. 1991. Cytokines in chronic inflammatory arthritis. VI. Analysis of the synovial cells involved in granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor production and gene expression in rheumatoid arthritis and its regulation by IL-1 and TNF-α. J. Immunol. 146:3365–71
- 36. Firestein GS, Xu W-D, Townsend K, Broide D, Alvaro-Gracia J, Glasebrook A, Zvaifler NJ. 1988. Cytokines in chronic inflammatory arthritis. I. Failure to detect T cell lymphokines (interleukin 2 and interleukin 3) and presence of macrophage colony-stimulating factor (CSF-1) and a novel mast cell growth factor in rheumatoid synovitis. J. Exp. Med. 168:157386
- Lotz M, Moats T, Villeger PM. 1992. Leukemia inhibitory factor is expressed in cartilage and synovium and can contribute to the pathogenesis of arthritis. J. *Clin. Invest.* 90:888–96
- Dechanet J, Taupin J-L, Rissoan M-C, Moreau J-F, Banchereau J, Miossec P. 1994. Interleukin-4 but not interleukin-10 inhibits the production of leukemia inhibitory factor by rheumatoid synovium and synoviocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:3222–28
- Waring PM, Carroll GJ, Kandiah DA, Buirski G, Metcalf D. 1993. Increased levels of leukemia inhibitory factor in synovial fluid from patients with rheumatoid arthritis and other inflammatory arthritides. Arthritis Rheum. 36:911–15
- Trinchieri G. 1995. Interleukin-12: a proinflammatory cytokine with immunoregulatory functions that bridge innate resistance and antigen-specific adaptive immunity. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 13:251–76
- Manetti R, Parronchi P, Giudizi MG, Piccinni M-P, Maggi E, Trinchieri G, Romagnani S. 1993. Natural killer cell stimulatory factor (NKSF/IL-12) induces Th1type specific immune responses and inhibits the development of IL-4 producing Th cells. J. Exp. Med. 177:1199–1204
- Germann T, Szeliga J, Hess H, Storkel S,

Podlaski FJ, Gately MK, Schmitt E, Rude E. 1995. Administration of interleukin 12 in combination with type II collagen induces severe arthritis in DBA/1 mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:4823–27

- 43. Remmers EF, Lafyatis R, Kumkumian GK, Case JP, Roberts AB, Sporn MB, Wilder RL. 1990. Cytokines and growth regulation of synoviocytes from patients with rheumatoid arthritis and rats with streptococcal cell wall arthritis. *Growth Factors* 2:179–88
- Goddard DH, Grossman SL, Moore ME. 1990. Autocrine regulation of rheumatoid arthritis synovial cell growth in vitro. *Cytokine* 2:149–55
- 45. Remmers EF, Sano H, Lafyatis R, Case JP, Kumkumian GK, Hla T, Maciag T, Wilder R. 1991. Production of platelet derived growth factor B chain (PDGF-B/csis) mRNA and immunoreactive PDGF B-like polypeptide by rheumatoid synovium: coexpression with heparin binding acidic fibroblast growth factor-1. J. Rheumatol. 18:7–13
- 46. Sano H, Forough R, Maier JA, Case JP, Jackson A, Engleka K, Maciag T, Wilder RL. 1990. Detection of high levels of heparin binding growth factor-1 (acidic fibroblast growth factor) in inflammatory arthritic joints. J. Cell. Biol. 110:1417–26
- 47. Goddard DH, Grossman SL, Williams WV, Weiner DB, Gross JL, Eidsvoog K, Dasch JR. 1992. Regulation of synovial cell growth: coexpression of transforming growth factor β and basic fibroblast growth factor by cultured synovial cells. *Arthritis Rheum.* 35:1296–303
- Fava R, Olsen N, Keski-Oja J, Moses H, Pincus T. 1989. Active and latent forms of transforming growth factor β activity in synovial effusions. J. Exp. Med. 169:291– 96
- 49. Thornton SC, Por SB, Penny R, Richter M, Shelley L, Breit SN. 1991. Identification of the major fibroblast growth factors released spontaneously in inflammatory arthritis as platelet derived growth factor and tumour necrosis factor-alpha. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 86:79–86
- Bucala R, Ritchin C, Winchester R, Cerami A. 1991. Constitutive production of inflammatory and mitogenic cytokines by rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts. J. Exp. Med. 173:569–74
- Sano H, Engleka K, Mathern P, Hla T, Crofford LJ, Remmers EF, Jelsema CL, Goldmuntz E, Maciag T, Wilder RL. 1993. Coexpression phosphotyrosinecontaining proteins, platelet-derived

growth factor-B, and fibroblast growth factor-1 in situ in synovial tissues of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and Lewis rats with adjuvant or streptococcal cell wall arthritis. J. Clin. Invest. 91:553–65

- Taub DD, Oppenheim JJ. 1993. Review of the chemokine meeting: the third international symposium of chemotactic cytokines. *Cytokine* 5:175–79
- 53. Brennan FM, Zachariae CO, Chantry D, Larsen CG, Turner M, Maini RN, Matsushima K, Feldmann M. 1990. Detection of interleukin 8 biological activity in synovial fluids from patients with rheumatoid arthritis and production of interleukin 8 mRNA by isolated synovial cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 20:2141–44
- Koch AE, Kunkel SL, Burrows JC, Evanoff HL, Haines GK, Pope RM, Strieter RM. 1991. Synovial tissue macrophage as a source of the chemotatic cytokine IL-8. J. Immunol. 147:2187–95
- Seitz M, Dewald B, Gerber N, Baggiolini M. 1991. Enhanced production of neutrophilactivating peptide-1/interleukin-8 in rheumatoid arthritis. J. Clin. Invest. 87:463–69
- Villiger PM, Terkeltaub R, Lotz M. 1992. Production of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 by inflamed synovial tissue and cultured synoviocytes. J. Immunol. 149:722–27
- Koch AE, Kunkel SL, Harlow LA, Johnson B, Evanoff HL, Haines GK, Burdick MD, Pope RM, Strieter RM. 1992. Enhanced production of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in rheumatoid arthritis. J. Clin. Invest. 90:772–79
- Akahoshi T, Wada C, Endo H, Hirota K, Hosaka S, Takagishi K, Konso H, Kashiwazaki S, Matsushima K. 1993. Expression of monocyte chemotactic and activating factor in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 36:762–61
- Hachicha M, Rathanaswami P, Schall TJ, McColl SR. 1993. Production of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 in human type B synoviocytes. Synergistic effect of tumor necrosis factor α and interferongamma. Arthritis Rheum. 36:26–34
- Hosaka S, Akshoshi T, Wada C, Kondo H. 1994. Expression of the chemokine superfamily in rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 97:451–57
- 61. Deleuran B, Lemche P, Kristensen M, Chu CQ, Field M, Jensen J, Matsushima K, Stengaard-Pederson K. 1994. Localisation of interleukin 8 in the synovial membrane, cartilage-pannus junction and chondrocytes in rheumatoid

arthritis. Scand. J. Rheumatol. 23:2-7

- 62. Koch AE, Kunkel SL, Harlow LA, Mazarakis DD, Haines GK, Burdick MD, Pope RM, Walz A, Strieter RM. 1994. Epithelial neutrophil activating peptide-78: a novel chemotactic cytokine for neutrophils in arthritis. J. Clin. Invest. 94:1012–18
- Koch AE, Kunkel SL, Harlow LA, Mazarakis DD, Haines GK, Burdick MD, Pope RM, Strieter RM. 1994.Macrophage inflammatory protein-1α. J. Clin. Invest. 93:921–28
- 64. Rathanaswami P, Hachicha M, Sadick M, Schall TJ, McColl SR. 1993. Expression of the cytokine RANTES in human rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts. Differential regulation of RANTES and interleukin-8 genes by inflammatory cytokines. J. Biol. Chem. 268:5834–39
- Wolpe SD, Sherry B, Juers D, Davatelis G, Yurt RW, Cerami A. 1989. Identification and characterization of macrophage inflammatory protein 2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:612–16
- Kasama T, Strieter RM, Lukacs NW, Lincoln PM, Burdick MD, Kunkel SL. 1995. Interleukin-10 expression and chemokine regulation during the evolution of murine type II collagen-induced arthritis. J. Clin. Invest. 2868–76
- Katsikis P, Chu CQ, Brennan FM, Maini RN, Feldmann M. 1994. Immunoregulatory role of interleukin 10 (IL-10) in rheumatoid arthritis. J. Exp. Med. 179:1517–27
- 68. Lafyatis R, Thomson NL, Remmers ER, Flanders KC, Roche NS, Kim SJ. 1989. Transforming growth factor-β production by synovial tissues from rheumatoid patients and streptococcal cell wall arthritis rats. Studies on secretion by synovial fibroblast-like cells and immunohistological localisation. J. Immunol. 143:1142–48
- 69. Brennan FM, Chantry D, Turner M, Foxwell B, Maini RN, Feldmann M. 1990. Transforming growth factor-β in rheumatoid arthritis synovial tissue: lack of effect on spontaneous cytokine production in joint cell cultures. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 81:278–85
- Lotz MK, J. Carson DA. 1990.Transforming growth factor-β and cellular immune responses in synovial fluids. J. Immunol. 144:4189–94
- Chu CQ, Field M, Abney E, Zheng RQ, Allard S, Feldmann M, Maini RN. 1991. Transforming growth factor-β1 in rheumatoid synovial membrane and cartilage/pannus junction. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.*

86:380-86

- Wahl SM. 1994. Transforming growth factor β: the good, the bad, and the ugly. J. Exp. Med. 180:1587–90
- Allen JB, Manthey CL, Hand AR, Ohura K, Ellingsworth L, Wahl SM. 1990. Rapid onset synovial inflammation and hyperplasia induced by transforming growth factor β. J. Exp. Med. 171:231–47
- 74. Fava RA, Olsen NJ, Postlethwaite AE, Broadley KN, Davidson JM, Nanney LB, Lucas C, Townes AS. 1991. Transforming growth factor β1 (TGF-β1) induced neutrophil recruitment to synovial tissues: implications for TGF-β-driven synovial inflammation and hyperplasia. J. Exp. Med. 173:1121–32
- 75. Brandes ME, Allen JB, Ogawa Y, Wahl SM. 1991. Transforming growth factor β1 suppresses acute and chronic arthritis in experimental animals. J. Clin. Invest. 87:1108–13
- Kuruvilla AP, Shah R, Hochwald GM, Liggit HD, Palladino MA, Thorbecke GJ. 1991. Protective effect of transforming growth factor β1 on experimental autoimmune diseases in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:2918–21
- Wahl SM, Allen JB, Costa GL, Wong HL, Dasch JR. 1993. Reversal of acute and chronic synovial inflammation by antitransforming growth factor β. J. Exp. Med. 177:225–30
- Wahl SM, Hunt DA, Wakefield IM, McCartney-Francis N, Wahl IM, Roberts AB, Sporn MB. 1987. Transforming growth factor-β (TGFβ) induces monocyte chemotaxis and growth factor production. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:5788–92
- Khalil N, Bereznay O, Sporn M, Greenberg AH. 1989. Macrophage production of transforming growth factor β and fibroblast collagen synthesis in chronic pulmonary inflammation. J. Exp. Med. 170:727–37
- Hart PH, Vitti GF, Burgess DR, Whitty GA, Piccoli DS, Hamilton JH. 1989. Potential anti-inflammatory effects of interleukin-4: suppression of human monocyte tumour necrosis factor α, interleukin-1, and prostaglandin F2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:3803–7
- Essner R, Rhoades K, McBride WH, Morton DL, Economou J. 1989. IL-4 downregulates IL-1 and TNF gene expression in human monocytes. J. Immunol. 142:3857–61
- TeVelde AA, Huijbens K, Heije JE. 1989. Interleukin-4 (IL-4) inhibits secretion of

IL-1 β , tumour necrosis factor α , and IL-6 by human monocytes. *Blood* 6:1392–97

- Lacraz S, Nicod I, Galve-de Rochemonteux B, Baumberger C, Dayer J-M, Weleus HG. 1992. Suppression of metalloproteinase biosynthesis in human alveolar macrophages by interleukin-4. J. Clin. Invest. 90:382–86
- Miossec P, Naviliat M, D'Angeac AD, Sany J, Banchereau J. 1990. Low levels of interleukin-4 and high levels of transforming growth factor β in rheumatoid synovitis. Arthritis Rheum. 33:1180–87
- 85. Cohen SBA, Katsikis PD, Chu CQ, Thomssen H, Webb LMC, Maini RN, Londei M, Feldmann M. 1995. High IL-10 production by the activated T cell population within the rheumatoid synovial membrane. Arthritis Rheum. 38:946–52
- Simon AK, Seipelt E, Sieper J. 1994. Divergent T-cell cytokine patterns in inflammatory arthritis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91:8562–66
- Miltenburg AJ, van Laar JM, de Kuiper R, Daha MR, Breedveld FC. 1992. T cells cloned from human rheumatoid synovial membrane functionally represent the Th1 subset. Scand. J. Immunol. 35:603–10
- Miossec P, Briolay J, Dechanet J, Wijdenes J, Martinez-Valdez H, Banchereau J. 1992. The inhibition of the production of proinflammatory cytokines and immunoglobulins by interleukin-4 in an ex vivo model of rheumatoid synovitis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 35:874–83
- Cope AP, Gibbons DL, Aderka D, Foxwell BM, Wallach D, Maini RN, Feldmann M, Brennan FM. 1993. Differential regulation of tumour necrosis factor receptors (TNF-R) by IL-4; upregulation of P55 and P75 TNF-R on synovial joint mononuclear cells. *Cytokine* 5:205–12
- Lewis-Faning E. 1950. Report on an enquiry into the aetiological factors associated with rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 91:1–94
- Llorente L, Richaud-Patin Y, Fior R, Alcocer-Varela J, Wijdenes J, Fourrier B, Galanaud P, Emilie D. 1994. In vivo production of interleukin-10 by non-T cells in rheumatoid arthritis, Sjogren's syndrome, and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 37:1647–55
- Cush JJ, Splawski JB, Thomas R, McFarlin JE, Schulze-Koops H, Davis LS, Fujita K, Lipsky PE. 1995. Elevated interleukin-10 levels in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 38:96–104
- Chomarat P, Vannier E, Dechanet J, Rissoan MC, Banchereau J, Dinarello CA,

Miossec P. 1995. Balance of IL-1 receptor antagonist/IL-1 beta in rheumatoid synovium and its regulation by IL-4 and IL-10. *J. Immunol.* 154:1432–39

- 94. Joyce DA, Gibbons D, Green P, Feldmann M, Brennan FM. 1994. Two inhibitors of proinflammatory cytokine release, IL-10 and IL-4, have contrasting effects on release of soluble p75 TNF receptor by cultured monocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:2699–2705
- Rousset F, Garcia E, Deference T, Peronne C, Vezzio N, Hsu DH, Kastelein R, Moore KW, Banchereau J. 1992. IL-10 is a potent growth and differentiation factor for activated human B lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:1890–93
- Brennan FM, Chantry D, Jackson AM, Maini RN, Feldmann M. 1989. Cytokine production in culture by cells isolated from the synovial membrane. *J. Autoimmun.* 2:177–86 (Suppl.)
- 97. Ulfgren A, Lindblad S, Ronnclid J, Klareskog L, Andersson U. 1995. Application of an immunohistochemical method for cytokine detection to the study of in vivo and in vitro production of cytokines in arthroscopically obtained synovial tissue from RA patients. *Clin. Rheumatol.* 14:234 (Abstr.)
- Firestein GS, Zvaifler NJ. 1990. How important are T cells in chronic rheumatoid synovitis? *Arthritis Rheum.* 33:768–73
- 99. Kehrl JJ, Wakefield LM, Roberts A, Jakowlew S, Alvarez-Mon M, Derynck R, Sporn MB, Fauci AS. 1986. Production of transforming growth factor-β by human T lymphocytes and its potential role in the regulation of T cell growth. J. Exp. Med. 163:1037–50
- Moore KW, O'Garra A, de Waal Malefyt R, Vieira P, Mosmann TR. 1993. Interleukin 10. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 11:165– 90
- 101. Del Prete G, De Carli M, Almerigogna F, Giudizi MG, Biagiotti R, Romagnani S. 1993. Human IL-10 is produced by both type 1 helper (Th1) and type 2 helper (Th2) T cell clones and inhibits their antigen-specific proliferation and cy-tokine production. J. Immunol. 150:353–60
- Dinarello CA. 1994. The interleukin-1 family: 10 years of discovery. FASEB J. 8:1314–25
- Fell HB, Jubb RW. 1977. The effect of synovial tissue on the breakdown of articular cartilage in organ culture. *Arthritis Rheum*. 20:1359–71
- 104. Saklatavala J, Sarsfield SJ, Townsend Y.

1985. Purification of two immunologically different leucocyte proteins that cause cartilage resorption, lymphocyte activation and fever. J. Exp. Med. 162:1208– 15

- 105. Gowen M, Wood DD, Ihrie EJ, McGuire MKB, Russell RG. 1983. An interleukin-1 like factor stimulates bone resorption in vitro. *Nature* 306:378–80
- 106. Dinarello CA, Cannon JG, Wolff SM, Bernheim HA, Beutler B, Cerami A, Figari IS, Palladino MA, O'Connor JV. 1986. Tumor necrosis factor (cachectin) is an endogenous pyrogen and induces production of interleukin 1. J. Exp. Med. 163:1433–50
- Hamilton JA. 1993. Rheumatoid arthritis: opposing actions of haemopoietic growth factors and slow-acting anti-rheumatic drugs. *Lancet* 342:536–39
- Kowanko IC, Ferrante AF. 1991. Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor augments neutrophil-mediated cartilage degradation and neutrophil adherence. Arthritis Rheum. 11:1452–60
- Butler D, Maini RN, Feldmann M, Brennan FM. 1995. Blockade of TNFα with chimeric anti TNFα monoclonal antibody, cA2 reduces (IL-6 and IL-8) release in RA NMC cultures: A comparison with IL-1ra. Eur. Cytokine Netwk. 6:225–30
- 110. Fong Y, Tracey KJ, Moldawer LL, Hesse DG, Manogue KB, Kenney JS, Lee AT, Kuo GC, Allison AC, Lowry SF, Cerami A. 1989. Antibodies to cachectin/tumor necrosis factor reduce interleukin 1β and interleukin 6 appearance during lethal bacteremia. J. Exp. Med. 170:1627–33
- 111. Isler P, Vey E, Zhang JH, Dayer J-M. 1993. Cell surface glycoproteins expressed on activated human T cells induce production of interleukin-1β by monocytic cells: a possible role of CD69. Eur. Cytokine Netwk. 4:15–23
- Li JM, Isler P, Dayer J-M, Burger D. 1995. Contact-dependent stimulation of monocytic cells and neutrophils by stimulated human T-cell clones. *Immunology* 84:571–76
- 113. Rubin LA, Kurman CC, Fritz ME, Biddison WE, Boutin B, Yarchoan R, Nelson DL. 1985. Soluble interleukin 2 receptors are released from activated human lymphoid cells in vitro. J. Immunol. 135:3172–77
- 114. Brennan FM, Gibbons DL, Mitchell T, Cope AP, Maini RN, Feldmann M. 1992. Enhanced expression of tumor necrosis factor receptor mRNA and protein in mononuclear cells isolated from rheuma-

toid arthritis synovial joints. Eur. J. Immunol. 22:1907-12

- 115. Deleuran BW, Chu CQ, Field M, Brennan FM, Mitchell T, Feldmann M, Maini RN. 1992. Localization of tumor necrosis factor receptors in the synovial tissue and cartilage-pannus junction in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Implications for local actions of tumor necrosis factor α. *Arthritis Rheum.* 35:1170–78
- 116. Deleuran BW, Chu CQ, Field M, Brennan FM, Katsikis P, Feldmann M, Maini RN. 1992. Localization of interleukin-1α, type 1 interleukin-1 receptor and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in the synovial membrane and cartilage/pannus junction in rheumatoid arthritis. Br. J. Rheumatol. 31:801–9
- Field M, Clinton L. 1993. Expression of GM-CSF receptor in rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet* 342:1244 (Abstr.)
- Fernandez-Botran R. 1991. Soluble cytokine receptors: their role in immunoregulation. FASEB J. 5:2567–74
- Novick D, Engelmann H, Wallach D, Rubinstein M. 1989. Soluble cytokine receptors are present in normal human urine. J. Exp. Med. 170:1409–14
- Seckinger P, Isaaz S, Dayer J-M. 1988. A human inhibitor of tumor necrosis factor α. J. Exp. Med. 167:1511–16
- Olsson I, Lantz S, Nilsson E, Peetre C, Thysell H, Grubb A, Adolf G. 1989. Isolation and characterization of a tumor necrosis factor binding protein from urine. *Eur. J. Haematol.* 42:270–5
- 122. Engelmann H, Aderka D, Rubinstein M, Rotman D, Wallach D. 1989. A tumor necrosis factor-binding protein purified to homogeneity from human urine protects cells from tumor necrosis factor toxicity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 264:11974–80
- 123. Cope A, Aderka D, Doherty M, Engelmann H, Gibbons D, Jones AC, Brennan FM, Maini RN, Wallach D, Feldmann M. 1992. Soluble tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptors are increased in the sera and synovial fluids of patients with rheumatic diseases. *Arthritis Rheum.* 35:1160
- Roux-Lombard P, Punzi L, Hasler F, Bas S, Todesco S, Gallati H, Guerne PA, Dayer J-M. 1993. Soluble tumor necrosis factor receptors in human inflammatory synovial fluids. Arthritis Rheum. 36:485–89
- 125. Brennan FM, Gibbons D, Cope A, Katsikis P, Maini RN, Feldmann M. 1995. TNF inhibitors are produced spontaneously by rheumatoid and osteoarthritic synovial joint cell cultures: evidence of

feedback control of TNF action. Scand. J. Immunol. 421:58–165

- 126. Symons JA, Eastgate JA, Duff GW. 1991. Purification and characterization of a novel soluble receptor for interleukin-1. *J. Exp. Med.* 174:1251–54
- 127. Symons JA, Young PR, Duff GW. 1995. Soluble type II interleukin 1 (IL-1) receptor binds and blocks processing of IL-1 beta precursor and loses affinity for IL-1 receptor antagonist. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 92:1714–18
- Hibi M, Murakami M, Saito M, Hirano T, Taga T, Kishimoto T. 1990. Molecular cloning and expression of an IL-6 signal transducer, gp130. *Cell* 63:1149–57
- 129. Novick D, Shulman LM, Chen L, Revel M. 1992. Enhancement of interleukin 6 cytostatic effect on human breast carcinoma cells by soluble IL-6 receptor from urine and reversion by monoclonal antibody. Cytokine 4:6–11
- Arend WP, Dayer J-M. 1990. Cytokines and cytokine inhibitors or antagonists in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 33:305–15
- Roux-Lombard P, Modoux C, Vischer T, Grassi J, Dayer J-M. 1992. Inhibitors of interleukin 1 activity in synovial fluids and in cultured synovial fluid mononuclear cells. J. Rheumatol. 19:517–23
- 132. Firestein GS, Berger AE, Tracey DE, Chosay JG, Chapman DL, Paine MM, Yu C, Zvaifler NJ. 1992. IL-1 receptor antagonist protein production and gene expression in rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis synovium. J. Immunol. 149:1054–62
- 133. Koch AE, Kunkel SL, Chensue SW, Haines GK, Strieter RM. 1992. Expression of interleukin-1 and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist by human rheumatoid synovial tissue macrophages. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 65:23–29
- Malyak M, Swaney RE, Arend WP. 1993. Levels of synovial fluid interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in rheumatoid arthritis and other arthropathies. *Arthritis Rheum.* 36:781–89
- 135. Firestein GS, Boyle DL, Yu C, Paine MM, Whisenand TD, Zvaifler NJ, Arend WP. 1994. Synovial interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and interleukin-1 balance in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 37:644–52
- Miller LC, Lynch EA, Isa S, Logan JW, Dinarello CA, Steere AC. 1993. Balance of synovial fluid IL-1β and IL-1 receptor antagonist and recovery from Lyme arthritis. *Lancet* 341:146–48

436 FELDMANN, BRENNAN & MAINI

- 137. Pettipher ER, Higgs GA, Henderson B. 1986. Interleukin 1 induces leukocyte infiltration and cartilage proteoglycan degradation in the synovial joint. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83:8749–53
- 138. Henderson B, Pettipher ER. 1989. Arthritogenic actions of recombinant IL-1 and tumour necrosis factor α in the rabbit: evidence for synergistic interactions between cytokines in vivo. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 75:306–10
- Hom JT, Bendele AM, Carlson DG. 1988. In vivo administration with IL-1 accelerates the development of collagen-induced arthritis in mice. J. Immunol. 141:834–41
- Van De Loo AAJ, Arntz OJ, Van Den Berg WB. 1992. Flare-up of experimental arthritis in mice with murine recombinant IL-1. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 87:196–202
- 141. Cooper WO, Fava RA, Gates CA, Cremer MA, Townes AS. 1992. Acceleration of onset of collagen-induced arthritis by intra-articular injection of tumour necrosis factor or transforming growth factorbeta. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 89:244–50
- 142. Brahn E, Peacock DJ, Banquerigo ML, Liu DY. 1992. Effects of tumor necrosis factor α (TNF-α) on collagen arthritis. *Lymphokine Cytokine Res.* 11:253–56
- 143. Thorbecke GJ, Shah R, Leu CH, Kuruvilla AP, Hardison AM, Palladino MA. 1992. Involvement of endogenous tumour necrosis factor α and transforming growth factor β during induction of collagen type II arthritis in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 89:7375–79
- 144. Piguet PF, Grau GE, Vesin C, Loetscher H, Gentz R, Lesslauer W. 1992. Evolution of collagen arthritis in mice is arrested by treatment with anti-tumour necrosis factor (TNF) antibody or a recombinant soluble TNF receptor. *Immunology* 77:510–14
- 145. Williams RO, Feldmann M, Maini RN. 1992. Anti-tumor necrosis factor ameliorates joint disease in murine collageninduced arthritis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 89:9784–88
- 146. Wooley PH, Dutcher J, Widmer MB, Gillis S. 1993. Influence of a recombinant human soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor FC fusion protein on type II collagen-induced arthritis in mice. J. Immunol. 151:6602–7
- 147. Williams RO, Ghrayeb J, Feldmann M, Maini RN. 1995. Successful therapy of collagen-induced arthritis with TNF receptor-IgG fusion protein and combination with anti-CD4. *Immunology* 84:433– 39
- 148. Wooley PH, Whalen JD, Chapman DL,

Berger AE, Richard KA, Aspar DG, Staite ND. 1993. The effect of an interleukin-1 receptor antagonist protein on type II collagen-induced arthritis and antigeninduced arthritis in mice. *Arthritis Rheum.* 36:1305–14

- 149. Van Den Berg WB, Joosten LAB, Helsen M, Van De Loo FAJ. 1994. Amelioration of established murine collagen-induced arthritis with anti-IL-1 treatment. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 95:237–43
- Bottazzo GF, Pujol-Borrell R, Hanafusa T, Feldmann M. 1983. Hypothesis: role of aberrant HLA-DR expression and antigen presentation in the induction of endocrine autoimmunity. *Lancet* ii:1115–19
- Londei M, Bottazzo GF, Feldmann M. 1985. Human T-cell clones from autoimmune thyroid glands: specific recognition of autologous thyroid cells. *Science* 228:85–89
- Londei M, Lamb JR, Bottazzo GF, Feldmann M. 1984. Epithelial cells expressing aberrant MHC class II determinants can present antigen to cloned human T cells. *Nature* 312:63941
- 153. Dayan CM, Londei M, Corcoran AE, Grubeck-Loebenstein B, James RF, Rapoport B, Feldmann M. 1991. Autoantigen recognition by thyroidinfiltrating T cells in Graves disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:7415–19
- Sarvetnick N, Liggitt D, Pitts SL, Hansen SE, Stewart TA. 1988. Insulin dependent diabetes mellitus induced in transgenic mice by ectopic expression of class II MHC and interferon-gamma. *Cell* 52:773–82
- 155. Sarvetnick N, Shizuru J, Liggitt D, Martin L, McIntyre B, Gregory A, Parslow T, Stewart T. 1990. Loss of pancreatic islet tolerance induced by β-cell expression of interferon-γ. Nature 346:844–47
- 156. Mauritz NJ, Holmdahl R, Jonsson R, Van der Meide PH, Scheynius A, Klareskog L. 1988. Treatment with gamma-interferon triggers the onset of collagen arthritis in mice. Arthritis Rheum. 31:1297–1304
- Williams RO, Williams DG, Feldmann M, Maini RN. 1993. Increased limb involvement in murine collagen-induced arthritis following treatment with anti-IFN-γ. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 92:323–27
- 158. Boissier M-C, Chiocchia G, Hajnal J, Garotta G, Nicoletti F, Fournier C. 1995. Biphasic effect of interferon-γ in murine collagen-induced arthritis. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:1184–90
- 159. Gowen M, Mundy GG. 1986. Actions of recombinant interlukin-1, interleukin 2,
and interferon gamma on bone resorption in vitro. J. Immunol. 136:2478-82

- Keffer J, Probert L, Cazlaris H, Georgopoulos S, Kaslaris E, Kioussis D, Kollias G. 1991. Transgenic mice expressing human tumour necrosis factor: a predictive genetic model of arthritis. *EMBO J*. 10:4025–31
- Probert L, Plows D, Kontogeorgos G, Kollias G. 1995. The type 1 interleukin-1 receptor acts in series with tumor necrosis factor (TNF) to induce arthritis in TNF-transgenic mice. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:1794–97
- McInnes I, Field M, Wilkins D, Lieu FY. 1996. IL-15 expression in rheumatoid arthritis. *Nature Med* In Press
- Taga K, Cherney B, Tosato G. 1993. IL-10 inhibits apoptotic cell death in human T cells starved of IL-2. *Int. Immunol.* 5:1599–1608
- Levy Y, Brouet JC. 1994. Interleukin-10 prevents spontaneous death of germinal center B cells by induction of the bcl-2 protein. J. Clin. Invest. 93:424–28
- 165. Quayle AJ, Chomarat P, Miossec P, Kjeldsen-Kragh J, Forre O, Natvig JB. 1993. Rheumatoid inflammatory T-cell clones express mostly Th1 but also Th2 and mixed (Th0-like) cytokine patterns. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 38:75–82
- 166. Fiorentino DF, Bond MW, Mosmann TR. 1989. Two types of mouse T helper cell. IV. Th2 clones secrete a factor that inhibits cytokine production by Th1 clones. J. Exp. Med. 170:2081–95
- 167. Del Prete G, De Carli M, Almerigogna F, Giudizi MG, Biagiotti R, Romagnani S. 1993. Human IL-10 is produced by both type 1 helper (Th1) and type 2 helper (Th2) T cell clones and inhibits their antigen-specific proliferation and cy-tokine production. J. Immunol. 150:353–60
- 168. Chu CQ, Field M, Allard S, Abney E, Feldmann M, Maini RN. 1992. Detection of cytokines at the cartilage/pannus junction in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: implications for the role of cytokines in cartilage destruction and repair. Br. J. Rheumatol. 31:653–61
- 169. Dayer J-M, Beutler B, Cerami A. 1985. Cachectin/tumor necrosis factor stimulates collagenase and prostaglandin E2 production by human synovial cells and dermal fibroblasts. J. Exp. Med. 162:2163–68
- Dayer J-M, de Rochemonteix B, Burrus B, Semczuk S, Dinerello CA. 1986. Human recombinant interleukin 1 stimulates

collagenase and prostaglandin E2 production by human synovial cells and dermal fibroblasts. J. Exp. Med. 77:645–48

- 171. Thomas BM, Mundy GR, Chambers TJ. 1987. Tumour necrosis factor α and β induce osteoblastic cells to stimulate osteoclast bone resorption. J. Immunol. 138:775–80
- Roodman GD. 1992. Interleukin-6: an osteotrophic factor? J. Bone. Miner. Res. 7:475–78
- 173. Poli V, Balena R, Fattori E, Markatos A, Yamamoto M, Tanaka H, Ciliberto G, Rodan GA, Constantini F. 1994. Interleukin-6 deficient mice are protected from bone loss caused by estrogen depletion. *Embo* J. 13:1189–96
- 174. Hughes FJ, Howells GL. 1993. Interleukin-11 inhibits bone formation in vitro. *Calcif. Tissue Int.* 53:362–64
- 175. Martin TJ, Allan EH, Evely RS, Reid IR. 1992. Leukaemia inhibitory factor and bone cell function. In *Ciba Foundation Symposium: Polyfunctional Cytokines: IL-6 & LIF*, ed. GR Bock, J Marsh, pp. 141–55. Chichester: Wiley
- Bresnihan B, Mulherin D, FitzGerald O. 1995. Synovial pathology and articular erosion in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheuma*tol. Eur. 24 (S):158–60
- 177. van den Berg WB. 1995. Uncoupling of inflammation and joint destruction in arthritis: pivotal role of interleukin 1 in destruction. *Rheumatol. Eur.* 24 (S):161– 63
- 178. Fenner H, Gallati H, Schattenkirchner M, Taylor D, Folkers G, Zueger S. 1995. Immunogenetic profiles, immunochemical markers for disease severity and clinical course of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatol. Eur.* 24:26–28
- Folkman J. 1995. Angiogenesis in cancer, vascular, rheumatoid and other disease. *Nature Med.* 1:27–30
- Peacock DJ, Banquerigo ML, Brahn E. 1992. Angiogenesis inhibition suppresses collagen arthritis. J. Exp. Med. 175:1135– 38
- Oliver SJ, Banquerigo ML, Brahn E. 1994. Suppression of collagen-induced arthritis using an angiogenesis inhibitor, AGM-1470, and a microtubule stabilizer, taxol. *Cell. Immunol.* 157:291–99
- Colville-Nash PR, Scott DL. 1992. Angiogenesis and rheumatoid arthritis: pathogenic and therapeutic implications. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 51:919–25
- 183. Ferrara N, Houck KA, Jakeman LB, Winer J, Leung DW. 1991. The vascular endothelial growth factor family of

polypeptides. J. Cell. Biochem. 47:211– 18

- 184. Fava RA, Olsen NJ, Spencer-Green G, Yeo KT, Yeo TK, Berse B, Jackman RW, Senger DR, Dvorak HF, Brown LF. 1994. Vascular permeability factor/endothelial growth factor (VPF/VEGF): accumulation and expression in human synovial fluids and rheumatoid synovial tissue. J. Exp. Med. 180:341–46
- 185. Koch AE, Harlow LA, Haines GK, Amento EP, Unemori EN, Wong WL, Pope RM, Ferrara N. 1994. Vascular endothelial growth factor. A cytokine modulating endothelial function in rheumatoid arthritis. J. Immunol. 152:4149–56
- Tuder RM, Flook BE, Voelkel NF. 1995. Increased gene expression for VEGF and the VEGF receptors KDR/Flk and fit in lungs exposed to acute or to chronic hypoxia. J. Clin. Invest. 95:1798–1807
- 187. Shweiki D, Itin A, Soffer D, Keshet E. 1992. Vascular endothelial growth factor induced by hypoxia may mediate hypoxia-initiated angiogenesis. *Nature* 359:843–45
- Blake DR, Unsworth J, Outhwaite JM, Morris CJ, Merry P, Kidd BL, Ballard L, Gray L. 1989. Hypoxic-reperfusion injury in the inflamed human joint. *Lancet* 8633:289–93
- Koch AE, Polverini PJ, Kunkel SL, Harlow LA, DiPietro LA, Elner VM, Elner SG, Strieter RM. 1992. Interleukin-8 as a macrophage-derived mediator of angiogenesis. *Science* 258:1798–1801
- 190. Knight DM, Trinh H, Le J, Siegel S, Shealy D, McDonough D, Scallon B, Arevalo Moore M, Vilcek J, Daddona P, Ghrayeb J. 1993. Construction and initial characterisation of a mouse-human chimaeric anti-TNF antibody. *Mol. Immunol.* 30:1443–53
- 191. Feldmann M, Brennan FM, Chantry D, Haworth C, Turner M, Abney E, Buchan G, Barrett K, Barkley D, Chu A, Field M, Maini RN. 1990. Cytokine production in the rheumatoid joint: implications for treatment. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 49:480–86
- 192. Brennan FM, Maini RN, Feldmann M. 1992. TNFα-a pivotal role in rheumatoid arthritis? Br. J. Rheumatol. 31:293–98
- Winter G, Harris WJ. 1993. Humanized antibodies. *Immunol. Today* 14:243–46
- 194. Elliott MJ, Maini RN, Feldmann M, Long-Fox A, Charles P, Katsikis P, Brennan FM, Walker J, Bijl H, Ghrayeb J, Woody J. 1993. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with chimeric monoclonal antibodies to TNFα. Arthritis Rheum. 36:1681–90

- 195. Elliott MJ, Maini RN, Feldmann M, Kalden JR, Antoni C, Smolen JS, Leeb B, Breedveld FC, Macfarlane JD, Bijl H, Woody JN. 1994. Randomised double blind comparison of a chimaeric monoclonal antibody to tumour necrosis factor α (cA2) versus placebo in rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet* 344:1105–10
- 196. Paulus HE, Egger MJ, Ward JR, Williams HJ. 1990. Analysis of improvement in individual rheumatoid arthritis patients treated with disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs, based on the findings in patients treated with placebo. *Arthritis Rheum.* 33:477–84
- 197. Maini RN, Elliott MJ, Long-Fox A, Feldmann M, Kalden JR, Antonio C, Smolen JS, Leeb B, Breedveld FC, MacFarlane JD, Bijl H, Woody JN. 1995. Clinical response of rheumatoid (RA) to anti TNFα (cA2) monoclonal antibody (mab) is related to administered dose and persistence of circulating antibody. Presented at Am. Coll. Rheumatol. Meet. San Francisco, CA, USA. (Suppl.) (Abstr.) S200
- 198. Elliott MJ, Maini RN, Feldmann M, Long-Fox A, Charles P, Bijl H, Woody JN. 1994. Repeated therapy with monoclonal antibody to tumour necrosis factor α (cA2) in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet* 344:1125–27
- 199. Wolfe F, Mitchell DM, Sibley JT, Fries JF, Bloch DA, Williams CA, Spitz PW, Haga M, Kleinheksel SM, Cathey MA. 1994. The mortality of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 37:481–94
- Silverman HA, Johnson JS, Vaughan JH, McGlamory JC. 1976. Altered lymphocyte reactivity in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 19:509–15
- Emery P, Panayi GS, Nouri AME. 1984. Interleukin-2 reverses deficient cellmediated immune responses in rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 57:123– 29
- Lotz M, Tsoukas CD, Robinson CA, Dinarello CA, Carson DA, Vaughan JH. 1986. Basis for defective responses of rheumatoid synovial fluid lymphocytes to anti-CD3 (T3) antibodies. J. Clin. Invest. 78:713–21
- 203. Cope AP, Londei M, Chu NR, Cohen SB, Elliott MJ, Brennan FM, Maini RN, Feldmann M. 1994. Chronic exposure to tumor necrosis factor (TNF) in vitro impairs the activation of T cells through the T cell receptor/CD3 complex; reversal in vivo by anti-TNF antibodies in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J. Clin. Invest. 94:749–60

- Elliott MJ, Antonio C, Kalden J, Feldmann M, Maini RN. 1995. Cell-mediated immunity in RA patients treated with monoclonal anti TNFa (cA2). Submitted
- Yung RL, Richardson BC. 1994. Druginduced lupus. *Rheumatic Dis. Clinics N. America* 1:61–86
- Jacob CO, McDevitt HO. 1988. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha in murine autoimmune 'lupus' nephritis. *Nature* 331:356– 58
- Ishida H, Muchamuel T, Sakaguchi S, Andrade S, Menon S, Howard M. 1994. Continuous administration of anti-interleukin 10 antibodies delays onset of autoimmunity in NZB/W F1 mice. J. Exp. Med. 179:305–10
- Maini RN, Elliott MJ, Charles PJ, Feldmann M. 1994. Immunological intervention reveals reciprocal roles for TNFα and IL-10 in rheumatoid arthritis and SLE. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 16:327– 36
- 209. Rankin ECC, Choy EHS, Kassimos D, Kingsley GH, Sopwith SM, Isenberg DA, Panayi GS. 1995. The therapeutic effects of an engineered human anti-tumour necrosis factor α antibody (CD571) in rheumatoid arthritis. Br. J. Rheum. 34:334–42
- 210. Loetscher H, Gentz R, Zulauf M, Lustig A, Tabuchi H, Schlaeger E-J, Brockhaus M, Gallati H, Manneberg M, Lesslauer W. 1991. Recombinant 55-kDa tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor. Stoichiometry of binding to TNFα and TNFβ and inhibition of TNF activity. J. Biol. Chem. 266:18324–29
- 211. Moreland LW, Margolies GR, Heck LW, Saway PA, Jacobs C, Beck C, Blosch C, Koopman WJ. 1994. Soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor (sTNFR): results of a phase I dose escalation study in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 32: S295 (Suppl.) (Abstr.)
- Moreland LW, Koopman WJ. 1995. Results of a phase 1 trial using recombinant soluble tumour necrosis factor (p80) fusion protein to treat rheumatoid arthritis. In press
- Beutler B, Cerami A. 1989. The biology of cachectin/TNF-α primary mediator of the host response. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 7:625–55
- 214. Charles P, Potter A, Elliott M, Cope A, Woody J, Feldmann M, Maini RN. 1995. Regulation of sTNF-R and IL-6 following TNF blockade in RA: in vivo evidence for a cytokine cascade. Presented at Am. Coll. Rheumatol. Meet., San Francisco,

October. Arth. Rheum. 38 (Suppl.) (Abstr.) S1195

- 215. Paleolog EM, Taylor PC, Hunt M, Tak PP, Elliott MJ, Feldmann M, Breedveld FC, Maini RN. 1995. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with antibody to TNFa decreases expression and shedding of Eselectin. Presented at Am. Coll. Rheumatol. Meet., San Francisco, October. Arth. Rheum. 38 (Suppl.) (Abstr.) S757
- 216. Tak PP, Taylor PC, Breedveld FC, Macfarlane JD, Smeets T, Daha MR, Kluin PM, Meinders AE, Maini RN. 1995. Infiltrate analysis of rheumatoid synovial tissue before and after anti-TNFα monoclonal antibody treatment. Presented at Am. Coll. Rheumatol. Meet., San Francisco, October
- Gearing AJH, Newman W. 1993. Circulating adhesion molecules in disease. *Immunol. Today* 14:506–12
- Leeuwenberg JF, Smeets EF, Neefjes JJ, Shaffer MA, Cinek T, Jeunhomme TM, Ahern TJ, Buurman WA. 1992. E-selectin and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 are released by activated human endothelial cells in vitro. *Immunology*77:543–49
- Pigott R, Dillon LP, Hemingway IH, Gearing AJ. 1992. Soluble forms of E-selectin, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 are present in the supernatants of cytokine activated cultured endothelial cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 187:584–89
- Wellicome SM, Kapahi P, Mason JC, Lebranchu Y, Yarwood H, Haskard DO. 1993. Detection of a circulating form of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1: raised levels in rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 92:412–18
- 221. Paleolog EM, Hunt M, Elliott KJ, Taylor PC, Woody JN, Feldmann M, Maini RN. 1996. Monoclonals anti-TNFα antibody deactivate vascular endophelium in rhematoid arthritis *Aithritis & Rheum*. In Press
- 222. Campion G, Witt K, Musikic P, Lookabaugh J, Catalanao M. 1994. The effect of dose and dose frequency on disease activity in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) with subcutaneous administration of recombinant human interleukin (1) receptor antagonist (ANAKINRA). Br. J. Rheumatol. 33:97 (Abstracts Suppl. 1) (Abstr.)
- 223. Drevlow B, Capezio J, Lovis R, Jacobs C, Landay A, Pope RM. 1993. Phase I study of recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor (RHU11L-1R) administered in-traarticularly in active rheumatoid. Arthri-

440 FELDMANN, BRENNAN & MAINI

tis Rheum. 36:S39 (Suppl.) (Abstr.)

224. Drevlow B, Louis R, Haag MA, Sinacore J, Jacobs C, Blosch G, Beck C, Landay A, Moreland L, Pope RM. 1994. Phase I study of recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor (RHU IL-1R) administered subcutaneously in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum.

37:S339 (Suppl.) (Abstr.)

- Wendling D, Racadot E, Wijdenes J. 1993. Treatment of severe rheumatoid arthritis by anti-interleukin 6 monoclonal antibody. J. Rheumatol. 20:259–62
- Wijdenes J, Racadot E, Wendling D. 1994. Interleukin 6 antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis. J. Interferon Res. 14:297–98



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES

Simon D. Wagner and Michael S. Neuberger

Medical Research Council Laboratory of Molecular Biology, Hills Road, Cambridge CB2 2QH, England

KEY WORDS: affinity maturation, antibody, germinal centre, intrinsic hotspots

ABSTRACT

The relationship between somatic hypermutation and affinity maturation in the mouse is delineated. Recent work on the anatomical and cellular site of this process is surveyed. The molecular characteristics of somatic hypermutation are described in terms of the region mutated and the distinctive patterns of nucleotide changes that are observed. The results of experiments utilizing transgenic mice to find out the minimum *cis*-acting sequences required to recruit hypermutation are summarized. The hypothesis that V gene sequences have evolved in order to target mutation to certain sites but not others is discussed. The use that different species make of somatic hypermutation to generate either the primary or secondary B cell repertoire is considered. Possible molecular mechanisms for the hypermutation process and future goals of research are outlined.

INTRODUCTION

To find out the structural basis for the great functional diversity of antibodies (1) was an early focus of research in immunology. The answer was gradually revealed. The elucidation of the four chain structure (2) led to the question of how individual heavy and light chain molecules could vary so as to be able to recognize different antigens and yet maintain the same basic structure. Sequencing of monoclonal immunoglobulins obtained from patients with myeloma (3, 4, 5) showed that the amino-terminal domains of the polypeptide chains were heterogeneous, whereas the carboxy-terminal domains fell into a restricted number of classes. How could the genetic information for heavy and light chain molecules 441

be encoded so as to produce such a structure? Was every antibody sequence represented in the germline or were there a limited number of germline elements that underwent somatic diversification?

Somatic hypermutation, which is the alteration of a germline immunoglobulin sequence by introduction of nucleotide changes during the lifetime of a B cell, was originally postulated to provide an answer to such questions and was conceived to be a mechanism that could contribute, in part or in entirety, to antibody diversity (6, 7).

The major outcome of the initial characterization of the immunoglobulin gene loci by molecular cloning was that the somatic recombination of different germline-encoded gene segments constituted a principal source of immunoglobulin diversity (8, 9). The first indications that antibodies contained differences from each other came from sequencing of ten λ light chains from mouse myeloma proteins (10). This revealed that six were the same (the putative germline sequence), whereas the others bore one or two differences. Cloning of the mouse $V_{\lambda}1$ germline gene (11) allowed the definitive demonstration that these $V_{\lambda}1$ sequences from myelomas contained differences from the germline and that somatic hypermutation had occurred. Other studies analyzing immunoglobulins produced by various mouse myelomas and plasmacytomas (12–15) reached similar conclusions.

Much of the early evidence that somatic hypermutation accompanied the affinity maturation of antibodies came from studies in the mouse, and this is the species on which most of this review is focused.

SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION AND AFFINITY MATURATION

During the course of an immune response, the affinity of serum immunglobulin for antigen typically increases (16–18). Early work showed that structural alterations occurred in the antibodies produced during an immune response (19), but their exact nature was not known.

Somatic hypermutation plays a central role in antibody affinity maturation and is in large part responsible for the production of the secondary repertoire (20–30). This secondary repertoire is constituted by cells, which show improved antigen binding characteristics, and which are themselves descended from B lymphocytes triggered by the initial antigen challenge. The nature of these changes has been systematically investigated by immunizing with several different model haptens, e.g. *p*-azophenylarsonate (23, 24), 2-phenyl-5oxazolone (25–28), phosphorylcholine (29, 30), and 4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenylacetyl (31, 32). Sequencing of the V genes from hybridomas producing antigen-specific antibody revealed two types of changes during the immune response. First, the immunoglobulin genes were usually expressed in mutated form with the degree of mutation increasing during the course of the response. For example, following immunization with 2-phenyl-5-oxazolone (27, 28), there were essentially no mutations at day 7 (following primary immunization), but the extent of mutation was such that by day 14 no identical sequences were found. Second, the repertoire of germline V genes used in the response shifted. Thus, at day 7 and to a lesser extent at day 14, a V_HOx1/V_kOx1 gene combination predominated. Following secondary immunization, V_H/V_L gene combinations other than V_HOx1/V_kOx1 were found with greater frequency. This phenomenon, designated a repertoire shift, has also been found in other systems (31–33).

Improvements in antibody–antigen binding affinity can be brought about by alterations to the kinetic parameters of binding, namely on-rate and off-rate. In the 2-phenyl-5-oxazolone system, improvements to the $V_HOx1/V_\kappa Ox1$ pair are frequently achieved by decreasing the off-rate. By contrast, the repertoire shift away from $V_HOx1/V_\kappa Ox1$ is characterized by moving to antibodies that exhibit a high on-rate. It is these latter antibodies and their derivatives that dominate the later stages of the response (34), although the combination of $V_\kappa Ox1$ with alternative V_H genes is also found. It may be that the deep antigen binding pocket in $V_HOx1/V_\kappa Ox1$ limits the effective on-rate and that antibodies with a different geometry would not be so hampered and could give rise to further improvements. However, many secondary response antibodies use $V_\kappa Ox1$ with different V_H genes, e.g. members of the MOPC21 or J558 gene families (28). Generalization as to what germline genes will constitute a potential high affinity antibody is, therefore, not possible because on-going mutation may alter, i.e. either improve or worsen, the binding.

The course of the response to 2-phenyl-5-oxazolone is accompanied by a 100fold increase in the antibody affinity for the antigen (28). Despite the influence of repertoire shift mentioned above, a striking correlation emerges between stage of immunization (primary, secondary, or tertiary), degree of somatic hypermutation and increase in affinity. Direct proof that somatic hypermutation alone can be responsible for alterations in binding affinity has come from several different lines of evidence. V_{κ} Ox1 light chains bearing single mutations were allowed to combine with the unmutated V_HOx1 heavy chains (35), and affinities were measured. The substitution of His34 by glutamine or asparagine increases affinity by about tenfold. In an alternative approach, decrease in affinity for antigen was directly attributed to somatic hypermutation (36). Hybridomas producing an antibody of specific idiotype (normally with a high affinity for p-azophenylarsonate) were established, and those that had barely detectable

444 WAGNER & NEUBERGER

affinity for this antigen were selected. Extensive somatic hypermutation of the canonical sequence implies that this process is responsible for the abolition of antigen binding. A third line of evidence was derived from mutagenesis experiments. The germline gene V_H 186.2 encodes most antibodies against the hapten 4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl acetyl in C57BL/6 mice. A point mutation that causes Trp33 to be changed to leucine occurs in most high affinity antibodies. This nucleotide substitution was introduced into a germline gene, and the affinity was thereby raised tenfold (37). Conversely when an antibody bearing this mutation as well as many others was mutagenized in order to restore the wild-type sequence, the affinity dropped.

CELLULAR ASPECTS

Germinal centers are located in the secondary lymphoid follicles in the peripheral lymph nodes of human and mouse. Their involvement in somatic hypermutation was suspected from the temporal association between their development and the maturation of the immune response.

About 4 days following immunization, B lymphocytes migrate to primary lymphoid follicles, where they proliferate. Germinal centers then develop during the ensuing 3–6 days (38). Histologically, germinal centers can be divided into a basal dark zone of proliferating centroblasts and an apical light zone containing centrocytes (the progeny of centroblasts) as well as a network of follicular dendritic cells able to hold antigen on their surface (39, 40). By 3 to 4 weeks, centroblasts and centrocytes can no longer be found.

Proof that mutation occurs in germinal centers has come from immunohistology (38), sequencing of antibody genes from B cells within and without germinal centers (41), and sequencing of antibody genes from individual germinal centers (42). The mutating population of human B cells has been further characterized by sorting of tonsillar cells for expression of various surface markers and then sequencing antibody genes within these populations (43). From this study, it has been inferred that hypermutation occurs in surface IgD⁻, CD23⁻ centroblasts, but not in their precursor cells which express these two markers.

Peripheral blood contains B cells of differing origins and maturity. Both newly produced lymphocytes that have just been selected from the bone marrow into the peripheral blood and memory B cells will be present. Analysis of human peripheral blood B cells fractionated according to surface expression of IgM and IgD (44) shows, as expected, that naive IgM⁺IgD⁺ cells express V_k genes with virtually no somatic hypermutation, whereas memory cells (IgM⁻IgD⁻) bear highly mutated genes. The effect of the age of the animal on the degree of somatic hypermutation has been investigated in two systems. In mouse Peyer's patches, the proportion of lymphocytes that bear mutations increases gradually from birth and peaks at 5 months of age (45). In the case of humans, mutated V gene sequences have been recovered from the tonsils of a four-year-old child (46).

The germinal center is the site of both B cell proliferation and selection. The interplay between these processes must be regulated to generate efficiently B cells that produce high affinity antibodies. It has been inferred from mathematical modeling that cycling between distinct phases of proliferation and selection is the best way to achieve this outcome (47). The rationale is that a large pool of cells is produced during the proliferative phase which will increase the likelihood that an advantageous mutation will be produced and subsequently selected. If this theory is correct, then roles can speculatively be assigned to the populations of B cells found in actual germinal centers (48). It may be that centroblasts in the basal dark zone represent the proliferating population in which there is ongoing somatic hypermutation and that selection occurs following the interaction between centrocytes and follicular dendritic cells in the apical light zone. A corollary to this view of events within a single germinal center is that B cells can go through multiple cycles of proliferation and selection. One would predict that the evolution of highly mutated clones from those bearing fewer mutations could then be discerned. This has been substantiated (49-51) by analysis of B cells picked individually from germinal centers.

THE MUTATIONS

The Mutation Domain

Extensive analysis of somatic mutations in antibodies has revealed that mutations are largely confined to the variable domains and are rarely found in the constant domains (51–55). While they are detected throughout the variable domain, it is mutations in the complementarity-determining regions (CDRs) (28, 56) that have most frequently been implicated in improved antigen binding—a finding consistent with the fact that it is the CDRs that play the major role in direct antigen contact.

Mutations largely occur over a region of one to two kilobases, around the rearranged V-J gene segments (52, 57). They do not usually extend into the C-region, although rare mutations in the mouse $C\lambda 1$ gene have been described (55). On this point it may be relevant that, at the mouse λ loci, the C genes are quite close to the J clusters.

The mutation domain extends from a 5' site within the leader intron (58–61), although sequences upstream of the transcriptional start site do mutate at a lower frequency (57–59), and continues through the V gene well into the J-C intron (62). Mutations occur in the framework regions as well as the hypervariable

446 WAGNER & NEUBERGER

regions of the rearranged V gene segments (14). Support for the concept that the process is targeted to a specific region of DNA came from the finding that nonfunctional V genes also bear mutations (63). Although most nucleotides in or close to the V segment can mutate, the mutations tend to be found in the complementarity determining regions (58, 59, and see below) rather than being randomly spread out.

Nature of the Mutations

The nature of the mutations observed in antigen-selected B cells will be determined by (i) the mutations that were originally generated in the germinal center, together with (ii) selection by antigen for those B cells carrying mutations that confer a selective advantage. The effect of skewing by antigenic selection can be considerable. For example, most day 14 hybridomas producing 2-phenyl-5-oxazolone-specific antibodies and that use the V_HOx1/V_{κ}Ox1 combination carry mutations in the His34 codon of V_{κ}Ox1 (27). A similarly dominant mutation of Trp33 to leucine is found in the V_H genes of B cells selected in response to 4-hydroxy-3-nitrophenylacetyl (31). These mutations, which characteristically are both in complementarity determining regions, are rarely found when these V genes are selected by other antigens (62, 64, 65).

How can the intrinsic specificity of the mutational mechanism (i.e. removed from the skewing effects of antigen selection) be studied? There have been studies of mutations in V-region flanking sequences (58–62) where antigenic selection does not operate, and the presence of hotspots that do not cause amino acid replacements has been documented (28). More recently, the fact that the immunoglobulin transgenes can act as substrates for hypermutation (66) has been exploited to analyze the intrinsic features of the hypermutation mechanism. Information has been gleaned from experiments in which either the transgene does not contribute to the expressed antibody of the cell [and is acting as a silent passenger target for mutation (67)] or in which the transgene is contributing to the antibodies directed against a wide variety of antigens and in which there is, therefore, no dominant skewing by a single antigen (64, 65). Here we focus on those aspects of mutation that appear intrinsic as they may give clues to the molecular mechanism responsible for the mutational process.

Nucleotide Substitution Preferences

The mutations introduced during hypermutation are predominantly single nucleotide substitutions (rather than insertions or deletions) (14, 15, 52), although they show a slightly increased tendency to occur in clusters (68). Transitions are commoner than transversions and, furthermore, as assessed on the coding strand, G bases are mutated more often than C bases and A's more than T's. This implies that the hypermutation machinery can discriminate between the

two DNA strands—i.e. there is strand polarity (67). This pattern of base substitutions is not restricted to transgenes but has also been found in human V_H genes from splenic B cells (69)—a population selected by many antigens so that the effects of selection by individual antigens can be ignored. However, heterologous genes, i.e. nonimmunoglobulin, behave in a more complicated fashion (70). A bacterial *neo* gene showed the characteristic polarity observed for immunoglobulin genes, but bacterial *gpt* and human β globin genes did not.

Hotspots

Mutations are not targeted randomly along the length of the V gene. Some residues are frequently targeted (hotspots), others rarely (coldspots). Hotspots can be defined, at least in part, by local DNA sequence. A consensus sequence Pu-G-Py- (where Pu = [A or G] and Py = [C or T]) has been proposed (71) as a favored target for mutation. Indeed, three of the major intrinsic hotspots that have been identified in the V_{κ} Ox1 gene are all located in serine codons (Ser26, 31 and 77) that are encoded by AGPy triplets and conform to this consensus. The Pu-G-Py- $\frac{A}{T}$ consensus can of course be translated in different reading frames, and both glutamine and alanine codons have been found to be hotspots when they occur in the context of this sequence. More recently, analysis of intrinsic hotspots in transgenes that carry nonimmunoglobulin sequences in place of the V segment (70) has lent further support to the proposal that the Pu-G-Py- $\frac{A}{T}$ consensus sequences are favored targets for mutation. However, not all Pu-G-Py- $\frac{A}{T}$ sequences are mutational hotspots, and this consensus is clearly insufficient to define a mutational hotspot. Local DNA features such as palindromes or inverted repeats may well play an important role (28, 72, 73).

GERMLINE V GENE SEQUENCES HAVE EVOLVED TO ENCOURAGE TARGETING OF SOMATIC MUTATION

Given that the hypermutation mechanism is intrinsically nonrandom and given also that it is likely to be more useful to target mutations during antibody affinity maturation to some parts of the antibody molecule (e.g. CDRs) rather than others (e.g. frameworks), it might be that V gene sequences have evolved so that hotspots are strategically located. This appears to be the case. The amino acid serine is unusual in that it is encoded by two types of triplet AGPy (that is, AGC and AGT) and TCN (that is, TCA, TCC, TCG, and TCT). The sequence AGPy conforms to the hotspot consensus; TCN does not. This provides a test of whether codon usage has evolved so as to favor local targeting of hypermutation. Combining these pieces of information suggests the hypothesis that one way of ensuring that serine codons in CDRs are more frequent targets for mutation than serine codons in frameworks would be to favor AGPy triplets for CDR

448 WAGNER & NEUBERGER

serines and TCN triplets for framework serines. This is indeed the case (74). Significantly, in the case of T cell receptor V genes, no equivalent skewed usage of serine codons is observed (74). (Although mutation may occur at low frequency in T cell receptor V β (but not V α) genes (75), there is no evidence of somatic hypermutation playing any role in their functional diversification.) Thus, it appears that the codon usage of immunoglobulin genes has been selected during the course of evolution so that the most mutable residues are in positions where alterations will be most likely to lead to improved affinity.

Interestingly, there are conserved AGPy serines codons in framework 3 of both V_H and V_{κ} genes. The significance of this is uncertain, but given that experimental alterations to sites outside the CDRs can alter antibody affinity (76, 77), an intriguing possibility is that the rare conserved AGPy triplets in the framework regions have similarly been selected for their mutability. It appears that biased serine codon usage may be a general feature of antibody molecule design, because such a usage is also found in *Xenopus* V_H genes (78).

DNA SEQUENCES REQUIRED FOR RECRUITING HYPERMUTATION

Somatic hypermutation is restricted to the region around the rearranged V gene. Mutation is rarely observed in unrearranged V genes (14, 79), and only a low frequency of mutations has been observed in incompletely rearranged heavy chain loci bearing DH-JH integrations (80). Most of what is known about the sequences necessary to recruit hypermutation to the immunoglobulin V gene comes from studies of modified immunoglobulin transgenes.

Enhancer Elements

Most work has been carried out on the mouse κ light chain locus. Immunoglobulin κ transgenes mutate at a low rate (66). This suggested that transgenic animals would provide a useful approach to finding the minimal *cis*-acting sequences necessary for full hypermutation. Certain immunoglobulin κ transgenes hypermutate in a way similar to endogenous κ genes as regards both the type and the frequency of mutation (67, 81, 82). Both the transcription enhancer elements in the κ locus (the 3'-enhancer and the intron-enhancer/matrix attachment region) are necessary for effective hypermutation. The intron-enhancer/matrix attachment region may be the more important of the two because its removal abolishes detectable mutation, whereas constructs lacking the 3'-enhancer continue to mutate although at greatly reduced frequency (64). The other transcriptional regulatory element in the locus, the V_{κ} promoter, does not appear to contain specific sequences necessary for recruiting hypermutation. Transgenes carrying a β -globin promoter in place of the V_{κ} promoter continued to mutate (64). However, such studies do not exclude the possibility that an active promoter is required for hypermutation.

Less is known about the regulatory elements in the heavy chain and λ light chain loci. Although mutation is readily observed in V_H (29, 31, 69) and V λ (62) genes encoded by the endogenous loci, little success has been obtained so far in obtaining hypermutation from constructs bearing rearranged IgH or λ genes (83-85). Presumably, this reflects an absence of necessary cis-acting DNA sequences from the constructs that have so far been tested, although the presence of inhibitory sequences obviously cannot be excluded. In the case of one of the rearranged IgH transgenes (84), mutation of the transgenic $V_{\rm H}$ segment was detected in hybridomas in which trans-switching appeared to have recombined the transgenic V_H into the endogenous IgH locus. This observation supports the idea that the transgene may lack sequences located toward the 3'-end of the IgH locus necessary for proper hypermutation. In contrast to the failure with rearranged IgH transgenes, mutation (albeit probably at low frequency) has been obtained using transgenic IgH mini-loci in which the transgenic V_H segments undergo productive rearrangement to yield an antibody repertoire (86, 87). The reason why limited success is obtained here in contrast to failure with the rearranged IgH genes is unresolved.

The V Domain

Although the V gene is of course the target of hypermutation, several experiments have been conducted to ascertain whether it is required for recruiting hypermutation or whether the hypermutation mechanism can target heterologous sequences in place of the V (88–90). Recent experiments (70) have clearly revealed that the bulk of the V segment is not necessary for recruiting hypermutation. Different constructs lacking the leader, the leader-V intron, or the majority of the V gene segment up to the J segment were all effective as targets for hypermutation. Furthermore, heterologous sequences used to replace the V (a segment of the human β -globin gene or bacterial *neo* or *gpt* genes) all acted as substrates hypermutation. Indeed, the pattern of mutation (i.e. a predominance of nucleotide substitutions and a preference for transitions) in these heterologous targets was similar to that obtained with a V gene although polarity was less marked (70). These heterologous sequences also showed the characteristic nucleotide hotspots (conforming to the Pu-G-Py- $\frac{A}{T}$ consensus). Thus, although the V domain has evolved to act as a hypermutation substrate (see above), it does not actually contain sequences necessary for the recruitment of hypermutation.

In conclusion, the only elements in the immunoglobulin loci known to be required for recruiting hypermutation are in the region of the transcription enhancers. No evidence exists, however, that these elements are sufficient; and

450 WAGNER & NEUBERGER

the identification of the minimum DNA essential for recruiting hypermutation to a heterologous gene awaits definition.

PHYLOGENETIC ASPECTS

In human and mouse, somatic hypermutation seems to be implicated only in the production of the secondary, affinity-matured, antibody repertoire. However, this does not imply that hypermutation arrived late in evolution. Indeed, it contributes to antibody diversification in other mammals, e.g. in sheep (91), probably in rabbits (92), and in frogs (78, 93). There are also strong indications of its importance in even more primitive organisms such as members of the shark family (94).

The involvement of hypermutation in the generation of antibody repertoires in chicken is not fully resolved; the analysis is complicated by the extensive use of gene conversion in this species (97, 98). [Although the possible involvement of gene conversion in antibody diversification in human and mouse has been discussed (97, 98), there is evidence that it does not play a significant role (64, 99). For example, the variability seen in the germline $V_{\kappa}Ox$ family is quite distinct from that seen in mutated $V_{\kappa}Ox1$ genes (64). An exception, however, is the case of a transgene, designed to favor gene conversion, which contains two closely linked V genes (100).]

The role of somatic hypermutation may have diverged in different species. In human and mouse, hypermutation is involved in the formation of the secondary antibody repertoire, whereas in sheep it appears to play a major role in the formation of the primary repertoire (91). This process occurs in the ileal Peyer's patches, and the extent of accumulated mutations is not reduced by attempts to exclude external antigen (91). Thus, somatic hypermutation may not always be intimately linked to antigen selection. Indeed, in primitive vertebrates such as *Xenopus* (93) and the cartilaginous fish (94, 101), hypermutation appears to occur, but the selection of B cells producing high affinity antibodies seems less developed than in mouse. It is noteworthy that germinal centers have not yet been identified in these species.

Hypermutation may first have arisen to diversify the primary immunoglobulin repertoire when only limited combinatorial diversity was available. For example, a member of the shark family, the little skate (*Raja erinacea*), contains light chain genes that are already joined (i.e. V-J integrated) in the germline. There is obviously no combinatorial or junctional diversity in this system, and yet hypermutation may well occur (102). Further support for the antiquity of the hypermutation mechanism is provided by the novel (non-immunoglobulin and non-T cell receptor) antigen receptor genes found in the nurse shark, which undergo extensive somatic hypermutation (103). It has been noted (104), in a comparison of the protein coding sequences of human and mouse, that (similar to the hotspots associated with somatic hypermutation—see Germline V Gene Sequences Have Evolved To Encourage Targeting of Somatic Mutation), AGPy codons are more mutable than TCNs. This suggests that there are features common to evolutionary and somatic hypermutation. One can synthesize the following argument: Somatic hypermutation was initially adapted from a basic cellular mechanism in order to diversify the primary antibody repertoire, which was restricted by lack of combinatorial diversity (105). In such a situation, a strong selective pressure existed for immunoglobulin V gene sequences to evolve in order to ensure that mutation was preferentially targeted to regions whose alteration would be likely to lead to useful diversification. In some more recently evolved species, the hypermutation mechanism has a minor or no role in primary diversification but is more important in affinity maturation, where it occurs in cooperation with a specialized cellular selection machinery.

MECHANISMS FOR SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION

Little is known of the mechanism of somatic hypermutation. The features that must be accounted for in any model of the process are: (*a*) its occurrence during only a short period of B cell development; (*b*) targeting to the rearranged V gene; (*c*) dependence on both the 3' and intron enhancers; (*d*) the mutation domain starting downstream of the promoter and extending well into the J-C intron; (*e*) base substitution preferences, and (*f*) strand polarity.

Various mechanisms for somatic hypermutation have been proposed, for example, gene conversion (97, 98), replication (106) and lag strand DNA synthesis (107). We focus on a further proposal that envisages a role for errorprone DNA synthesis (7) in somatic hypermutation. Indeed, several of the DNA polymerases involved in DNA repair lack the proofreading 3'-to-5' exonuclease activity and therefore manifest a higher degree of misincorporation. Clearly, any model that involves the introduction of mutations not only requires errors/changes to be made to the DNA, but, if these errors are made on only one strand (as, for example, in DNA synthesis or repair), then the mismatches generated must not be repaired back to the original i.e. germline, sequence.

The requirement for the immunoglobulin κ enhancers for full hypermutation draws attention to a possible linkage between hypermutation and transcription. A further association between transcription and a specific form of DNA repair, i.e. nucleotide excision repair, suggests a model for somatic hypermutation involving the transcription factor complex, TFIIH, whose normal function is the recruitment of RNA polymerase II (108, 109). If, for example, sequences in the immunoglobulin locus (e.g. in the intron enhancer/matrix attachment region)

452 WAGNER & NEUBERGER

initiate local or regional single strand nicking, one can envision the TFIIH/ RNA polymerase II complex detecting these nicks on the template strand and recruiting an error-prone DNA polymerase. Such linkage with transcription could explain not only the requirement for the enhancer elements, but also the strand polarity and the fact that the hypermutation domain starts downstream of the promoter.

One of the chief problems in elucidating the mechanism of somatic hypermutation has been the absence of an in vitro system for analysis. Ongoing mutation of immunoglobulin V genes has been observed in B cell follicular lymphomas (110), although hypermutating cell lines derived from such lymphomas have not yet been described. Mutations have been detected during propagation of some mouse myelomas and pre–B cell lymphomas (111, 112), and it will be intriguing to ascertain whether the mutations detected in these tumors arose through a process akin to antibody somatic hypermutation. It may be that the recent improvements in the techniques of culturing and differentiating B lymphocytes in vitro (113, 114) will lead to effective systems for the study of hypermutation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We would like to thank César Milstein for critical reading of this manuscript.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Landsteiner K. 1945. The Specificity of Serological Reactions. Cambridge: Harvard Univ. Press
- Porter RR. 1973. Structural studies of immunoglobulins. *Science* 180:713–18
- Hilschman N, Craig LC. 1965. Amino acid sequence studies with Bence Jones proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 53:1403–9
- Milstein C. 1967. Linked groups of residues in Igκ light chains. Nature 216:330–33
- Wu TT, Kabat EA. 1970. An analysis of the sequence of the variable regions of Bence-Jones proteins and myeloma light chains and their implications for antibody complementarity. *J. Exp. Med.* 132:211– 23
- Lederberg J. 1959. Genes and antibodies. Science 129:1649–53

- Brenner S, Milstein C. 1966. Origin of antibody variation. *Nature* 211:242–43
- Brack C, Hirama M, Lenhard-Schuller R, Tonegawa S. 1978. A complete immunoglobulin gene is created by somatic recombination. *Cell* 15:1–14
- Tonegawa S. 1983. Somatic generation of antibody diversity. *Nature* 302:575–81
- Weigert M, Cesari IM, Yankovich SJ, Cohn M. 1970. Variability in the lambda light chain sequences of mouse antibody. *Nature* 228:1045–47
- Bernard O, Hozumi N, Tonegawa S. 1978. Sequences of mouse immunoglobulin light chain gene before and after somatic changes. *Cell* 15:1133–44
- Valbuena O, Marcu KB, Weigert M, Perry RP. 1978. Multiplicity of germline genes specifying a group of related mouse κ chains with implications for the genera-

tion of immunoglobulin diversity. *Nature* 276:780-84

- Weigert M, Gatmaitan L, Loh E, Schilling J, Hood L. 1978. Rearrangement of genetic information may produce immunoglobulin diversity. *Nature* 276:785– 90
- Selsing E, Storb U. 1981. Somatic mutation of immunoglobulin light-chain variable region genes. *Cell* 25:47–58
- Gershenfeld HK, Tsukamoto A, Weissman IL, Joho R. 1982. Somatic diversification is required to generate the Vκ genes of MOPC511 and MOPC167 myeloma proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78:7674–78
- Heidelberger M, Kendall FE. 1935. A quantitative theory of the precipitation reaction. III. The reaction between crystalline egg albumin and its homologous antibody. J. Exp. Med. 62:697–720
- Jerne NK. 1951. Study of avidity based on rabbit skin responses to diphtheria toxinantitoxin mixtures. Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. Suppl. 87:3–183
- Siskind GW, Benaceraff B. 1969. Cell selection by antigen in the immune response. Adv. Immunol. 10:1–50
- Steiner LA, Eisen HN. 1967. Sequential changes in the relative affinity of antibodies synthesised during the immune response. J. Exp. Med. 126:1161–75
- Rudikoff S, Pawlita M, Pumphrey J, Heller M. 1984. Somatic diversification of immunoglobulins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 81:2162–66
- McKean D, Hüppi K, Bell M, Staudt L, Gerhard W, Weigert M. 1984. Generation of antibody diversity in the immune response of BALB/c mice to influenza virus hemagglutinin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:3180–84
- Sablitzky F, Wildner G, Rajewsky K. 1985. Somatic mutation and clonal expansion of B cells in an antigen driven immune response. *EMBO J.* 4:345–50
- Wysocki L, Manser T, Gefter ML. 1986. Somatic evolution of variable region structures during an immune response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83:1847–51
- Manser T. 1989. Evolution of antibody structure during the immune response. J. Exp. Med. 170:1211–30
- Kaartinen M, Griffiths GM, Hamlyn PH, Markham AF, Karjalainen K, Pelkonen JLT, Mäkelä O, Milstein C. 1983. Antioxazolone light and heavy chain mRNA sequences. J. Immunol. 130:937–45
- Kaartinen M, Griffiths GM, Markham AF, Milstein C. 1983. mRNA sequences de-

fine an unusually restricted IgG response to 2-phenyl-oxazolone and its early diversification. *Nature* 304:320–24

- Griffiths GM, Berek C, Kaartinen M, Milstein C. 1984. Somatic mutation and the maturation of immune response to 2phenyl-oxazolone. *Nature* 312:271–75
- Berek C, Milstein C. 1987. Mutation drift and repertoire shift in the maturation of the immune response. *Immunol. Rev.* 96:23– 41
- Gearhart PJ, Johnson ND, Douglas R, Hood L. 1981. IgG antibodies to phosphorylcholine exhibit more diversity than their IgM counterparts. *Nature* 291:29– 34
- Chien NC, Pollock RR, Desaymard C, Scharff MD. 1988. Point mutations cause the somatic diversification of IgM and IgG2a antiphosphorylcholine antibodies. *J. Exp. Med.* 167:954–73
- Bothwell ALM, Paskind M, Reth M, Imanishi-Kari T, Rajewsky K, Baltimore D. 1981. Heavy chain variable region contribution to the NP^b family of antibodies: somatic mutation evident in a γ-2a variable region. *Cell* 24:625–37
- Reth M, Hämmerling GL, Rajewsky K. 1978. Analysis of the repertoire of anti-NP antibodies in C57BL/6 mice by cell fusion. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 8:393–400
- Boersch-Supan ME, Agarwal S, White-Scharf ME, Imanishi-Kari T. 1985. Heavy chain variable region: multiple gene segments encode anti-4-(hydroxy-3nitrophenyl) acetyl idiotypic antibodies. J. Exp. Med. 161:1272–92
- Foote J, Milstein C. 1991. Kinetic maturation of an immune response. *Nature* 352:530–32
- Milstein C. 1987. Diversity and the genesis of high affinity antibodies. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 15:779–801
- 36. Manser T, Parhami-Seren B, Margolies MN, Gefter ML. 1987. Somatically mutated forms of a major anti-pazophenylarsonate antibody variable region with drastically reduced affinity for p-azophenylarsonate. By-products of an antigen-driven immune response? J. Exp. Med. 166:1456-63
- Allen D, Simon T, Sablitzky F, Rajewsky K, Cumano A. 1988. Antibody engineering for the analysis of affinity maturation of an anti-hapten response. *EMBO* J. 7:1995–2001
- Liu Y-J, Zhang J, Lane PJL, Chan EY-T, MacLennan ICM. 1991. Sites of specific B cell activation in primary and secondary responses to T cell dependent and

T cell independent antigen. Eur. J. Immunol. 21:2951-62

- Tew JG, Mandel TEJ. 1978. The maintenance and regulation of serum antibody levels: evidence indicating a role for antigen retained in lymphoid follicles. J. Immunol. 120:1063–69
- MacLennan ICM. 1991. The centre of hypermutation. *Nature* 354:352–53
- Berek C, Berger A, Apel M. 1991. Maturation of the immune response in germinal centres. *Cell* 67:1121–29
- Jacob J, Kelsoe G, Rajewsky K, Weiss U. 1991. Intraclonal generation of antibody mutants in germinal centres. *Nature* 354:389–92
- Pascual V, Liu Y-J, Magalski A, de Bouteiller O, Banchereau J, Capra JD. 1994. Analysis of somatic mutation in five B cell subsets of human tonsil. J. Exp. Med. 180:329–39
- Klein U, Kuppers R, Rajewsky K. 1993. Human IgM+IgD+ B cells, the major B cell subset in the peripheral blood, express Vκ genes with no or little somatic mutation throughout life. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:3272–77
- 45. González-Fernández A, Gilmore D, Milstein C. 1994. Age related decrease in the proportion of germinal centre B cells from mouse Peyer's patches is accompanied by an accumulation of somatic mutations in their immunoglobulin genes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:2918–21
- 46. Klein U, Küppers R, Rajewsky K. 1994. Variable region gene analysis of B cell subsets derived from a 4-year-old child: somatically mutated memory B cells accumulate in the peripheral blood already at young age. J. Exp. Med. 180:1383–93
- Agur Z, Mazor G, Meilijson I. 1991. Maturation of the humoral immune response as an optimization problem. *Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. B* 245:147–50
- Kepler TB, Perelson AS. 1993. Cyclic reentry of germinal centre B cells and the efficiency of affinity maturation. *Immunol. Today* 14:412–15
- Kuppers R, Zhao M, Hansmann M-L, Rajewsky K. 1993. Tracing B cell development in human germinal centres by molecular analysis of single cells picked from histological sections. *EMBO J.* 12:4955– 67
- Jacob J, Przylepa J, Miller C, Kelsoe G. 1993. *In situ* studies of the primary immune response to (4-hydroxy-3nitrophenyl) acetyl. III. The kinetics of V region mutation and selection in germinal centre B cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 178:1293–307

- Ziegner M, Steinhauser G, Berek C. 1994. Development of antibody diversity in single germinal centers: selective expansion of high affinity variants. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:2393–2400
- Gearhart PJ, Bogenhagen DF. 1983. Clusters of point mutations are found exclusively around rearranged antibody variable genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 80:3439–43
- Altenburger W, Neumaier PS, Steinmetz M, Zachau HG. 1981. DNA sequence of the constant region of the mouse immunoglobulin kappa chain. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 9:971–81
- Kim S, Davis M, Sinn E, Pattern P, Hood L. 1981. Antibody diversity: somatic hypermutation of rearranged V_H genes. *Cell* 27:573–81
- Motoyama N, Okada H, Azuma T. 1991. Somatic mutation in constant regions of mouse λ-1 light chains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:7933–37
- Clarke S, Rickert R, Wloch MK, Staudt L, Gerhard W, Weigert M. 1990. The BALB/c secondary response to the Sb site of influenza virus haemagglutinin. Non random silent mutation and unequal numbers of VH and Vκ mutations. J. Immunol. 145:2286–93
- 57. Lebecque SG, Gearhart PJ. 1990. Boundaries of somatic mutation in rearranged immunoglobulin genes: 5' boundary is near the promoter and 3' boundary is ≈1 kb from V(D)J gene. J. Exp. Med. 172:1717–27
- Rada C, González-Fernández A, Jarvis JM, Milstein C. 1994. The 5' boundary of somatic hypermutation in a Vκ gene is in the leader intron. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:1453–57
- Rogerson BJ. 1994. Mapping the upstream boundary of somatic mutations in rearranged immunoglobulin transgenes and endogenous genes. *Mol. Immunol.* 31:83–98
- Both GW, Taylor L, Pollard JW, Steele EJ. 1990. Distribution of mutations around rearranged heavy chain antibody variableregion genes. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 10:5187–96
- Rothenfluh HS, Taylor L, Bothwell AL, Both G, Steele EJ. 1993. Somatic hypermutation in 5' flanking regions of heavy chain antibody variable regions. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:2152–59
- 62. González-Fernández A, Gupta SK, Pannell R, Neuberger MS, Milstein C. 1994. Somatic mutation of immunoglobulin λ chain: a segment of the major intron hypermutates as much as the complement-

arity-determining regions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:12614–18

- Pech M, Höchtl J, Schuell H, Zachau HG. 1981. Differences between germ-line and rearranged immunoglobulin Vκ coding sequences suggest a localized mutation mechanism. *Nature* 291:668–70
- 64. Betz A, Milstein C, González-Fernández A, Pannell R, Larson T, Neuberger MS. 1994. Elements regulating somatic hypermutation of an immunoglobulin k gene: critical role for the intron enhancer/matrix attachment region. *Cell* 77:239–48
- González-Fernández A, Milstein C. 1993. Analysis of somatic hypermutation in mouse Peyer's patches using immunoglobulin κ light-chain transgenes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:9862–66
- O'Brien RL, Brinster RL, Storb U. 1987. Somatic hypermutation of an immunoglobulin transgene in κ transgenic mice. *Nature* 326:405–9
- Betz AG, Rada C, Pannell R, Milstein C, Neuberger MS. 1993. Passenger transgenes reveal intrinsic specificity of the antibody hypermutation mechanism: clustering, polarity and specific hotspots. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:2385– 88
- Klein R, Jaenichen R, Zachau HG. 1993. Expressed human immunoglobulin κ genes and their hypermutation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:3248–71
- Insel RA, Varade WS. 1994. Bias in somatic hypermutation of human VH genes. *Int. Immunol.* 6:1437–43
- Yélamos J, Klix N, Goyenechea B, Lozano F, Chui YL, González-Fernández A, Pannell R, Neuberger MS, Milstein C. 1995. Somatic hypermutation can efficiently target non-immunoglobulin sequences in place of the V segment. *Nature* 376:225–29
- Rogozin IB, Kolchanov NA. 1992. Somatic hypermutagenesis in immunoglobulin genes. II. Influence of neighbouring base sequences on mutagenesis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1171:11–18
- Golding GB, Gearhart PJ, Glickman BW. 1987. Patterns of somatic mutations in immunoglobulin variable genes. *Genetics* 115:169–77
- Kolchanov NA, Solovyov VV, Rogozin IB. 1987. Peculiarities of immunoglobulin gene structures as a basis for somatic mutation emergence. *FEBS Lett.* 214:87– 90
- Wagner SD, Milstein C, Neuberger MS. 1995. Codon bias targets mutation. *Nature*. 376:732

- Zheng B, Xue W, Kelsoe G. 1994. Locus specific somatic hypermutation in germinal centre T cells. *Nature* 372:556–59
- Lavoie TB, Drohan WN, Smith-Gill SJ. 1992. Experimental analysis by site directed mutagenesis of somatic mutation effects on affinity and fine specificity in antibodies specific for lysozyme. J. Immunol. 148:503–13
- Hawkins RE, Russell SJ, Baier M, Winter G. 1993. The contribution of contact and non contact residues of antibody in the affinity of binding to antigen. *J. Mol. Biol.* 234:958–64
- Schwager J, Bürckert N, Courtet M, du Pasquier L. 1989. Genetic basis of the antibody repertoire in *Xenopus*: analysis of the V_H diversity. *EMBO J*. 10:2989– 3001
- Weiss S, Wu GE. 1987. Somatic point mutations in unrearranged immunoglobulin gene segments encoding the variable region of λ light chain. *EMBO J.* 6:927– 32
- Roes J, Hüppi K, Rajewsky K, Sablitzky F. 1989. V gene rearrangement is required to fully activate the hypermutation mechanism in B cells. *J. Immunol.* 142:1022– 26
- Sharpe MJ, Neuberger MS, Pannell R, Surani MA, Milstein C. 1990. Lack of somatic mutation in a κ light chain transgene. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 20:1379–85
- Sharpe MJ, Milstein C, Jarvis JM, Neuberger MS. 1991. Somatic hypermutation of immunoglobulin κ may depend on sequences 3' of Cκ and occurs on passenger transgenes. *EMBO J.* 10:2139–45
- Hengtschläger M, Williams M, Maizels N. 1994. A λ1 transgene under the control of a heavy chain promoter and enhancer does not undergo somatic hypermutation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:1649–56
- 84. Giusti AM, Manser T. 1993. Hypermutation is observed only in antibody H chain V region transgenes that have recombined with endogenous immunoglobulin H DNA: implications for the location of *cis*-acting elements required for somatic mutation. *J. Exp. Med.* 177:797– 809
- Sohn J, Gerstein RM, Hsieh C-L, Lemer M, Selsing E. 1993. Somatic hypermutation of an immunoglobulin μ heavy chain transgene. J. Exp. Med. 177:493–504
- Taylor LD, Carmack CE, Huszar D, Higgins KM, Mashayekh R, Sequar G, Schram SR, Kuo C-C, O'Donnell SL, Kay RM, Woodhouse CS, Lonberg N. 1994. Human transgenes undergo rear-

rangement, somatic mutation and class switching in mice that lack endogenous IgM. Int. Immunol. 6:579–91

- Wagner SD, Popov AV, Davies SL, Xian J, Neuberger MS, Brüggemann M. 1994. The diversity of antigen specific monoclonal antibodies from transgenic mice bearing human immunoglobulin miniloci. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:2672–81
- Umar A, Schweizer PA, Levy NS, Gearhart JD, Gearhart PJ. 1991. Mutation in a reporter gene depends on proximity to and transcription of immunoglobulin variable transgenes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 88:4902–6
- Hackett JJ, Stebbins C, Rogerson B, Davis MM, Storb U. 1992. Analysis of a T cell receptor gene as a target of the somatic hypermutation mechanism. *J. Exp. Med.* 176:225–31
- Azuma T, Motoyama N, Fields LE, Loh DY, 1993. Mutations of the chloramphenicol acetyl transferase transgene driven by the immunoglobulin promoter and intron enhancer. Int. Immunol. 5:121–31
- Reynaud C-A, Garcia C, Hein WR, Weill J-C. 1995. Hypermutation generating the sheep immunoglobulin repertoire is an antigen independent process. *Cell* 80:115–25
- Weinstein PD, Anderson AO, Mage RG. 1994. Rabbit IgH sequences in appendix germinal centers: VH diversification by gene conversion-like and hypermutation mechanisms. *Immunity* 1:647–59
- Wilson M, Hsu E, Marcuz A, Courtet M, du Pasquier L, Steinberg C. 1992. What limits affinity maturation of antibodies in *Xenopus*—the rate of somatic mutation or the ability to select mutants. *EMBO J*. 11:4337–47
- Hinds-Frey KR, Nishikata H, Litman GW. 1993. Somatic variation precedes extensive diversification of germline sequences and combinatorial joining in the evolution of immunoglobulin heavy chain diversity. J. Exp. Med. 178:815–24
- Reynaud C-A, Anquez V, Grimal H, Weill J-C. 1987. A hyperconversion mechanism generates the chicken light chain preimmune repertoire. *Cell* 48:379–88
- Reynaud C-A, Dahan A, Anquez V, Weill J-C. 1989. Somatic hyperconversion diversifies the single V_H gene of the chicken with a high incidence in the D region. *Cell* 59:171–83
- Maizels N. 1989. Might gene conversion be the mechanism of somatic hypermutation of mammalian immunoglobulin genes? *Trends Genet*. 5:4–8

- David V, Folk NL, Maizels N. 1992. Germ line variable regions that match hypermutated sequences in genes encoding murine anti hapten antibodies. *Genetics* 132:799– 811
- Wysocki LJ, Gefter ML. 1989. Gene conversion and the generation of antibody diversity. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 58:509–29
- Xu B, Selsing E. 1994. Analysis of sequence transfers resembling gene conversion in a mouse antibody transgene. *Science* 265:1590–93
- Mäkelä O, Litman GW. 1980. Lack of heterogeneity in anti hapten antibodies of a phylogenetically primitive shark. *Nature* 287:639–41
- 102. Anderson MK, Shanblott MJ, Litman RT, Litman GW. 1995. Generation of immunoglobulin light chain gene diversity in *Raja erinacea* is not associated with somatic rearrangement, an exception to a central paradigm of B cell immunity. *J. Exp. Med.* 182:109–19
- 103. Greenberg AS, Avila D, Hughes M, Hughes A, McKinney EC, Flajnik MF. 1995. A new antigen receptor gene family that undergoes rearrangement and extensive somatic diversification in sharks. *Nature* 374:168–73
- Collins DW, Jukes TH. 1994. Rates of transition and transversion in coding sequences since the human-rodent divergence. *Genomics* 20:386–96
- Du Pasquier L. 1982. Antibody diversity in lower vertebrates—why is it so restricted? *Nature* 296:311–13
- 106. Rogerson B, Hackett J, Peters A, Haasch D, Storb U. 1991. Mutation pattern of immunoglobulin transgenes is compatible with a model of somatic hypermutation in which targeting of the mutator is linked to the direction of DNA replication. *EMBO J.* 10:4331–41
- Manser T. 1990. The efficiency of antibody affinity maturation: Can the rate of B cell division be limiting? *Immunol. Today* 11:305–7
- Drapkin R, Sancar A, Reinberg D. 1994. Where transcription meets repair. *Cell* 77:9–12
- Hanawalt PC, Donahue BA, Sweder KS. 1994. Collision or collusion? *Curr. Biol.* 4:518–21
- Levy S, Mendel E, Kon S, Avnur Z, Levy R. 1988. Mutational hotspots in Ig V region genes of human follicular lymphomas. J. Exp. Med. 168:475–84
- 111. Wabl M, Burrows PD, von Gabain A, Steinberg C. 1985. Hypermutation at the

immunoglobulin heavy chain locus in a pre B cell line. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:479–82

- 112. Green NS, Rabinowitz JL, Zhu M, Kobrin BJ, Scharff MD. 1995. Immunoglobulin variable region hypermutation in hybrids derived from a pre-B- and a myeloma cell line. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:6304– 8
- 113. Arpin C, Déchanet J, Van Kooten

C, Merville P, Grouard G, Brière F, Banchereau J, Liu Y-J. 1995. Generation of memory B cells and plasma cells in vitro. *Science* 268:720–22

114. Decker DJ, Linton P-J, Zaharevitz S, Biery M, Gingeras TR, Klinman NR. 1995. Defining subsets of naive and memory B cells based on the ability of their progeny to somatically mutate in vitro. *Immunity* 2:195–203



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE-REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of *cis*-Acting Elements

Barry P. Sleckman, James R. Gorman and Frederick W. Alt

Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Children's Hospital and Department of Genetics, Harvard Medical School and Center for Blood Research, 320 Longwood Avenue, Boston, Massachusetts 02115

KEY WORDS: accessibility, V(D)J recombination, lymphocyte development, transcriptional control elements

ABSTRACT

Antigen receptor variable region genes are assembled from germline variable (V), diversity (D), and joining (J) gene segments. This process requires expression of V(D)J recombinase activity, and "accessibility" of variable gene segments to this recombinase. The exact mechanism by which variable gene segments become accessible during development is not known. However, several studies have shown that *cis*-acting elements that regulate transcription may also function to regulate accessibility. Here we review the evidence that transcriptional promoters, enhancers, and silencers are involved in regulate accessibility. The manner in which these elements may combine to regulate accessibility is addressed. In addition, current and potential strategies for identifying and analyzing *cis*-acting elements that mediate locus accessibility are discussed.

1. INTRODUCTION

The genes that encode the variable region of antigen receptors are assembled during early lymphocyte development from germline variable (V), diversity (D), and joining (J) gene segments. Both immunoglobulin (Ig) and T cell receptor 459

(TCR) variable region genes are assembled by an activity common to B and T cells referred to as V(D)J recombinase. The tissue-specific components of this recombinase are encoded by the recombinase activating genes (RAG) 1 and 2 (1). Assembly of Ig and TCR variable region gene segments is regulated in a tissue-, lineage-, and stage-specific fashion. Given that the V(D)J recombinase is common to B and T cells, direction of its activity during development must be regulated by the ability of given loci to serve as substrates for the recombinase, a concept referred to as "accessibility" (2, 3). The close correlation between transcriptional activation of germline variable region gene segments and recombination of these segments has led to the notion that *cis*-acting transcriptional regulatory elements may be involved, either directly or indirectly, in regulating accessibility. Antigen receptor gene assembly and accessibility control have been discussed in depth in recent reviews, and readers are referred to these for a more general discussion of particular aspects of these topics (2– 4). In this review we focus on analyses of V(D)J recombination substrates in which putative *cis*-acting regulatory elements have been incorporated, and on gene targeted mutational analyses in which such elements are altered in the endogenous Ig or TCR loci. We also discuss the advantages and limitations of these approaches, and the need to identify additional types of elements involved in accessibility control.

2. V(D)J RECOMBINATION AND ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL

2.1 Overview of the Mechanism of V(D)J Recombination

Variable region gene segments are flanked by conserved recombination signal sequences (RSS), which consist of a heptamer, a spacer of 12 or 23 bp, and a characteristic AT-rich nonamer (5). In brief, the V(D)J recombination reaction involves recognition of the participating RSS, introduction of a double strand break (DSB) between the coding portion and RSS of two participating gene segments, and the subsequent precise joining of the RSS and the usually imprecise joining of the coding sequences (which may involve addition or deletion of nucleotides). The *cis*-acting RSS, which are conserved between Ig and TCR genes, are required and sufficient to target the common V(D)J recombinase to the adjacent coding segments (6, 7). While the RSS seem unlikely to be involved in mediating accessibility, they are clearly involved in directing the V(D)J recombination reaction. Variable gene segments capable of being joined efficiently must be flanked, respectively, by RSS with 12 and 23 base pair spacers (12/23 rule) (8). This joining specificity limits the types of accessible gene segments that may join with one another. Moreover, the nucleotide sequence

composition of the RSS or proximal coding sequences may affect the ability of individual variable region gene segments to recombine (9-11). Such sequence variation within a given accessible locus has been argued to be involved in determining the rearrangement frequency of certain variable region gene segments and the predilection for inversional vs deletional recombination of Ig heavy chain (HC) D segments (9, 11, and references within).

V(D)J recombination requires prelymphocyte-specific activities, which provide specificity in the initiation of the reaction by introduction of specific DSBs, and more generally expressed activities that appear to function in joining the broken ends. The products of RAG 1 and 2 appear to be the only required prelymphocyte-specific components of the V(D)J recombinase (1). Simultaneous expression of transfected RAG 1 and 2 genes is sufficient to generate V(D)J recombinase activity in all tested nonlymphoid mammalian cell lines. Furthermore, mice deficient in either gene product are blocked in early B and T cell development due to failure to initiate V(D)J recombination (12, 13). Recent in vitro studies suggest that RAG proteins are specific V(D)J recombinase components that function to recognize RSS and introduce DSBs (14). Therefore, accessibility control in vivo must direct the specific recognition and cutting activities of RAG 1 and 2 to desired sets of RSS. Potential mechanisms that may facilitate interaction of RAG proteins with particular RSS once a locus is accessible remain to be elucidated. In particular, it will be of interest to determine whether additional proteins interact with RAG proteins and *cis*-acting sequences, thereby targeting recombinase activity to appropriate loci.

The V(D)J recombination reaction also appears to employ generally expressed components. Analyses of severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) mice and of radiosensitive hamster cell lines have led to the identification of several ubiquitiously expressed proteins that may function to repair DSBs introduced during the V(D)J recombination reaction (15). One of these, the DNA-PK complex, is composed of three subunits including the DNA end-binding components, Ku70 and Ku80, and the catalytic domain DNA-PKcs. Cell lines deficient in Ku80 or DNA-PKcs exhibit defects in general DSB repair and are similarly defective in repairing the DSBs generated in V(D)J recombination. Additional components of the V(D)J recombinase remain to be identified but would likely include, among many others, ligases, polymerases, and perhaps factors involved in mediating initial accessibility. It is unlikely that the currently defined proteins involved in the V(D)J recombination reaction are directly involved in mediating locus accessibility. However, variations in their expression levels may influence this process, for example, by influencing the ability of cells to complete the reaction once initiated.

462 SLECKMAN, GORMAN & ALT

2.2 Regulation of Antigen Receptor Gene Assembly During Lymphocyte Development

Lymphocyte development is a complex, ordered process regulated by the progressive assembly and expression of antigen receptor genes in appropriate lymphoid cell types. It is believed that this ordered process evolved, at least in part, to facilitate regulation of variable region gene assembly and expression. Such regulation ensures that V(D)J recombinase–mediated rearrangements occur only in appropriate cell types and loci, and the regulation helps to ensure the specificity of the immune response.

Antigen receptor gene assembly occurs only in lymphoid cells. As the RAG 1 and 2 genes (and as a result V(D)J recombinase activity) are expressed almost exclusively in early B and T cells, their limited expression can be considered the major factor in this restriction. However, even if RAG 1 and 2 gene expression did occur in nonlymphoid cells, it is unlikely that there would be any significant level of endogenous antigen receptor gene segment rearrangement due to lack of accessibility. In this context, expression of transfected RAG 1 and 2 in nonlymphoid cells leads to rearrangement of artificially accessible recombination substrates but does not appear to lead to rearrangement of endogenous antigen receptor loci (1). Thus, antigen receptor genes appear to be entirely "closed" in nonlymphoid cells and are "opened" only in particular subsets of developing lymphocytes. Within the T and B cell lineages, complete assembly of TCR genes occurs only in T cells, and complete assembly of Ig genes occurs only in B cells. This restriction appears to occur primarily at the V-to-DJ rearrangement step as Ig HC D-to-J rearrangements can occur in T cells (16 and references within).

Within a given lymphoid lineage, the V(D)J recombination process is stage specific and can be allelically excluded. In B cells, Ig HC variable region genes are usually assembled prior to those of Ig light chain (LC) genes. Furthermore, assembly of Ig HC variable region genes occurs in an ordered sequence with D_H-to-J_H rearrangements preceding V_H-to-DJ_H rearrangements. Expression of an Ig H μ chain gene from a productive V_HDJ_H rearrangement appears to generate a signal that halts V_H-to-DJ_H rearrangement of the other Ig HC allele, a process that is likely important in effecting HC allelic ex-This signal may also facilitate the onset of Ig LC V-to-J joining, clusion. although it is not yet clear if this is a direct effect or an indirect effect due to progression along the differentiation pathway (4). With respect to Ig LC genes, κ variable region genes are usually assembled prior to λ variable region genes, either through a specifically regulated mechanism, or due to stochastic competition mechanisms in which the κ locus is a better overall substrate for recombination than the λ locus (17–19). Once an Ig LC is paired with an Ig HC to generate a complete Ig molecule, further assembly of LC variable region genes is halted, a process that may ensure LC allelic and isotype exclusion. The latter process may involve both a downregulation in V(D)J recombinase expression and a decreased accessibility of the LC variable region genes. TCR genes appear to follow an analogously ordered program of rearrangement and expression. For example, TCR β variable region genes are assembled by sequential D_{β}-to-J_{β} and V_{β}-to-DJ_{β} rearrangements, and they are expressed prior to assembly of TCR α chain variable region genes from component V_{α} and J_{α} segments (20). Expression of a TCR β chain results in signals that allellically exclude the other TCR β allele by inhibiting the V_{β}to-DJ_{β}-rearrangement step while leading to the rearrangement of TCR α loci (21, 22, 22a). As with lineage specificity, allelic exclusion of the TCR β and Ig HC loci appears to occur at the V-to-DJ step of rearrangement. The nature of the sequences that regulate V-to-DJ rearrangement remains largely unexplored.

In summary, expression of a common V(D)J recombinase is activated early in lymphocyte differentiation and is then directed to rearrange certain gene loci or portions of these loci, to stop rearranging these loci, and then to begin rearranging additional loci. These precisely regulated steps must be due primarily to the differential accessibility of the particular loci to the common V(D)J recombinase. During prelymphocyte development, changes in accessibility appear to be regulated, at least in part, by signals generated as a result of the expression of individual chains of antigen receptors. None of these control processes appears absolute. Ig LC rearrangement has been observed in the absence of Ig HC gene expression, and TCR α rearrangement has been observed in the absence of TCR β expression (3). Likewise, exceptions to allelically excluded rearrangement have been noted. Whether these represent background in the system, the existence of other developmental rearrangement programs, or both remains to be determined.

2.3 Correlates of Accessibility in Endogenous Loci

The mechanisms by which antigen receptor loci are made accessible to the V(D)J recombinase activity are not known. However, transcriptional activation, chromatin structure, and methylation may be involved in this process. Transcriptional activation is associated with changes in chromatin structure in endogenous loci (23). Similarly, changes in chromatin structure, as measured by DNase I hypersensitivity, have been associated with variable gene segments of endogenous loci and chromosomally integrated recombination substrates that are undergoing recombination (24, 25). However, it is unclear to what extent changes in chromatin are required for, or are a result of, recombinational accessibility.

464 SLECKMAN, GORMAN & ALT

Modification of genes by methylation of CpG islands affects transcriptional activity (26). The exact mechanism by which this occurs is not known but may involve inhibition of binding of *trans*-acting factors to methylated regions of DNA. Studies employing recombination substrates show a direct correlation between hypomethylation and accessibility to the V(D)J recombinase (27, 28). Although this correlation is intriguing, it is unclear whether hypomethylation is required for or is the result of making the locus accessible to the V(D)J recombinase. A single study indicates that recombination is blocked if substrates are methylated prior to introduction into a cell line that has V(D)J recombinase activity (29). However, the extrachromosomal recombination substrates employed in this study may be under different accessibility constraints than are integrated substrates or endogenous loci. Although it remains unclear whether hypomethylation is required for accessibility to the V(D)J recombinase, at least in some contexts hypomethylation per se is not sufficient for this process (30). In addition, methylation affects chromatin configuration; therefore, it is difficult to determine an effect of methylation independent of chromatin configuration (29, 31).

Active transcription of germline antigen receptor loci occurs at a time when these loci are undergoing recombination (3). Germline transcripts initiate upstream of the Ig HC μ constant (C) region gene and upstream of the J_H proximal DQ52 gene segment when the Ig HC locus is undergoing rearrangement (30, 32, 33). Transcription initiates from the J_{κ} - C_{κ} locus at the time of κ LC rearrangement (34). Likewise, germline transcripts have been observed from variable region gene segments coincident with their rearrangement (35-38). The best example of this is the TCR γ locus, where activation of V segment germline transcription is tightly correlated with the ordered rearrangement of these segments during development (35). Allelic exclusion of TCR β rearrangement by an lck or TCR β chain transgene is associated with a decrease in V_{β} germline transcription (39). Although the association between germline transcription and V(D)J recombination potential is quite compelling, the significance of these transcripts in this process is not currently known. Transcription could be required for, or could be a result of, an accessible locus. Germline transcripts also could be translated into proteins that regulate accessibility for subsequent steps of rearrangement (32, 40). Although possibly required, transcription initiated from V and D gene segments per se is not sufficient for rearrangement of these segments (41, 42).

The correlation between transcriptional activation and rearrangement of variable gene segments during development has led to the notion that elements regulating transcription may also regulate V(D)J recombination. At the simplest level eucaryotic gene transcription is regulated by *cis*-acting promoter and enhancer elements (43). Transcriptional promoters are regions that lie immediately upstream of genes and serve as initiation sites for transcription by mediating attachment of the transcription complex. Promoter elements function in a distance- and orientation-dependent manner. Enhancer elements augment the level of transcription initiated from promoters. The exact mechanism by which they achieve this is unclear; however, they appear to be able to function in an orientation-independent manner over large distances. Transcriptional regulation of antigen receptor loci by promoters and enhancers exhibits tissue, lineage, and stage specificity, and these elements serve as likely candidates for the similar regulation of variable gene recombination (44–53). Although transcriptional activation may be an important mechanism by which these elements mediate accessibility, the inability of transcription per se to result in recombination implies that additional processes may be regulated by these elements. These processes may include changes in methylation status or chromatin structure independent of transcriptional regulation (54).

3. EXPERIMENTAL SYSTEMS FOR STUDYING ACCESSIBILITY

3.1 Overview of Approaches

Recombination of germline antigen receptor variable gene segments requires expression of the common V(D)J recombinase and accessibility of the target RSS to the recombinase. Maintenance of accessibility of loci undergoing rearrangement, and inaccessibility of loci not undergoing rearrangement, is important in the developmental regulation of variable gene assembly. Experiments designed to evaluate *cis*-acting elements that regulate accessibility have focused primarily on transcriptional enhancers, with some analyses of the role of promoters and silencers. Recombination substrates with putative regulatory elements have been analyzed either as transgenes or in cell lines that express V(D)J recombinase activity. In addition, endogenous loci have been analyzed in which *cis*-acting elements have been deleted by gene targeting.

3.2 V(D)J Recombination Substrates

Both extrachromosomal and chromosomally integrated recombination substrates have been assayed for V(D)J recombination potential. However, chromosomally introduced substrates are more likely to have accessibility constraints similar to those of endogenous genes; accordingly, most accessibility analyses have used integrated substrates. A V(D)J recombination substrate requires a minimum of two RSS with 12 and 23 bp spacers required for recognition by the V(D)J recombinase. However, many stably introduced substrates have been large in size and have included one or more V, D, and J gene segment(s) and a C region gene (55–61). Putative regulatory elements have been manipulated in such substrates, and the effects on V(D)J recombination determined. Although analysis of V(D)J recombination by this approach has provided much useful information, results of these studies can be confounded by a variety of potential nonphysiologic regulatory effects due to integration site, copy number, and proximity of plasmid DNA (62). Such effects may be limited in future studies by employing strategies that ensure single copy integration, deletion of plasmid DNA, limitation of local DNA effects by the use of insulators, or by further increasing the size of substrates (63).

3.3 Cell Transfection Studies

Cell culture analyses of V(D)J recombination have employed cell lines with constitutive V(D)J recombinase activity (25, 55, 64, 65). These systems have been used for assays of transient recombination substrates; such studies indicated that accessibility of small, extrachromosomal substrates correlated with methylation status but not transcriptional activity (29, 66). Additional analyses of stably integrated substrates in Abelson murine leukemia virus (A-MuLV)transformed pre-B cell lines transformants suggested a role for enhancer elements in mediating accessibility (55). However, analyses of stably integrated substrates in constitutively expressing lines can be complicated by a number of potentially nonphysiologic factors. For example, cell lines with constitutive V(D)J recombinase activity may exhibit clonal variation in expression of RAGs and, potentially, other factors that influence V(D)J recombination (67). In addition, in such cell lines, it is often difficult to determine whether recombination of substrates occurs prior to or after integration into the genome. This is an important point as accessibility of integrated vs extrachromosomal substrates likely displays different regulatory constraints. To circumvent some of these problems, RAG 1 and 2 genes under the control of the heat shock promoter have been stably integrated into a B cell lymphoma line (65). Heat shock of these cells, termed DR37 cells, resulted in a transient increase in the levels of RAG 1 and 2 expression and the coincident induction of V(D)J recombinase activity. Thus, unrearranged substrates can be integrated into the DR37 line prior to V(D)J recombinase induction and their rearrangement potential assayed subsequent to induction (65).

Recombination substrates introduced into the DR37 cell line have exhibited a clear dependence on enhancer elements for V(D)J recombinational accessibility (65). In particular, an enhancerless TCR β recombination substrate stably transfected into this cell line failed to undergo V(D)J recombination subsequent to induction (65). However, insertion of the Ig HC intronic enhancer, Ig LC κ intronic enhancer, and the simian virus 40 enhancer into the same substrate promoted its rearrangement in this system, indicating that even nonlymphoid enhancer elements can promote V(D)J recombinational accessibility (65). However, only a small percentage of the integrated substrates underwent rearrangement in these analyses; assuming uniform induction of V(D)J recombinase activity in all cells of the population, this finding indicates that the recombination substrates tested either lack important *cis*-acting elements or that the DR37 cell line lacks *trans*-acting factors necessary for optimal substrate accessibility. Investigation into these two possibilities may lead to additional insights into the regulation of accessibility.

V(D)J recombinase inducible cell lines that represent stages of early B and T cell development will be needed to expand the utility of the cell transfection approach for studying stage-specific factors that regulate accessibility. In this regard, novel temperature sensitive A-MuLV-transformed pre-B cell lines in which V(D)J recombinase is upregulated at the nonpermissive temperature have been described (68). At the permissive temperature, the virus inhibits RAG expression and Ig LC κ rearrangement. At the nonpermissive temperature RAG levels are upregulated and κ LC rearrangement is observed. Accessibility of endogenous loci and introduced recombination substrates could be analyzed in such lines.

3.4 Analysis of Transgenic Recombination Substrates

Constructs stably introduced into cell lines have exhibited different requirements for *cis*-acting transcriptional regulators when compared to analysis of these same constructs as transgenes (69–71). Among other things, these differing requirements may be due to modifications such as gene methylation occurring during development (72). Unlike substrates in cell lines, transgenic recombination substrates should be subject to developmental modifications and to the effects of developmentally regulated *trans*-acting factors. In particular, transgenic substrates are present in the precise cell type of interest and therefore should be exposed to normal levels of V(D)J recombination activity. However, interpretation of these studies still can be complicated by the nonphysiologic effects of integration site and copy number.

Several transgenic substrates have exhibited a clear dependence on enhancer elements for accessibility to the V(D)J recombinase. The Ig HC intronic enhancer, Ig LC κ intronic enhancer, and the TCR α and β enhancers are capable of mediating accessibility of a TCR β transgenic recombination substrate (41, 56, 73). The TCR δ and α enhancers are capable of mediating accessibility of a human TCR δ transgenic recombination substrate (60, 74). The chicken Ig LC λ enhancer mediates accessibility of a chicken Ig LC λ transgene (58), and the rabbit Ig LC κ intronic enhancer mediates accessibility of a rabbit Ig LC κ transgene (57). The inability of most of these transgenes to undergo

efficient recombination in the absence of enhancer elements underscores the importance of enhancers in mediating accessibility (56–58). An interesting exception to this enhancer dependency occurs in a human TCR δ transgene (60). The first rearrangement step (V-to-D) of this transgene occurs in the absence of the defined enhancer element. This may represent an exception to the general requirement for enhancer elements. Alternatively, another enhancer element without allowing for subsequent VD-to-J rearrangement. The possible role of multiple enhancer elements in mediating locus accessibility is discussed below.

Preliminary evidence from transgene studies has suggested that enhancer elements may be responsible for dictating the stage specificity of V(D)J recombination. Recombination of the endogenous TCR α locus occurs at a later developmental stage than does recombination of the TCR β , γ , and δ loci (20). TCR β or TCR δ transgenes with a TCR α enhancer also rearrange later in development than do the same transgenes with the TCR β or TCR δ enhancer, respectively (73, 74). Additional work, including targeted replacement of enhancer elements in endogenous loci, will be required to clearly establish the role of enhancer elements in mediating stage-specific control of recombination and to identify other elements that may modify their action.

Some transgenic recombination substrates also exhibit lineage-specific control, and they therefore are likely to contain *cis*-acting elements responsible for this control (27, 41, 56, 60, 73, 75). Among these, the lineage-specific steps are best characterized for the TCR β and TCR δ transgenes (41, 56, 60, 73). In the TCR β locus, D-to-J rearrangement occurs prior to V-to-DJ rearrangement. Conversely, in the TCR δ locus V-to-D rearrangement occurs prior to VD-to-J rearrangement. In both cases lineage-specific regulation of recombination appears to be exerted at the final recombination step. The TCR β transgene undergoes D-to-J rearrangement in B and T cells and Vto-DJ rearrangement only in T cells; the TCR δ transgene undergoes V-to-D rearrangement in B and T cells, and VD-to-J rearrangement only in T cells (41, 56, 60, 73). The *cis*-acting elements capable of imparting lineage specificity have not yet been identified. However, the TCR β transgenic recombination substrate undergoes complete V(D)J rearrangement exclusively in T cells when the Ig HC intronic enhancer, TCR β enhancer, or TCR α enhancer are incorporated into the substrate, suggesting that these enhancer elements cannot independently impart lineage specificity (41, 56, 73). TCR β transgenic recombination substrates that appear to undergo allelic exclusion in the presence of a rearranged TCR β transgene have been described (59, 61). In the future, these substrates should serve as useful reagents to identify cis-acting elements involved in allelic exclusion.

Analysis of transgenic recombination substrates has suggested that transcriptional promoters and silencers may also be involved in regulating accessibility of these substrates. In promoter elements, mutation of the octamer region abolishes the ability of these elements to initiate transcription (45). Recombination of a chicken Ig LC λ transgene depends on the integrity of the V gene segment promoter (58). Compared to mice with the wild-type transgenes, V-to-J rearrangement was markedly diminished in the majority of mice containing a transgene with a mutated octamer site in the V segment promoter. The Ig LC λ transgene was not transcribed in either bone marrow or spleen cells of these mice. Transcriptional silencer elements are *cis*-acting elements that can inhibit transcription in a distance- and orientation-independent manner. Transcriptional silencer elements have been identified in the TCR α locus (76), the mouse Ig LC κ locus (77), and the chicken Ig LC λ locus (58). Deletion of the silencer in the chicken Ig LC λ transgene results in a fivefold increase in the level of rearrangement as compared to the wild-type transgene (58). Transcription of this recombination substrate is also increased. Although these studies imply that promoter and silencer elements may regulate accessibility, further analysis will be required to clearly establish the role of these elements in this process.

3.5 Deletion of Elements in Endogenous Loci

Recombination substrate findings cannot unequivocally establish a role for enhancer elements in mediating accessibility of endogenous antigen receptor loci. Recently, direct evidence for such a role has come from application of gene targeting to the study of *cis*-acting elements (18, 22, 30, 78). Gene targeting allows elements to be replaced, deleted, exchanged, or subtly mutated in the endogenous loci. Many of the initial gene targeting studies of *cis*-acting elements, while providing intriguing results, were hampered by possible nonphysiologic effects caused by the introduction of a constitutively expressed drug resistance gene. In these experiments, the role of the targeted element was often difficult to determine, because the introduced drug resistance gene could itself affect transcription and rearrangement of the targeted locus. Contrasting results obtained in the presence and absence of drug resistance genes have lent insight into the possible presence of additional elements (see below). However, these contrasting results also mandate deletion of inserted drug resistance genes before conclusions can be drawn about the function of deleted elements. For this reason, alternate strategies have been used to allow initial replacement of an element by a drug resistance gene, followed by the subsequent deletion of the drug resistance gene. One strategy, called hit-and-run targeting, involved design of a complicated targeting construct that would result in a clean deletion of the element of interest (78). A more widely used approach utilizes the site specific cre recombinase and its *loxP* target sites, both originally isolated from
phage P1 (79, 80). Initially the *cis*-acting element is replaced by a drug resistance gene flanked by loxP sites. Subsequently, cre-mediated deletion of the drug resistance gene leaves a single loxP site in place of the targeted element. Replacement of enhancers with a neo^r gene and/or with a loxP site has provided useful information about the role of enhancers in mediating accessibility of endogenous antigen receptor loci.

The Ig HC intronic enhancer (E_{μ}) lies between the J_H gene segments and the C_{μ} gene (46, 47) and is closely associated with two matrix attachment regions (MARs) (81). In the following discussion, we do not distinguish the core E_{μ} element from the core element plus the adjacent MAR sequences as both were mutated. Targeted mutation studies have definitively shown that E_{μ} plays a role in regulating rearrangement of the HC locus. In one study, hit-and-run replacement of E_{μ} with a short oligonucleotide resulted in slightly diminished $D_{\rm H}$ -to- $J_{\rm H}$ rearrangement (70% of normal) but more substantially inhibited $V_{\rm H}$ to-DJ_H rearrangement of the targeted allele (78). In a second study, replacement of E_{μ} with a neomycin resistance (neo^r) gene resulted in a dramatic decrease in the ability of the J_H locus to undergo recombination (30). Notably, insertion of the neo^r gene upstream of E_{μ} , without deletion of endogenous sequences, resulted in a similar *cis*-acting inhibition of J_H rearrangement (30). Thus, the neor resistance gene may be competing for the activity of additional elements responsible for regulating accessibility of the D_H and J_H gene segments. Similar findings have been made with respect to enhancer elements within the Ig LC κ locus (see below), and the locus control region (LCR) in the β -globin locus. Insertion of a neo^r gene in the LCR blocks β -globin gene expression, possibly by outcompeting the endogenous globin promoters for the enhancer activity of the LCR (82).

Three additional enhancers have been identified within the Ig HC locus (53, 83–85). A fragment encompassing the J_H proximal DQ52 segment and the region immediately 5' to DQ52 has promoter and enhancer activities in early B cells (83). Given the location and activity of this element, it has been suggested that, prior to DJ_H rearrangement, the DQ52 promoter/enhancer may compete more efficiently than upstream elements for interaction with E_{μ} , conferring accessibility to the J_H region. Any DJ_H rearrangement not involving DQ52 itself would delete this element, thereby freeing E_{μ} to interact with upstream regulatory elements that initiate V_H-to-DJ_H rearrangement. This proposed interaction between the DQ52 promoter/enhancer and E_{μ} could be responsible for the ordered rearrangement observed in the Ig HC locus (D_H-to-J_H followed by V_H-to-DJ_H) (83). Two additional enhancer sequences have been shown to lie at the 3' end of the Ig HC locus. One of these is a weak enhancer that lies immediately downstream of C α (84). A

much stronger enhancer (3'E_H) lies approximately 16 kb downstream of the $C\alpha$ gene (53). B cells in which a 5-kb region spanning the 3'E_H was replaced with a neo^r gene have defects in germline Ig HC constant region gene transcription and class switch recombination to certain Ig HC constant region genes that lie as much as 150 kb upstream of this region (86). However, such mice show no major impairment in V(D)J recombination. These data imply that the 3'E_H is not required for variable region gene assembly; however, in this analysis a decrease in efficiency of recombination would not be detected. Of note, it was speculated that the effects of the 3'E_H replacement may have resulted from competition of the inserted neo^r gene for additional enhancer elements of an LCR. In this context, a region encompassing as much as 20 kb downstream of the 3'E_H contains additional enhancer elements and has been implicated as having LCR-like activities (85). Such a region could be involved in long-range control of the accessibility of the Ig HC locus.

The IgL κ locus contains two defined enhancer elements. The intronic enhancer (iE_{κ}) lies between the J_{κ} region and the C_{κ} gene (87–89). The iE_{κ} element becomes transcriptionally active during the preB-to–B cell transition (50, 52, 90). This stage specificity has been attributed to the presence of a 10-bp motif termed κ B, that binds the NF- κ B protein, itself constitutively active in mature B cells and plasma cells. The observation of high-level κ LC production in the S107 plasmacytoma line (52), which does not express NF- κ B, led to the identification of a second enhancer element, the 3' κ LC enhancer (3'E_{κ}), which lies approximately 9-kb 3' of the C_{κ} gene (91). Various studies have suggested that 3'E_{κ}, either alone or in synergy with the iE_{κ} element, is important for high level expression of a rearranged kappa locus (91–97, and references within). While these studies left unclear the role of 3'E_{κ}, is important for high level expression of a rearranged kappa locus.

Gene-targeted replacement of the iE_{κ} (18) or iE_{κ} and the 5' MAR (Y Xu, F Alt, D Baltimore, unpublished) with a neo^r gene appears to block rearrangement of the J_{κ} locus completely, whereas insertion of a neo^r gene just downstream of iE_{κ} reduces but does not completely inhibit rearrangement (18). However, replacement of the iE_{κ} and 5' MAR with a single *loxP* site diminishes but does not completely inhibit J_{κ} rearrangements (Y Xu, F Alt, D Baltimore, unpublished). These data imply that the iE_{κ} promotes J_{κ} rearrangement but that additional elements, whose function is blocked by insertion of the neo^r gene, also promote rearrangement in the absence of iE_{κ} . Replacement of the 3' E_{κ} with a neo^r gene also results in a substantial inhibition of J_{κ} rearrangement (J Gorman, F Alt, unpublished). It is not yet clear whether this effect is due to deletion of the $3'E_{\kappa}$ element, competition for the activity of some other element required for J_{κ} rearrangement, or some combination of these.

The TCR β locus contains a single defined enhancer element (E_{β}), which is in the 3' region of the locus immediately upstream of V_{β} 14 gene segment (98). Deletion of E_{β} leads to a marked decrease in rearrangement, indicating that this element has a major role in promoting accessibility of the TCR β locus (J-C Bories, F Alt, unpublished; P Ferrier, personal communication). Furthermore, replacement of E_{β} with E_{μ} restores rearrangement (perhaps at reduced levels) in T cells but does not lead to significant rearrangement of the locus in B cells, implying that other elements in the TCR β locus may be involved in determining the lineage specificity of its rearrangement (J-C Bories, F Alt, unpublished). In another study, a large deletion/neo^r gene replacement of the TCR β region that removed the constant regions but retained E_{β} also blocked V(D)J recombination in the locus. In this case, the inhibition could have resulted from effects of the inserted neo^r gene on E_{β} , deletion (or inhibition) of some unknown required element, or both (22).

Future use of targeting strategies should be initially aimed at defining all of the elements involved in mediating locus accessibility. These will likely include combinations of transcriptional promoters, enhancers, and silencers in addition to novel elements that may or may not have a role in transcriptional regulation. Partial effects seen upon deletion of individual elements suggest that accessibility of antigen receptor gene loci is regulated by multiple elements. Therefore, understanding the regulation of accessibility of these loci will likely require the simultaneous deletion of multiple elements within a single locus. Experiments involving replacement of elements in one locus with similar elements of another locus may lend insight into stage and lineage-specific regulation of V(D)J recombination.

3.6 Studies of Trans-Acting Factors

Regulation of transcription is mediated in part by the interaction of *trans*-acting DNA-binding proteins with specific motifs in promoter and enhancer elements. Regulation of accessibility by enhancer elements likely involves similar interactions. Although enhancers are defined by their ability to augment the level of transcription initiated from promoter elements, dissection of motifs within enhancers has revealed a more complex regulation including both positive and negative components (99, 100). Many of these motifs are present in the regulatory elements of disparate genes and bind to ubiquitous *trans*-acting DNA-binding proteins; yet, transcriptional regulation can be restricted in a tissue-, lineage-, and stage-specific manner. This has led to the notion of "combinatorial

regulation" of transcription in which the net regulatory effect is due to a unique combination of relatively ubiquitous *trans*-acting DNA-binding proteins that interact with the regulatory elements of a specific gene (99, 100).

Motifs within E_{μ} that potentially bind to *trans*-acting DNA binding proteins have been mapped in detail (45, 100). A 220-bp region of E_{μ} that defines the minimal region required for transcriptional activity was sufficient to mediate accessibility of a TCR β recombination substrate in a V(D)J recombinase inducible B cell line (65). In an attempt to address the role of individual binding motifs, several mutated forms of E_{μ} have been analyzed in the transgenic TCR β recombination substrate (42). The E-box motif, μ E3, in conjunction with motifs upstream of $\mu E3$, appears to be essential for E_u-mediated accessibility to the V(D)J recombinase. In contrast to the role for the octamer site in promoter elements (58), the octamer site in E_{μ} does not appear to be required for this enhancer to mediate accessibility (42). The κB motif of iE_k appears to be essential for the transcriptional activity of this enhancer (45). The κ B motif is also necessary for optimal function of the iE_{κ} in mediating accessibility of a TCR β recombination substrate in a recombinase inducible cell line (100a). However, the κ B motif is not sufficient to mediate accessibility of this substrate. Mutation of the c-Myb binding site or the core binding factor (CBF) site within the TCR δ enhancer also results in decreased recombination of a human TCR δ transgene (C Hernandez-Munain, P Lauzurica, M Krangel, personal communication) (101, 101a). Additional work will be required in this area to define the roles of binding motifs in mediating accessibility.

Gene-targeted deletions of trans-acting factors that bind to specific motifs within enhancer and promoter elements have vielded much information about the roles of these proteins in lymphoid development. However, it has been difficult to use these studies to assign specific roles for these proteins, and their respective binding motifs, in regulating recombination. A detailed description of all of these studies is beyond the scope of this review. Therefore, we choose representative examples to illustrate the issues encountered with this approach. Disruption of the genes encoding the E2A (102, 103) or EBF (104) transcription factors results in a block in B cell development at a stage prior to Ig HC rearrangement. In each of these studies it is unclear if the failure to rearrange Ig HC genes is the cause of, or the result of, the developmental block. Mice deficient for Oct-2 (105) or NF- κ B (106, 107) expression appear to display normal B cell development, including rearrangement of Ig HC and Ig LC genes. It is clear from these studies that Oct-2 and NF- κ B are not absolutely required for Ig gene rearrangement. However, it remains possible that Oct-2 and NF- κ B normally function to mediate accessibility and that in their absence redundant family members function in this capacity.

474 SLECKMAN, GORMAN & ALT

In conclusion, the functional promiscuity and redundancy exhibited by many families of DNA-binding proteins will make it difficult to apply targeting strategies to determine if these proteins are directly involved in mediating antigen receptor accessibility. An approach of directly analyzing motifs in elements in the endogenous locus could be problematic as deletions of entire elements, such as E_{μ} or i E_{κ} , reduce but do not ablate rearrangement of their associated loci. Once all of the essential elements required for accessibility of an endogenous loci have been identified, it may be possible to conceive of strategies to assay for the function of particular motifs within a given element. At present, analysis of recombination substrates containing enhancers with mutated motifs, while not clearly physiologically relevant, can provide initial information about how particular motifs may function in mediating V(D)J recombinational accessibility.

3.7 In Vitro Analysis of Accessibility

The initial steps of recombination can be carried out in vitro (14); further work may yield an in vitro system in which the entire reaction can be carried out. Of relevance, in vitro analyses have been used to study the regulation of initiation of transcription (108). Such systems have been used to investigate the role of chromatin configuration in regulating accessibility to transcriptional machinery. As the initial steps of V(D)J recombination can now be carried out in vitro, it may be possible to extend this approach to analyses of the determinants of accessibility.

4. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Antigen receptor variable region gene assembly is a complex, developmentally regulated process that is under tissue-, lineage-, and stage-specific control, and it thus has many parallels with transcriptional control (44–53). Recombinational control is mediated by differential accessibility of antigen receptor loci to the V(D)J recombinase as dictated at least in part by *cis*-acting elements that function in transcriptional regulation of antigen receptor genes. Experiments employing recombination substrates and deletion of elements in endogenous loci have implicated transcriptional enhancers, promoters and silencers in the control of variable gene accessibility during development. The exact mechanism by which these elements mediate accessibility has not been determined. They may function to control accessibility by regulating transcription, altering chromatin structure, affecting gene methylation, and/or by recruiting components of the V(D)J recombinase.

The role of transcriptional enhancers in the regulation of V(D)J recombination has been analyzed in most detail. These analyses suggest that accessibility of antigen receptor loci may rely on the activity of multiple elements within a given locus. Multiple enhancer elements may functionally or physically interact to allow full accessibility of an entire locus or regions of a locus. Such a possibility is indicated by the finding that deletion of the E_{μ} or iE_{κ} diminishes but does not abolish rearrangement of the linked J loci (18, 30, 78; Y Xu, FW Alt, D Baltimore, unpublished). Particular enhancer elements also may function to allow for accessibility of different regions of given antigen receptor loci (e.g. V vs J regions), for example, allowing for regulation of V-to-DJ vs D-to-J rearrangement steps. Such regional control could be due to the division of antigen receptor loci into distinct regions of chromatin (a proposed function of MARs). and the presence of elements that regulate accessibility within each region. Alternatively, elements need not be physically contained within the regions they regulate, but rather they may regulate these regions from a distance. This may occur, for example, due to a requirement for a coupled interaction between a promoter and a distant enhancer via a trans-acting factor. Such interactions could be further regulated via competition mechanisms in which deletion of a particular cooperating element via a rearrangement event may allow a retained element to activate a more distal element in a different region. Such a general model has been proposed to explain the regulation of D-to-J_H vs V_H-to-DJ_H rearrangement of the Ig HC locus (83). The notion that cis-acting elements may interact to regulate accessibility is consistent with the manner in which these elements have been proposed to function in the regulation of transcription (43).

Although transcriptional enhancer elements appear to play an important role in mediating locus accessibility, other transcriptionally active elements, such as promoters and silencers, also appear to function in this regard. The mechanism by which transcriptional promoters and silencers regulate accessibility, either independently or in combination with enhancers, is not currently known. Several antigen receptor loci contain MARs and LCRs (81, 85, 109–112). MARs are AT rich regions that are defined by their ability to bind the nuclear matrix. Although the exact function of MARs is unclear, they have been hypothesized to demarcate regions of chromatin, and they can contain regions that undergo base unpairing, and regions that mediate binding of topoisomerase II (109, 113). LCRs are defined by their ability to impart position independence and copy number dependence on expression of transgenes, and LCRs are thought to function by affecting chromatin structure over long distances (43). They may contain functionally distinct elements such as enhancers within their boundaries. LCRs are involved in the regulation of multigenic loci such as the β -globin locus (43). Regulatory elements within the locus may compete for interaction with enhancer components of the LCR (114). Furthermore, the nature of this competition may change during development, resulting in altered expression of genes within the locus. In this context, insertion of a drug resistance gene into the LCR of the β -globin locus results in transcriptional inactivation of β -globin genes (82).

Understanding the mechanism by which *cis*-acting elements regulate accessibility will require identification of all such elements within an antigen receptor locus and their systematic mutation alone and in various combinations. Such elements may include those that function in transcriptional regulation and/or mediate accessibility independent of transcriptional regulation. A potential example of the latter is an element in the Ig LC κ locus that has as yet no defined transcriptional activity but appears to be involved in regulating accessibility of the locus (115, 116). Other approaches for identification of additional elements may include, for example, isolation of V(D)J recombination substrate regions that determine substrate accessibility. Elements can be identified by looking for distinct DNase 1 hypersensitivity sites that appear as regions of the loci become accessible to the V(D)J recombinase. In addition, potential novel elements can be identified by comparing antigen receptor gene sequences across species looking for noncoding regions that are highly conserved. Any strategy aimed at detection of novel elements involved in regulating accessibility will have to take into account the possible long-range effect of these elements. In this regard it has been demonstrated that replacement of the 3'E_H with a neo^r gene can interfere with accessibility to the switch recombinase of constant region genes at a distance of up to 150 kb (86). This observation mandates that investigations aimed at identifying novel elements consider regions at great distances from the region being controlled.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Drs. M Krangel, P Lauzurica, C Hernandez-Munain, and P Ferrier for sharing data with us prior to publication, and to Dr. B Malynn for critical review of the manuscript. We apologize to those whose valuable contributions to this field were not referenced or were only referenced in the context of a published review, due to space limitations. Research in FW Alt's laboratory is supported by the Howard Hughes Medical Institute and the National Institutes of Health grants AI-20047 and AI-35714. BP Sleckman is supported by National Institutes of Health grant AI01297–01. JR Gorman is supported by a Life and Health Insurance Medical Research Fund Fellowship.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Schatz DG, Oettinger MA, Schlissel MS. 1992. V(D)J recombination: molecular biology and regulation. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 10:359–83
- Alt FW, Oltz EM, Young F, Gorman J, Taccioli G, Chen J. 1992. VDJ recombination. *Immunol. Today* 13:306–14
- Okada A, Alt FW. 1994. Mechanisms that control antigen receptor variable region gene assembly. Sem. Immunol. 6:185–96
- Chen J, Alt FW. 1993. Gene rearrangement and B-cell development. *Curr. Opinion. Immunol.* 5:194–200
- Gellert M. 1992. V(D)J recombination gets a break. *Trends Genet.* 8:408–12
- Akira S, Okazaki K, Sakano H. 1987. Two pairs of recombination signals are sufficient to cause immunoglobulin V-(D)-J joining. Science 238:1134–38
- Hesse JE, Lieber MR, Mizuuchi K, Gellert M. 1989. V(D)J recombination: a functional definition of the joining signals. *Genes Dev.* 3:1053–61
- Early P, Huang H, Davis M, Calame K, Hood L. 1980. An immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region gene is generated from three segments of DNA, V_H, D and J_H. *Cell* 19:981–92
- Ramsden DA, Wu GE. 1991. Mouse κ light-chain recombination signal sequences mediate recombination more frequently than do those of λ light chains. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88:10721-25
- Ezekiel UR, Engler P, Stern D, Storb U. 1995. Asymmetric processing of coding ends and the effect of coding end nucleotide composition on V(D)J recombination. *Immunity* 2:381–89
- Gerstein RM, Lieber MR. 1993. Coding sequence can markedly affect the initiation of V(D)J recombination. *Genes Dev.* 7:1459–69
- Shinkai Y, Rathbun G, Lam K-P, Oltz EM, Stewart V, Mendelsohn M, Charron J, Datta M, Young F, Stall AM, Alt FW. 1992. RAG-2-deficient mice lack mature lymphocytes owing to inability to initiate V(D)J rearrangement. *Cell* 68:855–67
- Mombaerts P, Iacomini J, Johnson RS, Herrup K, Tonegawa S, Papaioannou VE. 1992. RAG-1-deficient mice have no mature B and T lymphocytes. *Cell* 68:869–77
- van Gent D, McBlane JF, Ramsden DA, Sadofsky MJ, Hesse JE, Gellert M. 1995. Initiation of V(D)J recombination in a cell-free system. *Cell* 81:925–34
- 15. Taccioli GE, Alt FW. 1995. Potential tar-

gets for autosomal SCID mutations. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 7:436–40

- Born WJ, White J, Kappler J, Marrack P. 1988. Rearrangement of IgH genes in normal thymocyte develoment. *J. Immunol.* 140:3228–32
- Zou Y-R, Takeda S, Rajewsky K. 1993. Gene targeting in the Igκ locus: efficient generation of λ expressing B cells independent of gene rearrangement in Igκ. *EMBO J.* 12:811–20
- 18. Takeda S, Zou Y-R, Bluethmann H, Kitamura D, Muller U, Rajewsky K. 1993. Deletion of the immunoglobulin κ chain intron enhancer abolishes κ chain gene rearrangement in *cis* but not λ chain gene rearrangement in *trans. EMBO J.* 12:2329– 36
- Chen J, Troustine M, Kurahara C, Young F, Kuo C-C, Xu Y, Loring JF, Alt FW, Huszar D. 1993. B cell development in mice that lack one or both immunoglobulin κ light chain genes. *EMBO J*. 12:821– 30
- Strominger JL. 1989. Developmental biology of T cell receptors. *Science* 244:943–50
- Uematsu Y, Ryser S, Dembic Z, Borgulya P, Krimpenfort P, Berns A, von Boehmer H, Steinmetz M. 1988. In transgenic mice the introduced functional T cell receptor β gene prevents expression of endogenous β genes. *Cell* 52:831–41
- 22. Mombaerts P, Clarke AR, Rudnicki MA, Iacomini J, Itohara S, Lafaille JJ, Wang L, Ichikawa Y, Jaenisch R, Hooper ML, Tonegawa S. 1992. Mutations in T-cell antigen receptor genes α and β block thymocyte development at different stages. *Nature* 360:225–31
- 22a. Shinkai Y, Koyasu S, Nakayama K, Murphy KM, Loh DY, Reinherz EL, Alt FW. 1993. Restoration of T cell development in RAG-2-deficient mice by functional TCR transgenes. *Science* 259:822–25
- Weintraub H. 1985. Assembly and propagation of repressed and depressed chromosomal states. *Cell* 42:705–11
- Blackwell TK, Moore MW, Yancopoulos GD, Suh H, Lutzker S, Selsing E, Alt FW. 1986. Recombination between immunoglobulin variable region gene segments is enhanced by transcription. *Nature* 324:585–89
- Ferrier P, Covey LR, Suh H, Winoto A, Hood L, Alt FW. 1989. T cell receptor DJ but not VDJ rearrangement within a

recombination substrate introduced into a pre-B cell line. Int. Immunol. 1:66–74

- 26. Bird A. 1992. The essentials of DNA methylation. *Cell* 70:5–8
- Engler P, Weng A, Storb U. 1993. Influence of CpG methylation and target spacing on V(D)J recombination in a transgenic substrate. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13:571–77
- Goodhardt M, Cavelier P, Doyen N, Kallenbach S, Babinet C, Rougeon F. 1993. Methylation status of immunoglobulin κ gene segments correlates with their recombination potential. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:1789–95
- Hsieh C-L, Lieber MR. 1992. CpG methylated minichromosomes become inaccessible for V(D)J recombination after undergoing replication. *EMBO J.* 11:315–25
- Chen J, Young F, Bottaro A, Stewart V, Smith RK, Alt FW. 1993. Mutations of the intronic IgH enhancer and its flanking sequences differentially affect accessibility of the J_H locus. *EMBO J*. 12:4635–45
- Tazi J, Bird A. 1990. Alternative chromatin structure at CpG islands. *Cell* 60:909–20
- Alt FW, Rosenberg N, Enea V, Siden E, Baltimore D. 1982. Multiple immunoglobulin heavy-chain gene transcripts in Abelson murine leukemia virustransformed lymphoid cell lines. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 2:386–400
- Alessandrini A, Desiderio SV. 1991. Coordination of immunoglobulin DJ_H transcription and D-to-J_H rearrangement by promoter-enhancer approximation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 11:2096–107
- Van Ness BG, Weigert M, Colecough C, Mather EL, Kelley DE, Perry RP. 1981. Transcription of the unrearranged mouse Cκ locus: sequence of the initiation region and comparison of activity with a rearranged Vκ-Cκ gene. Cell 27:593–602
- Goldman JP, Spencer DM, Raulet DH. 1993. Ordered rearrangement of variable region genes of the T cell receptor γ locus correlates with transcription of the unrearranged genes. J. Exp. Med. 177:729–39
- Fondell JD, Marcu KB. 1992. Transcription of germ line V α segments correlates with ongoing T-cell receptor α-chain rearrangement. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12:1480–89
- Holman PO, Roth ME, Huang M, Kranz DM. 1993. Characterization of transcripts from unrearranged Vα8 genes in the thymus. J. Immunol. 151:1959–67
- Yancopoulos GD, Alt FW. 1985. Developmentally controlled and tissue-specific expression of unrearranged V_H gene seg-

ments. Cell 40:271-81

- Anderson SJ, Levin SD, Perlmutter RM. 1993. Protein tyrosine kinase p56^{lck} controls allelic exclusion of T-cell receptor β-chain genes. *Nature* 365:552–54
- Reth MG, Alt FW. 1984. Novel immunoglobulin heavy chains are produced from DJ_H gene segment rearrangement in lymphoid cells. *Nature* 312:418–23
- 41. Okada A, Mendelsohn M, Alt F. 1994. Differential activation of transcription versus recombination of transgenic T cell receptor β variable region gene segments in B and T lineage cells. J. Exp. Med. 180:261–72
- 42. Fernex C, Capone M, Ferrier P. 1995. The V(D)J recombinational and transcriptional activities of the immunoglobulin heavy-chain intronic enhancer can be mediated through distinct protein-binding sites in a transgenic substrate. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:3217–26
- Dillon N, Grosveld F. 1993. Transcriptional regulation of multigene loci: multilevel control. *Trends Genet*. 9:134–37
- Leiden JM. 1993. Transcriptional regulation of T cell receptor genes. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 11:539–70
- Staudt LM, Lenardo MJ. 1991. Immunoglobulin gene transcription. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 9:373–98
- Banerji J, Olson L, Schaffner W. 1983. A lymphocyte-specific cellular enhancer is located downstream of the joining region in immunoglobulin heavy chain genes. *Cell* 33:729–40
- Gillies SD, Morrison SL, Oi VT, Tonegawa S. 1983. A tissue-specific transcription enhancer element is located in the major intron of a rearranged immunoglobulin heavy chain gene. *Cell* 33:717–28
- Grosschedl R, Baltimore D. 1985. Celltype specificity of immunoglobulin gene expression is regulated by at least three DNA sequence elements. *Cell* 41:885–97
- Gerster T, Picard D, Schaffner W. 1986. During B-cell differentiation, enhancer activity and transcription rate of immunoglobulin heavy chain genes are high before mRNA accumulation. *Cell* 45:45– 52
- Sen R, Baltimore D. 1986. Multiple nuclear factors interact with the immunoglobulin enhancer sequences. *Cell* 46:705–16
- Dariavach P, Williams GT, Campbell K, Pettersson S, Neuberger MS. 1991. The mouse IgH 3'-enhancer. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 21:1499–504
- 52. Atchison ML, Perry RP. 1987. The role of

the κ enhancer and its binding factor NF- κ B in the developmental regulation of κ gene transcription. *Cell* 48:121–28

- Pettersson S, Cook GP, Bruggemann M, Williams GT, Neuberger MS. 1990. A second B cell-specific enhancer 3' of the immunoglobulin heavy-chain locus. *Nature* 344:165–68
- 54. Jenuwein T, Forrester WC, Qiu R-G, Grosschedl R. 1993. The immunoglobulin μ enhancer core establishes local factor access in nuclear chromatin independent of transcriptional stimulation. *Genes Dev.* 7:2016–32
- Engler P, Roth P, Kim JY, Storb U. 1991. Factors affecting the rearrangement efficiency of an Ig test gene. J. Immunol. 146:2826–35
- Ferrier P, Krippl B, Blackwell TK, Furley AJ, Suh H, Winoto A, Cook WD, Hood L, Costantini F, Alt FW. 1990. Separate elements control DJ and VDJ rearrangement in a transgenic recombination substrate. *EMBO J.* 9:117–25
- Kallenbach S, Babinet C, Pournin S, Cavelier P, Goodhardt M, Rougeon F. 1993. The intronic immunoglobulin κ gene enhancer acts independently on rearrangement and on transcription. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:1917–21
- Lauster R, Reynaud C-A, Martensson I-L, Peter A, Bucchini D, Jami J, Weill J-C. 1993. Promoter, enhancer and silencer elements regulate rearrangement of an immunoglobulin transgene. *EMBO J*. 12:4615–23
- van Meerwijk JPM, Iglesias A, Hansen-Hagge T, Bluethmann H, Steinmetz M. 1991. Allelic exclusion of a T cell receptor-β minilocus. J. Immunol. 147:3224–28
- Lauzurica P, Krangel MS. 1994. Enhancer-dependent and -independent steps in the rearrangement of a human T cell receptor δ transgene. J. Exp. Med. 179:43–55
- Alvarez JD, Anderson SJ, Loh DY. 1995. V(D)J recombination and allelic exclusion of a TCR β-chain minilocus occurs in the absence of a functional promoter. J. Immunol. 155:1191–202
- Fernex C, Caillol D, Capone M, Krippl B, Ferrier P. 1994. Sequences affecting the V(D)J recombinational activity of the IgH intronic enhancer in a transgenic substrate. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22:792–98
- Chung JH, Whiteley M, Felsenfeld G. 1993. A 5' element of the chicken βglobin domain serves as an insulator in human erythroid cells and protects

against position effect in Drosophila. Cell 74:505–14

- Blackwell TK, Alt FW. 1984. Site-specific recombination between immunoglobulin D and J_H segments that were introduced into the genome of a murine pre-B cell line. *Cell* 37:105–12
- 65. Oltz EM, Alt FW, Lin W-C, Chen J, Taccioli G, Desiderio S, Rathbun G. 1993. A V(D)J recombinase inducible B cell line: role of transcriptional enhancer elements in directing V(D)J recombination. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13:6223–30
- Hsieh CL, McCloskey RP, Lieber MR. 1992. V(D)J recombination on minichromosomes is not affected by transcription. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267:15,613–19
- Rathbun G, Oltz EM, Alt FW. 1993. Comparison of RAG gene expression in normal and transformed precursor lymphocytes. *Int. Immunol.* 5:997–1000
- Chen Y-Y, Wang LC, Huang MS, Rosenberg N. 1994. An active v-abl protein tyrosine kinase blocks immunoglobulin lightchain gene rearrangement. *Genes Dev.* 8:688–97
- Forrester WC, van Genderen C, Jenuwein T, Grosschedl R. 1994. Dependence of enhancer-mediated transcription of the immunoglobulin μ gene on nuclear matrix attachment regions. *Science* 265:1221–25
- Arnow BJ, Silbiger RN, Dusing MR, Stock JL, Yager KL, Potter S, Hutton JJ, Wiginton DA. 1992. Functional analysis of the human adenosine deaminase gene thymic regulatory region and its ability to generate position-independent transgene expression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12:4170–85
- Zimmerman K, Legouy E, Stewart V, Depinho R, Alt FW. 1990. Differential regulation of the N-myc gene in transfected cells and transgenic mice. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10:2096–103
- Jahner D, Stuhlmann H, Stewart CL, Harbers K, Lohler J, Simon I, Jaenisch R. 1982. De novo methylation and expression of retroviral genomes during mouse embryogenesis. *Nature* 298:623–28
- Capone M, Watrin F, Fernex C, Horvat B, Krippl B, Wu L, Scollay R, Ferrier P. 1993. TCR β and TCR α gene enhancers confer tissue- and stage-specificity on V(D)J recombination events. *EMBO J.* 12:4335– 46
- Lauzurica P, Krangel MS. 1994. Temporal and lineage-specific control of T cell receptor α/δ gene rearrangement by T cell receptor α and δ enhancers. J. Exp. Med. 179:1913–21
- 75. van Meerwijk JPM, Bluthmann H, Stein-

metz M. 1990. T-cell specific rearrangement of T-cell receptor β transgenes in mice. *EMBO J.* 9:1057–62

- Winoto A, Baltimore D. 1989. α/β lineage-specific expression of the α T cell receptor gene by nearby silencers. *Cell* 59:649–55
- Pierce JW, Gifford AM, Baltimore D. 1991. Silencing of the expression of the immunoglobulin kappa gene in non-B cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol* 11:1431–37
- Serwe M, Sablitzky F. 1993. V(D)J recombination in B cells is impaired but not blocked by targeted deletion of the immunoglobulin heavy chain intron enhancer. *EMBO J.* 12:2321–27
- Sauer B, Henderson N. 1988. Site-specific DNA recombination in mammalian cells by the cre recombinase of bacteriophage P1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. (USA)* 85:5166– 70
- Gu H, Zou Y-R, Rajewsky K. 1993. Independent control of immunoglobulin switch recombination at individual switch regions evidenced through cre-*loxP*-mediated gene targeting. *Cell* 73:1155–64
- Cockerill PN, Yuen M-H, Garrard WT. 1987. The enhancer of the immunoglobulin heavy chain locus is flanked by presumptive chromosomal loop anchorage elements. J. Biol. Chem. 262:5394–97
- Kim CG, Epner EM, Forrester WC, Groudine M. 1992. Inactivation of the human β-globin gene by targeted insertion into the β-globin locus control region. *Genes Dev.* 6:928–38
- Kottman AH, Zevnik B, Welte M, Nielson PJ, Kohler G. 1994. A second promoter and enhancer element within the immunoglobulin heavy chain locus. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:817–21
- Matthias P, Baltimore D. 1993. The immunoglobulin heavy chain locus contains another B-cell-specific 3' enhancer close to the α constant region. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13:1547–53
- Madisen L, Groudine M. 1994. Identification of a locus control region in the immunoglobulin heavy-chain locus that deregulates *c-myc* expression in plasmacytoma Burkitt's lymphoma cells. *Genes Dev.* 8:2212–26
- Cogne M, Lansford R, Bottaro A, Zhang J, Gorman J, Young F, Cheng H-L, Alt FW. 1994. A class switch control region at the 3' end of the immunoglobulin heavy chain locus. *Cell* 77:737–47
- Parslow TG, Granner DK. 1982. Chromatin changes accompany immunoglob-

ulin k gene activation: a potential control region within the gene. *Nature* 299:449– 51

- Picard D, Schaffner W. 1984. A lymphocyte-specific enhancer in the mouse immunoglobulin k gene. *Nature* 307:80– 82
- Emorine L, Kuehl M, Weir L, Leder P, Max EE. 1983. A conserved sequence in the immunoglobulin Jκ-Cκ intron: Possible enhancer element. *Nature* 304:447– 49
- Lenardo M, Pierce JW, Baltimore D. 1987. Protein-binding sites in Ig gene enhancers determine transcriptional activity and inducibility. *Science* 236:1573–77
- Meyer KB, Neuberger MS. 1989. The immunoglobulin κ locus contains a second, stronger B-cell-specific enhancer which is located downstream of the constant region. *EMBO J.* 8:1959–64
- Meyer KB, Sharpe MJ, Surani MA, Neuberger MS. 1990. The importance of the 3'-enhancer region in immunoglobulin κ gene expression. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 18:5609–15
- Fulton R, Van Ness B. 1994. Selective synergy of immunoglobulin enhancer elements in B-cell development: a characteristic of kappa light chain enhancers, but not heavy chain enhancers. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22:4216–23
- Fulton R, Van Ness B. 1993. Kappa immunoglobulin promoters and enhancers display developmentally controlled interactions. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 21:4941– 47
- Blasquez VC, Hale MA, Trevorrow KW, Garrard WT. 1992. Immunoglobulin κ gene enhancers synergistically activate gene expression but independently determine chromatin structure. J. Biol. Chem. 267:23,888–93
- 96. Betz AG, Milstein C, Gonzalez-Fernandez A, Pannell R, Larson T, Neuberger MS. 1994. Elements regulating somatic hypermutation of an immunoglobulin κ gene: critical role for the intron enhancer/matrix attachment region. *Cell* 77:239–48
- Pongubala JM, Nagulapalli S, Klemsz MJ, McKercher SR, Maki RA, Atchison ML. 1992. PU.1 recruits a second nuclear factor to a site important for immunoglobulin κ 3' enhancer activity. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12:368–78
- McDougall S, Peterson CL, Calame K. 1988. A transcriptional enhancer 3' of Cβ2 in the T cell receptor β locus. Science 241:205–8

- Ernst P, Smale ST. 1995. Combinatorial regulation of transcription I: general aspects of transcriptional control. *Immunity* 2:311–19
- Ernst P, Smale ST. 1995. Combinatorial regulation of transcription II: the immunoglubulin μ heavy chain gene. Immunity 2:427–38
- 100a. Demengeot J, Oltz EM, Alt FW. 1995. Promotion of V(D)J recombinational accessibility by the intronic Eκ element: role of the κB motif. Int. Immunol. 7:1995–2003
- 101. Redondo JM, Pfohl JL, Krangel MS. 1991. Identification of an essential site for transcriptional activation within the human T-cell receptor δ enhancer. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 11:5671–80
- 101a. Hernandez-Munain C, Lausurica P, Krangel MN. 1995. Regulation of T cell receptor δ gene rearrangement by c-Myb. *J. Exp. Med.* In press
- 102. Bain G, Robanus Maandag EC, Izon DJ, Amsen D, Kruisbeek AM, Weintraub BC, Krop I, Schlissel MS, Feeney AJ, van Roon M, van der Valk M, te Riele HPJ, Berns A, Murre C. 1994. E2A proteins are required for proper B cell development and initiation of immunoglobulin gene rearrangements. *Cell* 79:885–92
- Zhuang Y, Soriano P, Weintraub H. 1994. The helix-loop-helix gene E2A is required for B cell formation. *Cell* 79:875– 84
- Lin H, Grosschedl R. 1995. Failure of B-cell differentiation in mice lacking the transcription factor EBF. *Nature* 376:263– 67
- Corcoran LM, Karvelas M, Nossal GJ, Ye ZS, Jacks T, Baltimore D. 1993. Oct-2, although not required for early B-cell development, is critical for later B-cell maturation and for postnatal survival. *Genes Dev.* 7:570–82
- Sha WC, Liou H-C, Tuomanen EI, Baltimore D. 1995. Targeted disruption of the p50 subunit of NF-κB leads to mul-

tifocal defects in immune responses. *Cell* 80:321–30

- 107. Weih F, Carrasco D, Durham SK, Barton DS, Rizzo CA, Ryseck R-P, Lira SA, Bravo R. 1995. Multiorgan inflamation and hematopoietic abnormalities in mice with a targeted disruption of RelB, a member of the NF-κB/Rel family. *Cell* 80:331– 40
- Kingston RE, Green MR. 1994. Modeling eukaryotic transcriptional activation. *Curr. Biol.* 4:325–32
- 109. Cockerill PN, Garrard WT. 1986. Chromosomal loop anchorage of the kappa immunoglobulin gene occurs next to the enhancer in a region comtaining topoisomerase II sites. *Cell* 44:273–82
- Cockerill PN. 1990. Nuclear matrix attachment in several regions of the IgH locus. Nucleic Acids Res. 18:2643–48
- 111. Webb CF, Das C, Eneff KL, Tucker PW. 1991. Identification of a matrix-associated region 5' of an immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 11:5206–11
- Diaz P, Cado D, Winoto A. 1994. A locus control region in the T cell receptor α/δ locus. *Immunity* 1:207–17
- 113. Bode J, Kohwi Y, Dickinson L, Joh T, Klehr D, Mielke C, Kohwi-Shigematsu T. 1992. Biological significance of unwinding capability of nuclear matrixassociating DNAs. *Science* 255:195–97
- 114. Choi O-R, Engel JD. 1988. Developmental regulation of β -globin gene switching. *Cell* 55:17–26
- 115. Weaver D, Baltimore D. 1987. B lymphocyte-specific protein binding near an immunoglobulin κ-chain gene J segment. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84:1516–20
- 116. Gu H, Reynaud C-A, Cocea L, Rajewsky K, Weill J-C. 1995. An element in the V-J intron regulates mouse immunoglobulin kappa gene rearrangement. Presented at 9th Int. Congress Immunol., San Francisco



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN¹

Robert T. Abraham^{} and Gregory J. Wiederrecht⁺*

*Department of Immunology, Mayo Clinic/Foundation, Room 342B, Guggenheim Building, Rochester, Minnesota 55905 and ⁺Department of Immunology Research, PO Box 2000, Mail Code R80W-107, Merck Research Laboratories, Rahway, New Jersey, 07065

KEY WORDS: immunosuppression, cell cycle, protein synthesis inhibitor, lymphocyte activation, growth control

ABSTRACT

The potent immunosuppressive drugs FK506 and rapamycin interfere with signal transduction pathways required for T cell activation and growth. The distinct inhibitory effects of these drugs on the T cell activation program are mediated through the formation of pharmacologically active complexes with members of a family of intracellular receptors termed the FK506 binding proteins (FKBPs). The FKBP12 · FK506 complex specifically binds to and inhibits calcineurin, a signaling protein required for transcriptional activation of the interleukin (IL)-2 gene in response to T cell antigen receptor engagement. The FKBP12 · rapamycin complex interacts with a recently defined target protein termed the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR). Accumulating data suggest that mTOR functions in a previously unrecognized signal transduction pathway required for the progression of IL-2-stimulated T cells from G_1 into the S phase of the cell cycle. Here

¹Abbreviations: AT, ataxia telangiectasia; CaN, calcineurin; cdk, cyclin dependent kinase; CLN, cyclin; CRC, calcium release channel; CsA, cyclosporin A; eIF, eukaryotic initiation factor; FKBP, FK506 binding protein; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; IP3R, inositol trisphosphate receptor; Kip, cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor protein; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; NFAT, nuclear factor of activated T cells; ORF, open reading frame; PHAS, phosphorylated heat-and-acid stable; PI 3-kinase, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase; PI 4-kinase, phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase; PPIase, peptidyl-prolyl isomerase; RAP, rapamycin; RyR, ryanodine receptor; TcR, T cell receptor; TOR, target of rapamycin we review the immunopharmacology of rapamycin, with particular emphasis on the characterization of mTOR.

INTRODUCTION

The generation of immune responses to most antigenic stimuli is crucially dependent on an initial phase of T cell activation and proliferation. Activation of T cells is conventionally divided into two sequential stages. Prior to recognition of its cognate antigen, the mature T cell resides in the G_0 phase of the cell cycle. During the first stage of activation, contact with an antigen-presenting cell delivers the signals required for cell-cycle entry (G_0 - to G_1 -phase transition) and the expression of high-affinity receptors for T cell growth factors, including interleukin (IL)-2 and IL-4. The initial activation step also elicits the production of IL-2 and other growth-promoting cytokines by a subset of T cells within the activated population. The subsequent binding of T cell growth factors to their high-affinity receptors initiates the signaling events required for the progression of the G_1 -phase T cell into S phase and, ultimately, into mitosis.

The bacterially derived immunosuppressants FK506 (tacrolimus, Prograf) and rapamycin (sirolimus, Rapamune) have proven to be powerful pharmacologic probes for the dissection of signal transduction events related to T cell activation and growth. Although both drugs bind to the same immunophilin receptor, the resulting immunophilin · drug complexes interfere with distinct intracellular signaling pathways in T and other types of cells. Treatment of T cells with FK506 specifically inhibits the activity of the Ca²⁺-regulated serinethreonine phosphatase, calcineurin, an enzyme required for the transmission of T cell activating signals from the T cell antigen receptor (TcR). In contrast, the formation of immunophilin · RAP complexes in T cells interferes with the abilities of T cell growth factors to drive the progression of these cells from G₁ to S phase of the cell cycle. Recent studies have identified homologous target proteins for the immunophilin · RAP complex in yeast and mammalian cells. Ongoing studies with RAP as a probe are beginning to uncover a novel signal transduction cascade that may play a general role in the regulation of cell cycle progression in lymphoid and other eukaryotic cells.

DISCOVERY AND IN VIVO IMMUNOSUPPRESSION

Rapamycin (RAP), a lipophilic macrolide, was identified more than twenty years ago during antibiotic screening at Ayerst Research Laboratories. Produced by a strain of *Streptomyces hygroscopicus* isolated from a soil sample obtained from the Vai Atore region of Easter Island (Rapa Nui) (1), RAP is a white crystalline solid (m.p. 183-185°C), virtually insoluble in water but readily soluble in ethanol, methanol, dimethylsulfoxide, and other organic solvents (2). Although lacking antibacterial activity, RAP is a potent inhibitor of yeast growth and a moderate growth inhibitor of filamentous fungi (2). It is most active against species of Candida, particularly C. albicans, and protects against systemic and vaginal candidosis in mice, without acute toxicity (LD₅₀: 597 mg/kg intraperitoneally) (3). Early mechanistic studies showed that concentrations of RAP as high as 1.0 μ g/ml do not inhibit C. albicans growth during the first hour after addition to the growth media, but that concentrations as low as 5 ng/ml are growth-inhibiting after 90 min (4). In addition to fungicidal activity, RAP exerts tumoricidal activity (5), establishing that the antiproliferative effects observed in yeast can be extended to mammals. Labeling studies in C. albicans demonstrated that RAP strongly inhibits the incorporation of [³²P] phosphate into DNA and RNA (4), an indication that the drug exerts an effect upon the cell cycle. The structural characterization of RAP (C₅₁H₇₉NO₁₃; Figure 1) showed the molecule to be a mixture of two conformational isomers due to cis-trans rotation about an amidic bond in the 31-membered macrolide ring (6). The proposed chemical structure (6) was confirmed by the total organic synthesis of RAP (7-10).

The first demonstration of RAP's immunosuppressive activity was obtained from studies showing its inhibitory effects upon production of humoral IgE as well as its preventative effects in two animal models of human autoimmune disease, experimental autoimmune encephalitis and adjuvant arthritis



Figure 1 The chemical structures of rapamycin (left) and FK506 (right).

486 ABRAHAM & WIEDERRECHT

(11). However, the drug received more serious consideration as an immunosuppressant nearly a decade later, coincident with the discovery of FK506 at the Fujisawa Pharmaceutical Laboratories. FK506 (C₄₄H₆₉NO₁₂, Figure 1) was identified in a strain of *Streptomyces tsukabaensis* isolated from a soil sample taken from the Tsukuba region of Northern Japan during a screen for natural products that inhibit IL-2 production (12). FK506 was shown to be a powerful immunosuppressive agent as measured by its inhibitory effects in several immune function assays, including alloantigen-induced proliferation of lymphocytes, generation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes, expression of IL-2 receptors, and the production of T lymphocyte-derived lymphokines such as IL-2, IL-3, and IFN- γ (13). Interest in the therapeutic potential of FK506 mounted when it was discovered to be 100-fold more potent than cyclosporin A (CsA), the mainstay of transplant rejection drugs (13). The observations that the macrolactam rings of FK506 and RAP both contain the distinctive hemiketal-masked α , β -diketopipecolic acid amidic component (Figure 1) (14) and that FK506 is a more potent immunosuppressant than CsA provoked a resurgence of interest in RAP as a candidate immunosuppressive drug (15).

Although RAP and FK506 bind to the same family of intracellular receptors (see below), studies of the immunosuppressive activities of both agents in vitro (16, 17) quickly proved that the mechanism of RAP action is distinct from that of FK506. While the development of RAP as a therapeutic agent has lagged behind that of FK506, studies in both rodent and larger animal models have confirmed that RAP is a potent immunosuppressive compound. The therapeutic indices of RAP in various species, arranged in the order of greatest to least, are: mouse and rat, pig, monkey, and dog (18; reviewed in 19). In rodents, RAP is a potent inhibitor of the rejection of both xeno- (20) and allogeneic (21) skin grafts and, in highly histoincompatible heart grafts (18, 22), it significantly outperforms FK506 in terms of both potency and graft survival time (22). In histoincompatible renal transplants in pigs (18, 23, 24), rats (25), and primates (26), RAP has also demonstrated its effectiveness in preventing rejection. In mice, it is a more potent inhibitor of the graft-versus-host reaction than either FK506 or CsA. In the same species, RAP prevents host-versus-graft disease with higher potency than CsA, but not FK506 (27). Further studies have confirmed the initial finding (11) that RAP protects against autoimmune disease in rodent models. In the MLR/lpr mouse model of human systemic lupus erythematosus, RAP prolongs survival and prevents progression of the glomerulonephritis associated with the disease. In the nonobese diabetic mouse model of human autoimmune insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, RAP prevents the onset of the disease whereas CsA is without effect (28). RAP also inhibits developing and established adjuvant-induced arthritis in the rat and has significant inhibitory effects on the incidence and severity of collagen-induced arthritis in mice (28).

Relative to the severe renal side effects observed during therapy with CsA and FK506, the nephrotoxicity caused by RAP treatment is negligible (18, 28-30). However, it is not without serious side effects, particularly in larger animals. As observed with FK506 (31), RAP is extraordinarily toxic when administered to dogs, and even short, nonimmunosuppressive dosing regimens severely disturb gastrointestinal functions, producing diarrhea, vomiting, severe ulceration, and vasculitis from the mouth to the colon (18). Because FK506 and RAP inhibit different target proteins (see below), this strikingly similar toxicity profile in dogs is intriguing. The gastrointestinal toxicity may be due to a chemical property shared by the two compounds or to the fact that both drugs bind to the same intracellular receptors, disrupting an as-yet-undefined FKBP-dependent process in the dog gut. The gastrointestinal side effects are not species-specific, as severe vomiting and intestinal vasculitis are also observed in baboons treated with RAP (26). Another adverse side effect associated with RAP-treatment is testicular atrophy, observed in both mice and cynomolgus monkeys (32). Interestingly, relative to all other human tissues examined, the mRNA encoding the target of the FKBP · RAP complex, mTOR, is very highly expressed in testis (33), suggesting a functional role in testicular physiology.

As studies with FK506 and CsA have shown, toxicity, or the lack thereof, in animals does not necessarily extrapolate to humans (34, 35), and despite its significant adverse side effects, RAP has exhibited sufficient therapeutic potential to proceed to Phase II clinical trials (36–38). Consideration has also been given to the use of RAP in combination with CsA, which may result in additive or even synergistic immunosuppressive effects, with the attendant reduction in individual drug dosage leading to a decreased incidence of adverse side effects (39). The toxicity associated with CsA, FK506, or RAP therapy is not unexpected. The immunophilin complexes containing CsA, FK506, or RAP inhibit the functions of specific but ubiquitously expressed target proteins in mammalian tissues. The profiles of therapeutic and toxic effects observed with each drug likely reflect the abundance and functions of the cognate target proteins, as well as pharmacodynamic parameters such as each drug's ability to penetrate cellular membranes, the concentrations of different immunophilins within various cell types, and the relative affinities of the various immunophilin . drug complexes for their target proteins.

MOLECULAR MECHANISM OF RAPAMYCIN ACTION

The groundwork for understanding the molecular basis of RAP-induced immunosuppression was provided by a remarkable series of mechanistic insights into the cellular pharmacology of CsA and FK506. CsA and FK506 both inhibit the same subset of Ca^{2+} -associated activation pathways (40), exert their inhibitory effects during the G_0 -to- G_1 phase of T cell activation, and block expression of the same set of early lymphokine genes (41). CsA and FK506 bind to abundant, ubiquitous, and phylogenically well-conserved intracellular receptors (42, 43). The major cytosolic receptor for CsA is cyclophilin A (CyPA), an 18-kDa protein (44), while the major FK506 binding protein (FKBP) is a 12-kDa cytosolic protein termed FKBP12 (45, 46). Both CyPA (47, 48) and FKBP12 (45, 46) are enzymes, termed peptidyl-prolyl isomerases (PPIases), that catalyze *cis-trans* isomerization of peptidyl-prolyl bonds in peptides and proteins. FKBP12 prefers substrates with hydrophobic amino acids immediately preceding the proline, while CyPA is a more promiscuous enzyme (49). Although the PPIase activities of CyPA and FKBP12 are inhibited by CsA (47, 48) and FK506 (45, 46), respectively, inhibition of PPIase activity is unrelated to immunosuppression (50-52). These observations suggested a gain-of-function model in which FK506 and CsA are inactive alone but serve as co-drugs with their cognate immunophilins, forming active complexes that inhibit a Ca²⁺-dependent signal transduction event (53). Subsequently, it was shown that the CvPA \cdot CsA (54) and the FKBP12 \cdot FK506 (55) complexes bind to and inhibit the same target protein, the Ca²⁺-dependent serine-threonine phosphatase, calcineurin (CaN), a critical component of the TcR-linked signal transduction pathway leading to cytokine gene transcription (56, 57). CaN is activated by the increase in cytoplasmic free Ca²⁺ that results from TcR engagement. A target, either direct or indirect, for the activated phosphatase is the phosphorylated cytoplasmic subunit of the T cell-specific transcription factor, nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT). The dephosphorylated cytoplasmic NFAT subunit is free to translocate to the nucleus and associate with a nuclear subunit to form the fully active NFAT complex, an essential component of the transcriptional apparatus required for expression of the IL-2 and other cytokine genes. Thus, by interfering with the TcR-mediated activation of CaN, both CsA and FK506 block transcription of the IL-2 gene in T lymphocytes (for reviews, see 58-60).

The Intracellular Receptors for RAP

RAP and FK506 bind to the same family of intracellular receptors, termed FK506 binding proteins (FKBPs). Structural studies have shown that FK506 has two domains—a domain bound by FKBP and an effector domain that, to-gether with FKBP, forms a composite surface that interacts with CaN (reviewed in 61; 62). Like FK506, RAP also has two domains—an effector domain forming a composite surface with FKBP that interacts with the mammalian target of RAP, mTOR (see below), as well as a binding domain that mediates the

interaction with FKBP. The FKBP-binding domain is conserved in FK506 and RAP, providing a chemical basis for the mutual antagonism exerted by the two molecules in intact cells (16, 63).

The crystal structure of the human FKBP12 · RAP complex has been solved and shows the pipecolinyl ring of RAP buried deeply in the hydrophobic cavity located between the α -helix and β -sheet of FKBP12 (64). The common chemical elements of RAP and FK506 (Figure 1), which include the pipecolinyl ring, C1 ester, pyranose ring, and the C8 and C9 carbonyls, adopt superimposable conformations in the FKBP12 · RAP and FKBP12 · FK506 complexes (64). In contrast to FK506, which undergoes a dramatic conformational change upon binding FKBP12 (65), the three-dimensional structure of RAP complexed to FKBP12 is almost identical to its conformation in the free crystalline state (64). Thus, relative to FK506, RAP is in an energetically favorable conformation for binding to FKBP12, providing an explanation for its two-fold greater affinity.

The human FKBP family is currently comprised of seven members, whose characteristics are summarized in Table 1. Exhaustive reviews on FKBPs can be found elsewhere (66, 67). All FKBPs bind RAP with greater affinity than FK506, with the exception of FKBPr38 (FKBP-related 38-kDa protein) which does not bind the immunosuppressants but is included in the family because of the similarity of its sequence (68). The PPIase activity of all FKBPs is inhibited by RAP and FK506. Because the drug-binding domain overlaps with the PPIase active site, inhibition of PPIase activity by RAP or FK506 can be taken as a measure of the affinity of a particular FKBP for the drug. Among the FKBPs, FKBP25 is most selective for RAP relative to FK506 (69). Despite this selectivity, FKBP25 does not mediate the RAP-sensitivity of mast cells (70), suggesting that the FKBP25 · RAP complex does not interact with mTOR (see below) in intact cells. To date, two FKBP isoforms, FKBP12 and FKBP12.6, have been shown to bind mTOR in the presence of RAP, although the FKBP12 · RAP complex appears to be superior in this regard (71).

There is no evidence linking the physiological function of the FKBPs to their inhibitory functions in the presence of RAP. FKBP12 and FKBP12.6, which associate with mTOR in the presence of RAP, normally interact with the calcium release channel (CRC)/ryanodine receptors (RyR) of the terminal cisternae of skeletal muscle and heart muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum, respectively, and they are required for proper channel function (72–76). The ryanodine receptors in skeletal muscle (isoform 1, RyR-1) and heart muscle (isoform 2, RyR-2) are the largest ion channel complexes known (MR, 2.3×10^6 daltons), and they play an important role in release of Ca²⁺ during excitationcontraction coupling. The skeletal muscle CRC can be represented as (RyR-1 protomer)₄(FKBP12)₄, while the cardiac muscle CRC can be represented

| FKBP | MW (kDa) | % Identity to FKBP12 | Affinity (nM) RAP | Affinity (nM) FK-506 | PPIase activity ^g | Binds mTOR ^h | Inhibition of CaN ^j (IC ₅₀) | Physiological association |
|---|--|---|---|---|--|---|--|---|
| FKBP12 | 11.8 | 100 | $0.2 (K_d)$ | 0.6 (K _d) | yes | yes | 8 nM | RyR-1 ^k ; IP ₃ R ¹ |
| FKBP12.6 ^a | 11.6 | 83 | $0.2 (K_{d})^{d}$ | $0.5 (K_d)$ | yes | yes | 8 nM | RyR-2 ^m |
| FKBP13 | 13.3 | 50 | ND^e | $55.0(K_i)$ | yes | ND | $30 \ \mu$ M | Lumen of ER |
| | | | | | | | | Casein kinase |
| FKBP25 | 25.0 | 40 | $0.9 (K_i)$ | 160 (K _i) | yes | ND | $> 50 \mu\text{M}$ | II; |
| | | | | | | | | nucleolin |
| FKBPr38 ⁿ | 38.3 | 33 | no binding | no binding | ou | NA | NA ⁱ | |
| FKBP51 ^b | 51.2 | 50 | 29 (IC ₅₀) ^f | 166 (IC ₅₀) ^f | yes | ND | $3 \mu M$ | |
| | | | | | | | | Glucocorticoid |
| FKBP52 ^c | 51.8 | 53 | 8 (K _i) | 10 (K _i) | yes | ND | $30 \ \mu M$ | receptor; hsp9C |
| ^a An alternative : unpublished resu determined. ^f Th, applicable becau ryanodine recept rvanodine recept | plice product ults). ^e Also kno ese values are se FKBPr38 (] or calcium rele or calcium rele | of the FKBP12.6 m wm as hsp56, FKBF for murine FKBP51 FKBP-related 38 kL sase channel in skel | RNA encodes an 8.8 k 559, p59, hsp59. ^d Base (134). ^g RAP and FK. 2a protein) does not bii 2a protein does not bii 2a muscle sarcoplasmi aic muscle sarcoplasmi | Da FKBP-related prote d upon the K _d for FK-5 506 inhibit PPlase action ad RAP or FK-506. JV aid reticulum. "The in- c reticulum. "The 38 | in (133). ^b This 06 and adjusted : vity in all FKBP Vhen the indicate ositol triphospha | human cDNA ha for RAP's greater s. ^h When the ind d FKBP is comp e receptor on the 1 upon translation | s recently been clone ability to inhibit PPta licated FKBP is comp lexed with FK-506 (7 e endoplasmic reticulu to of the ORF in an isoo | d (Baughman G et al, ase activity (71). °Not olesed with RAP. [†] Not 71). ^k Isoform 1 of the m. ^m Isoform 2 of the lated cDNA. |

Table 1The family of human FKBPs

ABRAHAM & WIEDERRECHT

as (RyR-2 protomer)₄(FKBP12.6)₄ (73, 74). Both RAP and FK506 displace FKBP12 from RyR-1 (73), but it is unlikely that at immunosuppressive doses any displacement actually occurs in vivo, since the concentration of FKBP12 in skeletal muscle myoplasm is about 3 μ M (74). This would effectively buffer any disruption of the channel complex by either drug. Recently, it has been shown that the IP₃R CRC, a relative of the RyR CRC, is also associated with and modulated by FKBP12 (77). RAP and FK506, but not CsA, can dissociate FKBP12 from the channel, rendering it leaky to Ca²⁺ (77). Again, it is unlikely that immunosuppressive doses of RAP would have an effect on the IP3R CRC in T cells. Only 3–5% FKBP occupancy is required to prevent activation of T cells, and, as in muscle cells, the high intracellular concentration of FKBP (6 to 7 μ M) (52) would buffer any effect that RAP might have on the IP₃R-associated FKBP12.

The Targets of the FKBP · RAP Complex in Yeast

Studies in yeast, in which two independent groups first identified the target of the FKBP · RAP complex, have made enormous contributions to our understanding of the mechanism of RAP action in mammalian cells. The extreme growth-sensitivity of S. cerevisiae to RAP (IC₅₀ = $0.1 \,\mu$ g/ml) allowed for selection of RAP-resistant mutants that identified genes mediating RAP sensitivity. Mutant alleles of three genes FKB1, TOR1 (DRR1), and TOR2 (DRR2) (TOR: target of RAP; DRR: dominant RAP resistant), were found to confer resistance to RAP (78-82). Mutations in FKB1 (encoding FKBP12) were recessive while the TOR1 and TOR2 mutations isolated in these studies were dominant or semi-dominant (80–82). TOR1-disruptants exhibit a mild phenotype, growing 10-15% more slowly than wild-type strains (82). When grown in the presence of RAP, the TOR1-disruptants arrest growth in early G₁ within one generation. The TOR2 disruption confers a lethal growth defect with cells arresting not only in G₁ but randomly throughout the cell cycle. Strains disrupted for both TOR1 and TOR2 arrest growth in G_1 within one generation, mimicking the phenotype of wild-type yeast grown in the presence of RAP. The G_1 arrest phenotype of the TOR1/TOR2 double-disruptant indicates that RAP inhibits both the TOR1 and TOR2 proteins (82). The presence of either TOR1 or TOR2 is sufficient to allow yeast cells to progress through G_1 , indicating that either protein can execute the essential G₁ function. TOR2 has two functions, a RAP-sensitive G₁ function complemented by TOR1 and a RAP-insensitive essential function not complemented by TOR1 (80). The observation that placement of a TOR2-disruption in a TOR1-mutant, RAP-resistant background confers a lethal phenotype (83) does support the initial suggestion (80) that TOR2 has two functions.

TOR1 and TOR2 are proteins with 2470 (281.2 kDa) and 2474 (282 kDa) amino acid residues, respectively, which lack obvious signal sequences or



Figure 2 A schematic representation of TOR family members and related proteins. The *asterisk* marks the location of the critical serine residues, Ser²⁰³⁵, Ser¹⁹⁷², and Ser¹⁹⁷⁵, in mTOR, TOR1, and TOR2, respectively. Similarly shaded boxes indicate regions of high homology among PI 3-kinase family members.

transmembrane domains (80, 81). The two proteins have 67% amino acid identity and 80% similarity overall (84). The N-terminal segments of both proteins are unrelated to any protein currently in the databases. The C-terminal regions of TOR1 and TOR2 are homologous to a growing family of signaling proteins. These include (i) the p110 catalytic subunit of bovine phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI 3-kinase), (ii) a PI 3-kinase (VPS34) involved in targeting soluble hydrolases to vacuoles in S. cerevisiae (85), (iii) a protein (ESR1, MEC1) required for the repair of damaged DNA and for meiotic recombination in S. cerevisiae (86), and (iv) the protein encoded by the human AT gene, which is mutated in the autosomal recessive disorder ataxia telangiectasia (87). The regions of greatest homology among the six proteins (amino acids 2123-2296 of TOR1, 2127-2300 of TOR2, 801-935 of p110, 623-751 of VPS34, 2078-2245 of ESR1, and 1368–1543 of the protein encoded by the partial AT cDNA clone) span a putative "lipid kinase motif" containing residues conserved in the ATP-binding domains of PI 3- and PI 4-kinases as well as certain protein kinases (Figure 2).

The lipid kinase domains in TOR1 and TOR2 are functionally interchangeable (82). Thus, the different phenotypes of the TOR1- and TOR2-disrupted yeast reflect functional differences in the amino-terminal regions of each protein. All TOR1 and TOR2 alleles that have been cloned from RAP-resistant yeast strains are missense mutants that alter the same serine residue just upstream of the lipid kinase domain (80–82, 84). The FKBP \cdot RAP complex binds a 196 amino acid fragment of TOR2 (amino acids 1886–2081), an interaction abolished by mutations of Ser¹⁹⁷⁵ (88). Likewise, the binding domain of TOR1 has been mapped to a small region surrounding Ser¹⁹⁷², and mutations to any residue other than alanine prevent binding of FKBP \cdot RAP and confer resistance to RAP (83). Because alanine is a potential mimic of a nonphosphorylated serine residue, these results indicate that phosphorylation of Ser¹⁹⁷² is not required for FKBP \cdot RAP binding, and they also argue against an earlier proposal that phosphorylation of Ser^{1972/1975}, present in a consensus protein kinase C site, may be required for binding FKBP12 \cdot RAP (82).

Although it has not yet been demonstrated that TOR1 and TOR2 actually possess kinase activities, genetic evidence strongly suggests that intact lipid kinase domains are required for their G1 function. The introduction of mutations analogous to those known to abolish the lipid kinase activities of VPS34 and mammalian p110 into the lipid kinase domains of the dominant RAP-resistant TOR1 or TOR2 alleles abrogates their ability to confer resistance to RAP (83). The reversion to RAP-sensitivity of these strains demonstrates that functional kinase domains in TOR1 and TOR2 are necessary for their G₁ function. When overexpressed in a wild-type background, "kinase dead" TOR1 mutants confer a dominant negative phenotype, resulting in G_1 arrest (83). This finding suggests that the overproduced, mutant TOR1 protein is nonproductively interacting with normal G₁ targets of the wild-type TOR1 kinase domain. The essential non-G₁ function of TOR2 also requires an intact kinase domain. These genetic data support a model (83) which proposes that the G_1 target of the TOR kinase domains binds to the C-terminus of the TOR proteins, an interaction blocked by FKBP12 · RAP. The model further suggests that the target substrate for TOR2's essential viability function binds to a different region, presumably located in the polymorphic N-terminus of TOR2, and its access to TOR2 is not blocked by FKBP12 · RAP.

Recent studies suggest that the TOR proteins function in a signal transduction pathway that coordinates the availability of essential nutrients with progression through the cell cycle. Even when grown on rich medium, yeast cells depleted of TOR function, either by RAP-treatment or by disruption of both *TOR* genes, display a phenotype similar to that of cells entering G_0 during the starvation response. For example, both nutrient deprivation and treatment with RAP cause a rapid and acute reduction in initiation of translation, an accumulation of glycogen, an increase in vacuole size, a greatly increased transcription of known marker genes for nutrient starvation, and an arrest of yeast cells with 1N

494 ABRAHAM & WIEDERRECHT

DNA (89). The putative TOR-restriction point has been mapped to a point prior to the α -mating factor arrest point, START (89). TOR-depleted cells arrest in early G₁ because they are unable to synthesize CLN3, a cyclin required for G₁ progression. CLN3 functions, in part, as a transcriptional activator of genes expressed later in G₁, including CLN1, CLN2, ORFD, HCS26, and CLB5, all of which encode known or candidate cyclins. CLN3 expression is regulated by the translational initiation factor eIF-4E. When the CLN3 ORF is fused to eIF-4E-independent 5' translational regulatory sequences, RAP-induced G₁ arrest is repressed (89). These results indicate that TOR is a signaling molecule required for eIF-4E-dependent translation when nutrient conditions are favorable for G₁phase progression.

The Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR)

Five groups, working independently, identified the mammalian protein target of the FKBP12 · RAP complex. Homologous high molecular weight proteins were isolated from various mammalian sources including bovine brain (FKBP-RAP-associated protein, FRAP) (33), rat brain (RAP and FKBP12 target, RAFT; mammalian target of RAP, mTOR) (90, 91), and human lymphocyte (Sirolimus effector protein, SEP; RAP target, RAPT) (92, 93). In keeping with the precedent yeast nomenclature, we refer to the protein as mTOR. Based upon its migration in denaturing gels, the purified mTOR protein has a molecular weight greater than 200 kDa (33, 90-92). Two observations helped to confirm that mTOR mediates the inhibitory effects of RAP in mammalian cells. First, two structural analogs of RAP (16-keto-RAP and 25, 26 iso-RAP) were identified that bind with high affinity to FKBP12 but which are 100-fold less potent inhibitors of G₁ progression in MG-63 osteosarcoma cells. The FKBP12 complexes with 16-keto-RAP and 25, 26 iso-RAP complexes bind mTOR poorly, if at all (33). Second, little or no mTOR is bound by the FKBP12 · RAP complex in extracts prepared from mutant murine T cell (YAC) lines selected for RAPresistance (91, 94). Extracts prepared from a RAP-sensitive revertant derived from one of the RAP-resistant T cell lines show wild-type levels of mTOR bound to the FKBP12 · RAP complex (91). Thus, sensitivity of T cells to RAP correlates with binding of mTOR to the FKBP12 · RAP complex.

Microsequencing of the purified mTOR protein enabled the cloning of the complete cDNAs encoding both the human (33) and rat homologs (90, 91). The open reading frames encode 2549 amino acid proteins that have calculated molecular weights of 289 kDa. The protein product of the in vitro–translated rat mTOR cDNA binds to the FKBP12 · RAP complex—formal validation that the cloned cDNA encodes a direct ligand for this complex (91). The mRNA of mTOR is ubiquitously expressed in human tissues with the highest levels found in testis and significant expression found in skeletal muscle (33, 93). Both

human and rat mTOR are slightly more similar to yeast TOR2 (46% identity) than to TOR1 (44% identity), with the greatest similarity (65% identity) found in the C-terminal 600 amino acids of the three proteins. This region of mTOR contains the lipid kinase motif (amino acids 2186–2359) found in the yeast TORs. There are other regions, particularly in the amino terminal portions of the proteins, where there is little or no homology between the yeast TORs and mTOR. Thus, although it is unclear whether mTOR is the functional equivalent of yeast TOR1 or TOR2, the high degree of amino acid sequence identity in the lipid kinase domain suggests that these proteins have similar enzymatic activities. To date, in vitro kinase assays have failed to detect lipid kinase activity in mTOR although a serine autophosphorylation activity has been reported (83).

As shown with the yeast TOR proteins (88), only a small portion of mTOR mediates binding to the FKBP12 \cdot RAP complex. In mTOR, the binding domain has been mapped to amino acids 2025–2114 (95), a 90 amino acid region just upstream of the lipid kinase domain containing a critical serine residue (Ser²⁰³⁵) homologous to the Ser^{1972/1975} in the yeast TOR proteins. As in TOR1, mutation of Ser²⁰³⁵ to residues other than alanine abrogates binding of mTOR to FKBP12 \cdot RAP (93, 95), indicating that phosphorylation of Ser²⁰³⁵ is not required for binding by FKBP12 \cdot RAP and that Ser²⁰³⁵ lies in a structurally critical region that is disturbed when replaced by any residue larger than alanine.

BIOCHEMICAL ACTIONS OF RAPAMYCIN IN MAMMALIAN CELLS

Anti-Proliferative Effects of RAP in Lymphoid and Nonlymphoid Cells

RAP is a potent inhibitor of the growth of most hemopoietic and lymphoid cell lines in vitro (17). Maximal growth-inhibitory effects are usually observed at concentrations of the drug equal to or less than 10 nM. It is particularly striking that RAP suppresses the cytokine-driven proliferation of both nontransformed lymphoid cell lines and the continuous growth of several leukemic cell lines, with virtually equal potency. The increase in doubling time of the cells induced by the drug is accompanied by a dramatic increase in the proportion of G₁-phase cells, which is consistent with the model that the FKBP12 \cdot RAP complex interferes specifically with the progression of G₁-phase cells into S phase (96, 97). The growth-inhibitory effect of RAP on lymphoid and other cell types is effectively antagonized by FK506 (16). Conversely, the ability of FK506 to inhibit antigen-dependent IL-2 production is reversed by RAP. The reciprocal antagonism between FK506 and RAP is explained by the competitive interactions of these drugs with a common intracellular receptor FKBP12.

496 ABRAHAM & WIEDERRECHT

In contrast to the broadly anti-proliferative effects of RAP on bone marrow– derived cells, the efficacy of RAP as an inhibitor of mesenchymal or epithelial cell growth is variable. For example, the serum-dependent growth of Swiss 3T3 mouse fibroblasts is only marginally affected by nanomolar concentrations of RAP (98), whereas RAP profoundly inhibits the proliferation of MG-63 osteosarcoma cells under the same culture conditions (97). The variable response to RAP may reflect physiologic differences in the extent to which redundant signaling pathways compensate for the loss of mTOR function in different cell lineages. Alternatively, certain established cell lines may have acquired abnormalities in cell-cycle regulation that effectively override the putative G₁-phase checkpoint governed by mTOR.

Other Cellular Actions of RAP

Although the immunosuppressive activity of RAP is commonly attributed to its antiproliferative effect on lymphoid cells, this drug affects a number of other cellular functions that may contribute to its ability to suppress immune responses in vivo. Studies performed with the murine T cell lymphoma, YAC-1, have shown that RAP inhibits IL-1-stimulated production of interferon (IFN)- γ as well as IFN- γ -induced expression of Ly6E antigen on the cell surface (94, 99, 100). Both of these actions are antagonized by FK506, suggesting that they are dependent upon the formation of FKBP12 · RAP complexes in YAC-1 cells. Furthermore, YAC-1 somatic mutants selected for resistance to the growth-inhibitory effect of RAP were correspondingly resistant to the suppressive actions of RAP on cytokine-driven production of IFN- γ and expression of Ly6E (94). As mentioned previously, the resistant phenotype of these YAC-1 clones is apparently explained by a mutational event(s) that leads to a decreased affinity of mTOR for the FKBP12 · RAP complex. These results suggest that, in addition to its cell-cycle regulatory function, mTOR participates in the signal transduction pathways that mediate IL-1- and IFN γ -stimulated responses in YAC-1 cells.

Ligation of the CD28 receptor on T cells provides an important costimulatory signal for antigen-dependent cytokine production by helper T-lymphocytes. The signal transduction pathway initiated by the interaction of CD28 with its ligands B7-1 and B7-2 remains obscure. In contrast to signaling from the TCR, signal propagation from the CD28 receptor is not inhibited by CsA or FK506. Conversely, signaling through CD28, but not the TCR, is sensitive to RAP (101). The CD28 response element in the IL-2 promoter region contains a nucleotide sequence that resembles a NF κ B-binding site, suggesting that CD28 promotes transcription of the IL-2 gene through the activation of members of the Rel family of transcription factors (102). Stimulation of Jurkat or human peripheral blood T cells with phorbol ester induces the nuclear translocation of the NF κ B

family member c-Rel, and both the rate and magnitude of this response are enhanced by costimulation through CD28 (103). The increase in intranuclear c-Rel is accompanied by a sustained downregulation of the inhibitory I κ B- α subunit in the cytoplasm. Both responses are inhibited by RAP, but not by CsA, suggesting that the RAP-sensitive target protein, mTOR, is involved in the coupling mechanism between CD28 receptor stimulation and c-Rel-dependent transcription. The impact of RAP on CD28 signaling clearly warrants further investigation, as this drug effect could represent a crucial component of the overall immunosuppressive action of RAP in vivo.

Activation of p70S6 Kinase

The potent antiproliferative effects of RAP prompted speculation that the pharmacologically active immunophilin · drug complex targets a protein kinase involved in the relay of mitogenic signals from the cytoplasm to the nucleus. The most obvious candidate was a component of the Ras-to-MAP-kinase (MAPK) signaling cascade (i.e. Raf, MAPK kinase, or MAPK itself). However, subsequent studies failed to uncover any detectable effect of RAP on Ras signaling in mammalian cells (98; RT Abraham, unpublished data). Instead, the drug was shown to disrupt a Ras-independent signal transduction pathway required for activation of the 70-kDa S6 protein kinase (p70^{S6K}). Activation of p70^{S6K} is apparently a universal response of mammalian cells to mitogenic stimuli. In activated T cells, the activity of p70^{S6K} increases within 10 min of addition of IL-2, and activation is maximal after 40-60 min of stimulation (104). This response is accompanied by a decrease in the electrophoretic mobility of p70^{S6K}, which likely reflects an increase in the phosphorylation of the enzyme. Pretreatment with RAP abolishes both the shift in electrophoretic mobility and the increase in catalytic activity of p70^{S6K} induced by growth factors in T cells as well as in all other mammalian cell types (98, 104-106). The drug concentrations needed to abolish activation of p70^{S6K} are identical to those required to block the progression of mitogen-stimulated cells through G₁-phase. The suppressive effect of RAP on activity of p70^{S6K} is reversed in the presence of excess FK506, indicating that this action is dependent on the binding of RAP to an FKBP, probably FKBP12. A striking observation is that the addition of RAP to cells at any time after exposure to growth factor leads to a rapid decline in activity of p70^{S6K} to (or even below) the basal level observed in quiescent cells. The ability of RAP to inhibit preactivated p70^{S6K} suggests that the FKBP12 • RAP complex disrupts a constitutive signaling event required for both the generation and maintenance of the activated form of p70^{S6K}

The biochemical results described above are consistent with the idea that the FKBP12 \cdot RAP complex interferes directly or indirectly with the function of a

498 ABRAHAM & WIEDERRECHT

 $p70^{S6K}$ -activating protein kinase in mitogen-stimulated cells. As $p70^{S6K}$ itself is not sensitive to RAP (98), the drug's site of action is thought to lie at an upstream point in the signaling pathway that links stimulation of growth factor receptors to activation of $p70^{S6K}$. It is becoming increasingly evident that $p70^{S6K}$ does not lie in a simple, linear signaling cascade, and recent studies suggest that at least two p70^{S6K}-activating protein kinases regulate the state of phosphorylation of the enzyme in growth factor-stimulated cells (107, 108). The carboxy terminus of p70^{S6K} contains a 25 amino acid segment whose sequence suggests that it functions as an autoinhibitory pseudosubstrate domain. According to the current model, phosphorylation of the carboxy-terminal regulatory domain at multiple serine and threonine residues relieves an inhibitory constraint on the catalytic domain and allows activation of the enzyme. However, activation of p70^{S6K} also requires an additional stimulatory input mediated through a highly acidic stretch of amino acids in the amino-terminal region (residues 29-46 in the rat protein) of $p70^{S6K}$. Mutational analyses of $p70^{S6K}$ indicate that it is the essential activating signal delivered through the amino-terminal segment that is blocked by RAP (107, 108). Although treatment with RAP has no effect on the mitogen-induced phosphorylation of the carboxy-terminal pseudosubstrate domain, it inhibits phosphorylation elsewhere in p70^{S6K}. The simplest interpretation of these results is that the amino-terminal acidic region mediates the interaction of p70^{S6K} kinase with a RAP-sensitive, p70^{S6K}-activating kinase. If correct, this model places the RAP target protein, mTOR, in a protein-serinethreonine kinase cascade leading to activation of p70^{S6K}.

Does inhibition of $p70^{S6K}$ explain the growth-suppressive action of RAP in lymphoid cells? Unfortunately, a straightforward answer to this question is not yet available. Microinjection of neutralizing anti- $p70^{S6K}$ antibodies into rat embryo fibroblasts blocks serum-induced G₁- to S-phase progression, suggesting that this enzyme plays a key role in transduction of mitogenic signals (109). However, the universality of this conclusion is challenged by experiments with RAP itself. Whereas RAP blocks growth factor-dependent activation of $p70^{S6K}$ with virtually equal potency in both lymphoid and nonlymphoid cells, the efficacy of RAP as a growth inhibitor is relatively unpredictable, particularly in nonhemopoietic cell lines. Thus, if $p70^{S6K}$ executes a critical function required for S-phase entry, redundant signaling pathways must compensate for the loss of $p70^{S6K}$ activity in cells that are relatively insensitive to the growth-inhibitory action of RAP.

Effects of RAP on Protein Synthesis

The progression of mitogen-stimulated cells through G_1 phase is contingent upon regulated alterations in both the transcription of specific genes and the translation of certain mRNA transcripts. Initiation of translation is generally the rate-limiting step in protein synthesis and therefore represents a logical point of regulation (110, 111). Eukaryotic mRNAs bear a 7-methylguanylate $(m^{7}GTP)$ cap at the 5'-terminus, and this cap region serves as the recognition site for the eukaryotic initiation factor (eIF)-4F complex. Two components of the multisubunit eIF-4F complex are the ATP-dependent helicase eIF-4A and the mRNA cap-binding protein eIF-4E. Initiation involves the recognition of the m⁷GTP cap by eIF-4E, followed by the eIF-4A-dependent unwinding of 5' secondary structure in the target mRNA. These events are thought to facilitate binding of the methionyl tRNA-charged 40S ribosomal subunit to the mRNA. This model predicts that the degree to which individual mRNA transcripts depend on the eIF-4F complex for initiation of translation varies directly with the complexity of the secondary structure at the 5'-terminus of the mRNA. Thus, the translation of particular mRNAs will be variably sensitive to regulatory alterations in the function of eIF-4F. As might be expected, a major mechanism by which eIF-4F is regulated involves the phosphorylation of specific components of the eIF-4F complex.

An important target of protein kinases involved in controlling initiation of translation is the cap-binding protein eIF-4E. Recent studies have shown that the binding activity of eIF-4E is regulated by its interaction with PHAS-I, a heat-stable inhibitor of eIF-4E function (112, 113). In resting cells, PHAS-I is tightly bound to eIF-4E and thereby inhibits the ability of eIF-4E to trigger eIF-4F-dependent initiation. Stimulation of cells with growth factors, including serum, insulin, or IL-2, leads to the hyperphosphorylation of PHAS-I, and release of its associated eIF-4E. Hence, mitogenic stimuli are capable of stimulating rapid increases in initiation of translation by activating protein kinases that phosphorylate PHAS-I. Although PHAS-I is an excellent in vitro substrate for MAP kinase, the crucial phosphorylation events leading to the release of eIF-4E are apparently not performed by this enzyme in intact cells (114). Rather, the PHAS-I kinase responsible for disinhibition of eIF-4E in vivo lies within a RAP-sensitive signaling pathway. Pretreatment of activated T cells or 3T3-L1 fibroblasts with RAP abolishes both the increase in phosphorylation of PHAS-I and the release of active eIF-4E induced by IL-2 or insulin (114; GJ Brunn, RT Abraham, J Lawrence, unpublished observations). These results strongly suggest that an mTOR-regulated protein kinase controls eIF-4E-dependent initiation of translation in mammalian cells. These findings are similar to those found in yeast. Thus, studies with RAP as a probe have uncovered a general mechanism for the control of protein synthesis in eukaryotic cells.

The inhibitory effects of RAP on phosphorylation of PHAS-I and the function of eIF-4E provide a rational explanation for the selective, rather than global, suppressive actions of RAP on mitogen-induced protein synthesis. For example, RAP specifically interferes with the synthesis of proteins from a class of mRNAs bearing polypyrimidine tracts at their 5'-termini (115, 116). Included among these polypyrimidine-containing mRNAs are transcripts that encode ribosomal proteins and elongation factors, i.e. components of the protein synthetic machinery itself. In many cases, the 5'-untranslated regions of these mRNAs also contain nucleotide sequences predicted to have considerable secondary structure, thereby making initiation of translation strongly dependent on eIF-4E. Therefore, the translation of this class of mRNAs should be particularly sensitive to RAP.

In summary, accumulating evidence suggests that the growth-inhibitory mechanism of RAP is inextricably linked to the machinery that controls the inducible synthesis of specific proteins in growth factor–stimulated cells. If this model is correct, the next task will be to identify the mRNA transcript(s) whose translation limits the rate of passage of growth factor-stimulated lymphoid cells through the mid/late G_1 -phase checkpoint defined by RAP. This effort will be greatly facilitated by an understanding of the effect of RAP on the biochemical machinery that controls the passage of cycling cells through G_1 and into S phase: the G_1 cyclins and their associated cyclin-dependent kinases (cdks).

Effect of RAP on G_1 Cyclin-cdk Activities

The progression of growth factor-stimulated mammalian cells from G₁ to M phase is orchestrated by the precisely timed activation and inactivation of a series of cyclin-associated protein kinase activities (see 117-121 for reviews). The sequence and timing of activation of each cyclin-cdk complex is controlled in part by cell-cycle checkpoints, which ensure that the appropriate cyclincdk complex becomes active only after contingent earlier events are accurately executed (119). The G_1 -specific growth-arrest state induced by RAP suggested that this drug might interfere, directly or indirectly, with the timely activation of a G₁ cyclin-cdk complex required for the entry of IL-2-stimulated, G₁phase T cells into S phase. Progression through G_1 phase is marked by the assembly and catalytic activation of at least three sets of cyclin-cdk complexes. In IL-2-stimulated T cells, the first set of complexes to become active reflects the association of cyclin D2 with cdk4 or cdk6. This event is followed by the sequential activation of cyclin E-cdk2 and cyclin A-cdk2 complexes (116, 117). It is believed that the first two sets of cdk complexes containing cyclins D2 and E set up the conditions for passage of the cell through a restriction point in late G₁-phase (122). Thereafter, the cell is fully committed to complete one division cycle. In contrast, cyclin A-cdk2 activity, which begins to rise in late G₁ and remains elevated throughout S-phase, performs functions needed for the onset and completion of replication of DNA.

Exposure of activated T cells to RAP profoundly affects the appearance and/or functions of the G₁ cyclin-cdk activities induced by IL-2. Surprisingly little has been reported concerning the effect of RAP on the cyclin D-associated cdk complexes in this cell type. Preliminary studies suggest that RAP strongly interferes with the activation of cdks complexed with either cyclin D2 or cyclin D1 in YAC-1 T lymphoma cells or MG-63 osteosarcoma cells (97; GJ Brunn, RT Abraham, unpublished data). Conceptually more interesting results were obtained from biochemical analyses of the cyclin E-cdk2 complexes in IL-2-responsive T cells treated with RAP (123). The drug-treated cells express near-normal levels of cyclin E, and this cyclin is stoichiometrically associated with cdk2. However, the cyclin-E-cdk2 complexes assembled in the presence of RAP display essentially no detectable protein kinase activity. Although additional phosphorylation and dephosphorylation events are required to activate cyclin E-bound cdk2, the phosphorylation state of cdk2 indicated this protein kinase should be fully active in cells growth-arrested by RAP. The mechanism underlying the inhibitory effect of RAP on cyclin E-cdk2 activity remained elusive until the discovery of a novel family of negative regulators of the cell cycle termed cdk inhibitors (124).

One member of this family is Kip1, a heat-stable, titratable inhibitor of G_1 cyclin-cdk activities (125-128). Because Kip1 inhibits these activities in a stoichiometric rather than a catalytic fashion, the level of expression of Kip1 sets a threshold on the numbers of G₁ cyclin-cdk2 complexes that must be assembled before the formation of catalytically active complexes can occur (Figure 3). Recent studies using human peripheral blood T cells have shown that the initial activation step results in the expression of all three G_1 cyclins (D2, E, and, to a lesser extent, A) together with their cdk partners (cdk4, cdk6, and cdk2) (129). However, these complexes fail to become active until the cell receives a progression signal provided by IL-2 or other growth-promoting cytokines. The block to G_1 progression is explained, at least in part, by the presence of very high levels of Kip1 in activated T cells. Stimulation with IL-2 overcomes this Kip1-imposed block by inducing both a progressive decrease in the level of Kip1 protein and the assembly of additional G1 cyclin-cdk complexes (129, 130). A provocative addendum to this regulatory scheme was provided by the recent finding that the degradation of Kip1 observed in mitogenstimulated mammalian cells is carried out by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (131). This result adds Kip1 to the growing list of cell cycle-related proteins whose functions during each cycle are terminated by their timed destruction via ubiquitin-triggered proteolysis.

RAP tips the balance between activation and inhibition of cdks toward the inhibitory side by blocking the downregulation of Kip1 protein normally

502 ABRAHAM & WIEDERRECHT

provoked by IL-2 (150). Under these circumstances, the available G_1 cyclincdk complexes remain saturated with Kip1 and are unable to execute critical regulating functions, including the phosphorylation of the retinoblastoma protein (132), that are essential for progression through G_1 . The persistent expression of Kip1 in RAP-treated T cells suggests that mTOR, the target for the FKBP12 · RAP complex, is a critical component of a signaling pathway that marks the Kip1 protein for ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis. In the light of the earlier discussion, the irony in this mechanism is obvious: mTOR apparently functions as a positive regulator during mitogen-induced protein synthesis, yet the most proximal connection to the cell cycle occurs at the level of the proteolytic destruction of Kip1. Although any model must be considered purely speculative at present, the mTOR-dependent signaling pathway may control the translation of a mRNA species whose protein product allows the ubiquitinproteosome system to recognize and degrade Kip1. Whatever the actual mechanism, further studies with RAP as a pharmacologic probe are likely to provide some fascinating insights into the mechanism whereby occupancy of growth factor receptors at the cell surface triggers the activation of G₁ cyclin-cdk complexes in the T cell nucleus.



Figure 3 Role of the cdk inhibitor Kip1 in the antiproliferative mechanism of action of RAP. Kip1 functions as a stoichiometric inhibitor of G_1 -cyclin-cdk complexes in activated T cells. Cyclin subunits are designated as D, E, and A, and the catalytic cdk subunits are abbreviated as K followed by the number of the appropriate cdk isoform. According to this model, RAP inhibits G_1 -phase progression by blocking IL-2-dependent Kip1 downregulation.



Figure 4 Schematic representation of IL-2 receptor-coupled signaling pathways. The model proposes that mTOR functions as an inducible transducer of regulatory signals for $p70^{S6K}$ activation, eukaryotic initiation factor 4E-dependent protein synthesis, and Kip1 downregulation. Interaction with FKBP12 · RAP disrupts mTOR-dependent functions. Wortmannin, an irreversible inhibitor of certain PI 3-kinase family members, also interferes with a subset of mTOR-dependent responses, including $p70^{S6K}$ activation.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Studies of the mechanism of action of RAP are beginning to uncover a previously unrecognized signal transduction pathway that may play a general role in the control of growth of hematopoietic cells (see Figure 4 for summary). The FKBP12 \cdot RAP complex binds to and inhibits the function of a newly defined target protein termed mTOR. The remarkable degree of sequence identity between mTOR and its yeast homologs TOR1 and TOR2 suggests that the cell-cycle regulatory function of mTOR has been highly conserved in eukaryotes. Sequence similarities in the putative catalytic domain of mTOR indicate that the RAP target protein is evolutionarily related to the phosphoinositide kinases PI 3-kinase and PI 4-kinase. The most recent addition to this expanding family of signal transducers is the product of the human *AT* gene, which is mutated in the autosomal recessive disorder ataxia telangiectasia (87). Mutations in AT result in neurologic, immunologic, and cell-cycle abnormalities, as well as radiation-sensitivity and a predisposition to cancer. These findings hint that members

of the family of PI 3-kinase-like enzymes, including mTOR, are involved in a broad range of physiologic processes linked to control of the cell-cycle.

The growth-arrest state induced by RAP in T lymphocytes and other hematopoietic cells suggests that this protein executes a biochemical function(s) required for progression from G_1 - to S-phase. In spite of the sequence homology to PI 3-kinase, mTOR possesses no detectable kinase activity toward phosphoinositides or other lipid substrates (83). However, recombinant mTOR phosphorylates itself on serine residues (83), suggesting that mTOR, ATM, and related proteins may constitute a novel family of protein serine-threonine kinases. Although the proximate substrate(s) for mTOR remains obscure, the connection to components of the machinery that control translation of mRNA is becoming increasingly compelling. The next few years should see some exciting advances in our understanding of the functions of mTOR and other members of this protein family. It is anticipated that these advances will seed the development of novel strategies for immunosuppression, and for the treatment of leukemias, lymphomas, and other cancers.

NOTE ADDED IN PROOF

While this review was being prepared for publication, Brown et al (135) reported findings which strongly support the model that mTOR represents the RAP-sensitive regulator of $p70^{S6K}$ in mammalian cells. Both the putative catalytic domain at the carboxy terminus and the amino terminal domain of mTOR were required for the regulatory action of this protein on $p70^{S6K}$ activity in vivo. Furthermore, this study shows that recombinant mTOR autophosphorylates in vitro and that this autokinase activity is sensitive to inhibition by the FKBP12 • RAP complex.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Vezina C, Kudelski A, Sehgal SN. 1975. Rapamycin (AY-22,989), a new antifungal antibiotic. I. Taxonomy of the producing streptomycete and isolation of the active principle. J. Antibiot. 28:721–26
- Sehgal SN, Baker H, Vezina C. 1975. Rapamycin (AY-22,989), a new antifungal antibiotic. II. Fermentation, isolation and characterization. J. Antibiot. 28:727–32
- Baker H, Sidorowicz A, Sehgal SN, Vezina C. 1978. Rapamycin (AY-22,989), a

new anti-fungal antibiotic. III. In vitro and in vivo evaluation. J. Antibiot. 31:539–45

- Singh K, Sun S, Vezina C. 1979. Rapamycin (AY-22,989), a new antifungal antibiotic. IV. Mechanism of action. J. Antibiot. 32:630–45
- Eng CP, Sehgal SN, Vezina C. 1984. Activity of rapamycin (AY-22,989) against transplanted tumors. J. Antibiot. 37:1231– 37
- 6. Findlay JA, Radics L. 1980. On the chem-
istry and high field nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy of rapamycin. *Can. J. Chem.* 58:579–90

- Nicolaou KC, Chakraborty TK, Piscopio AD, Minowa N, Bertinato P. 1993. Total synthesis of rapamycin. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 115:4419–20
- Romo D, Meyer SD, Johnson DD, Schreiber SL. 1993. Total synthesis of (-)-rapamycin using an Evans-Tishchenko fragment coupling. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 115:7906–7
- Hayward CM, Yohannes D, Danishefsky SJ. 1993. Total synthesis of rapamycin via a novel titanium-mediated aldol macrocyclization reaction. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 115:9345–46
- Smith IAB, Condon SM, McCauley JA, Leazer JL Jr, Leahy JW, Maleczka RE Jr. 1995. Total synthesis of rapamycin and demethoxyrapamycin. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 117:5407–8
- Martel RR, Klicius J, Galet S. 1977. Inhibition of the immune response by rapamycin, a new antifungal antibiotic. *Can. J. Physiol.* 55:48–51
- Kino R, Hatanaka H, Hashimoto M, Nishiyama M, Goto T, Okuhara M, Kohsaka M, Aoki H, Imanaka H. 1987. FK-506, a novel immunosuppressant isolated from a Streptomyces. I. Fermentation, isolation, and physico-chemical and biological characteristics. J. Antibiot. (Tokyo). 40:1249–55
- Kino T, Hatanake H, Miyata S, Inamura N, Nishiyama M, Yajima T, Goto T, Okuhara M, Kohsaka M, Aoki H, Ochai T. 1987. FK-506, a novel immunosuppressant isolated from a streptomyces. II. Immunosuppressive effect of FK-506 in vitro. J. Antibiot. (Tokyo). 40:1256–65
- Tanaka H, Kuroda A, Marusawa H, Hatanaka H, Kino T, Goto T, Hashimoto M, Taga T. 1987. Structure of FK506: a novel immunosuppressant isolated from Streptomyces. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 109:5031–33
- Morris RE, Meiser BM. 1989. Identification of a new pharmacologic action for an old compound. *Med. Sci. Res.* 17:609–10
- Dumont F, Melino M, Staruch M, Koprak S, Fischer P, Sigal N. 1990. The immunosuppressive macrolides FK-506 and rapamycin act as reciprocal antagonists in murine T cells. *J. Immunol.* 144:1418–24
- Dumont F, Staruch M, Koprak S, Melino M, Sigal N. 1990. Distinct mechanisms of suppression of murine T cell activation by the related macrolides FK-506 and rapamycin. J. Immunol. 144:251–58

- Calne RY, Lim S, Samaan A, Collier DSJ, Pollard SG, White DJG, Thirce S. 1989. Rapamycin for immunosuppression in organ allografting. *Lancet* 2:227
- Morris RE. 1991. Rapamycin: FK506's fraternal twin or distant cousin? *Immunol. Today.* 12:137–40
- Eng CP, Gullo-Brown J, Chang JY, Sehgal SN. 1991. Inhibition of skin graft rejection in mice by rapamycin: a novel immunosuppressive macrolide. *Transplant. Proc.* 23:868–69
- Dono K, Wood ML, Ozato H, Otsu I, Gottschalk R, Maki T, Monaco AP. 1995. Marked prolongation of rat skin xenografts induced by intrathymic injection of xenogeneic splenocytes and a short course of rapamycin in antilymphocyte serum-treated mice. *Transplantation* 59:929–32
- Morris RE, Wu J, Shorthouse R. 1990. A study of the contrasting effects of cyclosporine, FK 506, and rapamycin on the suppression of allograft rejection. *Transplant. Proc.* 22:1638–41
- Collier DSJ, Calne R, Thiru S, Lim S, Pollard SG, Barron P, Da Costa M, White DJG. 1990. Rapamycin in experimental renal allografts in dogs and pigs. *Transplant. Proc.* 22:1674–75
- 24. Granger DK, Cromwell JW, Chen SC, Goswitz JJ, Morrow DT, Beierle FA, Sehgal SN, Canafax DM, Matas AJ. 1995. Prolongation of renal allograft survival in a large animal model by oral rapamycin monotherapy. *Transplantation* 59:183–86
- Chen H, Xu D, Qi S, Wu J, Luo H, Daloze P. 1995. Rapamycin graft pretreatment in small bowel and kidney transplantation in the rat. *Transplantation* 59:1084–89
- Collier DSJ, Calne RY, Pollard SG, Friend PJ, Thiru S. 1991. Rapamycin in experimental renal allografts in primates. *Transplant. Proc.* 23:2246–47
- Morris RE, Meiser BM, Wu J, Shorthouse R, Wang J. 1991. Use of rapamycin for the suppression of alloimmune reactions in vivo: schedule dependence, tolerance induction, synergy with cyclosporin, and FK 506, and effect of host-versus-graft and graft-versus-host reactions. *Transplant. Proc.* 23:521–24
- Kahan BD, Chang JY, Sehgal SN. 1991. Preclinical evaluation of a new potent immunosuppressive agent, rapamycin. *Transplantation* 52:185–91
- DiJoseph JF, Sharma RN, Chang JY. 1992. The effect of rapamycin on kidney function in the Sprague-Dawley rat. *Transplantation* 53:507–13

- Whiting PH, Woo J, Adam BJ, Hasan NU, Davidson RJL, Thomson AW. 1991. Toxicity of rapamycin—a comparative and combination study with cyclosporine at immunotherapeutic dosage in the rat. *Transplantation* 52:203–8
- Collier DSJ, Calne RY, Thiru S, Friend PJ, Lim S, White DJG, Kohno H, Levickis J. 1988. FK506 in experimental renal allografts in dogs and primates. *Transplant. Proc.* 20:S226–28
- Morris RE. 1992. Rapamycins: antifungal, antitumor, antiproliferative, and immunosuppressive macrolides. *Transplant. Rev.* 6:8739–33
- Brown EJ, Albers MW, Shin TB, Ichikawa K, Keith CT, Lane WS, Schreiber SL. 1994. A mammalian protein targeted by G1-arresting rapamycin-receptor complex. *Nature* 369:756–58
- Ryffel B. 1986. Cyclosporin: toxicology—experimental studies. *Prog. Allergy*. 39:181–97
- Shapiro R, Fung JJ, Jain AB, Parks P, Todo S, Starzl TE. 1990. The side effects of FK506 in humans. *Transplant. Proc.* 22:35–36
- Sehgal SN. 1993. Immunosuppressive profile of rapamycin. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 696:1–8
- Groth C-G, Ohlman S, Gannedahl G, Ericzon B-G. 1993. New immunosuppressive drugs in transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* 25:2681–83
- Borman S. 1994. Immunosuppressant drugs: rapamycin target protein found. C & EN July 4, 6–7
- Knight R, Ferraresso M, Serino F, Katz S, Lewis R, Kahan BD. 1993. Low-dose rapamycin potentiates the effects of subtherapeutic doses of cyclosporine to prolong renal allograft survival in the mongrel canine model. *Transplantation* 55:947–49
- Lin C, Boltz R, Siekierka J, Sigal N. 1991. FK-506 and cyclosporin A inhibit highly similar signal transduction pathways in human T lymphocytes. *Cell. Immun.* 133:269–84
- 41. Tocci M, Matkovich D, Collier K, Kwok P, Dumont F, Lin S, Degudicibus S, Siekierka J, Chin J, Hutchinson N. 1989. The immunosuppressant FK506 selectively inhibits expression of early T cell activation genes. J. Immunol. 143:718–26
- Koletsky AJ, Harding MW, Handschumacher RE. 1986. Cyclophilin: distribution and variant properties in normal and neoplastic tissues. *J. Immunol.* 137:1054– 59
- 43. Siekierka JJ, Wiederrecht G, Greulich H,

Boulton D, Hung SHY, Cryan J, Hodges PJ, Sigal NH. 1990. The cytosolic binding protein for the immunosuppressant FK-506 is both a ubiquitous and highly conserved peptidyl-prolyl *cis-trans* isomerase. J. Biol. Chem. 265:21011–15

- Harding MW, Handschumacher RE, Speicher DW. 1986. Isolation and amino acid sequence of cyclophilin. J. Biol. Chem. 261:8547–55
- Siekierka JJ, Hung SHY, Poe M, Lin CS, Sigal NH. 1989. A cytosolic binding protein for the immunosuppressant FK-506 has peptidyl-prolyl isomerase activity but is distinct from cyclophilin. *Nature* 341:755–57
- Harding MW, Galat A, Uehling DE, Schreiber SL. 1989. A receptor for the immunosuppressant FK-506 is a *cistrans* peptidyl-prolyl isomerase. *Nature* 341:758–60
- Takahashi N, Hayano R, Suzuki M. 1989. Peptidyl-prolyl *cis-trans* isomerase is the cyclosporin A-binding protein cyclophilin. *Nature* 337:473–75
- Fischer G, Wittmann L, Lang K, Kiefhaber T, Schmid F. 1989. Cyclophilin and peptidyl-prolyl *cis-trans* isomerase are probably identical proteins. *Nature* 337:476–78
- 49. Harrison RK, Stein RL. 1990. Substrate specificities of the peptidyl prolyl cistrans isomerase activities of cyclophilin and FK-506 binding protein: evidence for the existence of a family of distinct enzymes. Biochemistry 29:3813–16
- Bierer BE, Somers PK, Wandless TJ, Burakoff SL, Schreiber SL. 1990. Probing immunosuppressant action with a nonnatural immunophilin ligand. *Science* 250:556–59
- 51. Sigal NH, Dumont F, Durette P, Siekierka JJ, Peterson L, Rich DH, Dunlap BE, Staruch MJ, Melino MR, Koprak SL, Williams D, Witzel B, Pisano JM. 1991. Is cyclophilin involved in the immunosuppressive and nephrotoxic mechanism of action of cyclosporin A? J. Exp. Med. 173:619–28
- Dumont F, Kastner C, Iaccovone F, Fischer P. 1994. Quantitative and temporal analysis of the cellular interaction of FK-506 and rapamycin in T lymphocytes. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 268:32–41
- Schreiber SL, Crabtree GR. 1992. The mechanism of action of cyclosporin A and FK506. *Immunol. Today* 13:136–42
- Friedman J, Weissman I. 1991. Two cytoplasmic candidates for immunophilin action are revealed by affinity for a new cy-

clophilin: one in the presence and one in the absence of CsA. *Cell* 66:799–806

- Liu J, Farmer JD, Lane WS, Friedman J, Weissman I, Schreiber SL. 1991. Calcineurin is a common target of cyclophilin-cyclosporin A and FKBP-FK506 complexes. *Cell* 66:807–15
- O'Keefe S, Tamura J, Kincaid R, Tocci M, O'Neill E. 1992. FK-506- and CsAsensitive activation of the interleukin-2 promoter by calcineurin. *Nature* 357:692– 94
- Clipstone N, Crabtree G. 1992. Identification of calcineurin as a key signalling enzyme in T-lymphocyte activation. *Nature* 357:695–97
- Sigal N, Dumont F. 1992. Cyclosporin A, FK-506, and rapamycin: pharmacologic probes of lymphocyte signal transduction. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 10:519–60
- Siekierka JJ. 1994. Probing T-cell signal transduction pathways with the immunosuppressive drugs, FK-506 and rapamycin. *Immunol. Res.* 13:110–16
- Crabtree GR, Clipstone NA. 1994. Signal transmission between the plasma membrane and nucleus of T lymphocytes. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 63:1045–83
- Clardy J. 1995. The chemistry of signal transduction. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:56–61
- Griffith JP, Kim JL, Kim EE, Sintchak MD, Thomson JA, Fitzgibbon MJ, Fleming MA, Caron PR, Hsiao K, Navia MA. 1995. X-ray structure of calcineurin inhibited by the immunophilinimmunosuppressant FKBP12-FK506 complex. *Cell* 82:507–22
- 63. Bierer B, Mattila P, Standaert R, Herzenberg L, Burakoff S, Crabtree G, Schreiber S. 1990. Two distinct signal transmission pathways in T lymphocytes are inhibited by complexes formed between an immunophilin and either FK506 or rapamycin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87:9231–35
- Van Duyne GD, Standaert RF, Schreiber SL, Clardy J. 1991. Atomic structure of the rapamycin-human immunophilin FKBP-12 complex. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 113:7433–34
- Van Duyne G, Standaert R, Karplus P, Schreiber S, Clardy J. 1991. Atomic structure of FKBP-FK506, an immunophilinimmunosuppressant complex. *Science* 252:839–42
- Wiederrecht G, Etzkorn F. 1994. The immunophilins. Perspect. Drug Discovery & Design 2:57–84
- 67. Galat A. 1993. Peptidylproline cis-trans-

isomerases: immunophilins. Eur. J. Biochem. 216:689–707

- Lam E, Martin M, Wiederrecht G. 1995. Isolation of a cDNA encoding a novel human FK506-binding protein homolog containing leucine zipper and tetratricopeptide repeat motifs. *Gene* 160:297– 302
- Galat A, Lane W, Standaert R, Schreiber S. 1992. A rapamycin-selective 25-kDa immunophilin. *Biochemistry* 31:2427–34
- Fruman D, Wood M, Gjertson C, Katz H, Burakoff S, Bierer B. 1995. FK506 binding protein 12 mediates sensitivity to both FK506 and rapamycin in murine mast cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:563–71
- 71. Lam E, Martin MM, Timerman AP, Sabers C, Fleischer S, Lukas T, Abraham RT, O'Keefe SJ, O'Neill EA, Wiederrecht GJ. 1995. A novel FK506 binding protein can mediate the immunosuppressive effects of FK506 and is associated with the cardiac ryanodine receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 26511–22
- Jayaraman T, Brillantes A-M, Timerman A, Fleischer S, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Marks A. 1992. FK506 binding protein associated with the calcium release channel (ryanodine receptor). J. Biol. Chem. 267:9474–77
- Timerman A, Ogunbumni E, Freund E, Wiederrecht G, Marks A, Fleischer S. 1993. The calcium release channel of sarcoplasmic reticulum is modulated by FK-506-binding protein. J. Biol. Chem. 268:22992–99
- 74. Timerman A, Wiederrecht G, Marcy A, Fleischer S. 1995. Characterization of an exchange reaction between soluble FKBP12 and the FKBP-ryanodine receptor complex: modulation by FKBP mutants deficient in peptidyl-prolyl isomerase activity. J. Biol. Chem. 270:2451– 59
- 75. Brillantes A-M, Ondrias K, Scott A, Kobrinsky E, Ondriasova E, Moschella M, Jayaraman T, Landers M, Ehrlich B, Marks A. 1994. Stabilization of calcium release channel (ryanodine receptor) function by FK506-binding protein. *Cell* 77:513–23
- 76. Mayrleitner M, Timerman A, Wiederrecht G, Fleischer S. 1994. The calcium release channel of sarcoplasmic reticulum is modulated by FK-506 binding protein: effect of FKBP-12 on single channel activity of the skeletal muscle ryanodine receptor. *Cell Calcium* 15:99–108
- 77. Cameron AD, Steiner JP, Sabatini DM, Kaplin AI, Walensky LD, Snyder SH.

1995. Immunophilin FK506 binding protein associated with inositol 1,4,5triphosphate receptor modulates calcium flux. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:1784– 88

- Koltin Y, Faucette L, Bergsma D, Levy M, Cafferkey R, Koser P, Johnson R, Livi G. 1991. Rapamycin sensitivity in Saccharomyces cerevisiae is mediated by a peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase related to human FK506 binding protein. Mol. Cell. Biol. 11:1718–23
- Heitman J, Movva NR, Hall MN. 1991. Targets for cell cycle arrest by the immunosuppressant rapamycin in yeast. *Science* 253:905–9
- Kunz J, Henriquez R, Schneider U, Deuter-Reinhard M, Rao Movva N, Hall M. 1993. Target of rapamycin in yeast, TOR2, is an essential phosphatidyl kinase homolog required for G1 progression. *Cell* 73:585–96
- Cafferkey R, Young P, McLaughlin M, Bergsma D, Koltin Y, Sathe G, Faucette L, Eng W-K, Johnson R, Livi G. 1993. Dominant missense mutations in a novel yeast protein related to mammalian phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and VPS34 abrogate rapamycin cytotoxicity. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13:6012–23
- 82. Helliwell S, Wagner P, Kunz J, Deuter-Reinhard M, Henriquez R, Hall M. 1994. TOR1 and TOR2 are structurally and functionally similar but not identical phosphatidylinositol kinase homologues in yeast. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 5:105–18
- Zheng X-F, Fiorentino D, Chen J, Crabtree GR, Schreiber SL. 1995. TOR kinase domains are required for two distinct functions, only one of which is inhibited by rapamycin. *Cell* 82:121–30
- Cafferkey R, McLaughlin M, Young P, Johnson R, Livi G. 1994. Yeast TOR (DRR) proteins: amino-acid sequence alignment and identification of structural motifs. *Gene* 141:133–36
- Herman PK, Emr SD. 1990. Characterization of VPS34, a gene required for vacuolar protein sorting and vacuole segregation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol. Cell. Biol. 10:6742–54
- Kato R, Ogawa H. 1994. An essential gene, ESR1, is required for mitotic cell growth, DNA repair, and meiotic recombination in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Nucleic Acids Res. 22:3104–12
- Savitsky K, Bar-Shira A, Gilad S, Rotman G, Ziv Y, Vanagaite L, Tagle DA, Smith S, Uziel T, Sfez S, Ashkenazi M, Pecker I, Frydman M, Harnik R, Patan-

jali SR, Simmons A, Clines GA, Sartiel A, Gatti RA, Chessa L, Sanal O, Lavin MF, Jaspers NGJ, Taylor AMR, Arlett CF, Miki T, Weissman SM, Lovett M, Collins FS, Shiloh Y. 1995. A single ataxia telangiectasia gene with a product similar to PI-3 kinase. *Science* 268:1749–53

- Stan R, McLaughlin M, Cafferkey R, Johnson R, Rosenberg M, Livi G. 1994. Interaction between FKBP12-rapamycin and TOR involves a conserved serine residue. J. Biol. Chem. 269:32,027–30
- Barbet N, Schneider U, Helliwell S, Stansfield I, Tuite M, Hall M. 1995. TOR controls translation initiation and early G1 progression in yeast. *Mol. Biol. Cell* In press
- Sabatini DM, Erdjument-Bromage H, Lui M, Tempst P, Snyder SH. 1994. RAFT1: a mammalian protein that binds to FKBP12 in a rapamycin-dependent fashion and is homologous to yeast TORs. *Cell* 78:35– 43
- Sabers C, Martin M, Brunn G, Williams J, Dumont F, Wiederrecht G, Abraham R. 1994. Isolation of a protein target of the FKBP12-rapamycin complex in mammalian cells. J. Biol. Chem. 270:815–22
- Chen Y, Chen H, Rhoad AE, Warner L, Caggiano TJ, Failli A, Zhang H, Hsiao C-L, Nakanishi K, Molnar-Kimber KL. 1994. A putative sirolimus (rapamycin) effector protein. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 203:1–7
- Chiu MI, Katz H, Berlin V. 1994. RAPT1, a mammalian homolog of yeast Tor, interacts with the FKBP12/rapamycin complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:12,574–78
- Dumont FJ, Altmeyer A, Kastner C, Fischer PA, Lemon KP, Chung J, Blenis J, Staruch MJ. 1994. Relationship between multiple biologic effects of rapamycin and the inhibition of pp70S6 protein kinase activity. J. Immunol. 152:992–1003
- Chen J, Zheng X-F, Brown EJ, Schreiber SL. 1995. Identification of an 11kDa FKBP12-rapamycin-binding domain within the 289-kDa FKBP12-rapamycinassociated protein and characterization of a critical serine residue. *Proc. Natl. Acad.* USA 92:4947–51
- 96. Morice W, Brunn G, Wiederrecht G, Siekierka J, Abraham R. 1993. Rapamycin-induced inhibition of p34^{cdc2} kinase activation is associated with G1/S-phase growth arrest in T lymphocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 268:3734–38
- 97. Albers M, Williams R, Brown E, Tanaka A, Hall F, Schreiber S. 1993. FKBP-

rapamycin inhibits a cyclin-dependent kinase activity and a cyclin D1-cdk association in early G1 of an osteosarcoma cell line. J. Biol. Chem. 268:22,825–29

- Chung J, Kuo C, Crabtree G, Blenis J. 1992. Rapamycin-FKBP specifically blocks growth-dependent activation of and signaling by the 70 kD S6 protein kinases. *Cell* 69:1227–36
- Altmeyer A, Dumont F. 1993. Rapamycin inhibits IL-1-mediated interferon-γ production in the YAC-1 T cell lymphoma. *Cytokine* 5:133–43
- Dumont F, Kastner C. 1994. Transforming growth factor β1 inhibits interleukin-1induced but enhances ionomycin-induced interferon-γ production in a T cell lymphoma: comparison with the effects of rapamycin. J. Cell. Physiol. 160:141–53
- Bierer BE, Schreiber SL, Burakoff SJ. 1991. The effect of the immunosuppressant FK506 on alternate pathways of T cell activation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 21:439–45
- 102. Ghosh P, Tan TH, Rice NR, Sica A, Young HA. 1993. The interleukin 2 CD28responsive complex contains at least three members of the NFκB family: c-Rel, p50, and p65. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:696–700
- Lai J-H, Tan T-H. 1994. CD28 signaling causes a sustained down-regulation of IκBα which can be prevented by the immunosuppressant rapamycin. J. Biol. Chem. 269:30,077–80
- Price D, Grove J, Calvo V, Avruch J, Bierer B. 1992. Rapamycin-induced inhibition of the 70-kilodalton S6 protein kinase. *Science* 257:973–77
- Kuo C, Chung J, Fiorentino D, Flanagan W, Blenis J, Crabtree G. 1992. Rapamycin selectively inhibits interleukin-2 activation of p70 S6 kinase. *Nature* 358:70–73
- Calvo V, Crews C, Vik T, Bierer B. 1992. Interleukin 2 stimulation of p70 S6 kinase activity is inhibited by the immunosuppressant rapamycin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 89:7571–75
- Weng Q-P, Andrabi K, Kozlowski MT, Grove JR, Avruch J. 1995. Multiple independent inputs are required for activation of the p70S6 kinase. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:2333–40
- Cheatham L, Monfar M, Blenis J. 1995. Structural and functional analysis of pp70^{S6K} regulation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 92:11696–700
- Lane H, Fernandez A, Lamb N, Thomas G. 1993. p70^{S6K} function is essential for G1 progression. *Nature* 363:170–72
- 110. Hershey JWB. 1991. Translational control

in mammalian cells. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 60:717–55

- Sonenberg N. 1993. Remarks on the mechanism of ribosome binding to eukaryotic mRNAs. *Gene Exp.* 3:317–23
- 112. Pause A, Belsham GJ, Gingras A-C, Donz O, Lin T-A, Lawrence JC, Sonenberg N. 1994. Insulin-dependent stimulation of protein synthesis by phosphorylation of a regulator of 5'-cap function. *Nature* 371:762–67
- 113. Lin T-A, Kong X, Haystead TAJ, Pause A, Belsham G, Sonenberg N, Lawrence JC. 1994. PHAS-1 as a link between mitogenactivated protein kinase and translation initiation. *Science* 266:653–56
- 114. Lin T-A, Kong X, Saltiel AR, Blackshear PJ, Lawrence JC. 1995. Control of PHAS-I by insulin in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 270:18,531–38
- 115. Jefferies H, Reinhard C, Kozma S, Thomas G. 1994. Rapamycin selectively represses translation of the "polypyrimidine tract" mRNA family. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:4441–45
- 116. Terada N, Patel H, Takase K, Kohno K, Nairn A, Gelfand E. 1994. Rapamycin selectively inhibits translation of mRNAs encoding elongation factors and ribosomal proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:11,477–81
- Sherr C. 1993. Mammalian G₁ cyclins. *Cell* 73:1059–65
- 118. Sherr CJ. 1994. G1 phase progression: cycling on cue. Cell 79:11,477–81
- 119. Murray A. 1994. Cell cycle checkpoints. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 79:551–55
- Nurse P. 1994. Ordering S phase and M phase in the cell cycle. *Cell* 79:547–50
- King RW, Jackson PK, Kirschner MW. 1994. Mitosis in transition. *Cell* 79:563– 71
- 122. Pardee AB. 1989. G1 events and regulation of cell proliferation. *Science* 246:603–08
- 123. Morice W, Wiederrecht G, Brunn G, Siekierka J, Abraham R. 1993. Rapamycin inhibition of interleukin-2-dependent p33^{cdk2} and p34^{cdc2} kinase activation in T lymphocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 268:22,737–45
- Sherr CJ, Roberts JM. 1995. Inhibitors of mammalian G1 cyclin-dependent kinases. *Genes Develop*. 9:1149–63
- 125. Polyak K, Kato J-Y, Solomon M, Sherr C, Massague J, Roberts J, Koff A. 1994. p27^{Kip1}, a cyclin-cdk inhibitor, links transforming growth factor-β and contact inhibition to cell cycle arrest. *Genes Develop.* 8:9–22

- Toyoshima H, Hunter T. 1994. p27, a novel inhibitor of G1 cyclin/cdk protein kinase activity, is related to p21. *Cell* 78:67–74
- 127. Slingerland J, Hengst L, Pan C-H, Alexander D, Stampfer M, Reed S. 1994. A novel inhibitor of cyclin-cdk activity detected in transforming growth factor β-arrested epithelial cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:3683–94
- Polyak K, Lee M-H, Erdjument-Bromage H, Koff A, Roberts J, Tempst P, Massague J. 1994. Cloning of p27^{Kip1}, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor and a potential mediator of extracellular antimitogenic signals. *Cell* 78:59–66
- Firpo E, Koff A, Solomon M, Roberts J. 1994. Inactivation of a cdk2 inhibitor during interleukin 2-induced proliferation of human T lymphocytes. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:4889–4901
- 130. Nourse J, Firpo E, Flanagan W, Coats S, Polyak D, Lee M-H, Massague J, Crabtree G, Roberts J. 1994. Interleukin-2-mediated elimination of the p27^{Kip1} cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor prevented by rapamycin. *Nature* 372:570–73
- Pagano M, Tam SW, Theodoras AM, Beer-Romero P, Del Sal G, Chau V, Yew PR, Draetta GF, Rolfe M. 1995.

Role of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway in regulating abundance of the cyclindependent kinase inhibitor p27. *Science* 269:682–85

- 132. Terada N, Lucas J, Szepesi A, Franklin R, Domenico J, Gelfand E. 1993. Rapamycin blocks cell cycle progression of activated T cells prior to events characteristic of the middle to late G1 phase of the cycle. J. Cell. Phys. 154:7–15
- 133. Arakawa H, Nagase H, Hayashi N, Fujiwara T, Ogawa M, Shin S, Nakamura Y. 1994. Molecular cloning and expression of a novel human gene that is highly homologous to human FK506-binding protein 12kDa (hFKBP-12) and characterization of two alternatively spliced transcripts. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 200:836–43
- Baughman G, Wiederrecht G, Campbell NF, Martin MM, Bourgeois S. 1995. FKBP51, a novel T-cell specific immunophilin capable of calcineurin inhibition. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:4395–4402
- 135. Brown E, Beal PA, Keith CT, Chen J, Shin TB, Schreiber SL. 1995. Control of p70 S6 kinase by kinase activity of FRAP in vivo. *Nature* 377:442–46



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

RECOGNITION BY γ/δ T CELLS

Yueh-hsiu Chien,^{1,2} Rita Jores¹ and Michael P. Crowlev²

Department of Microbiology and Immunology¹ and Program in Immunology², Stanford University, Stanford, California 94305

KEY WORDS: $\gamma \delta$ T cells, T cell recognition, antigen processing, nonpeptide antigen, T cells

ABSTRACT

In contrast with the study of $\alpha\beta$ T cells, that of $\gamma\delta$ T cells is relatively recent and stems from the discovery of their rearranged genes, rather than from any knowledge of their biological function. Thus, experiments designed to characterize their specificity and function have drawn heavily on our knowledge of $\alpha\beta$ T cells. During the past few years, many studies, especially with mice lacking either $\alpha\beta$ or $\nu\delta$ T cells, have demonstrated that $\nu\delta$ T cells can contribute to immune competence, but they do so in a way that is distinct from $\alpha\beta$ T cells. It is also evident that $\gamma \delta$ T cells may not recognize antigen the same way as do $\alpha \beta$ T cells. Analysis of three protein antigens—the murine MHC class II IE^k , the nonclassical MHC T10/T22, and the Herpes virus glycoprotein gI-indicates that $\gamma \delta$ T cell recognition does not require antigen processing and that the proteins are recognized directly. In all three cases, recognition by these T cell clones involves neither peptides bound to these proteins nor peptides derived from them. Moreover, a group of small phosphate-containing nonpeptide compounds derived from mycobacterial extracts has been found to stimulate a major population of human peripheral $\gamma \delta$ T cells in a T cell receptor (TCR)-dependent manner. This indicates that $\gamma \delta T$ cells can respond to ligands that are different from those of $\alpha\beta$ T cells.

Analysis of complementarity determining region (CDR3) length distributions of γ and δ chains indicates that they are more similar to those of immunoglobulins than to TCR α and β . This further supports the idea that $\gamma \delta$ and $\alpha \beta$ T cells recognize antigens differently and suggests that $\gamma \delta$ T cells may be more like immunoglobulins in their recognition properties. $\gamma \delta$ T cells share many cell surface proteins with $\alpha\beta$ T cells and are able to secrete lymphokines and express cytolytic activities in response to antigenic stimulation. These, together with the results cited above, indicate that $\gamma \delta$ T cells can mediate cellular immune functions without a requirement for antigen processing. Thus, pathogens, damaged tissues, or even B and T cells can be recognized directly, and cellular immune responses

512 CHIEN, JORES & CROWLEY

can be initiated without a requirement for antigen degradation or specialized antigen-presenting cells. This would give $\gamma \delta T$ cells greater flexibility than the more classical type of $\alpha\beta$ T cell–mediated cellular immunity.

1. INTRODUCTION

It has been just over a decade since the accidental discovery of a T cell receptor (TCR) γ chain gene during the search for the TCR α gene (1). This work led to the identification of a novel subset of lymphocytes bearing a new TCR heterodimer, $\gamma \delta$ (2–4). The identification and characterization of the TCR δ gene were led by its location within the TCR α locus (5). While much is known about TCR γ and δ gene organization, sequence repertoire, and ontogeny, our understanding of the role of these cells in the immune system is still limited. Nevertheless, experimental evidence has been accumulating that $\gamma \delta$ T cells do contribute to the immune defense, but in a way that is distinct from $\alpha\beta$ T cells. Although $\gamma \delta$ T cells have been proposed to play a first line of defense and/or sensor role (6), this is at present a working hypothesis, and the exact targets and effects of $\gamma \delta$ cells are now being investigated. Toward this end, major progress has been made in the last few years. Observations from a number of laboratories indicate that $\gamma \delta$ T cells are profoundly different from $\alpha\beta$ T cells in their recognition properties and may even recognize a completely different set of antigens. As several recent comprehensive reviews on $\gamma \delta$ T cell specificity have summarized earlier work (6, 7), this review focuses on new developments pertaining to their recognition requirements and the new opportunities that these insights give us for understanding the function of this enigmatic arm of the immune system.

2. $\gamma \delta$ T CELLS CONTRIBUTE TO THE IMMUNE DEFENSE DIFFERENTLY THAN DO $\alpha \beta$ T CELLS

Many studies aimed at distinguishing the contributions of $\alpha\beta$ versus $\gamma\delta$ T cells to the immune defense have taken advantage of mice deficient for $\alpha\beta$ or $\gamma\delta$ T cells. This has been achieved either by administration in vivo of mAb against $\alpha\beta$ or $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes or by disruption of a TCR gene through homologous recombination, resulting in mutant mice devoid of T cells expressing a particular type of TCR. Progression of various infections in terms of survival rate, remission time, kinetics of bacterial growth, and development of specific lesions could thus be followed, and the respective effects of $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cell populations appraised (8, 9; RL O'Brien, CE Roark, YX Fu, W Born, in press).

The most thoroughly studied infectious disease model in this setting is that of *Listeria monocytogenes*, an intracellular bacterium (10–12, 16; RL O'Brien,

CE Roark, YX Fu, W Born, in press). Analyses have also been performed with *Leishmania* (13), *Mycobacterium* (12), *Plasmodium* (14), and *Salmonella* (15). Lack of both $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes resulted in all cases in greater severity of the disease, while the absence of either $\alpha\beta$ or $\gamma\delta$ T cells ameliorated the process somewhat. In most cases, $\gamma\delta$ -deficient mice did better than $\alpha\beta$ deficient mice, but the former were still immunocompromised when compared to heterozygotes or normal litter mates (10–12, 14, 16; RL O'Brien, CE Roark, YX Fu, W Born, in press).

All of the published studies indicate that in most cases $\gamma \delta T$ cells can mediate a protective immune response in the absence of $\alpha\beta$ T lymphocytes. Specific effects for $\alpha\beta$ vs $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes can also be found, thereby pointing to distinct antigen recognition and/or effector functions of these cell populations. At the same time, at least in some cases, a small degree of compensation seems to exist, illustrating a plasticity in the immune response (12; R O'Brien, CE Roark, YX Fu, W Born, in press).

Beside the general quantitative changes (as reflected in the lethal dose of pathogen), more specific qualitative effects of $\gamma \delta$ T cells have been observed. In some cases, $\gamma \delta$ T cells are responsible for reduced bacterial growth in the early stages of infection (10), whereas $\alpha\beta$ T cells clear bacteria in the later stages (10, 12). This finding is supported by studies with normal mice in which an increase of $\gamma \delta$ T lymphocytes has been demonstrated early in infections by bacteria or a virulent Sendai virus strain, before a response by $\alpha\beta$ T cells was observed (17, 18). This chronology of events also fits with the role as "first line of defense" that has been suggested for $\gamma \delta$ T cells. In contrast, $\gamma \delta$ TCR mRNA⁺ cells are present within inflammatory lesions late rather than early in the course of infections by influenza or a less virulent Sendai virus (19, 20). It is therefore possible that the functional role of $\gamma \delta T$ cells may differ depending on the host-parasite system. Qualitative differences in the effect of $\alpha\beta$ vs $\gamma\delta$ T cell populations in the later stages of an infection can also be demonstrated by analyzing specific lesions. During infection with Leishmania, the absence of $\gamma \delta$ cells results in larger cutaneous lesions compared with those in the absence of $\alpha\beta$ T cells (13). Similarly, larger lesions with abscess formation occur during listeriosis in the absence of $\gamma \delta$ but not of $\alpha \beta$ T cells (11, 12). Vaccineinduced protection is reported to be independent of $\gamma \delta$ cells in listeriosis (12). However, immunization against the malaria parasite Plasmodium is effective in $\alpha\beta$ -deficient mice, and a $\gamma\delta$ T cell clone can protect normal mice from development of the liver stages of Plasmodium (14).

In addition to these differences observed for $\alpha\beta$ vs $\gamma\delta$ T cells in response to immunological challenges, several recent studies also suggest that certain $\gamma\delta$ T cells may have unique functions not directly related to antigen recognition, such

as producing a tissue-specific growth factor (21), regulating the development of epithelial cells (22), controlling $\alpha\beta$ T cell responses (23, 24), and promoting isotype switching in B lymphocytes (25, 26). Anti-tumor effects of a TCR γ transgene have also been reported. In these experiments, the presence of the TCR V γ 1.1 J γ 4 C γ 4 transgene in mice could confer resistance to spontaneous acute T cell leukemias (27). This resistance is influenced by the murine *Nramp* gene. This gene was shown to govern resistance or susceptibility to tuberculosis, leprosis, and leishmaniasis (27a). While no detailed analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T cell specificities has been made, this result raises an additional interesting possible function for these T cells.

Clearly the work on the issue of $\gamma \delta$ T cell function has just begun to bear fruit. Although there are many tantalizing leads, no general statement can be made about the precise nature of the immune deficiency caused by the lack of T cells or about their overall roles. Perhaps the answer will come from further studies in these models, along with a better understanding of antigen recognition (see next section). The function of $\gamma \delta$ T cells has so far been studied extensively only in mouse and human, yet $\gamma \delta$ cells are significantly more abundant in birds (28) and artiodactyls (29). In sheep the $\gamma \delta$ TCRs show an expanded repertoire (30). Thus, the role of $\gamma \delta$ T cells in these species may need to be addressed differently.

3. $\gamma \delta$ AND $\alpha \beta$ T CELLS HAVE DIFFERENT ANTIGEN RECOGNITION REQUIREMENTS

During the past two years, a number of studies have shown that $\gamma \delta$ T cells, as compared with $\alpha\beta$ T cells, have profound differences in their antigen recognition requirements. Some seem to recognize entirely different types of antigens. More specifically, these experiments suggest that there are no antigenprocessing and presentation requirements for recognition by most $\gamma\delta$ T cells (31–33), and that their antigens do not have to be proteins (34–37). These experiments are discussed in detail below.

3.1 Protein Antigens Recognized Directly Without Antigen Processing

Because most $\alpha\beta$ T cells recognize protein antigens processed inside the cell and presented by MHC molecules, it has often been assumed that $\gamma\delta$ T cells follow the same general pattern. Even when early work showed that classical MHC molecules were not involved in antigen presentation to $\gamma\delta$ T cells, it was assumed that nonclassical MHC molecules, heat shock proteins, or as yet to be identified surface proteins might play a similar role. Recently, the recognition requirements for $\gamma \delta$ T cells were evaluated in three model systems that have allowed a precise interpretation of the results:

- 1. Recognition of the mouse class II MHC molecule IE^k by the T cell clone LBK5 (31),
- recognition of the mouse nonclassical MHC class I molecules T10 and T22 by the T cell clone G8 (31, 33), and
- recognition of a herpes simplex-virus glycoprotein, gIg by the T cell clone TgI4.4 (32).

The IE^k encoded protein binds peptides, and the T10/T22 molecule has been postulated to do so by virtue of the fact that it is homologous to classical MHC class I molecules. Furthermore, all three proteins listed above can be degraded into peptides and "presented" for recognition. Strikingly, in all three cases, neither peptides bound to these proteins nor peptides derived from them are recognized by the $\gamma \delta$ T cell clones. Instead, protein antigens are recognized directly without any requirement for antigen processing.

3.1.1 IE^K RECOGNITION BY LBK5 IE^k is a classical MHC class II molecule that binds a large number of different peptides as well as most superantigens, and in either capacity this molecule can stimulate $\alpha\beta$ T cells. Analysis of IE^k recognition by the $\gamma\delta$ T cell clone LBK5 allows a comparison of the role MHC molecules play in $\gamma\delta$ vs $\alpha\beta$ T cell recognition; that is, to what extent do peptides bound to MHC confer specificity, what kind of antigen processing is required, and are the MHC molecules recognized similarly in both situations?

The results are very striking. Schild et al (31) found that peptides bound to IE^k do not confer specificity and that no conventional antigen-processing pathways are required when IE^k is recognized by LBK5. As shown in Table 1 and Figure 1*a*, LBK5 recognition does not require a specific peptide MHC complex formed in the endosomal compartments. All variations in the ability of different stimulator cells to activate LBK5 could be attributed solely to the level of their surface MHC expression, regardless of the stimulator cell's species origin (mouse, hamster, human) and cell type (B cells, T cells, fibroblasts). Manipulations that influence the repertoire of peptides loaded onto MHC molecules also showed no effect (GPI-IE^k vs native IE^k, IE^k expressed with or without invariant chains, in the presence or absence of functional class I or II antigen-processing pathways). Likewise, binding particular peptides to the IE molecules did not affect their ability to stimulate LBK5. Isolated IE^k protein bound to a plastic plate could stimulate LBK5 to an extent similar to that of cells that express IE^k (Figure 1*b*), indicating that IE is not presenting a superantigen.

| Temp (°C) | 2B4 peptide ($\alpha\beta$) | | 2B4 protein $(\alpha\beta)$ | | LBK5 $(\gamma \delta)$ | |
|----------------------|-------------------------------|---------|-----------------------------|---------|------------------------|-------|
| | 34 | 39 | 34 | 39 | 34 | 39 |
| IE ^k -CHO | + + + | + + + + | + + + | + + + + | ++ | +++ |
| IEk-G8.1 End1 | + + + | + + + + | ++ | 0 | ++ | + + + |
| IEk-25.2.2 End2 | + + + | + + + + | + + + | + | ++ | + + + |
| IEk-G7.1 End3 | + + + | + + + + | ++ | 0 | ++ | + + + |

Table 1 Summary of the T cell responses by IE^k on temperature sensitive CHO cell mutants^a

^aThe responses of 2B4 (an $\alpha\beta$ T cell specific for IE^k and moth cytochrome c) and LBK5 to IE^k expressed on three temperature sensitive CHO mutant cells with defects in endosomal acidification induced at 39°C (nonpermissive temperature) are compared with responses elicited from IE^k expressed on normal CHO cells. Each "+" indicates a 5-fold difference in IL-2 or IL-3 production, while "0" indicates no detectable IL-2/IL-3 production. LBK5, but not the 2B4 hybridoma, can be stimulated by all three mutants at 39°C, indicating that LBK5 stimulation is independent of the endosomal pathway utilized by class II MHC molecules. The ability of 2B4 to respond to peptide-loaded mutant cells at 39°C demonstrates that surface expression of transfected IE^k is intact (31).



Figure 1 (*a*) Stimulation of LBK5 does not require classical antigen-processing pathways and correlates with surface IE^k expression. LBK5 cells can be stimulated by IE^k–transfected RMA-S and T2, which are defective in class I– and class II–restricted antigen processing, and by their respective parental, nondefective lines RMA and T1. Stimulation of LBK5 correlates directly with the degree of surface expression of the IE^k ligand. In this experiment, LBK5 cells expressing an alkaline phosphatase gene under the control of an IL-2-enhancer promoter were used, and fluorescence units represent measurements of specific alkaline phosphatase activity. The mean fluorescence intensity represents the amount of surface IE^k expression as measured by FACS staining (31). (*b*) LBK5 can be stimulated by plate bound IE^k isolated from CH27 cells. Stimulation of LBK5 by CH27, a B cell lymphoma that expresses IE^k, and by IE^k, isolated from CH27 bound on microtiter wells, is shown. LBK5 stimulations by both were performed in the same assay (31).

In addition, epitope mapping with mutant IE molecules showed that amino acid residues in the α -helices of the IE α and IE β chains that affect $\alpha\beta$ T cell recognition do not affect LBK5 stimulation (Figure 2). Instead, a mutation at position 79 of the IE α chain (α 79) abolished LBK5 recognition but did not affect any of the over 40 $\alpha\beta$ T cells tested. This result indicates that the topology of $\alpha\beta$ vs $\gamma\delta$ T cell recognition of the same IE molecule is likely to be quite different. Further analysis indicated that the specificity of LBK5 is influenced by the carbohydrate at α 82 as well as a polymorphic residue at β 67, a residue that is exposed to solvent (J Hampl, Y-H Chien, unpublished result).



Figure 2 IE^k mutants and their effects on T cell stimulation. The location of mutated residues in IE^k is depicted according to the model of Brown et al (75). The positions and amino acid substitutions of the 13 IE^k mutants are: α 1 helix mutants: 57 Ser—Asp, 61 Gln—Arg, 65 Ala—Val, 68 Ala—Val, 72 Ala—Val, 79 Glu—Lys. β 1 helix mutants: 59 Glu—Lys, 64 Gln—Arg, 69 Glu—Lys, 73 Ala—Val, 77 Thr—Gln, 81 His—Tyr, 84 Glu—Lys. Mutations at positions that showed more than a 1000-fold decrease in presentation efficiency to $\alpha\beta$ T cells are shown in filled circles. For LBK5, only the α 79 mutation elicited no response. The dose response curves of LBK5 to all the other mutants are indistinguishable from the LBK5 response to native IE^k. All stimulations were performed with transfected CHO cells. The $\alpha\beta$ T cell hybridomas 2B4, 3I, and YO1.6 are specific for IE^k plus moth cytochrome c, lambda repressor, and hemoglobin peptides, respectively. A1A10 and AK44.1 are both alloreactive for IE^k (31).



Figure 3 (*a*) Correlation of surface T10/L^d expression on stimulator cells with G8 responses. T10/L^d is a chimera of the α 1 and α 2 domains of T10 and the α 3 domain of the classical class I MHC L^d. Using the monoclonal Ab 28-14-8, specific for the α 3 domain of L^d, T10 cell surface expression may be detected and quantified. T10/L^d can stimulate G8 to the same extent as do T10 transfected cells. Stimulation of G8 by T10/L^d expressed on 721.134 and T2 cells, which are defective in antigen processing, illustrates the independence of G8's response from functional antigen-processing pathways. Stimulation of G8 correlates directly with the degree of surface expression of the T10 ligand. G8 cells expressing an alkaline phosphatase gene under the control of an IL-2-enhancer promoter were used, and fluorescence units represent measurements of specific alkaline phosphatase activity. The mean fluorescence intensity represents the amount of surface T10/L^d expression as measured by FACS staining (31). (*b*) Stimulation of G8 by T10/L^d does not require classical antigen-processing pathways. When expressed on Schneider's Drosophila cells, which lack any conventional antigen-processing pathways, T10/L^d can still stimulate G8 effectively. Stimulation assays with mouse class I D^b expressed on Drosophila cells and with untransfected Drosophila cells are shown as controls (31).

3.1.2 T10/T22 RECOGNITION BY G8 The ligands for the T cell clone G8 were recently identified to be the product of the nonclassical class I T10 and the closely related T22 gene (94% identity) (31, 33). As in the case of LBK5 described above, no conventional antigen-processing pathways were required for T10/T22 recognition by the G8 clone. Again all variations in the ability of different stimulator cells to activate these $\gamma \delta$ T cells can be attributed solely to the level of their surface MHC expression, and class I or class II antigen-processing pathways had no effect (Figure 3*a*). Also significant is the fact that G8 recognized T10/T22 molecules expressed on Drosophila cells. *Drosophila melanogaster* does not have an immune system equivalent to that of mammals and appears to lack the factors necessary for any type of antigen processing and presentation (Figure 3*b*).

The T22 molecule has also been identified as the ligand of another $\gamma \delta$ T cell clone, KN6 (38). It is not clear if KN6 also recognizes T10, because the T10 gene assayed by Ito et al (39) is not functional. In a way similar to the results

shown for G8, KN6 responded to T22 expressing cells from a variety of tissues as well as to T22-expressing cells deficient in the class I peptide transporter (TAP1/TAP2). All of these experiments show that conventional peptide loading mechanisms for T cell recognition of classical MHC class I molecules are not necessary for either G8 or KN6 stimulation by the T10/22 gene product.

The T10/T22 sequences have a 3-amino-acid deletion in the predicted α 1 helix and a 13-amino-acid deletion in the α 2 helix when compared with MHC class I sequences. The amino acid residues following the 13-amino-acid deletion also do not have a helical propensity like that seen in classical MHC molecules. Therefore, even if these molecules fold in a way similar to classical MHC molecules, the α helix would be severely truncated on one side and the β strand platform would be shortened (39). In addition, T10 and T22 lack four of the eight amino acids important for peptide binding by class I molecules (40).

In an effort to evaluate the "peptide" requirements for KN6 recognition, the T22 gene was analyzed by mutagenesis (41). While some residues located on the putative peptide binding floor showed no effect, others reduced KN6 reactivity drastically, leading to the conclusion that a peptide is involved in the recognition. However, in these experiments the cell surface expression of the transfected gene was not monitored, and thus an alternative explanation is that these mutations prevented the proper expression of the protein. In fact, one of those mutations (residue 25 Val \rightarrow Phe) was generated independently and resulted in the loss of surface expression (N Mavaddat, M Crowley, Y-H Chien, unpublished results).

The addition of peptide libraries (7–9 amino acids long, or shorter) does not augment the expression of T10/L^d on the surface of cells defective in the conventional antigen-processing pathway (H Schild, M Jackson, Y-H Chien, unpublished results); neither could peptide be eluted from T10/L^d using standard methods (A Kaliyaperumal, R Falchetto, A Cox, R Dick, Y-H Chien, L Matis, DF Hunt, JA Bluestone, in press). In addition, we have recently found that T10 and β 2 microglobulin expressed in *E. coli* are able to fold into stable complexes without exogenously added peptide. The folded material bound onto plastic plates can stimulate G8 to an extent similar to that of cells expressing T10 (M Crowley, N Mavaddat, Y-H Chien, manuscript in preparation). Thus, not only does G8 recognize T10 in the absence of peptide, but it also seems that T10/T22 does not bind peptide. At least one of the MHC-like molecules, the FcRn receptor, has a closed groove and thus is unable to bind peptides; yet in all other respects it is structurally similar to MHC class I and II molecules (42).

While G8 was generated by immunizing Balb/c nude mice with B10.BR spleen cells, KN6 was derived from C57BL/6 thymocytes. As KN6 and G8

show similar fine specificity toward stimulator cells from various recombinant inbred strains of mice, it would be interesting to identify amino acid residues on the T10/T22 molecules that are contacting G8 and then to determine if these residues are also important for the recognition by KN6. Regardless, mice transgenic for the G8 and KN6 TCRs show similar, if not identical, positive and negative selection patterns (6).

3.1.3 GI RECOGNITION BY TGI4.4 Another $\gamma\delta$ T cell clone, TgI4.4, was reported to recognize a herpes simplex virus type 1 transmembrane glycoprotein, gI. Gene transfection was used to demonstrate that gI is recognized only when expressed on the cell surface. Wild-type gI expressed in antigen-processing defective RMA-S cells is recognized by TgI4.4, as is the soluble recombinant gI molecule gI-Ig when coated onto plates (32). Thus, gI is recognized directly without any requirement for antigen processing or presentation by other molecules.

3.2 Antigen-Processing Requirements in Other Experimental Systems

In addition to the experimental systems described above, other $\gamma \delta$ T cell specificities have been demonstrated by gene transfection. These are the human $\gamma \delta$ T cell clones specific for CD1 (43) and the classical MHC class I molecules HLA-A2 and HLA-A24 (44, 45). In these cases, genes transfected in mouse and fibroblast lines were all recognized, suggesting that no specific peptide is required for the recognition. Therefore, the situations may be similar to the ones described above. Nevertheless, the precise recognition requirements remain to be determined.

Two well-documented cases indicate that the $\gamma \delta$ T cell recognition may involve "complexed antigen" on the cell surface. Vidovic et al (46) immunized DBA/2 mice with the synthetic copolymer Glu-Tyr (GT) and reported the generation of a $\gamma \delta$ T cell hybridoma that responded to GT only in the presence of stimulator cells expressing the Qa-1^b (but not the Qa-1^a) molecule. The response could be blocked by an anti Qa-1^b antibody. Holoshitz et al (47) identified a human $\gamma \delta$ T cell clone from synovial fluid of a patient with early rheumatoid arthritis. This clone proliferated in response to mycobacterial extracts as well as to fragment C (450 amino acids of the carboxy-terminal end) of tetanus toxin (TT). A synthetic peptide (23 amino acids) corresponding to a subregion of the fragment C can also stimulate this clone. The TT response requires the presence of cells expressing an MHC class II molecule, DRw53, and can be inhibited by an anti-DRw53 antibody. Curiously, it requires a higher molar concentration of the peptide than of the fragment C to induce a similar level of T cell response. This result is in contrast to those $\alpha\beta$ T cells that

recognize processed protein antigens. T cell stimulation is in general much more efficient with peptide. Nevertheless, in these two cases, it remains to be investigated whether the Glu-Tyr polymer and the tetanus toxin are "processed" and if so, what kind of antigen processing is required.

 $V\gamma$ 1-bearing murine $\gamma\delta$ hybridomas secrete lymphokines in response to synthetic peptides representing a short hydrophobic segment of the mycobacterial 60-kDa heat shock protein (48). In these assays, the peptides are added directly to the responder cells in the absence of exogenous presenting cells. Although these responses are TCR dependent, it is not clear if these peptides or some other cell surface structure(s) induced or altered by these peptides are the true ligand for these $\gamma\delta$ T cells (48). Indeed, this peptide induces K^b and D^b as well as Qa-1 expression on RMA-S cells. In addition, because these peptides are poorly water soluble, they have to be added as a slurry, which could make them effectively polyvalent and able to stimulate the T cells by direct TCR cross-linking (48).

Loh et al (49) showed that Jurkat cells transfected with human $V\gamma 9$ gene in combination with either V $\delta 1$ or V $\delta 2$ could respond to staphylococcal enterotoxin A (SEA) at a concentration of 1–10 mg/ml. However, this concentration is a 100–1000-fold higher than needed for $\alpha\beta$ TCR stimulation in a similar experimental system (50). If SEA is indeed recognized in this system, it would be interesting to investigate how the recognition occurs and whether the V γ or V δ CDR3 regions are involved.

In another system, Kim et al (51) showed that a Burkitt's lymphoma–specific human $\gamma \delta$ CT recognized cells transfected with tumor-specific immunoglobulin light chain genes with and without the leader peptide, and that this reactivity was blocked by an anti-serum against a mitochondrial heat shock protein (grp75). The authors suggested that an immunoglobulin (Ig) light chain–derived peptide was recognized in the context of the heat shock protein. It would be interesting in this system to identify the specific peptide recognized and to test whether antigen-processing defective cells transfected with the light chain gene are still as active as stimulators. Also, as anti-sera are notoriously cross-reactive, it would be important to reproduce the blocking data with a monoclonal antibody to the grp75 protein.

3.3 $\gamma \delta T$ Cells Can Be Stimulated by Nonpeptide Antigens

 $\gamma \delta$ T cells from healthy human peripheral blood and from patients with tuberculoid leprosy or rheumatoid arthritis respond to heat-killed mycobacteria. Only a minority of these cells respond to mycobacterial heat shock protein. The major stimulatory components in the former have recently been identified as phosphate-containing, nonpeptide molecules. While the consensus is that phosphate is a necessary component, compounds identified from various

522 CHIEN, JORES & CROWLEY

| Name | Structure | References |
|--|--|---|
| Phosphocarbohydrates | Unusual carbohydrates with terminal phosphorylation | Schoel et al (1994) <i>Eur. J.</i> <i>Immunol.</i> 24, 1886 |
| TUBag3 TUBag4 | X-uridine 5'-triphosphate X-thymidine 5'-triphosphate | JJ Fournié, personal communication Constant et al (1994) <i>Science</i> 264, 267 |
| TUBag1, 2 Isopentenyl pyrophosphate | X, includes phosphate $CH_2 = C(CH_3)CH_2CH_2-PP_i$ | Tanaka et al (1995) Nature 375, 155 |

Table 2 Nonpeptide mycobacterial antigens that stimulate human $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ ($V\gamma 2V\delta 2$) T cells^a

^aAll compounds have been isolated from myobacterial extracts and require some type of phosphorylation for stimulatory activity. The unknown structure "X", when phosphorylated, is the minimal active stimulatory component of the TUBag compounds. "X" is not a prenyl or alkenyl derivative (JJ Fournié, personal communication).

laboratories with different mycobacteria-responsive clones appear to be distinct in their structures (Table 2).

Schoel et al (34) identified the active component in mycobacterium as a nonprotein low molecular weight (1–3-kDa) compound that contains unusual carbohydrate and phosphate moieties. Constant et al (35) identified four distinct but related stimulating agents from M. tuberculosis (strain H37Rv), water-soluble extracts termed TUBag 1-4. TUBag 4 was identified as a 5'-triphosphorylated thymidine substituted at its γ -phosphate by an as-yet-to-be-characterized low molecular weight structure. TUBag 3 has a similar structure but contains uridine instead of deoxythymidine. TUBag 1 and 2 are naturally occurring, nonnucleotide, minimal active fragments of TUBag 3 and 4. TUBag 4 can induce expansion of $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cells from human peripheral blood and stimulate specific $\gamma \delta$ T cells. TUBag 1-4 are found in all mycobacteria species, but in various amounts and localizations. In tuberculosis-related species, all TUBag molecules are associated with the bacterial body, but in nonpathogenic species they are mostly secreted (P Constant, Y Poquet, M-A Peyrat, F Davodeau, M Bonneville, J-J Fournié, in press). Others (36, 37, 52), working with extracts from the same mycobacterial strain (H37Rv), identified isopentenyl pyrophosphate and related prenyl pyrophosphate derivatives as the major stimulatory component. They also found that synthetic alkenyl and prenyl derivatives of phosphate and pyrophosphate as well as γ -monoethyl derivatives of nucleoside and deoxynucleoside triphosphate stimulate particular $\gamma \delta$ T cell clones, with the pyrophosphate and the TTP, UTP γ -derivatives being the most potent. Although the relative biological importance of these compounds remains to be determined, it is clear that a major class of stimulants are phosphate-containing nonpeptides. It is also clear that multiple phosphate-containing compounds are able to stimulate different clones with different efficacy (Table 3).

¹Nomenclature according to (34, 35). $V\gamma 9$ is called $V\gamma 2$ in (36, 37).

| | | Derivative (µN | | |
|-------------------------------|--|----------------|---------------|----------|
| Anchor chain | Structure | Phosphate | Pyrophosphate | UTP |
| Alkenyl- | | | | |
| Allyl- | $CH_2 = CHCH_2 -$ | 800 | 5 | 4 |
| Crotyl- | $CH_3CH = CHCH_2 -$ | 350 | 8 | 3 |
| Prenyl- | | | | |
| Dimethylallyl- isopenteyl- | $CH_3C(CH_3) = CHCH_2 - CH_2 = C(CH_3)CH_2CH_2 - $ | 30 700 | 10 3 | 0.3 4 |

Table 3 Nonpeptide synthetic antigens that stimulate human $V\gamma 9V\delta 2(V\gamma 2V\delta 2)$ T cells^a

^aThe values given are the antigen concentration (μ M) required for the half maximal proliferative response of the $\gamma\delta$ T cell clone 12G12. Reproduced by permission from Tanaka et al (37).

One important finding is that all of these compounds can be found in both microbial and mammalian cells. Constant et al (35) proposed that the mammalian TTP-X and UTP-X conjugate may be involved in a salvage pathway in DNA and RNA synthesis, and thus they could be involved in a metabolic pathway related to DNA or RNA synthesis, such as cell proliferation. Such molecules would fit with the stress antigen or conserved primitive stimulus expected for $\gamma \delta$ T cell ligands (6).

Tanaka et al (37) proposed that a link in the recognition of both microbial pathogens and hematopoietic tumor cells by these $\gamma \delta$ T cells is provided by the common set of prenyl pyrophosphate intermediates, isopentenyl and related prenyl phyrophosphate derivatives. These compounds are present in normal mammalian cells as precursors in lipid metabolism for the synthesis of farnesyl pyrophosphate. In mammalian cells, farnesyl addition has been proposed to be a critical modification for the membrane association of the ras protein and is required for transforming activity. The observation that some $\gamma \delta$ T cell populations accumulate in lesions caused by mycobacterial infections in humans (53) and are able to respond to virally and bacterially infected cells (52, 53) would suggest that these cells respond to a class of antigens shared by a number of pathogens and transformed, damaged, or stressed cells.

4. STRUCTURAL DIFFERENCES BETWEEN $\gamma \delta$ AND $\alpha \beta$ TCR

4.1 $\gamma \delta$ TCR Are More Similar To Immunoglobulin Than To $\alpha\beta$ TCR in CDR3 Length Distributions

Based on conserved amino acid residues and secondary structure predictions, $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ TCRs most likely have an Ig-like structure (54). [X-ray crystallographic analysis has recently confirmed the Ig-like structure of the TCR β chain V and C domain (55).] Also in common among all of these antigen-specific immune receptors is that they confer specificity against a wide variety of potential pathogens by recombining separate V, (D), J elements into a single Ig or TCR variable domain-encoding exon.

X-ray structural analysis of antibody-antigen complexes shows that the loops created by the V(D)J junction (CDR3) of Ig heavy and light chains are always involved in antigen contact (56–60). Similarly, the CDR3 loop of both α and β TCR chains seems critical for peptide recognition (61). It is therefore reasonable to assume that the analogous regions in $\gamma\delta$ chains also play an important role in antigen recognition. In order to develop a systematic way to compare these regions between immune receptors, Rock et al (62) analyzed the CDR3 length distribution of all known antigen receptor polypeptides from mouse and humans. The results are illustrated in Figure 4.

In Ig light chains, CDR3 regions are short and of conserved length, but those of heavy chain are long with a wide range of lengths. This may reflect the fact that Igs recognize a variety of different antigenic surfaces, from small molecules to large pathogens. For $\alpha\beta$ TCR chains, the CDR3 length distributions are significantly constrained and are about equal in length. This probably reflects the requirement for α and β chains of the TCR to contact both the MHC and bound peptide. Surprisingly, in $\gamma\delta$ TCR, the γ chain CDR3 loops are short with a narrow length distribution, and the δ chain CDR3s are long with a broad length distribution. Therefore, with respect to CDR3 lengths, the $\gamma\delta$ TCR is more similar to Ig than to $\alpha\beta$ TCR. This result is consistent with the experimental results discussed above indicating the Ig-like capacity of a number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells to recognize different antigens directly.

In this context, it has been observed that the frequency of $\gamma \delta$ T cell clones recognizing allogeneic MHC molecules in a mixed lymphocyte reaction is very low (compared to $\alpha\beta$ alloreactive clones), and the majority of these clones show a high degree of cross-reactivity (only rarely seen with $\alpha\beta$ alloreactive clones) [reviewed in Haas (6)]. These observations are consistent with the proposal that $\gamma\delta$ TCR recognition is more Ig-like, focusing on the common features shared by MHC molecules. It is noteworthy that the specificity of LBK5 (IE^{b,k,s} but not IE^d) is the same as two previously described anti-IE antibodies (64, 65). In this light, MHC recognition by $\gamma\delta$ T cells may represent a fortuitous cross-reaction with other non-MHC structures that are the physiological ligands for $\gamma\delta$ T cells. This is in contrast to the $\alpha\beta$ T cell's alloreactive recognition of another MHC allele, which is thought to represent cross-reactivity by cells selected to recognize peptides on self-MHC molecules, with the high frequency of such clones reflecting the diversity of the bound peptides.



Figure 4 CDR3 length distribution of antigen specific immune receptor chains. An analysis of CDR3 sequences from immunoglobulin $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells by Rock et al (62) illustrates some striking similarities between Ig and $\gamma\delta$ antigen receptors. The Ig heavy chain and the δ chain are long and variable, while the Ig light chain and the γ chain are short and constrained in length. In contrast, the $\alpha\beta$ receptor chains are constrained and similar in length.

526 CHIEN, JORES & CROWLEY

Along this line, human $\gamma \delta$ T cell clones from healthy donors that respond to mycobacteria extract are found to express $V\gamma 9$ and $V\delta 2$ with variable junctional sequences. This is reminiscent of the Ig receptor usage in naturally occurring mouse B cells that recognize phosphorylcholine. There it was found that only very restricted Ig heavy (VH11, VH12, or Q52) and light chain V gene segments are used, coupled with variable CDR3 junctional sequences (65a). In the latter case, the restricted usage of the V genes is all the more significant since several hundred to a thousand VH gene segments are available to mount an Ig response. The antibody responses to α -1,3 dextran (66) and galactan (67) also show a similar restricted pattern of VH genes, few JH genes, but diverse DH and joining regions in the heavy chain.

By considering all elements that contribute to the variability of the junctional (CDR3) region, such as the numbers of D and J elements used, D element reading frame, junctional diversity, and N region nucleotide addition, Davis & Bjorkman (63) calculated that the number of possible CDR3 sequences was the greatest for $\gamma\delta$ TCR and the least for Ig (irrespective of somatic mutation), and intermediate for $\alpha\beta$ TCR. This suggested that $\gamma\delta$ T cells may have the potential to recognize a wide variety of different antigens directly.

However, the suggestion that $\gamma \delta$ TCR recognition is more Ig-like does not preclude that some $\gamma \delta$ T cells may recognize similar or even the same antigen as do $\alpha\beta$ T cells. One should take note that anti-MHC antibodies can be generated, many of them showing fine specificity toward different subtypes of MHC molecules. Some of these antibodies are even peptide specific (68; P Reay, M Davis, unpublished results).

5. OTHER REQUIREMENTS FOR ACTIVATION THROUGH THE $\gamma \delta$ TCR

5.1 Multivalence of the Ligands

 $\gamma\delta$ TCR, similar to $\alpha\beta$ TCR, need to associate with CD3 molecules for cell surface expression. Signaling through these receptors requires a multivalent form of the antigen to cross-link the engaged receptors. Cell surface molecules can be recognized as such, but soluble antigen must be rendered polyvalent. A demonstration of this requirement is that in all three cases of $\gamma\delta$ T cells recognizing cell surface molecules—IE^k, T10/T22, and HSV gI protein—a soluble form of the protein can only be recognized when bound to plastic plates. Along this line, the stimulation of mycobacterial extract reactive $\gamma\delta$ T cell clones by small phosphate-containing compounds requires cell-cell contact (Figure 5), even though all cell types tested are able to promote recognition (69, 69a). The requirement for multivalent antigens would suggest that soluble antigens —such as the phosphate containing compounds—must be associated with certain cell surface molecules for their recognition. It is important to know if the binding and display of soluble antigens is achieved by a variety of different molecules on the surface, or by a limited set of molecules, and if they normally form part of the epitope recognized by the antigen receptors.

5.2 Signals Through Costimulation and/or Accessory Molecules

Antigen specific $\alpha\beta$ T cell stimulation requires the engagement of accessory and/or costimulatory molecules on T cells in addition to cross-linking of the engaged antigen receptor. Despite the differences in antigen recognition between $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells described here, $\gamma\delta$ lymphocytes may also depend on two or more signals for full activation.

Among all putative costimulatory molecules present on $\gamma \delta$ T cells, the best studied is the CD28 molecule. Costimulation through CD28 appears to be important for $\gamma \delta$ T cell activation (70). In this context, it is noteworthy that murine skin $\gamma \delta$ cells recognize keratinocytes (71), and that keratinocytes have been found to react with a mAb against BB1 (a member of the B7 family, ligands of CD28) (72). However, as $\gamma \delta$ T cells can be found in a variety of different sites and express different types and different quantities of surface molecules, it is conceivable that they may have different activation requirements with respect to costimulation/accessory molecules.

The CD3 chains, in particular CD3 ζ , have been evoked in the signal transduction and activation of T cells (reviewed in 73). However, several lines of



Figure 5 Stimulation of human $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cells requires cell-cell contact. Stimulation of human $\gamma\delta$ T cell clones by the phosphate-containing TUBag compound from mycobacterial extracts requires cell-cell contact, achieved here by pelleting the cells. T cell response was measured by TNF production. Reproduced by permission from Lang et al (69).

528 CHIEN, JORES & CROWLEY

evidence suggest the ζ chain may not be as critical for the activation of some epithelial $\gamma \delta$ T cells. Instead, they may have a propensity for using a Fc receptor chain (reviewed in 6). This implies that the signal transduction requirements and the relative roles of zap70 and syk in this pathway may be different in $\alpha\beta$ compared with some $\gamma\delta$ T cells (A Hayday, personal communication).

6. CONCLUSION

From the experimental results presented here, the differences in $\gamma \delta$ T cell versus $\alpha\beta$ T cell recognition properties provides a basis for the different functions observed for these cells in the immune system. The most striking observations are the lack of antigen-processing requirements for antigen recognition by many $\gamma \delta$ T cells and the likelihood that $\gamma \delta$ and $\alpha \beta$ T cells may recognize different sets of antigens. This suggests that in many cases $\gamma \delta T$ cells can respond to antigens that would not be recognized by $\alpha\beta$ T cells and that they may mediate cellular immune functions without antigen processing. Thus, pathogens, damaged tissues, or even T and B cells can be recognized directly, and cellular immune responses can be initiated without a requirement for antigen degradation or specialized antigen-presenting cells. As indicated by the CDR3 length distributions and the ligand recognition characteristics described earlier, $\gamma \delta$ TCRs as a group may be more "immunoglobulin-like" in their antigen recognition properties. Given the enormous estimated sequence variability of the CDR3 regions of $\gamma \delta$ TCRs, it is likely that these cells may recognize a wide variety of antigens. Such unique properties may allow $\gamma \delta$ T cells to complement effectively the more classical type of $\alpha\beta$ T cell–mediated cellular immunity.

Although the recognition requirements for $\gamma \delta$ T cells are largely derived from observations with model systems, the identification of the mycobacterium antigen stems from physiologically relevant events. We certainly need to test the generality of these rules and to assess the kind of antigens that $\gamma \delta$ T cells are most likely to recognize in other pathological situations. It is important to establish whether $\gamma \delta$ T cells can contribute to pathogenesis and/or protective immune responses, and whether the responses are influenced by the antigen. An approach to this question is to determine in an infectious disease model whether $\gamma \delta$ T cell specificities are directed toward pathogens and/or to damaged tissue, and in the latter case, whether the same antigen is also present in normal undamaged tissue as well.

The issue of $\gamma \delta$ T cell specificity is also important for the understanding of $\gamma \delta$ T cell development. Interestingly, the phosphate-containing compounds isolated from mycobacterial extracts can be found both in pathogens and in mammalian cells. Thus, they are a self as well as a non-self component, yet $\gamma \delta$ T cells with this specificity are not eliminated from the normal repertoire. While some experiments with $\gamma \delta$ TCR transgenic mice suggest that these T cells are both positively and negatively selected in much the same way as $\alpha\beta$ T cells (6), others show an entirely different mode of selection (74). There are also documented cases where $\gamma\delta$ T cells develop extrathymically (6). It is not clear in those situations what and how exogenous antigens are involved.

It was suggested that "the analysis of antigen recognition may be the key to the understanding of the unique funtions of $\gamma\delta$ T cells" (6). Certainly, this is a major part of the puzzle of $\gamma\delta$ T cell biology. While progress in this aspect has been rapid in the past few years, we still need to know more about what is being recognized and how it is recognized in the $\gamma\delta$ T cell response to immune challenges. We also need to know the consequences of such recognition. In any case, it seems that we are a little further along in the understanding of this novel part of the immune system.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Mark Davis for critically reading the manuscript and Drs. J Allison, W Born, M Bonneville, J-J Fournié, A Hayday, H Ishikawa, M Kronenberg, R O'Brien, and C Morita for helpful discussions and/or providing manuscripts prior to publication.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Saito H, Kranz D, Takagaki Y, Hayday A, Eisen H, Tonegawa S. 1984. Complete primary structure of a heterodimeric T-cell receptor deduced from cDNA sequences. *Nature* 309:757–62
- Brenner MB, McLean J, Dialynas DP, Strominger JL, Smith JA, Owen FL, Seidman JG, Ip S, Rosen F, Krangel MS. 1986. Identification of a putative second T-cell receptor. *Nature* 322:145–49
- Bank I, DePinho RA, Brenner MB, Cassimeris J, Alt FW, Chess L. 1986. A functional T3 molecule associated with a novel heterodimer on the surface of inmature human thymocytes. *Nature* 322:179–81
- Lanier L, Federspiel N, Ruitenberg J, Phillips J, Allison J, Littman D, Weiss A. 1987. The T cell antigen receptor complex expressed on normal peripheral blood CD4⁻CD8⁻ T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 165:1076–94

- Chien Y-H, Iwashima M, Wettstein D, Kaplan K, Elliott J, Born W, Davis M. 1987. T-cell receptor δ gene rearrangements in early thymocytes. *Nature* 330:722–27
- Haas W, Pereira P, Tonegawa S. 1993. γ/δ cells. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 11:637–85
- Havran WL, Boismenu R. 1994. Activation and function of γ-δ T-cells. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 6:442–46
- Viney JL, Dianda L, Roberts SJ, Wen L, Mallick CA, Hayday AC, Owen MJ. 1994. Lymphocyte proliferation in mice congenitally deficient in T-cell receptor α-β(+) cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:11948–52
- Kaufmann SHE. 1994. Bacterial and protozoal infections in genetically disrupted mice. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 6:518–25
- Hiromatsu K, Yoshikai Y, Matsuzaki G, Ohga S, Muramori K, Matsumoto K, Bluestone JA, Nomoto K. 1992. A protec-

tive role of γ - δ T-cells in primary infection with *Listeria-monocytogenes* in mice. *J. Exp. Med.* 175:49–56

- Mombaerts P, Arnoldi J, Russ F, Tonegawa S, Kaufmann SH. 1993. Different roles of α-β and γ-δ T-cells in immunity against an intracellular bacterial pathogen. *Nature* 365:53–56
- Kaufmann SHE, Ladel CH. 1994. Role of T cell subsets in immunity against intracellular bacteria: experimental infections of knock-out mice with *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG. *Immunobiology* 191:509–19
- Rosat JP, MacDonald HR, Louis JA. 1993. A role for γ-δ + T-cells during experimental-infection of mice with *Leishmania major. J. Immunol.* 150:550– 55
- Tsuji M, Mombaets P, Lefrancois L, Nussenzweig RS, Zavala F, Tonegawa S. 1994. γ-δ T-cells contribute to immunity against the liver stages of malaria in αβ T-cell-deficient mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:345–49
- Mixter PF, Camerini V, Stone BJ, Miller VL, Kronenberg M. 1994. Mouse T lymphocytes that express a γ-δ T-cell antigen receptor contribute to resistance to *Salmonella* infection in vivo. *Infect. Immun.* 62:4618–21
- Ladel CH, Flesch IEA, Arnoldi J, Kaufmann SH. 1994. Studies with MHCdeficient knock-out mice reveal impact of both MHC I and MHC II-dependent T cell responses on *Listeria monocytogenes* infection. *J. Immunol.* 153:3116–22
- Ohga S, Yoshikai Y, Takeda Y, Hiromatsu K, Nomoto K. 1990. Sequential appearance of γ δ- and α β-bearing T-cells in the peritoneal cavity during an ip infection with *Listeria-monocytogenes. Eur. J. Immunol.* 20:533–38
- Ferrick D, Schrenzel M, Mulvania T, Hsieh B, Ferlin W, Lepper H. 1995. Differential production of interferon-γ and interleukin-4 in response to Th1- and Th2stimulating pathogens by γ-δ T-cells in vivo. *Nature* 373:255–57
- Carding SR, Allan W, Kyes S, Hayday A, Bottomly K, Doherty PC. 1990. Late dominance of the inflammatory process in murine influenza by γ-δ + T cells. J. Exp. Med. 172:1225–31
- Hara T, Mizuno Y, Takaki K, Takada H, Akeda H, Aoki T, Nagata M, Ueda K, Matsuzaki G, Yoshikai Y, Nomoto K. 1992. Predominant activation and expansion of Vγ9-bearing γ-δ T-cells in vivo as well as in vitro in Salmonella infection. J. Clin.

Invest. 90:204-10

- Boismenu R, Havran W. 1994. Modulation of epithelial cell growth by intraepithelial γ delta T cells. Science 266:1253– 55
- Komano H, Fuijura Y, Kawaguchi M, Matsumoto S, Hashimoto Y, Obana S, Mombaerts P, Tonegawa S, Yamamoto H, Itohara S, Nanno M, Ishikawa H. 1995. Homeostatic regulation of intestinal epithelia by intraepithelial γ-δ T-cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92(13):6147–51
- Kaufmann SHE, Blum C, Yamamoto S. 1993. Crosstalk between α/β T-cells and γ/δ T-cells in vivo: activation of α/β Tcell responses after γ/δ T-cell modulation with the monoclonal antibody GL3. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:9620–24
- McMenamin C, Pimm C, McKersey M, Holt P. 1994. Regulation of IgE responses to inhaled antigen in mice by antigen-specific γ delta T cells. *Science* 265:1869–71
- Wen L, Roberts SJ, Viney JL, Wong FS, Mallick C, Findly RC, Peng QS, Craft JE, Owen MJ, Hayday AC. 1994. Immunoglobulin synthesis and generalized autoimmunity in mice congenitally deficient in α-β(+) T cells. *Nature* 369:654– 58
- Horner A, Jabara H, Ramesh N, Geha R. 1995. γ/δ T lymphocytes express CD40 ligands and induce isotype-switching in B lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 181:1239–44
- Penninger J, Wen T, Timms E, Potter J, Wallaca V, Matsuyama T, Ferrick D, Sydora B, Kronenberg M, Mak T. 1995. Spontaneous resistance to acute T-cell leukemias in TCRVy1.1Jy4Cy4 transgenic mice. *Nature* 375:241–44
- 27a. Vidal S, Tremblay M, Govoni G, Gauthier S, Sebastiani G, Malo D, Skamene E, Olivier M, Jothy S, Gros P. 1995. The Ity/Lsh/Bcg locus: natural resistance to infection with intracellular parasites is abrogated by disruption of the N_{ramp} 1 gene. *J. Exp. Med.* 182:655–66
- Bucy RP, Chen C, Cooper M. 1991. Analysis of γ-δ T-cells in the chicken. Semin. Immunol. 3:109–17
- Hein WR, Mackay CR. 1991. Prominence of γ-δ T-cells in the ruminant immune system. *Immunol. Today* 12:30–34
- Hein WR, Dudler L. 1993. Divergent evolution of T-cell repertoires: extensive diversity and developmentally regulated expression of the sheep γ-δ T-cell receptor. *EMBO J.* 12:715–24
- 31. Schild H, Mavaddat N, Litzenberger C, Ehrlich EW, Davis MM, Bluestone JA,

Matis L, Draper RK, Chien Y-h. 1994. The nature of major histocompatibility complex recognition by γ delta T-cells. *Cell* 76:29–37

- Sciammas R, Johnson RM, Sperling AI, Brady W, Linsley PS, Spear PG, Fitch FW, Bluestone JA. 1994. Unique antigen recognition by a herpesvirus-specific TCR-γ-δ cell. J. Immunol. 152:5392–97
- Weintraub BC, Jackson MR, Hedrick SM. 1994. γ-δ T-cells can recognize nonclassical MHC in the absence of conventional antigenic peptides. J. Immunol. 153:3051–58
- Schoel B, Sprenger S, Kaufmann SH. 1994. Phosphate is essential for stimulation of V-γ-9V-δ-2 T-lymphocytes by mycobacterial low-molecular-weight ligand. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:1886–92
- Constant P, Davodeau F, Peyrat MA, Poquet Y, Puzo G, Bonneville M, Fournie JJ. 1994. Stimulation of human γ-δ T-cells by nonpeptidic mycobacterial ligands. *Sci*ence 264:267–70
- Tanaka Y, Sano S, Nieves E, De Libero G, Rosa D, Modlin RL, Brenner MB, Bloom BR, Morita CT. 1994. Nonpeptide ligands for human γ-δ T-cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:8175–79
- Tanaka Y, Morita C, Tanaka Y, Nieves E, Brenner M, Bloom B. 1995. Natural and synthetic non-peptide antigens recognized by human γ delta T cells. *Nature* 375:155–58
- Bonneville M, Ito K, Krecko E, Itohara S, Kappes D, Ishida I, Kanagawa O, Janeway C, Murphy D, Tonegawa S. 1989. Recognition of a self major histocompatibility complex TL region product by γδ Tcell receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:5928–32
- Ito K, van Kaer L, Bonneville M, Hsu S, Murphy D, Tonegawa S. 1990. Recognition of the product of a novel MHC TL region gene (27b) by a mouse γ delta T cell receptor. *Cell* 62:549–61
- Teitell M, Cheroutre H, Panwala C, Holcombe H, Eghtesady P, Kronenberg M. 1994. Structure and function of H-2 T (Tla) region class I MHC molecules. *Crit. Rev. Immunol.* 14:1–27
- Moriwaki S, Korn B, Ichikawa Y, van Kaer L, Tonegawa S. 1993. Amino acid substitutions in the floor of the putative antigenbinding site of H-2T22 affect recognition by a γ delta T-cell receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:11396–400
- Burmeister W, Gastinel L, Simister N, Blum M, Bjorkman P. 1994. Crystal structure at 2.2 Å resolution of the

MHC-related neonatal Fc receptor. *Nature* 372:336–43

- Porcelli S, Brenner MB, Greenstein JL, Balk SP, Terhorst C, Bleicher PA. 1989. Recognition of cluster of differentiation antigens 1 by human CD4-CD8-cytolytic T lymphocytes. *Nature* 341:447–50
- 44. Ciccone E, Viale O, Pende D, Malnati M, Ferrara GB, Barocci S, Moretta A, Moretta L. 1989. Specificity of human T lymphocytes expressing a γ/δ T cell antigen receptor. Recognition of a polymorphic determinant of HLA class I molecules by a γ/δ T cell clone. Eur. J. Immunol. 19:1267–71
- 45. Spits H, Paliard X, Engelhard VH, de Vries JE. 1990. Cytotoxic activity and lymphokine production of T-cell receptor (TCR)-α-β + and TCR-γ-δ + cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) clones recognizing HLA-A2 and HLA-A2 mutants. J. Immunol. 144:4156–62
- Vidovic D, Roglic M, McKune K, Guerder S, MacKay C, Dembic Z. 1989. Qa-1 restricted recognition of foreign antigen by a γ-δ T-cell hybridoma. *Nature* 340:646– 50
- Holoshitz J, Vila LM, Keroack BJ, McKinley DR, Bayne NK. 1992. Dual antigenic recognition by cloned human γδ T-cells. J. Clin. Invest. 89:308–14
- Fu YX, Vollmer M, Kalataradi H, Heyborne K, Reardon C, Miles C, O'Brien R, Born W. 1994. Structural requirements for peptides that stimulate a subset of γ-δ T-cells. J. Immunol. 152:1578–88
- 49. Loh EY, Wang M, Bartkowiak J, Wiaderkiewicz R, Hyjek E, Wang Z, Kozbor D. 1994. Gene transfer studies of T-cell receptor-γ-δ recognition. Specificity for staphylococcal enterotoxin-A is conveyed by V-γ-9 alone. J. Immunol. 152:3324–32
- Patten PA, Rock EP, Sonoda T, de St. Groth BF, Jorgensen JL, Davis MM. 1993. Transfer of putative complementaritydetermining region loops of T-cell receptor-V domains confers toxin reactivity but not peptide/MHC specificity. J. Immunol. 150:2281–94
- Kim HT, Nelson EL, Clayberger C, Sanjanwala M, Sklar J, Krensky AM, 1995. Gamma delta T cell recognition of tumor Ig peptide. *J. Immunol.* 154:1614–23
- Bukowski J, Morita C, Tanaka Y, Bloom B, Brenner M, Band H. 1995. Vγ2 Vδ2 TCR-dependent recognition of nonpeptide antigens and Daudi cells analyzed by TCR gene transfer. J. Immunol. 154:998–1006

- Bukowski JF, Morita CT, Brenner MB. 1994. Recognition and destruction of virus-infected cells by human γ-δ CTL. J. Immunol. 153:5133–40
- Chothia C, Boswell D, Lesk A. 1988. The outline structure of the T-cell α β receptor. EMBO J. 7:3745–55
- Bentley GA, Boulot G, Karjalainen K, Mariuzza RA. 1995. Crystal structure of the β-chain of a T-cell antigen receptor. *Science* 267:1984–87
- Davies DR, Padlan E. 1989. Comparative study of two Fab-lysozyme crystal structures. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 54:233
- 57. Alzari PM, Spinelli S, Mariuzza RA, Boulot G, Poljak RJ, Jarvis JM, Milstein C. 1990. Three-dimensional structure determination of an anti-2-phenyloxazolone antibody: the role of somatic mutation and heavy/light chain pairing in the maturation of an immune response. *EMBO J.* 9:3807–14
- Stanfield RL, Fieser TM, Lerner RA, Wilson IA. 1990. Crystal-structures of an antibody to a peptide and its complex with peptide antigen at 2.8 Å. *Science* 248:712– 19
- Garcia KC, Ronco PM, Verroust PJ, Brunger AT, Amzel LM. 1992. Threedimensional structure of an angiotensin II Fab complex at 3 Å: hormone recognition by an anti-idiotypic antibody. *Science* 257:502–7
- Amit AG, Mariuzza RA, Phillips SE, Poljak RJ. 1986. Three-dimensional structure of an antigen-antibody complex at 2.8 Å resolution. *Science* 233:747–53
- Jorgensen J, Esser U, Fazekas de St. Groth B, Reay P, Davis M. 1994. Mapping T cell receptor-peptide contacts by variant peptide immunization of single-chain transgenics. *Nature* 355:224–30
- Rock EP, Sibbald PR, Davis MM, Chien Y-h. 1994. CDR3 length in antigenspecific immune receptors. J. Exp. Med. 179:323–28
- Davis M, Bjorkman P. 1988. T-cell antigen receptor genes and T-cell recognition. *Nature* 334:395–402
- Lerner E, Matis L, Janeway CJ, Jones P, Schwartz R, Murphy D. 1980. Monoclonal antibody against an Ir gene product. *J. Exp. Med.* 152:1085–101
- Ozato K, Mayer N, Sachs D. 1980. Hybridoma cell lines secreting monoclonal antibodies to mouse H-2 and Ia antigens. *J. Immunol.* 124:533–40

- 65a. Seidl K. 1995. PhD thesis, Stanford Univ., Stanford, CA
- Schilling J, Clevinger B, Davie J, Hood L. 1980. Amino acid sequence of homogenous antibodies to dextran and DNA rearrangments in heavy chain V-region gene segments. *Nature* 283:35–40
- Rudikoff S, Pawlita M, Mushinski E, Pumphrey J, Potter M. 1984. Characterization of idiotypes on antibodies to galactan. Ann. Immunol. C135:89–94
- Rudensky A, Rath S, Preston-Hurlburt P, Murphy D, Janeway C. 1991. On the complexity of self. *Nature* 353:660–62
- 69. Lang F, Peyrat M, Constant P, Davodeau F, David-Ameline J, Poquet Y, Vie H, Fournié J, Bonneville M. 1995. Early activation of human Vγ9Vδ2 T cell broad cytotoxicity and TNF production by nonpeptidic mycobacterial ligands. J. Immunol. 154:5986–94
- 69a. Morita CT, Beckman EM, Bukaurki JF, Tanaka Y, Band H, Bloom BR, Golan DE, Brenner MB. 1995. Direct presentation of nonpeptide prenyl pyrophosphate antigens to human γδ T cells. *Immunity* 3:495–507
- Sperling AI, Linsley PS, Barrett TA, Bluestone JA. 1993. CD28-mediated costimulation is necessary for the activation of T-cell receptor-γ-δ + T-lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 151:6043–50
- Havran W, Chien Y, Allison J. 1991. Recognition of self antigens by skinderived T cells with invariant γ delta antigen receptors. *Science* 252:1430–32
- Nickoloff BJ, Mitra RS, Lee K, Turka LA, Green J, Thompson C, Shimizu Y. 1993. Discordant expression of CD28 ligands, BB-1 and B7, on keratinocytes in vitro and psoriatic-cells in vivo. Am. J. Pathol. 142:1029–40
- Malissen B, Schmitt-Verhulst AM. 1993. Transmembrane signalling through the Tcell-receptor-CD3 complex. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 5:324–33
- Iwashima M, Green A, Bonyhadi M, Davis MM, Allison JP, Chien Y. 1991. Expression of a fetal γ-δ T-cell receptor in adult mice triggers a non-MHC-linked form of selective depletion. *Int. Immunol.* 3:385–93
- Brown JH, Jardetzky TS, Gorga JC, Stern LJ, Urban RG, Strominger JL, Wiley DC. 1993. Three-dimensional structure of the human class II histocompatibility antigen HLA-DR1. *Nature* 364:33–39



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants¹

Bradley D. Jones

Department of Microbiology, University of Iowa School of Medicine, Iowa City, Iowa 52242

Stanley Falkow

Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, California 94305, and Microscopy Branch, Rocky Mountain Laboratories, National Institutes of Health, Hamilton, Montana 59840

KEY WORDS: typhoid fever, macrophage survival, M cells, bacterial invasion, Salmonella

Abstract

The lifestyle of bacterial pathogens requires them to establish infection in the face of host immunity. Upon entering a potential host, a variety of interactions are initiated, the outcome of which depends upon a myriad of attributes of each of the participants. In this review we discuss the interactions that occur between pathogenic Salmonella species and the host immune systems, but when appropriate to broaden perspective, we have provided a general overview of the interactions between bacterial pathogens and animal hosts. Pathogenic Salmonella species possess an array of invasion genes that produce proteins secreted by a specialized type III secretion apparatus. These proteins are used by the bacteria to penetrate the intestinal mucosa by invading and destroying specialized epithelial M cells of the Peyer's patches. This manuever deposits the bacteria directly within the confines of the reticuloendothelial system. The host responds to these actions with nonspecific phagocytic cells and an imflammatory response as well as by

¹Abbreviations: IFN- γ , γ interferon; TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor α ; FAE, follicle-associated epithelium

534 JONES & FALKOW

activating specific cellular and humoral immune responses. Salmonella responds to this show of force directly. It appears that the bacteria invade and establish a niche within the very cells that have been sent to destroy them. Efforts are underway to characterize the factors that allow these intracellular bacteria to customize intracellular vacuoles for their own purposes. It is the constant play between these interactions that determines the outcome of the host infection, and clearly they will also shape the evolution of new survival strategies for both the bacterium and the host.

1. INTRODUCTION

From moments after birth, we constantly breathe, eat, and come into physical contact with millions of microorganisms until we are consumed by them at death. Some are harmless transients—"just passing through, so to speak." Others become part of the commensal flora that we harbor a lifetime. Many of the billions of bacteria, fungi, and protozoa that make up our normal flora have never been cultivated; numerically we carry more microbial cells than we do cells of our own. We would not survive long without our constant "normal" microbial flora.

Yet we are in a delicate balance with these microorganisms. Indeed, our immune system is in large part a reflection of our need to survive the onslaught of a myriad of microbes that surround us. Let the innate immunity be compromised, and the harmless microorganisms can quickly become serious or even fatal threats to our existence. In addition, among the microorganisms that we encounter each day are those whose survival depends on their ability to cause some degree of cellular damage to their host. It is this group of microorganisms, the pathogens, that are the focus of this review. Because we cannot hope to cover all aspects of microbial interaction with the immune system, we have chosen to examine a single infectious disease, typhoid fever, as an illustrative example. Our focus is on the determinants of bacterial pathogenicity that permit the microorganism to prevail in the face of a normal immune system and on the strategies microorganisms employ to thwart immune surveillance.

A bacterial pathogen must enter a host, find a unique niche, circumvent competing microbes and host defense barriers, and multiply sufficiently to establish itself or to be transmitted to a new susceptible host. Pathogens damage their host by intoxication or compromise of the integrity of cells. In most cases the damage is not serious (subclinical disease in humans), but a proportion of hosts can be expected to suffer from overt disease or even be killed. The focus of our attention, *Salmonella typhi*, is an enteric bacillus that can trace its ancestry to an ancestor common with *Escherichia coli* about 120–160 million years ago, around the time of the origin of mammals. The first Salmonellae parasitized reptiles and birds as well as mammals. Many salmonella strains exhibit a remarkable degree of host-species specificity. *S. typhi* infects humans and other higher primates, exclusively, to cause a systemic infection. *S. typhimurium* causes a similar systemic ailment in mice but can also infect a variety of other animals to cause nonspecific, usually short-lived, superficial gastroenteritis.

Upon entering a suitable host, Salmonella species like S. typhi that are hostadapted establish infection by sequentially surviving the acidic pH of the stomach, competing with the normal bacterial flora of the small bowel, and passing through the epithelial barrier to proliferate in the Peyer's patch and the draining mesenteric lymph nodes. In an immunologically naive host, the primary barriers to successful bacterial replication are the nonspecific antimicrobial factors like complement and phagocytic cells, both polymorphs and macrophages. If this initial encounter with the hostile environment of the host is successful, these microorganisms subsequently drain through the lymphatics to the thoracic duct into the blood and ultimately infect the liver and spleen. To cope with these different environmental conditions, the bacteria possess different sets of genes that are alternately switched on and off, as needed, by regulatory systems that sense the surroundings of the bacteria. This coordinated gene regulation ensures expression of bacterial virulence factors at the proper stage of infection, while preventing the unnecessary expenditure of energy that might compromise the ability of Salmonella to establish infection of the host. It can be seen in each step of the pathogenesis of infection that the microbe takes its cues from its encounters with both innate and specific elements of the immune system. How the microbe succeeds tells us a good deal about both the elements of bacterial pathogenicity and the function of the immune system.

The outcome of infection depends upon a number of factors including the size of bacterial inoculum, the virulence of the infecting Salmonella strain, medical intervention, and the ability to mobilize immune defenses to respond to the infection. Numerous studies have demonstrated that humans as well as experimental animal hosts respond to Salmonella infection by activating both humoral and cell-mediated immune responses. However, since activation of primary immunity often takes longer than bacterial growth affords, the development of protective immunity through vaccination has been of great significance in areas of the world where typhoid fever is endemic. While we may know how to immunize to prevent infection, we do not necessarily understand very much about either the pathogenesis of the microbial disease nor the capacity of our immune system to prevent disease.

536 JONES & FALKOW

2. THE HOST-PARASITE INTERACTION

2.1 Typhoid Fever

Human typhoid fever (enteric fever) is a severe systemic infection of the reticuloendothelial system caused by the bacterium Salmonella typhi. Survey data from the WHO Diarrheal Disease Control Program in 1980 estimated that more than 12 million cases of typhoid fever occur each year (1), most in areas of the world where sewage disposal is poor and the water supply is not properly purified. Prior to the availability of antibiotics, mortality from typhoid fever was high worldwide, with approximately one in seven (15%) patients dying from infection (1, 2). In the modern era, the administration of early antibiotic treatment has proven to be highly effective in eliminating disease; however, significant numbers of typhoid patients continue to die in underdeveloped parts of the world because of the unavailability of appropriate medical care. In certain areas of Africa and Asia, typhoid mortality rates as high as 30% have been reported, apparently because antimicrobial therapy is greatly delayed, if administered at all (3, 4). In contrast, < 1000 cases of typhoid fever are reported in the United States each year, and less than 1% of these cases result in death (5)—statistics that highlight the importance of access to medical care as well as proper hygiene.

The onset of disease takes from 5 to 20 days depending on the health and immune status of the individual and the number of organisms ingested. Often the first signs of infection are enterocolitis with diarrhea, frequently accompanied by the nonspecific symptoms of headache, chills, anorexia, weakness, dizziness, muscle pains, and/or abdominal cramping. Typically, these symptoms resolve before the classic indicators of typhoid fever appear: abdominal pain and fever. The symptoms of untreated typhoid fever begin to resolve by the fourth week of infection, although relapse occurs in $\approx 10\%$ of individuals apparently recovering from the infection (6). Intestinal complications can occur in the later stages of untreated infection; these include bleeding and perforation that are the result of an inflammatory response in the Peyer's patch, followed by necrosis and ulceration of the intestinal epithelium (7–10). Intestinal perforation usually results in peritonitis and often requires surgical intervention. In contrast, appropriate antibiotic therapy normally resolves *S. typhi* infections within 3–5 days and prevents the occurrence of most complications.

3. THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO SYSTEMIC SALMONELLA INFECTIONS

The majority of individuals that survive typhoid fever generally acquire immunity to future infection, although the incidence of recurrence can be as high
as 2-3% if an individual is subsequently reexposed to a high inoculum of organisms or received early antibiotic therapy for the initial infection (11). A number of studies have been performed to identify the components of the human immune response to typhoid fever. In adult volunteers who received orally administered S. typhi vaccine strain Ty21a, measurement of antibody responses indicated that significant levels of IgA and IgG were induced against S. typhi lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (12). It was not clear, however, whether these antibody responses contributed to protective immunity. Another study examined the efficacy of purified Vi antigen as a vaccine in a field trial in Nepal (13). Individuals that received the Vi capsular polysaccharide vaccine had a typhoid fever attack rate of 4.1%, while the control group had a 16.2% attack rate. In addition, the group receiving the Vi antigen vaccine had a significant increase of serum antibody to the Vi antigen. Cell-mediated immune responses to live S. *typhi* have been documented as well (14, 15). Seventeen volunteers vaccinated with Ty21a, in an in vitro killing assay (16), had T cell lymphocyte populations in their serum that inhibited the growth of S. typhi. The antigen(s) responsible for stimulating this cellular immunity was not identified, but the authors postulated that an antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity mechanism might be responsible for the levels of bacterial killing observed.

A significant percentage (1-6%) of typhoid patients become chronic carriers of *S. typhi* (17), as do many people who have never had a clinical history of typhoid fever (18). These individuals shed bacteria in their stools or urine for periods of time greater than 1 year without any signs of disease. Typhoid carriers are of special concern from a public health point of view because they are the reservoirs for the spread of the disease (19). Is the carrier state the ultimate goal of *S. typhi* infection? The organisms are carried for years even in the presence of a brisk immune response; chronic carriers of *S. typhi* have high levels of circulating Vi antibody in their serum (20) as well as O- and H-specific antibodies. The organism has established a privileged niche, sequestered from the host immune defenses, ideal for continued low levels of continous growth. If we understood the chronic carrier state, we would obtain considerable insight into the bacterial strategy for survival as well as how we might overcome not only typhoid but other persistent microbial infections as well.

There is no suitable animal model for typhoid fever. Most investigators have instead focused on the analogous disease produced in mice by *S. typhimurium*. Different strains of mice show different levels of susceptibility to salmonella infection. While resistance to disease, whether in animal or human is multigenic, there has been considerable emphasis on the *Ity* gene (21) (also *Bcg* and *Lsh* loci) (22) that has a major effect on susceptibility to salmonella infection. Mice are either salmonella-sensitive *Ity*^s, or they carry the dominant *Ity*^r allele.

Ity^s mice succumb to overwhelming sepsis following the parenteral injection of very few microorganisms. The major effect of Ity^r is an almost complete inhibition of bacterial growth in mice (23).

In vitro killing studies suggest that the *Ity* effect is due to differences in the rate of intracellular killing of salmonella by resident phagocytic cells (24, 25). The mechanism by which *Ity*^r macrophages exert their enhanced bactericidal activity was not clear, although they showed enhanced expression of surface markers (Ia and Acm-1 antigen) associated with the state of activation (26) and in the production of oxgyen and nitrogen radicals in response to secondary stimuli like interferon- γ (IFN- γ) (27). The candidate gene product of *Ity*, designated *Nramp*, is expressed exclusively in macrophage populations from reticuloendothelial organs and in the macrophage line J774; it encodes an integral membrane protein that has structural homology to transport systems, suggesting that *Ity* encodes a macrophage-specific membrane transport function (28).

One advantage of using an *Ity*^s mouse strain when studying Salmonella immunity is that both humoral and cell-mediated immunity are required for protection in these mice, while innately resistant mice control low doses of virulent Salmonella with a moderate, nonspecific immune response (29–31). One defect of *Ity*^s mice, in comparison to *Ity*^r mice, is that the levels of IFN- γ produced in response to challenge by the pathogenic organisms are reduced (32, 33). Ramarathinam et al extended this finding by demonstrating that the natural killer (NK) cell population of mice produce IFN- γ in response to *S. typhimurium* infection and that this response is muted in *Ity*^s mice (34). Early work established that IFN- γ and tumor necrosis factor *alpha* (TNF- α) play a role in host responses to Salmonella infection. Nonphagocytic tissue culture cells display an increased resistance to invasion when treated with these cytokines (35), and IFN- γ increases the fusion of phagosomes containing bacteria with lysosomes (36).

The primary role of IFN- γ appears to be the inhibition of bacterial growth rather than induction of host-mediated killing mechanisms (37, 38). Exogenously supplied IFN- γ decreased the numbers of bacteria found in the spleen early in infection but had no effect at later times. Treatment of mice with anti-IFN- γ antibody abolished the ability of mice to clear sublethal doses of organisms. The lymphoid cells within intestinal Peyer's patches produce large amounts of IFN- γ in response to stimulation with *S. typhimurium*, indicating that this cytokine plays an important role in the host response to infection (39). Results of other experiments indicate that the levels of TNF- α also increase in response to infection with *S. typhimurium* (40). Inhibition of the TNF- α response increases the susceptibility of the mouse to infection. Both IFN- γ and TNF- α appear to play important roles in stimulating early host defenses against virulent *S. typhimurium*. Transgenic mice that no longer produce IFN- γ (GKO mice) and TNF- α should greatly facilitate efforts to dissect the contributions of these cytokines to host immunity to Salmonella infections as well as to other enteropathogens (41, 42).

The host immune response to virulent Salmonella appears to induce a form of immunosuppression. Mice vaccinated with an attenuated strain of *S. typhimurium* become immune to future challenge with virulent *S. typhimurium* but are unable to mount immune responses, 1 to 3 weeks postimmunization, against non-Salmonella antigens (43). Phagocytic cells mediate this phenomenon because depletion of macrophages from cell suspensions in vitro abolishes this effect. Further investigation revealed that Salmonella-activated macrophages produce large quantities of nitric oxide that poison lymphocytes (44). This nitric oxide effect can be reversed by treating mice with IL-4 or anti-IFN- γ monoclonal antibody. A reduction in numbers of functional lymphocytes appears to be the direct cause of the suppression of the mouse immune response observed in systemic murine typhoid (45).

Other work has measured the primary antibody response in mice to *S. typhimurium*. The humoral response to *S. typhimurium* in mice parallels the antibody response observed in human typhoid fever, which is directed against LPS and a number of other undefined antigens (46, 47). Transfer of immunity experiments have demonstrated that $CD4^+$ cells, $CD8^+$ cells, and serum are all required to protect naive mice from challenge with virulent *S. typhimurium* (31). These results emphasize the importance of both humoral and cellular immunity in controlling pathogenic Salmonella infections.

4. INTERACTIONS OF INVASIVE SALMONELLA WITH THE HOST EPITHELIAL BARRIER

The penetration of the intestinal mucosal barrier is an essential step in Salmonella pathogenesis. Carter & Collins (48) were the first to demonstrate that invasive *S. typhimurium*, introduced into the stomachs of mice, became associated primarily with the lymphoid follicles, or Peyer's patches, of the small intestine rather than with the intestinal wall. Another study confirmed these results by demonstrating that significant numbers of *S. typhimurium* could be isolated from Peyer's patch tissue within 3 h of gastric inoculation of mice (49).

Recent research findings have shed further light on the Salmonella route of entry into the host. The follicle associated epithelium (FAE) of mice is composed of $\approx 5-10\%$ of specialized epithelial M cells (50, 51); the remainder of the cells are enterocytes (52). M cells are unique epithelial cells that form

540 JONES & FALKOW

tight junctions with neighboring enterocytes, have an increased pinocytic activity, and are believed to have the function of priming intestinal immunity by engulfing antigenic samples from the gut and delivering them to the lymphoid cell population that resides within the follicle (53-61). Based on previous findings that the Peyer's patches are the initial site of Salmonella invasion, several laboratories have addressed whether M cells might be the specific targets of invasive Salmonella strains for initiation of infection. One group reported that pathogenic S. typhi attached to and destroyed the M cells of ileal Peyer's patches in mice, without any apparent invasion of the organisms into the cells (62). Two recent studies have examined the interactions of the mouse pathogen Salmonella typhimurium with murine intestinal tissue using a ligated loop model (63, 64). In each case, invasive S. typhimurium specifically invaded the M cells of the lymphoid follicles within 30 min of introducing microorganisms into murine intestinal loops; there was no apparent interaction with adjacent enterocytes during this early phase of infection (Figure 1). Bacterial entry of the M cells occurred by rearrangement of the apical membrane of the cell (ruffling) in a manner identical to that seen for invasion of the guinea pig ileum (65) and for tissue culture cells (66-71). However, in contrast to other cell types, M cell internalization of the invasive organisms had a destructive effect on the cytoskeletal architecture that was permanent.

Jones et al also examined the interactions between the bacteria and the Peyer's patch tissue at later times (63). Disintegrating M cells were often seen detaching from the epithelial surface 60 min after the addition of bacteria to the ligated loops. The invading bacteria do not seem to replicate to any significant extent within the M cells, but they subsequently interact with the underlying cell populations of the follicle dome. Virulent Salmonella are well known for their ability to induce their own uptake into macrophages (discussed below), and these bacteria are also capable of invading B cell and T cell tissue culture lines (72). While adjacent enterocytes are spared at early times after infection, by 2 h post-infection there is significant invasion of enterocytes, and the invading microorganisms can be seen moving unhindered into deeper tissue structures. Enterocyte invasion is a classical feature of Salmonella infection of laboratory animals (65) and, of course, of Salmonella food poisoning (73). It is not clear at this time whether nonhost-adapted Salmonella serovars of the type that cause common food poisoning of humans actually initiate infection by the M cell route.

The essential feature of M cell invasion in the pathogenesis of Salmonella infection is seen from the observation (63) that two independent *S. typhimurium* mutants, selected because they could no longer invade cultured epithelial cells, could not cross the epithelial barrier in the ligated loop model; they were also avirulent when fed to animals. Yet, these same mutants when injected



Figure 1 Electronmicrograph of pathogenic *Salmonella typhimurium* organisms invading an ileal M cell 30 min after infection of the murine intestinal tissue. Lymphoid cells are seen immediately beneath the M cell, which has visible rearrangements of its apical membrane.

intraperitoneally were perfectly virulent. Other published work indicates that *S. typhi*, but not the bird-adapted strain *S. gallinarum*, can also enter murine M cells with a characteristic ruffling of the cell surface (73a). However, the frequency of M cell penetration is considerably lower, and the M cell is not killed in the process. Within 2 h of *S. typhi* infection, few bacteria survive, although disintegrating bacilli can be seen in mononuclear cells in the follicle dome.

It is noteworthy that the first specific event of Salmonella pathogenesis drives directly to the heart of host mucosal immunity. This suggests that from the outset, the microbial strategy for survival entails modifying the early determinants of host cell immunity. Host-adapted Salmonella have a relatively prolonged incubation period that gives rise to a muted mononuclear response, as contrasted to the fierce inflammatory nature of nonhost adapted salmonella gastroenteritis. *S. typhi* infection is often followed by a carrier state and spread from individual to individual; human infection by nontyphoidal Salmonella is usually shortlived, and there are few secondary cases. The entry of Salmonella into M cells likely betrays a measured bacterial action honed by evolution for interaction with a more limited repertoire of cell types and designed by the bacterium to modulate the host immune response. Salmonella is not unique in seeking the M cell as its portal of entry. Other bacteria, viruses, and protozoa share this bold step to initiate infection.

5. THE CELLULAR RESPONSE TO SALMONELLA INVASION

While M cells have yet to be cultivated in vitro, the interactions between invasive Salmonella and mammalian cells can be duplicated in vitro using tissue culture cells (66–71). The most prominent visible feature of the entry event, in both M cells and cultured epithelial cells, is the induction of a large membrane ruffle on the host cell membrane that moves outward to enclose the bacterium. Video microscopy has been used to demonstrate that Salmonella-induced ruffling can occur within one minute of attachment to the cell, if the bacteria are grown so that they are primed for entry (67). The bacteria apparently activate a general ruffling or phagocytic pathway since noninvasive bacteria and even latex beads are taken up following stimulation of ruffling by invasive *S. typhimurium* (68). Shortly after entry, an internalized bacterium can be found within a cell with a cytoarchitecture that appears normal.

Tissue culture invasion assays have been used to identify various components of the host cell response to Salmonella entry. Salmonella species are unable to enter mammalian cells that have been previously treated with cytochalasins (74–76). Cytochalasins specifically inhibit microfilament formation by blocking the polymerization of actin monomers (77, 78). In addition to actin polymerization, Salmonella entry is accompanied by the accumulation of the cytoskeletal proteins α -actinin, talin, tubulin, tropomyosin, and ezrin (79). Drugs such as ammonium chloride and methylamine that prevent acidification of host cell endosomes have no effect on Salmonella entry (74), although there does seem to be an effect on the ability of the organisms subsequently to survive within macrophages (M Rathman, S Falkow, unpublished observation). Others have reported that calcium fluxes occur simultaneously with the Salmonella entry process (69, 80, 81).

There is considerable interest in identifying the signaling pathway used by invasive Salmonella to enter mammalian cells. The effect of genistein, a tyrosine protein kinase inhibitor (82), on the ability of invasive bacteria to enter cells has been examined (83, 84). Genistein effectively blocked entry mediated by Yersinia invasin and uptake of enteropathogenic E. coli but had no effect on the entry of invasive S. typhimurium into HeLa, Henle-407, and A413 tissue culture cells. Other work has studied the role of the small GTPases, rac and rho. which regulate actin rearrangements such as stress fiber formation and membrane ruffling induced by growth factors (85, 86). Blocking the functions of rac and rho in vivo had no effect on the ability of invasive S. typhimurium to induce membrane ruffles and enter a variety of tissue culture cells (71). These data indicate that invasive S. typhimurium initiates entry by a rac- and rho-independent pathway. However, it is clear that many distinct pathways independently activate the central MAP kinase regulator as part of signaling cascades (87, 88). Salmonella internalization signal may likely activate an undescribed pathway that acts through MAP kinase to induce membrane ruffling and bacterial internalization (89). Answers to questions about the Salmonella signaling pathway that lead to entry await future experiments.

In broad context Salmonella have learned the nuances by which eukaryotic cells transduce extracellular cues into intracellular responses. Many steps of this cascade are conserved, and homologies have been discovered from yeast to human. Salmonella is not unique in its ability to "understand" the cell biology of its host in such fine detail. Shigella also induce a marked rearrangement in the host cell cytoskeleton that is likewise manifested as cellular ruffling leading to their internalization. Similarly, almost all known enteric pathogens have learned how to trigger a host signal pathway(s). Just as each pathogen occupies a rather distinct niche within the host, so does each have a distinctive way to circumvent the host defense mechanisms in which their attachment to the host cell surface is marked by the phosphorylation of one or more host cell proteins with a coincident modulation of the host cell response in favor of the offending microorganism. A further shared strategy (see below) is the contact-dependent

assembly of proteins on the bacterial surface that acts in concert to bring about interaction with the host cell. If we view our immune system as the evolutionary by-product of survival against an onslaught of microbes, it is perhaps not so surprising to learn that the bacterial strategy for survival is the evolutionary by-product of learning to survive against increasingly sophisticated immune defense mechanisms.

6. SALMONELLA SURVIVAL WITHIN THE LYMPHATIC SYSTEM

Following passage through the epithelium of the Peyer's patch, virulent Salmonella strains enter the environment of the follicle dome, which is populated with host lymphocytes and macrophages. To move into deeper tissue, these bacteria must be able to avoid and/or survive the oxygen-dependent and oxygenindependent killing mechanisms of professional phagocytes following internalization. Some oxygen-dependent mechanisms involve the production of superoxide anions, hydrogen peroxide, hypochlorite, and hydroxyl radicals that are pumped into the phagosomes. *S. typhimurium* strains carrying mutations in recA and recBC are more sensitive to macrophage killing in vitro and are attenuated for virulence in mice (90). Experiments suggest that these virulence defects were caused by the inability of the mutants to respond to superoxide. Presumably, superoxide induces bacterial damage that is repaired by the recA and recBC systems.

Oxygen-independent killing mechanisms include acidification of the phagolysosome and the introduction of degradative enzymes and small bacteriocidal peptides known as defensins. Some microbial pathogens prevent fusion of phagosomes and lysosomes to avoid exposure to the toxic contents of the lysosome, while others have evolved strategies to protect themselves from such an environment (91). In an effort to determine the intracellular survival strategy used by Salmonella, Buchmeier & Heffron (92) compared the frequency of phagosome-lysosome fusion in macrophages infected with either *E. coli* or *S. typhimurium*. Their results indicate that *S. typhimurium* significantly inhibits phagolysosomal fusion and that dividing organisms are primarily found within unfused vesicles. Another group observed that acidification of phagosomes containing live *S. typhimurium* was delayed 4 to 5 hours, while acidification of vacuoles with dead organisms occurred within 1 hour (93). Garcia et al have published findings characterizing the epithelial cell vacuole containing intracellular Salmonella (94).

Fluorescent staining experiments demonstrated that upon entering an epithelial cell, membrane-enclosed bacteria fused with lysosomal membrane glycoprotein (lgp)-containing compartments but not vesicles containing cathepsin D or the mannose-6-phosphate receptor. The frequency of fusion of Salmonella-containing vacuoles with vesicles containing fluid-phase markers was greatly reduced. Similar observations for the trafficking of S. typhimurium in cultured and bone marrow-derived macrophages have been made (M Rathman, SJ Nelson, S Falkow, unpublished data). The invading bacteria almost immediately reside in vacuoles rich in lgp and Rab 7 and Rab 9, members of the Ras-related group of small GTP-binding proteins. These proteins partially confer specificity to membrane targeting and recognition, and they contribute to the control of vesicle fusion events. Salmonella that survive the initial meeting with the macrophage do not encounter cathepsin or mannose-6-phosphate, and they go on to replicate to a limited extent within cells. The capacity of the bacteria to reside within this privileged intracellular niche is dependent upon the prompt acidification of the vacuole. If this is prevented, the bacteria cannot increase in number, although they will survive for at least 24 h. Similarly, Abshire & Neidhardt (95) published work aimed at determining the growth rate of S. typhimurium within host macrophages. Their results indicate that the intracellular population of bacteria changes with time. Immediately following invasion, the bacterial population is sensitive to treatment with chloramphenicol and ampicillin, which dramatically reduce the numbers of bacteria that could be recovered on agar plates. However, 2 h after invasion, chloramphenicol and ampicillin were no longer bacteriocidal but were bacteriostatic, indicating that the intracellular bacteria no longer needed protein synthesis to survive and that they were no longer growing rapidly.

The work by Abshire as well as unpublished video microscopy studies by the Falkow lab (D Monack, B Rampach, S Falkow, unpublished observations) indicate that populations of salmonella that enter into cells are not uniform. Many of the bacteria can be seen lysed within vacuoles 30 min after entry. Others go on to inhabit "spacious vacuoles" (96). It is this population that may replicate to some limited extent and perhaps be metabolically transformed for survival within the hostile reticuloendothelial system. These results further suggest that the intracellular environment of the macrophage requires adaptation on the part of the bacteria. Those that express the proper genes survive; those that do not are eliminated by host defenses. Buchmeier & Heffron (97) have examined the effect of the intracellular environment of macrophages on S. typhimurium gene expression. They found that the synthesis of over 30 bacterial proteins was induced by exposure of the bacteria to cultured macrophages, including the heat shock proteins GroEL and DnaK. It seems probable that many of these gene products are employed in protecting the bacteria against the diverse killing mechanisms of macrophages and in circumventing host defense mechanisms.

546 JONES & FALKOW

7. THE GENETIC AND MOLECULAR BASIS OF EPITHELIAL CELL INVASION

Clearly, an important component of Salmonella pathogenesis is the ability of the bacteria to transport themselves through the membranes of host cells, including M cells, enterocytes, lymphocytes, and professional killing cells. Identifying the genes required for this process is a focal point of contemporary microbial pathogenesis research. The ability to identify and study Salmonella factors required for entry through the cell membrane has been greatly facilitated by the development of an in vitro tissue culture cell invasion assay. Giannella et al (98) established that the ability of S. typhimurium strains to invade mammalian cells in vitro and their ability to pass through rabbit intestinal epithelium were directly correlated. Several research groups, using tissue culture invasion assays, have now begun to identify genetic elements that play a role in the Salmonella entry mechanism. Galán & Curtiss identified a group of four genes, designated invA, -B, -C, -D, that conferred the ability to enter tissue culture cells to a noninvasive laboratory strain of S. typhimurium (99). Invasive S. typhimurium strains carrying *invA* mutation were found to be noninvasive in a tissue culture invasion model and significantly reduced in their ability to cause disease in mice following oral inoculation. The same *invA* mutant strains were fully virulent if mice were inoculated using an intraperitoneal route of infection. These results suggest that the invasion machinery of Salmonella species is important for establishing infection by the oral route. DNA sequence analysis of chromosomal regions adjacent to the S. typhimurium invA, -B, -C, -D genes has led to the identification of several more *inv* genes that play a role in Salmonella entry (69, 100, 101). In fact, it appears that a 40-kb segment of DNA carrying the S. typhimurium invasion genes has inserted between the srl and cysC genes at 59 min on the chromosome. This DNA is absent from the corresponding region in E. coli (102).

Many of the Salmonella invasion proteins are related at the amino acid level to the type III secretion family of proteins (69, 101, 103, 104) from bacterial species such as *Pseudomonas solanacearum* and *syringae*, *Rhizobium fredii*, *Erwinia amylovora*, as well as Yersinia and Shigella species systems (105). As many as 20 proteins are required in these secretion systems for processes such as nodulation specificity, flagellar biosynthesis, and the secretion of virulence factors. The plant-pathogenic bacteria use the type III secretion system to export proteins that cause disease on susceptible plants and to induce a hypersensitive response on resistant plants (105). In Shigella, it is clear that the *spa/mxi* genes that comprise this secretion system are required for the export of the Ipa proteins that mediate entry into the host cell. The type III secretion system in Yersinia exports the cytotoxin YopE and seems to be triggered

when the bacterium comes into contact with a host cell (106). In Salmonella, the invasion secretion apparatus appears to be required for the assembly of large appendages on the surface of the invasive bacteria that may play a specific role in inducing the membrane ruffling that leads to bacterial uptake (107). The InvJ (SpaN) protein is exported by the S. typhimurium secretion system (108). This protein has limited homology with the EaeB protein of enteropathogenic E. coli that is involved in actin condensation. These observations are both exciting and intriguing, and they provide the basis for a more thorough study of the invasion mechanism. A diverse group of bacteria has evolved to use a common secretory apparatus (type III) for highly specialized purposes such as flagellar biosynthesis and interactions with plant and animal cells. Interestingly, high antibody titers to the Shigella Ipa proteins have been found in the serum of patients recovering from shigellosis (109). Since homologous systems function in both Shigella and Salmonella, it seems likely that the Salmonella proteins that stimulate bacterial internalization might also stimulate antibody and/or cellular immune responses.

Other Salmonella invasion loci have been identified based on regulation of lac fusions. As Salmonella strains enter a host, the organisms must sense and respond to changing conditions if they are to take advantage of their new environment. Accordingly, the expression of the Salmonella invasive phenotype is regulated by physiological conditions, such as osmolarity, growth state, and oxygen availability, similar to those found in the lumen of the bowel (110-113). Some of the invasion genes that respond to these environmental cues have been identified and characterized (114-116). Recent characterization of one of these genes, hilA (117), has determined that this gene encodes a positive transcriptional regulator related to OmpR and ToxR (118, 119). The HilA protein activates the expression of invasion genes found at 58 min on the S. typhimurium chromosome. Two of these genes, prgH and orgA, map adjacent to the *hil* gene on the Salmonella chromosome (114, 115). The regulation of the *prgH* gene appears to be complex as it is also repressed by the phoP/phoQ two component regulatory system that regulates S. typhimurium genes necessary for intracellular survival in macrophages (120-122). An isogenic prgH S. typhimurium mutant is \approx 10-fold less invasive than is the wild type in tissue culture invasion assays, and the mutant is less virulent for mice following oral or intraperitoneal inoculation. The loss of virulence by either route of inoculation suggests that the *prgH* gene product plays a role in both mucosal invasion and survival of the pathogens as they interact with phagocytic cells. Another group of genes has been identified by screening for oxygenregulated *lacZY* transcriptional fusions that have lost the ability to enter tissue culture cells (115). One of these genes, orgA, is regulated by the hilA positive regulator. Sequence analysis of the *orgA* open reading frame failed to provide any information about the possible role of the OrgA protein in invasion. However, the virulence of an *orgA S. typhimurium* mutant has been tested in a mouse model of typhoid fever. This mutant had the same virulence phenotype for mice as *S. typhimurium invA* mutants; the strain is > 60-fold less virulent for mice following oral inoculation but is as virulent as the wild-type strain using an intraperitoneal route of infection.

One of the most remarkable conclusions that has emerged from the search for the genes controlling microbial "invasion" is the high degree of shared genetic homology among virulence genes seen among apparently different pathogens. Salmonella, Shigella, the enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC), and Yersinia all share a remarkably similar type III secretion apparatus that leads to the contactdependent secretion of one or more functional gene products, and this has a profound effect on the host cell. Each secretion system has its distinct focus, however. For example, while both Salmonella and Shigella invade host enterocytes with a ruffling flourish, Salmonella does so through the apical surface of the cell; Shigella however is restricted to the basolateral aspect of the host epithelial cell. EPEC is content to attach firmly to the surface of host enterocytes and to modify the cytoskeletal architecture so that it forms a tight pedestal of actin, which serves as a nucleation point for the growth of a minute colony of bacteria on the surface of the cell; in the process the surface of the enterocyte is effaced. Yersinia, like Salmonella, firmly binds to the host cell surface through one or more β -integrins. In response to both temperature and low Ca⁺⁺ cues, Yersinia secretes a protein that is inserted into the host cell plasma membrane, through which it further secretes catalytic products, like a tyrosine phosphatase that nullifies the ability of cells to signal a warning. If attachment occurs to a phagocytic cell, the Yersinia strategy destroys the capacity of the cell to carry out phagocytosis. Is this commonality of genetic structure a reflection that all of these bacteria are targeted for an initial encounter in the small bowel of their preferred host animals? Perhaps. The basic repertoire of genes of the original facultative gut commensal that was the ancestor of all of these enteric bacilli permits only a certain limited degree of flexibility for surviving an encounter with the host immune system.

Another striking finding that has emerged from the examination of the genetic basis of bacterial virulence has been the concept of the "pathogenicity island." Simply stated, the genetic and molecular analysis of virulence genes in EPEC, uropathogenic *E. coli, Yersinia pestis*, and most recently Salmonella has clearly shown that the virulence genes are clustered on the bacterial chromosome as a single large insertion that is missing from nonpathogenic representative members of the same bacterial species. For example, *E. coli* K-12 completely lacks

either of the two insertions of 70 Kb or 190 Kb that are found alone or together in many uropathogenic Escherichia strains. Similarly, EPEC strains possess a 40-Kb insertion of genes that is missing in K-12. Genome sequencers beware! What is intriguing is that, in several cases, the insertion of these blocs of pathogenicity genes appears to have occurred at the same site.

The full description of the pathogenicity island concept is beyond the scope of this review. However, it is consistent with the idea that pathogenicity has evolved in large genetic quantum jumps rather than by slow adaptive evolution (123). In the Salmonella, both nontyphoidal and typhoid strains possess a similar pathogenicity island located between minutes 58-60 on the chromosome. This bloc of genes, as noted, seems concerned with entry into cells and the initial encounter with the host immune system. This is likely not the only large insertion in Salmonella concerned with the pathogenesis of infection. David Holden and his colleagues have recently identified an additional pathogenicity island near minute 28 on the Salmonella chromosome that is involved with the capacity of the bacteria to reach the spleen following entry (124). It is intriguing that the preliminary analysis of these genes suggests a distinct, but related, type III secretion system. There is no clear-cut genetic insight into the striking host-specificity exhibited by different Salmonella species. Perhaps a clue will emerge from the differences seen between the genetic maps of S. typhimurium and S. typhi (125).

8. SURVIVAL WITHIN PHAGOCYTIC CELLS

Efforts to analyze the interactions of pathogenic Salmonella with phagocytic cells have relied on mutants that can be studied with in vitro assays and animal models. One study examined the role of the acid tolerance response (ATR) global regulatory system that protects Salmonella from acidic environments below pH 4.0, such as in the phagosome (126, 127). Two of the genes involved in this response are atp, an Mg2⁺-dependent proton-translocating ATPase, and fur, an Fe2⁺-binding regulatory protein. Strains with mutations in each of these genes were tested for virulence in a mouse model (128). The *S. typhimurium atp* mutant was avirulent when administered either orally or intraperitoneally, while the *fur* mutant was avirulent only when administered orally. The loss of virulence of the *fur* mutant was partially overcome by neutralizing the pH of the stomach. Surprisingly, both the *atp* and *fur S. typhimurium* mutants were fully capable of invading and surviving within macrophages and epithelial cells. While difficult to interpret, these results suggest that the *atp* gene may play a role in virulence beyond survival of the stomach pH.

A search for *S. typhimurium* transposon mutants that are unable to survive within cultured macrophages yielded 83 mutants that have a reduced capacity

550 JONES & FALKOW

to survive the intracellular environment of murine macrophages (122). Each of these strains is less virulent for mice than is the S. typhimurium parent strain. These mutants have been partially characterized using assays for several different properties believed to be important in virulence. These tests revealed that 12 of the mutants are nutritional auxotrophs and 8 are nonmotile. Thirteen of the mutants have surface alterations, 9 have altered colony morphologies, 3 are hypersensitive to serum, and 1 has an altered LPS structure. Three other mutants had increased sensitivity to oxidative stress, and one Tn10 insertion was in the S. typhimurium virulence plasmid. No phenotype was reported for the other 46 macrophage-sensitive mutants. A follow-up report has partially characterized 30 more of these macrophage-sensitive mutants (129). Physical mapping of these transposon insertions has revealed that they were widely dispersed around the chromosome, which suggests that the bacterial survival mechanism is both complex and multifaceted. Some of the transposons had inserted into known genes; however, the majority of the transposons were in previously unstudied loci on the Salmonella chromosome. Three of these mutants were selected for analysis based on the observations that they had lost the ability to persist in mice for even short periods of time and were unable to elicit any significant humoral or cellular immune response.

As an initial characterization step, the effect of crude phagocytic cell extracts on the mutants was tested. Such extracts were found to have a strong microbiocidal effect on each of these three strains, but not on other macrophage-sensitive mutants. Subsequently, it was demonstrated that small cationic peptides known as defensins were responsible for the killing activity of the crude cellular extracts. These antimicrobial peptides are present in large quantities in the granules of macrophages and neutrophils and are believed to function by forming pores in bacterial membranes (130). Transductional mapping studies indicated that each of the insertions were located at 25 minutes on the Salmonella chromosome where three genes, *purB*, *phoP*, and *pepT*, are known to reside. The results of several experiments demonstrated that the mutants that were hypersensitive to defensins had insertions in the phoP locus, which is known to regulate the acid phosphatase gene phoN in phosphate starvation conditions (131). Groisman et al demonstrated that the lack of this phosphatase was not responsible for defensin sensitivity and avirulence, since phoN mutants were fully virulent and had wild-type levels of resistance to defensins. The phoP gene was proposed to be a regulator of multiple Salmonella genes, of which at least one is required for virulence.

As a result of this work, a search was conducted for genetic loci involved in conferring resistance to antimicrobial peptides (132). A screen of a bank of MudJ transposon insertions identified defensin-sensitive mutants mapped to several distinct locations on the Salmonella chromosome. One group of insertions that mapped to 33 minutes on the chromosome was selected for detailed analysis (133). To gain information about the virulence factors at 33 minutes, the genes were cloned by complementation of the defensin-sensitive mutant and sequenced to gain information about possible functions. Five open reading frames, designated *sapA*, *-B*, *-C*, *-D*, *-F*, were found arranged as an operon. The *sapA* gene sequence displayed identity with periplasmic solute binding proteins involved in peptide transport. Two other genes, *sapD* and *sapF*, had sequence similarity to the "ATP-binding" cassette family of transporters, which are involved in the transport of oligopeptides, the export of yeast peptide mating pheromones, and resistance to chemotherapy agents. One possible mechanism for defensin-resistance mediated by this *S. typhimurium* gene cluster is importation of antimicrobial peptides into the cytoplasm of the bacteria to prevent pore formation in the membranes. The defensins in the cytoplasm could then be degraded by proteases.

Many groups have reported that the S. typhimurium phoP gene is important in Salmonella pathogenesis (120, 121, 134). Miller et al (120) were the first to demonstrate that the phoP locus was comprised of two genes, phoP and phoQ, which are highly similar to other bacterial regulators that respond to environmental signals. A search for genes controlled by the phoP/phoQ system was conducted, and three lacZ fusion mutants were obtained that required phoP/phoQ for efficient expression of β -galactosidase. The S. typhimurium strain carrying one of these mutations, termed *pagC1*, is less virulent for mice, while the virulence of the other two mutants is unaffected by lacZ transposon insertions. The pagC gene was cloned, sequenced, and shown to "rescue" the virulence defect of the S. typhimurium pagC mutant. While the function of this 18-kDa pagC gene product remains undefined, it appears to be a membrane protein with extensive similarity to the Yersinia enterocolitica Ail protein (135), which confers serum resistance (136, 137). Recent work has provided evidence that the pagC gene is highly expressed in vivo (138). Mice immunized with a heterologous antigen (alkaline phosphatase), whose expression was under the control of the pagC promoter, had a significant antibody response to the heterologous antigen. No significant antibody response was observed from mice immunized with the same antigen when it was constitutively expressed. Expression of a fifth locus, *psiD*, which is regulated by levels of phosphate available for growth but is not required for virulence, is also under the control of *phoP* (121). Collectively, these results indicate that the phoP/phoQ regulatory system positively regulates the expression of many genes, including virulence determinants with unknown activities. In addition, this global regulator appears to control resistance to antimicrobial peptides found within professional phagocytes.

552 JONES & FALKOW

In addition to inducing the expression of Salmonella genes, the *phoP/phoQ* regulon also represses the expression of many genes (139). Behlau & Miller (114) have identified and examined some of the genes repressed by this global regulatory system. They obtained mutants in five separate loci, using *phoA* operon fusions, which are significantly repressed by the conditions (starvation and low pH) that induce *phoP*-activated genes. Only one of these genes, *prgH*, was found to contribute to mouse virulence, and virulence was attenuated by either the oral or intraperitoneal route of infection. However, the loss of virulence could not be attributed to an intracellular survival defect in macrophages, as the *prgH* mutant survived as well as wild type *S. typhimurium* in macrophages. In addition, as discussed above, this *prgH* mutant has decreased levels of invasiveness as measured with a tissue culture invasion assay. These results indicate that the *phoP/phoQ* regulatory system both positively and negatively regulates the expression of several genes, including factors that play a role in invasion and virulence.

Leung & Finlay (140) have also identified genes necessary for intracellular replication and virulence. Three separate prototrophic mutants have been obtained that are avirulent for mice by both oral and intraperitoneal routes of infection. These strains are fully invasive but are unable to replicate in a variety of tissue culture cells. Presumably, the mutants do not replicate within phagocytic cells during infection. An understanding of these genes and their contribution to macrophage intracellular survival and virulence awaits the isolation and analysis of each gene.

In the broader context of bacterial pathogenicity, it can be seen that Salmonella, like all other invasive microbes, face a potential barrage of phagocytic cells and innate host defense mechanisms once past the epithelial barrier of the host. The successful pathogen does not ordinarily dare to incite the host too quickly; its primary purpose is to replicate sufficiently to ensure its perpetuation before taking on the full force of host defense factors. This is not always the case. Shigella appears to deliberately inflame the host defense mechanisms. The resulting influx of inflammatory cells into the bowel epithelium exposes the basolateral aspect of many cells, so that the bacteria which have replicated in the lumen can better invade more enterocytes. Of course, Shigella has the added advantage that it rarely needs to establish long-term carriage. Thus, while the shared features of attachment and entry for enteric pathogens are obvious from genetic and molecular analysis, after entry the bacterial strategies for replication appear to be different. Salmonella seem to have learned to exploit the intracellular trafficking pathways of host cells to become lodged in a privileged niche. Initially, Shigella probably enter the same intracellular niche as Salmonella, but quickly exit to the nutrient-rich, nonthreatening cytoplasm of the cell. It is also important to see that the initial phase of interaction after passage through the epithelial barrier seems to be with resident phagocytic and other antigen-presenting cells.

Every invasive pathogen must learn to deal with this phagocytic cell hurdle. Some Gram positive microbes simply poison the phagocytes. Shigella causes the macrophage to commit cellular suicide by apoptosis. Salmonella boldly enter the macrophage with a ruffle and have the temerity to replicate there and kill the cell. We believe that Salmonella goes undetected by phagocytes and the inflammatory cascades in the early stages of host-adapted infection, possibly because the vacuole in which it is sequestered has been cleverly modified. We currently know less about the genetic and molecular basis of intracellular life than we do about bacterial entry into cells. However, the genetic tools are at hand, and the methods of the cell biologist and the immunologist are being employed increasingly to examine this pivotal aspect in the pathogenesis of infection.

9. THE SALMONELLA VIRULENCE PLASMID AND SYSTEMIC INFECTION

Many serovars of Salmonella carry large plasmids (50–90 kb) which are associated with virulence (141). Early work suggested that these plasmids carried invasion-related genes (142), but it was subsequently demonstrated that the plasmid was required not for cell entry but for persistence within the RES (143). A highly conserved region of these plasmids contains five genes, designated *spvRABCD*, on 8 kb of DNA, which are able to restore wild-type levels of virulence to plasmid-cured strains (144-146). As for other Salmonella virulence genes, expression of the plasmid virulence genes is regulated by environmental conditions. Sequence analysis of spvR found that SpvR (147) was a member of the LysR family of positive regulatory elements (148). Several groups have demonstrated that SpvR positively regulates the expression of some or all of the spv genes (149–152). This induction is highest when bacterial cultures enter the stationary or starvation phase of growth (150). Work by Fang et al (153) demonstrated that the katF gene, which encodes a stationary phase-specific alternative sigma factor, is required for maximal expression of *spvABCD*. As expected from these results, a katF S. typhimurium mutant is attenuated for virulence in mice.

Two observations suggest possible functions for the *spvR*, *-A*, *-B*, *-C*, *-D* plasmid genes. Intraperitoneal injection of plasmid-cured *S. typhimurium* into mice elicited recruitment of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, while the wild-type strain did not (154). These T cells, which predominantly express V γ 1/V δ 6 T cell receptors,

are associated with responses to heat shock proteins. Gulig & Doyle recently demonstrated that the presence of the virulence plasmid increases the growth rate of *S. typhimurium* within the RES of mice (155). Perhaps the role of $\gamma\delta$ T cells is to prevent the growth of bacteria in the host while the *spvRABCD* gene products allow pathogenic Salmonella species to suppress the $\gamma\delta$ T cell response.

10. CONCLUSION

The focus of our review has been the bacterial strategy to prevail over the host immune system. We have paid particular attention to the molecular and genetic basis of Salmonella pathogenicity. We have broadened our perspective, where appropriate, to discuss the attributes of other pathogenic microorganisms to unify some general concepts of bacterial pathogenesis. In all scientific disciplines, the experiments of nature usually prove to be the most instructive if we are attentive. Certainly, immunologists have learned a great deal about the intricacies of the immune system from individuals with various immunodeficiencies. Thus, the kinds of infections suffered by individuals with chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) reveal insights into the functioning of our immune defenses; they also help the bacteriologist identify bacterial factors that allow specific organisms to opportunistically exploit those with CGD. There is another facet of this approach that has not been adequately exploited in the study of the immune system. Defined bacterial mutants that are deficient in their capacity to overcome immune defenses can be of great use in probing the nature of anti-bacterial immunity. LPS is not a substitute for a whole, living microorganism. All pathogens are not alike, nor are they all facultative intracellular parasites like Salmonella. Microbiologists for their part tend to ignore the whole animal for the simulated growth in laboratory medium or within the confines of the tissue culture flask. We only believe that we know what cell types are actually encountered by pathogens in the host. Much of what we believe is based on conventional wisdom gleaned from the pathology of terminally ill animals (and genetically susceptible ones at that), necropsy findings, and only rarely on biopsy material.

The view of bacterial pathogenicity based on disease is really an amalgam of microbial action and host response—mostly host response, if one is a clinician. We believe it is rather more important to understand fully the parameters of infection and the early interplay between the microorganism and its host. It is easy to overlook the fact that both we and the microbes that infect us are still in the process of evolving. The bacteria will do it far better and faster than we can. It represents a challenge to our health as in the case of "diseases of human progress" like AIDS and the resurgence of food-borne salmonellosis.

Scientifically, however, it represents an opportunity to exploit the microorganism as a research tool to examine the intricacies of the immune system. Microorganisms after all may be the most knowledgeable immunologists of all.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

B Jones is supported by Public Health Service Grant AI38268, grant IN-122P from the American Cancer Society, and a grant from the Roy J Carver Charitable Trust. S Falkow is supported by Public Health Service Grant AI-26195, the Stanford Digestive Disease Center grant DK38707, and unrestricted gifts from Bristol-Meyers and Praxis Biologicals.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Edelman R, Levine MM. 1986. Summary of an international workshop on typhoid fever. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 8:329–49
- Levine MM, Ferreccio C, Black RE, Tacket CO, Germanier R. 1989. Progress in vaccines against typhoid fever. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 11:S:552–67
- Miller SI, Hohmann EL, Pegues DA. 1994. Salmonella (including Salmonella typhi). In Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases, ed. GL Mandell, JE Bennett, R Dolin, pp. 2013–33. Edinburgh, UK: Churchill Livingston
- Hoffman SL, Punjabi NH, Kumala S, Moechtar MA, Pulungsih SP, Rivai AR, Rockhill RC, Woodward TE, Loedin AA. 1984. Reduction of mortality in chloramphenicol-treated severe typhoid fever by high-dose dexamethasone. N. Engl. J. Med. 310:82–88
- Martin SM, Hardgrett-Bean N, Tauxe RV. 1987. An atlas of *Salmonella* in the United States: serotype-specific surveillance 1968–1986. Atlanta, GA: US Dep. Health Hum. Serv./Publ. Health Serv./Cent. Dis. Control
- Hornick RB, Greisman SE, Woodward TE, DuPont HL, Dawkins AT, Snyder MJ. 1970. Typhoid fever: pathogenesis and immunologic control. 2. N. Engl. J. Med. 283:739–46
- Owen RL. 1994. M cells—entryways of opportunity for enteropathogens. J. Exp. Med. 180:7–9
- 8. Bitar R, Tarpley J. 1985. Intestinal perfo-

ration in typhoid fever: a historical and state-of-the-art review. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 7:257–71

- Butler T, Knight J, Nath SK, Speelman P, Roy SK, Azar MAK. 1985. Typhoid fever complicated by intestinal perforation: a persisting fatal disease requiring surgical management. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 7:244–56
- Mukawi TJ. 1978. Histopathological study of typhoid perforation of the small intestines. *Southeast Asian J. Trop. Med. Publ. Health* 9:252–55
- Marmion DE, Naylor GRE, Stewart IO. 1953. Second attacks of typhoid fever. J. Hyg. 51:260–67
- Forrest BD, LaBrooy JT, Beyer L, Dearlove CE, Shearman DJ. 1991. The human humoral immune response to Salmonella typhi Ty21a. J. Infect. Dis. 163:336–45
- Acharya IL, Lowe CU, Thapa R, Gurubacharya VL, Shrestha MB, Cadoz M, Schulz D, Armand J, Bryla DA, Trollfors B, Cramton T, Schneerson R, Robbins JB. 1987. Prevention of typhoid fever in Nepal with the Vi capsular polysaccharide of *Salmonella typhi*. A preliminary report. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 317:1101–4
- Murphy JR, Wasserman SS, Baqar S, Schlesinger L, Ferreccio C, Lindberg AA, Levine MM. 1989. Immunity to Salmonella typhi: considerations relevant to measurement of cellular immunity in typhoid-endemic regions. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 75:228–33

- Tagliabue A, Nencioni L, Caffarena A, Villa L, Boraschi D, Cazzola G, Cavalieri S. 1985. Cellular immunity against Salmonella typhi after live oral vaccine. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 62:242–47
- Nencioni L, Villa L, De Magistris MT, Romano M, Boraschi D, Tagliabue A. 1987. Cellular immunity against Salmonella typhi after live oral vaccine. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 216B:1669–75
- Zavala TI, Quiroz C, Gutierrez MA, Arias J, Renteria M. 1991. Fluoroquinolones in the treatment of typhoid fever and the carrier state. *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 10:334–41
- Ferreccio C, Levine M, Astroza L, Berrios G, Solari V, Misraji A, Pefaur C. 1990. The detection of chronic Salmonella typhi carriers: a practical method applied to food handlers. *Rev. Med. Chile* 118:33–37. In Spanish
- Hornick RB. 1985. Selective primary health care: strategies for control of disease in the developing world. 20. Typhoid fever. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 7:536–46
- Bao X, Qiu J, Yang N, Mei L, Chen X. 1992. Study and preparation of Vi-PHA reagent and its application for detection of *Salmonella typhi* carriers. Wei Sheng Wu Hsueh Pao. Acta Microbiol. Sinica 32:289–95. In Chinese
- Plant J, Glynn AA. 1979. Locating salmonella resistance gene on mouse chromosome 1. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 37:1–6
- Plant JE, Blackwell JM, O'Brien AD, Bradley DJ, Glynn AA. 1982. Are the Lsh and Ity disease resistance genes at one locus on mouse chromosome 1? *Nature* 297:510–11
- Benjamin WJ, Hall P, Roberts SJ, Briles DE. 1990. The primary effect of the Ity locus is on the rate of growth of *Salmonella typhimurium* that are relatively protected from killing. *J. Immunol.* 144:3143–51
- van Dissel JT, Stikkelbroeck JJ, Sluiter W, Leijh PCJ, van Furth R. 1986. Differences in initial rate of intracellular killing of *Salmonella typhimurium* by granulocytes of Salmonella-susceptible C57BL/10 mice and Salmonella-resistant CBA mice. *J. Immunol.* 136:1074–80
- van Dissel JT, Leijh PCJ, van Furth R. 1985. Differences in initial rate of intracellular killing of *Salmonella typhimurium* by resident peritoneal macrophages from various mouse strains. *J. Immunol.* 134:3404–10
- Buschman E, Taniyama T, Nakamura R, Skamene E. 1989. Functional expression of the Bcg gene in macrophages. *Res. Im-*

munol. 140:793-97

- Skamene E, Pietrangeli CE. 1991. Genetics of the immune response to infectious pathogens. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 3:511– 17
- Vidal SM, Malo D, Vogan K, Skamene E, Gros P. 1993. Natural resistance to infection with intracellular parasites: isolation of a candidate for Bcg. *Cell* 73:469–85
- Hormaeche CE, Mastoeni P, Arena A, Uddin J, Joysey HS. 1990. Tcells do not mediate the early suppression of a salmonella infection in the RES. *Immunology* 70:247–50
- Collins FM. 1974. Vaccines and cell-mediated immunity. *Bacteriol. Rev.* 38:371– 402
- Mastroeni P, Villarreal-Ramos B, Hormaeche CE. 1993. Adoptive transfer of immunity to oral challenge with virulent Salmonellae in innately susceptible BALB/c mice requires both immune serum and T cells. *Infect. Immun.* 61:3981–84
- Freudenberg MA, Kumazawa Y, Meding S, Langhorne J, Galanos C. 1991. Gamma interferon production in endotoxinresponder and -nonresponder mice during infection. *Infect. Immun.* 59:3484–91
- 33. Kita E, Emoto M, Oku D, Nishikawa F, Hamuro A, Kamikaidou N, Kashiba S. 1992. Contribution of interferon gamma and membrane-associated interleukin 1 to the resistance to murine typhoid of Ityr mice. J. Leukocyte Biol. 51:244–50
- Ramarathinam L, Niesel DW, Klimpel GR. 1993. Ity influences the production of IFN-γ by murine splenocytes stimulated in vitro with *Salmonella typhimurium*. J. Immunol. 150:3965–72
- Degre M, Bukholm G, Czamlecki CW. 1989. In vitro treatment of HEp-2 cells with human tumor necrosis factor-alpha and human interferons reduces invasiveness of Salmonella typhimurium. J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents 3:1–7
 Ishibashi Y, Arai T. 1990. Specific in-
- Ishibashi Y, Arai T. 1990. Specific inhibition of phagosome-lysosome fusion in murine macrophages mediated by Salmonella typhimurium infection. FEMS Microbiol. Immunol. 2:35–43
- Muotiala A, Makela PH. 1990. The role of IFN-gamma in murine *Salmonella typhimurium* infection. *Microb. Pathog.* 8:135–41
- Nauciel C, Espinasse MF. 1992. Role of gamma interferon and tumor necrosis factor alpha in resistance to *Salmonella typhimurium* infection. *Infect. Immun.* 60:450–54

- Ramarathinam L, Shaban RA, Niesel DW, Klimpel GR. 1991. Interferon gamma (IFN-gamma) production by gutassociated lymphoid tissue and spleen following oral *Salmonella typhinurium* challenge. *Microb. Pathog.* 11:347–56
- Nakano Y, Onozuka K, Terada Y, Shinomiya H, Nakano M. 1990. Protective effect of recombinant tumor necrosis factoralpha in murine salmonellosis. *J. Immunol.* 144:1935–41
- Flynn JL, Chan J, Triebold KJ, Dalton K, Stewart TA, Bloom BR. 1993. An essential role for interferon gamma in resistance to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. J. Exp. Med. 178:2249–54
- Harty JT, Bevan MJ. 1995. Specific immunity to *Listeria monocytogenes* in the absence of IFN-γ. *Immunity* 3:109–117
- Lee JC, Gibson CW, Eisenstein TK. 1985. Macrophage-mediated mitogenic suppression induced in mice of the C3H lineage by a vaccine strain of *Salmonella typhimurium*. *Cell. Immunol.* 91:75–91
- Al-Ramadi BK, Meissler JJJ, Huang D, Eisenstein TK. 1992. Immunosuppression induced by nitric oxide and its inhibition by interleukin-4. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 22:2249–54
- Eisenstein TK, Huang D, Meissler JJ Jr, Al-Ramadi B. 1994. Macrophage nitric oxide mediates immunosuppression in infectious inflammation. *Immunobiology* 191:493–502
- 46. O'Callaghan D, Maskell D, Tite J, Dougan G. 1990. Immune responses in BALB/c mice following immunization with aromatic compound or purine-dependent Salmonella typhimurium strains. Immunology 69:184–89
- Brown A, Hormaeche CE. 1989. The antibody response to salmonellae in mice and humans studied by immunoblots and ELISA. *Microb. Pathog.* 6:445–54
- Carter PB, Collins FM. 1974. The route of enteric infection in normal mice. J. Exp. Med. 139:1189–203
- Hohmann AW, Schmidt G, Rowley D. 1978. Intestinal colonization and virulence of Salmonella in mice. Infect. Immun. 22:763–70
- Bockman DE, Cooper MD. 1973. Pinocytosis by epithelium associated with lymphoid follicles in the bursa of Fabricius, appendix, Peyer's patches. An electron microscopic study. Am. J. Anat. 136:455– 77
- Owen RL, Jones AL. 1974. Epithelial cell specialization within human Peyer's patches: an ultrastructural study of intesti-

nal lymphoid follicles. *Gastroenterology* 66:189–203

- Owen RL, Ermak TH. 1990. Structural specializations for antigen uptake and processing in the digestive tract. *Springer Semin. Immunopathol.* 12:139–52
- Fujimura Y. 1986. Functional morphology of microfold cells (M cells) in Peyer's patches: phagocytosis and transport of BCG by M cells into rabbit Peyer's patches. *Gastroenterol. Jpn.* 21:325–35
- Marcial MA, Madara JL. 1986. Cryptosporidium: cellular localization, structural analysis of absorptive cell-parasite membrane-membrane interactions in guinea pigs, suggestion of protozoan transport by M cells. *Gastroenterology* 90:583–94
- Owen RL, Allen CL, Stevens DP. 1981. Phagocytosis of *Giardia muris* by macrophages in Peyer's patch epithelium in mice. *Infect. Immun.* 33:591–601
- 56. Owen RL, Pierce NF, Apple RT, Cray WJ. 1986. M cell transport of *Vibrio cholerae* from the intestinal lumen into Peyer's patches: a mechanism for antigen sampling and for microbial transepithelial migration. J. Infect. Dis. 153:1108–18
- Wolf JL, Rubin DH, Finberg R, Kauffman RS, Sharpe AH, Trier JS, Fields BN. 1981. Intestinal M cells: a pathway for entry of reovirus into the host. *Science* 212:471– 72
- Woode GN, Pohlenz JF, Gourley NE, Fagerland JA. 1984. Astrovirus and Breda virus infections of dome cell epithelium of bovine ileum. J. Clin. Microbiol. 19:623– 30
- Bockman DE. 1983. Functional histology of appendix. Arch. Histol. Jpn. 46:271–92
- Neutra MR, Phillips TL, Mayer EL, Fishkind DJ. 1987. Transport of membrane-bound macromolecules by M cells in follicle-associated epithelium of rabbit Peyer's patch. *Cell Tissue Res.* 247:537– 46
- Pappo J, Ermak TH. 1989. Uptake and translocation of fluorescent latex particles by rabbit Peyer's patch follicle epithelium: a quantitative model for M cell uptake. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 76:144–48
- Kohbata S, Yokoyama H, Yabuuchi E. 1986. Cytopathogenic effect of Salmonella typhi GIFU 10007 on M cells of murine ileal Peyer's patches in ligated ileal loops: an ultrastructural study. Microbiol. Immunol. 30:1225–37
- Jones BD, Ghori N, Falkow S. 1994. Salmonella typhimurium initiates murine infection by penetrating and destroying

the specialized epithelial M cells of the Peyer's patches. J. Exp. Med. 180:15–23

- Clark MA, Jepson MA, Simmons NL, Hirst BH. 1994. Preferential interaction of *Salmonella typhimurium* with mouse Peyer's patch M cells. *Res. Microbiol.* 145:543–52
- Takeuchi A. 1967. Electron microscope studies of experimental Salmonella infection. I. Penetration into the intestinal epithelium by Salmonella typhimurium. Am. J. Pathol. 50:109–36
- Finlay BB, Falkow S. 1990. Salmonella interactions with polarized human intestinal Caco-2 epithelial cells. J. Infect. Dis. 162:1096–106
- Francis CL, Starnbach MN, Falkow S. 1992. Morphological and cytoskeletal changes in epithelial cells occur immediately upon interaction with *Salmonella typhimurium* grown under low-oxygen conditions. *Mol. Microbiol.* 6:3077–87
- Francis CL, Ryan TA, Jones BD, Smith SJ, Falkow S. 1993. Ruffles induced by *Salmonella* and other stimuli direct macropinocytosis of bacteria. *Nature* 364:639–42
- Ginocchio C, Pace J, Galán JE. 1992. Identification and molecular characterization of a Salmonella typhimurium gene involved in triggering the internalization of salmonellae into cultured epithelial cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89:5976–80
- Galán JE, Pace J, Hayman MJ. 1992. Involvement of the epidermal growth factor receptor in the invasion of cultured mammalian cells by *Salmonella typhimurium*. *Nature* 357:588–89
- Jones BD, Paterson HF, Hall A, Falkow S. 1993. Salmonella typhimurium induces membrane ruffling by a growth factor receptor independent mechanism. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:10390–94
- Verjans GM, Ringrose JH, van Alphen L, Feltkamp TE, Kusters JG. 1994. Entrance and survival of Salmonella typhimurium and Yersinia enterocolitica within human B- and T-cell lines. Infect. Immun. 62:2229–35
- Rubin RH, Weinstein L. 1977. Salmonellosis: Microbiologic, Pathogenic, Clinical Features. New York: Stratton Intercont. Med.
- 73a. Pascopella L, Raupach B, Ghori N, Monack D, Falkow S, Small PLC. 1995. Host restriction phenotypes of Salmonella typhi and Salmonella gallinarum. Infect. Immun., 63:4329–35
- 74. Finlay BB, Falkow S. 1988. Compar-

ison of the invasion strategies used by Salmonella cholerae-suis, Shigella flexneri and Yersinia enterocolitica to enter cultured animal cells: endosome acidification is not required for bacterial invasion or intracellular replication. Biochimie 70:1089–99

- Kihlström E, Nilsson L. 1977. Endocytosis of Salmonella typhimurium 395 MS and MR10 by HeLa cells. Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. 85:322–28
- Mroczenski-Wildey MJ, Di Fabio JL, Cabello FC. 1989. Invasion and lysis of HeLa cell monolayers by Salmonella typhi: the role of lipopolysaccharide. Microb. Pathog. 6:143–52
- Forscher P, Smith SJ. 1988. Actions of cytochalasins on the organization of actin filaments and microtubules in a neuronal growth cone. J. Cell. Biol. 107:1505–16
- Tanenbaum SW, ed. 1978. Cytochalasins: Biochemical and Cell Biological Aspects. New York: North Holland
- Finlay BB, Ruschkowski S, Dedhar S. 1991. Cytoskeletal rearrangements accompanying *Salmonella* entry into epithelial cells. J. Cell. Sci. 99:283–96
- Pace J, Hayman MJ, Galan JE. 1993. Signal transduction and invasion of epithelial cells by *S. typhimurium. Cell* 72:505–14
- Ruschkowski S, Rosenshine I, Finlay BB. 1992. Salmonella typhimurium induces an inositol phosphate flux in infected epithelial cells. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 74:121– 26
- Akiyama T, Ishida J, Nakagawa S, Ogawara H, Watanabe S, Itoh N, Shibuya M, Fukami Y. 1987. Genistein, a specific inhibitor of tyrosine-specific protein kinases. J. Biol. Chem. 262:5592–95
- Rosenshine I, Ruschkowski S, Foubister V, Finlay BB. 1994. Salmonella typhimurium invasion of epithelial cells: role of induced host cell tyrosine protein phosphorylation. Infect. Immun. 62:4969– 74
- Rosenshine I, Duronio V, Finlay BB. 1992. Tyrosine protein kinase inhibitors block invasin-promoted bacterial uptake by epithelial cells. *Infect. Immun.* 60:2211–17
- Ridley AJ, Hall A. 1992. The small GTPbinding protein rho regulates the assembly of focal adhesions and actin stress fibers in response to growth factors. *Cell* 70:389– 99
- Ridley AJ, Paterson HF, Johnston CL, Diekmann D, Hall A. 1992. The small GTP-binding protein rac regulates growth factor-induced membrane ruffling. *Cell*

70:401-10

- Blumer KJ, Johnson GL. 1994. Diversity in function and regulation of MAP kinase pathways. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 19:236– 40
- Herskowitz I. 1995. MAP kinase pathways in yeast: for mating and more. *Cell* 80:187–97
- Cano E, Mahadevan LC. 1995. Parallel signal processing among mammalian MAPKs. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 20:117–22
- Buchmeier NA, Lipps CJ, So MYH, Heffron F. 1993. Recombination-deficient mutants of *Salmonella typhimurium* are avirulent and sensitive to the oxidative burst of macrophages. *Mol. Microbiol.* 7:933–36
- Falkow S, Isberg RR, Portnoy DA. 1992. The interaction of bacteria with mammalian cells. *Annu. Rev. Cell Biol.* 8:333– 63
- Buchmeier NA, Heffron F. 1991. Inhibition of macrophage phagosome-lysosome fusion by *Salmonella typhimurium*. *Infect. Immun.* 59:2232–38
- Alpuche AC, Swanson JA, Loomis WP, Miller SI. 1992. Salmonella typhimurium activates virulence gene transcription within acidified macrophage phagosomes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89:10079–83
- 94. Garcia del Portillo F, Finlay BB. 1995. Targeting of Salmonella typhimurium to vesicles containing lysosomal membrane glycoproteins bypasses compartments with mannose 6-phosphate receptors. J. Cell Biol. 129:81–97
- Abshire KZ, Neidhardt FC. 1993. Growth rate paradox of *Salmonella typhimurium* within host macrophages. *J. Bacteriol.* 175:3744–48
- Alpuche-Aranda CM, Racoosin EL, Swanson JA, Miller SI. 1994. Salmonella stimulate macrophage macropinocytosis and persist within spacious phagosomes. J. Exp. Med. 179:10079–83
- Buchmeier NA, Heffron F. 1990. Induction of Salmonella stress proteins upon infection of macrophages. *Science* 248:730–32
- Gianella RA, Washington O, Gemski P, Formal SB. 1973. Invasion of HeLa cells by *Salmonella typhimurium*: a model for study of invasiveness of Salmonella. *J. Infect. Dis.* 128:69–75
- Galán JE, Curtiss R III. 1989. Cloning and molecular characterization of genes whose products allow Salmonella typhimurium to penetrate tissue culture cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86:6383– 87

- Altmeyer RM, McNern JK, Bossio JC, Rosenshine I, Finlay BB, Galan JE. 1993. Cloning and molecular characterization of a gene involved in Salmonella adherence and invasion of cultured epithelial cells. *Mol. Microbiol.* 7:89–98
- Kaniga K, Bossio JC, Galan JE. 1994. The Salmonella typhimurium invasion genes invF and invG encode homologues of the AraC and PuID family of proteins. Mol. Microbiol. 13:555–68
- 102. Mills DM, Bajaj V, Lee CA. 1995. A 40 kb chromosomal fragment encoding *Salmonella typhimurium* invasion genes is absent from the corresponding region of the *Escherichia coli* K-12 chromosome. *Mol. Microbiol.* 15:749–59
- 103. Galán JE, Ginocchio C, Costeas P. 1992. Molecular and functional characterization of the *Salmonella* invasion gene invA: homology of InvA to members of a new protein family. *J. Bacteriol.* 174:4338–49
- Groisman EA, Ochman H. 1993. Cognate gene clusters govern invasion of host epithelial cells by *Salmonella typhimurium* and *Shigella flexneri*. *EMBO J.* 12:3779– 87
- 105. Van Gijsegem F, Gough C, Zischek C, Niqueux E, Arlat M, Genin S, Barberis P, German S, Castello P, Boucher C. 1995. The hrp gene locus of *Pseudomonas* solanacearum, which controls the production of a type III secretion system, encodes eight proteins related to components of the bacterial flagellar biogenesis complex. *Mol. Microbiol.* 15:1095–114
- Rosqvist R, Magnusson KE, Wolf-Watz H. 1994. Target cell contact triggers expression and polarized transfer of Yersinia YopE cytotoxin into mammalian cells. *EMBO J.* 13:964–72
- 107. Ginocchio CC, Olmsted SB, Wells CL, Galán JE. 1994. Contact with epithelial cells induces the formation of surface appendages on *Salmonella typhimurium*. *Cell* 76:717–24
- Collazo CM, Zierler MK, Galán JE. 1995. Functional analysis of the Salmonella typhimurium invasion genes invI and invJ and identification of a target of the protein secretion apparatus encoded in the inv locus. Mol. Microbiol. 15:25–38
- 109. Hale TL, Oaks EV, Formal SB. 1985. Identification and antigenic characterization of virulence-associated, plasmidcoded proteins of Shigella spp. and enteroinvasive *Escherichia coli*. Infect. Immun. 50:620–29
- 110. Ernst RK, Dombroski DM, Merrick JM. 1990. Anaerobiosis, type 1 fimbriae,

growth phase are factors that affect invasion of HEp-2 cells by *Salmonella typhimurium*. *Infect. Immun.* 58:2014–16

- 111. Lee CA, Falkow S. 1990. The ability of Salmonella to enter mammalian cells is affected by bacterial growth state. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87:4304–8
- 112. Schiemann DA, Shope SR. 1991. Anaerobic growth of Salmonella typhimurium results in increased uptake by Henle 407 epithelial and mouse peritoneal cells in vitro and repression of a major outer membrane protein. Infect. Immun. 59:437–40
- 113. Galán JE, Curtiss R III. 1990. Expression of Salmonella typhimurium genes required for invasion is regulated by changes in DNA supercoiling. Infect. Immun. 58:1879–85
- 114. Behlau I, Miller SI. 1993. A PhoPrepressed gene promotes Salmonella typhimurium invasion of epithelial cells. J. Bacteriol. 175:4475–84
- 115. Jones BD, Falkow S. 1994. Identification and characterization of a Salmonella typhimurium oxygen-regulated gene required for bacterial internalization. Infect. Immun. 62:3745–52
- Lee CA, Jones BD, Falkow S. 1992. Identification of a Salmonella typhimurium invasion locus by selection for hyperinvasive mutants. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89:1847–51
- 117. Bajaj V, Hwang C, Lee CA. 1996. hilA is a novel ompR/toxR family member which activates the expression of *Salmonella ty-phimurium* invasion genes. *Mol. Microbiol.* In press
- Stock JB, Ninfa AJ, Stock AM. 1989. Protein phosphorylation and regulation of adaptive responses in bacteria. *Microbiol. Rev.* 53:450–90
- Albright LM, Huala E, Ausubel FM. 1989. Prokaryotic signal transduction mediated by sensor and regulator protein pairs. [Review]. Annu. Rev. Genet. 23:311–36
- Miller SI, Kurkal AM, Mekalanos JJ. 1989. A two-component regulatory system (phoP phoQ) controls Salmonella typhimurium virulence. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86:5054–58
- Groisman EA, Chiao E, Lipps CJ, Heffron F. 1989. Salmonella typhimurium phoP virulence genes is a transcriptional regulator. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86:7077– 81
- 122. Fields PI, Swanson RV, Haidaris CG, Heffron F. 1986. Mutants of Salmonella typhimurium that cannot survive within the macrophage are avirulent. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 83:5189–93

- 123. Falkow S, Small P, Isberg R, Hayes SF, Corwin D. 1987. A molecular strategy for the study of bacterial invasion. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 9:S450–55
- Hensel M, Shea JE, Gleeson C, Jones MD, Dalton E, Holden DW. 1995. Simultaneous identification of bacterial virulence genes by negative selection. *Science* 269:400–3
- Liu SL, Sanderson KE. 1995. Rearrangements in the genome of the bacterium Salmonella typhi. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:1018–22
- Foster JW, Hall HK. 1991. Inducible pH homeostasis and the acid tolerance response of Salmonella typhimurium. J. Bacteriol. 173:5129–35
- Foster JW, Hall HK. 1990. Adaptive acidification tolerance response of *Salmonella typhimurium. J. Bacteriol.* 172:771–78
- Garcia del Portillo F, Foster JW, Finlay BB. 1993. Role of acid tolerance response genes in *Salmonella typhimurium* virulence. *Infect. Immun.* 61:4489–92
- Baumler AJ, Kusters JG, Stojiljkovic I, Heffron F. 1994. Salmonella typhimurium loci involved in survival within macrophages. Infect. Immun. 62:1623–30
- Ganz T, Selsted ME, Lehrer RI. 1990. Defensins. Eur. J. Haematol. 44:1–8
- 131. Kier LD, Weppleman RM, Ames BN. 1979. Regulation of nonspecific acid phosphatase in Salmonella: phoN and phoP genes. J. Bacteriol. 138:155–61
- 132. Groisman EA, Parra-Lopez C, Salcedo M, Lipps CJ, Heffron F. 1992. Resistance to host antimicrobial peptides is necessary for Salmonella virulence. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:11939–43
- Parra-Lopez C, Baer MT, Groisman EA. 1993. Molecular genetic analysis of a locus required for resistance to antimicrobial peptides in *Salmonella typhimurium*. *EMBO J.* 12:4053–62
- Galán JE, Curtiss R III. 1989. Virulence and vaccine potential of phoP mutants of Salmonella typhimurium. Microb. Pathog. 6:433–43
- 135. Pulkkinen WS, Miller SI. 1991. A Salmonella typhimurium virulence protein is similar to a Yersinia enterocolitica invasion protein and a bacteriophage lambda outer membrane protein. J. Bacteriol. 173:86–93
- 136. Pierson DE, Falkow S. 1993. The ail gene of *Yersinia enterocolitica* has a role in the ability of the organism to survive serum killing. *Infect. Immun.* 61:1846–52
- 137. Bliska JB, Falkow S. 1992. Bacterial resis-

tance to complement killing mediated by the Ail protein of *Yersinia enterocolitica*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:3561–65

- Hohmann EL, Oletta CA, Loomis WP, Miller SI. 1995. Macrophage-inducible expression of a model antigen in Salmonella typhimurium enhances immunogenicity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:2904–8
- Miller SI, Mekalanos JJ. 1990. Constitutive expression of the PhoP regulon attenuates Salmonella virulence and survival within macrophages. J. Bacteriol. 172:2485–90
- Leung KY, Finlay BB. 1991. Intracellular replication is essential for the virulence of Salmonella typhmurium. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88:11470–74
- Gulig PA. 1990. Virulence plasmids of *Salmonella typhimurium* and other salmonellae. *Microb. Pathog.* 8:3–11
- 142. Jones GW, Rabert DK, Svinarich DM, Whitfield HJ. 1982. Association of adhesive, invasive, virulent phenotypes of Salmonella typhimurium with autonomous 60-megadalton plasmids. J. Gen. Microbiol. 127:351–60
- Gulig PA, Curtiss R III. 1987. Plasmidassociated virulence of Salmonella typhimurium. Infect. Immun. 55:2891–901
- 144. Gulip PA, Caldwell L, Chiodo VA. 1992. Identification, genetic analysis, DNA sequence of a 7.8 kilobase virulence region of the Salmonella typhimurium virulence plasmid. Mol. Microbiol. 6:1395–411
- 145. Krause M, Roudier C, Fierer J, Harwood J, Guiney D. 1991. Molecular analysis of the virulence locus of the *Salmonella dublin* plasmid pSDL2. *Mol. Microbiol.* 5:307– 16
- Williamson CM, Pullinger GD, Lax AJ. 1988. Identification of an essential virulence region on Salmonella plasmids. *Mi*-

crob. Pathog. 5:469-73

- 147. Pullinger GD, Baird GD, Williamson CM, Lax AJ. 1989. Nucleotide sequence of a plasmid gene involved in the virulence of Salmonella. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 17:7983
- Henikoff S, Haughn GW, Calvo JM, Wallace JC. 1988. A large family of bacterial activator proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 85:6602–6
- 149. Coynault C, Robbe-Saule V, Popoff MY, Norel F. 1992. Growth phase and SpvR regulation of transcription of *Salmonella typhimurium* spvABC virulence genes. *Microb. Pathog*, 13:133–43
- Fang FC, Krause M, Roudier C, Fierer J, Guiney DG. 1991. Growth regulation of a Salmonella plasmid gene essential for virulence. J. Bacteriol. 173:6783–89
- 151. Caldwell AL, Gulig PA. 1991. The Salmonella typhimurium virulence plasmid encodes a positive regulator of a plasmid-encoded virulence gene. J. Bacteriol. 173:7176–85
- 152. Matsui H, Abe A, Kawahara K, Terakado N, Danbara H. 1991. Positive regulator for the expression of Mba protein of the virulence plasmid, pKDSC50, of *Salmonella choleraesuis. Microb. Pathog.* 10:459–64
- 153. Fang FC, Libby SJ, Buchmeier NA, Loewen PC, Switala J, Harwood J, Guiney DG. 1992. The alternative sigma factor katF (rpoS) regulates Salmonella virulence. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:11978–82
- 154. Emoto M, Danbara H, Yoskikai Y. 1992. Induction of gamma/delta T cells in murine salmonellosis by an avirulent but not by a virulent strain of *Salmonella choleraesuis. J. Exp. Med.* 176:363–72
- 155. Gulig PA, Doyle TJ. 1993. The Salmonella typhimurium virulence plasmid increases the growth rate of salmonellae in mice. Infect. Immun. 61:504–11



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR

Graham A. Bentley

Unité d'Immunologie Structurale, Institut Pasteur, 25 rue du Dr. Roux, 75724 Paris, France

Roy A. Mariuzza

Center of Advanced Research in Biotechnology, University of Maryland, 9600 Gudelsky Drive, Rockville, Maryland 20850

KEY WORDS: T cell receptor structure, complementarity-determining regions, antigen and superantigen recognition, T cell activation

ABSTRACT

Recent crystallographic studies of T cell antigen receptor (TCR) fragments from the α and β chains have now confirmed the expected structural similarity to corresponding immunoglobulin domains. Although the three-dimensional structure of a complete TCR $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer has not yet been determined, these results support the view that the extracellular region should resemble an immunoglobulin Fab fragment with the antigen-binding site formed from peptide loops homologous to immunoglobulin complementarity-determining regions (CDR). These preliminary results suggest that CDR1 and CDR2 may be less variable in structure than their immunoglobulin counterparts, consistent with the idea that they may interact preferentially with the less polymorphic regions of the molecules of the major histocompatibility complex. The region on the variable β domain responsible for superantigen recognition is analyzed in detail. The implications for T cell activation from the interactions observed between domains of the α and β chains are also discussed in terms of possible dimerization and allosteric mechanisms.

1. INTRODUCTION

The primary event in the cellular immune response is recognition of the antigen by membrane-bound T cell antigen receptors (TCR). The TCR is composed of a glycosylated polymorphic heterodimer, either $\alpha\beta$ or $\gamma\delta$, which is associated with a nonpolymorphic membrane-bound complex of proteins collectively known as CD3 (1). Each polypeptide chain of the heterodimer is, for the most part, located on the extracellular side of the membrane, with a hydrophobic region positioned toward the C terminus, which makes a single passage across the lipid to finish with a short cytoplasmic tail of 2-7 amino acids (2). The two polypeptide chains are linked by a cystine bridge in the extracellular region close to the membrane of the T cell. The $\alpha\beta$ form of heterodimer recognizes antigen in the form of peptide degradation products. T cell recognition is restricted in this case to those peptides bound to molecules of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC), class I and II, which are membrane-bound proteins displayed on the surface of antigen-presenting cells (APC) (3). Antigen recognition by $\gamma \delta$ TCR is more diverse and is generally less well characterized (4). This type of heterodimer can, like the $\alpha\beta$ receptor, recognize antigen bound to MHC and related molecules; other $\gamma \delta$ receptors respond to carbohydrate- or nucleotidecarrying antigen for which the mode of presentation is poorly characterized.

Although much detail is known of $\alpha\beta$ TCR recognition at the level of threedimensional structure, certain key aspects still await elucidation. At present, the structure of several class I MHC molecules and one class II MHC molecule have shown how antigenic peptide is bound and displayed by presenting molecules Although the structure of a complete TCR has not yet been reported, (5).homology in amino acid sequence strongly suggests a close relationship to the structure of immunoglobulins. By contrast with immunoglobulins, progress toward describing the structure of the TCR by X-ray diffraction techniques has been slow. Problems of expression of soluble TCR in quantity and the natural presence of carbohydrate on the molecule have presented difficulties in realizing the essential step of crystallization. The crystallographic analysis of the β chain of the 14.3.d clone (6) [specific for a hemagglutinin peptide of influenza virus A/PR/34 (H1N1) in association with the MHC class II I-E^d molecule] has now given a first view of TCR fragments in three-dimensions, confirming a structural similarity between T cell and B cell receptors. In this review, we compare TCR structure, provided by the 14.3.d β chain result, with that of immunoglobulins, and we discuss its implications for MHC/peptide and superantigen (SAg) recognition. We also discuss briefly the V α domain from the 1934.4 clone (7) (specific for the N-terminal nonapeptide of myelin basic protein in association with the MHC class II I-A^u molecule) and the initiation of signal transduction in the light of these structures.

2. STRUCTURE OF A TCR β CHAIN

2.1 Structure of the Domains

The TCR β chain of the clone 14.3.d is composed of two domains that in their three-dimensional structure closely resemble the variable and constant domains of immunoglobulins (Figure 1*a*). The variable domain of the β chain (V β), coded by the V β 8.2 and 2J β 2.1 genes, bears a closer resemblance to V₁ than to V_H in the framework regions. Thus, a comparison of 86 framework residues of a sample of nine different murine V_L domains (Figure 2a) shows a root mean square (r.m.s.) deviation of 1.4 å in α -carbon positions, while a similar comparison of 87 framework residues from nine murine V_H domains (Figure 2b) shows a r.m.s. deviation of 1.9 å. The largest departure from immunoglobulin variable domain framework structure occurs in the connecting loop between β strands C" and D (see 8 for strand nomenclature), which is distant from the putative antigen-binding site of the TCR. Although the polypeptide chains of V_L and $V_{\rm H}$ are similar in this region, the conformation between Gly58 and Gly63 of V β 8.2 is significantly different. The loops of V β that form the expected antigen-binding site are similarly placed as the complementarity-determining regions (CDR) of immunoglobulins; these are discussed in detail below.

The constant domain, coded by the C β 1 gene, is similar to immunoglobulin constant domains. A structural comparison with C_{H1} , C_{H2} , C_{H3} , and C_{κ} gives a r.m.s. deviation in α -carbon positions for aligned structures of 3.0 å, 2.3 å, 2.3 å, and 2.7 å, respectively, for the 89 equivalent residues. By comparison, the r.m.s. deviation in the same α -carbon positions between different immunoglobulin constant domains varies between 1.7 å and 2.3 å. The most notable difference between the C β 1 domain and immunoglobulin constant domains is the presence of a large insertion comprised of residues 219 to 232, inclusive (an insertion of 14 amino acids with respect to $C_H 1$, $C_H 2$, and C_K , and 13 amino acids with respect to C_H 3), in the loop connecting the last two strands (G and F) of the constant domain (Figure 1a). This loop is exposed to the solvent, making few direct contacts, either intra- or intermolecular. A second region differing significantly from the immunoglobulin constant domain folding occurs between residues 133 to 144, inclusive, and can probably be attributed to the absence of the α chain in the crystal structure; a closer resemblance here would be expected in the heterodimer.

2.2 The Complementarity-Determining Regions

The antigen-binding site of the T cell receptor has been predicted to consist of regions analogous to the CDRs of immunoglobulins (9). While no direct structural data on TCR/MHC/peptide interactions are available at present, several studies involving mutagenesis of the receptor have implicated these regions in



(a)

Figure 1 The structure of the β chain of the 14.3.d clone. (*a*) An α -carbon skeleton of the β chain, highlighting in bold line the complementarity-determining regions CDR1, CDR2, and CDR3, the fourth hypervariable region HV4, and the loop between residues 219 and 232 in the C β domain, which corresponds to an insertion with respect to immunoglobulin constant domains. (*b*) A model of the TCR based on the β chain of the 14.3.d clone (*bold line*) and immunoglobulin structure. Domains V_L and C_L were placed with respect to V β and C β , respectively, to give variable and constant dimer interfaces similar to those found in immunoglobulin structures. Only α -carbon positions are shown.



Figure 1 (continued)

interactions with the MHC/peptide antigen (10–15). In the crystal structure of the β chain from the 14.3.d hybridoma, the CDRs are arranged similarly to those of immunoglobulins. These present some interesting comparisons with immunoglobulin CDR structure, in particular with respect to the existence of canonical conformations as found in immunoglobulins (16, 17).

The conformation of CDR1 in the β chain is stabilized by its interaction with residue Gln25 [Kabat numbering (18) is used throughout], buried within the interior of the domain beneath the hypervariable loop (Figure 3). Both the oxygen and the nitrogen of the side-chain amide group of Gln25 form a total of three hydrogen bonds to main-chain atoms of CDR1, thus providing a supporting scaffold for the loop as it passes from one β sheet to the other. This contrasts with immunoglobulins where the structure of CDR1 in both V_H and V_L is stabilized by intercalation of an apolar residue at position 29 between the



Figure 2 Structural comparison of the V β domain of the 14.3.d clone. (*a*) Stereo view of V β (*solid line*) superimposed on nine murine V_L domains (*grey line*) (r.m.s. difference of 1.4 å in α -carbon positions of framework residues). (*b*) Stereo view of V β (*solid line*) superimposed on nine murine V_H domains (*grey line*) (r.m.s. difference of 1.9 å in α -carbon positions of framework residues). The amino terminus is marked as N-ter, the three complementarity-determining regions as CDR1, CDR2, and CDR3, and the fourth hypervariable region as HV4.

two β sheets of the framework structure, occupying a hydrophobic environment (16, 17). [For murine V_{kappa}, the Kabat numbering (18) is 27B, 28, or 30 in some subgroups but is always four residues away from position 25. For murine V_{λ} , this corresponds to residue 27C and is 5 residues from position 25.] Residue 29 is located approximately midway along the immunoglobulin CDR1, forming an optimum anchorage point to stabilize the conformation of this loop. In murine immunoglobulin sequences (18), residue 29 is most often Phe, Leu, Ile, or Val. (A very small fraction of sequences occurs in which this residue is polar, but there are no structural data for these rare instances.) In V β 8.2, however, the side chain of Gln25 occupies the volume normally taken by the side chain of residue 29 in V_L , or residues 27 and 29 in V_H , and His29 of the β chain is displaced sideways, becoming partially exposed to the solvent. Thus, a different structural solution is used to maintain stability in the V β 8.2 CDR1 to that found in either the heavy or light chain immunoglobulin hypervariable region. Immunoglobulin residues homologous to Gln25 of V β 8.2 (residue 25 in $V_{\rm L}$ and residue 24 in $V_{\rm H}$) are usually small in volume (most frequently Gly, Ala, or Ser, and less often, Val or Thr), probably in compliance with the volume taken by the buried hydrophobic side chain of residue 29 (and residue 27 in



Figure 3 The CDR1 loop between residues Gln25 and Met32. Hydrogen bonds from Gln25 to other residues in CDR1 are indicated in grey line.

 V_H). In very few exceptions, larger side chains such as Tyr, Phe, Leu, and Ile are to be found in position 25 (or 24 for V_H) of immunoglobulin variable domains, but there are no three-dimensional data to show the consequences for these examples.

The CDR1 of V β are less variable in length than immunoglobulin variable domains: 19 murine V β domains have 10 amino acids between the conserved residues Cys23 and Trp34, and 3 have 11 residues (Table 1). In murine immunoglobulins, this can vary from 11 to 17 amino acids for V_L and from 13 to 15 amino acids for V_H. Based on the criteria of a common loop length and the presence of Gln at the key position 25, the conformation of CDR1 observed in the crystal structure of the 14.3.d β chain might describe a canonical structure present in a total of nine murine V β domains: V β 1, V β 4, V β 6, V β 7, V β 8.1, V β 8.2 (which codes for 14.3.d), V β 8.3, V β 9, and V β 10.

Each of these V β domains has, in addition, His at position 29, but it remains unclear if this residue plays a critical role in determining the main-chain conformation of CDR1. We note, however, that N ϵ 2 of His29 forms a hydrogen bond to O γ of Ser94 in the crystal structure, a residue common to all these domains with the exception of V β 7. Interestingly, all V β domains with Pro at position 25 (V β 3, V β 5.1, V β 5.2, V β 11, V β 16, V β 17, V β 19, and V β 20) also have His29 and Ser94 as conserved residues, but without structural data on at least one of these domains, it is not clear what significance this observation may have. We may conclude, nonetheless, that V β domains with Pro at position 25 will be different in structure from V β 8.2 at CDR1 because the restricted conformational freedom of Pro is not compatible with the main-chain conformation of Gln25 = (-126°,154°) for Gln25, while ϕ must be close to -60° for Pro. It is remarkable, however, that His29 occurs in 17 V β domains. Such a high frequency might conceivably be related to requirements imposed by antigen recognition, such as defining specific MHC-TCR contacts.

Finally, we add a note of caution that $V\beta 1$, $V\beta 4$, and $V\beta 10$ may differ from the V $\beta 8.2$ structure, at least in detail. Since these have Gly at position 28, allowing a greater degree of conformational freedom, and, in addition, none have Arg at position 69, which forms hydrogen bonds to the main chain of V $\beta 8.2$ CDR1, we cannot exclude the possibility of a difference in structure, even if Gln25 stabilizes the loop in a similar manner. Whether CDR1 of V $\beta 8.2$ does indeed describe a canonical form for as many as nine murine V β genes will require further investigation.

The CDR2 of V β 8.2 is four residues longer than the homologous hypervariable region of V_L and is thus closer to that of V_H. It forms a seven-residue loop containing a type II β turn between residues 51 and 54. In addition, the side chain of Ser49 forms three hydrogen bonds to main chain atoms within the

SVILLYQKPNRDICQSGTSLKIQCVADSQVV-SMEWYQQFQEQSLMLMATANEGSEATYESGFTKDKFPISRPNLTFSTLTVNNARPGDSSIYFCSS DSGVVQNPRHLVKGKEQKARMDCTPINGHS-YVYWYYKKPGEELKFLVYFQNEDIIDKIDMIG-KNISAKCPAKKPCTIEIQSSKLTDSAVYFCAS DAAVTQRPRYLIKMKGQEAEMKCIPEKGHT-AVFWYQQKQSKELKFLIYFQNQQPLDQIDMVK-ERFSAVCPSSSLCSLGIRTCEAEDSALYLCSS GVTQTPRYLVKEKGQKAHMSCSPEKGHT-AFYWYQQNQKQELTFLINFRNEEIMEQTDLVK-KRFSAKCSSNSQCILEILSSEEDDSALYLCAS DMKVTQMSRYLIKRMGENVILLECGQDMSHE-TMYWYRQDPGLGLQLIYI SYDVDSNSEGDIPR-G-YRVSRKKREHFSLILDSAKTNQTSVYFCAQ EAAVTQSPRSKVAVTGGKVTLSCHQTNNHD-YMYWYRQDTGHGLRLIHYSYVADSTEKGDIPD-G-YKASRPSQENFSLILELASLSQTAVYFCAS EAAVTQSPRNKVAVTGGKVTLSCNQTNNHN-NMYWYRQDTGHGLRLIHYSYGAGSTEKGDIPD-G-YKASRPSQENFSLILELATPSQTSVYFCAS EAAVTQSPRNKVTVTGGRVTLSCRQTNSHN-YMYWYRQDTGHGLRLIHYSYGAGNLRLGDVPD-G-YKATRTTQEDFFLLLLELASPSQTSLYFCAS DTTVKQNPRYKLARVGKPVNLLCSQTMNHD-TMYWYQKKPNQAPKLLLFYYDKILNREADTFE--KFQSSRPNNSFCSLYIGSAGLEYSAMYLCAS ETAVFQTPNYHVTQVGNEVSFNCKQTLGHD-TMYWYKQDSKKLLKIMFSYNNKQLIVNETVPR--RFSPQSSDKAHLMLRIKSVEPEDSAVYLCAS NAGVIQTPRHKVTGKGQEATLMCEPISGHS-AVFWYRQTIVQGLEFLTYFRNQAPIDDSGMPR-ERFSAQMPNQSHSTLKIQSTQPQDSAVYLCAS FPIMEDGGAFKDRFKAEMLNSSFSTLKIQPTEPKDSAVYLCAS KLESPSIPDMQSYAMGKLFPFGVTLFIDID-TLYNYQQPRDQGPQLLVYFADEAVIDNSQLPS-DRFSAVRPKGFNSTLKIQSAKQGDTATYLCAS aQTIHQWPVAEIKAVGSPLSLGCTIKGKSSPNLYWYWQATGGTLQQLFYSITVGQVESVVQLN---LSASRPKDDQFILSTEKLLLSHSGFYLCAW GP KVLQIP SHQIIDMGQMVTLNCDPVSNHL-YFYWYKQILGQQMEFLVNFYNVKVMEKSKLFK-DQFSVERPDGSYFTLKIQPTALEDSAVYFCAS DSGVVQSPRHIIKEKGGRSVLTCIPISGHS-NVVWYQQTLGKELKFLIQHYERVERDKGFLPS--RFSVQQFDDYHSEMNMSALELEDSAMYFCAS GGI I TQTPKFLI GQEGQKLTLKCQQNFNHD-TMYWYRQDSGKGLRLI YYS I TENDLQKGDLSE-G-YDASREKKSSFSLTVTSAQKNEMAVFLCAS GALVYQYPRRTICKSGTSMRMECQAVGFQATSVAWYRQSPQKAFELIALSTVNSAIKYEQNFTQEKFPISHPNLSFSSMTV1MAYLEDRGLYLCGA Vβ**4** Vβ5.1 Vβ5.2 Vβ7 **V**β8.1 Vβ8.2 Vβ8.3 Vβ10 Vβ10 vβ13 vβ14 vβ15 vβ16 vβ16 vβ18 vβ18 vβ19 vbii vβ12

NSKVI QTPRYLVKGQGQKAKMRCI PEKGHP-VVFWYQQNKNNEFKFLI NFQNQEVLQQI DMTE-KRFSAECPSNSPCSLEI QSSEAGDSALYLCAS DPKIIQKPKYLVAVTGSEKILLICEQYLGHN-AMYNYRQSAKKPLEFMFSYSYQKLMDNQTASS--RFQPQSSKKNHLDLQITALKPDDSATYFCAS NSGVVQSPRYIIKGKGERSILKCIPISGHL-SVAWYQQTQGQELKFFIQHYDKMERDKGNLPS--RFSVQQFDDYHSEMNMSALELEDSAVYFCAS NTKI TQSPRYLI LGR-ANKSLECEQHLGHN-AMYWYRQSAEKPPELMELYNLKQLI RNETVPS--RFI PECPDSSKLLLHI SAVDPEDSAVYFCAS TLLEQNPRWRLVPRGQAVNLRCILKNSQYPWMSWYQQDLQKQLQMLFTLRSPRDKEVKSLPG-ADYLATRVTDTELRLQVANMSQGRTLYCTCSA vßa vβ2

123456789012345678901234567890**A**12345678901234567890123456789012**A**34567890123456789012345678901234

Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1996.14:563-590. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/31/07. For personal use only.

Table 1

vB1


Figure 4 The CDR2 loop between residues His47 and Lys57. The framework residue Arg69 is shown behind CDR2 in thin line. Hydrogen bonds are indicated in grey line.

loop, and a hydrogen bond is formed between $O\gamma$ of Ser54 and the carbonyl oxygen of Gly51 (Figure 4). The framework residue Arg69 exerts an additional influence on the conformation of the loop; the guanidyl group forms a hydrogen bond to $O\gamma$ of Ser49, and its carbonyl group forms a hydrogen bond to the main chain at residue 53. By homology, Arg69 corresponds to position 71 in V_H , which also is often an arginine residue. The influence of Arg at position 71 in V_H upon the conformation of CDR2 has been already noted (19).

This rather complex constellation of secondary structural elements contributing to the conformation of CDR2 in V β 8.2 may be repeated in other V β domains and may thus represent a canonical structure for this TCR hypervariable region. We suggest that the key features determining the conformation of this sevenresidue loop are (i) the presence of Ser at position 49, (ii) the ability to form a type II β turn between residues 51 and 54, and (iii) the presence of Arg at position 69. The presence of a type II β turn is less straightforward to assess from the sequence alone. Type II β turns are favored by Gly at the third residue of the turn because steric hindrance between the carbonyl group of the second residue and the side chain of the third leads to an unfavorable energy contribution to the conformation (20). While Gly appears most frequently at this position for type II β turn, Asn occurs with significant probability as well (21). Nonetheless, other amino acids can also appear here, suggesting that interactions with neighboring regions of the protein can compensate for the unfavorable energy contribution. The domains V β 6, V β 7, V β 8.1, V β 8.2, V β 8.3, and V β 14 are of equal length in their CDR2, and all have Ser49 and Arg69 as common residues. Only V β 6, V β 8.2, V β 8.3, and V β 14, however, have the favorable Gly or Asn at residue 53 that would allow us to predict the presence of the required type II β turn with confidence. The hydrogen bond formed between main chain atoms of residues 53 and Arg69, however, may provide the necessary stabilization to favor a type II β turn in V β 7 and V β 8.1 as well. Consistent with this possibility, DiGuisto & Palmer (22) found no loss in antigen recognition upon introducing the mutation Asp53Gly into the V β 8.1 domain of a T cell hybridoma. Thus, the CDR2 conformation found in the 14.3.d β chain may be common to at least four and perhaps as many as six $V\beta$ domains.

The CDR3 of the 14.3.d β chain is longer than the corresponding V₁ hypervariable loop by an average of about four residues and is thus more comparable in this respect to CDR3 of V_H. As with V_H, the CDR3 of V β is also coded by D and J gene segments. It is therefore interesting that this hypervariable loop in the 14.3.d β chain also shares the following structural characteristic generally found in the CDR3 of $V_{\rm H}$. In all reported structures, CDR3 of $V_{\rm L}$ folds back over the surface of the domain toward CDR1 and CDR2. By contrast, CDR3 of V_H folds away from the surface of the domain and is thus directed toward CDR3 of V_L of the accompanying chain. [Two exceptions are the mAb 8F5 (23) and HyHEL-5 (24) where the loop of V_H CDR3 folds in a way similar to $V_{\rm L}$.] In this respect, the β -chain CDR3 resembles the $V_{\rm H}$ CDR3 because it also is directed away from CDR1 and CDR2. The region of CDR3 of 14.3.d coded by the diversity region is glycine-rich; this residue is present at positions 95, 96, 97, and 99. The high frequency of Gly in CDR3 of TCRs (and immunoglobulin heavy) has been noted by Abergal & Claverie (25), who suggested that this unusual occurrence may arise to meet conformational constraints particular to CDR3 of V_H. Since D β gene segments can be read in any reading frame, a predominance of polyguanine stretches in TCR $D\beta$ genes allows Gly to be transcribed with high probability.

As in immunoglobulins, an additional β -hairpin loop occurs adjacent to the CDR loops of the variable domain of the 14.3.d β chain. This region is homologous to the third framework region (FR3) of immunoglobulins and is often referred to as the fourth hypervariable region of the TCR, since a hypervariability has been demonstrated in this part of the TCR sequence (26). The $V_{\rm L}$ and $V_{\rm H}$ domains differ in their FR3 region. In the $V_{\rm L}$ domain, the FR3 loop folds in toward CDR1 and CDR2, making direct atomic contacts with both, while in the V_H domain it is almost always directed away toward the solvent. $[V_H \text{ of } 4-4-20 (27) \text{ is an exception.}]$ Furthermore, in comparison to V_H , the FR3 loop of V_L is shorter by two residues. In the β chain crystal structure, the region of V β 8.2 corresponding to FR3 folds toward CDR1 and CDR2 and is thus closer to V_{L} . In length, however, the loop falls intermediate between that of V_L and V_H. Should the conformation of the loop observed in V β 8.2 be adopted more generally in other V β (or V α) domains, it would indeed be more favorably placed to contact the MHC-peptide complex than if it were like $V_{\rm H}$ in conformation. The idiotope-anti-idiotope complex FabD1.3-FabE225 (28) offers an example in which antibody-antigen contacts are mediated by residues in the FR3 region. In this structure, some FR3 residues of the V_L domain of each antibody fragment make contacts with the other component of the complex. In the light of the β -chain structure, it is therefore conceivable that contacts made by the HV4 loop may also have a role in T cell immune recognition (29).

2.3 Quaternary Organization of the β -Chain

The numerous structural studies of Fab fragments have revealed an intrinsic flexibility in the region connecting the variable and constant domains of both the light and heavy chains. Thus, while the association between V_H and V_L and between C_L and C_H1 remains relatively invariant for different Fab structures, the elbow angle (defined by the angle subtended by the approximate twofold axes relating V_H to V_L and C_H1 to C_L) takes values ranging between 127° and 193° (30). The variation in relative orientation between the variable and constant dimers of Fabs manifests itself as a movement pivoting on a conserved set of interactions between a small number of residues of V_H and C_H1, which are invariant or semi-invariant in sequence (31). Contacts between the light chain domains, by contrast, do not show a use of equivalent residues in different Fab structures, although the number of interdomain contacts is generally larger than for the immunoglobulin heavy chain. It has been suggested that the mode of interaction existing between the immunoglobulin heavy chain domains may also occur between the V β and C β domains, since a similar pattern of conserved or semi-conserved residues is found at equivalent positions of the TCR β -chain (9, 31). Although the residues predicted by these authors do make contacts across the $V\beta/C\beta$ interface (Val12, Thr115, Val16A, Phe153, and Pro154), they do not appear to be the most important in the crystal structure of the 14.3.d β chain. Several van der Waals contacts are established between His156 of $C\beta$ and residues from the variable domain, including a hydrogen bond between N ϵ 2 and Oy of Thr115. The variable domain residue Arg113 also contributes numerous nonpolar contacts across the $V\beta/C\beta$ interface and a salt bridge to Glu158 of C β . This salt bridge may be conserved since residue 113 is coded as Lys in one murine J β gene and as Arg in the remaining 11 J β genes (32).

In total, 20 residues together with three bridging solvent molecules contribute toward contacts between the two protein surfaces. The combined surface area between the two domains that is inaccessible by solvent is 833 a^2 (the contribution of residues 116A and 117 at the transition between the two domains was not included). Corresponding areas between V_H and C_H1 vary between about 200 a^2 and 350 a^2 depending on the elbow angle. The size of the interface between the constant and variable domains and the presence of a conserved salt bridge might suggest, in general, a more rigid structure for the β chain in comparison to immunoglobulin heavy chains.

The hydrophobic surface of the V β domain implicated in formation of the interface with V α in the $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer (33) contacts the equivalent surface of a neighboring β -chain in the crystal structure, not giving an immunoglobulin Fv-like structure, but rather one where the V β domains pack head-to-tail so that their CDRs appear at opposing ends of the aggregate. Ten residues from each variable domain surface contribute numerous van der Waals contacts and four hydrogen bonds across this interface. These residues are Gln37, Gly42, Leu43, Arg44, Phe91, Gly99, Tyr101, Ala102, Phe107, and Gly108, some of which are equivalent by homology to those involved in the V_H/V_L interaction (34). The conformation of the CDR3 loop may be critical in determining this particular mode of association in the crystal since, as described above, it folds away from the core of the V β domain in a manner characteristic of immunoglobulin V_H domains. Accordingly, in the absence of any conformational rearrangement of CDR3, an immunoglobulin Fv-like homodimer formed by the V β domains would lead to steric encumbrance between these hypervariable loops. Taking this argument further, the V α domain forming a heterodimer with this particular $V\beta$ domain would itself require a V_L-like conformation in its CDR3 loop to form a V α /V β Fv dimer. This is indeed the case for V α of the 1434.4 clone (7). Whether or not this situation persists more generally in the TCR must await further structural studies.

The surface of the C β domain implicated in heterodimer formation is, by contrast with V β , completely exposed to the solvent in the crystal. This surface is rich in charged residues; a total of 5 lysines, 3 arginines, 3 glutamates, and an aspartate are located in this region or at its periphery to form an array of charges that cannot be neutralized by a complementary matching of the same surface of neighboring C β domain. At least three of these charged residues would be completely buried by dimer formation. This contrasts with the C κ , C γ , and C_H1 domains, where the dimer-forming surfaces are very hydrophobic and carry no charged residues except, in some cases, at the periphery.

576 BENTLEY & MARIUZZA

Furthermore, the corresponding surface of $C\alpha$ predicted to interact with $C\beta$ in the $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer is also polar but should carry a net negative charge (33, 35). Polar residues may therefore be disposed such that charges are neutralized by salt-bridge formation across the $C\alpha/C\beta$ interface in the heterodimer. In summary, therefore, the stereochemical constraints on $V\beta/V\beta$ and $C\beta/C\beta$ pairing discussed above would not permit formation of a β chain homodimer analogous to the immunoglobulin light-chain dimer.

2.4 A Model for the $\alpha\beta$ Heterodimer

Although the structure of the intact extracellular region of an $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer has not yet been reported, a model has been proposed based on the structure of the 14.3.d β chain (6). By superposition of V_H and C_H1 domains of a Fab upon the V β and C β domains, respectively, the corresponding positions of the V_L and C_L domains could be used to model the α chain without resort to any modification to the quaternary structure of the β chain to relieve steric hindrance. This model, which has the essential features present in earlier propositions based on immunoglobulin structure (9, 36, 37), is structurally equivalent to a Fab fragment with an elbow angle of 154° (Figure 1b). The rigid quaternary structure of the β chain suggested by the crystal structure may thus, by contrast to Fab structure, confer a relatively rigid arrangement between the variable and constant domains in the $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer. The relatively compact structure of the β chain is consistent with its remarkable resistance to a variety of proteases (papain, bromelain, trypsin, chymotrypsin) whether or not it is paired to the α chain (38). By contrast, the α chain is readily digested by these enzymes, even when paired with β chain in a V α C α C κ /V β C β C κ heterodimer. Consistent with these results, Kearse and colleagues (39) have found that TCR β chains are markedly more stable than α chains in immature CD4⁺CD8⁺ thymocytes. This may have important implications concerning the structure of the $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer and signal transduction, possibly via an allosteric mechanism, which we discuss in more detail below.

3. ANTIGEN RECOGNITION

3.1 Interaction with MHC/Peptide

Models for the interaction between TCR and MHC/peptide antigen have been proposed independently by several groups (9, 36, 37); the models are based on the three-dimensional structure of the MHC/peptide moiety and the expected structural similarity between the TCR and an immunoglobulin Fab. All of these models propose that CDR1 and CDR2 of both the α and β chains of the TCR interact preferentially with the helices of the MHC molecule and that contacts to the bound peptide are made essentially by CDR3 alone. This appears to be borne

out by a number of mutagenesis studies of TCR/MHC/peptide interactions (10-15). The limited polymorphism of MHC molecules relative to the large diversity of antigenic peptides recognized by TCRs would indeed be consistent with this model in that a far greater diversity is present in CDR3 sequences by comparison with CDR1 and CDR2. Such a partition of function between the CDR as proposed by these models may restrain the orientation of the TCR with respect to the MHC molecule. Nonetheless, the proximity of some residues of CDR1 and CDR2 to CDR3 observed in the V α (7) and V β (6) crystal structures would suggest that this partitioning of contact roles is probably not strictly adhered to. The CDR3 of both the α and β chains are less variable in length than those of the TCR γ and δ chains and of the immunoglobulin heavy chains. This would be compatible with proposed TCR/MHC/peptide models where the necessity of maintaining contacts with MHC as well as accommodating the volume of the peptide at the center of the antigen-binding site could place constraints on the size of the CDR3 (40). The observed shortening of β chain CDR3 in mouse by about one amino acid during the first week after birth would be consistent with some selective constraint operating on the naive immune system (41).

3.2 Interaction with Superantigens

While T cells respond to processed antigen in the form of peptide presented by the MHC class I and class II molecules, it is now well established that certain antigens do not require degradation in order to elicit stimulation. These molecules, known as superantigens (see 42, 43 for review), can appear either in soluble form, as with bacterial toxins, or as cell-bound products derived from certain retroviruses such as murine mammary tumor virus. They bind mainly to nonpolymorphic regions located on the V β domain rather than the CDRs. Thus, stimulation by superantigen leads to response in a significant portion of the T cell population (as much as 25-30%) corresponding to those carrying receptors coded by the superantigen-specific V β gene (or genes). Although MHC class II appears to be essential for stimulation by superantigens, mutation studies on the presenting molecule have suggested that interaction between the two species, at least in the case of staphylcoccal enterotoxin B (SEB) (44) and staphylococcal enterotoxin C (SEC) (45), does not involve the peptide-binding groove. This has indeed been confirmed by the recent crystal structure analysis of the binary complex HLA-DR1/SEB (46), which showed that the bacterial superantigen binds to the MHC $\alpha 1$ domain outside of the peptide-binding groove. Binding studies of the TCR/SEB/DR1 ternary complex confirm that the association is not affected by the presence of different DR1-bound peptides (47). This mode of binding was thought to be more general since, by contrast with presentation of peptide antigens, presentation of superantigens did not seem MHCrestricted. More recently, however, the structure of the complex formed between HLA-DR1 and toxic shock syndrome toxin-1 (48) shows that this superantigen covers approximately one half of the bound peptide, contacting some polymorphic residues on the α 1 domain as well as on the β 1 domain.

Several studies have implicated certain TCR residues located on the putative solvent-exposed β sheet of the V β domain to be involved in superantigen binding, especially those on the β -hairpin formed by strands D and E of the third framework region (45, 49–53). In particular, an investigation into the reactivity of murine V β 8.2 toward the self-superantigen Mls-1^a showed that stimulation could be significantly affected by mutations introduced at positions 19, 20, 24, 26, 73, and 74 of the TCR variable domain (49, 50). (These residues are numbered 17, 18, 22, 24, 70, and 71, respectively, by the authors.) Residues 19, 20, and 24 form part of the first framework region, and 26 belongs to CDR1, while 73 and 74 are located in the third framework region (18). These are on the surface of V β of the 14.3.d receptor (6) (the side chain of residue 19, however, is buried) and in principle should be capable of forming direct atomic contacts with the superantigen (Figure 5). Although V β 8.2 of the wild-type strain (V β 8.2a) is not stimulated by Mls-1^a, V β 8.2b and V β 8.2c from inbred strains do interact with the endogenous superantigen. Pullen and colleagues (49, 50) have found evidence that Asn24 and Asn74 of V β 8.2a are probably glycosylated, and they proposed accordingly that carbohydrate could shield the Mls-1^a-binding site on V β 8.2a, since mutation of these residues to the amino acids found in V β 8.2b and V β 8.2c (which do not carry the consensus N-glycosylation sequence) yields a receptor capable of interacting strongly with the superantigen.

Published models of TCR/SAg interactions (46, 49–53) have all taken the immunoglobulin V_H domain to base structural interpretations, but as discussed in a previous section, the HV4 region of V β 8.2 is structurally closer to V_L than to V_H. The region of V β 8.2 involved in superantigen binding should be similar in V β 6, V β 7, V β 8.1, and V β 8.3, with a possibility of V β 9 as well, since all of these are expected to have the same canonical structure for CDR1 and CDR2, and they have a similar sequence in HV4, where Arg69, in particular, should play a critical role (see Table 1 and Figure 1*a*). This conclusion would be consistent with the negative selection of V β 6, V β 7, V β 8.1, and V β 9 by Mls-1a and of V β 7 and V β 8 by the staphylococcal enterotoxins *B*, *C3*, *D*, and *M. arthriditus* mitogen (55).

Superantigen binding was initially considered insensitive to the choice MHC because a given superantigen could be presented to the same TCR by different class II isotypes and alleles (56). Furthermore, CD8⁺ T cells expressing MHC class I–restricted TCRs recognize MHC class II/SAg complexes (57). Thus, TCR/MHC interactions were thought to be nonexistent, or at least



Figure 5 Residues on the V β 8.2 domain that affect binding of Mls-1^a (49, 50).

unimportant, compared to TCR/SAg interactions in the ternary complex. Subsequent investigations of more weakly interacting TCRs have now provided strong evidence that TCR/MHC contacts probably modulate the fine specificities of superantigen binding as a function of MHC isotype and allele. For example, I-E molecules are more efficient than I-A molecules at presenting SEB to $V\beta 8^+$ T cells, to the extent that I-A^q molecules are incompetent (58, 59). Similarly, Woodland and colleagues (60) found that whereas $V\beta 8.2^+$ hybridomas varied significantly in their recognition of MIs-1 when presented by different MHC H-2 haplotypes, $V\beta 8.1^+$ hybridomas experienced no apparent modulation of response. $V\beta 8.1$ and $V\beta 8.2$ have the same sequence except in the CDRs and in five framework positions (10, 24, 83, 84 and 88). Furthermore, their CDR1 and CDR2 should have the same canonical form (identical CDR lengths with key residues Gln25, Ser49, and Arg69). The different behavior of $V\beta 8.1^+$ and $V\beta 8.2^+$ T cells to superantigen response therefore suggests that direct contacts occur between the CDRs of the $V\beta$ domain and the MHC molecule. Woodland and coworkers (60) also found supporting evidence that TCR/MHC interactions differ between superantigen and peptide antigen presentation since the preference for haplotype in Mls-1 fine specificity did not reflect the preference expected from positive selection in the thymus of the parental T cell that gave rise to the hybridomas.

Other studies have shown that residues from CDR1 of the V β domain affect the formation of the ternary TCR/SAg/MHC complex. In V β 10 response to staphylococcal enterotoxin C2 and exfoliative toxin, Bellio and coworkers (54) examined the effect of mutation of CDR1 residues of V β 10 between positions 26 and 31. Mutation at each position was able to suppress binding of at least one of the superantigens except for residue 28, which surprisingly provoked an increased response to both toxins. The CDR1 sequence of V β 10 would suggest that its conformation is the same as V β 8.2. This study could not differentiate TCR/SAg contacts from potential TCR/MHC contacts, but in the structure of V β 8.2, the side chains of residues 28 and 30 appear to be most suitably placed for contact with the MHC/SAg moiety of the ternary complex.

Several studies have revealed an influence of the V α domain upon the fine specificity of superantigen recognition (60–66). For example, by using mutants of the superantigen-presenting molecule, I-E κ , contacts between V α and the β chain of the MHC molecule could be inferred from the pattern of SEB stimulation of V β 8.1⁺ and V β 8.2⁺ hybridomas (66). Moreover, based on the crystal structure of the DR1/SEB complex (46), a model of the ternary complex TCR/SEB/DR1 was proposed in which mutagenesis data were used to deduce the TCR/SEB interface. This model indeed suggests that V α /MHC contacts are a distinct possibility, and further, that the TCR/MHC contacts would have to be different in superantigen interaction since SEB covers β -chain residues of DR1, which are thought to be involved in conventional peptide antigen recognition.

3.3 Superantigen Binding by the 14.3.d β Chain

To determine whether soluble, unglycosylated 14.3.d β chain (V β 8.2J β 2.1C β 1) retains SAg-binding activity, its affinity for various bacterial SAgs was measured in the absence of MHC class II molecules (67). Affinities were determined using two independent techniques: equilibrium sedimentation and surface plasmon resonance detection. Specific binding was demonstrated to SEB, SEC, and streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin A (SPEA), consistent with the known stimulatory effects of these SAgs on V β 8.2-bearing T cells (55, 68). Dissociation constants (K_D) ranged from 0.9 μ M for SEC3 to 140 μ M for SEB (see below). By contrast, SEA, which does not stimulate cells expressing V β 8.2 (55), did

not bind the recombinant β chain with measurable affinity (67). Similar results were obtained for soluble, glycosylated 14.3.d $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer and for glycosylated β chain alone, indicating that α chain and carbohydrate do not contribute appreciably to SAg recognition in this particular case. From these studies, it may be concluded that the crystal structure of the 14.3.d β chain represents a biologically active conformation of this molecule, at least with respect to those regions that mediate binding to SAgs.

The much weaker binding of the 14.3.d β chain, and of the corresponding $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer, to SEB ($K_D = 140 \,\mu M$) than to SEC1, SEC2, SEC3, or SPEA (K_D = 2.5, 2.3, 0.9, and 2.1 μ M, respectively) was surprising, since SEB was found to actually be 3- to 10-fold more potent, on a molar basis, than the other toxins in stimulation assays using the 14.3.d hybridoma (67). These results may be interpreted in terms of the ability of SEC to activate T cells independently of MHC, in contrast to SEB (69). As discussed above, it is generally believed that SAgs activate T cells by simultaneously binding class II molecules on antigenpresenting cells and the V β element on T cells (43, 55, 70). Recently, however, through the use of class II knockout mice, SEC and SEE (but not SEB) were able to activate T cells in the absence of MHC (69). The responses resembled conventional class II-associated ones in that T cells expressing the same $V\beta$ elements were selectively expanded: V β 8-positive cells in the case of SEC and $V\beta$ 11-positive cells in the case of SEE. We attribute the ability of SEC to act in an MHC-independent fashion to its much higher affinity than SEB for V β 8.2. That is, SAgs that bind TCRs with micromolar affinities may not absolutely require the participation of MHC class II molecules to stabilize their interactions with the β chain. However, it should be noted that, even for MHC-independent activation, APC from MHC-deficient mice were required for stimulation (69). This suggests that other surface molecules may substitute for MHC in binding certain SEs, thereby helping to stabilize TCR-SE interactions.

Binding of the 14.3.d β chain to all SAgs tested was characterized by very fast association rates (> 1 × 10⁵ M⁻¹s⁻¹) and extremely fast dissociation rates (> 0.1 s⁻¹) (67), the latter accounting for the rather weak affinities observed (relative to those of most antigen-antibody reactions). Fast dissociation kinetics have also been reported for the binding of the cell adhesion molecule CD2 to CD48 or CD58 (71, 72) and for the binding of TCRs to peptide/MHC complexes (73, 74). In the case of adhesion molecules, rapid dissociation rates may serve to facilitate de-adhesion, a requirement for cell motility (75). In the case of TCRs, however, fast dissociation rates would not appear to be compatible with a stable interaction with ligand believed to be necessary for signal transduction through the TCR/CD3 complex (74, 76). This implies that T cell activation by SAgs requires the participation of other surface molecules such as MHC in

order to stabilize the transient TCR-SAg interaction (58, 77–80). Multivalent binding arising from receptor oligomerization (see below) could also increase the lifetime of TCR-SAg complexes. Another possibility is that fast dissociation rates may actually be critical for T cell triggering by SAgs, as suggested by a recent study in which a single peptide/MHC complex was found to serially engage and downregulate nearly 200 TCRs (81). Superantigens bound to the surface of APC may display similar behavior.

In contrast to the mouse V β 8.2 TCR described above, a soluble human V β 3.1 TCR binds SEB with association and dissociation rates that were only moderately fast: $1.3 \times 10^4 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ and $1.1 \times 10^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$, respectively (47). On the other hand, SEB was found to bind HLA-DR1 with rapid kinetics very similar to those of the V β 8.2-SAg interaction. This suggests that binding of human V β 3.1 to SEB helps stabilize the transient SEB-DR1 interaction and, as a result, the TCR-SEB-DR1 complex (47). If so, one might expect the transient binding of murine V β 8.2 to SEB to be stabilized by a more kinetically favorable interaction of SEB with I-E or I-A molecules, that is, one with a slower dissociation rate. These results suggest that the same SAg may activate different T cells by different mechanisms, depending on the particular V β element they express and on the specific MHC background of the host.

As mentioned above, carbohydrate does contribute to enterotoxin binding by the 14.3.d β chain (67). This is rather surprising, since the potential Nlinked glycosylation sites at V β residues 24 and 74, which were mutated to glutamine, are at or near the putative SAg binding site in the crystal structure of the β chain (6). Indeed, Asn74 is part of HV4, which has been directly implicated in SAg recognition (70). At least one of these residues appears to be glycosylated (50), suggesting that they may actually lie at the periphery of the binding site for bacterial SAgs. It is worth noting in this respect that mutation of Asn24 to glutamate confers reactivity to MIs-1 (49, 50), suggesting that viral and bacterial SAgs bind to somewhat different regions of V β .

Pairwise comparisons between mouse V β 8.2 and other V β regions based on the crystal structure of the former have been carried out in order to investigate the structural basis for reactivity with different bacterial SAgs (67). As might be expected, V β 8.2 shares a larger number of conserved residues on its putative SAg-binding face with V β s with similar SE reactivity profiles (e.g. V β 3, V β 7, V β 11) than with V β s with very different ones (e.g. V β 1). Surprisingly, however, each pairwise comparison revealed a different set of conserved residues, even between V β 8.2 and V β s, which react with a similar spectrum of SAgs; furthermore, these residues are not particularly concentrated in HV4. Thus, certain SAgs (e.g. SEC3, which reacts with V β 3, V β 7, and V β 8.2) are able to recognize quite different molecular surfaces on different V β domains. This could occur if individual SAgs possessed several distinct V β -binding sites. Several precedents, however, suggest that it is not necessary to postulate multiple binding sites to account for the recognition of topographically distinct surfaces by a single molecular species (82–84).

4. TCR DIMERIZATION AND T CELL ACTIVATION

Ligand-induced dimerization (or oligomerization) appears to be a general feature of the activation of cell-surface receptors (85, 86). Examples include cytokine receptors, protein-tyrosine kinase receptors, serine/threonine kinase receptors, and receptors of the tumor necrosis factor family. Certain ligands activate their receptors in soluble form (e.g. growth hormone, epidermal growth factor), while others require membrane attachment, as in the case of ligands for EPH-related tyrosine kinase receptors (87). There is considerable evidence that antigen receptors, both membrane immunoglobulin and TCRs, must also undergo multimerization for signal transduction to occur (88, 89). In particular, it has long been known that T cells can be triggered by divalent antibodies specific for TCR or CD3 determinants, but not by their monovalent Fab fragments (90, 91, 92). More recent evidence derives from experiments involving chimeric molecules consisting of the extracellular and transmembrane regions of non-TCR cell-surface proteins linked to the cytoplasmic regions of CD3 ϵ (93) or ζ chains (94, 95). Upon cross-linking with specific monoclonal antibodies, the chimeras were capable of transducing signals similar to those generated by the intact TCR, suggesting that juxtaposition of CD3 subunits is required to promote cross-phosphorylation of tyrosine kinases associated with the TCR/CD3 complex, in common with other receptor systems (85, 86).

These studies, along with the finding that HLA class II molecules crystallize as parallel dimers (96), led to a model for T cell activation in which class II dimers facilitate TCR dimerization, resulting in signal transduction (96, 97). A limitation of this model, however, is that there is no known mechanism for generating class II dimers loaded with identical peptides, making it difficult to explain how two TCRs can be brought into juxtaposition by as few as 100 specific peptide/MHC complexes among the roughly 100,000 irrelevant complexes found on the surface of a typical APC (98–100). Since an individual T cell generally expresses only a single $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer, an obvious solution to this problem would be if the TCR itself had a tendency to dimerize (96, 97).

The recently determined crystal structure of the V α domain of a TCR specific for the N-terminal nonapeptide of myelin basic protein in association with I-A^u provides evidence for such dimers of dimers (7). The V α domain exists as a homodimer in solution and in the crystals (101) analogous to the known structures of immunoglobulin light chain dimers (102) and the T cell co-receptor CD8 (103). However, a switch in a polypeptide strand from one β sheet to the other distinguishes the V α secondary structure from that of antibody V domains and from the TCR V β domain (7). This switch results in the removal of a surface protrusion and enables a pair of V α homodimers to pack together to form a tetramer such that the two homodimers are parallel to each other and all CDR loops face in one direction. A model of an $(\alpha\beta)_2$ TCR tetramer constructed on the basis of the observed mode of V α dimer-dimer association and the β chain structure (6) shows structural complementarity to the HLA-DR1 $(\alpha\beta)_2$ tetramer (96).

Assuming that the parallel dimers observed in V α crystals represent a physiologically relevant interaction, a mechanism for T cell activation may be envisaged whereby α chain-mediated TCR dimerization drives formation of a homogeneous peptide/MHC class II dimer; binding of the class II dimer in turn stabilizes the weak TCR dimer sufficiently to trigger the receptor. In the absence of cognate peptide/MHC complexes, however, the putative TCR dimers exist only transiently on the cell surface, thus preventing T cells from triggering spontaneously. This cooperative mechanism, whereby weak TCR dimers interact with weak class II dimers, resulting in the formation of stable TCR₂-MHC₂ signaling complexes, differs from that of most other receptor systems in which the ligand either exists as a stable, preformed dimer (platelet-derived growth factor, stem cell factor), or itself possesses two independent receptor-binding sites (growth hormone) (83, 86, 104).

The role of TCR dimerization in T cell activation has been recently questioned (81), because T cell clones expressing two different TCRs show that only the TCR specifically triggered by antigen (TCR_A) is downregulated, while the irrelevant TCR (TCR_B) is unaffected. One interpretation of these data is that TCRs do not self-associate and that they engage peptide/MHC in a monovalent fashion (81). An alternative explanation is that only TCRs whose dimerization is stabilized by specific interactions with cognate peptide/MHC complexes undergo activation. In this way, only TCRA-TCRA homodimers can go on to form productive signaling complexes, whereas TCRA-TCRB heterodimers cannot, at least in the absence of peptide/MHC complexes specific for TCR_B. Homotypic association of TCRs could also contribute to the results of Valitutti and colleagues (81), although we do not consider this to be the primary mechanism. An additional finding was that a single peptide/MHC complex can sequentially engage and trigger as many as 200 TCRs (81), consistent with the low affinities and rapid dissociation rates that have been measured for TCR binding to peptide/MHC (73, 74). While bivalent binding arising from receptor dimerization would effectively decrease the off-rates (and increase the half-time) of TCR-peptide/MHC interactions, we do not believe this is incompatible with a small number of peptide/MHC complexes successively ligating, triggering, and dissociating from a large number of TCRs. Indeed, recent crystallographic evidence indicates that cell-adhesion molecules, which also appear to rely on fast dissociation rates to facilitate de-adhesion (71, 72, 75), organize into cooperative, multimeric superstructures to strengthen intercellular bonds (105). Thus, the serial engagement model for T cell triggering (81) is compatible with one requiring TCR dimerization for each activation event.

The possibility that T cell signaling also involves conformational changes in the TCR has been discussed by Karjalainen (106) and Janeway (107). While bivalent antibodies are required to trigger T cells, the Fab fragment of one particular anti-TCR antibody induces the physical association of the TCR with CD4 and CD45 on the T cell surface, which is believed to be a critical step in T cell activation (108). One interpretation of these results is that the monovalent Fab fragment, though unable actually to activate the T cell, induces a conformational change in the TCR similar to that associated with the binding of MHC/peptide. In the crystal structure of the β chain, the close association observed between the V β and C β domains could facilitate the transmission of any structural changes that may occur in the TCR upon antigen binding to associated CD3 molecules in the TCR/CD3 complex. Direct structural studies of the TCR in free and liganded forms will be required to resolve these issues unambiguously.

5. CONCLUDING REMARKS

The crystallographic analyses of TCR fragments discussed in this review have given preliminary insights into the three-dimensional structure of the receptor. They have suggested the existence of certain patterns to the conformation for the CDR, which await testing by further crystallographic studies on the $\alpha\beta$ (and $\gamma \delta$) heterodimers and their fragments. These patterns, which differ in some aspects from those found in immunoglobulins, appear consistent with certain proposals for TCR/MHC/peptide interactions. While we may hope for structural analyses of the TCR/antigen complex in the future, the present results provide a base for designing further experiments to probe the nature of TCR/antigen interaction by other means. In addition, these three-dimensional structures have offered some indications of the mechanism that might operate in T cell activation; these, likewise, are now open to experimental testing. Given the complexity of the membrane-bound TCR/CD3 system, the contribution of structural studies may remain reductionist in its approach for some time, perhaps mainly providing structures of individual extracellular and cytoplasmic domains of the TCR/CD3 complex in isolation from its other components, its

586 BENTLEY & MARIUZZA

antigen and the coreceptors. Nonetheless, such studies will offer an important addition to our understanding of the rather complex recognition and signaling system.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

GA Bentley is supported by funds from Institut Pasteur, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Fondation pour la Recherche Medicale, Ligue Nationale Contre le Cancer and the European Commission. RA Mariuzza is supported by grants from NIH (AI36900-01A1), the National Multiple Sclerosis Society, and the Richard Lounsbery Foundation.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Clevers H, Alarcon B, Wileman T, Terhorst C. 1988. The T cell receptor/CD3 complex: a dynamic protein ensemble. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 6:629–62
- Campbell KS, Bäckström BT, Tiefenhaler G, Palmer E. 1994. CART: a conserved antigen receptor transmembrane motif. *Semin. Immunol.* 6:393–410
- Rothbard JB, Gefter ML. 1991. Interaction between immunogenic peptides and MHC molecules. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 9: 527–65
- Haas W, Pereira P, Tonegawa S. 1993. Gamma/delta cells. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 11:637–85
- Madden DR. 1995. The three-dimensional structure of peptide-MHC complexes. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 13:587–622
- Bentley GA, Boulot G, Karjalainen K, Mariuzza RA. 1995. Crystal structure of the β chain of a T cell antigen receptor. *Science* 267:1984–87
- Fields BA, Ober B, Malchiodi EL, Lebedeva MI, Ysern X, Ward ES, Mariuzza RA. 1995. Crystal structure of the Vα domain of a T cell antigen receptor. *Science* In press
- Williams AF, Barclay AN. 1988. The immunoglobulin superfamily—domains for cell surface recognition. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 6:381–405
- Chothia C, Boswell DR, Lesk AM. 1988. The outline structure of the T-cell αβ receptor. *EMBO J.* 7:3745–55
- 10. Engel I, Hedrick SM. 1988. Site-directed

mutations in the VDJ junctional region of a T cell receptor β chain cause changes in antigenic peptide recognition. *Cell* 54:473–484

- Danska JS, Livingstone AM, Paragas V, Ishihara T, Fathman CG. 1990. The presumptive CDR3 regions of both T cell receptor α and β chains determine T cell specificity for myoglobin peptides. J. Exp. Med. 172:27–33
- Lai M-Z, Jang Y-J, Chen L-K, Gefter ML. 1990. Restricted V-(D)-J junctional regions in the T cell response to λ-repressor. *J. Immunol.* 144:4851–56
- Nalefski EA, Kasibhatla S, Rao A. 1992. Functional analysis of the antigen binding site on the T cell receptor α chain. J. Exp. Med. 175:1553–63
- Jorgensen JL, Esser U, Fazekas de St. Groth B, Reay PA, Davis MM. 1992. Mapping T-cell receptor-peptide contacts by variant peptide immunisation of singlechain transgenics. *Nature* 355:224–30
- Jorgensen JL, Reay PA, Ehrich EW, Davis MM. 1992. Molecular components of Tcell recognition. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 10:835–73
- Chothia C, Lesk AM. 1987. Canonical structures for the hypervariable regions of immunoglobulins. J. Mol. Biol. 196: 901– 17
- Chothia C, Lesk AM, Tramontano A, Levitt M, Smith-Gill SJ, Air G, Sheriff S, Padlan EA, Davies D, Tulip WR, Colman PM, Spinelli S, Alzari PM, Poljak RJ.

1989. Conformations of immunoglobulin hypervariable regions. *Nature* 342:877– 83

- Kabat EA, Wu TT, Perry HM, Gottesman KS, Foeller C. 1991. Sequences of proteins of immunological interest. NIH Publ. No. 91-3242. US Dep. Health Hum. Serv., Natl. Inst. Health
- Tramontano A, Chothia C, Lesk AM. 1990. Framework residue 71 is a major determinant of the position and conformation of the second hypervariable region in the V_H domains. *J. Mol. Biol.* 215:175–82
- Chou PY, Fasman GD. 1977. β-turns in proteins. J. Mol. Biol. 115:135–75
- Wilmot CM, Thornton JM. 1988. Analysis and prediction of the different types of β-turn in proteins. J. Mol. Biol. 203:221– 32
- DiGiusto DL, Palmer E. 1994. An analysis of sequence variation in the *β* chain framework and complementarity-determining regions of an allo-reactive T cell receptor. *Mol. Immunol.* 31:693–99
- Tormo J, Stadler E, Skern T, Auer H, Kanzler O, Betzel C, Biaas D, Fita I. 1992. Three-dimensional structure of the Fab fragment of a neutralizing antibody to human rhinovirus serotype 2. *Protein Sci.* 1:1154–61
- Sheriff S, Silverton EW, Padlan EA, Cohen GH, Smith-Gill SJ, Finzel BC, Davies DR. 1987. Three-dimensional structure of an antibody-antigen complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:8075–79
- Abergal C, Claverie J-M. 1991. A strong propensity toward loop formation characterises the expressed reading frames of the D segments at the Ig H and T cell receptor loci. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 21:3021–3025
- Jores R, Alzari PM, Meo T. 1990. Resolution of hypervariable regions in T-cell receptor β chains by a modified Wu-Kabat index of amino acid diversity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87:9138–42
- Herron JN, He X-M, Mason ML, Voss EW, Edmundson AB. 1989. Threedimensional structure of a fluorescein-Fab complex crystallised in 2-methyl-2, pentandiol. *Proteins: Struct. Funct. Genet.* 5:271–80
- Bentley GA, Boulot G, Roittot MM, Poljak RJ. 1990. Three-dimensional structure of an idiotope-anti-idiotope complex. *Nature* 348:254–57
- Kourilsky P, Claverie J-M, Prochnicka-Chalufour A, Spet-Hagberg A-L, Larsson-Sciard E-L. 1989. How important is the direct recognition of polymorphic MHC residues by TCR in the generation

of the T-cell repertoire. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. LIV:93–103

- Padlan EA. 1994. Anatomy of the antibody molecule. *Molec. Immunol.* 31:169– 217
- Lesk AM, Chothia C. 1988. Elbow motion in the immunoglobulins involves a molecular ball-and-socket joint. *Nature* 335:188–90
- Gascoinge NJR, Chien Y, Becker DM, Kavaler J, Davis MM. 1984. Genomic organisation and sequence of T-cell receptor β-chain constant and joining-region genes. Nature 310:387–91
- Novotny J, Tonegawa S, Saito H, Kranz DM, Eisen HN. 1986. Secondary, tertiary and quaternary structure of T-cell-specific immunoglobulin-like polypeptide chains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83:742–46
- Chothia C, Novotny J, Bruccoleri R, Karplus M. 1985. Domain association in immunoglobulin molecules: the packing of variable domains. J. Mol. Biol. 186:651–63
- Hedrick SM, Nielson EA, Kavaler J, Cohen DI, Davis MM. 1984. Sequence relationships between putative T-cell receptor polypeptides and immunoglobulins. *Nature* 308:153–58
- Davis MM, Bjorkmann PJ. 1988. T-cell antigen receptor genes and T-cell recognition. *Nature* 334:395–401
- Claverie JM, Prochnicka-Chalufour A, Bougueleret L. 1989. Implications of a Fab-like structure for the T-cell receptor. *Immunol. Today* 10:10–14
- Boulot G, Bentley GA, Karjalainen K, Mariuzza RA. 1994. Crystallisation and preliminary X-ray diffraction analysis of the β chain of a T-cell antigen receptor. J. Mol. Biol. 235:795–97
- 39. Kearse KP, Roberts JL, Minitz TI, Wiest DL, Nakayama T, Singer S. 1994. Developmental regulation of αβ T cell antigen receptor expression results from differential stability of nascent TCRα proteins within the endoplasmic reticulum of immature and mature T cells. *EMBO J.* 13:4504–14
- Rock EP, Sibbald PR, Davis MM, Chien Y. 1994. CDR3 length in antigen-specific immune receptors. J. Exp. Med. 179:323– 28
- Pannetier C, Cochet M, Darche S, Casrouge A, Zöller M, Kourilsky P. 1993. The sizes of the CDR3 hypervariable regions of the murine T-cell receptor β chains vary as a function of the recombined germline segments. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:4319–23

- Herman A, Kappler JW, Marrack P, Pullen AM. 1991. Superantigens: mechanisms of T-cell stimulation and role in immune responses. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 9:745–72
- Klotzin BL, Leung DYM, Kappler J, Marrack P. 1993. Superantigens and their role in human disease. *Adv. Immunol.* 54:99– 166
- Dellabona P, Peccoud J, Kappler J, Marrack P, Benoist C, Mathis D. 1990. Superantigens interact with MHC class II molecules outside of the antigen groove. *Cell* 62:1115–21
- Choi Y, Herman A, DiGiusto D, Wade T, Marrack P, Kappler J. 1990. Residues of the variable region of the T-cell-receptor β chain that interact with S. aureus toxin superantigens. Nature 346:471–73
- 46. Jardetzky TS, Brown JH, Gorga JC, Stern LJ, Urban RG, Chi Y, Stauffacher CS JL, Wiley DC. 1994. Three-dimensional structure of a human class II histocompatibility molecule complexed with superantigen. *Nature* 368:711–18
- 47. Seth A, Stern LJ, Ottenhoff THM, Engel I, Owen MJ, Lamb JR, Klausner RD, Wiley DC. 1994. Binary and ternary complexes between T-cell receptor, class II MHC and superantigen in vitro. *Nature* 369:324–27
- Kim J, Urban RG, Strominger JL, Wiley DC. 1994. Toxic shock syndrome toxin-1 complexed with a class II major histocompatibility molecule HLA-DR1. *Science* 266:1870–74
- Pullen AM, Wade T, Marrack P, Kappler JW. 1990. Identification of the region of T cell receptor β chain that interacts with the self-superantigen MIs-1^a. *Cell* 61:1365– 74
- Pullen AM, Bill J, Kubo RT, Marrack P, Kappler JW. 1991. Analysis of the interaction site for self superantigen Mls-1^a on T cell receptor Vβ. J. Exp. Med. 173:1183– 92
- 51. Cazenave P-A, Marche PN, Jouvin-Marche E, Voegtlé D, Bonhomme F, Bandeira A, Coutinho A. 1990. Vβ17 gene polymorphism in wild-derived mouse strains: two amino acid substitutions in the Vβ17 region greatly alter T cell receptor specificity. *Cell* 63:717–28
- Pontzer CH, Irwin MJ, Gascoinge NJR, Johnson HM. 1992. T-cell antigen receptor binding sites for the microbial superantigen staphylococcal enterotoxin A. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:7727–31
- White J, Pullen A, Choi K, Marrack P, Kappler JW. 1993. Antigen recognition properties of mutant Vβ3⁺ T cell receptors are consistent with an

immunoglobulin-like structure for the receptor. J. Exp Med. 177:119–25

- 54. Bellio M, Lone Y, de la Calle-Martin O, Malissen B, Abastado J-P, Kourilsky P. 1994. The Vβ complementarity determining region 1 of a major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class-I-restricted T cell receptor is involved in the recognition of a peptide/MHC I and a superantigen/MHC II complex. J. Exp. Med. 179:1087–97
- Marrack P, Kappler J. 1990. The staphylococcal entertoxins and their relatives. *Science* 248:705–11
- Mollick JA, Cook RG, Rich RR. 1989. Class II MHC molecules are specific receptors for staphylococcal enterotoxin A. *Science* 244:817–20
- 57. Herrmann T, Maryanski JL, Romero P, Fleischer B, MacDonald HR. 1990. Activation of MHC class I-restricted CD8⁺ CTL by microbial T cell mitogens: dependence upon MHC class II expression of the target cell and Vβ usage of the responder cells. J. Immunol. 144:1181–86
- Yagi J, Baron J, Buxser S, Janeway CA. 1990. Bacterial proteins that mediate the association of a defined subset of T cell receptor: cD4 complexes with class II MHC. J. Immunol. 144:892–901
- Yagi J, Rath S, Janeway CA. 1991. Control of T cell responses to staphlococcal enterotoxins by stimulator cell MHC class II polymorphism. *J. Immunol.* 147:1398– 1405
- Woodland DL, Smith HP, Surman S, Le P, Wen R, Blackman MA. 1993. Major histocompatibility complex-specific recognition of Mls-1 is mediated by multiple elements of the T cell receptor. J. Exp. Med. 177:433–42
- Waanders GA, Lussow AR, MacDonald HR. 1992. Skewed T cell receptor Vα repertoire among superantigen reactive murine T cells. *Int. Immunol.* 5:55–61
- Vacchio MS, Kanagawa O, Tomonari K, Hodes RJ. 1992. Influence of T cell receptor Va expression on MIsa superantigenspecific T cell responses. J. Exp. Med. 175:1405–8
- Smith HP, Le P, Woodland DL, Blackman MA. 1992. T cell receptor α-chain influences reactivity to Mls-1 in Vβ8.1 transgenic mice. J. Immunol. 149:887–96
- 64. Blackman MA, Smith HP, Le P, Woodland DL. 1993. Influence of the T cell receptor α-chain on T cell reactivity and tolerance to MIs-1 in T cell receptor β-chain transgenic mice. J. Immunol. 151:556–65
- Labrecque N, Thiboldeau J, Mourad W, Sékaly R-P. 1994. T cell receptor-major

histocompatibility complex class II interaction is required for the T cell response to bacterial superantigens. *J. Exp. Med.* 180:1921–29

- 66. Deckhut AM, Chien Y, Blackman MA, Woodland DL. 1994. Evidence for a functional interaction between the β chain of major histocompatibility complex class II and the T cell receptor α chain during recognition of a bacterial superantigen. J. Exp. Med. 180:1931–35
- 67. Machiodi EL, Eisenstein E, Fields BA, Ohlendorf DH, Schlievert PM, Karjalainen K, Mariuzza RA. 1995. Superantigen binding to a T cell receptor β chain of known three-dimensional structure. J. Exp. Med. In press
- Imanishi K, Igarashi H, Uchiyama T. 1990. Activation of murine T cells by streptococcal pyrogenic enterotoxin A. J. Immunol. 145:3170–76
- Avery AC, Markowitz JS, Grusby MJ, Glimcher LH, Cantor H. 1994. Activation of T cells by superantigen in class II-negative mice. *J. Immunol.* 153:4853– 61
- Janeway CA, Yagi J, Conrad PJ, Katz ME, Jones B, Vroegop S, Buxser S. 1989. T cell responses to Mls and to bacterial proteins that mimic its behaviour. *Immunol. Rev.* 107:61–88
- van der Merwe PA, Brown MH, Davis SJ, Barclay AN. 1993. Affinity and kinetic analysis of the interaction of the cell adhesion molecules rat CD2 and CD48. *EMBO* J. 12:4945–54
- 72. van der Merwe PA, Barclay AN, Mason DW, Davis EA, Morgan BP, Tone M, Krishnam AKC, Ianelli C, Davis SJ. 1994. Human cell-adhesion molecule CD2 binds CD58 (LFA-3) with a very low affinity and an extremely fast dissociation rate but does not bind CD48 or CD59. *Biochemistry* 33:10149–60
- Matsui K, Boniface JI, Steffner P, Reay PA, Davis MM. 1994. Kinetics of Tcell receptor binding to peptide/I-E^k complexes: correlation of the dissociation rate with T-cell responsiveness. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 91:12,862–66
- 74. Corr M, Slanetz AE, Boyd LF, Jelonek MT, Khilko S, Al-Ramidi BK, Kim YS, Maher SE, Bothwell ALM, Margulies DH. 1994. T cell receptor-MHC class I peptide interactions: affinity, kinetics and specificity. *Science* 265:946–48
- van der Merwe PA, Barclay AN. 1994. Transient intercellular adhesion: the importance of weak protein-protein interactions. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 19:354–58

- Germain RN. 1994. MHC-dependent antigen processing and peptide presentation: providing ligands for T lymphocyte. *Cell* 76:287–99
- Carlsson R, Fischer H, Sjogren HO. 1988. Binding of staphylococcal enterotoxin A to accessory cells is a requirement for its ability to activate human T cells. J. Immunol. 120:92–101
- Fleischer B, Schrezenmeier H, Conradt H. 1989. T lymphocyte activation by staphylococcal entertoxins: role of class II molecules and cell surface structures. *Cell Immunol.* 120:92–101
- 79. White J, Herman A, Pullen A, Kubo R, Kappler JW, Marrack P. 1989. The Vβ-specific staphylococcal enterotoxin B: stimulation of mature T cells and clonal deletion in neonatal mice. *Cell* 56:27–35
- Gascoigne NRJ, Ames KT. 1991. Direct binding of secreted T-cell receptor β chain to superantigen associated with class II major histocompatibility complex protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:613– 16
- Valitutti S, Müller S, Cella M, Padovan E, Lanzavecchia A. 1995. Serial triggering of many T-cell receptors by a few peptide-MHC complexes. *Nature* 375:148–51
- Fields BA, Goldbaum FA, Ysern X, Poljak RJ, Mariuzza RA. 1995. Molecular basis of antigen mimicry by an anti-idiotope. *Nature* 374:739–42
- de Vos AM, Ultsch M, Kossiakoff AA. 1992. Human growth hormone and extracellular domain of its receptor: crystal structure of the complex. *Science* 255:306–12
- Lescar J, Pelligrini M, Souchon H, Tello D, Poljak RJ, Peterson N, Greene MI, Alzari PM. 1995. Crystal structure of a cross-reaction complex between Fab F9.13.7 and Guinea-fowl lysozyme. J. Biol. Chem. 270:18,067–76
- Ullrich A, Schlessinger J. 1990. Signal transduction by receptors with tyrosine kinase activity. *Cell* 61:203–12
- Heldin C-H. 1995. Dimerisation of cell surface receptors in signal transduction. *Cell* 80:203–23
- Davis S, Gale NW, Aldrich TH, Maisonpierre PC, Lhotak V, Pawson T, Goldfarb M, Yancopoulos GD. 1994. Ligands for EPH-related receptor tyrosine kinases that require membrane attachment or clustering for activity. *Science* 266:816–19
- Kolanus W, Romeo C, Seed B. 1993. T cell activation by clustered tyosine kinases. *Cell* 74:171–83

- Weiss A, Littman D. 1994. Signal transduction by lymphocyte antigen receptors. *Cell* 76:263–74
- 90. Kaye J, Porcelli S, Tite J, Jones B, Janeway CA. 1983. Both a monoclonal antibody and antisera specific for determinants unique to individual cloned helper T cell lines can substitute for antigen and antigen presenting cells in the activation of T cells. J. Exp. Med. 158:836–56
- Kappler J, Kubo R, Haskins K, White J, Marrack P. 1983. The mouse T cell receptor: comparison of MHC-restricted receptors in two T cell hybridomas. *Cell* 34:727–37
- Meuer SC, Hidgdon JC, Hussey RE, Protentis JP, Schlossman SF, Reinherz EL. 1983. Antigen-like effects of monoclonal antibodies directed at receptors on human T cell clones. *J. Exp. Med.* 158:988– 95
- Letourneur F, Klausner RD. 1992. Activation by T cells by a tyrosine kinase activation domain in the cytoplasmic domain in the cytoplasmic tail of CD3ε. Science 255:79–81
- 94. Irving BA, Weiss A. 1991. The cytoplasmic domain of the T cell receptor ζ chain is sufficient to couple to receptorassociated signal transduction pathways. *Cell* 64:891–901
- Romeo C, Seed B. 1991. Cellular immunity to HIV activated by CD4 fused to T cell or Fc receptor polypeptides. *Cell* 64:1037–46
- Brown JH, Jardetsky TS, Gorga JC, Stern LJ, Urban RG, Strominger JL, Wiley DC. 1993. Three-dimensional structure of the human class II histocompatibility antigen HLA-DR1. *Nature* 364:33–39
- 97. Germain R. 1993. Seeing double. Curr. Biol. 3:586–89
- Demotz S, Grey HM, Sette A. 1990. The minimal number of class II MHC-antigen complexes needed for T cell activation. *Science* 249:1028–31
- Harding CV, Unanue ER. 1990. Quantitation of antigen-presenting cell MHC class II/peptide complexes necessary for T-cell stimulation. *Nature* 346:574–76
- Christinck ER, Luscher MA, Barber BH, Williams DB. 1990. Peptide binding to

class I MHC on living cells and quantitation of complexes required for CTL lysis. *Nature* 352:67–70

- 101. Fields BA, Ysern X, Poljak RJ, Shao X, Ward ES, Mariuzza RA. 1994. Crystallisation and preliminary X-ray diffraction study of a bacterially-produced T cell antigen receptor Va domain. J. Mol. Biol. 239:339–41
- Schiffer M, Girling RL, Ely KR, Edmundson AB. 1973. Structure of a λ-type Bence-Jones protein at 3.5 å resolution. *Biochemistry* 12:4620–31
- Leahy DJ, Axel R, Hendrickson W. 1992. Crystal structure of a soluble form of the human T cell coreceptor CD8 at 2.6 å resolution. *Cell* 68:1145–62
- Cunningham BC, Ultsch M, de Vos AM, Mulkerrin MG, Clausner KR, Wells IA. 1991. Dimerisation of the extracellular domain of the human growth hormone receptor by a single molecule. *Science* 254:821–25
- 105. Shapiro L, Fannon AM, Kwong PD, Thompson A, Lehmann MS, Grubel G, Legrand J-F, Als-Nielson J, Colman DR, Hendrickson WA. 1995. Structural basis of cell-cell adhesion by cadherins. *Nature* 374:327–37
- Karjalainen K. 1994. High sensitivity, low affinity—paradox of T-cell receptor recognition. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 6:9–12
- Janeway CA. 1995. Ligands for the T-cell receptor: hard times for the avidity models. *Immunol. Today* 16:223–25
- Sandwook TY, Dianzani U, Bottomly K, Janeway CA. 1994. Both high and low avidity antibodies to the T cell receptor can have agonist or antiagonist activity. *Immunity* 1:563–69
- 109. Prochnicka-Chalufour A, Casanova J-L, Avameas S, Claverie J-M, Kourilsky P. 1991. Biased amino acid distributions in regions of the T cell receptors and MHC molecules potentially involved in their association. *Int. Immunol.* 3:853–64
- 110. Six A, Jouvin-Marche E, Loh DY, Cazenave P-A, Marche P. 1991. Identification of a T cell receptor β chain variable region, Vβ20, that is differentially expressed in various strains of mouse. J. Exp. Med. 174:1263–66



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |

IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39

Teresa M. Foy^{*}, *Alejandro Aruffo*[#], *Jürgen Bajorath*[#], *Janet E. Buhlmann*^{*+}, *and Randolph J. Noelle*^{*}

*Department of Microbiology, and ⁺The Biochemistry Graduate Program, Dartmouth Medical School, Lebanon, New Hampshire 03756; and [#]Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharmaceutical Research Institute, Seattle, Washington 98121

KEY WORDS: CD40, CD40L, gp39 structure, peripheral tolerance, central tolerance

ABSTRACT

Over the past three years, CD40 and its ligand (gp39, CD40L, TBAM) have been shown to be essential for humoral immune responses to thymus-dependent antigens. However, as the tissue distribution widens for those cells that express CD40 and gp39, we can now show that this ligand-receptor pair also plays an important role in the selection of self-reactive T cells in the thymus (central tolerance) and the regulation of tolerance in mature T cells (peripheral tolerance). Advances in our understanding of the molecular basis for CD40 biology is based in two areas of research. First, a major breakthrough in our understanding of how CD40 transduces biological events centers on the identification of a novel protein that binds to the cytoplasmic tail of CD40 and may act as a signal transducing molecule. Secondly, advances in molecular modeling and mutagenesis of this ligand-receptor pair have helped to identify the critical receptor/ligand contacts in the gp39/CD40 complex. Advances in each of these areas are discussed.

1. INTRODUCTION

A number of lines of investigation have led to the conclusion that CD40 and its ligand gp39 are critical for the development of humoral immunity. Loss of gp39 function results in a near total loss of thymus-dependent primary and secondary humoral immune responses and the development of B cell memory. Recent 591

studies show that functional CD40 expression is more widely distributed than previously thought, and as such, blockade of gp39 function affects many arms of the immune response originally thought not to involve this ligand-receptor pair. The induction of peripheral tolerance and the selection of self-reactive T cells are both influenced by blockade of gp39-CD40 interactions. The role of CD40 and its ligand are addressed with an emphasis on in vivo studies since, recently, Banchereau and coworkers (1) have published an excellent, extensive review of the role of CD40 in the regulation of human B cell growth and differentiation in vitro.

2. CD40 STRUCTURE, DISTRIBUTION, AND SIGNALING

CD40 is a member of the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNF-R) family of receptors that includes TNF-R1, TNF-R2, p75 nerve growth factor receptor (NGFR), CD30, CD27, Fas, and others. CD40 is a 50-kDa integral membrane protein whose tissue distribution was originally thought restricted to B cells, dendritic cells, and basal epithelial cells (2), but more recently it has been shown to be functionally expressed on macrophages (3), Langerhan cells (4), endothelial cells (5, 6), and thymic epithelial cells (7). This broadening of CD40 distribution increases the range of tissues that gp39-bearing effector T cells can influence.

2.1 CD40 Signaling

The predicted cytoplasmic domain of CD40 is 65 amino acids, and there are no recognizable homologies to kinases or other sequences that would link the molecule to a canonical signal transduction cascade. However, mutagenesis studies (8) indicate that the Thr234 residue in the cytoplasmic domain is critical for signal transduction. Only a limited number of studies have taken traditional approaches to identify signal transduction cascades involved in CD40 signaling. In murine systems, it has been reported (9, 10) that plasma membrane preparations from T cells expressing gp39 induced the protein tyrosine phosphorylation (pTyr) of a heterogeneous group of proteins in resting B cells. Furthermore, it appeared that activation of protein kinase C (PKC) did not occur upon CD40 engagement. Following recognition that gp39 is a critical component in T cell–dependent B cell activation, interest turned to using anti-CD40 mAbs (instead of complex plasma membrane preparations containing gp39) to trigger biochemical events.

A number of studies have attempted to use anti-CD40 to trigger pTyr in resting B cells. In one study (11), while activated B cells triggered pTyr events, under identical conditions, no pTyr events were observed in anti-CD40-triggered resting B cells. Another study using dense, tonsillar B cells demonstrated the

pTyr of a 28-kDa band upon CD40 cross-linking (12). It is not clear at this time why resting B cells do not effectively trigger pTyr cascades in response to CD40 ligation, but do so in response to gp39-bearing plasma membranes. This may suggest that other membrane proteins are critical to activation of resting B cells via CD40. In this context, Kehry and coworkers (13) have shown that an activity other than gp39 is important for maximal activation of resting B cells by gp39-bearing membranes. Along these same lines, to achieve the growth of limiting numbers of resting, human B cells in response to anti-CD40, fibroblasts must be included in the culture (1). It is likely that these fibroblasts are fulfilling a contact-dependent function in supporting B cell growth and differentiation.

Greater success in mapping out the CD40 signal transduction cascade has been seen in studies using transformed B cell lines and activated, normal B cells. Anti-CD40 triggering of a panel of B cell lines (representing pro-B-, pre-pre-B-, pre-B-cells), or activated mature B cells with an agonistic anti-CD40 mAb, results in enhanced pTyr of a number of distinct phosphoproteins and induces a rapid increase in the production of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP₃). These same investigators also showed that CD40 engagement activates a number of serine/threonine-specific protein kinases. Interestingly, inhibitors of tyrosinespecific protein kinases abrogated the CD40-induced pTyr, CD40-induced stimulation of IP3 turnover and CD40-induced, serine/threonine-specific protein kinase activity. More recently, CD40 cross-linking was shown to induce a rapid and sustained increase in the phosphorylation and activity of the src kinase lyn in Daudi B cells (14). The activation of lyn appeared selective because the activities of fyn, fgr, and lck kinases were minimally changed following CD40 engagement. CD40 engagement also resulted in phosphorylation of phospholipase $C\gamma 2$ (PLC $\gamma 2$) and phosphatidylinositol (PI)-3-kinase. Similar approaches have been taken to elucidate the CD40 signal cascade in the human B cell lines by Raji & Ramos (12). These studies presented different patterns of activity following CD40 triggering. These investigators reported that there was a marked and rapid tyrosine phosphorylation of an unidentified 28-kDa protein, yet a marked, early (30 sec) dephosphorylation of lyn, fyn, and syk. These three studies all document heterogeneous patterns of pTyr in response to CD40 cross-linking in B cell lines, and those that examined resting B cells, with one exception (14), could not document any increased pTyr. Therefore, little success has been reported in using anti-CD40 to trigger a cascade of biochemical events in ex vivo B cells, except in germinal center (GC) B cells (15) (see below).

At the time that studies were undertaken in EBV-infected, human B cell lines, it was not known that EBV transforms human B cells by inducing the overexpression of the putative signaling chain of CD40 (see below) and organizing it into clusters in the lymphoblast plasma membrane (16). It is believed that the organization of the signaling chain into these clusters significantly contributes to transformation. Therefore, one would imagine that measuring CD40transduced events in the context of a chronically engaged CD40 signaling cascade would be difficult. Furthermore, although CD40 engagement on ex vivo resting B cells and dense, tonsillar B cells exerts profound biological effects (growth and anti-apoptosis, respectively), it is not clear what biological signals are transduced by CD40 in the B cell lines used in the studies cited above. Finally, it is curious that in resting, naive, μ , δ^+ B cells, where the biological consequences of CD40 engagement are profound, few early signaling events have been directly identified using recombinant, soluble gp39 or anti-CD40. Therefore, whether CD40-induced events observed in B cell lines are responsible for the induction of resting B cell activation by CD40 engagement is yet to be determined.

Although CD40-induced signaling cascades in ex vivo B cells have been difficult to resolve, some early events have been documented. Rothstein and coworkers (17) have demonstrated that T cells expressing gp39 could induce the activation of the *trans*-acting transcription factor nuclear factor κ B (NF κ B) in resting B cells. Interestingly, depletion of protein kinase C (PKC) in B cells diminished anti-Ig-induced NF κ b activation but not CD40-induced activation. With regard to other prominent transcription factors, both forms of stimulation led to expression of JunB and JunD mRNA and protein; however, induction of JunB mediated by CD40 ligand was independent (18). Both anti-Ig and CD40 engagement have been shown to induce c-Fos; however, expression of FosB was only induced by anti-Ig. The authors concluded that one can observe receptor-specific differences as well as similarities in the induction of transcription factors by membrane Ig and CD40.

In addition to the role of CD40 in expansion and differentiation of resting B cells, CD40 cross-linking is also an extremely efficient means to prevent apoptosis in GC B cells (19) as well as in immature B cells (20). Cross-linking CD40 on GC B cells resulted in enhanced pTyr on heterogeneous substrates. In this case, the pattern of pTyr was similar to that observed upon cross-linking mIg (15). Although anti-Ig induced an increase in inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP₃) and cytosolic free calcium in both GC B cells and resting B lymphocytes, anti-CD40 failed to do so. Through the use of pTyr kinase inhibitors, the investigators were able to show that pTyr is mandatory for CD40-mediated rescue of GC B cells from apoptosis. Therefore, it is reasonable to conclude that CD40 is linked via some mechanism to an early activation of a protein tyrosine kinase (PTK) cascade, at least in GC B cells, and this cascade may be involved in the anti-apoptotic effects of anti-CD40.

2.2 CD40 Binding Protein

A substantial advance in our understanding of CD40 signaling emerged in the past year with the identification of a protein that binds to the cytoplasmic domain of CD40 (21-23). Using the yeast two-hybrid system, Dixit and coworkers (21) first identified a novel RING finger protein that interacts with the cytoplasmic domain of CD40. The CD40 binding protein (CD40bp) is homologous to two cytoplasmic proteins that were recently shown to bind to the cytoplasmic domain of the TNF-R (TRAF-1 and TRAF-2). CD40bp has three structural domains, a c-terminal TRAF-homology domain, a central coiled-coil and a n-terminal cysteine-histidine-rich RING finger, DNA-binding motif. The binding of CD40bp to the cytoplasmic domain of CD40 was lost upon mutation of the functionally significant Thr234 residue within CD40. Subsequently, the c-terminal TRAF domain was shown to be necessary and sufficient to bind to the CD40 cytoplasmic tail. In addition, overexpression of the truncated TRAF domain exerted a dominant negative effect on the CD40-inducible upregulation of CD23, a CD40-regulated membrane protein (23). Interactions of CD40bp are specific to CD40 in that CD40bp did not bind to TNF-R1, Fas, or TNF-R2 (21-23). The discovery of the TRAF family of signal transducing molecules represents a substantial stride in our understanding of TNFR family signaling, and there is good indication to believe that the downstream signaling elements will be identified shortly.

3. GP39 STRUCTURE AND REGULATION OF EXPRESSION

3.1 Molecular Modeling and Mutagenesis Studies on gp39 and CD40

Crystallographic structures of gp39, CD40, and a gp39/CD40 complex are yet to be determined; however, the X-ray structures of the homologous molecules TNF- α , TNF- β (24–26), and the TNF- β /TNFR complex have been reported (27). These structures have served as templates to prepare three-dimensional models of the extracellular regions of gp39 (28–30), CD40, and the gp39/CD40 complex (31). These models predict that gp39 forms a trimer and that CD40 binds to the gp39 trimer at the interface between two monomers. Analogous to the TNF- β /TNFR system, these models predict that each gp39 trimer is capable of binding to three CD40 molecules (31). In the TNF/TNFR system, ligand binding has been proposed to result in receptor oligomerization and signal transduction (27, 32, 33). The results of the gp39/CD40 molecular modeling studies suggest that a similar mechanism might be in part responsible for gp39dependent CD40 signaling.



Figure 1 Residues critical for the gp39-CD40 interaction. The α -carbon positions of gp39 and CD40 residues identified by targeted mutagenesis as significantly contributing to the ligand-receptor interaction are mapped on the gp39 and CD40 molecular models (shown in solvent-accessible surface representations and described in the text). The analysis suggests that residues of two adjacent monomers of a gp39 trimer (here A and C) form a CD40 binding site. Gp39 and CD40 are shown facing the predicted contact sites.

The gp39 and CD40 models were used to select surface residues in gp39 and CD40 to be targeted for site-directed mutagenesis. Some of these residues are found in positions corresponding to residues in TNF and TNFR that participate in the formation of the TNF/TNFR complex. Binding studies with the mutant proteins resulted in the identification of five gp39 residues (K143, Y145, Y146, R203, and Q220) and five CD40 residues (E74, Y82, D84, N86, and E117) whose replacement with Ala substantially affected gp39/CD40 interactions (Figure 1) (29, 31). Additional mutagenesis and binding studies, in which gp39 residue Y145 and CD40 residue Y82 were replaced with Phe instead of Ala, showed that the gp39 mutant Y145F bound CD40 at levels comparable to wild-type gp39, whereas the CD40 mutant Y82F did not bind gp39 (31). These

studies illustrate that the absence of a hydroxyl group on CD40 residue Y82 is sufficient to disrupt the gp39/CD40 interaction. In all cases the structural integrity of the mutant proteins was monitored using a panel of anti-gp39 and anti-CD40 mAbs, recognizing different conformational epitopes prior to their use in the binding studies.

Further structural information has been obtained by studies of the defects in gp39 that lead to HIM syndrome in humans (30, 34–36). In many instances, these defects are the result of point mutations in the extracellular domain of gp39. A three-dimensional model-based analysis of the location of naturally occurring point mutations (as reported in the literature before mid 1994) suggests that one gp39 mutation, E129G, affects a solvent-accessible residue (29). This mutation was identified in a patient whose gp39 was found to contain the double mutation S128R-E129G (30). To assess the individual contribution of these substitutions on the gp39/CD40 interaction, two point mutations were prepared—S128R and E129G (29). Binding studies with these two point mutants showed that both mutations significantly reduced the ability of gp39 to bind CD40. The replacement of E129 by Gly results in the loss of a negatively charged side chain, which may function as a CD40 contact residue but also increases the flexibility of the molecule in this region. To examine the individual contribution of these changes, an additional gp39 mutant, E129A, was prepared. The binding of this gp39 mutant to CD40 was identical to that of wild-type gp39. These results indicate that gp39 residue E129 is not directly involved in CD40 binding, but that the naturally occurring E129G mutant causes a structural perturbation in gp39 that affects CD40 binding.

In summary, the results of these modeling and mutagenesis studies suggest that clusters of residues in two adjacent gp39 monomers are involved in CD40 binding (Figure 1). The regions identified by these clusters of residues correspond to those found to be involved in the binding interaction in the homologous TNF- β /TNFR complex. The finding that the residues involved in forming critical receptor/ligand contacts in the gp39/CD40 and TNF- β /TNFR complexes are not conserved provides a molecular rationale for the receptor/ligand binding specificity observed in this family of closely related receptor/ligand pairs.

3.2 Regulation of gp39 Expression

Pharmacologic activation of CD4⁺ T cells or engagement of the TCR with mAbs induces a transient expression of gp39 (37, 38, 39). In addition to CD4⁺ T cells, gp39 can reportedly be inducibly expressed by some CD8⁺ T cells (38) and some CD8⁺ clones (40), as well as by γ , δ T cells (37, 41). In vivo, the administration of a TD antigen induces the expression of gp39 on predominately CD4⁺ T cells, which are found juxtaposed to B cells producing

antibodies to the immunizing antigen (42), suggesting that gp39 is expressed during T-B interactions. With the use of T cell clones, gp39 has been shown to be expressed on activated Th0 and Th1, as well as on Th2 type cells (37, 43). The patterns of gp39 expression on activated memory T cells and on naive T cells appear similar (37) and are sensitive to cyclosporin (37, 44). In addition to the expression of gp39 on activated CD4⁺ T cells, gp39 is also expressed on activated basophils (45) and eosinophils (46). In both of these cases, these activated cells could mediate the induction of IgE production by B cells in the presence of IL4. Therefore, as with CD40, the scope of cells capable of expressing the ligand has broadened since its discovery.

Early studies used polyclonal activators to induce gp39 and did not provide any insights into the contribution of adhesion or costimulatory molecules to the antigen-induced expression of the molecule. In experiments designed to better understand how antigen regulates the expression of gp39, Roy et al (47) studied the regulation of gp39 expression on pigeon cytochrome C (PCC) TCR transgenic (Tg) T cells in vitro (Figure 2). In the presence of APC, the addition of PCC induced gp39 expression on the Tg T cells, and this expression was inhibited by antibodies to class II, CD4, or LFA-1. Agents that blocked B7, including anti-B7.1, anti-B7.2, and CTLA 4-Ig, did not interfere with the antigen-induced upregulation of gp39. These results suggest that engagement



Figure 2 Engagement of the TCR by antigen induces gp39 expression. Interaction of the TCR with Ag-MHC complex on the APC, together with LFA-1, induces the expression of gp39 on the responding T cell (*A*). Expression of gp39 results in the engagement of CD40 on the cognate B cell causing the upregulation of B7.1 and B7.2 (*B*). As a consequence of increased expression of B7.1 and B7.2, the B cells reciprocally trigger the T cell via CD28 (*C*).

of the TCR by Ag-MHC complex induces the expression of gp39, and that costimulation by B7-CD28 pathway was not required for the expression of gp39 on naive T cells. These findings accord with the ability of anti-CD3 alone to effectively induce gp39 expression on ex vivo T cells and clones. In a contrasting study, de Boer et al showed that human T cells activated with mAb to the TCR/CD3 complex required a CD28-B7 signal for the upregulation of gp39 (48). Resolution of the discrepancies in these two reports is not apparent at this time; however, B7-CD28 interactions may contribute to gp39 expression under certain conditions of TCR occupancy.

The system employing PCC TCR Tg T cells and B cells (as the APC) also afforded the opportunity to study the impact of gp39 on the expression of costimulatory molecules by the cognate B cells. As a result of PCC-induced expression of gp39 expression on the PCC TCR Tg T cells, the cognate B cells were induced to express B7.1 and B7.2. This is consistent with a number of previous studies showing that gp39 could upregulate B7 expression on B cells (49, 50). Therefore, in addition to its central role in initiating the clonal expansion and differentiation of B cells, gp39 is also critical for B cells to express high levels of costimulatory molecules and for B cells to mature to "competent" APCs. Having matured, the B cells can now reciprocally trigger T cells via costimulatory molecules to maximize the signaling of T cell growth and lymphokine production (Figure 2).

4. THE ROLE OF CD40 IN THE REGULATION OF HUMORAL IMMUNITY

The genetic evidence that provided conclusive proof that gp39-CD40 interactions were essential for thymus-dependent (TD) humoral immune responses was derived from studies in humans with the immunodeficiency, hyper IgM syndrome (HIM) (30, 34–36). The genetic basis of this disease is that mutations in the gp39 gene cause alterations in the gp39 protein that render it incapable of binding to CD40 (see previous section). As a result, HIM helper T cells cannot trigger B cell activation and immunoglobulin production. This disease is characterized by reduced, if not absent, levels of serum IgA, IgG, and IgE. Furthermore, these patients have a complete absence of GC in their secondary lymphoid organs. In cases where a mutation in gp39 has been documented, the B cells from these patients are functional in vitro. However, a subset of HIM patients exists that express wild-type gp39 but whose B cells have defects in CD40 signaling (51).

Over the past three years, insights into the function of gp39 and CD40 in the regulation of humoral immunity have been provided by studies in gp39- (52, 53)

and CD40-deficient (54, 55) mice and in mice treated with anti-gp39 (42, 56, 57). For the most part, all of these systems agree that gp39 interactions are essential for secondary immune responses to TD antigens and in the formation of GC (Table 1). Studies using anti-gp39 (57) or a soluble form of CD40 (58) to inhibit the in vivo function of gp39 show that the generation of memory B cells is also dependent on this ligand-receptor pair. There is controversy as to whether gp39 is essential in GC development because the administration of CD40-Ig did not, but anti-gp39 did, block GC formation (57, 58). In addition, there is unanimous agreement on the lack of involvement of this ligand-receptor pair in the intensity and isotype distribution of humoral immune responses to most T-independent antigens. One aspect in which these systems diverge is the role of gp39-CD40 interactions in the regulation of primary immune responses (IgM) to TD antigens. Some, but not all, show that gp39-CD40 interactions are important in IgM responses. Therefore, this offers the possibility that molecules other than gp39 can serve as "helper" effector molecules in humoral immunity. In this regard, recent reports (59, 60) have indicated that helper T cells or clones from HIM patients can, in some instances, induce IgE production and IgM. Therefore, one could speculate that molecules other than gp39 may play a minor role in supporting some TD humoral immune responses.

Although it is evident both from genetically deficient mice and from mice treated with anti-gp39 that gp39-CD40 interactions are critical for the formation of germinal centers, recent evidence suggests that gp39 also is important in the maintenance of GC. Kelsoe and coworkers (61) have shown that even after GC have formed, anti-gp39 treatment can cause their precipitous loss. It has been well established that GC B cells acutely apoptose upon isolation and that CD40 ligation can "rescue" them from death (19). Therefore, the immediate assumption is that anti-gp39 treatment causes the loss of GC due to increased apoptosis. We have reproduced the findings of Kelsoe and coworkers; however, we cannot find any evidence that anti-gp39 treatment causes an increase in GC apoptosis (JD Laman, unpublished data). It is clear that gp39 is likely playing

 Table 1
 The role of gp39-CD40 interactions in humoral immunity

gp39-dependent

Primary immune responses to TD antigens Secondary immune responses to TD antigens Generation of memory B cells Generation of GC Maintenance of GC

gp39-independent

Titer and isotype distribution of antibody responses to TI antigens

an important role in GC maintenance, and the question emerges as to why treatment with anti-gp39 causes their profound and rapid loss. It is possible that loss of gp39 function in the GC causes B cells to traffic to the bone marrow and terminally differentiate into plasma cells. This hypothesis would be consistent with a recent in vitro study that shows that the withdrawal of gp39 results in memory B cells terminally to differentiate to plasma cells (62).

Since it is clear that gp39 plays an important role in germinal center homeostasis, it is important to determine which cells within the GC are capable of expressing gp39. Early studies in immune mice did not detect gp39 in the GC of immune mice (42); however, other studies in human tonsil have indicated its presence (63, 64). Most recently (64), in human tonsil, a subset of T cells was discovered to contain preformed gp39 that can be mobilized rapidly upon activation. The T cells containing preformed gp39 were found predominately in the outer zone of the GC and could be important cells for the maintenance of GC integrity. The basis for different results in murine and human systems may be species differences, the use of immune spleen from mice vs chronically stimulated or inflamed tissue from humans, or the lack of sensitivity of the anti-murine reagent.

5. THE ROLE OF GP39 IN SHAPING THE T CELL REPERTOIRE

The detection of CD40 within the thymus has led to the suggestion that interactions between CD40 and its ligand may be of functional importance in the selection of the T cell repertoire (21). CD40 is expressed in the thymus on a number of cell types including cortical and medullary epithelial cells, interdigitating cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, and B cells (7, 65). The fact that many of these cell types mediate selection of thymocytes (66) supports the hypothesis that gp39-CD40 interactions may play a role in thymic selection. However, until recently, no studies have directly addressed the functional role of this receptor-ligand pair in the process of thymic selection. A brief discussion of thymic selection and evidence for the potential role of CD40, gp39, and other costimulatory molecules is presented in this section.

5.1 Thymic Selection

The T cell repertoire is shaped in the thymus as a consequence of TCR gene rearrangement, selection and survival of thymocytes bearing TCRs that are able to bind self-MHC molecules (positive selection), and deletion of thymocytes bearing TCRs exhibiting self-reactivity (negative selection). It is now widely accepted that TCR recognition of MHC/peptide by mature peripheral T cells is insufficient for optimal T cell activation and that costimulatory molecules

602 FOY ET AL

provided by APCs are necessary to achieve complete T cell activation (reviewed in 67). Although it is clear that both positive and negative selection in the thymus occur as a result of MHC/peptide recognition by TCR, the requirement for costimulatory molecules in these processes is still in doubt. While the majority of studies suggest that TCR signals alone are sufficient to induce deletion of thymocytes, other costimulatory molecules have been implicated as participants in negative selection.

Because of the well-documented function of CD28/B7 interactions as costimulatory for activation of peripheral T cells, a number of studies have examined the role of CD28/B7 family members in thymocyte selection. CD28 is expressed on thymocytes in highest amounts at the CD4/CD8 double positive (DP) stage, a stage at which developing T cells are undergoing selective events (68). This developmental regulation of CD28 expression supports the notion that it may be involved in thymocyte selection. Two studies provide additional support that the CD28/B7 signaling pathway may be involved in negative selection. A causal role for B7 in negative selection is suggested by recent studies demonstrating that the expression of B7 within the thymus medullary epithelium was T dependent and correlated with epithelium-mediated deletion of V β 5⁺ thvmocytes (69). More direct evidence comes from in vitro studies demonstrating that CD28 could provide an apoptotic signal to immature DP thymocytes (70). However, other studies have provided conflicting data. Page and coworkers demonstrated that an APC-derived costimulatory signal was required for deletion of DP thymocytes in vitro. The authors concluded, however, that this costimulatory signal was not provided by B7 (71). Studies examining CD28 and B7 knockout mice as well as those utilizing CTLA4 have failed to support a unique role for these molecules in thymocyte selection (72-74). Moreover, in vitro studies utilizing CTLA-4 or anti-CD28 antibodies have also led to the conclusion that these costimulatory molecules are not required for deletion of thymocytes in fetal thymic organ cultures (75, 76). Given the number of different model systems used in the studies presented above, each utilizing unique mechanisms of TCR-MHC/peptide signaling to mediate selection, it is perhaps not surprising that no clear consensus has emerged as to the role of CD28/B7 family members in thymic selection.

As mentioned previously, at least one study has demonstrated that an APCderived costimulatory signal was required for negative selection of DP thymocytes (71), although the authors failed to identify molecule involved. In vitro studies utilizing antibodies against LFA-1 and ICAM-1 to block the differentiation of double negative (DN) thymocytes (77) or the deletion of DP thymocytes (78) suggest that these molecules may play a role in thymic development. Other molecules implicated in thymic selection include HSA and CD45 (22).

| Model system | Antigen source ^a | gp39 ^b | Effect on negative selection |
|-------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------|------------------------------|
| vSAg | Endogenous | Anti-gp39 blockade | Blocked |
| (Balb/c) vSAg | Endogenous | gp39 knockout | Blocked |
| (CBA/J) SEB | Exogenous | Anti-gp39 blockade | Normal |
| (Balb/c) H-2A ^c | Endogenous | Anti-gp39 blockade | Blocked ^c |
| (PCC TCR Tg) | Endogenous | Anti gp30 blockade | Blocked |
| (PCC TCR Tg) | Endogenous | Anti-gp39 blockade | Biocked |
| PCC peptide (PCC TCR Tg) | Exogenous | Anti-gp39 blockade | Normal |

Table 2 Summary: Examples of gp39-dependent and -independent negative selection

^aIndicates whether the selecting Ag/peptide source is endogenous or exogenous (administered i.v).

^bIndicates the means by which gp39-CD40 interactions were prevented. Anti-gp39 blockade refers to in vivo administration of MR1 (anti-gp39 mAb).

^cNegative selection was inhibited by > 50% in this system.

5.2 Evidence for a Role of gp39 in Negative Selection in the Thymus

Although the respective roles of a number of costimulatory molecules in thymic selection have been investigated, the role of gp39/CD40 interactions was not examined until recently. However, the observation that CD40 is expressed on a wide variety of cell types potentially involved in selection of thymocytes, coupled with the recently documented role of gp39/CD40-mediated regulation of APC costimulatory molecule expression, provides compelling circumstantial evidence that this receptor-ligand pair may regulate some processes of T cell repertoire selection. To test whether signals delivered as a consequence of gp39 engagement were essential for selection of thymocytes, the deletion of T cells to a variety of Ags in both TCR Tg and non-Tg models of negative selection was investigated in vivo. Results of these studies are discussed in more detail below and summarized in Table 2 (21).

5.3 Negative Selection Mediated by SuperAgs (SAgs)

Deletion of thymocytes as a consequence of TCR interaction with SAgs, either minor lymphocyte stimulating (Mls) determinants encoded by endogenous mouse mammary tumor viruses (MMTV), or exogenously administered bacterial SAgs such as Staphylococcus Enterotoxin B (SEB), has been used extensively as a model for negative selection (79). Both Mls and SEB have been categorized as SAgs because these Ags are recognized by a large percentage of thymocytes utilizing specific TCR V β elements. Studies examining the role of gp39 in a viral SAg (vSAg)-mediated model of negative selection demonstrated that blockade of gp39-CD40 interactions through the use of neonatally administered anti-gp39 mAb prevented deletion of TCR V β specificities typically observed in this system (80). Similar results were found when examining vSAg-mediated deletion in gp39-deficient mice, providing strong suggestive evidence for the requirement of gp39 in negative selection mediated by endogenously expressed SAgs. However, thymocyte deletion resulting from the exogenous administration of SEB was unaltered by the presence of anti-gp39. These results suggest that gp39 may play a role in the process of negative selection, only, however, when SAg is expressed endogenously and presumably at more physiologic concentrations. Although these results support a role for gp39-CD40 interactions in clonal deletion to endogenously presented Ag, thymocyte deletion as a result of TCR recognition of vSAg may be unique from deletion mediated by more conventional forms of endogenous peptide Ags presented in thymus (79). Therefore, the effect of blockade of gp39 function was also examined in several additional Ag-specific models of negative selection.

5.4 Negative Selection in PCC TCR Tg Mice

Negative selection was examined in three distinct systems using TCR Tg mice specific for pigeon cytochrome c (PCC) in association with H-2E^k (81). Thymocytes from these mice undergo efficient maturation in the presence of $H-2E^k$; however, in the presence of H-2As, the vast majority of Tg DP thymocytes undergo negative selection, leading to a virtual absence of TCR Tg CD4⁺ SP thymocytes (82). Blockade of gp39-CD40 interactions during neonatal development in H-2A^s PCC Tg mice dramatically inhibited the clonal elimination of DP thymocytes in these Tg mice. Similarly, clonal deletion that results when PCC TCR Tg thymocytes mature in the presence of an endogenously encoded Tg expressing PCC in the thymus (S Ohen, S Hedrick, manuscript in preparation) was completely prevented if gp39 function was blocked (80). These results provide additional support for the tenet that gp39 is required for negative selection of thymocytes recognizing endogenously expressed Ags. Finally, negative selection of Tg thymocytes can also be achieved by exogenous administration of PCC peptide. This model of clonal deletion, however, was shown to be independent of a requirement for gp39, perhaps because extremely high concentrations of Ag are required to mediate clonal deletion. In addition, these results are consistent with those in the SEB deletion model where anti-gp39 did not alter thymocyte deletion to an exogenously administered Ag.

5.5 Mechanism of gp39 Involvement in Negative Selection

It is clear from the experiments summarized in Table 2 that not all models of negative selection are dependent upon gp39-CD40 interactions. However,

in four of the six model systems examined, clonal deletion was dramatically altered by the functional blockade or deletion of gp39. Furthermore, these results showed that in contrast to negative selection mediated by exogenously administered Ag/SAg that appeared to be gp39 independent, negative selection mediated by endogenously expressed Ag/SAg was gp39 dependent. It may be that clonal deletion that occurs following administration of supraphysiological concentrations of Ag/SAg overrides any requirement for gp39-mediated signals. Gp39-dependent selection may also be related to the affinity/avidity of the interactions between TCR and MHC/Ag. In both models of vSAg-mediated deletion, mature Ag-specific T cells proliferate poorly in response to Mls, suggesting that the avidity of the TCR for Mls is weak (83, 84). This is also true of PCC TCR Tg T cells stimulated with H-2As (82). Therefore, it is likely that thymocytes bearing these TCRs also interact with Ags/SAgs in a low affinity/avidity fashion. One could postulate that gp39-CD40 interactions provide additional costimulatory signals necessary to facilitate the deletion of thymocytes bearing TCRs of low affinity/avidity. In contrast, gp39-CD40 interactions may not be required for deletion mediated by high-affinity TCR ligands such as high dose PCC peptide and SEB, which elicit robust proliferative responses from mature T cells.

Although studies are in progress to determine the mechanism by which gp39 facilitates negative selection, the three most obvious possibilities are discussed here and depicted in Figure 3. The first possible mechanism is that



Figure 3 Models for the mechanism of anti-gp39 cross-linking of negative selection. (*A*) A positive signal delivered by mAb cross-linking of gp39 rescues thymocytes from apoptosis; (*B*) A negative signal normally delivered by gp39 engagement of CD40 on thymic APC is blocked by anti-gp39; (*C*) TCR recognition of antigen induces gp39, which in turn engages CD40 and induces the upregulation of costimulatory molecules, which induces a signal causing thymocyte death.
the engagement of gp39 by the mAb delivers a positive stimulatory signal to thymocytes that rescues them from deletion. However, the fact that genetic deletion of gp39 also alters the selection of V β -bearing thymocytes by vSAg strongly argues that the absence of gp39 function, and not positive signaling via gp39, alters negative selection. In addition, if this were the case, one might predict that anti-gp39 administration would actually enhance positive selection rather than prevent negative selection. Studies examining the effects of anti-gp39 on positive selection in PCC TCR Tg mice, however, have revealed that positive selection is unaltered as a result of anti-gp39 administration (D Page, S Hedrick, unpublished observations). Finally, although one report does indicate that gp39 engagement can costimulate the activation of mature T cells to anti-CD3 (85), no other reports have ever documented any positive effects of anti-gp39 on thymocytes or mature T cells.

A second possible mechanism may be that blockade of gp39 interaction with its receptor (or absence of gp39) prevents delivery of a negative signal to thymocytes and thus allows their survival. Again, although it is tempting to speculate on a direct role for gp39 signaling thymocytes as a consequence of CD40 engagement following TCR-MHC/Ag recognition, no data exist to support such a signal being transduced via gp39.

The third possible mechanism consistent with the observation of gp39 involvement in negative selection is that gp39 signaling through CD40 regulates the expression of a costimulatory molecule on thymic APCs or epithelial cells that is essential for deletion. Because a major function of gp39 is the regulation of costimulatory molecules (39, 49, 50, 86), it is reasonable to suggest that gp39 regulates negative selection via its influence on costimulatory molecule expression within the thymic microenvironment. Direct evidence that gp39 regulates the expression of B7.2 was provided by the observation that B7.2 expression in the thymic medulla was substantially reduced in gp39 knock-out mice and in mice treated with anti-gp39 (21). Whether the reduced B7.2 is causally related to the alterations in negative selection is currently being evaluated.

5.6 Implications for Autoimmunity

There are multiple genetic loci that contribute to an increased risk of autoimmune disease. Mutations in any genetic loci that alter the function of the gp39-CD40 costimulatory "loop" identified within the thymus may alter the efficiency with which self-reactive T cells are centrally deleted and may permit the escape of autoreactive T cells to the periphery. Based on our studies, low-tomoderate affinity, self-reactive T cells would most easily escape deletion when gp39-CD40 interactions are blocked or incapacitated by mutation. However, in the context of the same mutations, high-affinity, self-reactive T cells may be effectively deleted by a gp39-independent mechanism. Xenobiotics, in additions to mutations, may be autoimmunogenic if they interfere with effective gp39 signaling. Cyclosporine (CsA), an inhibitor of gp39 expression (37, 44), can block negative selection (87, 88). The fact that negative selection is blocked by CsA may be the basis for the increased incidence of autoimmune disease in CsA-treated patients (89–91).

6. THE ROLE OF GP39 IN PERIPHERAL T CELL TOLERANCE

Antigen presenting cells must provide an array of signals to elicit maximal T cell growth, differentiation, and lymphokine production. While presentation of antigen in the context of MHC-encoded molecules is paramount, costimulatory molecules play a critical role in providing additional signals essential for T cell activation. A paradigm of T cell activation is founded on the principle that the T cell must receive at least two signals from the antigen-presenting cell (92, 93). The first signal is engagement and cross-linking of the T cell receptor (TCR) by Ag:MHC, and the second signal is generated through costimulatory signals delivered by other cell surface proteins. Recently, emphasis has been placed on CD28/CTLA4 on the T cell, which binds to B7 family members on the APC, as an important ligand-receptor pair in costimulatory signals causes negative signaling of the antigen-activated T cells and results in T cell anergy.

6.1 The Role of CD28/CTLA4 in Tolerance to Alloantigens

Compelling evidence for the importance of CD28 stimulation in the induction of T cell tolerance to alloantigen or xenoantigen has come from several in vivo model systems. It has been reported that blockade of CD28 signaling by CTLA4-Ig allowed the survival of long-term xenogeneic islet grafts (96). The results showed that CTLA4Ig treatment posttransplantation could lead to prolonged graft survival and long-term, donor-specific tolerance since secondary grafts were not rejected. In addition, Turka et al found that injection of CTLA4Ig enhanced the mean survival time of heart allografts in rats; however, most grafts were eventually rejected (97). In subsequent studies, they found that a donor-specific transfusion of cells at the time of transplant and a single injection of CTLA4Ig on day 2 led to pronounced tolerance (98). Animals receiving this treatment showed long-term graft survival, delayed responses to donor-type skin grafts, and the ability to accept a second donor-specific cardiac allograft. Similar studies have been done in mouse model systems looking at the survival of cardiac allografts with CTLA4-Ig treatments. Pearson et al found that a 12-day course of treatments initiated at the time of transplant produced indefinite cardiac allograft survival; however, this treatment did not enhance the survival of allogeneic skin grafts (99). They found that recipients with long-term graft survival had donor-specific tolerance because donor-type skin grafts were accepted and third party skin grafts were rejected normally. Although CTLA4Ig treatment was not able to induce tolerance to skin grafts over complete allogeneic disparities, it did cause tolerance to skin grafts with multiple mismatches in minor histocompatibility antigens (100). Taken together, these data strongly suggest that tolerance to alloantigens can be effectively induced by the administration of CTLA4-Ig.

Although a convincing argument for B7-CD28 interactions can be made for the induction of allospecific tolerance, less convincing evidence is available for tolerance to protein or peptide antigens. Although CTLA4Ig has been shown to inhibit T dependent B cell responses (101, 102), antibody responses could be recovered by repeated challenges with antigen, indicating that tolerance was not absolute in these animals. Furthermore, in a recent study, Wallace et al (103) have shown that T and B cells from mice treated with CTLA4Ig were responsive when transferred to irradiated hosts, indicating that the cells had not been irreversibly anergized or deleted. When they investigated the mechanism of suppression induced by CTLA4Ig, they found altered induction of IL-2 and IL-4 mRNA transcripts. Therefore, it is not clear at this time why alloantigeninduced tolerance is more readily attainable compared to tolerance to soluble proteins, but the answer may lie in the characteristics of the APC in the two different situations.

6.2 gp39-CD40 Interactions in Tolerance to Alloantigens

Given the compelling evidence that CD28-B7 interactions are critical in allospecific tolerance, we sought to evaluate if gp39, by virtue of its ability to regulate B7 expression, could also induce allotolerance. It has been proposed that resting B cells, which are deficient in the expression of B7.1 and B7.2, are tolerogenic, because they are unable to provide T cells with a "second" signal. A limited number of studies have demonstrated that B cells can induce peripheral T cell tolerance to male antigen (104) as well as soluble antigens (105). The general application of B cells as vehicles to induce peripheral T cell tolerance has not been widely observed. The administration of highly purified, resting allogeneic B cells does not induce a state of allospecific tolerance (across major MHC barriers) that will permit successful engraftment of allogeneic tissue into the treated recipient. We speculated that the reason that the resting B cells were not tolerogenic was that the B cells became activated once they were introduced into the allogeneic host (see Figure 4). Thus, activation of the B cells was due to recognition by host alloreactive T cells that triggered the allogeneic B cells via CD40. As a result of this activation, the allogeneic B cells matured to



Figure 4 A scheme of anti-gp39-induced peripheral T cell tolerance. See text for details.

"professional" APC and immunized the host against alloantigen. We reasoned that if transferred allogeneic B cells were prevented from becoming activated in vivo by the coadministration of anti-gp39, the allogeneic resting B cells would induce alloantigen-specific tolerance. A recent study (106) showed that administered allogeneic B cells primed both the MLR and CTL responses of the host. In contrast, when coadministered with anti-gp39, the allogeneic B cells induced alloantigen-specific tolerance by measurement of MLR and CTL responses to the relevant alloantigen. Importantly, allogeneic responses to third party alloantigens were unaffected in the tolerized mice. Consistent with these results is the observation that the injection of allogeneic B cells into gp39 knockout mice also induced alloantigen tolerance, confirming that the anti-gp39 mAb is not negatively signaling or deleting the alloreactive T cells. Furthermore, proof that blockade of B cell activation is a critical component of this phenomenon comes from the observation that activation of allogeneic B cells in vitro prior to coadministration with anti-gp39 ablates their tolerogenicity. In summary, it

610 FOY ET AL

appears that activation via CD40 is a critical determinant in whether B cells are immunogenic or tolerogenic. Whether the key elements regulated by CD40 tip the balance between immunity and tolerance are B7.1 or B7.2 is unknown at this time.

6.3 The Induction of Transplantation Tolerance by Interrupting gp39-CD40 Interactions

Given these results, a model of allograft rejection was used to evaluate whether transplantation tolerance could be induced by the coadministration of allogeneic B cells and anti-gp39. David Parker et al have shown that pretreatment with allogeneic B cells and anti-gp39 can greatly enhance the survival of allogeneic islet grafts (107). In control-treated animals, islet grafts were quickly rejected, and histological examination showed leukocytic infiltration of the grafts. In sharp contrast, the animals that had been treated with B cells and anti-gp39 had > 90% graft survival through the duration of the experiment, and histological examination showed very little leukocyte infiltration of the grafts. These findings are reminiscent, in part, of donor-specific transfusion tolerance (DST) trials, where the infusion of whole blood from the donors induced longer acceptance of donor allografts. DST may be effective if the infused APC are not adequately "activated" by the host maximally to upregulate costimulatory molecules. The combination of DST and anti-gp39 may prove to be a very attractive preparative regime in the allotransplantation.

6.4 Tolerance Induction During Graft-vs-Host Disease by Interrupting gp39-CD40 Interactions: A Way to Look at Overall Host APC Function in the Absence of CD40 Signaling

Previous studies clearly indicated that B cells were tolerogenic in the absence of a CD40 signal. Studies were then initiated to evaluate whether blocking the CD40 signal influenced the ability of other APC to stimulate alloantigeninduced responses. Both acute and chronic forms of GVHD are dependent upon T cell activation for initiation and progression of disease. Using the transfer of parental T cells into nonirradiated F1 mice, Durie et al showed that treatment with anti-gp39 at the time of cell transfer could block the development of both chronic and acute forms of GVHD (108). A limited treatment time of 1 week with anti-gp39 prevented the appearance of GVHD for the duration of the experiment. This result suggested that the donor parental T cells were being tolerized in the anti-gp39 to naive F1 mice could not transfer GVHD. This suggests that in the presence of anti-gp39, the host APC could not costimulate the alloreactive donor T cells and they were rendered tolerant. Supportive data come from the observation that T cells from gp39 knockout mice also cannot mediate GVHD (JE Buhlmann, unpublished data).

Although the mechanisms of anti-gp39-induced allotolerance are unclear at this time, some parallels can be drawn with experiments done in the CD28/ CTLA4 system. Initial studies showed that CTLA4Ig was able to reduce acute GVHD-induced lethality in a fully disparate model of GVHD (109). Further studies showed that CTLA4Ig alone was able to protect partially against acute GVHD-induced lethality across multiple minor histocompatibility differences (110). Since CTLA4Ig was not sufficient to block this model of GVHD completely, additional studies were undertaken to see if blockade of alternate signaling pathways could have a synergistic effect. Blazar et al found that hyporesponsiveness could be induced in vitro with CTLA4Ig alone or in combination with anti-LFA1, but when these cells were transferred in vivo, they were still able to induce GVHD (111). When they continued the blocking antibody treatment in vivo after transfer of the cultured cells, they found that the combination of CTLA4Ig and anti-LFA1 was highly effective at preventing acute lethal GVHD across complete MHC differences. Because the GVHD systems used to study the role of CD28/B7 and gp39/CD40 were different, it is hard to make direct comparisons. However, collectively, the data suggest that B7 is important in eliciting GVHD responses and that blockade of CD40 may prevent upregulation of B7 on APC that trigger GVHD. In a more general sense, the data strongly indicate that the donor T cells have to activate the host before the host can trigger an alloreactive T cell response. Which host cells are being triggered by CD40 to elicit the alloreactive response is presently unknown.

7. CONCLUDING REMARKS

Recent studies identifying novel CD40 binding proteins and the biochemical events associated with CD40 signal transduction as well as the studies in molecular modeling of CD40 and its ligand have advanced our understanding of CD40 biology immensely. These breakthroughs along with the numerous in vivo studies demonstrating a clear role for this receptor-ligand pair in the regulation of humoral immunity, antigen-presenting cell function, and central and peripheral T cell tolerance have facilitated our understanding of the multifaceted role CD40 plays in immunity.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

These studies were supported in part by NIH grants AI26296 (RJN), and grants from the Multiple Sclerosis Society (RJN) and Arthritis Foundation (RJN and

TMF). This work was also supported in part by the Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharmaceutical Research Institute. We would like to thank D Hollenbaugh for review of this manuscript and D Baxter for help in its preparation.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Banchereau J, Bazan F, Blanchard D, Briére F, Galizzi JP, van Kooten C, Liu YJ, Rousset F, Saeland S. 1994. The CD40 antigen and its ligand. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 12:881–922
- Clark EA. 1990. CD40: a cytokine receptor in search of a ligand. *Tissue Antigens* 36:33
- Alderson MR, Armitage RJ, Tough TW, Strockbine L, Fanslow WC, Spriggs MK. 1993. CD40 expression by human monocytes: regulation by cytokines and activation of monocytes by the ligand for CD40. *J. Exp. Med.* 178:669–74
- Caux C, Massacrier C, Vanbervliet B, Dubois B, Van Kooten C, Durand I, Banchereau J. 1994. Activation of human dendritic cells through CD40 crosslinking. J. Exp. Med. 180:1263–72
- Karmann K, Hughes CW, Schechner J, Fanslow WC, Pober JS. 1995. CD40 on human endothelial cells: inducibility by cytokines and functional regulation of adhesion molecule expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:4342
- Hollenbaugh D, Mischel-Petty N, Edwards CP, Simon JC, Denfield RW, Kiener PA, Aruffo A. 1995. Expression of functional CD40 by vascular endothelial cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 182:33
- Galy AHM, Spits H. 1992. CD40 is functionally expressed on human thymic epithelium. J. Immunol. 149:775
- Inui S, Kaisho T, Kikutani H, Stamenkovic I, Seed B, Clark EA, Kishimoto T. 1990. Identification of the intracytoplasmic region essential for signal transduction through a B cell activation molecule, CD40. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 20:1747–53
- Marshall LS, Noelle RJ. 1990. Contactdependent B-cell activation by helper T cells. *Res. Immunol.* 141:412–17
- Kato T, Kokuho T, Tamura T, Nariuchi H. 1994. Mechanisms of T cell contactdependent B cell activation. J. Immunol.

152:2130

- Uckun FM, Schieven GL, Dibirdik I, Chandan LM, Tuel Ahlgren L, Ledbetter JA. 1991. Stimulation of protein tyrosine phosphorylation, phosphoinositide turnover, and multiple previously unidentified serine/threonine-specific protein kinases by the Pan-B-cell receptor CD40/Bp50 at discrete developmental stages of human B-cell ontogeny. J. Biol. Chem. 266:17478–85
- 12. Faris M, Gaskin F, Parsons JT, Fu SM. 1994. CD40 signalling pathway: anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody induces rapid dephosphorylation and phosphorylation of tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins including protein tyrosine kinase lyn, fyn and syk and the appearance of a 28-kd tyrosine phosphorylated protein. J. Exp. Med. 179:1923
- Hodgkin PD, Yamashita LC, Seymour B, Coffman RF, Kehry MR. 1991. Membranes from both Th1 and Th2 T cell clones stimulate B cell proliferation and prepare B cells for lymphokine-induced differentiation to secrete Ig. J. Immunol. 147:3696
- Ren CL, Morio T, Fu SM, Geha RS. 1994. Signal transduction via CD40 involves activation of lyn kinase and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase, and phosphorylation of phospholipase Cγ2. J. Exp. Med. 179:673
- Knox KA, Gordon J. 1993. Protein tyrosine phosphorylation is mandatory for CD40-mediated rescue of germinal center B cells from apoptosis. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:2578
- 16. Mosialos G, Birkenbach M, Yalamanchili R, VanArsdale T, Ware C, Kieff E. 1995. The Epstein-Barr virus transforming protein LMP1 engages signaling proteins for the tumor necrosis factor receptor family. *Cell* 80:389
- Lalmanach GA, Chiles TC, Parker DC, Rothstein TL. 1993. T cell-dependent in-

duction of NF-kappa B in B cells. J. Exp. Med. 177:1215

- Huo L, Rothstein TL. 1995. Receptorspecific induction of individual AP-1 components in B lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 154:3300
- Liu YJ, Johnson GD, Gordon J, MacLennan IC. 1992. Germinal centres in T-celldependent antibody responses. *Immunol. Today* 13:17
- Tsubata T, Wu J, Honjo T. 1993. Bcell apoptosis induced by antigen receptor crosslinking is blocked by a T-cell signal through CD40. *Nature* 364:645
- Hu HM, O'Rourke K, Boguski MS, Dixit VM. 1994. A novel RING finger protein interacts with the cytoplasmic domain of CD40. J. Biol. Chem. 269:30069
- Sato T, Irie S, Reed JC. 1995. A novel member of the TRAF family of putative signal transducing proteins binds to the cytosolic domain of CD40. *FEBS Lett.* 358:113
- Cheng G, Cleary AM, Ye Z, Hong DI, Lederman S, Baltimore D. 1995. Involvement of CRAF1, a relative of TRAF, in CD40 signaling. *Science* 267:1494
- Eck MJ, Sprang SR. 1989. The structure of tumor necrosis factor-alpha at 2.6 Å resolution. Implications for receptor binding. J. Biol. Chem. 264:17595
- Eck MJ, Ultsch M, Rinderknecht E, Devos AM, Sprang SR. 1992. The structure of human lymphotoxin (tumor necrosis factor-*β*) at 1.9-Å resolution. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267:2119–22
- Jones EY, Stuart DI, Walker NP. 1989. Structure of tumor necrosis factor. *Nature* 338:225
- Banner DW, D'Arcy A, Janes W, Gentz R, Schoenfeld H-J, Broger C, Loetscher H, Lesslauer W. 1993. Crystal structure of the soluble human 55 kd TNF receptorhuman TNFβ complex: implications for TNF receptor activation. *Cell* 73:431–45
- Peitsch MC, Jongeneel CV. 1993. A 3-D model for the CD40 ligand predicts that it is a compact trimer similar to the tumor necrosis factors. *Int. Immunol.* 5:233
- Bajorath J, Chalupny NJ, Marken JS, Siadak AW, Skonier J, Gordon M, Hollenbaugh D, Noelle RJ, Ochs HD, Aruffo A. 1995. Identification of residues on CDA0 and its ligand which are critical for the receptor-ligand interaction. *Biochemistry* 34:1833
- Aruffo A, Farrington M, Hollenbaugh D, Li X, Milatovich A, Nonoyama S, Bajorath J, Grosmaire LS, Stenkamp R, Neubauer M. 1993. The CD40 ligand,

gp39, is defective in activated T cells from patients with X-linked hyper-IgM syndrome. *Cell* 72:291–300

- Bajorath J, Marken JS, Chalupny NJ, Spoon TL, Siadak AW, Gordon M, Noelle RJ, Hollenbaugh D, Aruffo A. 1995. Analysis of gp39/CD40 interactions using molecular models and site-directed mutagenesis. *Biochemistry* 34:9884
- Tartaglia LA, Goeddel DV. 1992. Two TNF receptors. *Immunol. Today* 13:151
- Van Ostade X, Tavernier J, Fiers W. 1994. Structure—activity studies of human tumor necrosis factor. *Prot. Eng.* 7:5–22
- Allen RC, Armitage RJ, Conley ME, Rosenblatt H, Jenkins NA, Copeland NG, Bedell MA, Edelhoff S, Dieteche CM, Simoneau DK. 1993. CD40 ligand gene defects responsible for X-linked hyper-IgM syndrome. *Science* 259:990–93
- DiSanto JP, Bonnefoy JY, Gauchat JF, Fischer A, de Saint Basile G. 1993. CD40 ligand mutations in X-linked immunodeficiency with hyper-IgM. *Nature* 361:541
- 36. Korthauer U, Graf D, Mages HW, Brieres F, Padayachee M, Malcolm S, Ugazio AG, Notarangelo LD, Levinsky RJ, Kroczek RA. 1993. Defective expression of Tcell CD40 ligand causes X-linked immunodeficiency with hyper-IgM. *Nature* 361:539–41
- Roy M, Waldschmidt T, Aruffo A, Ledbetter JA, Noelle RJ. 1993. The regulation of the expression of gp39, the CD40 ligand, on normal and cloned CD4⁺ T cells. J. Immunol. 151:2497
- Lane P, Traunecker A, Hubele S, Inui S, Lanzavecchia A, Gray D. 1992. Activated human T cells express a ligand for the human B cell–associated antigen CD40 which participates in T cell-dependent activation of B lymphocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 22:2573–78
- Lederman S, Yellin MJ, Krichevsky A, Belko J, Lee JJ, Chess L. 1992. Identification of a novel surface protein on activated CD4⁺ T cells that induces contactdependent B cell differentiation (help). J. Exp. Med. 175:1091–1101
- Cronin DC II, Stack R, Fitch FW. 1995. IL-4-producing CD8⁺ T cell clones can provide B cell help. J. Immunol. 154:3118
- Horner AA, Jabara H, Ramesh N, Geha RS. 1995. gamma/delta T lymphocytes express CD40 ligand and induce isotype switching in B lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 181:1239
- Van den Eertwegh AJM, Noelle RJ, Roy M, Shepherd DM, Aruffo A, Ledbetter JA, Boersma WJA, Claassen E. 1993. *In*

vivo CD40-gp39 interactions are essential for thymus-dependent humoral immunity. 1. *In vivo* expression of CD40 ligand, cytokines, antibody-production delineates sites of cognate interactions T-B cell. *J. Exp. Med.* 178:1555–65

- 43. Grabstein KH, Maliszewski CR, Shanebeck K, Sato TA, Spriggs MK, Fanslow WC, Armitage RJ. 1993. The regulation of T cell-dependent antibody formation in vitro by CD40 ligand and IL-2. J. Immunol. 150:3141–47
- 44. Fuleihan R, Ramesh N, Horner A, Ahern D, Belshaw PJ, Alberg DG, Stamenkovic I, Harmon W, Geha RS. 1994. Cyclosporin A inhibits CD40 ligand expression in T lymphocytes. J. Clin. Invest. 93:1315–20
- 45. Gauchat JF, Henchoz S, Mazzei G, Aubry JP, Brunner T, Blasey H, Life P, Talabot D, Flores-Romo L. 1993. Induction of human IgE synthesis in B cells by mast cells and basophils. *Nature* 365:340–43
- 46. Gauchat JF, Henchoz S, Fattah D, Mazzei G, Aubry JP, Jomotte R, Dash L, Page K, Solari R, Aldebert D. 1995. CD40 ligand is functionally expressed on human eosinophils. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:863
- Roy M, Aruffo A, Ledbetter JA, Linsley P, Kehry M, Noelle R. 1994. Studies on the independence of gp39 and B7 expression and function during antigen-specific immune responses. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:596
- 48. de Boer M, Kasran A, Kwekkeboom J, Walter H, Vandenberghe P, Ceupens JL. 1993. Ligation of B7 with CD28/CTLA-4 on T cells results in CD40 ligand expression, interleukin-4 secretion and efficient help for antibody production by B cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:3120
- Ranheim EA, Kipps TJ. 1993. Activated T cells induce expression of B7/BB1 on normal or leukemic B cells through a CD40dependent signal. J. Exp. Med. 177:925
- Kennedy MK, Mohler KM, Shanebeck KD, Baum PR, Picha KS, Otten-Evans CA, Janeway, CA Jr., Grabsten KH. 1994. Induction of B cell costimulatory function by recombinant murine CD40 ligand. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:116
- Conley ME, Larche M, Bonagura VR, Lawton AR III, Buckley RH, Fu SM, Coustan-Smith E, Herrod HG, Campana D. 1994. Hyper IgM syndrome associated with defective CD40 mediated B cell activation. J. Clin. Invest. 94:1401–9
- Xu J, Foy TM, Laman JD, Dunn JJ, Waldschmidt TJ, Elsemore J, Noelle RJ, Flavell RA. 1994. Mice deficient for the CD40 ligand. *Immunity* 1:423

- Renshaw BR, Fanslow WC, Armitage RJ, Campbell KA, Liggitt D, Wright B, Davison BL, Maliszewski CR. 1994. Humoral immune responses in CD40 liganddeficient mice. *J. Exp. Med.* 180:1889– 1900
- 54. Kawabe T, Naka T, Yoshida K, Tanaka T, Fujiwara H, Suematsu S, Yoshida N, Kishimoto T, Kikutani H. 1994. The immune responses in CD40 deficient mice: impaired immunoglobulin class switching and germinal center formation. *Immunity* 1:167–78
- 55. Castigli E, Alt FW, Davidson L, Bottaro A, Mizoguchi E, Bhan AK, Geha RS. 1994. CD40-deficient mice generated by recombination-activating gene-2-deficient blastocyst complementation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:12135–39
- 56. Foy TM, Aruffo A, Ledbetter JA, Noelle RJ. 1993. In vivo CD40-gp39 interactions are essential for thymus-dependent immunity. II. Prolonged in vivo suppression of primary and secondary humoral immune responses by an antibody targeted to the CD40 ligand, gp39. J. Exp. Med. 178:1567
- Foy TM, Laman JD, Ledbetter JA, Aruffo A, Claassen E, Noelle RJ. 1994. gp39-CD40 interactions are essential for germinal center formation and the development of B cell memory. *J. Exp. Med.* 180:157– 63
- Gray D, Dullforce P, Jainandunsing S. 1994. Memory B cell development but not germinal center formation is impaired by in vivo blockade of CD40-CD40-ligand interaction. J. Exp. Med. 180:141–55
- Nishioka Y, Lipsky PE. 1994. The role of CD40-CD40 ligand interaction in human T cell-B cell collaboration. J. Immunol. 153:1027
- 60. Life P, Gauchat JF, Schnuriger V, Estoppey S, Mazzei G, Durandy A, Fischer A, Bonnefoy JY. 1994. T-cell clones from an X-linked hyper-immunoglobulin (IgM) patient induce IgE synthesis in vitro despite expression of nonfunctional CD40 ligand. J. Exp. Med. 180:1775–84
- Han S, Hathcock K, Zheng B, Kepler TB, Hodes R, Kelsoe G. 1995. Cellular interactions in germinal centers. Roles of CD40 ligand and B7-2 in established germinal centers. J. Immunol. 155:556
- Arpin C, Dechanet J, Kooten CV, Merville P, Grouard G, Briere F, Banchereau J, Liu, YJ. 1995. Generation of memory B cells and plasma cells in vitro. *Science* 268:720
- 63. Lederman S, Yellin MJ, Inghirami G, Lee JJ, Knowles DM, Chess L. 1992.

Molecular interactions mediating T-B lymphocyte collaboration in human lymphoid follicles. Roles of T-cell-B-cellactivating molecule (5c8 antigen) and CD40 in contact-dependent help. J. Immunol. 149:3817–26

- 64. Casamayor PM, Khan M, MacLennan IC. 1995. A subset of CD4⁺ memory T cells contains preformed CD40 ligand that is rapidly but transiently expressed on their surface after activation through the T cell receptor complex. J. Exp. Med. 181:1293
- 65. Bean MA, Mickelson E, Yanagida J, Ishioka S, Brannen GE, Hansen JA. 1990. Suppressed antidonor MLC responses in renal transplant candidates conditioned with donor-specific transfusions that carry the recipient's noninherited maternal HLA haplotype. *Transplantation* 49:382
- Robey E, Fowlkes BJ. 1994. Selective events in T cell development. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 12:675–705
- June CH, Bluestone JA, Nadler LM, Thompson CB. 1994. The B7 and CD28 receptor families. *Immunol. Today* 15:321
- Gross JA, Callas JP, Allison JP. 1992. Identification and distribution of the costimulatory receptor CD28 in the mouse. J. Immunol. 149:380–88
- Degermann S, Surh CD, Glimcher LH, Sprent J, Lo D. 1994. B7 expression on thymic medullary epithelium correlates with epithelium-mediated deletion of Vβ5⁺ thymocytes. J. Immunol. 152:3254–63
- Punt JA, Osborne BA, Takahama Y, Sharrow SO, Singer A. 1994. Negative selection of CD4⁺ CD8⁺ thymocytes by T cell receptor-induced apoptosis requires a costimulatory signal that can be provided by CD28. J. Exp. Med. 179:709
- Page DM, Kane LP, Allison JP, Hedrick SM. 1993. Two signals are required for negative selection of CD4⁺CD8⁺ thymocytes. J. Immunol. 151:1868
- Rothe M, Wong SC, Henzel WJ, Goeddel DV. 1994. A novel family of putative signal transducers associated with the cytoplasmic domain of the 75 kDa tumor necrosis factor receptor. *Cell* 78:681
- Hollenbaugh D, Ochs HD, Noelle RJ, Ledbetter JA, Aruffo A. 1994. The role of CD40 and its ligand in the regulation of the immune response. *Immunol. Rev.* 138:23–37
- Inaba L, Witmer-Pack M, Inaba M, Hathcock KS, Sakuta H, Azuma M, Yagita H, Okumara K, Ikehara S. 1994. The tissue

distribution of the B7-2 costimulator in mice: abundant expression on dendritic cells in situ and during maturation in vitro. *J. Exp. Med.* 180:1849

- Tan R, Teh S-J, Ledbetter JA, Linsley PS, Teh H-S. 1992. B7 costimulates proliferation of CD4-CD8⁺ T lymphocytes but is not required for the deletion of immature CD4⁺CD8⁺ thymocytes. J. Immunol. 149:3217
- Turka LA, Linsley PS, Paine R, Schieven GL, Thompson CB, Ledbetter JA. 1991. Signal transduction via CD4, CD8 and CD28 in mature and immature thymocytes: implications for thymic selection. *J. Immunol.* 146:1428–36
- Fine JS, Kruisbeek AM. 1992. The role of LFA-1/ICAM-1 interactions during murine T lymphocyte development. J. Immunol. 147:2852
- Carlow DA, van-Oers NSC, Teh S-J, Teh H-S. 1992. Deletion of antigen-specific immature thymocytes by dendritic cells requires LFA-1/ICAM-1 interactions. J. Immunol. 148:1595
- Kappler J, Roehm N, Marrack P. 1987. T cell tolerance by clonal elimination in the thymus. *Cell* 49:273
- Foy TM, Page DM, Waldschmidt TJ, Schoneveld A, Laman JD, Masters SR, Tygrett L, Ledbetter JA, Aruffo A, Claassen E, Xu JC, Flavell RA, Oehen S, Hedrick SM, Noelle RJ. 1994. A essential role for gp39, the CD40 ligand, in thymic selection. J. Exp. Med. 182:1377–88
- Kaye J, Hsu ML, Sauron ME, Jameson SC, Gascoigne NR, Hedrick SM. 1989. Selective development of CD4⁺ T cells in transgenic mice expressing a class II MHC-restricted antigen receptor. *Nature* 341:746
- Vasquez NJ, Kaye J, Hedrick SM. 1992. In vivo and in vitro clonal deletion of double positive thymocytes. J. Exp. Med. 175:1307
- Goverman J, Woods A, Larson L, Weiner LP, Hood L, Zaller DM. 1993. Transgenic mice that express a myelin basic protein specific T cell receptor develop spontaneous autoimmunity. *Cell* 72:551–60
- 84. Lenschow DJ, Sperling AI, Cooke MP, Freeman G, Rhee L, Decker DC, Gray G, Hadler LM, Goodnow CC, Bluestone JA. 1994. Differential up-regulation of the B7-1 and B7-2 costimulatory molecules after Ig receptor engagement by antigen. J. Immunol. 153:1990–97
- 85. Cayabyab M, Phillips JH, Lanier LL. 1994. CD40 preferentially costimulates

activation of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 152:1523

- Azuma M, Ito D, Yagita H, Okumura K, Phillips JH, Lanier LL, Sonoza C. 1993. B70 antigen is a second ligand for CTLA-4 and CD28. *Nature* 366:76
- Caux C, Massacrier C, Vanbervliet B, Dubois B, Van Kooten C, Durand I, Banchereau J. 1994. Activation of human dendritic cells through CD40 crosslinking. J. Exp. Med. 180:1263
- Jenkins MJ, Schwartz RH, Pardoll DM. 1988. Effects of cyclosporin A on T cell development and clonal deletion. *Science* 241:1655–58
- Bolling SF, Lin H, Wei RQ, Linsley P, Turka LA. 1994. The effect of combination cyclosporine and CTLA4-Ig therapy on cardiac allograft survival. J. Surg. Res. 57:60–64
- Hathcock KS, Laszlo G, Pucillo C, Linsley P, Hodes RJ. 1994. Comparative analysis of B7-1 and B7-2 costimulatory ligands: expression and function. J. Exp. Med. 180:631
- Koller BH, Marrack P, Kappler JW, Smithies O. 1990. Normal development of mice deficient in beta 2 microglobulin, MHC class I proteins and CD8⁺ T cells. *Science* 248:1227
- Bretscher P. 1992. The 2-signal model of lymphocyte-activation 21 years later. *Immunol. Today* 13:74–76
- Jenkins MK, Pardoll J, Mizuguchi J, Chused TM, Schwartz RH. 1987. Molecular events for the induction of a nonresponsiveness state in interleukin 2- producing helper T-lymphocyte clones. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:5409
- June CH, Bluestone JA, Nadler LM, Thompson CB. 1994. The B7 and CD28 receptor families. *Immunol. Today* 15:321
- Bluestone JA. 1995. New perspectives of CD28-B7 mediated T-cell costimulation. *Cell* 2:555
- Lenschow DJ, Zeng YJ, Thistlethwaite JR, Montag A, Brady W, Gibson MG, Linsley PS, Bluestone JA. 1992. Longterm survival of xenogeneic pancreatic islet grafts induced by CTLA4lg. *Science* 257:789–92
- Turka LA, Linsley PS, Lin H, Brady W, Leiden JM, Wei RP, Gibson ML, Zheng XG, Myrdal S, Gordon D. 1992. T-cell activation by the CD28 ligand B7 is required for cardiac allograft rejection in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:11,102
- Lin L, Bolling SF, Linsley PS, Wei R, Gordon D, Thompson CB, Turka LA. 1993. Long-term acceptance of major his-

tocompatibility complex mismatched cardiac allografts induced by CTLA41g plus donor-specific transfusion. *J. Exp. Med.* 178:1801

- Pearson TC, Alexander DZ, Winn KJ, Linsley PS, Lowry RP, Larsen CP. 1994. Transplantation tolerance induced by CTLA4-Ig. *Transplantation* 57:1701
- Tepper MA, Linsley PS, Tritschler D, Esselstyn JM. 1994. Tolerance induction by soluble CTLA4 in a mouse skin transplant model. *Transplant. Proc.* 26:3151
- Linsley PS, Wallace PM, Johnson J, Gibson MG, Greene JL, Ledbetter JA, Singh C, Tepper MA. 1992. Immunosuppression in vivo by a soluble form of the CTLA-4 T cell activation molecule. *Science* 257: 792
- 102. Ronchese F, Hausmann B, Hubele S, Lane P. 1994. Mice transgenic for a soluble form of murine CTLA-4 show enhanced expansion of antigen specific CD4⁺ T cells and defective antibody production in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 179:809
- Wallace PM, Rodgers JN, Leytze GM, Johnson JS, Linsley PS. 1995. Induction and reversal of long-lived specific unresponsiveness to a T-dependent antigen following CTLA4Ig treatment. J. Immunol. 154:5885
- Fuchs EJ, Matzinger P. 1992. B-cells turn off virgin but not memory T-cells. *Science* 258:1155–59
- Eynon EE, Parker D. 1992. Small B cells as antigen-presenting cells in the induction of tolerance to soluble protein antigens. J. Exp. Med. 175:131
- 106. Buhlmann JE, Foy TM, Aruffo A, Crassi KM, Ledbetter JA, Green WR, Xu JC, Shultz LD, Roopesian D, Flavell RA, Fast L, Noelle RJ, Durie FH. 1995. In the absence of a CD40 signal, B-cells are tolerogenic. *Immunity* 2:645
- 107. Parker DC, Appel MC, Phillips NE, Noelle RJ, Durie FH, Noelle RJ, Mordes JP, Rossini AA. 1995. Induction of immune tolerance to pancreatic islet allografts with allogeneic spleen cells and antibody to the CD40 ligand, gp39. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 92:9560–64
- Durie FH, Aruffo A, Ledbetter JA, Crassi KM, Green WR, Fast LD, Noelle RJ. 1994. Antibody to the ligand of CD40, gp39, blocks the occurrence of the acute and chronic forms of graft-versus-host disease. J. Clin. Invest. 94:1333–38
- Blazar BR, Taylor PA, Linsley PS, Vallera DS. 1994. In vivo blockade of CD28/CTLA4: B7/BB1 interaction with CTLA4-Ig reduces lethal murine graft-

versus-host disease across the major histocompatibility complex barrier in mice. *Blood* 83:3815

110. Blazar BR, Taylor PA, Gray GS, Vallera DA. 1994. The role of T cell subsets in regulating the in vivo efficacy of CTLA4-Ig in preventing graft-versus-host disease in recipients of fully MHC or multiple minor histocompatibility-disparate donor in

ocula. Transplantation 58:1422

111. Blazar BR, Taylor PA, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Gray GS, Vallera DA. 1995. Coblockade of the LFA1:ICAM and CD28/CTLA4:B7 pathways is a highly effective means of preventing acute lethal graft-versus-host disease induced by fully major histocompatibility complexdisparate donor grafts. *Blood* 85:2607



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|--|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> Sleekman, James P. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt | 450 |
| Steckman, Junes K. Gorman, Treaenck W. Au | 439 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights. <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |
| | 0.7 |

RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS

Alessandro Moretta^{1,2}, Cristina Bottino², Massimo Vitale², Daniela Pende², Roberto Biassoni², Maria Cristina Mingari^{2,3}, Lorenzo Moretta^{2,4}

¹Dipartimento di Scienze Biomediche e Biotecnologie, Universita di Brescia; ²Istituto Scientifico Tumori e Centro di Biotecnologie Avanzate, 16132 Genova; ³Istituto di Oncologia Clinica e Sperimentale, Univ. di Genova; ⁴Istituto di Patologia Generale, Univ. di Genova, Italy

KEY WORDS: NK cells, MHC class I, regulatory receptors, cytolytic activity, cytolytic T lymphocytes

ABSTRACT

Natural killer cells are likely to play an important role in the host defenses because they kill virally infected or tumor cells but spare normal self-cells. The molecular mechanism that explains why NK cells do not kill indiscriminately has recently been elucidated. It is due to several specialized receptors that recognize major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules expressed on normal cells. The lack of expression of one or more class I alleles leads to NK-mediated target cell lysis. During NK cell development, the class I-specific receptors have adapted to self-class I molecules on which they recognize epitopes shared by groups of class I alleles. As such, they may fail to recognize either self-molecules that bound unusual peptides or allogeneic class I molecules unrelated to self-alleles. Different types of receptors specific for groups of HLA-C or HLA-B alleles have been identified. While in most instances, they function as inhibiting receptors, an activating form of the HLA-C-specific receptors has been identified in some donors. Molecular cloning of HLA-C- and HLA-B-specific receptors has revealed new members of the immunoglobulin superfamily with two or three Ig-like domains, respectively, in their extracellular portion. While the inhibiting form is characterized by a long cytoplasmic tail associated with a nonpolar transmembrane portion, the activating one has a short tail associated with a Lys-containing transmembrane portion. Thus, these human NK receptors are different from the murine Ly49 that is a type II transmembrane protein characterized by a C type lectin domain. A subset of cytolytic T lymphocytes expresses NK-type class I-specific receptors. These receptors exert an inhibiting activity on T cell receptor-mediated functions and offer a valuable model to analyze the regulatory mechanisms involved in receptor-mediated cell activation and inactivation.

1. INTRODUCTION

Natural killer cells were originally described on a functional basis according to their capability of killing certain tumor cells of hemopoietic origin in the absence of a priori stimulation (1, 2). Since NK cells can lyse target cells that express either syngeneic or allogeneic major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules, and even target cells that lack MHC expression, their cytolytic activity has often been referred to as "non MHC restricted" (3-6). It is generally accepted that NK cells provide a first line of defense against certain tumors or viral infections (1, 7). NK cells do not express conventional receptors for antigen, i.e. surface immunoglobulins or T cell receptors (TCR) (8). Their maturation can occur in the absence of a functional thymus in both mice and humans (9, 10). However, recent data indicate that cell precursors capable of differentiating toward NK cells are present in immature thymocytes (11), and a common progenitor for T and NK cells has recently been identified (12, 13). Triggering of NK cells results not only in the induction of their cytolytic activity, but also in the production of cytokines that can exert a regulatory role in the immune response, inflammation, and hematopoiesis (14, 15).

The ability of NK cells to detect and lyse tumor but not normal cells has been interpreted to reflect the existence of multiple receptors for an altered pattern of ligand molecules on tumor cells. These poorly defined NK cell functions and receptors were considered to be homogeneously expressed by virtually all NK cells rather than to be distributed in a clonal fashion. Over the past several years, however, a number of major advances have occurred in our understanding of the functional properties of NK cells, in particular of the mechanisms by which NK cells lyse, or fail to lyse, given target cells. Thus, a number of putative receptors potentially involved in NK cell triggering have been identified. More importantly, an inverse correlation has been established between the expression of surface MHC class I molecules on target cells and their susceptibility to NK cell–mediated lysis. This suggested that MHC molecules could exert a protective role sparing normal cells from NK cell-mediated lysis. Lack of expression, or masking, of self-MHC molecules, as it may occur in virus infected or tumor cells, would result in susceptibility to NK cell-mediated lysis.

These concepts have been proposed by Klas Kärre and coworkers in the "missing self" hypothesis (16–18). This hypothesis has now been confirmed and extended by experimental data in both mouse and human. In addition, the success in cloning NK cells in humans has been basic for the demonstration that NK cells display a clonal heterogeneity in their ability to recognize given MHC molecules. This finding led to the new concept that NK cells recognize allelic forms of MHC molecules via clonally distributed receptors.

In this review, we focus mainly on the human NK receptors for HLA class I molecules, on their molecular characteristics, and on the functional outcome of the receptor/HLA interactions.

2. MHC RECOGNITION BY NK CELLS

Since their discovery, it has become clear that NK cells can kill target cells that do not express surface MHC class I molecules. Kärre et al suggested that NK cells kill these target cells because they do not express self-MHC molecules (19-21). Thus, according to the Kärre's "missing self" hypothesis (16), NK cells can detect and eliminate target cells that do not adequately express normal self-MHC molecules. Indeed, target cells susceptible to NK cell-mediated lysis are characterized by a defective expression of one or more MHC class I alleles. This situation is typical of some virus-infected or tumor cells that either downregulate certain class I alleles or express an altered peptide pattern presented by MHC class I molecules (22, 23). In the context of the "missing self" hypothesis, Kärre & Ljunggren hypothesized the existence of NK cell receptors specific for MHC class I molecules that would deliver a "negative" signal resulting in inhibition of the NK cell cytotoxicity. Indeed the role of the interaction between MHC molecules and the putative MHC-specific NK receptors would be confined to the (negative) regulation of a number of activating signals delivered upon recognition of non-MHC-encoded ligands (24, 25). It is evident that NK cells appear complementary to cytolytic T cells that are triggered by class I proteins presenting foreign (e.g. viral or tumor) peptides. Since some virus-infected or tumor cells downregulate the expression of class I proteins and can thus escape T cell surveillance (26-29), the NK cells are likely to play an important role in the host defense by eliminating these MHC-negative cells.

The "missing self" hypothesis does not exclude the possibility that normal cells expressing adequate levels of MHC class I molecules can also be killed



Figure 1 NK cells do not lyse self-normal cells (A) but lyse some allogeneic cells (B) or self-cells that do not express a protective HLA class I allele (A'). Each NK cell expresses at least one inhibiting receptor specific for a self-class I allele. As a consequence, they do not lyse normal autologous cells (A). However, autologous cells, as a consequence of viral infection or tumor transformation, may lack the expression of one or more class I alleles (A'). Likewise, cells may express altered class I molecules, e.g. because they bind abnormal peptides derived from viral proteins. In both cases these cells become susceptible to NK-mediated lysis. Allogeneic cells that express MHC class I alleles unrelated to self-alleles are lysed because no efficient inhibiting interactions between NK receptors and class I molecules can occur (B).

by NK cells. This, however, occurs only with certain allogeneic cells carrying a mismatched MHC haplotype (30, 32). In addition, other non-MHC ligands may affect the susceptibility to NK cells. Indeed, some MHC-negative cells may be resistant to NK-mediated cytotoxicity. In this case, target cells probably lack appropriate ligands for adhesion or for triggering the activating NK receptors (24). It should be stressed, however, that killing of autologous cells with a normal expression of MHC class I has never been observed, and that loss of MHC class I expression is sufficient to render them susceptible to NK cell-mediated lysis (33). This has been unequivocally shown by the analysis of TAP⁻ or β 2m-deficient target cells (34, 35). These data imply that NK cells adapt their receptors to their MHC haplotype so that they can recognize and be inhibited by self-MHC alleles. It should also be noted that certain allogeneic MHC class I alleles may function as protective elements. As we discuss below, the protective non-self-alleles share with self-alleles particular amino acid sequences recognized by the NK receptors (36, 37) (Figure 1).

2.1 Murine Models of MHC–NK Cell Interactions

Genetic control for NK cell-dependent rejection of bone marrow or tumor grafts in the mouse maps to the H-2D or -K regions (38). Introduction of bone

marrow cells from β 2m-negative or -positive H-2^b mice into allogeneic (H-2^d) mice leads to the rejection of both types of grafted cells; however, a preferential rejection of β 2m-negative allogeneic cells was observed, suggesting that at least some allogeneic MHC class I molecules may protect from NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity (39). Direct evidence of the role played by MHC alleles in shaping the NK cell receptor repertoire has been obtained in mice transgenic for a given MHC class I product and in knockout mice that did not express MHC class I molecules. Introduction in the B6 mouse (H-2^b) of a novel MHC class I allele (H-2D^d) as a transgene resulted in NK-mediated rejection of syngenic grafted cells from nontransgenic mice (36).

Interestingly, the rejection of target cells from $\beta 2m$ or TAP-1 deficient mice, which usually occurs in a normal host (35), is abrogated when the host carries the corresponding defects (40–42). In this case no self-MHC class I molecules should be available for shaping the NK receptor repertoire; however, mice were found to express low levels of $\beta 2m$ -free or peptide-free MHC class I molecules, so that both T and NK cells might be educated on these peculiar phenotypes (43).

2.2 MHC-NK Cell Interaction in Humans

Analysis of the MHC recognition by NK cells in humans has been performed primarily by the use (as target cells) of in vitro cultured tumor cells, PHAinduced T cell blasts, and cells transfected with HLA genes. The use of HLA class I-deficient cell lines transfected with different HLA class I genes demonstrated the protective role exerted by these molecules from NK-mediated lysis. In early studies polyclonal NK cell populations were used as effectors. These cell populations displayed a marked increase in the ability to lyse cell variants lacking the expression of HLA class I molecules (33, 44-47). Transfection of these cell variants with different HLA class I gene products gave controversial results regarding their ability to protect target cells from NK cell-mediated lysis (48, 49). For example, transfection of single HLA class I genes in a small-cell lung carcinoma or in K562 and MOLT-4 cell lines did not result in a consistent protective effect. On the other hand, transfection of the $\beta 2m$ gene into the β 2m-negative Daudi cell line resulted in the reexpression of HLA class I and in a sharp decrease in susceptibility to NK-mediated lysis (50). Similar data were obtained after transfection of C1R cells (a cell variant expressing Cw4 as the only serologically detectable class I allele) (33, 51) with HLA-A3, HLA-B7, or HLA-B58 alleles (52). β 2m-transfected Daudi cells were resistant not only to freshly isolated NK cells, but also to IL-2-activated NK cells (LAK cells). On the contrary, C1R transfectants expressing an incomplete MHC haplotype (i.e. Cw4 and the transfected gene), were susceptible to IL-2-activated NK cells. An explanation for these data has been provided in subsequent studies in which we showed that NK cells are heterogeneous in their ability to recognize different HLA-class I alleles.

2.3 Cloning of Human NK Cells and Definition of a NK Cell Repertoire

A major breakthrough in understanding the NK cell heterogeneity was provided by the development of culture conditions allowing cloning of NK cells (53). NK cell clones derived not only from different donors but also from single donors were found to display different patterns of cytolytic activity against a series of normal allogeneic cells (PHA-blasts). Thus, each group of clones displayed a unique pattern of cytolytic activity against the allogeneic donors. These data suggested the existence of different groups of NK cell clones characterized by different specificities (18, 32, 54, 55). It is also noteworthy that in no instances did NK clones lyse autologous PHA blasts. These experiments provided evidence for the existence of a functional NK cell repertoire related to the ability to lyse allogeneic cells (24, 32). Also data reported by Bender et al (56) on the lysis of allogeneic endothelial cells could be interpreted on the basis of the existence of (at least) two distinct NK specificities in a single donor. In our studies, four NK-defined specificities have been determined in a single donor; however, > 60% of NK clones isolated from this donor did not lyse any target cell in the panel (32).

In view of these results, our next goal was to identify the target molecules responsible for the susceptibility/resistance to lysis. The availability of alloreactive NK cell clones displaying different cytolytic patterns made possible a segregation and genetic analysis of the characters' susceptibility or resistance to lysis by different NK clones. In these experiments, PHA-blasts isolated from different members of representative families have been used as target cells. This analysis provided evidence that the character resistance to lysis cosegregated with certain HLA haplotypes (54, 55). For example, the character resistance to lysis by NK cell clones belonging to group 2 (32) cosegregated with the Cw3 allele. On the basis of these data, we hypothesized that the expression of the Cw3 allele could protect target PHA-blasts from lysis by group 2 NK clones. At that time, evidence already existed concerning the possible protective effect exerted by MHC class I molecules on target cells; however, no evidence suggested that allelic forms of MHC molecules could specifically protect target cells from lysis by given NK cells, i.e. that a clonal heterogeneity existed in the ability to recognize allelic forms of MHC molecules. Further suggestive evidence that this could indeed be the case was obtained by the selection of Cw3-negative cell variants from a $Cw3^+$ EBV cell line (57). All cell variants lacking Cw3 had acquired susceptibility to lysis selectively by group 2 NK clones.

2.4 HLA–Class I Alleles as Ligands for Specific Recognition Mediated by Human NK Clones

The direct demonstration that HLA class I alleles can function as specific protective elements against defined groups of NK clones was provided by the analysis of murine P815 cells transfected with different human HLA class I alleles. Initially, we focused primarily on the Cw3 allele. Transfection of murine P815 cells with the human gene coding for Cw3 molecules conferred resistance to lysis to the otherwise sensitive P815 cells (57). The protective effect was confined to group 2 NK clones. P815 cells transfected with other class I alleles including A2, A3, and A24 did not confer resistance to group 2–mediated lysis.

Further analysis of other HLA-C alleles indicated that Cw4 acts as a protective element for group 1 NK clones (57). This was also shown by the use of the C1R cell line, which expresses Cw4 as the only serologically detected class I molecule. With the exception of group 1 NK clones, C1R cells were efficiently lysed by clones displaying various specificities (58, 59).

Analysis of representative families suggested that in addition to Cw3 or Cw4, other HLA-C alleles could function as protective elements from lysis mediated by either group 1 or group 2 NK clones. Thus, in the case of group 1 clones, the protective alleles included Cw2, Cw4, Cw5, and Cw6, while in the case of group 2 clones, the protective alleles were represented by Cw1, Cw3, Cw7, and Cw8 (60). By the comparative analysis of the amino acid sequences of different HLA-C alleles, we and others showed that those recognized by group 1 NK clones share the Asn 77 and Lys 80 in the peptide binding groove (α 1 domain) of HLA-C molecules. On the other hand, the HLA-C alleles recognized by group 2 NK clones are characterized by Ser 77 and Asn 80 (61, 62). The direct evidence of the critical role of these amino acid residues in determining the specific recognition by group 1 or group 2 NK clones has been provided by experiments of site directed mutagenesis involving residues 77 and 80 (63). The results indicated that single amino acid substitutions at position 77 and 80 in Cw3 and Cw4 molecules are sufficient to alter the protection of target cells from lysis by group 1 and group 2 NK clones. In particular, the Lys 80 and Ser 77 residues are essential to mediate protection from group 1 and group 2 clones, respectively. In addition, a Cw3 mutant molecule characterized by Asn 77 and Lys 80 residues (that are typical of the Cw4 alleles) lost the protective effect typical of Cw3 and acquired that typical of Cw4 molecules. Our results are consistent with the finding by Storkus et al (64) that amino acid substitution at position 74, in the α 1 helix of HLA-A2, modified the capacity of this molecule to protect target cells from lysis by polyclonal NK cells obtained from human peripheral blood.

These results, together with data in murine models, are in line with the concept that NK cells may, at least in some instances, sense the combination of

626 MORETTA ET AL

MHC and peptide, possibly because binding of the peptide induces changes in the molecular conformation of MHC molecules.

2.5 General Role of HLA Molecules in the Protection from NK Cell–Mediated Lysis

Our studies clearly indicated that HLA-C functioned as protective elements only for a fraction of NK clones (24). It was important to define whether NK clones that were not HLA-C-specific could recognize other HLA class I molecules. This possibility was suggested by the report that peripheral NK cell populations less efficiently lysed MHC class I-deficient target cells transfected with a series of HLA class I molecules including A3, A11, A24, Aw68, B7, and B27 (52). Moreover, our studies on the genetic segregation of characters' susceptibility/resistance to lysis by all groups of clones analyzed indicated that, in all instances, the analyzed character segregated with the HLA haplotypes (32). More direct evidence that indeed all NK cells recognize HLA class I molecules was provided by the use of anti-class I mAbs. In these experiments, selected anti-HLA class I mAbs were shown to reconstitute lysis of resistant target cells by all clonogenic NK cells analyzed (65, 66). A likely explanation was that mAb-mediated masking of HLA class I molecules prevented target cell recognition by NK cells and delivery of a negative signal. The most important information provided by this approach was that class I molecules are directly involved in the mechanism of protection from autologous NK cells, suggesting that self-class I molecules may act as elements that specifically protect normal cells from NK cell-mediated autoreactivity (65, 66).

In view of these findings, the HLA allele specificity of NK clones that were non HLA-C-specific was analyzed against suitable cell lines and cell transfectants. These studies led to the identification of NK cell clones specific for two distinct groups of HLA-B alleles belonging to the serologically defined HLA-Bw4 or Bw6 supertypic specificities (67–70). Comparison of the amino acid sequencies in the α 1 domain of HLA-B molecules suggested that isoleucine (IIe) or threonine (Thr) at position 80 correlated with the resistance to lysis by NK clones specific for the Bw4 specificity. Thus, as directly demonstrated for the NK-mediated HLA-C recognition, single amino acid positions appear to be critical for HLA-Bw4 recognition. These Bw4-specific NK cell clones were found to correspond to the previously identified group 3 (32) of NK clones (71).

Further analysis of HLA-defective cell variants transfected with HLA-A alleles revealed the existence of NK clones recognizing some of these class I alleles (72). Although these studies will require the analysis of a large panel of NK clones and of HLA-A transfectants, preliminary data are in line with the concept that NK cells can specifically recognize allelic forms of HLA-A.

Indeed clones have been identified that did not lyse HLA-A3 or A11 while they efficiently killed untransfected cells or cells transfected with HLA-A2.

2.6 The Role of Class I–Bound Peptides in NK Cell–Mediated Recognition

An important question regarding inhibition of NK cells by class I molecules on target cells concerns the possible role of class I–bound peptides in determining the specificity of the reaction. As discussed above, single amino acid substitutions in the α 1 helix of both HLA-A (64) and HLA-C (63) altered the protective effect of class I molecules. This substitution is thought to modify the population of peptides that can bind to the HLA molecule. These data raised the possibility that NK cells might be inhibited by specific peptide/class I complexes. Noteworthy is that residues 77 and 80 are localized in the peptide-binding groove and, more precisely, contribute to the formation of the F pocket (73). According to Zemmour & Parham, both amino acids have potential contact with a bound peptide (74). In this context, NK cells may recognize directly the bound peptide, or alternatively, they could sense changes in the conformation of MHC class I molecules caused by peptide binding.

It is possible to speculate that the function of these peptides would be to define the autologous cells as normal or abnormal. In the case of viral infection, the normal self-peptides can be displaced or competed with by an excess of peptides derived from viral proteins synthesized in the infected cell (75). This would lead to the inability of NK cells to recognize the new MHC/peptide complexes and would also imply that infected cells could be interpreted by an NK cell as missing self even when they do not have an altered quantitative expression of MHC class I molecules.

Experimental evidence from several different laboratories supports the involvement of MHC-bound peptides in MHC recognition by NK cells (23, 76–78). Two possible roles for peptides in NK cell recognition have been proposed (79). They could be important simply because they bind and stabilize class I molecules, in which case any peptide characterized by a structural motif allowing binding to a given class I molecule would confer protection from NK cells. An alternative model is that only the critical peptides that bind to class I molecules and also provide particular structural motifs that allow recognition by NK cells would exert a protective effect. Recently, by the use of Bw4-specific NK clones, we showed (78) that the simple binding to HLA-B27.05 is not sufficient for a peptide to provide protection. Indeed, only one of several binding peptides conferred protection, thus suggesting that only this particular peptide could provide a self-motif sensed by NK cells. In contrast, in mouse, H-2D^{I–}-specific NK cells could recognize virtually all H-2D^{I–} peptide combinations tested and be inhibited in their cytolytic activity (80). These discrepancies may be related to differences in the molecular characteristics of the NK receptors that may recognize either the MHC itself or the epitopes formed by given peptides. In the case of peptides conferring selective protection (as in the case of the protective HLA-B27.05-bound peptides), it will be important to analyze the effect of systematic substitutions in their amino acid sequences to reveal the motif influencing the NK cell-mediated recognition.

3. THE NK RECEPTORS FOR MHC MOLECULES

3.1 The MHC-Specific NK Receptors in Mouse

In the early 1990s, the putative receptors for MHC molecules were identified in both mouse and humans. In mouse the receptor responsible for MHC recognition is represented by the Ly49A molecules (81). Ly49A is expressed on a subset of C57BL/6 NK cells corresponding to approximately 20% of the total NK cell population. Lv49A⁺ cells are unable to kill target cells expressing H-2D^d or H-2D^k. This reflects a direct interaction of Ly49A molecules with class I molecules. Indeed the protective effect could be overcome by mAb-mediated masking of either Lv49 A or class I molecules (in particular the ($\alpha 1/\alpha 2$ domain). In addition, a direct demonstration has been provided for binding of Ly49A receptors to purified D^d or D^k molecules (82). Ly49A belongs to a multigene family displaying a high degree of homology. Although it is possible that the various members of the Ly49 family may recognize other class I alleles, the direct demonstration of this specificity has not yet been obtained. Some of these putative receptors have been identified by mAbs including the 5E6 (specific for the Ly49C) (83) and the LGL-1 (specific for the Ly49G) (84). The inhibiting MHC ligand for Ly49C molecules appears to depend on the H-2 type of the host. Thus, Ly49C molecules receive a negative signal from both H-2b and H-2d or from H-2k^b only in two different strains of mice.

Ly49A is a homodimer type II integral membrane protein with COOHterminal extracellular domains homologous to members of the C-type lectin superfamily. The Ly49 multigene family is encoded by a gene cluster, termed *NK gene complex* (81), which is found on chromosome 6 in association with other genes encoding for proteins (CD69 and NKR-P1) displaying a structure similar to Ly49.

It is important that the Ly49A and Ly49C receptors are each subject to allelic exclusion (85). Since Ly49 genes are not thought to undergo DNA rearrangement, the allelic exclusion could involve a new mechanism different from that used for TCR and Ig.

3.2 The Human NK Receptors for HLA-C Molecules

The finding that NK cells express a clonally distributed ability to recognize different MHC class I alleles suggested the existence, on the NK cell surface, of receptors mediating this recognition. Based on the available experimental data the putative receptors for a given class I allele should be expressed by only a fraction of NK cells and should be able to negatively regulate the cytolytic activity of NK cells. In humans, the first molecules displaying these characteristics were identified by two mAbs termed GL183 (86) and EB6 (87). These mAbs reacted with different NK cell subsets, and the expression of the corresponding surface molecules was not altered by cell activation, proliferation, and cloning. In addition, EB6⁺ or GL183⁺ cells varied in percentage among different donors. The EB6 or GL183 molecules belong to different members of the same molecular species, termed p58 (88). At the clonal level, a close relationship could be determined between the expression of EB6 and GL183 molecules (indicated as p58.1 and p58.2) and the specificity for different HLA-C alleles (87, 88).

These data suggested that p58.1 and p58.2 molecules could be involved in the recognition of different HLA-C alleles. This concept was further sustained by the finding that soluble anti-p58 mAbs induced lysis of HLA-C-protected target cells by p58⁺ NK clones (58, 59). A likely interpretation of these data is the occurrence of a mAb–mediated masking of the receptor. This would result in blocking of the MHC/receptor interactions with consequent inhibition of the delivery of the negative signal to NK cells. On the other hand, when crosslinked by Fc γ R expressed on target cells, anti-p58 mAbs strongly inhibited the cytolytic activity. This inhibition was similar to that occurring when specific p58 receptors interacted with protective MHC molecules. Thus, anti-p58 mAbs bound to surface Fc γ R may mimic the HLA-C–mediated cross-linking of p58 receptors (58, 59).

Regarding the HLA-C allele specificity of p58.1 and p58.2 molecules, we originally showed that NK clones belonging to group 1 were characterized by the GL183⁻/EB6⁺ (87) phenotype whereas group 2 clones were GL183⁺/EB6^{dull} or GL183⁺EB6⁻ (18, 24, 32, 88). Thus, the cytolytic activity of group 1 clones against target cells expressing Cw4 or related alleles (characterized by Asn 77 and Lys 80) was reconstituted by mAb–mediated masking of the p58.1 (EB6) receptor (58, 59), whereas the cytolytic activity of group 2 clones against cells expressing Cw3 or related alleles (characterized by Ser 77 and Asn 80) was reconstituted by mAb-mediated masking of the p58.2 (GL183) receptor (58). These data strongly suggested that p58.1 and p58.2 molecules represented the receptors for two distinct groups of HLA-C alleles.

More recently, we described a group of GL183⁺/EB6^{bright} NK clones characterized by the inability to lyse all allogeneic target cells, independent of their HLA-C haplotype (89). On the other hand, these clones, defined as *group 0*, could lyse HLA-class I-negative target cells while class I⁺ target cells were lysed only in the presence of anti-class I mAbs. Unlike group 1 or group 2 clones, the group 0 NK clones appeared to recognize all the HLA-C alleles. Recognition was shown to be mediated by p58.1 and p58.2 molecules, functioning as independent inhibiting receptors for the two distinct groups of HLA-C alleles (which encompass all the expressed HLA-C molecules).

At present it is still difficult to explain why the p58.1 molecules expressed on group 1 and group 0 clones recognize Cw4 and related alleles, while those expressed on group 2 clones do not. A likely explanation is the lower number of p58.1 molecules expressed by the latter clones (89). Thus, while the fluorescence intensity of the staining with anti-EB6 mAbs is high in group 1 and group 0 clones, in group 2 clones it is low. A critical number of p58.1/Cw4 interactions may be required to result in efficient receptor cross-linking and transduction of the (negative) signal. In agreement with this interpretation are data on the mAb-mediated modulation of p58.1 molecules in group 1 clones (59). These experiments showed that modulation (i.e. internalization) of p58.1 molecules resulted in lysis of Cw4⁺ cells, and that a critical number of p58.1 molecules (re-expressed after modulation) was required to generate an effective negative signal upon recognition of the protective allele. If this interpretation is correct, one may predict that group 2 clones expressing the GL183⁺/EB6^{dull} phenotype could recognize with low efficiency (and thus induce a poorly efficient negative signal) HLA-Cw4 and related alleles, i.e. the alleles recognized by conventional p58.1 receptors. It is also possible that this low reactivity of antip58.1 mAb may reflect a peculiar characteristic of the p58 molecules expressed by group 2 clones. Indeed p58.2 (GL183) molecules may be heterogeneous and in some cases may express epitopes also recognized by anti-p58.1 mAbs (although with low avidity). This interpretation would explain the finding that anti-p58.1 mAbs could partially reconstitute the cytolytic activity of group 2 clones expressing the GL183⁺/EB6^{dull} phenotype (58).

Genes encoding for p58.2 as well as those encoding for p58.1 molecules have recently been identified (see below). It will be important to analyze all transcripts for p58.2 molecules, particularly those derived from GL183⁺/EB6^{dull} clones, to define the EB6 mAb reactivity of the encoded proteins.

3.3 HLA-C Specific NK Receptors Mediating NK Cell Activation

While the best-characterized NK receptors for MHC class I are the inhibiting receptors, several pieces of experimental evidence in rat (90, 91) and mouse (39, 92) suggested that MHC class I receptors may also deliver triggering

signals. We recently showed that p58.1 (and p58.2) molecules also exist as activating receptors that, upon binding to specific ligands, deliver a positive rather than a negative signal to NK cells (93). As a consequence, different from that of the inhibiting receptors, cross-linking of the activating receptors results in both early events (such as Ca⁺⁺ mobilization) and late effector functions (e.g. triggering of cytolytic activity and of cytokine production). Unlike the inhibiting p58 receptors, the activating receptors were detectable only in some donors. In addition, they were clonally distributed, and in no instances did single NK cells coexpress activating and inhibiting receptors displaying an identical HLA-C specificity. Comparative biochemical analysis of the activating and the inhibiting receptors showed remarkable differences. Thus, the activating receptor, different from the typical 58-kDa receptor, displayed a molecular mass of 50 kDa. This reflects differences in the protein backbones (42 and 36 kDa, respectively) rather than in the degree of glycosylation of the same protein. Treatment with different proteolytic enzymes, followed by peptide mapping, indicated that p50 and p58 molecules belong to the same molecular family (93). These data suggest that the p50 and p58 receptors may be coupled to different pathways of signal transduction, possibly reflecting differences in their cytoplasmic tails characterized by divergent amino acid sequences within this portion of the molecule. Indeed, this hypothesis has recently been confirmed by cloning the p58/p50 molecules-encoding genes (94, 95, 96).

It is of note that all NK clones expressing an activating p50 receptor coexpress another receptor, specific for a different class I allele but characterized by an inhibiting function. Moreover, the inhibiting receptor always downregulated the NK cell activation induced via p50 molecules (93). The predominance of the inhibiting receptor implies that a measurable NK cell triggering via p50 molecules occurs only in the absence of effective inhibiting interactions. Such event would occur in pathological conditions characterized by downregulation or (peptide-induced) alteration of the protective MHC alleles.

Although the activating receptors appear to recognize the same class I allele recognized by the corresponding inhibiting receptors (93), the experimental approach used so far does not allow definition of whether the two receptors can sense different MHC-bound peptides. Indeed one may speculate that triggering of activating receptors may take place also with MHC-peptide interactions that are not recognized by inhibiting receptors.

A third form of activating receptor belonging to the p58/p50 molecular family has recently been identified in our laboratory. This molecule (p58.3) does not react with GL183 or EB6 mAb and is expressed only by some donors. So far, only an activating form of this molecule has been identified (by the use of a specific mAb). Although biochemical analysis indicates a high degree of similarity

632 MORETTA ET AL

with p58/p50 molecules, no evidence for HLA-C specificity has been obtained. Importantly, mAb-mediated triggering of peripheral blood lymphocytes from individuals expressing p58.3⁺ NK cells induced a selective expansion of these cells. These data suggest that, following receptor–mediated signaling, NK cells can undergo selective proliferation, reminiscent of the T cell proliferation in response to conventional antigens or superantigens.

Whether the MHC-induced triggering of the NK-mediated cytotoxicity can be regarded as a major pathway of NK cell activation remains to be determined. In this context, however, it should be recalled that HLA-negative cells are highly susceptible to the NK cell–mediated lysis. Obviously, in this case, no NK cell triggering can be induced by activating receptor/MHC interactions, and the existence of activating receptors specific for ligands different from MHC molecules must be postulated.

3.4 Signaling Via HLA-C Specific p58/p50 Receptors

As discussed above, p58 and p50 molecules deliver opposite signals upon binding to their specific ligands.

The molecular basis of the negative signal is still poorly understood. We showed that p58 molecules form a complex with a member of the tyrosine kinases of the src family (p56^{lck}) and with different members of the ζ family including (at least) the ζ -CD3 and the γ -Fc ϵ RI. However, in contrast to the triggering of the CD3/TCR complex in T cells or of CD16 molecules in NK cells, no tyrosine phosphorylation could be detected in the p58-associated molecules belonging to the ζ -family (59).

Analysis of the p50-associated molecules did not reveal the presence of typical CD3- ζ or Fc ϵ -Rl- γ chains. However, while cross-linking of inhibiting p58 molecules did not result in $[Ca^{++}]_i$ increases, the cross-linking of the p50activating receptor resulted in a strong $[Ca^{++}]_i$ increment (93). Notably, upon mAb-mediated cross-linking of p58 molecules, no inhibition of the early steps of NK-cell activation could be detected (59). Thus, although NK-cell activation induced via p50 or CD16 molecules was completely blocked by the simultaneous cross-linking of p58 molecules, no inhibiting effect was detected on $[Ca^{++}]_i$ mobilization. Our interpretation of these data was that the inhibiting pathway induced via p58 molecules may converge with the activating pathways at a later stage during the signaling cascade and may involve still unidentified downstream transducing elements. By applying a different experimental approach, Kaufman and colleagues showed that MHC class I recognition by inhibiting NK receptors did not inhibit cell adhesion to target cells (97). However, in contrast to our data, their report indicates an inhibiting effect on both $[Ca^{++}]_i$ mobilization and inositol phosphate release (98). It is important to consider that most normal cells in an organism are protected from NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity because they express class I molecules. Since the NK.R/MHC class I interaction leads to NK cell inhibition, one may ask why NK cells, continuously exposed to inhibiting signals (i.e. self-MHC class I alleles), are still able to lyse bystander, unprotected cells (e.g. tumor cells). On the basis of the available data, a possible explanation is that the inhibiting effect is limited to a portion of the cell. This polarization effect of the negative signal would not prevent NK cells from mediating cytolysis by utilizing other cell surface compartments (88).

3.5 Molecular Clones of the HLA-C Specific Human NK Receptors

Yokoyama & Seaman (81) showed that murine Ly49 molecules belong to a family of strictly related type II transmembrane proteins containing a C-type lectin domain. The Ly49 receptor genes were found to cluster to the NK gene complex on mouse chromosome 6. Molecular cloning of p58 human NK receptors was first reported by Wagtmann et al in 1994 (94). These studies revealed a structure completely different from that of Ly49. The p58 molecular family (at least six different homologous genes have been identified) is characterized by two immunoglobulin-like domains in the extracellular portions (95, 96). The finding of two unrelated receptor families serving similar functions in mouse and in humans has several implications. First, it is likely that these receptors may sense differently the MHC class I molecules and their changes. In this context, as referred above, Correa & Raulet showed that H-2D^d recognition by NK cells was dependent upon binding of H-2D^d to specific peptides but could not discriminate among different peptides (80). In contrast, Malnati et al (78) showed that recognition of HLA-B27 by human NK clones was both peptide dependent and peptide specific. The molecular structure of the Bw4-specific NK receptors (i.e. the NKB1/Z27 p70 molecules) has recently been determined. They are represented by an immunoglobulin-related receptor, similar to p58 molecules but displaying three Ig-like domains (99). Clones encoding for p58.1 or p58.2 molecules were found to display 84% sequence homology. Although amino acid differences between the two sequences were scattered over the entire molecule, eleven residue differences in the extracellular portions were typical of either p58.1 or p58.2 molecules. These findings could explain differences both in the specific binding of HLA-C alleles and in the antibody reactivity of the two molecules.

A remarkable feature of p58-related sequences was that molecules that were highly homologous in their extracellular domains expressed different cytoplasmic tails. The long cytoplasmic tail was 76 or 84 amino acids and contained a typical sequence related to the antigen recognition activation motif (ARAM) present in CD3 molecules (100). The short tail was 39 amino acids, did not contain an ARAM motif, and was associated to a transmembrane region containing a Lys residue (absent in the other form). These findings were highly suggestive of receptors displaying identical specificity but transducing different signals. Biassoni et al analyzed whether the activating p50 forms of the HLA-C specific receptors correlated with molecules characterized by a short tail. Indeed, a precise correlation between a short cytoplasmic tail and an activating p50 form of the receptor was found for both EB6 and GL183-reactive molecules (96) (see Figure 2).



Figure 2 HLA-C-specific NK receptors belong to the Ig-superfamily. Both inhibiting (p58) and activating (p50) receptors are type I transmembrane proteins belonging to the Ig-superfamily. They display two Ig-like domains sharing a high degree of amino acid homology. The inhibiting form (p58) is characterized by a nonpolar transmembrane portion associated with a 76–84 amino acid tail containing an ARAM-like motif characterized by tandem Tyr-X-X-Leu sequences spaced by 26 amino acid. The typical ARAM motifs present in the TCR-associated CD3 chains are spaced by 6 to 8 amino acid residues. In contrast, the activating form (p50) had a 39 amino acid cytoplasmic tail that did not contain the ARAM-like motif due to an in-frame stop codon after the Tyr codon of the first Tyr-X-X-Leu sequence and was always associated to a transmembrane portion containing a charged amino acid residue (Lys).

3.6 The Human NK Receptors for HLA-B Molecules

A fraction of NK cells, variable in size in different individuals, does not express p58 molecules as detected by the GL183 or EB6 mAbs and yet recognizes class I molecules on potential target cells (see above). Therefore, the search for putative receptors for HLA-B or HLA-A alleles has been performed in p58negative NK clones. NK clones shown to express inhibiting receptors for HLA-B alleles were used for mice immunization. The resulting mAbs were screened on the basis of their ability to reconstitute the cytolytic activity of the immunizing clones against HLA-B-protected target cells. When mAbs were raised against Bw6-specific NK clones, all the selected mAbs reacted with a previously identified molecule involved in NK cell functions represented by the CD94 (Kp43) molecule. Anti-CD94 mAbs specifically reconstituted the cytolytic activity of Bw6-specific, but not that of Bw4-specific clones (67). In contrast to p58 receptors, which are restricted to NK cell subsets, CD94 molecules are expressed on the majority of peripheral blood NK cells (101-103), although the CD94 molecules display noticeable variations in the level of expression among different NK cells. We found that Bw6-specific NK clones were confined to the CD94^{bright} subset. In redirected killing experiments against P815 cells, CD94 mAbs of IgG isotype inhibited the spontaneous lysis of target cells by CD94^{bright} clones, thus mimicking the protective effect of HLA-Bw6 alleles (67). In contrast to p58 receptors, which are restricted to NK cell subsets, CD94 molecules are expressed on the majority of peripheral blood NK cells (101-103), although the CD94 molecules display noticeable variations in the level of expression among different NK cells.

More recently, evidence has been accumulated that CD94 molecules are not exclusively involved in the recognition of HLA-B alleles. For example, the cytolytic activity of some NK clones expressing the CD94^{bright} phenotype was found to be inhibited by certain HLA-B alleles belonging to the Bw6 subgroup and by HLA-A alleles including A1, A3, and A11. The cytolytic activity of these clones against both HLA-B- and HLA-A-transfectants could be restored by anti-CD94 or anti-HLA class I mAbs. Although these clones did not express p58 receptors, they did not lyse efficiently 221 cells transfected with HLA-C. Moreover, the lysis of these target cells was reconstituted by anti-CD94 mAbs. However, it is of note that while HLA-C molecules exerted an efficient protection from p58⁺ clones, the protection was only partial in the case of the above p58-CD94⁺ clones. In addition, in $p58^+$ clones (which usually express a CD94^{dim} phenotype), anti-p58 but not anti-CD94 mAb could restore cytotoxicity. Thus, it appears that CD94 molecules may function as HLA-class I-specific receptors primarily in NK cells, which do not express another receptor with a more defined specificity for given HLA class I alleles (e.g. p58 or p70). In this context, it is possible that CD94 molecules represent a more primitive type of receptor for HLA class I molecules which evolved before p58 and p70 receptors; thus CD94 might be able to recognize the products of different class I loci due to the recognition of a conserved epitope (Bw6-related) that is not recognized by the bona fide receptors (i.e. p58 and p70).

Along this line, the CD94 receptor may not represent the human counterpart of the murine Ly49 receptors. Indeed both are type 2 proteins that would appear to recognize MHC class I alleles belonging to different loci.

As previously shown for the HLA-C specific receptors, CD94 can also mediate opposite functional effects. Thus, a major fraction of CD94⁺ clones is triggered, rather than inhibited, by anti-CD94 mAb in a redirected killing assay (104). Activating but not inhibiting forms of CD94 molecules could induce Ca⁺⁺ mobilization upon mAb-mediated cross-linking. Preliminary biochemical analysis is suggestive of differences in molecular weight between inhibiting and activating CD94 molecules. Remarkably, CD94 molecules appear to be structurally unrelated to both p58 and the HLA-Bw4-specific p70 receptor (see below). Thus, CD94 is surface expressed as a homodimer of 80 kDa which, under reducing conditions, displays a molecular weight of ≈ 43 kDa (101). Recent cloning of the CD94-encoding genes (105) revealed a type II membrane protein encoded by a unique gene of the C-type lectin superfamily. The gene was found on chromosome 12, the syntenic of mouse chromosome 6, where genes of the NK complex (Lv49, NKR-P1) are located. Comparison of the sequences of CD94 and other genes belonging to the human NK complex. including NKR-P1 and NKG2 (106), revealed a homology limited to the structural motifs conserved in the carbohydrate recognition domain. Thus, CD94 appears the only human NK molecule involved in MHC recognition that is structurally similar to the murine Ly49. Although a human homologue of Ly49 has not been identified so far (nor has the murine homologue of p58), these data would suggest that NK receptors serving the same function may belong to two unrelated molecular families. This apparent redundancy of NK receptors for class I molecules may actually be important for sensing different epitopes of the same target molecules (e.g. carbohydrates versus MHC-bound peptides, see above).

The receptor that appears to recognize HLA-B alleles expressing the Bw4 supertypic specificity has recently been identified as a 70-kDa molecule (p70) recognized by mAbs DX9 (68) or Z27 (71). This receptor is selectively expressed only in NK cells recognizing Bw4 and thus differs from CD94. Analysis of the clonal distribution of p58 homologous sequences revealed that p70⁺ clones consistently expressed transcripts encoding p58-related transmembrane glycoproteins characterized by an extracellular region with three Ig-like domains (99). Similar findings were obtained by other authors who could identify these transcripts in Bw4-specific NK clones (107).

Similar to the previously defined group 0 NK clones that coexpress both types of HLA-C specific receptors (89), some clones coexpressed inhibiting receptors for the two groups of HLA-B alleles belonging to the Bw4 and the Bw6 supertypic specificities (67). These receptors functioned independently, and since normal cells expressed one or another group of HLA-B alleles, they failed to lyse all allogeneic target cells tested.

3.7 Coexpression of NK Receptors for HLA-C and HLA-B Alleles

In addition to NK cells coexpressing both types of HLA-C or HLA-B-specific receptors, some NK clones coexpress inhibiting receptors for both HLA-C and HLA-B alleles (67, 71, 72, 108). Also in these clones the NK receptors function independently, and the mAb-mediated masking of both receptors is required to restore cytolytic activity against target cells expressing both the protective HLA class I alleles (67, 71). It is noteworthy that the p58.1 and the p58.2 receptors (as well as the p70 receptors) are expressed in all individuals regardless of their HLA class I haplotype. This is in line with the concept that class I alleles (87, 89). However, on the basis of the experimental evidence that self-MHC class I molecules are responsible for shaping the NK receptor repertoire (39–43), these inhibiting receptors for non-self-alleles must necessarily be coexpressed in individual NK cells with inhibiting receptors for self-alleles in order to prevent cytolytic activity against autologous cells.

The simultaneous expression on NK clones of inhibiting receptors for different HLA-class I alleles has provided the molecular basis for explaining the cytolytic pattern of previously defined groups of alloreactive NK cell clones. Thus, while the isolated expression of either p58.1 or p58.2 receptors correlated with group 1 or group 2 NK clones, the expression of p70 alone determined the group 3 specificity, and the combined expression of p70 and p58.1 dictated the specificity of group 5 NK clones (71).

3.8 Shaping the NK-R Repertoire During Development: Regulation by Positive Selection?

As discussed above, all NK cells express at least one type of inhibiting receptor for at least one self-HLA class I allele. This implies that, to avoid autoimmune phenomena, the NK cell system has evolved a mechanism of developmental control possibly based on positive selection of NK cell progenitors expressing inhibiting receptors for self–class I alleles. If such interaction takes place, the NK cell will be allowed to undergo further maturation. In contrast, NK cells that

| nnu. Rev. Immunol. 1996.14:619-648. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by HINARI on 08/31/07. For personal use only. |
|--|
|--|

 Table 1
 The human NK receptors for HLA-class I antigens

| | | | ARAM-like | | | Molecular | Protein |
|--|---|----------------|--|---|--|-------------------------------------|-------------------|
| Reactive mAbs | Putative ligands | Function | $motif^*$ | cDNA | Protein structure | mass (kDa) | denomination |
| EB6/XA141 | HLA-C "group 1" | inhibitory | + | EB6-cl.42 | 2 lg domains | 58 | p58.1 |
| EB6/XA141 | HLA-C "group 1" | inhibitory | + | EB6-cl.47.11 | 2 lg domains | 58 | p58.1 |
| EB6/XA141 | HLA-C "group 1" | activatory | I | EB6-act I | 2 lg domains | 50 | p50.1 |
| GL183/y249 | HLA-C "group 2" | inhibitory | + | 183-cl.6 | 2 lg domains | 58 | p58.2 |
| GL183/y249 | HLA-C "group 2" | inhibitory | + | 183-cl.43 | 2 lg domains | 58 | p58.2 |
| GL183/y249 | HLA-C "group 2" | activatory | I | 183-act I | 2 lg domains | 50 | p50.2 |
| | ÷ | ċ | I | cl.39 | 2 lg domains | ذ | |
| DX9/Z27 | HLA-Bw4 | inhibitory | + | cl.11/AMB11 | 3 lg domains | 70 | p70 |
| DX9/Z27 | HLA-Bw4 | inhibitory | + | cl.2/NKB1 | 3 lg domains | 70 | NKB1/p70 |
| | ż | ċ | + | cl.5 | 3 lg domains | ż | |
| 3B1/XA185 | Various HLA-class I | ?** | I | CD94-LL288 | C-type, lectin (type II) | 43 | Kp43/CD94 |
| [*] Unlike the conventi **Although both inhi | onal ARAM motif characte bitory and activatory forms | of Kp43/CD94 m | XL sequences spots of the second seco | paced by 6–8 amino a en described, it is not | icids, in this case the spacing is clear to which of these forms th | s 26 amino acids. 1e cDNA CD94-L | L288 corresponds. |

638 MORETTA ET AL

do not express self-class I-specific receptors would fail to further differentiate. As mentioned previously, frequently NK cells coexpress inhibiting receptors for non-self-MHC class I alleles. Although expression of these receptors is clearly not useful, it is equally harmless to the host. These data suggest that the expression of inhibiting receptors on NK cell subsets during development may reflect a stochastic process in which the various NK-R-encoding genes are regulated in an independent fashion. The hypothesis that the NK-R expression represents the result of a stochastic event is in agreement with the finding that NK cells may express one or more receptors for self-alleles as well as additional receptors for nonself. Conceivably, the fact that NK cells may express only one type of inhibiting receptor for a given self-allele confers an advantage to the host. Thus, lack of expression or peptide-induced alteration of a single MHCclass I allele would be sufficient for NK cells to detect and kill the abnormal cells. It is evident that this control system has major advantages over a system in which single NK cells express receptors for all self-alleles, or, alternatively, a single type of receptor specific for monomorphic determinants of MHC class I molecules.

3.9 HLA-Class I–Specific Receptors of NK Type on a Subset of Human CTLs

Resting T lymphocytes do not display spontaneous cytolytic activity against NK-susceptible target cells; however, upon cell activation and culture in IL-2, a fraction of CTLs expressing either TCR α/β or γ/δ has been shown to display NK-like activity. For example, in early studies of T cell cloning, we showed that approximately 1/3 CD8⁺ CTLs could lyse K562 target cells (109). Thus, upon activation, CTLs characterized by this functional property could be potentially harmful to self-cells, unless they display a safety device preventing autoaggression.

When p58 molecules were first identified in NK cells, a small but sizeable fraction of peripheral CD3⁺ cells was found to express p58 molecules as well (86, 87). This finding and a subsequent report by Ferrini et al (110) suggested a possible role for class I–specific receptors of NK type in preventing lysis of autologous cells. On the basis of this hypothesis, Mingari et al (111) analyzed whether antibody-mediated masking of class I molecules on resistant target cells could induce their lysis by CTL clones active against K562 target cells. All CTL clones with this function were found to lyse both allogeneic and autologous target cells in the presence of anti-class I mAbs. These data suggested that inhibiting interactions involving class I molecules on target cells and specific NK-type receptors on T cells may represent a general mechanism operating in this subset of CTLs to prevent lysis of autologous cells.

640 MORETTA ET AL

Analysis of T cell clones with the panel of available anti-NK-R mAbs revealed the existence not only of the HLA-C specific p58 receptors, but also of HLA-B specific receptors including CD94 (111) and the p70 (68). Of major importance was the finding that these receptors inhibited not only the spontaneous but also the TCR–mediated target cell lysis or lymphokine production (110, 111). Similar data have been obtained by Phillips et al (112), who showed that CTL clones may express HLA class I–specific receptors that inhibit the superantigen-induced cytotoxicity against target cells that have been transfected with HLA-A, B, or C molecules.

While the receptors for Bw4 have been directly identified with the NKB1/p70 molecule, the presence of the receptors for other HLA alleles has been inferred by the protective effect on target cells exerted by the expression of these alleles. These data are in agreement with our observations that at least four distinct class I-specific NK receptors can be revealed on T cells by the use of specific mAbs. The expression of HLA class I-specific inhibiting receptors on a subset of human CTLs poses important questions as to the ability of these receptors to work against the main function of CTLs, which is to lyse cells that present foreign peptides. It has been speculated that such inhibiting receptors may play a general role in the regulation of CTL responses, perhaps preventing autoimmunity against normal tissues when T cells are activated in the course of inflammatory responses (112). Although these ideas may well be true, it is important to stress that only a fraction of CTLs express these receptors. Thus, the safety device provided by the class I-specific inhibiting receptors may apply to only a (minor) subset of CTLs, which perhaps represent a distinct set of T cells. This concept is supported by preliminary data showing that CD28, the key costimulatory molecule for T cell activation, is not expressed in CTL clones expressing NK receptors for MHC class I. It will be important to further define the functional and phenotypic properties of these cells and to analyze whether they express a wide or a restricted TCR repertoire.

Regardless of the above considerations, it is evident that the analysis of the inhibiting signal in T cells (for which the activation pathways are much better understood than in NK cells) will clarify the activation pathway along which the NK receptor-mediated inhibition occurs as well as which molecular mechanisms are involved.

4. NON–MHC SPECIFIC NK RECEPTORS

A number of surface molecules have been involved in the process of NK cell activation or inhibition. The ability of NK cells to efficiently lyse MHC-negative target cells implies the existence of activating receptor(s) recognizing non MHC-encoded ligands. Among these, the NKR-P1, a disulphide-linked
homodimer expressed on all rodent NK cells (113–115), might play a relevant role. NKR-P1 is an activating receptor mediating natural killing upon binding carbohydrate ligands on NK-sensitive targets. The production of a soluble form of rat NKR-P1 (116) showed that it binds to NK-sensitive target cells but not to NK-resistant cells. In addition, the sNKR-P1 blocked the killing of NKsensitive targets by freshly isolated polyclonal NK cells. On the other hand, anti-NKR-P1 antibodies did not block cytotoxicity mediated by NK cells. This may be due to the expression of more than one NKR-P1 family member on NK cells or to the fact that monoclonal antibodies to NKR-P1 do not bind to an appropriate epitope. Thus molecules belonging to the NKR-P1 family may be responsible for triggering NK cells when no interaction between protective alleles and receptors delivering negative signals occurs. The affinity of the interaction between NKR-P1 and carbohydrates might dictate the activation or the inactivation of the triggering event. A human homologue of mouse NKR-P1 has recently been characterized and cloned (117). Comparison of the predicted amino acid sequences of human, mouse, and rat NKR-P1A indicated 46% homology. The genes for NKR-P1A are on human chromosome 12 (syntenic of mouse chromosome 6). The NKR-P1A molecule is expressed on a subset of human NK cells (whereas it is expressed on all rat NK cells) and on a subset of T cells including both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. Anti-NKR-P1 mAbs (DX12) did not affect the lysis of K562 target cells but, at least in some instances, blocked the lysis of P815 target cells in redirected killing assays (117).

Another member of the family of receptors encoded by the NK complex is the CD69 antigen (118, 119). The CD69 molecule is expressed by hematopoietic cells soon after activation (120). Anti-CD69 mAbs can stimulate lymphocyte proliferation (121) and NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity in redirected killing assays (122). The NK activation induced by anti-CD69 mAbs is inhibited by the simultaneous mAb-induced cross-linking of MHC-specific inhibiting receptors thus indicating that, similar to all the other known activating receptors, the CD69-dependent pathway of NK cell activation is under the control of MHC-specific inhibiting receptors (122).

Additional surface molecules involved in NK cell activation/inhibition have been proposed in recent years; these include CD16 (123), CD2 (124), a P38 molecule recognized by the Cl.7 mAb (125), a p70 molecule recognized by the PP35 mAb (126), and a p40 molecule recognized by mAbs NKTA 255 and 1F1 (127). With the exception of CD16 and CD2, the precise role of all these molecules in the complex mechanisms controlling NK cell functions remains largely unknown, although it is unlikely that they may recognize MHC class I molecules.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to our colleagues who contributed to these studies for their help and discussions. We wish to thank Cinzia Miriello for typing the manuscript. This work was supported by grants to LM, AM, and RB awarded by the Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro (AIRC), Istituto Superiore di Sanita (ISS), Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche (CNR), and Progetto Finalizzato ACRO.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Herberman RB, Nunn ME, Lavrin DH. 1975. Natural cytotoxic reactivity of mouse lymphoid cells against syngeneic and allogeneic tumours. Distribution of reactivity and specificity. *Int. J. Cancer* 16:216–29
- Kiessling R, Klein E, Wigzell H. 1975. "Natural killer" cells in the mouse. I. Cytotoxic cells with specificity for mouse Moloney leukemia cells. Specificity and distribution according to genotype. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 5:112–17
- Trinchieri G. 1989. Biology of natural killer cells. Adv. Immunol. 47:187–376
- Becker S, Fenyö EM, Klein E. 1976. The "natural killer" cell in the mouse does not require H-2 homology and is not directed against type or group specific antigens of murine C viral proteins. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 6:882–85
- Herberman RB. 1982. NK Cells and Other Natural Effector Cells. New York: Academic. 1566 pp.
- Reynolds CW, Wiltrout RH. 1989. Functions of the Natural Immune System. New York: Plenum. 506 pp.
- Bancroft GJ. 1993. The role of natural killer cells in innate resistance to infection. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 5:503–10
- Lanier LL, Phillips J, Hackett J, Tutt M, Kumar V. 1986. Natural killer cells: definition of a cell type rather than a function. *J. Immunol.* 137:2375–80
- Dorshkind K, Pollack SB, Bosma MJ, Phillips RA. 1985. Natural killer cells are present in mice with severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID). J. Immunol. 134:3798–801
- 10. Hackett J, Bosma GC, Bosma MJ, Bennett

M, Kumar V. 1986. Transplantable progenitors of natural killer cells are distinct from those of T and B lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83:3427–31

- Mingari MC, Poggi A, Biassoni R, Bellomo R, Ciccone E, Pella N, Morelli L, Verdiani S, Moretta L. 1991. In vitro proliferation and cloning of CD3-CD16⁺ cells from human thymocyte precursors. *J. Exp. Med.* 174:21–26
- Sanchéz MJ, Spits H, Lanier LL, Phillips JH. 1993. Human natural killer cell committed thymocytes and their relation to the T cell lineage. J. Exp. Med. 178:1857–66
- Sanchéz MJ, Muench MO, Roncarolo MG, Lanier LL, Phillips JH. 1994. Identification of a common T/natural killer cell progenitor in human fetal liver. J. Exp. Med. 180:569–76
- Trinchieri G. 1995. Natural killer cells wear different hats: effector cells of innate resistance and regulatory cells of adoptive immunity and hematopoiesis. *Semin. Immunol.* 7:83–88
- Bellone G, Valiante NM, Viale O, Ciccone E, Moretta L, Trinchieri G. 1993. Regulation of hematopoiesis in vitro by alloreactive natural killer cell clones. J. Exp. Med. 177:1117–22
- Ljunggren H-G, Karre K. 1990. In search of the "missing self". MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol. Today* 11:237–44
- Karre K. 1992. An unexpected petition for pardon. *Curr. Biol.* 2:613–16
- Moretta L, Ciccone E, Moretta A, Höglund P, Oöhlen C, Kärre K. 1992. Allorecognition by NK cells: nonself or no self? *Immunol. Today* 13:300–6

- Ljunggren H-G, Kärre K. 1985. Host resistance directed selectively against H-2deficient lymphoma variants: analysis of the mechanism. J. Exp. Med. 162:1745– 59
- Piontek GE, Taniguchi K, Ljunggren H-G, Gronberg A, Kiessling R, Klein G, Kärre K. 1985. YAC-1 MHC class I variants reveal an association between decreased NK sensitivity and increased H-2 expression after interferon treatment or in vivo passage. J. Immunol. 135:4281–88
- Kärre K, Ljunggren H-G, Piontek G, Kiessling R. 1986. Selective rejection of H-2-deficient lymphoma variants suggests alternative immune defense strategy. *Nature* 319:675–78
- Chadwick BS, Sambhara SR, Sasakura Y, Miller RG. 1992. Effect of class I MHC binding peptides on recognition by natural killer cells. *J. Immunol.* 149:3150–56
- Storkus WJ, Salter RD, Cresswell P, Dawson JR. 1992. Peptide-induced modulation of target cell sensitivity to natural killing. J. Immunol. 149:1185–90
- Moretta L, Ciccone E, Mingari MC, Biassoni R, Moretta A. 1994. Human NK cells: origin, clonality, specificity and receptors. *Adv. Immunol.* 55:341–80
- Correa I, Corral L, Raulet DH. 1994. Multiple natural killer cell-activating signals are inhibited by major histocompatibility complex class I expression in target cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:1323–31
- Burgert HG, Maryanski HL, Kvist S. 1987. E3/19K protein of adenovirus type 2 inhibits lysis of cytolytic T lymphocytes by blocking cell-surface expression of histocompatibility class I antigens. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:1356–60
- Browne H, Smith G, Beck S, Minson T. 1990. A complex between the MHC class I homologue encoded by human cytomegalovirus and beta-2 microglobulin. *Nature* 347:770–72
- Del Val M, Hengel H, Häcker H, Hartlaub U, Ruppert T, Lucin P, Koszinowski UH. 1992. Cytomegalovirus prevents antigen presentation by blocking the transport of peptide-loaded major histocompatibility complex class I molecules into the medial-golgi compartment. J. Exp. Med. 176:729–38
- Howcroft TK, Strebel K, Martin MA, Singer DS. 1993. Reexpression of MHC class I gene promoter activity by two exon tat of HIV. *Science* 260:1320–22
- Yu YYL, Kumar V, Bennett M. 1992. Murine natural killer cells and marrow graft rejection. Annu. Rev. Immunol.

10:189-213

- Ciccone E, Viale O, Pende D, Malnati M, Biassoni R, Melioli G, Moretta A, Long EO, Moretta L. 1988. Specific lysis of allogeneic cells after activation of CD3lymphocytes in mixed lymphocyte culture. J. Exp. Med. 168:2403–8
- 32. Ciccone E, Pende D, Viale O, Di Donato C, Tripodi G, Orengo AM, Guardiola J, Moretta A, Moretta L. 1992. Evidence of a natural killer (NK) cell repertoire for (allo)antigen recognition: definition of five distinct NK-determined allospecificities in humans. J. Exp. Med. 175:709–18
- Storkus WJ, Howell DN, Salter RD, Dawson JR, Cresswell P. 1987. NK susceptibility varies inversely with target cell class I HLA antigen expression. J. Immunol. 138:1657–59
- Glas R, Sturmhöfel K, Hämmerling GJ, Kärre K, Ljunggren H-G. 1992. Restoration of a tumorigenic phenotype by β2microglobulin transfection to EL-4 mutant cells. J. Exp. Med. 175:843–46
- Bix M, Liao NS, Zijstra M, Loring J, Jaenisch R, Raulet D. 1991. Rejection of class I MHC deficient haematopoietic cells by irradiated MHC matched mice. *Nature* 349:329–31
- Öhlen C, Kling G, Höglund P, Hansson M, Scangos G, Bieberich C, Jay G, Kärre K. 1989. Prevention of allogeneic bone marrow graft rejection by H-2 transgene in donor mice. *Science* 246:666–68
- Höglund P, Ljunggren H-G, Oöhlen C, Ährlund-Richter L, Scangos G, Bieberich C, Jay G, Klein G, Kärre K. 1988. Natural resistance against lymphoma grafts conveyed by H-2D^d transgene to C57BL mice. J. Exp. Med. 168:1469–74
- Bennett M. 1987. Biology and genetics of hybrid resistance. Adv. Immunol. 41:333– 445
- Ohlen C, Höglund P, Sentman CL, Carbone E, Ljunggren H-G, Koller B, Kärre K. 1995. Inhibition of natural killer cell-mediated bone marrow graft rejection by allogeneic major histocompatibility complex class I, but not class II molecules. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:1286–91
- 40. Hglund P, Öhlen C, Carbone E, Franksson L, Ljunggren H-G, Latour A, Koller B, Kärre K. 1991. Recognition of β2-microglobulin-negative (β2m-) T cell blasts by natural killer cells from normal but not from β2m-mice: nonresponsive-ness controlled by β2m-bone marrow in chimeric mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88:10332–336
- 41. Liao NS, Bix M, Zijstra M, Jaenisch

R, Raulet D. 1991. MHC class I deficiency: susceptibility to natural killer (NK) cells and impaired NK activity. *Science* 253:199–202

- Ljunggren H-G, Kaer LV, Ploegh HL, Tonegawa S. 1994. Altered natural killer cell repertoire in Tap-1 mutant mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:6521–24
- Glas R, Öhlen C, Höglund P, Kärre K. 1994. The CD8⁺ T cell repertoire in β2-microglobulin deficient mice is biased towards reactivity against self-major histocompatibility class 1. J. Exp. Med. 179:661–72
- Harel-Bellan, Quillet A, Marchiol C, De Mars R, Tursz T, Fradelizi D. 1986. Natural killer susceptibility of human cells may be regulated by genes in the HLA region on chromosome 6. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 83:5688–92
- 45. Shimizu Y, DeMars R. 1989. Demonstration by class I gene transfer that reduced susceptibility of human cells to natural killer cell-mediated lysis is inversely correlated with HLA class I antigen expression. Eur. J. Immunol. 19:447–51
- 46. Öhlen C, Bejarano M-T, Grönberg A, Torsteinsdottir S, Franksson L, Ljunggren H-G, Klein E, Klein G, Kärre K. 1989. Studies of sublines selected for loss of HLA expression from an EBVtransformed lymphoblastoid cell line. J. Immunol. 142:3336–41
- Sugawara S, Abo T, Itoh H, Kumagai K. 1989. Analysis of mechanisms by which NK cells acquire increased cytotoxicity against class I MHC-eliminated targets. *Cell. Immunol.* 119:304–16
- Leiden JM, Karpinski BA, Gottschalk L, Kornbluth J. 1989. Susceptibility to natural killer cell-mediated cytolysis is independent of the level of target cell class I HLA expression. J. Immunol. 142:2140– 47
- 49. Stam NJ, Kast WM, Voordouw AC, Pastoors LB, Van Der Hoeven FA, Melief CJM, Ploegh HL. 1989. Lack of correlation between levels of MHC class I antigen and susceptibility to lysis of small cellular lung carcinoma (SCLC) by natural killer cells. J. Immunol. 142:4113–17
- Quillet A, Presse F, Marchioli-Fournigault C, Harel-Bellan A, Benbunan M, Ploegh H, Fradelizi D. 1988. Increased resistance to non-MHC-restricted cytotoxicity related to HLA A, B expression. *J. Immunol.* 141:17–20
- Kavathas P, Bach FH, DeMars R. 1980. Gamma ray-induced loss of expression of HLA and glyoxalase I alleles in lym-

phoblastoid cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77:4251–55

- Storkus WJ, Alexander J, Payne A, Dawson JR, Cresswell P. 1989. Reversal of natural killer susceptibility in target cells expressing transfected class I HLA genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85:2361–64
- 53. Pantaleo G, Zocchi MR, Ferrini S, Poggi A, Tambussi G, Bottino C, Moretta L, Moretta A. 1988. Human cytolytic cell clones lacking surface expression of T cell receptor α/β or γ/δ. Evidence that surface structures other than CD3 or CD2 molecules are required for signal transduction. J. Exp. Med. 168:13–24
- 54. Ciccone E, Pende D, Viale O, Tambussi G, Ferrini S, Biassoni R, Longo A, Guardiola J, Moretta A, Moretta L. 1990. Specific recognition of human CD3-CD16⁺ NK cells requires the expression of an autosomic recessive gene on target cells. J. Exp. Med. 172:47–52
- 55. Ciccone E, Colonna M, Viale O, Pende D, Di Donato C, Reinherz D, Amoroso A, Jeannet M, Guardiola J, Moretta A, Spies T, Strominger J, Moretta L. 1990. Susceptibility or resistance to lysis by alloreactive NK cells is governed by a gene in the human major histocompatibility complex between Bf and HLA-B. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87:9794–97
- Bender JR, Pardi R, Engleman E. 1990. T-cell receptor negative natural killer cells display antigen-specific cytotoxicity for microvascular endothelial cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87:6949–53
- 57. Ciccone E, Pende D, Viale O, Di Donato C, Orengo AM, Biassoni R, Verdiani S, Amoroso A, Moretta A, Moretta L. 1992. Involvement of HLA class I alleles in NK cell specific functions: expression of HLA-Cw3 confers selective protection from lysis by alloreactive NK clones displaying a defined specificity (specificity 2). J. Exp. Med. 176:963–71
- 58. Moretta A, Vitale M, Bottino C, Orengo AM, Morelli L, Augugliaro R, Barbaresi M, Ciccone E, Moretta L. 1993. P58 molecules as putative receptors for MHC class I molecules in human natural killer (NK) cells. Anti-p58 antibodies reconstitute lysis of MHC class I-protected cells in NK clones displaying different specificities. J. Exp. Med. 178:597–604
- 59. Bottino C, Vitale M, Olcese L, Sivori S, Morelli L, Augugliaro R, Ciccone E, Moretta L, Moretta A. 1994. The human natural killer cell receptor for major histo-compatibility complex class I molecules. Surface modulation of p58 molecules and

their linkage to CD3 ζ chain, Fc ϵ -RI γ chain and the p56^{lck} kinase. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:2527–34

- Christiansen FT, Witt CS, Ciccone E, Townend D, Pende D, Viale O, Abraham LJ, Dawkins RL, Moretta L. 1993. Human natural killer (NK) alloreactivity and its association with the major histocompatibility complex: ancestral haplotypes encode particular NK-defined haplotypes. J. Exp. Med. 178:1033–39
- Colonna M, Spies T, Strominger JL, Ciccone E, Moretta A, Moretta L, Pende D, Viale O. 1992. Alloantigen recognition by human natural killer cells is associated with HLA-C or a closely linked gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:7983–85
- Colonna M, Borsellino G, Falco M, Ferrara GB, Strominger JL. 1993. HLA-C is the inhibitory ligand that determines dominant resistance to lysis by NK1- and NK2-specific natural killer cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:12000–4
- 63. Biassoni R, Falco M, Cambiaggi A, Costa P, Verdiani S, Pende D, Conte R, Di Donato C, Parham P, Moretta L. 1995. Amino acid substitutions can influence the NK-mediated recognition of HLA-C molecules. Role of serine-77 and lysine-80 in the target cell protection from lysis mediated by "group 2" or "group 1" NK clones. J. Exp. Med. 182:605– 9
- Storkus WJ, Salter RD, Alexander J. 1991. Class I induced NK resistance in human B cell targets: identification of nonpermissive residues in HLA-A2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88:5989–93
- 65. Ciccone E, Pende D, Vitale M, Nanni L, Di Donato C, Bottino C, Morelli L, Viale O, Amoroso A, Moretta A, Moretta L. 1994. Self class I molecules protect normal cells from lysis mediated by autologous natural killer cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:1003–6
- 66. Ciccone E, Pende D, Nanni L, Di Donato C, Viale O, Beretta A, Vitale M, Sivori S, Moretta A, Moretta L. 1995. General role of HLA class I molecules in the protection of target cells from lysis by NK cells. Evidence that the free heavy chain of class I molecules not sufficient to mediate the protective effect. *Int. Immunol.* 7:393– 400
- 67. Moretta A, Vitale M, Sivori S, Bottino C, Morelli L, Augugliaro R, Barbaresi M, Pende D, Ciccone E, Lopez-Botet M, Moretta L. 1994. Human natural killer cell receptors for HLA-class I molecules. Evidence that the Kp43 (CD94) molecule functions as receptor for HLA-B alleles.

J. Exp. Med. 180:545-55

- Litwin V, Gumperz JE, Parham P, Phillips JH, Lanier LL. 1994. NKB1: a natural killer cell receptor involved in the recognition of polymorphic HLA-B molecules. J. Exp. Med. 180:537:43
- Cella M, Longo A, Ferrara GB, Strominger JL, Colonna M. 1994. NK3specific natural killer cells are selectively inhibited by Bw4-positive HLA alleles with Isoleucine 80. J. Exp. Med. 180:1235–42
- Gumperz JE, Litwin V, Phillips JH, Lanier LL, Parham P. 1995. The Bw4 public epitope of HLA-B molecules confers reactivity with natural killer cell clones that express NKB1, a putative HLA receptor. J. Exp. Med. 181:1133–44
- 71. Vitale M, Sivori S, Pende D, Augugliaro R, Di Donato C, Amoroso A, Malnati M, Bottino C, Moretta L, Moretta A. 1996. Physical and functional independence of p70 and p58 NK cell receptors for HLA-class 1. Their role in the definition of different groups of alloreactive NK cell clones. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* In press
- Litwin V, Gumperz J, Parham P, Phillips JH, Lanier LL. 1993. Specificity of HLA class I antigen recognition by human NK clones: evidence for clonal heterogeneity, protection by self and non-self alleles, influence of the target cell type. J. Exp. Med. 178:1321–36
- Madden DR, Gorga JC, Strominger JL, Wiley DC. 1992. The three dimensional structure of HLA-B27 at 2.1 A resolution suggests a general mechanism for tight peptide binding to MHC. *Cell* 70:1035– 48
- Zemmour J, Parham P. 1992. Distinctive polymorphism at the HLA-C locus: implication for the expression of HLA-C. *J. Exp. Med.* 176:937–50
- Malnati M, Lusso P, Ciccone E, Moretta A, Moretta L, Long E. 1993. Recognition of virus-infected cells by natural killer cell clones is controlled by polymorphic target cell elements. *J. Exp. Med.* 178:961– 69
- Chadwick BS, Miller RG. 1992. Hybrid resistance in vitro: possible role of both class I MHC and self peptides in determining the level of target cells sensitivity. *J. Immunol.* 148:2307–13
- Kaufman DS, Schoon RA, Leibson PJ. 1992. Role for major histocompatibility complex class I in regulating natural killer cell-mediated killing of virusinfected cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*

89:8337-41

- Malnati MS, Peruzzi M, Parker KC, Biddison WE, Ciccone E, Moretta A, Long EO. 1995. Peptide specificity in the recognition of MHC class I by natural killer cell clones. *Science* 267:1016–18
- Kärre K. 1995. Express yourself or die: peptides, MHC molecules, NK cells. *Science* 267:978–79
- Correa I, Raulet DH. 1995. Binding of diverse peptides to MHC class I molecule inhibits target cell lysis by activated natural killer cells. *Immunity* 2:61–67
- Yokoyama WM, Seaman WE. 1993. The Ly49 and NKR-P1 gene families encoding lectin-like receptors on natural killer cells: the NK gene complex. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 11:613–35
- Kane KP. 1994. Ly-49 mediates EL4 lymphoma adhesion to isolated class I major histocompatibility complex molecules. J. Exp. Med. 179:1011–15
- Sentman CL, Hackett J Jr, Kumar V, Bennett M. 1989. Identification of a subset of murine natural killer cells that mediated of Hh-ld but not Hh-lb bone marrow grafts. *J. Exp. Med.* 170:191–97
- Mason L, Giardina SL, Hecht T, Ortaldo J, Mathieson BJ. 1988. LGL-1: a nonpolymorphic antigen expressed on a major population of mouse natural killer cells. J. *Immunol.* 140:4403–12
- Held W, Roland J, Raulet DH. 1995. Allelic exclusion of Ly49-family genes encoding class I MHC specific receptors on NK cells. *Nature*. 376:355–58
- Moretta A, Tambussi G, Bottino C, Tripodi G, Merli A, Ciccone E, Pantaleo G, Moretta L. 1990. A novel surface antigen expressed by a subset of human CD3-CD16⁺ natural killer cells. Role in cell activation and regulation of cytolytic function. J. Exp. Med. 171:695–14
 Moretta A, Bottino C, Pende D, Tripodi
- 87. Moretta A, Bottino C, Pende D, Tripodi G, Tambussi G, Viale O, Orengo A, Barbaresi M, Merli A, Ciccone E, Moretta L. 1990. Identification of four subsets of human CD3-CD16⁺ NK cells by the expression of clonally distributed functional surface molecules. Correlation between subset assignment of NK clones and ability to mediate specific alloantigen recognition. J. Exp. Med. 172:1589–98
- Bottino C, Vitale M, Pende D, Biassoni R, Moretta A. 1995. Receptors for HLA class I molecules in human NK cells. *Semin. Immunol.* 7:67–73
- Vitale M, Sivori S, Pende D, Moretta L, Moretta A. 1995. The coexpression of two functionally independent p58 inhibitory

receptors in human NK cell clones results in the inability to kill all normal allogeneic target cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:3536–40

- Vaage JT, Naper C, Lovik G, Lambracht D, Rehm A, Hedrich HJ, Wonigeit K, Rolstad B. 1994. Control of rat natural killer cell-mediated allorecognition by a major histocompatibility complex region encoding nonclassical class I antigens. J. Exp. Med. 180:640–51
- Naper C, Vaage JT, Lambracht D, Lovik G, Butcher GW, Wonigeit K, Rolstad B. 1995. Alloreactive natural killer cells in rat: complex genetics of major histocompatibility complex control. *Eur. Immunol*. 25:1249–56
- Bennett M, Lawrence YY, Stoneman E, Rembecki RM, Mathew PA, Fisher Lindahl K, Kumar V. 1995. Hybrid resistance: "negative" and "positive" signaling of murine natural killer cells. *Semin. Immunol.* 7:121–7
- Moretta A, Sivori S, Vitale M, Pende D, Morelli L, Augugliaro R, Bottino C, Moretta L. 1995. Existence of both inhibitory (p58) and activatory (p50) receptors for HLA-C molecules in human natural killer cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 182:875–84
- Wagtmann N, Biassoni R, Malnati M, Moretta A, Long EO. 1994. Purification of a member of the p58 family of putative NK cell surface receptors. *Nat. Immun.* 13:195A
- 95. Wagtmann N, Biassoni R, Cantoni C, Verdiani S, Malnati MS, Vitale M, Bottino C, Moretta L, Moretta A, Long EO. 1995. Molecular clones of the p58 NK cell receptor reveal immunoglobulin related molecules with diversity in both the extra- and intracellular domains. *Immunity* 2:439–49
- 96. Biassoni R, Cantoni C, Falco M, Verdiani S, Bottino C, Vitale M, Conte R, Poggi A, Moretta A, Moretta L. 1996. The HLA-C-specific "activatory" or "inhibitory" natural killer cell receptors display highly homologous extracellular domains but differ in their transmembrane and intracytoplasmic portions. J. Exp. Med. 25:2433–37
- Kaufman DS, Schoon RA, Leibson PJ. 1993. MHC class I expression on tumor targets inhibits natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity without interfering with target recognition. J. Immunol. 150:1429–36
- Kaufman DS, Schoon RA, Robertson MJ, Leibson PJ. 1995. Inhibition of selective

signalling events in NK cell recognizing MHC class 1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. In press

- D'Andrea A, Chang C, Franz-Bacon K, McClanahan T, Phillips JH, Lanier LL. 1995. Molecular cloning of NKB1. A natural killer cell receptor for HLA-B allotypes. J. Immunol. 155:2306–10
- Weiss A, Littman DR. 1994. Signal transduction by lymphocyte antigen receptor. *Cell* 76:263–74
- 101. Aramburu J, Balboa MA, Ramirez A, Silva A, Acevedo A, Sánchez-Madrid F, de Landázuri MO, Lòpez-Botet M. 1990. A novel functional cell surface dimer (Kp43) expressed by natural killer cells and T cell receptor-γ/δ⁺ T lymphocytes. Inhibition of IL-2 dependent proliferation by anti-Kp43 monoclonal antibody. J. Immunol. 44:3238–47
- 102. Aramburu J, Balboa MA, Izquierdo M, López-Botet M. 1991. A novel functional cell surface dimer (Kp43) expressed by natural killer cells and TCR T lymphocytes. II. Modulation of natural killer cytotoxicity by anti-Kp43 monoclonal antibody. J. Immunol. 147:714–21
- 103. Aramburu J, Balboa MA, Rodríguez A, Melero I, Alonso M, Alonso JL, López-Botet M. 1993. Stimulation of IL-2 activated natural killer cells though the Kp43 surface antigen up-regulates TNF-α production involving the LFA-1 integrin. J. Immunol. 151:3420–29
- 104. Peréz-Villar JJ, Melero I, Rodriguez A, Carretero M, Aramburu J, Sivori S, Orengo AM, Moretta A, López-Botet M. 1995. Functional ambivalence of the Kp43 (CD94) NK cell-associated surface antigen. J. Immunol. 154:5779–88
- 105. Chang C, Rodríguez A, Carretero M, López-Botet M, Phillips JH, Lanier LL. 1995. Molecular characterization of human CD94: a type II membrane glycoprotein related to the C-type lectin superfamily. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:2433–37
- Hofer E, Duckler M, Fuad SA, Houkins JP, Yabe T, Bach FH. 1992. Candidate natural killer cell receptors. *Immunol. Today* 13:429–30
- Colonna M, Samaridis J. 1995. Cloning of immunoglobulin-superfamily members associated with HLA-C and HLA-B recognition by human natural killer cells. *Science* 268:405–8
- Lanier LL, Gumperz JE, Parham P, Melero I, Lòpez-Botet M, Phillips JH. 1995. The NKB1 and HP-3E4 NK cell receptor are structurally distinct glycopro-

teins and independently recognize polymorphic HLA-B and HLA-C molecules. *J. Immunol.* 154:3320–27

- 109. Moretta A, Pantaleo G, Mingari MC, Melioli G, Moretta L, Cerottini JC. 1984. Assignment of human natural killer (NK)like cells to the T cell lineage. Single allospecific T cell clones lyse specific or NK-sensitive target cells via distinct recognition structures. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 14:121–25
- 110. Ferrini S, Cambiaggi A, Meazza R, Sforzini S, Marciano S, Mingari MC, Moretta L. 1994. T cell clones expressing the NK-related p58 receptor molecule display heterogeneity in phenotypic properties and p58 function. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 24:2294–98
- 111. Mingari MC, Vitale C, Cambiaggi A, Schiavetti F, Melioli G, Ferrini S, Poggi A. 1995. Cytolytic T lymphocytes displaying natural killer (NK)-like activity: expression of NK-related functional receptors for HLA class I molecules (p58 and CD94) and inhibitory effect on the TCRmediated target cell lysis or lymphokine production. Int. Immunol. 7:697–703
- 112. Phillips JH, Gumperz JE, Parham P, Lanier LL. 1995. Superantigen-dependent, cell-mediated cytotoxicity inhibited by MHC class I receptor on T lymphocytes. *Science* 128:403–5
- 113. Giorda R, Rudert WA, Vavassori C, Chambers WH, Hiserodt JC, Trucco M. 1990. NKR-P1, a signal transduction molecule on natural killer cells. *Science* 249:1298–1300
- Giorda R, Trucco M. 1991. Mouse NKR-P1. A family of genes selectively coexpressed in adherent lymphokine-activated killer cells. J. Immunol. 147:1701–8
- 115. Ryan JC, Niemi EC, Goldfien RD, Hiserodt JC, Seaman WE. 1991. NKR-P1, an activating molecule on rat natural killer cells, stimulates phosphoinositide turnover and a rise in intracellular calcium. J. Immunol. 147:3244–50
- 116. Bezouska K, Yuen C-T, O'Brien J, Childs RA, Chai WG, Lawson AM, Drbal K, Fiserova A, Pospisil M, Feizi T. 1994. Oligosaccharide ligands for NKR-P1 protein activate NK cells and cytotoxicity. *Nature* 372:150–57
- 117. Lanier LL, Chang C, Phillips J. 1994. Human NKR-P1A. A disulphide-linked homodimer of the C-type lectin superfamily expressed by a subset of NK and T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 153:2417–27
- Lòpez-Cabrera M, Santis AG, Fernandes-Ruiz E, Blacher R, Esch F, Sanchez-

Mateos P, Sánchez-Madrid F. 1993. Molecular cloning, expression, chromosomal localization of the human earliest lymphocyte activation antigen AIM% /CD69, a new member of the C-type animal lectin superfamily of signal-transmitting receptors. J. Exp. Med. 178:537– 47

- 119. Ziegler SF, Ramsdell F, Hjerrild KA, Armitage RJ, Grabstein KH, Hennen KB, Farrah T, Fanslow WC, Shevach EM, Alderson MR. 1993. Molecular characterization of the early activation antigen CD69: a type II membrane glycoprotein related to a family of natural killer cell activation antigens. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23:1643–48
- 120. Cebriàn M, Yague E, Rincón M, López-Botet M, de Landázuri MO, Sánchez-Madrid F. 1988. Triggering of T cell proliferaiton through AIM, an activation inducer molecule expressed on activated human lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 168:1621–37
- 121. Cosulich E, Rubartelli A, Risso J, Cozzolino R, Bargellesi A. 1987. Functional characterization of an antigen involved in an early step of T-cell activation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:4205–9
- 122. Moretta A, Poggi A, Pende D, Tripodi G, Orengo AM, Pella N, Augugliaro R, Bottino C, Ciccone E, Moretta L. 1991. CD69-mediated pathway of lymphocyte

activation. Anti-CD69 mAbs trigger the cytolytic activity of different lymphoid effector cells with the exception of cytolytic T lymphocytes expressing TCR alpha/beta. J. Exp. Med. 174:1393–98

- 123. Moretta A, Tambussi G, Ciccone E, Pende D, Melioli G, Moretta L. 1989. CD16 surface molecules regulate the cytolytic function of CD3-CD16⁺ human "natural killer" cells. *Int. J. Cancer* 44:727–30
- 124. Bolhuis RLH, Roozemond RC, Van de Griend RJ. 1986. Induction and blocking of cytolysis in CD2⁺, CD3⁻ NK and CD2⁺, CD3⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocytes via CD2 50 kD sheep erythrocyte receptor. J. Immunol. 136:3939–44
- Valiante NM, Trinchieri G. 1993. Identification of a novel signal transduction surface molecule on human cytotoxic lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 178:1397–1406
- 126. Moretta A, Bottino C, Tripodi G, Vitale M, Pende D, Morelli L, Augugliaro R, Barbaresi M, Ciccone E, Millo R, Moretta L. 1992. Novel surface molecules involved in human NK cell activation and triggering of the lytic machinery. *Int. J. Cancer Suppl.* 7:6–10
- 127. Poggi A, Pella N, Morelli L, Spada F, Revello V, Sivori S, Augugliaro R, Moretta L, Moretta A. 1995. p40, a novel surface molecule involved in the regulation of the non-MHC restricted cytolytic activity in humans. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25:369–76



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|--|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> Sleekman, James P. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt | 450 |
| Steckman, Junes K. Gorman, Treaenck W. Au | 439 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights. <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |
| | 0.7 |

THE NF- κ B AND I κ B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights

Albert S. Baldwin, Jr.

Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center, Curriculum in Genetics and Molecular Biology, and Department of Biology, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, North Carolina 27599

KEY WORDS: NF- κ B/Rel transcription factors, I κ B, inflammatory cytokines, B and T cell activation, signal transduction

ABSTRACT

The transcription factor NF- κ B has attracted widespread attention among researchers in many fields based on the following: its unusual and rapid regulation, the wide range of genes that it controls, its central role in immunological processes, the complexity of its subunits, and its apparent involvement in several diseases. A primary level of control for NF- κ B is through interactions with an inhibitor protein called $I\kappa B$. Recent evidence confirms the existence of multiple forms of I κ B that appear to regulate NF- κ B by distinct mechanisms. NF- κ B can be activated by exposure of cells to LPS or inflammatory cytokines such as TNF or IL-1, viral infection or expression of certain viral gene products, UV irradiation, B or T cell activation, and by other physiological and nonphysiological stimuli. Activation of NF- κ B to move into the nucleus is controlled by the targeted phosphorylation and subsequent degradation of $I\kappa B$. Exciting new research has elaborated several important and unexpected findings that explain mechanisms involved in the activation of NF- κ B. In the nucleus, NF- κ B dimers bind to target DNA elements and activate transcription of genes encoding proteins involved with immune or inflammation responses and with cell growth control. Recent data provide evidence that NF- κ B is constitutively active in several cell types, potentially playing unexpected roles in regulation of gene expression. In addition to advances in describing the mechanisms of NF- κ B activation, excitement in NF- κ B research has been generated by the first report of a crystal structure for one form of NF- κ B, the first gene knockout studies for different forms of NF- κ B

650 BALDWIN

and of I κ B, and the implications for therapies of diseases thought to involve the inappropriate activation of NF- κ B.

1. INTRODUCTION

Ten years ago Sen & Baltimore (1) first described NF- κ B as a B cell nuclear factor that bound a site in the immunoglobulin κ enhancer. In the same year, these researchers also showed (2) that NF- κ B could be activated in other cells by exposure to stimuli such as phorbol esters, and that this activation was independent of protein synthesis. In the next few years, functional NF- κ B binding sites were found in the promoters of many genes, most of which were not B cell specific. These promoter/enhancers included IL-2, IL-6, GM-CSF, ICAM-1, and class I MHC. Typically, NF- κ B binding sites serve as inducible transcriptional regulatory elements that respond to immunological stimuli such as TNF, IL-1, LPS, or T cell activators. However, the range of inducers is not limited to these mediators of immune function; other stimuli such as UV irradation, growth factors, and viral infection also activate NF- κ B. The basis for the latent nature of NF- κ B and for its inducibility is the association of NF- κ B with a cytoplasmic inhibitory protein called $I\kappa B$ (3). The release from $I\kappa B$ allows for the extraordinarily rapid appearance of NF- κ B in the nucleus. Thus, certain genes regulated by NF- κ B can be transcriptionally activated within minutes following exposure to the relevant inducer.

Ten years after its discovery, the NF- κ B and I κ B field remains a lively arena for research. Five members of the mammalian NF-kB/Rel proteins have been identified that are characterized by the Rel homology domain (RHD), an N-terminal region of approximately 300 amino acids. These proteins are members of an evolutionarily conserved family of proteins, some of which regulate body pattern formation and immune function in insects. Consistent with a complex system for regulatory control, there are multiple forms of IkB proteins characterized by several copies of the so-called ankyrin repeat. Recent research has elaborated several of the critical aspects of signaling that mediate NF- κ B translocation in response to inducer. Gene knockout studies firmly establish a role for NF- κ B in immune function and eliminate any models that claim simple redundancy for the functions of the different NF- κ B/Rel proteins. Regulation of NF- κ B by the network of regulatory cytokines and other immune function modulators is now well established and is growing in complexity. Additionally, the gene deletion studies as well as other approaches provide support for a role of the NF- κ B proteins in functions beyond immunity and inflammatory responses, including roles in liver development and in several disease processes.

Two recent *Annual Reviews* chapters (4, 5) have covered NF- κ B in great detail through much of 1993. These and other reviews (6–12) offer a thorough background on NF- κ B. The aim of this review is to provide coverage of some of the significant advances in NF- κ B over the last two years. Many reports involving NF- κ B have appeared during this time; due to space limitations, it is impossible for this review to cover all of these important results. In addition, reviews reference previous work where appropriate.

2. THE NF- κ B/REL AND I κ B PROTEINS

Presently, five members of the mammalian NF- κ B/Rel family have been cloned and characterized. These are c-Rel, NF- κ B1 (p50/p105), NF- κ B2 (p52/p100), RelA (p65), and RelB (4–12). The Rel homology domain (RHD; see Figure 1) found in each of these proteins functions in DNA binding, dimerization, and interactions with I κ B forms. Two of the proteins, NF- κ B1 (p105) and NF- κ B2 (p100), contain multiple copies of the so-called ankyrin repeat at their C-termini.



Figure 1 The NF- κ B/Rel and I κ B families of proteins. The NF- κ B/Rel family is characterized by the presence of the Rel homology domain. The I κ B proteins have multiple copies of the ankyrin repeat. NF- κ B1 and NF- κ B2 are proteins that contain both the Rel homology domain and ankyrin repeats. Dorsal, Dif, and Cactus are Drosophila proteins. See text for discussion.

652 BALDWIN

Processing of these proteins (see below) leads to the production of the p50 and p52 subunits. The p100 and p105 proteins serve regulatory functions in the cell (see below) and should not be considered exclusively as precursor forms. Furthermore, some evidence suggests that alternative splicing of the p105 mRNA leads to the translation of additional forms of this protein (13).

2.1 NF-κB Is a Dimer of Variable Subunits

Active, DNA-binding NF- κ B is a dimer. Classic NF- κ B (the dimer of p50 and RelA) has been the most intensively studied, although many other homo- and heterodimers have been described. Certain dimers apparently do not exist; for example, RelB dimerizes only with p50 or p52 (14). Each of the various NF- κ B dimers may exhibit distinct properties. For example, binding site preference has been identified for certain dimers. Classic NF- κ B binds the sequence 5' GGGRNNYYCC 3', whereas the RelA/c-Rel dimer binds to a sequence (5' HGGARNYYCC 3"; H indicates A, C or T; R is purine; Y is pyrimdine) (15). Selective binding sites for RelA/c-Rel heterodimers are found in the promoters of several inducible genes, including those encoding tissue factor and GM-CSF (15); the RelA/c-Rel dimer is inducible by LPS or by cytokines. The ability of different dimers to recognize slightly different DNA targets increases the ability of NF- κ B subunits to differentially regulate gene expression. More examples of biologically relevant targets for the different dimers and of possible roles in gene-specific transcription are needed. Additional differences between the NF- κ B dimers include cell type specificity, differential subcellular localization, differential interactions with forms of $I\kappa B$, and differential activation (4, 5).

2.2 Dimers of NF-к B Are Targeted by Monomers of Iк B

Initial characterization of cytoplasmic NF- κ B revealed that it was associated with either of two forms of I κ B–I κ B α or I κ B β (4, 5). The cloning of I κ B α (16, 17) allowed progress to be made at several levels. First, it was established that I κ B α contains ankyrin repeats (Figure 1). Second, I κ B α retains NF- κ B in the cytoplasm through masking of the nuclear localization sequences (4, 5, 9). Third, the identification of I κ B as an ankyrin repeat containing protein allowed for the prediction that the function of the homologous ankyrin repeats in the precursors of the p50 subunit (NF- κ B1) and of the p52 subunit (NF- κ B2) was as an intramolecular I κ B (see 4, 5). Thus precursors dimerize with another member of the Rel family through the RHD, and the C-terminal ankyrin repeat region functions to retain this dimer in the cytoplasm (also see discussion below). Finally, I κ B α exhibited homology with a protein encoded by the gene *bcl-3* found to be translocated in certain lymphomas (see 4, 5, and below).

Immunoprecipitation studies indicate that $I\kappa B\alpha$ is associated predominantly with c-Rel- and RelA-containing dimers. Studies indicate that certain non-Rel

or RelA-containing dimers are likely not to be strongly regulated by $I\kappa B$. For example, $I\kappa B\alpha$ exhibits a lower affinity for RelB-p52 heterodimers than for RelB-p50 dimers (18), and this likely contributes to constitutive nuclear levels of the former factor. RelB complexes in lymphoid cells may have a lower affinity for $I\kappa B\alpha$ due either to a modification to RelB or to a cell-specific cofactor (19). $I\kappa B$ interaction with NF- κB subunits occurs with residues in the Rel homology domain, and presumed contacts in or around the nuclear localization sequence (NLS) appear to play critical functional roles in inhibiting nuclear localization of NF- κB (4, 9). In addition, data indicate that a single $I\kappa B$ targets the NF- κB dimer (20, 21).

 $I\kappa B\alpha$ can be divided into three structural domains: a 70-amino-acid N-terminal region, a 205-amino-acid internal region that is composed of ankyrin repeats, and a C-terminal 42-amino-acid region that contains a so-called PEST region. Mutation and protease sensitivity studies indicate that deletion of the Nterminal or C-terminal region does not inhibit the ability of $I\kappa B\alpha$ to interact with NF- κ B (20, 22). However, deletion of the C-terminus does block the ability of $I\kappa B\alpha$ to inhibit DNA binding of NF- κ B (20). Mutations within the ankyrin repeat block interactions with NF- κ B (4, 5). The discussion below describes important regulatory aspects of the N- and C-terminal regions of $I\kappa B\alpha$.

Other forms of $I\kappa B$ include the precursors NF- $\kappa B1$ and NF- $\kappa B2$, $I\kappa B\gamma$ (an independent protein derived from a unique transcript from NF- $\kappa B1$) which appears to be limited only to mouse B cells, and Bcl-3 (Figure 1; see 4, 5). The recently cloned $I\kappa B\beta$ is discussed below. Precursor proteins can dimerize with other NF- κB subunits to form dimer molecules that cannot bind to DNA and that cannot translocate into the nucleus (4, 5). NF- $\kappa B2$ precursor p100 or its C-terminus can form a trimeric complex with a dimer of NF- κB subunits (23, 24), suggesting a different mechanism whereby precursors function in an $I\kappa B$ -like role. Bcl-3 is nuclear in its localization and functions as a transcriptional activator with the p50 or p52 homodimer. Thus the ability of Bcl-3 to interact with these forms of NF- κB results in transcriptional activation rather than an inhibition of nuclear transport or an inhibition of DNA binding (4, 5). Consistent with these results is the observation (25) that the NLS region of p50 is apparently not contacted by Bcl-3, in contrast to the interactions between $I\kappa B\alpha$ and NF- κB subunits.

2.3 $I\kappa B\beta$ Appears To Have Properties Distinct from $I\kappa B\alpha$

As stated above, purification of NF- κ B revealed that two forms of I κ B were associated with NF- κ B dimers. One form, I κ B α , is described above and has been intensively studied. Recently, the 46-kDa I κ B β was purified to homogeneity, and a cDNA clone was derived (26). Like I κ B α , I κ B β contains ankyrin repeats (Figure 1) and is associated with NF- κ B forms in the cytoplasm of various

cells. Like $I_{\kappa}B\alpha$, $I_{\kappa}B\beta$ preferentially interacts with dimers that contain c-Rel or RelA. mRNA for $I_{\kappa}B\beta$ is widely expressed, with an especially high level in the testis. Where $I_{\kappa}B\alpha$ is targeted by a signaling pathway initiated by TNF, IL-1, LPS, and PMA, $I_{\kappa}B\beta$ reportedly is targeted only by pathways initiated by LPS or by IL-1 (at least in the 70Z/3 pre-B cell line and in the Jurkat T cell line). Further discussion of $I_{\kappa}B\beta$ follows in the section on signaling and activation of NF- κ B.

2.4 IKB-R and IKBL: Functional IKB Molecules?

A cDNA clone for an ankyrin repeat-containing protein with homology to mammalian and invertebrate $I_{\kappa}B$ proteins was recently reported (27). This protein, $I_{\kappa}B$ -R, is most similar to the Drosophila $I_{\kappa}B$ homolog Cactus (Figure 1 and see below) and is expressed in epithelial cell lines but not in fibroblasts. Two forms of RNA are detected (the smaller RNA is not large enough to encode the described protein), with the larger form expressed in heart and skeletal muscle but not in brain, lung, liver, or kidney. The $I_{\kappa}B$ -R protein inhibits the DNA binding activity of the p50/RelA dimer and the p50 homodimer but not that of the RelA homodimer, suggesting a preferential interaction with the 50-kDa NF- κ B1 subunit. A regulatory role for $I_{\kappa}B$ -R has not yet been identified.

Another cDNA clone encoding a protein (I κ BL) with homology to I κ B family members has been reported (28). The protein contains two complete and one partial ankyrin repeat and is encoded by a gene in the major histocompatibility complex. No functional studies on this protein have been presented.

3. STRUCTURAL AND EVOLUTIONARY STUDIES ON NF- κ B

3.1 Crystallography of NF KB1 Bound to DNA

Two groups recently described the crystal structure of the 50-kDa NF- κ B1 homodimer bound to a κ B site (29, 30). In contrast with the relatively small DNA binding domains of many other transcription factors, the DNA binding domain of NF- κ B1 encompasses large regions of the RHD. These studies reveal that the RHD folds into two distinct domains similar to those in the immunoglobulin superfamily. DNA contacts are made on the κ B site by both domains, and the C-terminal regions of the RHD constitute the dimerization interface. The overall structure is striking and butterfly-like (see Figure 2). The general relatedness of the RHD in each of the immediate NF- κ B family members strongly suggests that a similar overall structure will constitute the DNA binding and dimerizations domains of each family member. However, distinct sequence elements within these domains likely determine different functional properties



Figure 2 Structure of the Rel homology domain of the p50 NF- κ B1 homodimer and its target DNA sequence (see 29, 30). The more N-terminal region of the RHD is shown toward the bottom, and the more C-terminal dimerization region at the top. DNA contacts are made in both domains. (Photograph from Dr. S. Harrison.)

656 BALDWIN

of the different subunits (31). Consistent with previous deletion studies, it is proposed that amino acids in and around the NLS will constitute a composite surface for interaction with I κ B. Another important feature is that the minor groove is exposed in the center of the κ B site, allowing for the interaction of HMG-I(Y) with certain κ B sites [see discussion of HMG-I(Y) below].

3.2 NF-KB/Rel Proteins Are Members of a Larger Family

The factor NF-AT is strongly implicated in the inducible transcription of the IL-2 gene and other cytokine genes. Interestingly, many similarities exist between the NF- κ B and the NF-AT family of proteins (see 32 and references therein). Both groups are inducible by activation of T cells, utilizing cytoplasmic/nuclear translocation as a control mechanism, and this activation is blocked by the important immunosuppressant cyclosporin A. Additionally, both NF-AT and NF- κ B interact with members of the Fos/Jun family of proteins (32). Furthermore, the core sequence of the NF-AT recognition site, GGAAAA, is very similar to an NF- κ B half-site. The recent cloning of members of the NF-AT family demonstrates the existence of a region of NF-AT similar to the Rel homology domain of NF- κ B (32; 33). Overall these observations indicate the existence of an extended family of Rel-like proteins that serve critical roles in immune function.

An impressive structural and functional homology exists between the mammalian NF- κ B/Rel proteins and two proteins, Dorsal and Dif (see Figure 1), from Drosophila. Dorsal is involved in critical developmental pathways determining the dorsal-ventral patterning of the embryo (see 34). Dif serves a protective function, regulating bacteriocidal genes in response to endotoxin (35). These proteins are regulated by an ankyrin repeat containing protein known as Cactus (Figure 1; 34, 36), which functions very similarly to mammalian I κ B in controlling nuclear/cytoplasmic localization of Dorsal (37).

4. BIOLOGY OF NF- κ B

4.1 Expression and Nuclear/Cytoplasmic Status of NF-κ B Forms

Although NF- κ B is generally considered to be cytoplasmic in most cell types until stimulation with an inducer, growing evidence provides a more complex view. First, many cell types appear to have moderate levels of the p50 (NF- κ B1) homodimer. A role for this factor in constitutive-type transcription is unclear, but it may provide low levels of transcriptional activity or it may serve as a transcriptional repressor (4, 5). Since the p50 dimer can be targeted by Bcl-3, it may serve as a DNA-binding anchor for transcriptional activation by this I κ B-related protein (5). A protein similar to or identical to c-Rel is nuclear during the S phase of the cell cycle (38). Evidence has been provided that NF- κ B (other than the p50 homodimer) is nuclear in corneal keratinocytes (39) and in vascular smooth muscles cells (40). Following is a discussion of some other cells where constitutive activation of forms of NF- κ B may play important functional roles.

4.1.1 B CELLS The one widely accepted example of constitutively active (i.e. nuclear) NF- κ B is in B cells. B lymphocytes develop by regulating an ordered expression of immunoglobulin genes, and one role for NF- κ B in B cells is in regulating the Ig κ gene (7). Pre-B cell lines do not exhibit active NF- κ B unless stimulated with cytokines or LPS. However, pre-B cells expanded from Whitlock-Witte bone marrow cultures by treatment with IL-7, and then maintained with a stromal cell feeder layer, exhibited active NF- κ B and Ig κ transcription (41). Recently several groups have shown that the constitutive form of NF- κ B in mature B cell lines is largely the p50-c-Rel heterodimer (42, 43). The p50-RelA heterodimer is found at expected levels in the cytoplasm but is not nuclear in these cells. The mechanism accounting for nuclear levels of c-Rel-p50 is not fully clear but may be explained by significantly increased instability of I κ B α and by increased transcription of the c-Rel gene (43, 44).

The functional significance of the constitutive nuclear activation of the c-Relp50 heterodimer, and the relative lack of p50-RelA, in mature B cell lines is not clear. Both heterodimers appear to activate Igk gene expression effectively (43). NF- κ B RelA is a potent activator of *c*-myc transcription, as compared to c-Rel, and anti-IgM treatment of a B cell line resulted in increased forms of NF- κ B in the nucleus, increased transcription of *c*-myc, and apoptosis (44). Thus, activation of the p50-RelA heterodimer may be deleterious to normal B cell function, resulting in upregulation of *c*-myc and apoptosis. Additional evidence for an important role for NF- κ B in B cell biology comes from studies on the B cell surface receptor CD40, which is a member of the TNF receptor family. Engagement of the CD40 receptor activates NF- κ B in B cell lines (45, 46), leading to the transcription of a gene encoding a zinc finger protein, A20, which inhibits apoptosis (45). CD40 signaling blocks spontaneous apoptosis of B cells in germinal centers and may be important in selecting B cells undergoing somatic mutation (see 46). The studies with anti-IgM utilized WEH1 231 cells, while the studies with CD40 utilized Louckes and BJAB cells. Thus, NF- κ B may have both positive and negative effects on apoptosis in B cells. Additionally, activation of Nf- κ B by engagement of CD40 is likely to play other important roles in B cells.

4.1.2 THYMOCYTES Experiments utilizing freshly isolated thymocytes found that several factors that bind to a κ B site are constitutively activated in these cells

(47). These factors include p50 homodimers, the p50-RelA heterodimer, and c-Rel. Disruption of the thymic microenvironment led to the loss of these binding activities, which suggests that an interaction between lymphocytes and stromal cells provides a stimulus for the activation of NF- κ B/Rel nuclear proteins. Some evidence suggests that c-Rel plays a role in the transition from CD4⁺/CD8⁺ double positive cells to CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ single positive cells. Gene knockout studies with p50 or c-Rel do not indicate a role for these subunits in T cell development (see below) but do not rule out a role for RelA.

NEURONS Numerous reports analyze the status of κB binding activities 4.1.3 and NF- κ B-like forms in the brain. A brain κ B binding protein, called BETA, has been described (48). The BETA complex can be supershifted with antibodies against a large zinc finger protein called MBP-2/AGIE BP-1 (49). Other work has identified two κB binding complexes, DBF 1 and 2, in the developing rat brain (50). Cross-linking identified the molecular weights of the factors as approximately 110 and 115 kDa. However, these factors are not related to the NF- κ B1 and or NF- κ B2 factors. Immunohistochemical evidence (51) suggests that both NF- κ B p50 and RelA are constitutively active in some neurons of the embryonic rat. This latter work also identified nuclear NF- κ B by gel mobility shift assay. Furthermore, κ B-dependent gene expression could be detected in neuronal cell cultures. Experimentation has revealed that vascular adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) is expressed in the developing central nervous system on neuroepithelial cells (52), which are precursors of glial cells and neurons. Utilization of P19 embryonic carcinoma cells as a model of neural differentiation revealed that expression of VCAM-1 correlated with induction of nuclear p50-RelA dimers. NF- κ B activity in the brain may be involved with expression of HIV in the central nervous system and may participate in normal brain function.

4.2 Transcriptional Regulation by NF-κB Subunits

Consistent with their roles as transcription factors, c-Rel, RelB, and RelA contain transcriptional activation domains (53, 54, and see 55). Additionally, both c-Rel and RelA interact with the TATA-binding protein (TBP), and the C-terminus of RelA interacts with the basal factor TFIIB (56 and references therein). Studies in vivo and in vitro indicate that different NF- κ B dimers have different transcriptional activation properties (57, 58). Strong evidence indicates that interactions between NF- κ B and other transcription factors influence the ability of NF- κ B to regulate gene expression in a selective manner. As described below, interactions between NF- κ B proteins, HMG-I(Y), IRF-1, and bZIP proteins regulate inducible expression of the interferon β gene. Interactions between NF- κ B proteins are implicated in the inducible regulation of the genes encoding IL-8, E-selectin, and G-CSF, for example (see below). A complex that binds to enhancer A in the class I MHC promoter and that is modulated by interferon γ or glucocorticoids reportedly contains the p50 NF- κ B subunit in association with the bZIP protein fra-2 (59). Additionally, a DNA-binding complex containing C/EBP and NF- κ B proteins has been identified in avian lymphoid cells (60). An interaction between the NF- κ B subunit RelA and the zinc finger protein Sp1 has been identified and appears to regulate transcription directed by the HIV-1 LTR (61). The functional outcome of transcriptional induction based on some of these interactions likely involves cooperative DNA binding as well as transcriptional synergy.

4.3 Genes Regulated by NF-κB

Extensive research has established a clear role for NF- κ B in the inducible regulation of a wide variety of genes involved in immune function and inflammation responses (for example, GM-CSF, IL-6, IL-8, IL-2, IL-2R α , etc). An extensive list of genes regulated by NF- κ B is provided in previous reviews (4, 5). Following is a discussion of several of these.

The group of genes encoding cell adhesion molecules has been studied extensively for an involvement of NF- κ B in their regulation. Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) is a cell surface protein typically found on endothelial cells following exposure to TNF, IL-1, or LPS. VCAM-1 is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily and binds circulating monocytes and lymphocytes expressing $\alpha 4\beta 1$ or $\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrins and likely participates in the recruitment of these cells to sites of tissue injury. VCAM-1 is also implicated in other cellular processes because it is expressed in the developing central nervous system, in human lymph nodes, and on bone marrow stromal cells. The promoter of the VCAM-1 gene contains two essential NF- κ B sites (62), which are not sufficient for activation, and may require an IRF-1 site that is located 3' to the TATA box (63). Interestingly, IRF-1 was found to be inducible by cytokine treatment. Furthermore, IRF-1 physically interacts with NF- κ B subunits, and its binding is stimulated by binding of NF- κ B and HMG-I(Y). The functional requirement for IRF-1 may explain the cell-type specificity of the VCAM-1 promoter. IRF-1 and NF- κ B may be important in the cytokine-induced regulation of multiple promoters. Other genes encoding cell adhesion molecules, such as E-selectin, ICAM-1, and MAd-CAM-1, are also regulated by NF- κ B (64–67). Expression of E-selectin requires NF- κ B, the bZIP protein ATF-2, and HMG-I(Y) (64, 65). Additionally, interactions between HMG-I(Y), NF- κ B, and an ets-like protein (Elf-1) reportedly regulate expression of the IL-2 receptor α gene (68).

Regulation of the interferon β gene has been intensively studied by Maniatis and colleagues (69, 70). The human gene is induced by viral infection of cells or treatment with double-stranded RNA. One of the regulatory sites (GGGAAA-TTCC; PRDII) in the IFN β promoter interacts with both NF- κ B and the high mobility group protein HMG I(Y). HMG I(Y) stimulates the binding of NF- κ B to PRDII by binding to the A/T-rich core sequence. Mutations that block either NF- κ B or HMG I(Y) binding significantly block activation. These workers propose a model in which interactions between bZip proteins (ATF-2 and c-Jun), IRF-1, HMG I(Y), and NF- κ B form a higher order complex, which is required for full activation of the IFN β promoter (70). Thus a precise arrangement of binding sites and a κ B site that interacts with HMG-I(Y) are required for the proper transcriptional induction of the IFN β gene and those encoding adhesion molecules (64).

Other genes regulated by NF- κ B that encode proteins playing important roles in immune response and inflammation are the genes encoding the peptide transporter TAP1 and the proteasome subunit LMP2 (71) as well as the MHC class II invariant chain gene (72). Additionally, genes encoding tissue factor (15, 73), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), and various cytokines are regulated by NF κ B. iNOS catalyzes the high output of NO, and the iNOS gene is transcriptionally activated in response to LPS and interferon gamma. The inducible activation of NF- κ B stimulates the transcription of the iNOS gene (74), leading to an increase in NO production. As discussed below, the production of NO may feed back to inhibit NF- κ B activation. NF- κ B is strongly implicated in the transcriptional regulation of several cytokine and growth factor genes, including IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, and G-CSF. IL-2 contains an NF-κB site that has been studied by several groups (7). Activators of T cells such as PMA and ionomycin activate NF- κ B and its binding to this site. The immunosuppressant cyclosporin A blocks the activation of NF- κ B in response to T cell receptormediated signals (75). Signaling through CD28, a costimulatory receptor, also leads to the activation and binding of NF- κ B/Rel forms to a recently described CD28 response element (CD28RE) in the IL-2 promoter (76). The CD28RE is found upstream of other genes such as IL-3. Furthermore, expression of the IL-8 gene is regulated by NF- κ B (77) and uses the CD28 costimulatory pathway in T cells (78). G-CSF is a growth factor for hematopoietic cells produced by mesenchymal and myeloid cells in response to activation by inflammatory stimuli. A cooperative interaction between C/EBP β (NF-IL6) and the ReIA subunit of NF- κ B is important in the regulation of G-CSF in response to TNF treatment (79).

Although NF- κ B/Rel proteins are strongly implicated in the regulation of genes involved in the immune system and in inflammation, these transcription factors also regulate genes involved in control of cell growth. Two NF- κ B sites have been identified in the *c*-*myc* promoter/enhancer region (80). The induction of *c*-*myc* gene expression either by IL-1 or by the HTLV-I tax protein functions

through the two NF- κ B sites. As discussed previously, classical NF- κ B or p65 homodimers appear to be the best activators of *c-myc* as Rel is only a weak activator. NF- κ B binding proteins are also implicated in expression of the translocated *c-myc* allele in Burkitt's lymphoma (81) and in the transcriptional regulation of the p53 gene (82).

4.4 Roles for NF-κB Subunits Revealed in Gene Knockout Studies

Knockout of most of the genes encoding NF- κ B/Rel subunits and two of the I κ B forms has been recently accomplished. The studies confirm the importance of NF- κ B/Rel proteins in immune function and have revealed several unexpected findings.

4.4.1 NF- κ B1 Mice lacking the p50/p105 (NF- κ B1) subunits develop normally but exhibit defects in immune responses involving B cells (83). In these mice, the ability of B cells to proliferate in response to LPS is defective, and the production of antibodies is impaired. Total serum Ig was approximately fourfold lower in the knockout mice, and IgE was reduced approximately 40-fold. This suggests that p50 plays an important role in heavy-chain class switching. Interestingly, p50 is reportedly (84) a critical factor for an IL-4-responsive region in the Ig heavy-chain germline ϵ promoter, responsible for switching to IgE. NF- κ B1 -/- mice cannot effectively clear the pathogens Listeria or Streptococcus and exhibit increased resistance to infection by EMC virus (83). This resistance was correlated with increased expression of IFN β , an important antiviral protein. Thus p50 homodimers likely negatively regulate expression of the IFN β gene.

4.4.2 RELB Like the NF- κ B1 knockout mice, the RelB knockout mice do not show a developmental phenotype but do show defects in normal immune function and in hematopoiesis (85, 86). It had previously been speculated that RelB plays an important role in the constitutive type expression of κ Bregulated genes in lymphoid cells. RelB is expressed in the spleen, thymus, lymph nodes, and intestine. In the thymus, RelB transcripts are concentrated in the medulla with high levels of RelB in the nucleus of interdigitating dendritic cells. The RelB -/- mice exhibited multifocal and mixed infiltration of inflammatory cells in several tissues. Additionally, the mice exhibited splenomegaly, reduced antigen-presenting dendritic cells in the thymus, myeloid hyperplasia, and impaired cellular immunity. These studies demonstrate an important role for RelB in immune function and in the differentiation of dendritic cells and thymic medullary epithelial cells. Furthermore, the data show that the loss of RelB cannot be complemented by another member of the NF- κ B/Rel

662 BALDWIN

family and, therefore, that there is no simple redundancy within the NF- κ B/Rel proteins. It will be important to identify the relevant genes regulated by RelB that contribute to these immunological functions.

4.4.3 RELA The RelA (p65) null mice exhibit a dramatic phenotype–embryonic lethality apparently due to widespread apoptosis within the liver (87). Day-14 embryos exhibit a normal liver phenotype, but by day 16 the liver (specificially hepatocytes) has undergone extensive apoptosis. This phenotype is similar to that observed with the c-Jun knockout and suggests that NF- κ B and Jun may serve similar functions in development of the liver (see 87). The normal induction of the p50-RelA heterodimer by TNF was lost in the RelA null mice as was the inducibility of NF- κ B-regulated genes such as $I\kappa B\alpha$ and GM-CSF.

The c-Rel knockout mouse develops normally, and cells from 4.4.4 c-REL all hemopoietic lineages are normal; however, mature B and T cells are not responsive to certain mitogenic stimuli (88). The c-Rel -/- animals exhibit normal Ig κ levels on splenic B cells and normal IL-2R α chain on thymic T cells; thus, c-Rel is not required for expression of these genes containing κB binding sites. Proliferation of B cells induced by LPS, CD40, or anti-IgM was defective for unknown reasons. A defective T cell-proliferative response induced by engagement of the T cell receptor was observed, and CD28 costimulation did not overcome this defect. Interestingly, proliferation of cells induced by PMA and ionomycin was near normal. The inability of c-Rel -/- T cells to respond to anti-TCR stimuli and CD28 costimulation was correlated with loss of production of IL-2. Indeed, this proliferative block could be overcome by the addition of exogenous IL-2. Thus, it appears that c-Rel is required for the CD28 responsive element to be functional (see discussion above). Additionally, the c-Rel deficient mice displayed deficient immunoglobulin production in unchallenged animals, and T cell-dependent humoral immune responses to antigenic challenge were also impaired.

4.4.5 I κ B α AND BCL-3 I κ B α null mice are apparently normal at birth but then enter a wasting phase and die approximately 7 days after birth (89). The runted mice have small spleens and thymuses, enhanced granulopoiesis, and scaly skin. NF- κ B is constitutively activated in splenocytes and thymocytes as well as in other cells. Upregulation of some genes expected to be regulated by NF- κ B (G-CSF and VCAM-1) is detected. The loss of I κ B α leads to the nuclear localization of NF- κ B in most cell types, most prominently in the spleen and thymus. This latter result suggests that I κ B α is the dominant I κ B in these organs. Treatment of I κ B α -/- embryonic fibroblasts with TNF leads to activation of NF- κ B through targeted degradation of I κ B β , showing that at least in some cell types this inhibitor can be targeted by TNF. Furthermore, nuclear NF- κ B levels remained elevated longer in -/- animals following treatment with TNF, demonstrating a role for $I\kappa B\alpha$ in controlling the postinduction repression of NF- κ B. Clearly, the $I\kappa B\beta$ knockout studies will be informative in understanding potential differential roles for the two major $I\kappa$ B forms. Evidence for a role in constitutive activation of NF- κ B in the phenotype of the $I\kappa B\alpha -/-$ mice is the observation that a cross between these mice and the p50 -/- mice extends the life expectancy of the former (89).

The Bcl-3 gene knockout has been derived very recently. So far, no obvious developmental or immunological abnormalities have appeared in the mice (A Berns, I Verma, personal communication).

5. MECHANISMS FOR THE ACTIVATION AND CONTROL OF NF- κ B ACTIVITY

Enormous progress has been made toward identifying the mechanisms whereby NF- κ B is activated to move into the nucleus in response to numerous stimuli. Specific molecular events involved in this activation are now well described and offer insights into a fascinating control mechanism. Despite this progress, many important questions remain regarding the pathways and mechanisms of NF- κ B activation.

5.1 Phosphorylation of IκBα Is Coupled To Its Proteolysis via the Ubiquitin Pathway

In vivo analysis has shown that inducer-mediated activation of NF- κ B is correlated with the hyperphosphorylation of I κ B α and its subsequent degradation (reviewed in 4–12). Paralleling the loss of I κ B α in the cytoplasm is the appearance of NF- κ B in the nucleus. Reagents such as antioxidants or certain protease inhibitors that inhibit phosphorylation block the appearance of nuclear NF- κ B. Based on studies showing that I κ B α is intrinsically unstable when not associated with NF- κ B, phosphorylation of I κ B α was generally thought to lead to its dissociation from NF- κ B, which resulted in proteolysis (9). Recent experiments have offered a different interpretation.

One set of experiments (90–96) showed that hyperphosphorylated I κ B α could be coimmunoprecipitated with NF- κ B, suggesting that inducible phosphorylation does not cause the dissociation of I κ B α from NF- κ B. Second, experiments with a class of protease inhibitors called peptide aldehydes demonstrated that these compounds block the degradation of I κ B α and the nuclear appearance of NF- κ B, but do not block inducible phosphorylation of I κ B α (90–97). In addition, these studies led to the important proposal that a target of peptide aldehydes, the proteasome, is responsible for the signal-mediated

degradation of $I\kappa B\alpha$ (97). Like $I\kappa B\alpha$, $I\kappa B\beta$ is targeted for degradation in response to the inducers LPS and IL-1. Evidence that $I\kappa B\beta$ is degraded by the proteasome is provided by data that show that peptide aldehydes specific for the proteasome block its degradation (T Finco, J Reuther, A Beg, D Ballard, S Shenolikar, A Baldwin, submitted).

What mechanism targets $I\kappa B\alpha$, and presumably $I\kappa B\beta$, for degradation? Evidence that phosphorylation precedes degradation (95) suggests that phosphorylation of I κ B α is required for degradation. Mutation of two serines near the N-terminus of $I\kappa B\alpha$, ser32 and ser36, blocked inducible phosphorylation and also blocked degradation (98-100). Phosphopeptide mapping demonstrates that these two serines are inducibly phosphorylated in response to various activators of NF- κ B (J DiDonato, M Karin, personal communication). Recent work indicates that I κ B α is ubiquitinated in response to inducer, and mutation of ser32 and ser36 inhibits the inducible ubiquitination (101). Importantly, ubiquitinated I κ B α is degraded by purified preparations of proteasomes. Mutation of two lysine residues in the N-terminus block ubiquitination and degradation of I κ B α but not induced phosphorylation (102). Presumably these two lysines are the targets for uibiquitination. Thus the current model is that targeted phosphorylation of $I\kappa B$ leads to the ubiquitination of this protein, which leads to degradation by the proteasome (see Figure 3). A question raised by these data is, what makes the phosphorylated form of $I\kappa B$ a substrate for the ubiquitination pathway? Possibly the lysine residues to be ubiquitinated are masked by secondary or tertiary structure until the nearby serines are phosphorylated.

Although inducible phosphorylation of $I\kappa B\alpha$ (and presumably $I\kappa B\beta$) plays a critical role in the activation of NF- κ B, $I\kappa B\alpha$ is also constitutively phosphorylated. Recent evidence suggests that casein kinase II (CKII) can associate with and phosphorylate the C-terminal region of $I\kappa B\alpha$ (103; J Hiscott, personal communication). Interestingly, deletion of the C-terminus inhibits degradation (but not association with NF- κ B) (98, 104, 105) and also abrogates the ability of $I\kappa B\alpha$ to inhibit DNA binding by NF- κ B (20). Thus, constitutive phosphorylation of $I\kappa B\alpha$ in the C-terminal region may be required for degradation, possibly mediated by the PEST residues found in this domain. Additional roles for constitutive phosphorylation of $I\kappa B\alpha$ may include regulation of the stability of free $I\kappa$ B or assembly with NF- κ B subunits.

5.2 NF-κB Subunits Are Targeted for Inducible Phosphorylation

Both the NF- κ B1 (p105) and NF- κ B2 (p100) proteins are cytoplasmic and are associated with different NF- κ B/Rel proteins. As discussed above, this association may be as dimers or, as recently proposed, trimers. Several of the NF- κ B



Figure 3 Generalized NF- κ B activation scheme. Following exposure of a cell to inducer, I κ B (either I κ B α , I κ B β or one of the precursor proteins) becomes phosphorylated (*step 1*) by a presently unknown kinase(s). (Note that I κ B α exhibits a basal level of phosphorylation.) The I κ B form then becomes ubiquitinated (*step 2*) and degraded by the proteasome (*step 3*). In the case of p105, the degradation is partial (generating p50). NF- κ B then translocates to the nucleus where it activates a variety of genes (*step 4*) including I κ B α and p50/p105. See text for details.

inducers lead to the degradation of the p105 precursor protein with the appearance of the p50 form (4, 5). This degradation is limited to the C-terminal half of the protein (97). As with $I\kappa B\alpha$ targeting, degradation appears to be preceded by inducible phosphorylation (106, 107) and is mediated by ubiquitination and processing by the proteasome (see Figure 3; 97). Degradative processing of p105 that is in association with other NF- κ B subunits (for example, RelA) may lead to nuclear translocation directly or to association with an I κ B form (see Figure 3).

Reagents that induce NF- κ B activation via the inducible phosphorylation of I κ B reportedly also lead to the inducible phosphorylation of subunits other than those for the precursor/I κ B-like forms. For example, the RelA subunit becomes rapidly phosphorylated in response to TNF (108; D Wang, T Finco, A Baldwin, unpublished). A role for this inducible phosphorylation has been suggested to involve enhancement of DNA binding (106) but may also be correlated with release from I κ B, nuclear translocation, activation of transcription functions, or for differential targeting of NF- κ B forms that may be associated with I κ B α or I κ B β (see below).

5.3 Mutual Regulation of NF-*κ*B and I*κ*B

Initial studies that demonstrated the correlation of $I\kappa B\alpha$ loss with the appearance of nuclear NF- κ B also indicated that $I\kappa B\alpha$ levels recovered within an hour or so (see 4, 5 for reviews). This reappearance of $I\kappa B\alpha$ depended on protein synthesis and correlated with the inducible expression of $I\kappa B\alpha$ mRNA. Furthermore, transfection into cells of an expression vector for RelA led to an increase in $I\kappa B\alpha$ mRNA. It was therefore proposed that nuclear NF- κB caused the transcriptional activation of the $I\kappa B\alpha$ gene. Promoter analysis has confirmed that the $I\kappa B\alpha$ gene contains multiple NF- κB binding sites and that these sites are functional in the upregulation of gene expression in response to inducers that activate NF- κB (see 4, 5). Evidence has been presented, however, that adherent monocytes (from which $I\kappa B\alpha$ was initially cloned) upregulate $I\kappa B\alpha$ mRNA through a nontranscriptional event (109). These results indicate that NF- κB and $I\kappa B$ are components of a mutual regulatory system in which the levels of one regulatory component control the activity or quantity of the other.

The rapid reaccumulation of $I\kappa B\alpha$ following its loss is apparently important in reestablishing cytoplasmic pools of NF- κ B/I κ B complexes. Additionally, this reaccumulation appears to repress NF- κ B activity following induction because resynthesized I $\kappa B\alpha$ enters the nucleus, interacts with NF- κ B forms, and inhibits DNA binding (110). Consistent with this model is the observation that I $\kappa B\alpha$ –/– cells exhibit high nuclear levels of NF- κ B for long times following induction with TNF α (89). A mechanism for removal of NF- κ B from the nucleus is suggested by the presence of a potential nuclear export sequence in I κ B α (111). Thus I κ B α , and not I κ B β (see below), is considered to be important for the postinduction repression of NF- κ B.

5.4 Similarities and Differences Between IκBα- and IκBβ-Controlled Pathways

As discussed previously, many similarities exist between $I\kappa B\alpha$ and $I\kappa B\beta$. Evidence indicates, however, that $I\kappa B\beta$ does not respond to treatment with TNF or PMA but does respond to LPS or IL-1 in pre-B or Jurkat T cells (26). In addition, $I\kappa B\beta$ reportedly does not reaccumulate following induction of NF- κB ; thus a persistent activation of NF- κ B follows. Mechanisms that would prevent I κ B α , which rapidly reaccumulates following induction, from inhibiting the I κ B β -released NF- κ B have been proposed. One idea is that NF- κ B that is associated with $I\kappa B\beta$ would be modified (possibly by phosphorylation) so that it could not be targeted for inhibition by $I\kappa B\alpha$. Many issues remain to be clarified regarding differences between $I\kappa B\alpha$ and $I\kappa B\beta$. One question is whether different kinases function to target the two forms of I κ B. Evidence for this is that I κ B β is targeted for degradation with slower kinetics than I κ B α and that there is apparent inducer specificity in the targeting of the two $I\kappa B$ forms. However, recent evidence (J DiDonato, M Karin, personal communication) indicates that serines in the N-terminus of I κ B β , in homologous positions to ser32 and ser36 in I κ B α , play critical roles in the targeted degradation of this protein. This would indicate that a kinase that is identical or very similar to the $I\kappa B\alpha$ kinase would target $I\kappa B\beta$. Additionally, it is not clear whether targeting of I κ B β occurs in all cell types (see discussion above relevant to the I κ B α gene knockout).

5.5 Tangled Evidence for the Signal Transduction Pathways

5.5.1 KINASES AND PHOSPHATASES Much research is now directed at elucidating the signal transduction pathways involved in controlling activation of NF- κ B. It is clear that the many different inducers initiate their pathways through distinct receptors. How these different responses converge on I κ B is still unknown. Mutations of ser 32 and 36 inhibit activation of NF- κ B controlled by T cell activation signals PMA, TNF, LPS, HTLV-I tax, and okadaic acid. Thus, a single kinase activated by multiple pathways may target these residues in NF- κ B.

Nevertheless, several kinases have been implicated in the activation of NF- κ B. The best data exist for the double-stranded RNA activated kinase (PKR), which phosphorylates I κ B α in vitro (112). Furthermore, in vivo inactivation of this kinase inhibits the ability of double-stranded RNA to activate NF- κ B (113). However, this inactivation did not block activation of NF- κ B by TNF

and presumably other inducers. It would be interesting to map the potential phosphorylation sites on $I\kappa B\alpha$ targeted by dsRNA-activated kinase. Another kinase, Raf-1, has been proposed, to target $I\kappa B\alpha$ (114). Evidence for an involvement of Raf in the activation of gene expression directed through a κB site has been presented through the utilization of constitutively active and dominant negative vectors (115). Activation of Ras or Raf may not lead to the nuclear translocation of NF- κ B, but it can activate gene expression through a κB site. The mechanism is unclear but may involve the stimulation of the transcriptional activation domains of constitutively nuclear forms of NF- κ B (T Finco, A Baldwin, unpublished). Dominant negative experiments as well as direct expression experiments have implicated PKC ζ as a regulator of NF- κ B activation (116). Due to their activation by inducers of NF- κ B such as inflammatory cytokines, UV, and LPS, there has been speculation that members of the stress-activated protein kinases (SAPKs) or their regulators may play a role in I κ B α phosphorylation, but no published data exist regarding this possibility. Additionally, a kinase reportedly associated with NF- κ B/I κ B complexes also appears to phosphorylate the NF- κ B subunits (117).

Phosphatases likely play an important role in the activation of NF- κ B, either regulating kinase pathways that may control the signal transduction pathway or by directly dephosphorylating I κ B. Based on inhibition by cyclosporin A and on transfection studies, the Ca²⁺-dependent phosphatase calcineurin is apparently involved in the activation of NF- κ B in T cells (75). In addition, FK506, an inhibitor of calcineurin, blocks the activation of c-Rel in B and T cells (118). The target for calcineurin in this pathway is not known. Inhibitors of the ser/thr phosphatases PP1 and PP2A, such as okadaic acid, potently activate NF- κ B, suggesting the involvement of a phosphatase in regulating some aspect of the pathway. Evidence that PP2A can directly dephosphorylate I κ B α has been provided (T Finco, J Reuther, A Beg, D Ballard, S Shenolikar, A Baldwin, submitted; 119).

5.5.2 CERAMIDE, REACTIVE OXYGEN INTERMEDIATES, AND REDOX STATE Second messengers may be involved in the early activation pathway of NF- κ B. The generation of ceramide in response to TNF or IL-1 may be critical in initiating the events leading to NF- κ B activation via degradation of I κ B α (see 120 and references therein). According to the current model, the interaction of TNF with the 55-kDa TNF receptor activates an acidic sphingomyelinase (Smase) through the generation of diacylglycerol by a phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C. Smase leads to the production of ceramide. That addition of ceramide or sphingomyelinase to cells leads to the activation of NF- κ B (see 120) supports this model. Recent evidence indicates that addition of acidic SMase to a cell-free system leads to the degradation of I κ B α (121). Based on these data, it has been proposed that the generation of ceramide leads to the activation of a kinase that phosphorylates $I\kappa B\alpha$. There is also evidence against a role for ceramide in the activation of NF- κ B. Cells deficient in acidic SMase can activate NF- κ B in response to TNF or IL-1 (122). Possibly another SMase is involved in the process of activation of ceramide in these cells. Second, inhibition of the ceramide pathway by chronic stimulation of cells with PMA does not inhibit the ability of TNF to activate NF- κ B (123). Finally, levels of ceramide that activate the Jun kinase (JNK) are not sufficient to activate NF- κ B (124). Clearly more experimentation is needed to resolve whether ceramide is an initiator of NF- κ B activation, and, if so, what regulatory pathways exist downstream of this molecule.

Reactive oxygen intermediates (ROIs) have also been proposed to be involved in the activation of NF- κ B (4). This is based on the observations that treatment of some cells with H₂O₂ can activate NF- κ B and that certain antioxidants such as N-acetyl cysteine or PDTC can block activation of NF- κ B by blocking the signal-induced phosphorylation of I κ B α . Additionally, many of the known inducers of NF- κ B lead to the generation of ROIs. Compelling arguments for the role of ROIs in the activation of NF- κ B have been presented by Baeuerle and colleagues (4, 125). These authors propose that the initial response to TNF and other inducers is the production of superoxide anion followed by the generation of H₂O₂ (125). Identification of signaling components that may function downstream of H₂O₂ in the potential activation of NF- κ B is lacking. Arguments against ROI involvement in NF- κ B activation have been published recently (126, 127).

Activation of NF- κ B binding by thioredoxin, a protein involved in maintaining the redox environment of the cell, involves the reduction of a disulfide bond at cys62 of the p50 subunit (see 128). The sequence of this region is conserved in many of the NF- κ B/Rel family proteins. Recently, the structure of thioredoxin and a peptide encompassing the cys62 region has been reported (128). This part of p50 is found in the L1 loop and makes apparently critical contacts with the κ B DNA binding site. Expression of thioredoxin increases following exposure of cells to UV light or to H₂O₂ (129), suggesting a possible role in increasing NF- κ B activity in response to these inducers.

5.6 Hypoxia Appears To Activate NF-κB via a Unique Pathway

Exposure of cells to low oxygen concentrations results in the activation of NF- κ B (130), which is likely to be important in situations such as angiogenesis associated with tumorigenesis, and in ischemia. Not surprisingly, activation of NF- κ B by hypoxia is correlated with the loss of I κ B α . However, an unexpected result was that I κ B α is apparently tyrosine phosphorylated in hypoxic cells (130). This would indicate that a kinase is involved in the phosphorylation of I κ B α that is distinct from that utilized in responses to TNF, IL-1, LPS, or

PMA. Interestingly, it has been proposed that Ras and Raf, but not Map, kinases are involved in this activation (131). These results need to be followed up, the phosphorylation site(s) mapped, and the functional consequence of the reported tyrosine phosphorylation tested.

5.7 Activation of NF-κB by Viral Proteins

Many viral gene products activate NF- κ B. This may be advantageous to the virus for several reasons. First, several viruses (such as HIV, CMV, and SV40) have NF- κ B binding sites in their promoter/enhancer regions. Second, NF- κ B appears to regulate genes required for viral replication. For example, a factor required for the HIV Rev splicing function may be regulated by NF- κ B (132). Finally, activation of NF- κ B may provide a favorable environment for viral replication, possibly by serving as a mitogenic regulator.

Probably the most intensively studied viral protein known to activate NF- κ B is the Tax protein of HTLV-I. Tax has been proposed to activate NF- κ B by different mechanisms. One mechanism appears to be through a direct physical interaction with the NF- κ B2 100-kDa protein (24, 133, 134). Second, evidence has been provided that Tax activates a signal transduction pathway leading to phosphorylation and degradation of $I\kappa B$ and to the nuclear appearance of NF- κ B (90, 135, 136). Finally, Tax may directly interact with NF- κ B subunits bound to their target sites and stimulate transcription (137). Activation of NF- κB by Tax is likely to play an important role in the pathogenesis of HTLV-I, possibly through the upregulation of genes encoding IL-2, IL-2R α , and IL-6 (138). It has been proposed that the HIV Tat protein activates NF- κ B (139). Other evidence indicates that Tat potentiates NF- κ B activation by TNF by altering the cellular redox state (140). Recent evidence suggests that the κB sites in the HIV LTR are absolutely required for induction of LTR-reporter gene activity in peripheral CD4⁺ T cells in response to Tat (141). Another important HIV protein, nef, can activate NF- κ B when functioning as a cell membraneassociated protein or can inhibit its activation if expressed cytoplasmically (142, 143). A transforming protein of Epstein-Barr virus, the latent membrane protein (LMP-1), has been shown to activates NF κ B (144–147). A mechanism for activation may be that LMP-1 associates with factors that are likely involved with signaling directed by the TNF receptor (148).

5.7.1 CONCLUSION It is unlikely that significant progress will be made on the NF- κ B signaling pathway(s) until research proceeds directly downstream from known receptors and directly upstream from the final phosphorylated substrates (I κ B and NF- κ B subunits). For example, progress in this regard has been made through the identification of a protein associated with the TNF receptor that functions in the signaling of NF- κ B activation (149). This protein, TRADD, interacts with the intracellular domain of the 55-kDa TNF receptor (TNF receptor 1). Overexpression of TRADD leads both to apoptosis and to the activation of NF- κ B. However, the pathways for activation of NF- κ B and for apoptosis appear to be distinct since crmA, an inhibitor of the IL-1 β -converting enzyme, blocked apoptosis but not the activation of NF- κ B. At the other end of the pathway, the kinase(s) involved in the phosphorylation of I κ B and of NF- κ B subunits must be identified. Such data will permit definitive dissection of the signaling pathways involved in NF- κ B activation.

5.8 Inhibitors of NF-*k*B Activation

Studies utilizing compounds that inhibit NF- κ B activation may provide insight into the activation pathways, may clarify biological situations where inhibition of NF- κ B is functionally important, and suggest therapies for diseases related to the acute or chronic activation of NF- κ B. An example is tepoxalin, a dual inhibitor of cyclooxygenase and 5-lipoxygenease, which functions to inhibit NF- κ B induction by several inducers in multiple cell types (150). Other examples are discussed below.

5.8.1 IL-10 Interleukin-10 (IL-10) inhibits the transcription of a variety of cytokine genes associated with TH1 T cell responses. Recently, IL-10 was shown to inhibit the induction of NF- κ B by LPS in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (151). These data provide an important link in understanding the inhibitory functions of IL-10 toward certain cytokines. It is intriguing to speculate that the mucosal inflammation with abnormal TH1 T cell responses seen in IL-10-null mice (152) is due in part to an inability to block the function of NF- κ B.

5.8.2 GLUCOCORTICOIDS, SALICYLATES, AND OTHER IMMUNOSUPPRESSANTS Glucocorticoids are widely used immunosuppressants. For example, prednisone is used to suppress immune responses in organ or bone marrow transplants, and is also used in chronic inflammatory diseases such as arthritis. Glucocorticoids reportedly inhibit NF- κ B by two mechanisms. First, several groups report that activated glucocorticoid receptors directly interact with and inhibit activated NF- κ B subunits (153–156). A second mechanism involves the transcriptional activation of the I κ B α gene in response to treatment with glucocorticoids (157, 158). Glucocorticoids, by upregulating I κ B α protein levels, function to block nuclear translocation of NF- κ B and DNA-binding. Salicylates (159), which are nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, inhibit the activation of NF- κ B at concentrations used to treat arthritis.

Cyclosporin A (CsA) and rapamycin, both important immunosuppressants that target T cells, inhibit the activation of NF- κ B induced in T cells by different

stimuli. CsA blocks the activation of NF- κ B in response to the engagement of the T cell receptor (75). One group has reported that rapamycin blocks the induction of NF- κ B following CD28 costimulation in T cells (160). Interestingly, this study showed that CD28 signaling caused a sustained inactivation of I κ B α . FK506, another inhibitor of calcineurin, blocked the activation of c-Rel in both B and T cells (118).

5.8.3 NITRIC OXIDE Two recent reports indicate that production of nitric oxide (NO) inhibits the activation of NF- κ B in endothelial cells (161, 162). The rationale for such a study is that NO inhibits platelet adhesion and smooth muscle proliferation, and modulates leukocyte adhesion to the endothelium. Thus, the production of NO suppresses immune and inflammatory responses. NO inhibits the activation of NF- κ B in response to treatment with TNF α (161). The second study showed that NO inhibits the activation of NF- κ B and provided evidence that this is through the activation of I κ B α (162). Thus NO appears to inhibit activation of NF- κ B through a mechanism similar to that described for glucocorticoids (i.e. through the upregulation of I κ B α). Since NF- κ B transcriptionally regulates the iNOS gene, production of NO may feed back to block its own production through the inhibition of NF- κ B. Adding to the complexity, production of NO in lymphocytes reportedly leads to the activation of NF- κ B (163).

5.8.4 cAMP As with glucocorticoids and other immunosuppressants, agonists that elevate cAMP inhibit IL-2 expression. This appears to occur through the inhibition of two factors that activate the transcription of IL-2 (164). One of these is NF- κ B and the other is uncharacterized and is called the "TGGGC" factor. The inhibition of NF- κ B may involve decreased synthesis of NF- κ B subunits, and decreased degradation or upregulation of I κ B (164, 165). Agonists that increase cellular cAMP levels may be important modulators of immune responses. Prostaglandin E2, an activator of cAMP, may modulate immune function by inhibiting IL-2 secretion on the one hand and activating IL-4 and IL-5 on the other. Thus activators of cAMP may play an important role in the differentiation of TH cells into either the TH1 or TH2 category (164, 165).

6. NF- κ B AND DISEASE

Because of its direct role in regulating responses to inflammatory cytokines and endotoxin, the activation of NF- κ B may play a role in the development of chronic diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis or in acute situations such as septic shock. Support for a critical role for NF- κ B activation in arthritis comes from two observations: NF- κ B is activated in the arthritic synovium (S Makarov, A Baldwin, unpublished), and therapies that are used for treatment, such as prednisone (see above) and gold compounds (166), are now known to block NF- κ B.

Septic shock is a systemic inflammatory response that develops when LPS or other microbial products stimulate expression of various inflammatory cytokines. The massive production of these proteins ultimately leads to reduction in blood pressure and to general organ failure. It has recently been proposed that the production of nitric oxide in response to LPS regulates important aspects of septic shock (see 167). These experiments showed that iNOS-deficient mice were protected from septic shock. Since NF- κ B activates transcription of the iNOS gene (see above), activation of NF- κ B by LPS may play a role in the development of septic shock. Other activators of NF- κ B, such as TNF α , may also mediate septic shock (see 168). Autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythromatus (SLE) may involve activation of NF- κ B as well (W Jarjour, personal communication). Additionally, Alzheimer's disease may also involve activation of NF- κ B in a chronic setting, since the amyloid β peptide causes production of ROIs and activates gene expression through κB sites (169). As described previously, NF- κ B plays an important role in the activation of HIV gene expression. The influenza virus protein hemagluttinin activates NF- κ B, and this activation may contribute to viral induction of cytokines and to some of the symptoms associated with flu (170). Other examples involving NF- κ B and disease pathogenesis are briefly discussed below.

6.1 Atherosclerosis

Initiation and progression of atherosclerosis is related to the oxidation of lipids in LDLs. These oxidized lipids become trapped in the extracellular matrix of the subendothelial space and apparently activate NF- κ B, leading to transcriptional activation of genes involved in the inflammatory process (171). This process leads to the development of the fatty streak associated with atherosclerosis. Interestingly, mice that are susceptible to atherosclerosis exhibit activation of NF- κ B when fed an atherogenic diet (172). Another important contributor to atherosclerosis is thrombin, a serine protease that serves several important roles in actions upon inflammatory cells as well as cells of blood vessel walls. Thrombin likely contributes to the proliferation of the vascular wall that occurs in atherosclerosis and restenosis. Thrombin stimulates the proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells through the activation of NF- κ B (173). Overall, these data provide substantial evidence that NF- κ B activation is an important contributor to events involved in atherosclerosis.

6.2 Oncogenesis

Evidence for involvement of NF- κ B or I κ B members in oncogenesis is based on several observations (4, 5): (i) NF- κ B proteins are members of a protooncogene family; (ii) the NF- κ B2 gene and the *Bcl-3* gene are translocated in certain lymphomas; (iii) NF- κ B is activated in quiescent fibroblasts in response to serum growth factors; (iv) NF- κ B is activated by viral transforming proteins (Tax and LMP-1, for example; see above); and (v) exposure of cells to I κ B α antisense results in oncogenic transformation (174). Additionally, antisense to RelA blocked tumorigenesis induced by Tax in vivo (175). Evidence for a role of translocated NF- κ B2 in oncogenesis is based on observations that the normal repressive function of p100 is lost when the ankyrin repeats are deleted in the translocated allele (176, 177). A role for NF- κ B/Rel proteins in human cancer presumably would involve transcriptional functions, such as the upregulation of the *c-myc* gene (see above). Conversely, it has been proposed that the activation of NF- κ B in macrophages by the antineoplastic agent taxol may contribute to the compound's antitumor properties (178).

6.3 Ataxia Telangiectasia

Ataxia telangiectasia (AT) is a human disease characterized by neurological, radiobiological, and immunological deficiencies. Fibroblasts from AT patients are extremely sensitive to ionizing radiation, exhibiting aberrant regulation of DNA synthesis. Recently, a truncated form of $I\kappa B\alpha$ (presumably functioning as a "super-repressor" based on the loss of the critical N-terminal serines) was shown to protect AT cells from killing by ionizing radiation and to correct the defect in DNA synthesis (179). These AT cells express constitutive levels of an NF- κ B-like activity. Expression of the truncated form of I κ B α reduced NF- κ B levels and blocked the radiobiological effects. The gene involved in AT was recently cloned, and the encoded protein is related to yeast lipid kinases TOR1 and TOR2 as well as mammalian PI-3 kinase (180). An additional homology exists with the yeast RAD3 protein, which is involved in cell cycle control. It is proposed that the mutations in the AT gene render it nonfunctional. It is unclear whether NF- κ B is activated in other cell types of AT patients and, if so, whether NF- κ B may contribute to the neurological or immunological deficiencies. An interesting connection exists between AT patients and the I κ B α gene knockout mice (89) in that both exhibit small spleens and thymuses. Thus, inappropriate activation of NF- κ B in both cases could cause an immunological defect. The mechanism that relates the loss of function of a PI-3-like kinase/Rad3-like protein to activation of NF- κ B is presently unclear.

7. SUMMARY

Ten years of research on NF- κ B has led to a much greater understanding of the role of this family of transcription factors and their inhibitors in immunity, inflammation, and cell growth and development. The next challenge is to
untangle the signal transduction pathways involved in controlling activity of NF- κ B and to uncover new gene targets for these proteins in immunological and nonimmunological function. Cell type–specific functions for NF- κ B, for example in neurons, should be pursued. The functional roles of $I\kappa B\alpha$ and $I\kappa B\beta$, as well as potential new forms of inhibitors, need to be clearly delineated. Additionally, it will be important to understand the exact roles for NF- κ B in regulating apoptosis in several situations. Clarification of the mechanisms through which dysregulation of NF- κ B contributes to disease is clearly needed. This could promote the development of specific inhibitors of NF- κ B and thereby assist in treating certain of these diseases.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I gratefully acknowledge past and present lab members for their work and enthusiasm. In addition, the help of Dr. Timothy Finco for preparation of figures and for careful reading of the manuscript is deeply appreciated. Support was generated by grants from the National Institutes of Health, the Arthritis Foundation, and the Department of the Army.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Sen R, Baltimore D. 1986. Multiple nuclear factors interact with the immunoglobulin enhancer sequences. *Cell* 46:705–16
- Sen R, Baltimore D. 1986. Inducibility of κ immunoglobulin enhancer-binding pro- tein NF-κB by a post-translational mech-anism. *Cell* 47:921–28
- Baeuerle P, Baltimore D. 1988. IκB: a specific inhibitor of the NF-κB transcription factor. *Science* 242:540–46
- Baeuerle P, Henkel T. 1994. Function and activation of NF-κB in the immune system. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 12:141–79
- Siebenlist U, Franzoso G, Brown K. 1994. Structure, regulation and function of NFκB. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 10:405–55
- Liou HC, Baltimore D. 1993. Regulation of the NF-κB/Rel transcription factor and IκB inhibitor system. 1993. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 5:477–877
- Grilli M, Jason JS, Lenardo M. 1993. NFκB and rel–participants in a multiform transcriptional regulatory system. *Int. Rev.*

Cytol. 143:1-62

- Israel A. 1995. A role for phosphorylation and degradation in the control of NF-κB activity. *Trends Genet*. 11:203–5
- Beg A, Baldwin A. 1993. The IκB proteins: multifunctional regulators of Rel/NF-κB transcription factors. *Genes* Dev. 7:2064–70
- Gilmore T, Morin P. 1993. The IκB proteins: members of a multifunctional family. *Trends Genet*. 9:427–33
- Miyamoto S, Verma I. 1995. Rel/NFκB/IκB story. Adv. Cancer Res. 66:255– 92
- Finco T, Baldwin A. 1995. Regulation of NF-κB: the emerging roles of phosphorylation and proteolysis. *Immunity* 3:263–72
- Grumont R, Fecondo J, Gerondakis S. 1994. Alternate RNA splicing of murine NFκB1 generates a nuclear isoform of the p50 precursor of NF-κB1 that can function as a transactivator of NF-κBregulated transcription. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:8460–70

- Ryseck RP, Novotny J, Bravo R. 1995. Characterization of elements determining the dimerization properties of RelB and p50. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:3100–9
- Parry G, Mackman N. 1994. A set of inducible genes expressed by activated human monocytic and endothelial cells contain κB-like sites that specifically bind c-Rel-p65 heterodimers. J. Biol. Chem. 269:20,823–25
- Haskill S, Beg A, Tompkins S, Morris J, Yurochko A, Sampson-Johannes A, Mondal K, Ralph P, Baldwin A. 1991. Characterization of an immediate early gene induced in adherent monocytes that encodes an IκB-like activity. *Cell* 65:1281–89
- Davis N, Ghosh S, Simmons D, Tempst P, Liou HC, Baltimore D, Bose H. 1991. Rel-associated pp40: an inhibitor of Rel family of transcription factors. *Science* 253:1268–71
- Dobrzanski P, Ryseck RP, Bravo R. 1994. Differential interactions of Rel-NF-κB complexes with Iκ Bα determine pools of constitutive and inducible NF-κB activity. *EMBO J.* 13:4608–16
- Lernbecher T, Kistler B, Wirth T. 1994. Two distinct mechanisms contribute to the constutitive activation of RelB in lymphoid cells. *EMBO J.* 13:4060–69
- Ernst M, Dunn L, Rice N. 1995. The PEST-like sequence of Iκ Bα is responsible for inhibition of DNA binding but not for cytoplasmic retention of c-Rel or RelA homodimers. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:872–82
- Hatada E, Naumann M, Scheidereit C. 1993. Common structural constituents confer IκB activity to NF-κB p105 and IκB/MAD-3. *EMBO J.* 12:2781–88
- Jaffray E, Wood K, Hay R. 1995. Domain organization of IκBα and the sites of interaction with NF-κB p65. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:2166–72
- Dobrzanski P, Ryseck R, Bravo R. 1995. Specific inhibition of RelB/p52 transcriptional activity by the C-terminal domain of p100. Oncogene 10:1003–7
- Kanno T, Franzoso G, Siebenlist U. 1994. Human T-cell leukemia virus type I tax protein-mediated activation of NF-κB from p100 (NF-κB2)-inhibited cytoplasmic reservoirs. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:12,634–38
- Zhang Q, DiDonato J, Karin M, McKeithan T. 1994. BCL3 encodes a nuclear protein which can alter the subcellular location of NF-κB proteins. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:3915–26
- 26. Thompson J, Phillips R, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Ghosh S. 1995.

I κ B β regulates the persistent response in a biphasic activation of NF- κ B. *Cell* 80:573–82

- Ray P, Zhang DH, Elias J, Ray A. 1995. Cloning a differentially expressed IkB-related protein. J. Biol. Chem. 270:10,680–85
- Albertella M, Campbell RD. 1994. Characterization of a novel gene in the human major histocompatibility complex that encodes a potential new member of the Ik B family of proteins. *Human Mol. Gen.* 3:793–99
- Ghosh G, Van Duyne G, Ghosh S, Sigler P. 1995. Structure of NF-κB p50 homodimer bound to a κB site. *Nature* 373:303–10
- Muller C, Rey F, Sodeoka M, Verdine G, Harrison S. 1995. Structure of the NF-κB p50 homodimer bound to DNA. *Nature* 373:311–17
- Schmid R, Liptay S, Betts J, Nabel G. 1994. Structural and functional analysis of NF-κB: determinants of DNA binding specificity and protein interaction. J. Biol. Chem. 269:32,162–67
- Nolan G. 1994. NF-AT-AP-1 and RelbZIP: hybrid vigor and binding under the influence. *Cell* 77:795–98
- Jain J, Burgeon E, Badalian T, Hogan P, Rao A. 1995. A similar DNA-binding motif in NFAT family proteins and the Rel homology region. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:4138– 45
- Geisler R, Bergmann A, Hiromi Y, Nusslein-Volhard C. 1992. Cactus, a gene involved in dorsoventral pattern formation in Drosophila, is related to the *l*κ B gene family of vertebrates. *Cell* 71:613–21
- 35. Ip YT, Reach M, Engstrom Y, Kadalayil L, Cai H, Gonzalez-Crespo S, Katei K, Levine M. 1993. Dif, a dorsal-related gene that mediates an immune response in Drosophila. *Cell* 75:753–63
- Kidd S. 1992. Characterization of the Drosophila cactus locus and analysis of interactions cactus and dorsal proteins. *Cell* 71:623–35
- Belvin M, Jin Y, Anderson K. 1995. Cactus protein degradation mediates Drosophila dorsal-ventral signaling. *Genes & Dev.* 9:783–93
- Evans R, Gottlieb P, Bose H. 1993. Identification of a Rel-related protein in the nucleus during S phase of the cell cycle. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13:6147–56
- Wu RL, Chen TT, Sun TT. 1994. Functional importance of an Sp1-and an NFκB-related nuclear protein in a keratinocyte-specific promoter of the rabbit K3 keratin gene. J. Biol. Chem. 269:28,450-

59

- Lawrence R, Chang LJ, Siebenlist U, Bressler P, Sonenshein G. 1994. Vascular smooth muscle cells express a constitutive NF-*k*B-like activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:28,913–18
- Klug C, Geretty S, Shah P, Chen YY, Rice N, Rosenberg N, Singh H. 1994. The v-abl tyrosine kinase negatively regulates NFκB/Rel factors and blocks κ gene transcription in pre-B lymphocytes. *Genes & Dev.* 8:678–87
- Liou HC, Sha W, Scott M, Baltimore D. 1994. Sequential induction of NF-κB/Rel family proteins during B-cell terminal differentiation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:5349–59
- Miyamoto S, Chiao P, Verma I. 1994. Enhanced Iκ Bα degradation is responsible for constitutive NF-κB activity in mature murine B-cell lines. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:3276–82
- Lee H, Arsura M, Wu M, Duyao M, Buckler A, Sonenshein G. 1995. Role of relrelated factors in control of *c-myc* gene transcription in receptor-mediated apoptosis of the murine B cell WEHI 231 line. *J. Exp. Med.* 181:1169–77
- 45. Sarma V, Lin Z, Clark L, Rust B, Tewar M, Noelle R, Dixit V. 1995. Activation of the B-cell surface receptor CD40 induces A20, a novel zinc finger protein that inhibits apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 270:12, 343–46
- Berberich I, Shu G, Clark E. 1994. Crosslinking CD40 on B cells rapidly activates NF-κB. J. Immunol. 153:4357–66
- Sen J, Vankataraman L, Shinkai Y, Pierce J, Alt F, Burakoff S, Sen R. 1995. Expression and induction of NF-κBrelated proteins in thymocytes. J. Immunol. 154:3213–21
- Korner M, Rattner A, Mauxion F, Sen R, Citri Y. 1989. A brain specific transcriptional activator. *Neuron* 3:563–72
- Rattner A, Korner M, Walker M, Citri Y. 1993. NF-κB activates the HIV promoter in neurons. *EMBO J*. 12:4261–67
- Cauley K, Verma I. 1994. κB enhancer binding complexes that do not contain NFκB are developmentally regulated in the mammalian brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91:390–94
- Kaltschmidt C, Kaltschmidt B, Neumann H, Wekerle H, Baeuerle P. 1994. Constitutive NF-κB activity in neurons. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:3981–92
- Sheppard A, McQuillan J, Iademarco M, Dean D. 1995. Control of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 gene promoter activity during neural differentiation. J. Biol.

Chem. 270:3710–19

- Dobrzanski P, Ryseck RP, Bravo R. 1993. Both N- and C-terminal domains of RelB are required for full transactivation: role of the N-terminal leucine zipper-like motif. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13:1572–82
- Blair W, Bogerd H, Madore S, Cullen B. 1994. Mutational analysis of the transcription activation domain of RelA: identification of a highly synergistic minimal acidic activation module. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:7226–34
- Schmitz ML, dos Santos Silva M, Baeuerle P. 1995. Transactivation domain 2 of p65 NF-kB: similarity to TA1, and phorbol ester stimulated activity and phosphorylation in intact cells. J. Biol. Chem. 270:15,576–84
- Schmitz ML, Stelzer G, Altmann H, Meisterernst M, Baeuerle P. 1995. Interaction of the C-terminal transactivation domain of p65 NF-κB with TATA-binding protein, transcription factor IIB, and coactivators. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:7219–26
- Schmid R, Perkins N, Duckett C, Andrews P, Nabel G. 1991. Cloning of an NF-κB subunit which stimulates HIV transcription in synergy with p65. *Nature* 352:733– 36
- Lin R, Gewert D, Hiscott J. 1995. Differential transcriptional activation in vitro by NF-κB/Rel proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 270:3123–31
- 59. Giuliani C, Saji M, Napolitano G, Palmer L, Taniguchi S, Shong M, Singer D, Kohn L. 1995. Hormonal modulation of major histocompatibility complex class I gene expression involves an enhancer Abinding complex consisting of fra-2 and the p50 subunit of NF-κB. J. Biol. Chem. 270:11,453–62
- Diehl J, Hannink M. 1994. Identification of a C/EBP-Rel complex in avian lymphoid cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:6635–46
- Perkins N, Agranoff A, Pascal E, Nabel G. 1994. An interaction between the DNAbinding domains of RelA (p65) and Sp1 mediates HIV gene activation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:6570–83
- Ahmad M, Marui N, Alexander R, Medford R. 1995. Cell type-specific transactivation of the VCAM-1 promoter through an NF-κ B enhancer motif. J. Biol. Chem. 270:8976–83
- Neish A, Read M, Thanos D, Pine R, Maniatis T, Collins T. 1995. Endothelial interferon regulatory factor 1 cooperates with NF-κB as a transcriptional activator of vascular cell adhesion molecule 1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:2558–69

- 64. Whitley M, Thanos D, Read M, Maniatis T, Collins T. 1994. A striking similarity in the organization of the E-selectin and β interferon gene promoters. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:6464–75
- 65. Lewis H, Kaszubska W, DeLamarter J, Whelan J. 1994. Cooperativity between two NF-κB complexes, mediated by HMG-I(Y), is essential for cytokineinduced expression of the E-selectin promoter. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:5701–9
- Ledebur H, Parks T. 1995. Transcriptional regulation of the ICAM-1 gene by inflammatory cytokines in human endothelial cells: essential roles of a variant NF-κB site and p65 homodimers. J. Biol. Chem. 270:933–43
- Takeuchi M, Baichwal V. 1995. Induction of the gene encoding mucosal vascular addressin cell adhesion molecule 1 by TNFa is mediated by NF-k B proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:3561–65
- 68. John S, Reeves R, Lin J, Child R, Leiden J, Thompson C, Leonard W. 1995. Regulation of cell type specific IL-2 receptor α chain gene expression: potential role of physical interactions between Elf-1, HMG-I(Y) and NF-κB family proteins. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:1786–96
- Thanos D, Maniatis T. 1995. Identification of the rel family members required for virus induction of the human β interferon gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:152–64
- Thanos D, Maniatis T. 1995. NF-κB: a lesson in family values. *Cell* 80:529–32
- Wright K, White L, Kelly A, Beck S, Trowsdale J, Ting J. 1995. Coordinate regulation of the human TAP1 and LMP2 genes from a shared bidirectional promoter. J. Exp. Med. 181:1459–71
- 72. Brown A, Linhoff M, Stein B, Wright K, Baldwin A, Basta P, Ting J. 1994. Function of NF-κB/Rel binding sites in the MHC class II invariant chain promoter is dependent on cell-specific binding of different NF-κB/Rel subunits. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14:2926–35
- Moll T, Czyz M, Holzmuller H, Hoferwarbinek R, Wagner E, Winkler H, Bach F, Hofer E. 1995. Regulation of the tissue factor promoter in endothelial cells: binding of NF-κB, AP-1, and Sp1like transcription factors. J. Biol. Chem. 270:3849–57
- Zie QW, Kashiwabara Y, Nathan C. 1994. Role of transcription factor NF-κB/Rel in induction of nitric oxide synthase. J. Biol. Chem. 269:4705–8
- 75. Frantz B, Nordby E, Bren G, Steffan N, Paya C, Kincaid R, Tocci M, O'Keefe S,

O'Neill E. 1994. Calcineurin acts in synergy with PMA to inactivate IκB/MAD-3, an inhibitor of NF-κB. EMBO J. 13:861– 70

- Ghosh P, Tan TH, Rice N, Sica A, Young H. 1993. The IL-2 CD28-responsive complex contains at least three members of the NF-κB family: c-Rel, p50, and p65. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:1696–700
- Stein B, Baldwin A. 1993. Distinct mechanisms for regulation of the IL-8 gene involve synergism and cooperativity between C/EBP and NF-κB. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13:7191–98
- Wechler A, Gordon M, Dendorfer U, LeClair K. 1994. Induction of IL-8 expression in T cells uses the CD28 costimulatory pathway. J. Immunol. 153:2515–23
- Dunn S, Coles L, Lang R, Gerodondakis S, Vadas M, Shannon MF, 1994. Requirement for NF-κ B p65 and NF-IL6 binding elements in the TNF response region of the G-CSF promoter. *Blood* 83:2469–79
- La Rosa F, Pierce J, Sonenshein G. 1994. Differential regulation of the *c-myc* oncogene promoter by the NF-κ B/rel family of transcription factors. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:1039–44
- Ji L, Arcinas M, Boxer L. 1994. NF-κB sites function as positive regulators of expression of the translocated *c-myc* allele in Burkitt's lymphoma. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:7967–74
- Wu H, Lozano G. 1994. NF-κB activation of p53: a potential mechanism for suppressing cell growth in response to stress. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:20,067–74
- Sha W, Liou HC, Tuomanen E, Baltimore D. 1995. Targeted disruption of the p50 subunit of NF-κ B leads to multifocal defects in immune responses. *Cell* 80:321– 30
- 84. Delphin S, Stavnezer J. 1995. Characterization of an IL-4 responsive region in the Ig heavy chain germline *ε* promoter: regulation by NF-IL4, a C/EBP family member and NF-*κ*B p50. *J. Exp. Med.* 181:181–92
- 85. Weih F, Carrasco D, Durham S, Barton D, Rizzo C, Ryseck RP, Lira S, Bravo R. 1995. Multiorgan inflammation and hematopoietic abnormalities in mice with a targeted disruption of RelB, a member of the NF-κB/Rel family. *Cell* 80:331–40
- Burkly L, Hession C, Ógata L, Reilly C, Marconi L, Olson D, Tizard R, Cate R, Lo D. 1995. Expression of relB is required for the development of thymic medulla and dendritic cells. *Nature* 373:531–36
- 87. Beg A, Sha W, Bronson R, Ghosh S,

Baltimore D. 1995. Embryonic lethality and liver degeneration in mice lacking the RelA component of NF-κB. *Nature* 376:167–70

- Kontgen F, Grumont R, Strasser A, Metcalf D, Li R, Tarlinton D, Gerondakis S. 1995. Mice lacking the c-Rel protooncogene exhibit defects in lymphocyte proliferation, humoral immunity, and IL-2 expression. *Genes Dev.* 9:1965–77
- Beg A, Sha W, Bronson R, Baltimore D. 1995. Constitutive NF-κB activation, enhanced granulopoiesis and neonatal lethality in *I*κBα deficient mice. *Genes Dev.* 9:2736–46
- Sun SC, Elwood J, Beraud C, Greene W. 1994. Human T cell leukemia virus type I tax activation of NF-κB/Rel involves phosphorylation and degradation of Iκ Bα and RelA mediated induction of the c-Rel gene. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14:7377–84
- Traenckner E, Wilk E, Baeuerle P. 1994. A proteasome inhibitor prevents activation of NF-κ B and stabilizes a newly phosphorylated form of Iκ Bα that is still bound to NF-κ B. EMBO J. 13:5433–41
- Finco T, Beg A, Baldwin A. 1994. Inducible phosphorylation of *I*_κBα is not sufficient for its dissociation from NFκB and is inhibited by protease inhibitors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA* 91:11,884–88
- Miyamoto S, Maki M, Schmitt J, Hatanaka M, Verma I. 1994. TNFα induced phosphorylation of IκBα is a signal for its degradation but not dissociation from NF-κB. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA 91:12,740–44
- Lin YC, Brown K, Siebenlist U. 1995. Activation of NF-κ B requires proteolysis of the inhibitor Iκ Bα: signal-induced phosphorylation of Iκ Bα alone does not release active NF-κB. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:552–56
- DiDonato J, Mercurio F, Karin M. 1995. Phosphorylation of IκBα precedes but is not sufficient for its dissociation from NFκB. Mol. Cell. Biol. 15:1302–11
- Alkalay I, Yaron A, Hatzubai A, Jung S, Avraham A, Gerlitz O, Pashut-Lavon I, Ben-Neriah Y. 1995. In vivo stimulation of Iκ B phosphorylation is not sufficient to activate NF-κB. Mol. Cell. Biol. 15:1294– 301
- Palombella V, Rando O, Goldberg A, Maniatis T. 1994. The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway is required for processing the NFκB1 precursor protein and the activation of NF-κB. *Cell* 78:773–85
- Brown K, Gerstberger S, Carlson L, Franzoso G, Siebenlist U. 1995. Con-

trol of $I\kappa B\alpha$ proteolysis by site-specific, signal-induced phosphorylation. *Science* 267:1485–88

- Brockman J, Scherer D, McKinsey T, Hall S, Qi X, Lee W, Ballard D. 1995. Coupling of a signal response domain in Iκ Bα to multiple pathways for NF-κB activation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:2809–18
- 100. Traenckner E, Pahl H, Henkel T, Schmidt K, Wilk S, Baeuerle P. 1995. Phosphorylation of human Iκ Bα on serines 32 and 36 controls Iκ Bα proteolysis and NF-κB activation in response to diverse stimuli. *EMBO J.* 14:2876–83
- 101. Chen Z, Hagler J, Palombella V, Melandri F, Scherer D, Ballard D, Maniatis T. 1995. Signal-induced site-specific phosphorylation targets Iκ Bα to the ubiquitinproteasome pathway. *Genes Dev.* 9:1586– 97
- Scherer D, Brockman J, Chen Z, Maniatis T, Ballard D. 1995. Signal-induced degradation of Iκ Bα requires site-specific ubiquitination. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 92:11, 259–63
- Barroga C, Stevenson J, Schwarz E, Verma I. 1995. Constitutive phosphorylation of Iκ Bα by casein kinase II. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 92:7637–41
- 104. Rodriguez M, Michalopoulos I, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Hay R. 1995. Inducible degradation of IκBα in vitro and in vivo requires the acidic C-terminal domain of the protein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:2413–19
- 105. Whiteside S, Ernst M, LeBail O, Laurent-Winter C, Rice N, Israel A. 1995. N- and C-terminal sequences control the degradation of MAD3/Ik Bα in response to inducers of NF-κ B activity. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:5339–45
- Naumann M, Scheidereit C. 1994. Activation of NF-κB in vivo is regulated by multiple phosphorylations. *EMBO J.* 13:4597–607
- Fujimoto K, Yasuda H, Sato Y, Yamamoto K-i. 1995. A role for phosphorylation in the proteolytic processing of the NF-κB1 precursor. *Gene.* In press
- Diehl J, Tong W, Sun G, Hannink M. 1995. TNFα-dependent activation of a RelA homodimer in astrocytes: increased phosphorylation of RelA and MAD-3 precede activation of RelA. J. Biol. Chem. 270:2703–7
- Lofquist A, Mondal K, Morris J, Haskill S. 1995. Transcription-independent turnover of Iκ Bα during monocyte adherence: implications for a translational component regulating IκBα/MAD-3 mRNA levels. Mol. Cell. Biol. 15:1737–46

680 BALDWIN

- Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Thompson J, Rodriguez M, Bachelerie F, Thomas D, Hay R. 1995. Inducible nuclear expression of newly synthesized IκBα negatively regulates DNA-binding and transcriptional activation of NF-κB. Mol. Cell. Biol. 15:2689–96
- Wen W, Meinkoth J, Tsien R, Taylor S. 1995. Identification of a signal for rapid export of proteins from the nucleus. *Cell* 82:463–73
- 112. Kumar A, Haque J, Lacoste J, Hiscott J, Williams B. 1994. Double-stranded RNAdependent protein kinase activates transcription factor NF-κB by phosphorylating IκB. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:6228–92
- 113. Maran A, Maitra R, Kumar A, Dong B, Xiao W, Li G, Williams B, Torrence P, Silverman R. 1994. Blockage of NF-κB signaling by selective ablation of an mRNA target by 2–5A antisense chimeras. Science 265:789–92
- Li S, Sedivy J. 1993. Raf-1 protein kinase activates the NF-κB transcription factor by dissociating the cytoplasmic NF-κB-IkB complex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:9247–51
- 115. Finco T, Baldwin A. 1993. κB sitedependent induction of gene expression by diverse inducers of NF-κB requires Raf-1. J. Biol. Chem. 268:17, 676–79
- 116. Diaz-Meco M, Dominguez I, Sanz L, Dent P, Lozano J, Municio M, Berra E, Hay R, Sturgill T, Moscot J. 1994. PKCζ induces phosphorylation and inactivation of Ικ Bα in vitro. EMBO J. 13:2842–48
- 117. Hayashi T, Sekine T, Okamoto T. 1993. Identification of a new serine kinase that activates NF-kB by direct phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 268:26,790–95
- Venkataraman L, Burakoff S, Sen R. 1995. FK506 inhibits antigen receptor-mediated induction of c-Rel in B and T lymphoid cells. J. Exp. Med. 181:1091–99
- 119. Sun SC, Maggirwar S, Harhaj E. 1995. Activation of NF-κB by phosphatase inhibitors involves the phosphorylation of IκBα at phosphatase 2A-sensitive sites. J. Biol. Chem. 270:18,347–51
- Weigmann K, Schutze S, Machleidt T, Witte D, Kronke M. 1994. Functional dichotomy of neutral and acidic sphingomyelinases in TNF signaling. *Cell* 78:1005–1114
- 121. Machleidt T, Weigmann K, Henkel T, Schutze S, Baeuerle P, Kronke M. 1994. Sphingomyelinase activates proteolytic Iκ Bα degradation in a cell-free system. J. Biol. Chem. 269:13,760–65

- 122. Kuno K, Sukegawa K, Ishikawa Y, Ori T, Matsushima K. 1994. Acid sphingomyelinase is not essential for IL-1 and TNF receptor signaling pathway leading to NFκ B activation. Int. Immunol. 6:1269–72
- Johns L, Sarr T, Ranges G. 1994. Inhibition of ceramide pathway does not affect ability of TNFα to activate NF-κB. J. Immunol. 152:5877–82
- Westwick J, Bielawska A, Dbaibo G, Hannun Y, Brenner D. 1995. Ceramide activates the stress-activated protein kinases. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:22, 689–92
- 125. Schmidt K, Amstad P, Ceruti P, Baeuerle P. 1995. The roles of hydrogen peroxide and superoxide as messengers in the activation of transcription factor NF-κB. *Chem. Biol.* 2:13–22
- 126. Brennan P, O'Neil L. 1995. Effects of oxidants and antioxidants on NF-κB activation in three different cell lines: evidence against a universal hypothesis involving oxygen radicals. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* 1260:1670–75
- 127. Suzuki Y, Mizuno M, Packer L. 1995. Transient overexpression of catalase does not inhibit TNF- or PMA-induced NF-κB activation. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 210:537–41
- Qin J, Clore G, Kennedy W, Huth J, Gronenborn A. 1995. Solution structure of human thioredoxin in a mixed disulfide intermediate complex with its target peptide from the transcription factor NF-κB. *Structure* 3:289–97
- Sachi Y, Hirota Y, Masutani H, Toda K, Takashi O, Takigawa M, Yodoi J. 1995. Induction of ADF/TRX by oxidative stress in keratinocytes and lymphoid cells. *Immunol. Letts.* 44:189–93
- Koong A, Chen E, Giaccia A. 1994. Hypoxia causes the activation of NF-κB through the phosphorylation of IκBα on tyrosine residues. *Cancer Res.* 54:1425–30
- 131. Koong A, Chen E, Mivechi N, Denko N, Stambrook P, Giaccia A. 1994. Hypoxic activation of NF-κB is mediated by a Ras and Raf signaling pathway and does not involve MAP kinase (ERK1 or ERK2). *Cancer Res.* 54:5273–79
- 132. Wu B, Woffendin C, Duckett C, Ohno T, Nabel G. 1995. Regulation of human retroviral latency by the NF-κB/IκB family: inhibition of HIV replication by IκB through a Rev-dependent mechanism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:1480–84
- Murakami T, Hirai T, Suzuki T, Fujisawa J, Yoshida M. 1995. HTLV-I tax enhances NF-κ B2 expression and binds to the prod-

ucts p52 and p100, but does not suppress the inhibitory function of p100. *Virology* 206:1066–74

- Sukuki T, Hirai T, Murakami T, Yoshida M. 1995. Tax protein of HTLV-I destabilizes the complexes of NF-κB and IκBα and induces nuclear translocation of NFκB for transcriptional activation. Oncogene 10:1199–207
- 135. Kanno T, Brown K, Siebenlist U. 1995. Evidence in support of a role for human T-cell leukemia virus type I tax in activating NF-κB via stimulation of signaling pathways. J. Biol. Chem. 270:11,745–48
- Kanno T, Brown K, Franzoso G, Siebenlist. 1994. Kinetic analysis of human Tcell leukemia virus type I tax-mediated activation of NF-kB. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:6443–51
- 137. Suzuki T, Hirai H, Yoshida M. 1994. Tax protein of HTLV-I interacts with the Rel homology domain of NF-κB p65 and c-Rel proteins bound to the NF-κB binding site and activates transcription. Oncogene 9:3099–3105
- 138. Mori N, Shirakawa F, Shimizu H, Murakami S, Oda S, Yamamato K-I, Eto S. 1994. Transcriptional regulation of the human IL-6 gene promoter in HTLV-I infected T cell lines: evidence for an involvement of NF-κB. *Blood* 84:2904–11
- Scala G, Ruocco M, Ambrosino C, Mallardo M, Giordano V, Baldassare F, Dragonetti E, Quinto I, Venuta S. 1994. Expression of the IL-6 gene is induced by HIV-1 tat protein. J. Exp. Med. 179:961–71
 Westendorp M, Shatrov V, Schulze-
- 140. Westendorp M, Shatrov V, Schulze-Osthoff K, Frank R, Kraft M, Los M, Krammer P, Droge P, Lehmann V. 1995. HIV-1 Tat potentiates TNF-induced NFκB activation and cytotoxicity by altering the cellular redox state. *EMBO J*. 14:546– 54
- 141. Alcami J, Delera T, Folgueria L, Pedraza M, Jacque J, Bachelerie F, Noriega A, Hay R, Harrich D, Gaynor R, Virelizier J, Arenzana-Seisdedos F. 1995. Absolute dependence on κB responsive elements for initiation and Tat-mediated amplifica-tion of HIV transcription in blood CD4 T lymphocytes. *EMBO J*. 14:1552–60
- 142. Baur A, Sawai E, Dazin P, Fanti W, Cheng-Mayer C, Peterlin M. 1994. HIV-1 nef leads to inhibition or activation of T cells depending on its intracellular localization. *Immunity* 1:373–84
- 143. Niederman T, Garcia J, Hastings W, Luria S, Ratner L. 1992. HIV-1 nef protein inhibits NF-κB induction in human T cells. J. Virol. 66:6213–19

- 144. Herrero J, Mathew P, Paya C. 1995. LMP-1 activates NF-κB by targeting the inhibitory molecule IκBα. J. Virol. 69:2168–74
- Mitchell T, Sugden. 1995. Stimulation of NF-κB-mediated transcription by mutant derivatives of the latent membrane protein of Epstein-Barr virus. J. Virol. 69:2968– 76
- 146. Paine E, Scheinman R, Baldwin A, Raab-Traub N. 1995. Expression of LMP1 in epithelial cells leads to the activation of a select subset of NF-κB/Rel family proteins. J. Virol. 69:4572–76
- 147. Huen D, Henderson S, Croom-Carter D, Rowe M. 1995. Epstein-Barr virus LMP-1 mediates activation of NF-κ B and cell surface phenotype via two effector regions in its C-terminal cytoplasmic domain. Oncogene 10:549–60
- 148. Mosalios G, Birkenbach M, Yalamanchili R, VanArsdale T, Care C, Kieff E. The EBV transforming protein LMP1 engages signaling proteins for the tumor necrosis factor receptor family. *Cell* 80:389–99
- 149. Hsu H, Xiong J, Goeddel D. 1995. The TNF receptor 1-associated protein TRADD signals cell death and NF-κ B activation. *Cell* 81:495–504
- 150. Kazmi S, Plante R, Visconti, V, Taylor G, Zhou L, Lau C. 1995. Suppression of NFκB activation and NF-κB dependent gene expression by tepoxalin, a dual inhibitor of cyclooxygenase and 5-lipoxygenase. J. Cell. Biochem. 57:299–310
- 151. Wang P, Wu P, Siegel M, Egan R, Billah M. 1995. Interleukin-10 inhibits nuclear NF-κB activation in human monocytes: IL-10 aand IL-4 suppress cytokine synthesis by different mechanisms. J. Biol. Chem. 270:9558–63
- Kuhn R, Lohler J, Rennick D, Rajewsky K, Muller W. 1993. Interleukin-10 deficient mice develop chronic enterocolitis. *Cell* 75:263–74
- 153. Ray A, Prefontaine K. 1994. Physical association and functional antagonism between the p65 subunit of transcription factor NF-κB and the glucocorticoid receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:752–56
- 154. Mukaida N, Morita M, Ishikawa Y, Rice N, Okamoto S, Kasahara T, Matsushima K. 1994. Novel mechanism of glucocorticoid-mediated gene repression: NF-κB is a target for glucocorticoid mediated IL-8 gene repression. J. Biol. Chem. 269:13,289–95
- Scheinman R, Gualberto A, Jewell C, Cidlowski J, Baldwin A. 1995. Characterization of mechanisms involved in transre-

pression of NF-κB by activated glucocorticoid receptors. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:943– 53

- 156. Caldenhoven E, Liden J, Wissink S, Vandestolpe A, Raaijmakers J, Koenderman L, Okret S, Gustafson J, Vandersaag P. 1995. Negative cross-talk between RelA and the glucocorticoid receptor: a possible mechanism for the antiinflammatory action of glucocorticoids. *Mol. Endo.* 9:401–12
- Scheinman R, Cogswell P, Lofquist A, Baldwin A. 1995. Role of transcriptional activation of IκBα in mediation of immunosuppression by glucocorticoids. *Sci*ence 270:283–86
- Auphan N, DiDonato J, Rosette C, Helmbertg A, Karin M. 1995. Molecular basis for immunosuppression by glucocorticoids: inhibition of NF-κB activity through induction of IκB synthesis. Science 270:286–90
- Kopp E, Ghosh S. 1994. Inhibition of NFκB by sodium salicylate and aspirin. *Sci*ence 265:956–59
- 160. Lai JH, Tan TH. 1994. CD28 signaling causes a sustained down-regulation of IκBα which can be prevented by the immunosuppressant rapamycin. J. Biol. Chem. 269:30, 077–80
- Zeiher A, Fisslthaler B, Schray-Utz B, Busse R. 1995. Nitric oxide modulates the expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 in cultured human endothelial cells. *Circulation Res.* 76:980–86
- 162. Peng HB, Libby P, Liao J. 1995. Induction and stabilization of Iκ Bα by nitric oxide mediates inhibition of NF-κ B. J. Biol. Chem. 270:14, 214–19
- Lander H, Sehajpal P, Levine D, Novogrodsky A. 1993. Activation of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells by nitric oxide-generating compounds. J. Immunol. 150:1509–16
- Chen D, Rothenberg E. 1994. Interleukin-2 transcription factors as molecular targets of cAMP inhibition: delayed inhibition kinetics and combinatorial transcription roles. J. Exp. Med. 179:931–42
- Neumann M, Grieshammer T, Chuvpilo S, Kneitz B, Lohoff M, Schimpl A, Franza B, Serfling E. 1995. RelA/p65 is a molecular target for the immunosuppressive action of protein kinase A. *EMBO J.* 14:1991– 2004
- 166. Yang J, Merin J, Nakano T, Kano T, Kitade Y, Okamoto T. 1995. Inhibition of the DNA-binding activity of NF-κB by gold compounds in vitro. *FEBS Letts*. 361:89– 96

- 167. MacMicking J, Nathan C, Hom G, Chartrain N, Fletcher D, Trumbauer M, Stevens K, Xie Q-w, Sokol K, Hutchinson N, Chen H, Mudgett J. 1995. Altered responses to bacterial infection and endotoxic shock in mice lacking inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Cell* 81:641– 50
- 168. Pfeffer K, Matsuyama T, Kundig T, Wakeham A, Kishihara K, Shahinian A, Wiegmann K, Ohashi P, Kronke M, Mak T. 1993. Mice deficient in the 55 kD TNF receptor are resistant to endotoxic shock, yet succumb to *L. monocytogenes* infection. *Cell* 73:457–67
- Behl C, Davis J, Lesley R, Schubert D. 1994. Hydrogen peroxide mediates amyloid β protein toxicity. *Cell* 77:817–27
- Pahl H, Baeuerle P. 1995. Expression of influenza virus hemagluttinin activates NF-κB. J. Virol. 69:1480–84
- 171. Berliner J, Navab M, Fogelman A, Frank J, Demer L, Edwards P, Watson A, Lusis A. 1995. Atherosclerosis: basic mechanisms: oxidation, inflammation and genetics. *Circulation* 91:2488–96
- 172. Liao F, Andalibi Al, Qiao JH, Allayee H, Fogelman A, Lusis A. 1994. Genetic evidence for a common pathway mediating oxidative stress, inflammatory gene induction, and aortic fatty streak formation in mice. J. Clin. Invest. 94:877–84
- 173. Nakajima T, Kitajima I, Shin H, Takasaki I, Shigeta K, Abeyama K, Yamashita Y, Tokioka T, Soejima Y, Maruyama I. 1994. Involvement of NF-κB activation in thrombin-induced human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 204:950–55
- 174. Beauparlant P, Kwan I, Bitar R, Chou P, Koromilas A, Sonenberg N, Hiscott J. 1994. Disruption of *IκBα* regulation by antisense RNA expression leads to malignant transformation. *Oncogene* 9:3189– 97
- 175. Kitajima I, Shinohara T, Bilakovics J, Brown D, Xu X, Nerenberg M. 1992. Ablation of transplanted HTLV-I tax transformed tumors in mice by antisense inhibition of NF-κB. Science 258:1792– 95
- 176. Zhang J, Chang CC, Lombardi L, Dalla-Favera R. Rearranged NFk B2 gene in the HUT78 T-lymphoma cell line codes for a constitutively nuclear factor lacking transcriptional repressor functions. Oncogene 9:1931–37
- 177. Thakur S, Lin HC, Tseng WT, Kumar S, Bravo R, Foss F, Gelinas C, Rabson A. 1994. Rearrangement and altered ex-

pression of the NF κ B-2 gene in human cutaneous T-lymphoma cells. *Oncogene* 9:2335–44

- 178. Hwang S, Ding A. 1995. Activation of NFκB in murine macrophages by taxol. *Cancer Biochem. Biophys.* 14:265–72
- 179. Jung M, Zhang Y, Lee S, Dritschilo A.

1995. Correction of radiation sensitivity in ataxia telangiectasia cells by a truncated IκBα. Science 268:1619–21

 Savitsky K, Bar-Shira A, Gilad S, Rotman G, Ziv Y, et al. 1995. A single ataxia telangiectasia gene with a product similar to PI-3 kinase. *Science* 268:1749–53



CONTENTS

| SHEER LUCK MADE ME AN IMMUNOLOGIST, Marian Elliott Koshland | ix |
|---|-----|
| ALTERED PEPTIDE LIGAND–INDUCED PARTIAL T CELL ACTIVATION: Molecular Mechanisms and Role in T Cell Biology, Joanne Sloan-Lancaster, Paul M. Allen | 1 |
| EARLY T LYMPHOCYTE PROGENITORS, Ken Shortman, Li Wu | 29 |
| IMMUNOTOXINS: An Update, Gerald R. Thrush, Laura R. Lark, Birgitta C. Clinchy, Ellen S. Vitetta | 49 |
| CELLULAR INTERACTIONS IN THYMOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, Graham Anderson, Nel C. Moore, John J. T. Owen, Eric J. Jenkinson | 73 |
| ONE STEP AHEAD OF THE GAME: Viral Immunomodulatory Molecules, <i>Melanie K. Spriggs</i> | 101 |
| GENETIC ANALYSIS OF TYROSINE KINASE FUNCTION IN B CELL DEVELOPMENT, Anne Satterthwaite, Owen Witte | 131 |
| ORCHESTRATED INFORMATION TRANSFER UNDERLYING LEUKOCYTE ENDOTHELIAL INTERACTIONS, Klaus Ebnet, Eric P. Kaldjian, Arthur O. Anderson, Stephen Shaw | 155 |
| THE INTERLEUKIN-2 RECEPTOR CHAIN: Its Role in the Multiple Cytokine Receptor Complexes and T Cell Development in XSCID, Kazuo Sugamura, Hironobu Asao, Motonari Kondo, Nobuyuki Tanaka, Naoto Ishii, Kazuyuki Ohbo, Masataka Nakamura, Toshikazu Takeshita | 179 |
| MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHOCYTE-MEDIATED CYTOTOXICITY AND THEIR ROLE IN IMMUNOLOGICAL PROTECTION AND PATHOGENESIS IN VIVO, David Kägi, Birgit Ledermann, Kurt Bürki, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Hans Hengartner | 207 |
| CD28/B7 SYSTEM OF T CELL COSTIMULATION, Deborah J. Lenschow, Theresa L. Walunas, Jeffrey A. Bluestone | 233 |
| T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS, <i>Doreen Cantrell</i> | 259 |
| ANTIGEN SAMPLING ACROSS EPITHELIAL BARRIERS AND INDUCTION OF MUCOSAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, Marian R. Neutra, Eric Pringault, Jean-Pierre Kraehenbuhl | 275 |
| REGULATION OF MHC CLASS II GENES: Lessons from a Disease, Bernard Mach, Viktor Steimle, Eduardo Martinez-Soria, Walter Reith | 301 |
| ON IMMUNOLOGICAL MEMORY, Rolf M. Zinkernagel, Martin F. Bachmann, Thomas M. Kündig, Stephan Oehen, Hanspeter Pirchet, Hans Hengartner | 333 |

| ANTIGEN PROCESSING AND PRESENTATION BY THE CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX, <i>Ian A. York, Kenneth</i> | |
|---|-----|
| L. Rock | 369 |
| ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS, Marc Feldmann, Fionula M. Brennan, Ravinder N. Maini | 397 |
| SOMATIC HYPERMUTATION OF IMMUNOGLOBULIN GENES, Simon D. Wagner, Michael S. Neuberger | 441 |
| ACCESSIBILITY CONTROL OF ANTIGEN-RECEPTOR VARIABLE- REGION GENE ASSEMBLY: Role of cis-Acting Elements, <i>Barry P.</i> <i>Sleckman, James R. Gorman, Frederick W. Alt</i> | 459 |
| IMMUNOPHARMACOLOGY OF RAPAMYCIN, Robert T. Abraham, Gregory J. Wiederrecht | 483 |
| RECOGNITION BY gamma/delta T CELLS, Yueh-hsiu Chien, Rita Jores, Michael P. Crowley | 511 |
| SALMONELLOSIS: Host Immune Responses and Bacterial Virulence Determinants, <i>Bradley D. Jones, Stanley Falkow</i> | 533 |
| THE STRUCTURE OF THE T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR, Graham A. Bentley, Roy A. Mariuzza | 563 |
| IMMUNE REGULATION BY CD40 AND ITS LIGAND GP39, Teresa M. Foy, Alejandro Aruffo, Jürgen Bajorath, Janet E. Buhlmann, Randolph J. Noelle | 591 |
| RECEPTORS FOR HLA CLASS-I MOLECULES IN HUMAN NATURAL KILLER CELLS, Alessandro Moretta, Cristina Bottino, Massimo Vitale, Daniela Pende, Roberto Biassoni, Maria Cristina | |
| Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta | 619 |
| THE NF-kappa B AND I kappa B PROTEINS: New Discoveries and Insights, <i>Albert S. Baldwin Jr.</i> | 649 |